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INVESTIGATION OF MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 6, 1934

United States Senate,
Special Committee to

Investigate the Munitions Industry,
Washington, D. C.

The hearing was continued in the Finance Committee room, Senate

Office Building, Senator Bennett Champ Clark, presiding.

Present: Senators Vandenberg, Barbour, George, Clark, Pope.
Present also : Stephen Raushenbush, secretary to the committee.

At this point the committee concluded that part of the testimony
which is incorporated in Part X of these hearings, " Embargoes."

afternoon session

(The committee reconvened at 2 p.m. pursuant to recess.)

Senator Clark. The committee will come to order. The Chair
would like to inquire whether any of the companies are now pre-

pared to furnish any of the exhibits which have previously been
requested, and which have not yet been furnished. Mr. Raushen-
bush, let me suggest that you come up here. I believe everybody
can hear you better if you come up here. I happen to know that the

particular place where you are seated is the hardest place in this

room from which to be heard.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Chairman, with your permission, may we
have as witnesses this afternoon the officers of the du Pont Co. who
are particularly well acquainted with the early post war chemical
history of the company and the various foreign connections that

were involved in them. Do you care to call any others, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I would like to have Dr. F. Sparre.

Senator Clark. You were previously sworn, were you not. Doctor?
Mr. Sparre. Yes ; I was sworn in September,
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, I would also like to have

Mr. W. R. Swint.
Senator Clark. You have not been previously sworn, have you?
Mr. Swint. No.

TESTIMONY OF F. SPARRE (RECALLED) AND W. R. SWINT

background of chemical warfare

(Mr. Swint was duly sworn by the chairman.)
Mr. Raushenbush. In the absence of the Chairman, he asked me

to begin an inquiry into a certain phase of the munitions business
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2396 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

which is, frankly, based on one supposition, that the committee is

not only interested in the munitions business, but is interested in the

cause and need for a munitions traffic at all, and the next question

that follows that immediately is the very simple one of why every
nation feels obliged to arm, and the answer is obvious, because every

other nation is arming too.

Then the further question occurs, well, how did this get started

—

how did that situation get started, and because it has seemed to us

in examining some of the files of the companies that there were some
slight clues or indications along that line, we wanted to get a little

more background on the question of the chemical development not

only of your companies but of others, because certainly the chemical
developments have a large place in the next Avar, by your admission,

I am sure, and by everybody else's.

Let me add, perhaps, one personal statement in that, that it is

going to be the attempt to be scientific about this. You gentlemen
do not, perhaps, realize how someone coming to the industry newly
feels it impossible quickly to make final judgments. If you Avill per-

mit an illustration, it is a little as if people who have never been in

the jungle have suddently captured a species of life that they had
never seen before, and they were observing it. Of course they bring
nothing but their own understanding of the life around them to

observe that new species. It lives by its own laws and it functions

well, but an outsider looking at it cannot say when it kicks with its

hind legs instead of with its front legs; he cannot say that there is

anything ethical or unethical about that. It is a matter of scientific

interest to find out just how the thing functions, and if you will be-

lieve in the first instance that there is no ethical implication here, I

will appreciate that. We had here at the earlier hearings an illustra-

tion of some of our gas companies that took some convicts in one of

the South American countries and tried out some of their gas on them.
That met with some ethical comments by the members of the commit-
tee. But for the moment, what we are interested in is just to see the

function of this industry not only in connection with the national

defense but with foreign countries, and with this somewhat lengthy
introduction I would like to have a rather full story from then on by
you who are conversant with the early postwar developments of the
company about that.

I frankly am undecided in my own mind whether or not to con-

tinue the practice we have followed on saying, now, is this true,

and showing you an exhibit on it, or asking for a full story. We
do know, let me put it that way. that during the war you did go
into the dve business in a rather large wav. I take it that is correct,

isn't it?

Mr. SwiNT. Yes.
Mr. RAusHENBrsH. It happened about 1917, and we have here quite

a list of the activities regarding dyes of the du Pont publicity bureau
from 1917 to 1921, which shows or which covers a great number of

pages. I do not think I will enter it as an exhibit, but practically

every day, beginning with A]jril 12, 1917. about the time Ave AA'ent into

the Avar, thei-c is a story of the dye developments of the company. I

do not think the time or place or the interest of the company in that

plan is questioned. So I won't enter that as an exhibit.
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Now, the investment in that dye industry, we may, without any
implication, say was made possible the same way the investment in
General Motors, which we discussed at the earlier hearing. I mean
there were profits from dealing with the Allies, and these were the
means of seeking the investment.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, sir ; I think you are under a misappre-

hension, Mr. Raushenbush. It is true we started into the dye busi-
ness during the war and, in fact, before the United States went into
the war, I believe. In the early days we did not require any very
larsfe investment, because the important thing at that time was the
study of the processes of the industry which, of course, meant both
the men and laboratory rather than plant. The construction of a
plant was started then, but it was very small as compared with
today. The great growth in the investment in the dye business, in
bricks, mortar, and machinery, so to speak, took place after the close
of the war, and it is going on today.

Mr. Raushenhush. I do not see any great importance of that
point. Now, immediately after the close of the war is it a fair
statement to say that both you and the English and the French dye
companies saw that they had a struggle for life against the German
d3^e industry, and started to put up, or help to put up protective
measures against imported dyes?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think I ought to speak for the

English or French, but we, in this country, fully realizing that we
being an infant industry, must have protection in order to protect
our home business from those who were far more experienced at
that time.

Mr. Raushenbush. At that time, v\-e find a letter from the head
of your publicity department, who had apparently gone to London
at the time. The letter is dated December 10. 1920, which I wish
to offer for the appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 909 ", and is

included in the appendix on page 2559.)^

Mr. Raushenbush. He tells of ''" my mission "

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Who wrote the letter ?

Mr. Raushenbush. It is written by Mr. Weston to Mr. Meade, one
of the vice presidents of your company.
He states

:

My mission seems to he going fairly well ; I have met a number of our
Amierican newspaper correspondents, and have, I think, succeeded in selling
them our idea. One cannot tell, of course, until the results begin to appear in
American newspapers.

He goes on to say that he is watching the vote in the House of
Commons.
He goes on to say

:

I believe that the great strong point to be brought out by our friends in the
United States Senate is, that with .Japan. France, and England all protecting
their dye industries, the United States is left as the only hope of the Germans.
They will, without doubt, concentrate over there and give us a particularly
hard fight.

Now, I do not think that there is any question that the French
and English were, naturally, interested in protecting their new
industries.

1 " Exhibit No. 909 " was referred to further in Part XII, p. 2758.
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Senator Clark. That is the first mention of infant industries in
tariff debates for nearly 100 years.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. What is that ?

Senator Clark. That is the first mention of infant industries in

connection with tariff debates for nearly 100 years. That was the
original theory of tariffs and has, in a sense, been cast into the
limbo of forgotten things.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know about tariff debates.

Mr. Raushenbush. AVould Dr. Sparre or Mr. Swint care to say
whether this was the policy followed by the allied countries, that
they were all trying to protect their new industries from the pos-
sibility of a large German influx after the war ?

Dr. Sparre. Yes, I think that is correct; but I have no first-hand

knowledge except the newspaper reports.

Mr. Eaushenbush. Mr. Weston goes on on the second page

:

I shall remain here next week to see this bill through and to continue my
efforts to stoke up the interest of those whom I came to see.

It seems to indicate, does it not, that he was very interested in

not only watching the English tariff bill, but to continue to " stoke "

up the interest of those whom he came to see. It would give the
impression, and I am willing to be corrected, that the company was
sufficiently interested in having that English bill go through to, at

least, send a man over there. He spoke of his mission, and to get in

touch with the newspaper men and to stoke up interest in the matter.

It goes on

:

The correspondents in Paris report to the offices here so it is apparent
that if the men in London get the right angle it will be wonderfully helpful.

In Paris I shall devote my energy very largely to bringing the correspondents
in contact more closely with the American sources of news, at the same time
trying to give them the proper angle so that they will appreciate the importance
of the news.

Is there any comment on that particularly ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I have no comment.
Mr. Raushenbush. Now, at this point we are not particularly in-

terested in the way the tariff bill in this country was to operate,

although it does come into your correspondence. What we are

interested in at the moment is the thinking that underlies your
interests, but it seems to me, as we examine your files that that
interest is fairly expressed, and here is a cable from Mr. Poucher,
dated December 3, 1920, which I think is, if you will let me say so, an
intelligent cable, an understanding cable. Would you identify Mr.
Poucher for us?

Mr. Lammot du Pont, He was employed by the du Pont Co. He
was in charge of the sales of dyestuffs.

Mr. Raushenbush. In this country, and traveled abroad for you,
did he?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. This cable, then, in 1920, follows the beginning

of the interest in protecting the dye industry here. It gives the
reason for the thing. That, I think, is very interesting. He says
that he understands

—

Signor Tittoni has raised League of Nations interest in national monopo-
lies and their danger to world peace. Urge attention of League be drawn
to danger of resumption of German organic chemical and dye monopoly.
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This is by far the most menacing and deserves immediate attention of League,
who might welcome American support on a chemical disarmament measure.
You cannot destroy organic chemical factories having peace functions, but
must insure world redistribution of organic chemical producing capacity by
support of national protective legislation. This is a critical measure, on
which all disarmament schemes must stand or fall.

Now, at this point, you see, Mr. du Pont, the committee becomes
interested in this chemical thing we want to take up this afternoon.

It goes on to offer the proposition

:

Disarmament is a farce while Germany retains organic chemical monopolies.

Now, that statement is the one that struck me

:

Disarmament is a farce while Germany retains organic chemical monopolies.

You can get full details in disarmament chapter of Major LeFebures' book
now held by Whetmore

—

And so forth.

Now, there is a reference to this Major LeFebure, and we find he
left with your company a memorandum dated February 1, 1921,

although it seems to be a little redundant. Because of the im-

portance of the whole chemical warfare equipment industry, I would
like to read it and, if necessary, get your comments on it. His point

is that everything possible should be done to destroy the German
chemical monopoly. He is a British officer, isn't he?

Dr. Spakre. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. I offer this cablegram for the appropriate

number.
(The cablegram referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 910 " and

is included in the appendix on p. 2559.)

Mr. Raushenbush. Now, we had a rather interesting illustration of
the head of your publicity bureau being in London watching, stok-

ing up the interest in the tariff over there in the British House of
Commons, and now we have this British major making this comment
that everything possible should be done in America. I offer this

for the appropriate exhibit number.
(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 911 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 2560.)

Mr. Raushenbush. He refers to the dyestuffs OA^er there, and he
goes on to prove the importance of that arsenal in time of war. He
speaks of clause 168 of the treaty, which

—

demands limitation of munitions and war-material production to factories or
works approved by the Allied and Associated Powers.

He says it refers to any war materials whatever, and, roughly,
makes the argument that that really should include the big I. G.
plants. He concludes by mentioning specifically

:

In addition to certain specific poison-gas plants a large proportion of the
Haber process capacity should logically be dealt with under this article of the
treaty.

Now, that Haber process for manufacture is one of the most suc-

cessful processes in the world?
Dr. Sparre. For ammonia.
Mr. Raushenbush. For ammonia?
Dr. Sparre. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. That has been bought by America and other

countries ?
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Dr. Sparre. I do not believe it has been bought by the United
States.

Mr. RAUSHE^BUSH. Never in the United States?

Dr. Sparre. No ; but some other countries have.

Mr. Raushenbush. Some other countries have?
Dr. Sparre. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. Then he goes on to mention the number of tons

of poison gas produced in those plants, and makes quite a long case

about the need for denying Germany the right to have any gas-

producing capacity at all.

Then he goes on on page 3

:

It may be that by taking certain measures in peace regarding these potential
arsenals, production of poison gases in war would be prevented, because war
itself would be prevented, and the need to produce would not arise.

I think I have already entered that as " Exhibit No. 911."

Then we find that your company was conducting an active cam-
paign over here for the tariff, and in " Exhibit No. 912 " taken from
the 1921 file on " Our present and proposed activities ", showing the
publicity that Shipp & Co., Bronson Batchelor, Inc., and all of the

articles written, and speakers' publicity. It says the company had
made arrangements, and I suppose he is speaking for the company,
and correct me if I am wrong, and that it has many contacts to get

them to send resolutions and personal letters to their Senators, news-
papers, and so forth.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I have no criticism to make of your state-

ment, Mr. Raushenbush, but I think I would like to study the letter

a little before I could say I could confirm it all.

Mr. Raushenbush. The question is simplj^^ whether or not Mr.
Hale was speaking as an employee of the company. Could you turn
that letter over to somebody ? Perhaps Mr. Weston is here, or some-
body conversant with that, and that you would like to have any
negative answer registered at the proper place in the record. If
Mr. Weston wants to state that, we can have the answer inserted at

this point or later on.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. You want Mr. Weston to testify directly

to this? He was the gentleman who was abroad.
Mr. Raushenbush. If yoii think it is important enough.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know whether it is important or

not.

Mr. Raushenbush. May we have Mr. Weston sworn, please, Mr.
Chairman ?

TESTIMONY OF CHARLES K. WESTON

PROPAGANDA FOR PROTECTIVE DYE LEGISLATION

(The witness was duly sworn by the chairman.)
Mr. Weston. This is a report of the activities, not of the du Pont

Co. particularly but of the entire chemical—not the entire, but a
very large part of the chemical industry of the United States at
that time. They were formed into the Dyes Institute, I think was
the name, and I was a member of that institute, the publicity and
legislative committee, and this is a report of the activities of the
committee representing the industry.
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Mr. Raushenbush. In 1920 the company contributed $21,773.49 and
in 1921 $10,100 to the Chemical Institute."^

Mr. Weston. I do not know.
Mr. Raushenbush. That is '' Exhibit No. 913."

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not to the chemical industry-

Mr. Raushenbush. I am sorry, to the American Dyes Institute.

Mr. Weston. Yes ; later merged into the Synthetic Organic Chemi-
cal Manufacturers' Associations of the United States.

Mr. Raushenbush. You contributed to an organization which, I

take it, paid Dr. Hale his expenses and fees in these matters. I do
not think it is an important point whether or not he was paid directly

by the company. The thing I was interested in was whether or not
this was not a fair statement about this campaign for protecting the

dye industry that was carried on. Dr. Hale was making speeches

that fairly represented things that were said, and we make certain

allowances for the post-war hysteria at that time, in 1921, and we
find Dr. Hale making a speech that the publicity department quoted,
dated December 16, 1921, called '• The War After the War." That
had some interesting conmients to make on the peace treaty from
the angle of the chemical industry.

Mr. Weston. May I just interject there? I think Dr. Hale was
the vice president of the Dow Chemical Co., and not merely an
employee who was speaking.
Mr. Raushenbush. Most of the gentlemen, as you list them here

as paying their fees and expenses, seem to be men of a great deal of

standing, Mr. Weston, not only Dr. Hale but Dr. Parsons and others.

Mr. Weston. Dr. Herty and others.

Mr. Raushenbush. Dr. Herty is not on that particular list. That
woidd not be the point. You can comment on it, Mr. du Pont, if

you care to, wdiether that was not the sort of atmosphere in which
the chemical protection was put over, speeches like this being made
imder your own auspices and those of the American Dyes Institute.

I am getting at this simply to get at the point of the matter, because
it seems to me that w-as the point that carried at that time.

I now offer the exhibits just referred to as " Exhibits Nos. 912,

913, and 914."

(The memorandum referred to as " Our Present and Proposed
Activities" was marked '"Exhibit No. 912" and is included in the
appendix on p. 2562.)

(The Report of the Activities of the Chemical Industry referred to

was marked " Exhibit No. 913 " and is included in the appendix on
p. 2563.)

(The address by Dr. William J. Hale entitled " The War After
the War " was marked " Exhibit No. 914 " and is included in the

api^endix on p. 2564.)

Mr. Raushenbush. Dr. Hale comments:

The peace treaty was drawn up entirely tri)ni tlie standpoint ol modern
medievalism, or that period just preceding the advent of cliemistry in the
world of industry, and the result was appalling. Thus the " Bungle of
Versailles" was given to man and passed forthwith into obsolete history. Its

four points, from the standpoint of the future, may be characterized as follows:
1. National hatreds engendered by silly apportionments of trivial territory.

2. Germany tinancially crippled but stirred to industrial activities, such as
will soon reinstate her in the iwsition of world leader.
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3. Germany deprived of those useless adjuncts of a nation's pride—lier battle-

ships—and thus saved from wasting her wealth on monstrosities of the future.

4. As a gift from the gods, there was left to Germany all of the implements
for future wars, and she was asked to develop them to her best ability.

Then he tells the story about the Badische-Anilin und Soda-Fabrik
at Ludwigshafen, and there was the manufacture of indigo, and
points out that

—

Were Germany to be drawn into war, this entire plant may be converted into

a mustard-gas plant in less than an hour's time.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think that is a little exaggerated.
Mr. Raushenbush. That is the vice president of the Dow Chemical

Co.

Mr. Weston. I suggested that I think he is.

Mr. Raushenbush. He may be taking a fee for going around mak-
ing these speeches, but supposedly he is saying what is accurate.

He speaks of the indigo plant of the Badische-Anilin which can be
converted into a mustard gas plant in an hour's time. You know that

outfit, do you not. Dr. Sparre ?

Dr. Spakre. It, Badische Co., is part of the I. G. now.
Mr. Raushenbush. It is part of the I. G. now (

Dr. Sparee. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. We do not want to go too far afield in this,

but the whole point I am making is that this was a tariff speech
at the time, and he went on to state that the international bankers
who had trade in Europe would take an awful lacing in this regard,

and that American industry must be prepared to m'eet tliis after the

war. In other words, there should be a tariff to protect the chem-
ical industry.

This cable from Mr. Poucher, in which he says that disarmament
is a farce as long as Germany maintains her chemical monopoly,
and the statement by Lefebure, and the speech by Mr. Hale are only
typical things which were in the files, showing, it seems to us, that

the whole question of control of the chemical industry was really a

very important one to the whole question of disarmament.
Would you not accept that at this moment?
Dr. Sparre. If you ask me, I rather have a different opinion.

Mr. Raushenbush. All right, sir.

Mr. Sparre. I do not tliink so.

Mr. Raushenbush. You think these men were wrong ?

Dr. Sparre. If course, different men have different opinions. So
far as I am concerned, I was engaged in the munitions end up to

1916, and that year I was asked to discontinue my work in con-
nection with munitions and undertake a study of new industries,

which the du Pont Co. would take up after the close of the war,
because of at least some people's opinion being, and being also my
own, that that would probably be the last war in our generation, at
least the last large war. We had a large organization of very
competent men, technical men and financial men, and such an organ-
ization is a very valuable asset. And we did not think it was proper
business or fair to the men to discharge them immediately peace
was declared.

Mr. Raushenbush. Pardon me, but are you not getting into what
may seem to be a changing over to another industry ? I was simply
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trying to get at the fact that these people were using this argu-
ment to put through the tariff: that the chemical industry had a

relation to war and disarmament, and I asked for an agreement or
disagreement on that fact.

Dr. Sparre. It is true that there is a relationship, but I think it

was very much exaggerated in those days. Certainly the fact is

that the du Pont Co., being now engaged very widely in the chemical
industry, probably only 1 or 2 percent of our business is connected
with munitions. Over 98 percent of our business is commercial.
Senator Clark. Was not that the theory on which we took over

the Germans' chemical patents, Doctor?
Dr. Sparre. The chemical patents were, of course, taken over by

the United States Government.
Senator Clark. Is not that the correct theory?
Dr. Sparre. To some extent, certainl}^, because during time of war

then everything becomes of military value.

Senator Ci^ark. We did take them and keep them on that theory,

did we not?
Dr. Sparre. Yes, but, when peace is declared these patents have

no longer military value.

Mr. Raushenbush. Either the people who sold this tariff to the

country, if one may use that phrase, in those days—and that is, as I

say, of course, only typical of a great many other instances—were
completely wrong, or they were offering a proposition which had
some sense to it ; that is, this proposition that as long as the Badische-
Anilin has a plant that can be converted into a mustard-gas plant,

if true is certainly interesting, on the whole question of chemical
{irmament, and certainly everybody applied it in those days.

" Disarmament is a farce while Germany retains organic chem-
ical monopolies ", signed by your man Poucher, which is a proposi-

tion which we at this moment are now willing to accept; that the

chemical questions were right in the middle of the disarmament
problem, and I wonder whether most of you now here would not
really accept that even today, after some 10 or 15 years beyond the

particular instances that led to this particular action on the tariff.

We still find that in a chemical code you put clauses referring to

the importance of that industry in the preparedness situation, for

example, which was undertaken last year,

Mr, Lammot du Pont, Mr. Raushenbush, I do not think there is

any question in anybody's mind that the chemical industry is very
important from the military standpoint, but the degree of import-
ance is different in every individual's mind.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is fair enough. There are times, let us

say, when it is more important, to state it one way, perhaps, than
another.

Mr. Sparre. I said, Mr. Raushenbush, that the opinions here im-
mediately after the war, I thinl?:, were exaggerated, in the light of
present knowledge. I said that the chemical industry is immensely
important, during time of war, and I said during peace times that

it is also so, but it is commercial products.
Mr. Raushenbush. I do not think there is any argument on that,

Dr. Sparre. The big chemical companies, not only the German,
but ours and the French and English, are prominent at peace-time
conferences, and have to be, so they claim.
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Mr. Sparre. That is right.

Mr. Raushenbush. The only point I Avas raising is that in war
time or the period before war, which Major Casey told us might be
10 years the other day, they had a peculiar importance, and the only
thing I was going to draw out of that—and again subject to cor-

rection on this—I was going to accept the proposition that these
people, Mr. Poucher and the others, expressed in those days that dis-

armament would be a farce without such control, and he said with-
out the German chemical monopoly controlled, and I want to take
it one step further and say that disarmament would be a farce with-
out control of the chemical industry. That is what I was trying
to get at.

If these people are wrong, then perhaps this conclusion is wrong.
Dr. Sparre. I think it is very much exaggerated.
Mr. Raushenbush. You do?
Dr. Sparre. Because the chemical industry is a commercial indus-

try, with a negligible part of its sales for munitions purposes during
times of peace, but during times of war the sales for munitions pur-
poses become a much larger percentage, but nevertheless, the com-
mercial requirement is far larger.

Mr. Raushenbush. The comment which should be made on that, T

think. Dr. Sparre, is this : That war-time preparedness naturally is

always taking place in peace times, and if we look across the border of

Germany, or France looks across the line and says, "All these big
chemical plants can within a few days be producing poison gas ", it

has an effect on what France does.

That is what I was trying to say. What happens after the war
starts is less important than the feeling about it. I was making a

very simple point and not trying to make anything very complicated
out of it; that is, that proposition that your people referred to, that

disarmament after the war seemed to be a farce as long as Germany
kept her chemical monopoly, and I wanted to take it one step further,

and see whether chemical companies were in the middle of the dis-

armament question toda3\ and whether it might follow that unless

there was some international control of chemical companies, disarma-
ment might still be a farce.

I threw that open as a tentative conclusion from what I had gotten
out of this. I think possibly we will come back to it later.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Might I say a word on this situation ?

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes, sir.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It is just another man's point of view on tht

whole subject.

As I recollect the situation before the war, Germany was the

largest producer of what we call organic chemicals or dyes. There
is no way of distinguishing between an organic chemical, a dye, and
an ordinary chemical. There is no sharp difference. Formerly
organic chemicals were those which grew naturally, either from vege-
tables or through other natural processes, but later on those chemicals
were produced artificially from all sorts of inorganic substances, and
dyes were a part of that group, a small part, probably.
The whole thing is interwoven. Take the manufacture of indigo.

That may result in production of a large quantity of byproduct.
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To get rid of that it is used as a raw material for manufacture that
some other industry might be engaged in, so that the whole chemical
industry is one of making major products, and taking the byproducts
and converting them again into other products and byproducts, still

going further, so that there is a continual change and interrelation

of all these products.
Take the question of munitions : It today happens that the princi-

pal munitions are classified among the chemical industry, and also

among the organic chemicals, as I know them, although they were
never made naturally or never occurred naturallj^

Let us take a small instance : We might take nitrotoluene, which
is used for munitions and commercial explosives. The knowledge
of making nitrotoluene, which was all we had when the war began,
put the Government in the position of being able to make trinitro-

toluene, TNT. It is the knowledge of the one which gives you the
knowledge of the other. Although the processes for making nitro-

toluene are not suitable for trinitrotoluene, they are closely allied.

The same thing occurs all through the industry; that is, the knowl-
edge of one thing is useful in connection with the knowledge of how to

make some other product.
In the war materials, there are continuously new inventions being

made, which are used in small quantities only, but are very important.
Such knowledge cannot be had unless a body of experienced men is

engaged in research, and finding out how to get things, learning what
others are doing, and reproducing those inventions either by obtain-
ing direct knowledge or by additional research.

So that it is very important that every nation shall have the
knowledge connected with these products. If the whole thing was
left in German hands, or in the hands of any country, they would
have not only the know-how, the men to do it, and the apparatus
to do it, but they would have a tremendous volume of production on
which to build an explosive business, if it were required.
The important point, as I see it, at the end of the war, was to

reduce the important volume of German business and transfer it

to British or French or other control, so that they would have the
volume basis, the experience basis, and the man-power basis that
Germany had practically monopolized. I wdsh you would correct
me. Dr. Sparre, because I may go wrong on some facts, and if I do,
you may check me up right away—when Germany started in the
chemical industry, one of the first things they made was turkey-red
dye and indigo dye.

Is that right. Dr. Sparre?
Dr. Sparre. Yes, sir.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The German plan was to sell those dyes in
great volume. They put natural turkey-red and natural indigo com-
pletely out of business, and that whole enormous trade which for-
merly belonged to China, was transferred to Germany, That en-
abled Germany to have a great background of industry on which
they could build the more intricate dyes, those more difficult to make,
and those used in smaller volume. They would sell their indigo
and turkey-red at prices with which nobody could compete, and that
enabled them to make these other dyes, also beyond the competition
of other people, because they had no volume of production, of course.
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Mr. Eaushenbush. I think all this is accepted, Mr. du Pont.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think it is.

Mr. Raushenbush. We accepted that as the proposition that Ger-
many had a great advantage in the chemical industry.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It became necessary to distribute that among
the nations, if Germany was not to retain this immense monopoly^
this great chemical industry.

Mr. Raushenbush. You might also couple that with the proposi-

tion, the very sam^e thought Mr. Poucher had, that unless that was
done, that the matter of disarming was a farce. It would go along
that line, would it not? That is, if Germany had the whole monopoly
of dyes and patents that it had before the war, on low-grade products
and so forth, that other countries could not go in for disarmament.
Is not that right?

Mr, Pierre du Pont. That is right.

Mr. Raushenbush. In 1921 we have some instances of the way that

this campaign was conducted—and I do not want to dwell on them
too much—being a letter dated March 25, 1921, from your publicity

manager to an employee of yours in Washington by the name of
McNeely, which I will offer for appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 915 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2569.)^

Mr. Raushenbush. I want to point out what is said in the third

paragraph of that letter, which reads as follows (reading) :

It is, of course, a fact and is quite apparent that American dye manufacturers
want to protect and develop their industry as a business proposition, but we
want more than the ordinary tariff for the reason that this is an intricate
industry and cannot be developed except under unusual conditions. It really

requires the absolute embargo of competitive products so that we can secure
an income over the sale of these which will be sufficient to pay for the develop-
ment of the products which we have not yet learned to make.

I think with the present unsettled condition of world affairs, and with
Germany's attitude toward the peace treaty argimrents based on the question
of disarmament are very much stronger than any others.

We cite your publicity manager because supposedly he was in

charge of putting the campaign out before the country, and the
argument was being made on the question of disarmament. I want
to go back to that a little later.

We will enter that as an exhibit.

Then a book was apparently prepared by the American Dyes
Institute, in the same year, and put out again, making the same
case, and being sent to all the people, Senators, Congressmen, and
so forth.

It makes a stronger case for the dyes, and says that with an efficient dye-
making industry, no nation need fear disarmament.

I will repeat that

:

With an efficient dye-making industry, no nation need fear disarmament, but
without such an industry the disarmed nation would be at the mercy of any
other dye-making nation in the world.

Again he makes the same point I was trying to make a minute
ago, and ran into a little difficulty on, namely, that no nation need
fear disarmament, if it has an efficient dye-making industry, but

^ " Exliibit No. 915" was refprrecl to furtlipr in Fart XII, p. 2704.
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without such an industry the disarmed nation would be at the mercy
of any other dye-making nation in the world.

I confess I cannot quite understand what he means by it, but he
goes on, in the next paragraph, to state (reading) :

It points out how quickly a nation with an adequate dye industry can expand
it to make the gases with which Germany almost won the war and which
must figure so prom'iuently in all future conflicts.

Again I am not sure I understand what he means. I simply
want to make the point that here the whole matter appeared to me
to be somewhat under the guise of war defense—using " guise "

without any reflection—somewhat under the theory of war defense,
and was being developed in that way and was being put before
the public.

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 916 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2569.)

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The proposition is exactly the same as it is

in the matter of food. A nation is at a great disadvantage if it has
to depend on others for its food, because food is the greatest am-
munition, without which no one could exist at all. It is the same
proposition,

Mr. Raushenbush. Does not your analogy break down if a nation
can borrow food ?

Mr Pierre du Pont. I do not think so.

Mr. Raushenbush. You are talking about the chemical industry
being like food, and you were talking here about putting in an
embargo, or putting in a very high tariff with high foreign duties.

Using your illustration, it would be food. I was just pointing out
that it was not very analogous, when you look at it.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not so sure I follow^ you on that, but
if there is an embargo on the exportation of food to any nation
in the event of war, it is without food and goes down very quickly.

Mr. Raushenbush. There was an embargo on dyes into this

country.
Now, you kindly furnished us with several tables showing your

publicity expenses and your contribution to the American Dyes
Institute, and various other manufacturing organizations, T. R.
Shipp Services, American Chemical Society, Chemical Alliance,
and so forth, during those years. I have not added them up,
however.

Then, in addition, there are contributions to the Chemical Foun-
dation, of very considerable sums. Those were for patent royalties?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The Chemical Foundation w^as a founda-
tion organized for the purpose of taking over German patents.

Mr. Raushenbush. And these contributions of yours were in pay-
ment for those patents ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think they were contributions,
were they?
Mr. Raushenbush. Those payments.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think they were payments for the stock.

Mr. Raushenbush. It was a stock arrangement? Did the Chem-
ical Foundation conduct some of the propaganda, if j^ou will, for
some of these tariffs and embargoes at that time ?

83876—35—PT 11 2



2408 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I did not get the question.

Mr. Raushenbush. Read the question, Mr. Reporter.

(The pending question, as above recorded, was read by the re-

porter.)

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I cannot answer that.

Mr. Weston. Yes; very decidedly.

Mr. Raushenbush. They did take part?

Mr. Weston. Yes, sir ; they were very active in it.

Mr. Raushenbush. The stock purchasers of the Chemical Foun-
dation would pay for some of that ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Some of our payments to the Chemical
Foundation were for stock in the corporation, and some were by
way of royalties for use of the patents owned by the Chemical
Foundation.

(The table showing du Pont publicity expenses was marked " Ex-
hibit No. 917 '' and is included in the appendix on p. 2570.)

(The list of du Pont contributions to various chemical organiza-
tions was marked " Exhibit No. 918 '"' and is included in the appen-
dix on p. 2571.)

Mr. Raushenbush. All I was driving at was this—and again it

is not the most important point—that these contributions listed

here in " Exhibit No. 918 ", along with all the others, in some way
brought about a favorable reaction on the tariff legislation at that
time.

Mr. Lammot .du Pont. Of course, I cannot say what the actual
dollars which we paid into the Chemical Foundation were used for.

Presumably they put it in their bank account and then used the
money for their expenditures, whatever they were.
Mr. Raushenbush. It was something more than a foundation sim-

ply to hold the patents, was it not? It was actively engaged in

doing what it thought necessary to defend the chemical industry at

the time?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I understand it was formed to acquire the

German patents.

Mr. Raushenbush. And also to acquire the German patents; yes,

sir.

Then going on to a letter written November 29, 1919, in the middle
of this, addressed to W. S. Carpenter, a vice president of the du
Pont Co., from Mr. Meade, and dated in Paris, which I would like

to have you look at, especially on the second page, where we begin
to get what seems to be one of the explanations which is of very
intense interest in the matter of protecting the dye industry in this

country.
I will offer that as the next exhibit.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 919 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2571.)
Raushenbush. The point to which I particularly wish to refer

in that last exhibit is the end of the second paragraph on that page.

I wonder if you would read that. The letter deals with a great num-
ber of things, but largely the negotiations with the German chemical
industry, and I think you had men over there, did you not, negotiat-

ing with them off and on pretty steadily, from very shortly after

the war, on?



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2409

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No ; I think we had nobody there steadily.

Mr. Raushenbush. Oif and on. They were constantly going and
•coming, were they not?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think that is correct; yes, sir, not literally,

constantly.

Mr. Raushenbush. Who were your representatives over there ? At
this moment Mr. Meade was over there, and you also had a Mr. Berg
over there reporting to you.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir ; he was over there.

Mr. Raushenbush. And at various times it seems to me you had
other officers. Did not Mr. Poucher go over?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think he did.

Mr. Raushenbush. And Mr. Laffey?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I tliink so.

Mr. Raushenbush. And Mr. Kunz?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think so. I do not know that thev were

all there in 1919.

Mr. Raushenbush. We find them getting together in 1919.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think it is quite likely.

Mr. Raushenbush. While this business was going on, of showing
the country the importance of the chemical industry in warfare,
which most of us agree is of great importance—we divide, seem-
ingly, Dr. Sparre, only on the degree to which it is important

Dr. Sparre. No; I disagree with another statement.
Mr. Raushenbush. On that particular point?
Dr. Sparre. No; not on that particular point.

Mr. Raushenbush. We will come back to that in just a moment.
At the moment, when you were showing the country here that it

was very important to take over the control of the chemical
monopoly, to take it away from Germany and get a well-developed
chemical industry in this country, you were dealing with the Ger-
mans over there, and that sentence which I asked you to read would
throw some light on it, would it not?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Which sentence do you mean?
Mr. Raushenbush. I mean this one, toward the end of the second

paragraph, on the second page, which states [reading]

It may be that the I. G.—

that is the German dye trust

—

may decide to deal as a unit in the United States with either National,
Grasselli, or ourselves. At any rate you can see the importance of ever-
lastingly turning the regulatory screw in America both as to control of
imports and future protective legislation.

Now, as I understand it, the idea is that that letter says that the
Germans must know that you have control of the situation in this
counry, and that they cannot expect to use the export market, be-
cause you can prevent them in cloing that and that it is therefore
important to

—

everlastingly turn the regulatory screw in America both as to control of imports
and future protective legislation.

At the same time the big tariff campaign was going on. This was
one of the results of that campaign that brought the Germans to

terms?



2410 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Lammot du Pont, It was what was sought over there.

Mr. Eaushenbush. It was intended to bring the Germans to-

terms ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes ; to keep them out.

Mr. Raushenbush. In that connection, in the same document there
are minutes of a meeting held November 20, 21, and 22 at the Baur
au Lac Hotel. Zurich, Switzerland, in which the representatives of
the Badische Co. had an indigo plant to be converted into a mustard-
gas plant, according to Dr. Hale, inside of an hour.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not an indigo plant.

Mr. Raushenbush. He referred to it as having an indigo process,,

didn't he?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Only a part of the plant.

Mr. Raushenbush. They had a much bigger plant, of course.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I am not a chemist, but I do not think,

indigo and mustard gas would relate to the same thing at all.

Mr. Raushenbush. I do not want to be formalistic about this ; Dr.
Hale describes in detail that matter, but I skipped the description.

But let us take, for example, indigo, and he talks about how it is

processed, the making of chlorine gas, and so on, and he says that
with Germany drawn into war this entire plant could be converted
into a mustard-gas plant in less than an hour's time.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I said I thought that was an exaggeration.
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes; you did at the time.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. Now, coming to this negotiation you were hav-
ing with the Germans at the time—that memorandum of the minutes
I would like to enter as an exhibit with the proper number.

(The minutes referred to were marked " Exhibit No. 920 " and are
included in the appendix on p. 2573.)

Mr. Raushenbush. It is proposed here to form a world corpora -

tion—what they call a world company—with this German company.
Isn't that about it? They reserve the German market for them-
selves, and they say the French market is tied up by the French, but
you will have about the rest of the world on that. Isn't that about
an accurate outline of what this process was ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not see that.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is on the first page there [reading] :

The world company should have the whole world as its market, except as
follows

:

(a) France with whom the Badische Co. already have made a contract which
is limited to the manufacture and sale only in France, her colonies, and pro-
tectorates. It is understood that should the French fail to carry out their
plans these territories should be included in those assigned to the world
company.

(6) The Badische Co. shall be granted an exclusive territory in which to
exploit the process, Germany and the territory known as "Austria-Hungary."

And certain further rights in Europe. And then you seem to have
the rest of the world there, according to this tentative plan.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. The paragraph numbered 1 there says it is

possible to do that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes. And then you go on to describe what
that company would be if that plan went through.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It was all possible.
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Mr. Ratjshenbush. Yes ; it was all possible. The point is not the

detail here, Mr. du Pont. What I am trying to get at is that tbere

were fairly serious negotiations going on at the time.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. At that stage they were all possibilities.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes. Here was a new situation the world was
in. Germany had had the chemical monopoly, had shown it up very
expressly in a military way during the war, and the chemical com-
panies in the rest of the world were interested in either utilizing their

processes or their chemists or their markets, isn't that true ? There is

nothing unusual about it. All I am trying to get is an agreement
on that.

JNIr. Lammot du Pont. No. The only point I wanted to make is

that they were discussing possibilities.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes. This did not go through.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No.
Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Sparre, did you want to interrupt to tell

>me where I made a mistake a little while ago?
Dr. Sparre. I said I disagreed with the statement that the dis-

armament would be a farce unless tlie chemical industry were under
control.

Mr. Raushenbush. Would you raise your voice, please ?

Dr. Sparre. Do you want me to repeat it?

Mr. Raushenbush. No ; but would you just raise your voice from
now on?

Dr. Sparre. All right. That was my only disagreement. That
was a statement I made.
Mr. Raushenbush. You disagreed with' what was said here about

the disarmament being a farce unless the chemical industry were
under control?

Dr. Sparre. Yes. I think that is an exaggeration. I don't think
there is the slightest foundation for it. I don't think that it has
any connection with disarmament.
Mr. Raushenbush. You don't think it has any connection with

disarmament?
Dr. Sparre. The commercial chemical industry.
Mr. Raushenbush. Did you see any material put out by chemical

companies, the American dye industry, when they made their case

at the time ? Or was that put out over your opposition ?

Dr. Sparre. No; I do not disagree with anything else said, only
that one statement.
Mr. Raushenbush. I certainly thought in those days when they

were trying to protect their newly won industry against the rest

of the world, it was right in line with the disarmament question.

It is either concerned with the armament question or the disarma-
ment question, is it not? There isn't much doubt about that, is

there?
Dr. Sparre. No; I think it is a commercial industry.
Mr. Raushenbush. Then why did you write a year ago that " the

industry is to be considered especially because of its importance to

national defense " ?

Dr. Sparre. It is important to national defense; yes. I don't

have any disagreement with that.

Mr. Raushenbush. National defense being then either disarma-
.ment or armament. It is either way you do it. It is in the middle
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of the aniiainent question rather than the disarnient question. It

is very important, is it not ? I believe we agree on that.

Dr. Sparre. Certainly it is very important; yes. There is no dis-

agreement on that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Coming back to this outline, here is another
letter dated January 12, 1920, which will be offered as an exhibit.

(The extract of letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 921 "

and is included in the appendix on page 2574.)
Mr. Raushenbush. That is an extract from a letter dat^d January

12, 1920, from Mr. Berg, describing a further conference between the
English and the Germans and the Belgians in Aachen, in Germany,.
January 12, 1920, in which the English and the Belgians and ap-
parently the French—French members of the Solvay Company—are

also trying to negotiate with the Germans, and the head of the
German group has said he has already made an arrangement Avith

the du Pont Co. to tie up with them, if thej^ can agree.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. On what subject was that, Mr. Raushen-
bush ?

Mr, Raushenbush. Do you want me to go through the whole
letter?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No. I think the subject was mentioned in:

the fifth paragraph.
Mr. Raushenbush. Of the second page?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. The first page, where it says, " World ex-

ploitation of the ammonia process."

Mr. Raushenbush. I don't seem to find that.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is the fifth paragraph on the first page.
Mr. Raushenbush. Oh, yes. " World exploitation of the ammonia

process is concerned."
It says [reading] :

The Badisclie has, as you know, been communicating with Brunner Mend
for quite some time and he believed the Badische should see them alone and
inform them in a general way about our arrangement as far as the world
exploitation of the ammonia process is concerned.

Did the Badische have other processes which were particularly

interesting to you in a chemical way at that time ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Why, yes; they had a very large number
of processes.

Mr. Raushenbush. It was one of the leading chemical companies
of Germany; was it not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. It was only in that connection that I wanted to^

bring that out.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Incidentally, that previous report, I think^
refers to the ammonia process also.

Mr. Raushenbush. Now we come back to Washington about this

time in 1920, and on January 22, 1920, we have a letter from Mr.
Poucher to Mr. Irenee du Pont.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No, 922" and is

included in the appendix on p. 257G.)^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr, Chairman, I think it is unfortunate that

Mr, Irenee du Pont was excused today. That is a part that requires

his presence.

I
•' Exhibit No. 922" was referred to further in Part XII, p. 2774.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Who?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Irenee dii Pont.
Mr. Raushenbush. That is right.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. He was at that time the president and he
would have at his fingers' ends things that I do not know anything
about, and I doubt if my brother Lammot is familiar with it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I am just pinch hitting.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Could we pass to another part of it and let

that go until he returns?

Mr. Raushenbush. See if you can help identify events there.

Were you still president of the company there in 1920, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. No.
Mr. Raushenbush. Not in 1920?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No. I had nothing to do with this part of

it and I am totally unfamiliar with it, except as it comes to me by
reading the documents for the first time.

Mr. Raushenbush. It is a matter describing the fight here inWash-
ington. It says, " Situation clearer and better today." Can you
identify " Martin " and " the major " and " Culbertson "? Mr. Wes-
ton, you were active in all this?

Mr. Weston. Yes. That was 15 years ago, but I cannot think who
Martin is or the major.
Mr. Raushenbush. You have seen all of this correspondence re-

cently, haven't you?
Mr. Weston. Yes; and I have tried to remember a lot of it, but

have been only partially successful.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The only one I recall there is Culbertson.

He was a Senator at the time.
Mr. Raushenbush. He was a Senator?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. And Wood, do you recognize as John P. Wood,

the Congressman?
Mr. Weston. Where did he figure? I don't recognize the name.
Mr. Raushenbush. He was in Congress. Perhaps you can get it

from this.

Situation clearer and better tmlay.
Martin and the major are liard at it. The plan is to push and keep Wood

in the background ; that is, beliind Culbertson. Martin and the major are to
fight it out with Culbertson by agreement witli Senator Curtis.
They will take anything from Culbertson that will help embargo and nothing

that will hurt.

It is not that so much as the next paragraph that I am interested
in:

The major will likely propose that, as this is a measure touching national
defense ; the Commission should be headed by General Siebert to give it the
flavor of defense rather than tariff.

Does anybody place the major in that story?
Mr. Weston. I cannot.
Mr. Raushenbush. The only point there was that here was a defi-

nite attempt to give, I suppose, the Embargo Commission a flavor of
defense rather than of tariff. That is the only purpose.
Mr. Weston. Culbertson was a member of the Tariff Commission^

wasn't he?



2414 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not recall that.

Mr. Kaushenbush. That is the only purpose for which that is

introduced.
Mr. Weston. No; that does not mean anything to me. The only

major I can think of was a Major Sylvester. That is bringing in

another dead man, but I don't think he had anything to do with that.

Mr. Kaushenbush. Mr. Weston, are you " C. K. W." ?

Mr. Weston. Yes.

Mr .Kaushenbush. I have here a letter signed by you, addressed

to Mr. Kust, of the Koppers Co. in Pittsburgh, November 10, 1919.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 923 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2577.)

Mr. Kaushenbush. That refers to a Col. John P. Wood. Is that

the man referred to in the earlier letter ?

Mr. Weston. Yes; Twenty-second and Spring Garden. John P.

Wood was, I think, head of a large textile industry in Philadelphia.

Mr. Kaushenbush. Yes.
Mr. Weston. That " Twenty-second and Spring Garden " rather

identifies it.

Mr, Kaushenbush. Yes; it does. Then you were asking the sup-

port of the Koppers group in Pittsburgh, with Mr. Grundy in

Pennsylvania to help you in this matter, w^eren't you ?

Mr. Weston. Yes.
Mr. Kaushenbush. Then there is another letter which shows some-

what the same sort of thing, and again may I point out that I per-

sonally feel that when an industry wants to get something it operates
in certain wa3^s, and one cannot at long distance pass too much judg-
ment on it, and I am not attempting that, but here is a letter dated
March 23, 1920, addressed to Mr. Choate and signed by Mr. Poucher,
which deals with this same business.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 924 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2577.)
Mr. Kaushenbush, Will you look at that, Mr. du Pont, if you can ?

It deals with this opposition of the textile industry to your bill and
shows the rather interesting way one of your men attempted, it

seems, to influence the textile industry. I refer to the last para-
graph on the first page, beginning " Incidentally, Mr. Hobbs." Can
anybody identify Mr. Hobbs, Mr. Franklin W, Hobbs?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. He was a man interested in textiles in New

England ; I think in Providence.
Mr. Kaushenbush (reading) :

Incidentally, Mr. Hobbs called Mr. Woods' attention to the movement under
way by the Department of Justice, to investigate the textile industry on the
charge of undue profiteering. At any rate, Mr. Wood decided to call this meet-
ing. Mr. Hobbs tells me he made a statement along the lines of Mr. Hobbs'
letter. This was followed by some remarks by Mr. Auerbach, to the effect that
in his opinion these mills should all support the bill.

It would seem to be a little use of well, perhaps, inside information
from the Department of Justice in the matter. Does anybody know
anything about that transaction at all? Don't you remember, Mr.
Weston ?

Mr. Weston. Let me check it again. I have not noticed this.

Mr. Kaushenbush. I realize we are at some handicap by the ab-

sence of Mr. Irenee du Pont, but he was excused.
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Mr. Weston. Where is that reference to the Department of

Justice ?

Mr. Eaushenbush. The last paragraph.
Mr. Weston. No ; I cannot throw any light on that.

Mr. Rausitenbush. You do not identif}^ that in any way?
Mr. Weston. No, it does not register with me at all.

Mr. Raushenbush. We come to another letter dated February 3,

1920, from your agent, Mr. Berg, over in France to the du Pont Co.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 925 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2578.)^

Mr. Raushenbush. In the second paragraph on the second page of

this letter, the Germans seemed to realize that you are doing what
seems to be working against them over in this country. There isn't

much question about that point, is there ? Dr. Herty was in on that,

apparently. Now, did this scrap, Mr. du Pont or Mr. Swint, or as

far as anybody remembers here, did this business of your raising

the tariff against the Germans sort of put an end for awhile to

your negotiations with them about these various things ? Was there

the feeling that they would not particularly deal with you on their

processes and patents as the result of this?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That paragraph seems to indicate that.

Mr. Raushenbush. I mean, what is your general experience and
memory on that thing? How about it?

Mr. Swint. i was not connected with this sort of work at that

time.

Mr. Raushenbush. Was there a lapse in connection with your
securing this?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We never did get it.

Mr. Raushenbush. On any arrangements at all?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not on this ammonia job.

Mr. Raushenbush. No, but didn't it affect the German companies
generally ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think it did. but I do not recall

how it happened.
Mr. Raushenbush. I do not want to particularly go into it, but we

have some other letters about it.

Now, coming back to the Congress of the United States, it would
seem that Mr. Irenee du Pont had taken the fight down to Congress
himself. Was he then the president of the company, Mr. Pierre
du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. When did he take it over ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. In 1919.

Mr. Raushenbush. That exhibit needs some identification, per-
haps, and we had better wait until he comes back on that. Let me
take that up later. I will withdraw that for a moment.
At the same time that you were making this fight in the Con-

gress for your legislation, your protection, is it not true that you
had a man in Paris who was actively engaged in publicity work over
there in trying to get dispatches sent from both Paris and London
to make our people in this country feel that we absolutely had to

1 " Exhibit No. 935 " was referred to further in Part XII, p. 2756.
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have this protection for our dye industry or your dye industry as a
war measure ? Do you remember that, Mr. Weston ?

Mr. Weston. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. Will you tell us a little about that ? Here is a

letter from Mr. Raleigh written from Paris to you January 25, 1921,

which will be the next exhibit number.
(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 926" and is

included in the appendix on p. 2579.)

Mr. Weston. What is the name ?

Mr. Raltshenbush. Mr. Raleigh, addressed to Mr. Weston.
Mr. Weston. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. I call your attention to paragraph 3, as to the

matter of control of the press. He speaks of having arranged cer-

tain articles to come out in France. He goes and talks with some
prominent people there and gets news stories which seem to be

calculated to have a very definite effect on public opinion here.

Mr. Weston. That was the object of the visit over there. The
visit over there was to try to off-set the very rabid German propa-
ganda which was coming over here, I think, at that time—this is

back in what?
Mr. Raushenbush. In 1921.

Mr. Weston. At that time the question of reparation dyes was
under consideration. I think we were still officially at war with
Germany at that time. I don't remember just when we signed the

treaty. When was it? Anyway, the question of reparation dyes
was a very live topic. There were a number of American chemists
and people interested in the industry over there, and we were very
anxious at this end, our D^^e Institute committee, to offset what we
thought were the unfair and untrue stories that were coming from
abroad. I went over there to try to get in touch with the news
sources and put the American newspaper correspondents in touch
with the sources of information. Mr. Raleigh was an old American
newspaper acquaintance of mine, and when I left I left him in

charge of that work. His work principally was to keep the news
going from the American sources over there rather than from the
German sources which we had been getting.

Mr. Raushenbush. You speak of the

—

Public Ledger syndicate and the Chicago Tribune syndicate papers are to be
supplied with a story I have arranged which will point out that the French
Government, upon confidential information from its investigators in Germany
regarding a coming great German dump of goods, will further increase its co-
efficient tariff rates on dyestuffs, chemicals, etc. The stories will point out that
France will increase the coefficients not only to safeguard French industry but
also to prevent further unemployment.

You go on, then, with other letters addressed to your department,
filed by them, Mr. Poucher, and others, particularly January 5, 1920,
to cite the headlines in the British papers, " Britain foresees gas
war."
That will be offered as an exhibit.
(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 927 " and

is included in the appendix on p. 2580.)^

1 " Exhibit No. 027" was referred to further in I'art XII, p. 2759.
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Mr. Raushenbush. That headline continues

:

New legislation will shut out dyestuffs and enable plants to be built which
can be converted into poison-gas factories.

You cite further stories from the British papers

:

Dye plants, by a slight change, can be readily converted into war plants for

the manufacture of poison gas.

Then you take credit on January 15. 1921, for a story in the Bos-

ton Transcript, dated from London. "" Britain fore-^ees <ias warfare ",

a story by Wythe Williams from Paris about German dye plots

against tlie United States; the Evening Bulletin of Philadelphia,

dispatch dated from London; and the Public Ledger, a dispatch

dated from Paris. '" Germany sets dye trade trap."

That will be offered as another exhibit.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 928 ",

and is included in the appendix on p. 2851.^

Mr. Weston. I do not remember the details of that, but all of

that was part of a campaign that we were conducting for the up-
building of the American dye industry and to offset, as I said before,

the things that were coming out of Germany that I thought were
inimical to our own industry.

Mr. Raushenbush. And you had the men in Paris who were writ-

ing articles for the Paris editions of the New York Herald and Chi-
cago Tribune writing under assitmed names; is that right?

Mr. Weston. Yes. I think that was Ben Raleigh. Ben Raleigh
was the European representative of the Whaley-Eaton News Serv-
ice, and Ben was doing this entirely outside of his Whaley-Eaton
connection, and he did not want to do it under his own name.
Mr. Raushenbush. He was writing under the name of Guy Martin

for publication purposes?
Mr. Weston. I do not recall the name, but if that is the name

that is given in the letter, that is it.

Mr. Raushenbush. I will offer as an exhibit, dated April 28, 1921,

letter from the publicity manager to Mr. Meade, dealing with that
«tory.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 929 ", and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2581.)

Mr. Raushenbush. Now, isn't this true—this is not your chemical
company we want to got into, but the others—is it not true that
you thought the situation was important enough so that you had
to send a man over to Europe to keep the pot boiling, not only in

Paris but in London, with dispatches that would be calculated to
make the American people see the importance of favoring your par-
ticular industry ?

Mr. AVeston. That is exactly what we were after.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is exactly what you were after and
exactly what you were doing.

Mr. Westox. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. Just to show you were not the only ones here,

I want to offer an exhibit dated June 14, 1922, which indicates

—

again, you received this from the Whaley-Eaton Service—that some

1 " Exhibit No. 928 " was referred to further in part XII, p. 2760.
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of your competitors in the chemical industry were over negotiating

with the Germans,
(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 930", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2582.)

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. du Pont, would you recognize that letter

at all? Do you recognize which of your competitors were over

there, referred to in those negotiations?

Mr. Weston. I don't know.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, I do not recognize them at all.

Mr. Raushenbush. Isn't there anj^body here, outside of Mr, Irenee

du Pont, more closely connected with the whole tariff and dye busi-

ness at that time? Your competitors were apparently over there,,

and, according to this, they were using three United States Con-
gressmen to help them in their negotiations. Don't you remember
who those people were? It must have been some company of some
importance.
Mr, Lammot du Pont, This refers to competitors.

Mr. Weston. This, I take it, Mr. Raushenbush, is a quotation from
the Whaley-Eaton Service, which is one of these Washington news
services,

Mr. Raushenbush. A cable from Paris.

Mr. Weston. Sent along as a matter of information. That would
be my guess on that, without knowing anything at all about it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Your staff has all this correspondence some-
w^here in the back of the room, I am sure, but, as I remember it

from the rest of the papers which we did not take, one of your com-
petitors had this particular Congressman mentioned in the third

line helping them in connection with the negotiations with the Ger-
mans at the time. Now we find out he had two other Congressmen
associated with him, which makes three, and what I am trying to

get at is what company that was that was so interested in getting

in on this German dye industry.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Weren't they all interested, all of the manu-
facturers in the chemical industry?
Mr. Weston. All except those who had German connections. They

were not interested in this American Dye Institute. That was Metz
and some others. I forget who.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Weren't all of the members of the Dye In-

stitute active in this question?
Mr. Weston. All the members?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes,
Mr. Weston. Very active.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Haven't you a list of those members?
Mr. Weston, No; I have not.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Haven't you a list of the members of the
Dye Institute? I think that would be quite complete.

Mr. Raushenbush. I don't think we have that here, as I recall it.

Mr. Weston. It included all of the American dye and chemical
manufacturers, except the few who had German connections sur-

viving their pre-war control of the industry in this country. There
are not many of them.
Mr. Raushenbush. Wliat I am getting at is this: Some of you

must have known what your competitors were trying to do over
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there in Germany. Either they were trying to sign up with the
Germans on some of these patents and processes at the time when
the Germans were antagonistic to you because of tariff activities,

or else they were trying something else.

Mr. Weston. I am sure, without knowing names, that there were
no competitors in this thing, that all of the American dye and chem-
ical interests worked together in this movement, and that the only
competitors were the few with German connections wdio were not
members of the institute.

Mr. Raushenbush. Who would those be?
Mr. Pierre du Pont, I think at that time all of the German pat-

•ents were in this Cliemical Foundation. You see, the United States

Government took the whole thing over, and it was placed in the

hands of the Chemical Foundation, so the Germans were powerless
to negotiate their patents with anyone.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. And those patents were available to every

American manufacturer.
Mr. Raushenbush. The processes were still open, weren't they?

I mean, you were negotiating with them about this ammonia process

liere a little while ago.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was not a part of the dye industry.

Mr. SwiNT. I do not believe there were any patents valid at that
time. I am not sure.

Mr. Raushenbush. But there were processes of considerable

importance.
Mr. SwiNT. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. I do not think the distinction you made there

changes the subject?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. You are quite right in that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Here is something I do not want to stress too

much, but apparently the Germans had enough so that rather lead-

ing American Congressmen carried on negotiations for somebody
who I recall from your file was one of your competitors, and now
we find he has two others, who are rather important Congressmen,
associated with him. All I am trying to show is not what your
company was doing, but what competitive companies were doing,
and I wanted to see if somebody from your correspondence or file

could find what that transaction was or what the name of that
•company was.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I don't think there is anybody could state

that, unless it is Irenee, and I don't know whether he would be
able to.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Cannot we mark that for something to
investigate? We may be able to find out.

Mr, SwiNT. Mr, Raushenbush, I would like to correct that state-

ment about the question of patents, I recall now there were several
patents on ammonia that were still in force at that time. There
was a long series of them and some of them had expired and some not.

activities of AMERICAN DYE INDUSTRY IN OPPOSING ATTEMPTS TO
CONTROL THE CHEMICAL WARFARE BUSINESS IN 192 2

Mr. Raushenbush. In view of the absence of so many members,
when we arranged our schedule we did not realize, or I did not
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realize personally, that Mr. Irenee du Pont would not be here. I

think we would like to wait until his return before proceeding with

all of this. But I do want to ask Mr. Weston, who is here, just a

few more questions about things at this time, Mr. Weston, I want
to show you an exhibit dated September 22, 1921, which will be

offered.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 931 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2582.)^

Mr. Raushenbush. In this letter you wrote to Mr. P. H. Whaley
of the AVhaley-Eaton Service:

My Dear Whaley: You know, of course, that the chemical industry will

figure very largely in the coming Disarmament Conference. The Chemical
Warfare Service will, of course, be consulte<l. It may interest you, as a piece

of news, to learn that the chemical industry as a whole will be represented
through advisers to be appointed to help the American delegation solve its

problems. The names of several distinguished chemists are now under con-

sideration at the White House and announcement of the appointment of rep-

resentatives of the chemical industry probal:)ly will be made very soon.

For your private information, the President has received favorably the
suggestion that Dr. Charles H. Herty and Dr. Edgar Fahs Smyth, former
provost of the University of Pennsylvania and president of the American
Chemical Society, be named as advisere.

Could you identify Dr. Herty for us, Mr. Weston ?

Mr. Weston. Dr. Herty is one of the outstanding chemists of the
country. Dr. Herty is one of three who tonight is receiving high
honors from the Chemical Alliance in New York. That is where
Mr. Irenee du Pont has gone to present those honors to Dr. Herty,
Mr. Poucher, and Francis P. Garvin. Dr. Herty has been one of

the outstanding chemists of the country. Dr. Smith was a very
famous and Avell-known chemist and former provost of the University
of Pennsylvania, as it says here.

Mr. Raushenbush. Was not Dr. Herty involved in your negotia-

tion with the Germans? Had he not been in Europe for you?
Mr. Weston. Dr. Herty went to Europe for the Dyes Institute.

Mr. Raushenbush. For the Dyes Institute ?

Mr. Weston. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. But he was actively interested in your dealings

with the Germans at these various meetings, was he not?
Mr. Weston. He was actively interested in our activities here.

I do not know that he had anything to do with the Germans here.

Mr. Raushenbush. It seems to me that we ran into him a few
moments ago.

Mr. Weston. He was a Dyes Institute man.
Mr. Raushenbush. And you contribute, in turn, to the Dyes Insti-

tute?
Mr. Weston. We were a part of the organization.
Mr. Raushenbush. Then we come to something which took place

on November 9, 1921, and I show you this letter from the Whaley-
Eaton Service to Mr. Frank Byrne, which I wnll ask to be appro-
priately nnmbered.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 932 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2582.)^

Mr. Raushenbush. Was Mr. Byrne in your department?

1 " Exliibit No. 931 " was referred to further in Part XII, p. 2755.
^"Exhibit No. 932" was referred to further in Part XII, p. 2756.
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Mr. Weston. Frank Bj'rne is my assistant.

Mr. Raushenbush. That letter states [reading] :

Referring to your telephone inquiry in regard to the members of the French
delegation experts on chemical disarmament^

—

This was approaching the 1922 Chemical Disarmament Conference
here in Washington, was it not?

Our own information, as carried in our last week's foreign letter, came by
cable, which mentioned the names of these two gentlemen as Mayer and
Moren. On inquiry at the State Department, we find that M. Andre Mayer
is in Washington with the French delegation, but no M. Moren.

Then the letter goes on to state this, to which I call your attention

:

We tliink it very unlikely that we will he able to get any of the details of

the plan for chemical disarmament from these gentlemen, but we will do our
best.

Mr. Weston. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do I take it from that, that yon were trying to

sound out the members of the French disarmament delegation at that

time ?

Mr. Weston. I have tried to refresh my memory on this, and, as I

recall it, the Whalen-Eaton Service was a Washinglon news service,

and they sent out the announcement that these gentlemen were com-
ing over from Paris, as they say here in their foreign letter, and my
department asked the Whaley-Eaton Service if they had any more
information or if they could get any information to supplement their

news announcement. That is the reply.

Mr. Raushenbush. The reply is that, '' We think it very unlikely

that we will be able to get any of the details of the plan for chemical
disarmament from these gentlemen, but we will do our best."

Mr. Weston. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. Now, that, together with an exhibit dated No-
vember 25, 1921, which you wrote to Mr. Poucher, is interesting.

I will offer that last letter for appropriate number.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 933 ", and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2583.)^

Mr. Raushenbush. That letter reads

:

I am informed through the Washington " grapevine " that the British dele-
gation to the Limitation of Armaments Conference has a plan to submit con-
cerning the chemical industry which embotlies these points

—

That again is a disarmament conference or a limitation of arma-
ments and the chemical industry is coming into it, is it not?
Mr. Weston. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. And you were informed through the " Wash-
ington grapevine " about what the British delegation has. Could we
stop for a minute and find out just exactly whom you had down here
in Washington at that time ?

Mr. Weston. We had down here a large delegation and^ the
American Dyes Institute continued on the job. We had headquar-
ters established here, with a secretary. I suppose there was probably
at all times a half dozen or more representatives of the industry who
were here seeking all kinds of information bearing on this subject.

That is probably the " grapevine." I do not know.

1 " Exhibit No. 933 " was referred to further in Part XII, p. 2757.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Could you mention some of the names of the

people Avho were most active for you at that time down here ? What
is this Washington " grapevine ?

"

Mr. Westox. I was just saying that.

Mr. Raushenbush. You mentioned the institute, and so forth.

Can you give me the names of all of these people ?

Mr. Weston. You will have to get the names from the Dyes Insti-

tute; get the membership of the Dyes Institute and check up the

names.
Mr. Raushenbush. The names of the members of the Dyes Insti-

tute would go all over the country and be located there.

Mr. Westox. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. Who was in Washington operating here at that

time ?

Mr. Weston. Tiiere was a representative from nearly every com-
pany which was doAvn here. I think all the Dyes Institute member-
ship had representatives here. We were here, and National Analine
had men here, and Calco Chemical Co. had men here, and the Dow
Chemical Co. were here, and the Monsanto Chemical Co. That is

about as far as I remember offhand.

Mr. Raushenbush. I wanted a list of the representatives of the
companies and the names of the people who were active down here
just before this 1922 Disarmament Conference, when the Gas Con-
vention came up. There was an attempt to control the chemical-
warfare business in 1922?
Mr. Weston. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. And I am asking the specific and detailed list

of all the people representing the chemical industry who were down
here and actively interested in opposing that.

Mr. Weston. I guess, to get a real answer to that, we will have
to get the membership of the dyes industry, because I remember
only a few individuals, and it would not be fair to name a few people
when there were probably 20 here.

Mr. Raushenbush. Perhaps when Mr. Irenee du Pont comes back,
he will be prepared to answer that.

I want to finish this one exhibit which I have already introduced,
the letter of November 25, 1921, that you wrote to Mr. Poucher.
You state [reading] :

I am informed through the Washington " grapevine " that the British dele-
gation to the Limitation of Armaments Conference has a plan to submit con-
cerning the chemical industry which embodies these points:

First, to outlaw the use of poison gas in warfare and to outlaw as far as
possible, anything of a dangerous chemical nature.

Second, failing to secure drastic action (as they expect to fail) to limit the
use of chemicals as much as possible.

I will repeat that

:

Second, failing to secure drastic action (as they expect to fail) to limit the
use of chemicals as much as possible.

That is important, in a way, and I do not know which of you can
answer this best, but here you know what the British delegation
is going to try and do, and what it knows it cannot go ahead and do,
and we want to know what sources you had on that. Were you told

by Nobel about that, about what the British delegation would try
and what it would fail to go ahead and get done?



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2423

Mr. Weston. No ; I cannot throw any light on that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Can any of the other gentlemen sitting here?
Mr, Lamont du Pont. I certainly cannot.

Mr. Weston. These reports, Mr. Raushenbush, reports of that sort

to Mr. Poucher, were the summary of information which was coming
to me, as one of the representatives of the du Pont Co. on that Dyes
Institute Committee, and probably represents—I say probably
because I do not know definitely at this date—probably represents

the summary of the news and gossip tliat we had all along the line,

where everybody was trying to keep their ears open for information.
Mr. Raushenbush. The British were still over there and had not

come over here yet, and had not said anything, and you were passing
around information, and I am asking for definite information, which
is of very great interest, in the chemical industry.

There is a sort of logic to this questioning, Mr. Weston. You
started off with a proposition by some of your people, that as long
as there was chemical control by Germany, or, no chemical control

of that situation, disarmament would be a farce. Now we are get-

ting back again to 1922, to discuss control of chemical warfare, and
find that the British delegation is planning to propose to outlaw the

use of poison gas, and expecting to fail in it.

Mr. Weston. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. And somewhere in those 2 or 3 years the whole
argument for the control of the chemical industry as a means of dis-

armament has shifted and changed ; and the third proposition is also

one which is very interesting to the chemical industry

:

Third, to put the chemical industries of the various nations under the control
of the governments.

Those were the three propositions which you heard about, and I
was asking for definite information on how you knew about these
things and I was going to ask about how all that affected you.
Mr. Weston. I cannot give you an answer to that, and have no

real information.
Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Chairman, in view of the fact that this

outline draft was prepared for use in the examination of Mr. Irenee
du Pont, I suggest that we adjourn now.

Senator Vandenberg. The committee will stand recessed until 10
o'clock tomorrow morning.

(Thereupon, the committee recessed at 3 : 45 p. m., until tomorrow
morning at 10 o'clock, Friday, Dec. 7, 1934.)
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FRIDAY, DECEMBER 7, 1934

United States Senate,
Special Committee to

Investigate the Munitions Industry,
Washington^ D. C.

The hearing was resumed at 10 a. m. in the Finance Committee
Room, Senate Office Building, pursuant to the taking of recess,

Senator Gerald P. Nye presiding.

Present: Senators Nye (chairman), Vandenberg, Barbour, George,
Clark, Pope.

Present also : Stephen Raushenbush, secretary to the committee.

FURTHER TESTIMONY OF IRENEE BIT PONT, LAMMOT DU PONT,
A. FELIX DU PONT, K. K. V. CASEY, AND F. SPARRE

sale or interchange of military in\'entions and secret processes

(The witnesses were previously duly sworn by the chairman.)
The Chairman. Let the committee be in order.

Senator Vandenberg, you may proceed.

Senator Vandenberg. Mr. Chairman, before taking up the evi-

dence this morning, I want to say that I neglected last evening to in-

sert in the record a newspaper statement made by Mr. Julius Klein,

former Assistant Secretary of Commerce, respecting the Department
of Commerce conference. I think as a matter of information that it

should be printed in the record at this point.

(The document referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 934" and
is included in the appendix on p. 2583.)

Senator Vandenberg. Now, Mr. Chairman, we want to inquire

this morning rather briefly into the problem of the sale or inter-

change of new military inventions and secret processes as between
American and foreign companies in connection with these inter-

national munitions contracts.

May I ask you, Mr. Felix du Pont, and I believe you were at the
head of this section of the du Pont busine^s, is it an inevitable part
of foreign selling that upon occasion there must be an interchange of
inventions and information respecting new processes ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not think so ; no.

Senator Vandenberg, It is a substantial part of your relationship

over the years with your European colleagues ; is it not ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. In military business ; no. It has been in

the past.
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Senator Vandenberg. I am speaking of the past.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. That is quite a while ago, quite a good
many years ago. I cannot give the exact number.

Senator Vandenberg. Of course, in whatever degree it is a neces-

sity, we confront a rather serious problem, because in effect we would
be paying for the upkeep of a commercial industry at the expense
of the military preparedness of our own country. At any rate, it

is that phase of the matter that it seems to the committee important
that some information should be available on.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Senator, it is quite evident from what we
have done that we find it was not necessary, because we stopped ex-

changing new military secrets years ago.

Senator Vandenberg. Let us see to what extent the situation has
existed, and to what extent it still does or could exist. Certainly it

has been a fundamental principle in the export policy of your com-
pany to work in close cooperation with I. C. I., has it not?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. That is true
;
yes.

Senator Vandenberg. You still believe in the desirability of that

arrangement, do you not?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. As regards the chemical industry gener-

ally, exclusive of military business.

Senator Vandenberg. You now definitely exclude the military

phase from your response?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. If there has been a change in your policy in

this aspect, is it the result of difficulties which you have confronted
in the past, difficulties with the Government itself?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. Do you recall your trip to England in the

spring of 1923, during which you arranged for the licensing of the

Nobel Co., which is now the I. C. I., on your patents for improved
military rifle powder?
Mr. A. Feux du Pont. Yes; I remember it fairly well.

Senator Vandenberg. Was this improved military rifle powder,
which will be referred to hereafter as I. M. R. powder—was that de-

velopment a pretty important one?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes; it was.
Senator Vandenberg. I want to read the first exhibit this morn-

ing, which will be given its appropriate number, 935. It is a cable-

gram addressed to Mr. Felix du Pont while he was in London at-

tending this conference with the Nobel Co., and sent to him from
the Wilmington office.

(The cablegram referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 935 " and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Vandenberg (reading) :

Referring to your telegram of June 5 executive committee May 2, by resolu-
tion, decided that if Nobel Industries was granted exclusive license (to) manu-
facture I. M. R. powder for European country (ies) our sale would be so re-

stricted that we would be driven out (of) tliat business. Executive committee
recommended to finance committee that Nobel Indu>:trifs be granted nonexclu-
sive license to manufacture I. M. R. powder for nominal consideration of £1.

On May 8 finance committee concurred and by resolution authorized you to
offer Nobel Industries in London nonexclusive license for nominal considera
tion of £1. There have been no further action.
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This offer of these important militar}^ powders to the Nobel Co.

came about in the ordinary course of affairs under the 1920 agree-

ment between the two companies, did it not?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I think so.

Senator Vandenberg. I suppose the man who would be most fa-

miliar with your foreign powder arrangements would be Colonel

Taylor, would it not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. With our foreign powder arrangements?

It was his business to sell in Europe and to get his orders from the

home office.

Senator Vandenberg. And to keep you advised respecting the

general situation ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
Dr. Sparre. Senator, I believe I know as much as anybody, if not

more than anybody, about the foreign patent business.

Senator Vandenberg. I will be very glad to remember that, Dr.

Sparre, as we proceed.

Mr. Casey. Senator. I believe I am perhaps more familiar with
the details of this whole thing.

Senator Vandenberg. I am delighted that we have so much expert
testimony available this morning. We certainly ought to be able to

get all the facts.

Now, referring back to the fact that Colonel Taylor is representing

you upon the Continent at this time, and having in mind the confer-

ence which you, Mr. Felix du Pont, are having in London with Nobel
respecting the license for I. M. R. powder, I call your attention to one
paragraph in Colonel Taylor's letter of June 9, 1923, which I do not
as yet offer as an exhibit, but which I would be glad to have you
refer to, being Colonel Ta^dor's letter of June 9, 1923, to Major
Casey.

I read the second paragraph :

There seems to be no doubt that military patents are included in our agree-
ment with the English and that the only exceptions are in case of objections
on the part of our Government or delay of 12 months on the part of the
English to say whether or not they desire to acquire these patents.

For at least the first 3 years of the agreement your legal depart-
ment offered all patents, including military patents, automatically
to Nobel, did you not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I am not quite sure, Mr. Senator, about

the dates there, and I would like to be sure of that.

Senator Vandenberg. Let us proceed in the preliminary stages
without attempting to define the dates, because it is nonessential.

In the preliminary stages of your contract with Nobel, it was the
opinion of your legal department that you were bound to give them
the advantage of all this information, including military informa-
tion, was it not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. There was a period during our agreement

with I. C. I., or its predecessor, in which we did exchange military
patents and agreements.

Senator Vandenberg. Precisely.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Always subject to the Government.
Mr. Casey. Senator Vandenberg
Senator Vandenberg. Yes, sir, Mr. Casey.
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Mr. Casey. I think it is in our own files that no proposition, even
though the legal aspect might make it clear, that no proposition

involving a military powder Avas to be even offered to I. C. I. or Nobel
without first being submitted to military sales, and Government ob-

jection was always a bar to anything being offered.

Senator Vandenberg. And you never offered anything to which
the Government objected?
Mr. Casey. No; in this particular case we were in a very awkward

spot. When this proposition came up, I canvassed and found that

the Ordnance Department of the Army objected.

Senator Vandenberg. Will you permit me to come into this thing
with some consecutive attention to the exhibits, Major, and I will be
more than happy to let you discuss them serially as we proceed. I

am establishing for the moment simply the initial proposition.

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. That in these original stages of your con-

nection with Nobel, the predecessor of I. C. I., your arrangement did
include the exchange of military processes.

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Subject to governmental objection, how-
ever, Senator.

Senator Vandenberg. You mean, in no instance did you ever over-
ride governmental objection?
Mr. Casey. No.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think not.

Senator Vandenberg. All right, we will come to that in a moment.
Now I want to read just one sentence from the next letter, dated

June 26, 1923. I am reading from the fourth paragraph of Major
Casey's letter to Colonel Taylor under date of June 26, 1923, the
following

:

"We learned some time back that the legal department automatically would
refer patents to the Nobel Co. as a matter of routine.

This simply confirms the preliminary status.

Mr. Casey. Will you go on with the rest of the sentence. Senator?
Senator Vandenberg. I would be very happy to

:

We effectively stopped this practice by letters of Mr. A Felix du Pont, dated
April 26, 1923, copies of which are attached, so we believe we will have no
fnrther trouble in this connection.

Is there anything else you want me to read ?

Mr. Casey. No, I think that is enough.
Senator Vandenberg. Did any memljer of the smokeless powder

department object to the licensing of the Briti<h on I. M. K. powders?
Perhaps Major Casey could answer it bettor than anybody else.

Mr. Casey. I did.

Senator Vandenberg. You objected?
Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. Did not Colonel Taylor object?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. Why was Colonel Taylor so concerned about

the granting of this particular Nobel license?

Mr. Casey. Perhaps the reason was a little different from mine.
He was afraid that if they got the license to make this powder, that
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he would then run into competition on exactly the same powder that
we were trying to sell.

Senator Vandenberg. Precisely.

Mr. Casey. My objection was entirely different.

Senator Vandenberg. Before we go to yourself, let us confirm
Colonel Taylor's objection. I am referring to Colonel Taylor's
letter dated July 12, 1923, addressed to Major Casey, from which
I read the first paragraph, as follows [reading] :

I wish to acknowledge receipt

—

And so forth.

I see that with regard to our company, you have succeeded in gaining our
point and I feel sure that if the War Department understood what was going
on, they would object to any concessions on our part.

What does he refer to when he says, " if the War Department
understood what was going on " ?

Mr. Casey. The answer to that is this : The War Department was
interested in seeing that the du Pont Co. kept facilities alive and
the " know-how " for the manufacture of military propellants and
explosives. The only way to do that at that time, with practically

no Government orders, was by foreign sales. If the type of powder
we were making was to be offered all over the world in direct com-
petition with ours, one of the objectives of the War Department
might be interferred with, that is, we might not be making the prod-
ucts, and that is ail they were interested in. That is what is meant
by that statement.

Senator Vandenberg. Colonel Taylor's further reasoning, which
probably should be submitted for the record, because it is very lucid,

being contained in the original letter of June 9, 1929, which was the
second letter which we had this morning. I think I will read from
the second page, beginning 8 or 10 sentences from the top. Colonel
Taylor is now discussing this proposed release of I. M. R. informa-
tion to Nobel's

:

The British foreign-sales organization for military explosives consists entirely
of a Mr. Smith, who lives at Vienna, and who is also charged with conducting
the negotiations between the British and the Tchecoslovak Explosives, Ltd., and
one of the members of their London oflSce who handles correspondence on con-
tinental military sales. Before the war the British had an agreement with
Rothweiler, handled all their sales, all their military business on the continent.
The British kept out and I believe divided the profits with Rothweiler. The
man in charge of Rothweiler sales on the continent was Herr Philip, at pres-
ent managing director of the Nobel Dynamite of Vienna and holder of 16 per-
cent of the sales in Czechoslovak Explosives, Ltd. He is the most experienced
continental military salesman in the old German organization.

What is the " old German organization ?
"

Mr. Casey. That I do not know.
Senator Vandenberg (continuing with the letter) :

The Czechoslovak Explosives, Ltd., is a company In which the shares are
held : 52 percent check ; 16 percent Nobel British ; 16 percent Herr Philip

—

what nationality would that be ?

Mr. Casey. Which one?
Senator Vandenberg. The third one here, Herr Philip.
Mr. Casey. He is the man I just mentioned, is he not?
Senator Vandenberg. Yes, sir.



2430 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Casey. I do not know his nationality.

Senator Vandenberg (reading)

:

Sixteen percent Societe Centrale de Dynamite.

Is that French ?

Mr. Casey. The name sounds like it. I am not familiar with all

these foreign firms.

Senator Vandenberg (reading)

:

This last factory lias tlie monopoly of exportation, importation of explosives
in Czechoslovakia and they are building a factory with the idea that it will be
large enough to supply all the continent and take on to itself the old military
explosive business formerly held by the Germans. This factory is largely under
British control and the Mr. Smith above mentioned is the person to whom this

control is handled. I believe it is the British intention that all continental
military business shall go to this Czechoslovak Explosive, Ltd., who have in

their territory continental Europe. I believe the British themselves will make
no attempt to sell directly on the continent as they have not a personnel com-
petent for this work and expect to have this thing handled entirely from Czecho-
slovakia. I also believe that due to the fact that the Balkan states are gradu-
ally changing nitroglycerine powders to nitrocellulose powders they are induced
by the Czechoslovak Explosive, Ltd., to undertake the manufacture of nitro-

cellulose powder.
Now why do the British want us to cede them the patents for I. M. R.?

Either to show the Czechoslovaks how to make our powder or to manufacture
powder under our patents to be sold by the Czechoslovak organization or to keep
us out of Europe so as not to interfere with the development of the Czechoslovak
Co. I believe this to be the key of the whole matter.

So that Colonel Taylor was seriously concerned over the possi-

bility that the prospects of the I. M. R. powder formula might get
into the hands of a Czechoslovakian company, run by " the most
experienced continental military salesman in the old German
organization " with a disadvantage to your company ?

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. Do you know of any other reasons that
Colonel Taylor might have had, or any other reasons which you
might have had, for thinking that this would be an unfortunate
arrangement ?

Mr. Casey. Beyond the viewpoint of Taylor's as affecting sales in

Europe, where he was giving quite considerable thought to this being
an attempt to force us out of Europe, there was really a great deal
of objection on the part of European manufacturers, in view of the
reputation which du Pont had made during the war. He also nat-

urally concurred in my objections.

Now my objections, it later on developed, did not hold very much
weight in one respect, and that was as far as England was concerned,
but I objected to giving anything out to which there was Government
objection.

Here is the situation which developed
Senator Vandenberg. The situation will develop as we proceed,

and suppose you address your discussion to it as we proceed with the
exhibits.

Mr. Casey. All right. Senator.
Senator Vandenberg. You were about to say, no doubt, that you

had consulted the War and Navy Departments with regard to

licensing the production of these powders.
Mr. Casey. Not the Navy Department. The War Department is

the only one interested in small arms.



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2431

Senator Vandenbekg. You did consult the War Department.
Who was Mr. Henning?
Mr. Casey. He was technical director of military sales.

Senator Vandenbekg. I want to read from Mr. Henning's letter of
June 21, 1923, without offering the letter as an exhibit, because there
are some sections of it which it is not necessary to enter in the
record.

I will read the first sentence, with some deletions. This is Mr.
Henning, your assistant director of military sales, reporting upon
his conference with the War Department in Washington (reading) :

1. Discussed the following subjects with officers and representatives of the
Ordnance Department

1. Ordnance Department policy with respect to supplying information to

British on du Pont I. M. R. powder.
Talked this over briefly with Major Hardigg and Dr. C. G. Storm, simply

setting forth the early history and more recent facts. In the absence of General
Williams the subject was referred to General Peirce for decision, who called
General Ruggles and Major Wilhelm in for conference. Major Hardigg and
Wilhelm stated the case to General Peirce, it being their concensus of opinion
that it was a subject of considerable importance, and in which the Bureau of
Ordnance, Navy, was also interested. Following recent precedent, it was their

suggestion that no information be given. This comes about partly by reason of

the action of the British in refusing to give the Ordnance Department any
information on subjects in which the British Navy is interested. * * *

General Peirce first inquired carefully as to the use and status of du Pont
I, M. R. powder as a service propellant.

General Peirce stated that it was their policy to carefully consider giving us
every assistance and encouragement for staying in the production of military
explosives. Hence he did not want to handicap us in any development work
that would aid us. It was the decision, however, that the Ordnance Depart-
ment could not sanction our giving information to tic British at this time, on
our service propellent for ammunition intended for aircraft armament. Gen-
eral Peirce was of the opinion that Admiral McVey would take a more positive
stand on this subject.
As a matter of courtesy to the Bureau of Ordnance, I discussed the conference

briefly with Commander Courts. As expected, the Bureau of Ordnance takes
a more positive stand on this subject.

Now, simply to confirm the attitude of the Government
Senator Clark. Do I understand from this that you informed the

Government that unless you were permitted to sell your secret proc-
esses to another government, that you were going out of the business ?

Mr. Casey. I do not see any indication of that whatsoever, Senator.
Senator Vandenbekg. I think this trends in a different direction,

Senator, which will appear shortly.

Now, I want to confirm the attitude of the Government respecting
the release of this new and secret militarj'^ powder process to the
British, or to aiiy other foreign country.

Dr. Spakre. Senator, pardon nie, but it was not secret. I am
sorry to interrupt you, but you have used the word " secret " so often
that I have to call your attention to the fact that it was not secret.
Pardon me if I may explain the situation at this point, because it is

very important.
Senator Vandenbekg. Yes, sir.

Dr. Spakre, During the war, that is, after the United States
entered the war in 1917, and during the war period, we were under
instructions from the administration to give to the allied countries
all our information of any military value ; as a matter of fact, every-
thing which we possessed.
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Senator Vandenberg. That is during the war ?

Dr. Spakre. And we gave to the allied munitions departnients,

and so forth, everything that we had. For instance, I myself was
sent abroad on a military commission appointed by the Chief of

Ordnance. As a member of that commission I went, together with

Army officers and others, and inspected British military factories,

and we exchanged information with the British munitions depart-

ment. At the conclusion of that visit I went to France and in-

spected all the French powder works, shell works, and so forth, and
all the information which I collected was then transmitted to the

Chief of Ordnance. The I. M. R. information was given to the

allied governments. There is no secret about it. They got all our
information under instructions from our own administration.

Senator Vandenberg. If they knew all about it, what is all this

about ?

Dr. Sparre. That is what I wanted to tell you. This appears like

it was a secret thing, but there is no secret about it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. They had a patent on it.

Dr. Sparre. There were some patents.

Senator Vandenberg. Do you mean to say the British could manu-
facture the I. M. R. powder without your consent?
Dr. Sparre. They had gotten blueprints of suitable plans, com-

plete specifications, all information about the thing. The only thing
which we had left would be such foreign patents as there might be,

but they did not amount to much, did not amount to very much, be-

cause the patent situation was not as satisfactory^ in foreign coun-
tries as it was in our own country. I do not think that those patents

were of any substantial value. But, in any event, there was no secret

about it, the complete information was given.

Senator Vandenberg. Apparently the release of this privilege

which involved a very serious question with respect to your rela-

tionships with Nobel also in your judgment involved your relation-

ship with the United States Government in 1923.

Dr. Sparre. Surely.

Senator Vandenberg. So let us follow through and see to what
extent our relationship is involved.

Dr. Sparre. Yes, but. Senator, please don't hold it secret informa-
tion.

Senator Vandenberg. All right. I will use the exact language of

our own War Department in describing the situation, and I will use

it in the next exhibit, which is a letter of June 27, 1923, from W. S.

Pierce, Acting Chief of Ordnance, to the military sales division of

the du Pont Co. at "Wilmington

:

It is the understanding of tliis office tliat you are in receipt of requests from
foreign sources for detailed information concei-ning the technical process in-

volved in the manufacture of your improved military rifle powders.
In view of the fact that powders of this type are employed in certain stand-

ard service ammunition used not only by the United States Army but also by
the Navy and Marine Corps, the Ordnance Department believes that the

methods involved in manufacture should be regarded as confidential military

information.

So at least the Chief of Ordnance of the United States Army
thought there was something in connection with I. M. R. powder that

you could protect if you wanted to.
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Dr. Sparre. We have given all of the information to the Board.
Senator Vandenberg. All right. We are proceeding with the rec-

ord, and there is an amazing lot of important attention being given
to an inconsequential thing, if it is inconsequential, it seems to me.
At any rate, let us continue to establish the facts.

I refer to the next exhibit. In this instance, it is of sufficient im-
portance so that you even hear from the Navy in connection with it,

which is unusual in your contacts, so that evidently from the view-

point of our own Government, there was something of relative mag-
nitude involved, rather than anything else. I read the next exhibit,

which will be properly marked.
(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 936 "

and appears in full in the text.)

Senator Vandenberg (reading) :

MEMORANUUit

To : Chief of Ordnance, War Department. Washington. D. C.

Subject : Agreement with tlie Du Pont Co. regarding improved military rifle

powder.
The Bureau of Ordnance concurs in the belief of the Ordnance Department,

expressed in its letter of June 27, 1923, to the Du Pont Co., that the technical
processes and the methods of manufacture of improved military rifle powders
should be regarded as confidential military Information.

Chas. B. B. McVay, Jr.,

Chief of Btireau.

So as the matter stands up to date on the face of these exhibits,

you gave the Nobel Co., did you not, the right to manufacture a
powder which was the standard propellant in both branches of the
United States service for almost all types of rifle and aircraft am-
munition, and did so over the objections of both the War and Navy
Departments?
Mr. Casey. Senator, you assured me a few moments ago that you

Avould develop this thing gradually. At that time I tried to tell you
the story. Now you are not developing it gradually if you make the
statement at that point

Senator Vandenbp:rg. I do not want to prejudice it, Major. I am
onlji' seeking the facts.

Mr. Casey. I do not believe you do. Senator.
Senator Vandeni5erg. You mean which? That you do not think

I am trying to prejudge it or trying to get the facts?

Mr. Casey. No ; I want to give you the facts.

Senator Vandenberg. Now, let us see whether or not the exhibits
will not permit you to develop the thing chronologically. It is only
facts that I want, Major.
Mr. Casey. I appreciate that, Senator. By the way. Senator, in

order to bring you up to date
Senator Vandenberg. What do you mean by up to date ?

Mr. Casey. By what is going to follow, may I give you the early
history of the I. M. R. powder?

Senator Vandenberg. If you consider it pertinent.
Mr. Casey. I think it is.

Senator Vandenberg. All right.

Mr. Casey. I. M. R. powder was developed after about 10 or 15
years research, I would say, either in the latter part of 1913 or early
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in 1914. The first powder of that type that we made was to fit

certain modifications that Admiral Bedbeder, who at that time was
head of the Argentine Naval Mission in New York, wanted. He
w^as considering certain charges in the Argentine Mauser rifle, and
in order to give him what he required in direct competition with

the German progressive rifle powder, this powder, as the result of

15 years experimental work, was found to oe the only powder suit-

able for the purpose.
At about that time we had already started an erosion test—when

I say we, I mean the Government and ourselves—to determine in

connection with the high velocity 30-06 rifle, the different types

of powder, and their relative erosive effect, and in that test they

used cordite, exite, and I think the French powder, some Koln-

Kottweiler, vrhich was imported in this country by the Government,

and called Chilworth, because it was bought through the Chilworth

Co. in England. We had also some Argentine powder, and I think

some Brazilian powder.
Those powders were being put through the test at Springfield

Arsenal. In the meantime, after the tests had actually started, this

I. M. E,. powder came along, so even though the poAvder was not

suitable to the Springfield rifle, being too slow burning, we re-

quested the Government to allow that powder to also enter the

test. As I say, it was not suited in the particular granulation to

the Springfield rifle.

That is the early development. If it had not been for developing
that powder, w^e would not have been able to fill the requirements for

the British and Russian and certain other rifles. It was not needed
for the French rifle. This was after the European war broke.
In the meantime, the Government, because of ballistic character-

istics of the 30-06 cartridge, did not need that powder. It was not
until after the United States had entered the war that they discovered
for special ammunition, such as tracer and incendiary the regular
pyro D.G. 30-caliber powder, which was the regular standard U.S.
powder, could not be used, and I believe the Government throughout
the entire period of the war only bought possibly in the neighborhood
of 2 or 3 or 4 million pounds of this I.M.R. powder. That was the
only place they used it.

In the meantime, the allied Governments, England and Russia,
were both using it in tremendous quantities. That is the only type
of rifle powder they bought from us. That was the situation at that
time. As Dr. Sparre has just explained to you, we were required to
give all of the information regarding the manufacture of this powder
to the British.

Senator Vandenburg. This is, during the war?
Mr. Casey. This is, during the war. In the meantime, a plant was

actually being built. You may remember that Mr. Irenee du Pont
referred at a previous hearing to the fact that they discovered instead
of importing raw material and making their own powder it was
better to import the powder because of the tonnage factor. There
was the situation when we came along after the war.
In the meantime, experimental work had been started in 1917 at

the Bordenbrook Reservoir outside of Springfield to try and get a
bullet and a combination of bullet and case that would ffive them a
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more effective ammunition. It was discovered that the tables in the

bhie book of the Springfield rifle giving an extreme range of 5,100

yards were simply paper figures; that the extreme range of the

Springfield rifle was around 3,500 to 3,600 yards.

At the command of the commanding officer there I went up to

assistant Major Wilhelm at the Reservoir, to help solve this problem.

That was in connection with the boat-tail bullet which the Swiss had
at Camp Perry in 1913 and which excited a great deal of comment
among the competing teams during those matches.

So an attempt was made in the early time of Bordenbrook Reser-

voir to see if we could not develop a boat-tail bullet along the lines

of the Swiss, because it was found that the Swiss bullet at that time,

even fired in our own case, would outrange ours almost 2 to 1.

This work was intensely interesting, to such an extent that they

then moved down to Florida to continue the work, and that work was
then being continued along the beaches at Daytona and Miami and
later on when the Infantry School at Benning was established the

work continued there.

Even then at that time and for a couple of years after the war it

was not still the service propellant. It was not until they found it

possible to make a satisfactory boat-tail bullet in this country, that

they found they were up against another obstacle. They were only
buying this I. M. R. powder from us in small quantities, five or ten

thousand pounds at a time, which means very expensive production.

We also found that the Infantry Board which was continually in

session at Camp Benning considered they would not be able to get
the desired velocity the}' wanted, the reason being price, that they had
the old pyro D. G. 30 caliber, which had cost them probably during
the war, 50 or 60 cents a pound, and, of course, this powder was cost-

ing them 90 cents a pound. So I went to General Williams and I
said:

It seems to me a serious problem of design is being interfered with, because of
an unnatural position on price.

Senator Vandenberg. What year was this ?

Mr. Casey. This is in that period of 1921 and 1922.

Senator Vandenberg. Yes.
Mr. Casey. The Infantry school was formally opened in the fall

of 1920, so that will give you an idea of when this occurred.
Senator Vandenberg. All right.

Mr. Casey. So I said to General Williams

:

We haven't the slit^litest idea on a peace-time production basis what this
powder is apt to cost, but we believe if you will give us an order for 100,000
pounds, to let us make a run, we will take a chance and sell it to you for 70 cents
a pound.

That changed the picture. The result was that it was then
adopted, around 1921 or 1922, in connection with the boat-tail bullet.
But in the meantime Russia and England knew all about it. They
had bought millions and millions of pounds of it for their service
cartridges during the war.
Now, that will bring you approximately up to date.
Senator Vandenberg. All right. Now, why did Mr. Henning go

to the War Department in June 1923 to inquire whether the Ameri-
can Government had any objections to your arrangement with Nobel?
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Mr. Casey. To tell you perfectly frankly, Senator, because I ob-
jected.

Senator Vandenberg. And I assume that when he made this in-

quiry from the War Department it was on the theory that if the War
Department said it did object
Mr. Casey. That Ave would not have to turn it over.

Senator Vandenberg. That you would observe the War Depart-
ment's viewpoint?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. Did 3^our company observe the War Depart-

ment's viewpoint?
Mr, Casey. Now, if you will i:;o ahead you will find out what

happened.
Senator Vandenberg. I am going ahead, but, as a matter of fact,

it did not observe the War Department's viewpoint ; isn't that so ?

Mr. Casey. You are asking me to go ahead. Now, let us move
ahead. Senator.

Senator Vandenberg. I think that is a fair observation. We will

move ahead together.

Mr. Casey. All right.

Senator Vandenberg. Now, we are in this position, before we move
ahead, so let us start at the same point. Your representative has.

been to the War Department to find out whether the American Gov-
ernment has any objection to your licensing Nobel in respect to

I, M. E.. powder. The War Department has not only notified your
Mr. Henning, and he has reported to you their objections, but in

addition, you have the written word of the Acting Chief of Ordnance
of the United States and you have the written word of Admiral
McVay, Chief of Bureau of the Navj^^ Department, that there is em-
phatic objection on the part of the United States Government to this

arrangement.
Mr. Casey. Right.
Senator Vandenberg. That is the point at which we noAv take up

the trail.

Mr. Casey. At that point; yes.

Senator Vandenberg. This decision by the War Department evi-

dently confirms Colonel Taylor's prophecy of Jul}' 12, 1923, when he
wrote you from Paris, as I have previously read

:

I see that with regard to our company you have succeeded in saining our
point, and I feel sure that if the War Department understood \\])a{ was going
on, they would ohject to any concessions on our part.

Mr. Casey. I think I have already answered that, Senator.
Senator Vandenberg. Yes, And evidently the War Department

did understand what was going on,

Mr, Casey, Yes ; I think we told them pretty thoroughly.
Senator Vandenberg, You told them, and then they told you

something.
Mr. Casey. Naturally,
Senator Vandenberg, Did this feeling of apprehension with re-

gard to exchanges of technical information with Nobel continue ?

Mr. Casey. If you let me anticipate the same as you are doing, all

right, we will just move along then. This is the only case that ever
came up.
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Senator Vandenberg. Well, we will take the exhibit. We will

take Major Casey's letter addressed to Mr. Felix du Pont, general

manager, on April 14, 1924. I read at the moment only the fifth

paragraph, in which Major Casey is recommending:

That no agreement be made with Nobel whereby we will refrain from en-

deavoring to sell military products in any foreign country.

Mr. Casey. Which paragraph is that?

Senator Vandenberg. It is marked " number 4."

Mr. Casey. I thought you said 5, Senator.

Senator Vandenberg. It is the fifth paragraph, but it is num-
bered 4.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. Now, on the second page we find your rea-

sons, Major Casey, and I will read those.

Mr. Casey. Senator, wouldn't it be probably advisable to really

read the whole thing?
Senator Vandenberg. I will be very glad to, if you desire. You

mean the entire letter?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. All right. This is Major Casey writing to

General Manager Felix du Pont under date of April 14, 1924, on the

subject of military sales in foreign countries [reading] :

After liaving made a very careful analysis of all the data in our files on the
Nobel agreement, and a thorough study of compelition which we have experi-

enced in foreign countries, particularly in Europe during the past 3 years, I feel

that it is in order for me to present to you my recommendations, to which I

hope you will give due consideration in discussing military business with Nobel
ofiiciais. My recommendations are as follows

:

1. That military propellants and explosives be specifically exempted from the
patents and secret-process agreement in the same way as in the case of the
South American pool agreement.

2. That the temporai-y arrangement regarding Argentine and other South
American military business be terminated as of July 1, 1924.

3. That the arrangement for joint construction of plants in foreign countries
for military material be discontinued.

4. Tliat no agreement be made with Nobel whereby we will refrain from en-

deavoring to sell militai-y products in any foreign country.

5. That no agreements be entered into with any manufacturer for the ex-
change of information on military propellants or explosives.

6. That no information be exchanged concerning prices of military propellants
or explosives and that no division of profits be made on military business.

I might interrupt to say that I think these are fairly sensible recom-

mendations, Major.
Mr, Casey. Well, they were made, anyway.
Senator Vandenberg (reading) :

My reasons for making the above recommendations are as follows

:

Our competitors in Europe on military business are German, Italian, and
French interests, tlie most successful competitors being the Germans. If we
were to refrain from soliciting military business abroad, we would leave the
field fi'ee for a German, French, and Italian monopoly, because Great Britain's

position in European politics is such that an English concern would find it very
difficult to secure business. It is very doubtful as to whether Nobel could hold
the customers wliich we have gotten to date among the European nations. Our
success in securing business is mainly due to the fact that we are an American
concern whose products enjoy an excellent i-epntation. In Europe, the prestige

of the name dn Pont was estalili'slied through onr military-powder manufacture
during the late war. nnd it is only natural that we are looked upon as a
source of suiiply. inwticularly by European states which do not manufactum
their own requirements.
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Now, I want to emphasize the next two paragraphs, which are the
ones I started to read and which are pertinent to my line of inquiry
[reading] :

We cannot act in good faith with om* Government if we contract to exchange
information on military propellaut.s with a foreign concern. Both the Army and
Navy have indicated that they are desirous of keeping secret development work
which we may do for them. If we were to agree to exchange information with
any foreign firm and at the same time accept help in selling powder abroad
from our own Army and Navy, we would create a condition which would at
some time or other bring discredit upon us.

It is probable that in the next few years Congress will fully investigate all

war contracts and particularly the construction of Old Hickory. Sucli an
investigation will bring about the scrutiny of our military sales in general.
If Congress were to ascertain that the Army and Navy both helped du Pont in
securing military business from abroad and if it could be shown that the
du Pont Co. had a working agi'eement with a foreign powder manufacturer,
the conclusion could be drawn that the du Pont Co. was acting in bad faith
with our own Government. Congress would have an opporunity to brand us
as traitors.

We have been successful in securing military business in foreign countries
without a price-fixing agreement with any of our competitors. We have fre-

quently been able to secure business although our quotations were higher than
competitors. This was probable due to the fact th;it the customer decided to

develop a source of military supply in America and our prestige and reputation
enabled us to get the business. Even with unfavorable foreign -exchange rates
we are competing with foreign concerns on newly made powder. When the
exchange rates improve we will undoubtedly be placed in a more favorable
position. Therefore, in competing for foreign business, success will come to

the firm which can make the best product and which enjoys the best reputa-
tion. The neutrality of America in European politics, and America as an
abundant supply of raw materials are factors which enable an American concern
to secure foreign military business.

Now, referring back to the two middle paragraphs on this second
page, it is the expression of your opinion that it would not be an
act of good faith for you to accept cooperation from the Government
of the United States in the promotion of your sales; and you have
had that cooperation, have you not, very generously ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. It was your opinion that you could not be

in that contact with the Government and at the same time be per-

mitting the foreign use of your military processes ?

Mr. Casey. No; that is a fine point there. Senator. Don't think
that I am quibbling. It is not a question of permitting manufacture,
but a question of exchanging information.

Senator Barbour. What would be the nature of the information?
Wouldn't it be the matter of processes?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. That is the point.

Mr. Casey. Because we will come to that question of manufacture
later.

Senator Vandenberg. Yes, we are coming to that. It is summed
up in your sentence:

If Congress were to ascertain that the Army and Navy both helped du Pont in

.securing military business from abroad, and if it could be shown that du Pont
Co. had a working agreement with a foreign powder manufacturer, the con-
clusion could bo drawn that the du Pont Co. was acting in bad faith with our
own Government.

That sums up your feeling on the matter?
Mr. Casey. Yqs.
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Senator Vandenberg. Was this recommendation put into effect?

Mr. Casey. This recommendation was submitted to my chief. I
believe this recommendation had a great deal to do with the modifi-

cation of the agreement which took place and was eventually signed

on January 1, 1926.

Senator Vandenberg. Now, this memorandum
Mr. Casey. Not completely, however.
Senator Vandenberg. This memorandum is dated April 14, 1924.

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Vandenberg. You did make an agreement, did you not, in

London, in November 1925, 18 months later, an agreement to co-

operate on military sales—I mean your company made it—in spite of

your recommendations and in spite of the opposition of the military

sales division?

Mr. Casey. We made some sort of an agreement. I think that
discussion finally resulted in the agreement of 1926, did it not?
Senator Vandenberg. The agreement of November 1925 ?

Mr. Casey. Well, that was not a signed agreement, was it? Is it

not a memorandum of discussion?

Mr. Raushenbush. You operated under it, didn't you ?

Mr. Casey. Yes ; without waiting for the signature.s.

Senator Vandenberg. It was an operating memorandum.
Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Vandenberg. Let me read from this memorandum. This
is a memorandum 18 months later. It may be offered as an exhibit
and marked.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 937 " and
is included in the appendix on p. 2584.)

Senator Vandenberg (reading)

:

Attached hereto is memorandum on " du Pont-Nobel Corporation, Sales of
Military Propellant Powders and Explosives", which is the present agreement
between the du Pont Co. and the Nobel Interests concerning military sales to
goveniments other than the United States and Great Britain.
A brief summary on how it came into being is timely. For some years past

an accord has existed regarding foreign sales of commercial explosives, but
all documents covering this accord specifically excepted military sales, as for
example, that of January 1, 1920.
This was largely due to the fact that du Pont felt that any accord on

military sales would tend to disturb their relations with the United States Gov-
ernment, which relations had been carefully cultivated for over a century.

Which is a reexpression of that same general policy of the du Pont
Co.?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg (reading) :

How Nobel felt in this regard is not known to us, but probably the Cordite
factories at Waltham Abbey, Holton Heath, and Auruvankadu (India) occupy
a relatively larger place in the British propellant supply than do the American
equivalents, so that the relations of Nobel with the British Government are
possibly not as intimate as du Font's with the United States Government.

It is your observation that that is a fair assessment of the rela-
tive relations between du Pout's and the United States Government
and Nobel's and the Government of Great Britain?
Mr. Casey. At least it was at that time.

83876—35—prll 4
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Senator Vandenberg. Continuing the reading:

The military sales divisiou of the du Pont Co. is charged with sales to aud
contact with the United States War and Navy Departments, and our constant
acquaintance with the officials of these Departments gives the members of the
military sales division a knowledge of opinion in Washington that is never
written and seldom spoken. It is the unanimous belief of the military sales
division that any agreement on military sales with an alien firm will materially
hurt our relations with the United States Government, if indeed such agree-
ment will not eventually conflict with Article XIV (d) Ordnance Contract

What is the ordnance contract?

Mr. Casey. I think that is a paragraph in ordnance contracts.

Senator Vakdenberg, I quote from the paragraph in the ordnance
contract. [Reading :]

No contractor having in hand work of a military character which the Ord-
nance Department may designate as confidential shall permit any foreign officer

or other foreigner not in the contractor's employ to visit portions of the plant
where stich work is in process, nor shall the contractor give to such person
any specific information concerning such work without the authority of the
Chief of Ordnance, nor shall any alien in the contractor's employ be engaged
on or permitted to examine such parts of the work as the Ordnance Depart-
ment may specifically designate as confidential.

That is the end of the quotation from the contract. [Reading:]

Notwithstanding this belief, an agreement to cooperate with Nobel on mili-

tary sales was signed in London in November 1925, whereby du Pont was
given priority of sales on nitrocellulose powders and Nobel given priority on
TNT and nitroglycerin powders.

Now, the statement is that notwithstanding this belief an agree-

ment was made. I assume it is a fair interpretation to say that the

document itself thus confesses that tlie agreement is in hostility to

the belief.

Mr. Casey. To my belief.

Senator Vandenberg. Yes; and was it your belief that it was also

in hostilit}^ to the du Pont formula for dealing with the Government
of the United States?
^ Mr. Casey. No ; I don't think so. Perhaps at this time I was try-

ing to stress my point and I was bringing every bit of pressure I

possibly could, even perhaps to the extent of slight exaggeration.

I would say exaggeration, perhaps, in the language.

Senator Vandenberg. Let us proceed with this exhibit. I drop
doAvn to the final paragraph on page 2, the same page from which I

was reading:

The following has developed : On the 1,000-ton Polish order, Nobel's quota
would liave been 300 tons, but the Polish Government declined to split the order
and. in general, it may be assumed that this attitude will be followed by other
govern inei lis.

Befcre I sjjeak of that in detail, this general agreement did finally

obligate you to guarantee to Xobel WO tons of nitrocellulose powder
business on tl\e continent every year, didn't it?

Mr. Casey. It did not obligate us.

Senator Vandenberg. What was the point?
Mr. Casey. The point was tliis : That I. C. I., Nobel, or E. T. L.,

whatever the name Avas at that time, stated that they Avanted to keep
alive that know-how to n)anrifacture the nitrocellulose powder which
tliev had been workinji on durinir tb.e war to a certain extent.
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Therefore, they said that they would like to have a certain amount
of business each year, but not in excess of 300 tons, as that was the

limit of their capacity, and all they wanted to do was to keep alive

the " know-how ", without expanding their plant. Therefore, it pro-

vided for not in excess of 300 tons.

Senator Vandenberg. You operated under this agreement for a

number of years after this, did 3'ou not?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. In 1927 Colonel Taylor wrote you
Mr. Casey. Senator, will you pardon me?
Senator Vandenberg. Yes.

Mr. Casey. Would you mind reading all of the first paragraph on
page 3, the first paragraph at the top of the page beginning "At
a meeting held in London."
Senator Vandenberg. I will read anything you want read

[reading] :

At a meeting held in London on October 11, 1927, it was stated by a Nobel
representative that Ardeer must have orders for nitrocellulose powders in

order to gain experience and keep the plant force employed, which indicates
that the difficulties still exist in perfecting a nitrocellulose powder and pro-
ducing it at a cost sufficiently low to compete with other firms.

Do you want me to read some more?
Mr. Casey. No, I think if I can look at the date of this document,

it was certainly after 1927, I think that will have some relation

later on.

Senator Vandenberg. Perhaps we are coming to it. Major.
Mr. Casey. You notice, Senator, though, that even in 1927 they

were still having diflSculties in making powder of that type.

Senator Vandenberg. Yes; I realize that.

Mr. Casey. It was some time after 1927.

Senator Vandenberg. In 1927. on November 16, Colonel Taylor
wrote you from Paris concerning certain difficulties which the nor-
mal functioning of the agreement had brought about.
Now, I want to read from this letter, from page 3. It is a very

lengthy letter, and the entire letter will be marked as an exhibit.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 938 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2585.)

Senator Vandenberg. On page 3, starting with paragraph 17,

Colonel Taylor, your European representative, writing to Mr. Casey
says

:

However, it is now very easy to project one's self into the future and foresee
that certain military difficulties are about to arise. These difficulties are
about to develop in specific cases

:

The first case is the question of Poland. We are looking forward to con-
siderable business fi-om Poland, and hoping that it will come in the form
of additional quantities to the present contract, which if it takes place, would
obligate us under the agi'eement. to endeavor to pass a certnin quantity of
this contract to Nobel, specifically 300 tons of powder. It is evident to me,
however, that without our assistance. Nobel cannot manufacture in accordance
with the specifications and we will either have to show Nobel how to manu-
facture this powder by sending men to Ardeer, or he will have to take Nobel's
men to America to work them in on this matter.

Are we now discussing the powder on which the War Department
objected to your releasing information?
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Mr. Casey. Not entirely, because a good deal of the powder was
cannon powder of the regular straight nitrocellulose type.

Senator Vandenberg. Is there some of the powder in the type we
are now discussing, of the type on which the War Department ob-

jected to your releasing information?
Mr. Casey. Yes, I think it was ; some I.M.R.
Senator Vandenberg. Some was I.M.R. ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Vandenberg (reading) :

The second case is the question in Belgium where, for every commercial
reason, it would appear reasonable to place the business expected from the
Fabrique Natiunale on Nobel's, and where Nobel is about to undertake studies

to meet the requirements. In this case, unless I give Nobel's the results of

the studies made by us for the Fabrique Nationale, and give them certain

assistance, which knowledge I have acquired through efforts of the du Pont
Co., they will have trouble in meeting these requirements.

Thirdly, in the question of powder for the 13.2 mm Hotchkiss machine gun,
the question comes up why should they not furnish powder to Kynoch, if they
can make it, as Kynocli is their own factory, and here again, in order to enable
Ardeer to make this powder, we will eventually have to give them some
assistance.

So, it would appear that, in order to fullfil your quota obligations

to Nobel, you would be forced to give them information to enable

them to manufacture a number of different types of powder, would
it not?
Mr. Casj:y. That is what Taylor thought, looking into the future

was, perhaps, apt to happen.
Senator Vandenberg. Yes : and that included, in whatever degree

it involved them, it included these powders which the War Depart-
ment had put their prohibition?

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Vandenberg. This is in 1927?
Mr. Casey. Yes; in 1927.

Senator Vandenberg. Now, did the 1927 contract Avith Poland for

1,000 tons go through?
Mr. Casey, Yes ; and du Pont filled it all.

Senator Vandenberg. Did you promise to show Nobel how to make
the powder which Poland required under this contract so that they
could fill their quota under the agreement?
Mr. Casey. We did not.

Now, Senator Vandenberg, would you mind letting me now go
back to fill in the gap ?

Senator Vandenberg. Just a minute, on this particular point. I
want to refer to the next letter which will be marked as an exhibit.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 939 ", and is

included in the appendix on page 2589.)
Senator Vakdenberg. This is a letter to Colonel Taylor from

W. H. O'Gorman, assistant director. Was he your assistant, Major?
Mr. Casey. Right.
Senator Vandenberg. He was assistant director to Major Casey,

which letter is dated January 10, 1928, and I want to refer to the
second page, the paragraph marked with the numeral 4. [Reading :]

We do not intend to furnish technical information to Nobel on any rifle or
cannon powder which we have in the past made up or may make up for
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European governments. The sole exception to this is in the case of Poland
where we have promised, and are willing to show the Nobel representative the
manufacture of rifle and cannon powder on the Polish contract.

Does that change your answer to my question as to whether you
made a promise to release this information?
Mr. Casey. We did not.

Senator Vandenberg. Now, this information that you promised
to release to the Nobel representative in the case of Poland, did that
involve this I. M. R. powder in any degree?
Mr. Casey. But, we made no promise to release it to Nobel.
Senator Vandexrfjjo. What does this mean when you say [read-

ing] :

The sole exception to this is in the case of Poland where we have promised
and are willing to show the Nobel representative the manufacture of rifle and
cannon powder on the Polish contract?

Mr. Casey. That may be in the letter, but we still want to fill in

that gap. Senator. Otherwise, this paragraph does not stand out as

it should. If you will permit me, I would like to tell you the story.

Senator Vandenberg. All right; then we will come back to this

paragraph.
Mr. Casey. After this Government's objection, previously referred

to, of 1923, our position became ridiculous to such an extent that our
people accused Henning and myself of deliberately trjdng to block
the proposition, which was simply this : Nobel had the information
on the manufacture of this powder which was given to all British

manufacturers at that time during the war, but if Nobel made any
of that powder they would be promptly running up against our
patents, which would possibly lead to a lawsuit. The final result

of all this was that Mr. Felix du Pont and myself went down to

General Williams, and explained to him that, really, what Nobel
wanted, and all we expected to give them was a non-exclusive license,

so that they could make powder in England, which would absolve
them from the danger of a lawsuit on our part because of a violation

of our patent. While they had all the knowledge as to making it,

they had never been licensed to make that powder.
Now, the fact also remains that no further information was given

to Nobel's on any improvements we made on I. M. R. powder, other
than they had in the original developments as they existed during
the war. Therefore, when you read this paragraph, if Nobel's had
been able to supply to Poland a certain portion of the contract, if

Poland were willing, and Poland wanted to supply the type of

powder which was manufactured during the war, which England
and Russia could, and when you say Russia you must include the
Poles as part of Russia, they knew what the Russian powder was-r-

then we might assist them in making the type of powder that they
were making, or trying to make during the war, but on no further

development. I think that clears the picture a little differently.

It makes the set-up appear a little different.

Senator Vandenberg. It makes it appear a little different, yet the

thing I am trying to discover, and which, I confess, leaves me in

some perplexity is this : Back in 1923 you were asking the War De-
partment of the ITnited Statues whether it had any objection to this

relationship with Nobel's in respect to I. M. R. powder.
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Mr. Casey. Right.
Senator Vandenberg. Obviously because there must be some in-

formation involved which is wanted abroad as a result of your
release. You are consistently proceed! n<2; on the theory that you
want to do everything the War Department asks you to do.

Mr. Casey. Right.
Senator Vandenbekg. The War Department asks you. and the

Navy Department asks you not to proceed with your arrangement.
Mr. Casey. That is right.

Senator Vandenberg. And you do proceed with the arrangement
in spite of tliose objections. In a conference which you yourselves

sought with the governmental authorities as late as 1928, you are

asserting your willingness to continue to violate this request from
the War Department in some degree in respect to this Polish order,

it seems to me. Am I mistaken about that?
Mr. Casey. Do you think that is really a fair statement. Senator?

I know from my contact with you that you want to be absolutely

fair.

Senator Vandenberg. I think you are correct about that.

Mr. Casey. Now, I have just tried to indicate to you that here was
something they had complete information on. They have that to

the extent, not only of the information we gave them, but that our
own Ordnance Department people gave them.

Senator Vandenberg. Didn't they have that before you sent Hen-
ning up to the War Department to find out if the War Department
had objection to this?

Mr. Casey. Who?
Senator Vandenberg. Henning.
Mr. Casey. Yes; they did.

Senator Vandenberg. Why did vou send Henning over to the War
Department?
Mr. Casey. I wanted to block it.

Senator Vandenberg. You agreed with the W^ar Department's
viewpoint ?

Mr. Casey. I wanted to prevent any further improvements reach-
ing Nobel's. They had the type of powder existing during the war,
and I wanted to prevent any further improvements, improvements
had to be made in that powder, reaching them. What they would
have gotten would not have been the I. M. R. powder we supplied
to the United States.

Senator Vandenberg. Now, let us both be perfectly fair and frank
about this.^ Is it not a fact that the relations of the du Pont Co.
with Nobel's did violate in spirit, if not in letter, the regulations of
the War and Navy Departments as asserted to you in 1923 in connec-
tion with your relations with Nobel's ?

Mr. Casey. I do not think so, Senatoi-, and I am trying to be frank
about it, too, because when Mr. Felix du Pont and myself explained
to General Williams that it was simply a question of authorizing
legally their right to make the powder "which they already had in-
formation on. That is us far as the matter went, and General Wil-
liams said they did have the information, I know it—General
Williams talking said, " I know they have the information."
We said this is simply a question of legallj^ giving them the right

without danger of a lawsuit, to make something the information on
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which they already have. To this day, I do not believe Nobel's

has ever been able to make that powder. So that shows we have

not helped them.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, I think that Major Casey has

missed your point, and for that reason has not cleared up your

mind on it.

Senator Vandenberg. No ; he has not cleared up my mind.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. The United States Government did not

object to the relations between du Pont and Nobel, or between du
Pont and I. C. I. They objected to the giving of information on
that powder.

Senator Vandenbekg. That is my understanding, and it is also

my understanding that you did give information in spite of the

objection.

Mr. Casey. No; no information, Senator.
Senator Vandenberg. What did you give?
Mr. Casey. The right to manufacture.
Senator Vandenberg. Wasn't it the right to manufacture which,

necessarily, involved the information that the War Department and
the Navy Department were telling you to keep confidential?

Mr. Casey. This was information that Nobel already had.

Senator George. Do you mean, Major Casey, that you were agree-

ing to license a developed process, developed during the war, that
they already had, isn't that your meaning?
Mr. Casey. Exactly.
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. The conversations with the War Depart-

ment that Major Casey mentioned occurred quite a while ago, and
I want to say that I remember very distinctly the conversation that
we had with General Williams, in which General Williams said

:

It is all right for you to give them the right to manufacture that powder,
which they knew liow to make during the war.

Senator Vandenberg. Is there anything in writing which you have
ever received from the Bureau of Ordnance, or the Chief of the
Bureau of the Navy Department, which mentions in any way the
memorandum of June 27, 1923?
Mr. Casey. Which one is that?
Senator Vandenberg. That is the memorandum in which the

chief of the War Department says:

In view of the fact that powders of this type are employed in certain
standard service ammunition used not only by the United States Army but
by the Navy and Marine Corps, the Ordnance Department believes that the
methods involved in the manufacture should be regarded as confidential mili-
tary information.

Mr. Casey. And so they were.
Senator Vandenberg. Has that ever been mentioned in any way

in writing?
Mr. Casey. It did not have to be, because we gave them no infor-

mation over what they originally had. Therefore we absolutely
lived up to the request of the Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance and
Chief of Ordnance of the Army. We gave them no information.

Senator Vandenberg. What kind of I. M. R. powder was it that
you were going to permit Nobel to manufacture and sell to Poland
in 1928, many years later? Is that the old stuff?
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Mr. Casey. The old stuff.

Senator Vandenberg. Without any of the new developments
later?

Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Vandenberg. Now, let us consider the flashless nonhygro-

scopic powder. A large portion of the powder furnished on this

Polish contract was this F.N.H. type, which you developed for the

War Department?
Mr. Casey. A large part?
Senator Vandenberg. Yes.

Mr. Casey. I do not think we supplied any.

Senator Vandenberg. You do not think there is any F.N.H. pow-
der that has been involved in these foreign sales ?

Mr. Casey. No. When you talk about F. N. H., and when our
powder began to be known around the world. We were approached
by I.C.I, for the know-how. Our answer was obvious. There is a

little situation that always comes up, and that is this, it might be that
the United States ordnance, either Army or Navy might want to use
that. So, therefore, we simply said to I.C.I., if you want this infor-

mation, you put in your request through the military attache and
the British Embassy. They will in turn deliver it through channels
down to the Ordnance Department, and if the Ordnance Department
is agreeable and we are agreeable to this, we will transmit the infor-

mation back through the Ordnance Department.
Now, the reason that I make that statement is this : It is a com-

mon practice among governments if one country has certain infor-

mation, they will use that to trade with another nation for some-
thing of military importance that they may have, and so we wanted
to find out in such cases whether or not this was of any use to the

United States Government to assist them in getting any further
information.

Senator Vandenberg. In connection with the Polish order, the

reason it failed was because the Polish Government refused to com-
plete the order in the fashion suggested, was it not ?

Mr. Casey. That was one reason, yet we anticipated that in the
beginning, because if I wanted du Pont powder I would say, " I
want du Pont to make it and not somebody else."

I have here, and I do not know whether it is complete or not, a
list of patents on I.M.R. powder. One is dated, without going into

the serial number, July 29, 1916. That is the year it was filed.

Another was British application June 9, 1917, and another August
17, 1916. British application, June 9, 191T. Another, August 17,

1916, and British application June 9, 1917. Another July 14, 1916,

and British application June 9, 1917.

All of these patents except no. 1313459—all of those except the
last had been given to the British during the war. All information
in connection with it is covered by those patents, and the right to use
them on account of the war.
Now, it was simply legalizing the right to operate under those

patents. That is involved in this whole proposition.

Now, as to the number of patents since that time, I do not know
how many there are, but I.C.I, has no information, and there is no
intent on our part to give that information. Further than that.
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when we got these instructions from the Chief of the Bureau of Ord-
nance, and the Chief of Ordnance of the Army, we lived up to them
and gave tliem no further information than on the basis of the first

patent, what they ah^eady had.
Senator Vandenberg. Anything subsequently sold is the old stuff?

Mr. Casey. What?
Senator Vandenberg. Anything subsequently sold is the old stuff,

sold under this arrangement?
Mr. Casey. Yes; but to my knowledge they have never sold a

pound. They have not been able to make it.

Senator Vandenberg. We will proceed.

Mr. Lammot dtj Pont. Senator, before you proceed, you asked a
while ago whether there was any modification of the War Depart-
ment's position.

Senator Vandenberg. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. On the memorandum of 1923, I have here

a memorandum which indicates that there was a modification, and I
would like to read it.

Senator Vandenberg. I think you should read it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think it is part of the chronology. This
is a letter from Mr. Henning of April 29, 1924, which is, of course,

Mr. Henning's version of what we agreed to. I will just read one
extract, and then, if you would like to, you can have the whole
communication on it. [Reading:]

Even before seeing our letter. General Ruggles had dictated an endorsement
relating to the military attache's cable, stating that it was vastly more impor-
tant to encourage du Pont in the manufacture of propellants for military use,
than to endeavor to protect secrets relating to the manufacture.

This is referring to I.M.R. powder.
Senator Vandenberg. I am glad you read it. I think I am com-

ing to something of that same character, Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Casey. Before we quit these patents, may I say that these

patents have lapsed.

Senator Vandenberg. I refer now to Mr. O'Gorman's letter of
March 10, 1928, to Colonel Taylor, in which the close cooperation on
military products is reaffirmed.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 940 ", and is

included in the appendix on page 2590.)

Senator Vandenberg. I want to read this letter addressed to

Colonel Taylor, signed by Mr. O'Gorman, who is Major Casey's
assistant.

Senator George. What is the date of that letter ?

Senator Vandenberg. March 10, 1928. The title of it is " Con-
ference with Nobel Officials." [Reading:]

1. On March 9 a conference took place between Nobel and du Pont officials

on matters appertaining to sales of military products of both companies. We
have not as yet been furnished with a copy of the minutes of the conference,
but the following as reported by Major Casey is a summary of recommenda-
tions :

(a) A 10-year agreement between Nobel and du Pont covering military sales
in Europe be entered into as more or less of a continuation of the 1925 agree-
ment.

(6) It was explained to Nobel that our Paris office is not in a position to
furnish technical information, and therefore all technical problems should be
referred to Wilmington. We offered Nobel our facilities at Brandywine Labora-
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tory for the development of nitrocellulose rifle powders for British Army car-
tridges. We suggested that Brandywine would welcome visits of Nobel technical
men, and we would undertake to develop nitrocellulose rifle powders to fulfill

the British requirements, provided Nobel would furnish us with guns and
components to be used in ballistic tests. The development would then be turned
over to Nobel and. If necessary, we would send a man to Ardeer to assist in
the manufacture of nitrocellulose rifle powder for the British Government.
All technical information passed on to Nobel would be on the basis of Nobel
agreeing to consider same as confidential, and under no condition divulge it to
subsidiary or other companies in which Nobel may have part ov/nership or
some other interest.

To what extent would that involve the release of what we might
term " military secrets " ?

Mr. Casey. None whatsoever. One of the powders which had the
greatest sale was I.M.R, 18, which was developed during the war
for the British cartridge. As I have stated before, Nobel had never
been able to make a satisfactory copy of that powder, although they
had all the information. They were trjdng to induce the British
Government to drop the use of cordite with its highly corrosive
qualities, and use a progressive burning powder, which they felt they
could make. This whole proposition here is that we felt we could
assist them in making the old powder that was made during the war,
I.M.R.-18, because it was ideally suited to the British cartridge, and
there had been no change in the British cartridge, it was the old 303
mark 7.

Senator Barbour. Major, I am wondering if that assistance which
you speak of is not the fulfillment of a promise that I remember
being mentioned in one of the other letters.

Mr. Casey. You mean about help?
Senator Barbour. About help.

Mr. Casey. In regard to information which they already had?
Senator Barbour. Yes. I think there has been a little confusion

in our minds in regard to a promise which was made, which appeared
in connection with your arrangements with the Department and a
nonfulfillment of it.

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Chairman
Senator Vandenberg. Yes, Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I would like to ask if you have taken from

the files the original copy of the patents, which it seems to me is the

most important part of this controversy. I do not know what it

contains.

Senator Vandenberg. If it is available, it might be entered, but
it is so technical that it seems to me that the interpretation of the

situation made by your own officials is thoroughly competent.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It seems to me that the first-hand testimony
of the actual contract ought to be the thing which governs, rather

than somebody's interpretation.

Senator Vandenberg. Let it be entered at any time you want to

furnish it as an exhibit. Nevertheless, I disagree with you that these

particular exhibits are not thoroughly pertinent and competent and
material.

This conference in 1928 was a conference relating to the sale of

military products, was it not?
Mr. Casey. Right.
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Senator Vandenberg. And it is renewing a thoroughly intimate

and close relationship, a sort of a reciprocal cooperation, between

you and Nobel, is it not?
Mr. Casey. No. This is a suggestion to renew a selling arrange-

ment. The 1925 agreement did not include patents or secret proc-

esses. They had been specifically excluded.

Senator Vandenberg. You are suggesting the visit of Nobel's tech-

nical man and complete hospitality in the matter and everything.

Mr. Casey. As I just explained this, they had still not been able

to manufacture the same powder on which they had information
during the war, which was developed for the British cartridge at that

time, and they were trying to get the British Government to adopt a

nitrocellulose powder instead of cordite. To date, they have not

succeeded.
Senator George. Then Major Casey, we are to infer, or to under-

stand, that they did not take advantage of this suggestion or offer?

They did not send their technical experts ?

Mr. Casey. They did, but you have got to take into consideration

the typical British viewpoint. They sent over two men. One was
an old long-range rifle shot, with whom I had been acquainted a

number of years, F. W. Jones, and the other man was a doctor from
Scotland by the name of Stickland. Those men came over and here
is as far as they got : The very minute we began discussing the pow-
der which we made for the British Government, their first attitude

was, " You do not know how to make it." That is as far as we got.

Every bit of the talk we had with them after that they tried to show
us we were " all wet ", the answer being that if we were, they would
now be able to produce the powder, and when they were given the
opportunity during the war period to see how the powder was made,
they would not have anything to do with it, and they did not know
anything about making the powder. I was at the Ardeer plant in

1925, and I saw them with German machinery which they had gotten
from the German plants right after the war—I think there was a
general distribution of it—I saw them trying to make German
powder, and likewise on some of the German equipment they were
trying to make our powder, and when they tried to make powder on
a guillotine press, like a paper press, I could understand how they
would not be able to make our type of powder, unless they changed.
You cannot change the British nature.

Senator Vandenberg. You have a great deal more technical knowl-
edge about the manufacture of powder than most of the countries to
which you sell, have you not?
Mr. Casey. I would not say that, no ; but I think we have had more

practical experience. You know that technical knowledge is one
thing and application is another thing. Two experts may have equal
technical knowledge but the actual " know-how " or operation as to
the question of distinction between them is bad.

Senator Vandenberg. This technical capacity, let us say, which
you possess, becomes
Mr. Casey. Technical and operating capacity.
Senator Vandenberg. Technical and operating capacity which

you possess becomes of considerable sales use, does it not, in the
course of your foreign contacts?
Mr. Casey. If we did not have it, we could not sell.
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Senator Vandenberg. Precisely.

Mr. Casey. Senator, I would say that in selling to a foreign
country we have repeatedly run up against this situation : In spite

of the fact they say " the powder is good, but not as good as we
can make ", this being the foreign country, and " we like it ", then
they start in to tell you that you are making it the wrong way.
You always run up against that situation. The fact of the matter
is : In the case of one country, to whom we never sold, they had
a term in their own specifications which really meant unless you
were able to get the water from the Danube Kiver you could not
fulfill the specification—and we did not have a pipe line. That
country was Rumania. After the war the same representatives
who were here during the war came over, and the net result of that
was—after being told that we still did not Iniow how to make
powder and they did not want our powder—they wanted their
own—yet on actual test their own did not show up as well as ours

—

and the net result of the proposition was an expense account for
furnishing lemonade on all occasions to the representatives—and
it was lemonade.

Senator Vandenberg. As a statement of your company's policy
with respect to the use of technical and operating capacity in sales

promotion, let me read into the record the final two paragraphs
of the letter of W. H. O'Gorman, who was Major Casey's assistant

director, addressed to Colonel Taylor in Paris on December 12, 1927,
which I will offer for appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 941 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2591.)

Senator Clark, That reads

:

The matter of furnishing technical assistance to foreign governments or
foreign plants is one which comes up quite often. In general, our policy is

not to answer the question until we have some indication as to whether
the giving of technical assistance will result in a large order or orders. If it

is necessary to answer the question as to the giving of technical assistance
before any information can be had as to whether the foreign government will

agree to give us a percentage of its powder requirements over a period of
years, we think our position should be as follows

:

The du Pont Co. will furnish technical assistance on powder manufacture,
providing we can be guaranteed orders for a definite quantity of powder
per annum over a period of 10 years. Of course, our decision will be based
upon the quantity of powder which we will be permitted to manufacture
for the customer over the specified period.

Is that a fair statement of the attitude of the company?
Mr, Casey. Yes, sir; but, Senator, before you leave that, realize

this: O'Gorman is writing to our own man. Colonel Taylor, and
while it is not expressed here, as I have stated repeatedly, we do not
have to explain policies to our own people every minute. It stands
without any further comment that that is also predicated upon
Government permission and approval.

EUROPEAN countries AIM FOR INDEPENDENCE IN POWDER SUPPLY

Senator Vandenberg. This whole phase is further discussed in con-
siderable more detail in Colonel Taylor's letter to Major Casey under
date of March 3, 1930, which will be marked appropriately.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 942 " and ap-
pears in full in the text.)
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Senator Vandenberg. I am now approaching another phase of the

matter, which is of exceeding interest to me. I read

:

In the European countries where the joint sales of du Pont and Imperial
Chemical Industries material are conducted by the Paris office, our prospects are
limited to getting a few orders based on mobilization plans which we have
stimulated.

May I interrupt to inquire in how many different countries du
Pont and I. C. I. conduct joint sales?

Mr. Casey. At this time we were handling sales practically for

both companies. We did not think they knew how to sell.

The Chairman. That was in 1930?
Mr. Casey. That was in 1930.

Senator Vandenberg. To what extent? You mean all over the

world ?

Mr. Casey. No, no; this was Europe we were talking about.

Senator Vandenberg. All over Europe?
Mr. Casey. Yes, sir; including Turkey, I believe, and Persia.

Senator Vandenberg (reading) :

In the European countries where the joint sales of du Pont and Imperial
Chemical Industries material are conducted by the Paris office, our prospects
are limited to getting a few orders based on mobilization plans which we have
stimulated.

What does that mean ? How do they stimulate mobilization plans ?

Mr. Casey. You do not stimulate the plans. I believe this was
brought out in the previous hearing: Every nation has a mobiliza-
tion plan. The trouble with nearly all these nations was that they
were trying to fulfill the program called for by the mobilization plan
but did not have the money with which to do it. Further than that,

in the different branches requiring material, each one would try to

get priority for his particular kind of equipment. In other words,
there might be a certain amount of money available in that country
for mobilization. The quartermaster would come along and say,
"Yes; I must have this for canteens." They might want escort
wagons, they might want trucks, tractors, or something of that sort.

The Ordnance Department might want guns, they might want
powder, they might want small arms, so that there was continually
a fight in every country" as to who was going to get the right to spend
the amount of money available on their mobilization scheme. That
is what they were referring to here.

Senator Vandenberg. Let me read the next sentence [reading] :

We have such prospects in Poland, Holland, Finland, Esthonia, Latvia.

In other words, in Poland, Holland, Finland, Esthonia, and Latvia
you had prospects for getting a few orders based on
Mr. Casey. Mobilization plans.

Senator Vandenberg. Which you had stimulated.
Mr. Casey. We have not stimulated the plan. We were trying

to stimulate them to buy the powder on their mobilization program.
Senator Vandenberg. They have the progTam and you are try-

ing to stimulate them to get powder to carry out the program.
Mr. Casey. To get our powder, which would be natural. You must

realize also. Senator, if they buy guns and no ammunition, the guns
are no use.

Senator Vandenberg. Certainly not as deadly.



2452 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Casey. If they buy powder and do not buy the ammunition
at the same time, or the components making up the ammunition,
the powder is of no use. In every case, they have got to keep a
balanced program. If they decide to buy guns, it generally means,
if they use all the money for guns, they probably have to wait until

the next year to buy ammunition. There is a time element in there.

It may be that the guns take longer to produce than their am-
munition, 2 or 3 years, and they say, " We will order the guns this

year and the next year or the second year following we will have
the ammunition for the guns."

Senator Vandenberg. Wlierever they have a mobilization plan as

a matter of business procedure you see if you can sell the stuff ?

Mr. Casey. We try to secure some of it for our material.

Senator Vandenberg. You try to turn that from a paper plan
into an actual plan, wherever you find this situation existing?

Mr. Casey. I vrould not say that. We try to get our part of the
money which they have available. Senator, to say that we can in-

fluence a foreign government as to its policy, I think it is self-evi-

dent that such a thing is impossible. They have a policy and we
have nothing to do with their polic}-, nor could we in any way pos-

sibly have. They would not take us into their confidence.

The fact of the matter is, I might add, that at the previous hear-

ing I stated when we firet started or attempted foreign sales, which,
with two exceptions before the war, was not begun until after the
war, we found we were like children in the wilderness, and the

first contract which we had was from an extremely friendly country
to this country, and where they had actually started their pur-
chasing in this countr}'^ through a purchasing commission on Fortieth
Street in New York City, and it was several years afterward before

we finally got a contract.

Now, Colonel Taylor, who, when this thing started, was not in

military service, when he began going around to the different gov-
ermnents, the door was shut in his face. It was not until they
began to realize that he would not leave that he was able to get

by the outer door. The foreigners will come to this country and
be surprised as to how easily they can get in to see people. Over
there you cannot. They may keep you waiting in an anteroom
for days, and when they finally let you get into the inside, you are

ready to say, at least, " They are now ready to consider us as a

possible source of supply."
If the members of this committee think that this is a matter of

just going some place and selling munitions, and that we have some-
thing to say and they jump at it, they are very much mistaken.

Senator Vandenberg. The committee has no such idea.

Mr. Casey. If you would like to have first-hand information, I

would like to put you on the job.

Senator Vandenberg. From my observation of the methods em-
ployed, I wouhl prefer to stay in the Senate.
Mr. Casey. I will say this : I do not know what you get as a Sena-

tor, but you ai'e certainly better off.

Senator Vandenberg. (reading) :

We have such prospects in Poland, Holland, Finland, Esthonia, Latvia,

and based on your stimulation of their own mobilization plan?
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Mr. Casey. That is true.

Senator Vandenberg. They set up the plan and then your sales-

men proceed to tell them that their plan is no good so long as it is

just a plan on paper?
Mr, Casey. No, On their mobilization plan—we have never seen

an actual plan in any country—they have plans for powder, guns,
ammunition, high explosives, and we say, " Why not buy some from
us?"

Senator Vandenberg. What good is it on paper ?

Mr. Casey. What good is it on paper ?

Senator Vandenberg. If they have a gun and no powder, what
good is it?

Mr. Casey, To make an ornament for some city.

Senator Vandenberg. I will continue reading that letter [reading
" Exhibit No. 942 "] :

We may get one order from each of these countries, and there may be no
more. The current business is gradually being well taken care of by local
factories.

However, the current production of the local factories is not entirely satis-
factory. They are calling for help, and it might appear that the best chance
we have of getting orders in the future would be to help them in their powder-
factory plans.

It is the ambition of every European country to build a local factory, or to im-
prove the quality of their production, where factories already exist. The pro-
duction, in existing factories, of a poor quality at high costs has not dis-
couraged in the least the ambition of the country operating the factory, nor
caused any hesitation on the part of other countries not owning factories in
considering the erection of a factory of their own.
The intention of each country is to produce in their local factory the type

of powder that the government adopts as standard, or to adopt as standard the
type of powder they can produce.

In the territory directed by Imperial Chemical Industries, they have decided
that their chances of business are so small that their only profit can be found
in conjunction with assistance given to local factories.
They are now negotiating various factory schemes in Bulgaria, Rumania,

Turkey, and Yugoslavia.
In the case of the powder factory in Turkey, Imi^erlal Chemical Industries

have definitely arranged with Koln-Rottweil, Gute-Hoffnungs-Hutte, and
Golzern-Grimma to supply the technical assistance.
The Germans have been discussing for a long time with the Turks regarding

the erection of a factory, and Imperial Chemical Industries decided that In
order to get the job they would have to take the Germans in, which they did
without consulting us, although they keep us informed at all times of what is
going on.

What does he mean by taking the Germans in? Have you any
idea?
Mr. Casey. I am not sure that my memory is very good on it, but

I think that they had talked of taking in the" Germans in the erection
of a powder mill in another country.

Senator Vandenberg. Does that mean a German investment or
does that mean the purchase of material in Germany?
Mr. Casey. No; it meant a German investment.
Senator Vandenberg. I read:

It is believed that in our territory we should give consideration to this matter
for the following reasons

:

(a) We have been approached several times by each of our customers to
assist them in building a factory or in improving their present production.

(&) When it becomes known that Bulgaria, Rumania, Turkey, and Yugo-
slavia are being assisted by Imperial Chemical Industries and the Germans in
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the production of a military powder, other countries will become more enthusias-
tic about production in their own country.

(c) If we continue to turn a deaf ear to our customers' requests for assistance
in their predominant ambition, they will seek assistance either from Germany
or from Bofors.

(d) Two existing government factories in Europe, 1 in Turkey and 1 in
Finland, produce the German type of powder.

(e) The Gei-man type of powder is entirely satisfactory in Europe, and
fulfills present-day requirements.

(f) The du Pont type of powder is not produced by any local government
factory in Europe.

(g) It would be a great asset if the du Pont type of powder would be
adopted as standard in some of the European countries, and produced there.

(h) In order to adopt du Pont powder as a standard type, the interested
country must be able to produce it.

We recommend that:
(a) The Paris office be authorized to negotiate the sale of "know how" for

the production of such du Pont rifle and cannon powder granulations as cus-
tomers may adopt as standard.

(6) Definite proposals be submitted to Poland for F.N.H. powder and pyro-
cannon powder, and to Holland for cannon and rifle powders.
Very truly yours,

William N. Taylob.

Now, if this analysis of the European situation is correct, it would
appear that no European country intends to remain dependent upon
a foreign country for its powder supply, if it can possibly help it.

That is a fair interpretation, is it?

Mr. Casey. Eight.
Senator Vandenberg. So that this means that you face the predic-

ament of the ultimate disappearance of your European market, when-
ever they achieve powder independence of their own, does it not?
Mr. Casey. Eight.
Senator Vandenberg. You apparently recognized this fact in 1925,

as long ago as 1925, and I am very much interested in the memoran-
dum of a meeting held at Nobel House on November 9, 1925, which
is offered for appropriate number.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 943 " and
is included in the appendix on p. 2592.)

Senator Clark. I read from this memorandum

:

President: Mr. Ir^nee du Pont, Maj. K. K. V. Casey, Col. W. N. Taylor, Mr.
A. G. Major.
The discussion evidenced that the du Pont representatives accept our theory

that eventually : (1) European countries will be self-supplying and/or (2) draw
their supplies from countries more logically situated (geographically) than the
U.S.A. and that jointly du Pont and ourselves should adopt the policy of afford-
ing technical assistance to European countries wishing to erect factories in re-

turn for a fee and the guarantee of jiowder orders to us during the erection
period.

So that as early as 1925 you quite generally recognized the fact

that your European market would dry up witli respect to American
sales ?

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. And that therefore apparently the only pro-
gressive outlet for the time being was through cooperation in the
creation of these independent producing units in their various foreign
countries, and you would get as much out of it incidentally by way
of temporary orders and fees as you could?
Mr. Casey. As a matter of interest, Senator, nothing ever came of

any of it.
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Senator Vandenberg. None of these plans have ever succeeded ?

Mr. Casey. Not a bit. In connection with this letter of Colonel

Taylor's of March 3, 1930, you may not have drawn the reply from
my files. On account of my voice, I would like to have somebody
else read this. This is the reply from O'Gorman, which is in reply

to letter T-1862. Will somebody else read it?

Senator Vandenberg. Will you read it, Mr. Raushenbush ?

This is a complete confirmation, is it not?

Mr. Casey. Of his general idea.

Senator Vandenberg. Of his general idea. Perhaps it will suflfice

if we enter it in the record at this time, without taking the time to

read it, unless you want to have it read.

Mr. Casey. I do not think there is any need.

Senator Vandenberg. All right, let it be entered.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 944 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2593.)

Mr. Casey. In connection with all these European factories we
are beginning to talk about around this period, I would like to read
an extract from a letter of Colonel Taylor's dated September 5,

1932.

Senator Vandenberg. Yes, sir.

Mr. Casey. He says:

The result was that in 1925 all the projects for building local factories

were pushed and a great many new ones developed. The net result of the
threat of this convention was, I am told, that over 300 building projects
were considered before January, 1926.

A great number of projects which might otherwise have died have succeeded
in becoming realities.

Such as in Tinland, Latvia, Zagadore * * * also some 40 factories in
Poland for other materials, 6 in Yugoslavia including powder plant, rebuild-
ing of i)owder factory in Roumania, 4 factories built in Turkey, and an at-

tempt to start a series of factories in Greece, reconstruction of arsenals in
Spain, government assistance to powder factory of Minden in Holland, and
the decision by Italy that the Italian army would only buy from Italian
factories.

That is the result of the Geneva Conference in 1925.
In referring to the date of January, 192G, I think that date is

important when you realize when the convention was held.
Senator Vandenberg. Mr. Chairman, I think I can conclude on

this matter in about 15 minutes.
Referring now to this method of procedure of sales, I call at-

tention to the Polish proposal made some time subsequent to 1924,
and I call attention to the next exhibit, which will be given an ap-
propriate number, which is cable No. 184.

(The cablegram referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 945 ", and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Vandenberg. This is a cable from Mr. A. Felix du Pont,
on April 25, 1924, and reads

:

Cable No. 184.

Negotiations with Poland powder plant proposition requires instructions
in manufacture flake I.M.R. powder. Ask Chief of Ordnance, Army, for per-
mission in writing to give these instructions and telegraph result.

Is that the I.M.R. powder that was described in the previous
testimony ?

83876—35
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Mr. Casey. No ; flake powder was a type of powder we made on a

few occasions similar to,the powder made by the German company
Koln-Rottweiler, but made in a different way because we have not

their equipment.
Senator Vandenberg. It has no relation to the I.M.R. powder that

the War Department declined to let you release?

Mr. Casey. No more relation than our I.M.R. powder had to

earlier forms of progressive-burning powders in Europe.

Senator Vandenberg. I do not know what that is. Your answer

is there is no relation here?

Mr. Casey. I do not want to make a flat statement that there is

no relation, because all progressive-burning rifle powders work on
one principle; that is, a deterrent on the outside of the powder to

move the pressure curve down the barrel rather than have it at the

breech. That is the principle of a progressive-burning rifle powder.

Senator Vandenberg. The answer is in the next exhibit, which will

be marked.
(The document referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 946", and

appears in full in the text.)

Senator Vandenberg. It is a cable to Mr. A. Felix du Pont on
April 29, 1924:

[Felix Cable No. 97]

Refer to your telegram no. 184, have letter in hand from Chief of Ordnance
authorizing us to assist and instruct Poland in manufacture of flake rifle

powder and other military powders are mailing to you today copy of letter.

In other words, the Chief of Ordnance authorizes you to assist

in the construction of this powder factory in Poland ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. And to use your flake I.M.R. powder

processes in that connection?
Mr. Casey. Yes. -

Senator Vandenberg. And the alloy of our own War Depart-
ment in this same connection is emphasized in this same trans-

action, not only by the authority given you by the Chief of Ord-
nance but also by a sentence which I will read from the next

exhibit, which is C. I. B. Henning's report under date of April 29,

1924. from Washington.
(The report referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 947 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2593.)

Senator Vandenberg. In which he says

:

The flake rifle powder situation was emphasized, and apparent contra-

dictions were cleared up.

Perhaps these contradictions were the same things that confused
me regarding I. M. R. powder [reading] :

Even before seeing our letter, General Ruggles had dictated an endorsement,
relating to the military attache's cable, stating that it was vastly more im-
portant to encourage the du Pont Co. to continue in the manufacui'e of
propellants for military use, than to endeavor to protect secrets relating to

the manufacture.

Who was General Ruggles at this time ?

Mr. Casey. Assistant Chief of Ordnance.
Senator Vandenberg. This is the same General Ruggles who later

was a United States delegate to the Geneva Conference in 1925?
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Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. General Euggles is quoted as asserting the

policy of the United States Government that it is vastly more im-

portant to encourage the du Pont Co. to continue in the manufac-

ture of propellants for military use than to endeavor to protect

secrets relating to the manufacture. And the personification of this

opinion is the fact that they at the moment permitted you to make
this arrangement with Poland.

Mr. Casey. To try to make.
Senator Vandenberg. To try to make this arrangement with

Poland.
Mr. Casey. There is an awful difference there, Senator.

Senator Vandenberg. I suppose there is. I found that out by the

cross-examination.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You asked some time ago whether the pro-

hibition on the giving of the secrets of the I. M. R. powder had ever

been reversed in writing. At that time it was a rather unsatisfactory

answer. I think this does answer that the letter was written.

Senator Vandenberg. But this refers to I. M. R. flake powder.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes ; and other military powders.
Senator Vandenberg. Do you think that includes I. M. R.. flake ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know. This includes the manufac-
ture of flake rifle powder and other military powders.

Senator Vandenberg. Do you read that as a reversal of the atti-

tude?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. It sounds like it. I know nothing about it,

but I just wanted to call your attention to it.

Mr. Casey. Senator, I think I can explain why General Ruggles
took that position. We made an arrangement with General Williams,
as Chief of Ordnance, in 1919, and it was based on this : I had just

heard the rumor in Wilmington that the directors of the company
were considering going out of the powder business. They had a great
many reasons why. There was the Government with the two finest

powder plants in the world. Old Hickory and Nitro. There were
tremendous stocks of powder left over from the war. It did not
seem feasible, nor possible, that there would be any further occasion,
for some years to come at least, for us to be in the powder business.
When I heard that I simply said to General Williams, " This is what
is being talked of ", and that started a letter from General Williams,
which resulted in an agreement of September 25. Now, I think you
will find—Mr. Raushenbush, you pulled all that.
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes; we have all that.

Mr. Casey. You have all that?
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes.
Mr. Casey. I believe those letters should be read into the record

at this time.

Mr. Raushenbush. At the proper time they will be.
Mr. Casey. Then, if they will be put in the record, let me just give

you an idea of what it means. General Williams said he thought it
would be a serious blow to the national defense if the du Pont Co.,
with its vast reservoir of technical information and know-how, were
to lose interest in the production of military propellants particularly,
and likewise the possible effect it might have on the national defense
in time of emergency.
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At that time, as the result of experiences during the war, the result

of the report of the Westervelt Board, there were something like

two hundred and seventy-five odd problems to be solved in con-
nection with military propellants and explosives.

As a result of that we said, " Well, we will try it. We will con-
tinue going." At the same time General Williams said he, however,
could not promise to give us any business, but he hoped we would
stick by the crowd. The fact of the matter remains that we did not
get any business from the Government, and then only in very small
quantities, for several years to come.

I think a little prior to this date of 1924, or it may have been at

the same time or slightly after, I know there was a newspaper article

that said something about du Pont going out of the powder business,

and Irenee du Pont received a letter from General Williams hoping
that that rumor was incorrect and asking him if we would still not
continue in the game.
Now, from our own viewpoint in the entire smokeless powder

department, we never knew at any time, in spite of this arrangement
whereby they would see the proposition probably so far in the
future, but what we might all be out of jobs.

So you can readily see, in view of the fact that improvements in

material of this type are taking place daily, that they considered it

was more important to keep us in the game, because if you gave
information under such an arrangement as suggested here this year,

the whole thing might be radically changed by something that took
place in the course of the next year.

Senator Vandenberg. So we find ourselves in this position: The
instrumentalities of defense are constantly improving from day to

day.
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. And as rapidly as we make improvements

over here, these improvements presumably giving us an advantage
in our defense, we are in the anomolous position of being forced to

let the other fellows have the advantages which we had obtained for

ourselves, in order to keep our munitions manufacturers going, so

that we can take advantage of the same progressive steps?

Mr. Casey. Well, I don't know. I think that is stating it a little

crudely.

Senator Vandenberg. I think it is worse than crude. If you can
state it any plainer, I wish you would. But you get my idea.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Isn't that true. Senator, in practically every
technical manufacturing process? Take the automobile manufac-
turners, when they bring out new ideas, they are passed on to the

other fellows.

Senator Vandenberg. Yes; but there is a vast difference there.

T suppose the automobile is a dangerous weapon under some cir-

3umstances, but there is no analogy, as I view the situation—and I

do not mean to enter any personal opinions in this testimony, but
you have raised the point—I don't think there is any analogy be-

tween private cars, in the normal sense, and the munitions trade,

because the making of private cars involves only a commercial
aspect, whereas the munitions trade involves the life, and the trade

of the country indirectly, and the physical life and death of its
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people. So you cannot consider them in parallels. It seems to me
we now have the amazing proposition that as an abstract proposi-

tion wlien the United States perfects a new advantage in the art of

self-defense, we must sooner or later impart that knowledge to all

the rest of the nations of the earth, which must include our potential

enemies against whom we are attempting to set up our defense in

prospect. We must impart this advantageous information to our
potential enemies, or our private munitions manufacturers in the

United States will be unable to continue to arm us with this ad-

vantageous thing. It seems to me that that is the proposition which
we confront.
The Chairman. Doesn't it come to this in just a word : That we

must arm the world under this practice, so that we can have the

capacity to take care of ourselves in an emergency, when and if the

world decides to use our devices against us ? I don't think there is

a more thorough argument against the private manufacturer of

munitions than that one to which you have just directed yourself,

Senator.
Mr. Caset. Senator Nye, a military secret is a secret for only

about 2 years.

The Chairman. Less than that very often, is it not?
Mr. Casey. No; I am saying a government secret like you talk

about is a secret for only about 2 years, because just as soon as tests

are made it does not take long for the thing to drift around.
The Chairman. How do you account for the drifting around?
Mr. Casey. Does not our Government maintain and every other

foreign government maintain military and naval attaches?

The Chairman. Yes.
Mr. Casey. What is their job?
The Chairman. You think that that is their job?
Mr. Casey. I ask you the question, what is their job ?

The Chairman. I do not know. What is their job ?

Mr. Casey. To get information.
The Chairman. You think they are the ones who get the infor-

mation and convey it back home ?

Mr. Casey. That has nothing whatsover to do with private manu-
facture.

Senator Vandenberg. I had a number of other exhibits which I
was going to introduce bearing upon your negotiations with the
Dutch Government and with the Belgian Government, in each in-

stance simply typifying this same general situation which we ap-
parently now confront, namely, that in return for technical assistance

in establishing their own munitions institutions, if you are given
interim orders that are adequate, you are perfectly willing to set

them up in business.

Mr. Casey. Don't say we are.

Senator Vandenberg, Who shall I say is willing to set them up
in business?
Mr. Casey. Say the Government is walling to have us do it, pro-

vided we get production. The Government has absolutely no in-

terest

Senator Vandenberg. Exactly.
Mr. Casey. In our building a plant in a foreign country.
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Senator Vandenberg. I understand. I am simply coming to this

conclusion : If this thing then is carried to its ultimate conclusion
and your prophecies are correct, it is only a matter of a short time
when you will have, assuming that the system works as you expect
it to work, when you will have or somebody else will have assisted

all of these foreign countries to become self-dependent in respect to
these supplies and you will be out of the export business.

Mr. Casey. There is no doubt of that last part.

Senator Vandenberg. That is the ultimate result of the forces
that are at work, if they work as you contemplated they would work.
Mr. Casey. Let me remind you. Senator, there, that it is self-

evident from these reports of Taylor's, that what they wanted assist-

ance on was in reality on improving their own type of powder.
France took enormous quantities of our powder during the war, but
they have never made, as far as I know, a bit of that powder since.

They still believe in their own type of powder. That will apply
throughout Europe. The fact remains, as stated, that there is not
one nation in Europe making the du Pont type of powder, even
though they were given the information to make certain types of
powder during the war.

Senator Vandenberg. But the thing I am trying abstractly to

establish is that the American export business in powder, if not al-

ready at an end, will be at an end just as soon as this self-sustaining

manufacturing activity has been concluded in the other countries.

Mr. Casey. I think so.

Senator Vandenberg. And it is the policy of your company now
to contribute to the making of these countries self-sustaining?

Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Vandenberg. Oh, yes. You are perfectly willing to give

them technical assistance in establishing their own factories, so long
as you have the interim orders for powder.
Mr. Casey. I don't think that is quite a fair statement.

Senator Vandenberg. I want it to be fair. What is the statement?
Mr. Casey. Here is the summary of the situation, put up by Tay-

lor, the way tlie future looks to him. He has shovrn that the Geneva
Conference of 1925 resulted in this tremendous expansion in all

Europe, where they all began to realize if that did not take effect

then ultimately it would be at the place where every nation would
have to be self-supporting, as far as plants were concerned.

There is this distinction, however, that certain nations, in spite of

the fact they have their own plants, would still be dependent on
imports to operate those plants. For instance, how many nations of

the world produce cotton? And cotton is the very backbone of

powder. How many nations would have to import fuel, whether it

is in the form of coal or oil? How many nations would have to

import toluol for the manufacture of TNT ?

That is why in a great many cases this race for putting up their

own plants went into effect as the result of the Geneva Conference.

In a great many cases in these nations a powder plant was the last

thing in the world they would want, because when they actually

needed material in time of war they would be up aganist the same
problem that England faced in the World War, the question of

tonnage. It is better to use every bit of tonnage you have to import



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2461

something you can use rather than to use from 9 to 15 times that

tonnage in order to then have a net result of 1 ton.

Senator Vandenberg. I think we are through for this morning.

The Chairman. The committee will be in recess until 1 : 30.

(At 12 : 15 p.m. the committee recessed to 1 : 30 p.m. of the same
day.)

AFTERNOON SESSION

(The committee reconvened at 1 : 30 p.m.)

TESTIMONY OF K. K. V. CASEY, lEENEE DTJ PONT, LAMMOT DU
PONT, W. R. SWINT, A. FELIX DU PONT, AND DR. FIN SPAERE—
Resumed

EXCHANGE OF TECHNICAL INFORMATION BY MUNITIONS COMPANIES

The Chairman. The committee will be in order.

Mr. Casey. Senator Nye
The Chairman. Just a moment, please. The committee is having

to announce that by reason of the illness of Senator Clark it is not
going to be possible for the committee to go on with the intended
program of this afternoon. Except for a little finishing up on the
case that Senator Vandenberg had in hand this morning and such
statements as the Chair understands witnesses wish to make, the com-
mittee will recess until Monday very early this afternoon.

Senator Vandenberg. Major Casey, just one further exhibit. In
respect to this question of the interchange of information, and
whether or not it involves military processes, I show you a letter

from C. A. Woodbury, director. Who is Mr. Woodbury?
Mr. Casey. He is chemical director of the explosives department,

of which I loiow very little.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 948 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2594.)
Senator Vandenberg. This is Director Woodbury writing under

date of November 10, 1933, to Mr. W. R. Swint, director, foreign
relations department, and dealing, as it states, with du Pont LCI.
patents and processes agreement. I read :

In answer tO' the questions contained in your letter of November 2:
1. We have received no valuable assistance from I.C.I, on new products or

new processes, but have had valuable assistance along the line of improvements
in existing processes in two instances: (a) In the process for refining TNT
and (6) the complete process for manufacturing tetryl.

Are not TNT and tetryl military instrumentalities ?

^
Mr. Casey. Partly so, but tetryl has a tremendous use in peace

time in blasting caps.
Senator Vandenberg. How about TNT ?

Mr. Casey. That is also used in the manufacture of Cordeau Bick-
ford and likewise used in certain commercial explosives.

Senator Vandenberg. It is primarily a war explosive, is it?
Mr. Casey. Not in the sense used here, because the question of war

explosives is a question of melting point. In other words, you may
have a TNT with a very low melting point which will have no use
whatever for military purposes. I am talking now, understand, on
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something that is really out of my bailiwick. I think somebody
else ought to handle this proposition.

Senator Vandenberg. I am not sure but what I am. doing the
same thing, Major.
Mr. Casey. I might make statements which are absolutely incor-

rect. All I was giving you was just my own understanding.
Senator Vandenberg. I was struck as I read this with the im-

pression that this would indicate an exchange either of information
directly relating to military propellants
Mr. Casey. Not propellants. High explosives.

Senator Vandeberg. Explosives, or, at least, to explosives that
have had a major military purpose and use. Am I wrong about
that?

Mr. Casey. Wouldn't it be better to have somebody else answer
that?

Mr. SwiNT. I am the man to whom this communication was
addressed.

Senator Vandenberg. You were sworn yesterday?
Mr. SwiNT. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. Wliat is the answer to that question, then?
Mr. SwiNT. The answer is no, Wliile these explosives are used

in military explosives, in peace time they are not used for military
purposes and they have a very large use in ordinary industrial
explosives.

Senator Vandenberg. What explosives are exclusively military?
Any?
Mr. SwiNT. I suppose some of the military propellants would not

have any use in industrial explosives or as industrial explosives.

Senator Vandenberg. Would it be fair to say that an exchange
of information regarding nonmilitarj^ explosives in peace time would
exchange information which would become of value in war time?
Is that a fair statement?
Mr. SwiNT. That is a fair statement to the same extent that ex-

changing information on all other commodities applies.

Mr, Vandenberg. I understand, but whether the analogy is justi-

fied is a matter of argument, and we will not argue it. I am simply
asking the general question: The exchange of information regard-
ing explosives that are peace-time explosives in peace time, could be
of value, could it not, in war time?
Mr. SwiNT. Yes; with that same qualification.

Senator Vandenberg. Now, Dr. Sparre, you said this morning in

the recess that there w^as some comment you wanted to offer sup-
plementary to your testimony this morning.

Dr. Sparre, Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. We would be very glad to have you say

what you wanted to say.

Dr. Sparre. Just a few comments to supplement Major Casey's
statements in regard to I. M. R. especially.

I think the first idea in regard to that type of powder came up in

1905, but no use was made of it. It was an incomplete invention, if

you call it that.

We obtained information from Germany in 1908 and 1909 in re-

gard to their types of improved military powder, namely, the flake
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powder which Major Casey referred to. That information we re-

ceived and we paid for it, and we gave no information to the
Germans. We inspected their factory, but we gave them no informa-
tion, because they were not interested in the standard types of
military powder which we manufactured.
During the war when I went over with the military mission, there

had already preceded me to England the Mr. Henning referred to

in the testimony heretofore, who was our ballistics engineer, as well
as a man very well versed in all branches of military powder manu-
facture. The officials of the British Munitions Commission compli-
mented Mr. Henning very highly for the complete cooperation he
gave them, at the orders of the American Chief of Ordnance. When
1 came over there they mentioned it to me. He was nominally my
subordinate at that time.

There had already preceded me over there Mr. Jackson, a construc-

tion engineer, and the orders from the Chief of Ordnance were to

construct plants in accordance with our practice. I gave some in-

formation as well. Therefore, they had complete information, both
from a construction standpoint, a ballistics standpoint, and every-

thing else, in regard to the manufacture of our I.M.R. powder and
the state of the art at that time. The only thing which they had
not at that time were the licenses under patents, but during the war
time we did not pay any attention to patent rights. But there was
absolutely no military information given to the British or French or

anybody else that I know of except under orders from the American
administration.

Now, I visited foreign powder factories several times during the

years I have been with the company. I have never given any mili-

tary information to anybody that I know of. I never heard of any-
body giving any military information. I just do not see how such

a statement can be made. I have been with du Pont for 31 years
and never heard of it. I was in charge of the Central Laboratory
for the du Pont Co. for many years. I have been for many years

in their development department. It is a mystery to me how the

statement can be made.
Of course, this is an art which very few people understand. This

art is not taught in colleges or universities. You have got to be in

the industry to understand it. There is a considerable overlapping
of military explosives and commercial explosives, as far as the

fundamentals are concerned. By that I mean, that is largely as far

as economics are concerned.

Now, when you mention TNT, the valuable information there of

which we now talk about is whether we can cut the cost of manufac-
ture a quarter of a cent a pound, or something of that sort. When
we come to the military use of TNT, you require a very high degree

of purity in order to be acceptable to the military authorities. I do
not know that we ever exchanged information on that type of TNT,
but only on the type which is used in commercial explosives, which
is of lower degree purity.

Of course, during the war I saw the manufacture in both France
and England of the military type of TNT, and w^e got complete

knowledge of their manufacture of TNT during the war, and I

dare say they got our information, too; but, as a matter of fact,
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we got the TNT information from the British and the French. We
did not manufacture TNT until we got the information from the

British and the Germans before the war. It was an unknown manu-
facture to us. We acquired that knowledge and we paid for it. We
have acquired a great deal of military information from the other

companies and paid for it. I do not know of any information which
we have given them. I would like to have pointed out to me what
information it is. The statement has been made that we have sold

military secrets. You know more about military secrets than I do if

you can make that statement. I will ask you to please tell me what
it is. I never heard of it.

The Chairman. I see what you are worrying about. What I am
wondering about is whether there is any such thing as a military

secret. I do not know that we have run into one yet.

Dr. Sparre. I certainly think there are military secrets. There
is no doubt about it.

Senator Vandenberg. Are there any military secrets, Doctor, when
we find General Ruggles stating to your representative that he is

perfectly willing to part with any so-called " improved and tempo-
rary secret processes " that the Government possesses, so long as it is

necessary to keep the du Pont Co. in business.

Mr. Irenee dtt Pont. That only referred to military powder.
Dr. Sparre. That is not a military secret.

Senator Vandenberg. Is not a military powder, if it is a progres-
sive, improved thing, a distinct military secret?

Dr. Sparre. Yes; but we did not give out any information in

regard to the type of military powder which the United States

Government uses. We have to remember that the Brazilians make
military powder of the same general type; the Germans do: it is

made in the Scandinavian countries. They make the particular
type of powder which we call surface coated powder. We call it

I.M.R. It is a type of powder which is manufactured in many,
many countries. We manufacture that powder of a certain gran-
ulation. We have our way of doing it. The Germans have
a flake type. We have it in the form of small tubes. We have a
different coating agent. The Germans have a coating agent. We
do not use their coating agent. These may be classified as military
secrets, but we did not give the information away.
As Major Casey explained, we offered to sell or did sell—^I have

forgotten which—flake improved powder. That was the German
type of powder which we made. It was not the American type, as
standardized by the United States Government.

Senator Vandenberg. What were the military explosives or mili-
tary propellents upon which information was exchanged with Nobel
in the early twenties, when your legal department was insisting
that you had to give them everything you had? What military
information did they get at that time, if any?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I want to correct your statement that the

legal department insisted that we had to give them everything we
had. That was subject to Government approval. That contract
which was drawn up in 1914 and carried over, I think, to some-
thing like 1925 or 1923, specifically stated that it was subject entirely
to Government approval.
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Dr. Sparre. Let me give an example, Senator Vandenberg. You
asked the question, "What is an exclusively military explosive?" I
will just cite an example that comes to my mind. That is gun cotton

as used in naval torpedoes. I do not know that it has any commercial
application. We do not manufacture it. We could not give informa-
tion on it if we did not know anything about it.

Now, to show the misunderstanding about these things, I want to

refer, for instance, to some testimony which Mr. Raushenbush intro-

duced. He referred to certain sales of technical information in re-

gard to nitric-acid plants which we had sold to different countries.

We have given that same information to several American companies
and to several European companies. But, furthermore, we published
complete information about the principles, about the construction,

even photographs of the plant in Industrial and Engineering Chem-
istry in November 1927, in Canadian Chemistry and Metallurgy in

November 1930, and in the Journal of Industrial and Engineering
Chemistry in August 1931.

Those are publications which are found in all technical labora-

tories the world over.

How that can be called a military secret I do not know. In the
first place it is a commercial product. There is not 2 percent, I
don't believe, of nitric acid which is used in the manufacture of
military explosives, except in time of war that percentage goes up.
But today 98 percent, about, of nitric acid is used for purely commer-
cial things.

Furthermore, the information was all published. Wliatever patents
we could take out were in accordance with American patent practice
also published. In the first place, it is not military, and in the second
place it is not secret.

Now, Senator Vandenberg, you also will realize this: That the
American statutes encourage the taking out of patents, because if an
inventor does not cover this invention by a patent he runs the risk
of losing the entire value of his invention. In accordance with the
statutes, the inventor is compelled to submit a full, complete, precise
statement of his invention, involving such a complete disclosure that
anyone skilled in the art can duplicate the invention and duplicate the
product and practice the invention.
When the American Patent Office accepts that invention as patent-

able, the Patent Office publishes that information in the United' States
Patent Gazette, which is available in practically all of the libraries
over the world, and I know from personal experience that all of the
chemical companies over the world take regularly that Patent Gazette.
For 10 cents you can get a complete copy of the patent. Further-
more, anyone, whether he be an American citizen or a foreigner, at
negligible expense, writing into the Patent Office and asking for a
complete copy of the correspondence between the inventor and the
Patent Office, can obtain it, and all of the letters going out for a
period of years disclosing the thing completely are available for
practically nothing to competitors and anybody "else.

It is certainly an act of common sense for an inventor to apply for
a patent in foreign countries, because the Patent Office published in-
formation makes a gift of it to anybody. If there are enemy coun-
tries, as you suggest, Senator Nye,* they can get the information for
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nothing. Why should not an American inventor apply for a patent
in foreign countries? If it is an enemy country, at least you make
the enemy pay for it. But, as you suggested, it Avas not even paid for.
How can an American inventor or an American Corporation be criti-
cized for doing that thing which is merely complying with the
American statutes.

I have been in this business for 31 years, and I have been dealing
with literally thousands of patents. I suppose over my desk I
handle annually between one and two thousand suggestions of new
developments, and I never yet found any other way of handling it

than we are doing.
Senator Nye, if you know of a better way, I will be thankful to

learn it, because it would give me great help in handling this busi-
ness; and yet it is a very serious accusation which you have made
against this company, I take it to heart personally, because it is my
business to handle these things and I do not know of any better way
to handle them.
The Chairman. Perhaps we quibble over the word " secret " too

much. It seems to me that it does not matter what we call it.

The facts are that there is taking place daj"^ after day the sale of
what is, if not a military secret, a military advantage, that is ours
here in America, by reason of the ownership or production of a thing
which enters into national defense. It seems to me that is the thing
we are primarily concerned with. You ask what to do about it.

Very frankly, I am uncertain in my own mind what we can do
about it.

Dr. Sparre. Let me make one suggestion.

The Chairman. But the further we move along in this study I
am very frank to say, the more thoroughly convinced I become that

the business of providing the national defense as relates to the pri-

mary things entering into national defense ought to be a government
owned and government controlled thing altogether. I do not like

the idea in toto—it is an exceedingly difficult thing to work out—but
you have asked me the question, and I am answering you, not for

the committee, but only for myself. It seems to me the sooner we
cease this practice of arming all the world so we can have capacity

to fight the world with when the world turns on us with those things

we have sold them, the better off we will be.

QUESTION OF CONTROL OF CHEMICAL, INDUSTRY IN RELATION TO
DISARMAMENT

Mr. Casey. Senator Nj^e, you said a little while ago you would
give me permission to introchice into the record a report which was
in our files but which was not taken. It has to do with the question

of this morning's and likewise the present subject. I would like to

read it.

The Chairman. Yes.

Mr. Casey. It is dated January 13, 1933, and is a memorandum
from Colonel Simons

:

Colonel Taylor in his T-2554 of December 28, 1932, forwards his annual
report, and comments on European conditions in general, not only as regards

the business outlook, but also as regards the political and military aspects.
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His comment on disarmament is of sucli interest and importance that I extract

it for your attention as follows

:

" In view of the very great effect in Europe of the convention covering the

limitation of the traffic of arms, signed at Geneva in 1925 but not ratified, in

accelerating the construction of government factories in Europe, the ofti(,'e has

been very much concerned as to what might be the result of the present dis-

cussion at Geneva.
" There is no need to describe the visible result of this conference as this has

been well covered by the press ; but we have been trying to find out what the

real effect would be.
" It is the opinion of the military manufacturers that no limitation will be

put on government manufacture ; for example, in France, there are 300,000

people employed in the government arsenals, and nearly all these men vote

for the socialist deputies ; therefore, while the socialist deputies with their

liberal doctrines cry for disarmament, any attempts on the part of the

French War Department to close down the government factories are bitterly

opposed by these same deputies on the basis that it would throw voters out
of work. In many other countries the same situation exists, and whenever
there has been a tendency on the part of the military administration to reduce
governmental manufacture, it has been always opposed by the Labor deputies

on the basis that it would put men out of work.
" It is, therefore, generally believed that there will be no limitation to govern-

mental manufacture. The only thing which will be acceptable to the politicians
is limitation on private manufacture ; and it is further supposed that in case of
further limitation on private manufactui'e, that the present private factories,

such as Hotchkiss in France and Bofors in Sweden, will be immediately trans-
formed into governmental arsenals and continued as before. It is also sup-
posed that no limitation will be put on the delivery of arms from one govern-
ment to a friendly government; hence there will be some export business from
the government factories.

" The net result of this conference so far has been the tendency on the part
of the governments to develop governmental manufacturers and to spend their
money at home.

" There is also a tendency, which does not affect the armament business, for
the military advisers to devise suggestions destined to obtain military advan-
tages for their respective countries. One of the motives back of the French
proposal, that all countries should establish a conscription is to upset the pres-
ent German system of handling their Reichswehr. The Reichswehr is limited to
100,000 men of 12 years' enlistment and it would appear reasonable to suppose
that there should be at present a number of soldiers around the ages of 33 or
34 ; the fact is that when one meets a soldier of the Reichswehr he is a young
man in the early twenties, and it is pretty well accepted that there are several
men available under the same name and hence training much larger number of
men than permitted. The French feel that this is a more dangerous system
than general conscription. Both the French and German proposals for disarma-
ment are simply jockeying to get a favorable situation."

In view of the newspaper reports that the Swedish Government has taken
steps to nationalize Bofors and in view of the reports in today's paper of the
larger exports from France by Hotchkiss and by Schneider, it would appear that
the proposed American embargo on munitions is simply a method of destroying
American competition and turning over a free field to continental competitors.

Aiken Simons.

Now, incidentally, at the previous hearing there was considerable
to-do about a report of Colonel Simons dated January 17, 1933. where
he went around and saw a Major Brown and he saw General Moseley
and he tried to see Secretary Payne and others, and he also went to
the Bureau of Ordnance, but this is the memorandum that Colonel
Simons took around, and you can readily see that, not as inferred at

the previous hearing, that it had something to do with trying to

block or interfere with the disarmament conference, but it was simply
giving what our people thought was the tendency in Europe.

I would like to have that made thoroughly clear. I would like to

have that put in the record.
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The Chairman. Did you read the entire thing?
Mr. Casey. The entire thing.
Mr. Raushenbush. Of course, Major, you have been reading this,

offering it, and it has been accepted, and it is in a way your exhibit,

which you ascribe to the situation. Both you and Dr. Sparre refer

to evidence brought in in September. It is quite simple for each one
of you to remember all of your testimony, but we, on the other hand,
are supposed to remember the testimony of 50 people. So it is diffi-

cult, without the books in front of us to go back and recall exactly
what was said. I think later on we will come into some of the points
Dr. Sparre made. For instance, about the amount of peace-time ma-
terial that can be war-time material, I think we will accept at first

blush without question your statement that in peace there is very little

war-time material, but that in war it gets to be war material. There
is nothing startling about that one way or the other.

The point made, as I remember it, roughly, in September, was
that these were also war possibilities, and it was brought out again
yesterday that immediately after the war your own people were
saying that the disarmament would be a farce unless that huge
arsenal of I.G. was either destroyed or scattered around the world.

If you wish, we can let that argument go for a few days.

Dr. Sparre. I wish you would not let it go. I made yesterday an
incomplete statement, for reasons which I will tell you, and I wish
now to take this opportunity, since you brought it up, to complete
my statement of yesterday, which I think is of importance, certainly

to us.

Mr. Raushenbush. Will you just let me finish with Major Casey's

memorandum for a moment. It is only a brief comment, and then I
am through with that.

Senator Vandenberg. It seems to me the whole thing is coming
back now into the specific field of exhibits, and we have none of our
exhibits here, and we are not prepared to go ahead this afternoon.

I think perhaps we better postpone the discussion of these cases.

The Chairman. We are going to move directly into that field

Monday, Doctor.
Dr. Sparre. The reason why I mention it now is this: That my

testimony is incomplete and I think your committee should have my
complete statement before you start the next hearing on this subject.

It won't take me long to put it in, because I wrote it out to be sure it

would go very quickly.

Mr. Raushenbush. Why don't you file it. Dr. Sparre, with what-
ever exhibits you have from your own files to back it up, and then we
can study it and have it before us until Monday ?

Dr. Sparre. Mr. Raushenbush, you know how it is. We have been
asked to tell the truth and the whole truth, and I do not like the idea

of being asked to tell a part truth, because I know in these questions

a part trutli is worse than nothing at all, and I would like to tell the

whole truth. If you don't want that, I will keep quiet.

The Chairman. The only thought is that we are leading into some-
thing which is bound to stretch out this afternoon, how long no one
knows, on a ground we will have to go over again Monday, when
Senator Clark, who is in charge of that particular matter, will be
here. Why don't you malce that statement then?
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Mr. Lammot du Pont, May I call your attention to the fact that
Dr. Sparre was testifying earlier today and he was interrupted by a
member of your Committee and was not allowed to continue. You
surely will not deny him the privilege of reading that statement.

The Chairman. I suppose if it is in connection with testimony
that was being offered this morning—I am not aware of the incident

myself.
Dr. Sparre. No ; this is in connection with testimony of yesterday

afternoon.
Mr. Raushenbush. It was not this morning. It was yesterday.

Dr. Sparre. But we adjourned very early and I gave an incom-
plete statement.
Mr. Raushenbush. I did not realize at the time that is was incom-

plete.

Dr. Sparre. It was.

Senator Vandenberg. Do you feel, Dr. Sparre, that it would be
an injustice to postpone your statement until Monday?
Dr. Sparre. I would say there, if you give me the opportunity to

start out with the statement at the next hearing, before anything
else is said or done about that situation, I will be satisfied.

Senator Vandenberg. I think that is preferable, because I would
like to have Senator Clark here, who is in charge of that phase of it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. But, Mr. Chairman, the continuity of the

thing is lost. I would like to hear the rest of it. I cannot see why
so early in the afternoon we should not hear the rest of the statement.

Senator Vandenberg. You are familiar with the statement, aren't

you?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. No ; I am not. I do not know a thing about

it. I just got back from New York this morning.
Senator Vandenberg. I am perfectly willing to sit here, if you feel

it is unfair to you not to proceed. I decline to plead guilty to an
accusation of that character.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Thank you.

Senator Vandenberg. Go ahead, Dr. Sparre.

Dr. Sparre. Mr. Raushenbush, at yesterrlay afternoon's session,

submitted among other papers a copy of a communication relative to

disarmament conferences to the effect that " Disarmament is a farce

while Germany retains organic chemical monopolies." A little later

Mr. Raushenbush suggested that " the whole question of control of

the chemical industry was really a very important one to the whole
question of disarmament."
Those are two totally different statements. One deals with the

German monopoly which handicaps other countries and the mon-
opoly confined to the organic chemical industry. That has nothing
to do with the general chemical industry. It is a totally different

thing to talk about the German monopoly before the war and another

thing to talk about the domestic American chemical industry.

Mr. Raushenbush asked whether the du Pont representatives before

the Senate committee were in accord with such a proposition. I re-

plied that I was not in accord with it. I did not elaborate on the

subject at the time, as I did not want to interrupt Mr. Raushenbush
in his presentation of a number of documents for the record, expect-

ing that an opportunity would be given to me to explain my position
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after Mr. Raiishenbush had presented his case. The matter is of
such vital importance to the American chemical industry, however,
that I would like to present the reasons for my opinion now.
Ever since the outbreak of the world war I have been convinced

that there is a very close connection between preparedness and the
chemical industry. There is, however, an important distinction be-
tween chemicals and munitions. The chemical industry is important
in war; it is also enormously important in time of peace. Munitions,
on the other hand, serve no purpose in peace time except as a matter
of military preparedness.
To prove the correctness of the assertion that Government control

of the chemical industry would have to be a part of any disarma-
ment agreement Mr. Eaushenbush referred to a statement by Dr.
Hale, an eminent chemist mentioned in one of the documents, to the
effect that an indigo factory could be converted within an hour's
time into a plant capable of manufacturing poisonous gas for war
purposes.
Granting that Dr. Hale's statement is correct, it must be under-

stood that in times of peace such a factory would produce only indigo
and would not produce any war gas whatever. Even in the event
of war the demand for indigo for commercial purposes would con-
tinue, and it would, therefore, be desirable to leave the indigo plant
unchanged and build a new plant designed entirely for military pur-
poses. This would only be possible if the country were prepared
with reserve supplies of war gas, so that time would be available for
the construction of the new plant. The existing indigo factory and
its personnel would then offer the advantage of serving as a model
for the war-gas plant which could be constructed more quickly and
more efficiently and would have a trained personnel immediately
available for its operation.
Under these conditions there would seem to be no reason to put the

indigo plants during peace times under the type of Government con-
trol that has been suggested for munitions.
The same statement would apply to the chemical industry as a

whole. The manufacture of chemicals is essentially a commercial
operation with only a negligible portion of its output used for mili-
tary products in time of peace. I do not believe that anyone will
dispute the fact that the progress of American industrv today is very
largely based upon chemical research. To say that because the
chemical industry is important in war it should therefore be placed
under the control suggested for armaments is like saying that the pro-
duction of wheat or steel or any other basic product of great im-
portance in war should be similarly subject to armament regulation.
As a further illustration, permit me to point out that gimcotton as

used m naval torpedoes is manufactured to the extent of between 60
and 70 percent of its weight from cotton, and smokeless powder is
manufactured to the extent of between 50 and 60 percent of its weight
from cotton, which is one of the important reasons why cotton was
contraband in the late war. Yet the percentage of the American
cotton production which is consumed during peace times in the manu-
facture of military munitions is negligible, though during times of
war it becomes an important factor If the chemical industry were
to be placed under Government control in connection with disarma-
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ment regulations there is just as much, if not more, reason for placing
farms producing cotton and the entire cotton textile industry under
Government control during peace times.

I can, therefore, only reiterate my refusal yesterday to accept Mr.
Raushenbush's suggestion that we are in agreement with the state-

ment that disarmament would be a farce unless the chemical industry

is placed under Government control. I am convinced that these two
questions have nothing to do with each other. On the other hand, if

disarmament regulations are put into effect they will, of course,

include military munitions and that would include any existing plants

and equipment suitable for the manufacture of war gases and not in

use for other purposes.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Chairman, may I question him on that ?

The Chairman. I think since the statement has been read, the

member of the committee or Mr. Raushenbush, if you would like to,

may question the witness upon the statement, and now is the time
to do it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Chairman, we hope to get into this thing a

little more in detail later on Monday. On the face of it, there is

nothing in Dr. Sparre's statement that was not made clear by him
yesterday, as far as I understood his position. Dr. Sparre says on
the first page of this statement that since the beginning of the war,
the outbreak, he had been convinced that there was a very close con-

nection between preparedness and the chemical industry. That was
one of the points that we were making yesterday.

We also made the point that a good many of the people either

directly in the employ of the company or operating through one of
the institutes to which the company was contributing the American
Dye Institute, I believe, were making a case for protection, which is

natural, to young industries, on the ground that the chemical indus-

try was very important in the whole question. First, it was put on
the question of disarmament and then, later, it was put under the

heading of armament, as I remember it.

The point that the chemical industry is enormously important in

time of peace is very obvious, and would be accepted without any
question at all.

The assertion on the second page that the government control of

the chemical industry would have to be part of any disarmament
agreement, was simply taken, and I am sure Dr. Sparre will admit
that the question on that was without any conclusion—was simply
taken from the records of the company's people at the time. They
were the ones who made the argument as to the conversion of an
indigo plant into a plant capable of manufacturing poison gas was
within an hour's time.

Dr. Sparre, at this point, draws a distinction between the organic

chemical industry and the nonorganic. I think not only you, but

anyone else, will agree with me about the war-time importance of the

organic chemical industry. I know not enough about the rest of the

chemical industry to speak of its war-time experience. What would
you consider theBadische Aniline & Soda Fabrik? Would you con-

sider them in the organic group ?

Dr. Sparre. That is organic.

Mr. Raushenbush. That comes under that discussion.

83876—35—PT 11 6



2472 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Dr. Sparre. That comes under that, Doctor, because it involves

really a specialized knowledge of all of the organic chemical indus-
try, whereas, take sulphuric acid, and nitric acid, or something like

that, they are inorganic and the United States has always had a

large industry in the general chemical field, and when the war broke
out there was no difficulty about it. There was only one inorganic
chemical that we did not have in sufficient quantity, and that was
nitrogen. At first, the United States relied upon Chile for nitrate

of soda, and that was its source of supply at that time. The ques-

tion of nitrogen is no longer an important one.

Mr. Raushenbush. I understand that.

Dr. Sparre. For instance, at the outbreak of the war, the coke
business only recovered about 15 percent of the byproduct ammonia.
Mr. Raushenbush. You did admit just a moment ago, and I

thought we were in general agreement on that, that the organic
chemical industry was of importance to the war.
Dr. Sparre. Yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. You are now saying that it is a little less im-
portant than when we were dependent upon Chilean nitrate for our
supply ?

Dr. Sparre. The only inorganic chemical that was important when
the war broke out was Chilean nitrate.

Mr. Raushenbush. Will you enlighten my ignorance on that one
subject. When speaking a moment ago you seemed to set sulphuric
acid and things like that in the inorganic group.

Dr. Sparre. - That is right.

Mr. Raushenbush. Then your distinction was, admitting the or-

ganic chemical industry meant the heavy nitrates, and so forth
Dr. Sparre. No; that is inorganic. Let me give you an example

of that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes ; I wish you would, Doctor.
Dr. Sparre. When the war broke out, we continued our manufac-

ture of smokeless powder, but we had to manufacture largely in-

creased amounts of smokeless powder. Take, for instance, diphenyl-
amine, that is an organic chemical pure and simple, made only in that
industry. When the war broke out it was not made in the United
States. It is made from anilin. We did not have plants of that
part of the organic chemical industry. One job we had to tackle

in 1914 was how to get diphenylamine for our smokeless powder.
Mr. Raushenbush. If you will allow me to continue with the

analysis of the statement made, I ask you on these two questions,

indigo and diphenylamine are on the organic side?

Dr. Sparre, Yes. sir.

Mr. Raushenbush, And sulphuric acid is inorganic?
Dr. Sparre. That is right.

Mr. Raushenbush, You made the distinction, then, in your state-

ment that while you admitted rather freely that the organic chem-
ical industry was of enormous importance in armament in time of
war, you were a little more doubtful, Avere you not, about the in-

organic side, the rest of the chemical industry?
Dr, Sparre. You did not get me right there.

Mr. Raushenbush. All right.

Dr. Sparre. I said at the outbreak of the war we could handle our
inorganic situation, because we had increased our production enor-
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mously, the resources of the country, and the knowledge within the
country permitted that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes.

Dr. Sparre. On the other hand, the organic industry was so limited

in its use, and so limited in its manufacture that the country was
handicapped in the organic field. On the other hand, Germany had
pretty nearly a monopoly in that field. That is the way we drew a
distinction between the organic industry at the outbreak of the war,
in which Germany had almost a monopoly.
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes.
Dr. Sparre. The moment we establish an organic industry here,

we are in a far better position than in 1914.

Mr. Raushenbush. You go with me far more completely than I

thought you did. You say, then, in war time that both organic and
inorganic chemistry are important to the successful handling of a
war?

Dr. Sparre. Yes; but isn't the same thing true of steel, cotton, or
everything else ?

Mr. Raushenbush. Add to that the statement about this is going
to be a chemical age, and I believe those statements are of enormous
importance to the progress of the chemical industry, perhaps a little

bit above steel. But that is a matter we can go into later.

Then, on the second page you take up the proposition that it must
be understood that in times of peace such a factory would produce
only indigo and would not produce any war gas whatever. You
do not know what the Badische factory is doing.

Dr. Sparre. When the war broke out between the European coun-
tries we found it desirable to build new plants rather than rebuild
old factories ; it was more economical.
Mr. Raushenbush. It was Dr. Hale who offered that proposition

that an indigo plant could be converted inside of an hour into a
mustard-gas plant. You do not say that cannot be done ?

Dr. Sparre. No.
Mr. Raushenbush. If a country were wise enough to build up a

supply of mustard gas it would not use that same plant for the
making of gas in time of war ?

Dr. Sparre. It would be more economical to build a plant, rather
than to convert the old one.

Mr. Raushenbush. On the supposition that the country had piled
up a supply ahead of time, when we come to time of war they are
supposed to have jDiled up a supply ahead of time. In that event
we have the proposition of Dr. Hale's still stand as a possibility ?

Dr. Sparre. I think Dr. Hale's suggestion is intended to illustrate

the organic chemical industry. I do not believe anybody would want
to convert an indigo factory into a gas factory. It is more economi-
cal to build a new one than to convert an old one. That has been
the experience, you see, Dr. Raushenbush.
Mr. Raushenbush. It is mister.

Dr. Sparre. Our experience is that we save both time and money
by going ahead and doing the right thing right away, rather than
patching up an old one. That is our war experience.
Mr. Raushenbush. Our country is a little longer distant away

from the others, and these continental countries might operate
differently.
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I think on that proposition of the indigo factory it has been ana-

lyzed into what it boils down into. Your statement that the manu-
facture of chemicals in peace time is a commercial operation is with-

out doubt true. It is like saying anything in peace time is a

peace-time matter to a large extent, and we had considerable argu-

ment here the other day about the question of whether or not certain

powders could be used for sporting powders and other purposes. In

the rest of the statement it simply goes on to make the point that all

of these things like cotton and steel can be and are decidedly war
materials under certain circumstances. I do not think we would
question that at all. What you were doing was stating in the words
of your own people that disarmament involved the chemical indus-

try and armament involved it, also.

Now, if you are going to get the chemical industry out of the whole
question of arms, you are doing something more than these so-called
" disarmament conferences " have done. They perhaps have not
been able to function as freely as they should.

Dr. Spaere. I think the chemical industry should be in the same
class as the steel industry or any other industry. Why single out

the chemical industry, because, after all, the steel industry in times

of war is far more important than the chemical industry.

Mr. Raushenbush. If it is believed that the chemical industry and
the poison-gas industry is going to be a big industry in the next

war, then that is testimony we ought to hear from the War Depart-
ment officials, whether or not they consider the chemical and poi-

son-gas industries and others along this line more important than
steel or cotton.

The Chairman. All of which the committee is planning for during
the course of its studies.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. President Wilson repeated his statements

three times to Congress on that. [Reading:]

President Wilson said in a message to Congress May 20, 1919, and repeated
in two other messages December 2, 1919, and December 7, 1920

:

" Nevertheless, there are parts of our tariff system which need prompt at-

tention. The experiences of the war have made it plain that in some cases

too great reliance on foreign supply is dangerous, and that in determining
certain parts of our tariff policy domestic considerations must be borne in

mind which are political as well as economic. Among the industries to which
special consideration should be given is that of the manufacture of dyestuffs

and related chemicals. Our complete dependence upon German supplies before
the war made the interruption of trade a cause of exceptional economic
disturbance. The close relation between the manufacture of dyestuffs, on
the one hand, and of explosives and poisonous gases, on the other, moreover,
has given the industry an exceptional signiticance and value. Although the
United States will gladly and unhesitatingly join in the program of interna-
tional disarmament, it will, nevertheless, be a policy of obvious prudence to

make certain of the successful maintenance of many strong and well-equipped
chemical plants. The German chemical industry, with which we will be
brought into competition was and may well be again, a thoroughly knit mono-
poly capable of exercising a competition of a peculiarly insidious and dangerous
kind."

Now, Mr. Wilson had the king's English at his command, if any-
body had it, and I think that that is expressed very clearly. It in

some way suggests your idea that this is a peculiarly important in-

dustry. That w^as the basis of this quotation that has been referred

to so much about disarmament " is a farce."

I
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Mr. Raushenbusii. Without going into it further, you were not
present yesterday afternoon when the interest of the company in the

proposals of the British delegation to the 1922 Washington Con-
ference were brought out, the interest not only of the British but
also of the French and Italians, and what their proposals would be
about the use of gas in warfare. They seemed to corroborate some
tilings that Mr. Irenee du Pont is expressing here.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Wilson, not Irenee du Pont.

Mr. Raushenbush. I really was drawing a distinction. Mr. Irenee

du Pont was expressing and agreeing in the phrase after he read this

quotation, that this industry is vitally interested in any regulations

imposed upon the chemical industry, because the chemical industry

is, as this very conference showed, by taking it up as part of the dis-

armament program of the world. Those exhibits are of course avail-

able for your study later.

Senator Vandenberg. I think we might as well recess now.
Mr. Garvan. Mr, Chairman, may I ask a question ?

The Chairman. In view of the fact that you are going to appear
as a witness could that not be deferred until later ?

Mr. Garvan. I am not going to make a statement. I just wanted
to ask permission to appear as a witness.

The Chairman. You are going to have that permission
;
you may

be sure of that.

Mr. Casey. Mr. Chairman, may I make one further statement?
The Chairman. Mr. Casey.
Mr. Casey. In connection with the report which was just read, I

think there is one thing that does stand out as a result of that infor-

mation, and that is this : That if this committee is trying to find out

a means of achieving disarmament, it certainly clearly indicates that

if there are government plants all over the world where they have
the same situation, it probably may result that then any efforts in-

stead of reducing government manufacture, and achieving your
objective, will have just the opposite effect.

The Chairman. That is a matter of argument.
The committee will stand in recess until 10 o'clock Monday

morning.
(Thereupon the hearing recessed until 10 a. m. Monday, Decem-

ber 10, 1934.)





INVESTIGATION OF MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

MONDAY, DECEMBER 10, 1934

United States Senate,
Special Committee to

Investigate the Munitions Industry,
Washington^ D. G.

The hearing was resumed at 10 a. m. in the Finance Committee
room, Senate Office Building, pursuant to the taking of recess, Sena-

tor Gerald P. Nye presiding.

Present: Senators Nye (chairman), Clark, Pope, and Barbour.
Present also: Stephen Kaushenbush, secretary to the committee,

and Robert Wohlforth, assistant to the secretary.

The Chairman. The committee will be in order.

The committee would like to hear this morning Mr. Beebe, Mr.
Monaghan, and Mr. Felix du Pont.

FURTHER TESTIMONY OF F. J. MONAGHAN, H. F. BEEBE, A. FELIX
DU PONT, LAMMOT DU PONT, AND K. K. V. CASEY

methods of doing business—BALKAN STATES

(The witnesses were previously sworn by the chairman.)
The Chairman. Mr. du Pont, the record at the moment rather

clearly establishes your belief that there is necessity for foreign sales

of powder and munitions generally in order to keep our own powder
plants and munitions factories ready for an emergency should it

arise. I take it that that is your opinion, is it not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. For the purpose of making clear the record again,

just what is your connection with the du Pont factory ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I am general manager of the smokeless-

powder department and one of the vice presidents of the company.
The Chairman. We want this morning to raise a few questions

relative to the social cost of these foreign sales and foreign negotia-

tions. We would like to know, of course, what price the nations of

the world pay to keep our American plants in the state of readiness

or unreadiness to prepare for the next war; and when we concern
ourselves with bribery of foreign officials we are not concerning our-

selves so much with the bribery itself as we are with the thought of

what it leads to.

Surely, where a company bribes—at home or abroad, it matters
not—there must be builded in the mind of that business that is en-

gaged in that bribery a feeling, a spirit of contempt, for any country
that must be approached in that manner in order to get the busi-
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ness and, where, as is true or seems to be true, all munition companies
the world over are getting their business in a country through meth-

ods involving bribery, there must be contempt toward that country

or of that country on the part of all of the companies doing business

there.

Don't you think that these methods that are found, so-called, " nec-

essary " rob administrations of governments of any feeling of moral
independence ? Don't you feel that that is the case ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont, I think you raise a very complicated ques-

tion there. Senator Nye, The customs of different countries are

so entirely different that it is quite difficult to dispose of the question

in any very few words.
For instance, while I have not traveled in the Orient, except in

a very limited way, all that I have heard about it is that the methods
used in the way of bribery are quite different from what they are in

this country, and certain things that are frowned upon in this coun-
try and perhaps done in a different way are the natural course of

trade and trade competition in those other countries.

I believe that bribery of a certain kind is used in most of the

countries of the Orient in all walks of commercial life. It is no
different in the munitions business than it is in any other commercial
business. It is accepted; not talked about very much; but people
in competition in those countries simply could not possibly carry

on their trade if the customs of the country were not adhered to.

The Chairman. But it has a tendency at one and the same time to

break down moral fiber, doesn't it? Representatives of a country
that are in any way involved in programs of bribery, the receiving

of bribes, are not apt to make the best kind of representatives at a

disarmament conference, for example, are they?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. They are the kind of people who are of

their own set. The either doing or not doing what they accept as

the way of doing in their country would have no weight with them
whatsoever.
The Chairman. If I had been in times past the recipient of any

bribe for any favor I had performed, for example, for your industry,

or even though I had received campaign contributions, do you think
it would be fair for me to try to give representation that was square
serving on a committee such as this, investigating the industry?
Mr. A, Felix du Pont. Now j^ou are speaking of the United

States.

The Chairman. I am speaking of that only.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. That we may better put ourselves in the shoes of

those we are dealing with in other lands.

Senator Clark. In any country, Mr. du Pont, if a public official

would accept a bribe for the letting of a public contract, it is very
plain he would let the public contract to the highest bidder, irre-

spective of the public interest or the interest of his country at all;

isn't that so?

The Chairman. We will not press for an answer there. It was not
propounded for an answer, to be franli with you. But I am coming
back to the question we originally opened with : What is the price of
keeping American plants, munitions plants, ready for functioning
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in time of emergency, by proceeding abroad, as we are proceeding,

to sell our wares in other lands?
I will admit, in starting, that there is another question in the back

of my mind. The question is this : Why have disarmament confer-

ences been the repeated failures that they have been? Have they
failed because the friends or beneficiaries of the private munitions
people were in the delegations ? Until every country in the world, it

seems to me, has brought out the facts, as we are trying to bring them
out here, we probably never will know the exact and proper answer to

that question.

You have already said that you believed in the desirability of for-

eign trade in order to keep our plants ready for that emergency
which none of us hope is going to arise, but which may arise. You
have been engaged in an intensive campaign, have j^ou not, Mr.
du Pont, selling powder all over the world ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes, but the records show, I think, that it

has been rather an unsuccessful campaign. All of our efforts or the
greater part of our efforts, as the testimony has brought out here,

the most of the efforts that we were making came to naught.
The Chairman. Are you still striving for that trade ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. As diligently as ever you did?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. We have found in so many places that we

were not successful that we have practically given up attempting to

sell through certain channels which have been pretty well exhausted,
so that I suppose we might say that the campaign is not as intensive

as it was.
The Chairman. To what do you attribute your failure to win that

larger field that you might at one time hope for ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. European competition.
The Chairman. Competition in the ordinary sense or the particu-

lar kind of competition that you have to meet there ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. In the ordinary sense.

The Chairman. Do you find practices engaged in in order to ac-

complish sales abroad rather distasteful?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I might say yes to that. The record shows
that we have attempted to make sales in certain countries and under
certain conditions where we finally discovered that the methods re-

quired were distasteful and we abandoned our efforts.

The Chairman. Their practices in many instances are really

reprehensible, judged by ordinary business standards, are they not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont, Judged by our standards, yes, but in the

ordinary course of competition of trade in certain countries, I believe

they are not different from effort in the introduction or attempt to

sell any other kind of commercial product.

The Chairman. You are doing some business in the Balkans?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. At present, I think not.

The Chairman. None?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I think not.

The Chairman. Are you armed with agents in the Balkans who
are striving to sell?

Mr. A, Felix du Pont. Yes, we have some.
The Chairman. As many or less than you have had at other

times ?
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Mr. A. Felix du Pont. There are about as many. You see, these
agents do not receive any salary. They simply report to us when
they think they can make a sale.

The Chairman. When did you first institute sales efforts in the
Balkans ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I cannot remember exactly the year, but
it was around 1923, I believe, or 1922.

The Chairman. After the World War?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. We have before us a letter written to Mr. Casey

by your European representative, William N. Taylor, which is

offered as " Exhibit No. 948."

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 948% " and is

Included in the appendix on p. 2595.)
The Chairman. This letter, Mr. du Pont, is dated October 10, 1922,

and its general nature seems to indicate that this was about the first

approach that was made to the Balkan market for your powder. I
want to read in part that letter.

Have you been previously aware of this letter?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. You are conversant with it?

Mr. A, Felix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. Was it called to your attention
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I have not read it for a good while,

Senator.
The Chairman. Was it called to your attention at the time that it

was sent?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. At the time it was sent, I think so. I think
I read it at the time it was received by my office.

The Chairman. Mr. Taylor points out in this letter that there are,

after his study, certain essentials in the traffic carried on in the
Balkan countries which are going to have to be met if the du Ponts
are going to attract any of that business.

In the Balkans I ran across a situation so entirely different from anything
we liave in America that I am writing this in addition to my letter no. 36
to try to give you a picture of tlie situation there.

We want to sell powder in the Balkans and powder can he sold to the
Balkans, but the method of straight selling for what they need and getting
paid for it will not work. If you draw a line from Trieste to Warsaw and
go east of that line, you find the business and financial conditions run on a
set of rules entirely their own, and if we can't conform to the situation, we
won't be able to get any business. There, the ordinary business ethics are
entirely different from ours and people have no knowledge of ours, they don't
know what our business ethics mean. Their financial methods and the methods
of raising money from their Governments are also entirely different from ours.

In the first place, the country is constituted of a great mass of peasants
who work in the field and cannot read nor write. Until comparatively recently
the Governments were absolute monarchies run by a group of people around
the monarch who, by every means which they could imagine, extracted money
from the peasants without any idea of what we might call a national instinct
or any idea of being fair or doing good to the peasant—on the contrary

!

Generally in these countries are several groups of such people and all political
agitation is simply a fight between these different groups to get their hands
on the spoils. The great western European powers have attempted to force
upon these people the western ideas of government and eithics and the result
has been merely a complication of their primitive methods. They begin by
collecting all the taxes they can, then they purchase things for the Govern-
ment and all of them collect all the graft they can in every way out of these
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purchases. They don't much care what they pay so long as they get the

graft, which is their main object. Internal politics consist of disputing over

the graft—external politics consist in developing complications which permit

them to spend or collect more Government money. The idea of doing anything

for the good of the country has never been translated into their language.

Mr. du Pont, would not that rather indicate that there was
a byproduct to what Mr. Taylor referred to as the internal graft,

and that that byproduct was war, which afforded a larger oppor-

tunitj'^for graft? Was that his meaning, do you think?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I don't know. And I will say this : That
this letter was written 12 years ago. Colonel Taylor was setting out

to do something entirely new.
The Chairman. This was his first approach to that market?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. This was his first approach in that general

line of work. He had only been on it a short time, he had been on
ordinary commercial business before this.

Senator Clark. You mean that that is the first time Taylor ever

recognized the necessity of bribing public officials to get contracts?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I don't know. I could not say that ; but

I do think that with the experience that Colonel Taylor has had, if

he read that letter over now he would not subscribe to his own
remarks entirely.

Senator Clark. You mean, he would not be quite so thin-skinned

as he was then?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No ; I do not mean that at all. I think

he would be a little more charitable in his views of other people, and
that would temper his judgment in regard to it.

The Chairman. You mean that his experience 'has equipped him
to know that this is quite the ordinary thing in the Balkans?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I think that

The Chairman. That he is rather resigned to it?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No. I think he would feel now that his

very strong accusations that he makes in this paper or in this letter

are not warranted.
Mr. Raushenbush. Has he ever told you so ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No ; but the tone of his letters at various
times and his conversations indicate a change in thought on that.

Mr. Raushenbush. If there are any letters we missed, Mr. du
Pont, in which he reverses himself and said that that situation is

changed, we would be glad to have them submitted.
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not think you could find it in any

direct statement, Mr. Raushenbush. You would simply find that

he does not believe all he hears when he goes into a country. He
apparently got with people who told him how perfectly frightful

their practices are and he found out that after all they were a good
deal like most people ; they were not quite so dishonest as he indicates

in this letter.

The Chairman. Let us read from the letter [reading] :

For instance, the idea of issuing an internal Government loan, selling it to
the people, has never occurred to them and could not be done. When they
want an internal loan they get together the rich merchants and Jews and
say "You will lend the Government some money or we put you in jail; if

you do lend the Government money, we will let you in on the profits for 15
or 20 percent." A merchant is successful when he knows how to distribute
the graft and get away with part of the profits.
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If you go clown to that country with something to sell and expect to find

fair competition on prices and quality, you will be very much deceived

—

there is no such thing. People who traded the most with those countries

and are most successful are the English and Germans. How do they do It?

Let us take Vickers for example. It is impossible for Vickers, with their

British stockholders and their English business ethics, to play this game
directly. So they use the intermediary of a man like Sir Basil ZaharofC
who is the most important of his class, who acts about as follows : He gets

a price from Vickers with a discount of 40 or 50 percent. He goes to the

countrj^ and he says :
" You need so much material, I'll provide you with this

whole lot and give you so much graft and I'll lend you the money t8 buy it

with." Then he will go to a local banker or merchant and he'll say this:
" "We will make a loan through Mr. So-and-so to the Government, and this

loan will bring you a very large interest and we will give so much commission
to the Minister of Finance " and he'll promise to collect enough taxes to

pay this loan and he does not get the commission until the loan is paid back.

He gets his money from these various people. The Government pays Vickers
the full amount less the discount which goes to some intermediary. In time
the Government collects taxes, pays back the people who made the loan, and
all the people in the game pluck up the profits. He has now made an arrange-
ment of this type for refilling the Greek Army. If we want to sell down
there, we will have to do somewhat the same thing. We will have to go to

the Government and say " We can furnish you with a variety of materials,
large orders, which will make a big enough smn to be interesting. We will

cover fixed ammunition, powder, rifles, and cannons, shoes, uniforms, etc., and
we will help to arrange a loan to permit you to pay for this." We can then
go to a local bank and say " Now you must arrange a loan to the Govern-
ment to pay for this material on which you will get a large i)ercentage."

This bank will get up a private loan promising large interests to the sub-
scribers, subject to a purchase of material to our combination.

Now, Mr. du Pont, this story here, to the effect that the people

who traded the most with those countries and are most successful

are the English and Germans, is this generally known to the trade,

the munitions trade?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Is what generally known ?

The Chairman. That the Germans and the British were the most
successful in that field.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I suppose it was.
The Chairman. Do you know whether the British Government

had knowledge of Vickers' activities in that field?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No ; I do not know.
The Chairman. I read on from Mr. Taylor's letter [reading] :

In order to work this we must work through an American bank who will
act as an intermediary between us and a local bank and must be able to do
its share in raising the loan among the rich Nationals of the country to
which we sell, who are residents in America. If we could find a bank who
knew how to do this, we should get up an expedition to go to those countries,
consisting of representatives of the bank, technical men from the Bethlehem
Steel, a small-arms company, an ammunition company, and sit on the job
until we could negotiate.

How much sitting on the job has there been, Mr. du Pont, to make
such an arrangement?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. There has not been any following out of

that method which he thought at that time was the necessary way
to go about the business.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. And, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Felix du Pont is

of course speaking for the smokeless-powder department. I would
like to speak for the company as a whole, the smokeless-powder de-

partment, the explosives department, and all the others.

The Chairman. Splendid.
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Mr. Lammot du Pont. We have not done business with the State

in question on any such basis as described as necessary by Colonel

Taylor.
Mr. Casey. I can add to that, Senator Nye, if you will pardon me,

but I promptly wrote back to Colonel Taylor that we could not do
business that way, but would do business the way we always had
done, on a cash basis. Further than that, I might add when the

letter was presented by Mr. Felix du Pont to the executive commit-
tee, a resolution was promptly put into effect prohibiting such
practice.

The Chairman. Since that time, 1922, I expect there has been
some change in that field by reason of the building of powder plants.

Mr. Lammot du Pont, I do not know as to that. Senator.

The Chairman. Does not I. C. I. have its powder plants there?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know that.

The Chairman. And Nobel?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know that.

The Chairman. Mr. Felix du Pont, do you have any knowledge
of what companies are operating plants in the Balkans at the
present time ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No ; I do not know.
The Chairman. Mr. Casey?
Mr. Casey. The only thing I know is that it was brought out the

other day that there was a connection with a Czechoslovakian pow-
der factory, but that is not strictly in the Balkans. That is a little to

the west of the Balkans. That is the only place I know of.

The Chairman. That they had bought an interest in those plants ?

Mr. Casey. That was a commercial explosives factory, which also

had military.

The Chairman. You have no knowledge, beyond what was devel-

oped here the other day, on that score ?

Mr. Casey. None at all.

The Chairman. It was that knowledge which prompted me to ask
the question.

Mr. Casey. We have made practically no effort in the Balkans,
because, whether this situation is true or not as described by Colonel
Taylor, it is very evident that we did not seem to get to first base
trying to do any business there. Whether that was the reason or
not, I do not know, but the fact remains we have not sold them
anything.
The Chairman. I read on in Mr. Taylor's letter, leaving out two

paragraphs from where I left off [reading] :

Selling a combined lot of ordnance and taking in hand the creation of a loan
would have the best chance of success ; sales to Vickers or Schneider have
the second best chance of succeeding, and an attempt to sell powder directly
to these Governments the least chance of succeeding.

Was any one of these proposals considered by the officers at the
time that this suggestion was received ?

Mr. Casey. No. I might add to that, in the case of Schneider
it would have been almost impossible to have sold them because they
got their powder from the French powder monopoly, a Government
proposition.
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The Chairman. I read on. [Reading:]

I know this sounds like a story from the Arabian Nights and will probably
be digested with diflaculty at Wilmington, but it is as clear an exposure of the
situation in the Balkans as I am able to make. Please think this over and
tell me which line you wish me to pursue. If you don't feel like going into

a loan of this kind, and don't know any bankers who would undertake it, it

is possible that our best mode of operation would be this : That our agents in

these countries do the best they can toward little sales and have me put in my
time on the big munition companies in the western European countries. So
far I have put all my efforts on straight selling to these countries, and I expect
to get some results, but I don't believe that that method is going to bring us
anything very big. I think, from what I saw in the Orient, that there are
very great chances in favor of a war in the Near East and one must include

the Balkans as being part of the Near East.

This is in 1922 that this is being written.

Senator Pope. Does Mr. Taylor work on a salary basis ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. He works on a salary basis.

The Chairman (continuing reading) :

Those savage people don't know how to live without war and robberies.

They have in the past been helped on a certain line of good conduct by fear
of the military action of the great powers. Before the Anglo-Turkish incident

there was still in the Orient a great fear of the western powers but the fact

that both the French and the English refused to fight Kemal and are going
to permit him to enter Europe, has given a tremendous blow to the European
prestige in that part of the country. All the people are absolutely astonished.
I saw Turks, Bulgarians, Greeks, and Serbians, and with one accord they say
that the great powers are done for, that they are afraid to fight and add
" We don't have to obey them any more."
To maintain European prestige in those countries there was nothing to do

but fight the Turks but as neither the French nor the British Governments
felt it possible to ask their people to go to war, they simply have had to/

accept a tremendous moral defeat. The result will be that all those near
eastern people will feel that the time has come to throw off the government
of the great powers and if it does not lead to one enormous war, it will lead
to a great number of small ones.

It would appear that Mr. Taylor had the picture pretty well in

hand, because it was only shortly after he had written that the Turk-
ish trouble developed, and indicates that he had been talking to pretty
good authority.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. He was over there studying the situation,

and I suppose he learned what was pretty commonly known over
there.

The Chairman (continuing reading) :

If we want to sell military powder to these people, we have got to hit on the
proper plan and get busy in a concentrated way. All these people will prob-
ably buy fixed ammunition, and it looks to me as if a powder factory had a
fairly small chance of selling directly to these countries. But the sales to these
countries should be made by the big munitions people and perhaps our best
plan is to concentrate all our efforts on these munition firms.

How are you selling in the Balkans at the present time ? Direct or
not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. We are not selling.

The Chairman. You are not selling anything at the present time?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No.
The Chairman. What is the situation since 1922?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Since 1922 we had agents, but they were

unable to procure any sales which amounted to anything.
Mr. Casey. I think my previous statement covered that. I think

I said we found our methods were apparently unsuccessful.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Who got the sales, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not know.
Mr. Raushenbush. Who made the sales, Mr. Casey ?

Mr. Casey. I do not know. We have a list of them but they were
made by different people, if they were made.

Senator Pope. But you did sell some small orders?

Mr. Casey. No, sir; none at all.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I suppose Greece is in the Balkans. We
made one sale to Greece.

Mr. Casey. We made that in our regular fashion.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, you have read this letter in

its entirety, and I would like to point out it is evident from the lan-

guage that Colonel Taylor used that he expected this story to be re-

pulsive to the company management. He refers to it as being diffi-

cult to digest in Wilmington. The whole tone of his letter implies

that he was repelled by the conditions which he found in the Balkans
and he expected the company's management to be equally repelled.

Major Casey has pointed out, and I have tried to, that that repulsion

was a fact. The particular letter in question was brought to the at-

tention of the executive committee and was discussed with Mr. Felix
du Pont and Major Casey, and a resolution was formally passed by
the executive committee. If I may, I would like to read that reso-

lution.

The Chairman. If you would like to insert it in the record, and
have it with you, the committee would be glad to receive it. If it is

not very extended, you might read it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. This is an extract from the minutes of a
meeting on November 15, 1922, of the executive committee. The sub-
ject is " Sales in the Balkans." [Reading :]

^

Letter was received from Mr. A. Felix du Pont, general manager, smokeless-
powder department, dated November 7, 1922 (No. 8418), enclosing copy of
letter from Col. Wm. N. Taylor in connection with the above subject. Mr.
du Pont and also Maj. K. K. V. Casey, of the smokeless-powder department,
joined the meeting, and after full discussion, it was moved and unanimously
carried that the aboA^e-mentioned letters be accepted and ordered filed, and
that the smokeless-powder department be advised it is the desire of the
executive committee that this company should not pay commissions directly

or indirectly to Government officials, employees, or agents.

The wish of the executive committee in a matter of that kind is

equivalent to a ruling.

The Chairman. What was the date of that action ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. This extract is November 15, 1922, and
refers to this particular letter.

The Chairman. Does Mr. Taylor represent your associates in the

I. C. I. in any particular?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Under the joint selling arrangement
Colonel Taylor did represent and sell for the I. C. I.

Mr. Casey. Not at that time.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not at that time.

The Chairman. Not at that time ?

Mr. Casey. The fact of the matter is that the selling arrangement
which was entered into later did not mean Taylor's actions in the

Balkans. That was handled by I. C. I. We never took over the

1 Entered as "Exhibit No. 959" (see p. 2312).
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whole proposition until the arrangement, I believe, of 1932, was it

not? Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. Do Vickers use I. C. I. powder ?

Mr. Casey. Vickers?
Mr. Rausiienbush. Yes, sir.

Mr. Casey. I could not tell you. I know we have heard of them
getting powder from Coopal and others.

Mr. Raushenbush. The letter seems to be largely a commentary
on Vickers actions there, and I was curious as to whether I. C. I.

furnished them the powder in question.

The Chairman. You do not know whether they did ?

Mr. Casey. No; we really know practically nothing of Vickers
activities, one way or the other.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think I would like to point out again,

Mr. Chairman, that in a letter of this kind from Colonel Taylor to

his department, that the statements made in there are not endorsed,
let me say, by the company.
The Chairman. I think that is quite evident from your minutes.

Nevertheless, we have here rather a clear situation, it seems to me,
the report of a situation, which finds itself engaged in the sale of
munitions of war, quite ready to participate in the game of stirring

up the hatreds and suspicions and fears of the people in those
countries, all to the end that there might be profit flowing to the
munitions industry.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That may be inferred from Colonel
Taylor's letter, Mr. Chairman, but that does not make it a fact.

Senator Clark. It seems to me that the letter at least is very
illuminating, as being the report of an acute and trained observer,

irrespective of the attitude of the du Pont Co.
Mr. A Felix du Pont. I disagree with you there. Senator Clark,

that he was a trained observer. He was going out into what was,
to him, virgin territory; and when a person goes to those countries
they meet with all kinds of peojDle and talk with them, and the in-

formation received from that kind of people is, I think, rather more
likely to be incorrect than correct.

Senator Clark. How long had Colonel Taylor been in your em-
ploy, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. A, Felix du Pont. He had been in our employ in a com-

mercial way for, oh, I think, 5 or 6 years before that.

Senator Clark. He had been stationed in Europe, had he not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Almost entirely in France.
Senator Clark. And he had written you voluminous reports as to

conditions in different countries?
Mr. A Felix du Pont. I think not.

Senator Clark. We have had a great many in evidence here.
Mr. A Felix du Pont. Prior to 1922?
Senator Clark. Some were prior to 1922 and some were subsequent

to 1922.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I think very few of them were before 1922.
Senator Clark. Colonel Taylor is still in your employ?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
Senator Clark. You did not discharge him as a result of this

communication ?
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Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Certainly not ; because he was simply writ-

ing his findings.

The Chaikman. Now, according to the findings, Sir Basil Zahar-
off was outbidding the Greeks at that time. Do you know whether
or not that was true?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not know. We never had any con-

tact with Sir Basil Zaharoff whatever.
The Chairman. It was at this time that the French were outbid-

ding Kemal's Turkish Army. I was wondering if you might have
any knowledge of the activities of the sales at that particular time.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No.
The Chairman. The du Ponts had no knowledge at that time?
Mr. Casey. None whatever.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not to my knowledge.
Mr. Casey. The only thing we got was from the newspapers.
The Chairman. All this was just prior to the Turkish-Greek War,

and it would appear that the British were arming the Greeks for

50 percent commission and the French were arming Turkey. In the
light of that experience and in the light of the profit which flowed,

I wonder if there could be really much occasion to be wondering why
there was a conference in 1925 which resulted in anything but failure.

Surely the British and French munitions makers, in the light of
what they had done in Turkey and in Greece at that time, would not
want any agreement entered into which might restrict what they
were doing in those fields, I am sure.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, we have no right to state what the
manufacturers of munitions in Europe have done or said. We know
that we had no part in the disarmament conferences. Is it not fair

to assume that they had no part either ? It is true some of our news-
paper reports and some of the information which Colonel Taylor
picked up would indicate otherwise. We have no assurance whatever
that the information Colonel Taylor picked up was authentic or
true.

The Chairman. You mean in connection with that 1925 confer-
ence ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir; or any other conference.
The Chairman. Is it not true that your company did participate

in the conferences that were held prior to the departure of the
American delegation to the Geneva Conference?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. We participated in a conference called

by the Department of Commerce at the request of the Department of
State, but we did not
The Chairman. I am going to deny very emphaticallv here this

morning that that was at the request of the Department of State.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I was referring to the telegram which was

read into the record.

Senator Pope. ^Vhat telegram?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think there was a telegram read into

the record to that effect.

The Chairman. That was a press dispatch.
Senator Clark. You w^ere referring to the press dispatch wdiich

Senator Vandenberg read?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It was a telegram.

83876—35—PT 11 7
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Senator Clark. It was a newspaper flimsy. He was reading a

statement made by Mr. Hoover to the press.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It was a telegram.

Senator Clark. Not the one which Senator Vandenberg read into

the record. It was a United Press flimsy.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I might have been in error. It looked like

a telegram to me.
The Chairman. Mr. Felix du Pont, as relates to your contacts,

is the acceptance of graft confined to the Balkan countries, or does

it prevail in other territories in which your company is selling

powder ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, might I interrupt a moment, to

finish the answer which was interrupted by this question, as to the

telegram ?

The Chairman. Yes.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We did not participate in the Geneva
Conference. That was a statement which I wished to make. I think

that your question inferred that we had. We had not participated in

it.

The Chairman. No; but you did participate in the conferences

which were held here?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. At the request of the Government.
The Chairman. All right, let us put it that way.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. At the invitation of the Government.
The Chairman. The conferences called by agencies of the Gov-

ernment. You did participate in those?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir.

The Chairman. At which v/ere present the representatives of the

munitions industry, secretaries, and delegates who had been named
to the Geneva Conference?
Mr. Lammont du Pont. I am not sure that the delegates were

present.

The Chairman. I think the record is very clear on that.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The conference called by the Department
of Commerce, to which we were invited, the first such conference,

the delegates were not present.

The Chairman. At the first one?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. You will recall that a committee was aj3-

pointed to meet later when the delegates could be present?
The Chairman. But a second conference was held?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir.

The Chairman. At which they were present, these men who had
been delegated to the Geneva Conference.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir.

The Chairman. Now, Mr. du Pont, these practices which Colonel
Taylor has led us to believe were necessary to resort to in the
Balkans, are those practices confined alone to the Balkans?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No; I think in speaking of it a short while

ago I said then I believed that those practices in general trade in the
Orient, meaning the whole Near East and Far East, that they are
looked upon differently from the way tliey are in this counti\y, and
I have been told are necessary in order to carry on trade in those
countries.
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METHODS OF DOING BUSINESS POLAND

The Chairman. Who is William H. OXiorman?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. He was the assistant director of sales of

my department. He is now dead. He was assistant to Casey.
The Chairman. I would like to ask as to the meaning of this

letter addressed by Colonel Taylor to Mr. William H. O'Gorman,
dated January 18, 1928, in connection with your negotiations in

Poland [reading] :

I am now working on a proposal to help Zaiorzdon, in return for which
we are to get 300 tons a year for 12 years. Thei-e is one aspect of this
negotiation on which I must know exactly where I stand, and that is, in
order to get this we will have to pay 7 percent commission, of which 2 percent
must be paid in its entirety the day of the signing of the contract. If I can
promise this, I have a good chance of getting away with this order. Cable
me firm answer.

Sincerely yours,

William X. Taylor.

That will be offered as " Exhibit No. 949."

(The letter referred to Avas marked " Exhibit No. 949 " and ap-
pears in full in the text.)

The Chairman. What is the meaning of that, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not know.
The Chairman. Did Mr. O'Gorman consult you at the time?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not remember if he did. I do want

to mention, however, that this is one of those sales propositions that
never came through. Is not that correct ?

The Chairman. Whether or not it came through, vou gave your
consent to it, did you not '{

Mr. Ratjshenbush. What was Major Casey's answer to your
question ?

The Chairman. Had he directed a question to Major Casey?
Mr. Casey. It is a question of the date.
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Three hundred tons a vear for 12 years.
Mr. Casey, No; that never came through. Zarorzdon was the

Polish powder plant.
The Chairman. What was the thought there involving the neces-

sity of paying 2 percent of this commission, of this 7-percent com-
mission, on the day of the signing of the contract?
Mr. Casey. That is because the agent, a man by the name of

Klawe, said he could not possibly get along with a 5-percent commis-
sion, and other expenses of his office, the financial adviser he had to
use, and that he was put to considerable expense because he had to
pay this fellow who was his financial backer.

Senator Clark. He had to pay that 2 percent on the whole 12-vear
contract ?

''

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir; because the banker was through when the
deal was terminated.

Senator Clark. The banker was not taking any chances.
Mr. Casey You bet your life he was not. Not if he was a banker.He wanted that 2 percent. In other words, he had to pay this 2 per-

cent CO the banker, and I felt it was only fair to him that we should
anticipate his commission to the extent of 2 percent, so that he could
get rid of that oblijration.
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The ChzVirman. I offer as an exhibit a letter dated February 3,

1928, addressed to Colonel Taylor by Mr. O'Gorman, which will be
" Exhibit No. 950."

(The letter referied to was marked " Exhibit No. 950 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2597.)

The Chairman. I read from it [reading]

:

You may be sure in the event that you conclude a deal along the lines indi-

cated in your letter of January IS, that I will promptly remit by cable the
amount involved to pay the 2 percent commission, so that there will be no delay.

Mr. Casey. I think that matter has pretty well been covered, the

reason for that immediate payment.
The Chairman. That contract did not ever materialize. However,

an exactly similar arrangement had previously been negotiated, had
it not?
Mr. Casey. About the same time we got a contract from Poland

for a thousand tons, somewhere around 1927 or 1928.

The Chairman. I offer " Exhibit No. 951 ", which is a letter to

Colonel Taylor by Mr. O'Gorman, under date of July 3, 1928.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 951 ", and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2597.)

I read from it [reading] :

In regard to advance of 2 percent on agent's commission on new order, this

matter can be handled exactly the same as we did on the 1,000-ton conti'act so
that the money will be available upon receipt of telegraphic advices from you.
You may rely upon me to personally take care of this matter so that the funds
will be placed to Mr. Klawe's credit within 48 hours after receipt of telegraphic
advices from you.

Now, the question, who was Mr. Klawe?
Mr. Casey. He was our agent in Warsaw.
The Chairman. Two percent involves in this particular contract

a sum of about $30,000. Is it customary, Mr. Felix du Pont, to

advance such sums to j^our agents on the day contracts are signed,

when the prospects for payment are so far in the future? Is that

a customary practice?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No; I do not think it is. I think those
things are judged according to the conditions when they are brought
up.
The Chairman. Wliat induced you to make an exception, then, or

to make that advance in this particular case?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Just on the information we had, we

thought we would do as Colonel Taylor recommended.
The Chairman. Is it not likely that Mr. Klawe had to pay some

key man before this contract could be finally entered into ?

Mr. Casey. Senator Nye, I do not think so. I would like to give

you an illustration of our contact with the Polish inspectors that

came over here in connection with the thousand-ton contract.

In order to avoid the slightest semblance of any irregularity on
their part, they would not accept from us an invitation, " Let's go
down and have lunch." They would say. " Yes, if you will have
lunch with me tomorrow."
That was their attitude all the way through. And they not only

took that attitude, but we felt they were sometimes leaning over

backwards to avoid any accusation, whatsoever, that they accepted

any favors of any sort from us that they did not promptly return.
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With that atmosphere. I do not see where there is the slightest

idea that we could possibly have had that there was going to be any-
thing in the slightest degree irregular.

Senator Claek. Who paid the expenses of that Polish commission,

Major?
Mr. Casey. They did; the Polish Government.
The Chairman. You do not think that the payment of this com-

mission involved the necessity of Mr. Klawe's paying others before

the deal could be finally put through ?

Mr. Casey. I do not believe so.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, you will recall that the

resolution of the executive committee addressed to the smokeless-

powder department was earlier than this proposed contract. The
smokeless-powder department was well aware of the attitude of the

executive committee. They knew that a contract of this size would
have to come to the attention of the executive committee. It was
entirely unreasonable that they should have had in mind any pro-

vision of the kind that you suggest.

The Chairman. I offer now " Exhibit No. 952 ", a letter dated
May 20, 1930, by Mr. O'Gorman to the Parlin plant, industrial fin-

ishes division, export department. Evidently Mr. J. H. Frechen of
that department had made inquiry concerning this particular deal.

He says [reading]

:

In reply to your letter of May 14 and contirming our telephone conversation
on the above subject, we are slart to advise tliat Mr. Klawe has been agent for
the military sales division in Poland for the past 6 years, during which time he
was successful in obtaining for us orders from the Polish Government for large
Quantities of smokeless powder. Some of the sales were made on a cash basis,
others on credit extending ovei- a year and a half, and on the last contract,
which was for 1.000 tons of powder, payments extended over a 3-year period.

I jump over the next paragraph [reading] :

Mr. Klawe's commission on the above-mentioned contract was 7 percent or
approximately $126,000. Upon signing of the contract, even before we received
the Polish notes, we made iin advance pavment of commission to Mr. Kinwe of
.$30,000.

He got his 2 percent even before the deal was finally closed?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, sir ; that is not correct.

(The letter referied to was marked '* Exhibit No. 952 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2598.)
Mr. Casey. No; before we got the first notes.

The Chairman. Even l^efore the notes were signed?
Mr. Casey. Yes; but not before the deal was closed.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. He does not say before the notes wej?e

signed, either, Mr. Chairman. It says before we received the Polish
notes.

The Chairman. I see.

Then Ave go to the last paragraph on that page [reading] :

In dealing with the Polish Government you are rattier fortunate to have Mr,
Klawe as agent as he is a man who is very well connected and thoroughly un-
derstands what must be done in order to secure business. He is very trust-
worthy, and I suggest that you follow his advices so far as the obtaining of
Polish Government business is concerned.

What are Mr. Klawe's connections, referred to here?
Mr. Casey. He is looked on in Poland as a man of unusually high

standing, and, by the very nature of things, he is accepted as a man
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of intej^rity, and therefore a man that the Government feels they

can deal with. I consider that we were fortunate in getting him as

our agent.

Senator Pope. Outside of his agency for you, what was his busi-

ness, his general profession ?

Mr. Casey. I think Mr. Bradway can answer that, because he has

met Klavfe and has had dinner with him.
The Chairman. Please come forward, Mr. Bradway.
Mr. Bradway, have you been sworn ?

Mr. Bradway. No.

TESTIMONY OF F. W. BRADWAY
m

(The witness was duly sworn by the chairman.)
The Chairman. The question has been asked and the point has

been made that you perhaps could tell us more about Mr. Klawe, your
representative in Poland, than anyone else could. What do you
know of him?
Mr. Bradway. He is a mechanical engineer, as I recall it, and he

had had to do with the construction of several manufacturing build-

ings in both Warsaw and in St. Petersburg—that was prior to the

war, in St. Petersburg—and he had a sort of a small factory there

where he refinished automobiles. In general he was quite highly

respected by the people in Warsaw.
Senator Pope. What is your present position?

Mr. Bradway. I am assistant general manager of the smokeless-

powder department.
Senator Pope. Of the du Pont Co.?
Mr. Bradway. Yes; smokeless-powder department.
The Chairman. Is it the custom to pay as much as 7 percent com-

mission on that business in Poland ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I think that the amount of the commission
is in a general way dependent upon the question of whether you have
to find an agent who can do the job for you and get the orders for

you. If you cannot do it yourself, you get an agent who can, and the

question of whether you can do it or not yourself very much decides
the amount of the commission the agent gets.

The Chairman. Have you had to pay higher rates, higher commis-
sions than that in connection with any of your sales ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I could not answer that. I am not sure.

The Chairman. Mr. Casey?
Mr. Casey. I think 7 percent would represent a little higher than

average. There may have been exceptions to that, but you must re-

alize this : The payment of a commission to an agent is very much
more economical from our viewpoint than for us to establish a branch
office for the sale of military material in any country. I think it does
not take very much thought to realize that.

Senator Clark. In other words, you do not have to pay any perma-
nent overhead or salaries?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
It is necessary that somebody be there all the time. It is not like a

commercial proposition, where there might be a broadcast that they
are going to build a bridge, and everybody can rush there to see that
they have a chance to bid. You never know at what moment any
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government may decide, " Well, now, this is the time we ought to buy
something." So the man who is right there on the job, practically,

you might say, almost in the capacity of being a branch office, except

we have no control over him, is much cheaper to have. In other

words, if we had to do business throughout the world or try to do
business by having branch offices, we would probably be in the busi-

ness about one year and quit. It would be costing us too much.
Mr. Raushenbush. Have you ever paid commissions higher thafi

7 percent?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, I think I can answer that

question from the standpoint of general business.

The Chairman. Will you, whoever can answer it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I would like to answer it from that stand-

point.

The Chairman. All right.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Certainly there is no fixed amount for a
business commission. They run anywhere from one-eighth of 1

percent, the usual brokerage in stock transactions, up to as high as

30 or more percent in commercial goods selling. The ordinary com-
mission for an automobile dealer agency is 25 percent.

The Chairman. On the sale of powder, do you mean to say that

you have paid commissions as high as 30 percent?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think so ; no, sir.

Mr. Casey. No.
The Chairman. In what instances have you paid more than 7

percent ?

Mr. Casey. I think we may have paid or offered to pay at least

10 percent, possibly 15. But you must realize this, that the ques-

tion of how much commission depends to a great extent on the a^ent.

Some agents will say, " We cannot afford to take this proposition
on for any 5-percent basis, because the amount of business is going
to be so small it will not even pay us to carry on negotiations."

On the other hand, as to some other nation, it might be a case
where the man would say, "Why, yes; 5 percent is all right with
me. I will get by with that."

So as to the question of saying there is any fixed agency price,

that is entirely dependent on the type of man you get for agent and
the nation he is selling to.

There is another side. Senator. We naturally try to restrict the
amount paid in commission, because whatever is paid in commission
is added and above our base price, and therefore, any increase in
commission means it puts our price that much higher, which makes
it bad from the standpoint of competition. So we are on our part
doing our best to keep the commission as low as possible, and at
the same time the agent is doing his best to get the commission as
high as possible.

Senator Clark. How much would be the commission involved in
this Polish contract that Senator Nye was talking about, 7 percent
on 3,000 tons for 12 years?
Mr. Casey. No ; on a thousand tons.

Senator Clark. No; but the other proposition that I understand
was never consummated.
Mr. Casey. Oh, the other proposition ? You see, there would have

been a 12-year contract, 300 tons a year.
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Senator Clark. Three hundred or three thousand?
Mr. Casey. Three hundred tons a year. We could not produce

3,000 tons a year.

Senator Clark. How much was involved ? I was just trying to get

an idea of the size of the commission involved on that Major.
Mr. Casey. You are asking me to do some mental gymnastics here.

Senator Clark. I thought you would be familiar with the subject.

Mr. Casey. No. We never went any further, to figure out what it

would be.

The Chairman. Mr. O'Gorman's figure on that was $1,846,000.

Senator Clark. That was on the thousand tons.

The Chairman. For your information, the total sales price of the

thousand tons of smokeless powder amounted to $1,846,000.

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark. You can figure the commission on that.

The Chairman. That commission would figure $168,000.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Casey and Mr. Bradway, were there any
other instances where an arrangement like this of a 2-percent com-
mission or a definite part of a commission had to be paid on the very
day the contract was signed ?

Mr. Casey. I do not know that there was in this, particular case,

you see. It involved credit, the credit to be, you might say, in the

form of Polish notes. That required the services of a local banker
who knew the situation as to the Polish method of finances. There-
fore, this banker was put to a tremendous amount of work to investi-

gate the whole thing before we were willing to accept those notes.

We had to get some local banker's opinion.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do you have any reports from Mr. Taylor re-

ferring to that banker ? We do not seem to have run into them at all.

Mr. Bradway, while Mr. Case}'^ is looking for that, can j^-ou answer
from your memory on that matter: Were there ever any other in-

stances where a part of the commission had to be paid on the very
day of the signing of the contract?
Mr. Bradway. I cannot recall that.

Mr. Raushenbush. It was a somewhat unusual case.

Mr. Casey. Mr. Raushenbush, it would not be at all out of the ordi-

nary for a proposition of this sort, where the contract provided that
the agent's commission is not paid until the notes had been paid, and
not when the notes are received by us, but the notes have been paid.
In the meantime, this thousand-ton proposition had been worked on
for several years before it was finally brought to a conclusion.
The Chairman. Did Klawe do the work?
Mr. Casey. He did the work.
Senator Clark. The 2 percent that had to be paid cash on the

barrel head on the day of signing the contract did not have to do,
if I recall it, with the thousand-ton transaction?

Mr. Casey. It had to do with the thousand-ton likewise.
Senator Clark. You had to pay the commission^
Mr. Casey. We had already paid it at the time this 12 years

developed.
Senator Clark. And this other one was to be based on the same?
Mr. Casey. It was simply a duplication of it.

You just take the position of an agent. Here he is getting a
commission and nothing else. After he has done a certain amount
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of work, some of these agents say, " I would like to have half my
commission ", because after all, when the contract is signed you

might say the agent's job is done, isn't that true? He has negotiated

the contract to the extent of where our own man then can go in

and sign. Now, really, his work is done. Except in this case,

Klawe also had to help us in seeing that the notes that were called

for under the terms of the contract were sent out at the proper

tune. So he in reality had a continuing job. Whereas ordinarily

an agent's or a salesman's job on a particular piece of business is

completed when the contract is signed. In a great many cases you

will find that agents are paid their commissions in full when a

transaction is closed.

Mr. Raushenbush. What cases do you mean, your company ?

Mr. Casey. I mean the commercial business, in commercial busi-

ness.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The usual architect's com.mission is paid

one-third on completion of the plans.

Senator Clark. That is because he has done a third of the work.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The agent had done his work in this

powder case.

Mr. Raushenbush. The reason for this line of questioning, Mr.
Chairman, is that we had a good deal of these advance commissions
in the case of another company, the Electric Boat Co., so I was
interested in tracing them down.
Mr. Casey. Mr. Raushenbush, you are questioning du Pont now,

are you not, not another company?
Mr. Raushenbush. We do not know whif this means, Mr. Casey.

The Chairman. You do not have direct knowledge of having
paid more than 7 percent for powder sales, do you ?

Mr. Casey. No. I do not have any direct knowledge at the mo-
ment. It may be that we did, but if so, it was on a very small piece

of business.

The Chairman. Is there any significance in the language which
Mr. O'Gorman uses in this memorandum from Mr. Frechen, when
he says of Mr. Klawe that

—

He is a man who is very well connected and thoroughly understands what
must be done in order to secure business?

Mr. Casey. I do not think there is the slightest bit of significance

in that at all. You must realize that this was a letter being sent

from one department to another department.
Tlie Chairman. That is right.

Mr. Casey. We felt that Klawe was a good man for us, and we
were trying to make as good a case as possible for Klawe for this

other department, because it had this advantage to us : If Klawe
likewise had an agency for another branch of the company, then we
would keep him more contented.

We had from our agents requests such as, " Well, won't you give us

a retainer, because we go along year after year, and no business."

In some cases we have to pay a nominal sum, of $25, $50, or $100 a
year, so that they will pay the expenses of keeping their files. They
say, " Why, we do not got enough even to pay the expense of keep-

ing our files up and our correspondence."
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Senator Clakk. Klawe has been pretty well paid, Major. The
commission on this one transaction of a thousand tons ran about
one-hundred-and-eightj^-some thousand dollars.

Mr. Casey. How many years has he worked ?

Senator Clark. I do not know.
Mr. Casey. That is the way you have to look at it.

Senator Clark. That seems to be fair compensation.
Mr. Casey. You take the amount of work he has done for a period

of we will say 10 years, if you like, and he has gotten this order,

which gave $180,000.
Senator Clark. At that figure you are not going to the poorhouse.
Mr. Casey. Let us admit that. But is not the man who does the

work entitled to his reward?
Senator Clark. Yes; but you were talking about his being dis-

satisfied. I say he is doing pretty well.

Mr. Casey. The fact remains that since that time we have not
done any business with Poland.
The Chairman. Prior to this 1928 sale, how long prior to that

had Mr. Klawe been recognized as a representative in Poland?
Mr. Casey. I could not say the exact date, but I would say at

least 3 or 4 years and iDOssibly more.
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Senator Nye, there was no sale in 1928.

The Chairman. 1927 was the sale.

Mr. Bradway. He had been our agent for at least 3 or 4 years
prior to that.

Mr. Casey. Three or four years ; I am not quite sure.

The Chairman. Can you say that Mr. Klawe negotiated this deal

without the resort to any payment of graft ?

Mr. Casey. I can never say that any man negotiates a deal and
say that I know positively that he has not. That is beyond me.
The Chairman. But it has not been made ?

Mr. Casey. But there has not been the slightest knowledge on our
part that any such thing was necessary, because in the first place,

Klawe was looked on as a man of such integrity that we would not
suspect it.

The Chairman. That is not true as respects some other places or
sales, is it? You do have knowledge that graft is necessary in con-
nection with some sales?

Mr. Casey. I would not even say that. We sometimes suspect,
but that is a thing that we may be absolutely unjust about, suspi-

cion.

methods of doing business CHINA

The Chairman. Did you not do more than suspect as relates to
your negotiations in China?
Mr. Casey. Then we found out.

The Chairman. Then you found out?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
The Chairman. So it is not a matter of suspicion there ?

Mr. Casey. No. I am trying to tell you to the best of my know-
ledge how we look at these things.

The Chairman. You have done considerable business, Mr. Casey,
in China.
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Mr. Casey. From the time of lifting the embargo I think over a

period of 3 or 4 years, we did probably an average, I will sslj—what
was it, about?
Mr. Bradway. $800,000, total.

Mr. Casey. $200,000 or $300,000 a year.

The Chairman. In these negotiations in China and other dealings

with a Colonel de Fremerj^—who was De Fremery?
Mr. Casey. De Fremery, as he came to our attention through Mr.

Van Veen, who was our agent in Holland—he advised us that Mr.
de Fremery was going over there to advise the Chinese Government
on ordnance matters.

The Chairman. He was originally from where?
Mr. Casey. I understand from Holland. Whether he is a Hol-

lander I do not know, but the name might indicate otherwise.

The Chairman. I have before me excerpts from a letter written
by Mr. O'Gorman to the circulation manager of the du Pont maga-
zine, saying of Colonel de Fremery rhis

:

Colonel De Fremery is a Dutch ofBcor working uniler contract with the
Chinese Government as an adviser.

Mr. Casey. That is right.

The Chairman. You understand him to be that.

I offer " Exhibit No. 953 ", cable dated September 23, 1929, to Col.

W. N. Taylor.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 9o3 ", and appears

in full in the text.)

The Chairman. I read:

Cable No. 660 : Following telegiam has been received from N. E. Bates

:

Would suggest v.e do not pay any other commissions except 7.5 percent Preston,
Wills, DyestufCs, Wilmington, du Pont Dyestufit's Office, Shanghai, China, will

advance all prices at plant 5 rerreiit for distribution as follows: 4 percent
Chinese Army, Nanking; 1 percent Coi. de Fremery. N. E. Bates does not know
of any good i-eason for payment commission by Col. W. N. Taylor. Unless there
is good reason to contrary we will advise N. E. Bates to settle definitely on the
basis quoted.

Who can tell us the meaning of that?
Mr. Casey. This \^as an arrangement made by Bates after he got

over there in China. It was brought out the other day that we had
severed our conneciion with I, V. Giliis. Because of the embargo in
China we felt there was no chance for him, since we really had hung
onto him year after year with the idea perhaps that the embargo
might be lifted. I think that a few months after vre severed our
connection with Giliis, the embargo was lifted. When we tried to
get Giliis bacJv we found that he had made some other connection.
The result was we were looking for a new method of getting into
China, when this opportunity arose in Europe through Van Veen.
The very first arrangement was that Van Veen insisted that he should
have 8 percent, and out of that 8 percent he was going to take care
of De Fremery. Then we later learned from the Chinese Govern-
ment that they did not want to do business through intermediaries,
that they Avanted to do busines direct. I think that came out the
other day.

We had in Shanghai an office of the dyestuffs department of the
du Pont Co., so we asked Dr. NoeJting if he would take care of the
matter for us.
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Then we were up against this proposition : The dyestuffs depart-

ment said, '• Yes, but this is going to cost us money." We were

going to face the proposition of paying Van Veen 8 percent, which

Look care of De Fremery, and also from the smokeless powder depart-

ment paying into the dyestuffs department a certain amount, which

all meant boosting our price.

So when Bates got over there he found that De Fremery would
be satisfied with 1 percent. The dyestuffs people thought that in

order to pay them and have them break even on the handling of this

Dusiness they required 7^2 percent. That is our own office. And
when Bates said he could not see any occasion for payment of com-
mission hj Taylor, he meant he could not see any reason why we
should pay any commission whatsoever to Van Veen. So this ar-

rangement then went into effect. The reason for putting aside 4
percent was because we were—as brought out by Mr. Felix du Pont
a few moments ago—practically told that that was an old Chinese
custom.

The Chairman. The 4 percent that was paid to the Chinese Army
of Nanking, who was that paid to?

^Ir. Casey. I do not know. I never did know until that other
letter indicating by name a couple of officers, which was brought out

at tJie hearing in September.
The Chairman. But De Fremery, who was a Dutch officer working

under contract with the Chinese Government as an adviser, also got

a percentage?
Mr. Casey. He got 1 percent.

The Chairman. Have you paid commissions to other Chinese
officers, army officers?

Mr. Casey. Whatever was paid under this 4 percent; that is all

I know of. I do not even really know whether the payments were
made, to whom, or how, but the money at least was set aside by the

budget.
The Chairman. I offer " Exhibit No. 954 ", which is an excerpt

from a letter dated December 27, 1929, to the circulation manager of
the du Pont magazine by Mr. O'Gorman. That letter makes refer-

ence to Dr. C. Y. Wang.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 9.54 ", and is

included in the appendix on page 2599.)
I read

:

Dr. C. Y. "Wang is a chemical engineer in charge of dyestuiTs demonstration
in our Shanghai office, hut since Dr. Wang is also engaged in military sales

work, the du Pont Magazine would be of value to him, as he is In constant
touch with government officials.

Wliat is this we are hearing of more recent days concerning Dr.
Wang's present predicament?
Mr. Casey. Somebody else can probably tell the story better than

I can on that. I just heard the rumor.
The Chairman. Is it any more than rumor, this story that he has

been arrested and is about to be executed?
Mr. Casey. I could not tell you. Senator.
Mr. Lammot dut Pont. I had not heard of that. Senator. C. Y.

Wang is not in the company's employ and has not been for some
time.
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The Chairman. Since when?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think since 1932.

The Chairman. Is there anyone present who has heard anything
more than mere rumor along that line ?

Mr. Casey. I was just handed this memorandum and I am trying

to make it out. This is evidently a message from the back of the

room. It says here that he is going to be hung.
The Chairman. Is there anyone here in connection with the du

Pont industry, their attornys or others, who has any direct informa-
tion concerning Dr. Wang's difficulties i There has been a very per-

sisting story, emanating, I understand, from one of the counsel for

the du Ponts, that that was tlie case. In any event, in light of the

record that has been made, it would seem that if there be foundation
for the story that is being told it seems rather unfair that Dr. Wang
should be one or the only one punished for what we understand to be
the occasion for his punishment.

Is it a common occurrence, as you understand, Mr. Casey, in

China, to pay these commissions to Chinese officers of the Army?
]Mr. Casey. I have never been in China, so therefore, I have no

iirst-hand information. But I recently read a book, "" Oil for the
Lamps in China "—I imagine a great many of j^ou men have read
that book—and all through it is this question of the squeeze.

The Chairman. This question of the what?
Mr. Casey. Of the squeeze. But in addition to that, I have

heard from people who have been there that there has always been
a custom of exchanging presents. In other words, when New Year's
comes, or some otTier ceremonial occasion, people doing business
with one another will exchange presents.

Now, this, of course, is all hearsay. I understand that sometimes
foreigners going over there trying to do business have been very
much embarrassed by having a very handsome gift come to them,
in the form of a piece of Chinese jade, or something of that sort,

and they don't know what in the world to do with it. If they try
to return it, they have made a deadly enemy of the man who has been
a customer of theirs, and it is the customer buying from them who is

giving the present to the man selling to him. But he will make a
deadly enemy if he refuses that gift, so the man feels he cannot
refuse the gift.

The Chairman. Is the man buying sometimes made the recipient
of a gift, a New Year's gift?

Mr. Casey. He is very apt to be. Of course, that is hearsay, as
I say. I have never been in China.
The Chairman. I offer " Exhibit No. 955," a letter to Mr. O'Gor-

man, unsigned, dated December 29, 1930.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 955 ", and
appears in full in the text.)

The Chairman. I should like, first of all, to have identified the
author of that letter. It is initialed J.W.S.
Mr. Casey. J. W. Squirrel.

The Chairman. Who is he?
Mr. Casey. He is an assistant in LC.I.'s office in New York.
The Chairman. Can you tell where the letter was written from?
Mr. Casey. I imagine from New York. There is nothing here to

indicate, however.
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The Chairman. Oh, yes; it is indicated up at the top here. It

is written from 19 West Forty-fourth Street, New York, December

29 1930.

This letter would make it appear, Mr. Casey, that your British

friends, the I.C.I. , at least hint that you have obtamed business m
China, 'and this in spite of price cutting by the Bofors, with the

element of graft. Let us read the letter, " Exhibit No. 9o5 :

In your letter of November 20 you advised that you had secured an order for

rifle powder from the Chinese Government at the price of $2.10 per kilo, pre-

sumablv c.i.f. Chinese port, against Bofors' quotation of $1.25 per kilo f.o.b.

European port. You indicated that you secured the business on the basis of

service and the quality of your product. We, of course, admit the possibihty

of this argument being successful in some instances over lower competitive

prices but the margin between the two figures given is so wide that we are

wondering whether there were not some other considerations. For instance, we

think that it is not at all unusual to have to give away large commissions in

China in order to secure business.
^ ^ ^ , ^ i

,

Id the fdisenre of ordprs from the British Government, I.C.I, have to depend

on getting business from other sources, in order to keep their factory employees

up to the mark. They are not willingly following the prices established by

Bofors, but they do not see how they can get business by any other means. In

your case, of course, circumstances are different in that you receive large orders

from the United States Government.

Senator Pope. Who is this man ?

Mr. Casey. Squirrel?

Senator Pope. Yes.

The Chairman. He is of the I.C.I.

Senator Pope. An agent of the I.C.I. ?

Mr. Casey. No ; he is one of their representatives in this country.

Senator Pope. In this country?

Mr. Casey. Yes.

The Chairman. Mr. Casey, what is the deduction to be drawn

from this letter?

Mr. Casey. I think in the first place that SqunTel's deduction was

incorrect, to the extent that it was trying to explain how we were able

to sell when they were not. I am referring now to I.C.I.

The Chairman. Yes.
, ,

• <:

Mr. Casey. That statement that we made the sale on the basis ot

service and quality was absolutely correct. There was no such fig-

ure as this Bofors' quotation. Now, you have got to take the dis-

tinction there between c.i.f. and f .o.b., as referred to by Senator Clark

the other day. I believe that Bofors' price c.i.f. would have been

25 or 30 cents a kilo higher, on account of ocean freight and trans-

portation. But ours represented a c.i.f. price.

The Chairman. Even so, that would have left a difference ot

about 80 cents.

Mr. Casey. But that price that Squirrel refers to of Botors did

not exist at the time we got the order. Now, what we understood

was—and we afterwards heard it to be the fact—that every time

Bofors heard we had gotten some business that they had not gotten,

they would go to some official and say, " You were foolish to give

them that business at that price. We would have given you that

powder at a good deal less." Bofors was not selling powder at that

time. Later on. when the world became a little chaotic on account

of England going off the gold standard, our prices in dollars re-

mained the same, but in comparison with European prices they were
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way out of line. At one time we understood that Bofors were offer-

ing powder in China at $1,121/^ a kilo, but they could do that without
lowering their price, on account of the exchange.
The Chairman. Now, what part of your price that you obtained

in connection with that order was for graft ?

Mr. Casey. That 4 percent referred to, and that was all.

The Chairman. In addition to the 4 percent, there were other re-

wards, were there not, such as your New Year's presents plan that

you just suggested?
Mr. Casey. Anything tliat came there was in that 4 percent.

The Chairman. Your director of sales for China recognized the

necessity for gifts at New Year's, Chinese New Year's ?

Mr. Casey. As I say, that was set aside for gifts or of whatever
nature that might be,

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Senator Nye, might I state that you put in

the record or called it our New Year's plan. We made it very clear

that that is a Chinese New Year's plan.

The Chairman. All right.

I have before me a letter addressed to E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Co. by F. A. M. Noelting, director of sales for China, written Aug-
ust 22, 1929, which I offer as " Exhibit No. 956."

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No, 956 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2599.)

The Chairman, I will read only a sentence from it on page 2,

Anyway, presents will have to be given to various parties at Cbina New Year's
and the overprice we get can be nsed for this purpose.

Mr. Casey, Doesn't that indicate just what I said?

The Chairman, You think that is covered by the 4 percent ?

Mr, Casey, Yes. In other words, there was nothing given in the

nature of a New Year's present in addition to that 4 percent. If

presents were given, that was deducted from the 4 percent.

Now, I might add that at the time this proposition came in, this

was an explanation as to why they wanted us to advance the price,

to take care of that 4 percent. It was a question indicated in this

letter that this was for New Year's presents. It was not until later

that we got an indication that there was an actual cash transaction.

I might at that point just bring out this : That the question as to

the responsibility of approving of that action put me in a very awk-
ward spot. This Shanghai office was the office of the dyestuff depart-
ment, an entirely different department. When I later learned that

this was a proposition which I felt violated the resolution of the exec-

utive committee as of 1922, I said to myself, "Well, now, it may be
that an exception is being made in the case of China." Yet that did
not relieve me of the responsibility for reporting it. But I felt that

I would be presumptuous to be reporting an incident relating to the

action of some other department. But there was this phase, perhaixs,

that likewise helped govern : That I knew if I ever did bring it to the

attention of the executive committee they would say, " No more ; that

is contrary to our policy." Therefore, I was anxious to make the

sale, and figuring, as I said before, that it was an old Chinese custom
and the fact it was another department, I did not mention it. But I

am really responsible for at least particij^ating in the violation of a

company policy, because I knew the executive committee would have
said flat-footeclly, " No more business on that line."
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Senator Pope. Did you take it up with any other department?
Mr. Casey. No.
Mr. Eaushenbush. When the executive committee found out about

this, was there another resolution on the Chinese business ?

Mr. Casey. When the executive committee found out about this,

we were doing no business with China, on account of the exchange.

Mr. Raushenbush. But you sold $800,000 worth, according to Mr.
Bradway, in the last 2 years.

Mr. Bradway. I didn't say that.

Mr. Raushenbush. I will correct that. Since the embargo.
Mr. Bradway. In 1931, 1 think, was our last sale to China.

Mr. Raushenbush. How much has it been since 1929 ?

Mr. Bradway. About $800,000.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is what I was saying.

Mr. Bradway. Yes ; but we haven't sold anything to them for 21/2

years.

Mr. Raushenbush. But since 1929 it has been $800,000 worth of

business.

Mr. Bradway. Yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. You did not answer my question. Major.

After the company found about this China business was there another
executive committee resolution on the question of not paying such
commissions ?

Mr. Casey. I do not believe the executive committee ever learned

of it until this year.

Mr. Raushenbush. When they learned of it this year was there

another resolution passed?
Mr. Casey. I don't think it was necessary, but it was an error on

my part. Whether it was a justified error or not is beside the point.

I am the fellow who made the bull.

The Chairman. Mr. Felix du Pont, in 1930 did you win a contract

for the sale of 30 tons of TNT in China?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont, I do not know. Do you know, Major?
Mr. Casey. I have not got the materials here.

The Chairman. Mr. Casey?
Mr. Casey. I don't know.
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I have not got the detail.

The Chairman. Do you have any knowledge of that, Mr. Brad-
way?
Mr. Bradway. No; I do not have the details. The $800,000 re-

ferred to included TNT, I might add.
Mr. Raushenbush, Yes.
Mr, Bradway. It was not all smokeless powder.
The Chairman. On various occasions, several occasions, at least,

in cases of contracts with China for military material, these contracts

had to be put through with the assistance of graft or bribes, or what-
ever you are going to call it here.

Mr. Casey. So we were assured.

methods of doing business ARGENTINA

The Chairman. Mr, Felix du Pont, was the Argentine Govern-
ment a pretty good customer of the du Ponts for powder?
Mr. A. Felix du Poxt. 1 would not call it a pretty good customer.
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The Chairman. As foreign sales go, were they considered a good
customer ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No. Covered over the years, taking the
average per year, it was small. We would not consider the Argen-
tine a good customer.
The Chairman. Have you considered it a good prospect?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No. We did at the time some years ago,

but we were disappointed, I think.

The Chairman. Do you recall who, in 1920 and 1921, was your
representative selling powder in the Argentine?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. When?
The Chairman. 1920 and 1921.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No.
The Chairman. Would mention of the name Adolph Lissner mean

anything ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. He was your representative there?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Casey. He was our salesman.
The Chairman. He was your salesman ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes; he was our salesman. He was work-
ing under a salesman.
The Chairman. No commission?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No commission.
The Chairman^ Outright salary?
Mr. A. P^ELix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. He was a regular employee, then, of your mili-

tary-service division ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.

The Chairman. Who picked Mr. Lissner?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Colonel Buckner, during the war.
The Chairman. Who was Colonel Buckner.
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Colonel Buckner was the director of mili-

tary sales during the war. I think he had Mr. Lissner before the
war began—before the European war began.
Mr. Casey. As an interpreter.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes ; he had him as an interpreter.

The Chairman. Are you familiar with his methods?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No ; I don't think anybody is.

The Chairman. He is no longer in your employ?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No; he died. But he was discharged

from the du Pont Co. before that.

The Chairman. When did that discharge come?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not remember the exact year. It was

about 1921, 1920, or 1921, 1 believe.

The Chairman. Did it arise out of complaints that were made
concerning his methods in the Argentine ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.

The Chairman. I have before me a letter written by Mr. O'Gor-
man concerning a trip he had made to Washington, which is offered

as " Exhibit No. 957."

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 957 "" and is

included in the appendix on p. 2601.)
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The Chairman. On this memorandum we find Mr. O'Gorman
notes [reading] :

Called at the Department of Commerce regarding their letter of December 9
concerning our negotiations in Argentine. Saw I\Ir. P. S. Smith and Mr. J. P.

Bushnell. Mr. Bushuell is a former employee of the du Pont Export Co., who
was a traveling salesman in IMexico and South America for the Export Co.,

Mr. Bushuell stated that he knew Mr. Lissner and therefore was interested

in doing all he could for us.

Wlien did Mr. Bushnell cease his connection with the du Pont Co. ?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not know.
Mr. Casey. I have not the slightest idea.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. It is a very long time ago.

The Chairman. Do you know whether he is still in the Commerce
Department?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not know.
The Chairman. This memorandum, of course, is dated December

17, 1921.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. You have no knowledge of Mr. Bushnell's pres-

ent connections, have you.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No.
The Chairman. Pie declares in his memorandum concerning being

told of the methods which Lissner was employing down there in the

Argentine, and then he reports as best he can from his memory, after

reading a confidential and personal letter which was in the files of

the Commerce Department. The letter in particular seems to have
been dated October 27, 1921. Then reporting from his memory he

says of this correspondence [reading] :

The du Pont Co. has in Buenos Aires a German Jew named A. Lissner, who
is negotiating with the Argentine Government for the sale of a quantity of
powder which the du Pout Co. has on hand, due to the cancelation of a con-

tract with the Italian Government. In a conversation with the Chief of Ord-
nance he told me confidentially that Lissner was endeavoring to bribe Argentine
officials by indiscriminately distributing funds through a middleman. The Chief
of Ordnance, together with other Argentine officials, strongly resents Lissner's

business methods, contending that Lissner came to Argentina with the idea that
the Government officials were corrupt and that he could only obtain a contract
by paying bribes.

Was it this general complaint that led to Mr. Lissner's discharge?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. We had the general complaint, and we were

forced to the conclusion that Lissner was not acting—or his methods
were not—according to du Pont Co.'s methods, and it seemed to

show up most particularly in his traveling-expense accounts.

Senator Clark. How long did Lissner work for you, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. He started in, I think, somewhere around

1907. or 1908, and he was an interpreter, used to go around with mis-
sions, government missions from the various countries, when they
could not speak English. He R])oke a number of languages. He had
a way of ingratiating himself with those people, who made us have
an idea that he was quite valuable as an interpreter.

The Chairman. I read further from Mr. O'Gorman's memoran-
dum, the bottom paragraph on ]iage 2

:

Both Mr. Smith and Mr. Bushnell felt that a great deal of the above report
could be discounted, stating that Mr. White was a very high type of man.
conscientious and painstiiking. The nioial conclusion which Mi-. White
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attempted to draw attention to in his report, of course, is a high thought,

but Mr. Smith stated that he spent 8 months last year in Buenos Aires and
knew for a fact that the officials were corrupt and endeavored to obtain graft

whenever possible. He ventured to sa.v that it was quite possible that the
Chief of Ordnance was incensed becaiise Lissner had not conducted the business
directly through him and, further, that it miglit be likely that he objected to

Lissner's methods because he was not getting part of the graft.

That is a general charge as relates to the situation in the Argentine,
is it not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. It is very general; yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Chairman, may I point out that the ad-
ministration referred to in this letter back in 1921 is not the admin-
istration in power in the Argentine in these days, and the reflection

on the officials at that time would certainly not apply to the officials

iodny.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, I should also point out that
this was not a matter that was covered by our own observations.
This report is not a du Pont Co, report.

The Chairman. No ; that is correct.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I should like to point ont, too, Mr. Sena-
tor, that in this case, the case of Lissner, he Avas not successful in
negotiating the sale of a pound of powder in the Argentine.
The Chairman. This being called to your attention is through the

avenues of the Commerce Department of the United States Govern-
ment. Mr. Smith, one of the spokesmen of the Commerce Depart-
ment, Mr. O'Gorman reports, stated that

—

as far as the Department of Commerce was concerned, they merely felt it was
their duty to report to us the fact that our representative had not been discreet
in conducting negotiations. He stated that they knov,- perfectly well that the
du Pont Co. would not permit a representative to negotiate along the lines
described by the Charge d'Affaires, and whether his report be true or not, it
was Mr. Smith's belief that Mr. Lissner must have been very indiscreet.

You had knowledge of this from other sources as well, did you
not?
Mr. Casey. I think there was one other source of information that

Mr. O'Gorman developed along the same general line.

The Chairman. Mr. O'Gorman, it aj^pears, had a friend who had
connections in the Argentine.

Mr. Casey. There was something of that sort.

The Chairman. He was visiting back here and went and called on
Mr. O'Gorman and reported to him in a way that caused Mr. O'Gor-
man to prepare a memorandum for Mr. A. Felix du Pont, which is

introduced as " Exhibit No. 9o8."

(The memorandum referred to Mas marked " Exhibit No. 958 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 2602.)
The Chairman. I read only two paragraphs from that letter, the

tiiird paragraph first

:

During Mr. Lissnors fit'st trip to Avgontino in lit20, Mv. Valentine

—

He was the one who was bringing this report on his Ansit, from the
Argentine

—

became acquainted with ]\Ir. Lissner by meeting him at tlie American Club.
Mr. Lissner openly announced that he was down there to sell Argentine a quan-
tity of Italian powder Avliieh he pevs»nally repurciint^ed from t'lo Italian Gov-
ernment at 1 cent a pound and which we intended to resell to the Argentine
Government at a price of 70 cents per pound. This fact was made public by
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people who heard it and naturally, before very long the officials of the Gov-

ernment knew the exact cost of this repui'chased powder and fought shy of

buying it. In Mr. Valentine's opinion this is the real reason why the Argen-

tine Goverenment did not contract with us for a quantity of Italian purchased

powder.

What was your outlay on this Italian powder, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I do not remember what the outlay was.

Mr. Casey. At the close of the war there still remained at Carneys

Point a quantity of powder which belonged to the Italian Govern-
ment.

Senator Clakk. That powder had been manufactured for the

Italian Govermnent during the war?
Mr. Casey. Yes. And they came to this conclusion : If you gen-

tlemen will remember, immediately after the war, food was the all-

important thing to send abroad. They stopped all shipments of

munitions and used all of the tonnage for food. Now, here was this

quantity of powder. The Italians figured that it might be several

years before they would be allowed to ship that poAvder. They said

if we would take it off of their hands, at any price, where it was, they
would be very glad to let go of it.

Now, the interesting point about that powder was that it was a

powder of an unusual character in this respect : All powder made
for the Italian Government had to be made to a constant weight
of charge, the reason for that being apparently that their loading
machines were of such a type that they could not adjust them to fit

the change in weight of charge which might occur in normal prac-

tice. You can understand that, I believe, Senator.
Senator Clark. Yes.

Mr. Casey. So we had a blend—a cross blend. It happened to be
that this particular powder was ideally suited to the Argentine—the
rifle powder I am speaking of now—was ideally suited to the Argen-
tine 7.65 Mauser rifle. In 1918, Avhile we were still in the war, a

Colonel Reyborn, attached to the Italian Embassy, came in to see

Colonel Buckner one hot afternoon, I think, in August or September,
about purchasing from us, when the war was over, a plant at a very
cheap price, and he then explained to us what Argentine needed.
Colonel Buckner's answer was

:

Well, when the war is over is time to talk. At the present time we only
think of one thing, and that is helping the United States to win the war.

Wlien the armistice occurred and things were clearing up there was
a certain amount of contact between ourselves and the Argentine
naval mission in this countr3\

I might say, to disgress for a moment, that the Argentine plant
proposition started in 1918 and has never been closed since. I mean
there has never anything happened since.

At any rate, in this connection, here we had this powder and we
thought that if the situation was as described by Colonel Reyborn,
with the further realization that Argentine had bought practically
all of its powder for the Army, at Teast, from Germany, and Ger-
many as a source of supply was cut off, there was a possibility that
this proposition might justify to our going to a considerable expense
in traveling funds to try to sell Argentine some of this powder.
The possibility was before we got through witli the sale of that
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powder, where it cost us a cent a pound at the time we made the
purchase, you add all of the traveling expenses of a trip to South
America and stayino; there for a month and coming back again and,
as it was, trip after trip, I think if today we had any of that powder
left and sold it, it would be sold at a loss.

But this letter, I think, or this report, indicates pretty well that if

a man down there, not realizing that the powder he sold to the

Argentine Government would probably in the end at that time have
made us a very small profit, when he starts in blurting out things

of this sort, it was self-evident at the time that he was not the type

of man to represent any company.
Senator Clark. Naturally, if he shot off his moutli to that effect

it would not help the sale very much.
Mr. Casey. I might give you a reason as to why Lissner was

picked. As we stated before, Colonel Buckner took him in as an
interpreter, because he knew suiiicient Spanish, and perhaps a smat-
tering of Portuguese—I do not know—but at least he was able to

converse with the different foreign representatives who came over
with these missions during the war. After the war he was promptly
transferred to the export company, which was started for com-
mercial sales and in which military did not form a part, because
they felt he might be of value to them in the export company. But
when this purchase of powder was made from the Italians, the sug-
gestion was made, Avho would be any better fitted, in view of his

dealings with different foreign missions, than Lissner to effect the
sale, so that we started Lissner down there. After about a year or
probably less, he came back with what was termed an ad referendum
contract. The contract meant that here was a contract signed but
of no value until it had been approved by the Argentine Congress.
There was a further clause in there that we had to sign the contract,
and in signing the contract we were then agreeing to the specifica-

tions code. In other words, we were to agree to the words in those
specifications. We could not get a copy of the specifications, so
that they wanted us to agree on this proposition. Now, the fact
rernaineci that the contract was not really Avorth the paper it was
written on, unless ratified by the Argentine Congress, so that as a
result of that it was felt that he came back too soon, and that if he
really had a contract, before he brought the contract to us he then
had to have the book of conditions, which we could then go through
and see if we were prepared to meet them, and, lastly, the thing
should have been ratified by the Argentine Congress. So that he
was home for a short time and was sent back, I think, probably the
middle of 1921, when he was sent back, and then it was after" that
time that we began to get these different reports which indicated
there was something wrong.
We sensed it, but were not sure. I mean, we felt that there must

be something. When he came back, ]\Ir. Felix du Pont—in the
meantime the company having gone through a reorganization from
the functional system to the subjective system, where the different
departments were then set up—and one of the first things Mr. Felix
du Pont said to me, as soon as he took charge of both sales and
operations, was, " Casey, I think the best thing we can do is to get
rid of Lissner." That was even before we had these reports.
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He said, " There is something I do not like." When we got the

reports, the reason was obvious, and when he came back he was
dismissed.

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. I might say that this was the only sales

mission Lissner was ever put on, and the reasons speak for them-
selves.

The Chairman. To use ordinary language, he Avas " just too

raw ", was he not 'i

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Casey. I might add that we sent a man down there who was

no salesman for the sole purpose of trying to correct the bad im-
pression which we felt must have been left behind.
The Chairman. Mr. O'Gorman made a note in his memorandum

to the effect that Lissner resorted to open bribery methods to such
an extent that the officials of the Government were afraid to deal
with him and considered him irresponsible. In the sale of this

powder in the post-war days there was a great deal of pressure, was
there not, to accomplish sales of left-over supplies?
Mr. Casey. No. This was our first attempt, and that was fol-

lowed by another one with Poland.
The Chairman, We have already dealt with that one, have "\ve

not?
Mr. Casey. That was newly made powder, but I am talking about

an earlier sale which started in this countr3\ The negotiations
stretched over 3 or 4 years, but that was a case where they knew
they were buying a different type of powder. As I say, this Italian
stuff was used for an entirely different purpose than that for Poland.
The stuff which Ave had from the Italians would not have fitted

the Polish guns.
The Chairman. What constitutes your fields for foreign opera-

tions ?

Mr. Casey. At the present time ?

The Chairman. Since the war, let us say.
Mr. Casey. At one time we thought we had a pretty good field.

I think, as stated in the memorandum which I Avrote to Mr. Felix
du Pont, Avhich we offered the other day, that we felt, with the
reputation du Pont powder had made during the war, we had a
wonderful opportunity, especially due to the fact that Germany,
who supplied all continental Europe with the possible exception
of France, was not then a potential seller, and at this time we found
that our original idea of a Avonderful market Avas all Avrong.
The Chairman. Now your foreign market, strictly speaking, is

confined to the Balkans, the Far East, and South America, is it not?
Mr. Casey. We never had a market in the Balkans.
The Chairman. You have sold some little orders there, have you

not?
Mr. Casey. A little in Greece. We had sold Greece before that.

We sold Greece a small quantity in 1915, I think.
The Chairman. Outside of these three classifications, do you have

any foreign market at all?

Mr. Casey. The European market at the present time, I would
say, is practically limited, so far as we are concerned, anyway.
Mr. Raushenbusii. Colonel Taylor keeps reporting on everj^ sin-

gle country in Europe.
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Mr. Casey. He is supposed to.

Mr. Raushenbush. And he sells for I.C.I, as well as 3- ou ?

Mr. Casey. Yes. He tries to sell, you mean.
I might say the section around the North Sea really has been the

only chance of doing much business; that is, Poland, Latvia, Fin-
land, and those countries.

The Chairman. Now, as respects the Balkans, the Far East, and
South America, in all of them there seems to be an anticipation

that bribery, graft, of some kind and size is necessary.

Mr. Casey. Senator, we have heard that such things are necessary

in all business in South America, but that is a rumor, but we have
never had the slightest indication, so far as Poland, Latvia, Finland,

and those countries are concerned, that any bribery is even con-

sidered.

Of course, there is this thing about those countries, that is prob-
ably why they offered us the best market : They were new countries,

set up, and with nothing to start from.
The Chairman. In any event, confining it to those three classifi-

cations, you do have a situation there that at least is very different

from the one which you deal with, or which any business firm deals

with, in dealing here at home?
Mr. Casey. The question is reallj^ one of national viewpoint.
The Chairman. That is it.

Mr. Casey. You could take this situation in France: Owing to

certain laws that were put into effect in the seventies, I believe, an
employee of a company cannot be discharged except on 6 years'

notice, and during the 6 years he had to be paid his salary, the result

being that wherever they can they give their people nominal salaries

and then in addition to that other compensation. Now, in the case

of their purchasing agents—I am talking now of commercial busi-

ness—now, in the case of their purchasing agents, we know of one
case of a man representing a very large concern, who gets about 1,000
francs a month, or did at the period I am talking about, or approxi-
mately $40 a month. If you can imagine a high-class purchasing
agent working for $40 a month, he must get some money some other
place. Here is the way he gets it : A sale was made to this concern
and, after the sale was finished, he said, "Where is my 4 percent? "

So that our representative promptly went to the head of the firm
and reported the incident.

He said, "That is all right; that is what he gets, 4 percent."
Then it was explained to him why he got it, and the simplification

of the principle was this : that in case his services were discontinued,
why, they had to pay him this 1,000 francs a month, or $40, for that
6 years, and that when times were good and purchases increased,
his compensation automatically increased with it. When their pur-
chases were cut off, because times were getting bad, the thing took
care of itself.

There was another case—this time, I might say, not knowing this,

we lost the 4 percent, because it was not provided for in the price

—

in another case, shortly after that, our representative thought, " Here,
when I make the price, I better allow for 5 percent ", so that he made
an allowance of 5 percent to take care of the purchasing represen-
tative of the company being sold to. When the transaction was
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completed, he went to this man and said, " Here is your 5 percent."

He said, " No, I only get 3i/^ percent. That is the arrangement I

have with my employers."
He said, " We have set aside 5 percent on the price."
" Return the balance to the company. I get 3i^ percent. That

is my arrangement."
You cannot call that graft. That is a business arrangement and

their method of doing it.

The Chairman. What would you call it here?

Mr. Casey. We pay our purchasing agents.

The Chairman. But what would we call it here, if they did the

same thing?
Mr. Casey. If we had a law to meet of the same sort, the chances

are we would do the same thing.

The Chairman. You mean to say that is permissible under the

law over there?
Mr. Casey. Yes.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, your statement that our repre-

sentatives find this graft situation to exist in Europe, the Far East,

and South America is not correct.

The Chairman. I said the Balkans, the Far East, and South
America.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. We did not find it to exist there. It was

reported to us that it existed, but there was some question as to the
validity of the reports. As Major Casey has testified, in the Far
East he made a blunder in certain cases, and he referred to that as

a blunder. I am not sure that is the word he used, but that is what
he intimated. Such a thing was not found elsewhere.

Mr. Casey. Senator, we promptly, without waiting for the action

of the executive committee, instructed Taylor with regard to the
Balkan situation, that we will have to try to do business in our
regular way, on a cash basis. We would not attempt to set up any
machinery for credit or payment of graft of any sort, the result

being, with the exception of Greece, which has been done on a regu-

lar basis through our agent there, whose name is Sapyras, we have
not done any business. We have had one or two nibbles in Turkey,
but have generally lost out in the adjudication.
The Chairman. Where you found these practices to exist, it is

nevertheless true that even a concern who tries to be as high-class

and high-type as yours does was in a position where you would have
to follow along certain lines to get business, would you not?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. That is incorrect.

Mr. Casey. The case of China is the one exception, and that, as

I said before, is my error for not reporting.
The Chairman. Is that business worth having?
Mr. Casey. The small amount of business which we have been

getting made me feel personally at the time that I should sacrifice

it, especially in view of the fact that I would be put in position of
reporting on or telling tales on another department. I was in an
awkward spot, which does not let me out, however.
The Chairman. In spite of the fact that these foreign sales are

undertaken on the ground that we have got to have them in order to
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maintain a capacity here at home to take care of our own needs,

when and if we are drawn into war, then we have pretty nearly got

to conclude that these practices, and our subscribing to them, are in

the interest of our own national defense.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That is not a fair inference at all.

The Chairman. Is it not a fair inference?

Mr, Lammot du Pont. No ; I think not.

The Chairman. Why is it not a fair inference ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The fact that foreign business is felt to be

necessary in order to support our proper national defense does not

mean that any improper methods shall be used in getting that busi-

ness, and we have never felt that it was necessary to use improper
methods to get business.

The Chairman. You would not say that that Chinese process was
a proper method, would you?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. That was a blunder, as Mr. Casey said.

Senator, your men have been spending weeks going through our
files, and they have not turned up a single case except this Chinese
one you mentioned.
Mr. Raushenbush. The Argentine powder factory.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. There was no commission paid there to any
representative of the Government.
The Chairman. In the Argentine powder factory matter ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The evidence did not show that.

The Chairman. The evidence showed that it came awfully close

to officials of the Argentine Government.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think there was anj'^ closeness indi-

cated.

The Chairman. Did it not reach the family, at least?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That might have been. I do not know.
The Chairman. Reach the family of an official of the Govern-

ment?
Now, Senator Barbour, I am finished. Do you want to start now

or take a recess at this time and get a fresh start?
Senator Barbour. That is entirely up to you, Mr. Chairman. We

have been recessing, as a rule, around noon. I could not start very
well.

The Chairman. I would not want you to start and then have to
stop at an inappropriate place.

Senator Barbour. I suggest that we recess until 2 o'clock.

The Chairman. The committee, then, will stand in recess until
2 o'clock.

(Thereupon, at 12: 15 p.m., a recess was taken until 2 p.m. of the
same day.) \

Afternoon Session

methods of doing business MEXICO

(The hearing was resumed at 2 p.m.)
The Chairman. The committee will be in order.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, before you start on a new

line of inquiry, may I say something about this morning's testimony?
I read into the record a resolution of our executive committee of

November 15, 1922. I thought at the time it was being entered as
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an exhibit. I believe that was not so, and I would like to ask that

it be entered as an exhibit. This is a copy of it [handing document
to the chairman].
The Chairman. You read it in its entirety, did you not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir. May I have it entered as an

exhibit also?

The Chairman. What is the purpose ? The reason I ask, Mr. du
Pont, is that it would only be repetition. You read it in its entirety.

Did you want it given a designation ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. As an exhibit?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
The Chairman. Then the reporter can give it a number and let

it be noted in connection with the testimony this morning that it is

offered as " Exhibit No. 959."

(The resolution referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 959 ", and
appears in full in the text on p. 2485.)

The Chairman. Senator Barbour.
Senator Barbour. Mr. Monaghan, I will not attempt to make any

preliminary observations in relation to these exhibits which I have
been asked to study, because of what you have said at the beginning
of your remarks this morning. It covers the same story.

What I have in mind for the committee this afternoon refers back
to other companies here in the United States and other countries.

To make beginning at once, I have here a letter dated September 1,

1930, from Heedles & Breidsprecher, Remington agents in Mexico.
They speak of a large amount of contrabrand ammunition. I will

just read this one paragraph:

With reference to tlie metallic business we found a vex'y peculiar situation
in Guadalajara. The writer saw more contrabands in this section of the coun-
try than anywhere else, there is a fellow mth name of Godinez installed right
in the market place, he has no permit to seU nor has he permit to import and
yet he must have at least 100,000 metallics in stock. Most of it is Western
ammunition which he gets from Nogales as contrabands and the balance is from
Arms & Metal who sell this man metallics

" Metallics " are cartridges, by the way, are they not?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes.
Senator Barbour (continuing reading) : ,

at less than the cost laid down Guadalajara woiild be by regular importation.
Arms & Metal is doing this to compete mth prices quoted to this man by
Quintana and it will not take long until Quintana will make use of this con-
fidential discount and will try to underbid Arms & Metal, etc, Roberto A.
Gonzales of this city offered cal 25 auto, at Mex. .$70. a hundred to this man,
and laid down costs of this cartridge is $92.30 Mex. a hundred and you realize

that this also must be contrabands metallica.

I want to explain, Mr. Chairman, that this gentleman who writes

this letter is a Latin American, and his English or the translation

of it does not lend itself to very ready reading.

Mr. Monaghan, is this the general situation in the country? I

refer now to the existance of contrabands. Is that a unique case, or

is that a quite usual thing?
Mr. Monaghan. I do not know what the general situation is; I

imagine the way this man has described it.
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Senator Barbour. You iinclerstand that I am very anxious to be
frank with you and have you and the other witnesses frank with
me. My position is this whole thing is to try to get as much informa-
tion as I can.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. I am not subjecting you or others to implica-

tions that you are not entitled to. The more help you can give us,

I think the better and quicker we will go. I mean, if it is a fact

that you know there is a great deal of contraband in existence ordina-

rily, I think that is very helpful, and it does not bring any criticism

on you at all, as I can see it.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. All I can answer for. Senator, is what these

people write. I have never been in Mexico myself to know what the
real true situation is there, and I do not recall finding this letter in

our file as having been pulled. It may have been, but I do not
remember reading it over before.

Senator Barbour. I guess there is no doubt of its being a proper
document in that respect?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. I believe so; yes.

Senator Barbour. Because that is the only way we could get it.

Now, Mr. Beebe, this letter mentions Western ammunition as being
handled in this bootleg fashion. The Western Cartridge Co. now
owns Winchester, as I understand it.

Mr. Beebe. That is right, sir.

Senator Barbour. I wonder if you have any knowledge of this

question? In other words, I asked the same question of you that I
just asked Mr. Monaghan.
Mr. Beebe. Let us see, this was in 1930, was it not ?

Senator Barbour. That is right, September 1, 1930.

Mr. Beebe. The Western Cartridge Co. bought the assets of the
Winchester Repeating Arms Co., I think, about December 1931.

So that this is a situation about Western which I would be unable to
answer. I should presume that any contraband that reached there
might be materials bought from anybody in the United vStates and
smuggled over, if there was such a case.

Senator Barbour. To go on, in order to secure import permits for
ammunition in Mexico, we understand that application must be made
to the war department there, to the general in charge. Is that so?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. It says in this same letter, on page 4, last para-
graph, as follows

:

The general in charge of the war department, artillery depai'tment, has,
however, not signed for the past 3 weelcs, and this in spite of the fact tiiat we
have contributed with $200 oro nacional to make the general's life more pleasant
and reform the new law on ammunition and arms, so with all contrabands, price
underbidding of Arms & Metal and Quintana, permit affairs, etc., you will
appreciate wliat joy it is to work for Remington Arms Co., Inc.

(The letter refered to was marked " Exhibit No. 960 ", and is in-

cluded in the appendix on page 2603.)
Mr. Monaghan. Senator, on those things, I really believe that you

know the situation of an agent working on commission, the letters
they will write you telling you the hardships they undergo in getting
business for you, the competition they meet, and how much money
they have to spend.
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The Chairman. Would they be alibiing to that extent as much
if they Avere on commission as they would be if they were on a regu-
lar salary?

Mr. MoxAGHAN. It is hard to say just wliicli way it would be.

In either case they would be telling their home office of the amount
of work that they were doing and the difficulty of getting the business

for you.

Senator Barbour. Those methods are necessary?
Mr. Monaghan. They are human nature, that is all.

Senator Barbour. I mean, you do not sell unless those methods
are followed?
Mr. Monaghan. I did not mean that ; I mean in writing this type

of letter.

Senator Barbour. Oh, yes.

Now, Mr. Monaghan, right there in the last paragraph of this

letter, your agent asks for credit or cash for reimbursement of this

payment to these Mexican generals, as I understand it, because he
says:

I forgot to mentiou that $200 which we kept at the office ready for War De-
partment expenses were stolen tlie other day, so you better make the check

or U.S.G. $240.

Apparently he had this $240 handy here for the Mexican War De-
partment, and it disappeared, so he asks you for twice that amount.
What about that? Can you throw any light on it?

Mr. Monaghan. I would like to say two things: First, now that

I have gotten down to this part of the letter, I do remember seeing

a copy of this, and know that we had a copy that was taken from our
files. This point brings it to mind, because we got a laugh out of

reading it again.

I have looked into it, and there was not a cent paid to Heedles &
Breidsprecher on the strength of this letter. I think the letter itself

indicates the spirit in which it was written.

Senator Barbour. He certainly was in an optimistic spirit.

Mr. Monaghan, Well, he did not get it.

Senator Barbour. No such payment was made?
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; not a cent.

Senator Barbour. By yourselves, in answer to this call?

Mr. Monaghan. Not a cent.

Senator Barbour. You are quite sure of it?

Mr. Monaghan. Absolutely.

The Chairman. Mr. Davis, I believe you were sworn the other

day.
Mr. Davis. Yes.
The Chairman. There are two other gentlemen whom I think

have not been sworn, who may be participating in the examination,
that will be sworn at this time.

TESTIMONY OF C. K. DAVIS, H. F. BEEBE (RECALLED), W. U.

REISINGER, AND E. E. HANDY

(Mr. Reisinger and Mr. Handy were duly sworn by the chairman.)
The Chairman. For the information of the committee, will you

please give your name?
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Mr. Reisinger. W. U. Reisinoer.
The Chairman. And your connection?
Mr. Reisingeb. Secretary and treasurer, Remington Arms Co.
The Chairman. And yours?
Mr. Handy. E. E. Handy, vice president, Remington Arms Co.
Senator Barbour. On March 11, 1931, these same agents, the Mex-

ican agents in Mexico, informed the company that the person in the
War Department was apparently demanding more money.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 961" and is in-
cluded in the appendix on p. 2605.)
Senator Barbour. I will read, if I may, the latter part of the third

paragraph

:

We had a friend over there at the department that represented quite an
investment for us

—

I do not know whether that is a significant statement or not.

and he was supposed to stay on and the trouble maker go out at the end of last
month, and the result was that the trouble maker held on and he went out.
He was asking for 10 Mexican Cy.. per cartritlge and you can appreciate what

that means, for revolvers he asked for ,$2 each. I have been taking him out
and endeavoring to demonstrate w^here he was wrong and why and although
it has taken a while I may be able to get somewhere -aitli him' this week.

Is this a very general practice ? That is a very definite indication
to me of a fixed price that had to be contributed with relation not
only to shells, but also to revolvers, and that the man had to be
bribed, to put it bluntly, or you not sell your ffoods. Is that a fair
statement? I do not want to say anything that is not fair.
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; I do not think so.

Senator Barbour. Can you throw some other light on it that will
make a distinction there that Avill be a difference ?

Mr. Monaghan. This letter goes back to March 11, 1931. We have
a rather loose, perhaps, contract or agreement with Heedles & Breid-
sprechor, entered into about 1927 or 1928, where they are to get 71/2
percent commission or 10 percent commission, rather leaving it to
our judgment or decision as to which they are to get. Many times
when I receive letters like this, or read them, I say, " Oh, oh, one of
those things again; that goes up to 10 percent, and here goes the
argument for the 10 percent."

Senator Barbour. I see.

Mr. Beebe, there is no further light that you could throw on the
situation in a general way?
Mr. Beebe. None whatever.
Senator Barbour. By the way, where I read only part of an ex-

hibit and the witness has the whole exhibit before him, if he feels
that something in addition should be read, it is only fair for him to
make the request. We have so many letters here and they are so
long that I have marked only certain passages myself. But that
does not mean that other things can not be read if it is felt fair to
read other things.
Mr. Monaghan. Senator, there is one other thought perhaps you

would like to have expressed here. That is. that all this business
that is spoken of in this letter and the former one. is commercial
ammunition, not military ammunition. We have not sold any mili-
tary ammunition in our company to Mexico or anywhere near Mexico
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where we knew it was destined to Mexico by the facts that developed,

since 1929. In 1929, you recall, there was some trouble in Mexico
at the beginning of the year. At that time we had a few sales, one
in particular I have in mind, to the Governor of the State of Lower
California. That and every other instance at that time was called

to the attention of the United States Department of Stae. They
were advised of the details of it, of items, and the quantities, because
they were military items. We knew they were intended for military

use. The item and the quantity of the item very clearlv indicated

that.

As I say, since that time we have not had any military sales to

Mexico or near Mexico that I know of.

Mr. Davis. Senator, in this connection it might be of interest to you
know that more than 96 percent of our sales this year have been in

sporting arms and ammunition, and for the past 10 years we have
averaged only li^ percent sales to foreign and United States Govern-
ments. Of the lyo percent two-thirds, or 1 percent, was to the United
States Government. Sales amounted to one-half of 1 percent to

foreign governments.
Senator Barbour. When you speak of sporting arms and ammu-

nition, do you refer to shot guns?
Mr. Davis. Shot guns and rifles for hunting, .22 rifles and ammu-

nition therefor. I might say that we have a full line of our guns
down here, that we would like to show you any time you wish.

Senator Barbour. We will speak about that afterwards.
Senator Pope. What calibres do you regard as war guns? You

sa}'^ a .22 rifle would be regarded as a sporting arm. Would a .32

be regarded as sjDorting arms? What is your distinction there be-

tween war material and sporting arms?
Mr. Davis. The shot guns, of course, are 20 gauge, 16, and 12.

Senator Pope. Yes.
Mr. Davis. Then we have a .22 rifle. The range of a .22 rifle,

Senator, is about 250 to 300 yards. That is the effective range. The
effective range of a shot gun is about 100 yards, whereas military
rifles are about 1,200 yards. I think that Mr. Hadley would give
you a definition of the difference between sporting arms and military
arms if you would like to have it.

Senator Barbour. I have that fairly clearly in mind, Mr. Davis,
so far as I am concerned, although I do think that in Central Amer-
ica and South America, and at times in Mexico, there have been all

kinds of arms used other than for just sporting purposes. I do not
say that to refute what you say, but I do think that.

Mr. Davis. I have no direct knowledge of that.

The Chairman. You mean that in some cases shot guns would
be used?

Senator Barbour. Or any type of repeating rifle might be used.
By the way, that is a very good statement you have made. I am

glad you have made it. Would that also apply to the metallics?
Do your shells fall in the same category as your small arms?
Mr. Davis. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. So far as sporting and military uses are con-
cerned ?

Mr. Davis. Yes, sir.
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Senator Barboltr. The next exhibit is a letter dated March 21,
1931, wherein the Remington agents in Mexico stated that the War
Department official made a slip in that he issued a permit for Win-
chester. I will read just a small part of that.

Gonzalez also secured a permit for 1(J0,<.X)0 but tins was a slip up on our
friend in the department, we both had an application in, that is Winchester
as well as ourselves, and he permitted both to be issued at the same time but
I think Gonzalez also will delay liis order.

'

At that time, Gonzalez. I understand, Mr. Beebe. was vour ao-ent
was he not ?

' - ^ ^ j

Mr. Beebe. No. He was a dealer.
Senator Barbour. A dealer, a customer of yours ?

Mr. Beebe. A customer
;
yes.

Senator Barbour. The last paragraph in the same letter is
interesting

:

We are cont^ulted for most of the " acuordos ", that is, to whom permits can
be granted, delayed, canceled, refused, etc., and we hope it lasts for a while
longer, because in about 6 months' time nothing but Kleenbore would be
allowed.

Mr. Monaghan. Senator, is not that the best example of what I
said l3efore about these letters? Mr. Beebe could tell you that we
certainly never did get all the business down there.

Senator BARBOuit. Of course, the implication is, or could be—yet
I do not believe in just implications—that by these commissions' if
you want to stick to the word, you carj get the business, and without
them 3'ou cannot.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit Xo. 962 " and is
included in the appendix on page 2606.)

'

Senator Barbour. The next exhibit is a letter of March 16 also
from the Remington agency in Mexico. I will read some of' this
It IS the last part of the first paragraph :

The reason for this is that this company is getting a large quantity ofmetallics over the border without paying duty, Mr. Silva has a combinationwith a number of customhouse officials? Jn Ciudad Juarez
However in order to import large quantities of metallics which is theintention ot Mr. Silva, he is going to send to our office several applications forpermits which will cover a greater quantity of metallics than specified later onthe permits, the permits simply cover up the whole affair and if he gets irtrouble he can make reference to these permits. As soon as I get to MexicoCity I shall see that the War Department will grant those permit! and as s^ onas we have secured same you can expect quite larger orders from this clientlou are undoubtedly aware of the fact that all of the arms and amniunitionwhich you ship to this client is for sale into Mexico, he does not do any

ciuTcfjutrb^iiilSi.^'^'^
'''''• '' '''' ^^- ""^^''^^ '^'^ ^-^-- thiLlr./iS

?i^®
Chairman. Hoav long have you employed this firm '?

Mr. Monaghan. I think since 1927 or 1928.
The Chairman. Are you still employing them?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. In other words, the shipment to the border
really ceases as far as the responsibility of the shipper is concerned,and after that it is no concern of the shipper or manufacturer what
becomes of the cartridges?
Mr. Monaghan In some respects if we followed the shipmentsthrough to completion we might be getting in trouble with the

J^ederal Trade Commission.
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Senator Barbour. I am just trying to show—I am not trying to

name anybody—by this very method that you follow or have to fol-

low, a great deal of your product could become contraband through

no fault of your own. That is true, is it not?

Mr. Handy. Yes, sir.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. May I ask if you will read the last paragraph

on the first page?
Senator Barbour. Yes. [Reading:]

I believe we never received any conmiission on the sales which yon make to

this company althoug:h all of these sales cover goods for sale into IVIexico

and for that reason yon sell this acconnt at export prices and ship from yonr

export department and not domestic department and I would appreciate if

you would kindly look up this matter and see that the commission which will

be due to us will be taken care of.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Following receipt of that letter we gave Heedles

& Breidsprecher a commission on the sales to the Mexican Hard-

ware Co. AYe never have yet heard any more about how the Mex-

ican Hardware is conducting their business. It indicated clearly

why he stopped to see Mr. Silva and why we had this report.

(The letter referred to was marked '' Exhibit No. 963 ", and is

included in the appendix on page 2607.)

Senator Barbour. It appears from a letter written to Remington

dated November 13, 1929. by Fernandez, that bribery of a little

higher order is customary in Guatemala.
(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 964", and is

included in the appendix on page 2607.)

The Chairman. I should like to ask before you leave t^he case of

this Mexican firm, you have said that this same firm is still in your

employ ?

Mr.'MoNAGiiAN. Heedles & Breidsprecher?

The Chairman. Yes.
Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes, sir.

The Chairman. Are you encountering continued experiences in

what you call " padding " their expense accounts ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. They have no expense account of any kind with

us. We ]3ay them a commission on the business. We have never

paid Heedles & Breidsprecher a cent in any way to tie in with the

statements that shoAv in some of these letters of the amount that

they paid out to a general or the amount that was stolen from their

safe, or anything like that.

The Chairman. Why do they Avrite these letters to you if they

laiow th("re isn't any chance of recovery?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Perhaps they just keep on trying. They don't

get anything; that is sure.

Mr. 'D.\^^s. Senator. I would like to say that it is not the policy

of the Remington Arms Co. to obtain business by bribery or graft.

If we cannot obtain it any other way, we don't want it.

The CHAiR:srAN. And yet here are the letters coming to you report-

ing to you wliat your agents, your folks, down there are doing, and
yet you keep them as your agents.

Mr. Davis. I know* nothing about this. This happened before I

was connected with them.
Mr. MoNAGHAN. You see, that was prior to du Point acquiring

control of the Remington Arms Co., Senator.
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Senator CiiARK. The same fellow is still representing you down
there, isn't he?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes, he is, and I might tell you, too, that the

activities of the agent down there are in shotgun cartridges or .22

caliber cartridges, such as Mr. Davis described to you. They are

entirely sporting items. They could not be used for any other pur-

pose by the greatest stretch of the imagination. But they come un-

der the War Department regulations and you have to get permits.

I do not know it in detail, but I have had it reported to me that

the rules and regulations that surround the importation and sale

of those sporting items are similar to military supplies, and nat-

urally Heedles & Breidsprecher are working with them in an at-

tempt to differentiate between sporting items and any military items.

Senator Clark. The only reason they included sporting ammuni-
tion in the classification of the War Department is to simply throw
the burden on the shipper to show it is not military ammunition?

Mr. Monaghan. Yes; that is true, and yet in Mexico and in

other countries they place those restrictions on us. They do not
differentiate at any time. They keep those regulations on the .22's

and on shotgun cartridges. You would be astonished to see some
of the red tape we have to go through in making a shipment of
sporting ammunition to any of the Latin American countries.

The Chairman. Do you think this representation that was made
of someone having stolen the money that was on hand to do some-
thing with, that there was any occasion for such a report? Do you
think it was stolen ?

Mr. Monaghan. I don't know.
The Chairman. I very clearly gathered, and I think the other

members of the committee have, that you do not have a large trust
in this firm.

Mr. Monaghan. They are good agents.

The Chairman. They are good agents, but you get a letter from
them and you say, " Aha, another one of that kind of letters."

Mr. Monaghan. Perhaps they are business men. They are not
working on a salary. They are working on commission.
The Chairman. You distrust their representations?
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir.

The Chairman. You distrust them?
Mr. Monaghan. No.
Senator Barbour. You didn't send them their $480 in that case?
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir.

Senator Barbour. So either you cheated them or you did not feel

they were entitled to it.

Mr. Monaghan. I don't say we cheated them.
Senator Barbour. I say, you did either one or the other. If you

trusted them you would send them the $480.
Mr. Monaghan. I didn't feel they were entitled to it.

Senator Barbour. They should not have asked for it.

Mr. Monaghan. No.
The Chairman. You have large faith in this firm ?

Mr. Monaghan. Yes.
The Chairman. Large trust in them?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes.

83876—35

—
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The,Chairman. Irrespective of the representations made in their

letters ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Surely ; as I say, they are business men, working
on commissions, and the more business they do the bigger their

return.

The Chairman. And however they may do the business, you get
it?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. I do not reach that same conclusion; I don't

believe, the way you do, Senator.

METHODS or DOING BUSINESS GUATEMALA

Senator Barbour. I may revert again, if I may, to the letter I
mentioned " Exhibit No. 964 ", dated November 13, by Fernandez,
which I think will speak for itself.

Senator Barbour. It refers to an order, and then he goes on to say

:

This subsecretary held the signing of same and finally did not sign. He is

a very close friend of Salvador Koenigsberger, agent for Western and showed
Salvador Koenigsberger the contract for the paltry sum of $100 and at the
same time made a lot of noise, recommending that the order vs^as not legal

because it was not submitted to public bidding, and at the same time attached
to Van de Putte's contract, an offer from Western's agent, for the same quan-
tities but for the amount of $15,066, Van de Putte's contract being for $18,000,

The difference between your quotation and the amount appearing on the
contract was to be divided among the Minister of War, etc., and Juan Van de
Putte & Co. had already advanced to Gen. Juan Padilla the sum of $1,000

on account of this order and another $4,000 for another contract effected for

some leather kids and belts, for the national army. When this happened the
Minister of War sent for all the papers and documents, and was going to put
it through because they expected a clean-up in all departments, and naturally
the order remained in status quo, although we retained the right-of-way, the
Minister of War being morally obligated.

Is that the way in which a little grease, as referred to in this

letter, is handled, and business conducted in that way in that

country ?

I can read something else, on the second page of the same letter

[reading] :

He has been fighting like hell. He is a very close friend of General Padilla,

the Minister of War, and this Minister of War is indebted to Winchester,
because they give him a commission for ordering in all the permits Winchester
ammunition.

I suppose that means he has a commission for arranging the per-

mits for Winchester, as another way of putting it. As I say, the

wording is very difficult to read, with the continuity.

You will recall that when Freddy

—

Who is Freddy ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Koenigsberger.
Senator Barbour (continuing reading) :

You will recall that when Freddy arrived in New York he Imd quite a nice

order for loaded shells and some cartridges. Both these orders were for
Winchester, but Freddy gave you the order for the cartridges and he bought
the loaded shells from Winchester, and when he arrived here the genei*al gave
him hell for doing so, and he finally admitted to Freddy tliat he was " morally "

interested in Winchester. The percentage of commission whicli they gave the
INIinister of War I have been unable to find out, but I believe that I will secure
this information before I leave.
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Did you get that information from him in due course ? Did he find

that out, do you know ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. I was reading ahead, taking the letter as a whole.

Senator. I did not

Senator Barbour. Well, after all, what we are really interested in

is to what extent General Padilla is morally interested, and why.
Mr. Beebe, can you give us any light on that, because it refers spe-

cifically to Winchester in that case.

Mr. Beebe. General Padilla was a friend of Elmslie Jonas, our
salesman, as I understand it.

The Chairman. Is that the Jonas who appeared before the com-
mittee in September?
Mr, Beebe, No.
Senator Barbour. Is it his brother?

Mr. Beebe. It is E. E. Jonas.
Senator Barbour. Is it his brother?

Mr. Beebe. It is his brother; yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is the Jonas who appeared before us a Rem-
ington salesman?
Mr. Beebe. That is correct.

Mr. Raushenbush. This Jonas is a Winchester salesman?
Mr. Beebe. Yes.
Senator Barbour. Well, you cannot throw any light on that, Mr„

Beebe?
Mr. Beebe. No.
Senator Barbour. It speaks very specifically of actual money that

went to Government officials and speaks of you in connection with it

;

that is, your company.
Mr. Beebe. Yes. I think on that the best thing would be for yoii

to ask Mr. Elmslie Jonas, who is here, to explain this. He was a

friend of General Padilla before he ever came here, and it had to do
with a purely commercial transaction, as I understand it.

The Chairman. Mr. Jonas, come forward and be sworn.

TESTIMONY OF EIMSLIE E. JONAS

(The witness was duly sworn by the chairman.)
The Chairman. Come forward a little further, Mr. Jonas.
Senator Barbour. Mr. Jonas, will you run your eyes through that

letter?

The Chairman. Just a minute. Mr. Jonas, give the committee
your full name.

Mr. Jonas. Elmslie E. Jonas.
The Chairman. Where is j'^our home, Mr. Jonas?
Mr. Jonas. New York.
The Chairman. You are a representative of what firm?
Mr. Jonas. The Winchester Repeating Arms Co. and the Western

Cartridge Co. at present.

The Chairman. How long have you been such ?

Mr. Jonas. Since 1920.

What was the question. Senator ?

The Chairman. He wants an explanation of that second and
third paragraph, as to just what the meaning of it is and what the
relationship involved there was.
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Senator Barbour. To the end that we may find out, if we can, Mr.
Jonas, the moral obligation that General Padilla feels toward Win-
chester and how he got that state of mind.
Mr. Jonas. I was a friend of General Padilla before he was the

Minister of War, and when he became Minister of War he might
have favored me by making it easy to get permits for the importa-
tion of commercial ammunition. This particular case was a case
where he wrote to me that the firm of Koenigsberger wanted to buy
shotgun shells, and due to his so-called " friendship " he issued the
permit in favor of Winchester.

Senator Barbour Then in your case you get these permits simply
on the basis of friendship.

Mr. Jonas. Well he wrote to me at the time and suggested that I
make him a present. I didn't do it then.

Senator Clark. You didn't do it then ?

Mr. Jonas. No; but on one trip to Guatemala I did make him a

present.

Senator Clark. How long was that after he suggested it ?

Mr. Jonas. Oh, probably 6 months.
Senator Clark. What did you give him ?

Mr. Jonas. I gave him on one order $250.

Senator Barbour. On one order ?

Mr. Jonas. Yes.

Senator Clark. He was a petty-larceny grafter, wasn't he?
Mr. Jonas. Yes.

The Chairman. You say one order?
Mr. Jonas. Yes.

The Chairman. Then you gave him on other orders?

Mr. Jonas. I do not recall the amounts
The Chairman. Or presents on other orders ?

Mr. Jonas. But on practically all import permits on commercial
ammunition, for importations to private firms, not military.

The Chairman. How did you strike up a personal acquaintance

with him?
Mr. Jonas. For one thing, he was quite a hunter. I have been out

on hunts with him. Formerly he was in charge of railroads. He
was the Government supervisor of railroads and I knew him at that

time.

Senator Clark. Was it before or after you gave him the $250 that

he wrote this letter as to being under moral obligations to the Win-
chester Co. '2

Mr. Jonas. I think it was before. I would not be positive of that.

Senator Clark. You mean he wrote the letter before you gave him
the $250?
Mr. Jonas. Yes ; I believe it was.

Senator Clark. What was the moral obligation he was under to

Winchester ?

Mr. Jonas. I think the word was not intended. I don't under-
stand what he means by it.

Senator Clark. I don't either.

Senator Barbour. There is a great deal of the same sort of thing

here, Mr. Chairman. I think we can go on. These instances of

themselves, I am frank to admit, are not great, as I view it in one
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sense, but taking it altogether they show a situation which I think

warrants the time of our completing the picture.

The Chairman. Yes.

Mr. Jonas. I think, Senator, that is about the only instance in my
experience where that actually has happened. It is one of the very,

very few times. It is the only case that happened at that particular

time with that particular party. I do not think it is general at all

in our dealings with our agents or our customers.

Mr. Beebe. May I make a further statement in regard to this?

I would like to call attention to two things : First, that was made
during the time of the existence of the old company, not the present

company.
Senator Barbour. Yes.
Mr. Beebe. Furthermore, to clear up positively that that was to

secure or in return for favoring Winchester in the way of a permit,

but not on any Government business ; it was purely commercial busi-

ness; shot, shells, and so forth.

Senator Clark. It was a payment to a public official for perform-
ing a public duty, was it not?
Mr. Beebe. No. It was for switching the business from another

concern to Winchester.
Senator Clark. It was part of his business to issue the permits,

was it not ?

Mr. Beebe. Yes; to issue permits.

Senator Clark. And he did receive a present or a bribe, as you
please to call it, for performing a public duty.

Senator Barbour. This was the Minister of War that was involved

in this. It was not commercial.
Mr. Beebe. No. I would like to amplify that, if you please, once

more, to clear up this point that Senator Clark brings up. This is an
order for commercial goods. It is a fact that the Minister of War
had to issue a permit for the importation of commercial ammunition.
What the Minister of War told Mr. Jonas was that what he did was to

induce this man to change his order to Winchester and then he would
issue the permit, and after he had done that wrote and told him what
a good job he had done for him, and suggested it was worthj^ of some
recognition. It was not done beforehand for switching the order,
but for his good idea in changing the order to Winchester.

Senator Clark. In other words, Mr. Jonas became an accessory
after the fact instead of an accessory before the fact.

Mr. Beebe. If you look at it that way, although he had no prom-
ise, Senator, that he would get anything.
The Chairman. What did you consider this present that you made,

Mr. Jonas?
Mr. Jonas. As a percentage.
The Chairman. As a bribe at the time ?

Mr. Jonas. No; I thought we would sell the ammunition at the
regular export prices. He asked for it, and if I did not give him a
present I did not expect that we would get permits in the future.

The Chairman. Did they expect presents pretty generally?
Mr. Jonas. This particular party did; not as a general thing

around the countries; no.

The Chairman. What record was made of the present you made
to him ?
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Mr. Jonas. I suppose I charged it up, just as it was, in my ex-

penses as payment. I do not know just what happened. I did not

pay it out of my own pocket.

Senator Clark. Did you pay it in cash?
Mr. Jonas. Paid it in cash

;
yes.

Senator Clark. Did you notify the company that you had made
this payment?
Mr. Jonas. I assume I did. I do not recall.

Mr. Beebe. I think it was in his expenses.

The Chairman. Mr, Beebe, you recall that it was reported?
Mr. Beebe. It was reported; yes.

Senator Clark. Do you recall what the company said, Mr. Jonas ?

Mr. Jonas. What is that?
Senator Clark. Do you remember what the company said when

you reported to them that you had given this man a bribe of $250 ?

Mr. Jonas. I would not call it a bribe. It was not a bribe at all.

It was a present I gave him.
Senator Clark. Given to a public official for performing a public

act.

Mr. Jonas. It happened to be he was a Government official. It had
nothing to do with the Government's business, however.

Senator Clark. It just happened to be he had the power to issue

these permits and he would not issue them unless you got the busi-

ness, and shortly after he made this transaction you gave him $250.

What happened when you reported to the company that you gave
him $250?
Mr. Jonas. I do not recall what happened.
Senator Clark. They didn't write to you and fire you for doing

what they did not approve of?

Mr. Jonas. I do not recall that at all.

Senator Pope. Did you say that you gave other parties money ?

Mr. Jonas. Probably small amounts.
Senator Pope. At this time?
Mr. Jonas. For other orders.

Senator Pope. For other orders?

Mr. Jonas. Yes.
Senator Pope. Did you report that to the company at the time ?

Mr. Jonas. I presume I did.

Senator Clark. Are you still working for the company ?

Mr. Jonas. Yes, sir.

The Chairman. Mr. Jonas, I think you said this was the only case

of the kind during your experience.

Mr. Jonas. Paying for permits
;
yes, I think so.

The Chairman. Are you ready to swear that it was the only case ?

Mr. Jonas. If I remember rightly; yes. If anything else is called

to my attention, I will tell you.

Mr. Raushenbush. Your question was very specific on permits,

Mr. Chairman. The answer was on permits.

The Chairman. Yes, on permits. Now, as respects the present

Government, is that the only official you ever made a present to ?

Mr. Jonas. I think, yes.

The Chairman. You think yes? Don't you know? Can't you
remember the presents given to public officials?
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Mr. Jonas. I might have given them a rifle or some very trivial

thing possibly, but "that doesn't amount to anything; nothing of any
value to speak of, a very picayune item, if it were.

The Chairman. This was the only monetary consideration?

Mr. Jonas. Yes, I am sure it was.

Senator Barbour. Keferring to Mr. Jonas, we have a letter of

his—no, that is the brother.

Senator Clark. Mr. Jonas, coming back to this $250, as a matter

of fact, you gave him the $250 for issuing the permits, didn't you ?

Mr. Jonas. So he would issue permits, yes.

Senator Clark. You said you were afraid he would not issue any
more permits if you did not give him a present for issuing the first

batch.

Mr. Jonas. That is right.

METHODS OF DOING BUSINESS NICARAGUA

Senator Barbour. I have a letter here from Frank Jonas, written

from Nicaragua, and dated June 27.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 965 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2609.)

Senator Barbour. Is that Frank S. Jonas your brother ?

Mr. Jonas. He is; yes.

Senator Barbour. He is an employee of Remington?
Mr. Jonas. I believe so.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Senator, before you pass up that other letter, it

is in the record—there is an opinion there quoted about a $3,000
advance necessary.

Senator Barbour. What letter is that?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. The one you just read, at the bottom of the

second page, about Van Putte.
Senator Barbour. Yes.
Mr. MoNAGHAN. It says [reading] :

To proceed with shipment order need $3,000 advance adding same to value
of order, etc.

We never advanced that money.
Senator Barbour. You never did?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. We never paid that money.
Senator Barbour. Let me make another start at this " Exhibit No.

965." This is June 27 [reading] :

General Somoza had dinner with me last night, and he told me that he in-

tended to equip the army with .45-caliber Colt automatic pistols as standard
equipment. Gurueeta, of course, when he is here is pushing the Star pistol,

so I suggest that you communicate with Mr. Nicols to write direct to General
Somoza oifering to sell him direct. I would .suggest that in his quotation he
should include a 10-percent commission for General Somoza.

Now, is this customary?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. No, sir; this is very unusual.
Senator Barbour. Just a coincidence?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. Absolutely not. There are two distinctions that

J make of business in Nicaragua. One is the sales for the use of the

army. The other is for sales to what they call the Guardia Nacional.
The Guardia Nacional imports all of the commercial aimnunition
and then sells it to the dealers there. It has nothing to do with
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military items. This letter very plainly shows that the understand-
ing with General Somoza is that the commission shall apply on
orders for the Guardia Nacional, not on purchases of the Govern-
ment for their own use.

Senator Bakbour. But it does show that the general should get
the 10-percent commission.
Mr. MoNAGHAN. The second paragraph of that letter says [read-

ing] :

General Somoza has acceptetl this commission with the full knowledge of the
President and it is not considered as graft but is considered as an extra pay-
ment for the work he is doing here.

The Chairman. I suppose that as long as the President knows
about it, it is not graft.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Have I made it clear, Senator?
Senator Barbour. Yes.
Mr. MoNAGHAN. That these cartridges for the Guardia Nacional

are commercial items, shotgun cartridges, .22's, revolver and pistol

ammunition.
The Chairman. Yes, I think you have.
Senator Barbour. This national force you refer to, are those the

ones the United States Marines trained ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. While it has nothing to do with it directly, is

this General Somoza the one who is believed or supposed to have
executed Sandino?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. I don't know.
Senator Clark. What was the official function of the General, the

one that got the 10 percent? Does that appear?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. He was in charge of the Guardia Nacional.
Senator Barbour. That would be like our militia, I suppose.
Mr. MoNAGHAN. Partially, I suppose.

METHODS OF DOING BUSINESS—BAHAMA ISLANDS

Senator Barbour. In San Salvador the situation seems to be get-

ting a little more acute, and I would like to read from page 2 of this

letter of March 5 from Fernandez to the Remington Arms Co., a
little way down from the beginning.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 966 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2610.)

Senator Barbour (reading) :

The Treasurer, air. Joaquin Rodezno, is a " son of a so-and-so ", to put it

mildly. I have been trying not to have another clash with him. He is a
very good friend of Saul Garcia, Winchester representative, and he has been
" greased " by Garcia, with the result that he is as mad as a " puppy " because
I secured the business and he is trying to place everything in my path just
to bother.

Garcia is the Winchester representative and Garcia has greased
this gentleman, the Treasurer; is that so? Do the Winchester people
know anything about that?

Mr. Beebe. No knowledge at all. He is our agent on a commission
basis.

Senator Barbour. The commi.ssion, of course, is the source from
which the grease flows, is it not?
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Mr. Beebe. If any flowed, it probably did come from there. I

don't know where else it would come from.

Senator Pope. Did he put it in his expense account?

Mr. Beebe. He has no expense account. They are our local agents,

working on a commission.
Senator Clark. How much commission did you pay him?
Mr. Beebe. It depends on the price we got for the order or the

price at which he has been able to get the order. It has varied from
5 to 15 percent. If we got a line of goods on which the profits were
reasonable and he got the right price, we have at times given him 15

percent. At other times it has been as low as 5 percent.

The Chairman. Doesn't it amount to this, Mr. Beebe; that you
engage your representatives on a commission basis down there and
you tell them what you have got to have for your product, and any-

thing they sell it for above that is theirs ?

Mr. Beebe. To an extent, except we always have to have in mind
the competition of other people, and that more or less in most cases

prevents any abnormal price being received for the goods.

Senator Barbour. Here is just a short bit in the third paragraph
[reading] :

This is one party I do not have to " grease ", but there are plenty in some
other directions. For instance, Colonel Bara, Chief of the War Supply Depart-
ment, wants 2 percent ; there is the buyer of the Republic Provendor General, he
wants something, too ; and there is Mr. Armando Frenkel, who is working with
me on this business, and there is me, too.

That is interesting, because the term " grease " and the reference

to a commission figure are analogous.
Mr. MoNAGHAN. The next sentence there. Senator, I don't know

whether you are going to read it, but
Senator Barbour (reading) :

That is why the 7^2 percent is not an enormous percentage, as you seem to

think it is.

The 71/2 percent is to be used as grease ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. You keep pinning them down, pinning them
down, trying to reduce the rate of commission they are to get, and
they are fighting trying to build up the rate of commission, and the
higher the rate of commission is, the worse you are going to be in

competition with European concerns. Now, this is—well, this does
refer to the 7-millimeter cartridge.

Senator Barbour. Then a little further down—I want you to pick
out what I don't read. We will never get through if we read all of
this. [Reading]

:

He is a Mason and General Martinez is a Mason too, and it seems that Gen-
eral Martinez when he was appointed last year Minister of War induced Mr.
Frenkel to get some connection in the arms and ammunition line.

There he says the Minister of War induced Mr. Frenkel to get some
connection in the arms and ammunition line.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. And I would like to say right there that Mr.
Fernandez I do not believe is a Mason, so his references there do not
have any bearing at all.

Senator Barbour. Now, I offer next a letter from San Salvador
to the Winchester Co., dated November 5, 1932. It is signed, I be-

lieve, by " Garcia ", but I don't know.
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(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 967 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. —.)

Senator Barbour. The part I have in mind to read is this

:

As you will note, that order was reduced to 200,000 and placed at the price

of $14.70 c. i. f. This is the same price that was quoted by the three competi-

tors, from that country, and I was able to secure the order for you through
the very efficient cooperation of Col. Ernesto Bara, Chief of the Department
of War.

So that here is one case where th^ price was right; and the fact

that the gentleman in Salvador writes to the Winchester Repeating
Arms Co. that at the same price he was able to get the business, and
knew he was able to get the business because of the cooperation of

the Chief of the Department of War, and it follows, I believe, that

there is no comment necessary, unless you say it does not mean what
it says.

Mr. Beebe. No ; except this : That if he receives 20 cents a thou-

sand, it means he could not have paid very much graft on the 200,000

cartridges. That is about $40.00 commission for the transaction.

Senator Barbour. That is one of the cases where you whittled
it down as much as you could.

Mr. Beebe. We had to quote a low price on this business in com-
petition, and offered him only 20 cents a thousand ; and as a matter
of fact, it is certain that that is a very small commission.

Senator Barbour. I think it is.

Mr. Beebe. If he paid anything to anybody else, he would not
have made anything on the transaction.

Senator Barbour. He speaks of the cooperation he received from
the Chief of the Department of War.
Mr. Beebe. There might be coopertion, but I do not think there

is any indication there that he paid anytliing for it.

Senator Barbour. There is plenty of indication in the other let-

ters which build up to that, Mr. Beebe.
Mr. Beebe. There may be.

Senator Barbour. I do not want to go all over that again.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 967 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2611.)
Senator Barbour. The next letter is dated March 5, 1932, where

there is mention of more " grease ", as I recall it. I will offer that
for appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 968 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2612.)
Senator Barbour. At the top of page 2 that letter states [read-

ing] :

On this order for 7-mm Mauser which I got the whole commission of 7^
percent is not for L. G. F.

Who is L. G. F. ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Luis G. Fernandez,
Senator Barbour [reading] :

As you probably know you have to " oil " or " grease " certain parties in

order to get it through. Otherwise you are out of luck.

Then, a little further down, the letter continues

:

You will be surprised to note how things are here now as far as the compe-

tition is concerned. There are representatives from Czechoslovakia, Spain (two

of them), Belgium, France, and Germany, plus Winchester, and little me.
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In Other words, it links up very directly, in my mind, with the

necessity of having plenty of " grease " ready. [Reading :]

Representatives have sprung up from the ground. As soon as I tliink it

advisable to leave San Salvador I will fly to Honduras and go south passing

through Costa Rica and to my final destination, Panama. I have not great

hopes in Costa Rica as I believe that there is not much doing over there in the

way of securing any military-cartiidge business. I might be wrong at that.

Mr. MoNAGHAN, He was right.

Senator Barbour. He did not get any ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. No, sir.

The Chairman. Were his activities confined to the military-cart-

ridge business?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. The other day you were not here when I ex-

plained that our principal activities in the export field are on com-
mercial ammunition and not on military, and that is very clearly

proved by the very small percentage of our business that is classi-

fied properly as " military." I believe 94 percent of our export busi-

ness over the last 10 years is commercial annnunition.

The Chairman. This letter would lead one to believe that this

agent was looking not for commercial business but was looking alone

for military cartridge business.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. These agents looking for commissions will ehase

these rainbows, and we do have our difficulties keeping them in the

profitable end of the business, which is the commercial end. They
believe one big sale on the military
The Chairman. Is the commercial end of the business as profit-

able to the salesman as the military end ?

Mr. Monaghan. It is more—if they would look at the profitable

sale—more profitable.

The Chairman. But they do not?
Mr. Monaghan, The trouble is they are chasing rainbows, and

that is the trouble, keeping them down to the regular routine of the

commercial sale.

The Chairman. Is it not proper to assume that they are finding
the military business more profitable than they do the commercial
business ?

Mr. Monaghan. No, sir ; I do not think so. You can check up the
military sales, all we made, such as with Fernandez, and find the
commercial end far more remunerative than the other. They do not
sit down and analyze it, but are intrigued by the military end of it

and think they are effecting a big sale, a big deal.

Senator Barbour. Mr. Monaghan, this business you referred to of
representatives from Czechoslovakia, Spain, et cetera, is not that an
unusual situation in such a small place?
What do you speak of in connection with such things? We are

wondering about the stimulation of sales, in other words.
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; I do not think so. They would be

attracted bj^ the fact that there was a prospect of the countries buy-
ing. In our own experience we would send s<inu'one to the market or
direct our agents' attention to the business, through it having reached
us first that that nation was in the market and Avanted to buy, rather
than going around and trying to foist any ammunition on them.

Senator Barbour. I was wondering Avhether the whole adminis-
tration in a country under those circumstances could, not be cor-

rupted, to put it baldly. Is not that likely to occur?
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. I do not believe it is; not under our method of
doing business, at least.

Senator Barbour. No; I do not attribute it to you people here.

What I am trying to get at is, what is the situation there, and Avhat

is the business all about?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. Where you get as many people as this competing

for business in a small country, such as we have before us, you have
got to get the price down so low that there is not much in it for
anybody, and particularly I mean the man that gets the order
eventually.

Senator Barbour. Here is a letter which may throw some light on
this, and it may not. It is under date of April 25, 1932. to the
Remington Arms Co., also being from Fernandez. I will offer that
for appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 969" and is

included in the appendix on p. 2613.)

Senator Barbour. The first paragraph of that letter reads as

follows

:

I wish to confiim my letter to you dated the 16th instant. You will probably
have received the order for Rentas from Mr. Armando Frankel and probably
you will have received advices from the bank that the outstnnding draft has
been paid. As you perfectly know I sold that merchandise sometime last year,
at the old list prices. There was an average of 10 percent for Mr. Lemus at
that time, the Proveedor General del Gobierno. Since Mr. Lemus has been
kicked out we do not liave to pay him up.

In other words, as I gather this, when the order was placed, there

was 10 percent in it for Mr. Lemus, and at that time he was the

Proveedor General del Gobierno, but since that time he has got " the

air ", as far as the position of Proveedor General del Gobierno is

concerned, and he does not have to get the 10 percent. Is that right?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. The original letter, I very clearly recall looking
at the other day, and there was a notation in the right margin of it

alongside the paragraph, " Nothing doing "; and he did not get any-
thing because there was not any such understanding with anybody.

Senator Barbour. It w^as not because he was kicked out?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. No, sir; there was no understanding in any way

with anyone down there getting 10 percent overage, commission, or
anything else, on this order.

Senator Barbour. On page no. 2 there is reference to a man by
the name of Brooke [reading] :

very wealthy and influential. He always gets permits because he advances
money to public officials ; including the President himself.

That is rather a startling statement. I know that you are not
responsible for it, but did it surprise you when you got it, or did you
make any inquiry about it, or did you take it as a matter of course?

Mr. Monaghan. Ver}^ interesting reading. We never had any
relation witli this Mr. Brooke other than the report Avhich you have
read here, and never had anything more to do Avith him.
The Chairman. Do you believe that this agent know^s what he is

talking about?
Senator Barbour. He seems to have many names in mind.
The Chairman. I ask the question quite seriously : Do you think

that this agent loiows what he is talking about when he reports

what somebody else is doing?
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. That is a pretty hard thing to do, to report on
what somebody else is doing and report on all the facts, Senator?
Do you not think so ?

Senator Barbour. He is your source of information for these
things ?

Mr. Monaghan. The source of information for the point indicated
in the letter. That is all.

Mr. WoHLTORTH. Mr. Monaghan, you know Mr. Fernandez pretty
well, do you not?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. You have pretty good trust in him, in the way
he handled these business matters ?

Mr. Monaghan. Mr. Fernandez is no longer with us, and has not
been with us for a year and and some months.

Senator Clark. How did he happen to quit ?

Mr. Monaghan. We decided to make a change in the method of
selling in the markets which he covered for us.

Senator Barbour. Would that change, in your opinion, interest the
committee ?

Mr. Monaghan. No, sir ; I think not.

Senator Barbour. To read on a bit in the letter [reading] :

I asked Mr. Ochoa the Minister of War in a very diplomatic way wlio was
the persona grata with him and the President for Government business and
he sent me over to Mr. Cornelio Zamora of the firm of Zamora, Henriquez &
Co. It seems that this firm is now doing all the Government business, and
they split with the officials the commission and overages; etc.

That is a very clear-cut and direct businesslike statement of just
what is going on.

Mr. Monaghan. We never had any business dealings through this
firm of Zamora, Henriquez & Co.
Senator Barbour. Do you really think that is a true statement ?

Mr. Monaghan. We never had any business, and I do not know
beyond this statement in the letter.

Senator Barbour. Now we pass to another letter, Mr. Chairman,
which I think illustrates to what lengths salesmen have to go in
order to make sales. I will offer it as " Exhibit No. 970."

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 970" and is
included in the appendix on p. 2614.)

Senator Barbour. I am referring to a letter of April 7, 1932, also
by Fernandez to the Remington Arms Co., and I will pass to the
second page [reading]

:

The order was put through the consul of the National Guard, and has been
decided, etc., etc. We only need the signature of General Llanos, the head of
the Guardia Nacional. Yesterday we talked to him, and he informed us not
to worry, as the order is ours. No matter what the competition say or holler.
They are discounting 10 colones every month from each soldier of the Guardia
(750), making a total of 7.500 colones every month to pay for the pistols and
the ammunition. They are depositing these amounts in a bank in a joint
account Armando Frankel-Guardia Nacional. You see. these pistols have to be
shipped from Germany and the cartridges from New York. It does not matter
how soon you will receive the order, as it will have to be held up at your
office until Mr. Frankel advises you to ship, so that the cartridges would arrive
more or less about the same time as the pistols. By the time that the pistols
are ready there will be enough money in the bank to pay for the cartridge^, and
Mr. Frankel will see to it that you get your monev "first, as he has agreed
with me.
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Now, it seems to me that I have never heard of a case wherein

these poor soldiers themselves are fined in order to pay for an order

of shells. Apparently there was money enough to buy the pistols but

not money enough to buy the cartridges.

Is this a new departure or has that been a common thing? Have
any of you gentlemen heard of that before ?

Mr. Beebe. I can say this: that I do not know whether it was
when I was in Mexico, somebody talked with me about it, or whether
there was some correspondence, but I understand that some of these

officers have to buy their own pistols and their own cartridges, and
they have not enough money to buy one outright and put up the

money, but arrange to have so much taken out of their pay each
month, which is done for other things in this country.

Senator Barbour. That is, each soldier of the guard ?

Mr. Beebe. I do not know whether the soldier has the pistols or

not.

Senator Barbour. What does 10 colones amount to in depreciated

American money?
Mr. Jonas. About $2.

Senator Barbour. A moment ago wei mentioned the probable effect

of this type of competition. Here is a letter of July 6, 1934, from
F. S. Jonas to the Remington Arms Co., a very long letter, which I

will offer for appropriate number.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 971 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2616.)

Senator Barbour. I will read the last paragraph first, if I may
[reading]

:

The Salvador Government would not give me permission to take the sample
rifle to Guatemala ; however, they consented to my taking it to the other
Central American Republics, but I had to agree to return it, as it was shipped
to them gratis and has been entered on the Government records. Evidently
they are not on very friendly terms with Guatemala, and as soon as there is

a rumor that Guatemala has made a purchase they do likewise.

That refers, Mr. Chairman, to something that I mentioned, and
undoubtedly others have mentioned at the very beginning of the

hearing, about a sale in one instance immediately stimulating a sale

in another instance.

Is there any comment you would like to make on that? There are

a number of other passages which I have marked in this letter.

The Chairman. I suggest. Senator, if they have relation to this

very important subject, that those passages be read in their entirety.

Senator Barbour. It does not directly, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MoNAGiiAN. There were no sales made of that rifle.

Senator Barbour. That is a 7-millimeter Remington, is it not?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir. It was some time ago, because our

agent down there said they were interested in them, but there was
no sale made to either Salvador or Guatemala.
Mr. WoHLFORTH. You made sales to other countries of that same

rifle down there, did you not?

Mr. Monaghais'. We made a sale to Honduras. That was the first

sale of a military rifle that we had made since the World War.
Senator Barbour. That is the point I was really going to come to.

The Chairman. What is the date of this?
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Senator Barbour. The date of this is July 6, 1934, and the rifle

was a single-shot rifle, was it not?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. No, sir; it is a repeating five-shot bolt-action and

not automatic.
Senator Barbour. I guess that is what they mean by referring to

it as single-shot once or twice in the letter.

Now, on page 3, the third paragraph [reading]

:

This Government has a stock of over 3,000 new model 1901, 7-mm Remington
single-shot rifles and 4,000 11-mm rifles.

That is not the one?
Mr. Mo^AGHAN. No, sir. That is an old rifle, the best I could find

out from delving into memory and our records, probably purchased
around 1900.

Senator Barbour. In the next letter further light is shed, as I see

it, on this competitive situation, and I am referring to a letter under
date of July 3, 1934, attention of Mr. Monaghan, from F. S. Jonas
again. I will offer that for appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 972 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2619.)

Senator Barbour. I will read the last two paragraphs on page 1

[reading] :

They are very mucli interested in purchasing a 50-caliber Colt machine gun.

I was not sure of the price, so quoted approximately $1,500. Please ask them
to send me particulars and also prices on their 7-mm auto rifles.

Automatic rifles, is that right?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour (continuing reading) :

They want to standardize their ammunition to this caliber only.

I am told that they have no money and then again it is said for army equip-
ment, somehow or other, they are always able to raise the money. I have
not learned of any large purchases they have made, except 150 reconditioned
7-mm Maxims, which were purchased in Europe.

It is rumored that the only way that this President can hold his job is

through being well prepared, so I have hopes of the various rainbows coming
through.

We realize you are not responsible for that observation, or your
company, but what interests the committee, as I see it, is the fact

that he makes a report to you, and, whatever you want to say about
the reports, they are humorous as well as interesting, and interesting

as well as humorous, but he does say that the President can hold
his position only " through being well-prepared, so I have hopes of

the various rainbows coming through."
The rainbows, I suppose, refer to a lot of " greased " orders?
Mr. Monaghan. Orders, without the adjective. I would like

to say also. Senator, on this matter of the Colt machine gun, we
do not make it. Nothing was done about that. We spoke to Colt

about it, and they stated at that time they had an agent down there,

and any business that was done would be done through their agent.

Senator Barbour. Mr. Davis, does your company deal in manu-
factured machine guns at all ?

Mr. Davis. No, sir.

Senator Barbour. The next exhibit is a contract, and I do not

believe there is any need to read the preamble, because it is the usual
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preamble between a company and a government. The interesting

thing about it, as I can see it, is what the contract calls for.

I will offer that for apropriate number.
(The contract referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 973 " and

is included in the appendix on p. 2620.)

Senator Barbour. I notice that there are

—

3,000 " Remington Enfield " rifles, model 1934, caliber 7 mm, without
bayonets, but with sling straps, $26 per rifle, c.i.f. Amapala, total

price $78,000'
(Pencil note) caliber 7 mm.

1,000,000 cartridges " Kleanbore Smokeless ", $23 per thousand, c.i.f.

Amapala, total price 23, 000
50,000 cartridge clips 7 mm, $10 per thousand c.i.f. Amapala, tdtal

price 500
200,000 cartridges, .45 caliber Colt automatic " Kleanbore Smokeless "

for Thompson machine guns, $16 per thousand, c.i.f. Amapala,
total price 3, 200-

500 Thompson machine guns, 21-A, $140 each, f.o.b. New York, total
price 7,000'

Now, this is a contract with Remington, and it does cover machine
guns. It is for machine guns which they sold but did not make.
Is that the idea ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Those guns were sold to the Government merely as

a courtesy. The Government paid us the identical sum for those

guns that we paid the Thompson people for them. It is one of the
very unusual cases we have ever had of such a transaction. But here
was Jonas down there negotiating this order. They asked him to

put in the machine guns with the order at the same time, and we did
so as a courtesy merely. We did not make a cent on them anyway.
Senator Clark. Jonas also represents a gas company down there,

does he not?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes, sir.

Senator Clark. And they were the agents for the Thompson sub-

machine guns?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Davis. It is not my understanding that he represents anyone-
but Remington.

Senator Clark. He testified at the last hearing that he did.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. After reading the testimony when he was here,,

we did realize he did some work for the other company. We were
not aware of that when he went on the mission.

The Chairman. You were not aware that he was a representative
of Federal Laboratories?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. That he was to do anything for them in any way.

He was on a salary trip for us and was not doing anything except
work for us.

Mr. Handy. That was our definite understanding with him.
The Chairman. On this specific trip?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Also the trip before that, when he went down to-

Brazil and Argentine for us on commercial business for those
countries.

The Chairman. Is he down there now?
Mr. Monaghan. He is in Puerto Rico now.
The Chairman. In whose employ is he now?
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. In our employ.
Senator Barbour. I do not want to split hairs, Mr. Chairman, but

in the contract it states:

Whereas Remington is a manufacturer of and dealer in arms and ammuni-
tion of the type and kind referred to

And so forth, and so forth, and Thompson machine guns is one of
the items referred to in that categorly. Personally, I am willing to

take your explanation of it, but in your preamble there it would, of
course, be misleading for you to state that you are a manufacturer
of guns.
Mr. Monaghan. The wording of that contract followed the plac-

ing of the order. That was the reason for the " dealer in." I

IDointed out to the man drawing up the agreement up here that we
were not manufacturers of these Thompson machine guns, and we
only handled it as a courtesy for the Government. That was the

reason for that wording going in there. We do not make a prac-

tice, as I said before, of dealing in anj^thing except what we
manufacture ourselves.

Senator Barbour. Did you get the export license for the whole
thing, Thompson guns and so forth?

Mr. Moxaghax. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. Was that explained at the time you got the
license for the export ?

Mr. Monaghan. I do not believe there was any question in the
application form, where it was necessary to go into that detail.

Senator Barbour. Mr. Chairman, here is another letter from Mr.
Fernandez, dated June 10, 1931, which I offer for appropriate
number.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 974" and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2622.)

Senator Barbour. That reads

:

Pursuant to the conversation I had with you upon my arrival to New York 2
weeks ago, I wish to inform you that the extra 5 percent charged to take care
of certain party in Tegucigalpa as agreed by the writer, part of the total
amount of .$740.25 has already been paid up to Mr. Francisco Argueta of San
Salvador. This Mr. Argueta received instructions to receive this amount from
Coronel Villanueva or the party who was interested in Tegucigalpa. I effected
a payment of $300 to Mr. Argueta in San Salvador, when you cabled me the
$500. Before I left San Salvador I handed Mr. Argueta the amount of $150
making it a total of $450. Two days ago I received the attached cable from
Mr. Francisco Argueta (Chico) as everybody nicknames him, requesting of me
to turn over some funds to a friend of his here in New York. Today I will
hand this party here in New York the sum of $75 and as you have arranged
that this amount be turned over to us, I wish to report that as soon as the
balance of the amount is turned over to me, I will remit to Mr. Francisco
Argueta a bank's check for the balance of $215.25, thus completing this
transaction.

I further state that this is my understanding that Mr. Argueta is a relative
of residing in San Salvador of the party in Tegucigalpa, Honduras.

What I want to show is that $500 was cabled to Fernandez, and
with the additional amount of $240.25, $740.25 was paid to him for
what, except to give to these different people who are cited here;
and who were they? If that is not what it is, what does the trans-

action cover? You have got the letter there. Do you know what
it all means ?

83876—35—PT 11 10
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. I would like to explain it. I have a very complete
file on that, and if you will let me go into it, it will show you an
entirely different picture than this letter, standing out by itself.

Senator Barbour. That is just what we want to know about. By
the way, I should have mentioned that this gentleman, whose name
begins with V, is a colonel. However, you are going to tell us about
it, and we would be glad to have you do so in your own way.
Mr. WoHLFORTH. Mr. Monaghan, will you look for a letter dated

April 20, 1931?
Senator Barbour. Let me say again, Mr. Monaghan, that it was a

letter dated April 20, written by yourself to Mr. Fernandez that we
are interested in. Do you recall any such letter?

Mr. Monaghan. I have heard from numerous sources about there
being such a letter, but I cannot find it. I would like to say here
that here is a letter from Fernandez with a rubber stamp on it that
looks like April 20. It is April 29, if you will look closely; I
believe that is the letter they mean.
Mr. WoHLFORTH. That letter we refer to was the one dated April

20 from you to Mr. Fernandez, and it was supposed to explain the
contents of this letter under discussion. I do not know whether
such a letter exists, but we heard about it.

Mr. Monaghan. Would you give me some more information on it,

and let me help you find that letter?

Senator Barbour. Is Mr. Fernandez in New York now?
Mr. Monaghan. I believe so; yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. Have you been in communication with him
recently ?

Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir. He called me up on the phone when the
investigators of your committee called on him the first time.

Senator Barbour. Did you refer to this particular letter that the
investigators were trying to locate?
Mr. Monaghan. He asked me to tell him what that letter was,

that the investigators had asked about it, and he could not find it

in his file. He said, " Will you look in yours ?
"

I said, « Yes, I will."

I looked it up, and that is how I came across this letter here that
looks as though it might be April 20 and had misled somebody,
when on close inspection you will find it reads "April 29." He in-

sisted there was such a letter of April 20, and I told him I could
not find any, and he could not find it either.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. Did Mr. Fernandez call you or did you call Mr.
Fernandez ?

Mr. Monaghan. Mr. Fernandez called me. He asked me what to

do. I said, " There is only one thing you can do, it is the same thing
we are doing, give the investigators everything you have and tell

them everything you know."
Mr. WoHLFORTH. Is that the substance of your conversation ?

Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. To get back to this letter of the 10th, can you
give us any more information with relation to these expenditures ?

Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir ; I think I can. There is quite a volumi-
nous file on that order. We have a letter here to Fernandez dated
April 29

:

Since writing yon our other letters enclosed, we received yours, dated
Toojnx'igalpa, dated April 25, with the order for the Honduras Government.

I
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You have a copy of that letter. This letter relates to the fact

that " we are going to make a shipment within a few clays of a cer-

tain part of that order ", and the money was received about that

time, April 29. What I am pointing to is that this letter here of

June 10 that you speak of, of the payment of $740, was subsequent

to our having received the order from Fernandez, and the money
being received or the credit being opened in the bank in New York

—

I forget which—covering that order. The letter of June 10, being
subsequent to the whole transaction so far as the order and the pay-
ments are concerned, was something that occurred after the sale had
been completed, and was our first knowledge that there was any such
sum involved as this $740.

Senator Barbour. He says at the bottom of the letter there, at the

very end, " I received the sum of $740.25 in payments as noted." In
'Other words, he got the money all right.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes, sir. It was paid to Mr. Fernandez. He said

he paid it out in accordance with this letter here that he wrote out.

So when we gave him the $740.25, we got his receipt for that money
as noted on the bottom of the letter.

Senator Babbour. Yes.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. Did you give Mr. Fernandez instructions as to

liow or to whom to pay that money?
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir. The first indication or intimation we had

'of any money such as this being paid out on this order was at the
itime Mr. Fernandez came into our office and asked for this $740 and
substantiated his request by this letter. We do not know, and did
not then know who Col. Villa de Nueva is, whether he is a Kentucky
colonel or a South American colonel.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. You have seen the name before you saw it in

this letter, have you not?
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; I did not.

Senator Barbour. Is there anything further you want to ask about
that? It simply is not at all clear to me. It is an amount which I
think has gone to those different people.

In the meantime we will get along, because we have a great many
more exhibits.

Mr. Monaghan. Senator, might I say there that we have never
iiad any real information about what this letter is of April 20, on
which so much stress seems to be placed. I do believe that it arose
from that rubber stamp on there that looks like April 20, and is

really April 29. Here is the letter of April 29.

Senator Barbour. I know, of course, nothing about it at all, simply
that that report comes to me from the investigators, that there was
some discussion there and I wanted to run it down, because your
explanation may be the true one, although the report, as I get it, was
that there was a letter from you to Fernandez and not a letter from
I^'ernandez to you.

Mr. Monaghan. There was no such letter, Senator.

METHODS or DOING BUSINESS—DOMINICAN REPUBmC

Senator Barbour. We have the next letter, which is dated Decem-
ber 22, from Mr, Monaghan to Mr. Norvell, who was then president
•of the Remington Arms Co., I believe.
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(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 975 ", and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2622.)

Senator Barbour. It refers to a certain action taken by Mr. Mon-
aghan relating to the stopping of a foreign order to the Dominican
Republic.

We have recently had an example of how the United States Department of
State at Washington, D. C, can help us.

Skipping the second paragraph, I will read the third

:

When we approached the State Department they admitted knowing some-
thing of the deal but were glad to get the additional information we had ob-
tained. They sent a copy of our letter giving the full facts to our minister
at Santo Domingo. They are willing to shut their eyes to small graft on such
transactions in Latin American countries but they felt this was going too far
especially as the Dominican Republic still has a lot of unsettled American
claims. Our agent, who knows nothing of our dealings with the State Depart-
ment, which have to be strictly confidential, now reports the President of the
Dominican Republic called for an investigation with the result the contract for
the .303 rifles and cartridges has been canceled and the first installment is to
be shipped back. Our chances of regaining the business are, therefore, very
bright for the President has issued an order that in future all purchases are
to be made direct from manufacturers.

Is this the only cooperation of the kind that you received from
our State Department, Mr. Monaghan, or have you gotten it before ?

How much graft is the State Department willing to shut its eyes to ?

Mr. Monaghan. This was a communication from me to the presi-

dent of our company.
Senator Barbour. To the president of the company ?

Mr. Monaghan. To the president of our company.
Senator Barbour. From you?
Mr. Monaghan. And I did believe that we were doing something'

worthwhile in attempting to get the business of the Dominican Re-
public for newly manufactured arms or ammunition, which would
help American workmen here, instead of selling the war stuff that
was offered at this time by some concern in England or Germany,
I forget which—England or Hamburg.

Senator Barbour. England, I think. I think we have that.

Mr. Monaghan. I am not sure.

Senator Barbour. I am referring to the cooperation that you got
from the State Department and their knowledge of graft, and their

not minding it up to a certain point.

Mr. Monaghan. Certainly it was not a State Department state-

ment. It was an individual that I knew in the State Department.
Perhaps we talked of it in passing, not as an official statement
from him—certainly I did not consider it that way ; I went there, I
believe, at the time to talk to him about Cuba, having been down
there. I discussed things in Cuba, and discussed this matter of
Santo Domingo. Naturally, in the course of such a conversation
some little personal remark would slip out, which was responsible

for this statement of mine.
Senator Barbour. You make a very clear statement to your presi-

dent in your letter. While I do not want to overemphasize this, it

certainly gave me the impression that the State Department was cog-
nizant that there had to be a certain amount of graft, and up to a
certain point they had no objection to it.
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. No ; I do not think that is the proper conclusion

to draw from this letter of mine, because I have never had any such

official statement from the State Department.
Senator Barbour. There may be honest differences of opinion, but

they, as the State Department

—

are willing to shut their eyes to small graft on such transactions in Latin
American countries, but they felt that this was going too far.

The Chairman. Whom do you contact in the State Department
in matters of that kind?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. On that occasion I think it was Mr. S. W.

Morgan.
The Chairman. That was back in 1928?
Mr. Monaghan. 1928.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. Mr. Monaghan, is this just a chance conversa-

tion that you had about this Dominican order with the State Depart-
ment?
Mr, Monaghan. No. What I said was a chance remark, perhaps,

of his, but it was not a chance talk with him of the thing. I related

the facts to him in quite some detail, of this attempt to sell the war-
time stocks from Europe.

Senator Barbour. It is one thing in the statement you write, and
in sense is another?

Senator Clark. Wliat did you mean to say by that statement in

the letter, Mr. Monaghan, if you did not mean to say what it sounds
like, when you say

:

They are willing to shut their eyes to small graft on such transactions in

Latin American countries but they felt this was going too far, especially as the
Dominican Republic still has a lot of unsettled American claims.

That seems to be a perfectly clear statement. If it does not mean
what Senator Barbour said it meant, what does it mean?
Mr. Monaghan. I certainly do not believe the State Department

in any dealings I have had with them would indicate they would
make such a bald official statement, that they would countenance any
small graft.

Senator Clark. You wrote this letter, did you not ?

Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir.

Senator Clark. Just explain to the committee what you did mean
when you said

—

They are willing to shut their eyes to small graft cm such transactions in
Latin American countries, but they felt this was going too far.

That does not seem to be susceptible of more than one interpre-

tation. Just what did you mean by it?

Mr. Monaghan, Perhaps the comparison of the thing. I believe

at that time those rifles to the best of my memory were, oh, around
$50 to $G0, say, and they were obtainable in Europe for about $10,
which would make anyone laugh that knows anything of the business
of selling manufactured items, to pay a price of $10 in one market
and resell the same item in another for $50 or $60.

Senator Clark. Did anybody in the State Department tell you
that they were willing to shut their eyes to small graft on such
transactions?
Mr. Monaghan. I said I did not look at it as an official attitude

of the State Department, no.
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Senator Clark. Here is the whole paragraph again, Mr,
Monaghan

:

When we approached the State Department they admitted knowins something
of the deal but were glad to get tlie additional information we had obtained.

They sent a copy of our letter giA'in;; the full facts to our ^Minister at Santo-

Domingo.

That was an official action of the State Department.

They are willing to shut their eyes to small graft on such transacfons in

Latin American countries but they felt this wasf going too far, especially as
the Dominican Republic still has a lot of unsettled American claims.

What was it that was going too far?
Mr. Monaghan. Buying an item at one price, of $10, and selling it

for $50 oi- $60.

Senat(jr Clark. Did they give you any idea of the size of graft

the3^ were willinj.'- to shut their eyes to, and where they drew the line

when you ste|)])e<l over from the small graft category into the situ-

ation where they were going too far?
Mr. MoNAGH.' X. Perhaps when you go back and take that one

little word " graft " there
Senator Clark. That is a word of rather large significance, I think,

in this transaction, Mr. Monaghan. It has not very many letters in

it, but it is of considerable significance in what we are getting at.

Mr. Monaghan. Perhaps the impression was more to the effect

that if there were a commission, a small commission above that price
of $10 for those rifles, they could not say anything, but when it be-
came such an <>utrageous difference as from 10 to 50 or 60 dollars,
certainly then it would not come into the class of commissions.

Senator Clark. In other words, they are willing to condone petty
larceny but not grand larceny?
Mr. Monaghan. Oh, no; I "do not think that.
Senator Clark. This apparently is another one of those instances

such as we had tlie other day, Mr. Monaghan, wdiere you want to
delete some of the words froin your oAvn letters.

Mr. Monaghan. Every man when he writes a letter and reads
it over again the next day would change it, he would not leave it in

its entirety.

Senator Barbour. Unless somebody else wants to pursue the same
subject, that covers all of it.

The Chairman. We are getting nowhere so fast on that I think
that we might well leave it.

Senator Barbour. That brings us to a letter of April 17 to Mr.
Monaghan from Smith & Wesson. I offer it in evidence because it

refers to the contribution made by the Remington Arms Co. to a
political campaign in Santo Domingo.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 976 "'. and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Barbour (reading) :

We are just in receipt of a wire from P>ro. Nicolas, reading:
"Party asking campaign contribution $1,00(>, ready contribute $500. expect-

ing secure balance from Eilis, Remington, Philadelphia, Fisch, and yourselves
$100 each, cable acceptance to send sight draft. Thanks."

The Chairman. To what country does it relate ?

Mr. Monaghan. Dominican Republic.
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Senator Barbour (reading) :

Presumablj' you have had a similar message.
Before replying we shouhl like to know what your reaction is to the some-

what strange appeal.
Hitherto we have spent nothing in advertising in Santo Domingo, and if

Bro. Nicolas is lucky enough to put his money on the right horse, I should

think that the proposed $100 investment should be a good one. In my varied

associations with Latin Americans I have had some curious propositions, but

never one to contribute to any political campaign fund.

According to the last cables that I saw, they propose to run Morales, for-

merly the Minister at Washington, for vice president, though at one time he
was scheduled for the premier post.

What are your latest advices?
Whilst we haven't any $100 bills growing in the back yard, I am inclined to

recommend that we make the contribution without delay.

Please be good enough to reply by return mail, using the enclosed stamped-
addressed envelope.

You got this letter, Mr. Monaghan, from Mr. Bungey?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir.

Senator Barbour. You recall the incident?

Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir; I do.

Senator Barbour. What did you do about it?

Mr. Monaghan. We were in the same position as he expresses it

there—^that this is the first time he has had any proposal to con-

tribute to a political campaign fund. Dr. Morales, that he speaks
of, the former Minister at Washington, some of us in the company
knew personally. I did. We credited Mr. Nicolas' account
with that $100 more as a personal matter than as a business one.

Certainly we never expected a $100 contribution to get us very far.

Senator Barbour. What do you mean b}' that, that you would
have to come higher than that to be effective ?

Mr. Monaghan. As I say, it was the first time we have had any
occasion to contribute to a political campaign fund such as Nicolas
proposes here, and he kept pressing us to make this contribution.

We did do it.

Senator Barbour. It is not a practice of munitions concerns to

make political campaign contributions?
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; it is not. It is the only one that I

know of.

Senator Barbour. Mr. Davis, do you know of any other?
Mr. Davis. I do not. I think this was before the acquisition of

the Eemington Arms Co. by the du Pont Co. It is certainly not
our policy to make any campaign contributions, either here or

abroad.
Senator Barbour. It is a fact the contribution was made. Mr.

Chairman. And by the next exhibit, which is a letter from Nicolas
under date of June 17, it seems that the candidate Morales was not
elected.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 977 ", and is

included in the appendix on page 2623.)

Senator Barbour (reading) :

As per my letter of last mail, which you will surely receive together with this

mail, as it could not be placed in the mails until after the steamer had left,

you will be advised that the permit situation is the same, maybe worse at
present because the Army is now after a few generals that took the mountains
against the actual government. No permits will be issued to anybody while
peace and tranquility are unstable.
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Tiie reason for my mail not getting the last boat was that a few minutes after
it was written, I was induced to hide l)y some friends who knew in advance
that the order to imprison me had been given by Government ofBcials. On
Wednesday noon, after communicating with the general, I gave myself up and
was locked in Columbus place at the Torre del Homenajo, for 48 "hours, after
which I was released. The reason for my prosecution has been given as " For
being a friend of Dr. Morales and selling arms and ammunition to the revolu-
tion." This chai-ge was made by some competitors interested in wiping me out
of the map and taking any agencies away, both of wiiich things they will be
unable to do.

At the latter part of the next paragraph

:

I also informed him that I am no politician and that my business was to
work and sell everybody that came in power, and that he will find me ready to
cooperate with him to that end.

Senator Pope. He bet on the wrong horse that time, did he not ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. I would like to sny this, Senator, that he did not
sell any cartridges or arms of ours to any revolution down there that
I know of.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. Did Mr. Morales ever visit your factory in
Bridgeport?

Mr, MoNAGHAN. No, sir; I do not think he did.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. You did not ever sell him direct?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. No; we did not.

Senator Barbour. In the next letter offered in evidence we have
a breach of etiquette, according to the munitions companies' stand-
ards, apparently.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 978 ", and is

included in the appendix on page 2623.)

Senator Barbour. This letter is dated June 10, 1932, from Mr.
Monaghan to Mr. Nicolas, and the committee after hearing the previ-

ous testimony appreciates Mr. Monaghan's concern as expressed in

the last paragraph. I think that is all we need read, unless Mr.
Monaghan wants anything else.

It is rather interesting to learn from your letter that Mr. Naramore is wear-
ing the uniform of a captain of the United States Army. This, to say the least,

is a serious breach of etiquette and perhaps a more serious charge could be
brought. It is our understanding an officer of the Army is not supposed to wear
the uniform except on active duty or state occasions. Certainly Mr. Naramoi-e
is not entitled to wear the uniform when i-epresenting the Lyman Gunsight
Corporation, which was the case when he was in Santa Domingo.

The Chairman, "What was the occasion for that letter ?

Mr. Monaghan. I understood Mr. Naramore was down there—

I

do not know the full details of it, he never told me—on some mis-

sion for the Dominican Republic in the way of reloading cartridges.

I did not believe, partly selfishly from a business standpoint, and
also in the interests of the Government, that it was wise for a gov-
ernment like that to try to reload ammunition, and eventually have
cartridges that w^ould have excessive breech pressures, and in fact the

qualities be so poor in every manner that they would not be suitable

for use.

The Chairman. Who was Naramore?
Mr. Monaghan. He was employed l)y the Lyman Gunsight Cor-

poration.

The Chairman. Had he been in the service of the Army or the

Navy?
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. I do not know.
The Chairman. How did he come into possession of a uniform of

a captain of the United States Army ?

Senator Barbour. That was the question that I had in mind.
Mr, Monaghan. He is known as Captain Naramore. I believe it

is Captain Naramore.
Mr. Beebe. I understand so.

Senator Clark. Do you happen to know% Mr. Monaghan, whether
the Department has any regulation or order on the subject of muni-
tions salesmen wearing Reserve officers' uniforms?
Mr. Monaghan. What I stated that I have found out about it is

all incorporated in that paragraph, that I did not believe it was
proper for him to do so.

Senator Clark. I do not think it was proper for him to do so,

either, but so far as I have been able to find, there is no Army regu-
lation or order of the AVar Department against it. At the last hear-

ings here in September, we had one instance of a poison-gas concern
which put out a very elaborate catalog with pictures of all of its

principal officers in uniform as Reserve officers in the United States

Army. The president of the company was in the habit of writing
letters to South American countries offering to establish poison-gas
plants for them and train a chemical w^arfare service, and of signing
himself " Lieutenant colonel, U. S. A. Reserves." I was just wonder-
ing if you have been able to find any regulation against such prac-
tices as that.

Senator Barbour. Are you through, Senator?
Senator Clark. Yes.
The Chairman. Did you investigate this matter any further?
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir.

METHODS of DOING BUSINESS COLOMBIA

Senator Barbour. Leaving Central American republics for a
moment, let us turn to South America, Remington sold Colombia
a large order of ammunition in 1932, and this order was secured
by your agent Restrepo. We understand that you had what your
firm termed " unfortunate publicity " in connection with this order.

Anyway, I will read from your letter to Mr. Roger L. Bracken of

October 27, 1932.

I am very glad to confirm the good news Restrepo sent yon. He is certainly
doing a wonderful job for us and the way he is taking hold of things the last
few months has simply been a revelation to me. I don't think I ever had a man
in the foi'eign field who kept us so informed of the complete picture of things
as they were happening. Yes. indeed, you were due for thanks in having
trained him and recommended him to us.

We had some unfortunate publicity in connection with the Colombian order
and for that reason we are now doing mighty little talking about it, so we ask
you to hold it confidential.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 979", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2624.)
Senator Barbour. Now, what was the nature of that publicity arid

what was there that you did not want to become public or otherwise,,

to do anything or say anything, to help the committee understand
the paragraph there, which might have a great deal of significance?
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. We attempted at all times to keep confidential

any orders that we received from a foreign government, and in some
manner the New York Times published around that time the in-

formation that we had received this order from Colombia for car-

tridges, and there was quite a stir by Colombia about it getting out
that way. They felt we should have held it more confidential.

The Chairman. From whom do you keep those things confi-

dential ? Everyone ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. The publicity that they objected to was that it

was pul\lished in the press.

The Chairman. How could you keep a thing like that secret?

Surely the shipping records would show what you were shipping
down there, wouldn't they?

Mr. Monaghan. But it was not necessary perhaps for us to make
the statement. I believe the president of our company made the
statement that we had received this order. It was not kept confi-

dential in every respect. The State Department knew of this order.

Senator Barbour. As a matter of fact, the publicity to which you
refer was simply ordinary newspaper publicity?
Mr. Monaghan. Correct.

Senator Barbour. And for trade reasons or otherwise you do not
want any newspaper publicity?

Mr. Monaghan. That is another reason ; we would not want our
competitors to know about it.

Senator Barbour. I say, you would not want them to know.
Mr. Monaghan. No.
Senator Barbour. I do not want to say the wrong thing, but you

feel the munitions business should be kept as secret as possible, as far

as the press is concerned, and the public ? Do you agree with that ?

Mr. Monaghan. I believe our relations should be that way and the

business we get should not necessarily be spread in the public press.

Senator Barbour. I am not sajdng that I agree with you or dis-

agree with you.
Mr, Monaghan. That is our feeling.

Senator Barbour. I just want to get clear the fact that that is the

sort of thing you refer to.

Mr. Monaghan. When it gets in the press it hurts not only the

munitions business of this country, but it hurts all export business
of this country.

The Chairman. Is that why there comes from your industry so

much objection to international plans for providing greater publicity

for the traffic in arms ?

Mr. Monaghan. I do not know of anyone in our companj^ who has
ever objected to publicity in the international sense of ever}^ govern-
ment participating in it, but that has not become an established fact

as yet. If and when it does, certainly there would be no objections

on our part to it, so far as I know.
Senator Barbour. Here is a letter, Mr. Chairman, from Koger L.

Bracken, export manager of Miller Falls Company, to George
Rugge, dated October 25, 1932.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 980 " and ap-

pears in full in the text.)

Senator Barbour. I read the first paragraph

:
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In a letter just received from our good friend, Resti*epo, I understand he has

sent through to you a contract for $70,000, wliich is the result of a great deal

of effort on his part and, I understand, at the outlay of some personal funds

in lobbying work with certain Government departments.

I will finish the letter

:

As I was responsible, in a sense, for getting your agency for Restrepo, I feel

a personal satisfaction in getting this report from him. In these difficult days,

such a conti-act I am confident must be exceedingly welcome and I um excep-

tionally glad to note this evidence that Rep is apparently cashing in, and I

hope he will continue to merit your confidence.

With kindest personal regards,

Cordially yours.

Who is Millers Falls Co.?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. Perhaps I can give you in a minute the whole

story there. You see, this letter preceded the one you just read that

I wrote.

Senator Barbour. I see.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Mr. Restrepo had been employed by Millers Falls,

New York, and then went to Colombia as their representative, and
ours, and other companies, working on a commission basis.

Senator Barbour. I see. That is October 25 and this is October 27.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes.

The Chairman. Mr. Monaghan, did jou say that this letter of

October 27, previously read, was an answer to this ?

Mr. Monaghan. I believe so. Was it not, Senator ?

Senator Barbour. Yes ; I think it is.

Mr. Monaghan. This is October 25. The one read just previ-

ously is the 27th.

Senator Barbour. The 27th; yes.

Mr. Monaghan. And it acknowledges the one on the 25th.

The Chairman. You say nothing in your acknowledgment there

of the suggestion that was made about Mr. Restrepo having made
an outlay for lobbying work. Why did you avoid in your acknowl-
edgment saying anything about that?

Mr. Monaghan. I knew nothing of what he meant there. I never

saw the letter to the Millers Falls Co. that he refere to. I never asked

any questions.

Senator Barbour. Did he get any money for any such purpose or

was he reimbursed for anything in that connection?
Mr. MoNAGi-iAN. On this contract here of the 3,000,000 cartridges

he received his commission. He did not receive any money for out-

lay of personal funds in lobby work. I know of none that he did.

Senator Barbour. He speaks of it here.

Mr. Monaghan. Well, I don't know what he wrote Bracken.
Senator Barbour. But you are or were conversant with what he

said in his letter. This is one of those cases where the letter reads

perfectly clear, it seems to me, and yet we do not have the same
understanding of it when we discuss it.

Mr. Monaghan. No; I did not feel there was anything we owed
him for any money that he should write to Millers Falls. If there

was, he should write directly to us.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. You mean, you did not know anything about
what he was doing down there ?

Mr. Monaghan. Mr. Wohlforth, I did know^ some things about
what he was doing, because I went down there to Colombia in the
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first part of 1933, and I did not find any evidence there of any lobby-
ing work on his part.

The Chairman. There was the highest order of approval of the
man, of what he was doing down there, wasn't there ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Yes.
Senator Barbour. Now, go back a little. Here is a letter dated

September 10, 1932, about the time the order was being negotiated
and Colombia was in arms against Peru, which I offer for appropri-
ate marking.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 981 ",. and is in-
cluded in the appendix on p. 2625.)
Senator Barbour. I will read beginning with the third paragraph r

Coroiiel Curios Padilla, about whom I wrote you some time ago, is a very close-

friend of the writer as well as his family ; they live next door to my home..
This gentleman occupies now a high position in the Colombian Army and be-
longs to the Estado Mayor del Ejercito. In the strictest confidence Coronel
Padilla infoiined me the Government wants to buy at the present time 2 million
cartridges and informed me about the quotation they have from Switzerland of
$22. These cartridges are intended for part of the army that is being sent to>

Puerto Leticia on the Amazon River, our frontier with Peru.

Going to the bottom, to save time :

However, ths Government is taking the necessary measures in order to pro-
tect our national integrity.

Coronel P;idi!la put me in contact with Coronel Adelrao A. Ruiz—

;

And then, down further

—

Coronel Padilla is giving me his iull support in order to get the business
and is keeping me confidentially informed of this matter. Indirectly I under-
stand he wants a comniLssiun. however, I may be wrong and am keeping a
very diidomatic attitude until further developments. This gentleman also
informs me he is doing his best in order to induce this Government to buy
40 million cartridges.

Then at the wind-up he says

:

Kindly destroy same as this request was made to the writer by the War
Department.

Senator Clark. Who is that signed by, Senator?
Mr. MoxAGHAN. Restrepo.
Senator Barbour. That is from Restrepo to the Remington Arms

Co., marked, " Confidential."
Did this Government official receive any commission?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. No, sir.

Senator Barbour. I am w^ondering why he worked for so large
an order all of a sudden without any hope of compensation.
Mr. MoNAGHAN. There never transpired any such order Avith us

for 40 million cartridges. The only order we received of a big
item at one time was the 3 million, and I saw Colonel Padilla down
there. I established the fact that he was a next door neighbor and
friend of Restrepo. I also met Colonel Ruiz. I also was very pleas-

antly surprised to learn when I got there that Colonel Padilla had
visited our })lant some years before as a member of a Colombian
commission that came up here, and he was ajipreciative, as he told

me, of the courtesies that we showed him at our ])lant. He thought
well of our ammunition, and being a friend of Restrepo naturally

he would try to get him the business.
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Senator Barbour. Well, I must say in this letter there seems to

be some doubt about the necessity of a special commission, whereas
in some of the others it has been a very direct statement.

Going back further again, we have a letter of November 12, 1930,

from Mr. Monaghan to Mr. Restrepo, which I will ask to have
marked with the appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 982 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2626.)

Senator Barbour. I read the third from the last paragraph on
the second page

:

You will probably desire to bring every influence you can to bear to obtain
this business for us, and as a suggestion we should like to mention that in

some instances we have found it advisable to diplomatic;! lly ask the Minister
of War or tlie person who will have the final say in placing the order who he
would like to have us work witli as our agent. In other words, who is the
intermediary to see and pay commission f(n- the business. Such commission,
as we mentioned before, would have to be added to the prices we have given
you.

After giving these instructions, would it not seem to follow that
your agent woidd pay to the Government official placing the order
part of his commission?
Mr. Monaghan. That is not the intention of that at all. Restrepo

had never had any dealings on Government business and we were
trying to tell him how to operate. The point was we did not want
to have an agent for military business Avho was i)ersona non grata
with the Minister of War or the people with whom he was dealing.

Senator Barbour. You do not think then that the authority mak-
ing the purchase got any graft?
Mr. Monaghan. Pardon me?
Senator Barbour. You do not think then that the authority who

had the final say as far as the purchasing is concerned got any
graft ?

Mr. Monaghan. No, sir ; I do not.

The Chairman, You had found in other proceedings that is was
to your advantage to have someone who could stand between you
and the minister of war, or whoever was buying the supplies, didn't

you?
Mr. Monaghan. The thought is there that we do not have enough

business to econmically have our own salaried representatives in

every market watching developments as they occur and the possi-

bility of obtaining business, and we wanted someone who was es-

tablished in that market operating on a commission basis and who
could watch the situation and get the business for us, if possible.

The Chairman. But you were finding it " advisable to diplo-

matically ask the Minister of War or the person who would have
the final say in placing the order whom he would like to have us
work with as our agent."

Mr. Monaghan. Correct.

The Chairman. So you were leaving it to the Minister of War
or to the agent of the Government who was buying the supplies
to say whom your agent should be.

Mr. Monaghan. Oh, no ; not that.

The Chairman. Then what does that mean ?
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. It means that we wanted a man who could deal
with the Minister of War and who the Minister of War had con-
fidence in.

The Chairman, Yes; but you are not even going to suggest who
that agent might be. You are going to leave it to the Minister of
War.
Mr. Monaghan. At that time we did not know the available

agents on military business in Bogota, Colombia.
The Chaikman. And the Minister of War did, is that the idea?
Mr. Monaghan. He would know the people through whom he

had been purchasing material representing other companies. We
did not want him to choose some man who was one of the outs
instead of one of the ins.

The Chairman. In your letter to Restrepo you go on and say

:

In other words, who is the intermediary to see and pay commission for
the business V Such commission as we mentioned before would have to be
added to the prices we have given you.

Mr. Monaghan. It has gotten to be the general practice on any
military business to establish the price that the manufacturer has
to get and then allow the commission agent to add to that his com-
mission, so as to stop the squabbling that would go on of stating a

definite price that would include, say, some particular rate of

commission.
The Chairman. That is hardly the issue that was involved here,

though. Here you are trying to ascertain or have ascertained who
is the intermediary to have and pay a commission for the business,

an intermediary who is going to be suggested or approved by the
Minister of War. Now, does it mean just this: That in some in-

stances 3^ou found a minister of war ready to do business, if and
when he could have a cut in the commission that accrued to that

sale, and you are suggesting here to Restrepo that he should find,

diplomatically, who it was who would stand properly with the

Minister of War and just what commission should be paid for the

business, isn't that true ?

Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; it does not read that way.
The Chairman. Well, now, tell us what in the world this language

means, then? I am going to read the entire paragraph:

You will probably desire to bring every influence you can to bear to obtain

this business for us. and as a suggestion we should like to mention that in some
instances we have found it advisable to diplomatically ask the Minister of War
or the person who will have the final say in placing the order, who he would
like to have us work with as our agent. In otlier words, who is the inter-

mediary to see and pay commission for the business. Such commission as we
mentioned before would have to be added to tlie prices we have given you.

What does that mean if it does not mean just exactly what it says?

Mr. Monaghan. Let me explain to you what happened when I

went down to Colombia myself. Restrepo got this military order

for us, but we were not quite satisfied with him continuing as a mili-

tary agent for us. In fact, his contract originally provided for him
to act on commercial business and not on military. In this transac-

tion, the way it developed, we did recognize him as the agent in the

transaction.

When I got to Bogota and talked with the Minister of War on

various things, I found him one of the highest type men you could
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meet anywhere, I found that Restrepo, for example, was not with
that minister in power the right man to, in my opinion, transact any
further business for us. I then obtained another agent, Samper,
who socially was better connected to be able to talk properly with
the Minister of War there than Restrepo was ; and in saying that I
want to make very plain there was no thought, in getting Samper,
that there was any payment beyond Samper to the Minister of War.
When I made those arrangements with Samper I stated to him the
base price that we would expect for our cartridges and left it to him
to add any commission, if he could, to that, and had in mind, of
course, a reasonable commission, and it has always been such on
some small business we have obtained.

The Chairman. Would Restrepo consent to any plan that might
deprive him of his commission?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. His contract with us was on commercial ammuni-

tion and not on military.

The Chairman. Did he never sell any military ammunition?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. After that he did not.

METHODS OF DOING BUSINESS—ARGENTINA

Senator Barbour. The next exhibit is a letter from the Remington
agents in Buenos Aires, Palmer & Co., dated August 22, 1933, which
I will ask to have marked with the appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 983 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2627.)

Senator Barbour. I would like to begin reading at the bottom of

page 1.

Rifle model 33 was formerly priced at $3.30 each. Mr. Werns would like to
get this price on order 1193. If, however, this is impossible it is understood
that you will bill at $3.80, which is the price according to list no. 14, that is to
say, these rifles should be billed, at all events, at the prices prevailing before
you sent your cable of the 19th, and this applies to the model 34 also.

Now, this is the interesting part [continues reading]

:

With reference to the packing of the three model 34's in each shipment, please
put them in boxes such as are used for the model 33, so that the customhouse
inspector will not notice any difference at all in the boxes when the cases are
opened. Furthermore, please put the boxes which contain the model 34's right
in the center of the case, that is the center from side to side and also the center
from top to bottom. If these instructions are all carefully followed it will be
very bad luck indeed if the customhouse inspector discovers that there are
some repeating rifles in this shipment. Mr. "Werns is not only anxious to save
the additional duties on repeating rifles, but even more he wishes to avoid the
delays incident to the entry of repeating caliber 22 rifles. Strictly speaking,
repeating rifles of any caliber should not come into the country at all.

Then, the last paragraph [reading] :

In one of the paragraphs above we have been rather explicit about the pack-
ing of the rifles for Mr. Werns and we have done so because of what happened
in connection with a recent shipment for Gonzales & Russell. In our letter of
June 6 we asked you to pack the caliber 44's in the center of the cases, and
your letter of June 23 indicated that you understood just what was wanted.
But apparently the man who actually did the packing did not understand it at
all, because in each case or cases (we do not know at the moment how many
there were) the small calibers have been put around the outside of the case
from top to bottom and the 44's have been put in the center of the case also
from top to bottom. The result is that as soon as the top of the case is lifted.
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one sees immediately tlie caliber 44's, which is, of course, just what we wanted
to avoid. The customhouse inspector immediately discovered that the case did
not contain only small calibers and the large calibers have been seized.

That is a letter, as I have said, from your agent in Buenos Aires
to the Remington Arms Co. in Bridgeport, Conn. Now, can you
explain why any such action as that is necessary?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. They are not necessary and they are contrary to

our policy. That was not handled by me. It was one of those rou-
tine things that came in in the course of business. Those 33 and 34
rifles are both .22-caliber boys' rifles. The 33 rifle is a single-shot

.22-caliber rifle. The 34 is a repeating rifle of the same caliber.

Senator Barbour. Is that bolt action or a pump gun ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. Both bolt action. They are the same in everj^

respect, except the 33 is a single shot and the 34 is a repeating type.

The invoices on that transaction were made properly, as 34 repeat-
ing rifles and not 33 single shot rifles. It is unfortunate that we did
follow the instructions of the agent in packing the 34 rifles in the 33
boxes. It is contrary to our policy, as I told you before, and I can
let you have photostatic copies of the invoices, showing that they
were billed correctly as 34 repeating rifles. In my experience with
anything going through a customs, the invoice is the governing
document rather than the method of packing.

I am not trying in any way to excuse this. It is wrong. We do
not do it and we have not been doing it. It is one of those things
that Avent through in the ordinary course of business without being
discovered.

Senator Barbour. That is the only instance you know of or Mr.
Davis knows of.

Mr. Davis. Senator, this occurred about a month after I went with
Remington. It is a slip and I do not condone any such action.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. I wondcr who did? If you did not know about
it, Mr. Monaghan, who did know about it?

Mr. Monaghan. The letter was passed along to the members of
the department. I don't know whether I saw it in passing or whether
it was just passed along. Without any instructions of what to do
with it or anything else, this clerk took it and as it was received by
him without any advice at all, he thought it was all right to do this.

Senator Barbour. You do not know whether he got any benefit in

doing this ?

Mr. Monaghan. I don't know.
Mr. WoHLFORTH. You make the model 33 and 34 in larger caliber?

Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; we do not. The .22 caliber rifle is the
only caliber rifle that is made up in the 33 and 34 models.
Mr. WoHLFORTH. What about the 44?
Mr. Monaghan. The .44 caliber is not made by ujs in any rifle at

the present time.

METHODS OF DOING BUSINESS BRAZIL

Senator Barbour. Now the next letter, dated October 21, 1929, is

from Mr. Barata, Remington agent in Brazil, which I offer for
appropriate marking.

(The document referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 984 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2629.)
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Senator Barbour. It a]ipears that a similar situation existed in

that country to the one in Mexico. The letter speaks of a Christmas
list and a monthly payment to a War Department employee.

Mr. Chairman, the names are so difficult for me to recite, I will

just simply say that the letter states:

Last year Mr. Kuhlen distributed Christmas presents amounting to $300
amongst liis friends.

Then the names are listed there.

The amounts spent on each person were as follows

—

Mr. MoNAGHAN. That is 150 milreis. In our figures it roughly
means 5 or 7 cents to the milrei.

Senator Barbour. There is a general, a captain, a colonel, a cap-

tain, a major, a mister, a consul, a colonel, a captain, and a mister,

and they range all the way from 150, 140, 140, 240, 240, 700, 300,

150, 240, to 200 milreis apiece.

Then the letter goes on to say, Mr. Chairman and gentlemen

:

The onlj' person who has been rendering us valuable services just now
has been Mr. Araujo, of Rio. He has been giving me prompt information
about the applications from our clients that arrive at the War Department.
When I give an application to a client for signature, I immediately advise
Araujo. He is on the lookout for it in Rio and puts it before the minister
for dispatch as soon as it arrives at the War Department.

If you are going to decide to discontinue the practice of giving Christmas
presents to any Government officials from Rio as well as from S. Paulo, I

think that you should make an exception in the case of Mr. Araujo. A
Christmas gratification to him in addition to what he gets every month will

act as an encouragement to his continuing to give us his good services In

Rio.

In other words, this party was on your pay roll with a number
of other army men—at least they are officers of different rank

—

who received—what would 700 milreis amount to? About $400?
Mr. Davis. $35 or $40.

Senator Barbour. $35 or $40?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. $35 or $40; yes.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. May I state here. Senator, that we examined
Mr. Barata's expense account and learned Mr. Araujo was receiv-

ing 330 milreis per month for 14 months, beginning in 1929, and
that Mr. Florambel received 2 months' payments. Is that correct?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. That is correct.

Senator Barbour. And his function was to give you prompt in-

formation about the applications from clients that arrived at the
War Department?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. The function of it?

Senator Barbour (reading) :

When I give an application to a client for signature, I immediately advise
Araujo. He is on the lookout for it in Rio and puts it before the Minister
for dispatch as soon as it arrives at the War Department.

Do you think he passed on any of the money?
Mr, Monaghan. To the best of my knowledge, this Mr. Araujo

he speaks of is one of the clerks in the War Department. As I

said, this was all for commercial business. We have a large com-
mercial business in Brazil. It is subject to the same restrictions

as we spoke of in some other countries. Import licenses have to be
obtained for rifle cartridges and shotgun cartridges, and all kinds

83876—35—PT 11 11
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of red tape. After those permits are issued by the War Office, they
are transmitted by cable or letter to the consul at point of shipment..

We have to go through the routine of applying to the consul in

New York continually to learn if the permits have come in for the

orders that we have received so as to tie them together.
After we learn of the permits being in, we have to w^rite a letter

to the consul outlining the shipments we are going to make against
the license, present it to the steamship company, before they will

issue a shipping permit.
This man in the War Office was essential to us in getting the

permits properly transmitted to the consul in New York and prop-
erly itemized. Those items of cartridges are somewhat compli-
cated in their description, many different items of them, and we felt

it was worth our while really to pay this tip to the man in the War
Department to see that it was properly followed.

Senator Barbour. Unless there are some further questions, that,

is all on that matter.

The Chairman. Have you discontinued the practice of making
Christmas gifts to these people?
Mr. MoNAGHAN. I believe we have discontinued the Christmas

gifts. The only man we have been making any payments to, I

believe Mr. Wohl^orth will verify—having checked into it and ascer-

tained—was Mr. Aranjo.

Mr. WoHLFORTH. There is one other man, monthly payments for 2'

months, Florambel.
Mr. MoNAGiiAX. I do not know just who he is. but I imagine in the-

same division of the War Office.

The Chairman. The general practice of playing Santa Claus has
been discontinued?
Mr. Monaghan. There have been very few cases that I know of.

This is one of them.
Senator Barbour. Mr. Chairman, I am very glad to go on. I

have got quite a few left, and I will do it as rapidly as I can.

(At this point there ensued an informal discussion off the record

after which the proceedings were resumed as follows:)

Senator Barbour. I will go along as rapidly as I can, because L
do not want to hold anybody, witnesses or otherwise.

Next is a letter dated January 31, 1930. from Rugge to Barata,
which I offer for appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 985" and is

included in the appendix on p. 2630.)

Senator Barbour. I will read the second paragraph of that letter

;

Your letter dated January 7 confirms the cableg:ram you sent covering your
visit to the Rio Embassy in conjunction witli tlie embargo and detained ship-

ments. It is certainly good to note that there continues to be prospects of the
Minister of War allowing the shipments held up to pass into the hands of the
consignees and we hope that ere this letter reaches you something has been
done in this regard.

Those prospects with the Minister of War must have been fairly

good, it seems to me, if you have a man in the Brazilian department,
as you say, giving tips to watch things for you.

Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; I do not believe from what I know, that

(hat man would be able to do an3^thing for us in watching a situa-

tion as mentioned here. This is after the permits have been issued

and shipments have been made, some trouble may arise J own there,
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local or temporary, and they immediately embargo everything, even

the items which are in transit, and hold them in the customs house

at the port of entry. Then it is a question of the Minister of War
lifting that embargo, and I am quite sure that this clerk would not

be of any assistance to us that way.
Senator Bakbour. Do you have anybody who would be of assist-

ance to you?
Mr. MoNAGiiAN. No, sir.

Senator Barbour. You have no connections in that respect?

Mr. MoNAGiiAN. No, sir.

Senator Barbour. Sometime in June 1930, Mr. Barata tried to do

some business with the Brazilian Government and considered select-

ing an intermediary. He wrote you on June 23, 1930, a letter, which
I ask be appropriately numbered.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 986 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2630.)

Senator Barbour. I will read from the bottom of the first page of

that exhibit:

I prel'erred, therefore, 8ome firm that has not ouly been selling to the Gov-
ernment but that also has enough pull and power to obtain the Government's
preference to a proposition it offers irrespective of how attractive other propo-

sitions made by different concerns may look t^ the Government. I found this

firm, one of the partners of whieli is Dr. tMrmiuo de Mello who is a son-in-law

of President Washington Luiz. There are two other partners who are very
well known in Government circles. The name of one of them is Dr. Max
Leitao with whom I instituted friendship and dined together a couple of
times.

Now it was about this time, or shortly thereafter, that the Bra-
zilian revolution of 1930 broke out, and one of the issues that brought
about that uprising was the wholesale graft in the regime in power
at the time.

On page 2 of this same letter I would like to read a passage which
reads in part as follows

:

He told me furthermore and confidentially that the business for the Euro-
pean factories was obtained through intervention by their respective ambas-
sadors. That the Italian Ambassador upon knowing what the price quoted
by Nobel was went personally to the President of the Republic and obtained
his consent to cutting down the share given to the British factory and giving
a part of the order to the Italian factory. He also confirmed that the Ameri-
can factory's bid was turned down.

Can you tell us, any of you gentlemen—Mr. Monaghan particu-
larly, or Mr. Beebe—if ambassadors act in this way as salesmen for
munitions.
Mr. Beebe. We have no positive information on the subject, but

our agents at times have intimated that their governments assisted

them in making sales. Just in what way. I do not know.
Senator Barbour. Do you know anything about it, Mr. Mon-

aghan ?

Mr. Monaghax. To the same effect as Mr. Beebe has just said.

That is all.

Senator Barbour. On page 3 of this letter your agent Barata seems
to think that Souza Sampaio & Cia., the firm which was selected
to act as intermediary in his proposed business, is even more influ-

ential than ambassadors, because in the third paragraph on the third
page he says

:
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Witli the connections I have made I can assure you that no Government
business shall be given in the future to any of our European competitors
without our being given a break. I dare say that a firm as influential with the
Government as Souze Sampaio & Cia., Ltda., can shut out any competitors
having even Ambassadors as intermediaries.

It was a pretty good connection, in other words, he was sug-
gesting ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. I would say he was bragging, in any event,
because he has never been successful in getting any military busi-
ness for us in Brazil.

Senator Barbour. He never got any business for you, Mr.
Monaghan, and he never appointed any agent?

Mr. Monaghan. Not at that time. It was only recently we got
an agent to act on military business. By the way, I want to modify
that a bit by saying in 1933, I believe it was, we did have a sale to

the Federal Govermnent at Rio, through an agent we appointed on
.50 caliber cartridges at that time, and it was not any of these firms

he mentioned.
Senator Barbour. With this company's position of force or power

with the Government, why do you suppose that was the case? Do
you suppose there was any graft there between them and the Gov-
ernment in turn ?

Mr. Monaghan. I do not know.
Senator Barbour. I am not trying to say that you are a party to

that, but I am trying honestly to find out whether there are link-

ujis Avhich are detrimental and harmful, entirely aside from the
problem which confronts anybody who has to sell munitions and
I am convinced that there is a lot of graft down there, from the
study which I have made since I have been on the committee. It
is pretty evident. I think everybody feels that is really so. It is

not that I am blaming the American manufacturer alone for that
situation. I think he has got a situation he has got to face or keep
out of the market, but we want to try and have the whole picture
in the end here, gentlemen. That is my point of view on it, and
anything you can do to help us on it, is just what we are after.

Xow I Avould like to read from a letter of Mr. Monoghan to Mr.
Barata, under date of August 8, 1930, which I offer for appropriate
number.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 987" and is

included in the appendix on p. 2632.)

Senator Barbour. That reads in part

:

We absolutely agree with you that in government business, the prime
essential is to liave the right connection ; otherwise price, quality, or other
considerations are of no avail.

Fiuthermore, it is necessary to nurse these contracts from time to time

;

but the extent of the time and money to be employed has to be gaged by
the potentiiil business that might ensue. Before long you will no doubt know
more on this score and in particular the prices we would have to quote in

Older to obtain the business. Then we can tell if we can meet competition.

Now you say yourself to your man in Brazil that price, quality,

and other considerations are of no avail, and that it is essential to

have the right connection. Now is that the proposition? Do you
mean to say, if you can get the right indi"\ddual, that he, without
any gratuities, or anything of the kind, is the fellow who can get

the business?
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Mr. MoNAGHAN. Oh, no. First off, in business dealings I think
the most important factor is that of confidence in the man with wliom
you are dealing.

Senator Barbour. That is true.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. And it follows from that that he won't liave any
chance at all, they won't listen to him as to price, quality or any
of those things, unless he is a man in whom you know 30U can have
confidence for fulfillment of anything he enters into.

The second part of that is again reminding him to keep away
from these rainbows. I have had a number of occasions with Barata-

chasing rainbows down there, and I wanted to keep him in the com-
mercial business, which is the big part of our business, and wanted
him to put his time on that instead of playing all around with these

things.

Senator Barbour. Mr. Chairman, we will go to the next exhibit,

in which you, Mr. Monaghan—I think it is; the name is cut off at

the bottom, but I am quite sure it is—give a little sales talk. Of
course, at that time you did not know that the E. I. du Pont de
Nemours Co. would interest themselves in you. I offer that letter

for appropriate number.
(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 988" and is

included in the appendix on page 2633.)

Senator Barbour. However, I will read some of that letter

[reading] :

We have to hui'i'.v in order to catch today's mail. The latest news we liave

this moming is that the Brazilian Government resigned and the new people
are in power. Wliat the developments are within the next few days remains
to 'oe seen and no doubt we will have your cable advices as to prospects for

business.

Of course, the change in government is no absolute reason to our way of
rhinking that there will be no further inquiries for Government supplies, but
rather we are inclined to think the new Government will consider it necessary
to replenish their stocks of cartridges and perhaps even build up the stocks
beyond the point at which they were before the trouble. Of course, we are
wondering what your status will be with the new Government, that is to say,

if you will be accepted as a friend in view of your negotiations for attempting
ro sell those formerly in power and we await with interest your advices on
this point.

Then, to skip to page 3, the letter continues [reading] :

In all these negotiations for Government business, you as well as ourselves
have been working up toward the top instead of the way some big companies
do—from the top down. In other words, you find what you believe is a good
intermediary and then try to reach the Minister of War or whoever else has
authority in placing orders. The du Pont Co. makes it a practice of finding

out who is the right man to work with, the Minister of War, the head of the
Ordnance Department, or whoever else it may be, and then asks that authori-

tative person who it is believed would be a good agent to apiK)int for negotia-

tions. But again we want to say no details are to be arranged by you with
an intermediary without our authority after we have received complete dfta
from you.

Now, that you and the du Pont Co. are one, you can sort of work
both ends against the middle, because you begin at the bottom to

start working up, and you report that they begin at the top and work
down.
Mr. Monaghan. If you will read the whole letter and tie it in

with the letter before of Barata and the numerous people he is talk-

ing about, who never reach any conclusion, " that man is good to

work with ", " this man is good to work with ", " the other knows
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how to go about the business; he is acceptable to the Government."
I am trying to tell him how to stop this playing around so much and
get a person who was acceptable to the Government.

Senator Barbour. The interesting thing, as I read it—there is a

lot in the letter here which I certainly am not avoiding because I feel

it would help you if it were read—that certainly is not so.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. This letter is giving him a calling down for the

way he conducted his business, or attempted to conduct it, and got

nowhere.
Senator Barbour. Do you want all of it read?
The Chairman, It will all be in the record.

Mr. Monaghan. That is enough for me.
Senator Barbour. I am not trying to avoid it, but it is a long let-

ter and a lot of people want to get home. It brings out the point,

however, that you made, very clearly : This man that you wrote to

is finding a man at the bottom and working up from him, and then
you go on and tell him what you feel is the du Pont procedure,
which is the reverse,

Mr. Monaghan. If you get the right man that way, he can be of

much assistance to the War Department or Ordnance Department
in the way of ballistics, which many of these nations do not have.

Senator Barbour. The next letter is dated November 30, 1932,

W'hich I feel is of considerable interest to the committee, and I
would like to read the first two paragraphs. This is a private and
confidential letter from you, Mr. Monaghan, to your man, Barata,
that we have been talking about.

I will offer it for appropriate number.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 989 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2635.)

Senator Barbour. I read

:

Since we received your letter saying the Government was going to close up
the local ammunition factory in Sao Paulo, we have given a lot of thought to

that situation, for we recognize it is a mighty important one to our interests.

Wliat we are going to say to you in this letter we want treated strictly confi-

dential.

In the first place we want to tell you that nearly all the companies in this

country and Europe wh.o would be benefited by having the local factory out of
the way, agreed some time ago not to enter bids with Mr. Matarazzo for his
company, for we all felt by standing off the factory would eventually fail. This
is the reason we never turned a sympathetic ear to any of the overtures made
through you for us to become interested in the purchase of the company.

Now, when did the American munitions companies agree that this

Brazilian munitions factory ^vould fail? Do you know when the

agreement was arrived at?

Mr. Monaghan, I never knew of any agreement directly with us

on that proposition. I heard in Europe in 1929 that "Winchester had
been apj^roached on the purchase of that factory. I never questioned

Winchester at any time after that whether they were or not. But I

understood the}^ were not going to do anything about it. In my
opinion, at that time, at the time of that letter, all the ammunition
companies were in such financial condition I did not believe they

would be interested in paying any big money to purchase that

factory there.

Senator Barbour. Then you were not really quite right in telling

him. Of wliat he would infer, as I would, in reading the letter, that
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you knew that all the manufacturers were probably standin<»: off so

that there would not be any bid and the thin^T would flop ?

Mr. MoNAGHAN. That is not the true picture; no, sir.

Senator Barbour. I will read paragraph 4, if I may [reading] :

It might be that some incentive could be given tlie Government official who
was responsible for the scrapping of the plant to see that he went througli with
these plans. With all the ammunition factories practically broke nowadaj's,
not much could be done in the way of paying worthwhile money, but we are
thinking the result possibly could be accomplished if handled diplomatically,

at a vei-y small cost.

Now, is this a suggestion that your agent, or anyone, trj" to pro-

hibit anybody or try to corrupt anybody ?

Mr. Monaghan. No, sir; that letter was written by me without
anyone in the company knowing that I wrote it.

Later on—and I can give you the copies if you desire—I asked
Barata if he had received it, and he said he never received the letter.

He said, " Send me a copy of it."

I said, " No, too much time has elapsed now. Just forget it."

So that this letter, so far as I know, never reached Barata.
Mr. WoiiLFORTH. Have you that letter with you?
Mr. Monaghan. Yes, sir. Do you care to have it?

Mr. WoHLFORTH. I would like to see it, if you have it.

Senator Barbour. I will read it on to the finish, Mr. Chairman
[reading] :

What we want you to do is to watch this situation from every angle and add
any propaganda you can with the proper Government officials to the end that
the plant be scrapped.

This is a rather sketchy plan we are presenting to you and you want to be
careful you do not make any false moves. As a matter of fact you should do
nothing where you would appear as a principal. First and foremost we want
every bit of information from you as to what transpires and is intended in

connection with this local plant. Your suggestions as to what could be done in

furthering our interests in connection with this factory will be anxiously
awaited by return air mail.

Mr. Monaghan. I had a letter from Barata prior to writing this

letter, saying that it was the thought—in fact, a good deal more
than the thought—of the central government at Rio de Janeiro to

close this Matarazzo ammunition plant near Sao Paulo because in

the revolution, prior to this letter, the Matarazzo plant had sup-

plied ammunition to the rebels at Sao Paulo. They made both
types, both the military and the commercial. We felt that if they
moved the military equipment to the Federal ammunition plant at

Rio de Janeiro they would not have any interest in the equipment
for the commercial ammunition.

Senator Barbour. I see.

Now, Mr. Chairman, I do not want to add anything in conclusion

of my own, because I do not know that it is necessary or appropriate,

but it seems to me that this whole story here which has to do with
many instances which seem alike to me. although they may be de-

j^cribed differently, are simply cases of where the American manu-
facturer is helpless in the situation. He has got to indulge in these

practices or he does not get any business.

And, by the same token, the purchaser is interested first in it

because of what he selfishly makes out of it. By the same token,

again, it seems to me that the greater his purchases can be, the more
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graft he makes, when we come back to the stimulation of munitions
that has been mentioned time after time, and the part that the
receiving of graft plays in that.

I look upon it as being a problem in the situation more than what
he is selling.

Mr. MoNAGHAN. May I say, Senator, that I have traveled in some
Latin American countries, some little time in China, and many other
countries, and never in any of my business experience have I paid
one cent of graft.

The Chairman. Why do you countenance it on the part of any-
one representing you?
Mr. Monaghan. We do not.

The Chairman. You have.
Mr. Monaghan. Well—I do not know of any case.

The Chairman. How?
Mr. Monaghan. I do not know of any case.

The Chairman. You have had reports made to you of what it was
necessary to do. You have reason to know that those things were
being done by your agents, have you not?
Mr. Monaghan. No, sir.

The Chairman. What prompted you to make the contribution to

the campaign fund?
Mr. Monaghan. I explained to you, and the record shows, it was

more of a personal matter of friendship with Dr. Morales.
The Chairman. In a letter of October 4, 1930, to Mr. Barata in

Brazil, upon what authority did you undertake to declare as to what
the policy of the du Pouts was in their sales of military supplies,

Mr. Monaghan?
Mr. Monaghan. Of working from the top, so as to find out the

man who was persona grata to the authority, you mean?
The Chairman. Yes. Your exact remark was this

:

The du Pont Co. makes it a practice of finding out wlio is the right man to
work with, the Minister of War, the head of tlie Ordnance Department, or who-
ever else it may be, and tlien asks that authoritative person who it believes
would be a good agent to appoint for negotiations.

Mr. Monaghan. I had known for a number of years various
men in the du Pont organization, and naturally talked things over
with them of mutual interest. I do not recall who in particular
would be the author of such an idea.

Senator Barbour. I might just mention, Mr. Chairman, if I may,
that these exhibits that I presented have not all been numbered, but
should be before another set comes into existence.

The Chairman. The reporter will take care of that.

The committee will recess until 10 o'clock tomorrow morning.
(Thereupon, at 5 p.m., the hearing adjourned until tomorrow,

Tuesday, Dec. 11, 1934, at 10 a.m.)
This concludes that part of the testimony known as " Part XL

Chemical Preparations Following the War and Interchange of
Military Information." At this point the committee took up the
question of " Relationship of the Munitions Makers to the Govern-
ment and International Connections in the Chemical Industry."
(See Part XII.)
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Exhibit No. 909

[File : Publicity bureau. C. K. Weston. European correspondence!

London, December JO, 1920.

Mr. Charles A. Meiade.

Vice President, E. I. du Pont dc 'Nemours d Co.,

Wilmington, Del., V. S. A.

Dear Mr. Meade : My mission seems to be going fairly well ; I have met a
number of our American newspaper correspondents, and have, I think, suc-
ceeded in selling them our idea. One cannctt tell of course, until the results

begin to appear in American newspapers.
I am sending you clippings giving details of the debate in the House of

Commons, along with other matter which I think is interesting.

It appears that the vote does not end the matter for the bill goes auto-
matically to a committee which, as far as I can understand, will discuss such
changes as it thinks should be submitted on final passage. My understanding
is that there will be no changes, and that the action on second reading is,

in the natural course of parliamentary procedure, likely to stand throughout.
This committee meets again on Monday, and I suppose will then finish up its

work.
I believe that the great strong point to be brought out by our friends in the

United States Senate is, that with Japan, France, and England all protecting
their dye industries, the United States is left as the only hojpe for the Ger-
mans. They will, without doubt, concentrate over there and give us a par-
ticularly hard fight.

You will notice in the report of the debate and in the other clippings that
the British bill had exactly the same kind of opposition as that with which
we had to contend at Washington. The minority of the consumers raised the
same cry about poor quality and insuflScient quantity. Their statements of
so-called facts were as inaccurate as those made by the opposition to us.

I shall remain here next week to see this bill through and to continue my
efforts to stoke up the interest of those whom I came to see.

The correspondents in Paris report to the offices here so it is apparent that
if the men in London get the right angle it will be wonderfully helpful.

In Paris I shall devote my energy very largely to bringing the correspondents
in contact more closely with the American sources of news, at the same time
trying to give them the proper angle so that they will appreciate the importance
of the news.

It is difficult to make a definite report on what I think I have accomplished
here, but my feeling is that the work is well worth wiiile.

If things continue to move along well I shall be able to leave here early in
January. I hope to return on the Imperator which I think sails January 8.

Will you advise Byrne of the contents of this letter, and pass along to him
some of the clippings, so that lie too may keep informed and be ready to take
such action as suggests itself from your end.

Very truly yours. (S) C. K. Weston.
W/DGO.

Exhibit No. 910

[File : Publicity bureau. C. K. Weston, European correspondence]

[Draft]

Wilmington, Del., Dec. 3, 1920.
*Weston.
Understand Signor Tittoni has raised League of Nations interest in national

monopolies and their danger to world peace (Stop) Urge attention of

* Pencil markings. 2559
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League be drawn to clanger of I'esumption of German organic chemical ;infl

dye monopoly (Stop) This is l»y far the most menacing and deserves im-

mediate attention of League who might welcome American support on a
chemical disarmament measure (Stop) You cannot destroy organic chemi-
cal factories having peace functions but must ensure world redistribution

*of organic chemical producing capacity by support of national protective

legislation (Stop) This is a critical measure on which all disarmament
schemes must stand or fall (Stop) Disaimament is a farce while Germany
retains organic chemical monopolies (Stop) You can get full details in

disarmament chapter or Major Lefebure's book now held by Whetmore, British

Dyestuffs Corporation, Imperial House, Kingsway. He *has been cabled to

confer (Stop) Suggest consult Lord Moulton on best means to obtain early

consideration of this question by League (Slop)

Exhibit No. 911

[Moulton file]

MEMORANDUM BY MAJOR LEFEBURE, DATED LONDON, FEBRUARY 1, 1921

The chief points which I thinli we should both bear in mind in connection
with dye legislation and disarmament questions are the following:

I. Dye legislation promotes the redistribution of organic chemical capacity
throughout the world. This move from Germany monopoly toward world
equilibrium will not, as some of your press stated, perpetuate chemical warfare.
It will remove the biggest incentive for its use ; that is, the monopoly of pro-
duction.
You will find the whole case stated in my memorandum which has been pub-

lished in the Chemical and Metallurgical Engineering Journal for January 5th,

1921. I left this statement as a straight uncorrected dictation with General
Fries and Mr. Poucher, and apparently they have thought fit to give it publicity.

II. Everything possible should be done in America to include in the treaty
or in official disarmament discussions the conditions that the relevant clauses
of the Treasy of Versailles shall be applied to that huge arsenal, the I. G.
These clauses are as follows;
(() Article 168.

This demands limitation of munitions and war material production to

factories or works approved by the Allied and Associated powers.
Numbers of plants in the German dye combine were either converted, adapted,

or actually built for the production of poison gases or nitric acid for explosives.

Article 168 gives us the right to restrict the number of these plants. As the

use of poison gases in Germany is forl)idden by the treaty, Germany should

not be allowed to retain any of those plants which were used for poison-gas
production. There can be no other possible way of reading article 168 as far

as the plants actually built for poison gases and war nitric acid are concerned.

Article 168 refers to any war material whatever, an unqualified statement.

(ii) Article 169.

This requires that any special plant intended for the manufacture of war
material, except such as may be recognized as necessary for equipping the

authorized strength of the German Army, must be surrendered to be destroyed

or rendered useless.

In addition to certain specific poison gas plants a large proportion of the

Haber process capacity should logically, be dealt with under this article of the

treaty.
What are the numerical facts of the ease?
About four thousand tons per luonth of poison gas material were produced

during 1918 by the German dye combine in converted or expanded dye plants.

This enormous output represented about one-third of the pre-war German dye
capacity, and covers a number of new plants built specifically for poison gas.

To leave them untouched while article 169 exists is to admit that these plants

represent authorized equipment for the German Army ! This is the anomalous
but logical conclusion of the present situation.

With regard to the Haber process, Germany has capacity of at least two
hundred thousand tons of nitrogen in excess of all her pre-war needs. She
either requires this for:

—

(ft) World monopoly.

* Pencil markings.
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If she acliieves this we are leaving her witli a criminal advantage in eventual
explosives production, seeing that the dye and nitrating plants of the I. G. are
all literally within a stone's throw of Oppan and Mersebourg. Germany has
a complete and mighty arsenal left untouched by the Allies.

(&) Actually contemplated militarif ^^e.

Tlie Governnient support afforded to the Haber developments is consistent

with the military use of the plants. Whatever its alternative peace time uses,

this enormous excess Haber capacity is an exceedingly weighty military factor

far in excess in quantity to the standard laid down in Article 169.

(iii) Article 171.

This forbids the manufactui'e of asphyxiating gases and analogous materials
in Germany.
The point arises as to the value of this denial to Germany of the right to-

manufacture such substances. Obviously, in case of war, the country pos-
sessing these factories and willing to use them for such purposes, could do so.

But let us take the case of Germany. It may well be there, however, that
the possibility of rapidly converting, unhampered forty thousand tons per annum
of producing capacity (a low estimate of the German poison gas production by
the I.G.) for the use of vital war chemicals would be an important factor in

her decision to make war.
It may he that by taking certain measures in peace regarding these potential

arsenals, production of poison gases in war would be prevented because war
itself would be prevented, and the need to produce would not arise. This is not
in the least an unreasonable conclusion. Chemical warfare was rapidly develop-
ing to meet the large number of technical and military situations which had
formerly been met by the use of explosives. The League and treaty propose to
limit the possibility to use explosives by actually destroying and limiting ex-
plosives plants in Germany. It is therefore a fair conclusion that the unfettered
use of this enormous capacity for filling shell and other devices with chemicals,
alternative to explosives, the latter not being available, would be a serious factor
in a decision of war. This advantage would be comparable with the possession
of a large, rapidly mobilizable force or a large number of guns, or a fleet.

(The I. G. itself produced 15.000 tons of explosives per month and can produce
much more, however.)

It is therefore important to consider what steps could be taken in peace to

supervise these German plants in such a way that any undiscovered attempt to
produce chemical munitions would be impossible ; in other words, to neutralize
this inducement for war. In our opinion article 171 is almost valueless unless
some control and inspection of these plants is arranged to ensure its execution.
However unpalatable to Germany, such action is merely a logical conclusion of
rheir abuse of the possession of this organic chemical world monopolv.

(iv) Article 172.

This obliges Germany to disclose the nature and mode of manufacture of all

explosives, toxic substances, or other like chemical preparations used by them in

war or prepared by them for the purpose of being so used.
It may not be obvious, but it is nevertheless true that the full disclosure de-

manded above would function as a measure of prohibition against the use of
poison gas by Germany in any future war. A ]ioint which cannot be too strongly
emphasized is the following : War chemicals lose a large chance of decisive use
liy an enemy if one is aware of their nature and mode of preparation. Knowl-
edge of these facts at once enables us to develop protective measures. This is

the supreme lesson of the chemical move and counter move of the last war.
Has Germany disclosed these secrets? It does not appear so. An analysis of

her production of poison gas and use against us on the front reveals the signifi-

cant fact that all the important discoveries and research decisions were made
in time for production to commence in 1915, 1916, and in a few cases l9l7. This
implies that a vast amount of research whose results never appeared on the
front must have occurred subsequent to this, and these discoveries and informa-
tion are infinitely more significant if left unexposed.
We are not yet even in possession of full information on the manufacture of

tliose substances whose plants the " Hartley Mission '" identified in 1919. vriiat

detailed knowledge have we, for example, on tiie German production of carbon
monoxide for phosgene, yet allied manufacturers stumbled at this and similar
problems. Phosgene production was removed to Mersebourg, and the plant there
must have embodied many improvements which we should know.
We must demand the full execution of this article of the treaty.
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Exhibit No. 912

l[File, publicity bureau, Thomas R. Sbipp—Correspondence dyes. No date from 1921 filo
i

Memorandum

Our present and proposed activities.

For Mr. Atherton.
From Mr. Braddock.

I. Written publicity

:

In conducting this we have recourse to two media

:

A. Tliomas R. Sliipp & Company Iiandles news material and illustrated

mats from Washington ; specializes on the country press and
newspapers in smaller cities.

B. Bronson Batchelor, Inc., works along the following lines

:

1. Special articles in New York daily and Sunday newspapers.
2. Editorials to 1,025 newspapers, one in each city.

3. Illustrated mats to selected newspapers, varying from 400 to

1,025, according to circumstances.
4. Special articles supplied through syndicates—illustriation

:

Herty full-page articles to 40 leading Sunday newspapers.
5. Member of his staft" supplying special articles and telegraphic

items re Finance Committee hearings, disarmament confer-
ence, administration backing, etc.

6. Supplies newspaper editors with statistical facts bearing on
the relationship of the organic chemical industry to the
public.

7. Publishes Current Opinion, a 4-page newspaper comprised
entirely of editorials upon the necessity of establishing a
selective embargo for the protection of the American dyes
industry.

8. Conducts the Institute of American Business, which mails
Current Opinion and other material to Senators, Con-
gressmen, and selected editors.

9. By daily conference learns latest situation and gives benefit of
his judgment based on intimate knowledge of what we are
doing.

II. Speakers' publicity : Letters were sent to chambers of commerce, Rotary
clubs, Kiwanis clubs, National and State conventions offering a speaker
on this subject. Somewhat over 200 requests for a speaker were received.

Using virtually all the time of

—

Dr. Charles T. Baylis, described on attached folder.

Hon. Gilbert A. Currie, former Congressman.
Dr. Elwood Hendrick, three times president of the Chemists Club.

Together with frequent engagements for

—

Dr. William H. Hale Dr. William H. Hunter
Dr. J. Merritt Matthews Dr. Charles S. Parsons
Prof. H. G. Byers Dr. Charles E. Coates
Prof. H. E. Simmons C. F. Williamson
Dr. W. Lee Lewis F. G. Moses
A. B. Carter Prof. H. K. Benson
Dr. J. Howard Matthews

We pay fee and expenses, varying from $40 to $100 each. Concentrating on
Indiana, Ohio, Illinois, Pennsylvania, Iowa, New York, Wisconsin, with
scattered engagements throughout the other States. Mr. Gleuzing and
Mr. Schmitz, together with a stenographer and typist, are devoting entire

time and a great deal of overtime to handling this speakers' bureau.
III. Personal interviews

:

A. Virtually all of Mr. Abbott's time is required calling on big men like

Mr. Firestone, Mr. Edison, Mr. Schwab, Mr. O'Reilly, Mr. Brisbane,
and other leading business men.

B. Mr. Weddell similai'ly is making and maintaining numerous con-
tacts, such as the Associated Advertising Clubs, selected firms which
sell materials and do business with some of the larger companies
in the industry, etc.

C. Mrs. Emmons is engaged in building up contacts with the women's
organizations, particularly in the 7 States enumerated in a pre-
ceeding paragraph.
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The object of all these contacts is

:

1. To educate individuals and organizations concerned with respect to

the necessity of the dye embargo.
2. To get them to send resolutions and personal letters to their Sena-

tors and Congressmen.
3. To get them to furnish interviews for newspapers, etc., etc.

Note.—There are other activities arising daily which cannot be fore-
seen and therefore cannot be enumerated in this outline. For illustration

:

This morning Stuart Godwin called on me to say that if we can supply
Frederick J. Haskin, of Washington, who is the accredited representative
of loO daily newspapers, some of them the largest in the United States,
with 100,000 leaflets on our subject, Mr. Haskin will be glad to advertise
the leaflet in his 130 newspapers and to mail these leaflets for us, mak-
ing no charge either for the advertising, for the mailing, nor for any
other expense connected with this. All we have to do is supply the leaflets

and he will do the rest.

Again, the Dye & Chemical Section of the "War Trade Board has sent
an innocent-looking letter to certain dye manufacturers, telling about an
application for an importation license by a certain mill. This kind of
innocent-looking, dangerous activity must be handled.

In view of the above, you will understand that this memorandum
attempts to be only a skeleton outline of some of our more important
activities.

(S) Harold Braddock.
Sept. 12, 1921. Harold Braddock.
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Exhibit No. 914

[E^le, Publicity Bureau, Lobby Inquiry—Legislation Dyes]

* Ir^nee du Pont
From P. S. du Pont.

(Address given by Dr. Wm. J. Hale, of the Dow Chemical Company, Midland,
-Michigan, before the Flint Rotary Club, Friday, December 16, 1921.)

THE WAR AFTEK THE WAR

Not until the middle of tlie nineteenth century do we find any real scientific

advances in the field of industry. The Bessemer process for the production of
steel inaugurated this period in the inorganic world ; simultaneously Perkin's
synthesis of a natural dye, mauve, marked the advent of synthetic dyes in the
organic \\orld. Discovery after discovery, invention after invention, aided and
stimulated the progress of man thereafter. The Anglo-Saxon directed his atten-
tion more particularly to the inorganic, whereas the Teuton devoted himself
primarily to the organic, though in no sense relinquishing the other. Scientific

progress was everywhere apparent, but the Germans were the only scientists to

sense the importance of great detail. In this no more favored field can be
conceived than organic chemistry, and thus by 1914 upwards of ten thousand
synthetic dyes and one thousand synthetic medicinals had fallen to the credit of
German endeavor. The Germans alone grasped the message of the future. It

was verily the voice of the ages, reverberating through aeons of civilization

:

•• Chemistry is the industry of tlie terrestrial sphere—the only industry given to

man. Inorganic chemistry is but a small part thereof, comprising less than the
one one-hundredth part of the organic domain, and the latter is doubling itself

every ten years. Organic chemistry dominates every man, woman, and child,

every nation." Is it any wonder that the Germans devoted themselves with all

vigor to the study of chemistry and especially to organic chemistry? Suffice it

to say that in actual scientific attainments Germany far surpassed all the other
civilized nations of the day. So far ahead was she that we seemed as mere
pygmies in comparison. Though we called the Germans barbarians, it was we
who were actually the barbarians in science, though in matters of business and
morals " barbaric " is far too mild a term to describe German perversions.

In the fall of 1913 Professor Haber sent word to the German war office that
the Oppau plant for synthetic ammonia was in readiness. Germany had nothing
more to fear from an English blockade against Chile saltpeter with an inde-

pendent source of ammonia and consequent nitric acid at home. War soon
followed, as you recall, and unforeseen hazards forced the Germans to fall back
upon their lines of defense.
On April 22, 1915, chemical warfare was first inti'oduced ; the Germans essayed

to discharge chlorine into the Canadian trenches. Had the German Army been
provided with masks and a plenteous supply of this chlorine, nothing could have
stayed their speedy approach to Calais. After numerous gases had been em-
ployed by the German Army, they finally threw over " mustard gas " against the
English at Ypres on July 12, 1917. A kind fate seemed ever to smile on the
Allies throughout the war. The Germans could not prepare more than 5 tons of
mustard gas per day. Had they hoarded their supply for later use in limitless

quantities what a different story would now be told.

At the peace conference the fates at last smiled upon Germany. The Allies

were here beset with many, many learned savants—men learned in all but the
science of clii^mistry, by which and for which the war was really waged. The
peace treaty was drawn up entirely from the standpoint of modern mediaevalism,
or that period just preceding the advent of chemistry in the world of industry,

and the result was appalling. Thus the " Bungle of Versailles " was given to

man and passed forthwith into obsolete history. Its four points, from the stand-
point of tlie future, may be characterized as follows

:

1. National hatre<ls engendered by silly apportionments of trivial territory.

2. Germany financially crippled but stirred to industrial activities, such as
will soon reinstate her in tiie position of world leader.

3. Germany deprived of those useless adjuncts of a nation's pride—her bat-

tleships—and thus saved from wasting her wealth on monstrosities of the
future.

Written in ink.
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4. As a gift from the gods there was left to Germany all of the implements
for future wars, and she was asked to develop tliem to her best ability.

What a tirade on justice ! The " Bungle of Versailles " aims to create in

Germany the greatest power for industry and for war on the face of the earth.
Oh, that there might have been just a few level-headed business men of science
in command at Versailles; men who knew not one damned thing about history
or economics, not one blessed thing about the wishes of Hottentot or Hindu

!

As matters now stand, what have we accomplished for the betterment of the
world? We have wrecked thousands upon thousands of homes and there are
some who wonder at the lack of confidence and diligence among us. Chemicals
comprised twenty-seven percent of the munition shells used by Germany at the
close of the war. The greatest German chemists today have already announced
that chemicals will henceforth constitute Germany's mightiest weapon for future
combat. We are at the very beginning of the great chemical and electrical age.

Can you imagine the leaders of science willing for one single moment to relin-

quish their prowess to legal advisors or diplomats when the honor and integrity
of their respective countries are at stake

!

In spite of this, our dreamers will tell you that chemical warfare is to be
banned by civilized nations. You never heard a real American chemist inti-

mate any such damned nonsense. He knows it is the future weapon for all

wars from now henceforth. The type of man striving to relegate chemical
warfare to antiquity is just that type who decried the use of gunpowder in
place of spears. When we have the most effective weapon of all time, when
we are made to realize that this weapon is the most humane ever introduced
into war by man, and when we come to know that the nation most advanced
scientifically is the nation who will have the greatest advantage, pray what
kind of being is he who will have us revert to savagery, making of war a sort
of huge slaughterhouse?
The next war, which will come in its time, will be waged entirely with chemi-

cals and high explosives, usually together. Combatants, as well as noncom-
batants, will be supplied with suits of armor—a la Jules Verne's " Men from
Mars "^the mask in itself will not suffice. The old-time military manoeuvers
must give way to chemical discipline. Airships iind dirigibles will constitute
our flying squadrons for offense and defense and our land armies for future
struggles will be officered entirely by trained chemists. Together with the
"Aery " and Army, we shall have need of the, fast cruisers of our Navy

;

cruisers with airplane landings, and also submarines, no doubt similarly
equipped. The aerial torpedo will have come into its own and be made the
carrier of our poison gases. Our battleships are things of the past. Tlie
Washington Conference now in session might just as well make the whole leap
as only a part. Destroy all battleships. They are of absolutely no use what-
soever either in offense or defense and it will be a godsend to man to be rid
of such monstrosities. Their only possible use today is as scarecrows for
smaller nations. Give me a spot well protected, such, for example, as the
Dardanelles. Give me a couple dozen airships well equipped with high explo-
sives and chemicals. Allow me a hundred or more aerists and I will defy the
combined fleets of the world. Not one vessel could ever get close enough to us
to do any material damage; we should not attempt to sink a single battleship.
Why waste heavy ammunition when it is so simple a task to annihilate the
crews

!

Let us now turn our attention to Germany. Let us visit the Badische-
Anilin und Soda-Fabrik at Ludwigshafen, and there note the manufacture of a
single dye. Let us take, for example, indigo, where some 800,000 pounds per
month constitute the output of one plant. Alcohol is passed over heated alu-
mina, thus becoming completely dehydrated into ethylene. Tliis gas is then
led into chlorine-water (or its equivalent) and the ethylene chlorohydrin thus
resulting is concentrated to the desired strength, whereupon it is heated with
aniline and the oily residue fused with caustic potash. From this fusion indigo
is at once obtained by solution in water and oxidation by air. Were Germany
to be drawn into war, this entire plant may l)e converted into a mustard gas
plant in less than an hour's time. In place of the aniline in the indigo process
above, a cheap chemical—sodium sulfide (obtained by the reduction of Glau-
ber's salt with coke)—is substituted, and the homogeneous solution thus ob-
tained is concentrated and treated in large tanks with hydrochloric acid. The
oil product settling out at the bottom is the well-known mustard gas and may
be drawn off at will. Truly this particular plant is a slumbering arsenal and
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the greatest of its kind today. Had Germany won tlie war, do you think that

she would have pennitted the du Pont powder plants or the Springfield arsenal

to resume business? Would not any normal child be able to answer this ques-

tion correctly? And yet our savants of Versailles could not understand!

As with the indigo process, so with many other processes used in dye

plants in Germany, each with a hidden terror for' her enemies. Those of U3

who have studied the situation and have felt it our bounden duty to acquaint

every true American with the conditions as they stand are constantly meeting

with" men blind by nature and men so stubborn that reason itself seem to

have left them, it is not for the chemical industry alone we plead. Far,

far beyond lies our vision! And we pray in all sincerity for the awakening

of this country to the importance of chemistry in every industry. From an
agricultural country we have graduated into an industrial country. Indus-

tries make for advancement of the Nation as Germany has so ofen pro-

claimed. An agricultural country can never wield an influence in international

affairs.

Upon the growth of our industries rests now or never the future great-

ness of America. Ninety-seven percent of our manufacturing output is con-

sumed in this country. Our agricultural products are, to a large extent, ex-

ported, but now with our increased industrial capacity, as a result of war
activities, why not turn tlie excess of cotton, of wheat, and of corn into finished

products for our own consumption? It is this great opportunity for chemical

endeavor that commands our immediate attention. We must develop chemi-

cally if we are to attain that highest enlightenment destined for men. There
is no other option. Men must think in terms of chemistry, whether they be

engaged in agriculture, mining, or manufacture. This is the greatest lesson

of the World War.
Take, for example, the question of fertilizers. Enormous quantities are

used in every State of the Union, and yet when we face the actual figures of

ammonium sulfate unrecovered from the byproducts in the burning of coking

coal in this country, we are amazed. For instance, in Michigan, $4,887,253 was
paid in 1919 for commercial fertilizers and during that same year $1,080,300

worth of ammonium sulfate was wasted in the burning of 1,385,000 tons of

coking coal. Can we call this efiiciency? And yet more appalling still are

those figures which represent the amount of benzene, toluene, xylene, and other

products obtained from the coal tar itself, likewise wasted in this and all

States.
Atmospheric nitrogen is now employed by foreign countries in the manu-

facture of fertilizers, though in this country we have scarcely passed the ex-

perimental stage. The Muscle Shoals plant, erected at an enormous cost by
the Government for the preparation of ammonia, is now idle—in fact, it never
did function— and if ever our Government is to show its eflScient organization,

not a moment, should pass till that plant is set into operation for the benefit

of our lands. Henry Ford deserves highest conmiendation for his munificient

offer to the Government to take over and operate the plant upon a practical

basis, holding it in readiness for Government purposes in case of war. No
other individual or pi-ivate organization has made, nor is likely to make, so

flattering an offer to the Government as that announced by Henry Ford. We
sincerely hope that our authorities will sense the importance of this plant to-

the betterment of our lands and to the industries of the country in time of

peace as well as in time of war.
The dye industry, in particular, claims the interest of every true American.

He realizes that here are untold possibilities for a marvelous future. Why
should not America lead? Shall we again permit Germany to conquer the

markets of the world in this field as in many others? Germany has once
more established herself in many countries as the leader in this industry.

Witness, for example, Mexico, where the German dyes are now again supplied

in linutless quantity. For the establishment of the dye industry, it is absolutely

necessary that we be given the strongest possible protection, such, for example,

as may obtain from a dye embargo. Such an embargo was asked for as an
additional clause to the Fordney tariff bill, but the "class legislation" bogy
scared our Congressmen, as they feared a continual line of other class pro-

tections. Our Congressmen, however, are for the most part lawyers and
cannot see through chemical eyes. It is the bounden duty of all Americans who
understand this subject to demcmstrate to our Congressmen the great need

of building up our chemical industries. The protection of chemistry in this
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country is clearly demonstrable as something far more important than the
building of forts and fleets. " Class legislation " in this instance becomes
translatable into " fundamental legislation." Many of you will wonder why
we need any legislation beyond tliat protecting our general industries. Let
us pause here to consider the cost of experimentation alone in the chemical,
physical, and engineering fields. Witness, for example, the first commercial
production of indigo in America. The first pound of synthetic indigo laid on
the desk of the President of the Dow Chemical Company in December 1916
cost our company upwards of $4.50,000. From that year, selling at .$1.25 per
pound, the process has undergone constant and market improvement until
today it is selling under forty cents per pound, favorable indeed with iirewar
German prices. The manufacture of dyes calls for the highest mechanical
skill and plant supervision in the field of organic chemistry and the various
stops in these processes make up a complex surpassing that of any other in-

dustry.
If you believe in America, and if you believe that we can succeed without

protection, then you are the men we need, and we shall ask you at once for
several hundred thousand dollars to assist us in oiir endeavors. Do you think
you are likely to contribute when you know that labor in Germany is paid at
the rate of seventeen cents per day, whereas we must pay at least thirty cents
per hour? Do you think you will contribute when you know that a chance of
foreign dumping in this country is always at our door, and that the German
importer is using every means he can to undersell American products? I know
you will not take the risk. You have a right to a reasonable rate on your
investments, and I don't blame you for this lar-k of confidence in your own
Government. Has a German any lack of confidence in his Fatherland? No,
indeed, his Fatherland protects him and guarantees to him, through the big
cartels that the losses of one company shall be averaged with the gains of
another and the profits equally distributed. Germany has the greatest system
of protection the world haf^ ever known. When they see that an imported
article interferes with their industries, they outlaw it. Thus the importation
of rubber into Germany in the last six months has been decried and its further
importation seriously handicapped.
We need a protecting tariff, a tariff that is not based on fictitious foreign

values, for such a tariff is no tariff at all. We must make up in some way for
the difference in cost of production at home and abroad, especially now that for-
eign cost of production is practically nil. To this end. Congressman Fordney
has proposed the greatest scientific principle ever introduced into American
tariff^—that of the American valuation plan. It stands supreme as the guiding
star to a bright American future, and Mr. Fordney desei*ves the praise of all

true Americans for the steadfast stand he has taken in its defense.
The German importer sees in the American valuation plan his death knell,

and veritably it is so written. By every means, no matter how foul, has this
dastardly type of fake American tried to infiuence our Congressmen. But we
are proud to say that many of them are far too stalwart to succumb to the
vicious sting of these German Gila monsters. The German importer is any-
thing but ]iatriotic. He cares nothing for America and looks only to the profits
which he can squeeze out of the American people. If he were a true American,
would he not renounce his nefarious business and seek other more honorable
pursuits? No. He prefers to remain the depraved and immoral reprobate that
be is, and to work with might and main through retail merchants' associations,
farm bureaus, and the like, to influence as many Congressmen as possible to
delay the pas.sage of the tariff bill. What a contrast to this debased wretch
is that prominent American. Charles Schwab. When the Washington confer-
ence proclaimed that the battleship fleets would be reduced in number and
that a ten-year holiday in ca])ital shipbuilding would be inaugurated, did you
find this man, manager of one of the greatest shipbuilding yards in the world,
bewailing his fate? No. He is a true American. Scarcely a day elapse<^l

before he announced that he stood for disarmament and that his great ship-
building yards would be turned to other pursuits. What more striking con-
trast could we have between this man, Charles Schwab, the American, and such
types as H. A. Metz, Kutroff. Pickard, and other German importers?
The American industrialist must needs smile to himself and wonder what

new foi-m of insanity has l)een evolved when he reads of those asinine state-
ments of the so-called "international bankers." They see only through foreign

8.S876—3.5—PT 11 12
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glasses. They maintain tliat America must buy foreign products in order that
our money shall revert to European c(juntries and thus make it p^wsible for
them to pay off their indebteihiess to us. Why should American industries be
completely annihilated in order for the foreign countries to pay this indebted-
ness V Would it not be a wiser and more sane act for our Government to con-
sider the indebtedness on Ihe other side and let us pay the indebtedness to them
as a compromise? Let us devote this sum, so fast as paid in, to the upbuilding
of devastated areas of Europe and the world. This is practically the sugges-
tion m:ule by Mr. Frank A. Vanderlip, to which such praise is given. But has
it never occurred to these international bankers that there are other things that
one can purchase besides the products of American industry? Why not sell to
us those millions of dollars' worth of South American bonds? Why not sell us
tracts of land in the West Indies and thereabouts? Sell us anything under the
heavens, but don't sell us what we are trying to make. I would that each
international banker, in his sane moments, if such occur, might purchase a
farm and raise products for the market and for his livelihood. What would he
say when told that he must buy his potatoes and wheat, and such like, from
foreigners? And yet that is exactly what he is asking the American indus-

tries to do. I fear, even were he half-witted, he would refuse to consider any
such dealings.

All of the objections to the Fordney tariff bill, the embargo on dyes, and espe-

cially to the American valuation plan come directly from the German importers.

They are united against America and against all that America can become.
There is not one single practical argument which they have ever raised that can
stand up against the array of facts marshalled in favor of these measures.
The influence which these debased German importers have been able to wield

among our Congressmen is indeed disheartening to all true Americans, when we
know that prosperity cannot return until the tariff is made a law and that there

will be no chance of even a minor prosperity until that time. Is it not possible

to awake Congress to the situation; to show them huw these German Gila
monsters are endeavoring in every possible way to thwart the action of Con-
gress? Are there not enough Congressmen of real red American blood able to

force through that tariff, which nlone spells prosperity? Many have tried to

fexplain this period of depression and show how it will slowly pass. Much of

what is said may be true, but unless we have the tariff there can be no return
for the betterment of American industries ; and unless we better the American
industries today, their chances for growth are frightfully impaired. Indeed,
many, many years of endeavor would be required ere they could hope to gain
world sway against the industries of Germany and other countries, strong now
and ever waxing stronger.

We may talk of disarmament and peace, but there will be no peace until

Germany is made to realize that America stands preeminent ; that our industries

surpass their industries and those of all other countries. In this war after the

war our battle cry must be " To hell with all German importers ! Down with
every thing opposed to American industries !

" Let us have a tariff that protects

Americans. Let us be sufficient unto ourselves so far as our heaven-given
resources will permit. Why should we fear to cast out the German importer?
Have we not destroyed the saloon keeper and his curse, many of whom were true
Americans at heart? If we do not work to this end and our Congressmen do not
realize the importance of industrial growth for our future greatness, there is

only a limited future stretching out before us.

As I now reflect upon my student days in Germany, I well recall that toast

that my old professor so often proposed as we sat together on a summer after-

noon in our favorite beer garden, " Hoch der Kaiser, Deutschland iiber AUes,
Mohr Kraft den Demokraten der Vereinigten Staaten." I thought he referred

more particularly to his son, a Democrat in Tennessee, but now I know that he
meant, " Give the Democrats and German-Americans more power and a hold on

free trade and America becomes the vassal of Germany." Our raw products will

be exported to the Fathei-land and there converted into finished goods ; then re-

turned to us that we agriculturalists, miners, and shepherds may eat and be

clothed withal, and be happy in serving our beloved master, Deutschland

!
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Exhibit No. 915

[File, John H. McNeely]
March 25, iy21.

Mr. John H. MoNebly,
101 District National Bank Bldff., Washington, D. C.

Deiab Ma McNeely : I am returning the story received from you this morning

with some changes in the introductory paragraph, which I hope you will approve.

We are making every effort tn take this fight out of the held of mere tariff

production to a new industry. You will noti<-e that the recent literature, includ-

ing the articles in the book to which you refer, deals with the question of dis-

armament. The clauses in the iieace treaty virtually require the destruction of

plants in Germany. If this cannot be accomplished, then the next best thing is

to have similar plants built here so that we may produce the new chemical war
munitions to offset the production in an enemy country.

It is, of course, a fact, and is quite apparent, that American dye manufacturers

want to protect and develop their industry as a business proposition, Imt we
want more than the ordinary tariff for the reason that this is an intricate indus-

try and cannot be developed excei»t under unusual conditions. It really requires

the absolute embargo of competitive products so that we can secure an income
over the sale of these which will be suflBcient to pay for the development of the

products which we have not yet learned to make.
I think with the present unsettled condition of world affairs, and with Ger-

many's attitude toward the peace treaty argiiments based on the question of

disarmament are very much stronger than any others.

I am asking the Dyes Institute for the list of plants which you want. Mean-
while, I am sending you a letterhead of the Dyes Institute, which gives the

location of some of these plants.

Very truly yours,

CKW/P Publicity Manager.

Exhibit No. 916

[File John H. McNeely]

(From room 101, District National Bank Building—Release morning papers
Tuesday, March 29)

Washington, March 28.—Supporting the contention that if the American
Nation is to be prepared and is to be safeguarded for future wars, development
of an American coal-tar chemical industry is imperative, the American Dyes
Institute has put out a book containing an elaborate exposition of the case for
the American people and a plea for legislative assistance to develop the industry
and permit it to take a position where it cannot be destroyed by competition
from (iermany. The book has been issued '• to the American people." It has
been sent in Washington to members of Congress and administration oflBcials,

and is a notable addition to the arguments already made by the Chemical War-
fare Service for protection from the renewal of munitions manufactured in the
chemical plants of Germany.

In addition to extracts from speeches in Congress last year urging passage
of protective legislation, the book carries excerpts from writings of well-known
authorities familiar with the industry here and abroad and with the importance
of dyes in peace and war. It makes a strong case for the dyes and says that
with an efficient dye-making industry no nation need fear disarmament, but
without such an industry the disarmed nation would be at the mercy of any
other dye-making nation in the world. It points out how quickly a nation with
an adequate dye industry can expand it to make the gases with which Gennany
almost won the war and which must figure so prominently in all future
conflicts.

" Chemical warfare ", says the book, " developing by leaps and bounds
throughout the Great War, has assumed commanding importance. In the last
of the fighting half the shells used were designed to distribute poison gases,
while floods of noxious vapors were launched by means altogether independent
of artillery. Chemical defense against these substances had become a first
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essential. By the same token, scientific advances in the way of discovery of
new poisons, or new methods of applying old poisons, held out constant possi-
bilities of instant and overwhelming victory. Already projectiles—not guns

—

had been developed which could be made in quantity in any tube works and
which could put down oceans of gas at a range of a mile. The science was and
is in its infancy, but already the chemists, to some extent without the aid of
any existing weapon, and to an overpowering extent in conjunction with the
older equipment, can provide an attack of hitherto unparalleled efficiency, while
they alone can offer any adequate means of resistance."

After discussing the need for dye chemists and dye chemical employees the
book goes on to say : "Accordingly no nation can disarm to any serious extent
unless it has such an industry. The equipment and the knowledge necessary
cannot be improvised, nor even provided beforehand specially for war purposes,
and kept, during peace, unused. Inactive plants deteriorate and indispensable
trained employees cannot be kept available and the advance of science is so
rapid that no anticipation of the Nation's needs can succeed. A scientist at
work with only the simplest apparatus hidden away anywhere, at any time,
may make discoveries which render all previous preparation worthless. Only
the incessant intensive research constantly necessary in the dye industry can
hope to keep up with the progress of the science.

" Equipped as a complete dye industry equips a nation with facilities for
immediate huge production of the needed substances, and with the men who
have the necessary knowledge, no nation need fear to limit its guns, ships,

planes, and tanks proportionately with other nations. To a nation not so
equipped such a limitation would be suicide. In a disarmed world the dye-
making countries will reign supreme.

" Before the war there was but one such country. Germany supplied the
world with dyes. In the war her dye works, without material changes, sup-
plied many of her explosives, all her gases, and all the technique of her gas
defense. While the Allies were expending years and tens of millions in build-

ing plants and making experiments, she was producing as rapidly as she thought
necessary. Had she realized her advantage and used gas at the outset as on the
later scale, the Allies could never have resisted. A colossal power, fortunately
but half understood, was in her hands, and in hers alone.

" Today the United States and to some extent Great Britain are in a similar
fortunate position. To be sure of maintaining it, the British have embargoed
German dyes for 10 years. As long as we maintain our industry, and for not
one moment longer, we can safely plan and attempt disarmament. If we lost

our new dye industry we must either remain armed to the teeth or accept the
certainty that we cannot resist an attack by any dye-making country."

Exhibit No. 917

PvMiGUy tweau expense, years 1916 to 1934. inclusive

Year



MUNITIOJiS INDUSTRY 2571

Exhibit No. 918

1918 and 1925

American Dyes Institute $56, 588. 40
Syutlietic Organic Cliemical Manufacturers Assn 60, 888. 17

Manufacturing Ctieniists Association 1, 812. .57

American Cliemical Society 4,530.07

Chemical Alliance, Inc 57-5. 00

T. R. Shipp Service 2,500.00

John McNeeley 3, 0:J3. 00

Benjamin Raleigh 100. 00

Total 130, 027. 21

Exhibit No. 919

[File—115]

[ Copy

]

Copy to: Mr. Iren^e du Pont, Mr. Lammot du Pont, Mr. R. R. M. Carpenter,

Mr. W. C. Spruance, Mr. W. F. Harrington, Mr. J. P. Laffey, Mr. W. S.

Carpenter, Jr.
Paris, Nov. 29, 1919.

JVIr. W. S. Carpentkk. Jr., V. P.,

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del.

Dear Walter: In view of Judge Laffey's sailing on November 30th, ahead
01 the date on wliich Poucher and I leave, I am enclosing some papers vphieh

-will supplement our cable advices and give you some material for discussion

until we arrive in Wilmington about Christmas time. The reasons for our
waiting until the Mauretania will be seen later on in this letter.

Our cables numbered one to twenty-four give an accurate view of our ac-

tivities since October. It may have seemed to you at times, in view of the

expression in your cable #2, that undue time was spent upon matters relating

to import regulation but all this lias been of the greatest help in bringing about

at least a partial realization on the part of the Germans that the U.S. market
is not free for them to use as they will.

As soon after we return as possible we must determine just what we should

say to the Alien Property Cust<xlian concerning our action in the ammonia
matter which never would have been possible at all but for the Chemical
Foundation. The sale of the German patents to the foundation has been a
very startling thing to the Germans and this evidence of America's power has
Obeen a great factor in making it possible to deal with them.

I enclose the following papers which can be discussed at once though I

shall of course try to have ready when I reach home, a detailed account of the
moves leading up to the conference; 1st, a letter in German (written by Berg
in Ludwigshafen) with a translation thereof. This letter while written by
Berg to the Badische Co. in the form of a personal reason statement as to why
the Badische Co. should cooperate with du Pont Co. is based on discussions of

the matter with Berg before his departure for Germany; 2nd, the minutes of

the conference as simimarized from his notes by Dr. Schwartz and a transla-

tion into English by Dr. Kunz; 3rd, the minutes of the conference In English
as summarized by Dr. Kunz who acted as our secretary and with Mr. Berg as
interpreter.
The plan is for each side, provided the general plan is ratified, to prepare

a contract based on the general plan laid down, the final contract that is

accepted by both sides probably being a composite of the two contracts sub-

mitted respectively by Badische and du Pont.
You will note that the minutes as written make no reference to dyes. This

is for the reason that the agreement in the I.G. prohibits discussion without
authority from the I.G. The full notes of the meeting, however, which are
being worked up, give considerable infoiination as to the attitude on this

side of the Badische business, but it was outside of the formal conferences
that we learned Dr. Bohn was determined, if it was at all possible, to find a
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way of direct cooperation with du Pont Co. in dyes. This is the internal

problem referred to in cable #22. The size of the ammonia proposition so far

exceeds the dye matter that it has seemed best not to attempt to push this

affair too rapidly, as a successful ammonia arrangement certainly would lead

at once to a dye exchange.
The plan has been for Bosch and Duisberg to visit the U.S. early in the year,

but I believe that Dr. Bosch is going to be inclined to go slowly in such a

move and not to allow the I.G. to get him in a position where he might have

unpleasant contact with official America. Dr. Bohn, of course, being a Swiss

citizen could come to U.S. any time. Although hard pressed during the war
he never surrendered his Swiss citizenship. It is perfectly clear that there

are two contending forces in the Badische board. Apparently the sensible,

modern division is led by Bohn-Bosch and realizing the economic situation is

determined to make as good a deal as possible with America in order to get

ahead. The other side probably responds to the attitude of Duisberg who
apparently still believes he can bully the U.S. The Badische has recently

reorganized and we shall have in due time a chart which Berg will get for

us next month. Bosch is now president and while he and Bohn will not

have an easy time with some of the other directors, I feel that they will have

their way, particularly since Badische's position on account of the ammonia
process is considerably better than that of the other members of the I.G. It

may be that the I.G. may decide to deal as a unit in the U.S. with either

National, Grasselli, or ourselves. At any rate you can see the importance of

everlastingly turning the regulatory screw in America both as to control of

imports and future protective legislation.

I regret very much that Harry Stephenson has been agreed upon as the

Textile Alliance representative. In view of our relations with Badische you

can see how desirable it was that the men representing the Textile Alliance

be drawn from the ranks of the consumers. However, we shall be able to

give sufficient information to enable Stephenson to help the Alliance and not

compromise us. We shall be glad to learn just the details as to what went
wrong in the State Dept. and War Ti-ade Board that allowed the under-

strappers at Ludwigshafen to boast to Herty and Fleisch that they were able

to deal directly with their old agents. Heading this off was a fine piece of

work on your side which unfortunately was not known by the Germans at our
Zurich conference, and we thought it better to let them find it our rather

than get it from us. I am afraid consumers are going to be disappointed in

the quantity of dyes they can get cheaply under the reparation plan, but the
next month will show what can be done. Poucher will have a conference with
Stephenson before we go. We have Kunz in Paris today, but we want to

keep him out of this end of the game from now on as he may be asked to go
over to Ludwigshafen at any time.

Our return to London is for two reasons. First, Lord Moulton and Turner
showed us the new miniature Leverkusen at Dalton (Huddersfield) with the

evident idea of impressing us with the value of the things Levinstein gouged
out of the Bayer factory in the British section of the occupied territory. They
have considerable no doubt, but I do not believe Great Britain is going to

make a very great success in the industry and as our cable plainly stated

we were against paying any more money for second-hand information. We ac-

cordingly left the Levinstein matter hanging and will now see whether we can

so arrange as to have the British Dyes assume the L. contract with some
modifications. Otherwise we shall let it stand as it is.

We also wanted to see Sir Harry McGowan, but will have to see Mitchell in

his place, as we understand Sir Harry has gone to U.S.
When we were in Paris we learned that Semet Solvay had been endeavoring

to make connections with Badische. We were called upon by Mr. Brunner, Col.

Pollit (technical man) and Mr. Gold of Brunner Mond & Co., who in a very
inept fashion tried to find out just what we were doing. This was before we
sent Berg into Germany to begin negotiations. They expressed belief in the
necessity of making some kind of a deal with the Badische Co. if the process

was to be instituted successfull.v—.stated that they understood we were negotiat-

ing with Badische—were we, etc. They also used the name of the Explosives
Trades, Ltd. in a fashion from which we might conclude that they had come to

us by that route. The situation was, as you can see, decidedly embarrassing,,

but I think we cleared the air by asking Mr. Brunner if he wanted us to cooper-

ate with him in securing rights to the technical information. He shied at this

and after a little talk agreed to return to Paris the next Wednesday (this was
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Friday, Oct. 31) to discuss the situation. I had told them that we had reports
on the situation but had no negotiations. I believed they were on a fishing

excursion—felt sure I was trying to mislead them and would endeavor to

connect with Badische direct without further word with us. Please note that
they referred bravely to alliances when talking with us—I did not expect them
to meet their engagement. They turned up neither on Wednesday nor Thurs-
day, Nov. 5 and 6, and on Thursday evening Nov. 6 Berg left for Germany to

arrange if possible for a conference. Poucher very properly was insistent on a
sifting process to determine whether we would have to meet some of the old
crowd who undoubtedly would be very antagonistic to him and us.

We knew that negotiations were under way between Badische and the
French Government but in what form we could not tell. When Berg left for
Mannheim there was some uncertainty as to the whereabouts of Dr. Bosch as
we knew that he was likely to be called to Paris by the French. Berg left a
letter for him at the German legation. The result of this was that we were
called up Sunday morning Nov. 9 by Mrs. Berg saying Dr. Bosch was at her
house and would like very much to see us. Poucher, the judge, and I, of course,

went out at once. We found Dr. B. a thick-set German savant, who naturally
was a bit shy under the circumstances. He explained the French situation to

us but did not want to sign up with them until he felt that he was not damag-
ing his chance of a deal with us. We could see that it was really necessary
for him to make this agreement and told him to go ahead. This is a feature
of the situation to which some attention must be given though I am of the
opinion that if we do this at all France will be buying synthetic sulfate before
she makes it. The contract also has to be approved by the Senate and may
fail there.

It was agreed with Dr. Bosch to have the Zurich meeting if it could be
arranged when he returned to Mannheim on the following Wednesday—Berg's
good work on this helped with the result you have seen. Dr. Bosch confirmed
my belief as to the action of the English whom he accused of very bad manners
to say the least. When he was arranging to go to Zurich he had a telegram
from Brunner asking that a conference be arranged for in Aachen. I suppose
Bosch is now arranging for a conference with these people, whom he feels

bound under the conditions to listen to, for sometime in December—I hope
after we have sailed. As Brunner called upon us at Berg's oflSce I am sending
Berg back to Germany (when Bosch sends him word) to be present with Bosch
when meeting Brunner, Mond & Co. whom he will advise that their arrange-
ment must be with the new company. I am, of course, anxious that there be
no feeling on the part of the Explosives Trades Ltd. that they will liave no
chance to share in a thing of this kind and if we can arrange things in England,
as I believe we can, so that Brunner Mond if they are working with Explosives
Trades Ltd. cannot lay the charge of poor faith at our door. We are certain

of one thing however—we never had any intimation from either Explosives
Trades or Brunner Mond that they were ready to share with us.

This I think gives you the main situation which with the enclosures will put
you in pretty good shape for discussion as soon as we retuni. Judge L. will

proceed with contract preparation along the line of the conference as you may
suggest—if the idea is approved as the result of your study of the nitrogen

question. Personally I hope it will be approved as I think we have a chance
now to do something really big in chemical work and particularly in the fer-

tilizer industry.
Faithfully yours, Chas. A. Meade.

Exhibit No. 920

Copy to: Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. R. R. M. Carpenter,

Mr. W. C. Spruance, Mr. W. F. Harrington, Mr. .T. P. Laffey, Mr. W. S. Car-
penter, Ji\

(No date.)

Our Wordings

MINUTES OF A MEETING HELD NOVKMRER. 20. 21. 22, AH THE EAU1R AU LAO HOTEI
,

ZURICH, SWITZERLAND

There were present : Dr. R. Bosch, Dr. R. Bohn, Dr. I. Schwarz, representing

the Badische Anilin & Sodatabiic, Ludwi^schafen, Germany, referred to here-

after as Badische Co., and Ch. A. Meade, M. R. Poucher, J. P. LafEey, Eysteni
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Berg, E. C. Kunz, representing E. I. tlu Pout de Nem,ours Co., Wilmington, Del-

aware, U. S. A., referred to hereafter as the du Pont Company.
On the l)asis of a letter dated November 12th. 1919, addressed to the Badische

Co., by Mr. Eysten Berg, in behalf of the du Pont Co., in which was ourlin^^d

a plan for cooperation between the du Pont Co. and the Badische Co., for the

world exploitation of the Bosch-Haber ammonia process, the following points

were discussed and agreed upon as a basis of a final contract.

(1) It was agreed that it is possible to form a comptiny for the world ex-

ploitation of the Bosch-Haber process.

(2) The world company should have the whole world as its market except

as follows

:

(a) France with whom the Badische < 'o. already have made a contract

which is limited to the manufacture and sale only in France, her colonies,

and protectorates. It is understood that should the French fail to carry out
their plans, these territories should be included in those assigned to the
world company.

(5) The Badische Co. shall be granted an exclusive territory in which to

exploit the process, Germany and the territory known as Austria-Hungary in

1913.

It is understood that the Badische Co. shall have the right to sell in all

^Europe the products of its plants at Oppau and Merseburg, Gennany, up to

the equivalent of 300,0(X) tons of nitrogen until such a time as the consump-
tion in the exclusive territory of the Badische Co. will absorb this production,

when the Badische Co. sales are to be confined to its exclusive territory.

The world company is to give if necessary a special license to England to be
confined to the production of nitric acid for the needs of the British Isles, the
returns from such license to be given entirely to the Badische Co.

The Badische Co., stating that they have tentative negotiations with Japan
for the process agree that these negotiations be held in susi)ense until proper
action can be taken by the new world company.

(3) Capital for the world company shall be furnished by the du Pont Co.

and the du Pont Oo. shall manage the business.

(4) Provided conditions warrant the initial capacity of the new company
should be a plant for 100,000 tons nitrogen per year. The nitrogen produced
by the new company is for conversion into nitrates, nitric acid, and similar

compounds as well as fertilizers, by the processes developed in connection with
the Bosch-Haber process by the Badische Co.

Nitrogen products taken by the du Pont Co.< from the world company shall

have the price fixed on the basis of the market pxice of sulfate of ammonia
less the cost of conversion of ammonia into sulfate of ammonia.

(5) The increase in production capacity shall be according to demands. A
<?ertain minimum production shall be maintained.

(6) The world company and the Badische Co. shall exchange free infor-

mations and improvements made in the l)usiness covered by the contract.

(7) A corporation is to be formed of which the Badische Co. is to receive

'^% of the total stock issue in exchange for its information and its ex;-

perience and the Badische Co. is to have representation on the board of the
new company in proportion to its stock holding.

In case the capital is increased the Badische Co. is always to receive a like

proportion of free shares. Tlie capital to be increased as the production ca-

pacity increases. The Badische Co., in case it wishes to dispose of its stock

holding shall first make offer of such holding to the du Pont Co.

(8) The du Pont Co. will undertake the plan construction of the world
company at cost plus 10%.

Exhibit No. 921

EXTRACT OF LETTER FlJOil MR. HERO JANUARY 12, 11120

Have just returned from Aachen, where I met Director Bosch, Director Smith,

and Dr. Schwarz, of the Badische Company.
The meeting with the English group (Brunner Mond and Solvay) took place

yesterday afternoon at the Palast Hotel, in Aachen.
Before the meeting I talked the situation over with Dr. Bosch, and we came

to the conclusion that it was best that I should only appear at the meeting if

the circumstances required it.
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As the Badische CJompany and we have not signed a contract, Dr. Bosch
thought it would be unwise if I took deal in the meeting, particularly while he
was determined not to make any definite arrangement with the English at this
time, but only wished to hear what they had to say.
The Badische has, as you know, been communicating with Brunner Mond for

quite some time, and he believed the Badische should see them alone and inform
them in a general way about our arrangement as far as the world exploitation of
the ammonia process is concerned.

If I appeared in the meeting as the representative for the du Pont Company,
the whole matter could end in a fight and be very disagreeable for the Badische,
that had not advised the English about this matter before they came to Aachen.
After considering the matter, I came to the conclusion that it was just as well

that I did not participate in the meeting, particularly as I was on the spot, and
Dr. Bosch furnished me all information about what was going on.

A. The following is the result of the meeting at the Palast Hotel, Aachen, the
11th of January 1920. The information received from Dr. Bosch and by
looking through Dr. Schwarz's report of the meeting

:

Present

:

(1) From the Badische: Director Dr. Bosch, Director Smith (Commercial
Director instead of Brunck), Dr. Sehwarz.

(2) Of Brunner Mond Company: Roscol Brunner, Mr. Pollit, Mr. Gold, Mr.
Aron.

(3) Of the Solvay Company: Mr. Gielen, German Director of Semi Solvay in
Bernburg, Mr. Jansson, Mr. Hannon, Mr. Tourniere, French Directors of Semi
Solvay.
Mr. Roscol Brunner, being the chief spokesman for Brunner Mond, gave the

following explanation

:

The British Government has handed over to Brunner Mond and Solvay all

their work and experimental plants on the synthesis of ammonia made in
England during the war on the condition that this group shall arrange with
the Badische to secure the Bosch-Haber process for Great Britain. For this
reason they have approached the Badische for the purpose of buying the am-
monia process.
They wanted the process for the consumption of nitric acid and other chemical

technical purposes for England, but the combination made with the Solvay
Company made it desirable to secure the process for all purposes and for the
whole world. Semi Solvay being established over the whole world and working
in connection with the General Chemical Company in America would secure the
best possible guarantees for a successful introduction of the process for the
world market.

Dr. BoscH. We have already made an arrangement with the du Pont Company
for the exploitation of our process for the world. We have always gone out
from the point of view, that we should be directly interested in such a proposi-
tion. We are bound to the du Pont Company as far as the world is concerned
and you will have to discuss this matter with them.
As far as Britain is concerned we understand that you wish to secure the

process for nitric acid and other technical purposes and we are ready to discuss
this matter with you.
We wish to limit this license to these purposes only.
R. Bktjnnek. We must have the right not only for Great Britain but for at

least the British Empire. We must also have the right to manufacture sulphate
of ammonia for fertilizing purposes.
We have already been in communication with the du Pont Company for the

purpose of exploiting your process and we are through, " Explosives Trades "

in close relations with the du Pont.
IMr. PoLXJT. Have you met the du Pont Company's official representatives

lately?
Dr. Bosch. Yes; we have discussed matters with them.
Mr. Jansson. As the matter stands we will then have to discus a world

combination with the du Pont ; as Mr. Gold and myself intend to go to the U. S.
on January 28, we shall see the du Ponts and discuss the matter with them.
Mr. Gold. The best thing to do is to leave the whole proposition until we have

talked the matter over with Du Pont, in order that we may come to an under-
standing and avoid unnecessary competition.

Dr. Bosch. I am ready to discuss the matter as far as Great Britain is con-
cerned, but I leave it entirely to the Du Ponts to arrange as far as the world
company is concerned.



2576 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

I wish you to bear in mind that our process may not be as advantageous as
you believe under the present difficult conditions.
The plant cost will naturally be high now and we have also the competition

with the Chile saltpeter and coke-oven fimnionia to reckon with.
Under pre-war conditions our process is far ahead of any other competitor,

but the conditions may have changed the prosperous outlook. This, I am,
however, )iot able to judge, as I do not know the conditions in other countries.

Mr. roi LIT. Leave that entirely to us. We know, perhaps, better the nitrogen
situation at the present than you do.

We have looked carefully into it and we are sure that there is no fear of
competition from Chile saltpeter. We ai'e convinced that your process is the
process, and by going hand in hand with the coke-oven ammonia people, we
would be able to dominate the world market.
We must in any case have the process for the British Empire and also for

fertilizer purposes.
Dr. Bosch. This can only be discussed after you have seen the Du Fonts in

Wilmington.
Mr. Brunnek. Then, we leave the matter open in such a way that we will

see you after we have discussed the matter in Wilmington.
The above covers in the big lines the discussion. The meeting was a short

one. Dr. Bosch left the English and came to me and we discussed again the
situation. We agreed that there was no reason for me to appear, as the English

group is sending representatives to Wilmington, and you had not given me any
authority to act on your behalf.

The English i>eople do not know that I have been in Aa<:hen or the next room
in the Palast Hotel, and I believe this way to handle the matter from my side

was the best thing to do.

Dr. Bosch requests me to tell you that if the English should say that he

(Dr. Bosch) has agreed upon to give them full rights for the whole British

Empire, also for fertilizer, this is not the case. Nothing definite has been
arranged no memorandum has been exchanged. The whole was an informal

discussion pending upon what kind of arrangement the English group may make
with you in Wilmington.
The outstanding points of the meeting are:

(a) The English group claims they are working under direction of the Eng-
lish Government.

This is absolutely contradictory to the statement made by Lord Moulton to

Mr. Mead.
(b) The English group is convinced that the Badische's process is the best

and wish to secure it for the whole world.

(c) They insist upon at least to obtain license for the British Entpire not

only for nitric acid and technical purposes but also for fertilizers.

(d) They did not, and know still nothing about our meeting in Zurich.

They do not know anything about our tentative agreement with exception

of what Dr. Bosch told them, that the Badische is going to be Interested in

the new company.
(e) Brunner Mond claims near connection with Explosive Trade and through

them with us.

(f) Nothing has been decided upon; all is pending upon our standpoint and
all further discussions have been postponed until Messrs. Gold and Jansson

return from America and have talked with you.

Exhibit No. 922

[File 99]
Waedman Pabk Hotel,

Washington, D. C, January 22, 1920.

iRtiatE DU Pont, Esq.,

Wilmmgton.
Deab Mr. du Pont: Situation clearer and better today.

Martin and tlie major are hard at it. The plan is to push and keep Wood in

the background ; that is behind Culbertson. Martin and the major are to fight

it out with Culbertson by agreement with Sen. Curtis.

They will take anything from Culbertson that will help embargo and nothing

that will hurt.
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The major will likely propose that as this is a measure touching " national

defence", the Commission should be headed by Gen. Siebert to give it the

flavor of defence rather than tariff, the other members to be one each from
Treas., TarifE Board, dye makers and consumers.
No call as yet from the Sub. Com. for the dye manufacturers. My guess

is it will not come before next week but if it does I will phone you.

Sincerely,
POUCHEIR.

Exhibit No. 923

IPublicity Bureau momorandum fur information on il.ve tariff bill—legislation—rtyps)

NOVEMBEK 10, 1919.

* X7.1-1.

Personal.

Mr. H. B. Rust.
The Coppers Ccmipany, Pittshurgh, Pa.

Dear Sir: Our chemical department has started to get up the information

which you asked, about the amount of coke oven byproducts which enter into

the making of dyes. Their data will deal not only with the du Pont Com-
pany but with the American dye industiy as a whole, and I hope to have it

ready for you in a short time.
Col. John P. Wood can be addressed at 22nd and Spring Garden Streets,

Philadelphia, Pa.
Mr. du Pont thinks that a word from you to Joseph R. Grundy of Bristol,

Pa., would be very valuable to our organization. Mr. Grundy and Col. Wood
are very closely allied, and Mr. Grundy is an important factor in the eastern
part of the State. We are informed that he would be glad of recognition by
interests in the western part of the State, and that if he could he shown that
Pittsburgh and vicinity have a vital interest in the pending legislation he
might withdraw nmch of his opposition, which is based on what he believes to

be the sentiment of his own section.

I would be glad to talk tliis over with you on the phone at your convenience.

I understand that you will not l^e in Pittsburgh for some time, but if you are
within phone call, either there or elsewhere, I would be glad to talk the matter
>over with you.

Very truly yours. .

CKW/MAP

Exhibit No. 924

[I'liblicity Bui'eau fllo : I'oucher. M. R. Corrospondpnce, dye]

M.\KCH 23, 1920.

File: 2763-MRP.
Mr. Joseph H. Choate, Jr.,

60 Wall Street, New York Citi).

My Deab, Me. Choate: I have lieen trying to get you on long distance this

afternoon to tell you that I have just received a telegram from our mutual
friend, Mr. Franklin W. Hobbs, of Boston, reading as follows

:

" I attended a conference on dyestuffs with several manufacturers, at Mr.
Wood's office this morning. His counsel, Mr. Aurebach. was als'O present. I am
confident that Mr. Wood is now ready to change his amendments so that they
will meet Mr. Choate's approval. I am convinced Mr. Wood favors your bill.

I am to meet Mr. Aurebach again tomorrow, Wednesday morning, for further
conference."

(Signed) Franklin W. Hobbs.

Immediately upon receipt of this message. I got Mr. Hobbs on long distance,

and he gave me the story of wliat took place at their meeting this morning. It

appears that Mr. Hobbs took upon himself to write Mr. Wood a letter a few

* Personal marking.
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days ago, pointing out the danger of not only his own position but that of the
entire textile industry in opposing this bill.

Incidentally, Mr. Hobbs called Mr. Wood's attention to the movement under
way by the Department of Justice to investigate the textile industry on the
charge of undue profiteering. At any rate, Mr. Wood decided to call this meet-
ing. Mr. Hobbs tells me he made a statement along the lines of Mr. Hobbs'
letter. This was followed by some remarks by Mr. Auerbaeh, to the effect

that in his opinion these mills should all support the bill.

I told Mr. Hobbs that I thought the proper procedure would be for Mr. Auer-
baeh to see you immediately upon his return from New York (either Thursday
evening or Friday morning), and if the amendment proposed by him met with
your approval, it could, with the consent of Mr. Wood, yourself, and Senator
Watson, be brought up in conference ;

provided, of course, that Mr. Wood with-
draws the four amendments and so notifies Senator Watson.

If we can get these four amendments out of the way by some arrangement
with Mr. Auerbaeh, then the next step will be to get rid of the Moses amend-
ments in the same manner, through the influence of Mr, Wood and Mr. Auer-
baeh, if within the range of possibility.

I am going back to Washington tonight and will be at the Wardman Park
Hotel for the next few days.

I repeated Mr. Hobbs' telegram to Judge (Jovington over the telephone; and
the suggestion to take the Auerbaeh amendment, if acceptable, into conference
instead of introducing it on the floor of the Senate comes from him.

Yours very truly,

(S) H. R. POUCHER.
LPL

Exhibit No. 925
File—115

[Copy]
41 Avenue de l'Opeba.

Paris, Februari/ 3, 1920.

Copy to: Mr. Irenee du Pont, Mr. Lammot du Pont, Mr. C. A. Meade, Mr.
M. R. Poucher.

Subject : Our negotiations with the Badische.
Attention also : Messrs. Laffey, Mead, and Poucher.

E. I. DU Pont db Nbmouks & Co.,

Development depa/rtment, Wilmington, Delaware.

Dear Sirs : Referring to my letter of January 27tli on this subject, I beg to

inform you that further interviews with as well Dr. Bosch as Dr. Duisberg
in the big lines have conflnned the facts outlined in said lettei'.

First, ammonia : The Germans did not come to any definite arrangements with
the Solvay Company, as was expected.
The fight is now between Solvay and the French Government. The former

does not want to start any construction at the present but would prefer to wait
sometime until conditions are more favorable for such large development.
The French Government, however, demands the immediate construction of

a relative large factory.
The Solvay Company would prefer importation from Germany at the present

and the beginning of the construction, say, next year.

The contract with the Badische is therefore still in the hands of the Govern-
ment, but all chances are for an arrangement between Solvay and Badische
with the French Government as mediator.
They will now probably wait until they have seen you, but you might bear

in mind that they have made no definite arrangement with the Badische for
France.
As far as Bnniner Mond is concerned, the situation is as informed you in

my letter of January 27.

Second, dyes: The arrangement regarding dyes have l>eeu made with the
French interest " Compagnie National de Matieres Colorantes." The arrange-
ment is made in such a way that the French company, togetlier with the I.G.,

shall operate all former German dyestuff factories in France, the French being
directly shareholders in these former exclusively German factories. The ar-

rangement, so Dr. Bosch says, concerns only France and her colonies and has
not in view any exportation to other parts of the world.
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The Germans seem to be much pleased with the arrangement they have here
and they may have in view some similar move in America.
As well Duisberg as Bosch, both of whom I had out to dinner the other day,

were furious on Dr. Herty, and Dr. Bosch declared that he would at once
break off all negotiations with us if we have anything to do with the difficulties

raised against the German dyes in America. We must understand, he said,

that if we were negotiating with them both sides must be frank to each other

and that we could not expect the Badische to go further in the started negoti-

ations with us if they knew that behind their back make everything possible

to hurt their interest in America and elsewhere as far as dyes are concerned.
Dr. Duisberg said it was the only thing for them to do to try to go to

America as soon as possible and that he could arrange to get permission to

land. They would also visit Japan, the Japanese having invited tliem to come.
The whole miscontent is due to the fact that the Germans have been of the

opinion that Dr. Herty belongs to our company and that all measurements
taken in America against the German dye interests originate from us.

We parted as good friends, I being invited to Bosch and Duisberg the last

evening they were here, and they are now convinced that as far as we are
concerned we have paid fair play vis-S-vis them.

I told Duisberg that he better not come to America just now but let Bosch
go alone for the ammonia question. I do believe he will not sail at the same
time as Dr. Bosch but come later with Mr. Weinberg.
Bosch requested me to come to Ludwig-shafen before I sail ; and as I cabled

you today, I intend to do so in the near future.

It seems to me that I should postpone my trip to America nntil you have
discussed the matter with Messrs. Gold and Jansson. No doubt you will have
to communicate with Badische during or immediately after these discussions,

and you may probably have suggestions to make Bosch that should come in his
hands before the representatives for Mond and Solvay return. Consequently,
I have taken passage on the Rotterdam, leaving Holland on February 27.

I am sure you agree with this arrangement.
Yours very truly,

Etsten Bmui.

Exhibit No. 926

[File, Publicity Bureau, Whaley-Eaton Service]

Pabis, (VI),
3 Rub Benaparte,

January 25, 1921.
Mr. Charles K. Weston,

Publicity Department, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del., U. 8. A.

Dear Mr. Weston : I have had three meetings with Dr. Chapin, as a result of
which I have arrived at the most satisfactory arrangement I think possible,

under present conditions, to make with him. He will not, cannot he says, talk
officially. He therefore will not meet the newspapers at an arranged con-
ference. He appears all tied up to silence ofiicially, but he will tip me off to

I^eople he comes into contact with who know conditions and who are in a position
to talk. He mentioned that he had information in his possession of vital im-
portance to friends in New York, information, he said, which would prevent
them severe money losses, but that he could not pass the information on under
the present policy.

I asked him who is responsible for such a policy when almost all Government
agencies in Washington have by now established oflBcial publicity bureaus. He
said Mr. Boyden, head of the Commission, was the man. I am arranging to have
Dr. Chapin, with whom I am getting along famously in a personal way. intro-

duce me to Mr. Boyden, to whom I am going to suggest the advisability and
wisdom of loosening up on information, if not to the extent of putting out
statements, at least to the extent of saying to correspondents who come for
verification of information. " That is so " or " That is not so." If I can get such
a system working here, tliere will be no trouble in having information which can
be obtained from uuofiicial sources approved as correct officially, which will be
sufficient for the puri>oses of the Paris correspondents.
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The A. P. carried a cable on the substance of an interview I had with Professor
Blondell, professor of economics and political science of the College of France,
and I suppose you noted it in the cable despatches. The Public Ledger syndicate
and the Chicago Tribune syndicate papers are to be supplied with a story I

have arranged which will point out that the French Government, upon con-
fidential information from its investigators in Germany regarding a coming
great German dump of goods, will further increase its coefiicient tariff rates on
dyestuffs, chemicals, etc. The stories will point out that France will increase
the coefficients not only to safeguard French industry but also to prevent further
unemployment due to Fi'ench production being stopped by a great stream of

German goods. This will checkmate the German plans as far as France is con-
cerned but will have the effect of concentrating Germany's attention on the
United states, which alone of all the great countries has not acted to safeguard
its dye industry. This story should bring out some editorials in the American
press, and it might be possible to have it suggested to some of the newspapers
that editorial treatment of the cable would be of public service.

Dr. Jacoby, who is Dr. Chapin's associate, showed me yesterday a clipping

from one of the Ledger syndicate newspapers. It was a cable dated January 7,

and was the article you supplied. The clip had been sent him from America, and
the last paragraph had been heavily blue-penciled as a mark of approval.

I sent you a cable yesterday notifying you of the coming appearance of the
stories for the P. L. syndicate and C. Tribune papers. I hope to get some more
material over the A. P. wires shortly.

I have made arrangements with Dr. Chapin and Captain Norris, who is a good
fellow, to be tipped off promptly if Kail von Weinberg arrives in Paris. He
would get in touch with either of these two men upon his arrival. I shall then
attempt in an interview to get him to boast a little and to have three or four of,

the other correspondents with me at the interview.
Dr. Chapin says confidentially that he sent some information to a friend of

yours, who, I believe, is Mr. Poucher, and that his action was objected to in the
office here when it l)ecame known. He gives this as an illustration of how care-

ful he has to be, although in full accord and entire sympathy with our purposes.
Dr. Chapin went over all his difficulties tlioruughly when we had luncheon
together yesterday.
By the way, I suppose that an occasional luncheon, etc., in furtherance of the-

project would not be objected to. but- I should like authorization. In this case
Dr. Chapin paid for the lunch, but I want to be in a position to come back at

him and the other people who we want to cultivate, including such men as
Williams, of the P. L., Roberts, of the A. P., De.scheil, who is a good plugger, etc.

Floyd Gibbons, of the Tribune, should be cultivated more closely, and you know
how much can be done over a bite to eat and a drink.

Carl Aekerman, who dropped into the Ledger Bureau while I was there, over
on a short visit from London, requested me to remember" him to you.

I shall have a new office next week, right at the Place de la Concorde. The
address will be 8 rue Saint-Florentin, Paris (lor), off the Rue de Rivoli at the
Place de la Concorde, just over the bridge from the Chamhre des Deputies and
the French Foreign Office, and right up against all the hotels, ere. I am very-

much pleased with it.

Dr. Chapin and Col. Taylor and Mr. Chase ask me to remember them to you.
Sincerely,

(s) Ben K. Rat.eigh.

Exhibit No. 927

[File, Publicity Bureau, Poucher, M. R. ; correspondence, dyes]

Boston, Mass., January J, 1920.

F. D. Byrne,
Pwbliciiy Department:

I received a letter today from Mr. Weston from London, dated December 17th,
together with some clippings from the London papers of various dates between
December 3rd and 17th. I think we are beginning to see some results ; for

example, the article in the Boston Transcript issued Dec. 31st, page 6, under
this heading:
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" Britain Foresees ' Gas ' War—New Legislation Will Shut Out Dyestuffs
AND Enable Plants to be Built Which Can be Converted into Poison-Gas
Factories

'•London, December 31.—That poison gas will be the supreme -weapon in the
next war is aeceptefl by the Go\ernnient. This is the inference drawn from
the passage of the dyestuffs import regulations act, which prohiits the importa-
tion of dyestuffs for the next ten years. During this period England will be
enabled to build up her dye industry to a iwint of absolute dependence from
the outside world.

" Dye plants, by a slight change, can be readily converted into war plants
for the manufacture of poison gas. When the World War began in 1914,
England had very few dye works, but Germany was full of them. Hence the
British had to build the factories for the making of poison gas, Avhile the
Teutons had everything ready. The conversion of the numerous dye plants
into ' gas ' plants was, pi-actically speaking, the work of only a few hours."'

I notice that this heading follows very closely the one in the London Evening
Standard of December 7th, reading

:

" Poison Gas and the Next War—Nations Experimenting Already—British
Position—Gases in Warfare—Value of a Highly Devei^opbh) Chemical
Industry "

This is the right line and it must be pushed hard on this side. I suggest
that you look out for any statements or reports from General Fries. They
will, of course, be quite in line with the foregoing.

MRP-F.

Exhibit No. 928

[Memorandum]

M. R. POUCHER.

January 15. 1921.

To: C. K. Weston.
From : F. J. Byrne.

Recently there have appeared a number of dispatches in the American papers
along the lines that are very desirable to us. These look to me as if they have
been cabled to this country as a result of your visit to the other side.

(1) The Boston Transcript of Dec. 31, 1920, carried a fine story on "Bricain
Forsees Gas Warfare," dated from London.

(2) The Wasliington Herald had a cable dispatch written by Wythe WilMams
from Paris about German dye plots against the United States. This w;is taken
up by the Manufacturers Record and made the subject of a splendid full-page
editorial.

(3) The Evening Bulletin of Philadelphia had a dispatch from London talk-

ing .-ibout the importance of the British action passing the dye bill and irs

relation to American affairs.

(4) The Public Ledger of Jan. 8, 1921, had a dispatch from Paris about " Ger-
many Sets Dye Trade Trap."
These dispatches, of course, are syndicated in many cases to appear in

different places throughout the country, so that the publicity on these four
items I mentioned must have been very considerable.

C. K. W.

FJB/P.

Exhibit No. 929

* See me about this.

FJB.

April 28, 1921.

To: Mr. C. A. Meade, room 9104.
From: C. K. Weston.

The inquiry which Dr. Koontz makes through Mr. Chase concerning the
whereabouts of Mr. Guy Martin, and the articles which he wrote for the
Paris editions of the New York Herald and the Chicago Tribune, throws an
interesting sidelight on my visit to London and Paris.
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You will recall that I sent you copies of these articles very recently. They
were written by Mr. Ben A. Raleigh, an old newspaper acquaintance whom I

left on guard in Paris. He assumed the name of Guy Martin for publication
purposes.

His Paris address is 8 Rue Saint-Florentin, Paris, and he is in constant
touch with our Paris office. He as my agent will carry out any suggestion
which Dr. Koontz or Mr. Chase may make. I am returning Mr. Chase's letter.

Publicity Manager.
CKW/P

Exhibit No. 930

[Copy to: C. K. Weston]
Mr. M. R. PoucHEK, June) 14, 1922.

Room 9120, Building:

The following cable was received today by the Whaley-Eaton Service from its

Paris correspondent

:

" Congressman Everett Sanders and Frederick Purnell associated with Britten
Berlin negotiations."

J. F. Btbne.
FJB/AER.

Note.—Both Sanders and Purnell are Congressmen from Indiana.

Exhibit No. 931 September 22, 1921.

Mr. P. H. WHAI.EIY,
Whaley-Eaton Service, Munsey Building, Washington, D. C.

My Dear Whalby: You know, of course, that the chemical industry will

figure very largely in the coming disarmament conference. The Chemical War-
fare Service will, of course, be consulted. It may interest you, as a piece of
news, to learn that the chemical industry as a whole will be represented thi'ough
advisers to be appointed to help the American delegation solve its problems.
The names of several distinguished chemists are now under consideration at the
White House, and announcement of the appointment of representatives of the
chemical industry probably will be made very soon.
For your private information, the President has received favorably the sug-

gestion that Dr. Charles H. Herty and Dr. Edgar Fahs Smith, former provost
of the University of Pennsylvania, and president of the American Chemical
Society, be named as advisers.
The Evening Journal, of Wilmington, is reprinting on its editorial page today

the chemical story which the Manufacturers Record printed last week.
Very truly yours,

Managee Publicity Bureau.
CKW/AER.

Exhibit No. 932

Whaley-Eaton Service,
Washington, D. C, November 9, 1921.

Mr. Frank Byrne,
E. I. du Pont de Nemours <& Co., Wilmington. Delaware.

Dbab Sib: Referring to your telephone inquiry in regard to the members of
the French delegation experts on chemical disarmament

:

Our own information, as carried in our last week's foreign letter, came by
cable, which mentioned the names of these two gentlemen as Mayer and Moren.
On inquiry at the State Department we find that M. Andre Mayer is in Wash-
ington with the French delegation, but no M. Moren. There is, however, a

M. Moureu. It is our opinion that this last is unquestionably M. IMayer's asso-

ciate and that the Moren in our cable was gai'bled.

We think it very unlikely that we will be able to get any of the details of

the plan for chemical disarmament from these gentlemen, but we will do our
best.

Very truly yours, Whaley-Eaton Service.

By: (s) Harry Eaton.
ho.w
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ExHiHiT No. 933
NOVBMBEK 25, 1921.

Mr. M. R. PoucHER,
Room 9120, Building:

From : C. K. Weston.

I am informed throush the Washington "grapevine" that the British dele-
gation to the Limitation of Armament.s Conference has a plan to submit con-
cerning tlie chemical industry which embodies these points

:

First, to outlaw the use of poison gas in warfare and to outlaw as far a?
possible anything of a dangerous chemical nature

;

Second, failing to secure drastic action (as they expect to fail) to limit the
use of chemicals as much as possible;

Third, to put the chemical industries of the various nations under the control
of the governments.
From the same source comes information that an economic confei'ence is a

certainty and that Britain will suggest, among other things, that Germany be
helped to reestablish her industries, particularly those which depend least on
outside sources for their raw materials—meaning their chemical industries

—

and that England will be willing to assume the responsibility for control of
this German industry by undertaking to supervise the distribution of German
chemical products to the markets of the world.

I understand that Sir Reginald McKenna, chairman of the board of the
Midland and City Bank (?), is now or has been recently in this country in

conference with leading American business and banking interests.

CKW/AER.

Exhibit No. 934

statement by julius klein, former assistant secretary of co'm^[e»cb and
diebctor of thel bureuvu of foreign and domestic commerce

The Senate inquiry appears to me to present an incomplete version of the
Commerce Department's discussions with American manufacturers of sporting
arms in 1925.

AVhen the State Department began preiiarations for the arms conference a
draft of the projected treaty was released in Geneva. American manufacturers
discerned at once that the text appeared to apply also to international peace
commerce in sporting arms and ammunition and to industrial explosives.

They protested to the State Department that such prohibitions threatened
a damaging encroachment upon American commerce without in any way ad-
vancing the real purpose of the Arms Limitation Conference.
At the request of the Secretary of State, Mr. Hoover, then Secretary of

Commerce, called a meeting of the principal American manufacturers of
sjiorting arms and industrial explosives. This conference, held at the Depart-
ment of Commerce on April 1, 1925, was devoted exclusively to a discussion

of such changes in the text of the treaty as would free sporting arms and
industrial explosives from the restrictions contemplated for military supplies.

My own covering letter of April 2, transmitting the conclusions of the con-

ference, ended with this paragraph :

" Your attention is invited to the fact that the enclosed memorandum does
not necessarily represent the views of the Department of Commerce, but
merely those of one branch of the industry, and that the participation of

the Department of Commerce is limited to the task of ascertaining and crys-

tallizhig the views of the industry for tlie benefit of the Department of State
and of the American delegates to the Geneva Conference."
The whole purpose of the conference, and the only interest of the Commerce

Dejiartment in the Discussions, was to distinguish between normal ]ieace-time

connncrcial business in sporting equipment and industrial explosives on the

one hand and military arms on the other; and to make certain that the legiti-

mate peace commerce should be properly safeguarded in the treaty.

A full report covering these discussions was transmitted to the State Depart-
ment at the time.

During his administration President Hoover, in messages to Congress and
public addresses, urged ratification of the Geneva Arms Treaty no less than

83876—35—PT 11 13
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six times. As late as January 10, 1933, he sent a special message to Congress,
again urging ratification of this treaty. In this message President Hoover
said in part

:

" This convention has been adhered to by a large number of other important
nations and is practically stopped through failure of the United States to adhere
to it. Its ratification would contribute to the ends being sought by the entire
world for the prevention and limitation of war. I earnestly urge that this

convention should be ratified."

Over a period of twenty years Mr. Hoover has been a conspicuous figure

in the movement for the effective organization of the peace of the world. His
vigorous advocacy of the Kellogg-Briand Pact, hisi unceasing effm-t for the suc-

cess of the Naval Limitations Conferences his exposure of the jingo propa-
ganda which once threatened the Geneva effort, his work for the universal
acceptance of the doctrine of nonaggression, and his efforts to advance the
entire limitation program-—all these are testimony to his sincere devotion to

the cause of peace.

("ExHrBiT No. 935" appears in text on p. 2426.)

("Exhibit No. 936" appears in text on p. 2438.)

Exhibit No. 937

[File MS-80-A]
* 135 Ms-8

DU PONT-NOBEIL RELATIONS KEGARDING MILITARY SALES

Attached hereto is memorandum on " du Pont-Nobel cooperation, sales of
military propellant powders and explosives ", which is the present agreement
between the du Pont Company «nd the Nobel interests concerning military sales

to governments other than the United States and Great Britain.

A brief summary on how it came into being is timely. For some years past
an accord has existed regarding foreign sale.s of commercial explosives, but all

documents covering this accord specifically excepted military sales, as, for
example, (hat of January 1, 1920.

This was largely due to the fact that du Pont felt that any accord on mili-

tary sales would tend to disturb their relations with the United States Govern-
ment, which relations had been carefully cultivated for over a century.

How Nobel felt in this regard is not known to us, but probably the Cordite
factories at Waltham Abbey, Holton Heath, and Auruvankadu (India) occupy
a relatively larger place in the British propellant supply than do the American
equivalents, so that the relations of Nobel with the British Government are
possibly not so intimate as du Pont's with the United States Government.
The military sales division of the du Pont Company is charged with sales to

and contact with the U. S. War and Navy Departments, and our constant
acquaintance with the ofiicials of these Departments gives the members of the
military sales division a knowledge of opinion in Washington that is never
written and seldom spoken. It is the unanimous belief of the military sales
division that any agreement on military sales with an alien firm will materially
hurt our relations with the United States Government, if, indeed, such agree-

ment will not eventually conflict with article XIV (d), ordnance contract.
" No contractor having in hand work of a military character which the Ord-

nance Department may designate as confidential shall permit any foreign officer

or other foreigner not in the contractor's employ to visit portions of the plant
where such work is in process, nor shall the contractor give to such person
any specific information concerning such work without the authority of the
Chief of Ordnance, nor shall any alien in the contractor's employ be engaged
on or permitted to examine such parts of the work as the Ordnance Department
may specifically designate as confidential."

Notwithstanding this belief, an agreement to cooperate with Nobel on mili-

tary sales was signed in London in November 1925, whereby du Pont was given
priority of sales on nitrocellulose powders and Nobel given priority on TNT
and nitroglycerin powders. In general, this agreement was satisfactory, but
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since Nobel was to have some of the nitrocellulose business and had not per-
fected this type of powder or brought their manufacturing costs to a figure that
could secure orders, it was not entirely satisfactory.

Closer cooperation was agreed on under date of October 14, 1926, whereby
du Pont from their Paris oflSce took charge of joint sales in northern and west-
ern Europe and Nobel from their Vienna office took charge of the Balkans.
Italy was left to Nobel ; no mention made of Spain or Portugal, which in effect

left them to Nobel ; Hungary not mentioned ; and Germany left for future
discussion.

The following has developed : On the 1,000-ton Polish order Nobel's quota
would have been 300 tons, but the Polish Government declined to split the
order, and, in general, it may be assumed that this attitude will be followed by
other governments.
At a meeting held in London on October 11, 1927, it was stated by a Nobel

representative that Ardeer must have orders for nitrocellulose powders in order
to gain experience and keep the plant force employed, which indicates that tJie

difliculties still exist in perfecting a nitrocellulose powder and producing it at
a cost suflSciently low to compete with other firms.

Frankly stated, the military sales division did not and does not desire this
alliance, as our technical developments and production costs permit us to secure
sufl5cient European business in competition with any or all manufacturers,
and we feel that any such alliance causes apprehension in Washington, which
is detrimental to the interests of the du Pont Co.
This alliance further impedes our sales, since no government will allow an

order to be filled from factories in two different countries, where with the
greatest care and skill, differences in finished product must result.

Although it is a delicate matter to discuss, the political situation of Great
Britain in regard to continental powers must be given consideration, and it

is believed that an American firm will have sales advantages, due to the de-
tached position of the United States in reference to European politics and'
political alliances.

We believe also that our European representative and his local agents will
be more successful in negotiations with the various governments than will their
Nobel associates.

To sum up, our objections to the existing Nobel agreement are

:

The detrimental effect on du Pont relations with the United States Govern-
ment.
The relative lack of nitrocellulose-powder development by Nobel and the

relatively higher prices hamper sales.

The impossibility of du Pont aiding Nobel to develop nitrocellulose powders
without conflicting with the United States Army contracts.
The impossibility of inducing foreign governments to permit orders to be

filled partly from du Pont and partly from Nobel factories.
The relatively greater skill of du Pont representatives, agents, and technical

men in securing European orders.

We consider- this information confidential.

E. I. DU PoNT DB Nemours & Co.^
By K. K. V. Casey,

Exhibit No. 938

[Pile MS-80-A]

16 Place Vendomb, Paris,
Novemher 16, 1927.

T-1012
Major K. K. V. Casey,

E. I. dxi, Pont de Nemours & Co., Wilmington, Delaware.

(Cooperation with Nobel:)

Dear Sir: 1. In accordance with tlie decision of the meeting held between the
principals of the du Pont Company and Nobel Industries, Limited, on the 29th
day of July 1926, an agreement was drawn up on the date of October 20th, 1926,
which resulted in a joint sales agreement by which the du Pont office in Paris
was to supervise the sales of certain territories on behalf of both companies and
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the Nobel office in Vienna to supervise otlier territories on behalf of both

companies.
2. In accordance with the minutes of the meeting of July 29th, 1926, Mr. A. G.

Major and myself were delegated to draw up the detailed arrangement. As an
actual matter of fact, when we drew up tliis arrangement, the following ideas

were in our minds

:

a. First, that there was no essential difference in the effort put upon sales

between the du Pont Company and the Nobel Company.
4. Secondly, that the quality of the products of the two companies was equally

sellable.

5. Thirdly, that the sale's prices were approximately the same.

6. We took this attitude because neither of us had had any comparative
experience of a real nature to permit us to presume anything different.

7. However, we did understand that the matters might not worlx out exactly

as we foresaw and that there might be some possible developments along this

line, and therefore we put in a paragraph which said

:

8. " It is recognized tliat in actual practice the ([uotas may not be adhered
to, and it is therefore suggested to the du Pout and Nobel management that,

at the end of each year adjustment shall be made for services rendered in the

event of one party obtaining an over-quota by the payment of some agreed
amount per unit of oversales."

9. Furthermore, it was provided :
" When occasion demands Colonel Taylor

is to be provided with technical assistance from Nobel necessitated by enquiries

from his territory, whilst reciprocally Mr. Smith may call for technical assist-

ance from Colonel Taylor where necessary."

10. Furthtrmore: "Government objection or prohibition shall be a valid

excuse on the part of either of the parties hereto to decline to make disclosure

of information pertaining to products within the scope of this arrangement."
11. And furthermore: " It is agreed that this arrangement shall not entail the

exchange of costs."

12. We have now been working under this agreement for a year and the

situation has developed as follows : In endeavoring to sell Nobel goods in my
territory there has not been any great difHculty in deciding in a reasonable

manner as to which company shall bid on enquiry from any certain country

and therefore on the basis of meeting the allocation mentioned in the contract,

there seemed to be no great problem to be expected, as circumstances appear
to dictate that in certain countries it is easier to sell Nobel material, due to

political and psychological reasons, and in other countries it is more easy to sell

du Pont material. Therefore, it first appeared as if the agreement would
work out exactly as intended, but unfortunately political and psychological

reasons are not the only things that sell powder, and therefore other considera-

tions have come in, unforseen at the time the agreement was made and which
may lead to certain complications.

These are : First, that Nobel cannot sell as cheaply as du Pont.

13. Secondly, that du Pont disposes of a greater history of experimental work,
\vhich permits them to offer a greater variety of solutions of the problems
presented than Nobel, and above all, permits them to answer these requirements
more rapidly and with greater assurance of success.

14. Therefore, one of my first studies in undertaking this sales' supervision
for Nobel's was to try to improve their situation by giving them more complete
information aliout the requirements than they had before, by getting their

technical men In closer touch with the customer, by putting pressure on them
to increase their experimental and research activities, which has been received

with a mixed i-eaction

:

15. On one hand they resent rather strongly any criticism of their products,

and on the other hand they are pleased to be put in closer contact with the

proidems.
16. It has also occasionally happened that where we have offered Nobel mate-

ri;d we have lost the order, whereas we might have had a better chance of getting

it if we had offered du Pont material. In each of the.se cases, liowever, it was
a (luestion of iirice. not of quality. It is not. however, beyond the iiossibilities

that Nobel would be willing to sell at the same prices as du Pont and hence
correct this difficulty, so at the moment of writing this there appears to be no
obstacles that cannot be corrected in time.

17. How<'ver, it is now very easy to project oneself into the future nnd foresee

lliijt certain more serious difficulties are about to arise. These difficulties are
about to develop in specific cases

:
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18. The first case is the question of Poland: We are looking forward to cun-

siderahle business from Pohind and hoping that it will come in the form (,f addi-

tional quantities to the i)resent contract, which, if it takes place, would oltligate

us, under the agreement, to endeavour to pass a certain quantity of this

contract to Nobel, specifically 300 tons of powder. It is evident to me. however,

that without our assistance Nobel can not manufacture in accordance with the

specifications, and we will either have to show Nobel how to manufacture this

powder by sending men to Ardeer or we will have to take Nobel's men to America

to work them in on this matter.
1J>. The second case is the question in Belgium, where, for every commercial

reason, it would appear reasonable to place the business expected from the

Fabrique Nationnle on Nobel's, and where Nobel is about to undertake studies

to meet the requirements. In this case, unless I give Nobel's the results of the

studies made by us for the Fabrique Nationale and give them certain assistance,

which knowledge I have acquired through efforts of the du Pont Company, they

will have trouble in meeting these reciulrements.

20. Thirdly, in the question of powder for the 13.2 mm Hotchkiss machine gun,

the question comes u]) why should they not furnish powder to Kynoch, if they

can make it. as Kynoch is their own factory, and here again, in order to enable

Ardeer to make this powder, we will eventually have to give them some
assistance.

21. Fourthly, if it would be possible to continue without giving Nol)el any
direct assistance in manufacture from Wilmington's iiersonnol, in any case I

.^hall have to give them, in order to sell their goods properly, a great deal of

information regarding customers' desires, methods, and results, which has been

acquired by me through working for the Du Pont Company and which is, there-

fore, the property of du Pont.
22. I can also foresee another complication : The experiences of the war have

caused a very considerable change in the requirements demanded of powders,

and Europe holds a quantity of unsolved problems. Ot all the p(!W(ler manu-
facturers, the Du Pont Company is at present the most capable of solving those

problems. This is being realizeil in Europe, and in the near future we are

going to get our principal Inisiness presented to us along the following line-;:

23. A country will say to us: "We have now adopted new guns and small

arms, but we are not satisfied with the powder solution for this problem as
presented by local factories. We will place a. large order for powder with you,

provided you solve the problem and then show our local people how to make
the powder. We must necessarily have you to show our local people liow to

make it. as it is not possible for us to be dependent on our powder supply
entirely from a foreign country; and therefore we cannot buy the ]M3wder from
you, nor use your solution of the problem, unless it is a solutio.n which we can
eventually produce ourselves."

24. The problem will be presented in the above manner, and Du Pont is in

a position to make considerable money by solving it iri the above manner. It

appears to me that we have the technical exiierience to allow us to solve such
problems and that we can in most cases show how to make the particular
powder for the particular problem which they put up to us, without disclosing

matters of great secrecy, not losing our lead in experimental work : in fact, the
stimulus of solving these problems will increase our technical advance.

25. This appears to me to be the immediate future of our work, and the
present agreement which we have with Nobel is not adapted to this problem.
I take it that under the present relations with Nobel we are obligated to show
them anything we show to a continental country, and tliat we are obligated to

place a part of these orders with them if possible; and, if this is not possible,

we are obligated to shai-e profits with them.
26. Suppose that the Paris office should be called upon to negotiate a contract

along the above lines. Should I present the problem to both the Du Pont Com-
pany and the Nobel Company at the same time, secure a duplicate set of in-

formation and components, have both factories study the problem imlepend-
ently, and have them comi.ete with eacli other for a technical solution?

27. If this is to be done, the Paris office of the Du Pont Company, being the
organ of transmission of information and questions, is bound to acquire thnmgh
this activity an intimate kn(iwledge of the working of the two parties; it will
be almost impossible for the Paris ofl^ice to decide which information belongs to
which company and whether it is to be transmitted to one and not to the other.
Furthermore, as experiments would go ahmg, it is inevitable that one company
would succeed and the other fail, and that the .second time a situation like that
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arose the weaker company would insist upon the other giving them the advan-
tages of their experience, and immediately a very acute development of the
problem on tlie exchange of information would arise.

28. If I gave all the problems to the du Pont Company and none to the
Nobel Company, there would be a legitimate objection. If I should give one
problem to one company and one problem to the other, there would be a legiti-

mate question as to my judgment as to which company I allocated the problem
to.

29. Therefore, in the development of our relationship with Nobel, the follow-
ing questions will come up:

* No. First, is the Paris office justified, in its efforts to sell Nobel goods,
in giving Nobel the results of all the experience which it has acquired as
representative of du Pont?

30. Is the Paris office justified in deciding that a certain order should be
placed with du Pont or Nobel, if the decision is to be made based on the
ability of the given company to manufacture in accordance with the require-
ments of the problems?

31. Is the Paris office justified in negotiating a contract which requires the
study of a new technical problem?

32. If so, is the Paris office justified in saying that du Pont will take this

problem because tliey can do it, and Nobel will not take up this problem because
they cannot do it?

33. Can the Paris office negotiate a contract for du Pont with a provision
for giving the purchaser certain knowledge regarding the manufacture of
powder, first offering this knowledge to Nobel, or without consulting Nobel?

34. Is it correct, in order to avoid the development of the above type of

problem, that the Paris office should abandon business where the question of

a technical study is involved and confine itself to simply selling what might
be described as the curi-ent manufacture of the two companies?

35. I foresee that, within six months, every one of the above questions will

come up and it appears to me that there is no provision for the solution of

these questions in the contract under which the Paris office is working, and
it appears evident that the Paris office is not competent to decide the above
questions, and if the Paris office has no direction along which to work in view
of the above, our business is going to be a great deal interfered with.

36. As these questions will surely come up, it npi>ears to me that they should
be foreseen and an agreement made with Nobel before the occasion arises,

otherwise tlie Paris office will find itself in the position of taking responsibility

of action on wliat are general company problems. I thing the Paris office

should be given specific instructions as to its action in these cases.

37. To possibly enlighten the discussion, I would like to give the following
personal opinion : Our future business will probably be, in every case, in the
form of a solution to a new ballistic problem and the business of selling what
might be called the current production of the two companies is practically

over, and as the agreement of the 20th of October 1926 was based upon the

idea that the sales would be of current products, it seems to me that this

agreement will no longer cover the situation. I further believe that the volume
of business will be inevitably tied up with the obligation to teach the Euroi>ean
customers how to produce, in their own country, the powder resulting from
the solution of the problem.

38. I further believe that it will be impossible from a sales point of view
to successfully conduct the negotiations with du Pont and Nobel competing
between themselves. I also believe that the number of cases in which du Pont
will find a solution will be greater than the number of -ases in which Nobel
will find a solution, but the technical knowledge of the Paris office is not suffi-

cient for the Paris office to decide which company should study which problem.
39. I further believe that the organization of the du Punt Company permits

us to work along these lines and that our state of technical development would
permit us to give a certain knowledge to the European factories without harm
to ourselves, but that the state of development of the Nobel organization

renders the solution of such problems much more difficult, longer, and less

likely of success. The Paris office has not an intimate knowledge of the Nobel
organization nor the possibilities of cooperation that it has with du Pont.

40. Of the possible solutions, one would be a division of territories, certain

territories to be only for du Pont to be free to do as they wish and other

Pencil marking.
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territories to be for Nobel to be free to do as they wish. This solution has
disadvantages, as it means restricting du Font's activities on tlie Continent
and also restricting Nobel's activities. The dissolution of our sales agree-
ment of October 20tli, 1926, would certainly cause very active competition and
probably bad feeling in the relations between the two companies.

41. Giving the whole problem to du Pont on a profit-sharing basis with
Nobel would probably not be accepted by them as satisfactory, although from
the sales point of view, it would be the most workable.

42. I see no happy solution of this question, but I am clear that these prob-
lems will, in a very short time, become acute, and I hereby request instruc-
tions.

Vei"y truly yours,

(S) William N. Taylok.
WNTRB/

Exhibit No. 039

[File :MS~S0-A. 135. MS-S. MS-208. D-1307]

January 10, 1928.
Col. W. N. Taylor,

16 Place Vendome, Paris, France.

Dear Sib : 1. Your letter T-1012, cooperation with Nobel. This letter con-

tains reasons set forth in 42 paragraphs why cooperation with Nobel is not
feasible. In replying to tlie various questions asked by you, we think that

you are reading in tlie Nobel-du Pont agreement things which are not men-
tioned. The agreement was one of cooperation on matters of sales in Euro-
pean territory. If you limit your efforts for Nobel entirely to sales, we think
your troubles would be few, but when you attempt to tell Nobel they are
right or wrong on the quality of their products, or the necessity for Nobel to

do development work in order to place themselves in position to successfully

compete on military pov.der business, you naturally place Nobel on the defen-
sive and they in turn seek to acquire from us the results of our development
work.

2. We feel that the Paris ofRce should pass on to Nobel Company all in-

quiries for military powder and obtain from Nobel their minimum sales prices.

It is our idea that the Paris office should function with Nobel in the same
manner that you function with Wilmington on sales. Paris does not wire or
write to Wilmington and tell us to do development work or research work
before quoting prices on military powder. We do the development work long
before quoting prices, and if Nobel does not see fit to follow such a procedure,
perhaps they can achieve success along other lines. You should not consider
that you personally are responsible for the quality of powder manufactured
by Nobel. This is only true when we take a European order and allocate
Nobel a portion of the powder for manufacture. In such a case the contract
would be with the du Pont Company, regardless of where the powder might
be manufactured, and the du Pont Company would be the loser in the event
the product was not in accordnnce with the specifications. If the Paris oflSce
should sul)mit prices on powder for Nobel and prices for du Pont on the
same prospect, assuming that prices were exactly the same, the choice of
placing the order would be entirely with the customer, and if you are unbiased
in the matter, you would make no effort to take the business for du Pont or
Nobel. The question of allocation can never be settled by you nor by us, as it

is a matter which the purchaser must decide, and Nobel and du Pont have to
be satisfied with that decision. Our experience in Poland has taught us that
it is impracticable to assume that a large order can be divided on some agreed
to basis between Nobel and du Pont.

3. As long as you continue to function with Nobel on the basis of keeping
tliem advised as to whether their product is good, poor, or indifferent, you will
find trouble for yourself and us. You will recall when the writer was in' London
that you cautioned Nobel how necessary it was to manufacture experimental
samples and to pay strict attention to various items in the manufacture of nitro-
cellulose powder in order that they would be in a position to manufacture a
product of quality. The writer took the position that the specifications would

• Pencil markings.
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give the Nobel company what the customer desired in the way of quality, and
that it was not the business of the salesman to take the responsibility of stress-

ing certain features of the specifleatious. Fairther, that the peciflcations were
drawn up so that the manufaciurer would know full well what the purchaser
desired in the way of quality and the acceptance of the specifications by the
contractor meant that he was fully aware of his obligations, and in quoting on
a prospect, did so with the idea that he could fulfill the specifications 100%.
This is the basis on which the Paris office functions with Wilmington and should
be the procedure between Paris and London.

4. We do not intend to furnish technical information to Nobel on any rifle or
cannon powder which we have in the past made up or may make up for European
governments. The sole exception to this is in the case of Poland, where we have
promised and are willing to show the Nobel representative the manufacture of

ritle and cannon powder on the Polish contract.

5. Would it not be a good plan for you to announce to Nobel that from this

date on you are concerned only with their prices on powder on prospects where
you intend quoting for Nobel ; that on all prospects you contemplate submitting
prices for Nobel-du Pont and would like our prices to be exactly the same? At
the end of the year it is up to the officials of Nobel and du Pont to get together

and make an allocation which will be satisfactory to all concerned. We feel

that you are quite satisfied that you are in no position to make the allocation in

question before bidding on a prospect, and if this is true, why not try to get the
business for either Nobel or du Pont by an impartial method of quoting exactly

the same price for the product of both concerns? This plan will undoubtedly
lessen your troubles with Nobel.

6. Of course, we shall discuss the Nobel agreement with Sir Henry MacGowan
or other Nobel officials when they visit Wilmington in the near future. We be-

lieve that our discussion will result in a working plan very similar to that out-

linetl in this letter, as we feel it is the only satisfactory solution to the

numerous questions set forth in your letter T-1012.
7. Before replying to this, may we suggest that you await the arrival of Mr.

Singer, who has on numerous occasions discussed the Nobel agreement with
us, and he undoubtedly can furnish you with details and reasons for the

conclusion drawn above.
8. Your letter T-1012 certainly tells the story of the Nobel-du Pont military

sales cooperation. We are glad that you wrote us in detail and gave us your
very complete thoughts on all the items which have been and will continue to

cause you discomfort and trouble. You may be sure that we will make an
earnest effort to revise the agreement so that your work with Nobel in the

future will be a pleasant task. This cannot be done as easily as it can be
written, but if you will do your part, as suggested in this letter, we will do our
utmost to bring about a satisfactory change.

Very truly yours,
W. H. O'GoKMAN, Asst. Director.

WHO'G/h.

Exhibit No. 940

[ICI—Militar.v Powers. D-1.378]

March 10, 1928.

Conference with Nobel officials.

Col. W. N. Taylor,
16 Place Yen dome, Paris, France.

Dear Sir: On March 9th, a conference took place between Nobel and du Pont
officials on matters appertaining to sales of military products of both com-
jianies. We have not as yet been furnished with a copy of the minutes of

the conference, but the following as reported by Major Casey is a summary
of recommendations

:

(f/) A 10-year agreement between Nobel and du Pont covering military sales

in Europe be entered into as more or less of a continuation of the 1925 agree-
ment..

{h) It was explained to Nobel that our Paris office is not in a position to

furnish technical information, and thei'efore all technical problems should
be referred to Wilmington. We offered Nobel our facilities at Brandywine
Laboratory for the development of nitrocellulose rifle powders for British Army
cartridges. We suggested that Brandywine would welcome visits of Nobel
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techuicul meu, and we would undertake to develop nitrocellulose rifle powdersj
to fulfill the British reiiuirenients, provided Nobel would furnish us with guns
and components to be used in ballistic tests. The development would then be
turned over to Nobel and, if necessary, we would send a man to Ardeer to
assist in the manufacture of nitrocellulose rifle powder for the British Gov-
ernment. AH technical infoi-mation passed on to Nobel would be on the
basis of Nobel agreeing to consider same as confidential, and under no condi-
tion divulge it to subsidiary or other companies in which Nobel may have part
iiwnership of some other interest.

(c) We advocated that the sale in South America of nulitary products of

both du Pont and Nobel be under the jurisdiction of du P<jnt, Wilmingtcm.
{(I) We recommended that our Paris office have complete charge of all

European powder sales for Nobel and du Pont, and that the Vienna oflice of

Nobel function under our Paris ofiit-e.

Mr. Mitchell was not prepared to make a decision in this connection as he
was without details and felt that the present arrangement functioned satis-

factorily. He stated that upon his return to London he would communicate
with Colonel Taylor for the purpose of having a conference in order to

determine whether the recommended arrangement would be best for all

concerned.
2. Attached is memorandum which the writer prepared for the above-men-

tioned conference, and which may be of service to you when you talk with
Mr. Mitchell.

3. We believe it is generally admitted among the Nobel executives that
our military-sales organization is better equipped to handle foreign sales than
is Nobel. It is with this thought that we recommended that all European
sales for both com]ianies be handled through the Paris office. Mr. Mitchell
no doubt desires to iliscuss this subject with Nobel London before he con-
fers with youj It woidd therefore seem wise for you to prepare a memo-
randum showing the advantages which may be gained through the adoption of
our recommendation, and also to point out specific cases where business has
bei'n taken by comiietitors because of the lack of unity of action on the part
of du Pont and Nobel.

4. From your cable #6";8 it aiipears that you can cite your pre.sent negotia-
tions in Poland as an example of what both companies may lose through lack
of unity of action.

Very truly yours,

WHO(G:N
W. H. O'GoBMAN, Asst. DhTcffrr.

Exhibit No. 941

[Filo: MS-80-.\. D-l:!84]

December 12, 1927.
Col. W. N. Tayloe,

16 Place Vendome, Pwris, France.

Deab Sir: Your letter T-1009'—Prance—13.2 m/m Hotchkiss.
We appreciate that the adoption of the Hotchkiss 13.2 gun by France will

undoubtedly bring about an embax'rassing situation for the French Powder Serv-
ice. It must be fairly well known among the French that we have during the
past two years manufactured a satisfactorj powder for this gun. We, of course,
are perfectly willing to furnish France with her requirements of this powder but
see absolutely no reason why we should even think about making arrangements
for the manufacture of the powder in France or by the French Powder Service.
Having in mind our conversation in Paris concerning the possibility of France
adopting a multiperforated type of grain for larger guns, it seems reasonable
that inmiediately after the cannon-powder samples will have been tested, you
will have an opportunity of discussing in general the smokeless-powder situation
with French War Department officials. At that time you undoubtedly can
bring into the discussion the subject of powder for the 13.2 gun and offer to
supply a trial lot of ten tons. It is logical to expect that the French War
Department might purchase a trial lot even though it has been stated that the
French Powder Service can produce a satisfactory propellent for the 13.2 gun.
The proposition of giving or selling to France technical information which

might permit the French Powder Service to manufacture 13.2 powder and per-
haps powder of the multiperforated type is one which depends largely on
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whether France might be willing to contract with us for a specific percentage of
her annual requirements of smokeless powder. We know of no way by which
a valuation could be placed upon technical assistance or information which we
might furnish to the French Power Service. Therefore, it seems to us that it

is a question of how many pounds of powder we can sell to France over a period
of years in return for our technical assistance on the manufacture of nitro-

cellulose-smokeless powder. Of course, if we enter into any agreement with the
French Powder Service, it would be on the basis of that service furnishing the
powder to France and France only. We would not permit them to manufacture
our type of powder for any other foreign government.
The matter of furnishing technical assistance to foreign governments or for-

eign plants is one which comes up quite often. In general, our policy is not to

answer the question until we have some indication as to whether the giving of
technical assistance will result in a large order or orders. If it is necessary to

answer the question as to the giving of technical assistance before any informa-
tion can be had as to whether the foreign government will agree to give us a
percentage of its powder requirements over a period of years, we think our
position should be as follows

:

The du Pont Company will furnish technical assistance on powder manu-
facture, providing we can be guaranteed orders for a definite quantity of powder
per annum over a period of ten years. Of course, our decision will be based
upon the quantity of powder which we will be permitted to manufacture for

the customer over the specified period.
Very truly yours, W. H. O'Gorman, Asst. Director.

WHO'G/h.

("Exhibit No. 942" appears in text on p. 24.i0.)

Exhibit No. 943

[File: MS-80-A]

MEETING HELD AT NOBEL HOUSE ON 9TH NOVEMBER 102o

Present : Mr. Irenee du Pont, Major K. K. V. Casey, Colonel W. N. Taylor,
Mr. A. G. Major.
The discussion evidenced that the du Pont representatives accept our. theory

that eventually : (1) European countries will be selfsupplying and/or (2) draw
their supplies from countries more logically situated (sieographically) than the
U.S.A., and that jointly du Pont and ourselves should adopt the policy of
affording technical assistance to European countries wishing to erect factories
in return for a fee and the guarantee of powder orders to us during the erection
period.

Colonel Taylor suggested that Nobel's are more interested in having a financial

interest in such propellant factories and taking their profits that way rather
than through the supply of powder. He also expressed the view that we were
not so free to collaborate with du Pont to the extent that might be necessary on
account of our commitments in other directions.

It was pointed out that so far we had only gone in for industrial explosives
in this connection and our policy had been to avoid the propellant powder side,

except where we were forced to adopt it, e.g., the Czechoslovakian Explosives
Company. If, however, we were forced to enter the propellants field, we adopted
the plan as outlined above by Colonel Tayloi*.

Roth IMajor Casey and Colonel Taylor put forward for consideration the
principle of N.G. powders for Nobel and N.C. powders for du Pont. In answer
to this it was explained that this was not a proposition we could put up to our
management as it seemed to us inequitable—any cooperation should be based on
a proper division of the required supplies.

A discussion followed concerning the extension of the Greek Powder C<mipany's
plant to enable them to execute their contracts with their own government, and
it was agreed to find a basis for joint working (this of course has since been
effected )

.

A general talk ensued on the formation of a pool in Europe embracing Nobel,
du Pont, Bofors, and the Czechoslovak Company, but no decision was reached.

3rd Januaby 1928.
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Exhibit No. 944

[File MS-80-A; MS-124]

[D-2076]
Prospects of future sales. May 21, 1930.

Colonel W. N. Taylor,
16 Place Vendome, Paris, France.

Deab Sir: In your letters T-1862 and 1893 you summarized, in a general
way, prospects of sale to various European countries. In paragraph three of
your letter you enumerated various conditions under items " a " to " h ",
inclusive, and in paragraph four you made two remmendations under captions
" a " and " b."

Your recommendations need no approval from this office as similar projects
have come up for discussion many times during the last five years, and on
each occasion we have approved the plan which you suggested.
We are willing to sell our " Know How " providing by so doing we will make

additional sales of smokeless powder. One basis on which to trade is for
the firm to which we give the " Know How " to divide its smokeless powder
business over the next ten-year period on a basis which would justify our
giving to that concern or government the " Know How " and technical assist-

ance on powder making. Tliis, in general, has been our policy and it can
only be formulated into a si3ecific proiwsition in cases where we are fully

aware of conditions in connection with the government factory or privately
ownetl concern in Europe which may be producing powder for its government.

If we are to succeed in making sales of military powders abroad, we un-
doubtedly have to make connection with European government factories or
powder companies in such countries that do not have government powder
factories.

Orders in Europe are few and far between and, at the present time, it

cannot be said that our prospects are good other than on the sale of FNH
powder to the Polish Government. It seems as though we should start at
once to see what connections we can make and nnder what conditions we
might be able to make a tie-up with factories in Europe. AVIiat we do in this

connection depends mostly upon you and we expect to hear from you more
specifically on the Coopal factory and also on the Muiden factory in Holland.

Very truly yours,
W. H. O'GoRMAN, xisst. Director.

WHO'G : MH

(" Exhibit No. 945 " appears in text on p. 245.5.)

("Exhibit No. 946" appears in text on p. 2456.)

Exhibit No. 947

[File MS-IOO-R]
Memo, for file.

Report No-. 38-H, April 29, 1924

Washington. Ai)ril 28, 192.'/.

I. ordnance DEPT'.

Left Aberdeen Proving Ground at 11 a. m. in order to be certain of getting in

touch with Gen. Ruggles before he left for the afternoon. Met Major .J. K.
Grain in the hallway just outside of Gen. Ruggles' oflice, who greeted me with a
statement that I had come to find out if the Ordnance Dept. would sanction the
du Pont Co. assisting the Polish Govt, in the manufacture of " IMR " powder,
and this was based on cablegram from the European military attache's office in

Paris. I advised that his question was apparently Itased on incomplete informa-
tion, giving a misconception of the situation. I showed Major Grain our letter

of April 26th addressed to the Chief of Ordnance, and proposed that we discuss

the subject with Gen. Ruggles in detail. There was nut time to do this very
thoroughly with Gen. Ruggles because of pending engagement of his in Col.
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Ferguson's office to discuss " Muscle Shoals." However, discussion was guided
along lines that indicated to Gen. Ruggles that it was very desirable tliat the
work be undertaken as they stood to profit by it. The flake rifle powder situa-
tion was emphasized, and apparent contradictions were cleared up. Even be-

fore seeing our letter, Gen. Ruggles had dictated an endorsement relating to the
military attache's cable, stating that it was vastly more important to encourage
the du Pont Co. to continue in the manufacture of propellants for military use,

than to endeavor to protect secrets relating to the manufacture. Major Grain
dictated the letter of reply to us, based on instructions from Gen. Ruggles.
There was no argument or hesitation in making the decision as to their attitude.
Question did arise, however, as to tlie need of submitting this question to the
Bureau of Ordnance of the Navy. I stated that I expected to see Capt. Hough,
of the Division of Naval Intelligence, and would, as a matter of courtesy to the
Navy Dept., mention the matter. Capt. Hough was absent from the oflSce on
account of illness, hut the subject was discussed briefly with his assistant,
Comdr. Galbraith, who had little comment to make, except that he would like
copies of the correspondence, simply for record.

II. NAVY DEPT.

(o) Division of Naval Intelligence.—Discussed subject as noted above with
Comdr. Galbraith. also the recent correspondence regarding Capt. Sugimato's
letter, and Japanese visitors. No difference of opinion developed during this
discussion.

(&) Bureau of Ordnance.—Made further detailed arrangements with Comdr.
Courts regarding tests of " Pyralin Containers", for 5" 51 cal. powder charges,
to be made at Dahlgren Proving Ground on May 2d.

Subject of safety and fire inspection of the Naval Depot at Lake Denmark,
following similar inspection of Picatinny Arsenal, was mentioned, and Comdr.
Courts took this subject up with Admiral Bloch. The latter concluded that it

was not advisable to have such inspection made because there were no funds
available to correct known defective conditions.

C. I. B. Henning,
CIBH:N (s) C. I. B. H.

ExHiHiT No. 948

[File 99-12-2]

November 10. 19.33.

du Pont-I. C. I. patents and processes agreement.

Mr. W. R. SwiNT,
Director Foreign Relations Department:

In answer to the questions contained in your letter of November 2d

:

1. We have received no valuable assistance from I. C. I. on new products or
new processes but have had valuable assistance along the line of improvements
in exi.sting processes in two instances: (a) In the process for refining TNT,
and (b) the complete process for manufacturing tetryl. Up until recently we
have received very few suggestions or ideas for new lines of research or new
approaches to existing research prol^lems. Over tiie past few years there has
been a definite iraiJrovement in the practical nature of the work carried out by
I. C. I. as affei'ting explosives. The commercial attitude seems to have been
inserted more and more, and, at the present time, there is one problem on which
they are working which has stinnilated thoughts along the same lines in cur
minds, namely, the development of a practical method for providing safety

sheaths for explosives to be iised in coal mines. Up until the present time our
connections with I. C. I. have lieen chiefly of value in reference to improvement
in existing pi'ocesses, and have been of very minor inipi rtance in connection
with new products or new processes. There is no question but that the in-

formation received from I. C. I. has been of a valuable nature, and the situation

in this respect seems to be improving as time goes on.

C. A. WoooBiTRY, Director.

CAW : MKB
Tlie above is an excerpt of letter to Mr. W. K. Swint, as shown in first

paragraph.
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Exhibit No. 948 1/2

56 RUE DE Vatjgiraed,
Paris, 6e.,

October 10, 1922.
T-37.
Siiles in the Balkans.

Mr. K. K. V. Casey,
E. 1. du Pont de Nemours, Wilmington, Del.

In the Balkans I ran across a situation so entirely different from anything
we have in America that I am writing this in addition to my letter no. 36' to
try to give you a picture of the situation there.

We want to sell powder in the Balkans and powder can be sold to the Balkans
but the method of straight selling for what they need and getting paid for it

will not work. If you draw a line from Ti'ieste t<> Warsaw and go east of that
line, you find the business and tinancial conditions run on a set of rules entirely
their own, and if we can't conform to the situation we won't be able to get any
business. There the ordinary business ethics are entirely different from ours
and people have no knowledge of ours, they don't know what our business
ethics mean. Their financial methods and the methods of raising money from
their goveriuuents are also entirely different from ours.

In the first place, the country is constituted of a great mass of peasants who
work in the fields and cannot read nor write. Until comparatively recently the
governments were abs<dute monarchies run by a group of people around the
monarch who, by every means whicli they could imagine, extracted money from
the peasants without any idea of what we might call a national instinct or any
idea of being fair or doing good to the peasant—on the contrary ! Generally in
these countries are several groups of such people and all political agitation is

simply a tight between these different groups to get their hands on the spoils.

The great western European powers have attempted to force upon these people
the western ideas of government and ethics and the result has been merely
a complication of tlieir primitive methods. They begin by collecting all the
taxes they can, then they purchase things for the government and all of them
collect all the graft they can in every way out of these purchases. They don't
much care what they pay so long as they get the graft, which is their main
object. Internal politics consist of disputing over the graft—external politics
consist in developing complications which permit them to spend or collect more
government money. The idea of doing anything for the good of the country
has never been translated into their language.
For instance, the idea of issuing an internal government loan, selling it to

the people, has never occurred to them and could not be done. When they
want an internal loan they get together the rich merchants and Jews and say,
" You will lend the government some money or we put you in jail ; if you do
lend the government money, we will let you in on the profits for 15 or 20
percent." A merchant is successful when he knows how to distribute the
graft and get away with part of the profits.

If you do down to that country with something to sell and expect to find
fair competition on prices and quality, you will be very much deceived—
there is no such thing. People wh(> traded the most with those countries and
are most successful are the English and Germans. How do they do it? Let
us take Vickers for an example. It is impossible for Vickers, with their
British stockholders and their English business ethics, to play this game di-
rectly. So they use the intermediary of a man like Sir Basil Zaharoff, who
is the most important of his class, who acts about as follows : He gets a
price from Vickers with a discount of 40 or 50 percent. He goes to the country
and he says, " You need so much material. I'll provide you with this whole
lot and give you so much graft and I'll lend you the money to buy it with."
Then he will go to a local banker or merchant and he'll say this, " We will
make a loan through Mr. So-and-So to the government and this loan will bring
you a very large interest and we will give so much commission to the Minister
of Finance ", and he'll promise to collect enough taxes to pay this loan and he
does not got the commission until the loan is paid back. He gets his money
from these various people. The government pays Vickers the full amount
less the discount which goes to some intermediary. In time the government
collects taxes, pays back the people who made the' loan, and all the people in
the game pocket the profits. He has now made an arrangement of this type
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for refilling the Greek Army. If we want to sell down there we will have to

do somewhat the same thing. We will have to go to the government and say
" We can furnish you with a variety of materials, large orders, which will

make a big enough sum to be interesting. We will cover fixed anununition,
powder, rifles, and cannons, shoes, uniforms, etc., and we will help to

arrange a loan to permit you to pay for this." We can then go to a local

bank and say " Now you want to arrange a loan to the government to pay for

this material on which you will get a large percentage." This bank will get

up a private loan, promising large interests to the subscribers, subject to a
purchase of material to our combination.

In order to work this we must work through an American bank who will

act as an intermediary between us and the local bank and must be able to do
its share in raising the loan among the rich nationals of the country to which
we sell, who are resi'lents in America. If we could find a bank who knew
how to do this we should get up an expedition to go to those countries, con-

sisting of representatives of the bank, technical men from the Bethlehem Steel,

a small-arms company, an ammunition company, and sit on the job until we
could negotiate.
The most difficult problem in America would be to find a bank accustomed to

this kind of operations. There are a great many such banks in England, par-

ticularly the Anglo-Persian Bank, who does nothing else, but I doubt if we
can count on the English banks to be interested in the purchase of material
from America. The American bankers are not accustomed to this type of

operation in the Balkan countries. I had a little talk with the Morgan
people in Paris and they say they have no relations in those countries and
that while such operations are done they are not organized to work in the
Balkans. The Guaranty Trust Co. people think they might be able to do some-
thing with regard to Greece but they both say that they think that it should
be done through a Jewish bank.
Any attempt to organize this by having an issue of the local Government

bonds to be sold in America on the open market, is utterly impossible. If we
want this business bad enough we could take the Government notes ourselves

and we could arrange to have enough commission on the sales to be distributed

to the right people and to be paid to the officials only after the Government
has met his obligations to us, this commission being a sort of insurance on
being paid. If we could do it ourselves we would save considerable money on
commissions and would make our prices more reasonable and less open to public

criticism. I think if we could take the Government notes in payment for the

offer of a combined lot of materials to about $1,500,000 for Serbia and about
$3,000,000 for Greece and would allow enough percentage to be distributed and
get hold of a fairly trustworthy distributor, we could do considerable business

in these countries. Otherwise I think our only chance of doing business is

to sell a little powder to the people who are operating in that manner, which
would mean instead of working in those countries attempting to sell to a

Franco-Tchec group " Skoda & Co." or to the British group around Vickers.

Selling a combined lot of ordnance and taking in hand the creation of a

loan would have the best chance of success ; sales to Vickers or Schneider have
the second best chance of succeeding, and an attempt to sell powder directly

to these Governments the least chance of succeeding.

I know this sounds lilce a story from the Arabian Nights and will probably
be digested with difficulty at Wilmington, but it is as clear an exposure of

the situation in the Balkans as I am able to make. Please think this over

and tell me which line you wish me to pursue. If you don't feel like going

into a loan of this kind, and don't know any bankers who would undertake
it, it is possible that our best mode of operation would be this : That our
agents in these countries do the best they can toward little sales and have
me put my time on the big munition companies in the western European
countries. So far I have put all my efforts on straight selling to these countries

and I expect to get some results but I don't believe that that method is going

to bring us anything very big. I think, from what I saw in the Orient, that

there are very great chances in favor of a war in the Near East. And one
must include the Balkans as being part of the Near East. Those savage people

tlon't know how to live without w-ar and robberies. They have in the past

been helped in a certain line of good conduct by fear of the military action

of file great powers. Before the Anglo-Turkish incident there was still in

the Orient a great fear of the eastern powers but the fact that both the French

and the English refused to fight Kemal and are going to permit him to enter
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Europe, has given a tremendous blow to the European prestige in tliat part
of the country. All the people are absolutely astonished. I saw Turks, Bul-
garians, Greeks, and Serbians, and with one accord they say that the great
powers are done for, that they are afraid to fight and add " we don't have to
obe.v them any more."
To maintain European prestige in those coimtries there was nothing to do

but fight the Turks but as neither the French nor the British Governments
felt it possible to ask their people to go to war, they simply have had to ac-

cept a tremendous moral defeat. The result will be that all those Near-Eastern
people will feel that the time has come to throw off the government of the
great powers and if it does not lead to one enormous war it will lead to a
great number of small ones.

If we want to sell military powder to these people we have got to hit on the
proper plan and get busy in a concentrated way. All these people will prob-
ably buy fixed ammunition and it looks to me as if a powder factory had a
fairly small chance of selling directly to these countries. But the sales to these
countries should be made by the big munition people and perhaps our best
plan is to concentrate all our efforts on these munition firms.

Please give me a directive.

(s) William N. Taylor.
WNT/Mg.

("Exhibit No. 949" appears in text on p. 2489.)

Exhibit No. 950

[File MS-80-A]
February 3, 192S.

Personal.

Col. W. N. Taylor,
16 Place Vendome, Paris, France.

Dear Taylor : In reply to your private and confidential letter of January 18,

1928. designated " Letter A", I cabled you a reply as per my telegram no. 588,

confirmation of which is attached.
We will pay a cash discount of 2% at the signing of the contract, understand-

ing that the 2% so paid is part of the regular 7% commission. Our payment,
however, is predicated upon Polish payments for the 300 tons of powder being
satisfactory to us and, of course, the price at which the powder is sold likewise
being satisfactory.
You may be sure in the event that you conclude a deal along the lines indi-

cated in your letter of January 18th that I will promptly remit by cable the
amount involved to pay the 2% commission, so that there will be no delay.
With kindest regards and wishing the best of luck, I am,

Sincerely yours,
W. H. O'GoRMAN, Assf. Director.

WHO'G/h.

Exhibit No. 951

[144—Polish Government. MS-80-A]
July 3, 1928.

D-1552.

Col. W. N. Taylor,
16 Place Veudomc, Paris, France.

Deiar Sir: We acknowledge receipt of your cable no. 678 and confirm our
reply no. 571, copies of both are attached.

1. The news that you had actually begun negotiations on a new contract
with Poland covering the sale of 1,200 tons of short-barrel rifle powder, was
indeed gratifying. It is noted that your negotiations may be concluded within
the next two months and that the conditions will be the same as the last

contract.
2. Because of price cutting on smokeless powder by competitors, you ask us to

name the lowest price at which powder referred to above could be sold to
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Poland. In our telegram 571, we advise that our lowest price would be 750 per
pound f.o.b. our plant. Based on this price if the agent is to be paid a 7%
commission, lie would receive 5i/40 per pound on our f.o.b. price. Wo assume
that the freight and insurance charges would amount to 20 per pound so that

the total c.i.f. price, including everything, would be 821/40 and we authorize
you to name this price if conditions so warrant.

3. In i-egard to advance of 2% on agent's commission on new order, this

matter can be handled exactly the same as we did on the 1,000-ton contract

so that the money will be available upon receipt of telegraphic advices from
you. You may rely upon me to personally take care of this matter so that the
funds will be placed to Mr. Klawe's credit within 48 hours after receipt of

telegraphic advices from you.
4. If the above arrangement does not meet with Mr. Klawe's approval, we

could arrange to make Mr. Klawe an advance against his commission on the
present 1,000-ton contract. Personally, I do not think the advance should be
made until you are absolutely certain thnt the new 1.200-tou contract will be
signed. This, however, is a matter of bookkeeping within the du Pont Company
and you may proceed on the basis that the amount involved will be available

in cash either at the signing of the contract or just prior to the date that
the contract is scheduled to be signed.

5. Under separate cover, I am writing you concerning new prices on smokeless
powder.

Yours very truly,

W. H. O'GoRMAN, Asst. Director.

WHOG : MHS

Exhibit No. 952

[144, Polish Gov't]

May 20, 1930.

Sale of aircraft finishes—Polish Government—Stefan Klawe.

Parlin Plant,
Industrial Finishes Division, Export Department,

(Attention J. H. Frechen.)

In reply to your letter of May 14th and confirming our telephone conversa-
tion on the above subject, we are glad to advise that Mr. Klawe has been
agent for the ^Military Sales Division in Poland for the past six years, during
which time he was successful in obtaining for us orders from the Polish
Government for large quantities of smokeless powder. Some of the sales
were made on a cash basis, others on credit extending over a year and a half
and on the last contract, which was for 1,000 tons of powder, ijayments ex-

tended over a three-year period.

For your confidential information the total sales price of the 1,000 tons

of smokeless powder amoinited to $1,846,000. Poland agreed to pay this sum
in twelve equal instalments, adding to each instalment a premium of 9% and
interest at the rate of 6% annually. The Republic of Poland gave to us
twelve treasury notes, note no. 1 being in the amount of approximately $108,000
and note no. 12 approximately $204,000. The other ten notes ranged in face
value between these figures.

Mr. Klawe's commission on the above-mentioned contract was 7%, or ap-
proximately $126,000. Upon signing of the contract, even before we i-eceived

the Polish notes, we made an advance payment of commission to Mr. Klawe
of $30,000.
The Polish Government has met all of its obligations promptly and in a

very satisfactory manner. We would have no hesitancy in extending credit

to the Polish Government and, at the present time, we are negotiating for a
larger contract than the (me referred to above. The prospective contract will

be along the same credit lines as the last.

In dealing with the Polish Government you are rather fortunate to have
Mr. Klawe as agent, as he is a man who is very well connecteil and
thoi-oughly understands what must be done in order to secure business. He
is very trustworthy and I suggest that you follow his advices so far as the

obtaining of Polish Government business is concerned.
In regard to the inspection of nitrocellulose dopes, the order would probably

be too small to justify the Polish Government sending a representative to this
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country and you will therefore have to depend upon inspection in Warsaw or,

if Klawe can arrange it, the writer feels that the U. S. Army would be glad
to function as inspector for the Polish War Department. This is a matter
which would have to be taken up by the Polish Lesation in Washington
through tile State Department of the U. S. Government but the request would
have to be initiated in Warsaw.

W. n. O'GoKMAN, Asst. Director.
WHO'G :MH

("Exhibit No. D53 " appears in text on p. 2497.)

Exhibit No. 954
December 27, 1929.

(Circulation MANAGiai,
Du Pont Magazine.

Dr. C. Y. Wang is a chemical engineer in charge of dyestuffs demonstration
in our Shanghai office, but since Dr. Wang is al^o engaged in military sales

work, the Du Pont Magazine would be of value to him. as he is in constant
touch with Government officials.

Col. de Fremery is a Dutch officer working under contract with the Chinese
Government as an advisor, but we do not wish the title " technical advisor "

to appear in the address. The other men mentioned are all members of the
so-called " technical section " or technical committee in the ordnance department
of the Chinese Army, and it is essential that each one receive a copy of the
magazine.

In the future we shall be mindful to follow your suggestions in keeping with
the policies you have adopted, it being our desire to cooperate with you as much
as possible.

W. H. O'GORMAN,
NEB/h Assistant Director.

The above as per last three paragraphs of letter of above date to circulation

manager.

("Exhibit No. 955" appears in text on p. 2500.)

Exhibit No. 956

[Copy]

Original noted by Major Casey and returned to dyestuffs department.

(S) J. C. G.*

private and confidential,

Wilmington, Delaware,
August 22, 1929.

[No. SW-PC-177, August 2, 1!)2'J

Kec'd : M.S.: Military E^plo.sives]

File 34—Chinese Gov't.

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company,
Dyestuffs department, sales dinision.

This will acknowledge with thanks the receipt of your letters WS-PC-103,
105, 106, and 121, all of which make very interesting reading; 121 particularly
is important inasmuch as it gives very complete information on the respective
qualities of powders nos. 17, 17 special. 25. and 25i/2- It came at a most op-

portune moment as I am at present engaged in discussing a 30-ton powder
contract with the Shanghai arsenal.

Proving ground : The matter is in order and will be used for bargaining.
Ballistic tests : No comments whatsoever are required : we now have the

fullest data on hand. As a matter of interest, we might mention that 7.9

Pencil notation.

8:i87G—35—PT 11 14



2600 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

m/m pointed " S " bullets weighing 10 grams are used exclusively by the Chinese
Army in a long-barrel rifle of Mauser type.
Cannon powder : A form letter was received from Nanking this morning

signed by an official of the ministry of war, requesting offers on cannon powder
on the following characteristics

:

No. 1. 75 m/m 14 cal. mountain gun. Muzzle velocity, 280 meter seconds.
Maximum pressure, 1,400 atmospheres. Weight of powder charge, 140 to 1.50

grams. Weight of projectile, 5.3 kilograms.
No. 2. 75 m/m 14 cal. field gun. Muzzle velocity, 510 meter seconds. Maxi-

mum pressure, 2,700 atmospheres. Weight of powder charge, 430 to 440 grams.
Weight of projectile, 6 kilograms.
You cable dated July 29th, advising that you were sending cannon powder

together with the rifle powder, came in very handy and we are going to follow
up the matter. We trust that full information covering ballistic tests of this
powder will reach here by an early mail. I regret to be unable to give you any
further information on the subject as the mail is closing this afternoon. Col.
de Fremery is back and I shall discuss the matter with him.
Further contracts: I have been nei;()tiatiug for the last few days for a 30-ton

Cfiutract of du Pont I.M.R., powder no. 25 with the Shanghai Arsenal. I have
quoted them the price of g'old $2.30 c.i.f. Shanghai, shipment east coast. If

shipment is made via the west coast, 100 extra per kilo will be charged.
The terms are similar to the first contract, copy of wliich is now in your hands.

In order to increase their interest in the matter, I have suggested that it

liii.^ht be of mutual advantage to make a 50-ton contract now that they know
from the tests of the Frankford Arsenal that our powder is satisfactory, in

which case I would quote 2.26 (or 2.36) and not insist on a higher deposit
witli the order. The matter has been referred to Nanking and will probably
be settled next week.
The German advisers have remained singularly quiet of late, ixjssibly on my

hint that they were being spied upon by the Chinese authorities. Anyway,
from further information I have been able to obtain through Chinese sources,

all three of them are going to be transferred to various places in the interior,

and there seems to be a very good chance of our now lieing free from inter-

ference. I have also learned that the chief engineer of the arsenal, whose
name is on the contract and with whom I have been negotiating, is considered
to be absolutely square. Anyway, presents will have to be given to various
parties at China New Year and tlie over price we get can be used for this

purpose. Incidentally, we are spending a fortune on cable charges and I think
that it is only right to charge all the traffic can bear. Later on if we discuss

a 500-ton contract or so we can bring down our price to your figure of 2.18.

We are accumulating a considerable amount of information, partly through
Colonel de Fremery, partly through Chinese sources, and C. Y. Wang is giving

me most excellent service in this connection. The new Nationalist Government
is more or less controlled by returned students, and C. Y. is certain to find

either former classmates or friends or relations of classmates of his wherever
we go.

Eight-ton contract : Enclosed herewith please find translation of your cable

dated July 30th. Considering that the cabled advice to the arsenal was sent

by your good selves and not by the Frankford Arsenal officials, and that we
are negotiating a new contract, I found it more diplomatic not to ask our
friends for the second quarter of our first contract. I shall do so when the

original documents signed by the Frankford Arsenal come on hand. This

means a month's loss of interest, but I tliink that just at present it is much
safer to act as I have done as the Chinese offirials may very rightly point out

that the information is coming from us.

There is no time to giv^^^ you any further information as the mail is closing.

As soon as anything develops I shall let you know by cable.

Shanghai Dyestufps OmoE,
(S) F. A. M. NOELTING,

Director of sales for C'hUia.
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Exhibit No. 957

[File: MS-IOO-C]

Wilmington, Dei^awarei,
December 11, 1921.

Report of Trip to : Washington, D. C. December 16tli.

Called at the Department of Commerce regarding their letter of December
9th concerning onr negotiations in Argentine. Saw Mr. P. S. Smith and
Mr. J. P. Bushnell. Mr. Bushnell is a former employe of the du Pont Export
Company, who was a ti'aveling salesman in Mexico and South America for

the Export Company. Mr. P)nshnell stated that he knew Mr. Lissner and
therefore was interested in doing all he could for us.

Mr. Smith stated that the information did not come through the representa-
tive of his department in Buenos Aires, namely, Mr. Feely. Mr. Smith's
letter to us was founded on a confidential report sent to him by the American
Charge d'Affaires in Buenos Aires. I requested Mr. Smith to permit me to

read the report but he stated that the department was not permitted to show
confidential reports received from the various embassies. However, I told him
that I felt there would bo something in the I'eport which would be of material
aid to us in straightening out this matter, and he finally agreed to let me
read it if I would consider it strictly confidential and personal.
From my memory the following is the substance of the report

:

October 27, 1921.

The du Pont Company has in Buenos Aires a German Jew named A.
Lissner, who is negotiating with the Argentine Government for the sale of a
quantity of powder which the du Pont Company has on hand, due to the can-
cellation of a contract with the Italian Government. In a conversation with
the Chief of Ordnance he told me confidentially that Lissner was endeavoring
to bribe Argentine officials by indiscriminately distributing funds through a
middle man. The Chief of Ordnance, together with other Argentine officials,

strongly resents Lissner's business methods, contending that Lissner came to
Argentine with the idea that tlie government officials were corrupt and that
he could f>nly obtain a contract by paying bribes. Argentine does not like

to do business with this type of a representative and therefore the Chief of
Ordnance stated that the du Pont Company would not get the contract.
The vice president of the Baldwin Locomotive Co. came here last year and

made a vei-y good impression on the Argentine Cabinet, together with all

Argentine officials. He succeeded in putting through a $14,000,000 contract
for the supplying of locomotives, etc., and not one penny of graft was paid to
anyone. American manufacturers would do well when negotiating \Aith

Argentine to do so through an officer of their company or through some very
high official. A vice president of an American corporation carries much more
prestige with Argentine officials than does an ordinary representative. A vice
president is generally a higher type of man, whose Inisiness methods are on
a much higher plane and the Argentine Government feels complimented when
an American corporation sends a higli official to conduct negotiations with
them.
While I do not personally know Mr. Lissner, it is rumored that he is fre-

quently drunk and does not represent the true type of American busin.ess man.
This last statement is given to you with reser\ation in that the writer has
no proof of it being true.

(signed) Francis White."
Both Mr. Smith and Mr. Bushnell felt that a great deal of the above report

could be discounted, stating that Mr. White was a very high typ<^> of man,
conscientious and painstaking. The moral conclusion which Mr. White at-
tempted to draw attention to in his report, of course, is a high thought, but
Mr. Smith stated that he spent eight months last year in Buenos Aires and
knew for a fact that the officials were corrupt and endeavored to obtain graft
whenever possible. He ventured to say that it was quite possible that the
Chief of Ordnance was incensed because Lissner had not conducted the busi-
ness flirectly through him, and furfher, that it might be likely that he objected
to Lissner's methods because he was not getting part of the graft.

Mr. Smith agreed to cnble his representative, Mr. Feely, at once and instruct
him to get in touch with Mr. Henuiug and to conduct in conjunction with
Mr. Henning a thorough investigation of the case. I agreed to pay the cost
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of a cablegram and Mr. Smith will send us an English translation of the cable

he sends to Mr. Feely.
Mr. Smith stated that as far as the Department of Commerce was concerned,

they merely felt it was their duty to report to us the fact that our representa-

tive had not been discreet in conducting negotiations. He stated that they knew
perfectly well that the du Pont Company would not permit a representative

to negotiate along the lines described by the Charge d'AftViires, and wliether

his report be true or not, it was Mr. Smith's belief that Mr. Lissner must
have been very indiscreet.

W. H. O'GORMAN.
WHO'G/h.

Exhibit No. 958

[File: MS-67]

Memorandum for A. Felix du Pont.

March 23, 1922.

Mr. Joseph McCarthy, a personal friend of mine, has been in business in

Buenos Aires for the last eight or nine years. At the present time he is

South American manager of the Singer Sewing Machine Company. A busi-

ness associate of Mr. McCarthy, Mr. Thomas D. Valentine, is on a visit to the
States, and at present is living in New York City. Mr. McCarthy requested
Mr. Valentine to call on me and inquire as to whether the Du Pont Company
contemplated building a power factory in Argentina.

I had the pleasure of talking with Mr. Valentine on March 20th while in

New York, and I feel it my duty to pass along to you certain information and
remarks regarding Mr. Lissner's performances and negotiations in Argentina.

I might add that Mr. Valentine knows Mr. Lissner very well, having become
acquainted with him upon Mr. Lissner's first trip to Buenos Aires. While some
of Mr. Valentine's information and remarks are not new, I feel that since he
is in no way interested or connected with this company, they are worth
repeating to you. The story as told to me by Mr. Valentine can be summarized
as follows

:

During Mr. Lissner's first trip to Argentina in 1920, Mr. Valentine became
acquainted with Mr. Lissner by meeting him at the American Club. Mr. Liss-

ner openly announced that he was down there to sell Argentina a quantity of

Italian powder which he personally repurchased from the Italian Government
at 1^ a pound and which we intended to resell to the Argentine Government
at a price of 70f per i)ound. This fact was made public by people who heard
it ; and naturally, before very long the officials of the Government knew the

exact cost of this repurchased powder and fought shy of buying it. In Mr.
Valentine's opinion, this is the real reason why the Argentine Government did
not contract with us for a quantity of Italian-purchased powder.

Secondly, Mr. Lissner at no time made any secret of his negotiations and
often told the complete story while drinking with a party of friends at the
various bars in Argentina. These friends consisted of the hangers-on around
hotels and barrooms and were men of the type who had no social or business

standing and were nothing more tlian news-gatherers, who did at the first

opportunity repeat the entire stoi-y to people who could do the cause most harm.
It therefore was not very long before the American business men, the American
Chamber of Commerce, and the representative of the American Department of
Commerce looked upon Lissner as the wrong type of individual to rejiresent

an American concern such as the Du Pont Company. The American element,

therefore, regretted that this company sent such a type as Lissner to Argentina.

Mr. Valentine said that it was absolutely necessary to pay for any favors
received at the hands of the Government and that graft was one of the essen-

tials in the Government departments, but that Lissner res(n-ted to open bribery

methods to such an extent that the officials in the Government were afraid to

deal with him and considered him irresponsible.

Mr. Valentine, in order to let me know that Lissner was prone to tell any
and all phases of his business, recited the story as to Lissner's exiiense accounts
on his first trip, and how the president of the firm authorized him to be paid

$5,400 in excess of his fund, although the hea<l of the department, a man
named Casey, refused to reimburse Lissner.
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I might continue and add a great many details to this summary, but I do

not deem it advisable or necessary. I am passing this on to you not as a

slam against Lissner but as a veriflration of the details you already have

concerning Llssner's actions, and further as an additional justification for your

recent action concerning him. Personally I could never understand why
Lissner did not succeed in selling at least some of the purchased powder, Init

the explanation as set forth above seems to be a feasible reason as to his lack

of success in this respect.

I desire it to be strictly understood that I did not invite Mr. Valentine to

comment on Lissner and that same was done voluntarily by Mr. Valentine

during my conversation with him. I consider Mr. Valentine's comments to be

the public opinion in Argentina regarding Mr. Lissner; and further, I sized

him up to be a man who know what he was talking about and one who had

no axe to grind, and therefore I feel that the information is worth repeating.

Mr. Valentine will probably call on me in Wilmington at some future date;

and if you are desirous of talking with him I shall be very glad to present

him to you.
W. H. OGORMAN.

WHO'G/N

( •• ExHiiUT No. 959 " appears in text on p. 2485.

)

Exhibit No. 960

Heedles & Bbeidsprbcher,
Mexico, D. F.

Date: September 1st, 1930.

To: Remington Arms Co., Inc.

Subject: Guadalajara.

Although we know that Mr. Jonas, of Winchester, returned to U. S. A.

last week without going to Guadalajara, the writer made a trip to Guada-

lajara last week in order to investigate whether Winchester made any special

offers there, specially to the Club Cinigetico which favored us with an important

order last year.
AVe are pleased to advise you that Winchester has not received any impor-

tant business from this section of the country lately ; in fact, the Club Cinigetico

has not ordered anything up to the present and should the club need an addi-

tional supply of shot shells, etc.. you can be confident that we shall get the

order. The club has been well satisfied with what you shipped the early

part of this year, but conditions are bad and the members of the club are

holding back witji money and besides there is still a lot of shot shells, etc.,

left from your shipment whicli will be distributed among the members of the

club as soon as the shooting season starts.

With reference to the metallic business we found a very peculiar situation

in Guadalajara. Tlie writer saw more contrabands in this section of the

country than anywhere else ; there is a fellow with name of Godinez installed

right in the market place ; he has no permit to sell nor has he permit to import,

and yet lie must have at least IDU.OOO metallics in stock. ]\Iost of it is western
ammunition which lie gets from Negates as contrabands and the balance is from
Arms & Metal who sell this man metallics at less than the cost laid down
Guadalajara would be by regular importation. Arms & Metal is doing this to

compete with prices cpioted to this man by Quintana, and it will not take long
until Quintana will make use of tlieir confidential discount and will try to

underbid Arms & Metal, etc. Uoberto A. Gonzales of this city offered cal.

25 auto, at Mex. $70.00 a hundred to this man, and laid down costs of this
cartridge is $92.30 Mex. a hundred and you realize that this also must be
contrabands metallica. (K course, the regular trade in Guadalajara is suffer-

ing under this unnormal situa.tion and within time they trade will be forced
to buy contraband or give up the sale of metallico cartridges.
A similar situation seems to arise in Mexico City. Roberto A. Gonzalez seems

to buy contraband metallics exclusively and told the writer yesterday that he
would have printed a new price list underbidding all prices quoted by Quin-
tana at about $3.U0 Mex. a hundred.

Mr. Heedles undoubtedl.x told you that we are making every effort to have
the Government realize this situation and reduce the duty, but it seems very
doubtful whether our efforts in this direction will have any success ; the writer
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is afraid within a short time this contraband affair will become a very serious
handicap in the regular sale of our metallics. Guadalajara seems to be a very-
good example of what is going to happen. Godinez maintains that he yet has
not been able to buy any Kleanbore cartridges in Nogales. He said to the-
writer that in Nogales he can buy western ammunition only and if lie would
not look to the writer as a very dangerous person, perhaps it would be ad-
visable to do some business with him, but under present circumstances it

looks better to keep away from him.
Luis Ramirez Zcnteno.—Attached find order #264 for this account which

should be shipped together with the clients' pending orders. We beg to advise
that we have applied for a special permit to cover this importation and hoi)e
that same will reach you yet in time to make a combined shipment, if this
is not possible, please ship the pending orders right away and let us know when
this order is ready for shipment, later on the client perhaps allows us to add
some shot shells in order to make a full shipment.^

Vda de Celio Ramirez kiucr. Tcstamcntaria Marizano Ramirez Jimenez,
Callc Eje Poniente #352, Guadalajara, Jul.—This is a new account and we beg
to enclose order #267 of this client, which kindly ship as soon us the cor-
responding permit reaches you. We have applied for the permit and same will

cover everything specified in the order. You will remember that some time agO'
you received an inquiry from this account calling for 100,000 metallics, well, on
account of the contrabando and low prices bidding of Quintana and Arms &
Metal, he only can import the calibre shown on the order, too bad indeed.
This is a responsible firm and the writer obtained very satisfactory references
and in order to make our offer attractive to the client, we allowed for half
of the amount of your invoice 60 days' sight and for the balance 90 days' sight
net. The question arises whether we should sell metallics direct to such a
client who is also client of Quintana. The writer believes that we should sell

him direct since this is an established firm and would buy from Arms &
Metal or contraband if we would not try to sell him direct, and then of course,
he would not sell Kleanbore ammunition. Besides he has ordered rifles from
us and look up the few rifles v.hich Quintana have bought from us. We trust
that you will at once write to this account and acknowledge receipt of their
order and advise them that shipment would be made at the terms specified as
soon as the permit has reached you."
Salvador Sanchez, of the firm Sanchez \i Rosalcs. Caile 12, # -}79, Gnadnlajara,

Jal.—This is also a new account and you will remember that some time ago
you received an inquiry from this man. The writer hesitated first to sell him
direct in view of tlie fact that this man has not yet established a stove in town
and according to his advice is going to establish an arm and ammunition store
shortly.'

However, the writer saw an order for metallics and rifles which was taken
by Winchester and also an order for Colt revolvers. Mr. Sanchez also showed
the writer the corresponding permits and in view of the fadt that he offered
to pay half cash with order ;ind balance against sight draft with his first order,

we of course, at once accepted and made up attached order #266. We have
applied for the permit covering all items specified on this order and as soon
as same has been received, we shall communicate with you. Mr. Sanchez will

send you check covering about half of the amount of the order as soon as the
permit has been recei^ed and we suggest that you figure at once the exact cost

of this order in order to enable us to ask him for the exact amount as soon as
the permit has been received.* Ink Note.—Acknowledge receipt of this order
direct to client.

Selorzano Hermanes.—The writer also took an order for metallics from this

account but same is being revised by the client at present and will be sent to

you at a later date.
War Department.—Since the writer returned from Guadalajara, the War

Department finally issued new permit instructions which are as follows

:

1. A new general permit will be issued to all clients which had such a permit
up to the present. This permit will be valid until December 31st, 1930, and will

again cover all calibers of shot shells, escopetus, cai. 22 cartridges and cat. 22'

rifles.

^ This paragraph is in a circle (P. note). Ilalsey.
' Ink note.—Suggest j'ou also got credit information.
^ Note.—This paragraph is in a circle.
* Also this paragraph.
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2. A special permit must be applied in eacli case of importation of metallic

cartridges, pistols, etc. In other words, this special permit affair stays as it is

right now.
3. Our clients will be allowed to sell and ship within the country 5 pistols

and 1,000 metallics without a special permit (at a time) ; sales of larger quan-

tities of pistols and ammunition are subject to a special permit of the War
Department. Our clients can freely sell escopetas, rifles cal. 22 and cal. 22
and shot shell ammunition as before.

4. In the future under no circumstances permits will be issued covering sales

or importations of rifles and ammunition and pistols which develop a higher
velocity of 500 meters per second. Such a permit can only be issued by the

President of Republic.
At a cost of Mex. $80.00 we are having all these new permits printed as cour-

tesy for the War Department ; we further have applied for all our clients for

these new permits, but you will appreciate that it will take considerable time
until all these permits have been communicated to the foreign oflBce and hence
to the consul, therefore we have applied for special permits covering pending
order in the meantime so that shipment of these pending orders will not be
delayed.
The general in charge of the War Department, Artillery Dep., has, however,

not signed for the past three weeks and this in spite of the fact that we have
contributed with $200.00 oro nacional to make the general's life more pleasant

and reform the new law on ammunition and arms, so with all contrabando, price

under bidding of Arms & Metal and Quintane, permit affairs, etc., etc., you
will appreciate what joy it is to work for Remington Arms Company, Inc.°

Tour credit notes or better, said cash to cover $280.00 pesos Mex., will be

appreciated.

Yours very truly,
(Signed) M. M. Veuicier,

Heedles & Breidsprecher.

Ink Note.—I forgot to mention that $200.00 which we kept at the office ready

for War Dept. expenses, were stolen the other day, so you better make the

check $480.00 or U. S. G. $240.00. Breid.

Exhibit No. 961
"A ' MX

[(Stamped) Answered Mar. 16, 1931, G. Rugge]

Heedles & Breidsprecher,
Mexico, D. F., (Date) March J 1th, 1931.

To Mr. Geo. Rugge,
Remington Arms Co., Inc.

Subject

:

Dear Geo. : Your letter of the 7th relative to orders from Sr. Guillermo
Clements #314, A, #314B, and #315 has been received and we cK>uflrm our
cable reply, advising you to ship this client in accordance with the regular

terms, that is, three drafts, one-third sight, one-third thirty days, and balance

60 days, with instructions to allow a discount of 2%. providing the full amount
is paid upon presentation of drafts. Attach the documents to the draft.

It is rather difficult to inform you as to the future because we really are
upside down and nobody knows what next they are going to tliink of over at

the War Department to disturb matters and make things more difficult for us.

I certainly hope we do not have to go thru another month like the past one, as
it was the worst we have had in six years, and that after taking into consid-

erations revolutions, etc., we paid thru the nose last month all right.

For the past ten days I have been giving considerable attention daily to the

War Department better said, the person responsible for all of our grief, but
he certainly is a tough egg and knows where he is. We had a friend over

there at the Department that represented quite an investment for us, and he
was supposed to stay on and the trouble maker go out at the end of last month,
and the result was that the trouble maker held on and he went out.

^ Ink Note.—Winchester underbidding.
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He was asking for 1^ Mexican Cy., per cartridge and you can appreciate
what tliat means, for revolvers lie asked for $2.00 each, I have heen taking
him out and endeavoring to demonstrate where he was wrong and why and
although it has taken a while I may be able to get somewhere with him this

week. Some of the excuses he has given for turning down applications are
really foolish but he is the boss and can make trouble for everybody. The
clients are writing and telegraphing and we are making out applications, visits,

etc., l)ut to no avail as $1,000 per 100,0(X> is a great deal of money and more
to today.

"Winchester have been after me to take up the matter jointly with theui l)ut

I tliink it best to handle the situation between the clients and oui-selves, as it

is only when they cannot do something themselves that they call on us. I

might add they are up to their old tricks of offering terms and contidentials,

with permits being turned down they cannot do much but we know two clients

they have already approached. There may be something more pleasant to re-

port in a couple of days as I have been with the fellow responsible for our
trouble almost daily morning and evening and this morning was the first time
I saw an opportunity to accomplish something but we shall not know definitely

until the end of the week.
Between exchange and conditions we are bad off down tliis and wliile we

are not paying attention to anything but just continuing our traveling and
everything else, just as though things were fine and dandy, orders are few and
far between with everybody apparently firing help and cutting down expenses.
Kind regards to everybody.

Yours respectfully,
(Signed) .Tosb:ph A. Hkedles.

Exhibit No. 962

[(Stamped) Answered Mar. 24, 1931. G. Paigge]

Heedles & Bheidspkecheu,
Mexico, D. F., (Date) March 21st, 1931.

To Remington Arms Company, Inc.

Subject

:

Quintana has secured a permit for 170,000 metallics for Winchester. This has
happened as follows : They made a contract with Winchester last year for

450,000 to secure a discount of 10% ; they did this with Jonas. From this amount
was left the above balance and they have succeeded in liaving Wincliester
continue to allow them the 10% and ship the above amount, that is, 170,000,

at present prices, with of course, the 10% confidential'^ they allow tliem.

In view of the the fact that the writer put over the de;il whereby we could
continue to secure permits, or better said, do business, Majuregui asked whether
we would ratlier have him hold off placing or soliciting the Winchester permit,
but, as you can appreciate, he asked this with the object of preventing us from
permitting the rest of our clients taking advantage of the ari'angemcnt and I

told him we had no objections to his soliciting the permit as well as placing
the order, so tliat we could cnutinue solicit orders from the rest of our friends,

besides he will not need the Winchester goods in a hurry with our pending order.

Gonzalez also secured a permit for 100,000, but this was a slip-up on our
friend in the department, we both had an application in ; that is, Winchester as
web as ourselves and he permitted both to be issued at the same time, but I

think Gonzalez also will delay his order."

The cut in duties has l)een put off once more, but I think we can get out the
department recommendation for a cut by the end of the month and then all

we have to contend with will be the Sec. of Treasury, but the department
reconunendation as we shall see that it is made, should bring about sufficient

pressure to secure a reduction in duties.

We are consulted for most of tlie " acuerdos ", that is, to whom permits can
be granted, dehiyed, canceled, refused etc., and we hope it lasts for a while longer,

because in about six months time nothing but Kleanbore would be allowed.
Yours respectfully,

(Signed) Heedles ^: I>KHnDsi>i;ECHEi:.

1 Note.—Underscored in pencil.
* Pencil note.
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Exhibit No. 963
"A" MX

[(Stamped) Answered Apr. 20, 1931, G. Rugge]

HeHDLBS & BREaOSPRECHER,
Date : El Paso, Texas, March 16, 1931. Mexico, D. F.

To: Remington Arms Co., Inc.

Subject: Mexico Hardware Co., P]l Paso, Texas, Ciudad Juarez, Chih.
Dear Mr. Rugge: I called this morning on Mr. S. R. Silva, manager of the

above-mentioned company and had a long talk witli him on the arms and am-
munition business into Mexico. He showed me an invoice covering a sliipment

of metallics which you made to this firm recently and also told me that he
would send you a large order soon. Before I left Mexico City about three
weeks ago, Enrique Gutierrez M. of Mexico City placed an order with this

company for cal. 22 cartridges which this company offered to Gutierrez at
lower prices c.i.f. Mexico City than they cost Gutierrez c.i.f. Vera Cruz, includ-

ing duty. The rensnn for this is that this company is getting a large quantity of
metallics over the border without paying duty. Mr. Silva has a combination
with a number of custom house officials in Ciudad Juarez.
However, in order to import large quantities of metallics, which is the inten-

tion of Mr. Silva. he is going to send to our office several applications for special

permits which will cover a greater quantity of metallics than specified later

on the permits, the permits simply cover up the whole affair and if he gets in

trouble he can make reference to these permits. As soon as I get to Mexico
City I shall see that the War Department will grant these permits and as soon
as we have secured same you can exjiect quite large orders from this client.

Mr. Silva told me that your Mr. Heath. I believe this is the name of the
gentleman, recently called on him and the company is now selling Remington
arms and ammunition exclusively.

You are undoubtedly aware of the fact that all of the arms and ammunition
which you ship to this client is for sale into Mexico, he does not do any
domestic business in this line, in fact he handles this business thru his Ciudad
Juarez branch.

I believe we never received any commission on the sales which you make to

this company although all of these sales cover goods for sale into Mexico and
for that reason you sell this account at export prices and shij* from your
export department and not domestic department and I would appreciate if

you kindly would look up this matter and see that the commission whi'h will

be due to us will be taken care of.

As mentioned above I promised to Mr. Silva to take care immediately of
his permit affair at the War Department as soon as I return and I hope that
once the permit question arranged, his orders will increase considerably. Please
keep the information given above as to the contraband business this company
is doing strictly confidential and do not mention anything of this in letters

you send to our Mexico City office.

The reason I write you about this is that I am in El Paso today and not
in Mexican territory.

Awaiting your comments and with the writer's personal regards also to friend
Monaghan, we are,

Respectfully yours,
(Signed) MM. Vezuinni,

Heedles & Breidsprbohek.
cc Mexico City office.

[(Stamped) Received Mar. 20, 1931, E^xport Department.]

Exhibit No. 964

["A- «U]

Ju.AN Van de Putte & Co.. Sues. Almacen "El Cazador ",

Guatemala, C. A.. November 13. 1929.

(Dirrecion Cablegrafica : Cazador-Guatemala, Guatemala.)
Remington Arms Co. Inc.,

29 Warren Street, New York City.

(Attention of Mr. Geo. Rugge.)

Gentlemen : I wish to confirm the cable I sent you today, which reads as
follows; "Hold million order. Await instructions", and now I wish to
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acknowledge receipt of your wire reading thus :
" Entire shipment in New York.

Will hold. Hope no trouble. Regards, liugge."
I regret very much that I was forced to send you the above-referred-to wire,

but circumstances obliged me to. I am going to explain to you fully my
motive.
When I booked the order for the million rounds, and I sent you the cable

advising you, the order had been approved by the Minister of War, the Detol
General de Rentas, and it only had to be signed by the Minister of Finance,
who gave instructions to the Subsecretary to do so, on account of his being
ill in bed. This Subsecretary held the signing of same and tiually did not
sign. He is a very close friend of Salvador Koenigsberger, agent for Western,
and showed Salvador Koenigsberger the contract for the paltry sum of $100.00
and at the same time made a lot of noise, recommending that the order was
not legal because it was not submitted to public bidding, and at the same time
attached to Van de Putte's contract an offer from Western's agent for the
same quantities but for the amount of $15,066.00, Van de Putte's contract being
for $18,000.00. The difference between your quotation and the amount appear-
ing on the contract was to be divided among the Minister of War, etc., etc.,

and Juan Van de Putte & Co. had already advanced to General Juan Padilla
the sum of $1,000.00 on account of this order and another $4,000.00 for an-
other contract effected for some leather kids and belts for the National Army.
When this happened the Minister of War sent for all the papers and docu-
ments and was going to put it through because they expected a clean-up in all

departments, and naturally the order remained in status quo, although we re-

tained the right-of-way, the Minister of War being " morally obligated."
The change in all departments took effect, and there is a cousin of the Presi-

dent at the head of the Departamento de Kentas, contracts for ammunition
to be sold to the patent holders. However, this change in this department has
not affected us, but then Jonas arrived and he joined the parade. He has
been fighting like hell. He is a very close friend of General Padilla, the
Minister of War, and this Minister of War is indebted to Winchester, because
they give him a commission for ordering in all the permits Winchester
ammunition. You will recall that when Freddy arrived in New York he had
cjuite a nice order for loaded shells and some cartridges. Both these orders
were for Winchester, but Freddy gave you the order for the cartridges, and
he bought the loaded shells from Winchester ; and when he arrived here the
general gave him hell for doing so, and he Anally admitted to Freddy that
he was " morally " interested in Winchester. The percentage of commission
which they give the Minister of War I have been unable to find out, but I

believe that I will secure this information before I leave.

This morning I went with Mr. George Cordere with another contract for

$18,000.00 to see Mr. Castaneda, the new man at the head of the Depto. de
Rentas, and the contract specified Remington's ammunition and same was
signed and then we went to the Minister of Finance, who also signed and
gave instructions to the Subsecretary to notify the Minister of Foreign Rela-

tions so that he can issue the instructions to the consul of Guatemala in New
York to approve the consular invoice. So far everything is all right, but
this new man wants $3,000.00 before he lets go the contract, promising that

as long as he holds the job Remington will have the clear road through Juan
Van de Putte Co. Naturally, Mr. Cordero accepted the conditions, but when
we came back to the store Mr. Herman Topke, of Topke & Co., objected to

advancing this sum (Topke & Co. owns Juan Van de Putte & Co.) because
he does not want his books to show so much money advanced in commission,

as the books are quarterly revised by Government officials. Now, both Mr.
Cordero and myself were placed in an awful predicament. The contract

signed and Mr. Castaneda could not be convinced that the money would be
given him as soon as tlie cartridges arrived. Then Mr. Topke suggested that

it was better if the $3,000.00 would appear on the invoice, and it was decided

that I should communicate with you. In the meantime I sent you a wire to

hold the shipment, because I do not know if you would be agreeable to their

proposition. In view of the above, I sent you the following cable:

"To proceed with shipment order need .$3,000.00 advance, adding same to

value of order plus interest drawing, as stated, if agreeable. Wire funds

Cazador. Latest development make it necessary, otherwise lose business.

Advance required guaranteed. Recommend approval."

Jonas knows all about it, and he has been red hot after Mr. Cordero to give

him a chance to quote, but so far Mr. Cordero has stuck with us. He is placed
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in awkward position, Mr. Topke refusing to advance tlie money and the

other man wants his money in advance. Mr. Cordero hinted to Jonas if his

company would be willing to accept the order at the same basis which I am
outlining to you, and he answered in the affirmative. I am afraid if you do not
want to advance the money that Mr. Cordero, in order to secure the contract,

will give the contract to Winchester.
In the cable I recommended the approval, because I am quite sure of the

solvency and seriousness of botli .Tuan van dp Putte and Topke & Co. I, at the

same ti'me. besides getting the order signed for $16,100.00 instead of $12,100.00,

will secure a letter guaranteeing the advance of $3,000.00 in the event that for

an unforeseen circumstance the goods are not shipped.

I am through with my work here, and I have been detained on account of

this order and looking after your interests. If the order is not secured because
you refuse to accept their proposition, I will be out of luck, because my ex-

penses have been running just the same, and more. However, I always mix the

sweet with rhe bitior, and if thr deal is not closed I will take my medicine; but
you can rest assured that I have done everything possible to guard your
interests, not letting go the order to another channel.

I understand that Juan van de Putte sent you another cable confirming my
cable and informing you that the advance is guaranteed by them. I told Mr.
Cordero to charge both cables to Remington's account, to be deducted from your
next invoice to them.

I am attaching hereto an additional order for 100 M percussion caps, which
you will be kind enough to ship in conjunction with the first shipment which you
-will make to them. They are in dire need of these caps, as their stock is nearly

depleted.
I am planning to leave for New Orleans on the 21st inst., arriving at New

York on the 27th instant, and trust that everything will be arranged satisfac-

torily before I leave, and with my warmest regards, I am.
Yours very sincerely,

G. FE31NANDEZ.

Exhibit No. 965

[(Pencil note) Letter No. 31. "A"]

Managua, DN., Nicabagua, 27 June, 193-'i.

My Dear Frank : General Somoza had dinner wath me last night and he
told me that he intended to equip the Army with .45 calibre Colt automatic
pistols as standard equipment. Guruceta, of course, when he is here is push-
ing the Star pistol, so I suggest that you communicate with Mister Nicols

to write direct to General Somoza offering to sell him direct. I would suggest

that in his quotation he should include a 10% commission for General Somoza.
General Somoza has accepted this commission with the full knowledge of

the president nnd it is not considered as graft but is considered as an extra
pajmaent for the work he is doing here. If Colt would see the way clear to

reserve 2i/^% commission for Ample it would be a good idea as he will push
matters throiigh and attend to the details of opening credits, etc.

I expect to have an answer from the General today on the various Remington
items on which I have quoted him for the Government.
The order for the Guardia Nacional has been reduced to approximately

$1,900—as the terms I granted they consider rather stiff. I saw copies of last

Winchester order in which Guruceta allowed them 30% with the order and
the remaining 70% at 90 days sight. The general believes that the Guardia
Nacional should be able to dispose of $4,000 to $5,000 monthly on arms and
ammunition [(Pencil note) in the dry .season] if we give the same terms as
Winchester. Furthermore, he has agreed to give me all the ammunition
and as much of the Army business as he can. They say there is no risk

entailed on doing business with them on this basis as all money are deposited

in the National Bank of Nicaragua as soon as they make their sales. They
increase the price 10% to the dealers when they pay cash and 15% when
credit is allowed. Of course, I realize that conditions change very rapidly in

these coimtries so I am against going too deeply and it might be better to allow
the competitors to get some of the business.

Of course, on Government business, that is, business for the Army, the terms
will be as follows : The Government will establish an irrevocable letter of
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credit for the total amount of the order, providing for payment to be made in
tlie following manner : 20% against delivery of shipping palmers to the Bank,
of New York and monthly payments of 20% until the full liquidation of the
order. This is the way in which they are paying the Auto-Ordnance Corpora-
tion, Winchester, and other manufacturers, therefore, as long as the letter of
credit is irrevocable there is no risk, except the risk of the National Bank of
Nicaragua becoming insolvent, which is not probable from the reports I have-
secured here. Their set-up is very sound.

(Signed in ink) Sincerely,

Fkank S. Jonas,
Frank.

[In ink] P. S.—Dry season means about 6 months of tlie year. Therefore-
their purchases can amount to about 25 to 30 thousand.

Exhibit No. 966

["A"]

San Salvador, March 5th, 1932.

Reaiington Arms Co., Inc.,

29 Warroi Street, Neic York City, N. Y.

(Attention of Mr. Geo. Rugge.)
Wish to acknowledge receipt of your cable of last Saturday which reads as

follows

:

" Quotations sent week-end cable, ten percent included. Carbines shotguns
shipped, documents air-mail you."

I also received your week-end letter quoting on the 580 M rounds of sporting
ammunition as follows

:

" FAS New York eighty-one hundred sieventy-six dollars. La Libertad
eighty-seven liundred sixty-seven dollars not including consul fees. Oui'

revolver cartridges oil proof, also Kleanbore. Try get getter payment arrange-
ment."

I am working with Mr. Armando Frenkel on this business, as I informed you.
Yesterday the quotation from his connection in Toronto arrived and much to
my suriirise their quotation is much lower than ours. I will send by next week's
mail copy of their letter quoting on the same quantity. Fortunate Mr. Frenkel
will not present their bid.

Re: Last payment on the government 7 m/in order.—Last Monday I received
your cable as follows

:

" Balance mausers ready for shipment Friday. Has check been sentV If not,

request cable remittance, answer immediately."
I did not answer right away because I was in hopes to cable you that I was

going to send the draft by air mail leaving Tuesday. However, since 10 days
ago, I have been after the money, and only last Monday I succeeded in securing
the receipt properly signed by General Martinez. Coronel Valdez. the minister ot

war, and Dr. Molina, the minister of finance. I went immediately to the treas-

ury but I met with bad luck. It happens that the money that was deposited
with the Banco Agricola Commercial to cancel the last payment of the order
was withdrawn by the treasurer and although both Mr. Rodolfo Duke and Mr.
Antonio Vilanova the treasurer of the Consejo Civico had the assurance of the
treasurer of the republic to cancel the last payment as soon as the receipt was
properly signed, he did not want to do it on account of the exchange being so
high. He promised to pay next Monday, the 8th. and I will immediately cable
.vou to that effect. I did not want to take any chances and that is why I sent
you the following cable

:

"Hold shipment following steamer."
I do not kiuiw wlicther you know ah >ut tie exchange here. It fluctuates

up or down every day. F(>w days ago the rate of exchange was 257 colones

for $100.00. The normal rate is two for one. Now it has come down to 24;i.

You can appreciate how something like tliis effects any business transaction.

However, the nonpayment of the last installment of the order has nothing to-

do with the exchange at all. I know all the do]ie. The treasurer, IMr. Joaquin
Rodezno, is a "son of a so-and-so", to put it mililly. T have been trying not

to have another clash with him. He is a very goo<l friend of Saul Garcia..
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Winchester representative, and he has heeu " greased " by Garcia, with the
result that he is as mad as a " puppy " because I secured the business, and
he is trying to place everything in my path just to bother. I liad a sort of

an argument with him in trout of Mr. Dulve. and I finally had the upper
hand. The document which I have signed by the parties which I mentioned
in another jiaragraph is a bona fide legalized document, and as far as securing
the money is jierlectly safe. I did not want to trouble General Martinez
about it, but if he does not come rUjross next Monday I will have to resort

to this measure. At any rate, I feel quite confident that I will send you
the money during the next few days and will cable you to effect shipment
as soon as the drafts is in my possession.

Re: Carbines and shotf/iins.—I i-ecelved the document covering the sliipment

through Pts. Barries, and I have been informed that they are due here early
next week. I trust that I will be able to secure some nice business for both
these items and some "Riot shot shells." I will keep you posted on this

business.
Re: Neir quotation on the 7 m/ni Mauser Cartridges.—I have already written

you that I have found your quotation lower than the previous one. I have
thought it best not to present same until I get tlie final payment of the
previous order. There is a lot of competition on this item. They will prob-
ably buy 3 million rounds. As I told you before, the Consejo Civice is

going to have the control of the buying and paying, but the War Dept. will

instruct them what they want. I am very much enthused because the Treas-
urer, Mr. Antonio Vilanova is a very honest and good friend of mine. I am
very close to his brothers, Jimmy and Alberto and Frank. This is one party
I do not have to " grease ". but there are plenty in some other directions.

For instance, Colonel Bara, Chief of the War Supply Dept., wants 2%.
There is the buyer of tbe Republic Provendor General. He wants something
too and there is Mr. Armando Frenkel who is working with me on this busi-

ness and there is me too. That is why the 7-1/2% is not an enormous per-
centage as you seem to think it is. As I cannot remain here indefinitely and
as we need some reliable person to take care of the business I believe honestly
that I have made the best connection there is in town in Mr. A. Frenkel. He
sells to the Government a lot of goods and certainly knows the ropes too. He
sold to the Government 100 Swiss-made machine guns and 150 M rounds
of m/m cartridges for same. He is a Mason, and General Martinez is a
Mason, too. and it seems that General Martinez when he was appointed last

year Minister of War induced Mr. Frenkel to get some connection in the arms
and ammunition line. I am including herewith original letter signed by Mr.
Frenkel. and as you will note, the final confirmation has come from you, so
thei-e is not a commitment on my part. You are the one to decide if Mr.
Frenkel is going to work with us or not. For your particular infomiation
Dupont wrote to him offering their representation without him asking for it, and
he is working with mo on the Government business not taking into consideration
that Canadian firm of which I have written you about.
As soon as you receive this letter I wish you would send me by air mail a

check to my favor for the sum of $300.00 (three hundred dollars), which you
will please charge to my account.
With nothing further .iust at present, and hoping that I will have some

good news for you during the course of the next week, I am.
Yours very truly,

L. G. Fernandez.

ExHiBiiT No. 007
J. Saul Garcia.

Apartado Postal No. 23,

San Salvador. El Salvador, C. A., Tslovemher 5, 1932.

WiNOHESTEH REPEATING AkMS COMPANY,
'New Haven. Conn., U. S. A.

Gentlemen : Attached I am pleased to send you note from the ministry of
war, so that once you have read it you will return it to me for my files.

As you will note, that order was reduced to 200,000 and placed at the price

of $14.70 c. i. f. This is the same price that was quoted by the three com-
petitors from that country, and I was able to secure the order for you thru
the very efficient cooperation of Colonel Ernesto Biira, chief of the <lei;artment
of war.
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Regarding the commission of 20 cents offered by you, and wliicli is now
reduced, I would state tliat I have offered it to a person who was very influ-
ential in securing this business for you, and, as I have told you in previous
correspondence, I am not interested in making any profit on tliis transaction,,
and, on the contrary, the cable, correspondence, and other charges will be for
my account, and my only gain is that I have secured this order for you in spite
of the fact that Remington was intensely, and this is a source of great
satisfaction to me.
As there will be no more time this week to carry thru the arrangements to

get the % mentioned in the contract, I trust to do this during the coming week.
As regards tlie manner of packing which they have specified, it appears to me

to be very costly. Therefore, it would be best that you write me a letter
acknowledging receipt of the order and, at the same time, telling me that the
price quoted does not include packing in tin-lined cases, and that, therefore,,
you will ship the goods well packed in standard cases.
The order from the Proveedor del Gobierno for you will be delivered to me,,

and I will send it to you by the next air mail.
Yours,

Garcia.
JMS—11-10-32.

Exhibit No. 968

["A"]
Hotel Ntnevo Mundo,

San Salvador, C. A., March 5, 1932.
REiMiNaxoN Arms Co., Inc.,

29 Warreti Street, New York City.
(Attention of Mr. George Rugge.)

Gentlemen : I wish to acknowledge receipt of your letter of the 16th ultimo,
in connection witli various cables exchanged between us pertaining to the
second remittance of $11,533.00.

I also liave for acknowledgment your letter of the 17th of Feb. in which you
confirm my cable to advising that the draft sent was for the same amount and
that the last payment was guaranteed by the Banco Agricola Commercial.
Your letter of the 17th of February confirm your cable in which you advised

me that you were shipping three hundred thousand rounds and to hurry permit
for my order for rifles and shotguns.
Your letter Feb. 19th brought the documents covering your shipment on the

steamship Santa Elisa, and acknowledge receipt of the remittance of $11,533.00.
I was not surprised at all about the information you give me in your letter of

the 19th relative to the permit for the carbines and the shotgun. I do appre-
ciate all the trouble you went through at that end, and if I must be frank I had
a hell of a lot of trouble trying to have the Ministerio de Relacioues in this city

sent tlie cable to the consul at that end. Fortunately you finally got through
the shipment which is expected here sometime early next week.

I agree with you that during these general unfavorable conditions throughout
the world " half a loaf " is better than none. It is also interesting to know that
I and Mr. Expenses will derive an amount that is not far away from your profit.

It is also of great interest to me to note that the unpleasant fellow " Mr.
Overhead " is much in evidence. I might add that this same fellow is still

very much with me. Communications, hotel, incidentals, etc., etc., are vei-y

much the same around this neck of the woods. I do not wish you to assume
that I am selfish in this respect. I will give you an. idea of how I came out
on the Guatemalan order which I would have not brought up, but to prove to

you my sincere standhig with you. It cost me, round trip to Guatemala by
plane, $45.00 and 10 days which I spent there at the rate of $6.00, not counting
some extras, $60.00'. There you have a figure of $105.00. Now, you will please
check up what commission I will derive from this transaction and you wiil see

how much is left for me as a way of profit, and then I w'as taking the chance of
securing the business or not. Fortunately I was able to secure it. On normal
conditions I would have been able to procure some business for the other lines

which I represent. However, this is not the case. I only got an order for

Pexto which does not amount over $200.00, leaving a profit for myself of some
odd $12.00. Now you see, Mr. Rugge, that the same fellow is around with me,
" Mr. Overhead ", and please do not forget that I am holding the bag.
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On this order for 7 m/ni mauser which I got the whole commission of 7%%
is not for L.G.F. As you probably know you liave to "oil" or "grease'"
certain parties in order get it through. Otherwise you are out of luck. Nat-
urally, I would like to make a little bit for myself, otherwise I will go straight
and drown myself in the river. I will not discuss this point with you any
more and I will not go bothering with your quotations, until I have the pleasure
of being back in N. Y., when again I will take this matter up with you.

I also wish to acknowledge receipt of your letter quoting me on 7 m/m mauser
cartridges on both 1 million and 2 million rounds, F. A. y. and c.i.f. La
Libertad. I noted that your quotation is lower than the previous one. I have
not taken this new quotation with the powers that be until I have concluded the
present transaction. I will take this matter further up.

In your letter of the 20th you confirm the commission of 7^/^% on further
potential government business on 7 m/m cartridges c.i.f. La Libertad and advise
that in the event that a much lower price is necessary to secure the order, to
keep you advised of the developments by cable and that you will cooperate
with me to that end.

I have been told that Elmslie Jonas is already in Panama and that he will
arrive here by the end of the present month. You will be surprised to note
how things are here now as far as the competition is concerned. There are
representatives from Czechoslovakia, Spain (2 of them), Belgium, France, and
Germany, plus Winchester, and little me. Representatives have sprung up
from the ground. As soon as I think it advisable to leave San Salvador I will

fly to Honduras and go south passing through Costa Rica and to my final

destination, Panama. I have not great hopes in Costa Rica as I believe that
there is not much doing over there in the way of securing any military
cartridge business. I might be wrong at that.

I also received your letter of the 23rd of Feb., contents of which I have duly
noted. I do really appreciate that my efforts have been considered as splendid
by you and I am looking forward to your cooperation with me. I also wish to

acknowledge receipt of the letterheads which came under separate cover.

I also have for acknowledgement your two letters of February 24th in con-
nection with your quotation for .45 automatic and .44 Win. It is true that this

government has some Thompson's machine guns.
With my warmest regards, I am,

Yours very truly,

L. G. Fernandez.

Exhibit No. 969

L"A"]

Tegucigalpa, Honduras, April 25, 1932.
Remington Arms Co., Inc.,

29 Warren Street, New York City.

(Attention of Mr. George Rugge.)

Gentlemen : I wish to confirm my letter to you dated the 16th instant. You
will probably have received the order for Rentas from Mr. Armando Frankel
and probably you will have received advices from the bank that the outstanding
draft has been paid. As you perfectly know I sold that merchandise sometime
last year, at the old list prices. There was an average of 10% for Mr. Lemus at
that time the Proveedor General del Gobierno. Since Mr. Lemus has been
kicked out we do not have to pay him up. You will discount from this
average your percentage for the interest figured at 6% per annum ; and the
balance we will split up. I wi,ll take this matter when I return and will
explain to you all I went through with this collection.
Attached you will please find order no. 132 for account of Bazar Union

—

Messrs, Agurtia y Mendoza ; of this city. These people are rated Al. Please
do not fail to send them samples of the " Kleanshave " razor blades and
quotations, I wish also to advise you to send samples of the " Kleanshave

"

razor blades to the following firms

:

Messrs. Felix Olivella e Hijo, San Salvador, El Salvador, C. A.
(Quote on 60m blades.)
Messrs. C. Bernheim & Co., San Salvador, El Salvador, C. A.
Send these samples by first-class mail, otherwise they will not reach desti-

nation.



2614 MUNITIONS INDUSTEY

You will also find attached hereto receipt from the cable office covering
my last cable to you, in the amount of $2.60 which you will please credit to
my account.

I am enclosing herewith a sheet of paper with the signature of Jose M.
Ocho V. the Minister of War and Mr. J. A. Santos P, the Sub-Secretary of
War. I promised that you would send them by reg. parcel post, one each pen
knives with their signatures. Please take care of this request.

I have been quite busy since I arrived here and the chances are that we
will get some very attractive business from this territory. It is too bad that
the President cancelled all the permits for sporting ammunition and revolvers;
otherwise I would haxe cleaned up here. All our clients, Rossner, Koencke,
Sierke, Rafael Quan, Santos Soto, wanted to place orders with me.

Tegucigalpa.
I am trying to manipulate a very nice business through another source. I

believe that jou already know how the permits are gotten here. There is a
man here by the name of Miguel Brooke, very wealthy and influential. He
always gets permits because he advances money to public officials ; including
the President himself. He is working with the chief of police for an order for
500 M rounds of revolver ammunition and 200 S & W revolvers. Today I will
know definitely if I will book this order.

Just before I left San Salvador I called on Huber & Co., and Mr. Huber
talked to me of how influential they were here in Tegucigalpa, etc., etc. He
asked me to write them a letter, sort of temporary agreement, which I did.

You will find a copy of this letter attached hereto, which does not mean a
tlarntHl thing. Immediately upon my arrival here in five minutes I convinced
myself of how little these people could help us. On the contrary, they would
do us some harm if we hook up with them. I have not gone over to see them
after the first day I arrived. Please do not pay any attention to Huber & Co.
I asked Mr. Ochoa, the Minister of War. in a very diplomatic way who was
the persona grata with him and the President for Government l)usiness and
he sent me over to Mr. Cornelio Zamora. of the firm of Zamora, Henriquez &, Co.

It seems that this firm is now doing all the Government business, and they split

with the officials the commission and overages, etc. This Government is in need
of some ammunition, but the Ministerio de la Guerra will not have money until

the month of August. I talked to the President, the Minister of War, and the
Sub-Secretary of War with this fellow Zamora, and we convinced them that

they should write up the order now for what they want and when they have
the money Zamora will get the money and send it to us and instruct us to ship.

Today is Monday, and Mr. Santos, the Sub-Secretary of War, promised to work
with me in the morning ; but he did not show up. It happens that yesterday

I went on a picnic with him and he got plastered. Probably he has a hog over

today, but I trust that I will see him this afternoon. I do hope that before I

leave I will be able to have in my possession the pro-forma order. I am writing

up an agreement similar to the one I wrote for Mr. Frankel with the firm of

Zamora, Henriquez & Co.

I have booked passage on the place leaving here Wednesday morning for

Nicaragua. I have already given instructions to the firm of Borghi B Daglio

& Co. to forward my mail there, and I am in hopes that during the next few
days I will have news from you in Nicaragua.

in the meantime with my kindest regards to all, I am.
Yours very truly,

L. G. Fernandez.

Exhibit No. 970

t"A"l

San Salvador, Ai)ril 7, 1932.

Remington Arms Co., Inc.,

29 Warroi Street, Ncic York Citij.

(Attention of Mr. George Rugge.)

Gbntt.embn : I wish to acknowledge receipt of your letter of March 29'th en-

closing receipt from the Equita))le Life. etc. etc. Tlianks a lot for all your

trouble. I liave taken due note of niy debt to you and when I get back I will

probably settle it with you at " Mitcliels."

I have taken due note of all your interesting comments of your letter and I

can appreciate how things are over tiiere. Let me tell you. George, things are
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pretty rotten, even in Denmark. I do sincerely liope that old man depression

will go to hell and damn quick, too. If he insists to be around any longer I will

probably take a job as a street cleaner, as selling apples over there is out of

fashion now, I presume.
Too bad about Frank Jonas. I believe him to be a very able man and I am

quite sure that he will eventually secure something interesting. You will prob-

ably know by this time that Elraslie Jonas arrived here a few days ago. Indeed,

it will be of great interest to you to know about his activities. I have a lot to

tell you and I am going to commence. If I pass up any information right now
later on I will pass them on to you either personally or by writing. Ehnslie has
traveled quite fast from Panama up here. He stopped at San Jose, but could

not do a thing over there. Then he stopped in Managua for a few days during
Holy Week and he was able to sell some flashlights. He did not go to Teguci-

galpa at all. He has been raising hell here witli his agent Saul Garcia on ac-

count of my taking the order for the million rounds 7 m/m and if it were not
for the fact that this Government still owes Winchester about $6,000.00 and
Garcia can help collect this amount for them, he will kick Garcia about exactly

one thousand feet from the representation. He has been unable to secure any
orders from the trade here and as you probably have taken note I have booked
all the orders that were to be gotten, even with Jonas right here. You see, I

do not wish to pat myself on the shoulder but I will be hanged if Jonas or any-
body else woukl get an order away from me from the commercial trade here.

With me it is a personal thing more so than anything else, not overlooking the
fact that I sell the best ammunition manufactured in the world. No kidding.
Kleanbore Oilproof and what have you. He went around to Felix Olivella and
offered him a special discount of 7%% if he would stock Western. Felix, who
by the way is a very close friend of mine, called me over the phone inmiediately
to put me wise. He informed Jonas that even if he offered him a bigger per-
centage he would not change from Remington as Fernandez was selling this

particular brand and that any confidential discount that he might offer him " le

venia muy flajo " (would fit him loose—translated literally). In other words,
he just informed him that he would not be interested at all. Naturally Jonas
upon his arrival got ail the information from his agent here about everything
that was going around. The order for the 45 and the order for the Adrainis-
tracion de Rentas. Mr. Frenkel and I have been after the order for the 45 and
we had the business. Then before Jonas arrived they quoted lower, as I have
already informed you. It has been a great thing that you authorized me to book
the order at the lower price of .$24.50 GIF, including our commission, otherwise
we would have been out of luck. Mr. Gurozeta, the agent for the " Star " Span-
ish pistol, resides in Guatemala and he left a party by the name of J. D. Mendez
as his subagent here. Not to bore you any more, Mr. Frenkel quoted on the
" Star " pistol to the Guardia Nacional. from his agent in Hamburg, Mr. Lach-
mann, and he got the business. When Jonas arrived they had a meeting at the
hotel between this fellow Mendez, Garcia, his agent, and himself and they sent a
telegram to this Mr. Guruzet and he arrived here yesterday. It was a good
thing that this fellow arrived as he was very pleased that Mr. Frenkel got the
order for the 750 pistols and naturally we got the ammunition order. It has
been clinched. The order was put through the consul of the National Guard
and has been decided, etc. etc. We only need the signature of General Llanos
the head of the Guardia Nacional. Yesterday we talked to him and he informed
us not to worry as the order is ours. No matter what the competition say or
holler. They are discounting 10 colones every month from each soldier of the
Guardia (750) making a total of 7,500 colones every month to pay for the pistols
and the ammunition. They are depositing this amount in a bank in a joint
account Armando Frenkel -Guardia Nacional. You see these pistols have to be
shipped from Germany and the cartridges from New York. It does not matter
how soon you will receive the order as it will have to be held up at your office

until Mr. Frenkel advises you to ship so that the cartridges would arrive more
or less about the same time as tlie pistols. By the time that the pistols are ready
there will be enough money in the bank to pa.v for the cartridges and Mr. Frenkel
will see to it that you get your money first as he has agreed with mp. That
is. you will have the money in your possession before you ship the cartridges.
The order fo)' the Guardia will be for 112,500 rounds of ammunition and for the
Ministerio de la Guerra will be for 21 M rounds, making a total just at present
cf 1331/! M rounds. There is an additional order for Guardia of 199' M of 45
after they i*eceive the pistols and ammunition and you can rest assured that this

s;:JS76—.•'..i— PT 1 1 1
.-
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additional order will come our way. I am enclosing herewith the order for

the Ministerio de la Guerra for the 21 M and I do hope that before long I will

send you the order for Guardia Nacional. You are not to ship this order for

the Ministerio de la Guerra until Mr. Frenkel advises you.

Now, since Elmslie has not been able to book any* orders from the trade here
and he lost out on the orders for the 45 he is as mad as hell. Yesterday at the
hotel he told me that he was going to secure the order for the Administracion
de Rentas for the 580 M rounds even if he had to quote below cost. That is a
hell of a broad statement to make but you can appreciate what I am up against.

Last Sunday I tried to convince him that we should quote the same prices and
to split the order so that everybody would be satisfied. He did not want to agree
and on Monday he delivered bis quotation to Mr. Tomas Molina, de Minister of

Finance, and later on I delivered my quotation. Dr. Molina is going to decide
and be will give the order to the lowest bidder. He expects to decide either

tomorrow or next Monday. You will know all al)out it pretty soon. You told

me that I am perfectly capable of taking care of myself but with these odds I

do not believe that anybody would have a chance. If we lose the business it

will not be on account of Mr. Frenkel's or my ability, but it will be due to the

fact that Jonas is sore and will try to secure the business at any cost, even jeop-

ardizing future business as far as prices is concerned. He will establish a per-

cent as far as low prices is concerned and it will take a hell of a time to restore

the prices so that everybody could get a decent profit. I explained to him all

these points but he is stubborn and did not want to listen to reason. He wants
to show the new Co. that even with all the competition he ai'rived and he secured
the business. It is a question of pride with him more so than anything else.

I also received your letter relative to the business for carbines for Guatemala.
That same day Saturday last. I sent the original letter I received from you to

Mr. Isidore Berkowitz, of the firm of F. Koenigsberger & Co. I was going to send
a sample of the carbine, one which I have in my room, but the Air-Plane Co. did
not accept it, being against the regulations of the company to carry any arms or
ammunition. You will hear direct from F. Koenigsberger & Co. I also wrote to
them by that same mail. They will probably get busy on it before Elmslie gets

over there.

Yours very truly.

L. G. Fernandez.

Exhibit No. 971

["A", Letter no. o-S]

San Salvador, Julu 6th, WS//.
Remington Arms Co.,

Bridgeport, Conn.
(Attention of Mr. Frank Monaghan.)

Da\B Sirs: I arrived here on Tuesday the 3rd.

Together with Josephs, Frankels nephew, we visited the trade and am en-
closing three small orders. The recent floods have effected business and it

makes it very difiicult inducing a customer to puix-hase anything at all.

Snrs. C. Bernheim & Co. : This is a fair-sized department store, who carry
our arms and ammunition exclusively. Ov.-ing to the restrictions and hard
times, their piu-chases now are very small. Credit good.

Snr. Antonio Bou : A general store who handle our line exclusively. They
have an order on tlie way, so cou^d only interest them in our rifles. Carry
our 22 cal. ammunition, shotgun shells, and a few 22-caliber rifles. Gof>d credit.

Snrs. Borghi E. Daglio & Co. : Largest and wealthiest hardware store in Sal-
vador. Handle our line exclusively, but owing to J-estrictions and poor business
have curtailed their purchases considerably. Received a small order for am-
munition. Credit excellent.

Snrs. Mugdan & Co.: This is a large hardware store, who are exclusive Win-
chester distributors. They carry their flashliirhts. 22-caliber riuimunition, 22-

caliber rifles, and shotgun shells. As they have the exclusive snle of Winchester
and the information that they did not purchase enough to split the business, I

did not press too hard for an order. Creilit good.
Sr. Felix Alive.'la: A large hardware store who handle our line exclusively.

Claim they have an order in transit i;nd owing to conditions could not see their
way clear to place a further order. Credit very good.
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Snrs. Sagrera & Co. : A small hardware store who handles at present our line

exclusively. Did have some ranger civtridges iu but from ;ill appearance-, they-

had been there for years. Claim.s to have an order in transit, so could get

nothing. Credit questionable.

Snrs. Carlos A. Schmidt »& Co. : Not in, so could do nothing.

Snrs. Roberto Soundy & Co. : Very small hardware store. Has Winchester

advertising, but carries our line exclusively. Sold practically all of his last

order, but as elections are coming on, claims he is afraid to put in a stock, as in

case of trouble the government will take over all of his stulf. Fair credit.

Please take the other lirms off of your trade list, as they are out of business or

do not deal in the line any more.
I called on Colonel Ernesta Bara. who does all of the purchasing for the

Salvadore Army, and his opinion of Joseph was nil. Th:it evening we had
dinner together and he frankly stated that whenever he could evade it he would
do no business with Iheui. Later in the evening he became quite excited about
both Frankel and Josephs, cursing their ancestry from the beginning of time. It

appears that there is not much friendship lost between these two parties. The
Government purchased from Frankel in 1932 47 7m/m Solothurn field machine
guns and 500—9 m/m submachine rifles, and one million Steyer 9 m/m car-

tridges for same. Evidently Col. Bara did not get his proper share, and his

opinion was formed. He now recommends Dada, Dada & Co., speaking most
highly of them. Frankel, of course, speaks very disparagingly of Dada, Dada,
claiming that they had Iwught Bara, hence their friendship. He did admit, how-
ever, that he had also paid Bara ; but undoubtedly Dada had given him more.
It is such a small place and there is so much jealousy that everyone knocks
the other fellow.

I called on the Anglo Bank, and their report on Dada was not favorable,

but the Banco Agricola or the Banco de Reserve could not speak too highly of

them, so take your choice. Dada now has a contract drawn up with the Gov-
ernment on a deal he is closing with the Madison gun manufactured by the
A/S Dan^k RekylrifSe syndikat of Copenhagen for 200 Madsen machine rifles

at one hundred and thirteen pounds each, which includes extra barrels for each
gun and accessories of all kinds for the gun. I am bi'inging you a catalog. This
company had a Colonel Walter MacKesson out here for the past two months
demonstrating this gun. and he has given the agency to Dada Dada. The terms
on which the deal was closed was one-third cash, one-third in eighteen months,
and balance in eighteen moutlis. Of course, the last two payments are covered
with a bank guarantee. I met Mr. Vorley, of the Imperial Chemical Industries,
Ltd., of London, and he informed me that he knew MacKesson, who is an officer

in the German Army, and that their firm work very closely with the Madsen
Co.* Whenever a sale of machine guns are sold, they quote an ammunition
through them. He claims to have closed a big deal in Peru with this same
firm. On MacKesson's instructions, Dada quoted the Government £4-8-6 per M
for two million 7 m/m cartridges in clips. Now that Vorley, of the Imperial
Chemicals has arrived, he is supposed to have given his agency to anotlier party
and Dada is going to withdraw his quotation, as he claims to control the situa-
tion, and frankly I believe from the way Bara treats him he certainly is in a
fine position. He now wants to put in a quotation for us ; that is, Remington^
for the following specifications

:

2,000.000, 7 m/m cartridges, pointed.
100,000, 45 cal. Colt auto.
lOO.OuO, 3S •' "

100,000, 38 " S. & W. Special Klennbore & Black.
I have explained to Dada our position with Frenkel, and told him that I could

do nothing until I had written to you on the subject. I have suggested that
in case you would not agree to this, you might be interested in permitting hira
to quote on Peters. In any event. Colonel Bara says there is no particular
hurry about quoting, as an order will not be placed for the next three or four
months.
The Departmenf of Renta handles the commercial business and as onr

ammunition is preferred in this market, I can see no I'eason why Frenkel splits

with Winchester's Agency, except that he follows the line of least resistance,
Dada feels certain that he would have difficulty, as the line is not known in
the trade. We will have time to t;^lk the matter over thoroughly upon my
return, so there is no use going into further details.

* Pencil note: Frank, is this true?—EH.
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This Government has a stock of over 3,000 new Model 1901 7 m/m Remington
single shot rifles and 4,000 11 m/m rifles. I learned that Huber liad securetl
a sample of these rifles and had proposed to Colonel Bara that if he would
permit him to sell these to Honduras, he would replace them with two Spanish
Mauser rifles lor every three Remington rifles sold. I asked Bara what guar-
antee had Huber to put up and he told me that it was agreed that Huber
would tirst deliver the Mauser rifles, before they would deliver their Reming-
tons. I, therefore, suggested that if a deal like that is feasible and I could sell
the rifles to the Honduran Government at $25.00 each and they opened credit for
an amount equivalent to our price for 3,000 new Remington Enfield rifles that
we could handle the deal. In that case he said, he would deliver the rifles to
Honduras the moment we instructed him to do so, as he would have confidence
in us delivering the new rifles to him. Upon my return to Tegucigalpa, I am
taking our rifle and if I cannot interest them, I will propose the single shot
deal. I went out to inspect a couple of cases of these rifles and they are in
perfect condition, just as they were when shipped from the factory.

Colonel Bara as well as others who have seen our rifle think that it is too
heavy and want a rifle the same size as the Mauser. The Mauser they showed
me weighed 8 and four-fifth pounds, while ours weighed 9 and % pounds, that
is without the bayonet. The length of the barrel of the Mauser measures 23
inches and the overall measurement is 42 inches. This is the size rifle that
they wanted in Cuba, Panama, Costa Rica, and Honduras.
The last order for 7 m/m cartridges, quantity three million was purchased

from a German factory Karlsruher Industrie Werke Berlin. According to

Frankel, the price was $19.00 CIF according to Dada it was sold in gold and
they cost landed about $25.00. This price included clips and tin lined.

This morning the Minister of War as^ked me to ship him one model 25A
standard rifle .32 cal. Winchester and 500 cartridges for same. Have suggested
to Dada that he place the order thru' Baltic, as I do not know of any other
way it can be handled. Dada always has shipments coming through and it

could be included.
Tariffs : Owing to Germany's action in embargoing coffee or only accepting as

much as the particular country purchases from them, it has caused quite some
excitement in this country, as practically their entire crop of coffee is shipped
to Germany. Salvador has therefore fixed the tariff laws into three categories,

namely, a minimum, a medium, and a maximum tariff. A minimum tariff is to
be apiilied to countries importing large quantities of coffee, a medium tariff,

which means 15% higher than the minimum to be applied to countries, whose
purchases of Salvador coffee i-epresent 25% or more of their exports to Salvador.
A maximum of 200% more than the minimum tariff to countries who import
less than 25% of their exports to Salvador. This they say means that the Gov-
ernment will place as many orders, as they can with Germany, as they are their

biggest customer for coffee. This probably will effect our ammunition sales to

this country. It will hit the Japanese, as they have been dumping millions of

dollars worth of goods here and they import nothing from Salvador. This
tariff, of course, does not effect countries like the U. S. A. with a favored-nation
treaty.

I received your cable this morning, reading as follows

:

" Cable itinerary regards " to which I replied

:

" Guatemala 8th, Tegucigalpa 15th, Managua 18th, San Jose 21st, Havanna
28th."
and received your cable this afternoon, reading as follows

:

"Writing Panama, Guatemala, Tegucigalpa."
The National City Bank are correspondents of the Salvador Bank, so you

should be able to get references from them on Dada.
The Salvador Government would not give me permission to take the sample

rifle to Guatemala, however they consented to my taking it to the other Central
American republics, but I had to agree to return it, as it was shipped to them
gratis and has been entered on the Government records. Evidently they are not

on very friendly terms with Guatemala and as soon as there is a rumor that

Guatemala has made a purchase, they do likewise. I was quite surprised at

their army and public oflScials. They appear very efficient and everything is

well run.
Yours very truly,

(Signed) F. S. Jonas.
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EXHB^IT No. 972

[Letter ><'o. oS]

Tegucigalpa, Honduras, July 3id, 193Ji.

Remington Arms Co..

Bridgeport, Conn.
(Attention of Mr. Frank Monaghan.)

Dear Sirs : I spent five clays in Honduras and am returning ttiere on my
way back, because tbey are true to form and anytliing tbey can do today, they

invariably leave for next month, except a^-cepting a luncheon or a dinner.

The president was the first man on whom I called and he appeared most
pleased to see me, informing me that the order for the parts, in accordance
with your letter of June 7th, had been placed. He then informed me that he
was very much interested in placing an order for single-shot, seven-millimeter

rifle?, and a further order for ammunition and instructed, me to see the

minister of war. Dr. Gnlvez. I wasted two days before I could reach him, as
he has been Icept busy on relief work, due to the flood.

After I finally did meet this man, he told me that the crcler hud not as yet
been placed, as they had calculated on a sum, half of the amount of which we
]iad advised it would cost. After several conferences \\ ith his generals, he
told me he would arrange to open n credit in a few days. The final result was
that he would do so upon my return from Guatemala and he would have
everything ready.

I tried to interest them in our new r fle. but they insisted that I quote them
ftn a single shot 7 m/m. similar model 1901 you sold them. They have, how-
ever, asked me l)ring them the sample repeating rifle which we have in Sal-

vador, which I intend to do upon my return. If I recall I think you told me
that tb.e single-shot rifle would cost about .$25.00 each, so I quoted them
accordingly, so am herewith attaching copy of a letter they requested me to

submit. They speak of buying ten thousand rifles, but wnnted me to quote on
one thousand. I told them that I would do so, but I did not think that you
would accept an order for le.ss than three thousand. You will note that I

have not quoted a c.i.f. price on the rifles, as I do not know whether you can
accept the business, if we get it at that price. Please write me by air mail to

Tegucigalpa, quoting me firm prices on all the articles I hnve quoted.
They are very much interested in pu'-chasing a fifty caliber Colt machine

gun. I was not sure of the price, so quoted approximately ,$1,500.00. Please
ask them to send me parti cuhirs and also prices on their seven m/m auto
rifles. They want to standardize their ammunition to this caliber only.

I am told that they have no money, and then again it is said for army
equipment. someliOAv or otiier, they nre always able to raise the money. I

have not learned of any large purchases they have made, except 150 re-

conditioned 7 m/m Maxims, which were purchased in Europe.
It is rumored that the only way that this president can hold his job Is

through being well pi'pp;ired, so I have hopes of the various rainbows coming
through.

I expect to be back in Tegucigalpa inside of twelve to fourteen days.
With reference to commei-cial business, as you know mnrs'hal law prevails,

so nothing is being done. They expect to lift it shortly and I think from the
way they talk, it vill put under Govei'nment control and probably sell to one
distributor for th;^ entire country.

I therefore Ionised around for a possible distributor and would recommend
the firm of Walter Bros. They are an English outfit, considerable capital, and
have been established in Honduras for the past twenty years. They have
branches in San Pedro on the coast and their head office is in Tegucigalpa.
They represeiit various American and English firms, carry stocks and also take
indent ordei's on commis.sion. I suggested the possibility of taking on the
Remington line and they appeared quite interested, if tliey are able to work
it with the Government. I think they have a very good chance as they do
considerable Government business, as they represent the American Bank Note
Company and up to recently the General Motors. They have now switched
to the Reo line. In a conversation with the subsecretary of state, Gen'l Pinedo,
I asked him to advise me who would be a good agent and he immediately
suggested Walter Bros. Will give you full details upon my return.
The president told me that they did not want to work thru an agent on

their Government business, but suggested if we decided to do so, he would like
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to recommend his nephew-in-law, Mr. Grave de Peralta. I have evaded this,

so as to leave us in a positioa in case of competition, but I called on Mr.
Peralta and told him that upon my return, we might be able to do something
with the Peters line.

They are not in the market at present for any revolver ammunition, as some
was purchased from Peters, thru whom I was unable to find out.

I did not write to Zaiiioii-a Henriquez cancelling; the agency as the firm
has failed and I felt that if I did write to them they may think there is

some pending business and want to horn in.

I received your letter of 21st ulto. addressed to Tegucigalpa and note your
remarks regarding Mexico. I am glad you feel that way, as I think it is

absolutely necessary that I return by the same route and pick up the business
that has been promised to me. I note in this morning's paper that the Govt.
in Washington has placed an embargo on arms to Cuba, so I am wondering
what it will all mean eventually. Don't they realize that Europe will continue
to ship and they will get all of the business?

Yours very truly,

(Signed) F. S. Jonas.

P. S.—Have .iu-st arrived in Salvador. Met Gomez for a few minutes. He
is having dinner with me tonight. No time for further news as there is

only a minute to catch the plane.

BxHiiiiT No. 973

["A"]

Articles of agreement eJitered into on the I'i ' day of August, A. D. 1934,

between the Government of the Republic of Honduras, acting through its repre-

sentative. Dr. I\onan Bogran, Consul General at New York, hereinafter referred
to as the " Government ". and Remington Arms Company, Inc., a corporation of
the Stati of Delaware, United States of America, liereinafter referred to as
Remington.

Witnessetli:
"Whereas Remington is a manufacturer of and dealer in arms and ammimi-

tion of the type and kind hereafter referred to and.
Whereas the Government desires to purchase said arms and ammunition from

Remington in the amount, at the prices and upon the terms and conditions
hereafter set forth,

Now, therefore, the Government and Remington have agreed and by these
presents do agree with each other as follows:

First. Remington agrees to sell and deliver to the Government, and the
Government agrees to purchase and accept from Remington, the following arms
and ammunition at the prices set oposite each item thereof and upon the terms
and conditions hereinafter set forth

:

3,000 " Remington Enfield " rifles. Model 1934, caliber 7 m/m,
without bayonets, but with sling straps. $26.00 per ritle. c. i. f.

Amapala, total price $78, 000. 00
1,000,000 cartridges caliber ^ 7 m/m " Kleanbore Smokeless ".

$23.00 per thousand, c. i. f. Amapala, total price 23,000.00
.50,000 cartridges clips 7 m/m $10.00 per thousand, c. i. f.

Amapala, total price .lOO. 00
200,000 cartridges, 45-caliber Colt automatic " Kleanbore Smoke-

less " for Thompson machine guns, $16.00 per thousand, c. i. f.

Amapala, total price 3, 200. 00
50 Thompson machine guns, 21-A, $140.00 each, f. o. b. New
York, total price 7,000.00

$111, 700. 00

Second. In addition to the price of t!ie arms and ammunition referred to in

the price of the arms and ammunition referred to in the last preceding para-
graph, the GovernnKHit shall pay to Remington the amount of any consular taxes
or other charges which may be paid by Remington in order to accomplish de-

livery: it being understood and agreed that with the exception of the Thompson

* Pencil note.
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machine guns, the above prices include cost, insurance, and freight, and that

with respect to said Thompson macliine guns, the Government shall pay to

Remington all freight and insurance charges arising out of the shipment of

said guns from New York to Amapala.
Third. At or before the execution of this agreement, the Government shall

establish an irrevocable credit in favor of Remington v?ith the National City
Bank of Nevv' I'ork in an amount sufficient lo cover the price of said arms and
ammunition, together with all costs and charges arising out of the shipment of

the same ; it being estimated that said costs and charges shall be approximately
five thousand dollars ($5,000.00), and it is understood and agreed that the total

amount of sucii credit, upon the execution of this agreement, shall be one hun-
dred and sixteen thousand seven hundred dollars ($116,700.00).

Fourth. As and when shipments are made by Remington, pursuant to the
terms and conditions of this agreement, Remingion shall present to tlie Na-
tional City Bank of New York the following documents covering each shipment:

Three copies of the bills of lading.

Consular invoice.

Invoices for the merchandise in triplicate, including freight, insui-ance,

and consular charges.
^ Certificate of insurance.

and upon presentation of the foregoing documents with respect to any ship-

ment, the said National City Bank shall be and it is hereby duly authorized to

pay to Remington the amount of such invoices covering the price of the
merchandise, freight, insurance, and consular charges from the credit above
referi'ed to.

Fifth. Remington agrees that all invoices covering shipments hereunder shall

show the value of such shipments, f. o. b. New York, and that separate invoices
shall be rendered showing the cost of insurance, freight, and consular charges.

Sixth. Shipments of the arms and ammunition referred to in this agreement
shall be made by Remington from New York as follows

:

Rifles: 500 within four months, and approximately 1,000 each month
thereafter.

Cartridges, 7 m/m : Approximately 200,000 \ it bin two weeks, and approxi-
mately 200,000 each week thereafter.

Cartridges. 45-caliber Colt automatic : 200,000 within two weeks.
Cartridge clips : 50,000 within three weeks.
Thompson machine guns within two weeks.

Seventh. The foregoing arms and ammunition shall be consigned by Reming-
ington to the Ministerio de Guerra, Marina, y Aviaciou, and the shipping cases
containing the same shall be marked as follows :

Ministerio db Guerra, Marina, y Aviacton
TEGUOiGArj>A via Amapala

It being understood further that the insurance to be procured by Remington
shall cover and include all risks to Amapala, Honduras.

Eighth. It is the intention hereof, and the Government agrees, that notwith-
standing the amount of the credit hereinabove referred to, to be placed in the
National City Bank of New York in favor of Remington, Remington shall be
reimbursed by the Government and paid any amount by which said credit shall
be insufficient to cover any lawful charges arising out of the shipment of said
arms and ammunition in accordance with the terms of this agreement.

In witness whereof the Government, by Dr. Ronan Bogram, Consul General
at New York, and Remington, by its duly authorized representative, have caused
this agreement to be executed on the 16 * day of August, A. D. 1934.

Government of the Republic of Honduras,
By .

Remington Arms Company, Inc.,

By ,
* Vice President.

Attest

:

* Pencil note.
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Exhibit No. 974

["A"]
Luis G. Feknandeiz,

Remington Arms Co., Inc., 'Netc York City, June 10, 1931.

29 Wan en Street, New York City.

(Attention Mr. Geo. Eugge.)

Gentlemen: Pursuant to the conversation I had with you upon my arrival

to New York two weeks ago, I wish to infoiin you tliat the extra five percent
charged to take care of certain party in Tegucigalpa, as agreed by the writer,

part of the total amount of $740.25 has already been paid up to Mr. Francisco
Argueta, of San Salvador. This Mr. Argueta received instructions to receive
this amount from Coronel Villanueva, or the party who was interested in

Tegucigalpa. I effected a payment of $800.00 to Mr. Argueta in San Salvador,
when you cabled me the $500.00. Before I left San Salvador I handed Mr.
Argueta the amount of $1.50.00, making it a total of $450.00. Two days ago
I received the attached cable from Mr. Francisco Argueta (Chico), as every-
body nickname him, requesting of me to turn over some funds to a friend
of his here in New York. Today I will hand this party here in New York the
sum of $75.00 ; and, as you have arranged that this amount be turned over to
us, I wish to report that as soon as the balance of the amount is turned over
to me, I will remit to Mr. Francisco Argueta a bank's check for the balance
of $215.25, thus completing this transaction.

I further state that this is my understanding, that Mr. Argueta is a relative
of, residing in San Salvador,^ of the party in Tegucigalpa, Honduras.

Yours very truly,

L. G. Fkbnandez.

Confirm $500 cabled Fernandez, San Salvador, Apr. 20/31.
240 25
• „' paid by check to his order 6/11/31.

I received the amount of $740.25 in payments as noted herein.

L. G. Fernandez.

Exhibit No. 975
"A" DR

Mr. S. NoRVELL, President, Dkcembeb 22, 1928.

25 Broadnay:
We have recently had an example of how the U.S. Department of State at

Washington, D.C., can help us.

In 1927 we had some nice business fi-om the Dominican Republic for 30/06
Springfield cartridges, but tliis year those in charge of the purchasing for that
Government made arrangements with a German concern to purchase .303
British rifles and cartridges for same. The rifles and cartridges were supposed
to be new, and a unit price was set of $77.00 for each rifle, with a thousand
cartridges. Our agent viewed the sample rifle, gave us the serial number, and
we had our London office investigate. It was found the rifles were all second-
hand war material and the cartridgesi were quite old, being purchased in Great
Britain by tlie German concern at $12.00 each for the rifles and about the same
price per thousand for the cartridges. Of course, the idea was to leave a big
margin of graft for the Government people.
When we approached the State Department they admitted knowing something

of the deal, but were glad to get the additional information we had obtained.
They sent a copy of our letter, giving the full facts to our Minister at Santo
Domingo. They are willing to shut their eyes to small graft on such trans-
actions in Latin American countries, but they felt this was going too far,
especially asi the Dominican Republic still has a lot of unsettled American
claims. Our agent, who knows nothing of our dealings with the State Depart-
ment, which have to be strictly confidential, now reports the President of the
Dominican Republic called for an investigation, with tlie result the contract for
the .303 rifies and cartridges has been canceled, and the first installment is to
be shipped back. Our chances of regaining the business are, therefore, very
bright, for the President has issued an order that in future all purchases are
to be made direct from manufacturers.

(Signed) Monaghan.
rjM N
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("Exhibit No. 976" appears in text on p. 2540.)

Exhibit No. 977

[Representante de Manutactureros]

Lots E. Nicolas,
Caixb Colon No. 38, Apartado No. 231,

Santo Domingo, Republica Dominicana, June lltli, 1930.

Cables Nicolas, Todos los Cotiges, Codiges Privados, Telefono No. 1262.

T§E Remington Arms Co., Inc.,

29 Wairen Street, New York City, U. S. A.

Dear Sirs: I have the pleasure to acknowledge receipt of your kind letter

dated June 10th, contents of which have been duly noted. I am glad that the
situation has been cleared to your satisfaction and that of all concerned.
As per my letter of last mail, which you will surely receive together with

this mail, as it could not be placed in the mails until after the steamer had left,

you will be advised that the permit situation is the same, maybe worse at
present, because the Army is now after a few generals that took the mountains
against the actual Government. No permits will be issued to anybody while
peace and tranquility are unstable.
The reason for my mail not getting the last boat was that a few minutes after

it was written I was induced to hide by some friends who knew in advance that
the order to imprison me had been given by Goverument officials. On Wednesday
noon, after communicating with the general, I gave myself up and was locked
in Columbus place at the Torre del Homenajo for 48 hours, after which I was
released. The reason for my prosecution has been given as " For being a friend
of Dr. Morales and selling arms and ammunition to the revolution." This charge
was made by some competitors intei'ested in wiping me out of the map and
taking my agencies away, both of which things they will be unable to do.

I took advantage of this opportunity to celebrate my interview, which I re-

ported in my last letter to you, with General Trujillo, who understood my posi-

tion and assured me that nothing will happen to me in the future, and that as
soon as conditions in the country warranted the extension of permits they will

be granted, and that meanwhile no permits will be issued to anybody. I also

informed him that I am no politician, and that my business was to work and
sell everybody that came in power, and that he will find me ready to cooperate
with him to that end.

I understand that conditions will S(ym be normal and that our activities will

be resumed. Meanwhile I will be in my post, doing everything possible to com-
plete the transactions now pending. With kind regards to all, I remain,

Yours sincerely,

Ltjis E. Nicolas.

Exhibit No. 978
"A" DR

Remington Arms Compant, Inc.,

Brillffeport, June 10. 1932.

Mr. Luis E. Nicolas,
Apartado 231, Santo Domingo, D. R.

Delus Sib: We acknowledge your letter of June 1 in respect to Mr. Naramore
and his scheme of reloading cartridges for the Government. This subject was
also covered by part of one of your letters of May 31.

You ask thtit we make up a detailed comparison of the cost of i-eloading car-

tridges as against purchasing the fully loaded cartridges. This is a rather
difficult thing to do and give the proper effect to all factors which go into reload-
ing cartridges. Even after you get through with such a comparison, it is far
from giving a true picture, for the mere comparative costs do not reflect the loss

sustained in ammunition going bad when reloaded by people outside the factory.
Then, of the gi-eatest importance is the element of safety. Without the proper

ballistic instruments for measuring breech pressure, velocity, etc., one can never
be certain the ammunition is not dangerous to use.
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We had an example recently in Peru of someone reloading cartridges which
would have a salutary effect in warning against tliis method. The cartridges
which were reloaded in Peru were sent to us for testing, and the first thing we
did was to try them for breech pressures. We found tliey developed a breech
pressure of 58,000 pounds to the square inch, whereas the maximum we would
allow in our manufacture is 48,000 pounds to the square inch. This increased
pressure was sufficient to endanger the life of the shooter. When loading powder
one can never tell by merely weighing or measuring the powder the pressure it

will develop, and the only way this can be determined is through the use of
chronographs and pressure guns. Such ballistic equipment, as you well know,
is very expensive and requires the services of a real ballistic engineer. Such a
man commands a very high salary. This factor alone would increase the cost of
reloading cartridges in Santo Domingo to such an extent as to make the reloaded
product more expensive than to purchase from us.

There is another very important factor in reloading cartridges and that is

such cartridges cannot be stored for an indefinite period and expected to be
capable of use. Reloading machinery does not properly seal the bullet in the
shell or seat the primer in such a way as to prevent moisture, oil, or other ele-

ments attacking the powder or priming mixture. When loaded at the factory,

these precautions are always watched closely. Take, for example, our revolver
and pistol cartridges : As you know, these are oilproofed by shellacking the
primer and using asphaltum in the mouth of the shell to insure against oil from
the arm attacking the powder or priming mixture. This cannot be done when
cartridges are reloaded.
There are two very important elements in primers for reloading purposes.

They have to be both nonmercuric and noncorrosive. Our primers are both non-
mercuric and noncorrosive. Our competitors, Winchester, supply a nonmercuric
and also a noncorrosive primer, but they have no one primer which embodies
both these necessary features. Their priming mixture is not comparable with
our Kleanbore priming, and, in fact, they have found it necessary in some of
their primers to increase the size because their mixture was not as effective

as ours, requiring that they load a greater amount of priming mixture in the
primer.
When all is said and done, there is only one real primer in this market and

that is the Kleanbore primer, of which fact you are well aware. The tests we
make to insure our cartridges being able to withstand heat and humidity for a
great period of time have clearly proved the secret of the success of our product
is that our Kleanbore primer and priming mixture are superior in every respect
to the product of our competitors. As you know, Kleanbore priming is patented
and cannot be duplicated.
We should be very glad to have you watch this matter of reloading very

closely, advising us what Mr. Naramore did during his stay in Santo Domingo.
We imagine you are not going to find it very difficult to convince the Govern-
ment they are adopting a very dangerous policy in considering the reloading of
ammunition.

It is rather interesting to learn from your letter that Mr. Naramore is wear-
ing the uniform of a captain of the United States Army. This, to say the least,

is a serious breach of etiquette and perhaps a more serious charge could be
brought. It is our understanding an officer of the Army is not supposed to wear
the uniform except on active duty or state occasions. Certainly Mr. Naramore
is not entitled to wear the uniform when representing the Lyman Gunsight
Corporations, which was the case when he was in Santo Domingo.
With kindest regards,

Yours very truly,

FJMN
Manager Foreign Department.

Exhibit No. 979
"A"

OcTOBEK 27, 1932.
Mr. Roger L. Bbaokein,

Export Manager Millers Falls Company,
Greenfield, Mass.

Dear Roge3i: Geo. Rugge has sent me from 20 Wan-en Street your letter of
October 25. I have thought of you mauy times, especially since we had to move
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to Bridgeport, for I felt we could sympathize with one another. Why don't you
stop off some time on your way to the big town?

I am very glad to confirm the good news Restrepo sent you. He is certainly

doing a wonderful job for us, and the way he is taking hold of things the last few
months has simply been a revelation to me. I don't think I ever had a man in

the foreign field who kept us so informed of the complete picture of things as

they were happening. Yes, indeed, you were due for thanks in having trained

him and recommended him to us.

AVe had some unfortunate publicity in connection with the Colombian order,

and for that reason we are now doing mighty little talking about it, so we ask
you to hold it confidential.

Kindest regards.
Yours sincerely,

Remington Arms Company, Inc.,

f. j. monaghan,
Manager Foreign Dept.

F.JMN

("Exhibit No. 980" appears in text on p. 2544.)

Exhibit No. 981

[Air mail-—Confidential]
HEaiNAN Restkepo,

Bogota, Heptemher 10th, 1932.

Remington Arms Company, Inc.,

Bridgeport, Conn., U.S.A.
(Atten. Mr. F. J. Monaghan.)

Dear Sirs : I wish to confirm my cable dated the 7th inst. requesting your
quotation on 2 million seven milimeter mauser cartridges for the Colombian
Government. In this sams cable I informed you that European competition is

of $22.00 per thousand.
In doe course I received your cable reply dated the 8th inst. informing me

to meet the European mauser price.

Coronel Carlos Padilla, about whom I wrote you sometime ago, is a very
close friend of the writer, as well as his family. They live next door to

my home. This gentleman occupies now a high position in the Colombian
Army and belongs to the Estado Mayor del Ejercito. In the strictest confidence
Coronel Padilla informed me the Government wants to buy at the present
lime 2 million cartridges and inforihed me about the quotation they have
from Switzerland of $22.00. These cartridges are intended for part of the
Army that is being sent to Puerto Leticia on the Amazon River, our frontier

with Peru—Puerto Leticia has just been taken by Peruvian insurgents but not
in any way connected with the Government of Peru with whom this Govern-
ment enjoys cordial relations. This matter is being treated in the Colombian
and Peruvian Congress in secret conferences. However, this Government is

taking the necessary measures in order to protect our national integrity.

Coronel Padilla put me in contact with Coronel Adelmo A. Ruiz, Chief of the
Armament and Ammunition Dept. of the War Dept. with whom I had a very
long talk relative to your products, quality, guaranty, etc. Coronel Ruiz is

having today a conference with the Minister of War relative to this purchase
and will give me a definite answer next Monday morning. Coronel Ruiz has
also asked me to obtain your quotations in the following material for the
Curtiss aeroplanes the Government bought sometime ago

:

90,000 metal clips for aircraft machine guns (red).

90,000 Eslavones metalicos para ametralladoras Aereas.
Quotations on different types of bombs for same aeroplanes.
I do not know if you manufacture the just-mentioned material, and hope

you will be able to give me this information.
Coronel Padilla is giving me his full support in order to get the business

and is keeping me confidentially informed of this matter. Indirectly, I under-
stand he wants a commission ; however, I may be wrong and am keeping a very
diplomatic attitude until further developments This gentleman also informs
me he is doing his best in order to induce this Government to buy 40 million

cartridges.
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At this moment I cannot give you any furtlier information, but will do so
after my interview next Monday. Anyway, you can rest assured that I am
doing my utmost to get this business and that my connections are of the best.

After you take note of the contents of this letter, which you will treat in a
most confidential way, kindly destroy same, as this request was made to
the writer by the War Dept.

Cordially yours,
(Signed) Hebnan Restbepo.

Exhibit No. 982
NOVEMBEB 12. 1930.

Mr. Herman Restbepo,
Bogota, Colombia:

We duly received your letter of October 16th, and it was quite encouraging
to learn that Genl. Angel wishes prices on 7 m/m pointed cartridges, on which
action will be taken toward the end of this year.

We are well acquainled with the 7 m/m Mauser pointed cartridge which the
Colombian Government requires, as we operate very closely with the du Pont
Company, who had their Government business representative visit the cartridge
factory in Bogota two years ago (Mr. N. E. Bates), and consequently we are
in a position to meet the requirements of the Government in al! ballistic details.

You mentioned an initial velocity of S.50 meters, which we can meet, but, of
course, there is always a tolerance, and we presume it will be approximately
plus or minus 10 meters.
The powder we would supply would be du Pont I.M.R. powder, which the

Government is familiar with. The primer would be our Kleanbore type, which
eliminates rusting, pittiug, and corrosion of the rifle bore, and this is an advan-
tage which the Government will readily recognize as compared with the old

types. We shall be glad to supply a bullet jacket of either cupro nickel or
gilding metal, whichever is preferred, and we presume it will be the latter.

The cartridges will be packed 2— to 'he carton and 10,000 cartridges to the
wooden case, each such case to be lined with tar paper. However, if the Co-
lombian Government desired, we would supply tin-lined cases, for which there
would be an extra charge of 75t* per thousand in addition to the prices men-
tioned hereafter.

All manufacture and inspection would l»o in accordance with the Remington
stand;, rds.

Now we come to th»' question of price. The prices we are going to mention
are net to us F.A.S. New York; and if any coniniissions have to be paid to

intermediaries in Bogota whom you might find would be helpful in obtaining
this business, the price will have to be increased by the amount of such com-
missions. Furthermore, the prices are based on present market prices of such
materials as lead and copper : and in the event of any violent fluctuation in

such prices, our price would have to be changed accordingly. It i? miehty diflS-

cult to sit here in New York and name a price schedule without knowing the
full picture in Bogota, but we shall have to give you some basis on which to

work and then let you use your best .ludgment in submitting them.
Our price net to us f.o.b. New York for 1,000.000 cartridges is $27.00 per

thousand; .$26,.50 per thousand for 2,000.000; $26.00 per thousand for 3.000.000.

As we stated above, there will be an additional charge of 750 per thousand
if tin lining is required.

Deliveries would be 300,000 two weeks after receipt of order, 200,000 three
weeks following, and 200,000 weekly thereafter. These deliveries would be in-

creased somewhat in the event of an order for 3.000,000 being placed. The
initial delivery of 300,000 in two weeks would be dependent on business that
may come to us in the meantime from other markets, but in any event we
would commence deliveries of 2(X),000 at least five weeks after receipt of order
with the same quantity weekly thereaftei-.

You mentioned the government will probably receive quotations from <ither

manufacturers in Europe and here, and certainly we do not want to lose this

business because of some small difference in price and we are relying on you to

learn of bona fide quotations made by others to the end that we will be afforded
an opportunity of making any slight adjustment that may be necessary to
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assure the busiuess reaching ns. So far as American manufacturers are con-

cerned, we are quite sure the prices nientioned will he the lowest, but this

may not he entirely true with European competition. However, in the latter

case you know European manufacturers promise many things which tliey do
not fulfill, both in deliveries and quality, and you can stress these points.

You will probably desii-e to bring every influence you can to bear to obtain
this business for us, and as a suggestion we should like to mention that in some
instances we have found it advisable to diplomatically ask the Minister of
War or the person who will have the final say in placing the order, who he
would like to have us work with as our agent. In other words, who is the
intermediary to see and pay commission for the business. Such commission
as we mentioned before, would have to be added to the prices we have given
you.

The prices we have quoted are quite the lowest we have ever entered on
7 mm cartridges, for we are extremely anxious to obtain this order and have
sacrificed profit. However, you will have to be reimbursed for your work in

event of the order being placed, and the prices contemplate a small commission
for you ; but we ask that you leave the amount for determination when the
business assumes a more definite aspect.

We eagerly await your further advices, and with kindest regards we remain,

F. J. MoNAGHAN, Export Manager.
FJM
JM

Exhibit No. 983

Palmer & Company,
570—Moreno—574,

Buenos Aires, August 22nd, 1933.
Remington Aems Co., Inc.,

Bridgeport, Conn., U. S. A.

DuAR Sirs: This will confirm the exchange of cables with you as follows:
Yours of the 19th :

" Effective orders dated after August twentieth, twenty-two
caliber cartridges increased ten percent, firearms caliber
twenty-two percent, firearms all other calibers and gauges
fifteen percent. Advise customers."

Yours of the 19 :
" 22 meaning is not clear ; 10% over list 14 or merely elimi-
nating 10% recently allowed."

Yours of the 21st: "Fourteen list of twenty-two reinstated without discount
or confidential."

From all of this we understand that on caliber .22 cartridges we have to sell

strictly in accordance with list no. 14, no longer offering the 10% discount
which has recently been allowed. We understand further than on .22 calil>er

rifles we are to advance the prices of list no. 14, £"0%, and we are to advance
15% the prices of all other rifles and of all shotguns. As you have said nothing
about cartridges larger than cal. 22, we take it that list no. 14 applies to such
cartridges with the 10% confidential which has heretofore been allowed on
certain items.

Immediately upon receipt of your first cable we got in touch with our cus-
tomers and we have pleasure in sending you by this air mail 4 orders, that is

our orders nos. 1193, 1194, 1195, and 1196.
Order no. 1193 is i-eally for Mr. Werns. but he has arranged for Mr. Redaelli

to receive the goods for him so as to cut down the incidental charges. So far
as you are concerned, order no. 1193 is to be shipped and invoiced to Mr.
Redaelli and it is unnecessary to put Mr. Werns' name on any document or on
any case.

Rifle model 33 was formerly pi'iced at $3.30 each. Mr. Werns would like to
get this price on order 1193 ; if, however, this is impossible it is understood
that you will bill at $3.80, which is the price according to list no. 14, that is to
say these rifles should be billed at all events at the prices prevailing before
you sent your cable of the 19th. and this applies to the model 34 also. With
reference to the packing of the 3 model 34's in each shipment, please put them
in boxes such as are used for the model 33, so that the Custom House inspector
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will not notice any difference at all in the boxes when the cases are opened.
Furthermore, please put the boxes which contain the model 34's right in the

center of the case, that is the center from side to side and also the center from
top to bottom. If these instructions are all carefully followed it will be very
bad luck indeed if the Custom House inspector discovers that there are some
repeating rifles in this shipment. Mr. Werus is not only anxious to save the
additional duties on repeating rifles, but even more he wishes to avoid the de-

lays incident to the entry of repeating caliber .22 rifles. Strictly speaking,
repeating rifles of any caliber should not come into the country at all but
single shot 22's can come in.

Order no. 1194 requires no si)ecial comment, it being understood, of course,

that you will give the 10% which was allowed before you sent us your recent

cable.

Order no. 1195 requires no special comment either, except that it is subject

to the same condition. Please note, however, that when drawing on Gonzalez
& Russel for this shipment you should deduct the credit of $13.—U. S., which
you promised to give them in your letter of August 11th, 1932. We are quite

sure that this credit has not been deducted from any draft up to the present
time.
Order no. 119G. You will note that this order is for Liprandi, De Eoni &

Scholberg of Montevideo. This, of course, brings up again the question of

payment and credit. Our suggestion, is, therefore, that you hold order 1196
for a few days, as Mr. Liprandi has promised an additional order for other
sizes. This we will probably receive tomorrow or the next day. Consequently,
on the 25th we expect to v^'rite you again by air mail and at that time we will

answer your letter of the 9th iust. about Liprandi's payments and at the
same time take up order no. 1196 and the additional order which we expect
to receive. It is understood, however, that if order 1196 is finally accepted
by you it will be billed to Liprandi at the prices of list no. 14, but we will get

the discount of 10, 10 »& '2%, which we have been receiving lately on Liprandi's

business.
You will have noted that we have sent you by last air mail an order for

800,000 22's for Kirschbaum. This was, of course, mailed before we received

your first cable.

In one of the paragraphs above we have been rather explicit about the pack-
ing of the rifles for Mr. Werns and we have done so because of what happened
in connection with a recent shipment for Gonzalez & Rossell. In our letter

of June 6th we asked yon to pack the caliber .44's in the center of the cases

and your letter uf June 23rd indicated that you understood just what was
wanted. But, apparently the man who actually did the packing did not under-
stand it at all because in each case or cases (v.'e do not know at the moment
how many there were) the small calibres have been put around the oufsiile of

the case from top to bottom and the 44's have been put in the center of the

case also from top to bottom. The result is that as soon as the top of the case

is lifted one sees immediately the caliber 44's, which is, of course, just what
we wanted to avoid. The Custom House inspector immediately discovered that

the case did not contain only small calibers and the large calibers have been
seized. Gonzales & Rossell say they will have to abandon them. So far they
not made any very urgent claim on you, seeming to think for some reason
that they did not explain their desires very well. If we were in their place

we would certainly not take such a charitable view of the situation and we do
not think that you would either. In any event, we will let the matter rest

for the present and if the customer brings it up again we will advise you. In
the meantime, however, it would be well to take up this incident with your
packer to avoid repetition of it in the future.

Very truly yours,

pp. Pai-mer & Company,
(Signed) Thueston V. V. Ely.

TVVE.HS
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Exhibit No. 984
"A"

Otto Kuhlen, Unico Representante Para of Biasil, da Remington Arms Com-
panj', Inc., New York, 29 Warren Street, a Maior Fabrica do Mundo de
Armas-Minicoes-Cutelarias. Telephone : 2-4106-Caixa Postal 495

Marca Registrada—Remington, UMC
Sao Paulo, 21 de October de 1929.

Trav. do Coramercio, 2—1. candar.

Remington—reg. U. S. Pat. Off. End. telegraphico, Remac ; codicos
Usados, Bentley ; A. BC. Sth ed. Boi-ges

[Answered Nov. S, IQilQ. G. Rugge]

Mr. George Rugge,
General Export Manager Remington Arms Compo/ny, Inc.,

29 Warren Street, Neio York City.

Deiae ]Me. Kugge : Regarding office rent, you know that some time ago the
late Mr. Kuhlen advised you that he had arranged with the landlord to reduce
the rent from Rs 650$000 to Rs 500$0<]0, but I do not know whether or not you
are aware of the fact that there was not any reduction because the space rented
for the company's offices comprises the two large front rooms and the small side
room, and since Mr. Kuhlen occupied the small room for his private cutlery
business he paitl a separate rent of Rs 150$000 for it and charged the Co. only
Rs 500$00O for the two large rooms. Now, the small room has been vacant since
Mr. Kuhlen died, and, as I have no use for it, I have arx-anged with the landlord
to take it over, and, as he does not seem to be able to rent it to somebody else,

he proposed to let me have the two front rooms for Rs 550$0OO, or, then, I would
have to keep everything at the rent Mr. Kuhlen contracted ; i. e., Rs 650$000. I
decided that it is best to pay Rs 550$00O for the rooms I occupy and let the small
one go. Therefore the rent to be paid at the end of this month will be Rs
550$000.

I want to suggest to you that as soon as everything is settled you permit the
changing of this office to more suitable and cheaper quarters. There are plenty
of offices for rent in modern buildings centrally located which can be rented
much cheaper ; I say for about Rs 300$000 or less. I know that you will send
me your instructions in due time regarding this matter.
The Christmas season is approaching. I had better ask you now for advices

as to what to do in regards to giving presents to the Government officials who are
rendering us services in connection with permits.
Last year Mr. Kuhlen distributed Christmas presents amounting to $300.00

amongst his friends of the Regiao Militar in S. Paulo and Mr. Bispo de Araujo,
Consul Florambel, Col. Lapagesse, and a Capt. Scares, of Rio. Mr. Moura, of
J. J. F. & Cia. also received a present.
The amounts spent on eacli person were as follows

:

General Hastimphile Rs 150$000
Capt. Tores Homom 140$
Colonel Rezond? 140$
Capt. Cuisserat 240$
Major Moreira 240$
Mr. Bspo de Araujo 700$
Consul Florambel 300$
Col. Lapagesse _ 150$
Capt. Soares 240$
Mr. Moura 200$

Since the new permit regulation has gone into effect it has not been neces-
sary for this office to utilize the services of the officers of the local Regiao
Militar. Our local clients now deliver their own applications and when neces-
sary they go themselves to the regiao for any information or favor they may
need. As everything in connection with permits has proceeded normally I have
not yet had the opportunity to ask for any favors from these local military
authorities.
The only person who has been rendering us valuable services just now has

been Mr. Araujo, of Rio. He has been giving me prompt information about the
applications from our clients that arrive at the war dept. When I give an
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application to a client for signnture I immediately advise Aran jo. He is on
the lookout for it in Rio and puts it liefore the minister for dispatch as soon
as it arrives at the war dept.

If you are going to decide to discontinue the practice of giving Christmas
presents to any government officials from Rio as well as from S. Paulo, I

think you should make an exception in the case of Mr. Araujo. A Christmas
gratification to him in addition to what he gets every month will act as an
encouragement to his continuing to give us his good services in Rio.

After all, the discontinuance of this practice, with the exception named, may
be the best thing to do. We are not any longer dealing with these i)eople

direct in connection with permits, so they may hot accept anything from us,

but from the clients who no doubt will not forget them. Besides, these people
were Mr. Kuhlen's personal friends and he needed their friendship for the
reason that applications for permits were filed from this office. Now that
their friend has died and. the permit regulation has changed they may not
expect anything.
However, the decision about this matter will be entirely up to you, and I

know that you are not going even to give the matter much thought, but that
you alread.v have in mind .iust what to do. Please, advise me in due time in

connection with this matter.
Very truly yours,

A. M. Barata.

Exhibit No. 985
January 31. 1930.

Mr. A. M. Barata,
Caiwa Pofital ^95, Sao Paulo. Brazil.

Dear Mr. Barata : Your letter dated January 4th covers certain expenses
you outlaid during the holiday season and we approve all the items of this na-
ture shown on your statement for the month of December. It is quite all right

to give the Christmas bonification to Mrs. Felice and hope she is quite satisfied

with the gift. Glad to note that Mr. Moura and Capt. T. H. were delighted
with what you presented to them. Keep up the good work to have our operating
expenses as low as possible.

Your letter dated January 7th confirms the cablegram you sent covering your
visit to the Rio Embassy in con.iunction with the embargo and detained ship-

ments. It is certainly good to note that there continues to be prospects of the
Minister of "War allowing the shipments held up to pass into the hands of the
consignees and we hope that ere this letter reaches you something as been done
in this regard.

Just as soon as you have completed your investigation into the report that

shipments to the Amazon District will again be permitted and your detained
shipments be released, please let us hear from you. We are perfectly satisfied

with your trip to Rio.

Yours very truly,
Remington Arms Company. Inc.,

Geo. RiTGGE. Genl. Expoj't Manafrer.

GRN

Exhibit No. 986

[A. M. Barata. representante Remington Arms Company Tno.. Sao I'aulo, Brazil. Teleph.
Central 4106. Caixa Postal 495]

" Reniiiiiztoi!
" Armas. Municoes e Cutelarias.

.sV/o Paulo, June 23, 1930.

[Ponril nolf- -Ans. S/G/^.O—M.]

Remington Arms Company. Inc.,

29 Warren S! reet. Ncv' York Vitii.

Gentlemen: In a previous letter T havp informed you that I was leaving
for Rio on the Sth iiistant for the imrnrso of also investigating about the Gov-
ernment husinesis to which you refeircd in your letters da*e<l May 9th and 16th.

The interest on the ))art of the present Governnient to i>urchase 7 ni/ni car-

tridges abroad is not recent. The iiearest time since which the Government
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has first contemplated that purchase is about one year ago. Although there are

stories to the effect that such purchas^e has been decided upon since a longer

time, we cannot err to accept as the real truth that the decision was made in

the early part of 1929. Such intention on the part of the Government was first

known at that time, and from that date began the activities of the sellers to

secure tlie Government business. All this I know from information gathered

up in the office of the American commercial attach^ in Rio and from individual

army officers whom I know in Ilio and who could post me with positiveness

on the case.
Knowing, in fact, that the Government had been even from such a long date

interested in the purchase of 7 m/m cartridges from abroad, I immediately put
into execution my plans to find the right sort of connection with the Govern-
ment. From what I investigated I did not consider Messrs. L. Figueira & Cia
a good medium for my case. Mr. Forman, of the Coll Company, informed me
that he has been depending on them for over six months to get orders from the
Government without any concrete results, and I was also informed that they
have not been able to do"^ anything in the way of getting business for the repre-

sentative of the Curtis-Wright Export Corp., of New York, although through
other mediums the French have sold airplanes to tlie Government.

I preferred, therefore, some firm that has not only been selling to the Gov-
ernment but that has also enough pull and power to obtain the Government's
preference to a proposition it offers irrespective of how attractive other propo-
sitions made by different concerns may look to the Government. I found this

firm, one of the partners of which is Dr. Firmino de Mello, who is son-in-law
of President Washington Luiz. There are two other partners who are very
well known in Government circles. The name of one of them is Dr. Max
Leitao, with whom I instituted friendship and dined together a couple of times^

Dr. de Mello, in our first interview, told me right away that he knew about
this business. He evidently had heard it commented upon by high officials. He
had an idea that orders from 7-m/m cartridges had been placed abroad, in Eng-
land, Italy, Austria, and with the Fabrica Nacional of Sao Paulo. He knew that
such orders had been placed some time ago. He was not sure that all the Gov-
ernment requirements for such cartridges had been filled. He would find it out
for me. He knew further than an American concern had offered a bid. I men-
tioned the name of the Western Cartridge Company ; he remembered it, but he
stated that this concern did not get an order. A question of prices, he added.
He spoke about the claim made by Western that their cartridges were the best
on account of the bullet jackets being of a very soft metal composition which
would cause the prolongation of the life of the rifle barrel. A bullet jacket of
such composition could never injure the rifling of the bore in tlie barrel because
it being so soft it did not offer much pressure upon the rifling. He remembered
the term Lubaley by which Western called these cartridges. Mr. de Mello
knew everything and I wondered whether he had ever been approached by some-
body interested in getting through him this Government business. As we con-
tinued to talk he revealed to me that the Companhia Imperial Industrias
Chimicas do Brazil, Ltda., Nobel's Brazilian subsidiary, had some time ago
approached him to work for them on this deal on a split commission basis. His
firm, the name of which is Souza Sampaio & Cia., Ltda., Rio, refused the propo-
sition because it only works for full commission, therefore it works only direct
with principals. No wonder, then, that Dr. de Mello was so fully acquainted
with the matter about which I approached his firm.

Of course, the only thing left for me to do was to ask him to investigate for
me whether in fact the entire order had been placed in Europe, and give me a
confirmation on all his above statements.

I had to wait quite a few days for his reply. In the meantime I kept on calling
on them to cement my friendship with the partners of the firm. Finally he
reported to me that Nobel wiis the British concern that got a part of the business,
the balance havmg been divided up between an Austrian and an Italian factory,
the names of wLich he could not remember, and the Fabrica Nacional in Sao
Paulo. He told me, furthermore and confidentially, that the business for the
European factories was obtained through intervention by their respective ambas-
sadors. That the Italian ambassador, upon knowing what the price quoted by
Nobel was, went personally to the President of theRepublic and obtained his
consent to cutting down the share given to the British factory and giving a part
of the order to the Italian factory. He also confirmed that the American
factory's bid was turned down.

83876—35—PT 11 16
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Knowing all the facts of the case which I could know through Mr. de Mello's
firm, I asked them to be on the lookout for me for future Government require-
ments, which they promised to do, and added that in future occasions they would
act as intermediaries for me. They have all the facilities in the world to get
business from the Brazilian Gov't, which is easy to understand. Dr. Mello
assured me that in the future our company would not miss the chance of making
a bid, and that it might not be very long before the Gov't required more ammuni-
tion for the army. By the way, he was not sure about the quantity purchased
in this instance, but the figures you gave me in your letter seemed to him to be
exaggerated. Besides my conversations with Dr. de Mello, the President's son-
in-law, I had many separate talks with the partner. Dr. Max Leitao, who
assured me of all his cooperation in future cases.
The person who put me in contact with Messrs. Souza Sampaio & Cia., Ltd., is

a civil engineer of high prestige in social and commercial circles of Rio. His
name is Clovis da Norbrega, and he is an old friend of mine. He is a cousin of
the Governor of the State of Rio Grande do Norte. He introduced me to
various congressmen from his State and promised to do everything he possibly
could for me in Rio.
My stay in Rio this time was longer than in previous occasions, but it was

not useless insofar as our future interests are concerned. With the connec-
tions I have made I can assure you that no Government business shall be given
in the future to any of our European competitors without our being given a
break. I dare say that a firm as influential with the Government as Souza
Sampaio & Cia., Ltda., can shut out any comi>etitors having even ambassadors
as intermediaries.

I could not obtain from Dr. de Mello the prices quoted by the Euroi^ean
factories, but I am going to find a way of getting this information, which is

very important for us to know so as to enable us to determine whether we
could have competed with the other factories for this business. I will also
endeavour to find out the exact quantities ordered from each factory. Of
course, it should be appreciated that Dr. de Mello would not feel inclined to
ask the Minister of Vv'ar or some other high official for too many details which
these officials might not wish to impart to him just because he is the President's
son-in-law. He would have to be discreet in his endeavours to do me a favor.

My comprehension of the reason why this matter was never brought to my
attention during the time I have been in charge of this office, and to the
attention of Mr. Kuhlen since early last year or even before that until the
days he began to feel ill, is based on the fact that this oflice has never had
a firm like the one I have now arranged to be on the look-out for future Gov-
ei'nmeut business for us. Such a connection is essential if we want to get
Government business in this country, and it should be also considered advisable
that the representative take one or two days run to Rio every two mouths at
the most to make personal investigations in that direction. And who knows
that it has been for these reasons that for many years, in fact as far as I

lemember since the time I have been with the company, we have never sold
anything to the Brazilian Government, except in 1920 or 1921, at which time
we sold some Colt pistol cartridges to the Brazilian Navy. I believe I am
not wrong on this statement, however you may wish to do me the favor of
informing me v>hether I am or not.

I trust that you will find that I am giving you satisfactory information on
the investigation I have made in Rio about this Government business, and if

there is anything else that you wish to know about the matter which I have
not reported fully and clearly please let me know, so that I may satisfy you.
Naturally, I regret that our company was not favored with a share of this

Government business.
Yours very truly.

(Signed) A. M. Babata.

Exhibit No. 987

["A" BR]

August 8, 1930.

Mr. A. M. BarATA,
Sao Paulo, Brazil.

We duly received your splendid report of June 23rd on the subject of govern-
ment business. You are to be congratulated on the clarity and conciseness of

the manner in which you have presented us with the facts and your deductions
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therefrom, followed by your preliminary steps to insure our having the pi-oper

contact for the future.
We absolutely agi-ee with 5'ou that in government business, the prime essen-

tial is to have the right connection ; otherwise price, quality, or other con-
siderations are of no avail.

Furthermore, it is necessary to nurse these contacts from time to time

;

but the extent of the time and money to be employed has to be gauged by
the potential business that might ensue. Before long you will no doubt know
more on this score and in particular the prices we would have to quote in
order to obtain the business. Then we can tell if we can meet competition.
The fact we are now ready to manufacture Tracer ammunition in 7 m/m,

7.65 m/m or similar rifle cartridges, will be a big advantage to you. You know
we maniifacture armor-piercing cartridges, for the 50 calibre Colt giui, and
we are the only manufacturers in this country. Nobels also make them and
perhaps some continental manufacturers, but Colt's has told use our product
is vastly superior to any competitor. You will be glad to know we are pre-
pared to supply Tracer type of bullet in this 50 calibre. Colt predicts tlie

business in this arm will grow at very rapid strides, and no doubt Mr. Forman
is pushing its sale. It is used for antiaircraft work and against tanks.
You are quite right. We have never received any Brazilian Government

business, although we had many inquiries for prices from Mr. Kuhlen, but
nothing ever came of them.
Awaiting your further reports with keen interest, we remain, with kindest

regards,
F. J. MoNAGHAN, Export Manager.

F.M—JM

Exhibit No. 988

Remington Arms Company, Inc.,

October 24, 1930.

Mr. A. M. Babata,
Caixa Postal J/QS Sao Paulo, Brazil.

We have to hurry in order to catch today's mail. The latest news we have
this morning is that the Brazilian Government resigned and the new people
are in power. What the developments are within the next few days remains
to be seen and no doubt we will have your cable advices as to the prospects
for business.
Of course the change in government is no absolute reason to our way of

thinking that there will be no further inquiries for government supplies, but
rather we are inclined to think the new government will consider it necessary
to replenish their stocks of cartridges, and perhaps even build up the stocks
beyond the point at which they were before the trouble. Of course we are
wondering what your status will be with the new Government, that is to say,
if you will be accepted as a friend in view of your negotiations for attempt-
ing to sell those formerly in power and we await with interest your advices
on this point. The same thought holds good in respect to Figueira & Co.
Will they be the right people for the future?
Now for the most important subject of this communication. All week we

have been exasperated beyond words at the absence of definite advices from
you by which you understood what we were doing and the instructions we
were giving you. Here is the picture as far as we can give it to you quickly
of the position in which we were placed. The Brazilian naval attache in
Washington, Mr. J. C. Aguirre, has always, and this means for years past,
done his buying through a man in New York and for good and sufficient
reasons at the present moment we do not want to give you his name. The
quotations are made to Commander Aguirre in the name of the manufacturer
and a commission is included for the man in New York. We found our com-
petitors in this country were quoting through this channel and, therefore, it

was obligatory for us to place our quotations through this channel, because
we know this channel was not adding as much for commission as your inter-
mediary. You know in previous communications we have called your attention
to the fact that we believed the commission of 15% was entirely too much.
When we gave our quotation to Commander Aguirre we realized that you

not having had much experience with these government transactions might
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have in some way left us liable for commission to Figueira & Co. in the event
of an order reaching us through Washington and yet Figueira & Co. have
absolutely nothing to do with influencing the order to us. Whether they
influenced it or not we certainly could not pay commission to two people.

Where you appoint a man as your agent and do not do it in the proper way,
he can claim commission no matter through what channel the order reaches
the manufacturer, and therefore, we always keep this in mind and make our
arrangements to protect against such a happening. The best way to accom-
plish this is to quote the intermediary as a principal ; in other words, when
we give Figueira & Co. a quotation, that means he has to buy the goods from
us at the price we give him less the 15% or whatever other commission may
be decided upon. The same holds true when we give a quotation to Com-
mander Agniirre through his agent here. We are always careful in confirm-
ing any of these quotations not to leave any loopholes for people to take
advantage of.

Information reached us through more than one channel that Figueira & Co.
were working for practically every American ammunition manufacturer, and
reports we have had on them from people whom we know are to the effect

that Figueira & Co., while well placed with the government that was, have to
be watched very closely, as they are tricky.

In one of your cables you told us the inquiry from the American commercial
attache was instigated by F. & Co. Maybe you are right ; but a couple of
other ammunition manufacturers were told by their representative in Kio that
they instigated the inquiry through the commercial attache, so you can use
your own imagination as to how much truth there is to tl^s story.

When we cabled you that inquiries were reaching us through various chan-
nels, we really had in mind only one which we would recognize, and that is

the Brazilian naval attache ; and our cable was intended, as it clearly read, to
make sure you had not involved us so we would have to pay commission to
F. & Co. in the event of an order reaching us through Commander Agiiirre,

You did not answer our question, but instead you cabled in defense of F. & Co.
and absolutely evaded our question, which you must not do in future. At the
same time you probably inspired the cable we received from F. & Co. they sent
the same day, saying they were working in cooperation with you.
The day before yesterday we cabled you our only quotation was to the Wash-

ington attache through his agent, and, of course, we meant the Brizilian naval
attach^. This was in reply to your cable to advise you confidentially the
names of others making inquiries. At the same time we cabled F. & Co., but
did not mention the word agent ; and yet in the cable received today from F. &
Co. they asked us the name of the Washington attache and the agent, indicating
you showed them your cable. We certainly expectetl a cable from you ac-
konwledging this cable we sent you, for we told you to cable acknowledgment,
yet yon have not done so. Today we answered Figueira's cable by cabling them,
" We quoted Brizilian naval attache." We did not want them to know there
is any agent involved, and we are going to refrain from saying so directly to

them.
Early this week we received an inquiry from Commander Aguirre for 200,000

.308 British pointed cartridges for machine gnus, and we quoted him, receiving
his order two days ago, which is now in course of preparation ; and, even in
spite of Ihe change in government, we understand the order is to go through.
Of course, this is confidential information for you.
This morning we received a cable from Figueira asking for prices on 100,000

.303 Britisli pointed, and we cabled them $36.00 per thousand ci. i. f., which
includes 15%, as they requested. For your confidential information the price
Aguirre quoted the Government was $34.00 per 1,000.

The prices Aguirre gave the Government on 7 m/m are about $1.00 per
1,000 lower than what Figueira quoted the Government. These are two con-
crete examples, substantiating our belief that 15% was too high.

You can recognize you have left us completely in the dark as to what yow
were doing with F. & Co. and we can imagine they left you the same way
until they found we had another channel when they immediately awoke as
evidenced by their cables to us.

The situation as we see it now is quite complicated and being without any
definite advances from you that your negotiations with Figueira & Co. have
not left us open to claim from them in the event of business through Washing-
ton on 7 m/m"s, wo beilive the present is the proper time to conclude and
finalize all your negotiations up to the present time with Figueria and start
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•everything with a clean slate. The change in Government will make this

possible. If you believe there is any way that you have left us open to claim

or the least chance of it, and even if you do not think so, we believe it will be

well for you to close all negotiations with Figueira and repoen them afresh.

Furthermore, you are not authorized to make any arrangements for us with
any intermediary without all the details being submitted to us in advance.

Yesterday we received your cable telling us the commercial attach^ was
cabling the Commerce Department to ascertain from the War Department
here whether they used gilding metal or Lubaloy. The cable has not yet

arrived, but when it does you may be sure the answer you want will be sent

and it will be the truth—namely. Gilding metal. Even the Commerce Depart-
ment at "Washington laughs about this Lubaloy for they know Figueira was
saturated with a lot of Western's propaganda.

In all these negotiations for Government business, you as well as ourselves

have been working up toward the top instead of the way some big companies
do—from the top down. In other words, you find what you believe is a
good intermediary and then try to reach the Minister of War or whoever else

has authority in placing orders. The du Pont Company makes it a practice

of finding out who is the right man to work with, the Minister of War, the
Head of the Ordnance Department, or whoever else it may be, and then asks
that authoritative person who it believes would be a good agent to appoint for

negotiations. But again we want to say no details are to be arranged by
you with an intermediary without our authority after we have received
complete data from you.

Mr. Rugge just mentioned that perhaps Sant' Anna will be acquainted
with the new powers and it may be well for you to seek his cooperation.

In hurrying to catch this mail we have not the time nor inclination to
couch this letter in any but plain unvarnished English, and, as a matter of
fact, that is perhaps the best way to give you the picture of things as they
are disturbing or have been disturbing us all week.

17:)plng you are well, we are
, Export Manager.

Exhibit No. 989

Remington Abms Company, Inc.,

Bridgeport, November 30, 1932.

Personal and confidential.

Mr. A. M. Barata,
Itajtiba Hotel, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Dear Sir: Since we received your letter saying the Government was going
to close up the local ammunition factory in Sao Paulo, we have given a lot of

thought to that situation, for we recognize it is a mighty important one to

our interests. What we are going to say to you in this letter we want
treated strictly confidential.

In the first place we want to tell you that nearly all the companies in this

country and Europe, who would be benefited by having the local factory out of

the way, agreed some time ago not to enter bids with Mr. Matarazzo for
his company, for we all felt by standing off the factory would eventually faiL

This is the reason we never turned a sympathetic ear to any of the overtures

made through you for us to become interested in the purchase of the company.
What we would like most to see is the Government take over the factory

and scrap machinery, especially that part intended for the manufacture
of revolver and pistol ammunition and shot-gun cartridges. If the Government
continues in their present intention of closing the plant, we would want to

do everything possible to see that the Government oflScials responsible for

the closing of the plant went through with their plans and actually had the

machinery scrapped. For the Government people to allow the machinery to

come into the hands of any new group might result, as it did before, in the

equipment being used to the detriment of the Government.
It might be that some incentive could be given the Government official who

was responsible for the scrapping of the plant to see that he went through

with these plans. With all the ammunition factories practically broke now-
adays, not much could be done in the way of paying worthwhile money, but we
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are tlunking the result possibly could be accomplished if handled diplouiatically,
at a very small cost.

One thing is certain, we do not want to see this machinery get into the
hands of some other group who would be relieved of all the indebtedness
of the present company and thereby be in a better position to bid with us
than is the present company, for the statement you sent us of their financial
status we consider a very poor one.
What we want you to do is to watch this situation from every angle and

add any propaganda you can with the proper Government oflBcials to the
end that the plant be scrapped.
This is a rather sketchy plan we are presenting to you and you want to be

careful you do not make any false moves. As a matter of fact you should
do nothing where you would appear as a principal. First and foremost, we
want every bit of information from you as to what transpires and is intended
in connection with this local plant. Your suggestions as to what could be done
in furthering our interests in connection with this factory will be anxiously
awaited by return air mail.

In watching the situation you have to be careful to see that none of our
competitors make any moves to purchase the equipment of the local plant.

Yours very truly,

Manager, Foreign Department.
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INVESTIGATION OF MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

TUESDAY, DECEMBEB 11, 1934

United States Senate,
Special Committee to

Investigate the Munitions Industry,
Washington^ t). G.

The hearing was resumed a 10 a.m. in the Finance Committee
Eoom, Senate OflSice Building, pursuant to the taking of recess,,

Senator Gerald P. Nye presiding.

Present: Senators Nye (chairman), Barbour, Clark, and Pope.
Present also: Stephen Raushenbush, secretary to the committee.

At this point the committee concluded that part of the testimony

which is incorporated in Part XI of these hearings, " Chemical
Preparation following the War and Interchange of Military In-

formation."

The Chairman. The committee will be in order.

Senator Clark desires on the stand this morning Mr. Casey and
either or both Mr. Irene© du Pont and Mr. Lammot du Pont.

TESTIMONY OF IRENEE DU PONT, LAMMOT DU PONT, AND
K. K. V. CASEY

Senator Clark. Gentlemen, I desire this morning to examine
somewhat briefly into the question of the relations of private muni-
tion companies to the United States Government, particularly the

War and Navy Departments. I will first read a letter from Mr.
Phellis, general director of sales, to Mr. Irenee du Pont, president,

room 9042, building, dated November 26, 1919, which I ask to have
marked with the appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 990 " and ap-

pears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. That letter reads

:

Subject : Nobel agreement.
Before leaving today Mr. Pickard asked that we send you copy of the at-

tached letter from Maj. K. K. V. Casey for your information.
C. W. Phexllis. General Director of Sales.

I also desire to read extracts from a letter, which I will be glad
to read any other parts in, which you gentlemen desire read, but I
will read the parts I consider important, being a letter dated Novem-
ber 25, 1919 ; that is, memorandum to Mr. F. W. Pickard, vice presi-

dent, signed by Major Casey, director of sales.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 991 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2820.) *
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I think this letter may have been used in Senator Vandenberg's
examination the other day, although I was not here.

Mr. Casey. Not this one, Senator.
Senator Clark. I read

:

As I understand the situation, we are contemplating entering into an
agreement witli tlie Explosives Trade Limited

—

The Explosives Trades Ltd., Major, was one of the component
parts of what is noAv I. C. I., was it not?
Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Clark [continuing reading] :

on a division of profits from the sales of military and commercial products in
South America and elsewhere. I am not familiar with the purpose in back of
this arrangement, but assume that the idea is that it will result in a better
percentage of profit by the elimination of competition ; that is the only reason
I can imagine.

Personally, I cannot see whereby we will be the gainers by any arrangement
we can make with Nobel. The du Pont Co. today is preeminently the leading
manufacturer of explosives in the world and with a record for satisfactory
production that has never been equalled. This fact is known not only by the
Allies, but has been thoroughly appreciated by the Central Powers as well as
the neutral nations. Therefore, we have a prestige second to none, which will

not be materially strengthened by the above-mentioned arrangement. As far
as prestige is concerned, we will be given more than we receive.

If it is expected that this arrangement will enable us to control the market
in South America to our mutual advantage, I think we are working on a false
hypothesis. South American countries, with the exception of their navies, are
armed and equipped with German-made small arms, and with German and
French field artillery. There may be a few English guns for Cordite in some
of the coast defenses, but my understanding is that the majority of these guns
are Krupp, which practically indicates that the only English powder used is

powder that is sold for use on English-built warships.
England has succeeded for some years in impressing nations where guns built

for nitroglycerin powder have been supplied that they will work satisfactorily
with nitroglycerin ix)wder only, that tins notion has been shown to be er-

roneous, and now it is a relatively small matter to prove to the satisfaction

of interested people that nitrocellulose powders can be made that will give
equal satisfaction in guns of the so-called " nitroglycerin " type.
The competition that we have to fear is that of the German, French, and

Italian, but principally German, and unless there is something with which I

am not familiar I cannot see in what way any arrangement we make with
Nobel will protect us against this competition. In fact, even in the case of
the Engli.sh-made guns, if the nation should insist on using nitroglycerin
powder, we are still unprotected by reason of Italian competition. Therefore,
as I see it, we will be making an arrangement whereby instead of dividing a
fair profit which division will net us more, we will in reality be in an arrange-
ment where the division of profit will be materially lessened by reason of
the fact that we still have the competition of Germany, France, and Italy

to meet.

Will you explain what that arrangement was for the manufacture
of nitroglycerin powder and nitrocellulose powder so that we can
understand it, and just state what the arrangement was about.

Mr. Casey. Du Pont was looked upon as a nitrocellulose powder
manufacturer.

Senator Clark. Do you manufacture nitroglycerin powder?
Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Clark. Not at all?

Mr. Casey. "We did a little shotgun powder business, whereas the

English have always been looked upon as nitroglycerin powder
manufacturers.
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Senator Clark. This letter refers to " military propellants."

Mr. Casey. That is all I am talking about.

Senator Clark. In the statement on page 2 which I just read you

say that you fear German competition. This letter was written in

1919. Did you understand at that time, in 1919, that Germany was
making and ex]3orting military propellants?

Mr. Casey. No ; but I thought there was a possibility that at any
time they might be allowed to.

Senator Clark. In other words, you thought there might be a

modification of the Versailles Treaty, which you had to take into

contemplation in the agreement which you might make with Nobel ?

Mr. Casey. Correct.

Senator Clark. I will read further in that letter [reading] :

The above indicates the practical side, but there is another angle which in

my mind is more important, and that is, that by making an arrangement to

divide profits on siales of military explosives, we are inviting the attack of

unfriendly people and miickrakers. No matter how clean the arrangement may
be, it is bound to be misconstrued. We will be accused of exchanging Govern-
ment information with England. Our explanation that this is but a selling

arrangement will not alter the fact that in order to divide profits, those profits

are based on some cost. That cost will be stated to be the United States Gov-
ernment cost. Therefore we will be informing England as to what it isi costing

the United States to manufacture its powder. We will also be accused of
informing England as to the quantity of powder for military purposes made
in the United States, how much is exported, and how much the United States
has.

Major, those objections were very valid, were they not? If this

agreement had been made there would have been a very valid objec-

tion that it did disclose information based on cost, and that in order
to determine the basis it would be necessary to disclose the United
States Government cost?

Mr. Casey. As I said, that is what we would be accused of.

Senator Clark. You could have been accused of it very justly?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No, sir.

Senator Clark. Why not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Because the cost of Government powder

might be very different than the cost of powder shipped down there.

You take the cost of Government powder provided in 1918 to the
United States, and it certainly had no relation to any powder we ever
made before.

Senator Clark. You do not mean the cost, but the selling price?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Both. They were both way below what was

ever manufactured before.

Senator Clark. It did not cost you less to manufacture?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. It cost us less to manufacture and it was

sold for less.

Senator Clark. It cost you less to manufacture ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It cost us less to manufacture than ever
before.

Senator Clark. It did not cost you less to manufacture powder
for the United States Goverinnent than before?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. It certainly did, because we were in larger

production.
Senator Clark. In the manufacture of powder in 1918, of com-

parable kind, it did not cost you any less to manufacture the powder
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you furnished to the United States Government than the powder you
furnished to any other government during that period?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. It is here in the record, that is, the records

are here to show it exactly, and I believe it was less, because of the
larger volume of manufacture, and also we began getting materials
at lower cost after the United States went into the war.

Senator Clark. But if you manufactured during the period 1918

—

did you manufacture exclusively for the United States Government
after we got into the war, or did you start to manufacture to some
extent for the Allies ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We manufactured for the Allies the orders
we had uncompleted.

Senator Clark. That is what I say. If you manufactured the
same powder, in the same factory, or a similar kind, and sold some
to the United States and some to the Allies, it did not cost you less

to manufacture for the United States than the Allies?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It might have.
Senator Clark. That is the point I am making, Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. At any rate, the exact cost of manufactur-

ing powder cannot be known, but the approximate cost must be
known. The approximate cost of manufacture must be known to the
Nobel people as well as to us. The approximate cost of manufacture,
whether it costs 55 cents or 53 cents, would be utterly immaterial.

Senator Clark. But in setting up your cost base, is not Major
Casey's suggestion here well taken, that the cost would be what is

the United States Government cost?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not think that is necessarily so.

Senator Clark. Therefore it would be informing England as to

what it cost the United States to manufacture it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think the cost of a lot of powder sold in

South America would be very different than what it cost in the
United States.

Senator Clark. Major Casey goes on [reading] :

In spite of the fact that on interchange of information on patents, military
explosives are specifically exempted, we will be attacked with the statement
that by informing them of the sales and the costs on which the profits are
based, that we cannot avoid informing them regarding compositions.

Is that objection not well taken?
Mr. Casey. That is again on the same premise. We can be ac-

cused of a lot of things.

Senator Clark. I understand you can be accused of a lot of things,

but I am asking your opinion whether you could be fairly accused.

This was an intercompany memorandum. I understand you said

you could be accused of it. What I am trying to find out now is

whether it is your opinion that you could have been accused of it

with justice.

Mr. Casey. I am trying at this time to make the strongest case

that I possibly can.

Senator Clark. I understand.
Mr. Casey. To something to which I objected personally.

Senator Clark. What was your opinion as to the justice of those

accusations which might be made?
Mr. Casey. I think I have stated pretty clearly, Senator, that they

might be just or unjust.
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Senator Clark. I understand you said they might be just or un-
just, but I am trying to find out your opinion as to whether they
would be just or unjust. You are an expert on the subject, and I
know you have an opinion as to whether they were just or unjust.

Mr. Casey. I felt most of them would have been unjust, but we
were still open to attack.

Senator Clark. As a matter of fact, your present arrangement
with I. C. I., while it is termed a " selling arrangement ", does pro-
vide for a division of the profits and would be open to the same
objections that you raise there, would it not?
Mr. Casey. Not on the basis that I was fearful of at this time.

That is because any division of profits is a variable proposition, de-
pending on the particular transaction.

The fact of the matter is, that after we have added selling expense,
travel expense, and so forth, we do not have a profit, in a great
many cases.

Senator Clark. Nevertheless, the division takes place on the divi-

sion of cost, and your suggestion here that this agreement which was
under discussion would be subject to the attack that it was based on
cost, which would be taking the United States Government cost and
would disclose the volume and also the composition, would apply
as much to the existing agreement with I.C.I, as it would to this

agreement, would it not. Major? "Without going into the question as

to whether the attack is just or unjust, whatever you said about this

agreement might as fairly be said about your existing agreement
with I.C.I. ? Is that not true?

Mr. Casey. Except for the facts being different. As I said before,

I was afraid an arrangement would be entered into. I was not fa-

miliar with the contemplated arrangement, and I was afraid an
arrangement might be entered into where there would be a division
of the profits based on our plant costs.

Now, as the matter stands today, as I have just explained, there
is no such animal. It is simply the result of a year's costs. We have
probably gotten the net return after all expenses have been included
of a certain amount, and it bears no relation to the cost, and nobody
could possibly take that figure and say " the powder cost them so
much." There is the distinction.

Senator Clark. Major, the agreement provides for a division of
profits, does it not ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No ; the agreement does not provide for it.

Senator Clark. What does it provide?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Costs.

Senator Clark. Profits are necessarily based on costs, are thev not,
Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I did not hear your statement.
Senator Clark. It is impossible to have any determination of

profit in any commercial enterprice and not have a determination
of the cost, is it not, Major?
Mr. Casey. It may sound to you like a fine distinction, but what

I was trying to avoid at that time, in my own opinion, waB any
arrangement whereby it would be based on our cost at the mill,
which is really what we would term equivalent to Government cost.
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On the other hand, under the present arrangement we know what
our own figures are, what the mill cost is, and then we have to add
to that every item of expense which we have been put to during the

period in which that powder was sold. The result is, on a number of

occasions where over our mill cost we might show a profit, the net

result will be an actual loss because of the small quantity involved

and the selling expenses and everything else which goes on all the

time.

Senator Clark. Major, do I understand under this existing agree-

ment with I. C. I., when you go to settle with them, you would just

set up your cost figure as a flat figure, as a flat cost, without breaking

it down into your mill cost or anything else ?

Mr. Casey. There is one feature of that thing which has not been
brought out, and that is this : At the time we had the discussion with
Mitchell we said :

" There is one thing we want distinctly under-
stood. There is going to be no break-down as to where we get our
final figures. That is one thing we will not agree to. Unless you are

willing to accept our figures as to what we say the powder costs us
at the end of a year's period of transaction, we will not enter into

the agreement."
Senator Clark. So that under the agreement you do not break

down the cost?

Mr. Casey. We refused to give the data.

Senator Cl^vrk. And refused to give any information on mill cost ?

Mr. Casey. And unless they are willing to accept our figures and
we are willing to accept theirs on the same evidence, there is none
applied.

Senator Clark. That is, under the agreement you have no break-
down of the figures ?

Mr. Casey. We absolutely refused to do it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think. Senator, the present agreement
will speak for itself, but it is my understanding that it does not refer
to costs, but it refers to profits, and the profit figures are to be
accepted without break-down. It is not a break-down of cost, but a
break-down of profit.

Senator Clark. It is impossible to figure profit without figuring
costs. Profit is the difference between the selling price and cost.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. You understand it means that it is not
breaking down cost, that it is a question of breaking down profits,

and Ave do not have to break-down our profits.

Senator Clark. If yon do not break-down your costs, I can see that
Major Casey's explanation of the difference between the contract
which he is discussing here and the contract with I.C.I, is a valid
distinction.

Now, Major, I will read further from the same letter [reading] :

In addition, the attack made on us in Harper's Weekly

Mr. Casey. Have you not skipped one paragraph ?

Senator Clark. I read that, but I will read it again [reading] :

In spite of the fact that on interchange of information on patents, military
explosives

I was just asking you about that.

Mr. Casey. I do not think you finished the paragraph.
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Senator Clark (continuing reading) :

* * * military explosives are siiecifically exempted, we will be attacked with
the statement that by informing them of the sales and the costs on which the

profits are based, that we cannot avoid informing them regarding compositions.

This arrangement will give Representatives in Congress just the ammunition
they are looking for to attack us. and we will be accused of bein.cj traitors;

of giving away Government secrets, etc. All we have to do is to look over

the hearings on the different appropriation bills to realize what thin ice we
would be on.

In addition, the attack made on us in Harper's Weekly in 1914 is still pretty

fresii in our minds, and we still hear of this occasionally.

What is that, Major?
Mr. Casey. That is the attack by a man named Post, where he ac-

cused the company of giving Government information to Germany.
Senator Clark. You mean the du Pont Co. as distinguished from

munition makers in general ?

Mr. Casey. Yes; and, as I understand it, he referred to a case

where the United States Navy needed brown prismatic powder.
At the request of the Secretary of the Navy I believe Mr. Alfred

I. du Pont went to Germany and made an arrangement whereby we
would get the " know-how " of brown prismatic powder.

Senator Clark. You mean get it from Germany ?

Mr. Casey. I mean get it from Germany. In connection with that,

of course, we had to agree, which was approved by the Secretary
of the Navy, to let them have information which we might develop
in connection with this same powder. That was a part of the agree-
ment, and the only agreement on which the Germans would let us
have the information.

Senator Clark. That was the Harper's Weekly article to which
3^ou referred?
Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Clark (reading) :

The testimony and exhibits at the time of the du Pont dissolution suit, the
testimony and exhibits at the time of the Post-du Pont libel suit, are con-
clusive evidence of the risk we are running.

What was the Post libel suit?

Mr. Casey. That was a libel suit growing out of the Harper's
Weekly article.

Senator Clark. Who was the Post involved ?

Mr. Casey. He was the man who wrote the article.

Senator Clark. Did j^ou sue him for libel?

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Clark. What was the judgment?
Mr. Casey. Somebody else can tell j^ou.

Senator Clark. Do you know. Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, sir.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. ;Mr. Pierre du Pont can tell you. I think
we won it.

Senator Clark. Did you get judgment from Post?
Mr. Pierre du Pokt. I have no recollection of it.

Senator Clark. I think some of you would remember it if you
liad won the suit. [Reading:]

In that case there was this difference: When we were accused of inter-
changing information with Germany on account of the arrangement we had
with the Rhenish-Westphalian Co., this agreement had been made at the
request of the Secretary of the Navy.
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Is that the arrangement which you just referred to, Major?
Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Clark. That is the reason I was reading this, to show
what the arrangement was. [Continuing reading:]

The arrangement which we are contemplating at the present time has no
such foundation and, I am sure, would not be loolied on with favor by the
officials of the Army or Navy. Furthermore, I fear that such an arrangement
as we are contemphiting would jeopardize our present friendly relations with
the Army and Navy, for their representatives would hesitate about taking us
into their confidence for fear that the information would reach England.

Was this arrangement made with Nobel at that time. Major?
Mr. Casey. There was an arrangement, but some of our objections

were observed, but I do not know exactly to what extent.

Senator Clark. Which ones were observed?
Mr. Casey. The interchange of information was definitely out,

because there was a saving clause in that agreement about Govern-
ment objection being a valid objection, and there was always Gov-
ernment objection. I think that was brought out the other day.
You did not read the last paragraph, and I do not know whether

it is important or not.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think you are getting confused between
the exchange of information agreement and the South American
agency agreement, are you not?
Mr. Casey. No.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. This was a proposed agency agreement.
Mr. Casey. This was the agreement which I understand was being

contemplated at the time with I.C.I.

Senator Clark. I would be glad to have you read the last one, if

you want.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I have got the information, Senator, with

regard to the Post libel suit. Major Casey's recollection, evidently,

was not quite correct.

Post wrote the article in Harper's Weekly. One of our men criti-

cized the article and referred to it as libelous. Post sued the du
Pont Co. for that statement, and the judge instructed the jury to

find that in fact the article w^as libelous, so that the company's posi-

tion was vindicated.

relations of united states army and navy officers with munitions
makers

Senator Clark. I see. I now read a letter dated May IT, 1922,

which I will ask to be marked appropriately.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 992 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2821.)

Senator Clark. This is a memorandum from W. H. O'Gorman,
assistant director, a memorandum of his trip to Washington on May
16, 1922 [reading] :

Called on Major O'Leary, small-arms division, regarding purchase from
Frankford Arsenal of 160,000 cupro nickel bullet envelops, lead plugs, and sur-

rated plugs for incendiary ammunition. Major O'Leary iiad received a letter

from Major Whelen on this subject. He stated that it was not regular proced-
ure to sell material which was being held in reserve, but due to the fact that we
needed the components in a hurry, he would oblige us and would at once notify

Frankford Arsenal to make the sale under the conditions outlined in Major
Wheien's letter of May 15.
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Who is Major Whelen?
Mr. Casey. Major Whelen at that time—I may not be absokitely

right, but I think he was either on the technical staff on small-arms

matters or in the ammunition division.

Senator Clark. He was in the Army at that time ?

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Clark. I was trying to find out whether he was your

representative, or in the Army.
Mr. Casey. No, sir.

Senator Clark (reading) :

Major O'Leary also stated that we could obtain the material ou Thursday,

May 18.

Now, when Major O'Leary said that it was not regular procedure

to sell material which is being held in reserve, he really meant there

was no authority in law for permitting it, did he not?

Mr. Casey. No; there was authority in law to sell.

Senator Clark. Out of the reserve stock?

Mr. Casey. Provided it was going to be replaced and replaced

very soon. But this thing was a proposition which looked like good
business, if we might have difficulty in getting these component ma-
terials. As it turned out afterwards, we found we had no difficulty in

getting the components from other sources, so that nothing happened
from this thing.

Senator Clark. These bullets were to be taken out of the reserve
stock which the Government had, were they not?
Mr. Casey. I think so. That was the intention. It was an Eng-

lish bullet.

Senator Clark. They were incendiary bullets?

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Clark. Do you know what government they were to be
sold to?

Mr. Casey. I think this sounds very much like Japan.
Senator Clark. I call your attention to a tabulation of foreign

business from the armistice to December 31, 1933, not including
United States business, taken from the files. I find that in one item,
Japan, incendiary cartridges, quantity, 100,000; total, $22,750.

(The tabulation referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 993 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2822.)
Senator Clark. Would that indicate to your mind. Major, on that

that part of this material you Avere trying to get from the United
States Government was for sale to Japan?
Mr. Casey. That Japanese incident is very interesting. They

came to us and wanted to get 150,000 rounds of .303 British in-
cendiary ammunition. The first statement I made was, "Why do
you come to us for a British cartridge with a British bullet^ the
Buckingham bullet? " The answer was that du Pont had made such
a splendid reputation in the loading of both tracer and incendiary
bullets during the war that that is what they told me.
They were advised we were not ammunition manufacturers. We

Avould have to get the components from outside. In our search for
components we thought it was possible that Frankford arsenal might
have some components for the .303 British. If they did not hc-Tve,
it might be possible to utilize certain of those components by re-
forming and swedging to raise the diameter of the bullet "from
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.308 to .311. But, as I say, before the discussion had hardly ended,

we found we were able to get the components not only for the

ammunition but for the bullets from another source without any

difficulty.

Senator Clark. Your sales charge shows that you sold 240,000

rounds of that ammunition. Did any part of that come from the

United States Government?
Mr. Casey. None of it.

Senator Clark. Because you found another place you could buy it?

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark. But you had made arrangements with the United
States Government to supply you 160,000 rounds from their reserve

stock ?

Mr. Casey. If we could use it, they were willing to help us to

tide over this proposition.

Senator Clark. Was the United States Government apprised that

that was for sale to a foreign government?
Mr. Casey. Oh, yes.

Senator Clark. To Japan?
Mr. Casey. Yes. The fact of the matter was, when the}^ realized

that Japan could have gone right to England and have probably
gotten this ammunition out of stock, they were very glad to see

American manufacturers get the business.

Senator Clark. I will read you fui'ther from this memorandum
of Mr. O'Gorman's, " Exhibit No. 992 ", recounting his trip to Wash-
ington May 17, 1922. Beginning with the second paragraph at the
top of the second page. Major

:

Called on General Humphrey and asked him what he knew about Mr. A. W.
Randall.

AVlio is General Humphrey?
Mr. Casey. General Humphrey was a retired quartermaster gen-

eral of the Army, who went with Colonel Buckner on some special

Avork around about somewhere between 1908 and 1912, I am not
quite sure ; but he had been retired at that time. When I took over
Colonel Buckner's work after the Avar, I still had General Humphrey
on a nominal retainer. Therefore, when there was occasion to find

out what connection this Captain Randall had with the Polish
Government, or whether he knew them or not, I got hold of General
Plumphrey and asked him if he could not find out.

Senator Clark. Mr. du Pont, have you a list, or could you make
us a list, of the former Army and naval officers that have been
employed by the du Pont Co. since the war?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. We certainly could.

Senator Clark. I come across the names of captains, majors, col-

onels, and generals here. Would you make us a list for the record
of just how many former Army officers you have employed?
Mr. Casey. Senator, by that you mean regular officers, do you not ?

Senator Clark. Yes; I do; of course.

Mr. Casey. I think we could almost recite that.

There was General Humphrey^—he is the first one I know of

—

formerly Quartermaster General, who, I think, retired because of
the age limit, 64 years. He came with us in a period—I am not quite
sure of the exact date. Then when we got into large production, in
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the early stages of the World War, and required a little better super-

vision, a man of executive ability to handle commissary and welfare
work, we got Maj. Kobert E. Wood, who had been with General
Goethals down in the Panama Canal Zone. He then took over this

welfare work at Carneys Point. He was only with us a short time
when he left to go with the Barber Asphalt Co. From that he went
into the service. I believe he eventually became Quartermaster Gen-
eral of the A. E. F. He is now president of Sears Roebuck.
He w^as succeeded when he left by Maj. Frank O. Whitlock. He

had likewise been with General Goethals in the Panama Canal. He
continued on that welfare work until his services with the company
ceased, around 1920 or 1921, somewhere in there.

The only other Army, Navy, or Marine officer we had was Maj.
L. W. T. Waller, Jr. He had resigned from the Marine Corps and
had started in a business of his own, supplying rust-preventative
compounds, gun-cleaner materials, and so forth, under the name of

Conversion Products Corporation.
When we first started our attempt really to make a study of game-

conservation work, because of Major Waller's interest as a sports-

man and his knowledge of shotgun conditions and the use of the
shotgun in hunting game—and naturally with that goes the question
of the entire study of wildlife—he took on this work and continued
from about 1928 until possibly 1932. I think that was the end of
that service.

That represents four officers. None of those men had any connec-
tion whatsoever with military work, unless you would call the service
of Wood and Whitlock on commissary and welfare work in connec-
tion with military production.
Senator Clark. I remember General Rice. Was he not in your

employ for a while?
Mr. Casey. General Rice was another story.

Senator Clark. He was formerly Chief of Ordnance?
Mr. Casey. He was former Chief of Ordnance: that is, of the

A. E. F.
Senator Clark. Yes.
Mr. Casey. I think we brought out the other day that Colonel

Taylor had urged on us to try to get
Senator Clark. Was Colonel Taylor an Army officer or was that

a courtesy title ?

Mr. Casey. National Army. He went to Plattsburg. I think at
the armistice he was still at Fort Sill, commanding officer of the
Nineteenth Field Artillery, and also acting as instructor in field artil-

lery. But he kept urging us to let him have a man who was techni-
cally equipped to discuss the question of gun design, because we were
running against that problem in trying to fit our powder to guns,
especially where these different nations wanted to increase their
velocity.

So I went to General Williams and asked him if he knew where
there was such a man. He said, " Have you considered General
Rice?" General Rice by this time had retired. I said, "No", I
had not considered General Rice, because I never thought for a
moment he would consider it.

He said, " I do not suppose the remuneration can be very great,
but I think you would find this, that while General Rice has retired
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from the Army, at the same time he still has a tremendous interest

in all their problems."
So I got in touch with General Rice, and I must say frankly to

my surprise he said, " I would be tickled to death to do that, because
it will just keep me going on it."

So General Rice went to Europe. He could not operate in this

country. He had absolutely no connection with any negotiations

we had with the United States Government because of the clause

in the retired pay.
Senator Clark. I understand that.

Mr. Casey. He was only used on the other side as a technical

adviser. I think that has been brought out.

Senator Clark. How about Colonel Simons?
Mr. Casey. Colonel Simons had been with the du Pont Co. a

great many years ago in black powder. He was an engineer, like-

wise. He left us and went with the U. S. Finishing Co., at Provi-
dence. I believe while there he joined the Rhode Island Guard, and
he went overseas with the Twenty-sixth Division in the Artillery.

He went over there and because of the fact that he knew several lan-

guages, they grabbed him and put him on the staff as a liasion

officer.

When he came back—I did not know Simons very well ; I simply
had, you might say, a bowing acquaintance. But you may remember
yesterday this incident was brought up of an unsatisfactory repre-

sentative in South America. So I got Simons on, because he is a
gentleman, to send him down to South America to try to undo some
of the results that were left there by reason of the previous agent.

Now, you cannot call him an Army officer.

Senator Clark. I was inquiring. I did not know whether he was
regular or not.

Mr. Casey. You may say I am one. I saw it in the paper the
other day I was one.

Question (from the press). Wliat are you?
Mr. Casey. I enlisted in the Seventy-first New York in the Span-

ish-American War and served through it as a private. I have been
in the National Guard ever since. I was on the Mexican border
as a battalion commander of infantry. My regiment was converted
into field artillery. There were only two battalions provided for
at that time, and I was out.

Senator Clark. I do not blame an infantryman for getting out of
the artillery. I will put in with you on that.

Mr. Casey. Then we check on one thing.
Senator Clark. Captain Gillis was also a naval officer, was he

not?
Mr. Casey. Yes. He was an ex-naval officer, retired, as I stated

the other day, but you could not call him a du Pont man, he was so
finely divided between

Senator Clark. According to your statement he was divided up
into a great many parts, but he evidently put in a good deal of time
on du Pont business, as shown by the correspondence.
Mr. Casey. Senator, in the correspondence there were a great many

of the paragraphs, especially his references to the political situation
and such things, that were common to all his letters, that he sent
to every concern he represented.
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Senator Clark. I will go on with this letter.

The Chairman. Have you finished reciting those?

Mr. Casey. If there are any others, I do not believe I know of

them, and I do not believe you do.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. There was another group.

Senator Clark. The title of Colonel Buckner, was that a courtesy

title?

Mr. Casey. He was a full-fledged Kentucky colonel, from Owens-
boro, Kentucky.

Senator Clark. That was just a Kentucky colonel, was it?

Mr, Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark. That was before the days of the present Governor
of Kentucky, though, was it not?
Mr. Casey. Yes. He qualified, by the way. He met every re-

quirement that was expected of a Kentucky colonel.

Senator Clark (reading from " Exhibit No. 992 ") :

Called on General Humphrey and asked him what he knew about Mr. A. W.
Randall. Told General Humphrey that Mr. Randall mentioned his name during
a conversation and further stated that he, Mr. Randall, was very well con-

nected with the Polish Government. General Humphrey reported that he knew
Captain Randall very well in a business way; that Captain Randall was for-

merly chief of transportation for the Polish Mission in this country, and as
General Humphrey supplied boats and arranged for transportation of materials
purchased by the Polish Mission from the United States Government, he came
in contact with Captain Randall a great deal.

General Humphrey called up the counselor of the Polish Embassy and in-

quired as to whether Captain Randall had any connection with them ; also as-

to what they thought of him. I was permitted to listen to counselor's reply

—

That would indicate on an extension phone

—

in which he stated that he had not seen Randall in 8 or 9 months but thought
very well of him. General Humphrey, however, believes that a Maj. C. S.

Marsden, purchasing agent for the Polish Mission, would be of greater help to

us in negotiating a sale of military iwwder to Poland. He further stated that
it was quite likely that he himself could negotiate the deal through the Polish
Embassy, where he is very well thought of and highly regarded.

At that time, Major, if I understand you correctly. General Hum-
phrey was on the pay roll of the du Pont Co.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Clark, Do you recall anything about this transaction,.

Major? It is signed by Mr. O'Gorman.
Mr, Casey, Yes.
Senator Clark. He was your assistant, was he not, Major?
Mr, Casey. Yes. Capt. W. E. Witsil, who had been my assistant

from 1914 and then had left to go into the service, was in the inspec-
tion division of the Ordnance Department, on the small arms. When
he came back he promptly resumed his old duties. Therefore I sent
him down to contact this man Marsden.

Senator Clark. First let me understand you. This Capt. A. W.
Randall approached you with a view to representing you in negotia-
tion with Poland, did he ?

Mr. Casey. I believe he did.

Senator Clark. In other words, he was not at this time connected
Avith the Polish Government ?

Mr, Casey. No.
83876—35—PT 12 2
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Senator Clark. He had been connected with the Polish Gov-
ernment, but was at this time approaching you witii a view to rep-

resenting you, and also investigating his standing with the Polish

Government ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Clark. That is what this letter would indicate.

Mr. Casey. Yes; that is right.

Senator Clark. I am not familiar with the facts except as shown
in the letter.

Mr. Casey. So Captain Witsil contacted Major Marsden, who I
believe was a National Army officer, but he had been either assigned

or picked up by the newly established Polish Government to advise

them on a great many matters in connection with the formation of

a national defense. So after contacting Marsden, Marsden then

said

Senator Clark. This letter speaks of him as purchasing agent for

the Polish Commission. Was he purchasing agent for the Polish

Commission at that time, do you know?
Mr. Casey. I do not believe so. That may have been so, but I do

not believe that was the fact, because we were referred to a Dr.
Arkt, who was head of the Polish Purchasing Commission, 'which
at that time was established on West Fortieth Street, just opposite

the public library, in one of those old private houses. So, therefore,

from that time on all our contact was with this Dr. Arkt and an
associate of his whose name I cannot remember at the time.

Senator Clark. What did General Humphrey do? [Reading:]

He furt'acr stated that it was quite likely that lie himself could negotiate the

deal through the Polish Embassy, where he is very well thought of and highly
regarded.

Mr. Casey. He did not do anything further.

Senator Clark. He did not do anything further ?

Mr. Casey. No; just as soon as we had the contact, we thought
we could handle it, you see. General Humphrey was pretty well
along in years then. He was 64 when he retired around 1910, we
will say, so he was probably 74 at this time.

Senator Clark. He volunteered to handle the thing, but you did
not accept his offer. That was the proposition, was it. Major?
Mr. Casey. That is right.

Senator Clark. I now call your attention to a memorandum signed
by Mr. C. I. B. Henning, on August 18, 1922, of a visit to officers

of Bethlehem Steel Co., August 16.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 994 ",

and is included in the appendix on p. 2823.)
Senator Clark. Major, I believe it has been testified here who

Mr. Henning was, but it has slipped my mind. What was his
official connection?
Mr. Casey. He had two jobs. One was assistant director of sales.

Later on he became technical director of smokeless powder sales.

Senator Clark. What was he in 1922?
Mr. Casey. He was assistant director.

Senator Clark. This was a report of a visit to officers of Bethle-
hem Steel Co., August 16. [Reading:]

Discussed the following subjects with Messrs. Struble, Tioe, Mixsell, and
Froelich.
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I call your attention to paragraph 4. [Reading :]

Nothing new in Brazilian developments, except that as the battleship Mary-

land, and posRibly also the Nevada will be in the harbor of Rio de Janeiro at

the time of the exposition to represent the United States, the Bethlehem Steel

Co. is supplying the officers of the Maryland with data on Bethlehem Steel guns

and armament for appropriate use. We will endeavor to determine to what

extent this suggestion might be followed to our advantage, it behig primarily

a question of personalities, etc.

Major, do you understand that the " appropriate use " of the infor-

mation referred to was to use it in selling Bethlehem Steel Co.

products ?

Mr. Casey. I would imagine that; that is, not by having them
sell it, but having them know sufficient about it so that if they are

asked :
" What do you think of Bethlehem products "

Senator Clark, In other words, to use the personnel of the United

States Navy as peddlers for Bethlehem Steel guns ?

Mr. Casey. I do not know what their arrangement with them
was.

Senator Clark. What do you understand by Henning's sugges-

tion? [Reading:]

AVe will endeavor to determine to what extent this suggestion mi2:ht be

followed to our advantage, it being primarily a question of personalities, etc.

Mr. Casey. Whatever his suggestion was, it was not acted on.

Senator Clark. Was not acted on?
Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Clark. Do you know to what extent it was acted on in the

interests of the Bethlehem Co.?
Mr. Casey. I have not the slightest idea.

Senator Clark. You never heard any more about it?

Mr. Casey. No.
Senator, I have some data here which might assist you.
Senator Clark. Just a .minute, Major. This statement, " We will

endeavor to determine to what extent this suggestion might be fol-

lowed to our advantage ", would certainly indicate that so far as one
of your rather prominent employees, Mr. Henning, was concerned,
he had no compunction against using naval officers as salesmen for
munitions, but it was simply a question of contacting the right man,
was it not?
Mr, Casey. You must realize

Senator Clark, You took that to be his viewpoint in this memo-
randum ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Mr. Irenee du Pont, I do not think he asked that they be used as

salesmen at all. I think it is education. You want to crack up your
product to everybody.

Senator Clark. Advance agents, Mr. du Pont. They were not
actually, probably, going to close the transaction, but the officers of
the United States Navy were clearly being educated by the Bethle-
hem Steel Co. as to guns and armament, the phrase here is " for
appropriate use." That was certainly to act as advance agents for
the real salesmen who come along and close the deal, was it not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know what " advance ajrent " is, but

if you mean putting out some good advertising matter for the excel-
lence of our wares, we are not a bit backward in doing that. I would
like to get you in the same idea.
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Senator Clark. You will have a very hard time doing that, Mr.

dii Pont, I assure you.

Mr. Casey. Senator, just as a matter of information for the record,

Gen. Charles F. Humphrey was employed January 1, 1908. He was
off the salary roll June 4, 1926, when he died.

Senator Clark. He held on pretty well.

Mr. Casey. He did.

Maj. Kobert E. Wood was employed July 30, 1915, resigned

November 7, 1915. That was, I stated, to go with the Barber
Asphalt Co.

Maj. Frank O. Whitlock succeeded Wood; employed November 1,

1915, off salary roll June 30, 1921.

Our recollection, from this memorandum, is that both Wood and
Whittock came from the Panama Canal Zone, which I had already

stated.

Mr. Raushenbush. How about this Captain Witsil you were re-

ferring to a minute ago ? Is he employed, too ?

Mr. Casey. He was my man. He went into the National Army as

an ordnance officer on inspection.

Mr. Raushenbush. That completes the list of Army officers?

Mr. Casey. Yes ; he is now with the Remington Co.
Senator Clark. I was interested primarily, Major, in getting a

list of Regular Army officers.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. There were several others, like Witsil, that

left our company to go into the war. A number of those came back
at the end of the war.

Senator Clark. I was primarily interested in the Regular service.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is what I thought you were.
Senator Clark. Because, of course, men who were temporarily

in the Army or the Navy might go into any business when they left.

I was primarily interested in getting at the Regular Army.
I will call your attention to a letter from Mr. A. Felix du Pont,

of the smokeless-powder department, to the executive committee.
In this letter I myself have deleted the names of the countries men-
tioned and substituted for the names the terms " Country A" and
" Country B '•. for reasons which will appear from the context.

This memorandum is headed " Promotion of Military Sales in

Country A."
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 995 ", and

appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark (reading) :

During the winter we were called upon by Lieut. Col. J. H. Mackie, who
is at present head of the Canadian relief work. He had been in Country A
for some months and at that time was also a member of the Canadian Par-
liament. He is a man of very considerable experience, both commercial and
political. During the war he secured the Country A contracts for the Canadian
Car & Foundry Co., also the contracts for rifles for Westinghouse, Remington,
and Winchester, the total business amounting to some $80,000,000. During the
war he was in charge of the proving ground in Canada for the Canadian Car
& Foundry Co.

Colonel Mackie suggested to us that there exists a demand in Country
A for military powder and as he was going there he would serve us if we
wished him to do so. We looked into this matter very carefully and discussed
it with Colonel McCabe, recently in charge of Military Intelligence. Colonel
McCabe could see no objection to our dealing with Country A if we wanted to
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and used the following argument : That Country A will buy munitions if she
needs them, therefore there is no reason why manufacturers in this country
should not sell to Country A. From tlie military standpoint the business has
this value, that if Country A is going to obtain munitions somewhere, by
obtaining them from the United States our Army learns how much and
what kind of powder she is buying and by deduction is in a position to obtain

a considerable amount of information of military value. The advantage
in dealing with potential enemies in order to obtain information is recognized
by both branches of the military service and in discussing a similar condition
in connection with Country B, Admiral Long, recently in charge of Naval
Intelligence, advised Major Casey that the same condition applied to that
country.

For the above reasons we are convinced that it is not undesirable to sell

powder to Country A for political or moral reasons and the most important
disadvantage that we must guard ourselves against very carefully will be
in the matter of making contracts that will assure payment. We think it

wise also not to incur the displeasure of some of our other customers by
letting it be known that we are selling or attempting to sell to Covuitry A. In
order to protect ourselves we have made the following arrangement with
Colonel Mackie : We pay half of his expenses on this trip to Country A and
he promotes sales of powder in his own name, the powder being shipped to

Country A from Canada. We believe that should the occasion arise from
making such shipments, they can be made to advantage through the C.X.L.

What was the C.X.L. ?

Mr. Casey. Canadian Explosives, Ltd.
Senator Clark. You had an arrangement with them for shipping

under their name when occasion demanded?
Mr. Casey. To meet this situation.

Senator Clark (reading) :

Colonel Mackie has talked with Mr. McMasters, with whom he is well ac-
quainted, and Mr. McMasters is desirous of giving him every assistance. With
regard to inspection, Mr. McMasters advised that if it seemed advisable, a
Country A inspector could come to Canada and be sent from C.X.L. to inspect
the powder.

(Signed) A. Femx du Pont,

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, that is not a complete letter. There
has been a deletion from that.

Senator Clark. I suppose there is, Mr. du Pont. This is all that
was furnished me.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Might we see the complete letter, to know

what that deletion consists of?
Senator Clark. Do you have that, Mr. Raushenbush ?

Mr. Raushenbush. We have it somewhere, but in the deletion to

leave out the names of those countries we had the whole letter copied.
I do not think anything of significance was left out.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. There is a row of dots in that that indi-

cated to me something was left out.

Senator Clark. That was simply in order to leave out the names
of the countries, Mr, du Pont, We would have no objection on
earth to showing the whole letter.

Mr. Casey. July 14, 1923.

Senator Clark. Do both branches of the military service still rec-

ognize the advantage of private munitions manufacturers in this

country dealing with potential enemies of the United States?
Mr. Casey. I have not approached them on the subject recently,

but the last time I did that was still their attitude.

Senator Clark, That was the policy the last time you were in-

formed about it.
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Mr. du Pont, in your opinion, does the knowledge from a military

standpoint of the character of powder purchased by our potential

enemies and such information concerning their guns as this knowl-
edge produces outweigh the disadvantage from the standpoint of
our Government of having our potential enemies fully stocked with
the very latest type of powder ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I would certainly depend upon our military

arm for an answer to that question. I would not know.
Senator Clark. You would not attempt to give an opinion about

that?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Certainly not.

Senator Clark. Is it possible lor these countries purchasing pow-
der, we will say according to your latest formula, Mr. du Pont, to

analyze that powder and determine your formula ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I did not get the question.

Senator Clark. I say, I am asking you from a chemical or me-
chanical standpoint, as I assume it is a mixed question, is it pos-

sible—we will assume a case in which you manufacture powder
according to a secret formula of your own which may not be in the
possession of a foreign nation or anybody except yourselves—is it

possible for a foreign government by purchasing a quantity of that

powder to have it analyzed and determine the components and the

process by which you have manufactured it?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am quite sure they could determine its

composition. Whether they could duplicate it or not, I think de-

pends on their skill in manufacturing powder. But that is reall}'^

a question you should not ask me. I am not a technical powder
maker.

Senator Clark. I understand you are not a technical powder
maker, Mr. du Pont, but you are thoroughly familiar with the whole
situation, and you have had the most expert technical advice through
a long career in the manufacture of powder; therefore you are in a
good position to answer the question.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. From past experience I should think that
if the du Pont Co. received a sample of powder they could come
pretty close to duplicating it.

Senator Clark, That would be true, assuming a high degree of

expertness in the powder business, if a foreign powder expert received

a quantity of your powder?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not say that, whether that would be

true or not.

Mr. Casey. Senator, I might say this, that if the powder has been
patented, a nation buying that powder might want to buy it because
of what they have observed in the patent applications of which they
have a copy, and probably can get all the transactions as Dr. Sparre
explained the other day. Therefore, the patent would enable them
to know what to look for.

Senator Clark. I understand that, Major, that when a process or
an invention or anything else is once patented in a foreign country,
and a foreign government wants to use it, you are absolutely helpless

to protect yourself against that.

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark. I had assumed from the testimony that has been
put in the record here that certain of your formulas were not pat-
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ented, but were held secret in your own plant. I was inquiring- as

to whether in a case of a formula which had not been registered or

patented in a foreign country, they could determine your process by
an analysis of the powder.
Mr. Casey. They could not determine the process. They might be

able to determine approximately the composition with a reasonable
degree of accuracy, but not the process.

Senator Clark. An expert powder maker would probably be able

to take the composition and hit on the process, wouldn't he, Major?
Mr. Casey. He might hit on the process, not necessarily the same

one. Now, in a great many of these more modern powders, Senator,
a process ma}^ mean one thing to a certain man. He may attempt to

duplicate or make the powder by that process and may get certain

results. If he knew that there was another process, he might get
the real answer. It is the " know how " that is so important, and
the "know how " is very difficult to even write down. It is a matter
of what you might call plant practice.

Senator Clark. I understand that. Major, but there are expert
powder manufacturers with the " know how " in foreign countries
as well as the du Pont Co. in this country.
Mr. Casey. Oh, yes. In fact, they all believe they are very much

better than we are.

Senator Clark. I understand you do not agree with that con-
clusion, but nevertheless it is entirely probable that by taking a
quantity of your powder, inen who are versed in the art would be
able to duplicate the powder,
Mr. Casey. They would be able to to a certain extent; yes. Now,

of course. Senator, before a powder has ever reached the stage where
a foreign government would even be interested, by that time it is in
the category where the existence of such a powder is no longer a
secret. That is what I tried to state the other day. I want to make
the distinction between secret and " know how." I said there was
no such thing as a secret after 2 years. Other countries may know
there is in existence something mysterious or they may know a
certain item is in existence and they want to find out about it.

Senator Clark. That is w^hat I am trying to get at. Major; the
effect of this whole trade, as to whether it does disclose to foreign
countries the latest developments of the manufacture of powder or,

for that matter, the manufacture of guns or any other military
equipment.
Mr. Casey. To go a step further, we will assume, which has noth-

ing to do with this case incidentally, but we will just take a hypo-
thetical case, that a certain nation wanted to buy a certain quantity
of powder which you might say was the latest development we had
for the United States Government. Let us assume for the sake of
the argument that part of it has been patented, part of it is secret
process. Then we take this proposition, and we put it right squarely
up to the Federal Government, what do you think would be the
advantages and the disadvantages of us selling them this powder ?

"

Then it is for them to decide.

Senator Clark. I understand that, and that is exactly what I am
trying to get at, Major, what the effect of decisions that have been
made may be.
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Mr. Casey. We have never had a case come up where it repre-

sented a final decision. Did you get that, Senator?
Senator Clark. No.
Mr. Casey. I say, we have never had a case come up parallel to

this hypothetical case where there was a final decision, so the thing
has never occurred. But I would like to give you an illustration of

what the Government that we contact—and by that I mean the Army
and the Navy—have asked us tO' do, and on one occasion which is

very recent. I will not mention the type of powder except to say it

is a small-arms powder.
I was requested by the small-arms division of the ammunition

branch if du Pont would, if requested by the Government, refuse to

sell that powder even to our American loading companies, if they
asked us to. I said. '" AVell, that is putting us in a very awkward spot."

In the first place, before du Pont purchased Remington, even then
the loading companies, if they did have a foreign order, did not
want us to know for whom that ammunition was intended, because
they were afraid that we might in turn advise the other loading com-
panies; then they would have competition. But since we have bought
Remington the situation in that respect is worse. They naturally

feel, if it happened to be some other company than Remington, that
if they told us for whom it was intended, then they would say,

"Well, Remington will know this within a few hours."

So I gave the answer to the officer, " It seems to me your propo-
sition is to get after the loading company and ask them not to ship,

if you request it. But we will do our part. When we get the in-

quiry for that type of powder, we will let you know that a certain

company has given an inquiry, but we cannot attempt to tell our
<;ustomer that because of a request we are not going to let them have
the stuff, because the answer would be that they would then go to

another powder company and not get the same powder, but they
would get a powder that would solve the problem."

Senator Clark. You simply mean by that. Major, that you can
•disclose your own business to the Government, but you cannot dis-

close that of somebody else?

Mr. Casey. Exactly.
Senator Clark. That is entirely natural.

Mr. Casey. In this particular case of Mackie, what we were offer-

ing was exactly the same kind of powder that we had furnished
Russia in the war, and it was a powder that was in stock at the time
we were offering it to Mackie at a low price.

Senator Clark. By the v;ay, Mr. du Pont, I am informed that
the paragraph vrhich Avas deleted from that letter which I just read
had to do with some expressions of private opinion from Mr. Mackie
as to the character of the people of one of the nations mentioned.
We would be very glad to put it in the record if it is desired.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I have read that paragraph which has
been deleted, and it seems to be of no imjiortance.

Senator Clark. We will be glad to put it in tlie record if you
want it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It seems to me to be of no consequence.
Senator Clark. Now, I call your attention to a memorandum for

Mr. Felix du Pont, dated March 26, 1924, which indicates a similar
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attitude of mind on the part of the Navy Department, which I will

offer for appropriate number.
. , -r. i i v at c^ao ^^

(The memorandum referred to was marked ' li,xhiDit JNo. \)\)b y

and is included in the appendix on p. 2824.)

Senator Clark. It is headed, "Assistance from Navy Department

in connection with sales to foreign governments."

In December 1923, during an inteiTiew with Admiral Block, of the Navy-

Department, I was informed that the Bureau of Ordnance, Navy, would da

everything within its power to assist us in making sales to foreign goveniments.

Dropping down to the last paragraph

:

This is a good example of cooperation on the Navy's part, and we believe

it is worth while to make the facts of the case known to the executive

committee.

I call vour attention to a letter dated July 24-

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Before you leave this, Mr. Senator, I should

like to read from the National Defense Act a paragraph which refers-

to just that kind of assistance, which I think is quit€ apropos.

This is page 18 [reading] :

COGNATE ACTS

That the President of the United States be, and hereby is, authorized, upon
application from the foreign governments concerned, and whenever in his dis-

cretion the public interests render such a course advisable, to detail officers

and enlisted men of the United States Army, Navy, and Marine Corps to assist

the governments of the Republics of North America, Central America, and
South America, and of the Republics of Cuba, Haiti, and Santo Domingo, in

militai*j- and naval matters: Provided, That the officers and enlisted men so

detailed be, and they are hereby, authorized to accept from the government to
which detailed offices and such compensation and emolumentsi thereunto ap-
pertaining as may be first approved by the Secretary of War or by the Sec-
retary of the Navy, as the case may be: Promded furiher. That while so
detailed such officers and enlisted men shall receive, in addition to the com-
pensation and emoluments allowed them by such governments, the pay and
allowances whereto entitled in the United States Army, Navy, and Marine
Corps, and sihall be allowed the same credit for longevity, retirement, and for
all other purposes that they would receive if they were serving with the forces
of the United States.

Senator Clark. I am thoroughly familiar with that provision, Mr.
du Pont. We have had occasion to examine somewhat into that
heretofore in these hearings.

It was under that provision of the National Defense Act, I believe,

that the United States Government loaned Peru a naval mission^
which in the course of its services to Peru, while they were receiving,

I believe, $8,000 apiece from the Peruvian Government in addition
to their pay as American naval officers, recommended the purchase
by Peru of certain submarines manufactured by an American com-
pany. Then shortly thereafter the potential enemy of Peru, to wit,
Colombia, felt that it was necessary for it to prepare its national
defense against those submarines which had been furnished them
under the advice of the American Naval Mission; and the United
States Government then loaned to Colombia another naval officer,

who recommended and specified certain guns manufactured by an-
other American concern as a defense against the submarines which
had been previously sold to Peru.
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It does not seem to me that those provisions for military and naval
missions or for the loan of American Army or Naval officers has
anything to do with the thing which I just said. This says

:

In December 19'23, during an interview with Admiral Blocb of the Navy De-
partment, I was informed that the Bureau of Ordnance, Navy, would do every-

thing within its power to assist us in making sales to foreign governments.
Tills is a good example of cooperation on the Navy's part, and we believe it

'S worth while to make the facts of the case known to the executive committee.

Now, I understand that provision of the statute which you just

read. It does not say anything about the bureaus of the Army and
Navy actually engaging in assistance in the sale of muntions, and I

do not find anything in that statute that justifies any such conduct
on the part of the Army or the Navy.
Mr. Casey. Senator, we are not attempting to interpret whatever

interpretations they may get from that act.

Senator Clark. I understand that. Major, but Mr. du Pont read
that into the record as though it was apropos, and I am simply re-

cording ni}^ opinion that it is not at all apropos to such action as this

on the part of the Navy Department.
Mr. Rausiienbush. Major Casey, have any Army or Navy officers

used t]iat act to interpret their actions to you ?

Mr. Casey. That I do not loiow.

]Mr. Raushexbush. You have not gotten that as authority from
the Army and the Navy, however, have you ?

Mr. Casey. In every instance where there has been such occasion
it has always been under the direct authority of the Secretary of the
Navy or the Secretary of War.
Mr. Raushenbush. And vou have not had any reference to that

act?

Mr. Casey. No; they do not refer to any act. They simply say,
" By power vested in me," or whatever the proper language is. We
cannot go any higher than that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is it your idea that that act

Mr. Casey. I am not attempting to make any interpretations.

Mr. Raushenbush. But it is yours, though, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I have been wondering since last night what

the authority is.

Senator Clark. I have been wondering too, Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. It must be there, or they would not do it.

Senator Clark. I know many departments do many things not
authorized by law. I did not mean to interrupt you, Mr. du Pont.
Excuse me.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I don't know where we left off.

Senator Clark. Now, Major, I am absolutely not certain that we
are talking about the same thing. Let me ask you this question : I
understand you to say that both branches of the United States mili-

tary service, that is, the Arm}^ Intelligence, Military Intelligence, and
Naval Intelligence, so far as you know from your last information,
take the position that it is good policy on the part of the United
States to sell munitions made in the United States to potential

enemies of the country?
Mr. Casey. On the basis that, in the first place, it gives business to

this country. That is one thing.
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Senator Clark. That is the reason set out in Mr. Felix du Font's

memorandnm.
Mr. Casey. Yes. Secondly, it gives us the advantage of knowing

at least part of what they are buying and what guns it is intended

for. Third, it also gives us knowledge of certain guns which we may
have no knowledge of before. In other words, in order to sell the

powder you must have what are termed the gun constants. Do I

make that clear?

Senator Clark. But it is the policy of the Government that it is

good policy from a Government standpoint for American munitions
makers to sell munitions to potential enemies of the United States.

Mr. Casey. That is from my last information.

Mr. Raushenbush. Major, just in passing, before we get off that,

would you care to identify, from your knowledge of the letter just

read a moment ago, that the countries marked by this committee as

A and B, whose names were deleted, have generally been considered

by some groups in this country as potential enemies of the country ?

Mr. Casey. Regarding country A I would say no.

Mr, Raushenbush. Not even in 1922 or 1923, when that letter was
written ?

Mr. Casey. No. There might have been a difference of opinion

as to the methods of our former government, but not the present

government. In the case of country B, the less said about it the

better.

Mr. Raushenbush. That was my own idea in deleting it.

Senator Clark. Now, I call your attention to a memorandum dated
July 24, 1924, from Major Casey to F. W. Bradway, which I will

ask to have marked with the appropriate exhibit number.
(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 997 ",

and is included in the appendix on p. 2824.)

Senator Clark. F. W. Bradway was the man Avho was here yester-

day?
Mr. Casey. Yes. He is now assistant general manager. He was

at that time director of manufacture.
Senator Clark. From this letter I notice that the former head of

the ordnance service, General Rice, who was your representative in

Paris at that time, I believe, had given a letter to a Polish military
officer, requesting the Ordnance Department of the Army to show
him some very important plans and contracts. I will read from the
last paragraph on the page

:

The program which they desire for this officer is as follows : When he arrives
ill America, he will go directly to Wilmington and present himself to Major
Casey. I have given him a letter of introduction. He will also have a letter
from General Rice to an officer in the Ordnance Department in which General
Rice will request the Ordnance Department to show him our various schemes
of mohilizing the powder industries, what contracts our Government make.s
with powder industries, and have him visit the Government arsenals.

Did you consider that that was conducive to the Government's
interests to have the Government's secret plans for mobilizing the
powder industry of the country in the event of war disclosed to a
representative of a foreign power ?

Mr. Casey. Don't you think that that is a matter that is up to the
Government to decide ?
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Senator Clark. Yes; I do, Major; but I am trying to get at the

attitude of the former Chief of Ordnance of the United States Army,
who was at that time your representative.

Mr. Casey. Take the country at that time, Poland, starting from
zero, with a famous concert pianist at the head of the Government,
Paderewski. The United States at that time were doing all they
could to see that Poland got on its feet before something happened
to it, and at that time there was absolute fear that before anything
got going the Bolsheviks would have them bottled up. That was
proven a few years after that when the war between Poland and the

Bolsheviks took place. If it had not been for the assistance the

United States gave them, there would not have been a Poland today,
I do not believe.

Senator Clark. Then, you do think that General Rice was pro-
ceeding in the proper manner in requesting the United States Gov-
ernment to disclose their secret mobilization plans to the representa-

tive of a foreign power ?

Mr. Casey. He was making a request.

Senator Clark. Was that done ?

Mr. Casey. That I do not know. We never knew what the United
States Government did.

Senator Clark. What did you do about it, Major? I will say that
I think you proceeded with more discretion than General Rice did,

because you said—no; I assume this is Colonel Taylor—at the top
of page 2

:

I trust you will be able to arrange a suitable program for him 90 that he
will get general information and not learn the things you don't want him to

know and that he will get some idea of how the powder business should be
conducted and contracts and so forth should be made. I believe that it will

be a good thing for us to have an opportunity to educate him and the proper
method of doing business in America, as this officer's functions in Poland will

be a check on the activities of the other people which we have to deal mth.

Now, Colonel Ta3dor's attitude seems to have been that it was a

good thing to show this Polish officer enough to make him think
that du Pont powder was better than anybody else's, without letting

him actually find out how to make it.

Mr. Casey. Don't you think. Senator, there is a very vital distinc-

tion between the two letters? One was a letter of introduction
handed to the man who was going to take that letter, and that man
was allowed to read that letter. It is certainly a cinch if that letter

that this Polish officer had contained the language that Colonel
Taylor wrote to us, he would not have been very enthusiastic about
coming.
Senator Clark. I understand, but the difference was that Colonel

Taylor wrote his letter to you and General Rice wrote his letter

to the Ordnance Department of the Army, in which he requested
them to show our various schemes for mobilizing the powder in-

dustry, what contracts our Government made with the powder in-

dustrj'^, and have him visit the Government arsenals. While Colonel
Taylor may have tipped you off privately, there is nothing to show
that the Government was tipped off privately, and here was a re-

quest from the former chief of ordnance of the United States Army
to a man who i)robably had been his subordinate when he w^as chief

of ordnance, requesting him that this examination be made and
also to disclose all our private contracts.
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Mr. Casey. But remember this: The Government does not need

to be tipped off. They know where they are. They have got their

feet on the ground. Now, what happened
Senator Clark. What did happen?
Mr. Casey (continuing). When they were willing to have an

officer visit our plant? That officer came with a letter from the

Ordnance Department saying, " We would appreciate it if you have

no objection to showing him the manufacture of powder, but then

we get another letter which does not quite say that.

Senator Clark. It is your idea, then, that General Eice was just

giving this Pole the run-around ?

Mr. Casey. He was giving him a sales talk.

Senator Clark. We have heard a good deal about sales talks here

the last week.
Mr. Casey. Maybe we will make salesmen out of you fellows yet.

Senator Clark. Not for munitions.

business with the UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT

Senator Clark. Now I call your attention to a memorandum from
Mr. C. I. B. Henning, headed—I will have to get one of you gentle-

men to pronounce tliis for me
Mr. Casey. Diphenylamine.
Senator Clark. " Diphenylamine, Ordnance Department, Wash-

ington, D. C, November 17, 1924 ", which I will ask to be marked
with the appropriate exhibit number.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 998 "

and appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. I will read from this memorandum

:

On suggestion of Major Casey, made hurried trip to Washington and dis-

cussed with Gen. C. C. Williams and his executive assistant, Maj. C. T. Harris,
arrangements by which the du Pont Co. might secure such portion of the stock
of diphenylamine as held in reserve by the Ordnance Department. Their total

stock is approximately 67,000 pounds in storage at Pica tinny Arsenal. It is

partly of du Pont manufacture and complies with the specifications of the
Ordnance Department as set forth in their pamphlet no. 450 governing the
manufacture of smokeless powder for cannon. These specifications are not
quite as stringent as those set forth in the small blue advertising folder of
the dyestuffs department. Copy of this letter was presented with the sugges-
tion that the Ordnance Department might profit through the " I'econditioning

"

of their stock of diphenylamine.
The important point to l)e emphasized in this memorandum is that General

Williams immediately stated that it was his desire to do anything in his
po\\er which would assist the du Pout Co., that he was very appreciative of
the spirit of cooperation extended by Major Casey, and that, although there
was grave doubt in his mind as to the readiness by which the legal require-
ments of the transaction might be complied with, he would immediately instruct
Maj. C. T. Harris to find a way by which the transaction could be carried out.

So that General Williams, although there was very grave doubt in
his mind as to the legality of the transaction, instructed his sub-
ordinate, Major Harris, to find a way by which the transaction
could be carried out.

It has been your observation, hasn't it. Major, that when a general
instructs a major to find a way to do something, the major is apt not
to be too meticulous as to the law on the subject?
Mr. Casey. He may give those instructions and find out after-

ward that it cannot be done. But let me tell you about this
matter
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Senator Clark. Just let me finish this memorandum

:

I wished to obtain the maximum proportion of their diphenylamine jjrac-

licuble and mentioned 50,000 pounds. Major Han is tlKaiuht it well to reduce
this to 40,000 iwunds, in order to avoid criticism ot' undue depletion of their
stock. I mentioned 3 months as the time for return, but Major Harris thought
it well to increase this to 120 days. Major Harris inunediately endeavored
to get in touch with the division of the Ordnance Department handling legal

details of contracts, but these ofBcers had all gone for the day. Some discus-
sion was then held regarding details of arrangements. It was not considered
practicable for the Ordnance Department to offer any of the diphenylamine
tor sale, inasmuch as it is really all needed. I pointed out that there is a
certain precedent set in that the Ordnance Department has offered the various
contractors materials on hand for reconditioning, and particularly, that it has
come to our knowledge that Frankford Arsenal has by this means obtained new
supplies of cups for cartridge cases-, primers, etc. General AVilliams thought
that he was justified in recommending the transjiction because the diphenyla-
mine which they would obtain would comply with specifications somewhat
more stringent than those under which the diphenylamine now on hand was
accepted. This point is emphasized for the dyestuffs department, with the
suggestion that we should not accept the reserve supply of the Ordnance
Department's diphenylamine unless we have reasonaule expectations of being
able to tleliver diphenylamine complying sti'ictly and thoroughly v.'ith the
specifications as set forth in their advertising literature. When we are pre-
pared to make return of diphenylanune the inspectors at Picatinny Arsenal
will pay particular attention to this. Major Harris, after consulting the legal
experts of the Ordnance Department, will ha\e prepared a contract for recon-
ditioning probably 40,000 pounds of diphenylamine. We v>ill pay all trans-
jiortation costs and handling charges and mav receive as compensation for
this work $1.00.

Major, that was a subterfuge about reconditioning the diphenyl-
amine, was it not?
Mr. Casey. It might have been a legal subterfuge.
Senator Clakk. In otlier words, General Williams had already

expressed his desire to do it, although he had very grave doubts, legal

doubts, about it, and instructed his subordinate to find a way in which
to do it, and then Avhen it came to finding a way in which to do it,

some suggestion Avas made about sale and they said they could not
do that because the diphenylamine in the reserve stock was really

all needed by the Government, and then this other matter about
reconditioning Avas suggested as getting around the law. Isn't that
the situation.?

Mr. Casey. That is what the memorandum says.

Senator Clark. That is exactly what the situation was.
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Clark. Now, you want to make an explanation, Major

Casey ?

Mr. Casey. What really happened was this: W. F. Harrington,
who at that time was general manager of the dyestuffs department,
came to me one day and said that they had had a fire and they needed
some diphenylamine, which is, of course, extensively used, and in

fact used more in the dye than any other place.

Senator Clark. It is also used in the manufacture of smokeless
powder.
Mr. Casey. About one-half of 1 percent.

Senator Clark. As a stabilizer.

Mr. Casey. As a stabilizer. And he wanted to know if it was
possible to take care of the situation if we could borrow that from
the Government. I said, " No ; such a thing is impossible." He said,
" Could you effect a trade with them ? " I said, " No. The only ar-
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rangeinent you can ever make with the Government is this : In any
transaction you take up, whether it is the modification of an exist-

ing contract or otherwise, the Government will not agree unless by
doing so they gain. They must have something to show as a gain."

Harrington said, " They are going to gain by this, because the

diphenylamine made according to the specifications at the time it

was made which the Government has now is of a much lower grade
than the stuff we are now making.-' That is why this question of

the blue book containing the specifications for the better grade of

diphenylamine has been referred to several times.

Therefore, General Williams—I can see his viewpoint—felt this

way : That while this is a reserve stock, that reserve stock, even under
Avar-time conditions, would have taken an awfully long time to use

up, 60,000 pounds. You can simply take one-half of 1 percent. But
in addition to that

Senator Clark. Major Harris said it was really needed by the
Government.
Mr. Casey. What is that ?

Senator Barbour. This memorandum states that Major Harris said

it was really needed by the Government.
Mr. Casey. Because it was part of their program of reserve. In

other words, they could not dispose of it and not replace it.

Senator Clark. This memorandum does not indicate that this

diphenylamine that the Government had w^as of a much lower grade
than the other. He said it complied with the ordnance specifications.

He said, " These specifications ai-e not quite as stringent as those
set forth in the small blue adiVertising folder of "the dyestuffs
department."
In other words, it would not make much difference or it would not

be much different.

Is it not a fact, reading from this memorandum, that as far -as

General Williams was concerned, the question of reconditioning was
not raised with him? He just said, " I want to do it, and I have
some grave doubts about it ", and turned around to his subordinate
and said, " Find a way to do it." When the subordinate talked to
Mr. Henning they first brought up the question of sale, and Harris
said, " We would not sell it because it is actually needed by the Gov-
ernment ", and then as an afterthought, apparently, Mr. Henning
suggested this subterfuge of reconditioning as a way of getting
around the law.

It appears that there was a desire on your part to increase the
amount of diphenylamine.
Mr. Casey. We wanted to get as much as they were willing to let

us have.
Senator Clark. I call your attention to a memorandum from Mr.

Henning, dated November 20, 1924, which was 3 days later than the
one I just read, which I will offer to be marked with the appropriate
exhibit number.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 999 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 2825.)
Senator Clark. This memorandum says

:

Referring to memorandum no. 105, dated November 18, and following up ttie
unfinished featuies of this, trip was made to Washington to negotiate details
by which we would obtain the diphenylamine, also to increase the amount, if
possible. Maj. C. T. Harris had given Maj. P. J. O'Shaughnessy instructions
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to have a contract prepared acceptable to us, but at the same time complying

with Ordnance Deiartment procedure and the laws of Congress rela mg o

Tontracts for ordnance material. Major O'Shaughnessy's first move was to

CO suit the ammunition division as to their wishes, and especially the matter

of detail ol specifications. C. G. Storm handled this matter tor the ammunition

division and inasmuch as this subject had been previously discussed with Dr.

Stoim on Monday, November 17, he was not inclined to make any trouble.

Mr. Casey. Would you mind reading the next paragraph,

Senator?
, ^ r-r. t n

Senator Clark. I would be glad to. [Reading :J

As a follow-up of this discussion, it will be desirable to send to the ammunition

division aS for the attention of Dr. Storm, report ««. investigations carried

out by the experimental station a number of years ago, indicating the effect of

fmnurities in diphenylamine when used for stabilizing cannon powder Also

Twrn be in order to consider further revisions of the specifications for di-

phe^y amine, taking advantage of the fact that we are now enabled to jnanu-

facture a pure product because of our experience in the manufacture of

Snhenylam?ne as an intermediate in preparing dyestuffs. The particular point

fs that th? Ordnance Department specifications contain no requirement as to

he percentage of dfphenylamine in the product supplied, depending upon van-

nnt nhvsical tests such as melting point and the tests for certain impurities.

Su'^rSmmercill siic^^^^^ that the diphenylamine offered will con-

tain atTe^S 99.5 percent diphenylamine. Major O'Shaughnessy would like to

have made use of the new specifications for reworked diphenylamine as a 3us-

?mcat?on for the Contract for "reworking", but we convinced him that the

time necessary to prepare and have approved new specifications was such that

it was impracticable to do this.

All of this correspondence would indicate a very extraordinary

desire on the part of all officers concerned to please the du Pont Co.

and find some legal subterfuge or excuse for makmg this transac-

*'

mV^Casey. Senator, do you not think they were justified in trying

to do that, because of the fact that they have always found the du

PontCo. ready and willing to do anything of that sort ^

Senator aARK. If you ask my opinion, which is not so important,

I do not think the War Department was justified m depleting it^

stock of essential ingredients for its powder to the extent of letting

so of 60,000 pounds of what they had. Have you ever known of

Iny case in your lonff experience, Major, m which tlie head ot a

department, or a branch of the War Department or Navy Depart-

ment just simply issued orders to a subordinate to do something

of this sort?
, ,

,, ,

Mr. Casey. I cannot think of another one at t^e inoment

Mr Irenee du Pont. Senator, bear in mmd that 67,000 pounds

represents 2 years' supply of diphenylamine for the Army It is

not a working supply, but a reserve supply, and it is important that

'^'JnatOT CLAR^^That was an afterthought and a subterfuge for

*
Mr^IplNEE DU Pont. Sixty-seven thousand pounds of diphenyla-

mine will make 12,000,000 pounds of powder, and I think the

Government plants make only 4,000,000 a year.
, , . ,

The Chairman. But assume that an emergency had arisen i

Mr Irenee du Pont. They could not make 12,000,000 pounds of

Dowder before we had the diphenylamine back to them.

Mr. Casey. We would have had the diphenylamine back long

before they could use it.
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Senator Clark, Let us read the context [reading] :

The contract prepared for reworking 60,000 pounds of diphenylumine and as

eventually obtained, follows tlio laws of our " standard contract " as used in

the supply of smokeless powder to the Ordnance Department. The provisions

of the contract are made as simple as possible and require no bond for the

performance.

So that the Government was loaning the du Pont Co. the most of

its reserve supply without any bond for performance. [Continues

reading :]

Further, article VI relating to liquidated damages has been deleted and the

date of delivery was made very liberal, that of March 31, 1925. We have
arranged to have deliveries at Raritan Arsenal, and this point has to us the
advantage of involving lower transportation costs than delivery to Picatinny
Arsenal.

So that in addition to finding a way to do it, the officials of the

War Department seemed disposed to be just as lenient as they pos-

sibly could on the matter, not requiring a bond for performance, or

any provision for liquidated damages, such as is usually contained
in such contracts.

Mr. Casey. No; not always.
Senator Clark. Your own man said, Major, that he took the stand-

ard contract which is used with the Government, and deleted these
provisions from it.

Mr. Casey. The standard contract provides both a bond and liqui-

dated damages, but there is any number of cases where the Govern-
ment says, "We do not want the liquidated damages in here because
in a great many cases the liquidated-damages clause may require a
higher price to safeguard it."

Senator Clark. Your representative, Mr. Henning, apparently
thought it was of sufficient importance, because he set it out. He
says

:

The contract prepared for reworking 60,000 pounds of dipheuylamiue and as
eventually obtained, follows the laws of our " standard contract " as used in
the supply of smokeless powder to the Ordance Department. The provisions
of the contract are made as simple as possible and require no bond for the
performance. Further, article VI relating to liquidated damages has been
deleted and the date of delivery was made very liberal, that of March 31, 1925.
We have arranged to have deliveries at Raritan Arsenal, and this point has
to us the advantage of involving lower transportation costs than delivery to
Picatinny Arsenal.

He evidently thought it was of sufficient importance to put a

feather in his cap about the good contract he had been able to

negotiate.

Mr. Casey. Wait a minute. Let us take into account personalities.

Henning was a technical man. Whenever a technical man makes a
report, he feels he is duty boimd to save himself to report every
blessed thing.

On the question of Raritan, there is a proposition there : The Gov-
ernment would prefer to have a part of their diphenylamine stock
at Raritan, but that would have meant using some of their funds for
transportation.

Another thing you meet by the contract is instead of their paying
for the transportation of their own diphenylamine from Picatinny
to Raritan they also got us to move the diphenylamine w^here they
preferred to have it.

83876—3.5—PT 12 3
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Senator Clark. Now I call your attention to a night letter signed

by Major Casey, directed to Maj. N. F, Ramsey at Picatinny Ar-
senal. He was the commanding officer in charge ?

Mr. Casey. He was the commanding officer in charge.

Senator Clark (reading) :

Our tnick will call at arsenal Thursday for load of diphenylamine. Will

you please deliver approximately 10,000 pounds, in accordance with our agree-

ment with Ordnance Department? Letter giving shipping instructions for

balance of approximately 50,000 pounds follows.
(Signed) K. K. V. Casey.

So that you actually did take delivery of the diphenylamine?
Mr. Casey. Yes; and the Government took delivery of diphenyl-

amine with 99.5 of diphenylamine in it.

Senator Clark. That letter may be appropriately numbered.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1000 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2826.)

Senator Clark. I call your attention to a very strange communi-
cation, it seems to me. Major, about which I would like to find out

the meaning [reading] :

confidentxajl memo fob major casey

November 20, 1924.

Diphenylamine. Negotiations with Ordnance Department,

signed by Mr. Henning.
I will offer that for appropriate number.
(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1001

"

and appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark [reading] :

Referring to memorandum H-105 and 106 on the above subject, and to our
conversation this afternoon, we have anticipated that further developments on
this subject, especially those which may be brought about by the competitors

of the du Pont Co. endeavoring to sell diphenylamine of foreign manufacture
in this market, also the possible interest which American dyestuffs manufac-
turers might have in the transaction, should lead us to take steps to protect

ourselves, as well as the Ordnance Department, from criticism. I thought it

well, therefore, in discussing the subject freely with Maj. P. J. O'Shaughnessy,
to state briefly the relation between American supply and our import laws, stat-

ing specifically that if Mr. H. A. Metz were able to establish that there was
no American manufacture of diphenylamine that he should be able to sell for-

eign-made diphenylamine in this coimtry without the purchaser paying the 40
percent ad valorem import duty. This statement came appropriately after a
considerable general discussion of the importance to the Ordnance Department
and to American defense of affording protection to American manufacture of
dyestuffs. The Ordnance Department is apparently thoroughly appreciative of
the importance of chemical industry in general to their plans for national
defense. It was further stated that we recognize, and that they probably also
recognize, that certain un-American interests are quite active in this countiy in
breaking down the success and efficiency of the American dyestuffs industry,
and that it might be anticipated that if any activities developed in tliis country
in criticism of our action or of the Ordnance Department that they might be
expected to originate with some such person as Mr. Herman A. Metz.

Mr. Metz was formerly comptroller of the city of New York and
a former Member of Congress ?

Mr. Casey. I believe so, but I am not sure. I believe plenty of
our people know who he is in connection with the dye industry.

Senator Clark. I do not know his connection with the dye indus-
try, but I know Metz and knew him in Congress.
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What do you understand is meant by that memorandum? Do you

get the impression, which is apparently conveyed by this^ memo-
randum, that you were manufacturing diphenylamine, and that any

importer who competes with you would have to pay a tarilt, and that

was the only purpose of the manufacture of diphenylamine '{

Mr. Casey. Oh, no. Before the war I do not believe there was any

diphenylamine made in this country. When we got into big pro-

duction we had to devise a way to make diphenylamine. It was one

of our big problems. Here is the close of the war. One of the

important things from the standpoint of the United States Govern-

ment was a source of supply in connection with the things needed in

connection with the manufacture of all the important components,

Diphenylamine was one of them.
Now, if foreigners were able to come in here and put us out of the

business, it would have affected the national defense.

Senator Clark. What did you understand by Mr. Henning going
down and talking to this major in the War Department and explain-

ing to him that if there was any criticism of this loan of the Govern-
ment's reserve stock of diphenylamine, it would come from a man.
named Metz because of his tariff views?
Mr. Casey. Do you not think. Senator, that we are interested in

the integrity of this country as well as anybody else, and we are
duty bound to inform the proper officer of what we thought might go
on, if there was an opportunity given to help un-American interests,

as we thought?
Senator Clark. Apparently the thing about which you were in-

forming the War Department was that unless they loaned you their
reserve stock of diphenylamine, somebody else might use it as an
argument for taking off the tariff on diphenylamine.
Mr. Casey. Do j^ou not think there is a sequence of dates there?
Senator Clark. What is the sequence of dates?
Mr. Casey. Was not this after the agreement was made?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. About the same time.
Mr. Casey. Or about the same time ?

Senator Cij^rk. It was the day before the memorandum.
Mr. Casey. Before the first memorandum, was it?

Senator Clark. It was the same day, both dated November 20,
1924.

Mr. Casey. Which one?
Senator Clark. The one which I just read, in which he boasted of

the contract secured, dated November 20, 1924, and, in addition to
that, he wrote you this confidential memorandum in which he told
you he had explained to Major O'Shaughnessy that if there was any
criticism of this deal, it would come from un-American sources who
were interested in breaking down the tariff.

Mr. Casey. Senator, would you not have done the same?
Senator Clark. How is that?
Mr. Casey. Would you not have done the same, if you felt there

was an un-American influence attacking our integrity?*
Senator Clark. You think that anybody who desires to import

into this country in competition with your products is un-American.
Mr. Casey. Oh, no ; I would not say "that. I say that any importa-

tion of material which will put out of business an American manu-
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factuier of an essential component, involving the national defense,

that that is an un-American activity.

Senator Clark. Yes; but, Major, what this memorandum indi-

cates is that this man was down there negotiating a contract, the

provisions of which were of doubtful legality, and in which it had
been necessary to beat the devil around the stump by getting at the
reconditioning theory as an excuse, and an agent down there turns
around to the man who negotiated this very lenient contract and
says, himself, that if anybody criticizes the loaning of the United
States' reserve stock of diphenylamine, it will be from un-American
interests.

Mr. Casey. Do you not think the purpose is clear ?

Senator Clark. I do, and I want to know if you agree with me?
Mr. Casey. Major O'Shaughnessy was not the negotiator but the

legal representative.

Senator Clark. He was preparing the contract?
Mr. Casey. Yes; he was preparing the details of the contract.

Senator Clark. Now, as a matter of fact. Major, you stated when
you took the diphenylamine it was of poor qualit}^ and it was in

poor condition and of varying qualities?

Mr. Casey. That is what I understand. The Government was
really a distinct gainer by that transaction.

Senator Clark. And it afforded them an additional excuse after

the fact for the transaction?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, I do not think you are quite fair

in referring to that as an excuse. It was a reason.

Senator Clark. Mr. du Pont, the correspondence very clearly

shows it was an excuse. Long before the question of reconditioning

was ever mentioned by anyone, and before any such excuse was ever
conceived of. General Williams said he was very doubtful of the
legality of it, but said to his subordinate to go find a way to do it,

and he then found a way to do something which was of doubtful
legality, and, after two or three attempts, they hit on the recondi-

tioning as an excuse.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. They found it a reason for it.

Senator Clark. After they had been ordered to make a contract,

they found a reason for it. They found an additional reason for it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Correct. The reason was a better reason
than they first thought.

Senator Clark. Apparently General Williams did not know any
way when he ordered Harris to try to find a way to make the
contract.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think that that is a fair statement.
Senator. You do not know what was in General Williams' mind.

Senator Clark. All I have is Henning's statement,

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That may not be all he had in his mind.
Senatoi- Clark. He stated it was of very doubtful legality, and

told Harris to find a way to do it.

Then comes along a memorandum dated November 21, 1924, from
Mr. Henning, which I will offer for appropriate number.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1002 "

and appears in full in the text.)
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Senator Clark. That reads:

Report No. 107-H-1924, Picatinny Arsenal, November 21, 1924.

The following subjects were discussed with Major Ramsey and Miles

:

" 1. Diphenylamiue. • Refining ' of 60,000 pounds.
" Endeavored to ascertain in detail the origin, quality, condition of pack-

ages, etc. The stuck of diphenlyamine on hand at the arsenal is all stored in

building no. 218. It has not been carefully segregated as to lot numbers or

origin. It stands on the arsenal records as consisting mostly of General Chem-
ical Co.'s ' Lot No. 112.' It was shipped during the war to the Hercules
Powder Co. at Kenvil on requisition no. HHK 879, and afterwards disposed
of as surplus, being transferred to Picatinny Arsenal. Some few of the wooden
barrels in which it is packed have tags indicating that it came from the
General Chemical Co.'s ' Baker & Adamson Works ' at Easton, Pa. Many of

the wooden barrels are in poor condition, having inadequate hoops, and unless

considerable care is taken In recording both gross and net weights received,

there is a good chance for argument over the weight received. Many barrels

are marked ' 250 ll>s.' although there is obvious variation in size and weight.
" The diphenylamine if? of a buff or brown color, possil)ly due to oxidation

from storage in poor containers. Barium nitrate is now stored on top of some
of the barrels, hence it would not be surprising if there were contamination
from this source. The laboratory analyses are not conclusive as to the quality
of the product, although mostly indicating that the diphenylamine does not
strictly comply with the requirements of the Ordnance Department specifica-

tions. Thesie deficiencies are color; insoluble content, and color of sulphuric
acid solution. I have requested Picatinny Arsenal to write a letter transmitting
to us copies of their laboratory tests ; also I advised Major Ramsey that it was
desired to place on record the fact that their stock of diiilieuylamine did not
comi)ly with specifications, was poorly packed, and in need of refining, and that
this record might be needed to avoid criticism in the future. Major F. H.
Miles accompanied the writer to the building in which the diphenylamiue was
stored, and assisted in the inspection, also search for laboratory records. At
the first opportunity the information gained was passed on to Wilmington by
telephone, on account of its possible effect on plans for handling the details of
transportation, refining, etc."

Major, that would indicate that the Government—the War Depart-
ment—had been very careless in its handling of its reserve stock of
diphenylamine, would it not ?

Mr. Casey. I would not say so. It came from the Hercules Pow'der
Co. and had been transshipped as surplus, and the Lord only knows
whether or not the barrels may have been broken, or something of
the sort.

Senator Clark. I understand that, Major, but the fact that it was
reserve, if the reserve was to be of any effect, it ought to be just as
good as that in actual use, ought it not, and your own technical man,
Mr. Henning, states that they were storing barium nitrate on top
of some of the barrels, and that it was likely contamination would
resitlt from that source, and his whole description of the thing would
indicate to anj^ lay mind such as mine that the Government liad been
very careless in its taking care of the reserve stock.

Mr. Casey. Senator, I would not want to criticize, not knowing the
situation.

Senator Clark. I can understand, since you do business with the
War Department you might not be as free in your expression of
opinion as you might otherwise.
Mr. Casey. Leave that out. I think that is not an indication of

criticism.

Senator Clark. That was a confidential memorandum to you ?
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Mr. Casey. That is not confidential. But there may have been

instances at such time that in moving stuff all around the country
they could not exercise the care they would in ordinary times, in

ordinary transportation in time of peace.

Senator Clark. It would seem to me from Henning's memorandum
that the Government at some previous time had accepted diphenyla-

mine as either short in weight or it did not meet the specifications.

Mr. Casey. That I do not know.
Senator Clark. That would seem to be the inference from the

memorandum.
Mr. Casey. It might be possible as a result of our experience with

inspectors.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, I agree with Major Casey that

this is not a proof of carelessness, and I would also like to point

out that this was an additional reason after the fact.

Senator Clark. I am not disputing that. It may be that the deal

turned out to the advantage of the Government. I have not dis-

puted that at any time. The Government got its diphenylamine
back, I understand, before any emergency developed which might
have required it, but the essential feature in the whole transaction

is, it was stated by General Williams, without any qualifications

whatever, to be of doubtful legality, yet he ordered it carried out.

Just to close up this transaction, I offer for the record a letter

from the War Department, signed by Major O'Shaughnessy, ad-

dressed to the du Pont Co., dated December 22, 1924.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1003 " and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. That reads

:

I am transmitting herewith, for your files, your number of the contract,
fully executed, entered into with you under date November 19, 1924, covering
reworking of 60,000 pounds of diphenylamine located at the Picatinny Arsenal.
For the Chief of Ordnance:

Respectfully,
P. J. O'Shaughnessy.

Now, I call your attention. Major, to a memorandum dated
December 4, 1924, which I will offer for appropriate number.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1004 "

and appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. First, let me call your attention to the letter

which I just read—" Exhibit No. 1003." It is very short, and I will

read it again

:

I am transmitting herewith, for your files, your number of the contract,
fully executed, entered into with you under date November 19, 1924, covering
reworking of G0,000 pounds of diphenylamine located at the Picatinny Arsenal.

Now, from reading the files of the War Department, it would not
ho possible to determine what the nature of this contract was,
would it?

Mr. Casey. That I do not know.
Senator Clark. That letter does not indicate what the contract

was.
Mr, Casey, The letter might not indicate it.

Senator Clark, The letter says it was a contract for recondition-
ing. As a matter of fact, it was a loan of the powder to you, to be
returned by a different grade of ingredient. That is what the con-

?
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tract really was, the Government really loaning you 60,000 pounds,

and you returning 60,000 pounds of a grade that would conform
to a more stringent specification?

Mr. Casey. Right.
Senator Clark. Now I read you another memorandum, signed

by the dyestuffs department, by Mr. G. T. Barnhill, Jr., dated
December 4, 1924, memorandum for the explosives department, atten-

tion W. S. Lynch, headed " Diphenylamine " [reading " Exhibit No.
1004 "] :

The du Pont Co., under a contract negotiated through the military sales

division, has arranged to borrow 00,000' pounds of diphenylamine from the

United States Government at Picatlnny Ai-senal ; 50,000 pounds of the di-

phenylamine is now en route to Repauno to he reworked and the other 10,000

pounds has been delivered to the dye works and will not be reworked. As I

undersitand the contract, the entire quantity of 60,000 pounds is to be returned
to Picatinny Arsenal at a date specified in the contract.

There have been no internal arrangements made for accounting in connection
with this transaction, and since the replacement will be made from Repauno,
it would seem proper for dye works to send an order to the explosives depart-
ment for 10,000 pounds of diphenylamine to be billed at the present transfer
price of 45 cents per pound.

If this procedure is satisfactory, please advis»e.

Now, do you know whether that method was carried out, Major?
Mr. Casey. That I do not know. You see, that was not a trans-

action in which we were in any way involved. We simply got a copy
of the letter.

Senator Clakk. Do you know, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No.
Senator Clark. The point I make is, if that procedure were fol-

lowed, suggested by Mr. Barnhill, then your own account books
would not show the real nature of this transaction.
Mr. Casey. That may be the case. I do not Imow, Senator.
Senator Clark. Do you have any other instances of that sort,

Major, where transactions were entered into which would not show
in your accounts?
Mr. Casey. I do not think so. I cannot think of any. It might

be, but I do not know.
I can say this: That there would not be anything of that sort

unless it were to the advantage of the Government.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, it might be pertinent to mention

that this matter of reworking military supplies is not unusual at all.

Most of my powder experience has been in black powder, and it was
a very usual thing for the Government to send the du Pont Co.
black powder to be reworked.

Senator Clark. I understand that.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. May I continue a moment ?

Senator Clark. Excuse me.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. The practice in reworking that was that

practically never does the same poAvder go back which you receive.
Literally it was impossible to do so. And it is a perfectly well-
recognized fact that when the powder is reworked, the actual pound-
age which we returned was not that which we received.

Senator Clark. I can perfectly well understand that, Iklr. du
Pont. The actual point of this transaction which impressed itself on
my mmd was not as to whether it worked to the benefit of the Gov-
ernment. I can very readily understand that in the ordinary course
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the Government might have s(jme powder, or any other ingredient

of war, which might have deteriorated and needed to be worked
over, and might take bids from suppliers of that particular munition,

or that a man who was engaged in that business or a representative

of a company engaged in that busiriess might go to the War Depart-
ment and say, '' You have got some diplienylamine over there which
has been here a long time, and we have improved the process, im-
proved the quality, and why do you not let us work that over? "

That is one thing. But for a company which is engaged in private
business for their own purposes, not for purposes of the Government
but for their own purposes, to go to the Chief of Ordnance and say,
" We need most of your reserve supply of diplienylamine ", and for

him to say, " I have very grave doubt about the legality for it, but
I will tell my subordinate, Major Harris, to go find a way to do
it ", that, to my mind, is the outstanding and essential feature of
this transaction in the matter of ordinary routine of the Government
wanting some powder reconditioned.

Mr. Casey. Senator, I am willing to bet dollars to doughnuts that

if you had been Chief of Ordnance at the same time, you would have
done the same thing.

Senator Clark. I am willing to bet dollars to doughnuts I would
not have done anything of the kind.

RELATIONS OF DU PONT CO. WITH THE STATE DEPARTMENT

Senator Clark. I call attention to a memorandum dated May 3,

1932, memorandum to Maj. K. K. V. Casey, signed by Colonel Simons,
which I oifer for appropriate number.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No, 1005 "

and appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark (reading) :

On my visit to Washington on Friday. April 2t), I called on Capt. William
Baggaley, Office of Naval Intelligence, and handed him a copy of the correspond-
ence between the Mitsubishi Co. of Japan, and I.CI. wherein it developed that
the Japanese were trying to buy a du Pout mechanical dipper from the above
British firm, and had been informed that it was not available.

Senator Clark. What is the mechanical dipper?
Mr. Casey. That is a dipper used in the process of manufacturing

nitrocellulose ; is it not, Mr. Bradway ?

Mr. Bradway. Yes.

Senator Clark (reading) :

This enabled me to develop the point of view of Naval Intelligence on the
sale of munitions or luunition-producing machinery to the Japanese. The atti-

tude of the Navy Department has not changed and they still believe it not
only permissible, but desirable, for American firms to sell such material and
equipment to the Japanese, basing their judgment on the fact that the .Japanese
will undoubtedly purchase what they desire anyhow, and that it is desirable for
America to secure the business and the Navy to be informed of the amount and
nature of the purchases, which information would be lacking if purchases were
made in Europe.

It would not disclose anything as to the nature and amount of the
purchases for the Japanese to have a mechanical dipper, would it?

Mr. Casey. No; but a mechanical dipper represents a certain,

capacity in powder.
Senator Clark (reading) :

Later on I called at the Office of Assistant Chief of StafC G-2—
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That is Military Intelligence?

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark (continuing reading) :

•and similarly discussed the situation witli Majors Wilson, Marley, and Kroner,

-with substantially the same results, that is to say, that the Army sees no objec-

tion whatsoever to our dealing with Japan.
My conversations with all of these oflBcers were confidential. They under-

stand, of course, that I report my actions to my superiors, but at the same time

they should not be embarrassed by the information herein contained reaching

the'state Department, especially since I had requested them not to report these

conversations to the State Department.

Mr. Casey. You left out one sentence.

Senator Clark. I left out one sentence. I will be glad to read it.

Mr. Casey. I wish you would.
Senator Clark (reading) :

It was here stated that the announced policy of the State Department was
not to hamper in any way trade with Japan, since any embargo would be

regarded as an unfriendly act and tend to render more difficult the already

delicate situation in the Orient.

Then he goes on to the paragraph which I just read, which I will

read again:

My conversations with all of these officers were confidential. They under-

stand, of course, that I report my actions to my superiors, but at the same
time they should not be embarrassed by the information herein contained
reaching the State Department, especially since I had requested them not

to report these conversations to the State Department.

Major, how does that square with the testimony we had here last

week, that you never did anything about the sale of munitions with-

out the permission of the State Department?
Mr. Casey. I do not think I said that.

Senator Clark. We had that repeatedly stated in connection

with
Mr. Casey. I said where there was an embargo.
Senator Clark. Where there was an embargo?
Mr. Casey. Now, here is the point
Senator Clark. In other words, here you, through your represent-

ative, are actively seeking to prevent the State Department, which
has control of our foreign relations, from learning of the conversa-

tions that you had with the War and Navy Departments.
Mr. Casey. Within the last 6 months I was told this right in the

State Department by a man I know pretty well. He said :
" Casey,

I wish you fellows would not come to us when you have a propo-
sition to sell to a foreign government and ask us if we can give
you permission. We have no right to either approve or disapprove
of anjr such action unless there is an embargo, when it is then our job.

When you come to us and ask us for permission, we have to go to

work and simply say we cannot give you permission, nor can we dis-

approve of the shipment: but it only embarrasses us to have those
questions asked."

Senator Clark, Why would it embarrass the officers of the Mili-
tary and Naval Intelligence with whom Colonel Simons had had his

conversations for that information to reach the State Department?
Mr. Casey. That I do not know.
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Senator Clark (reading)

:

My conversations with all of these oflScers were confidential. They under-

stand, of course, that I report my actions to my superiors, but at the same
time they should not be embarrassed by the information herein contained
reaching the State Department.

That very clearly shows a definite effort to keep that information

away from the State Department, which has control of our foreign

affairs, and that is conclusively proven by the last part of the sen-

tence, " especially since I had requested them "—that is, the du
Pont representative had requested the Military and Naval Intelli-

gence " not to report these conversations to the State Department."
Yet they dealt with matters that might be of the most vital impor-
tance to our foreign relations.

Mr. Casey. Has not the position of the State Department been
stated in the previous paragraph?
Senator Clark. It was stated what the impression was that tha

Military Intelligence had. But why, then, was it necessary for

Colonel Simons to warn you against that information reaching the

State Department, and stating that it would be an embarrassment to

the Military and Naval Intelligence, and then stating that he had
advised them not to report any of that information to the State

Department ?

Mr. Caset. Senator, I cannot speak for either the Military or
Naval Intelligence as to their reason.

Senator Clark. I am getting at Colonel Simon's recommendation
to you. He was your representative.

The Chairman. Major Casey, the date involved here is quite

closely related to the Manchukuo controversy. Is there any rela-

tionship at all there ?

Mr. Casey. That I could not tell you. You see, this inquiry did
not come to us. It came to LCI.

Senator Clark. Yes; but the question of the discussion of policy

was between your representative and Military and Naval Intelligence.

Mr. Casey. That is perfectly correct.

Senator Clark. I am not talking about where the inquiry came
from. The point I am making is this, that a representative of the
du Pont Co. went down and conferred with Military and Naval In-
telligence on a question of policy which might conceivably have
involved the United States in war.
Mr. Casey. I do not see that.

Senator Clark. And specifically requested them not to convey that
information to the State Department.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, I think it is clear from this

letter that the proposition had not reached a stage where it was
important that it should be communicated to the State Department.

Senator Clark. I am not asking as to why it was important it

should be communicated to the State Department, I am asking why
it is important it should not be, whicli this memorandum clearly
indicates was the desire.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. There were good reasons at that time why
it should not be conununicated.

Senator Clark. Do you know what they were ?

Mr. Casey. No ; they were Military and Naval Intelligence reasons.
Senator Clark. Do you know what the reasons were, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Senator, may I point out that the inquiry had
been addressed to the I.C'.L, and Mitsubishi had been informed that

the dipper was not available there, so the negotiations did come back
to this country and to this company.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I understand the shipment was not made.
Senator Clark. Just on this question of relations with the State

Department I desire to drop back to another matter briefly. I call

your attention to a letter dated March 15, 1926. This is the one of

which you said you did not have a copy.
Mr. Raushenbush. No ; we do not have that, I am afraid.

Senator Clark. Well, I will come back to that in a minute. I

will pass that for a moment.
Mr. du Pont, is the du Pont Co. receiving benefits of any P.W.A.

money at the present time ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not that I know of ; I think not.

Senator Clark. In contracts from the Navy?
Mr. Casey. I think we are, Lammot. I think there was a Navy

contract last year for some powder.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Have we got the benefits of P.W.A. money ?

Mr. Casey. They said it was P.W.A. money, because there were
certain provisions in the contract which applied to the P.W.A. situa-

tion.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Casey is better informed that I am. I
did not know it.

Senator Clark. I call your attention to a memorandum dated Jan-
uary 12, 1924, from Major Casey, headed "Washington, D. C,
January 11, 1934."

" Saw General Tschappat "—he is the Assistant Chief of Ord-
nance, is he not?
Mr. Casey. Chief of Ordnance right now.
Senator Clark. He was Assistant Chief at this time ?

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1006 '' and is

included in the appendix on p. 2826.)
Mr. Casey. Yes ; General Hof was then Chief of Ordnance.
Senator Clark (reading) :

Saw General Techappat, who advised me that while they had had nothing
definite regarding the Public Works money for the fiscal year 1935, that they
were relying on the promise the President had made to The Assistant Secretary
of War, Woodring, where he agi-eed to allot the Ordnance Department
$6,000,000 per year for 2 years in order to enable them to continue with their
ammunition projects.

Mr. Casey. They got that. I believe it was urged by Secretary
Perkins in order that they could keep their personnel at Picatinny
Arsenal employed ; otherwise they might have had to shut down.

Senator Clark. How much of it did you get, Major; do you
know?
Mr. Casey. We may have gotten a couple of hundred thousand

dollars out of it, something of that sort. I do not know.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, I am confused on this matter. If

we got any benefit of P.W.A. money, it must have been from the sale
of goods which were paid for.

Senator Clark. Yes ; I assume that is true.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We cannot tell where customers get their
money.
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Senator Clark. Apparently you knew. You may not have known
personally, but it was within the knowledge of officials of your
company.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We may have been told.

Mr. Casey. I think in the case of the Army, I do not have any
recollection at the moment that there were any provisions in the con-

tracts we made with them directly referring to provisions of the

P.W.A. We did have that with the Navy, however.
Senator Clark. That was my understanding, Major. I have never

been informed that you had any contracts with the Army involving

P.W.A. funds, but you did have contracts with the Navy.
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Clark. Which involved the use of allotments of P.W.A.

funds.
Mr, Casey. And therefore there were certain additional provisions

put in the contracts to cover that situation.

By the way, Senator, you may remember my referring to an inci-

dent a little while ago. The next paragraph brings that out, on
the first page.

Senator Clark. What is that?
Mr. Casey. This is the letter of January 12 from which you just

read ; the last paragraph on the first page.
Senator Clark. Yes. I am just coming to that now, Major. I

will ask you about it:

Had quite a discussion with Majoi- Borden

Who is Major Borden?
Mr, Casey, In charge of the small arms and anti-aircraft section

of the Ammimition Division of the Ordnance Department,
Senator Clark (reading) :

Had quite a discussion witli Major Borden on the general topic of the sales
of ])owder to foreign countries. Major Borden stated that they knew the
position du Pont would take in such matters in case they should request
that material not be supplied to a certain power but he asked if we would
be willing to go a step further and refuse to supply material to a manufacturer
of ammunition who in turn might be offering it to a foreign power where they
were anxious to prevent this foreign power from getting ammunition. I soon
gathered from Major Borden that he had in mind particularly .50 caliber
powder and while he did not mention Cuba it was clear that he was referring
to the shipment by the Remington Arms Co. of 100,000 rounds of .50 caliber

ammunition. Major Borden advised me that the money for the purchase of
150,000

It says " pounds " ;
" rounds " in one place, and *' poimds " in

another.
Mr. Casey. One is powder and the other is rounds of ammunition.
Senator Clark (reading) :

150,000 pounds of .30 caliber powder had come about in this manner. After
setting aside all the money secured from the Public Works last year they
discovered they would have a slight sun^lus and, therefore, it was decided that
rather than turn this money back to the Treasury they would utilize the
surplus to buy what material they could for the next fiscal year's consumption,

I discussed generalities with Colonel Wesson and Major Zornig.

Mr, Casey, That is the incident I referred to a little while ago.

Senator Clark, Yes.
Mr. Rausiienbush. Major, in testifying about orders from the

Army, were they or were they not accompanied with the special

P.W.A, provisions that accompanied the Navy orders?
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Mr. Casey. I do not think they were.

Xow, I am not going to take an oath to that effect, because I want

to be sure when I make a positive " Yes " statement. But I really

do not think they were. But we do know in the case of the Navy we
had definite P.W.A. requirements to meet.

Mr. Kaushenbush. Let us get it straight:

Are you under the impression that some of these other orders

recently were from P.W.A. funds, as the letter seems to indicate ?

Mr. Casey. I do not think they were, because we did not have

those provisions.

Mr. Eaushenbush. And you are not quite sure about the pro-

visions ?

Mr. Casey. I am not sure at all.

Mr. Raushenbush. Would Mr. Bradway or somebody else be able

to testify there on that point?
Mr. Casey. We can find out; if the matter is of sufficient impor-

tance, we can find out. We would have to get in touch with Wil-
mington.
Mr. Raushenbush. You testified further a moment ago about how

it happened that some of those P.W.A. funds were allocated to the

War Department, and stated that Miss Perkins, the Secretary of

Labor, I take it, had asked that that be done.

Mr. Casey. Of course, I have no first-hand information.
Mr. Raushenbush. You testified to it, it seemed, very positively,

and then wanted to check where your information came from on that
point.

Mr. Casey. That is simply what I was told.

Mr. Raushenbush. Who told you on that 'i

Mr. Casey. Somebody in the Ordnance Department. I could not
tell you that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Somebody in the Ordnance Department?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. That is ail I had. Senator.
Senator Clark. I call your attention to a memorandum dated May

22, 1931, from Colonel Simons to Mr. T. R. Hanley, legal department.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1007 " and is

included in the appendix on page 2827.)
Senator Clark (reading) :

lu reference to negotiations now being conducted between t!ie du Pont
Ammonia Corporation and a national or a foreign friendly government, I do
not see any necessity at the present time of notifying either the United States
State Department or ]VIilitary or Naval Intelligence in view of the fact that the
negotiations are confidential from a commercial standpoint.

A transaction of that sort might be partly commercial and partly
military ?

Mr. Casey. This was considered, at the time at least that this
letter was written, as a strictly commercial proposition.

Senator Clark. And you did not feel it was necessary under such
circumstances of transport of an essential munition to consult either
the Navy or War Departments ?

Mr. Casey. It was not looked on as an essential munition, nor is it

looked on as that today.
Senator Clark. Ammonia?
Mr. Casey. No. It is pretty far-fetched. You have to go through

a number of processes, but let some chemist talk about that.
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Senator Clark. I am not a chemist. I am not going to undertake
to examine you on chemistry.

I always understood that ammonia in time of war was a very
important ingredient of several munitions.
Mr. Casey. You realize, Senator, that in spite of the fact that we

bent over backward in keeping Military and Naval Intelligence in-

formed on everything, here was a case where we felt that at that

time it was unadvised. Later on we told them all about it, when the
transaction took place. It did take place, did it not? Or was that
hydrogen ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know what it is they are talking

about. It is after my time.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is not clear from this letter.

Mr. Casey. I am not sure which it was.
The last paragraph of that sentence explains why it was not com-

municated to ONI and MID.
Senator Clark. You mean the last paragraph ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark. This says:

"While I am firmly convinced that any information given to Military Intelli-

gence or Naval Intelligence would be regarded and held as confidential, in view
of the delicacy of the negotiations at the present time, I believe that no mention
should be made until the other party of this negotiation has so arranged their

affairs as to render the dissemination of the news as harmless.

Mr. Casey. So you can see it was not a question of keeping it from
them, but only for that particular moment.

Senator Clark. That would be fully as true of the military sale of
munitions as anything else would?
Mr. Casey. If it was military we would have gone to them the very

first minute we had the first nibble.

Mr. Raushenbush. It is military to the extent they refer to your
department, is it not. Major? Yours is the military sales?

Mr. Casey. No ; it was not referred to our department. We learned
of it, and there you are.

Mr. Raushenbush. This is a memorandum from " Military Sales."

Mr. Casey. Oh, yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. To the legal department.
Mr. Casey. That is for their information.
Mr. Raushenbush. The fact that it came to you, the only point

I am making is that even at this date it was recognized as having
some military significance.

Mr. Casey. I do not think so. If anybody was ^oing to contact
the Government, we would be the ones. It is a possibility, however,
that somebody might have asked us what would be the attitude

Senator Clark. Is Colonel Simons in your department?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Clark. That memorandum is signed by Colonel Simons?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Clark. Would that not indicate that it was a matter

having to do with military affairs?

Mr. Casey. I do not know what originally brought this letter up.
It may have been that Tom Hanley requested of Simons, " What do
they think about this in Washington?
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SUBMERGENCE OF GOVERNMENT POWDER UNDER WATER AT OLD HICKORY

Senator C!lakk. Major, do you know how much powder was left

over in the hands of the Government at the end of the war?
Mr. Casey. I have a rough idea.

Senator Clark. It was at least 15,000,000 pounds ?

Mr. Casey. Oh, no ; more than that.

Senator Clark. I say, it was at least 15,000,000?

Mr. Casey. At least; that is enough for the purpose, I guess.

Senator Clark. I call your attention to a letter from Colonel

Simons to Mr. W. H. O'Gorman at 16 Place Vendome, Paris, the

second paragraph from the bottom

:

Major Casey was in Washington yesterday and was told that an inspector

general has been appointed to look into the matter of putting the powder
under water at Old Hickoi-y. This oflScer, Col. Louis J. Van Schaick. of the
Inspector General's Department, was put on the job by General Summerall
and not by the Secretary of War as we had previously understood.

Col. Van Schaick is an Infantry officer who knows little or nothing about
powder, and is looking into the question as to whether the Ordnance Depart-
ment was not culpable in putting the powder under water. He has also asked
several officers if they own du Ponl stock, etc., so that the investigation

appears to take the nature of persecution rather than inquiry.

(The letter referred to wa.^ marked "' Exhibit No. 1008 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2828.)

Senator Clark. What is that Old Hickorv business, Major? That
has come ud here : several of these letter's refer to that.

Mr. Casey. I will tell you liriefly what that indicates: It had
been learned that France had put a terrific qviantity of ]:)owder left

over from the war under water. They put it in the glacial lakes in

the Pyrenees, where the water was very cold. They seemed to be
convinced in France that that was a splendid way to keep this powder
from deterioration, which it probably would undergo through natural
storage conditions. It might then be available for an emergency, a

powder which could be taken out of water, dried, and promptly
used. Remember that " promptly used." So the United States Gov-
ernment, I presume, naturally looked into the matter; we had
reported all we had learned about the French experience, which was
not very much. They felt, " Well, here we have a quantity of pow-
der. We had better try this same thing." They did not have money
to transport the powder to the northern part of the country.

Senator Clark. The War Department, was it ?

Mr. Casey. The War Department. They did not have the money
to transport the powder to the northern part of the country, so there-

fore they decided they would try this proposition, using some of the
old tanks at Old Hickory, which, of course, is a little warmer than
the Pyrenees.

Senator Clark. Where is Old Hickory?
Mr. Casey. Near Nashville.

I think about this time it was discovered that the powder was
not remaining in the condition it was hoped, and we had learned
that apparently the Secretary of War decided he had better investi-

gate this proposition.

Senator Clark. How much powder did you put under water,
Major, do you know?
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Mr. Casey. That I do not know ; at least 15,000^000 pounds.

Senator Clark. All they had ?

Mr. Casey. Oh, no.

Senator Clark. You mean they just took 15.000,000?

Mr. Casey. I think they just took 15,000,000. There may have

been more than that under water, but it was about that quantity.

That is near enough for the purpose. So it was at the time, that

this memorandum was written w^e had learned that instead of it

being the Secretary of War who had Colonel Van Schaick on the

job making an inspection, as I understood it,, he was from the In-

spector General's Department. It was in reality General Summerall,
Chief of Staff.

Senator Clark. Had the War Department done that on your
advice, Major?
Mr. Casey. I do not believe so. We give them all the informa-

tion w^e get.

Senator Clark. Why would they be investigating you in connec-

tion with it, then? I notice in a letter that was put in the record

here a day or two ago—I believe you had written the letter—you
referred to the unpleasant publicity growing out of the Old Hickory
incident.

Mr. Casey. I do not know what that particular incident referred

to, but in this case here, because we had given them certain infor-

mation we had learned, Colonel Van Schaick, I guess, as an inspector

general, felt that he could not say his investigation was complete
unless he came after us.

Senator Clark. Do you consider it persecution for an officer from
the Inspector General's Department conducting an investigation of
that sort to inquire whether officers own du Pont stock?

Mr. Casey. We do not say that.

Senator Clark. Colonel Simons says it.

Mr. Casey. No ; but the point is

Senator Clark. He says

:

Colonel Van Schaick is an Infantry officer, who knows little or nothing about
powder and is looking into the question as to whether the Ordnance Depart-
ment was not culpable in putting the powder under water. He has also asked
several officers if they own du Pont stock, etc., so that the investigation appears
to take the nature of persecution rather than an inquiry.

Those questions seem to me to be entirely proper questions. I was
trying to find out what you understood was in Colonel Simons'
mind.
Mr. Casey. It looked at the time as if it was a question of trying

to find a goat.

Senator Clark. Do you consider it an improper question for an
inspector general to ask whether certain officers own du Pont stock?
Mr. Casey. I do not think it was at all improper. In fact, I think

it was a good thing he did ask the question.
Senator Clark. You do not agree w^ith Colonel Simons, then, that

it was persecution?
Mr. Casey. I do not agree with everything Colonel Simons says.
Senator Clark. I understand. I am trying to find out what part

of Colonel Simons' remarks you do agi'ee with. Since we cannot
liave Colonel Simons here, I want to find out tlie impression tliese

connnunications made on vou.
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Mr. Casey. In all this correspondence j^ou have to take into con-

sideration the peculiar characteristics of the man writing the letter.

Senator Clark. I understand that, and since we do not have
Colonel Simons here, I am trying to find out from you, knowing
Colonel Simons very well, just what was in his mind.
Mr. Casey. I am trying to tell you tlie best I can.

Senator Clark. Do you know whether all the 15,000,000 pounds
that they put under water deteriorated? Were you informed about
that?
Mr. Casey. I think it got to the point it was not longer satisfactory

as powder, was not that it? Is not that right?

Mr. Bradway. Some of it was and some of it Avas not. But the

larger calibers were still satisfactory.

Senator Clark. Do you know about the proportion of it?

Mr. Bradway. No; I do not remember.
Senator Clark. In other words, you do not remember what pro-

portion of the 15,000,000 was spoiled and what was not?
Mr. Raushenbush. Senator, may I ask a question ?

Senator Clark. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. Was this powder that had been manufactured

at the Old Hickory plant?
Mr. Casey. I think it was.
Mr. Bradway. No.
Mr. Casey. No, no; shipped from other places, was it not?
Mr. Bradway. After the war the Government shipped into Old

Hickory a great deal of powder from various parts of the country
where it had been manufactured, and this happened to be 15,000,000
pounds of that quantity. It was not their whole reserve stock by anj^

means.
Mr. Raushenbush. Are you pretty sure about that 15,000,000

figure? We were in some doubt about it a minute ago. Was it

about 15,000,000 that was put under water?
Mr. Bradway. About 15,000,000 pounds.
Mr. Casey. They have always referred to a certain quantity

of powder, including 15,000,000 under water. That is near enough,
Mr. Bradway. That was only a part of their reserve stock, I

understand.
Mr. Raushenbush. About how much did that powder cost the

Government, how much a pound? Do you remember the Old
Hickory cost?

Mr. Bradway. I do not believe that this was powder that was
manufactured at Old Hickory, but I suppose 45 or 46 cents.

Mr. Casey. I think that would be about an average.
Mr. Bradway. The cost at Old Hickory? That was not the cost

at Old Hickory as I recall it.

Mr. Raushenbush. No; I do not want testimony on that. I am
trying to get an average of what that powder cost the Government.

Mr. Bradway. I should say if you said it cost them 45 cents or

46 cents

Mr. Casey. On the average.
Mr. Raushenbush. On the average?
Mr. Bradway. Somewhere between 40 and 50 cents.

83876—;!o—px 12 4
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Mr. Raushenbush. That is about $7,000,000 worth of powder; is

that right?
Mr. Bradwat. About that; when it was new.
Mr. Raushenbush. When it was new. And they put that

$7,000,000 under water, and it deteriorated ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Remember, it is 11 years old at this time,

and the life of powder is supposed to be not over what? About 15?

Mr. Bradway. About 16 years old.

Senator Clark. What did they do with that?

Mr. Casey. I think they have disposed of about half of it. They
did find some people who were able to use it for solvent solutions,

lacquers, coating of textiles, and tilings of that sort.

Mr. Bradway. Understand that this putting that powder under
water was not the cause for its apparently having decomposed or

started decomposition. Powder manufactured during the war stored

ordinarily also decomposes. They endeavored to safeguard that by
putting it under water. It is a question of opinion whether at the

time when they brought it up to the du Pont Co.—we did not know
a whole lot about it, and we gave it as our opinion, as I recall, that if

powder were placed under water, any traces of decomposition would
probably stop; but that we did not consider it a very good idea,

because after a long period of time, depending on the condition of

the storage—that is, the temperature of the water and the changing
of the water, and so forth—we did not consider over a long period

of time it was a good practice, because the powder when it was taken
out would have to be used right away. It was really for an
emergency.

Senator Clark. Do you know anything about the result of the

French experiment?
Mr. Casey. It is still there.

Senator Clark. Still in the water?
Mr. Bradway. Oh, yes; it is still in the water.
Mr. Casey. But they have different water.

I was just advised it is a standard practice. The Western Cart-
ridge Co. have a considerable quantity of powder stored under
water; I think at Newburgh they have a large quantity.

Mr. Bradway. We have stored powder under water that we were
going to use for other purposes, but we have stored powder under
water. We use it for lacquers and solutions and other things, a

certain percentage.

Senator Clark. Not for munitions after you get it out of the
water, unless you use it immediately; is that the theory?
Mr. Bradway. That is what we suppose. There is no experience

on that yet.

Senator Clark. In other words, you do not know till somebody
tries to use that powder that has been under water ?

Mr, Casey. The French had the first experience on a large scale.

Senator, in connection with that, when General Hof first suc-
ceeded General Williams as chief of ordnance and he came across
this FNH powder proposition, which was new to him, he said to me
one day, " Casej'', joii have just upset our entire schedule. Here for
years we have been predicating our question of reserve ammunition
on powder with an expected life on the average of about 15 years.
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Now, you have given us a powder that may last over 100 years.

What are we going to do about it?"

That is what the new powder probably represents.

Senator Clark. What did he do about it?

Mr. Casey. The idea that powder would last so long was just

inconceivable to him, but that is what the new powder means. We
do not say 100 years.

Mr. Bradway. No
;
you have no right to say it will last 100 years.

Mr. Casey. But that is the way we approached the problem.

Senator Clark. You cannot say that until you get to be 140 vears

old.

Mr, Casey. I can tell you some day about it.

RELATIONS OP DU PONT CO. WITH THE STATE DEPARTMENT

Senator Clark. I hope we will both be here at that time.

Coming back to the question of the possibility of arming possible

enemies, I will call your attention to a letter dated August 22, 1928,

addressed to Col. W. N. Taylor, 16 Place Vendome, Paris, France.
(The letter referred to was marked as " Exhibit No. 1009 ", and

appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark (reading) :

Replying to your letter T-1351 of August 9 in wliicli you inquire if we can
sell powder and explosives to H.I.H. in Holland

Who is H.I.H., one of those Dutch names?
Mr. Casey. One of those Dutch names. That is enough.
Senator Clark (reading) :

which will be loaded in ammunition eventually destined for Russia.
Discreet inquiries with the War Department in Washington indicate that

they believe there is no legal or ethical bar to our negotiating this business.
On a previous occasion we were permitted to see a staff memorandum which

stated in part as follows

:

" There are no restrictions imposed by the United States Government on
trade with Russia or with the Soviet regime. Individuals and corporations
carrying on such trade, however, do so upon their own responsibility.

" The State Department, however, views with disfavor trade with Soviet
Russia in arms and munitions of war and has so informed several American
firms who have asked their advice concerning such trade."

In view of the above you are at full liberty to conduct such negotiations as
may, in your judgment seem advisable, bearing in mind that it is not expedi-
ent that the State Department be consulted in any way directly or indirectly.

Very truly yours,
W. H. O'GoEMAN, Assistant Director.

Mr. Casey. That is another letter written to our own man.
Senator Clark. Yes, but it certainly indicates a very outspoken

desire to keep the State Department from finding out anything about
it, doesn't it?

Mr. Casey. The last paragraph would indicate that. Of course
at that time, 1928, the memorandum that Simmons referred to in

this letter which you are quoting was a memorandum which I under-
stand was written several years before that, when tlie attitude of the
State Department was different.

Senator Clark. Yes, I understand, but, Major
Mr. Casey. Their attitude changed in 1925, which was brought

out the other dav.
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Senator Clark. In 1928 we had not recognized Russia and there

was very strong sentiment in this country against doing so.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Clark. And this refers to that memorandum and states:

•' The State Dopurtment, however, views with disfavor trade with Soviet
Russia in arms jind nnmitions of war and has .so informed several American
firms wlio liave aslied tlieir advice concerning such trade."

In view of the above .vou are at full liberty to conduct such negotiations as
may, in your judgment, seem advisable, bearing in mind that it is not expedi-
ent that the State Department be consulted in any way, directly or indirectly.

Mr. Casey. The net result was that nothing came of it, and I do
not believe

Senator Clark. I understand, but wdiat I am interested in is the

fact that you were willing and anxious to make this deal without
any information to the State Department.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, it does not say that.

Senator Clark. Although you had been informed that the State

Department had viewed such trade with disfavor.

Mr. Casey. So the memorandum says.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, you stated that incorrectly. It

does not say that we were ready to make that deal. Colonel Taylor
was authorized to negotiate.

Senator Clark. You are not paying a man to stay in Europe and
negotiate just to have him have the fun of negotiating for j'ou?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, sir ; but when he is in the process of

negotiating w^e may call it off at any time.

Senator Clark (reading) :

In view of the above you are at full liberty to conduct such negotiations as

may, in yonr judgment, seem advisable, beariuj^ in mind that it is not expe-

dient that the State Department be consulted in any way, directly or indirectly.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Now, as Major Casey says, Colonel Taylor
understood perfectly well that we would not close that deal without

the State Department's knowledge.
Senator Clark. It certainly does not appear in the letter.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It does not appear there, but Major Casey
explained that Colonel Taylor knows that is the policy.

Mr. Casey. He is our man.
The Chairsian. Are we to understand that in all matters of that

kind, where negotiations were called for, j^ou would not finally enter

into any contract or any arrangement or agreement, without the

consent of the State Department?
Mr. Lamjiot du Pont. I won't say the consent. Not without their

knowledge. As Major Casey has said before, they do not give their

consent.

Mr. Casey. Unless there is an embargo. Then they may give

consent or they may not. But unless there is an embargo, as I stated

before, they say we really embarrass them by asking them the

question.

Senator Clark. You were on occasion willing to go ahead with
these deals, irrespective of the attitude of the State Department?
Mr. Casey. We may start the negotiations.

Senator Clark. I mean, go ahead with it irrespective of their

attitude.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, sir ; not on military matters.



\

MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2685

Senator Clark. I call your attention then to an exhibit that we
had here a minute ago, a letter dated March 15, 1926, addressed to

Aiken Simons, which I will ask to have marked the appropriate

exhibit number.
(The letter was marked " Exhibit No. 1010 ", and appears in full

in the text.)

Senator Clark. This letter is numbered 26 and if you have not got

a copy I will be glad to read it to you.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
Senator Clark. This says:

Major Strong, of War Plans, came to me the other day and asked me if I had
any information of the Poles nefiotiatin^ with American firms for the erection

of chemical-warfare munitions plants in Poland. I had no such information.
Further information indicates tliat the du Pont Co. was one of the American
firms approached. I suppose, of course, you gave this information to the
Chemical Warfare Service.

Had you given the information to the Chemical Warfare Service?

Mr. Casey. I think so.

Senator Clark (continuing reading) :

It would put us in a very strong position when the Geneva protocol comes
up in Con,L';ress if we could definitely prove that the Poles are negotiating with
our people for the erection of these plants.

Do you know why it would put the General Staff in a very strong
position with Congress?

Mr. Casey. I have not the .slightest idea.

Senator Clark (reading)

:

I would like to take this matter up with the Commerce Department and
have them use their machinery to locate any American plnnt which might be
considering the erection of chemical plants in Poland, but in view of the
fact that your information is usually given confidentially, I do not feel free to
inform the Commerce Department (Mr. Concannon) of the source of our
information. On your next trip to Washington I would like very much to .go

over with you and see Mr. Concannon, and for you to tell him the wh( le story.

He would then go ahead and use all the machinery of the Commerce Depart-
ment to locate the American firms who may be interested in this proposition.

I presume you will be down this week, and, in case I am not here, Colonel
Stone is thoroughly infonned on this whole affair, and I will ask you to take
it up with him.

Sincerely yours,
Lhigh,
l. f.' j. ze31bee,

Major, General Staff.

Then, on March 27, 1926, in the same connection, I have here a
letter signed by Dwight F. Davis, Secretary of War, addressed to

your smokeless-powder department, which I will ask to have marked
appropriately.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1011 " and ap-
pears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. This reads:

Receipt is acknowledged of your confidential letter of March 16 pertaining to
the proposed establishment of a chemical warfare plant in Poland. I note
that you do not believe that the du Pont Co. sliould undertake work of this
sort for a foreign government without llie written assent of the War Depart-
ment. Since this is a matter which the Department of State must determine,
I have submitted an extract of your letter to that Department (copy attached).
and no doubt you will hear from that Department in a reasonable time.

I appreciate your brhiging this matter to my attention.
Sincerely yours.

Dwight F. Davis, Secretary of War.
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Then a copy of his letter of the same date to the Secretary of

State, which I will ask to have marked appropriately.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1012 " and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. This reads:

The Honorable The Secrktaky of State.

Dear Mr. Secretary: The following extract is taken from a letter dated
March 16, 1926, from the E. I. du Pout de Nemours & Co., smokeless powder
department, military sales division, Wilmington, Del., addressed to the Secre-

tary of War

:

" For your confidential information, we wish to advise that we are in receipt

of communication from the Polish War Department in which it is requested
that we submit a proposal on the establishment of a chemical Avarfare gas
plant in Poland. We are attaching an extract from letter dated January 9,

signed by the Chief of Army Administration, Republic of Poland.
" We believe the du Pont Co. should not undertake work of this sort for a

foreign government except on the written assent of the Secretary of War,
stating that the project has the approval of the War Department, * * *."

The extract from the letter of January 9 from Poland furnished by the
du Pont Co. is appended.

Since this is believed to be a State Department matter it is submitted to you,

and the du Pont Co. has been so advised.
I will appreciate very much any infonnation you may be able to furnish

me as to the action of the State Department in this matter.
Sincerely yours,

DwiGHT F. Davis, Secretary of War.

So that we have the matter broiiglit to the attention of the Secre-

tary of War in a confidential letter from the du Pont Co. and the
du Pont Co. advised by the Secretary of War that the matter was
outside his control and properly within the control of the State
Department.

If yon gentlemen have not been furnished copies of these letters

we will see that you get them.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Thank you.
Senator Cl.vrk. We now come down to a letter dated April 12,

192G, addressed to Col, W. N. Taylor at Paris, and signed by Major
Casey, which I will also ask to have marked with the appropriate
exhibit number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1013 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2828.)

Senator Clark. This letter addressed to Colonel Taylor reads

:

Attached please find confirmation of our cable no. 330. You will note that
we have decided to let Major de Lanoy quote direct to Poland through Mr.
Klawe on the chemical warfare project.

Who was Major de Lanoy?
Mr. Casey. Major de Lanoy was a private in the same regiment I

was in 1898. He went out with the Seventy-first Regiment during
the war. He was detached from that and later went with the
Chemical Warfare and I believe was stationed likewise at Edgewood
Arsenal when that was established. He then resigned, and was the
first man to start making these tear-gas grenades for police depart-
ments. He was not very successful with them, however, but at any
rate he started, and when this inquiry for a chemical-warfare propo-
sition came from Poland it was not a thing that du Pont either

wanted or was prepared to handle, so we simply turned the matter
over to de Lanoy for such action as he saw fit, stating that we would
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advise he get in touch with our agent Klawe in Warsaw as the man
who might be able to assist him. But it is a matter that we had
nothing further to do with.

Senator Clark (reading on) :

It is quite essential for you to kuow the company's attitude toward this

project, and we will therefore give you the details as follows

:

When the inquiry was first received from the Polish War Department we con-

sulted Major de Lanoy and asked him to prepare a detailed proposal for sub-

mission to Poland, either directly by him or by the du Pont Co., in which latter

case deLanoy was to act as our technical adviser. We also referred the matter
to our dyestufCs department and asked them to prepare a proposal. Our dye-

stuffs department decided that we were not in possession of complete technical

details which would enable us to handle the Polish warfare project, and that

unless we could secure the complete cooperation of the United States Ordnance
Department, particularly the Chemical Warfare Section, it would be useless for

us to undertake the construction of the chemical warfare plant.

That was because you did not have sufficient technical knowledge
to proceed without the information that the War Department had?
Mr. Casey. That was one reason.

Senator Clark. I mean that is the reason assigned there.

Mr. Casey. Yes; so far.

Senator Clark (continuing) :

To obtain the cooperation of the War Department we addressed the Secretary
of War, who in turn submitted our question to the State Department. After
many weeks we received a reply from the State Department which was quite
evasive and left us in the same position that we were when the Polish inquiry
was received. We decided that we could not get a firm assurance of coopera-
tion from the War Department because of the position taken by the State
Department and thought it best to let Major de Lanoy proceed and submit his

proposal.

In other words, it is not only a question of submission but of coop-
eration from the War Department and their technical staff?

Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark (reading on) :

We have addressed the Polish War Department on this subject, with copy
of letter to you, also copy to Mr. Klawe.
Major de Lanoy is willing to let Mr. Klawe act as his agent in this matter

and has included in his price a commission of 5 percent for Mr. Klawe. Major
de Lanoy will send his proposal to Mr. Klawe, who inturn will present it to the
Polish War Department in de Lanoy's name. Major de Lanoy will write Mr.
Klawe in detail and we will keep you posted on developments from this end.
If de Lanoy is awarded a contract, we will receive no connnission.

You would have supplied him with some materials, wouldn't you,
Major?

Mr. Casey. I don't think so. We might have supplied him with
some minor things.

Senator Clark. This goes on:

The matter will be handled entirely by de Lanoy and Klawe. We cannot
afford to arouse the criticism of the State Department, because you are familiar
with the position they take on chemical-warfare gases. If we were in possession
of complete technical details which would enable us to construct and operate
the proposed chemical warfare plant, we would undertake the project regardless
of the attitude taken by the State Department.

Major, that seems at variance with your statements that you would
not proceed without the permission of the State Department.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
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Mr. Irenee uu Pont. Without their Ivtiowledge, not permission.
Senator Clark. I asked him if he would proceed against the

objections of the State Department, and he said, " No."
Mr. Irenee du Pont. But the State Department did not object.

Senator Clark. I understand, Mr. du Pont, but here he says that
the reason shown previously in this memorandum for not proceeding
with the negotiation was that you were not in possession of suffi-

cient technical information to do it, without that deficiency being
helped out by technical information from the technical staff of the
War Department, and then he goes on

:

If we were in possession of complete technical details which would enable
us to construct and operate the proposed chemical warfare plant, we would
undertake the project regardless of the attitude taken by the State Department.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Well, their attitude was noncommittal.
Senator Clark. I understand.
Mr. Casey. Senator, there is another angle to this. Poland by

this time had begun to rel}^ on us. We did not want to make them
feel that we were unwilling to undertake the job that they thought
we could do. Further than that, with the evasive reply from the

State Department, we did not w^ant to go back to them and embarrass
the State Department by saying that the State Department objects,

because the Polish Embassy would pretty certainly get after the

State Department. That was what was meant by the previous
statement of mine.

Senator Clark. But what you said was that if you were able to

do it from the standpoint of technical preparation, you would go
ahead regardless of the State Department.
Mr. Casey. All right. That w^ould enable the Dej)artment to take

our letter and show it to the Poles.

Senator Clark. That is some more sales talk, is it?

Mr. Casey. Yes; sales talk.

Senator Clark. Major de Lanoy seemed to learn some technical
trade expressions from this investigation, if nothing else.

Major de Lanoy seems to be in this position, and we are sure no criticism

will be directed against him for technical services which he may render to

the Polish Government.
We regret the delay, etc.

Mr. Casey. I believe that instead of the job being done in a short

time it took about twice as long as expected.

Mr. Raushenbush. It was done by Major de Lanoy, was it not?
Mr. Casey. We had nothing whatever to do with it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Didn't you sell him some material?
Mr. Casey. I don't think we sold him any material. We did

assist him in getting some equipment from other manufacturers,
because he had nobody in this country to represent hiuL I did that
purely out of my own friendship with de Lanoy.

Senator Clark. There is one iettei- here which I should have put
in previous to the one that I just read, which I will ask to have
marked with the next exhibit number.

(The letter referred to was marked '' Exhibit No. 1014 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2829.)
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Senator Clark. This is dated April 5, 1926; and to make the
record complete, I will read that also. It is a lettei- from Major
Casey to Col. W^ N, Taylor in Paris.

We acknowledge receipt of your cable no. 412 and confirm our reply no. .329.

Chemical Warfare Plant—Poland.
As soon as we received the letter from the Polish War Department requesting

us to submit a proposal on the installation of a chemical-warfare factory in
Poland, we conferred with Major de Lanoy and turned the matter over to
him. He in turn has worked up a detailed proposal which has been in our
hands for several weeks. The project was fully disciissed with our dyestuffs
department and it was decided, from a policy standpoint, that the du Pont
Co. would not bid on the project unless we received a complete authoriza-
tion from the War Department. We accordingly addressed the War Department
and asked them to state their position in connection with the inquiry. The
War Department in turn submitted the matter to the State Department and
no decision has been received from the State Department as yet. In the
event that the State Department takes the attitude that we should not bid. we
will turn the matter over to Major de Lanoy. who will immediately submit a
proposal. He will forward the proposal to Mr. Klawe and Klawe can act
in his behalf.

We have had several cablegrams from Mr. Klawe on this subject and replied
to him, stating that the proposal would go forward about March 15th. This
occurred, liowever, befoi'e the policy of the du Pont Co. had been detei'-

mined. The submission of the project to the War Department has greatly
delayed forwarding the proposal in question. It is hoped, however, that a
decision will be reached before the end of this week, in which event a proposal
will go forward either from du Pont or from de Lanoy.

I just read that for the purpose of completing the record.
Mr. Casey. That practically confirms what I stated.

The Chairman. Is this a convenient place to stop, Senator?
Senator Clark. Yes; this is a convenient place to quit.

The Chairman. Let the committee be in recess then until 2 o'clock.

(Whereupon, at 12. 48 p. m. the committee recessed to 2 p. m. of
the same day.)

afternoon session

The hearing was resumed at 2 p. m., pursuant to the taking of
the recess.

The Chairman. The committee will be in order.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, may I interject something?
At the close of the session a letter was put in evidence from the

Secretary of War stating that he was referring to the State De-
partment this complaint of the construction of a chemical war-
fare gas plant in Poland, and that no doubt we should hear from the
State Department in due course. I thought at the time that the reply
of the State Department, the letter from the State Department to us,

had been put in evidence, but I find that that is not so.

I would like to read that letter into the record. Your secretary
has a copy of it.

The Chairman. Very well.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. And enter it into the record.
The Chairman. You may read it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is not a very long letter, a page and a
half. This is from the Department of State, dated April 8, 1926,
addressed to the du Pont Co. [Reading " Exhibit No. 1015 "

:]

The Department has received, under date of March 27, an extract from your
letter to the Secretary of War of March 16 with reference to the request
which you have received from the Polish War Department for the establishment
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of a chemical warfare gas plant in Poland. In this letter you state that in your
opinion this worli should not be undertaken without the consent of the War
Department.

In referring your inquiry to this Department the Secretary of War stated
that he believed this to be a matter for the Department of State and indicated
that you had been so advised.

It is not the practice of this Department to undertake to intervene in private
business transactions of the character covered by your letter or to give or to
withhold assent. It is possible that in referring the matter to the War
Department you had in mind that American representatives have signed agree-
ments with respect to the prohibition of the use in time of war of poisonous
gases ; provisions of this character being included in a treaty signed at Washing-
ton on February 6, 1922, and in a protocol signed at Geneva June 17, 1925.
While it would appear that these instruments would have only an indirect
bearing upon the proposal which has been submitted to you, even if such
treaties had been ratified, the treaty and protocol in question are not now in
effect since ratifications have not been deposited.

In conclusion it may be stated that it has been the policy of this Govern-
ment to favor international agreements for the prohibition of the use of poison-
ous or noxious gases in time of war.

I am, sirs, your obedient servant,
(Signed) Frank B. Kellogg.

The Chairman. What is the date, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. This is dated April 8, 1926, and refers to

the letter of March 27, from the War Department to the State
Department.
The Chairman. Do yon consider the letter rather evasive?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Who, me?
The Chairman. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes; I do. [Heading:]

It is not the practice of this Department to undertake to intervene in private
business transactions of the character covered by your letter or to give or to
withhold assent.

That, in the vernacular, means, to me, " ducking the question."

Senator Clark. And it was on the basis of your considering it

evasive that Major Casey 4 days later wrote Colonel Taylor and said

:

If we were in possession of complete technical details which would enable us
to construct and operate the proposed chemical warfare plant, we would
undertake the project regardless of the attitude taken by the State
Department.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That is not the explanation which Major
Casey gave, I believe.

Senator Clark. Major Casey speaks in this same letter, which was
entered as " Exhibit No. 1013 ", 4 days after the receipt of the
Secretarj^ of State's letter, written to obtain the cooperation and
not permission, which is an essentially different matter, to obtain
the cooperation of the War Department

:

To obtain the cooperation of the War Department we addressed the Secretary
of War, who in turn submitted our question to the State Department. After
many weeks we received a reply from the State Department which was quite
evasive and left lis in the same position that we were when the Polish inquiry
was received.

Then, in the same letter, he continues

:

If we were in possession of complete technical details which would enable
us to construct and operate the proposed chemical-warfare plant, we would
undertake the project regardless of the attitude taken by the State
Department.
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Mr, Lammot du Pont. You will remember that Major Casey
explained that that letter was worded with the probable object or

probable eventuality that it would be shown to the Polish authorities.

Senator Clakk. Yes; I understand that.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It was worded so as not to offend the Poles.

Senator Clark. But the situation was that what you were appar-
ently after was not only the permission but the technical knowledge
and cooperation of the War Department. Major Casey put in this

letter, in so many words, that

—

We could not carry out tiie coutract, if we get it, without the cooijeration

•of the War Department.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. So the letter states.

Senator Clakk. Not the letter of the Secretary of War. The
letter from Major Casey to Colonel Taylor states it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Casey. Does not the later letter clear it up ?

Senator Clark. Then j^ou say that you regard the letter of the

Secretar}" i!s too evasive; and then you say, if you were expected to

go ahead and carry out the contract, you would do it regardless of
the State Department.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Not regardless of the State Department

but regardless of the attitude of the State Department, being non-
commital; their attitude being noncommital, we would disregard it.

Senator Clark (reading) :

If we were in possession of complete technical details which would enable
us to construct and operate the proposed chemical-warfare plant, we would
undertake the project regardless of the attitude taken by the State Department.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What is the attitude taken by the State
Department ? Noncommital.

Senator Clark. I understand you are going into it regardless of
what their attitude might be.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It does not say that.

Senator Clark. That is the inference to be drawn :
" We are going

to do it regardless of the attitude of the State Department."
Mr. Irenee du Pont. We have the attitude of the State Depart-

ment.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, has the State Department letter

been assigned a number?
Senator Clark. That may be marked with the appropriate

number.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1015 " and

appears in full in the text on p. 2689.)

influence of munitions companies on the policies of governments

Senator Clark. The other day there was some discussion came
up between Senator Vandenberg and some of you gentlemen as to
the possible influence, or influence, of munition companies on the
policies of governments. In that connection I desire to offer for
appropriate number the letter of May 2, 1928, to Major Casey from
William N. Taylor, by Fred G. Singer.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1016 " and
appears in full in the text.)
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Senator Clark. That is headed " Status of Negotiations," [Read-
ing "Exhibit No. 1016":]

Poland.—For the moment, powder sales are held up on account of the diplo-

matic action of the Swedish Government. We are doing all we can to get
counterpressure put on by the British Government.

Do you know what Colonel Taylor was doing to get counterpres-
sure put on by the British Government?
Mr. Casey. I do not know anything he did, but notify I.C.I.

of the apparent action taken by the Swedish Government.
Senator Clark. You do not know what he meant when he said:

We are doing all we can to get counterpressure put on !)y the British
Government.

Mr. Casey. All I know is what he said.

Senator Clark. Do you not have any further information on
that?

Mr. Casey. No.
Mr. Rausiienbusii. Do you not remember the Bofors interest in

Sweden putting pressure on Sweden?
Mr. Casey. So we heard.
Senator Clark. I offer for appropriate number a memorandum by

Colonel Simons dated October 5, 1926, headed " S-44 Washington

—

September 30, 1925."

The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1017 " and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. I direct your particular attention to the last para-
graph on page 2, Major [reading] :

Called on Major Burns of the Office of the Assistant Secretary of War, in

reference to the article prepared with the assistance of the du Pont Co. for
publication in some popular magazine. Major Burns looked up this matter and
reported that the article had been passed on by General Williams as satisfac-

tory and had then gone to the various branches of the General Staff who
returned it to General Williams with full approval of all except one passage
of three or four lines which the General Staff regarded as controversial and
to be revised or omitted. When this revision is made, it is expected that the
article will be published over General Williams' signature.

It indicates that you were actually preparing articles for the Chief
of Ordnance of the United States Army to sign. Does not that pretty
well reflect the relationship between the War Department and the
du Pont Co. ?

Mr. Casey. Would you mind if I read the entire letter?

Senator Clark. Not at all. [Reading " Exhibit No. 1017 "
:]

Called on Colonel Pegram who advised me that the matter of the small arms
targets sent by the Canadian Government as a present to the United States
Government had at last been straightened out. These targets had been sent to

Rock Island Arsenal where a thorough study was made of them, the general
result being that they were considered an infringement of the Aiken patents
and very much inferior mechanically to the Aiken design. However, a courteous
letter will be sent to the Canadian Government through the channels of the
British Ambassador at Washington.

Were you concerned about these targets. Major?
Mr. Casey. Only to this extent : I t<jok up a rifle team to Canada in

1924, and in watching their operation I got the Dominion of Canada
Rifle Association to agree to send down for examination by our
people that form of target.
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Senator Clark. It is not material [continuing reading]

:

I also learned from other sources that the State Department had consented
in principle to the visit of a military mission from Holland to buy munitions
in this country, it being a known fact that the Hollanders are very much
dissatisfied with the treatment they are receiving from the French and
British munitiims manuiacturers. The personnel and time of arrival of this

mission has not yet been announced.
It was also learned on excellent authority that a decided change of policy

in the publication of military secrets has been inaugurated by the War
Department.

Do you know what that was ?

Mr. Casey, No; I do not.

Senator Clark. It affected you, disclosures by the War Depart-
ment of military secrets?

Mr. Casey. I do not think it had anything to do with that.

Senator Clark. This change in military policies had nothing to

do with you?
Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Clark (continuing reading:)

Called on Major O'Shaughnessy of the Ordnance Department in reference
to my visit to Old Hickory. Major O'Shaughnessy informed me that it would
be impossible for Captain Fidlar to accompany me, since his presence was
urgently needed in Washipgton at a meeting of the district chiefs. Major
O'Shaughnessy provided me with a letter of introduction to Sergeant Larsen
who is in charge of the so-called " ordnance reserve depot " at Old Hickory.
It was also learned that a bid of $15,000 was expected from a New York
dealer for the powder-making machinery advertised for sale.

Do you know why the War Department would be telling the
du Pont Co. what sort of bids would be received for the powder-
making machine at Old Hickory?
Mr. Casey. I have not the slightest idea.

Senator Clark. What was Colonel Simons doing at Old Hickory ?

Do you know ?

Mr. Casey. I think he was going down there to inspect some ma-
chinery offered there for sale.

Senator Clark (reading) :

Called on General Joyes who discussed with me a list of thesis subjects
appropriate for graduating students in the colleges where there is an ordnance
R. O. T. C. The list prepared by General Joyes impressed me as extremely
good in that it brought about a study of subjects of equal importance to the
Ordnance Department and value to the student in question. General Joyes
also called my attention to an article published in French which he is having
translated. This article is A Lecture Delivered on the 29th of February 1920
on the Manufacture of Powders and Explosives, by M. I'Heure. This is a
pamphlet of 64 pages printed in Paris by Librairie de I'Enseignement Technique.

Called on Dr. Storm, who seemed to be very much concerned about the
difficulty of securing possession of the tracings covering the design and layout
of the smokeless powder plant at Old Hickory.

Do you know what that was?
Mr. Casey. No ; I do not.

Senator Clark. It is ncit material [continuing reading] :

Called on Major Bums, of the Office of The Assistant Secretary of War, in
reference to the article prepared with the assistant of the du Pout Co. for pub-
lication in some popular magazine. Major Burns looked up this matter and
reported that the article had been passed on by General Williams as satisfactory
and had then gone to the various branches of the General Staff who returned
it to General Williams with full approval of all except one passage of three
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or four lines which tlie General Staff regarded as controversial and to be
revised or omitted. When this revision is made, it is expected that the article

will be published over General Williams' signature.

Mr. Caset. I think I recollect that incident. This was in con-

nection with an effort on the part of Major Burns to get General
Williams to write an article for the Saturday Evening Post on the

general problem of national defense. General Williams said he did
not have the time ; that if an article was prepared that he was satisfied

with he would put his name to it.

Burns did not have the time to prepare such an article on account
of his job in the Office of Assistant Secretary of War. The result

was that Mr. Byrnes in our company, I think, prepared the article,

or one was submitted. After this letter was written it was decided
that probably the article had better not be published, so that it was
never published.

Senator Cl-\ek. The only point I am getting at, Major, is that

it does show the very close relationship between your company and
the War Department for you to be preparing, through your own per-

sonnel, articles to receive the signature of the Chief of Ordnance of

the United States Army.
Mr. Casey. But realize this: Before he put his name to it, he

would have to be fairly satisfied.

Senator Clark. He would read it over, I understand.

The Chairman. Senator Clark, will you pardon us long enough
so that there may be offered for the record a letter which is dated
today, December 11, 1934, to the committee, by Leo Kohn, who has

been mentioned in connection with the testimony here? I shall

read the letter and offer it for the record [reading] :

At the end of September 1934 my attention was called to an article appearing

in the New York American of September 15 reporting a session of your com-
mittee of September 14. A letter of one Col. William N. Taylor, Paris repre-

sentative of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., addressed to Maj. K. K. "V. Casey^

was read. Your exliibit No. 507.

In this letter one Leo Kohn, of 90 West Street, New York City, was men-
tioned ; furtlier, one James Magnus & Co., of Hamburg, Germany, was men-
tioned.

I am the Leo Kohn, of 90 West Street, New York City, and my brother, Karl
A. Kohn, is the owner of James Magnus & Co., of Hamburg, Germany,

I have communicated with my brother regarding Colonel Taylor's letter, ex-

hibit no. 507. Neither he nor I have ever been directly or indirectly connected

in the remotest sense with anything that has to do with ammunitions, guns, etc.

Colonel Taylor, I charge, has deliberately lied in this letter about my brother

and myself, and I would ask you to permit me to testify before your committee.

I wish to add that I also communicated with Mr, A. Felix du Pont and
received a very unsatisfactory reply. I have this letter with me, as well as
the correspondence with my brother.

Thanking you for your cooperation, I am.
Very truly yours,

Leo Kohn.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1018" and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. Major Casey, to go back to that exhibit again, did
the du Pont Co. bid on the powder machinerv advertised for sale at

Old Hickory?
Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark, Do you remember how much they bid ?
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Mr. Casey. I think probably more than double the price here men-

tioned. But that probably was in the nature of a proceeding such;

as this. As we understood it, the Government had to get off the

property at Old Hickory. It had been sold to the Nashville indus-

trial Corporation or some such company. They had a lot of powder-
making machinery and they were very anxious to have someone take-

the machinery.
They asked us if we would not undertake to purchase this ma-

chinery so as to hold it, with the understanding that if we did get an
opportunity to dispose of it and took it up with them they would
then decide as to whether or not there was sufficient balance left so

that we would be justified in disposing of it.

Therefore we put in a bid on this machinery.
Senator Claek. Do you know how much the bid was, Major ?

Mr. Casey. I have not got the exact amount.
Senator Clark. Have you got it in your records ?

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Clakk. Will you look it up and supply it for us ?
^

Mr. Casey. Certainly. The result was that we did take the ma-
chinery, and, I think, with the exception of one piece of machinery,
it is all in this country today.

Senator Clakk. I am not interested in where it is located today.
I am interested in the question as to whether it is not bad practice
for the War Department to be telling one prospective bidder a bid
they expect from another prospective bidder.
Mr. Casey. The only point is this: The other bidder would bid

on it as junk. We are bidding on the basis of holding that machin-
ery intact. Their bid, or any junk dealer's bid, would have no influ-

ence on the purpose we were trying to assist the War Department in

doing.
Senator Clark. That is the reason they told you what bids were

expected.

Mr. Casey. That may be ; I do not know.
Senator Clark. I call your attention to a letter dated January

26, 1929, signed by C. I. B. Henning, technical director, addressed to
Dr. C. M. Stine, chemical director, which I otfer for appropriate
number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1019 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2830.)

Senator Clark. That is headed " Cooperation with Chemical War-
fare Service." [Reading:]

Confirming informal discussion with you yesterday, there are a number of
reasons why our contact with the Chemical Warfare Service should follow
principles similar to our contact with the Ordnance Department, United States
Army, and Bureau of Ordnance, United States Navy. We recognize the essen-
tial difference that for the present there is prospectively little to sell to Chem-
ical Warfare ; also that the company's developments in fundamental research
are of such a character that the writer, for instance, is not a competent judge
of what is and what is not important to the other industries with which this
department is not connected ; and hence our suggestion that individuals in the
chemical department and the company's laboratories be careful to refer all

1 On March 29, 1935, the du Pont Co. informed the committee that the purchase
price of the Old Hickory machinery amounted to .$15,000. The purchase of necessary
land, buildings, and incidental expenses tor the storage of the machinery amounted to
$14,500.
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these questions to you personally before passing information on direct to indi-

viduals from Edgewood Arsenal or Chemical Warfare Service's officers in

Washington.
It is also appropriate to review a little of the past history of this subject.

In February 1924 question was raised as to our assisting Dr. Rossi, an im-
portant Italian chemical manufacturer, witli technical advice in the erection
and putting into operation of a plant in Italy for the manufacture of war gases
for the Italian Government. Mr. Ir§n6e du Pont wrote General Fries under
date of February 4, 1924, stating, " We believe the du Pont Co. should not
undertake work of this sort for a foreign government except on the written
request of the Secretary of War stating that it is done in the interest of the
United States Government and, in the present case, authorizing the Chemical
Warfare Department to give us such assistance as they feel is justifiable to
aid us in properly doing the work, in return for which this company will keep
the Chemical Warfare Department iiostt-d with such information as we may
obtain." No answer was forthcoming from General Fries for some time, and
on December 2, Mr. Irenee du Pont and Mr. A. Felix du Pont attended a meet-
ing in the office of the Secretary of War, at which were present Assistant
Secretary of War Davis, General Williams, Chief of Ordnance, and Colonel
Ferguson. It was found that after the matter was explained to Secretary of
War Weeks, he was entirely in sympathy with the proposition and promptly
arranged for an interview with the President. The entire party, with the
exception of Colonel Ferguson, put this matter up to Mr. Coolidge, who promptly
grasped the basic principles and in a few words stated what practically

amounted to the " munitions policy."

What was that policy ?

Mr. Casey. The policy is a pretty long proposition.

Senator Clabk. It says President Coolidge stated it " in a few
words."
Mr. Casey. I believe President Coolidge could probably do that,

but the munitions policy was pretty well described by General Wil-
liams in a speech he made, which was printed in the Army Ordnance
Magazine several years before that.

Senator Clark. Can you give us the essentials of the munitions
policy ?

Mr. Casey. I could not. I am not Coolidge.

Senator Clark. You must know what the general policy was re-

ferred to in the interdepartmental correspondence of your own com-
pany.
Mr, Casey. It was not really the correspondence of our company.
Senator Clark. I say, the interdepartmental correspondence of

your own company. This is an interdepartmental memorandum.
Mr. Casey. It was establishing the function of the Ordnance De-

partment on its munitions policy and program to conform with the
principles of the National Defense Act of 1916, as amended, and such
an extract was read this morning, in which are described the duties

of The Assistant Secretary of War.
Now, we have that here, and it might be read into the record.

Have you got that [addressing associate] ?

Senator Clark. Did the policy approve selling a poison-gas plant
to the Italian Government or not?
Mr. Casey, I do not think there is anything in the policy there

except
Senator Clark. That is what these gentlemen were over to the

White House about, is it not?
Mr. Casey. Wait a minute—except the policy enunciating the

principle of necessity of maintaining as much as possible the interest

of private industry as a reserve for production in time of war.
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Senator Clark. These gentlemen were over there on a particular

proposition about selling a gas plant to Italy. Do you not know
what the decision was ? I will read the next paragraph, which may
clear it up in your mind [reading] :

Nothing has ever been done in connection with the Italian proposition, but
the above facts are given you as a guide for action in any similar problem that

may arise in the future.

Now, was there any objection to selling a poison-gas plant to Italy?

Mr. Casey. I was not present at the meeting.

Senator Clark. You Imow the result of the negotiations.

Mr. Casey. Nothing ever happened.
Senator Clark. I understand ; but what was the policy laid down

at this meeting ?

Mr. Casey. I was not present. I do not know. This was in an-

other department entirely.

Senator Clark. You were familiar with such matters, were you
not, Major?
Mr. Casey. If I attempted to keep myself familiar with every-

thing that went on in the company, I would not have time
Senator Clark. If you do not know, I will take your word for it,

but I wanted to know if you knew the policy laid down with regard
to selling poison-gas plants to foreign countries.

Mr. Casey. I do not know. Senator, could we introduce into the

record
Senator Clark. Mr. Irenee du Pont, were you at that meeting at

the White House ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. This letter says so.

Senator Clark. Can you tell us what this policy so briefly enun-
ciated by President Coolidge was?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I certainly cannot.

Senator Clark. Do you know whether he gave you an O. K. on
selling this poison-gas factory to Italy?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am rather mystified, because the funny

part is I have not the least recollection of the meeting.
Senator Clark. Mr. Felix du Pont, were you at the meeting at the

White House?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No. The only thing I recollect is having

been at the meeting in the White House when the smokeless-powder
matter was discussed.

Senator Clark. Did you ever hear President Coolidge very briefly

enunciate a munitions policy?

Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No.
Mr. Casey. Senator, could we have this paragraph read into the

record from the national defense act?

Senator Clark. If it is material.

Mr. Casey. It is. It is a very short one.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is on page 22, section 5-A. [Beading :]

Hereafter, in addition to such other duties as may be assigned him by the
Secretary of War, The Assistant Secretaiy of War, under the direction of the
Secretary of War, shall be charged with supervision of the procurement of all

military supplies and other business of the War Department pertaining thereto
and the assurance of adequate provision for the mobilization of material and
industrial organizations essential to war-time needs. The Assistant Secretary
of War shall receive a salary of $10,000 per annum. There shall be detailed to

83876—35—PT 12 5
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the office of The Assistant Secretary of War from the branches engaged in pro-

curement such number of officers and civilian employees as may be authorized

by regulations approved by the Secretary of War. The offices of Second Assist-

ant Secretary of War and Third Assistant Secretary of War are hereby
abolished.

Senator Claek. That is very interesting, but it certainly does not

say anjrthing about The Assistant Secretary of War acting as a

salesman of munitions.
I now read excerpts as per the first and last two paragraphs from

a letter dated February 4, 1929, from Major Casey to the command-
ing officer. Edgewood Arsenal, Edgewood, Mr., headed, " Cooperation

in Experimental Work."
(The excerpts referred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1020 "', and

appear in full in the text.)

Senator Clark (reading) :

Attention of Major Alexander Wilson.

Referring to discussion held in your office during the recent visit of Dr. C. M.
Stine, Lt. Col. Aiken Simons, and C. I. B. Henning, the military sales division

is expected by the various departments of the du Pont Co., and to a considerable
extent by its associate companies, to serve as the contact organization in all

matters pertaining to military use of this company's products. In order to

make this contact more effective, we discussed various phases of your past
experience. Without going too much into detail, there are several pending
items on which we desire to advise and in turn to receive your suggestions.

Major Prentiss of his own initiative discussed

—

Who is Major Prentiss, Major?
Mr. Casey. I imagine he is connected with Edgewood Arsenal.

Senator Clark. In other words, he is an Army officer?

Mr. Casey. I think so.

Senator Clark (reading) :

Major Prentiss of his own initiative discussed a somewhat more formal
interchange of information between the Chemical Warfare Service and the
du Pont Co., stating that on his next trip to Washington there might be some
advantage in ascertaining the views of General Fries on this subject. It is

our desire to be a help in making our contact with you as efficient as possible.

Owing to the complexity of our own organization, it is necessary that some one
division be responsible for contacts of this nature.
This letter is written with the intention not of emphasizing unduly the imme-

diate problems presented, but to obtain from you suggestions as to how, from
your viewpoint, we can function most efficiently.

In connection with that, I will read a letter from Major Prentiss

to Col. Aiken Simons.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1021 ", and

appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. Tliis is headed " Chemical Warfare Service, Edge-
wood Arsenal, Office of the Technical Director.'' [Reading:]

Edgewood, Md., April 24, 1929.

Col. Aiken Simons, du Pont Co.,

Wilmington, Del.

Dear Colonel Simons : Replying to your letter of April 22, in which you
advise me that Dr. Stine has not yet returned to Wilmington and is not ex-
pected for several days, and upon his return will undoubtedly be extremely
busy for some time, I may say that the matter which I wished to discuss with
Dr. Stine was the general "modus operandi" of the exchange of information
which we discussed upon the occasion of your last visit to this arsenal. As
you will recall, the chief's office did not think it feasible for us to exchange
technical reports but did feel that information might be freely exchanged
by personal conference. It is for the purpose of laying down some regular pro-
cedure to effect this exchange of information that I particularly desire to see
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Dr. Stine, and I doubt very nnich if anyone else will be in a iwsition to act for

Dr. Stine in this matter, as it is a rather unusual one.

Under the circumstances I would suggest that you advise me of the earliest

convenient date at which Dr. Stine could see me to talk over this matter, and
I will be glad to arrange my visit accordingly.

Sincerely yours,
A. M. Prentiss,

Major, C. W. 8., Technical Director.

If you sell a war-gas factory to a foreign country it might very

well be that with the system of interchange of information between
yourselves and the Chemical Warfare Service some of the informa-

tion in the Chemical Warfare Service will be passed along to the pur-

chaser, will it not?
Mr. Casey. I think that would be a natural result, because I

stated in that previous memorandum where the conference with Pres-

ident Coolidge came in, it was clearly stated there that we would not

take any action unless requested by the Government.
Senator Clark. I am glad to see somebody's memory coming back

about the matter of that conference at the White House.
Mr. Casey. I had not,been to the White House on that matter, but

I say in the memorandum they make that very selfsame statement.

Senator Clark. There is no question about the fact that if you are

in the process of interchanging information with the Chemical War-
fare Service, and you sell a war-gas factory to a foreign government,
which you install for them and undertake to teach them to operate,

it is almost inevitable some of this information which you acquired
in this interchange with the Chemical Warfare Service will be passed
on to the purchaser.

Mr. Casey. It is self-evident from that previous memorandum that
we could not do it unless the United States Government wanted us
to do it and gave us the information.

Senator Clark. I understand that, but that is the fact, is it not,

Major?
Mr. Casey. It is the fact; yes.

Senator Clark. You recognize it in that memorandum to which
you are referring?
The Chairman. What is the difference between exchanging tech-

nical reports and freely exchanging this information by personal
conference ?

Mr. Casey. I think the answer is this. I cannot speak for either
Prentiss or Stine, but our work was in connection with the general
chemical research work on inorganic chemicals. Is not that right,
Doctor ?

Dr. Sparre. Organic.
Mr. Casey. Organic and inorganic, both, for that matter. The

other day I think it was brought out that there is a point up to which
you might say both dyes, pharmaceuticals, photographic material,
and so forth, and explosives or gases may be brought, that you woukl
call the main trunk of the tree. When you reach that point, then
they branch off on the one hand into the line of commercial ma-
terial such as dyes and other materials of that type, or on the other
hand they may branch off into high explosive material or related
materials.

Because of our fundamental research, there was no doubt in the
world that we could communicate to them considerable information
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that would permit them to go from the main branch of the tree into

the line of research they were following. We were not following
any research work along the line that interested Edgewood Arsened
or the Chemical Warfare Service.

USE or UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT GUNS FOR COMMERCIAL
DEMONSTRATIONS

Senator Clark. Now, Major, when you sell a powder to a foreign

government, you have to give a demonstration of the powder, do
you not, ordinarily?

Mr. Casey. In a great many cases, yes ; others not.

Senator Clark. It is the ordinary custom?
Mr. Casey. If it is something new, yes.

Senator Clark. I now call your attention to a letter from Colonel
Taylor to Major Casey, dated June 3, 1930, which I offer for appro-
priate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1022 ", and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark (reading) :

*

F. N. H. Powder—Holland.

Dear Sir: The Dutch Government advises that it is impossible for them to

borrow a gun from any European Government using the French 75-mm field gun.
Regarding obtaining a gun from the United States Government we had a

conversation with Colonel Wesson about this matter.

Who is Colonel Wesson?
Mr. Casey. He is an ordnance officer. I think at that time he was

stationed in London.
Senator Clark (reading) :

We had a conversation with Colonel Wesson about this matter, and he be-

lieves that this occasion had never arisen before, and thinks it would certainly

be refused so as not to create a precedence. Colonel Wesson believes, however,
that it would be possible for our company to borrow a gun from the United
States Government for a certain length of time by taking full responsibility for

wear and tear and for its return. Our company could then send it to Holland
to be fired for tests and returned.

It seems to me desirable to make every effort to obtain this gun in this way,
as we know the powder acts all right in it, and as it will give a good impression

of our powder. We have warned the Dutch Government that fitting their guns
may be very difl^cult, but they want to see the powder presented under the best

conditions.
I believe it impossible to get a gun in Europe except by buying one from

Schneider. The Fabrique Nationale of Li^ge, Belgium, do not make artillery.

As we would particularly like for Mr. Bradway to be present at the F. N. H.
trials in Holland, we advised you of the above by our cable No. 845, hoping
that you can arrange to send the gun and 40 made-up rounds to Holland early

enough for firings to be made in Holland before Mr, Bradway returns to

America.

You actually got this gun, did you. Major?
Mr. Casey. I believe we did. The gun in question was by that

time an obsolete type in the United States as to design.

Senator Clark. It was still in service in the War Department?
Mr. Casey. Oh, yes; it is still in service, but it is an obsolete

design. In other words, as fast as they can get the money for the

new designs, they will have that.

Senator Clark. I call your attention to another memorandum, to

the traffic department, signed by W. H. O'Gorman, assistant director,

dated September 8, 1930.
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(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1023'', and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark (reading) :

Shipment of gun and ammunition to Holland.

This is directed to Mr. O. E. Pyle.

In connection with prospective sale of du Pont F. N. H. cannon powder to

the Holland Government, we have borrowed a 75-mm gun, model 1917, from
the United States Government, which we propose to ship to Holland together
with 40 rounds of ammunition. The gun and ammunition are being shipped
for firing tests in Holland and we desire to make immediate booking to cover.

We do not think it is advisable to make shipment of the items mentioned in

the name of the du Pont Co., and consequently would ask that you arrange to

have the matter handled by one of your export brokers making shipment, if

possible, in their name.

Why did you not desire to have it shipped in the name of the du
Pont Co. ?

Mr. Casey. There was some reason at the time; I have forgotten

what it was; whether it was because we did not want to have the
name " du Pont " tied up with a gun or what, I do not know, because

we did not make the guns.
Senator Clark (reading) :

We are attaching copy of memorandum indicating the specifications of the
gun and spare parts, which will be included, together with the value of each
item. In the first instance we were of the opinion that the gun should be dis-

mantled for shipment. However, Aberdeen Proving Ground recommended that
it be shipped intact, and this recommendation was adopted. The gun has been
securely crated, the weights and dimensions of the crate being as follows

:

Length, 13 feet 8 inches ; width, 6 feet 8 inches ; height, 5 feet 4 inches ;
gross

weight, 3,900 pounds. This gross weight includes weight of gun and carriage,
which is 2,887 pounds, and weight of tools, accessories, and crate, which is

1,013 pounds.
We have not received actual weights and dimensions of the cases containing

the 40 rounds of ammunition. However, we know that each round will eon-
tain 26.6 ounces of smokeless powder and will have a proof slug weighing
approximately 15.96 pounds. From this you will note that there is only
approximately 66i/^ pounds of smokeless powder involved. This ammunition
will be equipped with primers. The packing cases in which the ammunition
will be shipped will be approximately 9 inches by 9 inches by 26 inches, there
being 4 rounds included in each box.
We have executed a bond in favor of the Government, in the amount of

$8,500, covering the return of the gun in question within a period of 1 year.
In view of this, it is important that shipment be arranged immediately. Since
the gun is now on hand at Aberdeen Proving Ground, Aberdeen, Md., it would
be convenient to ship from Philadelphia, if possible. However, in the event
this cannot be arranged and shipment can be made more promptly from New
York, please arrange to make the booking accordingly. Your Mr. Grubb has
quoted us a trucking rate of $40 to Philadelphia and $60 to New York. Leager's
O. K. Transfer, Wilmington, Del., moved this gun from Raritan Arsenal,
Metuchen, N. J., to Aberdeen, and the quotation mentioned was submitted by
this same company.
Please let us hear from you immediately regarding this matter.

This is another instance, is it not, Major, where it is not intended
for the War Department files to show the actual transaction ?

Mr. Casey. You mean in the way the gun was borrowed?
Senator Clark. Yes.
Let me read you another letter from yourself to the Chief of Ord-

nance, United States Army, dated June 25, 1930.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1024 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2832.)
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Senator Clark (reading) :

Chief of Ordnance, United States Army,
Munitions Building, Washington, D. C.

Deiar Sir: Under authority contained in section 123 of the National Defense
Act, the du Pont Co. requests the lone of one 75-mm gun, model 1916-17, for tha
purpose of making tests to perfect FNH powder.

These tests were not for the purpose of perfecting any powder,
were they, Major? They were for the purpose of demonstrating
powder which you were going to sell.

Mr, Casey. At the same time, at this particular time and even
today, we are still trying to perfect FNH powder. We have not

reached perfection yet.

Senator Clark, The memorandum from your own assistant to

Mr, Pyle, of the traffic department, says

:

In connection with prospective sale of du Pont FNH cannon powder to the

Holland Government, we have borrowed a 75-mm gun, model 1917, from the

United States Government.

Will you just read that section of the National Defense Act there,

Major, that applies to this? You say section 123, I could not find

it in the act myself, and I looked for it a few moments ago.

Mr. Casey. Here is section 123. Will you read it, please?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is on page 81

:

Sec. 123. Procurement of gauges, dies, jigs, and so forth, necessary for

manufacture of arms, and so forth.—The Secretary of War he, and he is hereby,

authorized to prepare or cause to be prepared, to purchase or otherwise procure,

such gauges, dies, jigs, tools, fixtures, and other special aids and appliances,

including specifications and detailed drawings, as may be necessary for the

immediate manufacture, by the Government and by private manufacturers, of

arms, ammunition, and special equipment necessary to arm and equip the land
forces likely to be required by the United States in time of war : Provided, That
in the expenditure of any sums appropriated to carry out the purposes of this

section the existing laws prescribing competition in the procurement of supplies

by purchase shall not govern, whenever in the opinion of the Secretary of War
such action will be for the best interest of the public service.

Senator Clark, I read that a little while ago, but that obviously is

not the section at all that provides for taking a gun of the United
States Army abroad to Holland for the purpose of selling powder
Mr. Casey. I do not think it is.

Senator Clark (continuing). For a private munitions company. I

am frank to say I have been unable to find any section that does
authorize taking an American gun to Holland for the purpose of

selling powder to a private munitions company.
Mr. Casey, Apparently that section referred to is not the correct

one, I think that is self evident.

Senator Clark. I can understand that.

Mr. Casey, If I may look through this at some time
Senator Clark. All right. I will not try to pin you down on that,

Major. It has probably been revised since. But I would be very
much interested to see what section of the law does authorize the

Government to lend a piece of ordnance belonging to the War
Department for demonstration in Holland in connection with the

sale of poAvder to Holland.
Major, sometimes when it is not feasible to borrow a gun from

the Government, it may be feasible to have the United States Ord-
nance Department cooperate at this end, may it not?
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Senator Clark. I call your attention to a letter dated April 23,

1931, from Major Casey to Colonel Taylor.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1025 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2832.)

Senator Clark. It says

:

Regarding the discussion that Mr. Singer had with Mr. Gray, of the United
States Sperry Ordnance Co., Mr. Gilmore, vice president of the company,
together with Mr. Gray, had an interview with us tliis morning. Mr. A. Felix
du Pont. Mr. Porter, Mr. Bradway, and the writer were present.

It was practically agreed that there were cei'tain advantages to be gained by
cooperation between the companies.

What does the Sperry Co. manufacture, by the way. Major?
Mr. Casey. The Sperry Ordnance Co. referred to there
Senator Clark. That is what I mean.
Mr. Casey (continuing). Was a company organized to attempt

to make the Driggs 3-inch A. A. gun that Driggs himself was offer-

ing in Poland.
Senator Clark. That was the rapid-fire naval gun Driggs was

talking about.

Mr. Casey. This is an antiaircraft gun.
Senator Clark. An antiaircraft gun.
Mr. Casey. The Sperry people themselves, due to certain of their

personnel as well as their own experience, were equipped to make
certain elements in connection with that gun, such as the director.

On the other hand, they could not make the gun, nor could they
make the carriage. Therefore, in conjunction with the United
States Qast Iron Pipe & Foundry—is not that the name? Well, you
know the company.

Senator Clark. I have heard the name mentioned here, Major.
Mr. Casey. They organized for this particular purpose the United

States Sperry Ordnance Co.
Senator Clark. The cooperation was to be that they were to make

guns and you were to sell the powder, that was the basis of cooper-
ation ?

Mr. Casey. Yes ; that is the idea.

Senator Clark (reading) :

It was practically agreed that there were certain advantages to be gained
by cooperation between the companies. They have discovered that it is diffi-

cult to sell fire-control equipment without the gun and it is likewise difficult

to sell the gun without the ammunition. In our case we have likewise found
it would be to our advantage to be tied up with a proposition involving com-
plete equipment.
The question of securing a gun from the Ordnance Department and shipping

it to Poland was found to be neither feasible nor desirable.

You had not found that previously, had you. Major? You could
borrow a gim whenever you wanted to ?

Mr. Casey. There was a definite reason here. In the first place,

there are certain restrictions on the use of the recuperator. The
recuperator was secured from the French by the United States Gov-
ernment, and the United States Government will not divulge any
of the details of that recuperator. When I say " recuperator ", I
am referring to their type of recoil mechanism.

Senator Clark (reading) :

It was, therefore, agreed that the Sperry Co. would immediately start work
to induce a Polish mission to visit this country at the expense of the Sperry
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Co. to witness a demonstration of the 3-inch A. A. equipment and other ma-
terial, if deemed necessary. The Ordnance Department have already agreed
to put on such a show.
The advantages of tliis method are manifold : in the first place, we can rest

assured that the tests will be of such nature as to be at least favorable to

the material being demonstrated.

I understand this is a show to be put on by the Ordnance Depart-
ment, but you can arrange in advance to have it be favorable to the

material being demonstrated.

The personnel handling the gun or guns will be thoroughly' familiar with
their job. The mission would likewise be given an opportunity to visit the
different plants involved in the manufacture of this equipment, which would
naturally include the du Pont plant, and the fact that the tests would be
ofiBcial tests of the United States Government could be played up tremendously.
The expense of a mission coming to this country would be considerably less

than the expense involved in securing a gun and shipping the same to the
other side, together with the proper personnel to handle it, as well as the
other personnel involved in the negotiation.
With Pilsudski's return to Warsaw the conditions may be more favorable

than they were heretofore.

Why was that, Major?
Mr. Casey. There existed in Poland the same situation that exists

in other countries. That is, Pilsudski was a man who believed along
a certain line, whereas some of his political opponents believed

otherwise.

Senator Clark. In other words, he would be a little freer bran-
dishing a sword, therefore more likely to buy munitions?
Mr. Casey. No, no; that was not it. Pilsudski was anxious to buy

from America rather than make in Poland. In this particular in-

stance the Driggs proposition was not satisfactory to the United
States Sperry Ordnance Co. for several reasons, one being that 400
guns were supposed to be the total number involved in this pros-

pective order, and of that number 100 guns were to be made in this

country, the remaining 300 guns made in Poland. It was to be the
Driggs gun. And as I stated, the Driggs gun did not nor would
it be allowed to use the recuperator. They had to develop their

own recoil mechanism. Driggs, of course, assured the Poles that

his recoil mechanism was far superior to the French recuperator.

That did not appeal to either the United States Sperry Ordnance
Co. nor was the Ordnance Department interested in 300 guns or

three-fourths of the order being produced in Poland. Further than
that, Driggs had already decided on a price, and the Sperry Co., in

going over his figures, could not understand how he was going to

sell a gun that was going to cost, according to their figures, about
$35,000, for $27,000. Driggs dismissed that by saying, " I do not
expect to make any money on the guns made in this country. I
expect to make my money on the guns made in Poland." So you
see the thing was unattractive.

Senator Clark. Why did you welcome the return of Pilsudski to

Warsaw ?

Mr. Casey. Because he was more inclined to purchase on the
outside, realizing as a military man that Poland did not have the
source of supplies of raw materials to enable them to produce their

own munitions.
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Senator Clark (reading) :

By next Monday the Sperry people expect to have a considerable amount of

data collected, and on Tuesday the 28th we expect to receive word from the

Sperry people as to what has been accomplished.
Mr. Gray is sailing for Europe on Wednesday the 29th. We cannot as yet

advise the steamer as his reservations have not been made, but promptly upon
receipt of same we will cable you.

Then he goes on about going to Europe.

The basis of the willingness of the Ordnance Department to render this assist-

ance is predicated on the general theory that it is necessary for the national

defense to do everything possible to help maintain private manufacture in the
ammunition game. Therefore, any assistance they can render to bring this

about they will do, but they are not interested in a proposition to establish the
manufacture of Army ordnance material in foreign countries unless they merely
represent a small proportion of the number to be manufactured in the United
States. In other words, the facilities for manufacture are the plain objective

of the Ordnance Department.
The Sperry people feel that the experience we have had in European negotia-

tions is quite a factor and our participation in any such arrangements would
be limited to the extent of the material to be furnished by us.

If there are any further developments along this line, we will advise you
promptly.

Did that mission ever come over, Major?
Mr. Casey. No ; not that I know of.

Senator Clark. Then the Ordnance Department never got a

chance to put on its show?
Mr. Casey. Not that I know of. I do not even know today

whether the United States Sperry Ordnance Co. is in existence. They
were organized to take over this Driggs matter, and, as far as I Imow,
when that thing petered out, if they are in existence, I do not know it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, may I go back to this paragraph
123, which I read? Major Casey seemed to think that was the correct

reference.

Senator Clark. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I am not a very good reader, and I think if

you read this carefully

Senator Clark. I read it before the hearing started. I thought it

was obviously the wrong section.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. May I read the language as it might be
interpreted ?

Senator Clark. Yes; by all means.
Mr. Lammot du Pont (reading) :

The Secretary of War be, and he is hereby, authorized to * * * cause to
be prepared * * * appliances * * * necessary for the * * * manu-
facture * * * by private manufacturers, of * * * special equipment
* * * likely to be required by the United States in time of war.

Senator Clark. That does not appear in the law to begin with, Mr.
du Pont. If you are able to read into the section providing for the
purchase of a supply of jigs and dies, and equipment of that sort,

an authorization to lend guns to be taken abroad into a foreign
country and used in the demonstration of powder for sale to that
foreign country, you have more ingenuity than I can conceive of,

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think the only interpretation necessary
here is to interpret the authorization to prepare to mean the authori-
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zation to use. If he can prepare something, he certainly ought to be

able to use it.

Senator Clark. I am certainly willing interpretations go into the

record, but I certainly do not feel you will find any reasonable man
to agree with you.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think that is the paragraph, nevertheless.

Mr. Casey. We will continue to look, anyway, to see if we can find

something else.

Senator Clark. All right.

The Chairman. I suggest. Major Casey, you get in touch with Mr.
Driggs and find out by what authorization he prevailed upon one of

our American battleships to go over to Turkey to have one of his

new guns demonstrated for the benefit of the Turks.

Mr. Casey. I guess Mr. Driggs can tell his own story.

The Chairman. He may have discovered the way to do it.

Mr. Casey. Yes.

NATIONAL POLICY REGARDING MUNITIONS SHIPMENTS TO FOREIGN
COUNTRIES

Senator Clark. Now, Major, I hand you an unsigned memo-
randum taken from the du Pont files, dated July 27, 1923, headed,
" Nobel-Military Powder ", which I will ask to have marked ap-

propriately.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1026 ",

and appears in full in the text.)

Senator Clark. Can you tell me who wrote that memorandum ?

Mr. Casey. It looks very much like one of mine.

Senator Clark. It sounds very much like one of yours, too. Major.
Mr. Casey. Yes.

Senator Clark. It is unsigned, and I wanted to identify it, if

possible.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Clark. " Exhibit No. 1026 " reads

:

Memorandum.
Reasons why we should sell military propellants and explosives in Europe:
1. This company was started to supply military explosives and hasi been

doing so since the beginning of its existence. It takes a justifiable pride in
always being ready to serve the United States Government in emergencies and
has advertised the fact that the accumulation of profits has always been
secondary to the desire to give patriotic service.

2. For patriotic reasons and secondarily for business reasons the art of
manufacture should be kept alive and in a state of continuous progressive
development. That this may be accomplished, sales outside the United States
are necessary at this time, and experience in the last few years has shown
that the only part of the world in which such sales can be carried on successfully
is Europe.

3. The above ideas were suggested to us by oflScers of the Army and Navy,
General Williams, Admiral Earle, and Admiral McVay being particularly anxious
that we sell in foreign countries at least for the time during which appro-
priation will be insufficient to give private manufacturers any Army and Navy
business. The same ideas were in some cases suggested, in others favorably
received by Secretary Denby and Secretary Weeks and heartily endorsed by
General Pershing. The organizations of niiiitary and naval intelligence are
coopei'ating with us in our sales promotion. R»;th the Army and Navy are
giving us assistance of inestimable value in research work for the purpose
of improving military propellants and explosives.

4. If we retire from European markets, it may be necessary to give up
military business altogether. This would require repudiating our statements of
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patriotism and service which we have made to the public and to the military
branches of tJie Government, and would be a shameful thing to do.

5. It might be said that because the Government will not make appropria-
tion to order material to keep our business alive, there is no reason why we
should go to any trouble to do it ourselves. I do not agree to this at all.

Countries have been served and sometimes saved by the individual patriotic

efforts of private citizens when those in charge of the Government were too
shortsighted to do what those patriotic citizens saw had to be done. Congress
is too shortsiglited to see the necessit.v for appropriating funds to keep private
manufacturers of military materials in business. The Army and Navy would
spend money for this purpose if they could get it ; and because they cannot,
they are doing all they possibly can do, and that is to help us make sales to

other nations. This is our country and not the country of Congress.

That is about the coldest statement that has yet been made, Major,
fts to the ownership of the country.

6. We have an investment for the manufacture of military propellants and
explosives, and the results of 4 years of eii'ort are beginning to bear fruit, by
which means a good return can be made on the investment.

It is evident thar the above r>\asons are suflicient f^ir us to say tliat we are
under obligations to continue our sales efforts in Europe and in considering
the question of these efforts being distasteful to friends in the same line of
business, we should consider only what we can do in the way of satisfying
them by some other concession than that of abandoning our present course witli

military business.

In view of these exhibits that have been put in evidenre here, I

think it is a fair question to ask who determines our policies con-
cerning sales of mimitions to foreign governments—the War
Department or the du Pont Co. ?

Mr. Casey. It is self-evident that it is the AVar Department.
Senator Clark. It is not self-evident from the exhibits that have

been put in evidence, in my opinion.

Mr. Casey. I don't think there is any other question. We stayed
in the powder business at the direct request of the War Department,
and at the time this letter was written here we had been making
efforts to stay in the business, with no chance of getting any busi-

ness from the United States, every year showing our results in the
red, our own people saying, " Well, we might as well get out of the

business ", and my efforts to prevent that thing happening. I again
used the strongest terms I knew how to try to induce our people that

they should stay in the business.

Senator Clark. Major, it is a fact, is it not, that all of the busi-

ness of the du Pont Co., and all of the assets, fundamentally, are

based on the powder business ?

Mr. Casey. Somebody else had better answer that.

Senator Clark. I think that was very conclusively shown in the

last hearing here in September.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think that is a true statement

today. Senator.
Senator Clark. I do not mean that it necessarily is the prepon-

derant part of your business today, but considering the business of
the company fundamentally, which I understand started out as a

powder-making company.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.

Senator Clark. It has grown from that and, in a very large meas-
ure, from the profits that accumulated during the period of the

World War, into its present tremendous position in other activities.
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Mr. Lammot du Pont. You are wrong in that statement in respect

to the profits from the war. That was gone into quite thoroughly at

an earlier hearing.

Senator Clark. I recall it was
;
yes, sir ; and that is the conclusion

I drew from your testimony.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is true the first hundred-odd years of the

company's experience were entirely in the powder business. Since

about 1905 the company has branched out into other industries.

The Chairman. Since when?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think it was about 1905 when we first

started branching out.

The Chairman. Did you do any such branching out at any time as

you did after the war, immediately after the war?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. The intent to branch out, I think, took place

before the beginning of the war, and certainly before the entry of

the United States into the war.
Senator Clark. But, Mr. du Pont, a great deal of the branching

out that was done was from funds accumulated from war profits ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, sir ; that is not a fair statement.

Senator Clark. Why is it not a fair statement ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Because, as explained in the previous hear-

ings, there were not enough profits from the World War to in any
substantial degree pay for the branching out that has occurred.

Senator Clark. I do not have before me right now the figures, but
what were your figures of profit during the World War ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. At the end of the war, the World War, it

was shown that there was something like $60,000,000 of accumulated
profits in the company's treasury.

Senator Clark. And you invested some $60,000,000 in the control

or in the practical control of General Motors, did you not ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Some $50,000,000.

Senator Clark. Some 50 million?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. But you must recall, Senator, that that was

only part
Senator Clark. So it would seem that some of that branching out

for the control, at least, of the General Motors Co., in general, was
from war profits.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. But the extent of the company has gone to

$250,000,000 or $300,000,000.
Senator Clark. But you have had the opportunity of branching

out since.

Mr. Lajmmot du Pont. So I say that the $60,000,000 is no very con-
siderable part of two hundred and fifty or three hundred million.

The Chairman. How near could you have come to the 250 million
if you had not first had the 60 million ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That is a question I cannot answer, because
that $250,000,000 was raised in an entirely different manner.
Senator Cl.vrk. Mr. du Pont. I was not present when you went

into the first ])ait of 3'our testimony before, and therefore I did not
ask you to put it in the record ; but can you tell offhand or will you
prepare a statement showing how much, if any, money was owing
to the du Pont Co. from the allied and associated nations or their

fiscal and purchasing agents in this country, such as Morgan, at the
time the United States entered the war?
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Mr. Lammot du Pont. That was owing to the du Pont Co. ?

Senator Clark. Yes.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think there was none, sir.

Senator Clark. Will you investigate that and give us that infor-

mation ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I am not sure we can do that right now.
If so, I will be glad to.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I can answer that right off. The foreign

governments have always paid in advance, cash, on every purchase.

We owed them right through the war. At one time it got up to

107 millions ; it was 102 millions at the end of the month, but in the

middle of the month it was 107 millions.

Senator Clark. That was advance payments, where you had not

delivered the ammunition ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes; and this money made out of the war
that you speak of, that was foreign trade.

Senator Clark. Yes.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. There was nobody here in this country that

was taxed to get that. That was all prohts brought to this country
from foreign trade. I do not see why you should belittle that. I

think that shows that our customers were extremely well satisfied.

I think you will find that the French Government decorated Pierre,

showing their appreciation, and I think we have some letters show-
ing further
The Chairman. They also decorated Sir Basil Zaharoff.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I don't know about that. You are getting

in good company now. But the facts are that I cannot see anything
particularly wicked about having served those people over there

who later became our allies. They were very glad to get the help,

and we made money in doing it, and we served them well. I take
exception to your idea that this is just a bloody proposition of selling

somebody else's life for money. It is outrageous.
Senator Clark. Of course, Mr. du Pont, you approach the matter

of war from an entirely different viewpoint from that held by a good
many others.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes; perhaps. You were not in the game,
or you might have a different viewpoint too.

Senator Clark. I was in the game, though, when it came to put-
ting on a uniform.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is quite true.

Senator Clark. In other words, you approach the subject of war
from a viewpoint that regards the war as a situation out of which
there may be made two or three hundred million dollars of profits

and come out with a whole hide. On the other hand, I entered the
war, with three boys, without any prospect of making any money
out of it, but who might be considered in the position of becoming
cannon fodder. Therefore, we look at it from a diametrically oppo-
site viewpoint.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Senator, you do not abhor war any more

than I do. I do not care what kind of a speech you make to the
people here ; I don't believe you abhor it any more than I do. Now,
we did provide ammunition to foreign governments. They asked
for it. I think we did a swell job. We have now gone into a num-
ber of other things which have helped this country a great deal.
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Senator Clark. Mr. du Pont, we intend no criticism of your peace-
time activities unconnected with the manufacture of munitions.
This inquiry has to do solely with the manufacture of munitions.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes; and I am rather proud of the part we

played in it.

Senator Clark. You have heard no criticism on the part of the
dvi Pont company. That is entirely outside the scope of this

investigation.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is satisfactory.

Senator Clark. But as far as coming back to the question of the
financial relations with the Allies, I think it is of very great im-
portance, because a great many people in this country, including
myself, as I said the other day, believed that the insistence of the
United States in shipping munitions to one series of combatants
ultimately led us into the war—we could not ship to the others

—

ultimately led us into the war, and, therefore, to the extent of
some 20 billion dollars, did impose a tax on the American people,

and therefore it is material, to say the least, to go into that question.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Senator, I can conceive of a roundabout
route by which the sending of munitions from this country helped
get that country into the war. It is this : If we had not sent those
munitions over, the foreign countries would have been licked, and
we would never have had a chance to get into the war. They would
have come here.

Senator Clark. That is purely a matter of conjecture on your
part. There is no evidence whatever to show we would have ever
entered in the war or ever fired a gun except for that course of action.

Mr. Casey. Senator, what were the munitions, using it now in its

dictionary sense, that were shipped to the Allies during the war?
Senator Clark. Most of them, or a great many of them, were guns

and explosives. A great many guns.

Mr. Casey. How about wheat?
Senator Clark. I may say as far as I am concerned—whether it

is of interest to this hearing or not—as far as I am concerned, I
believe that the acceptance by the United States Government of a
principle of international law which had theretofore for more than a
century been opposed by the United States and declared not to be
international law, in the confiscation of the Dacia^ which was loaded
with wheat, had a great deal to do with involving the United States

in the war.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. We might go back one step further. Senator.

Where would Washington's army have landed if they had not gotten

munitions from abroad ?

Senator Clark. They did not receive any munitions for a good
deal of time.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. They received practically all of their muni-
tions from abroad, made abroad and shipped over here. What would
Washington have done without powder? There was none here.

Senator Clark. A good deal that he got he took away from the
British.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. How did he get it away from them? He
had to have munitions to get it from them, didn't he ?
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The Chairman. Coming back to the subject of wheat for a moment,

was there any legislation fixing what you could charge for powder
or the munitions that were manufactured during the war?
Mr. Casey. There was a matter of common sense. The Allies

knew enough about values to such an extent that they did not come
over here prepared to pay anything that the American manufacturers

might ask. They realized that production in this country, because

of the fact we were absolutely unprepared to handle^ anything of

this sort—I am referring to plenty of things besides just ordnance

material now—they realized, as I just stated, that we were not pre-

pared to turn things out on the same economical basis, you might say,

that they felt they were in Europe. But at the same time I might
give 3^ou one instance. There was one man came over here to nego-

tiate a contract for the British. This was before the whole proposi-

tion of purchase was turned over to Morgan. He promptly nego-

tiated. About a year after that Colonel Buckner in this man's
presence happened to say that when we established the price of $1

a pound, which was the price in the early stages of the war, we felt

that that was a fair price, and this man replied, " You may have
thought you were doing good business, but I came over here prepared
to pay $2 a pound."

Senator Clark. That meant. Major, that you thought you were
charging all that the traffic could bear, and found out that you
were not?
Mr. Casey. We thought we were* charging him what we were jus-

tified in charging the Allies for an expansion in raw material and
an amortization of the new facilities that we had to provide. The
very first contract took our entire capacity. That was the French.
In the meantime, Mitsui & Co. acting as purchasing agent for the
Russian Government, had started their negotiations before the
French, but they were so long in agreeing to terms, especially regard-
ing advance payments, that while they were communicating back
and forth with the Russian Government, France came in and
promptly took it without any question.

Senator Clark. Dr. Sparre, did you have a correction that you
wanted to make ?

Dr. Sparre. Yes, Senator Clark.
At this morning's session you asked Mr. Casey a couple of ques-

tions that he could not answer because it was not in his department.
One of 3^our questions was about some correspondence with a Jap-
anese firm about the ammonia oxidation process for the manufacture
of nitric acid.

I explained last week, when you were not here. Senator Clark,
that that process was published in three American and Canadian
technical journals during the years 1927-31. Therefore, it was no
secret.

In the second place, nitric acid is used to the extent of about 98
percent for commercial purposes, and, therefore, cannot be classified

as ammunition. And, finally, we did not make the sale, anyhow.
Your second question was in regard to a hydrogen process which

was sold to the Japanese, that being one step in the production of
synthetic ammonia. There are several processes in the manufacture
of synthetic ammonia. We have one, and this was one step. How-
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ever, we figured, out that—it is pretty hard to get the exact statistics,

but in the different countries anywhere from 75 to 95 percent of the
ammonia goes into fertilizer, and certainly some 99 percent of the
ammonia goes into commercial products.
Furthermore, as regards Japan, they probably use over 90 percent

of ammonia in fertilizer. But even if you consider it on a war basis,

it is estimated that in times of war Japan will probably require
about 100,000 tons of ammonia annually or nitrogen annually for
munitions. Japan at that time had a capacity of 270,000 tons. In
other words, they had almost three times the capacity already of
what they needed in time of war for munitions. It must, therefore,

be a commercial proposition. At this time they have a capacity even
higher.

So I do not think, Senator Clark, that either one of those two prop-
ositions can be classified as munitions.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Senator, might I say a word in regard to one

or two things in regard to the purchases from the du Pont Co. On
March 31, 1917, which was about a week before the United States
entered the war, we had money of the foreign governments of
$40,248,000. At the same time we had on our books unpaid invoices
owing by the foreign governments of $5,886,000, or a net difference

of $35,562,000.

Senator Clark. That was represented by advance payments?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was advance payments we held at

that time, which was a week befoi*e we went into the war.
In regard to exports, I made a brief tabulation a few days ago

as to the increased value of exports of wheat, flour, bacon or hams,
cotton and copper, sent abroad during the war years 1915 to 1918,

inclusive. That advance price over 1914 values was $1,500,000,000,

just the advance price in those five commodities, and those are all

war essentials, of course. The increase in exports was due undoubt-
edly to war conditions, because the exports fell off very shortly after

the war.
That shows the magnitude of this most essential munition—food—

in the event of war, and if there is any attempt to stop war by pre-
venting shipments, the food situation is the one to tackle.

Senator Clark. I agree with you that that is one situation to

tackle.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It certainly is. It is the main one, because
the quickest means of ending a war would be to stop food supplies.

Senator Clark. I do not think the history of the world will show
an instance, Mr. du Pont, in which the probability of war between
nations has been increased by nations building up reserves of food
supplies. In other words, there has never been a competitive race
in food supplies as there has been a competitive race in armaments.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not so sure about that.

Mr. Casey. Senator, the very minute any nation begins to throw
in storage food supplies it is a warning to the world they are
expecting something.
Now, you have made certain tactical studies as an officer, and you

know in the general art of soldiering that of the four branches of
military science that one is the all-important consideration.

Senator Clark. That is all true, but did you ever hear of an in-

stance where one nation regarded it as an unfriendly act for another
nation to be accumulating food?
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Mr. Casey. They may not call it an unfriendly act, but it is a

definite warning to them.
Senator Clark. But you do know of many instances where the

building of battleships or the laying in of a great store of munitions

has been considered an unfriendly act, don't you ?

Mr. Casey. No; I would put it this way: That a nation can refer

to an increase in the accumulation of munitions and make an awful
lot of fuss about it, but the nation importing foodstuffs can always

give a good alibi.

Mr, Raushenbush. I would like to get this proposition a little

more definitely as to what Mr. Pierre du Pont said and we want you
to state it as a company proposition, if you will. Is it your propo-

sition that this committee might as well investigate the food industry

as the munitions industry ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Not at all. I am not trying to dictate to

the committee at all as to what to do.

Mr. Raushenbush. Are you putting them on a par ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I just mean to call attention to the impor-
tance of food supplies in connection with war activities.

Mr. Raushenbush. And to minimize in the course of the compari-
son the importance of munitions ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Munitions are very important, but I claim
that food supplies are just as much a munition as powder, and a much
more important one. But don't you think that is for the committee
to decide? I don't pretend to be dictating to the committee.
Mr. Raushenbush. Are you asking the committee to go into the

situation, that situation, as a means of control ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Not at all.

Mr. Raushenbush. Not at all?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I have no right to. It is not my province
to do it.

Mr. Raushenbush. I am trying to get straight just on this food
matter that was brought in here. If it is your company's opinion
that food is equally important with munitions, that certainly is a
matter to take under advisement, as coming from you. But if the
proposition is not made or is withdrawn, I am glad to hear that.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am very glad that you did not ask that
question. I am not trying to dictate to them.

Senator, might I say just one word on the question of the entry
of the du Pont Co. into the war, as a matter that has always inter-

ested me very much, as I was very largely responsible for the accept-
ance of that first French order which really started the du Pont Co.
in furnishing powder to the Allies.

I remember discussing with Colonel Buckner very carefully as to
whether the du Pont Co. should or should not accept the responsi-
bility of that order. It meant the use of our entire military powder
factory, necessitating the immediate building of another one to dupli-
cate it in order to take care of our obligations to the United States.
There was a great question of responsibility there, as to whether

we should go on or not, and it was followed immediately by an equal
responsibility, almost, in accepting British orders. During the
winter of 1914 and 1915, and the spring of 1915, there was very
active consideration of this question of the shipment of powder by

83876—35—PT 12 6
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Congress. It was a very serious question in our affairs, because of

our commitments to the Allies, the question of whether we would be

permitted to ship or not. Congress—I don't know how they decided

the question—decided not to stop the shipments of munitions or the

shipment of powder and a great many other things.

Senator Clark. That is very true.

Mr. Casey. There was an embargo, Mr. du Pont, in the beginning.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It lasted a very short time.

Mr. Casey. Yes ; about a month and a half. But I know we were
not even permitted to ship an order to the Dominion Cartridge Co.

in Canada because of that embargo, which was a proposition for a
little .22 short. The embargo was so stringent that we were not even

permitted to ship .22 powder.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I cannot see, Senator, a time from the day

we accepted that French order to the end of the war when the

du Pont Co. could have deliberately said we would ship no more
munitions. We would not have been upheld by public opinion,

certainly not abroad, nor in the United States?

Senator Clark. Mr. du Pont, so far as the matter of shipping
munitions during the war is concerned, I want you to understand
me about that. I am not intimating, and certainly not asserting,

that there was anything illegal about it or anything improper about
it. I am going to the question of national policy. As I see it, the
shipment of munitions of various kinds during the war to one set

of combatants had a very material, and you might say, lasting effect

on the well being and the history of the United States. We are not
undertaking now to fix the responsibility or blame for what happened
during the World War. We are trying to arrive at a picture of this

situation with regard to the future of wars and the future conduct
of the United States.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is certainly the right way to look at it.

Senator Clark. I am not intimating at all that there was anything
improper in any munitions manufacturer in the United States under
the policy permitted by the Government in the then state of the law
making shipments of munitions abroad, but I do think it had very
grave consequences to the United States.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am very glad to hear you say what you
have, because I gathered from you that you did think that we did
some improper act, not illegal act, in having furnished munitions,
that it would have been better if we had not done it.

Senator Clark. No ; I said that in connection with the question of
the du Pont Co. going out of the powder business. It was intimated
here a while ago that the du Pont Co. was conferring a very great
favor on the United States by remaining in the powder business.

Now, it is a fact that as a result of the war business, in the period of
4 years, as reflected in the stock-market quotations, say, of the du
Pont Co., that stock went up from $20 a share, on the basis of the
issue as it then was, to about a thousand dollars a share; isn't that
correct ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is correct
;
yes.

Senator Clark. So I say as to the du Pont Co.—I am not casting
any reflections on the motives of the du Pont Co. and their record
and the relationship of their dealings with the United States Gov-
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^rninent—but I do say to a very large extent the prosperity of the

du Pont Co. has been built on the powder business.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I hardly think you are right there. The ex-

pansion of the du Pont Co. before the war was brought about through

the manufacture of powder, but not military powder.

Senator Clark. You had manufactured all kinds of powder.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes; but military powder has been a very

small part.

Senator Clark. And the great expanse in the assets and business

of the du Pont Co. did take place during the war and as a result of

the war.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The great expansion that took place in the

du Pont Co. was through the institution of the making of dynamite
in this country. That is where the great growth started, in 1880.

Senator Clark. There was a tremendous growth following 1914 in

the assets and business of the company.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. There certainly was.

Mr. Casey. Senator Clark, just suppose the United States had
continued this embargo I referred to. I think the end of the war
would have been very soon, because it would have really meant that

the United States in refusing to sell to the Allies automatically be-

came an ally of Germany.
Senator Clark. Why is that, any more than it applies to selling

to the Allies?

Mr. Caset. The Germans were supplied and the Allies were not,

although they thought they were.

Senator Clark. We simply would not have become an ally of the

Allies, by not assuming a position of contributing to their prepared-

ness.

Mr. Casey. I am saying if the embargo which was first put into

effect by Secretary of State Bryan
Senator Clark. We certainly would not have been an ally of Ger-

many.
Mr. Casey. We would have been helping them.
Senator Clark. By simply attending to our own business?

Mr. Casey. And that would have been helping Germany. At the

time of the Japan-China fracas around Shanghai, I think England

—

I saw this in the press, which is my only source of information—'
when they jDut that embargo on against both—in other words, the

Chinese criticized them because they said by putting an embargo
against both they were in reality helping Japan.
Senator Clark. That may have been the Chinese opinion,

Mr. Casey. And I think it was justified. Japan had plenty of
arms for a proposition of that sort.

Senator Clark. We were under no obligation, either by treaty,

moral implication, or anything else, to assist the Allies or anybody
else by shipping munitions to them, if we desired to avoid entangle-
ments by not doing it.

Mr. Casey. We were under obligations the minute we announced
our principle of neutrality.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was the claim we made during the
Civil War, that it was an inimical act on the part of England to

refuse exportation of material to this country.
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Senator Clark. It was certainly not an inimical act, if we refused!

to ship to anybody.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. We claimed it was then.

Senator Clark. I am not familiar with that. We may have made
such a claim.

The Chairman. Mr. du Pont, how large a force is employed in
the production of powder in your plant at this time ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. You mean all kinds of powder ?

The Chairman. No.
Mr. Casey. Smokeless powder—military powder.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. About 300 men, I think.

The Chairman. What part of those 300 men are ordinary laborers,,

and what part are experts who are contributing to the progress and
development of gunpowder?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Of course, there are all degrees of experts.

I think Mr. Bradway can answer that more accurately.

The Chairman. Mr. Bradway.

TESTIMONY OF F. W. BRADWAY

(The witness had been previously sworn by the chairman.)
The Chairman. Did you hear the question, Mr. Bradway?
Mr. Bradway. I think I understood what you said.

The Chairman. The question was, What part of the estimated
300 employees in the production of powder is composed of experts

who will contribute to the improvement and development of powder?"
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, may I just ask Mr. Bradway if"

he will check that 300 figure ?

The Chairman. Yes, sir.

Mr. Bradway. The 300 is approximately correct at the present
time. I do not know that it is just exactly 300, but right around it..

I think that those people who are doing research work are probably
about 25,

The Chairman. Twenty-five in the research department?
Mr. Bradway. Yes, sir. Then we have our plant experts, the

superintendents and their managerial assistants, who are expert
powder makers. There are probably 10 or 15 of those.

The Chairman. All in all, how many whom you consider experts
who would be indispensable in carrying on the manufacture of
gunpowder in a progressive way?
Mr. Bradway. I should consider all our managerial force and our

research men indispensable.

The Chairman. Let us see if we can get at it another way. What
part of the 300 are now ordinary-type laborers who can be substi-

tuted for in a week or in a month ?

Senator Barbour. Easily replaced.

Mr. Bradway. I know what you mean. I was trying to figure
how many there would be of that type. Perhaps one-half of them.
The Chairman. About one-half of them?
Mr. Bradavay. We have skilled labor there which is equally as

hard to replace as the managerial labor or research labor, you might
say. At the time of expansion those skilled laborers really become
foremen or, in a sense, supervisors of lines for training other men..

The Chairman. Late in October the committee requested of the
Secretary of tlie Treasury a s-tatement showing appropriations and
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-.expenditures from appropriations for the War and Navy Depart-
ments, and a statement showing allotments by Public Works Admin-
istration of funds for the War and Navy Departments, and
expenditures from these allotments during the fiscal year of 1934.

In response to that inquiry the committee is today in receipt of

three exhibits, which the chair asks to have incorporated in the rec-

ord, along with the accompanying letter. Incidentally, exhibit no. 2
reveals that there has been an allotment of Public Works funds for

the War and Navy Departments of approximately $722,000,000.

Let the exhibits be properly marked and entered in the record.

(The letter accompanying the Treasury Department exhibits was
marked " Exhibit No. 1027 " and is included in the appendix on
p. 2833.)^

(The Treasury Department exhibit showing allotments by the

Public Works Administration for the War and Navy Departments
•during 1934 was marked " Exhibit No. 1028 " and is included in

the appendix on p. 2834.)^

(The Treasury Department exhibit showing appropriations and
expenditures for the War and Navy Departments from 1912 to 1914
was marked " Exhibit No. 1029 " and is included in the appendix
on p. 2835.)^

The Chairman. Senator Pope, I think you are wanting in your
examination to hear Major Casey, Mr. Irenee du Pont, Mr. Lammot
du Pont, and Mr. Beebe.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. May I ask a question about the exhibits to

which you referred. Senator?
The Chairman. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. In the War Department, does it include the
rivers and harbors work?
The Chairman. Yes, sir ; something over $200,000,000 of that total

was for river and harbor work.

attitude of du PONT CO. TOWARD EMBARGOES AND LEGISLATION
REGARDING EMBARGOES

Senator Pope. Mr. Casey, the testimony which has been given in
the hearing has been directed, or some of it, to the proposition as to

whether the history of the world since the World War shows that
the imposition of embargoes has generally helped or hindered the
movement toward peace?
In the former hearing there was something about the question of

proposals and methods showing the views of the du Pont Co.^
For instance, I will read a portion of the testimony giving your

statements in order that we may get the activities and attitude of
your company with reference to embargo proposals [reading] :

Senator Pope. I will ask you, Mr. Casey, whetlier or not it is the duty or
business of Mr. Simons to contact oflScials in the War Department with refer-
ence to legislative matters?

'"Exhibits Nos. 1027, 1028, and 1029" were entered into further in tlie testimony
..-of December 13, 1934, Hearings, Part XIII.

^Hearings, Part V, pp. 1125 and 1126.
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Mr. Simons is employed by the du Pont Co. in your department?
Mr. Casey. He was. He is practically retired. He is on leave of

absence right now for a year on account of ill health.

Senator Pope. The question was

:

* * * whether or not it is the duty or business of Mr. Simons to con-
tact officials in the War Department with refei'ence to legislative matters?

ilr. Casey. Absolutely not. We take no part whateA'er in legislative matters..
Senator Pope. You are sure of that?
Mr. Casetst. I am talking for my department.
Senator Pope. What about the other departments?
Mr. Casey. I cannot speak for them.
Senator Pope. Were you about to say something, Mr. Felix du Pont?
Mr. A. Feltx du Pont. No, sir.

Senator Pope. I refer you to a memorandum signed by Mr. Aiken Simmons
under date of January 17, 1933, Wihnington, Del., and dated Washington, D. C.,-

January 16, 1933, it having these two dates on it, and I will read the fii-st

paragraph of that memorandum as follows

:

and then I read part of this memorandum.
I might say, this is from page 1125 of the record.^

Mr. Casey. What is the date?
Senator Pope. It was early in the hearing, Major Casey. I do

not have the date here.

Mr. Casey. I do not mean the date of the hearing, but the date
of the memorandum.

Senator Pope. January 16 or 17.

Mr. Casey. January 17, 1933. All right.

Senator Pope (reading) :

The principal object of this visit was to discuss with the War Department
officials a bill now pending in the United States Senate authorizing the Presi-
dent to declare at his discretion an embargo on the shipment of munitions to
foreign countries. The details of this visit are covered in a separate memo-
randum.

Then I asked you [reading] :

Did you ever see tins memorandum?
Mr. Casey. This one, yes.
Senator Pope. Were you famijiar with its contents?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Pope. What would you say as to that first paragraph I have read

discussing the visit of Mr. Simons to the War Department to discuss this
matter of an embargo?

Mr. Casey. It was perfectly natural we should discuss with the War Depart-
ment to find out what their attitude was as affecting the national defense.

Senator Pope. Then I misunderstood you a minute ago when you said Mr.
Simons and no one else of your department discussed with the War Depart-
ment officials legislation of this kind?

Mr. Casey. Anything attempting to influence legislation is what I meant.
Senator Pope. You did not understand this embargo was passed.
Mr. Casey. We asked them what was their position. When the War Depart-

ment or the Navy Department say they have no objection, then we have none.
But if they feel it would hurt nntionnl defense, then our position might be
entirely different.

Now, in answer to that first question, you said [reading] :

We take no pait whatevei- in legislative matters.

And in this answer you say [reading] :

But if they feel it would hurt national defense, then our position might be
entirely different.

'Hearings, Part V, pp. 1120 and 1126.
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Mr. Casey, Yes, sir.

Senator Pope. I'he question which I want to ask there is this: I

would infer from your last answer that if the officials of the War
and Navy Departments do have objections on the ground of national

defense, "you would then be active, or feel at liberty to be active,

against such legislation?

Mr. Casey. No; that is not the intent of the answer. I simply

meant our viewpoint. Our viewpoint heretofore has been this : that

we were in the business as long as the Army and Navy wanted us to

be in the business.

Senator Pope. Yes, sir.

Mr. Casey. That is because they say they want us in the interest

of national defense. If they say that they are opposed to the em-

bargo because it may affect the national defense, then we feel that

they are going to attempt to keep us in the business as long as they

consider us a part of the national defense.

Senator Pope. Yes, sir.

Mr. Casey. Now, if they said, " No; we are not going to fight this

embargo ", then we would begin to look into our own house and
say, " if this embargo goes through, with some of the provisions, it

puts us out of business, and we might as well know it now so that

we can begin to cut our cloth accordingly.

Senator Pope. In any event, whether the Army or Navy officials

oppose the embargo on the ground of national defense or for an-

other reason, you take no action in legislative matters?
Mr. Casey. Absolutely not. One of the first things which I de-

cided on when I first had charge of military sales was, at no time
was I going to have a part in it, so that anybody could at any time
say we were trying to use politics, political influence, in any way,
in legislative matters.

Senator Pope. In other words, keep perfectly clear of any effort

whatever to influence legislative action ?

Mr. Casey. That is the idea.

Senator Pope. All right. We will go on.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, may I interject there a moment?
Senator Pope. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I am not questioning the propriety of
Major Casey's statement to you, but I think if you put a certain

interpretation on the phrase " taking part in legislative matters ",

that the answer becomes incorrect.

Senator Pope. In what way, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We have given your committee our views
on munition matters. Your purpose is to prepare legislation. We
have, therefore, taken a part in legislative matters by the letter

which we addressed to Senator Nye and
Senator Pope. Yes; but what I mean is, you now say, or Major

Casey says, that it is the policy of your company
Mr. Casey. On military sales.

Senator Pope (continuing). To use no influence, exert no efforts,

engage in no activities, with the desire to influence legislation to

impose an embargo or any other legislation affecting the shipment
of munitions.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. My position is that the answer may be

right or wrong depending on what interpretation you put on that
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phrase " taking no part in legislative matters." We certainly have
been active at times in expressing our views to Members of Con-
gress on legislative matters, or matters which may become the sub-

ject of legislation. Our letter to Senator Nye is one. The confer-

ence with the representatives of the du Pont Co. regarding the

Geneva conference was another.

Senator Pope. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We certainly expressed our views at that
hearing, which may be said to be a legislative matter.

Senator Pope. And in conference with your Senators and Repre-
sentatives in Congress when a measure that arises affects your
interest ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes; we express our views freely and as

forcefully as we can.

Senator Pope. That would be "certainly a modification of Mr.
Casey's answer.
Mr. Casey. I was speaking for my own department only. We

have produced evidence of that before.

Senator Pope. We will go on.

Following the evidence given, in order to establish our basis here,

I read:

Senator Pope. In that connection I call your attention to the memorandum
which Mr. Simons referred to in that letter. It is dated Wilmington. Del.,

January 17, 1933, and marked " Confidential memorandum to Maj. K. K. V.
Casey, director, proposed embargo on shipment of munitions ", and it states

:

" Colonel Taylor in his P-2544 of December 28, which was his annual report
for the year, made some very interesting comments on the effect of disarma-
ment in Europe. This was exti'acted in a memorandum dated January 13,

addressed to you, and suflicient copies prepared so that they could be handed
to interested officials in Washington."

This memorandum referred to there, Mr. Casey, had to do, did it

not, with the discussion of the effect of embargoes in general in

Europe and the probable effect of future embargoes?
Mr. Casey. I do not think it did ; and at the time I said I was not

prepared to answer unless I had the memorandum of January 13
referred to. That memorandum was read into the record last week,
either Friday or Thursday, and on which, if you will refer back to

those dates, you will find where the extract from that letter was read
into the record. I have a copy of it right here.

Senator Pope. Yes ; but the memorandum did deal with the matter
of embargoes in Europe and the probable effect of future embargoes.
Mr. Casey. I do not think it had that effect at all.

Senator Pope. The one which I examined did.

Mr. Casey. Here is a copj'^ of the letter of January 17. Attached
to this is a copy of the memorandum of January 13 referred to.

Senator Pope. Wliat does that memorandum relate to there?
Mr. Casey. I will ask somebody else to read it, if you do not mind.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. This refers to the Geneva Conference. Shall

I read the letter?

Mr. Casey. I think you better.

Senator Pope. That must be the wrong memorandum then, because
the one I have reference to is the one referred to in the former testi-

mony having to do with embargoes.
Mr. Casey. This is the only memorandum referred to.
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Now, the fact of the matter is, Senator, that I have attached here
Colonel Taylor's complete report, which I would like to show you.
There is the complete annual report, and you will find right here

—

this is a general discussion of Europe—but you come to this point
and there are two little red marks ending here [indicating]

.

It was that part of Taylor's report which is in this memorandum
of January 13.

Senator Pope. Let us go on and perhaps we can clear this up a
little later as to which memorandum it was.

Then I asked you before, in the former testimony [reading] :

Did you kuow about the preparation of that memorandum by Mr. Aiken
Simons and its being handed to the oflacials of the War Department?
Mr. Caset. I believe tliat was an extract from Colonel Taylor's letter. He

was giving his report on the European reactions.
Senator Pope. What was the nature of those European reactions'?

Mr. Casey. Regarding the effect of an embargo.
Senator Pope. Meaning an embargo already in force?
Mr. Caset. No ; the effect of a possible embargo. We take no action regard-

ing whether legislation is passed or not, but we simply want to know what
the effect would be.

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Pope. Your answers there indicated the nature of the
memorandum.
Mr. Casey. At the time I made those answers, of course, I did not

have that memorandum of the 13th in front of me. It was not
available at the time. It had not been taken from our records.

Senator Pope. We will attempt to clear that up before we get
through with the examination, and I think we can.
Now, I call your attention to an exhibit under date of April 7,

1932, signed by Colonel Simons, dated at Wilmington, Del., and I
will just read this paragraph, which is the fourth paragraph of the
exhibit.

I offer that for appropriate number.
(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1030 ", and

is included in the appendix on p. 2837.)
Senator Pope (reading) :

Called on Admiral Larimer, Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance, United States
Navy, and discussed the same matter with him. Admiral Larimer called up
Capt. H. K. Cage, Chief of the Material Division, office of the Chief of Naval
Operations, and called his attention to the resolution and its status?, of which
neither of these officers had been aware until their attention was called thereto.
Captain Cage will take appropriate actiou to have the bill opposed on the floor
of the House.

He makes reference to Resolution No. 282, introduced in the Con-
gress by Representative Fish, of New York', proposing a resolution
whereby the United States would join all other nations in renouncing
the sale or export of arms, munitions, or implements of war.
Has that matter of this memorandum come to your attention ?

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir ; at the time.
Senator Pope. And with the report of Colonel Simons' activities in

that respect?
Mr. Casey. Yes, sir. He was taking the regular procedure. This

Fish resolution would have prevented the very thing both the Army
and Navy were trying to protect us in doing, and that was affecting
foreign sales.

Senator Pope. Yes.



2722 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Casey. Then, if that thing went into effect, the Army and
Navy would both have had to put in the policy, and it would have
an effect on our decision as to whether or not we could stay in the

business.

Senator Pope. But the fact is that Mr. Simons called on these

officials referred to heie and called their attention to this Fish
embargo resolution, and reported that they would take action to

oppose it on the floor of the House.
Mr. Casey. He reported what they were going to do. We had

nothing to do with what they were going to do.

Senator Pope. Very well. We will proceed, and I will call your
attention to a memorandum dated January 17, 1933, dated at Wil-
mington, Del., the subject matter of the memorandum, which is

addressed to j^ou, Major Casey, being " Proposed Embargo on the
Shipment of Munitions '', which I will offer for appropriate number.

(The memorandum referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1031"
and is included in the appendix on p. 2838.)

Senator Pope. That reads as follows:

Colonel Taylor in his T-2544 of December 28, which

Mr. Casey. That is the letter right there.

Senator Pope (continuing reading) :

which was his annual report for the year, made some very interesting com-
ments on the effect of disarmament in Europe. This was extracted in a
memorandum dated January 13, addressed to you, and sufficient copies of the
memorandum prepared so that they could be handed to interested officials in

Washington.
On the morning of Monday, January 16, I called on Maj. R. D. Brown

of G-2—

Military intelligence

—

handed hiui a copy of the memorandum and asked his opinion on the situa-
tion. Major Brown was frankly concerned, and, since the authority reqiiested
by the President to declare an embargo on munitions had been presented to
the Senate in the form of a bill and this bill has already been reported out
of committee. Major Brown's concern is justified.

I then called on General Moseley, Deputy Chief of Staff, and after waiting
some time while General Moseley was in conversation with General Mac-
Arthur, the Chief of Staff, and Mr. Frederick H. Payne, the Assistant Secretary
of War, General Moseley received me and after glancing over the memorandum,
instructed me to get a copy in the hands of Mr. Payne at once, since Mr.
Payne had just been discussing the matter.

I then called on Colonel McFarland, who advised me that it would not be
possible for Mr. Payne to see me at the moment but that the memorandum
would be placed in his hands at the first opportunity, and that Mr. Payne
was much interested in it.

I then called on Captain Ogan, executive officer of Naval Intelligence, and
handed him a copy requesting that it be brought to the attention of the
Secretary of the Navy. Captain Ogan informed me that he had no method
of getting it to the Secretary of the Navy and advised that I see the Chief of
the Bureau of Ordnance.
Hence I called on Admiral E. B. Larimer and handed him a copy of the

memorandum. He promised to take the matter up with Admiral W. V. Pratt,
Chief of Naval Operations, with tlie request that Admiral Pratt bring the
matter to the attention of the Secretary of Navy and indicate the vital need of
maintaining the private manufacture of arms and munitions in this country.

Do you recall receiving that memorandum ?

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Pope. Showing the activities of Colonel Simons, calling on
all these people and discussing this matter with them ?
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"Mr. Casey, I think at this time, Senator, if Mr. du Pont will be

'kind enough, the memorandum referred to should be read, and I

would suggest that you follo^\' the text in that annual report of

Colonel Taylor's.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is the one read in the other day.

Mr. Casey. That is the one read in the other day, but I think it

should be read again, whether it is put in'the record or not at this

.time.

Senator Pope. If it is relevant.

Mr. Casey. It is extremely relevant.

Senator Pope. What does it deal with ?

Mr. Casey. You take Colonel Taylor's letter and you will find

"where those red marks are. It starts in with Colonel Simons' own
statement and then quotes the extract from Colonel Taylors report

to which I referred, which is pretty well back.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The quotation starts out

:

In view of tlie very great effect

Senator Pope. You are interested in having read the part relating

to the disarmament conference?
Mr. Casey. Yes ; that is the part which is checked, and I want to be

sure we give you all Simons' letter ; and when he starts the quotation
there, if you will check it, you will find what it refers to.

Senator Pope (reading) :

In view of ttie very great effect in Europe of the convention covering tlie

limitation of the traffic of armp, signed at Geneva in 1925 but not ratitied, in
accelerating tlie construction of governmental factories in Europe, the oflSce

has been very much concerned as to what might be the result of the present
discussion at Geneva.

There is no need to describe the visible result of this conference, as this has
been well covered by the press ; but we have been trying to find out what the
real effect would be.

It is the opinion of the military manufacturers that no limitation will be put
on governmental manufacture ; for example, in France there are 300,000 people
employed in the Government arsenals, and nearly all these men vote for the
socialist deputies ; therefore, while the socialist deputies with their liberal

doctrines cry for disarmament, any attempts on the part of the French War
Department to close down the Government factories are bitterly opposed by
these same deputies on the basis that it would throw voters out of work. In
many other countries the same situation exists, and whenever there has been a
tendency on the part of the military administration to reduce governmental
manufacture it has been always opposed by the Labor deputies on the basis
that it would put men out of work.

It is therefore generally believed that there will be no limitation to govern-
mental manufacture. The only thing which will be acceptable to the politicians

is limitation on private manufacture ; and it is further supposed that in case
of further limitation on private manufacture that the present private factories,

such as Hotchkiss in France and Bofors in Sweden, will be immediately trans-
formed into Government arsenals and continued as before. It is also supposed
that no limitation will be put on the delivery of arms from one government to

a friendly government; hence there will be some export business from the
government factories.
The net result of tliis conference so far has been the tendency on the part

of the governments to develop governmental manufacturers and to spend their
money at home.

There is also a tfudency, which does not affect the armament busines'S, for
the militaiy advisers to devise suggestions destined to obtain military advan-
tages for their respective countries. One of the motives back of the French
proposal, that all countries should establish a conscription is to upset the pres-
ent German system of handling their Reichswehr. The Reichswehr is limited
to 100,000 men of 12 years enlistment, and it would appear reasonable to
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suppose that there should be at present a number of soldiers around the age
of 33 or 34 ; the fact is that when one meets a soldier of the Reichswehr he is

a young man in the early twenties, and it is pretty well accepted that there

are several men available under the same name and hence training much
larger number of men than permitted. The French feel that this is a more
dangerous system than general conscription. Both the French and German
proposals for disarmament are simply jockeying to get a favorable situation.

That is the part having to do with disarmament.
Mr. Casey. That is the memorandum that Simons took around,,

and you can readily see that that particular reference to the desire

on the part of the French Government of munitions manufacture as

a government function was because of their situation, and what they
would do with their private plants, which would naturally operate

to the disadvantage of the United States Government.
Senator Pope. All right. What do you think he means by this,

when he says in the letter of April 7, 1932, from Mr. Aiken Simons
to you

:

Called on Admiral Larimer, Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance, United States
Navy, and discussed the same matter with him. Admiral Larimer called up
Capt. H. K. Cage, Chief of the Materiel Division, Office of the Chief of Naval
Operations, and called his attention to the resolution and its status. * * *

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir.

Senator Pope (continuing reading)

:

of which neither of these officers had been aware until their attention was
called thereto. Captain Cage will take appropriate action to have the bill

opposed on the floor of the House.

And it refers specifically to the Fish resolution.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Pope. Whatever may have been, then, the contents of this

memorandum referred to, this certainly was discussed, according to

Mr. Simons?
Mr. Casey. Yes ; it was.
Senator Pope. And their attention called to it, referring to the

Fish resolution?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Pope. There is no doubt about that?
Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Pope. All right.

Mr. Casey. The point is, Senator, that that is not trying to influ-

ence legislation. We simply go to people who have instructed us as

to what they expect us to do, and if the Fish resolution goes into

effect, it upsets that plan, and therefore when they see their plans
are changed, our picture is different.

Senator Pope. Do you mean by that that the officials in the Army
and Navy Departments have requested you to bring to their attention

any legislation affecting embargoes?
Mr. Casey. They have requested us nothing of the kind. We

figure that we haA'p a definite obligation, as long as they expect us to

do certain things, to inform tliem of anytliing that comes to our
attention, not knowing whether they have seen it or not, that may
influence the very plans Ave are operating under.

Senator Pope. Yes. All right; let us go on.

NoAv, referring to another memorandum prepared by you, Major-
Casey, dated February 23, 1934. Well, it hns two dates on it..
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Washington, D. C, February 15, 1934, and then it has another
date of February 23, 1934. I do not know which was correct But
at any rate, the first paragraph of that memorandum reads as
lollows

:

Had a talk with Colonel Brabson, of Military Intelligence, and drew his
attention to the Nye resolution. As Colonel Brabson comes from Tennesseeand IS very close to Secretary Hull, he will discuss this matter with him, sothat when the matter is referred to the State Department, at least they will
be_ familiar with the situation and the possible disadvantages from the view-
point of the Army.

This memorandum was given to you and you are familiar with its
contents?
Mr. Casey. I wrote the memorandum.
Senator Pope. It is your memorandum ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No 1032 "

appears m full in the text.)

Senator Pope. You were the one that had a talk with Colonel
Brabson, then, calling his attention to the Nye resolution

«

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Pope. What did he say about it?
Mr. Casey. Again the possible effect it might have on the national

defense and our part in the national-defense picture.
Senator Pope. Yes.
Mr. Casey. It was brought out at the first hearing, and I think

Senator, you asked the question—I know Senator Clark did—" What
did Colonel Brabson do about it? " I said, "As soon as I had
reported it, I was through. I made no further move." Senator
Clark then said, " I know Colonel Brabson and I know he did not
take it up." I said, " That is something I know nothing about. I
made no attempt to find out from Brabson, after I had once reported
it to him, the possible effect it might have on the national defense,
or going any further."

Senator Pope. Your great concern here with reference to the Nye
resolution as well as others, was the effect it might have on the
national defense?
Mr. Casey. That is all.

Incidentally, Senator, in this connection, anybody who knows Col-
onel Brabson, I think everybody loves and respects him. He is an
offacer and a gentleman. When a thing is reported to Brabson Iknow the way an Army officer feels. He is perfectly willing to have
you tell him something, but he knows that he should not tell youwhat he expects to do, if anything.

In other words he knows in giving the information that you are
giving it for his benefit. If he sees fit to use the information you
are giving him or not is his function. He knows that I know
only too well that I am not going to be foolish enough to put one of
ttiese men ma corner and ask him, "What did you do about it?

"
They would feel that I know that I would not ask such a question.

Senator Pope You have, such an understanding with them?
Mr. Casey. Yes ; because I know the function.
Senator Clark, I believe, will again speak of the type of man

Colonel Brabson is. There is no question at all but what he would
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resent any effort on my part to get him to do something that he-

thoiiirht was improper or that he should not do.

Senator Pope. Did he speak up at this time when you suggested

that he see Secretary Hull?
Ttlr. Casey. He simply accepted the suggestion and made no-

comment. ,.11 J. i-i 1 t

Senator Clakk. Major, I said I think very highly of Colonel

Brabson, which I do. I was certain that the suggestion contained

in your report that he go over and talk to Secretary Hull on the

grounds of personal friendship did not represent anything Brabson

had done, because I think Brabson has got too much sense to do that.

Mr. Casey. I agree with you, but I was thoroughly justified in.

taking up a matter which might affect the whole set-up of the

Assistant Secretary of War's office.

Senator Pope. You say you thought he had too much sense to go
and see Secretary Hull?
Mr. Casey. Senator Clark said that.

Senator Pope. I thought you agreed with Senator Clark.

Mr. Casey. I do. I agree with him in his estimation of the man.

Senator Pope. You asked him to go see Secretary Hull ?

Mr. Casey. I did not ask him.

Senator Pope. You suggested it instead of asking him?

Mr. Casey. That he might see him when it came to the State-

Department.
Senator Pope. I see.

.

Mr. Casey. But just realize this, Senator: I was making a sugges-

tion. That does not mean that Brabson follows my suggestions.

Senator Pope. Oh, no. xVnd if you had asked him, it would not

have meant that he would have gone to see him, either.

Mr. Casey. No, no; not a bit.

Senator Pope. I call your attention to another memorandum by

Mr. Aiken Simons, your Washington representative, dated Januaiy

9fi 1 928

"(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1033 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 2838.)

Senator Pope (reading) :

It had come to our attention that Representative Hamilton Fish of New York

had introduced resolutions into Congress forbidding the shipment of munitions

to any country with which the United States was at peace. It was desired to

ascertain if this bill was known to the "War Department and if there had been

any change in the previously announced policy of the War Department to

encourage the private manufacture of munitions in the United States.

I called on Col. Standley B. Embick of War Plans Division, General Staff,

who was unaware of the bill but advised me that there had been no announced

change of policy on the part of the War Department.

I called on Lt. Col. William B. Wallace, executive officer G^, General Staff,

who knew of no change in policy but arranged to have me meet several officers

in tlie Office of the Assistant Secretary of War as follows: Col. William P.

Wooten (not in) ; Maj. Leonard T. Gerow, INIaj. Larry P. JNIcAfee; who discussed

the matter at some length. While we were talking, Lt. Col. .Tames D. Fife

came in and continued tb? discussion. I learned from Colonel Fife and Major

McAfee thiit far from there being any detrhni^ntal clifinge in policy of tbe-

War Department that the Secretary of War had strongly urged, in his annual

report, that everv effort be made to encourage private manufacture and had

recommended changes in the national defense account, as well as sufficient

appropriations to permit educational orders being given to the private

manufacturers.
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The matter was then discussed with General Williams, Chief of Ordnance,
who had not seen the bill but did not take it very seriously. Since Mr. Flsh^

who introduced this bill served creditably in the A. E. F. and was promoted to

major, it is considered that he is a friend of the services and it is possible that

his purpose in introducing these resolutions was to render other action ridicu-

lous or ineffective.

What do you know about that situation there ? Do j^ou have some
information that this proposed embargo was offered by Representa-

tive Fish in order to render their actions ridiculous or ineffective?

Mr. Casey. I have no other information but what is in this report.

Senator Pope. That is all you have?
Mr. Casey. Yes. I do not know to this day what Representative

Fish had in mind, what his purpose was, why he introduced the bill,

or anything else. I never made any steps to find out.

Senator Pope. Do you know what Colonel Simons had in his

mind ?

Mr. Casey. I do not believe he had anything beyond what he
reported here.

Now, do you not think, Senator, that the very first paragraph,
likewise the third paragraph down, indicate pretty clearly what I

have been saying right along? It is the question of the effect on
the national defense and our part in the picture.

Senator Pope. Oh, I think there is not any doubt that you were
going from one to the other of these officials here talking to them
about this proposed embargo on the shipment of certain arms which
you were selling.

Mr. Casey. No. We are trying to find out if there was any change
in their policy.

Senator Pope. Yes.
Mr. Casey. That was our sole purpose.
It might be in order at this time to read two memorandums that

have emanated from the War Department, one from the Office of the
Chief of Ordnance, the other, I believe, from The Adjutant General's
Office.

Would you mind reading those, Lammot, please ?

Senator Pope. Are they brief—fairly brief?

Mr. Casey. Very brief.

Senator Pope. All right, go ahead.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. This is a letter by Lutz Wahl, Brigadier

General, Acting The Adjutant General, dated August 20, 1925.

Manufacture of Material Conforming to United States Army Specifications for
Foreign Governments by the United States Manufacturers

The chiefs of all supply 'branches:

The following policy, which has been approved, is communicated to you for
your information and guidance:

STATEMENT OF POLICY

1. When a foreign government orders material from manufacturers in the
United States, and supplies specifications for the material even though the
material is the duplicate, or practical duplicate, of material with which the
War Department is supplied on United States Army specifications, the War
Department should take no steps to restrict the manufacture of the material or
its supply to the foreign government, but should encourage such transaction
unless limitations for reasons other tlian secrecy are in effect. Manufacturers
should be encouraged to keep the War Department informed of such transactions..
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2. When a foreign government orders material from manufacturers in the
United States to be made in accordance with United States Army specifications,

and specifies that such material shall be made to agree with such specifications

without furnishing the specifications, the War Department should encourage
such manufacture and only oppose it if confidential or secret military informa-
tion would be divulged to the foreign government by permitting such manu-
facture and supply, unless other limitations are in effect at the time which
would require restrictive measures by the War Department. The War
Department sho\ild be the judge of whether the material embodies confi-

dential or secret military features. Manufacturers to whom United States
Army specifications are supplied should be required to refer all requests for
material ordered thereunder by agencies other than those of the Federal or
State Governments, to the War Department for decision as to whether the
specifications may be used for the purpose desired.

By order of the Secretary of War.

Mr. Casey. That is one, read the other one.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The date of that-

Mr. Eaushenbush. That is Aiio;ust 20, 1925.

Senator Pofe. You wanted to offer that in evidence?
Mr. Eaushenbush. It has been read.

Mr. Casey. I think so.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Will you assign it an appropriate number?
(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1034 " and

appears in full in the text.)

Mr. Lammot du Pont. This one is under date of August 8, 1934,
signed by W. H. Tschappat, Major General, Chief of Ordnance.

Ordnance Oflace Memorandum No. 462

1. Policy of War Department regarding foreign sales of arms and munitions,
etc. Reference O. O. 383.4/357 with enclosures, and O. O. 472.5/2890 with
enclosures, the following information regarding the policy of the War Depart-
ment, on foreign sales of arms and munitions, etc., is published for the informa-
tion of all concerned

:

The general policy and practice of the War Department will continue as it

has in the past to offer no military objection to the foreign sale of arms and
munitions by American manufacturers, or furnishing such manufacturers with
information and facilities within the control of the War Department to enable
them to execute such sales, when in the discretion of the Secretary of War,
no military information of a secret or confidential nature is disclosed thereby,
and such action is considered to enhance the interests of National Defense by
encouraging the maintenance of facilities for supply in the event of an emer-
gency.
However, all proposals of this nature received by procuring arms and services

will be submitted to The Adjutant General for the action of the Secretary of
War. Each case will be decided upon its own merits and, in order to assure
that no international agreements or foreign policies are violated, the State
Department is consulted. In this connection, it is necessary for the procuring
agency to maintain the closed cooperation with the Navy Department in mat-
ters affecting foreign sales or the release of information pertaining to military
material, and no action will be taken unless the Navy Department, if the matter
Is of interest to the Navy, is in agreement.

W. H. Tschappat,
Major Oeneral, Chief of Ordnance.

That will also be marked?
Mr. Eaushenbush. Yes. That is " 1035."

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1035 " and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope. Yes. I understood that was the policy of the War
Department. There is no question about that.

Mr. Casey. Every move we have made so far has simply been be-

cause of that policy. We wanted to see whether there was a change
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of policy, or if there was something coming which might affect that
policy. I think in view of the fact that we are looKed on by the

War Department and the Navy Department as such an important
part of their entire munitions policy and the industrial preparedness
program that we are in duty bound to report, in case they have not
caught it themselves, any instance we may find, whether it is read, a
conference, or no matter what it might be, that might affect the very
arrangement we are now working under.

Senator Pope. For that reason you called their attention

Mr. Casey. That is all.

Senator Pope. To the embargo legislation or anything else, with
respect to your business?

Mr. Casey. In most instances we find they know all about it, but
sometimes we will catch it before they do.

Senator Pope. I will now refer to a letter written by Amos A.
Fries, Major General, Chief of Chemical Warfare Service, under date
of February 7, 1928. I will read the first paragraph and one or two
others.

On January 25, 1928, Mr. Theodore Burton, of Ohio, introduced into the
House of Representatives a joint resolution known as "House Calendar 136,
House Joint Resolution 183, Seventieth Congress, first session ", also given
file no. report 492. This is a resolution to prohibit the exportation of arms,
munitions, or implements of wav to belligerent nations.

Then I will omit the next paragraph, unless somebody wants it

read.

Would not such a bill encourage the radicals and Communists to continuually
attack the United States in its commercial relations with other nations when
any two or more of them may be engaged in war?

Did you discuss this matter with General Fries ?

Mr. Casey. I never heard of the letter.

Senator Pope. Dealing with encouraging the radicals and Com-
munists ?

Mr. Casey. I never heard of the letter until it was put in front
of me.

Senator Pope. I will now read the last paragraph of the letter.

It is believed that such a bill is exceedingly bad. I am just calling this
to your attention as a matter which seems to me to be worthy of serious con-
sideration by those interested in the chemical industry in this country.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1036 " and is

included in the aj^pendix on p. 2840.)

Senator Pope. You say you were not familiar with that letter?

Mr. Casey. No ; that was out of my bailiwick.

Senator Pope. At any rate, that shows the attitude of General
Fries.

Mr. Casey. Of the War Department.
Senator Pope. Yes. You were familiar with that at the time it

reached you, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think not. I think that letter is ad-
dressed to Mr. Irenee du Pont, is it not ?

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Pope. Do you recall it, Mr. Irenee du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. No ; I do not recall it.

83876—35—PT 12 7
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Mr. Raushenbush. He seems to be interested in poisonous gases.

Senator Pope. It is suggested we look at the second paragrapli of

the letter.

Section 3 starts out as follows:
" As used in this joiut resolution, the term ' arms, munitions, or implements

of war ' means * * * 13. Poisonous gases, acids, or any other articles

or inventions prepared for use in warfare."

Did you ask any question about that ?

Mr. Raushenbush. No. I was just calling attention that this was
the head of the Chemical Warfare Service there, and that he was
interested in that section, apparently.

Senator Pope. Keeping in mind this communication from General
Fries, I call your attention to a letter on February 9, 1928, from Mr.
Irenee du Pont to the General. " Dear General." Who would that

be; General who, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Unless it is General Fries, I do not know.

I have forgotten all about it.

Senator Pope. I presume it would, from the context.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. To General Fries
;
yes.

Senator Pope. Yes. You say

;

Dear Gknee.al: I agree with you that a law passed by Congress forbidding
exportation of arms, munitions, or implements of war to belligerent nations
would result in much mischief or worse. la fact, enforcing such a statute may
very well force the United States into war with one of the belligerents.

I admire the desire to discourage war, which doubtless has prompted the
proposal; but it seems to me self-evident results flowing from the passage of

the law have not been at all considered. This law would at once put other
nations on notice that they must build their own munitions plants and create
supplies of all war materials, if they are to have any protection ; that they
must lay in supplies of munition for eventualities. It would seem to me just

as consistent to broaden the scope and prohibit all trading with belligerents.

That would be fairer, clearer, and easier enforced.
If we are going to take the position of forcing our will on other nations in

the shape of " thou shalt not fight ", we had better get prepared to do a good
deal of fighting ourselves.

Sincerely yours,
(Signed) Ir6n£b du Pont.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1037 " and
appears in full in the text.)

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Those sound like my sentiments. I do not

recall the letter.

Senator Pope. I call -your attention, Mr. Irenee du Pont, to your
letter of February 9, 1928, being a memorandum to the legal depart-

ment, Mr. C. R. Mudge

:

Attached is a copy of letter received from Major General Fries, Chief of

Chemical Warfare Service,, and my reply.

It seems to me that this is a very grave question, and the passage of the
resolution should be opposed and defeated.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1038" and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope. That resolution you referred to was evidently the

Burton resolution ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not recall.

Senator Pope, That is the one that is referred to in the letter of

General Fries?

Mr, Irenee du Pont. I do not have that letter in front of me.
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Senator Pope. In the former hearing, Mr. du Pont, before this

committee we were discussing the Fish resolution, as I recall, and I

asked this question :

^

Mr. du Pout, following this designation of your attitude in 1924 with refer-

ence to the embargo act, what would you say was the attitude of your company
as to previous bills or resolutions introduced in Congress providing for

embargoes on war materials'?

Mr. Pierre du Pont answered:

I was not aware that there were ;iny such. I have not been very active in

that department of the business, and I do not know of any.

Mr. Lammot du Pont said

:

Senator, I do not know of any.

This will now recall your mind to the Burton resolution, which
was before the Fish resolution, was it not ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.

Senator Pope. And at least this much activity has been made on

your part?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not consider that activity. I receive a

letter and I write about 6 or 8 lines giving my personal views on the

matter, and refer the matter to Mudge, as I thought the legal depart-

ment might be interested.

Senator Pope. Who is Dr. Reese?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Dr. Reese used to be in charge of the high-

explosives research end of the company. He is a chemist of note.

Senator Pope. Of the du Pont Company?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. He is now retired.

Senator Pope. Was he in your employ on February 22, 1928?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think so.

Senator Pope. The next exhibit is a memorandum dated Febru-
ary 22, 1928, directed to Mr. Lammot du Pont, signed by Charles
L. Reese.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1039 "

and appears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope (reading)

:

Referring to your memorandum of February 14 enclosing copies of corre-
spondence between General Fries and Mr. Irenee du Pont with regard to the
joint resolution which Mr. Theodore Burton has introduced in the House of
Representatives to prohibit the exportation of arms, munitions, or implements
of war to belligerent nations, I have taken steps to get further information with
regard to this resolution and also to be kept in touch with its progress. I have
also made arrangements to have this matter presented to the executive commit-
tee of the Manufacturing Chemists' Association at its next meeting on March
14. I am sorry this matter did not come to my attention a day or two earlier,
as I could have taken it up at our recent meeting. Mr. Tierney, secretary of
the Manufacturing Chemists' Association, will keep me in touch with the
progress of this resolution, which I do not believe can possibly pass.

Do you know whether or not that was taken up with the Manufac-
turing Chemists' Association for such action as it might take ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not. This is the first time I have seen
it so far as I know.

Mr. Raushenbush. That was addressed to Mr. Lammot du Pont.

1 Hearings, Part V, p. 1125.
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Senator Pope. That was addressed to Mr. Lammot du Pont.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know.

Senator Pope. At least it was reported to you and evidently came

to your attention at that time?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.

Senator Pope. You knew that it was the purpose of Mr. Reese to

present this to the executive committee of the Manufacturing Chem-

ists' Association for such action as they might desire to take ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Apparently it was his impression.

Senator Pope. I call your attention to a memorandum from Mr.

Aiken Simons under date of February 22, 1928, addressed to Mr. C.

Stewart Comeaux, secretary Sporting Arms & Ammunition Manu-

facturers Institute, 103 Park Avenue, New York, N.Y.

:

Dear Mr. Comeaux:
National Legislation Re: Arms and Ammunition for Export.

The first paragraph reads:

Receipt is acknowledged of your letter of February 18 in reference to the

resolutions introduced, respectively, by Mr. Hamilton Fish, of New York, and

Mr Burton, of Ohio, in the United States House of Representatives,

I have already given this matter some attention and believe that the resolu-

tions introduced by Mr. Fish can be dismissed from further consideration, since

by their wording they would prohibit the export of arms to an ally of the United

States in time of war and would apparently permit the shipment of arms to an

enemy of the United States at any time.

I also made some investigation of Mr. Burton's resolutions, but do not believe

they are lil^ely to be passed in their present form. It does not seem discreet,

however, to put on record the state of affairs.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1040" and

appears in full in text.)

Senator Pope. Do you have any idea of why you thought it was

not discreet there to put on record the state of affairs as to the Bur-

ton resolutions, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not think I ever saw the letter.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I have no idea of why he should say that.

Senator Pope. Major Casey, did you hear my reading of the third

paragraph of this letter?

Mr. Casey. I am afraid I did not, sir.
^ ,

Senator Pope. I will read it again for your benefit. This is a

report or letter from Simons to Comeaux. He says

:

I also made some investigation of Mr. Burton's resolutions, but do not be-

lieve they are likely to be passed in their present form. It does not seem

discreet, however, to put on record the state of affairs.

What state of affairs was it that was not discreet for him to put

on the record ?

ISIr. Casey. I have not the slightest idea.

Senator Pope. Do you know what the state of affairs was with

reference to the activity of Mr. Simons pertaining to the Burton

resolutions?

Mr. Casey. He had no activities.

Senator Pope. He had none ?

Mr. Casey. Except having reported it.

Senator Pope. Let us read on, then

:

Regarding further action, I think that the most effective method of handling

this would be for Mr. Beebe's committee, appointed by Mr. Hoover in 1925, to
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write to Mr. Hoover inviting attention to the Burton resolutions and requesting

protection for American industry.

Do you recall the committee that was appointed by Mr. Hoover
in 1925?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Pope. Did you know that Mr. Simons made this sugges-

tion that this committee be called together for this purpose?
Mr. Casey. Yes ; I knew that.

Senator Pope. You knew that?
Mr. Casey. Yes ; after it was done, I knew it.

Senator Pope. I thought you said a minute ago that Mr. Simons
was doing nothing in the way of activity in regard to this, he is

merely reporting.

Mr. Casey. That is all he is doing. He is reporting to Comeaux.
He is making a suggestion to Comeaux.

Senator Pope. He is making a suggestion ?

Mr. Casey. To Comeaux.
Senator Pope. "VYe will finish reading " Exhibit No. 1040."

Since you are, no doubt, unfamiliar with " Mr. Beebe's committee ", I will

give you a brief outline.

In the spring of 1925 it became known that an international congress was to
be held at Geneva for the purpose of limiting the exportation of munitions and
that it was probable that efforts were to be made by certain foreign elements
to prohibit the private manufacture of munitions. On March 28, 1925, Mr.
Hoover, Secretary of Commerce, telegraphed a number of American manufac-
turers of arms and munitions inviting them to attend a conference to be held
in Washington April 1. This conference was presided over by Mr. Hoover
in person and was attended by representatives of a number of industries.

After a preliminary discussion Mr. Hoover requested the conference to
organize and appoint its own committee. Mr. Beebe, as chairman, appointed
the following executive committee : Major Simons, Du Pont Co., vice chairman

;

Mr. Nichols, Colt Patent Firearms Co. ; Mr. Reierson, Remington Arms Co, ; Mr.
Harrington, Harrington & Richardson Arms Co.
We found Mr. Hoover very sympathetic and helpful throughout, and with

his assistance a call was sent to 36 other industries which had not at that
time sent delegates and which tended to give our committee a more national
scope and authority.

Resolutions were drafted showing the objections of the American manufac-
turers to the proposed international agreement and at a later conference held
in Washington.
On April 14 the executive committee presented their final report to Mr.

Hoover, at a meeting at which he presided, which was attended by the Ameri-
can delegates to Geneva, namely, Admiral Long, General Ruggles, Major Strong,
Mr. Bulles, and Mr. Mariner.

Evidently this committee represented the opinions and decisions of the fol-

lowing firms : E. W. Bliss Co., Brooklyn, N. Y., torpedoes, etc. ; Colt Patent
Firearms Co., Hartford, Conn. ; Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., Akron, Ohio,
ballons and dirigibles : Harrington <& Richardson Arms Co., Worcester, Mass.

;

Hercules Powder Co., Wilmington, Del. ; Hunter Arms Co., Inc., Fulton, N. Y.

;

Ithaca Gun Co., Ithaca, N. Y. ; Iver Johnson Arms & Cycle Works, Fitchburg,
Mass. ; Remington Arms Co., New York City ; U. S. Cartridge Co., New York
City ; Winchester Repeating Arms Co., New Haven, Conn. ; Western Cartridge
Co., East Alton, 111.

It is believed, says Mr. Simons, that by the action of Mr. Hoover in appoint-
ing this committee and the committee's subsequent work the Geneva Conference
was prevented from adopting international agreements which would have been
burdensome to American manufacturers and, so far as I know, the committee
has never been dissolved. I suggest, therefore, that Mr. Beebe write Mr.
Hoover recalling to his memory the events of April 1925 and inviting his atten-
tion to the Burton and Fish resolutions, which we believe to be equally injurious
to the national defense and to the best interests of the American industries
Involved, and requesting Mr. Hoover to give us such support as he may judge
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proper and appropriate. It would also seem desirable for Mr. Hoover to

notify tlie firms whicli his committee represented, so that the facts can be

brought to the attention of their local Congressmen and Senators.

Very truly yours,
Aiken Simons.

Was this matter broiisjht to your attention as to the suggestion of

Mr. Simons with respect to calling this committee together, Mr. du

Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think it was brought to my atten-

tion at the time. I at least have no recollection of it.

Mr. Irenee du Po^jt. What is the date of it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. February 22, 1928.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was not brought to my attention.

Senator Pope. Do you know about it, Mr. Casey ?

Mr. Casey. No.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I would like to make an observation with

regard to this, however.
Senator Pope. Yes.

. .i u •

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The resolution drafted showing the objec-

tions of the American manufacturers to the proposed international

agreement were in the nature of recommendations to distinguish

between sporting arms and ammunition and millitary arms and

ammunition.
Senator Pope. Yes. t j u
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Those recommendations all applied them-

selves to that particular point.

Mr. Raushenbush. They went further than that, on the matter

of publicity and the like, did they not?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. How is that?

Mr. Raushenbush. As I remember it, they went further than that

as to the matter of publicity and the like, and the control of it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I" think the resolution was entered in here.

Senator Pope. Yes ; that was gone into the other day.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. With reference to the Geneva Conference

having been prevented from adopting international agreements

which would have been burdensome to American manufacturers, I

think that refers to that same point.

Senator Pope. It does not say so.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No ; it does not say so.

Senator Pope. And the fact is they did go further in their recom-

mendations, according to the testimony of a few days ago, when the

mere sporting-arms proposal, having to do with publicity and the

methods of licensing, and so forth.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not recall it.

Senator Pope. I do.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Was that the piece of legislation that Con-

gress held up fo!- 8 years?

Senator Pope. Yes ; that is exactly the same piece.

Mr. Raushenbush, do you have there a memorandum or letter dated

February 28, 1928, froni Mr. Beebe to Major Simons?

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes.

Senator Poi'e. I would like to have it marked with the appropriate

exhibit number.
(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1041", and

appears in full in the text.)



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2735

Senator Pope. The title of that memorandum or letter is, "Na-
tional Legislation ", and it reads

:

My Dear Major : Mr. C. Stewart Comeaux has handed me copy of your letter

of yehruary 22.

I am rather inclined to agree with you in the matter of getting Mr. Hoover

to call a meeting. However, there are certain angles to this that I would like

very much to discuss with you personally.

Will you by any chance be in New York in the near future? If so, I would

be glad to run down and talk with you about it before taking any definite

action.

With kind personal regard, I remain,
Your.s very truly,

H. F. Bexxb.

Mr. Beebe, were those angles that you referred to having to do

with the proposed calling of this committee together to oppose the

Fish and Burton resolutions?

Mr. Beebe. I do not remember exactly what the angles were that

were referred to at that time. There are a number of things that

might happen to indicate whether it was a good thing or not a good
thing to have a meeting called. For instance, if we happened to know
that people were opposed to this legislation or believed that a suffi-

cient number were opposed to it so it would never pass, there was no
use of our wasting our time on it.

Senator Pope. It would be unnecessary to call the committee
together ?

Mr. Beebe. Yes. On the other hand, if we thought there was
something in it that might be detrimental to the traffic in sporting
arms, or even in foreign governments' business, then it might be
worth while to do it.

Senator Pope. I refer now to a memorandum or a letter from Mr.
Aiken Simons to Mr. Beebe, dated February 29, 1928, which I will

offer for the record and ask to have marked with the appropriate
number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1042 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2841.)
Senator Pope. This reads, under the heading of " National Legis-

lation "

:

My Dear Mk. Beieibe : Thank you very much for your letter of February 28 in
reference to possible action necessary to preserve the best interests of the
American manufacturers of munitions.

I am afraid you misunderstood the action that I suggested in reference to
Mr. Hoover, since my belief was and is that better results could be ol)tained if

you, as chairman of the committee appointed by Mr. Hoover in 1925, would
write him a letter stating the present situation and inviting attention to the
certain hardships which would be placed on American manufacturers and the
equally certain damage to the interests of the national defense. In this way
the matter could be brought to Mr. Hoover's attention and his aid secured with-
out publicity. Whereas the publicity necessarily attendant on a meeting of
American manufacturers at Washington to oppose a bill already before Congress
would be equally disadvantageous to the mamifacturers and Mr. Hoover.

You felt that any publicity on the part of the manufacturers of
munitions would be disadvantageous in opposition to the proposed
legislation ?

Mr. Beebe. That is Major Simons' letter to me.
Senator Pope. Yes. That, of course, is what he means?
Mr. Beebe. Yes; I presume so.
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Senator Pope. And the concluding paragraph

:

I trust you will not think that I am urging my own point of view too strongly,
but I really believe that the best interests of all would be served if you would
write Mr. Hoover at your earliest convenience.

Sincerely,
Aiken Simons.

Nov5^, along that same line, on March 5, 1928, Mr. Beebe, you wrote
a letter to the Secretary of Commerce, Mr. Hoover, which I will also

ask to be marked with the appropriate exhibit number.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1043 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2841.)

Senator Pope. The subject, according to this letter, is "House Joint
Resolution 171." That was Mr. Burton's resolution providing for

embargoes, was it not ?

Mr. Beebe. As a matter of fact, I do not recall just exactly what
that was now.

Senator Pope. I have the resolution here—171 was the Burton
resolution.

Mr. Beebe. I guess that is it then.

Senator Pope. Now, the first paragraph of that letter is as follows

:

Dbab Me. Secketary : You will possibly remember that in 1925 prior to the
departure of the delegates of the United States to the Geneva Convention for

the control of international trade in arms and ammunition you extended an
invitation to representatives of arms and ammunition manufacturers to discuss
the economic phases of the proposed draft.

What other manufacturers did you discuss it with? Did you see

the members of that committee that were appointed at the meeting
with Secretary Hoover in 1925?
Mr. Beebe. My recollection is that I did not see all of them, but i

think I probably took it up with Mr. Nichols, of the Colt Co.—I have
a note here that I took it up with him—and it is quite possible that

I took it up with Remington.
Senator Pope. And, of course

Mr. Beebe. Now, just a minute. I think I took it up with the
Arms Institute, the Sporting Arms Institute. Yes; here it is. I
wrote a letter to Mr. Comeaux, of the institute, stating that

—

Again referring to your letter of February 3, I am enclosing copy of my
letter of March 5 to Secretary Hoover and of even date to Maj. Aiken Simons.

Now, whether he sent that to all of the other members, I do not
know.

Senator Pope. Of course you had heard from Major Simons with
the suggestion that you pursue this course, hadn't you?
Mr. Beebe. Yes.
Senator Pope. I think no other part of this letter is necessary to be

read, unless you desire it read.

Mr. Beebe. I don't think there is any more necessary. It was a

straightforward request for the privilege of stating our case.

Senator Pope. It was a very strong letter to Secretary Hoover, a

very persuasive letter, requesting he call the meeting together again.

Mr. Beebe. A sales letter.

Senator Pope. Another sales letter; yes.

Now I call your attention to a communication from Mr. Thomas R.
Taylor to you, Mr. Beebe, under dat€ of March 10, 1928, which I

will ask to have marked with the appropriate exhibit number.
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(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1044 " and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope. In this letter from Mr. Thomas R. Taylor, assist-

ant director—by the way, who is Mr. Taylor, assistant director?

Mr. Beebe. I do not know. He is a du Pont man writing me in

place of Maj. Aiken Simons.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Thomas R. Taylor ?

Senator Pope. Yes; Thomas R. Taylor.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think so.

Senator Pope. Is he an official of the Department of Commerce?
Mr. Beebe. Oh, yes. Who is that from?
Senator Pope. Thomas R. Taylor, assistant director?

Mr. Beebe. Oh, yes; that is a letter from the Department of
Commerce.

Senator Pope. Yes.

Mr. Beebe. I am sorry. I thought it was du Pont.
Senator Pope. Let us read that letter

:

Deae Me. Beebe: Your letter of March 5 relative to H. R. Resolution 171
has, in the pressure of work upon Secretary Hoover and the absence of Dr.
Klein, been referred to me for attention.

We can readily recognize the importance to you of the provisions of the
proposed bill, but I am afraid that there is no action that this Department
can take. Opinion on pending legislation is not expressed unless specifically

requested, and in this particular case noncommercial opinion vpould be of
importance equal to or greater than the strictly commercial viewpoint.

I believe that you can assume that hearings on the bill will be held if asked
for and if the bill shows legislative progress. Doubtless you will wish to get
in touch with Mr. Burton, the autlior of the bill, and with some (notably Mr.
Andrew of Massachusetts) who oppose it.

In any event, I am quite sure that the Secretary could not consistently call a
conference of interested manufacturers.
We are much interested in the matter, and I would appreciate it if you will

advise us as to the action you take.

I simply read that to show that they refused to call the confer-
ence, the Department of Commerce did.

Mr. Beebe. Yes.
Senator Pope. I now call your attention to a letter from Mr.

Aiken Simons to jou, Mr. Beebe, under date of March 15, 1928,
which I will also ask to be marked with appropriate exhibit

reference.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1045 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2842.)

Senator Pope. Pie says

:

My Dear Mr. Beebe: Tliauk you very much for your letter of March 13,

with which you sent me a copy of a letter received by you from Mr. Thomas R.
Taylor, assistant director in the Bureau of Commerce, as well as your reply to
Mr. Taylor, dated March 13.

I am sending you herewith a clipping from the New York Tribune of March
15, which develops tlie fact that the Burton resolutions have been returned to
the House Committee on Foreign Affairs and that hearings will be held to-

morrow morning. Apparently Mr. Taylor was misinformed on the action of
his own department or he did not wish to make a premature statement of
such action.

With the opposition of the War Department, the Navy Department, the State
Department, and the Department of Commerce, as well as the American
Legion and certain Representatives on the floor, such as Mr. Andrew of Massa-
chusetts, I do not think that we need worry very much about the passage of
these resolutions.



2738 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Beebe, what do you know about the statement of Mr. Simons,
the representative of the du Pont Co., that these resolutions had the
opposition of the War Department ? Do you knoAV about that ?

Mr. Beebe. I do not believe I knew about it at the time, except
from his letter.

Senator Pope. Did you call on the War Department and talk to

any of the officials ?

Mr. Beebe. I do not remember having done so at that time. I
think my memorandum here would show it if I had. I do not think
I have anything- here on that.

Senator Pope. Mr. du Pont, do you know anything about the
statement of your agent here as to the opposition of the War
Department and the Navy Department and the other departments?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I never heard about it until this hearing.

I never heard anything about it. I retired in 1926, and I was not
active in any part of it. I could not possibly know anything about
it except from this exhibit that you have given here. But I think
you read some letter a few minutes ago where Mr. Simons or Major
Casey had called on the different members of the Department. I
rather gathered from the statements in those interviews that they
did not approve of it.

Senator Pope. This was several months later.

Mr. Beebe. I just found this note:

Article from Array-Navy Journal, March 1928. Burton Resolution Opposed.
Opposition to the passage of the Burton resolution to prohibit the export of

war materials, etc., was registered with the House Military Committee this

week by the War Department

—

And so forth.

Senator Pope. That was from the Army and Navy magazine ?

Mr. Beebe. That was from the Army and Navy Journal dated
March 10, and this letter of Aiken Simons is March 15. So ap-
parently the opposition was known at that time.

Senator Pope. How about the Navy Department?
Mr. Beebe. I do not recollect that. I have not read all of that

article. There may be something in there about that.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Perhaps it is in the Navy Journal.
The Chairman. No; the first one was in the Army and Navy

Journal.
Wouldn't it be well, Senator Pope, to have that editorial or article,

whatever it was
Mr. Beebe. I think I have an extra copy here that I can let you

have.
The Chairman (continuing). From the Army and Navy Journal

printed in the record?
Senator Pope. Yes; I think so, if you have an extra copy, Mr.

Beebe.
Mr. Beebe. I think that is exactly the same thing.

(Article from Army-Navy Journal, Washington, D. C, Mar. 10,

1928, is as follows:)

BURTON RESOr.UTION OPPOSED

Opposition to the passage of the Burton resolution to prohibit export of war
material to belligerent nations was registered with the House Military Com-
mittee this week by the War Department on the ground that it " will aggravate



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2739

to no small degree the difficulty of accomplishment of an adequate national

preparedness." In this letter to Chairman Morin, Acting Secretary of War
Robbins stated that its provisions were so broad it could be construed as

forbidding the exportation of rifles, shotguns, and other firearms primarily

intended for other purposes, and in addition commercial products such as

electrical and optical products, steel, copper, and starch, and all articles which
might be of assistance in war. The letter said in part

:

" It is the policy of our Government to rely upon American industry to fur-

nish munitions in the event of an emergency instead of building and main-

taining large Government arsenals of quasi-Government plants. During the

World War our Government arsenals produced less than 10 percent of our
war requirements, and since the war we have dismantled our Government-
owned armament industry to the point where it is imperative that a still

greater reliance must be made on private industry for munitions in case of an
emergency.

" If now we limit our private industry by shutting off its export trade, we
will reduce its ability to furnish our own necessities in time of need. It would
require a great expenditure to construct and maintain Government plants of

sufficient capacity to meet technical requirements such as ordnance and air

craft in a major war. In order to keep alive the art of making munitions, so

that in case of emergency private industry may return at once to the manu-
facture of arms and equipment for the United States, bills have been pre-

sented in the House and in the Senate (H. R. 450, 5662 and S. 1824) to au-
thorize the War Department to place educational orders for small quantities

of munitions with as large a number of commercial plants as practicable, so
that the great potential power of American industry may be rendered promptly
effective in the event of war.
The enactment of the legislation (H. J. R. 183) in its present form could

readily result in our suppressing the products and sources of supply of arms
vitally necessary to our national defense. Had this legislation been in effect

prior to the World War we would have been totally unprepared to enter this

conflict with our allies in an endeavor to uphold what we considered our
sovereign rights.

The definitions given in section 3 are dangerously broad and their effect

would be to put an absolute embargo on an important division of our legitimate
foreign trade in articles which have not been and reasonably cannot be used
in warfare. For instance, the sweeping terms used in section 3 of the joint
resolution would prevent the export of sporting riflles, shotguns, and firearms
designed, intended, or adapted for nonmilitary purposes.
The provisions of paragraph 4 of section 3, combined with paragi'aph 8 (c)

and paragraphs 9 and 14, would effectually cripple a large portion of our
electrical and optical export trade. Practically all fire-control systems are
dependent upon either land or submarine cable of a commercial type not ex-
clusively designed or intended for warfare purposes. Practically all lenses
intended for the higher grade trade may be made use of either in cameras,
telescopes, or field glasses, which can be used for warfare purposes whether
primarily so Intended or not.

Paragraph 13, from a practical standpoint, is incapable of being enforced
without a total prohibition of the export of all gases, acids, etc., for the reason
that the secondaries of all gases or acids, the use of which is sought in warfare,
are purely commercial products whose use in commercial lines is far more
extensive than in warfare.

If strictly applied the language of section 3 might be construed as forbidding
the exportation of many articles such as steel, copper, starch, and other mate-
rials which have many vitally important commercial uses merely because they
are capable of being used in the manufacture of munitions.

Senator Pope. Do you see in that Army :ind Navy magazine any
statement that the American Legion was also opposed to this legis-

lation ?

Mr. Beebe. I have not read it since it was i)ut in this folder. I
will be glad to have you read it or try to read it myself now.

Senator Pope. Do you know of your own knowledge whether the
American Legion was opposed to these embargo acts ?

Mr. Beebe. No; I know nothing about it. I might make this

statement: I am not in close toucl\ at all with matters in Washing-
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ton. I am up there in New Haven and I hear or perhaps read
something in the papers or perhaps I get some letters from some
people that are in closer touch. I examine those and if they appear
to have any particular points that we think are unfair to our trade
or our position in the matter, I take it up with the proper authorities,

and usually I go to the Congressmen or Senators from our district,

or whoever is at the head of the committee, or these other manu-
facturers. We talk it over. We found, I think, in one resolution
there that if a man was found with a gun made in a certain time
it was construed that he had done something wrong.

Senator Pope. Do either of you, Messrs. du Pont, know any-
thing about that opposition of the American Legion which your
agent writes about?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I never heard of it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I never did. I presume it was reported or
published in the same manner that this Army proposition was.

Senator Pope. Are you acquainted with Mr. John Thomas Taylor,
who was the legislative agent or the head of the American Legion in

some capacity?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I never have met him. I don't know him.
Senator Pope. As I read this, I recalled a statement in a recent

publication to this effect

:

Another disclQSure which came years later was that John Thomas Taylor,
legislative agent of the American Legion in Washington, was also acting as
treasurer of an organization of chemical manufacturers.

Do you know whether he was ever treasurer of an organization

of chemical manufacturers?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No.
Senator Pope. This goes on

:

The chemical manufacturers of the world have an interest in gas warfare.
It was Taylor who led the publicity campaign against the treaty to abolish
poison gas in war. Representative Burton of Ohio asked 'that Taylor's activ-

ities be investigated. Representative Pish stated it was Taylor who forced
the American Legion to adopt a resolution against the proposed treaty.

We are very unfortunate in not being able to question Mr. Simons
as to what he meant by the opposition of the American Legion to

this proposed legislation. We are at a distinct disadvantage because
he is not here. He is still very ill, isn't he ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I thought you read there that Taylor
forced the Legion to oppose this.

Senator Pope. No. I was reading from a statement in a recent

publication that Taylor's activities be investigated because he forced
the American Legion to oppose the treaty which would outlaw
poison gas as an instrument of war.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. That he, Taylor, forced the Legion to

oppose it?

Senator Pope. Yes; to abolish the treaty. You knew nothing
about Mr. Taylor's activities, Mr. Beebe?
Mr. Beebe. I don't even know him.
Senator Pope. This letter, " Exhibit No. 1045 ", goes on

:

My personal belief is that any activity before Congress on the part of your
company, mine or other munition manufacturers, would prove a detriment
rather than a help to our cause, in that it would enable the pacifist and sedi-

tious elements to claim that munition manufacturers encourage war and the
trade in war material for their own benefit.
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Do you know what your agent or whom your agent included in

that term " pacifist and seditious elements ", Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I could not say.

Senator Pope. Presumably he meant those who would oppos'v the

Burton or any other similar embargo act. Wouldn't you take it that

that is what he meant?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, I would not think so. Seditious ele-

ments are not such, I don't believe.

Senator Pope. If he meant that, you would not agree with him that

those who might be in favor of embargoes would necessarily be sedi-

tious ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. He does not say that. I would not get that

from that statement.

Senator Pope. I will read it again

:

My personal belief is that any activity before Congi-ess on the part of your
company, mine, or other munition manufacturers would prove a detriment
rather than a help to our cause

—

I take it your cause there was the opposition to this legislation

—

in that it would enable the pacifist and seditious elements to claim that munition
manufacturers encourage war and trade in war material for their own benefit.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think the cause there. Senator, is the

protection of American industry.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. To answer your question on that—of course,

it is all new to me—this says it gives an opportunity to those two
groups to put up that argument. It does not say that others might
be on the same side with them to put up that argument, as I under-
stand your reading of it.

Senator Pope. Of course, you do not know what Mr. Simons meant
by that term.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. No ; I never heard it before.

Senator Pope. Or what he meant by the " cause " here ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What?
Senator Pope. Or what he meant by the term " our cause " here?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I gather from your reading of it that he

meant opposition to this gas-warfare proposition.

Senator Pope. Oh, no; this letter has nothing to do with gas
warfare.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Embargoes.
Senator Pope. It is these embargo proposals,
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I had nothing to do with it at all.

Senator Pope. We are in difficulty again in that Mr. Simons is not
here. I would like to ask him about that.

I will introduce just one more letter here, which is very brief, just

a paragraph, and then we will be at a good stopping point. This
will be marked the next exhibit number.

(The letter referred to was market " Exhibit No. 1046 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2843.)
Senator Pope. I call your attention, Mr. Beebe, to a letter of yours

dated March 17, 1928, addressed to Major Simons, in which you say

:

My Dear Major: This will acknowledge receipt of your letter of March 15,
enclosing clipping from the New York Tribune of that date.

It is fortunate, indeed, that apparently enough opposition has developed in
other directions to make it unnecessary for the munition manufacturers to take
any concerted action.
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The inference is there that if opposition had not developed in other

directions sufficient it might have been necessary to take concerted

action ? ,

Mr. Beebe. As I stated before, the fact that we appear against a

certain resolution does not indicate, certainly, that we are opposed to

everything in that resolution, but it usually means that we have cer-

tain changes or reservations that We would like to have included in

order not to cripple us or be unfair to us ; and if the opposition to the

whole thing is such that it is likely not to pass, thereis no need to our

going to the trouble of presenting our particular objections.

Senator Pope. I understand you.

Mr. Beebe. Yes.

The Chairman. The committee will be in recess until 10 o clock

tomorrow morning.
(Whereupon, at 4:35 o'clock p. m., Tuesday, Dec. 11, 1934, the

committee recessed to meet at 10 o'clock a. m. of the following day,

Wednesday, Dec. 12, 1934.)
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WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 12, 1934

United States Senate,
Special Committee to Investigate

the Munitions Industry,
Washington^ D.G.

The hearing was resumed at 10 p.m., in the Finance Committee
room, Senate Office Building, pursuant to the taking of recess, Sena-
tor Gerakl P. Nye presiding.

Present: Senators Nye (chairman), Clark, Pope, Vandenberg, and
Barbour,

Present also : Stephen Raushenbush, secretary to the committee.

The Chairman. The committee will proceed.

FURTHER TESTIMONY OF IRENEE DTJ PONT, lAJOIOT DTJ PONT,
AND K. K. V. CASEY

Senator Pope. Pursuing this matter of any activities on the part
of the different manufacturers, with respect to legislation, I call your
attention. Major Casey, to a letter written by Mr. Aiken Simons
under date of April 2, 1928, to Mr. Beebe. I will read a portion
of that.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1047 " and ap-

pears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope (reading) :

You have probably followed in the newspapers the opposition which has
developed to the Burton resolutions which plan to hamper, if not prevent, the
export of munitions from the United States.
The Manufacturing Chemists' Association of the United States maintain an

office in Washington, which gets out bulletins from time to time. Bulletin no.
224, dated March 26, on page 4 contains the following information

:

" EXPORTATION OF AEMS TO BELLIGEBANT NATIONS

" Hearings before the House Committee on Foreign Affairs have continued
during the last 2 weeks on Representative Burton's resolution. House Joint
Resolution 183, to prohibit exportation of arms, munitions, etc., to belligerent
nations,

" The most effective testimony against the measure was presented by Secre-
tary Davis, of the War Department, and Secretary Wilbur, of the Navy Depart-
ment, who represented that a denial to American manufacturers of the right to
export munitions to belligerents would have far-reaching results reacting
disastrously upon plans for national defense. It was significant that most of
the testimony offered at the hearings was of entirely disinterested character, no
representatives of manufacturers being included among the witnesses. Al-
though the record has not thus far shown any expression of opinion from the
Department of Commerce or the State Department it is stated that Secretary
Kellogg and Secretary Hoover are both opposed to the purpose of the
resolution."

2743
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Do you know anything about their position ?

Mr. Casey. I have not the slightest knowledge.
Senator Pope. Mr. Simons did not talk to you about that?

Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Pope. Or tell you the basis for his information ?

Mr. Casey. Senator, in this correspondence between Simons and
me, and Simons and Comeaux, he was in reality acting in the capac-

ity of a vice chairman of a committee appointed by Secretary

Hoover in 1925, which had apparently not been discontinued.

Senator Pope. He was still an employee and representative of

your company?
Mr. Casey. Oh, yes ; but I mean he was in a double position at this

particular point.

Senator Pope. Do you know of any action by the officials or anyone
else in authority repudiating his activities in this respect ?

Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Clark. The same committee reported opposition to small

arms, but not military weapons?
Mr. Casey. I do not know, Senator. But still, that statement can

be true. I think you would be irritated if somebody shot at you with
a .25 automatic.

Senator Clark. It might be worse than irritating.

Mr. Casey. No
;
you would probably want to spank him.

Senator Clark. A .25 bullet with a soft-nosed bullet would blow
a hole about as big as a silver dollar through a man, would it not?
Mr. Casey. If he were close enough.
Senator Pope (reading " Exhibit No. 1047 ") :

The general impression is that sentiment among the House membership is

against the resolution and that it stands little chance of receiving favorable
consideration.

Do you know how he obtained that information?
Mr. Casey. It was in the bulletin of manufacturing chemists.

Senator Pope. Do you know the basis of their information ?

Mr. Casey. I have not the slightest idea.

Senator Pope. The last paragraph is interesting, on that page.

Please note the underlined sentence, which invites attention to the fact that
the oppositions to these resolutions are disinterested which, of course, is the
attitude most favorable to our cause.

I am sending a copy of this to Mr. Comeaux and believe that he will give it

such publicity in the institute as he may deem desirable.

Sincerely,
Aiken Simons.

Does not this look as though Mr. Simons was following up the

matter and sending a copy to Mr. Comeaux, with the belief that he
would give it publicity?
Mr. Casey. Not necessarily with the belief. Mr. Comeaux was

secretary of the Institute of Manufacturers of Sporting Arms and
Ammunition. Aiken Simons was the chairman of the national de-

fense committee of that institute.

Senator Pope. Yes.
Mr. Casey. It was his job to keep the secretary advised of any

development that might affect national defense.

Senator Pope. Apparently he did so.

Mr. Casey. Yes, sir ; he should have done so.
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Senator Pope. In the former hearing I will read two or three
questions and answers here and ask you if you still think that this
testimony is correct :

^

Mr. Casey. Have you a copy of Colonel Taylor's niemoraudum ?

Senator Claek. No; I have not; but that report shows it was in connection
with this embargo resolution. What I am asking is, Did you instruct Simons
to circulate the report among Government officials?

Mr. Casey. I would not instruct him unless that report was of interest to
the Government?

Senator Clakk. Did you instruct him in this case?
Mr. Casey. In this case I do not know whether I instructed him or not.
Senator Clakk. That report was made to you.
Mr. Casey. Yes ; after the fact.

Senator Clark. So that your statement a while ago that the du Pout Co. had
nothing to do with the proposed legislation or the discussion of it with Govern-
ment officials was not correct, was it?

Mr. Casey. I said we made no attempt to influence legislation. Calling
attention to the effect of the embargo in Europe struck me as being of interest
to the officers of the Army and Navy. We had nothing to do with the matter
whatever, but it was a question of advising tliem what effect this resolution
might have in Europe, and that is a matter of military importance to the
Army and Navy.

Senator Bone. It would be intensely interesting to the officers of the United
States Army.
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Bone. And can yoH tell the committee whether it would also be

interesting to the people in the United States to know the effect on world
politics? Do you think it might not be equally interesting to the people in the
country to have these facts?

Mr. Caseiy. We would not be the proper ones to give that out.
Senator Bone. You gave it to the Army officers.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Bone. Army officers are not the only people who suffer in case of

war. The mothers and fathers of the boys who go in the war also pay the
price.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Bone. Would you suggest there is any lack of propriety in having

them know what was going on?
Mr. Casey. We were not the proper ones. The newspapers were covering

these matters.
Senator Bone. The people pay the price and all the bills.

Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Bonb. Can you say that information of this kind should not go to

the people of the country? Do you think these things should be kept from the
people?
Mr. Casey. They should not be.

With reference again to the responsibility of the company for the
acts of their agents, I just wanted to read a paragraph or two of the
former testimony.- Mr. Raushenbush asked this question of Mr.
Lammot du Pont [reading] :

By the way, in this connection may I ask the president of the company this

question : A great deal of testimony seems to have been going into the record
from subordinate officials of the company. May we understand that those state-

ments stand as the official attitude of the company unless corrected by you
on the stand?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Certainly. The conrpany is responsible for the acts of

its men.

There is no reason to change that answer, is there, Mr. du Pont?

1 Hearings, Part V, pp. 1129, 1130.
2 Hearings, Part V, p. 1159.

83876—35—PT 12 8
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Mr. Lammot du Pont. That does not sound as though it was a
direct answer to the question.

Senator Pope. It was your answer.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I say it does not seem to answer the

question.

Senator Clark. It seems to be an answer.
Senator Pope. It seems to me a very clear answer. The company

is responsible for the acts of its men.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. For the acts of its men, and the question

referred to the testimony.
Senator Pope. I will read it again

:

By the way, iu this connection may I ask the president of the company this
question : A great deal of testimony seems to have been going into the record
from subordinate officials of the company

—

Like Aiken Simons, I take it

—

May we understand that those statertfents stand as the official attitude of the
company unless corrected by you on the stand?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Certainly. The company is responsible for the acts

of its men.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think the company is responsible

for the opinions or the statements of its men if those statements are

opinions. Obviously the company is not responsible for an indi-

vidual's opinion.

Senator Pope, As to the attitude of the company particularly on
this matter of your activities with respect to legislation and your
opinions with respect to embargoes, where they are not repudiated
by the company, where you received reports, you would say that

they do not represent the attitude of the company?
Mr, Lammot du Pont, In some cases those statements have been

differed with.

Senator Pope, Do you recall any statements that have been made
by Mr. Aiken Simons here with reference to these matters we have
been discussing that do not represent the attitude of the company?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Made by whom ?

Senator Pope. Made by Mr. Aiken Simons or other officials here,

such as Major Casey.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, I think there have been a number of

cases. I cannot recall any particular one now where different repre-

sentatives of the company have differed in their opinions.

Dr. Sparre had a very pronounced difference of opinion the other

day with Major Casey, I think, was it not?
Senator Pope. I have particular reference, though, to the expres-

sions of opinion with reference to this legislation—this particular

legislation in the way of embargo. Have there been any statements

of the officials here, the subordinate officials or employees of the com-
pany, with which you disagree ?

Mr, Lammot du Pont. Certainh^ There have been a number of

them.
Senator Pope, What, for instance ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Oh, I do not recall any of them now. I

have pointed out some of them at times. Senator.

Senator Pope. Let me in that connection call your attention to a

memorandum by Mr. C. R. Mudge, director, under date of April 1,

1932, to Mr, A. Felix du Pont, smokeless-powder department.
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(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1048 "

and appears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope (reading) :

I am attaching for your information H. J. Res. 2S2 and report lliereon. This
joint resolution was introduced bj' Mr. Fish and it proposes a multilateral

agi'eement rpnouuciug (he sale or export of arms, munitions, or implements of

war to any foreign nations.

Then there is a pencil memorandum, signed "A. S.", evidently Mr.
Aiken Simons [reading] :

Called on General Hof, Chief of Ordnance, and Admiral Larimer of the

Bureau of Ordnance on IV-6-32. Steps will be taken to secure consideration

of the demerits of this Fish food.

Do vou know what steps were taken there to present the demerits

of the^Fishfood?
Mr. Casey. We have not the slightest idea. This comes back to

the same general statement we have made repeatedly—that we
simply advise the different officers of the Army and Navy of what
is going on, as it is their problem. We do that because if anything
is apt to affect the relationship we bear to the principles of national

defense as carried out by The Assistant Secretary of War, we be-

lieve we are in duty bound to notify the proper people that there is

something that may affect that general plan.

Senator Pope. Yes ; I know, you have stated that several times.

Mr. Casey. We cannot help but repeat it every time. Senator.

Senator Pope. What I am interested in is what steps, do you know,
were taken ?

Mr. Casey. We took no steps beyond this.

Senator Pope. Do you know whether Mr. Simons took any steps ?

Mr. Casey, But I say Simons took no steps after he spoke to Hof
and Larimer.

Senator Pope. What do you suppose he meant, then, by saying,
" Steps will be taken to secure consideration of the demerits of this

Fish food"?
Mr. Casey. He was speaking, perhaps, that Hof and Larimer

would do that. We were not having to do anything with it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, that is just an illustration of the
expression of an opinion on the part of Mr. Simons.

Senator Pope. It is a statement of something jnore than an expres-
sion of opinion.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is a forecast.

Senator Pope. It is a statement that steps will be taken by some-
body.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is a forecast ; it is a prophecy, a forecast.

He says steps will be taken.
Senator Pope. Yes; but you do not know what steps were taken,

if any?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I have not the faintest idea.
Mr. Casey. Never heard anything more about it.

Senator Pope. Mr. Beebe is not here this morning, but he made a
statement last night that the letters which are signed by him or
addressed to him are authentic.

I want to call attention to a letter of January 9, 1933, addressed by
Mr. Beebe to Mr. F. B. Nichols, vice president Colt's Patent Fire-
arms Manufacturing Co., Hartford, Conn., and it reads as follows:
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Dear Me. Nichols : Confinnmg our conversation of today, we have sent the-

following telegram to the Secretary of the Navy, Secretary of "War, and
Secretary of Commerce, Washington, D.C.

:

" Referring reported proposal of President to ask authorization of Congress
to declare embargoes on shipments of arms to countries where hostilities exist

or are threatened, we earnestly request your consideration of fact that it would
not prevent these countries obtaining supplies elsewhere and would merely
divert business needed by companies like ours on which our Nation depends in

time of war."

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1049 " and ap-

pears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope. That was written by Mr. Beebe. That, you think^

is a very good argument to present to the Secretary of the Navy
against any embargoes?
Mr. Casey. I do not think we have any right to express an opinion

on a letter written by Mr. Beebe, of the Winchester Co.

Senator Pope. But you agree with him in the argument he made?
Mr. Casey. I agree with him when it is going to affect the national

defense; yes.

Senator Pope. Yes.

I now refer to a letter of January 20, 1933, written by Roy D.
Chapin, Secretary of Commerce, to the Winchester Repeating Arms
Co., New Haven, Conn.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1050 " and ap-

pears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope (reading) :

Acknowledgment of your telegram of Januai*y 9, regarding the control of the
export of arms, was delayed until the situation here could have clarified

somewhat.
As I understand your industry was advised by the Department of State, the

interests of American manufacturers were carefully considered before the Sec-

retary of State wrote his letter of January 6. which formed the basis of Presi-

dent Hoover's message to Congress of January 10 on this subject. While you
have doubtless seen it in the press, I am enclosing copy of the Presidential
message referred to, from which you will note that the limitation of the export
of arms and munitions of war in certain eventualities, which is therein pro-

posed, contemplates the securing of the cooperation of other nations. This
procedure would abviate any discrimination against American interests.

Sincerely yours.

Do you know anything about the matter contained there with
reference to the consideration given by the Secretary of State?

Mr. Casey. I do not.

Senator Pope. I want to call attention to a telegram under date

of February 10, 1933, delivered to W. R. A. Co., addressed Win-
chester.

(The telegram referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1051 " and ap-

pears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope (reading) :

C'ommittee will hear you Tuesday, February 14, 10 o'clock morning. Wire
me immediately name of persons appearing, title, and corporation they will

repi'esent.
E. W. Goss.

Mr. Goss at that time was a Member of Congress?
Mr. Casey. I believe so.

Senator Pope (reading) :

Note: Responsibility for action on this telegram rests upon the person

receiving this original copy.

Deliver to H. F. Beebe. Department export.
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Did you attend the hearings?

Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Pope. Or did any representative of your company attend

the hearing?
Mr. Casey. The only hearing I ever attended was the one of April

1, 1925, called by Hoover.
Senator Pope. That was when he was Secretary of Commerce ?

Mr. Casey. Yes. That was the only hearing I ever attended.

Senator Pope. I call your attention to a letter written by Mr.
Beebe, to the Western Cartridge Co., dated February 16, 1938.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1052 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2843.)

Senator Pope (reading) :

(Attention Mr. J. M. Olin.)

Subject : House bill giving power to the President to embargo sbipments of
arms and ammunition.

Dear Mr. Olin : As you are doubtless aware, when a bill on this subject was
previously passed, Senator Bingham succeeded in having it recalled, and has
since been able to have it held up.
The bill was then introduced into the House and we immediately made an

effort to have action postponed in order to have an opportunity to enter
objections.

Senator Clark. Who wrote that letter ?

Senator Pope. That was written by Mr. Beebe.

In the beginning it looked as if it was probable that an effort would be made
to rush the bill through, and in order to bring all the pressure we could to bear
to have the action deferred I wired .you on February 9 as follows

:

" Informed probability bill being introduced House regarding arms embargo
and regulations exports. Have wired Congressman Goss to endeavor have
action deferred to give those interested opportunity to be heard. Colt and
Remington working. Suggest you wire your Congressman."

I discussed this matter with Mr. Bii-ney and with Mr. Pugsley.

Wlio are they, Major Casey?
Mr. Casey. That was after Western had bought Winchester, so I

thinly Mr. Birney was then back with Winchester. Mr. Pugsley was
likewise Winchester.

Senator Pope. Representatives of the Winchester Co.?
Mr. Casey. Yes.
Senator Pope (reading) :

It was decided, due to the fact that I previously worked on similar proposals

that I had best go to Washington and appear before the committee.
Saturday aftenioon I found that you had telephoned to Mr. Pugsley, in-

structing him to attend, and upon telephoning him that I would be glad to

turn all the information over to him, he stated that he had already wired
you that he thought it best for me to go.

From the best Information we could get, both before and after reaching
Washington, it appeared that the committee was overwhelmingly in favor of

the resolution and that our efforts had best be directed: (1) Against giving
too much power to the President, (2) that it should include all countries
that manufactured munitions, and (3) that it specify more definitely what
was intended by arms and mimitions.

I reviewed some of the material used at the time I went to Washington
in connection with the Geneva Conference and then drew up the attached
statement which was fully concurred in by a Remington and Colt representa-
tive. This statement I made at the committee hearing and answered a few
questions.

Mr. Stone, president of the Colt Co., stressed the importance of industry in
time of war and Mr. Monaghan of the Remington Co. enlarged on the fact
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that tlie possibilities of embargo would increase the building of munitiou
plants in foreign countries.

I saw in the morning paper that the bill had been reported out favorably,

with the slight change which limited its application to North and South
America. I know that when it reaches the Senate, Senator Bingham will

fight it tooth and nail, and I think a few friends in the House, like Senator
Goss

—

He means Representative Goss

—

will do what they can."

Did you have any contacts with Senator Bingham with respect

to these embargo resolutions?

Mr- Casey. I have never met Senator Bingham.
Senator Pope. Do you know Representative Goss?
Mr. Casey. I met him years ago during the war, and as one of

the officials of the Scoville Manufacturing Co. We were selling

them black fuse powder that they used in the making of combination
fuses.

Senator Pope. So Representative Goss was an official of the Sco-
ville Co.?
Mr. Casey. He was at the time I speak of, during the war. I do

not know whether he is still an offi.cial of theirs or not.

Senator Pope, Wliat business is the Scoville Co. engaged in?

Mr. Casey. Manufacture of all sorts of brass goods.
Senator Pope. Do you know whether Senator Bingham had any

connection with any munitions organization?
Mr. Casey. I have not the slightest idea.

Senator Pope. A statement made in a recent publication says:

"The Honorable Edward W. Goss, Representative in Congress from Con-
necticut, members of the Committee on Military Affairs, and formerly of the
ScQville Manufacturing Co., makers of war supplies in war time, insisted
America must sell munitions in order to be properly prepared.

" In other words ", said Mr. Hull

—

a Representative at the time

—

" you have got to foment war abroad in order to keep in practice."
" No, sir," replied the Honorable Mr. Goss, whose family is still with the

Scoville Co.

You do not know whether he is still with the Scoville Co. or not?
Mr. Casey. No ; but the Goss family—the Scoville Co. was started

in 1802, and I do not Iniow when the Goss family got control, but I
think at the time I speak of during the war there were al30ut 7
brothers—G or 7 or something like that.

Senator Pope. I read this statement with reference to Senator
Bingham at that time, as to his position at that time, as follows

:

In 1929 a public statement was made that the position of Senator Bingham
of Connecticut, "As head of the National Aeronautic Association, was manipu-
lated by interests profiting largely from Government aircraft contracts. A
gigantic air trust nnd its lobby have worked for the passage of legislation
that diverted millions of the Government's money to the pockets of the trust."

There was no denial or repudiation of this statement.
Do you know whether Senator Bingham was at the time referred

to head of the National Aeronautic Association?
Mr. Casey. I haven't the slightest idea.

Senator Clakk. I understand he has been devoting his time exclu-

sively to that, since he went out of the Senate.
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Mr. Casey. I know nothing about it.

Senator Pope. You know nothing about that?
Mr. Casey. No.
Senator Pope (continuing) :

If you have any instructions in regard to what steps should be taken, please
inform me. ir I do not hear from you to the contrary, I will continue to
keep in touch with the other nianufactui-ers and do what appears to be
necessary or advisable.

That is signed H. F. Beebe.
Mr. Casey. Senator Pope, at the time a lot of this discussion wa^,

going on—I don't know whetlier it was at this hearing held by Mr
Hoover or not—but when I had listened to the position taken by
certain other manufacturers, I either made this statement in a
letter or made it at that hearing : I said, " The position of the du
Pont Co. is slightly different. We are in the business at the request
of the Army and Navy, and it is their fight, not ours."

Mr. LamMOT du Pont. Senator, might I ask what you are reading
from when you refer to this Aeronautic Association?

Senator Pope. I am reading from a recent book by George Seldes,

which is for general distribution.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. What is the book ?

Senator Pope. " Iron, Blood and Profits," by George Seldes.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Is it a fair statement to ask whether you
concur in all of the statements in that book?

Senator Pope. I concur in some of them, as far as my informa-
tion goes.

Senator Clark. I will say it is very well documented as to ques-

tions of fact.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I just wondered how authentic it was. I
would like to read it, if you concur in it.

Senator Pope. I will be very glad to let you have it, if you want
to read it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Don't give it to me. I don't want to accept
any bribes. I did not mean that disparagingly. I just made the
suggestion.

Senator Pope. I will make you a Christmas present of it.

Senator Clark. A little Chinese custom.
Mr. Casey. Senator, I say wait until New Year's.

Senator Pope. New Year's?
Mr. Casey. That sounds better.

Senator Pope. Mr. du Pont, I call your attention to a statement
you made recently or an excerpt from a statement made by you.

It has no date on it. It is a general statement, which I will ask
to have marked for reference as an exhibit.

(The excerpt referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1053 ", and
appears in full in the text.)

Senator Pope. This reads

:

EXCEKPT FKOM THE DU PONT CO. AND MUNITIONS PUBLISHED BY E. I. DU PONT
DE Nemours & Co., Wilmington, Del.

I. CHARGE OF OPPOSING PEACE; OF FOMENTING WAR

For this charge, we believe the most exhaustive examination of the facts
will show that there is no real foundation whatever in the activities or policies

of your company. The du Pont Co. employs no munitions lobbyists, at
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home or abroad, and has no part in any such employment. It makes no effort

to mold public sentiment to its own ends—unless this sort of straightforward
communication to persons entitled to know the facts must bear the reproach
of some such accusation. It makes, and has made, no contributions, financial

or otherwise, to any organized effort to oppose disarmament or to promote
any supposed common interest of the manufacturers of munitions.

In the light of the activities of Mr. Simons which appeared in

this testimony the last day or two, and before, where he made the

suggestion that this committee which was formed in 1925 and was
active there in opposition, in connection with the Geneva Disarma-
ment Conference
Mr. Lammot du Pont. What conference was that, you say?

Senator Pope. The Geneva Conference in 1925.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. What did you call it ?

Senator Pone. The Geneva Disarmament Conference or Confer-

ence for the Control of the Traffic.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I did not think that conference was called

for the purpose of disarmament.
Senator Pope. Very well; then Control of Traffic in Arms. In

view of the frequent calls that were made of Mr. Simons and by
Major Casey and the other activities that are shown here, do you
think that is a fair statement?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do.

Senator Pope. You do?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Casey. Senator, I don't think we went far enough, in fact.

Senator Pope. You did not make this statement strong enough ?

Mr. Casey. That is, at least as far as the military sales were con-

cerned. You may remember I have said in making these different

statements about any legislative matters, I was only speaking for

smokeless powder. I do not know, nor have I any responsibility for

what other departments of the company may do.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. If I may amplify that statement, Senator,

I think that what you have referred to as activities are simply the

efforts on the part of our representative to bring the facts before the
proper people.

Senator Pope. Do you regard that effort as limited in that way,
when your Mr. Simons suggested that they get this whole committee
active again, and following that suggestion the matter was presented
to the Secretary of Commerce?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Who was one of those proper authorities?

Senator Pope. Yes. With the request that he call that commit-
tee together, for the purpose of opposing this legislation ; that that is

merely a disinterested act of calling it to their attention ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think the suggestion was to call that

committee together to get the cross-sectional views on the subject.

That was what that committee was called for originally, to get the
views of the manufacturers. It was another case where the views of

the manufacturers should be ])ut before the proper authorities.

Senator Pope. Is it not the fact of the matter that you or your
representatives were using such arguments, constantly referring to

the national defense, but using such arguments as would convince
the officials of the War and Navy Departments tliat it was in the



MUNITIONS INDUSTEY 2753

interests of national defense, from the policy they announced, to op-

pose all of these proposed measures providing for embargoes?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I saw nothing to indicate that they opposed

all measures. They simply were putting before the proper authori-

ties the facts as they saw them, and the opinions that they held.

Senator Pope. The investigation that we have given the matter
here shows every resolution opposing embargoes—and I have seen

the most of them and have the most of them before me on the desk
here—that that has been the subject of opposition in the form that
has been indicated here, on the part of particularly your Mr. Aiken
Simons and representatives of other companies.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. You will recall that the recommendations

of the manufacturers in the case of the Geneva Conference were
confined entirely to proposals to differentiate between sporting arms
and ammunition and military arms and ammunition, except that
they referred to the matter of publicity.

Senator Pope. I think that is not a correct statement. I think it

is very much broader than that, according to the testimony given
here, and certainly the effect of the recommendations of the com-
mittee went further than merely working out a reasonable line of
demarcation between sporting arms and war arms.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It went further in that it went into the

matter of publicity.

Senator, this was discussed yesterday, and I looked up the recom-
mendations of that committee and read them, and I find nothing in

there except those two points.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Chairman, the whole discussion, the min-
utes of the discussion of that meeting were put into the record, so

that the attitude of the representatives of the companies there might
be fully and freely described, and the whole question of licensing

seems to have absorbed a great deal of the attention of that meeting,
and, as that exhibit will show, certain attitudes were taken by the
Government's members there as the result of the discussion on that
matter of licensing.

]Mr. Lammot du Pont. I insist. Senator, however, that it seems
to me you are incorrect when you say that the manufacturers opposed
all of these matters that were brought up.

Senator Pope. Do you recall any proposed legislation for em-
bargoes which was not the subject of opposition on the part of at
least some of the manufacturers of munitions ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, sir ; I cannot say that I recall any legis-

lation that was not a matter of consideration.
Mr. Casey. I do not know, of course, what other companies may

have done. We can only speak for ourselves. I again want to
repeat, because we were part, and a rather important part, accord-
ing to the Army and Navy, of their entire plan for industrial mobil-
ization, we were in duty bound every time we saw an indication,
either here or abroad, that might affect the munitions policy of the
United States, to draw it to the attention of the people who said
they wanted us to be a part of that picture.

Now, that is a fair statement and true statement.



2754 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

QUESTION OF INTERNATIONAL DISARMAMENT IN 192 2 AND ITS RELATION
TO THE CHEMICAL INDUSTRY

The Chairman. Mr. Raushenbush, what witnesses do you want
now?
Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Weston and Mr. Irenee du Pont.
The Chairman. Mr. Weston and Mr. Irenee du Pont.
Mr. Lammot DU Pont. Mr. Chairman, I am sorry to say that Mr.

Weston cannot appear at this hearing and probably subsequent hear-
ings, because he met with an accident on Sunday and broke his arm.
I have here a doctor's certificate to that effect, if the secretary wants
to see it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. He did not have heart faihire?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No ; he did not have heart trouble.

The Chairman. He did not have heart trouble?

Mr. Casey. No. The worst thing was he was going to church.
Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. du Pont, is there anyone here who can

stand examination on the matters he was actively engaged in, which
we started examination on last Thursday?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think there is any individual

present who can answer all of the questions that Mr. Weston would
be able to answer himself, but I think if we hear the questions there

may be somebody present who can answer any specific one. For
instance, the question that was asked Mr. Weston when he was on
the stand before as to who the members of the American Dye Insti-

tute were, I have a memorandum here that gives that.

Mr. Raushenbush. We will be glad to accept that. The question

was a little more direct. It was, what people representing the chem-
ical industries were active in Washington at the time, and Mr.
Weston replied that that would involve the whole list of the dyes

industry. We hoped to question him further about those papers.

May we have that and mark that an exhibit?

(The information about the American Dyes Institute referred to

was marked " Exhibit No. 1054 '" and is included in the appendix
on p. 2844.)

Mr. Raushenbush. We will also file the doctor's certificate as
" Exhibit No. 1055."

(The doctor's certficate referred to was marked " Exhibit No.
1055 " and is included in the appendix on p. 2846.)

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Irenee du Pont, you were president of

the company from 1919 on, is that it ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I was president of the E. I. du Pont de

Nemours Co. from 1919 to 1926.

Mr. Raushenbush. From 1919 to 1926?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is right.

Mr. Raushenbush. Did Mr. Weston work in Washington and
abroad under your orders or under the orders of someone else?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think there might have been an inter-

mediary between him and me, but I was at the time reasonably

familiar with his activities.

Mr. Raushenbush. Can you name the man who functioned as

intermediary?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am not perfectly sure, but I think it was

Mr. R. R. M. Carpenter, who was his nominal boss. I think Mr.

Carpenter employed him originally, as I recall.
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Mr. KAUSHENiiusH. What was Mr. R. R. M. Carpenter's function
in the company at the time ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. A good deal of his time was spent on matters
of personnel and organization. He had rather a flair for that. Be-
fore that time he had been head of the development department. He
was also a member of the executive committee. He took a consid-

erable interest in a number of the activities of the company, most
all in the industrial line. I do not think he ever had anything to do
with the military line. In this dye situation, to which you doubtless

refer, he was active to this extent, that he had an office next to mine
and kept me posted on any gossip he heard or any facts that came to

his attention. But he had no first-hand activity in it, as far as I
know. I was the man that was on that job.

Mr. Raushenbush. Did Mr. R. R. M. Carpenter function in the

Washington field at that time ^

Mr. Irenee du Pont. He may have been down here off and on but
he was not active in it. He was not active in the sense that I was
active in it.

Mr. Raushenbush. In your absence, Mr. Irenee du Pont, while
you were excused last Thursday afternoon, we introduced some ex-

hibits relating to the activities of Mr. Weston, which I would like to

refer to again, for vour information. I refer to " Exhibit No. 931 ",^

a letter of September 22, 1921, from Mr. Weston to Mr. Whaley
[reading] :

My Dear Whaley : You kuow, of course, that the chemical industry will
figure very largely in the coming Disarmament Conference. The Chemical War-
fare Service will, of course, be consulted. It may interest you, as piece of
news, to learn that the chemical industry as a whole will be represented
through advisers to be appointed to help the American delegation solve its

problems. The names of several distinguished chemists are now under consid-
eration at the White House and announcement of the appointment of represen-
tatives of the chemical industry probably will be made very soon.
For your private information, the President has received favorably the sug-

gestion that Dr. Charles H. Herty an^ Dr. Edgar Fahs Smith, former provost
of the University of Pennsylvania and president of the American Chemical
Society, be named as advisers.

This was on September 22. Do you know when the list of advisers

to the Disarmament Conference was finally made public at Wash-
ington ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No.
Mr. Raushenbush. I have looked that up and find that it was

released by the Department of State on November 1. So this was
about 38 days before, that your publicity man was informing Mr.
Whaley that these two men had been recommended to the President
by the industry. Do you recall which one of those men was finally

chosen ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not.

Mr. Raushenbush. It is a matter of common knowledge that it

was Dr. Smith who was chosen to be on the technical staff in regard
to chemical warfare.
In that connection I call your attention to an exhibit entered on

Thursday, marked " No. 925 ^', and written by Eysten Berg, who was
identified as one of your representatives abroad, from Paris, dated

1 Hearings, Part XI, p. 2420.
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February 3, 1920, to the du Pont Co.^ In the course of that letter,

on the second page, he refers to Dr. Herty in the following language
[reading] :

As well Duisberg

—

Duisberg was head of one of the German chemical companies, was
he not ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. He was active in charge of one of the Ger-
man chemical companies, I believe.

Mr. Raushenbush (reading) :

As well Duisberg as Bosch—

•

he was active in another chemical company over in Germany, wasn't

he?
^ ^

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I don't know whether it was another or the

same one?
Mr. Raushenbush. Or the same one?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush (continuing) :

both of whom I had out to dinner the other day, were furious on Dr. Herty and
Dr. Bosch declared that he would at once break off all negotiations with us
if we have anything to do with the difficulties raised against the Germans
dyes in America.

In a paragraph further down Mr. Berg goes on [reading] :

The whole discontent is due to the fact that the Germans have been of the
opinion that Dr. Herty belongs to our company, and that all measurements
taken in America against the German dye interests originate from us.

That seems to indicate that the Germans at least made the mis-
take of identifying Dr. Herty for your company representative;

doesn't it?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I don't know whether it does or not. That
is what they apparently said they though.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It seems they made that mistake.

Mr. Raushenbush. It seems they made that mistake or had that

impression.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think Dr. Herty never was employed by

the du Pont Co.
Mr. Raushenbush. No ; the point of the letter seems to be that he

was active in Europe to the extent that at least the Germans thought
that he did belong to the company.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. They made that mistake then.

Mr. Raushekbush. Then another exhibit was introduced, labeled
" No. 932 ", dated November 9, 1921, which is a letter from the

Wlialey-Eaton Service to Mr. Frank Byrne of your company, who
is identified as assistant to Mr. Weston.- The first paragraph reads

:

Referring to your telephone inquiry in regard to the members of the French
delegation experts on chemical disarmament.

The last paragraph reads:

We thiidc it very unlikely that we will be able to get any of the details of the
plan for chemical disarmament from these gentlemen, but we will do our best.

There seems definitely from that letter to be an indication that

the company was interested in finding out in advance of the con-

1 Hearings, Part XI, p. 2415.
=> Hearings, Part XI, p. 2420.
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ference the ideas of the French delegation on chemical disarmament

;

isn't that correct?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. A reasonable inference.

Mr. Raushenbush. A reasonable inference?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. I refer again, for your information, to an ex-

hibit that was introduced on Thursday, labeled " No. 933 ", dated
November 25, 1921, being a memorandum from Mr. "Weston, the head
of your publicity department, to Mr. Poucher.^ Mr. Poucher was
identified as a vice president of the company at that time. Is that
correct ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Poucher was employed by the company
at that time, I think, but I do not recall that he was a vice president.
Mr. Raushenbush. Well, he was an employee of the company who

had traveled for you in Europe.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes,
Mr. Raushenbush. The memorandum begins [reading]

:

I am informed through the Washington " grapevine " that the British dele-

gation to the Limitation of Armaments Conference has a plan to submit con-
cerning the chemical industry which embodies these points

:

First, to outlaw the use of poison gas in warfare and to outlaw as far as
possible anything of a dangerous chemical nature

:

Second, failing to secure drastic action (as they expect to fail) to limit
the use of chemicals as much as possible

;

Third, to put the chemical industries of the various nations under the con-
trol of the governments.

Mr. du Pont, Mr. Weston did not feel able to answer some of the
questions asked him about this, and I wonder whether you would
feel free to do so. This letter would certainly seem to indicate an
interest in what the British delegation had to offer on the subject of
chemical warfare, would it not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Now you are going too fast for me. I

never saw this letter that I recall before. Is this a whole letter or is

it an excerpt ? It is not signed.

Mr. Raushenbush. We have it signed with initials here, and that
seems to be the whole memorandum.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. C. K. W. It looks like Weston.
Mr. Raushenbush. It is a memorandum.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Oh, yes; from Weston, yes. What about it?

Mr. Raushenbush. I asked whether it was not a reasonable infer-

ence that there was considerable interest in the ideas of this British

delegation before the Conference.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. This seems to be a rumor. As I understand

the " grapevine " means rumors coming through all sorts of channels.
Senator Clark. Who was the Washington grapevine, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not tell you what the Washington

grapevine is. I thought it was simply a wandering source of rumors
in regard to something. I don't know what your grapevine is. The
only kind we have is the kind that we get grapes off of ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think Mr. Weston testified what was
meant by that expression. He said it was the aggregate of the rep-
resentatives of the chemical manufacturing concerns who were fre-

quently in Washington at that time, and when asked who those men

1 Hearings, Part XI, p. 2421.
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were he said he did not recall but would get a list, and I just handed
your secretary the list.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I notice that this other letter is concerned
with Whaley-Eaton. That is a news bureau that tried to get in-

formation ahead of time and possibly had information that they
used to try to get ahead of time. I think the boys from the press here
always like to get a little advance information. But the point I make
is that this is a rumor. "Wliether it is true or not, I do not know. I
never saw anything authentic about it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Did you or anyone in your company receive

any direct information from the Nobel Co. or other British chemical
interests as to the plans of the British delegation in advance ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not recall it at this time.

Mr. Raushenbush. According to those first, second, and third

items listed there with some apparent definiteness, the British delega-
tion seemed to have a direct idea of the importance of limiting the
chemical industry; isn't that a reasonable inference?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. On the face of that, Mr. Secretary, the word-

ing of this is evidently not very accurate. The first part anybody
could understand, to outlaw the use of poison gas. I believe that was,
however, outlawed before the start of the World War and Germany
did not have any compunctions about using it, showing that outlaw-
ing does not always have the hoped for effect. But the balance of it,

" To outlaw as far as possible anything of a dangerous chemical na-
ture ", strictly speaking, and I think generally speaking, dynamite
is a dangerous commodity, so construed by the Interstate Commerce
Commission. That would outlaw dynamite, and I suppose by the

same inference blasting caps and everything of that kind would have
to be outlawed. Evidently that is the intent of this thing, according
to what the words say.

Mr. Raushenbush. Without spending too much time upon that

question of the nice distinctions of what is chemical and what is not,

which would take far too much paper and ink than would be
proper in a brief summary of it, you stated that you did not hear
from the English chemical interests as to why the British delegation

is reported as expecting to fail.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I did not say that, sir. I say, I have no
recollection of it. I may have at the time, but I have completely
forgotten it if I did. We were having a fight right here on our dye
industry.

Mr. Raushenbush. There are only a few more exhibits to which I

want to refer, which have already been entered, but to get the story

started again so that we can get the present explanations from you, I

wish to refer again to an exhibit numbered " No. 909 ", being a letter

from Mr. Weston to Mr. Charles A. Meade, vice president of the

company, dated London, December 10, 1920.^ It begins [reading] :

Deimi Mr. Meade : My mission seems to be going fairly well ; I have met a
number of our American newspaper correspondents and have, I think, suc-

ceeded in selling them our idea. One cannot tell, of course, until the results

begin to appear in American newspapers.
I am sending you clipping giving details of the debate in the House of Com-

mons, along with other matter which I think is interesting.

1 Hearings. Part XI, p. 2397.
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I skip a paragraph. [Eeading:]

I believe that the great strong point to be brought out by our frieuus in the

United States Senate is that with Japan, France, and England all protecting

their dye industries, the United States is left as the only hope for the
Germans. They will, without doubt, concentrate over there and give us a

particularly hard fight.

I skip to the first paragraph on the second page [reading] :

I shall remain here next week to see this bill through and to continue my
efforts to stoke up the interest of those whom I came to see.

The correspondents in Paris report to the offices here, so it is apparent that

if the men in London get the right angle it will be wonderfully helpful.

In Paris I shall devote my energy very largely to bringing the correspondents
in contact more closely with the American sources of news, at the same time
trying to give them the proper angle so that they will appreciate the importance
of the news.

Was Mr. Weston in London on your orders, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. He was certainly there with my assent.

Mr. Kaushenbush. Would it have been Mr. Carpenter who
ordered him over there, if it were not directly under your orders,

or would it have been Mr. Meade ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know. He might have gone at

the instigation of one or the other, but I was a party to it.

Mr. Raushenbush. In a letter entered as " Exhibit No. 927 'V 'i

memorandum from Mr. Poucher to the publicity department, the
results of Mr. Weston's work seem to be indicated, and I want to

call your attention particularly to their character. [Reading:]

I received a letter today from Mr. Weston, from London, dated December
17, together with some clippings from the London papers of various dates be-

tween December 3 and 17. I think we are beginning to see some results, for
example: The article in the Boston Transcript issued December 31, page 6,

under this heading

:

" BRITAIN FORESEES ' GAS ' WAB

" New legislation will shut out dyestuffs and enable plants to be built which
can be converted into poison-gas factories."

Those seem to be the headlines. The article is quoted further
under the heading of " London, December 31." [Reading :]

That poison gas will be the supreme weapon in the next war is accepted by
the Government. This is the inference drawn from the passage of the dye-
stuffs import regulations act, which prohibits the importation of dyestuffs tor
the next 10 years. During this period England will be enabled to build up
her dye industry to a point of absolute dependence from the outside world.
Dye plants, by a slight change, can be readily converted into war plants for

the manufacture of poison gas. When the World War began in 1914, England
had very few dye works, but Germany was full of them. Hence, the British
had to build the factories for the making of poison gas, while the Teutons
had everything ready. The conversion of the numerous dye plants into gas
plants was, practically speaking, the work of only a few hours.

Mr. Poucher apparently goes on [reading] :

I notice that this heading follows very closely the one in the London Evening
Standard of December 7,—giving some more headlines :

" Poison Gas and tlie

Next War ", " Nations Experimenting Already ", " British Position ", " Gases
in Warfare ", " Value of a Highly Developed Chemical Industry."

1 Hearings, Part XI, p. 2416.
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That is the end of his quotation. He says

:

This is the right line and it must be pushed hard on this side. I suggest
that you look out for any statements or reports from General Fries. They
will, of course, be quite in line with the foregoing.

Mr. du Pont, did you read Mr. Weston's testimony on Thurs-
day?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I did, but I did not have the exhibits, and it

made a little bit of a ragtime to me, because I could not follow what
they were talking about. Maybe it was ragtime anyhow. Is that

what you mean ?

Mr. Raushenbush. I felt that the questioning had been too fast.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. In jumping from one day to another, the

topics were entirely different. For instance, the fixation of nitro-

gen, fixed nitrogen never having been manufactured in this country
before that time.

Mr. Raushenbush. I was going to state that the questioning was
apparently too fast and the report on Thursday is very hard for

anyone to read.

In further connection along the line of the activities of Mr. Wes-
ton over there for our interest, because of these articles coming over

here, about " Britain Foresees ' Gas ' War " and the like, there is a

further memorandum from him entered as " Exhibit No. 928 ", dated
January 15, 1921, to Mr. Weston from his assistant.^ [Reading:]

Recently there have appeared a number of dispatches in the American
papers along the lines that are very desirable to us. These look to me as
if they have been cabled to this country as a result of your visit to the other

side.

(1) The Boston Transcript of December 31, 1920, carried a fine story on
" Britain foresees gas warfare ", dated from London.

(2) The Washington Herald had a cable dispatch written by Wythe Wil-
liams from Paris about German dye plots against the United States. This
was taken up by the Manufacturers' Record and made the subject of a splendid
full-page editorial.

(3) The Evening Bulletin had a dispatch from London talking about the
importance of the British action passing the dye bill and its relation to

American alfairs.

(4) The Public Ledger of January 8, 1921, had a dispatch from Paris about
" Germany Sets Dye Trade Trap."
These dispatches, of course, are syndicated in many cases to appear in differ-

ent places throughout the country, so that the publicity on these four items
I mentioned must have been very considerable.

Now, Mr. du Pont, do you remember whether Mr. Weston was
also in France at the time? I believe we had an exhibit to the
effect that he was. Do you remember that ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is pretty difficult

Mr. Raushenbush. Do you happen to remember about his French
visit ? That is the question I am raising.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No ; I do not. That was a separate one from
the one to England ?

Mr. Raushenbush. We went from London to Paris, according to

the exhibits.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I would not be at all surprised.

Mr. Raushenbush. And the testimony indicated, and we had the
story of his educating newspaper correspondents in Paris, and some-
what similar stories coming from abroad.

1 Hearings, Part XI, p. 2417.



MUNITIONS INDUSTEY 2761

The question I want to ask here is : was Mr. Weston in England
watching the debate in the Commons and sending, or hoping to
send, those stories over here, and keep interest " stoked up ", to use
his phrase?

^
Was he over there in the interest of American defense?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think he was
;
yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. Was he there at all in the interest of British
defense ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Not that I know of. I cannot see what our
interest would be in the British defense, although they had been
allies until very recently. There is no question that the organic
chemical industry and its relation to preparedness in modern warfare
was very little appreciated in this country up until 1919, when these
first hearings came before Congress. It was felt, and I concurred
in that feeling, that people must be brought to the realization of
what the potential results of the chemical industry can be, not only
in warfare but in peace.

I think that the whole theory of a closely knit chemical industry
was beyond any question, but very feAv people knew anything about
it in this country. I will undertake to say you people here have
not the least apprehension of what the chemical industry has in store
for humanity, and what it has already accomplished. I am sure on
that. I had an education in chemistry, and as early as 1905 I went
to Mr. T. C. du Pont, the president of the company, and told him
my dream, that we ought to concentrate on the chemical industry,
and the way to do it was to get every chemical industry in the
United States together and make progress in that way. He thought
it was a good idea, but about that time the Government brought a
suit against us for being a trust, so that it was impossible to do it,
and the matter was dropped. But I have been intensely interestedm it all my life.

Mr. Raushenbush. These headlines, for which some credit is
taken, in the British papers, and which Mr. Poucher describes as
being along the right line, and should be pushed on this side, such as

:

Britain Foresees " Gas » War, New Legislation Will Shut Out Dyestuffs and
Enable Plants to Be Built Which Can Be Converted into Poison-Gas Factories—
To what extent would your answer about chemistry being your dream
bear on the results of your agent's work ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. As my dream of 1905 did not have any
results, I never heard of it, and I doubt if anyone else had.

Senator Clark. It is more of a nightmare than a dream, is it not ?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think it is, but what are you going to do

about it ? The Germans started out with a waive of chlorine which
was so effective against the British that if they had had more, they
could have wiped off the armies of the continent, but they did not
know how much was needed. People think that one airplane can
go over New York and drop gas and put the city out of business,
but it would take a great deal.
Mr. Raushenbush. How much would they need ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know, but I know one airplane will
not drop enough poison gas to affect everybody in town. That is
exaggerated It has very great power, and if you have a sufficient
fleet ot airplanes with poison gas and incendiary bombs, there is no
doubt but that the population will be in a very bad way.

83876—35—PT 12——9
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Senator Clark. I read somewhere that an eminent physicist said

it would take 100 airplanes over Paris to blanket Paris with a blanket
of poison gas 100 feet thick.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It would have to be pretty dilute. A blan-
ket of gas 100 feet thick over Paris would be an awful lot of gas.

Senator Clark. I cannot pronounce his name, but it was a very
interesting article.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. The answer is, nobody knows the answer to

it, but we do know it is enough to be serious.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. If you want to get into this kind of ques-

tioning, I think you ought to permit one of our practical chemists to

testify on the practical end of chemistry which we are discussing.

Mr. Raushenbush. The original question was whether your agent,

stimulating interest in newspaper headlines of this character, which
came over to this country in various forms, and also in France, was
over there in the interest of our national defense or British national

defense.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. He was over there, I think, entirely in our

interest. He had no interest, particularly, in the British national
defense, except that they had been allies.

Mr. ErAUSHENBUSH. When he went to France and did the same
thing, he was not there in the interest of the French national de-

fense ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am quite sure he was not. I never heard
of it.

Mr. Raushenbush. He was there in the interest of American na-
tional defense?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. The du Pont Co. We were paying him.
Mr. Raushenbush. Let me ask you whether he was not interested

in having England and France protect their chemical industries,

their own chemical industries.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Was he interested ?

Mr. Raushenbush. Was he not interested?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I did not know it. I did not read that

there.

Mr. Garvan. Mr. Chairman, I do not want to interrupt, but I also

do not want to sit quiet and have the inference remain that I did
keep quiet. Mr. Weston went to Europe at my request and under
my direction.

The Chairman. What is your name?
Mr. Garvan. Francis P. Garvan. At that time I was Alien Prop-

erty Custodian, if it is after March 4, 1919, from March 4, 1919 to

1921 I was Alien Property Custodian. Mr. Weston's activity I am
ready to explain at any time. I did not want to have the wrong
inference drawn by sitting quiet.

Mr. Raushenbush. We will pass that up now.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I did not send Mr. Weston myself, but I

certainly assented to it. I had forgotten that Mr. Garvan used his

influence to get Mr. Weston on that. I had forgotten that entirely.

I have no doubt he is quite correct.

Mr. Raushenbush. Did the company pay Mr. Weston's expenses
while he was there ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I presume so.



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2763

Mr. RAusHENBtJSH. What Mr. Weston seems to be interested in

watching and getting articles out about, Mr. du Pont, is the appar-

ent protection for their chemical industries which England and

France were at that time considering, and my question was, there-

fore, whether he was interested in the British national defense or

the American. You answered, Not in the British, and also Not in

the French.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think indirectly that if Great Britain took

steps to do this sort of thing, it would be a very good lead for

America to follow, and if Great Britain and France were doing it,

the United States ought to, so that indirectly he might have an inter-

est in it, but he certainly did not go over there in behalf of the

British dye people, that I know of.

Mr. Raushenbush. Certainly articles of that kind, about " Britain

forsees ' gas ' war " and " New legislation will shut out dyestuffs and
enable plants to be built which can be converted into poison-gas

factories " may have had an influence on American public opinion as

to the whole question of gas warfare.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I thing that was exactly what it was for,

to awaken public opinion to the seriousness of that situation.

Mr. Raushenbush. And that was in the years prior to our dis-

armament conference here, which the President invited the nations

of the world to attend, and in the course of which he mentioned the

subject of poison gas as a possible subject for discussion.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What year was that? I do not recollect.

Mr. Raushenbush. It was on August 11, 1921, that the President's

invitation went out, containing in it this clause

:

It may also be found advisable to formulate proposals by which in the
interests of humanity the use of new agencies of warfare may be suitably
controlled.

From that the so-called " treaty on poison gases " was drawn.
This was at a time preceding, and all I was asking about was the

creation of a public opinion at that time which made not only the
people in France and England aware of the whole question of pro-
tecting their chemical industries, but also the people in the United
States.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was aimed at the people in the United
States. These messages went to the people in the United States.

There are United States publications.

Mr. Raushenbush. This is aimed at the people in the United
States. Before I get to another question, did you ever get any re-

ports that any other American industries were over there doing the
same thing at the same time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not recall it unless Mr. Garvan, on be-

half of the Chemical Foundation, might have done so. I do not
know. I do not recollect.

Mr. Raushenbush. Outside of the chemical industry, was any
other American industry " stocking up " interest in the national leg-

islation of either England or France in behalf of our American
defense at that time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not get what you are driving at. I

do not recall any of it.

Mr. Raushenbush. You did not run into any farmers' representa-
tives over there who were doing the same thing at the same time ?
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. I did not; no, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. In " Exhibit No. 915 "—and this is the last

of those to which I refer as having already been introduced, I

believe—your publicity manager, Mr. Weston ^

Mr. Lammot du Pont. What is the date of it?

Mr. Raushenbush. It is dated March 25, 1921. Your publicity

manager writes to an employee in Washington by the name of Mc-
Neely, and I quote from the middle of the second paragraph [read-

ing]

:

The clauses in the peace treaty virtually require the construction of plants

in Germany. If this cannot be accomplished, then the next best thing is to

have similar plants built here so that we may produce the new chemical war
munitions to offset the protluction in an enemy country,

I skip a paragraph and continue

:

I think with the present unsettled condition of world affairs, and with
Germany's attitude toward the peace treaty arguments based on the question
of disarmament are very much stronger than any others.

The middle paragraph I skipped is, perhaps, important, and reads

:

It is, of course, a fact and is quite apparent that American dye manufac-
turers want to protect and develop their industry as a business proposition, but
we want more than the ordinary tariff for the reason that this is an intricate

industry and cannot l)e developed except under unusual conditions. It really

requires the absolute embargo of competitive products so that we can secure
an income over the sale of these which will be sufficient to pay for the devel-
opment of the products which we have not yet learned to make.

The point I want to make is in the third paragraph:

I think with the present unsettled condition of world affaire, and with
Germany's attitude toward the peace treaty arguments based on the question
of disarmament are very much stronger than any others.

That is, in short, saying that here in the publicity at this time
you were stressing the war aspect of the chemical industry in much
the same way it was being stressed in Britain and in France. Is

not that a correct inference?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am not certain what he talks about.
[Reading :]

I think with the present unsettled condition of world affairs, and with Ger-
any's attitude toward the peace treaty arguments based on the question of
disarmament are very much stronger than any others.

I do not know just what he means by that.

Mr. Raushenbush. May I refer back to a good many exhibits
introduced on last Thursday, showing the general trend of the times,
notably the exhibits before and after " Nos. 914 and 916? "

There is a letter written from Mr. Weston to Mr. Shipp, on October
1, 1921, which I wish to offer for the record, with the appropriate
number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1056 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2846.)

The letter reads

:

My Dear Mr. Siiipp : Please do not arrange to visit Mr. Cone. I think I
have already arranged that matter satisfactorily.
The question of advisers to the disarmament commissioners is also, I think,

well in hand.

1 Hearings, Part XI, p. 2406.
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What light can you throw on that " The question of advisers

to the disarmament commissioners is also, I think, well in hand"?
Mr. Irj:nee du Pont. I do not know that I can throw any light

on it. I do not know who Shipp is. Do yon ?

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Shipp was, we find, from an examina-
tion of your records, paid a sum of money through one of the

chemical organizations then in existence. Subject to correction, I

would put the sum in at $10,000. It was not the Chemical Founda-
tion. It was one of the other organizations in existence at that

time.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You mean by an organization a company
or an association?

Mr. Raushenbush. It was an organization to which your com-
pany was a large contributor.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Such as the American Dyes Institute?

Mr. Raushenbush. That may have been the one. There were
several other ones, whose importance I do not realize at this time.

Does that identify Mr. Shipp in your mind at all ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Not at all.

Mr. Raushenbush. You never ran into him in any of your activ-

ities ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I ran into so many in my activities it would
be utterly impossible to know them at the time, let alone 15 or 18

years afterward.
Mr. Raushenbush. Is there anybody on your staff here who

could throw further light on the thing :

The qnestiou of advisors to the disarmament commissioners is also, I

think, well in hand.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know just what " well in hand "

means, and I am quite sure nobody in our organization here would
know about it. It is possible Mr. Garvan might throw some light

on it, but he is not a member of our organization.
Mr. Raushenbush. I offer for the record a letter found in your

files, from General Pershing, which is put in simply for clarifica-

tion on the question of chemical importance.
Mr. Irene du Pont. July 15, 1921?
Mr. Raushenbush. The letter is dated July 15, 1921, which is

put in simply for the value of stating his opinion on the importance
of the chemical industry in warfare.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1057" and
appears in full in the text.)

Mr. Raushenbush. The letter, being addressed to Hon. Nicholas
Longworth, House of Representatives, Washington, D. C, reads

:

With reference to the protection for the dye industry in this country, it

can be stated that the coal-tar products, of which dyes are the most im-
portant at pi'esent in peace, is the base of practically all of our high explo-
sives and most of our war gases.
Our shortage of chemical plants in general, and dye plants in particular,

prior to the World War, made it difficult for us to obtain a supply of high
explosives and gases until we had been in the war for several months.
From the above the importance of the chemical industry from a military

standpoint will be readily seen.
Sincerely yours,

John J. Pershing.
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. That was from General Pershing to the
Honorable Nicholas Longwortli?
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I presume it was sent to our files to show

what General Pershing's ideas were.
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I want to point out, though, that the lack

of high explosives did not seem to me to be particularly notable, but
I think that the lack of supply of gases was very notable.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think a practical chemist who was famil-
iar with the situation at that time could throw some light on Per-
shing's apparent error there.

Mr. Raushenbush. The only error that you see at the moment is

the statement that " made it difficult for us to obtain a supply of high
explosives " ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes. I do not know what a military man
would mean by " high explosives." By " high explosives " Irenee
and I mean dynamite, and so forth.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No. He meant picric acid and ammonium
picrate, that is, undoubtedly the bursting charges. But I think there
was no lack of those. I think we had available all that was needed,
and there was some left over.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. General Pershing must have suffered a
lack of some kind of high explosives. I am not chemist enough to

say what kind he must have had in mind.
Mr. Raushenbush. It seems hardly worthwhile to interrupt the

questioning on that point, as to what General Pershing meant. We
note the statement that so far as you know there was no shortage of
high explosives.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What was the question you addressed to me
on the letter ? I apologize for not having noted it.

Mr. Raushenbush. I offered it for the record as showing the

recognition of a general in the armies, of the importance of the chem-
ical industry at the time. The question was not addressed to you.
There is a letter which I offer for the appropriate number.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1058 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2846.)

Mr. Raushenbush. This is from your publicity manager to Mr.
Harold Braddock, of New York, dated October 6, 1921, which is still

in the years surrounding this, before this disarmament conference.

The second paragraph reads:

Very good progress is being made in the effort to secure support for our
interests at the coming national meeting of tlie American Legion. This
matter is very well in hand and is being pushed hard with the national officers

and the executiAe committee.
We expect action to be taken tomorrow, October 7, by the Anny Ordnance

Association meeting at the Aberdeen Proving Grounds. General C. C. Williams,
Chief of Ordnance of the Army, has agreed to introduce a resolntiou and to

speak in support of it. Several other Army officers who have already figured
artiveiy in the effort to build up a chemical industiT will support him in his

efforts.

Was that a military matter or was that a commercial matter ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think that undoubtedly General Williams'
point of view was a military matter.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Tlie thing was a military matter, presumably,

or else General Williams would not have interested himself in it,

is that correct? Is that yonr interpretation of it?

IVIr. Irenee du Pont. I presume so.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do you know anything or does anyone present

for the companj^ know anything about the second paragraph?

Very good progress is being made in the effort to secure support for our
interests at tlie coming national meeting of ttie American Legion. Tliis matter
is very well in hand and is being pushed hard with the national officers and
the executive committee.

Mr. Ieenee du Pont. I do not know anything about the detail of

it ; it was a perfectly rational thing to do. Those men knew what
the trouble had been.

Mr. Raushenbush. This was a military matter that was being
put before the Legion?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I presume so.

Mr. Raushenbush. About that time Mr. Weston was dealing with
some military men. In a letter he says, " I have the military sit-

uation "

Mr. Lammot du Pont. What is the date of that letter, Mr. Secre-

tary?
Mr. Raushenbush, This letter is dated December 4, 1919, and

addressed to Mr. Carpenter, who I presume is Mr. W. S. Carpenter.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1059 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2846.)

Mr. Raushenbush. The paragraph to which I want to call at-

tention

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Note this is December 4, 1919. This is prior

to the matters which you were discussing a few moments ago, in 1921.

Mr. Raushenbush. It is for that reason I want to point to the

second last paragraph:

I have the military situation in hand, Earle, Williams, et al.

Can you identify Mr. Earle and Mr. Williams ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That was Admiral Earle in charge of the

Navy ordnance, I think it was, one of the high officials of the Navy

;

and General Williams was the Chief of Ordnance of the Army.
Mr. Raushenbush. That must have been a military matter, then,

at the time, must it not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I read into the record the other day Presi-

dent Wilson's message to Congress in May of 1919. He stated

that he repeated that message in December 1919. Of course, the

main message was prior to this, and the December message, of De-
cember 7, practically confirms it. He was the Commander in Chief

of the Armj'^ and Navy, and had expressed his views in such forcible

language tliat if General Williams and Admiral Earle had taken any
other position they would have been in the position of insubordi-

nation.
Mr. Raushenbush. Will you make that a little clearer to us,

Mr. du Pont ? In this letter Mr. Weston says

:

I have the military situation in hand, Earle, Williams, et al.

By " military situation " did he simply mean the support of the

Army and Navy, or did he mean that this had something to do with
chemical warfare?
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. This was the protection of the dye indus-
try. One of the reasons for protecting it was the possibilities of
gas warfare and the manufacture of munitions. That is all ex-

pressed very clearly as Mr. Wilson said. His claim that he has it

in hand, I think, is rather taking on himself a little credit that
perhaps belongs elsewhere. But perhaps this is also a sales letter.

Mr. Raushenbush. As who said?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Wilson, that I quoted a moment ago.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is it your understanding that when the Presi-

dent of the country expresses an attitude on some matter like that,

that makes it necessary for the Chief of Ordnance of the Army and
the Chief of Ordnance of the Navy to take a strong interest, a
political interest in legislation before Congress?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think it was a patriotic interest. Remem-

ber, Mr. Wilson had been Commander in Chief, fighting only a few
months before this a real war. His known attitude toward peace is so

very well distributed that his coming out and saying, " It is essential

to do this for future preparedness even though we disarm " must
have certainly tipped off his principal officers to the fact that he
thought it, and undoubtedly they thought so, too. They had had
experience. Perhaps they were the ones who put it up to him. I do
not know.
Mr. Raushenbush. Have the military leaders who deal with your

company, the Chief of Ordnance of the War Department and the

Chief of Ordnance of the Navy, been in the habit of speaking for

the protection of any other industry than the chemical industry?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not tell you that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do you know what Admiral Earle and Gen-
eral Williams did do to help the chemical industry at that time?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We just saw here that General Williams
appeared at the Army Ordnance Association meeting in Aberdeen,

and spoke before the officers that were assembled there, and civil-

ians, too. That is what I gather this says. It shows he was very

much for it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do you know that some time later General

Williams was one of the technical advisers to the disarmament con-

ference in 1922, appointed in November 1921 ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I doubt if he knew that that was going to

happen in December 1919. I do not think that has any bearing on

his attitude at this particular time.

Mr. Raushenbush. The question was rather whether it had some
bearing on his attitude later.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think it probably did; yes, sir. His
knowledge of the situation, what it meant, undoubtedly had influ-

ence on him. I suppose that was the object of sending him, because

he knew something about the question.

Mr. Raushenbush. Did Mr. Weston get in touch with these people

under your orders, these military people?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do" not see that it says that he did

get in touch with them.
Mr. Raushenbush. He said, "I have the military situation in

hand, Earle, Williams, et al."

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know what that means.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Was he reporting to Mr. Carpenter about
these things?
Mr. Irknee du Pont. He wrote to Mr. Carpenter, and Mr.

Carpenter undoubtedly took it over to me, because I was right in

this proposition. In fact, they asked me to come down here, that
I get to be there in person. I think this is the letter, is it not?
No ; it is a similar letter, about tlie same time.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, I think you are asking
Mr. Irenee du Pont a whole lot of questions about these matters that

he cannot have first-hand knowledge about. I have before me a letter

that you drew from our files, which is signed by General Williams,
referring to this matter. Why do you not take his own word for
what he thought?
Mr. Raushenbush. I do not remember the letter you have in front

of you. I would be glad to have it read.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It is dated December 5, the next day after

this letter.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. You drew it from our files.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes; but we cannot use all. I would be glad
to have it go in.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We have a copy.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. May I read this letter? Presumably I

had a copy of it at that time.

Mr. Raushenbush. This is an offer from General Williams, Chief
of Ordnance of the War Department, to Senator Watson, Chairman
of the Finance Subcommittee, United States Senate, speaking of the
importance of the chemical industry. The last paragraph says

:

I would be very glad to appear before your committee in person, and will
do so if you care to have me. I am leaving Washington today, but expect to

return on the 15th instant.

Respectfully,
C. C. Williams,

Major General,
Chief of Ordnance, U. S. A.

We will enter that as an exhibit with the appropriate number.
(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1060 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2847.)

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Do you have a copy of that?

Mr. Raushenbush. We do not have one here, but we can get one.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Will you put the entire letter in?

The Chairman. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. Does this letter of December 4, " Exhibit No.

1059 ", saying " I have the military situation in hand ", mean that

General Williams would write such a letter to the Chairman of the

Finance Committee, which followed the next day?
By the way, there is another phrase in this somewhat interesting

letter here at the end to Mr. Carpenter

:

Shall not fail to meet you at the Willard Saturday night—duce tecum.

My Latin is not what it might be, but I think it means " Bring
with you."
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think in legal parlance that might be;

but, remember, this is in the days of prohibition. I made inquiry
afterward as to what it might mean, and I was informed that it
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meant " B.Y.O.L.", which translated means " Bring your own liq-

uor." I went in answer to that letter, and I did not bring the

liquor.

Mr. Kaushenbush. Did you have a Mr. Landis employed in your
company at the time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Landis was the head of the Washington

office to expedite military matters with the United States Govern-
ment between 1917 and 1919, I think September. I think the office

was continued on for about a month or two thereafter, then closed.

It had been closed before this letter was written.

Mr. Raushenbush. Wliat was the connection of Mr. Landis with
your own compan}^ at this time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think he had returned to Wilmington and

was sort of on the semiretired list. He had been in charge of the

Washington office in connection with contracts with the United
States Government during the war. He was assistant to Colonel
Buckner, who was our sales manager of military explosives at that
time.

Mr. Raushenbush. Are any other military people mentioned in

this letter? Who is " T. C"?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is my cousin, T. Coleman du Pont.

At that time, I believe, he was United States Senator. I am not
sure if it was then or about then.

I do not see any other military officers named.
Mr. Raushenbush. Do I gather Mr. Landis at this time still was

in the employ of the company?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think so, up to the time of his death I

think he was employed.
Mr. Raushenbush. Did you inform these military men, or did

your representatives down here inform these military men, of all the
political power that was boasted about in the rest of the letter, the
influence of Mr. Landis, for instance?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. What paragraph is that?
Mr. Raushenbush. The fourth paragraph on the first page.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think undoubtedly Mr. Landis, being a

fellow citizen of Indiana with Watson, was the logical man to tell

him the facts in this particular case. I think there is no question
that Landis would see Watson, whom he knew, and explain to him
just what this fight was all about and what it meant. I do not
think he would have seen anybody else. I do not know about this
" boasting " business. At that time I do not think we felt particu-
larly boastful. We were worried.
Mr. Raushenbush. The question is whether the Army men, mean-

ing the heads of ordnance of the Army and Navy, were told about
the political activities and power that the company was discussing
in the rest of the letter.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not tell you whether they were told
or not. They certainly knew we were working down there hard.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. There seems to be a lot of mystery about

this paragraph, Mr. Chairman. I would like to read it

:

We have all kinds of " dope " about Watson of Indiana. The disquieting
report is that he has been busy in behalf of importers and is not friendly to
us. We thought Landis had him fixed and still hope that is true.
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I think that the mj^stery that the Secretary surrounds this with
is due to the use of that word " fixed " which, I would think from
the context, meant fixed in mind, that is, convinced.
Mr. E.AUSHENBUSH. Did you talk with the various people men-

tioned in this letter, Mr. Du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I presume I talked with all of them and a

whole lot more, although if there are some out of town, I could not
have seen them. I saw everybody I could lay mj^ hands on.

Mr. Raushenbush. The only purpose of this questioning is to find

out whether this was a military situation. You answered " Yes ",

I believe, that it did have military implications.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It did.

Mr. Raushenbush. The second part of the questioning was to find

out whether the heads of the War and Navy ordnance, one of whom
was later delegated to the Disarmament Conference, knew about all

the political pressure being exerted by the company at that time.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I can hardly conceive that they did not know
about it. If they did not know about it, I guess they were the only
people in Washington who did not.

Mr. Raushenbush. It might have made an impression on them as

to the importance of the company in the national picture at the
time ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think it undoubtedly showed them that
the American Dyes Institute, the organic chemical manufacturers
of that day, were very much alive to the situation and were using
every power they could to bring it before the proper authorities of
the Government to impress them with the necessity of it. Remember
that the people in Congress at that time knew nothing whatever
about the organic chemical industry. It was a complete closed
chapter to them. They had never heard of it. I know I talked
to a number of these Senators myself, and they had not the least

comprehension as to what it was all about until I got at them. I
helped a little bit, at least, in spreading the information. I do not
mean to take any great credit for myself, because there were a great
many others who were doing the same thing.

Mr. Raushenbush. We have had the name of one of these men.
General Williams, appear in testimony at various times, and we are
trying to find his interest, among other things, in the chemical
disarmament.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Chairman, I think that ought to be

explained.

General Williams w^as Chief of Ordnance of the United States
Army. If he should not know anything about ordnance and muni-
tions of war, he would not be the right man to be there. Of course,
he has been in everything pertaining to ordnance and munitions.

JVIr. Raushenbush. And a further question was whether he had
ever been as active in behalf of any other industry as he was in be-

half of the chemical industry.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. He was very active in pressing the war only

a few months before this, when the United States was in it. I know
how hard he was working on that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Pressing what ? I asked whether he had been
active in behalf of any other industry besides the chemical industry.
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not tell you about that. I do not
know.
Mr. Raushenbush. The chemical industry was very definitel}^ one

involved in the war j)icture ?

Mr. Irp:nee du Pont. It was a most unique industry as pertains
to preparedness. That was the first thing we had to sell.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do you believe it still is?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I know it is.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Particularly the organic chemistry.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. You have to have inorganics, too. The

chemical industry—I will take the whole hog.
Mr. Raushenbush. I am very glad you did that.
The further question there, a somewhat incidental one, was

whether it would not by inference have influenced some of these high
military officials to have been told the various things that were going
on, wdien one of the leaders of the Senate says, as he does in a letter

:

Give the du Fonts what they want just as far as you possibly can witliout
getting into a row.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. What is the date of this letter? It is not
on this copy.
Mr. Raushenbush. It is uncertain whether it is 1920 or 1921. It

is apparentlv addressed from Mr. Carpenter to you, Mr. Irenee du
Pont.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. The date on here is February 17, 1920.

Mr. Raushenbush. "With a question mark after the " '20." We
cannot make out whether it is '20 or what it is.

Give the du Fonts what they want just as far as you possibly can without
getting into a row.

If that sort of thing is told to officials of military services, that the
company has that much power, would not that stand a chance of
influencing their activity or lack of activity in behalf of one partic-

lar industry ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. One moment. I would like to read this to

refresh my mind. Might I ?

Mr. Raushenbush, Yes, indeed.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You speak about " power." I think that

Penrose was convinced that it was the right thing to do, and he knew
we were perfectly honest and sincere in what we asked for, and he
said, " Give them anything they want if we do not get into a row."
Mr. Raushenbush. Nobody except yourself is raising the question

of the ethics of the situation at that time.

Mr. Irenee du Poist. I am not raising the question of the ethics,

but you mentioned our power over them; the power of persuasion;

yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. You do not know actually whether in your
own communications, such as they were, with the military service

men you spoke of these matters to them or quoted Penrose, or any-

thing like that ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know that I quoted Penrose at all.

This letter, you see, is written subsequent to those that you are speak-

ing of. But I certainly talked to them on the subject of prepared-

ness every time I saw them.
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Mr. Eaushenbush. There is a further letter dated May 2, 1921,
from Mr. Charles A. Meade, vice president of the company, which I
otter as an exhibit for the appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked ''Exhibit No. 1061" and
IS mcluded in the appendix on p. 2848.)
Mr Raushenbush. This is addressed to Mr. Irenee du Pont

president. '

xv?,?'^'"'''^^
^^ ^«"!f .«f

^P^'^1 29, relative to our relations with tlie Cioemical
vvaitarefeervice, I thmlv you will be pleased to know tliat our contact with thatorganization is already quite close and a recent visit to the Edgewood Arsenal

S?ii v!'* ^''Z^ l^""
brought about a beginning of cooperation which, no doubt.will be highly beneficial both to the Service and to ourselves in the future

^•;, ^?''' l^} General Fries, from personal conversations that I have* hadwith him, looks upon us as a mainstay in case we are brought to a situationwhere the united effort of the country is needed. There is not, of course at

rl^l Zl^Zif'' w"''"/^
for any of our by-products at Edgewood that is of mkte-

oll ^?Tt^' ''"^ ''^^^'^ ^''^* ^°^^ develop, in case their experimental work is

CheSf'wi''? ''^1 '"-'^
*^^T^'''^

"'^^^^ ^^^'^ "^^ "S'^t kind of a call from the

h..^! f Ki'^T ^'^r'''^- ^ ^'^''^ "^ ^^t^^t to let lapse the connection whichhas been established by reason of our united effort in legislative work.
Chaeles a. Meade, Vice President.

The question there is this : That legislative work that the Chemical
Warfare Service was united with you in performing was of a mill-

S ^^*"^^' ^^s 1^ no<^5 or had military significance

«

M«v 9 1Q?1^^ ""^
^.r''-

^ P''''"T '^V
I ^«ti^^ this letter is datedMay 2 1921 more than a year after those previous ones, so that itdoes not hook up very closely with the letters we have been discuss-

ino-

Mr. Raushenbush. Are you making a point

thf.lJfl^^-'"'' ^°^i'^-
^ ?"\«nly trying to prevent confusion ofthis letter having anything to do with the letter of 1919. Of course

It is the same general subject, preparedness, and of the effect of theorganic chemical industry on gas warfare if it should become neces-sary to produce gases. It is the same general subject. But this letter

ConS-esTin m9 ^
^'^'" ^^^''' ^^''' ''^^'' ^""^''^ "^^ ^'^^ ^P '^^^^^^

Mr. Raushenbush. The last paragraph [reading] :

I have no intent to let lapse the connection which has been established hvreason of our united effort in legislative work.
established by

Can you tell us what in addition to the 1919 efforts of the Warand Navy Departments in behalf of the chemical industry we?eengapd in by the two services to warrant any further addition to

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not get that question.

dn pAnVX^fr'"'''-JuT r\^
explaining just a moment ago, Mr.du Pont, that this probably had very little reference, as I tak?it

Pi^'t'l.frr^^'''' ^V"- ^?' ""V ^. ^^''^ ^t ^^« the same subject.But this should not be confused with the letters of 1919 and our
efforts starting the dye embargo. This pertains to the EdgewoodAisenals efforts to produce poison gases, and they naturally wouldwork with us, too. We wanted them to.

^

I.mA^^''^''^^'^-
,It does; but it speaks of " our united effort in

legislative work ", and the question addressed to you now is if thatdid not mean 1919, what did it mean?
^

Mr. Irenee du Pont. This has been 1921.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Was there a continued effort all along through
there ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was continued; yes, sir.

Mr. Eaushenbush. It seems to me that there is no question.
Referring back to an exhibit already introduced, " No. 922 ",^ will

you identify whether there are any military people in this letter?

It is signed by Mr. Poucher and reads

:

Dear Mr. du Pont: Situation clearer and bettei* today. Martin and the
Major are hard at it.

Can you identify those people for us?
Mr. Ip^enee du Pont. I think I can. My impression is that Martin

was the secretary to Senator Knox at that time, and that the major
referred to is Major Parkinson, who I think was the lawyer who
did the actual carpenter work on bills for the United States Senate.

Mr. Raushenbush. You are very sure about the identification of
Mr. Martin as secretary to Senator Knox ?

Mr. Ikenee du Pont. I am not 100 percent sure. I said I think
that is who they were.

Mr. Raushenbush. We identified Mr. Wood as a textile manu-
facturer. Culbertson was identified as Tariff Commissioner at the

time. This is the same Culbertson, is it not, who was later appointed
to the technical staff of the Disarmament Conference about a year

later ?

Mr. Ikenee du Pont. I do not know about that.

Mr. Raushenbush. A member of the Tariff Commission. Now,
Major Parkinson, was he in your employ?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. He was not.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do j^ou gather that he was in the active service

of the Army at the time ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think not. I think he was an employee
of the United States Senate.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is Major Parkinson? You identify him
that way?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know where he got the title

" Major ", whether he was an Army officer or belonged to the militia

or whether it was some complimentary one.

Mr. Raushenbush. The question comes from the context of that
paragraph

:

The Major will likely propose that as this is a measure touching " national
defense ", the Commission should be headed by General Siebert to give it the
flavor of defense rather than tariff.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. This is very closely after the December
letters. At that time we were asking for an embargo, a high tariff

to back it up with. I even went further, I think, and asked that we
sus])end the Sherman laws so all the dye companies could get to-

gether with a common purpose under supervision by a Government
official.

Mr. Raushenbush. This was not a gas-warfare measure then ; this
was a i^rotection measure, was it not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. National defense.

1 Hearings, Part XI, p. 2412.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Did you say this was a matter dealing specifi-

cally with gas warfare, or was this a tariff measure ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Well, we were not satisfied to have it a

tariff measure. We wanted an embargo to prohibit the importation

of dye, so that the dye industry could get a start. They offered us

tariff, and I said, " That is not enough. We must have an embargo.

The thing is too important." Embargo was a horrible name in those

da.ys, and it was awfully hard to sell the idea.

Mr. Raushenbush. Coming back to the disarmament conference

at that time, in which the gas treaty was evolved, Mr. Weston re-

ceived a letter from Charles L. Parsons, secretary of the American
Chemical Society, dated December 1, 1921, which I offer for the

record for appropriate number.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1062 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2848.)

Mr. Raushenbush. The letter says

:

Dear Mk. Weston : Replying to yours of November 30. I am fully in touch
with the work that is being done here in AVashiugtou regarding the question
of chemical warfare before the International Conference. At the same time,

the matter is a very delicate one, and we can say very little to reporters. Up
to the present time nothing definite has been done except the organization of
the committee which met for the first time yesterday afternoon at 4 o'clock.

Their meeting was simply for organization, and they have not yet received
the full and necessary instructions to outline their future procedure.

I agree with you that it is highly important that the commercial interests
hold aloof from this matter, for it is a delicate one and their position is quite
likely to be seriously misunderstood. You can see from the articles which are
appearing in the New York Herald and also from the article on page 4, column
6, of the Philadelphia Ledger of this morning how careful the chemists have
to be in handling this situation.

We understand this letter to deal with the International Confer-
ence, the so-called "Disarmament Conference" of 1922, do we not?
It seems to deal with that, doesn't it ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I would say so. It is dated December 1921.

Mr, Raushenbush. And Mr. Parsons says he is " fully in touch
with the work that is being done here in Washington regarding the
question of chemical warfare before the International Conference."
Could you tell us anything more about that work that was being
done before that International Conference?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know that I can. This apparently

is the American Chemical Society.

Mr. Raushenbush. Writing to Mr. Weston.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Was it not the secretary of the American

Chemical Society? Yes; it is at the top. "American Chemical So-
ciety, office of the secretary." He was the secretary of that organi-
zation.

Mr. Raushenbush. And he was writing to Mr. Weston about
Mr. Irenee du Pont. He was a publicity man. It is marked,

" Publicity Bureau."
Mr. Raushenbush. He was head of your publicity bureau and

seemed to be very active down here at the time.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. He say he was " in touch with the work that is

being done here in Washington regarding the question of chemical
warfare before the International Conference. At the same time,
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the matter is a very delicate one, and we can say very little to

reporters."

The question to you is, what can you tell us about the work being
done here at the time, preparatory to that conference?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am afraid I am not familiar with what
the American Chemical Society were doing. I notice this letter

emanated from Washington. I do not recall what they were doing,

if anything.
Mr. Kaushenbush. No; the question was what your company's

representatives were doing.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We certainly were interested in the protec-

tion of the dye industry at the time. I am not familiar with what
this disarmament congress undertook to do, but if they attacked the

organic chemical industry with the idea that it should be inhibited,

then I think we would certainly work against that move.
Mr. Raushenbush. But as far as the details of what was done

down here by the representatives of your company, you cannot help

us out, in detail ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes; I think I can help you a lot, but I
do not happen to know what the American Chemical Society was
doing.
Mr. Raushenbush. No ; the question is the other one. The letter

is addressed to your Mr. Weston.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Our publicity man, in Wilmington, Del.

Mr. Raushenbush. Who spent, according to his testimony, a great

deal of time down here.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes. That was 2 years before.

Mr. Raushenbush. The question was what your company was do-

ing preparatory to this disarmament conference. Is there anybody
in your company in the room who could give more detail on that?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am a little fogged up on that disarma-

ment conference. I do not recall what it was.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Weston spoke awhile ago of having the

advisers well in hand, and so on, so we gathered than there was
rather an intense interest in that conference.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Could you give me that report again ?

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes, indeed.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. This says that advisers to the disarmament
conference were appa-rently appointed by the American Chemical
Society or, if not appointed, their recommendations must have been

made. I think that is what it refers to. They are advisers. They
are not members of the commission.
Mr. Raushenbush. They are advisers ; and then about at the same

time, which is October, we had an exhibit speaking of taking and
making an effort to secure support for " our interests " at the coming
national meeting of the American Legion and that General Williams
has agreed to introduce a resolution that spoke in support of it, for

the Army Ordnance Association. That does some to indicate con-

siderable interest in the approaching meeting, as we understand it,

does it not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. You surely have among your records, when

this disarmament conference was called, the date of it.
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Mr. Kaushenbush. The date of the calling was entered in the

record today or the date of the President's invitation, as August 11,

1921.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. 1921 ?

Mr. Raushenbush. 1921; yes.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Then it is evident that the 1919 matter did

not refer to that.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is why I kept asking about whether the

activities of the war officials were in behalf of the chemical industry

or in behalf of war protection.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Secretary, I do not think that is a fair

question to ask me. Those Government officials are available right

here in town. It would not cost them anything to come over here.

It is costing us a great deal to stay down here, especially in the

matter of time.

Mr. Raushenbush. On that point, Mr. du Pont, you know you
have been very generous. We only wanted a few of you as witnesses

and only asked for a few, and you thought it advisable to bring down
a great many.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. You must remember the du Pont Co.'s

interests are so far-flung, and not knowing what you are going to ask,

no one man can know it all.

The Chairman. Mr. du Pont, how much of a force have you found
it necessary to bring with you and keep with you here during these

days of the hearings?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know how much is necessary. You

called a comparatively few of them, but in the earlier hearing in

September it certainly was desirable to have our accounting men
here, from some of the questions you asked. We certainly have to

have some chemical men, because you may get on to some chemical
problem. We can't know everything about what you are going to

ask. You have touched so many different subjects that it is impos-
sible that any one man could answer you.
The Chairman. How many people do you have here, occasioned

by these hearings, at this time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not tell you. I suppose there must

be 18 or something like that.

The Chairman. More than that.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Let them stand up and count their noses.

The Chairman. When I say here, I mean here in Washington.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I imagine they are all present in this room.

I do not know how many. I only want to get the facts. There is

no use of my guessing.

The Chairman. You have clerks and stenographers who are not

here, don't you, who are at work on this?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know if we have or not. I haven't

got a stenographer here.

The Chairman. We have been told you had as many as 50 or 60

here in Washington.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Mudge, how many people have we got

here, do j^ou know ?

Mr. Mudge. Oh, about 20.

83876—35—PT 12 10



2778 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That looks approximately right.

The Chairman. About 20?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. Then the letter from Dr. Parsons was replied

to by Mr. Weston on December 2, 1921, in an exhibit that I offer

for the record.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1063 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2849.)

Mr. E.AUSHENBUSH. This reads:

My Dear Dr. Parsons: I want to thank you for j'our letter of yesterday
and for the copy of your communication to the Public Ledger.

The question of properly guiding the newspaper writers is to my mind the

most serious one before the chemical industry and the Chemical Society at

this time. The article which you criticize offers the best possible evidence
of the need of educating the writers and their education can be accomplished
only by dealing frankly and fully with them and giving them information
in advance of its actually happening so that they may get the proper perspec-

tive and realize the importance of what is to come.
For instance, it has been evident for some time that Constance Drexel

was in the mood to be hysterical over poison gas. The things she has written
since she first went to Washington to attend this conference have all pointed
in one direction. If she could have been taken in hand and told exactly what
this luncheon was intended to accomplish, she would not have made the
serious misstatements, though she might not have been converted to support
of the proposition.

All this is apropos of your statement that * * * the matter is a very
delicate one and we can say very little to reporters.

I want to call your attention particularly to the last part of it:

I am presuming to make suggestions because on the advice of Dr. Plerty,

after conference with Dr. Smith, it was agreed that matters of publicity for

the present should be left entirely to the discretion of the noncommercial
chemical interests with Dr. Smith, president of your society, as their official

representative, and because of my experience in the newspaper field which
presumably has equipped me to see these things in a different light than that
in which they appear to the layman.

May we gather there that Dr. Smith, who was later chosen as an
adviser to the Disarmament Conference, or who had by that time been
chosen as an adviser, and your Mr. Weston, were to arrange the
matter of publicity for this Disarmament Conference? Apparently
the two of them are to do that. We have identified Dr. Herty, we
have identified Dr. Smith, and here is the statement, that in view of

the delicateness of the situation the matter of publicity should be
left to the discretion of other commercial interests; that is, pre-
sumably they wanted the commercial chemical interests out of the
picture.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. To keep their mouths shut.

Mr. Raushenbush. To keep their mouths shut at that time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is what I gather. That is what they

say.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is what they seem to say.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. And at the same time, Mr. Weston, who was

your employee, is to handle the publicity.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I gather he is volunteering his services to

Dr. Smith.
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Mr. Raushenbush. We were going to ask Mr. Weston in some
detail about what he did at that time, but will apparently have to

skip that for the moment.
On January 25, 1922, while the conference was still on and the

matter of gas was being discussed, he wrote a letter, which I offer

for the record, to Mr. Thomas R. Shipp, of the Albee Building,
Washington, D. C.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1064 " and ap-

pears in full in the text.)

Mr. Raushenbush. This reads

:

My Dear Shipp: Thanks for your sugEcestion aliout sending the poison-gas
story over the country- I wrote the story in reply to an inquiry from the
Ledger and arranged from this office that it should be spread around.

Doesn't that seem, at a time when the conference was going on,

your man was sending around a story with the idea that it would
have considerable influence on public opinion? It was a straight

out poigon-gas story.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I imagine so. It is what it looks like from
this letter.

Mr. Raushenbush. It goes on

:

As to the farm conference, I knew when we were late there would be diffi-

culties in the way, otherwise it would not have been necessary to appeal for
the help which I confidently assured our people vv'ould bring results. You see
I thought you owned all Washington and I had no doubt that you could put
one over on the " hayseed " administration.

Do you know whether he meant the farmer groups or some kind
of a farm conference in that, or did he mean the administration?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is what he said. I never heard of it

before, but it only indicates to me that some of the perhaps re-

porters expressions are sometimes a bit unfortunate, referring to
the " hayseed " administration. I do not concur in the expression.
I am a farmer.
Mr. Raushenbush. But does not the letter seem to indicate that

there was some attempt to bring some pressure to bear also on a
farm conference at the time ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Apparently so. That is all I know about it.

Mr. Raushenbush. I want to offer a further exhibit, being a
memorandum to Mr. A. B. Echols, assistant treasurer, from W. F.
Harrington, dat«d January 28, 1922.

(The memorandum referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1065 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 2849.)
Mr. Raushenbush. This seems to be an accounting of payments

to various chemical groups and munitions payments to people in

Washington.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Didn't you call this man Nichols ?

Mr. Raushenbush. Echols.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Echols, that is correct.

Mr. Raushenbush. I want to call attention on the third page to
a statement at the end, after listing all of the expenditures here of
$57,373.49 to various groups

—

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Would you read the first line of that, stat-

ing what it is :
" Payments to or for account of American Dyes

Institute " ? It is the various organizations, as I said.
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Mr. Raushenbush. That is right. That is various. The exhibit
goes on from there to take in various others. I am sorry. That
is $57,373.49, grand total, American Dyes Institute.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. And the note there is the one I want to call

attention to

:

In April 1921, this company paid tlie bill for 7,500 copies of booklet " World
Disarmament and the Master Key Industry."

That master key industry is the chemical industry, is it not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Undoubtedly.
Mr. Raushenbush (continuing) :

And bill in the amount of $5,357.30 was rendered against the American
Dyes Institute under date of April 30, 1921, which item has not been paid to
us. It is understood that a portion of this at least is to be borne by us
anyhow, and that furthermore, after the investigation is finished and com-
mitments by the institute will have to be met, that this amount is to be
credited to our share to be paid.

In the course of this accounting there is mention of a check ta

the order of Frank S. Bright and G. S. Ferguson, Jr., Washington^
D. C, to cover bill for services rendered.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Where is that?

Mr. Raushenbush. On the first page, the last paragraph.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. For services rendered by them in connection*

with the Revenue Act of 1918, and all other services account Ameri-
can Dyes Institute, totaling $10,000.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. Could you explain that more fully ? We had
in evidence here the other day a check for $100,000 to Mr. Bright^
which was supposed to cover some years of taxation work. Does
he do general legislative work for you down here ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not think this was general legislative

work. He was working for the American Dyes Institute; I sup-

pose an attorney to do the hammer and saw work and advise us^

legally. I presume that is what it is. It is what it says. He was
an attorney.

Mr. Raushenbush. He is still your attorney down here, isn't he?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think so. I am not sure.

Mr. Raushenbush. Did you at that time have any politically im-
portant people on you pay roll or on the pay roll of some of these

other organizations ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What do you mean by politically important ?

Appointees of the Government ?

Mr. Raushenbush. No. Political people, people with known
political influence.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Well, I think I have some political in-

fluence. Do you mean that kind of a case, a private citizen who-
might by reason of his position have some influence? Be perfectly

frank. If you mean, did we bribe anybody in the Government: I
will say, " No."
Mr. Raushenbush. The question is not directed that way. The

question is whether you had any nonofficials of important political

influence in your employ at the time?
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not answer that directly, because

I am unable to define political influence. I think I have some

political influence. I certainly have had the impudence to oo around

and talk to people, which had some political influence. If you have

any names in your mind, I could very readily find out whether they

were on our pay roll or not.

Mr. Raushenbush. Of course, the question there will depend on

how far the committee wants to come back to this question later on

The Chairman. We will stand in recess until 1 : 30.

(Whereupon, at 12 : 30 p.m. the committee recessed until 1 : 30

p.m. of the same day.)

AFTERNOON SESSION

The hearing was resumed at 1 : 30 p. m., pursuant to the taking of

the recess.

FURTHER TESTIMONY OF LAMMOT DU PONT, IRENEE DU PONT,

AND W. R. SWINT

INTERNATIONAL CONNECTIONS IN THE CHEMICAL INDUSTRY

(The witnesses were previously duly sworn by the chairman.)

The Chairman. The committee will be in order.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Chairman, if the committee please, we
were closing up this morning's examination with a question concern-

ing the interest of some of our own service oiSicials in the welfare

of the chemical industry.

May I ask whether, from your own knowledge, or from your
company information, you are able to state whether the Army ofticers

in England, France, Japan, or Germany, any or all of them, have in

similar ways aided the chemical industries of those countries?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know of my own knowledge ; no, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. What I am trying to get at is whether that is

a unique situation, that our own service officers supported the indus-

try at this particular time, or whether that was being done in other

countries as well.

Mr, Irenee du Pont. Now, going back to Lord Moulton, who
was, I think, head of munitions of Great Britain during the World
War, he was very familiar with the organic chemical industry, and
I think that he advocated British participation in the chemical
industry. I think I have seen writings to that effect.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is it a matter known to you that generally the

chemical industry, which, in the post-war years, which had been
expanding years

Mr. Irenee du Pont. May I correct that? I do not know that
Lord Moulton was an Army officer. I think he was in charge of
munitions, and not Chief of Ordnance, I am quite sure.

Mr. Raushenbush. Will you read my question as far as I have
gone, Mr. Reporter?

(The pending question, as above recorded, was read by the re-

l^orter.)

Mr. Raushenbush (continuing). Has been in close relationships

with their own governments?
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. I really could not tell you that. You would
have to get somebody familiar with foreign affairs.

Mr. Raushenbush. I would like to offer for the record, somewhat
incidentally, an exhibit to be given the proper number, being a re-

port by D. B. Bradner, on the general subject of poison gases, their

manufacture, and the extent to which the company is prepared or
not prepared to manufacture them, in 1924. The report is trans-

mitted by Major Casey to Colonel Taylor, and describes in some
detail how phosgene gas, diphenylamine, chlorarsine, sulphur chlo-

ride, and others, are composed.
(The document refered to was marked " Exhibit No. 1066 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2853.)

Mr. Raushenbush. I would like to have it as a matter of record.

Now, going into the relations of some of the big foreign chemical
companies with their governments, I would like to offer a memo-
randum dated November 6, 1933, initialed J. K. J., who is presumably
Jenney, is it not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think so.

Mr. Raushenbush. Describing a visit of Mr. G. Donegani on
October 27, 1933, to Wilmington.

(The memorandum referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1067"
and is included in the appendix on p. 2855.)

Mr. Raushenbush. I call attention to the Government interest in-

dicated in the company in the last paragraph on the first page.
[Reading :]

* * * Mussolini, wlio is a personal friend of Donegani, called Mm iu and
told him that he wanted him to take the company over.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Where is that?
Mr. Raushenbush. At the end of the first page. [Reading :]

* * * Mussolini, who is a personal friend of Donegani, called him in and
told him that he wanted him to take the company over. Mr. Donegani objected

;

first on the grounds that he did not want to put good money into a sick

company, and that he could not make it a technical success without securing
assistance from abroad. After considerable argument, and after pointing
out that both du Pont and the English had turned down the proposition to

give A.C.N.A. assistance, Donegani secured permission to bring the I.G. in as
minority holders.

That is the German company, I presume?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I.G. is.

Mr. Raushenbush. I skip the rest of the paragraph.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Is it explained what A.C.N.A. is?

Mr. Raushenbush. That is the big Italian company, is it not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. That is Mr. Donegani's company.
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. All right.

Mr. Raushenbush (reading) :

The financing was done through Credito Italiano upon the orders of Musso-
lini. It is our understanding that 40,000,000 lire was paid for the concern, 49
percent of which was supplied by the Germans.

The last paragraph of the letter says [reading] :

Mr. Donegani reported that the German rayon cartel, in which the Italians

had an 18-percent interest, was broken up by an edict of the Hitler government
without any reason except national self interest to justify the step.
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In Germany, apparently, a similar government interest existed,

according to a memorandum which I offer for the record, dated
March 22, 1932, from Mr. Jenney to Mr, Swint, of the foreign rela-

tions department.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1668 " and

appears in full in the text.)

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, it is not being assumed
that Mr. Irenee du Pont or I are agreeing with all the statements
the secretary is making.
Mr. Raushenbush. I am identifying the statement.
The Chairman. The Chair understood the secretary'- was merely

identifying the statement.

Mr. Raushenbush. If you have any comment to make on that,

all right.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I have none.
Mr. Raushenbush (reading " Exhibit No. 1068 ") :

It is a matter of common gossip in Germany that I.G. is financing Hitler.
Other German firms who are also supposed to be doing so are Kinipp and
Thiessen. How much truth there is in tliis gossip we are unable to state
but there seems to be no doubt whatever that Dr. Schmitz is at least per-
sonally a large contributor to the Nazi Party.

Can you identify Dr. Schmitz for us ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Dr. Schmitz is an official of the I.G. He
has the position, I think, of treasurer or the director of their fi-

nances.

The Chairman. Mr. Raushenbush, who is the author of that
communication ?

Mr. Raushenbush. This is a member of the foreign relations de-
partment of the du Pont Co., writing to the head of the foreign re-

lations department. We will have more on that later.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was characterized as " gossip " in the
letter.

Mr. Raushenbush. It was characterized as " gossip " in the letter.

Do you remember any further communications concerning the ques-
tion of the German chemical industry in its relations with the
present administration of Germany?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not remember anything further?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not.

Mr. Raushenbush. We will come to that later.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That does not mean that there are none.
Mr. Raushenbush. It is understood that it does not mean there

are none.

I offer for the record a letter dated June 20, 1922, from Mr. Crane
to Mr. Pickard, in which he discussed the interest of the British
Government in the Nobel group, and I call jouv attention to the
comments here from Sir Harry McGowan.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1069 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2856.)

Mr. Raushenbush. The letter reads:

The other day I was talking with Sir Harry McGowan, and we spoke of
the British dyestuffs situation, though he is no longer a director of the com-
pany. Among the comments he made were the following

:

If the British made a deal with the Germans, du Pont interests could
liardly be given special treatment in the matter, unless there was a definite

undertaking on the part of Sir William Alexander that he was negotiating
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for U.S. The British Government would not wealien but were absolutely de-

termined to see the company successful. The inevitable result would be an
agreement with the Germans, for Sir Harry does not seem to think it possible

that the British will be able to achieve technical success without the help of

the Gex'mans. Mr. Pickard ought to come right over to London, and the United
States legislative situation is probably so well in hand that he could now come.

I call your attention also to the second paragraph on page 2,

where it says [reading] :

Sir William went on to say that he had seen von Weinberg and Oppenheim in

Berlin a month ago, and their proposals were that the British company would
limit its sales to the British Isles only, not the Empire, and give the Germans,
half of their profits in exchange for technical information. He told them em-
phatically that the British would not agree to such terms, but were ready to

agree on prices throughout the world, and come to an understanding about com-
petition. Duisberg was also to be called in if an agreement was in sight, but
naturally there was nothing doing, and I presume that the Germans are simply
biding their time until British Dyes will have to come to them again. Sir

William went on to say that the British Government was going to back the
enterprise up to the limit, favored an arrangement with the Germans, but were
entirely opposed to any such terms as the Germans had in mind.

Mr. Swint, this is more in your department, I believe. Can you
give us any further information on the connection between the Brit-

ish Government and the British chemical companies?
Mr. Swint. I was not in London at that time, but I became famil-

iar with the situation more or less through hearsay and through con-
versations that I had had there, and it was my definite understand-
ing that the British Government had the intention to do just about
what the letter said, to back the dyestuffs industry sufficiently to put
it on a firm basis so that England would have a national dyestuffs

industry.

Mr. Raushenbush. And has not the rather strong interest of the

British Government in the chemical industry been evidenced and
generally understood in later years as well?

Mr. Swint. Possibly that is true as a general statement. I do
not know of any specific acts which they have taken in the mean-
time. I believe they no longer have any financial interest in it.

Mr. Raushenbush. I offer for the record a letter from Irenee
du Pont to Sir Harry McGowan in the early days, December 15,

1920.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1070 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2858.)

Mr. Raushenbush. And I call attention to the second paragraph
on the last page. [Reading:]

It was suggested in the meeting that possibly in a short time relations with
the German Nobel group would be reopened in a way which would make it

desirable that they, too, share in the enterprise. What would you think of
such an arrangement?

Mr. du Pont, would you identify the discussion as having to do
with that?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. "What enterprise is that?

Mr, Raushenbush. I am asking Mr. du Pont to identify the dis-

cussion as having to do
Mr. Irenee du Pont. The Chilean enterprise. [Reading:]

Am writing you this as a reminder of the point of view which I expressed to

you and because it would seem to be a good opening to put in force the ideas

that we were more or less together on in that discussion; i.e., the prospects
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on the Chilean enterprise are not so splendid but that we could afford to permit

the other companies to join in without heavy financial loss. I say this because

I think and believe you were of the same opinion that we must build in order

to prevent losing the trade of that country elsewhere; that the investment

itself was not overattractive. Personally, I would rather have a 25-percent

interest with Hercules and Atlas in than a 50-percent one with them out. I

wonder if you were feeling the same way?

This was commercial explosives. [Continuing reading :]

It was suggested in the meeting that possibly in a short time relations with

the German Nobel group would be reopened in a way which would make it

desirable that they, too, share in the enterprise. What would you think of

such an arrangement?
This is written you while the matter is fresh in mind, but I do not think

we can come to any conclusions by letter and that the topic had best be dis-

cussed either when you are next in this country or when a suitable represen-

tative of our company is next in yours, according to which happens first.

That undoubtedly refers to the Chilean dynamite proposition.

Mr. E.AUSHENBUSH. And brings out that even as far back as 1920

the idea of taking in other companies on the South American propo-

sition was being discussed.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was commercial explosives, dynamite.
Mr. Raushenbush. I offer for the record a letter dated June 17,

1923, from Mr. Crane, European manager in London, to Mr. Haskell,

simply to note the second paragraph.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1071 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2858.)

Mr. Raushenbush (reading) :

He-
Mr. Mitchell

—

reviewed the Czechoslovakian situation and said that Philipp of the Austrian
Nobel Co., thought he had the concession from the Czechoslovakian Govern-
ment and on his way to the Government offices to close the deal he met Leonard
Smith coming out of the office with the signed concession in his pocket. You
already know about the ownership of this Czechoslovakian explosive company
and that the Austrians were taken in, but Mitchell explained to me the reasons
for taking the Austrians in were primarily in payment for their plant which
they turned over to the new company and secondly because they felt it would
be desirable to work with Philipp in other eastern European countries, which
has already been the case.

Although the German group is understood still to own control of the Aus-
trian Nobels and to that extent Philipp is their man, yet the Nobels have never
had any discussion with the Germans. All the negotiations have been carried
on between Philipp and Leonard Smith.

In Hungary, Philipp secui*ed the concession for a Government powder factory
and has taken Nobels in 50-50—that is to say, the Hungarian Government re-

tain 60 percent of the stock, Austrian Nobels have 20 percent, and Nobels In-

dustries have 20 percent.
Philipp also secured the concession for the Government powder factory in

Bulgaria. Mr. Mitchell could not give me offhand the details of this deal but
I understand it was exactly the same as in Plungary. Work has already been
started at the factories in both these countries.

I simply offer that to show that even in those days, 1923, it seems
clear that Nobels shared some interest with the Germans and Aus-
trians in Czechoslovakia and Hungary. Is there any comment on
that?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not see anything about the Germans,

except that they had competition with the Germans, and I know
nothing of it.
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Mr. Kaushenbush. It says

:

Although the German ^-oup is understood still to own control of the

Austrian Nobels.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That part, apparently, is gossip.

Mr. E.AUSHENBUSH. We can come back to that later. In connec-

tion with " Exhibit No. 1071 " I offer for the record two letters from
Mr. Crane to Mr. Haskell dated June 8, 1923, and January 30, 1923.

(The letter of June 8, 1923, was marked " Exhibit No. 1071-A "

and appears in the appendix on p. 2859.)

(The letter of January 30, 1923, was marked "Exhibit No.

1071-B " and appears in the appendix on p. 2860.)

Mr. Raushenbush. I want to offer for the record a memorandum
dated March 21, 1924, to the executive committee, from H. G. Has-
kell, vice president, and A. Felix du Pont, general manager, discuss-

ing du Pont's and Nobel's relationship.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1072 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 2861.)

Mr. Raishenbush. I simply call attention to the footnote on the

last page, which reads:

In competing for Polish business we usually find ourselves in competition

with M. Philipe, representing the Czechoslovakia company. We understand
Philipe represents the Hamburg Nobels ownership of about 12 percent of the

stock. The French company, sometimes spoken of as " LePlay ", and the
English Nobels own similar amounts, the three together approximating half

ownership. The other half presumably belongs to Czechoslovakians. When
orders for smokeless powder are obtained by this company, the explosives are
usually supplied from Rorweil, Germany. In competing for Spanish business

we meet a Spanish company in which the Nobels have a large interest, though
presumably a minority one. We understand it is not customary for the
English Nobels to themselves appear as sellers.

Simply showing that in 1924 the British Nobels are shown to have
a part interest in the Czechoslovakia company, with its smokeless

powder from Rorweil in Germany, following along the lines of Sena-
tor Vandenberg's examination the other day.

I offer for the record an exhibit entitled " Notes of conversations

held at the Hotel des Indes at The Hague on October 15, 1924, at

2 : 30 p.m."
(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1073 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 2863.)
Mr. Raushenbush. I call attention to the presence of representa-

tives of Nobel Industries, Ltd.. representatives of the German com-
panies, and representatives of the Norwegian company, and to the
character of their discussion. I do not want to read the whole let-

ter. If you vv^ant to read it, that is all right.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. This does not seem to be any of our affair.

Mr. Raushenbush. The du Pont Co. is mentioned at various
places.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Where did this come from?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think that this was a memorandum that

was sent in to our office.

Mr. SwiNT. I think that was a memorandum sent by Nobel to us

for our information only.

Mr. Raushenbush. It seems to deal with relations between the

Germans and British concerning a South American pool. I wanted
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to call attention then to the character of discussion between these

gentlemen indicated on page 6

:

Towiird the close of the meeting Mr. Richter produced a list of questions
whicli are set out below, together witii the answers which were given in each
case

:

(o) Taking it for granted that du Fonts are to join the combine, can Hercules
and other American companies be caused to adhere to the prices.

This has already been dealt with above.
(b) Can the Norwegian company bring influence to bear upon the Swedish

company to abstain from competition?
It was held that this was a matter for the Norwegian company to deal with.
(c) Will the French abstain from competing as they did during the time of

tlie Hota? Can the same be guaranteed with regard to the Belgian works?
Tiie Nobel representatives expressed the view that no insurmountable diffi-

culty would be met with in obtaining the adhesion of the French and Belgians
to any understanding, but they felt that the time was not opportune to approach
either of these competitors.

(d) Are the new Dutch works likely to come into the combine?
The Dutch works are a very small producer, destined to supply the State

mines in Holland, and it was held to be unlikely that they had an eye on export
business, and that consequently no approach should be made at this stage.

(e) How can the competition of the Westfalish-Anhaltische be avoided, who
are sure to make excessive claims?

if) What about the lignose, the Bayerische, and the Gnaschwitz Spreng-
stoffwerke, who have tried several times to gain a footing with their Ammon-
Calucit?

It was pointed out that it was for the German concerns to settle their own
internal arrangements, and Dr. Aufschlager proposed to take up the matter
with his German competitors at an early stage. In the course of the discus-
sion Mr. Richter referred to the possibility of satisfying the Westfillisch-

Anlialtisclie by giving them oi'ders, and this is to be explored.

({/) Are the English competitors who are not under the control of Nobel
Industries likely to also become competitors in markets abroad?

Sir Harry stated that he anticipated no difficulty in dealing with the small
U.K. concerns not under Nobel control.

(h) Is there any prospect of bringing the Japanese factories, both the private
company. Nippon Kayaku Kaisha, and the Government works, Iwahana, into
line?

It was recognized that the situation in Japan presented exceptional difficul-

ties. Sir Harry threw out the suggestion that it might be considered whether
an endeavor should be made to bring about an understanding with the Nippon
Kayaku Kaisha in the form of a financial merger. The German representatives
undertook to think this over.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That all pertains to commercial explosives,

does it not, Mr. Secretary ? I did not follow the context, not know-
ing just where it came from, but it sounds like commercial business

and not military business.

Mr. Raushenbush. The answer is not quite clear. It says, on
the second page :

" High explosives manufacture appears to be mainly
in the hands of three groups ", Mdiich it then lists.

The letter was introduced simply to show the character of the
dividing-up-the-world idea which the representatives of the British,

Germans, and Norwegians seemed to be engaged in.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. High explosives are usually considered to

be dynamite, in contradistinction to black powder, which is not a
high explosive.

Mr. Raushenbush. You are in competition with the Germans not
only in regard to commercial explosives but nowadays also somewhat
in competition with military goods, are you not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No.
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Mr. Raushenbush. I thought during Senator Vandenberg's ex-

amination the fact was brought out rather clearly that the Germans
had taken away Turkish orders from you in military explosives.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I thought they were supposed not to be
shipping military powder.
Mr. Raushenbush. That was the whole point of the examination,

that they had taken away such orders.

Mr. SwiNT. Mr. Raushenbush, this memorandum does refer ex-

clusively to the industrial explosives, and does not concern dividing
up the world, but relates solely to South America.
Mr. Raushenbush. Dividing up South America and getting the

various companies in?
Mr. SwiNT. Not dividing it up.
Mr. Raushenbush. Making a pool about it.

Mr. SwiNT, Finding a means to promote the interests of these
particular companies as in distinction to other competitors.
Mr. Raushenbush. I think that is quite a correct statement. This

is a sort of an arrangement for a South American pool.

Mr. SwiNT. It is an economic method of selling.

Mr. Raushenbush. The only purpose for which the exhibit was
introduced was to show the extensive interests across national lines

of these companies. That is, in commercial lines ; that does not nec-
essarily mean that it has no relation to the financial welfare of those
companies which may also be engaged in military business.
Mr. SwiNT. That is true, but military explosives were later specifi-

cally excluded from the arrangement that was made.
Mr. Raushenbush. Certainly, Mr. Swint, the success of a com-

pany's commercial explosives business does have some relation to its

ability to stay in business and also produce military powders, does
it not, a very tremendous amount?
Mr, Swint. A very tremendous amount, because the amounts con-

cerned are about 10 to 1, or greater than that.

Mr. Raushenbush. That was the only point there.

I introduce for evidence a letter from Irenee du Pont to Walter
S. Carpenter, in London, dated November 21, 1924, simply to call

attention to the idea expressed at the top of the second page, as

early as 1924, of acquiring an interest in a certain German company,
namely, Goswig, which was a Stinnes interest.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1074 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2866.)
Mr. Raushenbush. I read the first paragraph on the second page

:

I was just as much surprised as you to find what the German situation is

with respect to their own internal competition and it struclv me right off the
bat that it would be useless to make much of an arrangement with the German
Nobels leaving out half of the German capacity under control of Goswig and
others. My idea was, as you have correctly gathered, to acquire an option at

some price on Goswig, with an idea that we could then first use it as a lever

on the German Nobels for satisfactory terms, and second, combine the two
competing organizations so as to get greater economy in manufacture and
eliminate needless competition.

It shows, does it not, that in 1924 you had thought of purchasing

an interest in German companies?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. This was commercial explosives, no military.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. And the suggestion was not carried out.
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Mr. Raushenbush. The suggestion was not carried out.

I offer for the record a paragraph taken from report to the finance

committee by the treasurer, W. S. Carpenter, Jr., dated October 2,

1925, again discussing the possibility of investing in German com-
panies. I do not particularly want to read that, unless you do.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1075 ",

and is included in the appendix on p. 2867.)

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I would like to point out what that is talk-

ing about. I think that refers to the purchase of a stock interest in

some German company.
Mr. Raushenbush. That is all that was intended to be noted.

I want to offer for the record a paragraph from report from H.
McGowan to the directors of Nobel Industries, Ltd., dated Septem-
ber 14, 1025.

(The report referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1076 ", and
is included in the appendix on p. 2867.)
Mr. Raushenbush. This discusses the relations of Nobel and the

Germans. I call attention in the light of Senator Vandenberg's ex-
amination the other daj^^ to the sentence in the middle

:

Further, agreement has been reached that they will refrain from doing
anything likely to pi-ejudice the interests of the various companies in which
we are interested in the Balkan States. All these undertakings will, I am
sure, subsequently strengthen our position in the various export markets and
will enable us to make our business there far more remunerative than would
be possible in competition. Another important aspect which should not only
improve the financial return to the German companies themselves but have a
beneficial effect on our foreign trade, is that they have now come to agreement
with their German competitors for a quota allocation of the home trade, and
as a direct outcome of this there is every hope that we shall be able to induce
those competitors to refrain from, or restrict their activities in, competition
with us.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You should state on that, should you not,

that this is purportec^ to be a report from Sir Harry McGowan to

the directors of the Nobel Industries, Ltd., not a du Pont document?
Mr. Raushenbush. That was stated at the beginning, Mr. du

Pont.
At this time, on January 1, 1926, did you not sign a gentleman's

agreement between yourselves and D.A.G. and Koln Rottweiler,
which was introduced in the record before as " Exhibit No. 512." ^

Is that not correct?

Mr. SwiNT. No ; we did not sign that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Was it not in effect as a gentleman's agree-
ment beginning January 1, 1926?
Mr. SwiNT. It was in effect

;
yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. Beginning January 1, 1926?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It was not an agreement in effect, though.
Mr. Raushenbush. "What is the difference between a gentleman's

agreement and an agreement not in effect ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know. This was not an agreement,
because there were not two parties to it, as I understand it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Let us understand that, if you will, Mr. du
Pont. Mr. Swint seems to be testifjdng that that understanding was
in effect. Do I take it that you are denying that testimony?

1 Hearings, Part V, p. 1203.
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Mr. Lammot du Pont. My understanding of the facts is that this

draft was drawn up and the two parties to the proposed agreement
stated that the draft was satisfactory and that is all.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is that all you understand about that, Mr.
Swint ?

Mr. Swint. I would say that Mr. Lammot du Font's sum-up of
that is correct, with the addition that the provisions of the agreement
are being carried out when it suits either of the parties to do so.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. There is no agreement to carry out the
provisions.

Mr. Swint. There is no agreement to carry out the provisions,

and no one feels any obligation to do so.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Therefore it is not an agreement of any
kind, as I understand it.

Mr. Raushenbush. It is described at the top as " unsigned

—

in effect as gentlemen's agreement." I believe in your testimony
last September you described, Mr. Lammot du Pont, a gentleman's
agreement as an agreement one could also get out of. Do we under-
stand that this has weight or does not have weight in your dealings

with the Germans ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know what you mean by " having
weight." Do you mean, are we bound by this document?
Mr. Raushenbush. Are you guided by it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We are guided by it; yes. We are not

bound by it.

Mr. Raushenbush. That document resulted from a rather long
.series of negotiations, did it not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know how long they were.

Mr. Raushenbush. Over a period of some years ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Possibly.

Mr. Raushenbush. At the same time, in 1926, is it not correct

that you and D.A.G. and Nobel together owned Explosives Indus-

tries, Ltd., operating in South America ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. In 1926?
Mr. Raushenbush. 1926.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think that is right.

Mr. Swint. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. In 1926, at about the time of the discussion of

this question of Germany's rearming, which was discussed the other

day and which we are approaching now, the relationship between
the British and Germans was described in a report from Mr. Swint
to Mr. Crane of Lazote, dated December 17, 1926, which I offer for

the record.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1077 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2868.)

Mr. Raushenbush. I call attention to the last paragraph on the

first page

:

Sir Harry

—

Meaning Sir Harry McGowan, I take it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush (reading) :

Sir Harry explained that the formation of I. C. I. is only the first step in

a comprehensive scheme wliich he has in mind to rationalize chemical manu-
facture of the world. The details of such a scheme are not worked out, not
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even in Sir Harry's own mind, but tine broad picture includes working arrange-

ments between tliree groups—tlie I. G. in Germany, Imperial Chemical indus-

tries in the British Empire and du Fonts and the Allied Chemical & Dye in

America. The next step in the scheme is an arrangement of some sort between
the Germans and the British. He appreciates fully, or at least he says he
does, the supreme difficulty in the way of the final step, namely the personality

of the management of the Allied Chemical & Dye.

I skip to the last page.

Mr. SwiNT. I think it might be proper to read the very last

sentence.

Mr. Raushenbush. Will you do that?

Mr. SwiNT (reading) :

By this he does not mean exchange of shares so that each company will own
part of the shares of the other two. Just what he has in mind I could not
learn, and it is possible that the thing is too intangible at present for him
to express it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Then, going to the last page, I read the fol-

lowing, and will you put in anything which I do not think is impor-
tant and you do:

The only ominous note in our whole conversation was his final word that

he would see to it that no hostile steps against the du Pont Co. were taken
by I.C.I, or any combination which they might arrange with the Germans with-

out telling us of it beforehand. He repeated this twice. This is perhaps
capable of several interpretations, but to me personally it indicates that while
he will do everything reasonably possible to maintain his friendship with us,

nevertheless if the interests of the larger scheme demand it, he will regretfully

accept the principle of the greatest good for the greatest number.

This is introduced, Mr. Swint, simply to indicate that the British

were in very close negotiation with the Germans at the time. Is

not that your impression ?

Mr. SwiNT. Yes that is my impression, and I think it was prin-

cipally on nitrogen and dyestuffs.

Mr. Raushenbush. Nitrogen and dyestuffs. The next paragraph
goes on:

In the course of our conversation, I mentioned our joint financial interests

in various companies and expressed the belief that I.C.I.'s interest in General
Motors would exceed their holdings in Allied Chemical. Personally, I was a
little in doubt about this but, strictly speaking, I find it is true. Sir Harry
did not know the extent of their holdings in Allied, but he believed that
Brunner, Monds, together with Belgian Solvay, held about 25 percent of the
total common stock of the Allied Chemical & Dye Co.

Ma}'^ I interrupt to ask, can the Allied Chemical & Dye be iden-

tified as a large competitor of yours in certain fields ?

Mr. Swint. Yes.
Mr. Raushenbush. I go on

:

This agrees with my impreasion. The figures which I have understood to be
true were that Brunner, Monds held 100,000 shares and Belgian Solvay 400,000.
I have always supposed, rightly or wrongly, that these two together could be
considered as a unit so far as any influence they might exert on the conduct
of affairs in Allied Chemical. I may be quite wrong about this, but at the
first chance I shall try to find out just what the relationship between Brun-
ner, Monds, and the Belgian Solvay is. Nobels' present holding in General
Motors is 150,000 shares. Taking the par value of their investment in General
Motors, together with the par value of their investments in C.X.L., Northern
Giant, the Chilean Explosives Co.. and Nobel Chemical Finishes, Ltd., this
gives a total of approximately $25,000,000, i. e., I.C.I, will inherit from Nobels'
investments to the extent of $25,000,000 in companies which are veiy closely
associated with the du Pont Co. If we consider Belgian Solvay and Brunner
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Monds as a single group, the corresponding figure for I.C.I.'s interest in Allied
would be $50,000,000. If the relationship is not so close, I.C.I.'s interest

alone would be $10,000,000 ; all of the above at parity.

So I take it there, Mr. Swint, that the purport of this was to indi-

cate that the British and Belgian Chemical interests had a large

stock ownership in your competitor?
Mr. Swint. Yes. You see, Mr. Raushenbush, Imperial Chemical

Industries had just been formed. We had had close relationships

with Nobel for 30 or 40 years. We did not know what influence

on that relationship between du Pont and Nobel the formation of

Imperial Chemical Industries would have. This is simply an at-

tempt to indicate to my people at home the reactions I got in dis-

cussing the matter with Sir Harry McGowan.
Mr. Raushenbush. Have you had any reason to believe this gen-

eral situation of holdings has changed to make the essential rela-

tionships different at this time?
Mr. Swint. No; I have not. I do not know that those figures

are accurate today at all.

Mr. Raushenbush. Then I wish to call attention to and enter for

the record a report from Colonel Taylor dated November 3, 1926,

to Major Casey, simply to call attention again in passing to remarks
similar to those discussed by Senator Vandenberg the other day.

(The report referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1078 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2870.)

Mr. Raushenbush (reading) :

Mr. Marquardt of the Hamburg Nobel had a conversation with Nobel in

which he askal them if they would not do something to guard what they called

their international position in explosives in the case of their beginning the

sale of military explosives, and the Nobel people said that they were willing

to maintain their attitude, that there was nothing in their agreement that

entitled the Germans to any consideration as regards their military material po-

sition. They therefore wrote to Mr. Marquardt telling him so. I have not a
copy of their letter, but I have a copy of Mr. Marquardt's answer which I en-

close. Nobel, however, say that in case the Council of the League ofBcially per-
mits Germany to reenter the manufacture and export of military material that
they will have to reconsider the whole business including their relations with
the Germans and their relations with us on the continent regarding military
material. This is a very serious matter and our officials who deal with such
matters should prepare themselves to the eventuality of having to reconsider
these various agi-eements in the case of the Germans becoming fully authorized
by the League of Nations to reenter the field of the manufacture and export
of military material. Not being familiar with the matter, I can offer no sug-
gestions except to report the reaction our conversations with the Germans
and Nobels have on my business as mentioned in paragraph 18. While nothing
has been said, I think that Nobel feels that it may be necessary for both du
Pont and Nobel to withdraw from the military field in Europe when Germany
is x-eleased by the League.

Can you identify Mr. Marquardt when they speak of the Hamburg
Nobel?
Mr. Swint. Mr. Marquardt was the export manager of D.A.G.
Mr. Raushenbush. That is D.A.G., which has now come to Nobel,

apparently, with a proposition on military explosives. And D.A.G.
was also the same company that was interested with you in commer-
cial explosives in South America?
Mr. Swint. Yes. Mr. Marquardt was also a director of Ex-

plosives Industries, Ltd,
Mr. Raushenbush. He was also an English director?

Mr. Swint. No. He was a director of Explosives Industries, Ltd.



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2793

Mr. Raushenbush. The South American company?
Mr. SwiNT. That is right.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I did not gather that Mr. Marquardt came
to Nobel with a proposition on military explosives, because this says
when the Versailles Treaty is modified the whole thing will have
to be reconsidered.
Mr. Raushenbush. I call attention to the first four lines of that

paragraph

:

Mr. Marquardt of the Hamburg Nobel

—

which you have identified as the D.A.G. in this case

—

had a conversation with Nobel

—

Which I take it is the English Nobel

—

in which he asked them if they would not do something to guard what they
called their international position in explosives in the case of their beginning
the sale of military explosives.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think their position in explosives means
commercial explosives, does it not, in case they are beginning the
sale of military explosives.

Mr. Raushenbush. Then their position in other explosives is to be
guarded, is that it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I suppose so. I do not know, though.
I did not have anything to do with it.

Mr Raushenbush. The difference does not accentuate at all one
way or the other the point for which it was introduced, to show a
very close relationship between the British and the Germans in these
very days when the re-armament of Germany and that Turkish
matter came up.

I want to offer for the record a report from H. G. Haskell and A.
Felix du Pont to the executive committee, dated December 22, 1926,
simply to call attention to the last paragraph [reading] :

In the event of the embargo under the Versailles Treaty on the export of
propellants and military ammunition from Germany being partially or wholly
removed, this arrangement to be reviewed.

The arrangement there apparently deals with du Pont-Nobel
cooperation on sales of military propellant powders and explosives.

It is simply calling attention to the continued importance of the
German element in the situation.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1079 ",

and is included in the appendix on p. 2872.)

Mr. Raushenbush. I would like to offer for the record a letter

signed by Mr. Mitchell, from Nobel House, London, to Mr. Lammot
du Pont, which indicates the same situation.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1080 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2873.)

Mr. Raushenbush. I read the paragraph marked " 2"

:

Many hold the opinion that it will not be long before Germany, as regards
armaments, will be put on identical terms with the other signatories to the
Locarno agreement ; it therefore may be that at some future date we may
want to collaborate with them in propellant business as we do on industrial

explosives.

Mr. Raushenbush. These relationships, Mr. du Pont>
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Did you pull our answer to this ?

83876—35—PT 12 11



2794 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Raushenbush. I don't remember. We have one further com-
ment on it a little later in the same year.

The letter begins [reading]

:

Our German friends have been advised by tlieir agents in Valparaiso that
the Government are issuing inquiries for the erection of a TNT factory in

Chile. It is not quite clear yet whether the Germans are aware that the whole
question of propellants is being examined by the Chilean Government, but I

should say tliat tliey do know. At any rate they ask us what we know of the
matter and therefore we must show our hand to some extent in answering
them.

Mr. SwiNT. The whole point of that, Mr. Raushenbush, is that
this was a letter, the subject of which was the possibility of the
Germans participating in the building of a plant in Chile, and these

other matters are incidental.

Mr. Raushenbush. All these letters are simply introduced—and
I thought they would be accepted without question—as showing the
close tie-up between various companies and rather involved interests

in the Balkans and elsewhere on the part of the I.C.I, during
the time when the question of German armament and disarmament
was up.
Mr. SwiNT. To the best of my knowledge, Mr. Raushenbush, the

du Pont Co. has never discussed military explosives with any of the

German companies, with regard to the sale of military explosives.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. This correspondence does not show a very
close relation between the du Pont Co. and the I.G. or D.A.G. or

any of the German companies. All of these letters you refer to

refer to negotiations or conversations or discussions between Nobel
and the German companies.
Mr. Raushenbush. We thought that agreement, unsigned gentle-

men's arrangement, or whatever you want to call it

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Properly called a " draft of agreement.'*

Mr. Raushenbush. Draft of agreement, which guides you in your
dealings

Senator Clark. It was put into eifect, was it not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. What do you mean. Senator?
Senator Clark I recall in the September hearings you said in spite

of the fact that the contract had never been signed, it had been put
in effect.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I don't think I said that, Mr. Senator. If
I did say it, I do not think I was very accurate. When is an agree-

ment in effect? When it is executed, obviously. And that was never
executed.

Senator Clark. It was never executed, but you were proceeding
under the agreement, according to the testimony.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It was a draft of an agreement which

appeared to be satisfactory to both sides but which was not executed
and was therefore not in effect, and by which we have been guided.
Senator Clark. You testified before that you operated under the

agreement.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know whether you call it operat-

ing under an agreement or not.

Senator Clark. I am just referring to your testimony in that

regard.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I maintain it cannot be an agreement, un-

less it is executed.
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Senator Clark. You have a verbal agreement?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is not a verbal agreement. It is a draft.
Senator Clark. You have an unsigned contract and at the same

time operate under it. As a legal proposition we all understand that.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We did not agree with the other party to
be bound by it. I maintain, therefore, that it is not an agreement.

Senator Clark. What is your course of conduct ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I maintain it is a draft of an agreement

—

it was not executed—by which our operations are to some extent
guided.
Mr. SwiNT. It was a tender under which we feel no obligations.

We may fulfill the provisions of the agreement or not, as we choose^
and the Germans feel the same way about it.

Senator Clark. You have actually fulfilled the provisions of the
agreement, haven't you?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think we have, to date.
Mr. SwiNT. To the extent of information obtained on plant visits.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. But I would have no hesitation at all in
saying that tomorrow we might violate the draft.

Senator Clark. I understand that, and that was your testimony
before, but you did testify that you did operate under that agreement,-
even though it was not signed.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. We operate in accordance with it today.
Senator Clark. I realize you are not bound by it, as you have said-
Mr. Raushenbush. The point being made here, it seems from this>

testimony, is simply that there were close connections between the
British and the Germans and, to some extent, yourself, with the
British at least, during the years when Germany or the German
powder companies were exerting some influence to' get back into the
military market. The extent of this agreement will probably be a
matter of opinion, but I offer as an exhibit for proper numbering a
letter dated November 7, 1928, rather a memorandum, signed by
J. K. Jenney, to Mr. O'Gorman of the smokeless powder department,
headed, " Chile Military Factory."

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1081 ",

and appears in full in the text.)

Mr. Raushenbush. This reads

:

The minutes of the meeting of October 12 with Sir Harry McGowan state
that the Germans had turned down the 15-percent participation offered to them,
in the C.S.A.E.

What is that?
Mr. SwiNT. Compania Sud American de Explosivos.
Mr. Raushenbush. That was a Chilean explosive company ?

Mr. SwiNT. Dynamite.
Mr. Raushenbush. Proceeding with this [reading] :

In this connection Sir Harry stated that Dr. Mueller had taken this action
for lack of capital. In spite of the fact that his company is controlled by the
I.G. he apparently was not anxious to call on them to finance the iiro.lect for
him. He has agreed, however, not to bid against I.C.I, and duPont "for the
military factory. It is my recollection that Sir Harry stated that the Germans
would offer a dummy bid.

It was not considered desirable to include the whole story in the minutes. I
have previously orally informed Major Casey and Mr. J. T. Brown.

That shows that by that so-called " dummy bid " that is reported,,
there is some close cooperation?
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Mr. SwiNT. That sounds a little mysterious, but it is not. At
that particular time the Germans were quite short of cash. We of-

fered them this participation in the dynamite factory in Chile, and
they told us they felt they could not afford it at the moment, did not
have the money to put into it.

The question of building a military factory, as they recognized,

was bound up to some extent with the commercial plant, because the

requirements of Chile were so small they could not possibly build an
economical unit there and produce military explosives at a reason-

able cost. The fact there already existed a dynamite plant, some of

the facilities of which, such as the acid manufacture, could be used
for the manufacture of military explosives, gave the firms who had
the investment in the dynamite factory an advantage in bidding on
the military factory.

The Germans did not want to be, so they said, placed in the posi-

tion of refusing to bid, and perhaps thereby incurring some little

enmity from the Chilean Government, so they followed the course
ij

-outlined here.

Mr. Kaushenbush. And they put in a dummy bid?
Mr. SwiNT. They put in a dummy bid

;
yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. I offer for introduction a letter to Mr. Pick-

ard from Mr. Crane, dated December 26, 1928.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1082 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2874.)

Mr. Raushenbush. The heading of this memorandum is, " I.G.

Nitrogen Plans in United States ", and starting at the beginning
I read:

This will confirm our cable of December 22.

Mr. Burton, president of the American Agricultural Chemical Co., recently

told me that there would be a third large synthetic ammonia plant in this

country as foreign interests were going to build a plant and had already ar-

ranged for the necessary financing. Mr. MacDowell, president of the Armour
Fertilizer Works, has just told me that the I.G. are going ahead with a syn-

thetic ammonia plant, not from natural gas, but located in the coal fields, and
he appeared to have received this information from Mr. Krauch or Mr.
Schneider, who as you know have been over here. Carl Peters has given out
an interview that the I.G. are considering building a synthetic ammonia plant

in the United States in alliance with a powerful industrial group who are not
now engaged in nitrogen fixation.

These statements were sufficiently affirmative to make us think that a
United States plant is again receiving serious consideration by the I.G., and
it is bad news. My feeling is that ultimately we will by our own efficiency

stand on our ow^n feet and not be fearful that a second large competitor will

become established in the ammonia field, but that during the next 2 or 3 years
there is grave danger of increased competition which once established would
always have to be dealt with, and that we should do everything we can to keep
the I.G. from coming in.

Can you explain that at all, Mr. Swint, or does that explain itself ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think I was connected with this—these

things that are mentioned—^but I do not know just what you want
explained.

Mr. Kaushenbush. The I.G. at this time did have the idea of

building an ammonia plant in this country, did it not ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. This states that that was reported from j J

several sources.

Mr. Kaushenbush. Do you know whether that is a correct report,

or what?
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Mr. Lammot du Pont. They have not built one yet.

Mr. Raushenbush. No ; but do you know whether it was generally

and very seriously considered by your company, that they might
so do.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It was so reported to us.

Mr. Raushenbush. And frequently?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. As this states, we thought the report was

sufficiently affirmative to make us think that a United States plant

was again receiving serious consideration.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Is not that answered in the next paragraph ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That is Bosch's statement.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. He is head of the I.G. ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think he ought to know something about

what he intends to do.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. He said the building of additional ammonia
plants anywhere was foolishness, that is, their building them. In
other words, we had a variety of reports on the subject and we had to
guess what was right.

Mr. Raushenbush. He points out that [reading] :

If they are seriously considering an ammonia plant in the United States, it

is absolutely inconsistent with their declared policy a year ago. The over-
production that they spoke about then seems even more sure now to be in
process of realization.

You will recall that the upshot of our negotiations with the I. G. a year ago
was that we could not get together on tlie control of the enterprise, particularly
as affecting the size of the plant and that they proposed to hold the whole
matter in abeyance and see us again in May of this past year, which they did
not do.

The only point for which I am offering this in the record is that
the I. G. apparently—and this is only one of several letters—did have
that possibility in mind, and it was seriously considered by the
company.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think that was true.

Mr. Raushenbush. And those negotiations or that idea of theirs
was discussed not only in 1928, as indicated in the second paragraph,
but in 1927, as indicated in the fourth.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. You pulled the report of that 1927 discus-

sion, did you?
Mr. Raushenbush. Did we enter it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. No, you have not offered it yet.

Mr. Raushenbush. I offer for the record a letter from Bickford &
Co., A. G., London Office Nobel Industries Ltd., Nobel House, the
letter being from Vienna, dated July 9, 1928, to Colonel Taylor, dis-
cussing the Bulgaria Powder Factory, which has some interest.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1083 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2875.)
Mr. Raushenbush. This reads:

Deak Colonex Tayloe (Bulgaria Powder Factory) : Replying to your question
of July 5, I should like to say that Nobel Industries, in view of the small
size of its powder factory desired by the Bulgarians and the consequent small
amount of profit to be made out of erecting a factory, did not consider it worth
all the work and risk that would be entailed, except perhaps as a means
of obtaining interim powder orders during the building period. These interim
powder orders, which might run to about 80 tons p.a., cannot be guaranteed by
the Bulgarian War Office, because it has to seek permission every time it wishes-
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to import. Nevertheless, they are likely to be given to the people contracting
to erect the factory.

There was a further reason why we did not wish to hand in an offer for
the powder factory, and that is that for us to erect a military powder factory
in Bulgaria would have seriously prejudiced our chances of succeeding in our
negotiations for the industrial explosives monopoly in Jugoslavia.

Does not that part of the letter indicate fairly clearly, that last

paragraph, that in the Balkans, at least, the commercial interests

and the military interests of Nobel's have to be considered side by
side? Here they did not want to bid on a Bulgarian powder fac-

tory because it " would have seriously prejudiced our chances of
succeeding in our negotiations for the industrial explosives monopoly
in Jugoslavia."

Mr. Lammot du Po>'t. I would not like to venture any opinion on
what Nobel's have to do with respect to their internal affairs.

Mr. Rausiienbush. In their own statement here, of Bickford,
which is one of their subsidiaries, they are certainly stating that
proposition, if that letter stands examination.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. They are entitled to their opinions and

statements, but I would not like to venture an opinion on the subject.

Mr. Raushenbush. In view of the fact that this letter was written
in Vienna in 1928, at a time when this German question was up, as

indicated in the previous examination, the following paragraph be-

comes of importance. [Reading:]

My energies, therefore, were directed toward getting somebody else to
tender for the erection of the factories and on the understanding that if they
were successful they would endeavor to stipulate that the interim orders be
passed to them for execution by us. I was successful in this respect, but it

meant our undertaking to finance the Koln-Rottweiler-Bratislava proposition
in return for a third share of the profits (if any) made on the erection of the
factories. I think you must agree that this is the best arrangement that
could be made in the circumstances.

The interpretation, subject to comment which can be put on this

very clearly, is that they were taking in the German firm Koln-
Rottweiler, which was the very one indicated the other day as having
gotten the Turkish order, military order.

Mr. SwiNT. That I think, is not the German firm itself. It is

probably controlled by the German firm, but it is one of the sub-

sidiaries of theirs in the Balkan countries.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes, the Koln-Rottweiler interests have appa-
rently^ taken in this Bratislava thing.

In 1928 we find an exhibit entered in the earlier hearings, " Ex-
hibit No. 461 ", that I.C.I. , the British interests, which was dis-

cussed so often, had a list of investments and foreign alliances, and
I wish to call attention simply to the existence on that list of a con-

siderable number of companies in the Balkans.^

In 1926 the close relationships between Nobel and Koln-Rottweiler
were described in the exhibits entered by Senator Vandenberg under
the head of numbers '" 856 " and " 857 ", and I call attention to them
here ai;rtin. or certain portions of what they say, simply in the long
line of business negotiations between the British and Germans which
seem to have been going on during the years.

^

1 Hearings, Part V, p. 10S3.
== Hearings, Part IX, pp. 2181 and 2189.
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It was on October 7, 1926, that Taylor took up this matter of

German armaments reported to him by a representative of the

Czechoslovakian company and said [reading] :

I am going to talk to Nobel about it in England, next week. I do not
know all the details of Nobel's arrangement with the Hamburg Nobel Dyna-
mite Co. We have also been in relation with them through Nobel and our
London office, but I think it will be a great shame if our industrial relations

with the German explosive industry were of such a type that we would wink
at their violation of the treaties or permit them to enter the military export
business. I will keep in touch with this matter and inform you further.

I call attention also in this connection to the letter of November 5,

1926, from Major Casey to Colonel Taylor, identified and discussed

the other day as " Exhibit No. 857 ", in which Major Casey says on
the first page, fourth paragraph [reading] :

You are quite correct in your analysis of the situation. We believe Nobel
could actually prevent Koln-Rottweiler or other German concerns from enter-
ing the military ix)wder business providing they saw fit to bring pressure to
bear through English Government channels.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That is Colonel Taylor's opinion.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is Major Casey's opinion in this case.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Or Major Casey's.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes. It was in 1926 that this gentlemen's
agreement we have had some discussion about was signed, was it not,

a little before these letters—or not signed, or initialed, or what have
you?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know of any gentlemen's agree-

ment.
Mr. Raushenbush. Now it is not a gentlemen's agreement any

more. It was a few moments ago.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I referred to it as a draft of an agreement.
Mr. Raushenbush. A draft of a gentlemen's agreement.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. A draft of an agreement.
Mr. Raushenbush. The reading at the top of that agreement

says, " Unsigned gentlemen's agi^eement."

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Somebody added that in pencil, if I re-

member correctly.

Mr. Raushenbush. That was in existence before these letters of
October and November were exchanged and before Colonel Taylor
made the remark:

I think it will be a great shame if our industrial relations with the German
explosive industry were of such a type that we would wink at their violation
of the treaties or permit them to enter the military export business.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Colonel Taylor does not refer to that draft,
does he?

Mr. Raushenbush. What draft? No; I am referring to it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
Senator Pope. Mr. Raushenbush, were those pencil notations on

th«re at the time you first received the paper?
Mr. Raushenbush. I so believe.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think that is correct.
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes; now I am calling attention to the con-

nection in dates. He refers to

—

Our industrial relations with the German explosive industry were of such
a type that we would wink at their violation of the treaties or permit them to
enter the military export business.
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That agreement, or what we will call that draft, whatever it was,

was supposed to expire in 1935, was it not?
Mr. SwiNT. I do not recall.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do you recall, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It was dated 1926, was it not? It ran

for 10 years. I presume that would make it expire at the end of

1935.

Mr. Raushenbush. Has that arrangement been extended since

that time? Have you had another meeting about that?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think we ever had another meet-

ing when that draft was discussed.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is that still the guiding document in your
relations with the German explosives companies, or has that been
superseded ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. There is no agreement in effect with the

German explosives companies now at all, and I think there has not
been since 1926.

Mr. Raushenbush. Let us come back to this guiding draft, call-

ing it that, that has been in effect to the extent you wish to observe
it, hasn't it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We have been guided by it.

Mr. Raushenbush. You have been guided by it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes. That is what I answered, to an
extent.

Mr. Raushenbush. I am asking, has it been changed? Have
you made any further change?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not that I know of.

Mr. Raushenbush. Did you have some meetings with these groups
in October and November of this year ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I did not.

Mr. Raushenbush. The company did not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know whether some of our foreign

representatives did or not. Do you know, Mr. Swint?
Mr. SwiNT. Members of our London office see those men fre-

quently.

Mr. Raushenbush. No ; I meant to revise this thing ?

Mr. Swint. No.
Mr. Raushenbush. There have been no such meetings ?

Mr. Swint. No.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. There has been no revision of that draft,

I am sure.

Mr. Raushenbush. All right.

Senator Pope. Is there a time for the expiration of that draft,

Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. The draft provided an expiration 10 years

from the date of execution, but as it never has been executed, I do
not know when it would expire.

Senator Pope. So far as you know now, it will continue to guide
your dealings in the future?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think so. I think that is quite likely.

Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Chairman, with j^our permission, so far
I have been simply introducing evidence to complete the record on
the interests, commercial, and industrial interests running across the
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national boundaries. There is some evidence to the effect that some
of the governments were somewhat interested in the success of their

chemical companies and the expansion. There were also these two
analyses by Colonel Taylor and Major Casey, taken for what they
are worth, to the effect that some of those industrial connections may
have had some influence on a very important military and political

question, the one of rearming Germany.
With your permission, I would simply like to put in for the general

information of the committee some further evidence, secured from
the files of the company, in regard to some of the rather important
European connections, for the purpose of giving that picture.

I wish to offer for the record an excerpt from a letter of Taylor
to Casey, dated February 18, 1928.

(The excerpt referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1084 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2876.)

Mr. Eaushenbush. Paragraph 11 reads:

The competitors for this business are very few : Aktiebolaget Bofors, of

Sweden : Vickers-Armstrong, of England ; and Schneider, of France. As you
know, these three firms work under a common agreement and apparently, if

Bofore does not get the business, it will got to Schneider. We believe that the
H.I.H. is active on this enquiry and will probably present a bid also.

I understand that Major Casey and Mr. Felix du Pont were ex-

cused, but can anybody present give us any further information on
this report that Bofors, who have been identified as one of your big-

gest competitors, Vickers-Armstrong, and Schneider, of France, work
under a common agreement and if apparently Bofors does not get

the business it will got to Schneider ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That seems to be an opinion expressed by
Colonel Taylor, but I do not know that I can confirm that opinion
or say that I know it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is there anybody here from the company who
has any further information on that?

]\Ir. Lammot du Pont. I do not think so.

Mr. Raushenbush. If not, I would like to present
Senator Pope. Just a minute. Mr. Felix du Pont, do you have any

further information on this matter?
Mr. A. Felix du Pont. No, sir. Colonel Taylor would know more

about that than anybody.
Mr. Raushenbush. In that connection, I would like to offer for

the record a note from Mr. Swint to Explosives Industries, Ltd.,
dated February 9, 1928, to be given the appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1085 " and ap-
pears in full in the text.)

Mr. Eaushenbush. This reads

:

DE14.B Sirs : We have recently been getting some information on Bofors, and
have prepared the attached chart which shows just what the relationship of
one company is to another, as well as significant information on personnel,
capital structure, earnings, and dividends for the past 3 years. I trust that
this will be of interest to you.

May we have that chart also made part of the record?
Senator Pope. Very well.

(The chart referred to was transposed and marked " Exhibit No.
1085-A" and is included in the appendix on p. 2877.)^

> Photostat of original chart is in the committee file.
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Mr. Raushenbush. Mr. Swint, do you know at this time who
controlled Bofors ? What actual group that was ?

Mr. Swint. I do not, Mr. Raushenbush. Matters of this sort were
of very little interest to me. I had a great many other things to do
and paid very little attention to military affairs.

Mr. Raushenbush. We have heard from Major Casey, and Colonel
Taylor reports that this was one of your big competitors in the

military powder business.

I wish to offer a letter addressed to you, Mr. Swint, dated March
19, 1V)29.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1086 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2878.)

Mr. Raushenbush. This is signed by Colonel Taylor and describes

the Bofors groups and states at this time his idea is that this entire

group is controlled by Kreuger & Toll, which is a holding company,
which also controls the Swedish match industry.

You would say you have no further information on that?
Mr. Swint. No.
Senator Pope. Does that give the names of the groups ?

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes; it does. They are sort of Scandinavian
names.
Mr. Swint. I mean to say that I have no further information than

what is contained in these letters of several years ago.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is what I mean.
Senator Pope. TMs will be a part of the record as an exhibit?

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes; I have offered that as an exhibit.

I also offer for the record a letter signed by Philip J. Kimball,
from your London office to your Paris office.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1087 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2879.)

Mr. Raushenbush. This says in the second paragraph

:

It might be well to explain our present position with regard to Bofors in

the South American commercial explosives market. This company, last year,

sold approximately 150 tons in that market, and it is thought that it might be
well to make a quota arrangement with them. It was agreed, during the last

board meeting of Explosives Industries, Ltd., held on June 14, that Mr.
Marquard of D.A.G., would open negotiations with Mr. Herlin early in August
to bring about the desired aiTangenient.

It was further agreed at tiiis meeting that no mention would be made of

propellants, but it was the feeling of those present that Bofors' representative
might possibly want to bring in propellants. If so, it is understood that Mr.
Felix du Pont has expressed his willingness to attempt a deal with Bofors.

Nothing ever happened to that propellant's business, did it?

Mr. Swint. No.
Mr. Raushenbush. How about the other«part of it? Did Bofors

get a quota from D.A.G. in the South American market, or from
Explosives Industries, Ltd.?

Mr. Swint. They did not get a quota. It was understood no
attempt would be made to hinder them in selling up to a certain ton-

nage—I do not recall the amount—up to 300 tons, or something.

Mr. Raushenbush. That practically meant they had a right to get

300 tons in the South American market?
Mr. Swint. They had a right to it under any conditions.

Mr. Raushenbush. That they would not encounter any hostilities

of the group making it up. Is that right ?
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Mr. SwiNT. That is right. That was not an ao:reBment with du-
Pont, but an agreement with Explosives Industries, Ltd.
Mr. Kaushenbush. In which du Pont and D.A.G. and I.C.I, had^

a part?
Mr. SwiNT. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. As stockholders.
Mr. Raushenbush. As stockholders.
I oli'er for the I'ecord the correspondence between Bofors and

E.I.L. concerning the arrangement made at that time.
(The document referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1088"' and

is included in the appendix on p. 2879.)
Mr. Raushenbush. In Avhich " Bofors bind themselves to limit

their exports of industrial explosives to 330 tons of 2,000 pounds
each per annum. This quantity shall, as far as possible, be disposed
of in South America."

I offer a letter for the record
]\Ir. Lammot du Pont. Jnst a moment. Look at this a moment,
Mr. SwiNT. I was in error in saying that arrangement was with

Explosives Industries, Ltd. It was with D.A.G., as this plainly
states, and the reason for that was, that was only a part, as I un-
derstand it, of the agreemeut between D.A.G. and Bofors, which
embraced other countries in other parts of the world on dynamite.
Mr. Raushenbush. Will you say that last sentence again, please?
(The answer, as above recorded, was read by the reporter.)

Mr. Raushenbush. Have they got a general agreement with the
Germans on dynamite all over the world ?

Mr. SwiNT. I do not know how general it is, but it has been
reported to us the}^ have an understanding on the division of the

export markets between themselves. As far as South America is

concerned, D.A.G. 's part is taken through E.I.L.

Mr. Raushenbush. I want to offer for the record a letter from
Casey to Taylor—I did not realize it was coming out—of February
9, 1934, which simply bears on the Bofors matter.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1089 " and ap-
pears in full in the text.)

Mr. Raushenbush (reading) :

Replying to your T-2S05 of January 25 in which you indicate that Bofors
is not sMtistied with the results of their price-cutting campaign and that Mr.
Sohlman, managing director of Bofors, has indicated his desire to oi>en nego-
tiations for the purpose of putting an end to this situation.

Such a conversation meets with our entire approval hut we thoroughly agree
with you that the request for such an interview should originate with Bofors,
We have (Utire coniidence in your tact and judgnieni to conduct the matter
as the circumstances may require.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Does it not refer to commercial explosives?

Mr. Raushenbush. No. I think, Mr. du Pont, that since it goes
from Casey to Taylor it is probably a conversation on military

explosives.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It does not say so there.

Mr. Raushenbush. It conies up agahi.
I want to offer for the record a letter from Taylor to Smith of

I.C.I, at London, dated May 25. 1931, in which he describes the
reasons why this agreement ap}jarcntly was not gone into any
further.



2804 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1090 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2880.)

Mr. K.AUSHENBUSH. It begins [reading] :

I had the visit this morning from Mr. Sohlman of Bofors. We talked
about the Greek adjudication and both expressed our dissatisfaction with the
manner in which the Greeks have conducted the affair."

It goes on later [reading] :

We then discussed the question of the possibility of an agreement among
the principal powder manufacturers whereby we would not present bids if the
requirements of the customers were unreasonable. We both thought that such
a thing might be possible.

We also discussed the possibility of making an agreement among the manu-
facturers on standard laboratory methods.
We did not talk about a price agreement, nor of any territory agreement

-of any kind.
We discussed at length the general question of the possibility of an agree-

ment of some kind among military manufacturers, and we both thought that
while such an agreement might be possible as far as the manufacturers them-
selves were concerned, that due to the political situation in Europe today and
due to the general attitude towards arms manufacturers, any attempt to make
a formal agreement among manufacturers would cause the loudest and most
•violent criticism and put us in a very disagreeable position. We would be
accused of joining together to foment wars, increase armament, etc. And we
agreed that an agreement among military manufacturers and private manu-
facturers was a very different matter, and that any agreement made among
military manufacturers would be a grave political error.

Mr. Sohlman also stated that their powder factory was getting pretty filled

up with orders and very soon they would be no longer able to offer reasonable
deliveries; also that they are not feeling so liberal about matters as they
have in the past.

That seems to give the reason why the discussion did not go any
further, does it not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not agree with that.

Mr. Raushenbush. I beg your pardon. What do you not agree
to there?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not see the connection between this

and the previous letter.

Mr. Raushenbush. The previous letter?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The previous letter to which I referred is

the one we did not know what they were talking about.

Mr. Raushenbush. The one from Major Casey telling Colonel
Taylor to go ahead with the discussions ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The one I said we did not know what they
were talking about, and you said it would come out later, and you
seem to think this explains it.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is this the one [producing document] ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir; this is the one. This does not
say whether they are talking about military explosives or commercial
explosives.

Mr. Raushenbush. And I offered the explanation that since that

is a document from Casey to Taylor, it presumably involved military

explosives.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It might be a fair presumption, but it does

not prove it.

Mr. Raushenbush. There is a clear reason given here why this

discussion went no further.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. This letter does not say anything about
that letter does it ? I fail to note it, if it does.
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Mr. Raushenbush. It follows. This states:

* * * Mr. Sohlman, managing director of Bofors, has indicated his desire
to open negotiations for the puiiDose of putting an end to this situation.

Such a conversation meets with our entire approval

—

And then this comes back to Mr. Sohlman, the next letter, " Ex-
hibit No. 1090 ", who talked about the Greek adjudication.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. What is the date of the previous letter ?

Mr. Raushenbush. This one was in February [referring to " Ex-
hibit No. 1089 "] and this in May [referring to " Exhibit No.
1090"].
Mr. Lammot du Pont. It may be on the subject and may not be.

Mr. Raushenbush. The commercial man for Bofors, Mr. Swint,
is not Sohlman, but that other fellow we had.
Mr. Swint. Herlin. I think he also handles military matters.

Sohlman is the director.

Mr. Raushenbush. I do not want to spend too much time on it.

Mr. Bradway. I do not think there is any connection between
those two things, Mr. Raushenbush. The first letter referred to
something else.

Mr. Raushenbush. What are you testifying to, Mr. Bradway?
Mr. Bradway. As I gathered it. I would rather see the letter.

Mr. Raushenbush. It is right before you. The one which states

:

We then discussed the question of the possibility of an agreement among the
principal powder manufacturers whereby we would not present bids if the re-

quirements of the customers were unreasonable. We both thought that such a
thing might be possible.

It goes on there, at the end of the page

:

We discussed at length the question of the possibility of a general agree-
ment of some kind among military manufacturers, and we both thought that
while such an agreement might be possible as far as the manufacturers them-
selves were concerned, that due to the political situation in Europe today and
due to the general attitude towards arms manufacturers, any attempt to
make a formal agreement among manufacturers would cause the loudest and
most violent criticism and put us in a very disagreeable position.

Does not that sound like a military thing?
Mr. Bradway. This is military.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is not clear what they are talking about
in the earlier letter. I think it may be a fair inference they were
talking about military powders.
Mr. Bradway. I think it is true in this case that they were, but

this is not the conference which came out of this conversation, I am
quite sure.

Senator Clark. If I might interrupt a moment to go back to the
matter we were discussing a while ago, Mr. du Pont, I have sent
out and got the proofs of the testimony of September, and while it

is of no great importance, just for the purpose of clearing up what
you did testify to at that time, I want to call your attention to the
fact that the draft of the contract taken from your files was marked
" unsigned." In fact, it was a gentleman's agreement, and it was in

that condition found in your files.

You testified :
^

That is an agreement between the German companies and ourselves, which
is very similar to the agreement between I.C.I, and Du Pont, in that it providea

1 Hearings, Part V, pp. 1203 and 1204.
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that each of tlie parties uiay acquire ivoni the otlier an option to purchase
valuable rights to processes. The agreement with I.CJ., in this resqject. is in

effect, in that it lias been duly executed by both parties. Tliis agreement with
the German company was drafted along the same general line^' and was in-

formally agreed to but was not executed. It, therefore, is- not in effect, I believe-

legally, but we have notified the Germans, I think informally, tliut we were
satisfied to be bound by it ; that is, we would agree to the agreement verbally,
informally, but we have not executed it.

Senator Clark. In other words, that notice on this contract, as we found
it in your files, unsigned, "in effect as gentleman's agreement ",' is literally

accurate. The contract has not formally been completed by signature, but
that it is in effect pi'actically, as a gentleman's agreement between the two
companies.

Mr. liAMMOT Du Pont. If you mean by a gentlemnn's agreement
Senator Clark. I am asking what you meant by this notation. It is not my

notation Itui a notation by somebody in connection with your compauj,
Mr. L.\:Mir()T ))u Pont. I know what my interpretation of a " gentleman's

agreement " is. but I do not know what yours is.

Senator Ci^\rk. I am asking you yours.
]Mr. La-aimot du Pont. My interpretation?
Senator Claek. Yes.
jMr. Lammot du Pont. My interpretation of a "gentleman's agreement" is

one which is not executed but which the parties have considered.
Senator Clark. And are proceeding under?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes; but I think also. Senator, the term "gentleman's

agi-eemeat " applies to the ability of either parties to get out of it.

Senator Clark. The point I am making is that you have had these negotia-

tions and are actually proceeding under that agreement at the present time,

are you not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. Unless there is further comment on that, I

would like to pass to another subject, and offer for the record a re-

port from Walter Dannenbaum to Mr. Jasper E. Crane, dated Sep-
tember 16, 1929, entitled "Cooperation with Royal Dntch Shell."

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1091 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2881.)

Mr. Raushenbush. I call attention to page 3, the third paragraph,
which reads

:

R.D.S. have the example of the Standard Oil Co. of New Jersey before
them ; i.e., the alliance of the Standard Oil Co. of New Jersey with the I.G.

R.D.S. realize that the supply of crude oil, be it suflBcient for 5 years or

for 50 years, is not unlimited, and that 1 day, hov.ever far in the future, the
products now derived from crude oil must be made by another method. In
View of the R.D.S. investment in the oil business, it seems logical and fore-

sighted that R.D.S. should prepare themselves for the day when petroleum
products are made by other metliods than the refining of crude oil.

Mr. Swint or Mr. du Pont, can you explain to us just what this

relation between Standard Oil and I.G. is in regard to getting oil

out of coal ?

Mr. Irenee ou Pont. I think probably I can answer that. I
happened to be in Heidelberg when some of the Standard Oil men
were there, and I understood they were interested in the Burgess
process, by which they hydrogenated coal and produced petroleum
products from it. They admitted at that time, I think, that it was
a very costly way of getting gasoline and other petroleum products,
but that it might have some future value.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I have a somewhat different understanding.

What the Standard Oil of New Jersey and I.G. agreed upon was
the hydrogen ation of petroleum, and they formed a company to ex-
ploit that field.
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Mr. Raushenbdsh. Only of petroleum. Is that your understand-

ing?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think they had that plan, but I had been
under the impression they proposed to hydrogenate coal in Germany,
where coal is plentiful and oil is not. This is only hearsay.

Mr, Lammot du Pont. My information is only hearsay and it is

not surprising that we disagree.

Mr. Rausiienbush. Can you add anything to that, Mr. Swint?
Mr. Swint. I think that about explains it. The I.G. and the

Standard Oil did fonn a company in the United States to exploit

certain patents.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is that the one which is referred to as the

American I.G.?
Mr. Swint. No. Standard I.G. American I.G. is something else.

Mr. Raushenbush. Is it true that the other big chemical groups,
such as I.C.I, and du Pont have not been able to share that arrange-

ment with those two companies? They have not been able to buy
into that arrangement between the Standard Oil and I.G. ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We are not in the oil business at all. It is

nothing we would be interested in.

Mr. Raushenbush. The I.G. seems to be in it, does it not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am speaking of the Burgess process. I

thought that was what you were speaking of.

Mr. Raushenbush. The I.G. seems to be in the chemical business

to the extent they got into the oil business.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think they had run across the hydrogena-
tion process and applied it to the coal business, which does not in-

terest us particularly.

Mr. Raushenbush. Coming back to the question, have either the
I. C. I. or du Ponts been able to buy into that process at all ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Not so far as I know. Certainly not speak-
ing for the du Pont Co. I do not know anything about I. C. I.

Mr. Raushenbush. The reason here given for the Royal Dutch
Shell's interest is that petroleum is going to be scarce sometime in

5 to 50 years.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What is the date?
Mr. Raushenbush. September 16, 1929. And they wanted to

take a position on what was happening there, for this reason : That
very soon after, in fact, about the time that we saw this letter, the
New York Times was playing up the United States and British in-

terest in Manchukuo oil, and it seemed that that matter of oil might
have some connection with causes for later wars.
In the same year, 1929, there is another letter on this subject,

which I offer as an exhibit, being a letter from Dannenbaum to

Crane, dated July 25, 1929.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1092 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2884.)

Mr. Raushenbush. There is discussion of the Royal Dutch Shell
getting into the chemical industry. I will read the last paragraph
on the fourth page [reading] :

Just where this matter stands it is difficult to say. The R.D.S. apparently
wish to get into the chemical industry. Originally the ammonia plant was
intended as a club against the I.G. I.G. apparently made the mistake of tell-
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ing the oil industry generally and the R.D.S. specifically that in due time the

I.G. would make all of the oil the world required by synthetic methods.

Whether the I.G. said this or not, that was the R.D.S. impression of the I.G.'s

intentions. It seems evident that the R.D.S. no longer think an ammonia
plant in California would be a good club insofar as the I.G. are concerned, but

perhaps they think it a good club to obtain an association primarily with I.C.I,

and perhaps secondarily with du Pont. The R.D.S. is determined to get in the

chemical business.

Did the Royal Dutch Shell put up any plant in California as a

result of these discussions or interest? Can you inform us

?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think they have properties in Califor-

nia; yes.

Mr. Raushenbush. I do not mean only oil properties, but other

chemical properties.

Mr. SwiNT. I do not know. I think they have.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not know for sure.

Mr. SwiNT. Nothing ever came of these discussions.

Mr. Raushenbush. Nothing ever came of these discussions. They
simply show the interest of the Royal Dutch Shell in preparing it-

self because of this other arrangement.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It does not do that, Mr. Secretary. It is

a matter of opinion.

Mr. Raushenbush. They show the interest. We would have to

read the whole letter to get the tone of this.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is all a matter of opinion of the writer

of the letter, I think.

Mr. Raushenbush. They are some of your more important oflB-

cials, Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Their opinions may be wrong, also.

Mr. Raushenbush. I want to offer for the record as an exhibit a

letter from Mr. Ewing to Mr. Swint, dated July 17, 1933, and deal-

ing again with this matter of oil.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1093 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2887.)

Mr. Raushenbush. I read the third paragraph on the second page
[reading] :

Dr. Bosch then told us of the I.G. Farbenindustrie plans for oil from coal.

Up to the present, they have been manufacturing 50,000 tons per annum of

gasoline from tar. Now they have succeeded in manufacturing gasoline direct

from brown coal and are at present operating at the rate of 80,000 tons per year
from tar and 20,000 tons from brown coal. Plans are under way to increase

the production fourfold, thus producing 400,000 tons of gasoline per year. We
understand that all of the increase will be manufactured from brown coal, and
production therefore will be divided 80,000 tons per year from tar and 320,000

tons per year from brown coal.

It goes on to decribe their plans.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That is all in Germany, I take it?

Mr. Raushenbush. That is all in Germany, according to this

letter.

Now, coming back, for a minute, to the political importance of
some of these countries, I want to call your attention to the last

paragraph on the first page and the paragraph on the sixth page
[reading] :

Mr. Crane explained that he was on a trip to Europe to renew old friendships,
this l)eing the first trip to Germany in 6 years. There followed a general dis-

cussion of the economic situations in Germany and in the United States, and



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2809

Professor Bosch confirmed our opinion that times in Germany at present are

very difficult, and for industry the last few weeks have been especially difficult.

Whereas the revolution of 1918 consisted of the middle and upper classes

against the lower, the present revolution consists of the lower and middle

classes against the upper class and industry. Just now it is a question of

fascism and bolshevism, and industry nmst support the present government to

prevent further chaos. In the beginning, Hitler did not consult industrial

leaders, but in recent weeks he has shown his stability by curbing the more
extreme element of the party and bringing the industrial leaders into consul-

tation with him. Dr. Bosch has been in Berlin in direct contact with the

Government, and in fact spends practically all of his time between his dwelling
in Heidelberg and the Government offices in Berlin, thus leaving little, if any,

time for the affairs of the I.G. Farbenindustrie.

Then because the question of governmental interest in these indus-

tries has come up, I want to read the paragraph on page 6 entitled
" Meeting with I.G. Farbenindustrie July 12 " [reading] :

At 10 o'clock we called at the main office of I.G. Farbenindustrie and spent
some time with Dr. von Schnitzler and Dr. ter Meer, and were later joined at
luncheon by Mr. Weber-Andreae. Mr. Crane related the trend of the develop-
ments in the United States and emphasized the fact that a strong feeling of
nationalism pervades our country today. The German gentlemen discussed the
political situation in Germany, with particular reference to the positive position

of the Government against the Jews. They also explained how Herr Kmpp
had developed a scheme whereby industry could contribute to the party organi-
zation funds, and in fact every industry is called upon to pay " li/4 percent of
the annual wage and salary roll to the Nazi organization."

Mr. Lammot du Pont. One-half percent, it is.

Mr. Raushenbush (rereading) :

And in fact every industry is called upon to pay one-half percent of the
annual wage and salary roll to the Nazi organization. For the I. G. Farben-
industrie, the annual amount is about Rm. 1,000,000, which would indicate
a combined annual wage and salary payment of the I. G. Farbenindustrie of
Rm. 200,000,000, or $50,000,000 at par. Later it was learned that the employees
of I. G. total 68,000, exclusive of mine workers and those in affiliated companies.

Now, would not somebody, seeing the extent of that contribution,
come to the opinion that this industry was very close to the German
Government and had a very considerable influence with the current
administration ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I would not gather that.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is a $50,000,00 a year contribution.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No.
Mr. SwiNT. $50,000,000 a year wage and salary roll.

Mr. Raushenbush. What is it?

Mr. SwiNT. About $250,000 a year.
Mr. Raushenbush. The contribution would be 1,000,000 reichs-

marks. Is that it?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Right, Mr. Secretary; the thing which
struck me here, is it says, " * * * and in fact every industry is

called upon to pay one-half percent of the annual wage and salary-
roll to the Nazi organization." It is not a voluntary contribution.
Mr. Raushenbush. This ties in with the former report which you

characterized as gossip, about the interest of Dr. Schmitz in the
Hitler group, back in 1932, I believe, and now the direct contact of
Dr. Bosch, one of the heads of the company described in this letter,
and then this scheme which is here attributed to Herr Krupp—is
that the armament man, supposedly?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I suppose so. I do not know.

83876—35—PT 12 12
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Mr. Raushenbush. It developed a scheme whereby industry would
contribute to the party organization.

Senator Pope. What is the date of the letter?

Mr. Raushenbush. This is July 17, 1933. I am almost through
with these exhibits, Mr. Chairman, but I want to enter them.

I offer an exhibit, being a letter of November 18, 1929, from Jenney
to Ta^dor, referring to the interest of the artillery department of

the Royal Swedish Army in process for the manufacture of oxida-

tion of ammonia to nitric acid. If there is no comment, I will just

rush through these.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1094 " and is

mcluded in the appendix on p. 2890.)

Mr. SwiNT. It did not happen.
Mr. Raushenbush. It did not take place, but the Swedish Army

was interested in the process for the manufacture of oxidation of

ammonia to nitric acid.

I offer a letter from Jenney to Mr. Lammot du Pont, dated
October 19, 1928.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1095 " and is

mcluded in the appendix on p. 2890.)

Mr. Raushenbush. There is one paragraph toward the end speak-

ing of the big French dye company, Kuhlmann [reading] :

As you also know, the outstanding point about tlieir relations with other
companies is the Kuhlmann-I. G. agi'eement of dyestuffs. There have also

been numerous inimors that this agreement will be extended into the. nitrogen
field, and we have also heard that the I. G. has aided them in the production
^f mixed fertilizers (nitrophoska).

I also offer for the record a letter from Henry E. Ford from
London to Mr. Wardenburg, in Wilmington, headed " Nitrogen."
The letter referred to was marked " Exliibit No. 1096 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 2891.)

Mr. Raushenbush. In the first paragraph it states

:

We had further conversation with INIr. Speyer of I. C. I. and obtained
some additional information on the recent nitrogen conference. The Brussels
conference finally broke down due to the attitude of the French. The Germans
were not able to agree to the economic and political demands made, and the
breach is so wide that there is very little chance of further conferences, at least

for 6 or 9 months.

Can you t^ll us how the French nitrogen producers would be mak-
ing political demands on the Germans ? I can understand economic
demands, but how do they make political demands on the Germans ?

Can anybody throw any light on that at all?

Mr. Swint. We know nothing about the relations between the

French and German nitrogen people.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. This was fertilizer, was it not?
Mr. Swint. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Fertilizer nitrogen.

Mr. Raushenbush. The heading of the letter is entitled
" Nitrogen."
Mr. Lammot du Pont. The discussions were on fertilizer.

Mr. Raushenbush. That was the international nitrogen confer-

ence ; a cartel ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Raushenbush. I offer for the record a cable from Clemenceau
president, Societe Central de Dynamite, dated June 6, 1930.

(The cable referred to was marked ''Exhibit No. 1097" and ap-

pears in full in the text.)

Mr, Raushenbush. That reads :

You know we luive 'oeen exploiting ilu.ssia with a profit for many years by
concession to nianuFncture all materials piastic and nitrocellulose derivatives,

such as celluloid film, pliotograj;hic paper, etc.

At present, after new convention, Russian Goverment buying by concession
from us. Our role in future will be limited ()iy) (to) comi'lete remunt^rating
technical cooperatioi.

If this is the case Russian Government asked us *^^o extend this coopei"ation

to all branches (of) which are objecting to activitiet, of our branches; namely,
explosives, glycerine, nitrocellulose, and particularly cellulose varnishes.

Before giving answer on general principles on the point would appreciate
you caltle us at once if you agree on tlie princnple S. F. D. cooperate like our
dtiier branch organizations of an industry of the same kind in liussia.

AVe know, lacking our cooperation in the respect, Soviet Go%ei'nment would
not hesitate to deal with other French manufacturers cellulose varnishes.
Of course this cooperation will involve cashing in and aniuial remuneratioi>

to be set.

For the moment, we ask you only the question of principle which if accepted
by you would leave us entirely at liberty to decide in common with that
condition.

The question I wanted to ask about that was in regard to the

explosives, glycerine, nitrocellulose, and ])articularly cellulose var-

nishes. Those are, I take it, all commercial explosives or materials
for commercial explosives ?

Mr. SwiNT. I believe so.

I^Ir. Raushenbush. That is right?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think that is correct.

Mr. SwiNT. This firm, Societe Central de Dynamite, happens to

be a company that holds the stock in the French Duco Co., in which
we are partners, but we have no other partnership relations or any
other agreements of any sort with them. And this proposal was
not carried out.

Mr. Raushenbush. Do you own this company?
Mr. Swint. No.
Mr. Raushenbush. But they hold your
Mr. Swint. No; we have a minority interest in the French Duco.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Which is the S.F.D.
Mr. Raushenbush. In this letter Clemenceau seems to be asking

you for permission to deal with Russia.

^Ir. Swint. No, Mr. Raushenbush; he simply expresses his intent
to deal with the Russians on these various other products, explosives,
glycerin, and nitrocellulose, and he has to ask our permission to deal

with the Russians on cellulose varnishes, as he calls it, because we
liave granted him rights to use our patents on it.

Mr. Raushenbush. I offer for the record a memorandum dated
January 23, 1934, from Jenney to Pickard, entitled " Russia, Pos-
sible Sale of Nitrogen Information.'' On the second page there is

this sentence [reading] :

On March 19, 1931, the executive committee informed the development
department that the methanol process should not be sold to Amtorg.

Was that all a military process?
Mr. SwiNT. No ; methanol is wood alcohol.
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Mr. Raushenbush. That is, they just decided not to sell it to the
Russians. Was that a matter of policy or was that a matter of
price ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I cannot remember now.
(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1098", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2892.)

Mr. Raushenbush. It seems, if you will read the rest of the
letter, that there are certain policy decisions being taken here to
not do certain things in connection w^ith the Russians. It goes on
on the third page

:

Mr. Pickard informed the I. G. that we had refused to sell the Russians
information on methanol, and this was acknowledged with thanks, by Dr.
Gaus.

That is the third paragraph of the third page.
Are you under any obligations to I.G. not to sell certain things

to the Russians or to any other governments?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think not.

Mr. Raushenbush. Did the I.G. sell them that particular infor-

mation on methanol?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not that I know of. I do not think they

had the same information we had.
Mr. Raushenbush. The paragraph above that is

:

I am not able to locate the information in our files, but it is my recollec-

tion that Dr. Bosch informed Mr. Pickard or some other official of the company
some years ago that the Russians had used an offer received from us to force
the I.G.'s hand at the time they made a deal on dyestuffs with the Russians
in about 1926.

Here is a question raised in an exhibit which I wish to enter.

July 19, 1932, letter from Mr. E^ving to Wardenburg. May I
call your attenton to the last paragraph on the first page [reading] :

Quite apart from the C.I.A. agreement, the D.E.N, group have bought off

completely Ressaix Laval, which is the Belgian plant under construction and
which will not be completed, and have also paid to the Schluskill owners au
amount for closing down a fair portion of the Schluskill plant.

Does anybody remember what that dealt with?
Mr. Swint. Yes; that dealt with fertilizer ammonia. C.I.A. is

the International Conference of Azote,, and D.E.N, is the German-
English-Norwegian group. They made certain arrangements to fa-

cilitate sales of fertilizer ammonia, with which we were not at all

concerned.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1099 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2894.)

Mr. Raushenbush. Could one draw a fair inference from this that
this process of the C.I.A., which is sort of the International League
of Nations of the nitrogen group, is it not ?

Mr. SwiNT. It does not include any American groups.
Mr. Raushenbush. We are not in the League of Nations, either,

Mr. Swint. That League of Nations in turn has a sort of a subordi-

nate group, the D.E.N. , the German-English-Norwegian group,
which are an operating unit by themselves.

Coming back, to the extent that this problem of nitrogen has any-
thing at all to do with war preparations, even in the remotest sense,

the commercial transactions by which certain Belgian plants are
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bought off and closed down would have to that extent some influence

on the military preparedness of Belgium, would it not?
Mr. SwiNT. It is concerned entirely with ammonium sulphate.

That is the only thing that plant makes.
Mr. Raushenbush. Both of them, the Ressaix Laval and Schlus-

kill.

Mr. SwiNT. Schluskill. I never heard of the other one before.

Mr. Raushenbush. This is the big new plant they were building,

Ressaix Laval. It was half built when they closed down. That
would have some influence, to that extent, I take it.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I do not think it would have any influence

on military plans; no, sir.

Mr. Raushenbush. If nitrogen is at all influential in any war
preparations, the commercial transactions by which one country's
plant is closed down in favor of an international convention would
to that extent, it seems to me, very clearly influence that country's
strength.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think it would depend on how many
other plants they had.
Mr. Raushenbush. Yes, it would ; but the Belgians were not the

outstanding people in that production, were they'^

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Oh, I think there were plenty of other
plants. Is not that right?
Mr. SwiNT. Yes; there were several plants. They had a great

superfluity of plants.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. That was the trouble.

Mr. Raushenbush. I want now to ask just a few more questions
about the relationships between I. C. I. and I. G., and offer for the
record a letter dated May 10. 1933, from Harry McGowan to you,
Mr. Lammot du Pont.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1100 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2895.)
Mr. Raushenbush. In this he speaks of something that may be of

some importance to the world because of this oil question that we
have discussed before. The letter reads

:

My dear Lam:m:ot: As a result of our agreement with the International
Hydrogenation Patents Co, and our cooperation with the I. G. to put forward
a joint scheme for a nitrogen plant in China, we find ourselves in rather a
curious position vis-a-vis the I. G., and I would like to ask you if you woul(?
consider if we cannot simplify this.

As you know, the hydrogenation agreement requires the I.G. and ourselves
to pass to I.H.P. our information on the manufacture of hydrogen. This
knowledge is available to licensees of I.H.P. for the strictly limited field of
hydrogenation of coal and oil.

The question I wanted to ask about that was, does not that indi-
cate that the I.C.I, is in on this combination that the I.G. and
Standard Oil have for this hydrogenation of coal ?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It states that the hydrogenation agreement
requires the I. G. and I. C. I. to pass to I. H. P. information on the
manufacture of hydrogen. I would infer from that that I.C.I, must
be a party to that agreement.
Mr. Raushenbush. I.C.I. must be a party to it.

Outside the Standard Oil, is there any American company that
is in any similar sense a party to this three-cornered agreement on
i;his hydrogenation of coal ?
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Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think not, but I.H.P. licenses a number
of oil companies, if Taj recollection is correct.

Mr. Raushenbush. A number of American oil companies?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Rausheneush. Can you tell us anj^thing further about that at

all?

Mr. Lammot du Pont. It is all in the oil business.

Mr. Rai siiENBUSH. It seems that I.C.I, has gone into the oil

business, and that is a chemical company, and I.G. has gone in, and
that is a chemical company.
Mr. Lamjiot du Pont, They may be in the oil business, or think

that they are, but we are not in the oil business and we have no
connection with this I.H.P. , either as licensees or otherwise.

Mr. SwiNT. I.C.I, are in the oil business They have a plant for

the hjah'ogenation of coal to produce gasoline.

Mr. Rai'shenbt'Sh. That is the point I was making. Our chemi-
cal companies seem to be picking on this field as a possible source

of future growth.
Mr. SwiNT. Some of the chemical companies do. We avoided it.

The Chairman. A very large study has been given to that.

Mr. SwTNT. A great deal of study, because it is quite an important
matter to England, having no oil.

The Chairman. Is it not becoming important to us here?
Mr. SwiNT. Perhaps in 50 years or 500 ^ears, we do not know how

long.

The Chairman. Some estimate it far less than that.

Ml-. Raushenbush. There is evidence in, Mr. Chairman, that one
of the officials considered the Royal Dutch Shell moves actuated by
a realization that it would be somewhere between 5 and 50 years

when we would have to tackle another source of supplv entirely on
oil.

Mr. Chairman, I V\-ould like to offer as committee exhibits two
charts that v.ere prepared, one showing as far as we could get from
the records and letters of the company what seemed to be the inter-

national connections of some of the explosives and chemical com-
panies. That chart is doubtless incomplete. Probably a great many
other lines should be added to it that we do not have. They seem to

show a considerable number of lines from German, French, Italian,

and American companies into other countries. It is simply a factual

statement as far as we can determine it from correspondence. We
have entered to some extent and still have available from the com-
panies, evidence of the existence of these business relations which
run across national ) boundaries. The charts themselves are, as I

said, fairly factual.

As far as I can detei-mine, there is no statement in them that the

business relationships of the British company, let us say, in the
Balkans, had or did not have any influence on the political actions of
their country.

May I ask that the chemical cliart be shown for a moment?
Mr. Chairman, this chaiT is entitled " International Relations in

Chemicals ", and is offered subject to the reservations I made before,

as a committee exhibit. The continuous line sliows financial arrange-
ments for sales and/or part ownership or agreements or relations on
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prices and territor3^ The dotted line shows the interchange or sale

of chemical or other patent information.

Over here in this conntry, following the geographical map, w^e

have Canada, the United States, lines leading down to South Amer-
ica and Mexico. This is England with the I.C.I, here. This is Ger-

many with its various companies, the I.G. with specific attention to

the D.A.G. and to Montecatini, the Italian company. These various

lines lead out into the Balkan countries, largely from the British

companies. Here are the French. We have authorities for those

lines from these documents, and I would like to offer for the record

the numbers of each of these lines, showing the companies from,

which and to which they go, together with the source of informa-

tion, from which files they were taken; and also, with the permission

of the Chairman, the opportunity of quoting in addition to what
has been prepared here the statements from each letter which have
so far been left out, show^ing exactly what there was in that letter

that made us go on that information.

The Chairman. Let the exhibits be received, then, for the record..

(The documents containing sources of information referred to

were marked " Exhibit No. 1101 ", and are included in the appendix,

on p. 2896.)

(The charts referred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1102 "', and
"Exhibit No. 1103", and are included in the appendix facing pp.
2896 and 2902.)

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, may I make a statement re-

garding that chart?
The Chairman. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. We have not had a chance to examine that

chart, and we have no idea what the markings on it refer to, except
as described by the Secretary.
Mr. Raushenbush. I think that is a very fair statement.
Mr. Lammot du Pont, And we do not either agree with what it

show^s or disagree with what it shows, because we have not examined^
it.

The Chairman. I should like to say at one and the same time for
the record that those who prepared the chart were under very
stringent urge by the committee to be exceedingly cautious and care-

ful in building this chart, to see that it was builded upon what ap-
peared to be the most substantial kind of information.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Mr. Chairman, you will remember that an

exhibit that you presented to us at an earlier hearing was found to

be entirely incorrect.

Mr. Raushenbush. Which one was that?
The Chairman, You mean the one relating to the investments of

the du Ponts?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Yes, sir.

The Chairman, Why was that found to be wholly inaccurate ?

Mr, Lammot du Pont. The columns were added up, and they were-

not added correctly.

The Chairman. But it was just a matter of additions?
Mr, Raushenbush, Mr, Chairman, let us recall that matter. The

columns apparently did add up incorrectly, and I sent it out to be
added up again, and the results were the same.
The Chairman. The record has been corrected to that extent.



2816 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Raushenbush. The first reports were apparently as good fig-

uring as could be done. We had some conversation with the company
officials about it. I do not remember it too clearly, but the point they
made was that we had no business adding the columns at all. What-
ever comments were made by your officers when the report went into

the record were all noted. I do not accept the comment that that
chart was incorrect.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I did not wish to refer to the statement.

The Chairman. But Mr. du Pont, that raises a question

:

It seems to me that at the time we were having the controversy
over that matter, a suggestion was made that you furnish, when it

could be furnished, your own detail of the capital that was resorted

to in possessing yourselves of the properties that did come into your
possession during and after the war.^

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think we sent you that statement.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes. That has been set up.

The Chairman. That has been received ? The Chair has not seen

it yet. Has it been offered for the record ?

Mr. Raushenbush. It was printed right away without anything
further, and it is being set up as part of the book.^

The Chairman. It has been made part of the record, then.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. The only point I wish to make at this time
was that we had not examined this chart.

The Chairman. I think you made that clear.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We neither assented to it or dissented.

Mr. Raushenbush. It seems to me a fair observation, Mr. Chair-
man, that before we get through we will probably want to put a great
many more lines on, and as we go into these things further, I think
certainly the company should have at a later opportunity a chance to

make its comments on our deductions.
This chart, then, the second one, is presented as " International

relations in war materials," The lines down here are perhaps a
little more careful. The dotted line is entirely on sales of chemical
or other patent information of important or convertible war mate-
rials or processes. I do not think there will be too much dissent to

that. This is not only based on the recent companies we have
examined, but also there are lines representing the Electric Boat
Co.'s connections. It does not say " chemicals." It is our general

war materials map, meaning materials that could be readily used
in case of a war.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Might I ask what those black spots repre-

sent?

Mr. Raushenbush. Companies, let us say.

The Chairman. Each one representing an individual producer.

Mr. Raushenbush. Yes. This would be du Ponts, this the Rem-
ington, the Electric Boat Co. and Colt's and so on.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Is that big black one du Pont ?

Mr. Raushenbush. We probably do you an injustice, but it is the

same size as I.C.I.

Senator Cark. Where is Vickers? That ought to be as big as

I.C.I.

1 Hearings, Part V, p. 1077.
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Mr. E.AUSHENBUSH. Here is Vickers, right here.

Senator Clark. You have that too small.

Mr. Kaushenbush. The artist did not inquire into the capitaliza-

tion of the companies, and so on.

Mr. Lammot du Pont, That shows a continuous line from the

du Pont block to Norway. I do not know of any financial arrange-

ments for sales and/or part ownership or prices or territory with
Norway. It is that top, farthest up line, that goes to that big black

block in the United States.

Mr. Raushenbush. That is line 16.

Mr. SwiNT. Is that a solid line ?

Mr. Raushenbush. (reading) :

Financial arrangements for sales and/or part ownership or prices or
territory.

It could be an arrangement for territory.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We have not any arrangement with
Norway.
Mr. Raushenbush. That seemed as a territorial arrangement.
Here is a letter dated December 19, 1927, from Dr. Sparre to Mr.

Crane on imported nitric acid. [Reading:]

In reference to your letter of December 19 to Mr. LaMotte and your letter

of December 5 to Dr. Schmitz, I can advise you tbat on December 8 I sent a
wire in Mr. Ir^nee du Pout's name to Kutroff, Pickhardt & Co., New York, to
the effect that the du Pont Co. did not want Norsk Hydro to ship nitric acid
to this country. This wire was in reply to a wire and letter from Kutroff,
Pickhardt & Co. requesting such permission on our part.

There is a further letter on August 2, 1928, from vice president in

charge of finances, " W.S.C.", Mr. Carpenter, to Norsk Hydro

:

Dear Sirs : I refer to your letter of July 19, 1928, regarding your contract
with us in connection with the shipment of nitric acid to this country. You
state that you have received some opinion which indicates that under some
phases of the law we would be unable to restrain your importation of nitric

acid into this country

—

" We ", meaning du Ponts

—

irrespective of the condition to the contrary stipulated in our contract with
you of 1915.

We have not explored the legal phases of this particularly, and I am not
questioning the correctness of that opinion from the legal standpoint.

I understand, however, you do not question but rather confirm in your
letter that both the letter and the intent of our contract was to the effect
that you would not ship acid into this country. For this contract we paid
you a very substantial figure, for which, due to the general economic condi-
tions on this continent, it was impossible for us to receive any return.

I understand from your letter that this question cannot be of considerable
importance to you inasmuch as whatever acid you are unable to ship
into this country you will be able to divert under your arrangement with the
I.G. to other countries. In any event, the duration of your abstinence from
this country will probably be very brief, due to your change of methods on
your side. While it is natural that it would be our preference that you abide
by the spirit of our contract, should you feel otherwise we will make no
effort to restrain you.

That seemed to us very clearly an allocation of the territory.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Not at all. We bought from the Nor-
wegian company the rights to a process for the United States.
Mr. Raushenbush. That speaks about their shipping nitric acid

into the States.



2818 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We bought the rights for the United
States.

Mr. Raushenbush. You bought the territorial rights for the
United States.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. We bought the patent rights for the United
States.

Mr. Raushenbush. This seems territorial to us. Is it not terri-

torial?

Mr. SwiNT. No. The patent rights would restrain them from
shipping. We have the sole and exclusive license to use those

patents.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. They no longer had a right to the patent,

because they sold it to us.

Senator Clark. That was a territorial arrangement then, was it

not?
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No.
Mr. Raushenbush. This does not mention patent rights here at

all. It mentions the importation of nitric acid and the fact that the

du Pont Co. do not want Norsk Hydro to ship nitric acid to this

country.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. No ; we did not want them to ship it here,

because we bought the sole rights.

Mr. Raushenbush (reading) :

Regarding j'Oiir contract witli us in connection with tlie sliipnient of nitric

acid.

That does not say " patent " ; that says the shipment of nitric acid.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I am telling you we bought the patent

rights.

Mr. Raushenbush. You said :

We would be unable to restrain your importations of nitric acid into this

country irrespective of the condition to the contrary stipulated in our contract.

That seems to us one of these territorial things that I. C. I. had
to such a large extent, simply a business of allocation of territory.

That comes under the head of territory, " and/or part ownership or

prices or territory."

Mr. Lammot du Pont. I think there are a lot of lines missing on
that.

Mr. Raushenbush. Certainly. Our information is certainly not

as complete as it could be. The exhibit was offered with that under-
standing.

The Chairman. I think Mr. Raushenbush stated that the chart

was subject to amendment by the committee as well as by others w^ho

might have information that would alter it in any way.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. I would like to make the same statement in

regard to this chart as the last. We have not had a chance to

examine it, and we neither approve it nor disapprove it.

Mr. Raushenbush. The exhibit was offered as a committee exhibit

rather than a company exhibit, and I think we could, if we find our-

selves in error, certainly change it.

The Chairman. We ought to.

It is received as a committee exhibit.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Could we obtain a photostat of those two
charts with the supporting data on which they are built?
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The Chairman. Within a very few days, Mr. du Pont, the Print-

ing Office will have available the reprint of that in the form in which
it will appear in the record. I take it that that would serve your
purpose as fairly as a photograph of it.

Mr. Raushenbush. And this guide has been offered as an exhibit.

The Chairman. You have a guide for each chart?

Mr. Raushenbush. With all the lines designated.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Chairman, might I say a word?
I have not had an opportunity to see the chart, except from the far

end of the room. It appears to me it is about as misleading a thing
as could be desired. It seems there is no weight given whatever to

the lines or the dots or what they are related to. This one line shows
a patent agreement, and apparently it is done the same way as if the

du Pont Co. owned 100 percent of the company.
The Chairman. I do not think that is necessarily the conclusion

to be drawn at all. It seems to me the index is very clear as respects

that.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. But there are so many different things pic-

tured there, and the chart does not readily show that.

The Chairman. The chart as respects that continuous line shows
that there is indicated a financial arrangement for sales and/or part
ownership or prices or territory.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. As far as I can see, there is nothing to show
whether it is a patent agreement with regard to nitric acid or the

sale of an electric boat.

Mr. Raushenbush. No, we did not draw pictures on all of them
to show what they had to do with.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It is such a confusion of lines and dots I

cannot see how anybody could get any idea of the situation fjom it.

As a picture it is well done, but I cannot see that it illustrates any-
thing. I wish to object to its being entered into the record, because
it is confusing rather than illuminating.
Mr. Raushenbush. The Chairman extended permission to extend

this " Exhibit No. 1101 " by summarizing after the sources of the

information the substance of the letter. That means going through
some three hundred letters, I take it, to give the quotation.

Senator Vandenberg. The supporting detail will supply the miss-

ing information ?

Mr. Raushenbush. It will supply the missing information.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Is Mr. du Pont's objection recorded?
The Chairman. I expect it was.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I should like to have that objection recorded

in capital letters, if possible.

The Chair:\[An. The reporter has been recording all this con-
versation.

The connnittee in taking a recess at this time will recess until

10 : 30 tomorrow morning.
(Thereupon, the committee recessed at 4 o'clock ]3. m. until to-

morrow morning at 10 o'clock, Thursday, December 13, 1931.)

This concludes that part of the testimony known as " Part XII,
Relationship of Munitions Makers to the Government and Interna-
tional Connections in the Chemical Industry." At this point the
committee took up the question of profiteering. Government con-
tracts, and expenditures during the war. (See part XIII.)
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("Exhibit No. 990" appears in text on p. 2637)

Exhibit No. 991

[Pile: 105]

NOVEMBEK 25, 1919.

NOBEL AGREEMENT
Mr. F. W. PiCKABD,

Vice President.

As I understand the situation, we are contemplating entering into an agree-
ment with the Explosives Trades, Limited, on a division of profits from the
sales of military and commercial products in South America and elsewhere.
I am not familiar with the purpose in back of tliis arrangement, but assume
that the idea is that it will result in a better percentage of profit by the
elimination of competition ; that is the only reason I can imagine.

Personally, I cannot see whereby we will be the gainers by any arrangement
we can make with Nobel. The Du Pont Company today is preeminently the
leading manufacturer of explosives in the world and with a record for satis-
factory production that has never been equalled. This fact is known not
only by the Allies, but has been thoroughly appreciated by the Central Powers
as well as the neutral nations. Tiierefore, we have a prestige second to none,,

which will not be materially strengthened by the above-mentioned arrange-
ment. As far as prestige is concerned, we will be giving more than we receive.

If it is expected that this arrangement will enable us to control the market
in South America to our mutual advantage, I think we are working on a false
hypothesis. South American countries, with the exceptions of their navies,
are armed and equipped with German-made small arms, and with German and
French field artillery. There may be a few English guns for Cordite in some
of the coast defenses, but my understanding is that the majority of these
guns are Krupp, which practically indicates that the only English powder
used is powder that is sold for use on English-built warships.
England has succeeded for some years in impressing nations where guns

built for nitroglycerin powder have been supplied that they will work satis-

factorily with nitroglycerin powder only, but this notion has been shown to

be erroneous, and now it is a relatively small matter to prove to the satis-

faction of interested people that nitrocellulose powders can be made that will

give equal satisfaction in guns of the so-called " nitroglycerin " type.

The competition that we have to fear is that of the German, French, and
Italian, but principally German, and unless there is something with whicJi I

am not familiar I cannot see in what way any arrangement we make with
Nobel will protect us against this competition. In fact, even in tlie case of the

English-made guns, if the nation should insist on using nitroglycerin powder, we
are still unprotected by reason of Italian competition. Therefore, as I see it,

we will be making an arrangement whereby instead of dividing a fair profit

which division will net us more, we will in reality be in an arrangement where
the division of profit will be materially lessened by reason of the fact that we
still have the competition of Germany, France, and Italy to meet.

The above indicates the practical side, luit there is another angle which in

my mind is the more important, and that is, that by making an arrangement to

divide profits on sales of military explosives, we are inviting the attack of

unfriendly people and muckrakers. No matter how clean the arrangement may
be, it is bound to be misconstrued. We will be accused of exchanging Govern-

ment information with England. Our explanation that this is but a selling

arrangement will not alter the fact that in order to divide profits, those profits

are based on some cost. That cost will be stated to be tlie United States Gov-

ernment cost. Therefore, we will be informing England as to what it is costing

2820
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the United States to manufacture its powder. "We will also be accused of
informing England as to tlie quantity of powder for military purposes made
in the United States; how much is exported; and how much the United
States has.

In spite of the fact that on interchange of information on patents, military
explosives are specifically exempted, we will be attacked with the statement that
by informing them of the sales and the costs on which the profits are based,
that we cannot avoid informing them regarding compositions. This arrange-
ment will give representatives in Congress just the ammunition tliey are look-
ing ofr to attack us, and we will be accused of being traitors ; of giving away
Government secrets, etc. All we have to do is to look over the hearings on
the different appropriation bills to realize what thin ice we would be on.

"

In addition, the attack made on us in Harper's "Weekly in 1914 is still

pretty fresh in our minds, and we stiil hear of this occasionally. The testi-
mony and exhibits at the time of the du Pont dissolution suit, the testimony and
exhibits at the time of the Post-du Pont libel suit, are conclusive evidence of
the risk we are running.

In that case there was this difference ; when we were accused of interchang-
ing information with Germany on account of the arrangement we had with the
Rhenish-Westphalian Company, this agreement had been made at the request
of the Secretary of the Navy. The arrangement which we are contemplating
at the present time has no such foundation and I am sure would not be looked
on with favor by the oflScials of the Army or Navy. Furthermore, I fear that
such an arrangement as we are contemplating would jeopardize our present
friendly relations with the Army and Navy, for their representatives would
hesitate about taking us into their confidence for fear that the information
would reach England.
From the above, it would appear to me that in this arrangement we have

everything to lose and nothing to gain. If it was going to result in some satis-

factory return, then we might feel that we would be justified in taking a chance
on hostile attacks, but it appears we will be in reality only cutting our profits

in two, profits that will be fairly narrow by reason of German, French, and
Italian competition, and then in addition will be placing ourselves in a vul-

nerable position or hostile attack. It seems to me that we should give the
subject very careful consideration before entering into such an arrangement.

(Signed) K. K. V. Casey,
Director of Sales.

Exhibit No. 992

[File-MS-lOO-C]

(Trip to Washington, D.C., May 16, 1922)

May 17, 1922.

Memo for file.

Called on Major O'Leary, small arms division, regarding purchase from
Frankford Arsenal of 160,000 cupronickel bullet envelopes, lead plugs, and
surrated plugs for incediary ammunition. Major O'Leary had received a letter

from Major Whelen on this subject. He stated that it was not regular proce-
dure to sell material which was being held in reserve ; but due to the fact that

we needed the components in a hurry, he would oblige us and would at once
notify Frankford Arsenal to make the sale under the conditions outlined in

Major Whelen's letter of May 15th. Major O'Leary also stated that we could
obtain the material on Thursday, May 18th.

Interviewed the following officers of military intelligence regarding Slam:
Capt. O'Connor, Capt. "Vanderbilt, Capt. Baldwin, Col. Graham.
Read their file on Siam, but no reference was made to the building of a

powder factory in Bangkok. Capt. Vanderbilt returned from Siam in April,

and he stated that he was not of the opinion that Siam contemplated building

a powder factory. He felt quite sure it would have been drawn to his atten-

tion by the military attach^. However, Capt. "Vanderbilt spent but six days at

Bangkok and stated that nothing was mentioned by the military attach^ regard-

ing the construction of a powder factory.

Capt. Vanderbilt also stated that Siam liked to deal with Americans in pref-

erence to British or French and did not believe that a powder factory would
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be much of a success in Bangkok, since they had heretofore purchased powder
from the du Pont Co. Capt. Vanderbilt promised to speak to some Siamese
friends of his who recently arrived in Wilmington and believes he can get some
up-to-date information from them on this subject.

Capt. O'Connor promised to request the Navy to send a wireless through to

Bangkok and inquire as to the matter of a powder factory.

We consider this information confidential.

E. I. DU Pont de Nemotjes & Co.,

By K. K. V. Casey.

May 17, 1922.

Major Baldwin advised that the Bnklwin Locomotive Co. had a very com-
plete file on Siam and suggested that we inquire from that concern as to the
correctness of four information on a Siamese powder factory.

Called on General Humphrey and asked him what he knew about Mr. A. W.
Randall. Told General Humphrey that Mr. Randall mentioned his name
during a conversation, and further stated that he, Mr. Randall, was very well
connected with the Polish Government. General Humphrey repoi'ted that
he knew Capt. Randall very well in a business way ; that Capt. Randal was
formerly chief of transportation for the Polish mission in this country, and
as General Humphrey supplied boats and arranged for transportation of mate-
rials purchased by the Polish niii^sion from the United States Government, he
came in contact with Capt. Randall a great deal.

General Humphrey called up the counselor of the Polish Embassy and in-

quired as to whether Capt. Randall had any connection with them ; also as to

what they thought of him. I was permitted to listen to the counselor's reply,

in which he stated that he had not seen Randall in eight or nine months but
thought very well of him. General Humphrey, liowever, believes that a
Major C. S. Mardeu, purchasing agent for the Polish mission, would be of
greater help to us in negotiating a sale of military powder to Poland. He
further stated that it was quite likely that he himself could negotiate the deal
through the Polish Embassy, where he is very well thought of and highly
regarded.
Arranged with General Humpliiey for Major Casey to call on him on Friday,

May 19tl\, to go into this subject.

W. H. O'GORMAN.
WHO'G/h
We consider this information confidential.

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

By K. K. V. Casey.

Exhibit No. 993

[File: MS-8 (attached to letter ol 1/9/24)]

Foreign business from armis'Ace to December 31st, 1923

Date
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Foreign business from armistice to December 31, 1923—Continued

Date
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Exhibit No. 996

[File: MS-8]
March 26, 1924.

Assistance from Navy Dept. in Connection with

Sales to Foreign Governments.
Memo, for A. Felix du Pont.

In December 1923, during an interview with Admiral Bloch of the Navy

Dept I was informed that the Bureau of Ordnance, Navy, would do everything

within its power to assist us in making sales to foreign governments. Further,

Capt Bloch stated that the E. W. Bliss Co. recently approached the Navy m
connection with torpedoes to be supplied to the Argentine Government. The

E W Bliss Company was interested in getting some data on high explosives

used in loading torpedoes and asked the Navy to recommend or refer them

to a firm which could do this type of work. Admiral Bloch referred the BUss

Company to the writer, and formally notified us to this effect under date of

January 2d, 1924, as per copy of letter attached.
,

IRepresentatives of the Bliss Company came to Wilmington to obtain our

quotations on the loading of 75 warheads. For this work we furnished quota-

tions of $300 per warhead. The operation involved loading 395 pounds of TNT
in each warhead and 5 pounds of TNT in the booster container.

This morning we were notified by E. W. Bliss that they had concluded their

negotiations in Argentine and had been favored with a contract and therefore

accepted our offer to load 75 warheads in accordance with the above prices.

The estimated cost in doing this work is $175 per warhead ; our forecasted profit

is therefore $125 per warhead.
This is a good example of cooperation on the Navy's part, and we believe

it is worth while to make the facts of the case known to the executive

committee

jQ5;V0 : N K. K. V. Casey, Director.

Exhibit No. 997

[File 144, Polish Government] «, ^r>o^July 24, 1924.

co: brandywinb3 laboratory.

Mr. F. W. Bbadway,
Tyi/TPCtOT'

'

Colonel Taylor, in his letter T-809 dated July 11, 1924, advises that the Polish

War Department is sending to Wilmington at our invitation an officer nam^
Captain Maryan Klonowski. This officer is attached to the Xth Department

of the Polish General Staff, known as the War Industry Department. We under-

stand that he is a chemist and that his duties are technical, that he is supposed

to keep informed on all chemical industries, and acts in an advisory capacity

to the chief of the department on technical chemical matters. He nas no

knowledge on the manufacture of smokeless powder and the purpose of sendi"^g

him to America is to educate him in this respect. In all probability, be ^nm be

mostly concerned with raw materials entering into the manufacture of powdei,

From Taylor's letter, we quote as follows:
"
I am very glad he is going to be sent to America because it will inean that

the Chief of the War Industry Department chemical man will be American

1? his powder point of view, and insSre a good work for us in that Department

which has an important effect on our business." „^^woc
The program which they desire for this officer is as fo"«^f-^3^hen he arrives

in America, he will go directly to Wilmington and present himself to Major

Cai?^ Thave given him a letter of introduction. He will also have a letter

from General Rice to an officer in the Ordnance Department in which General

Rice wm request the Ordnance Department to show him our various schemes

of m^il zing the powder industries, what contracts our Government makes

with powder industries, and have him visit the Government arsenals. He then

wshes to return to Wilmington and to learn what raw materials enter into

nowder th?pioportions of them, general manufacture of powder, and how to

SfchemicSlJnd stability tests and how our storage of test magazines are

^nernted This officer will travel at his own expense, pay his own expenses

aSd ?s wniing to work as a common laborer in the factory under the ordinary

conditions of factory labor.
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" I trust you will be able to arrange a suitable program for him so that he
will get general information and not learn the things you don't want him to

know and that he will get some idea of how the powder business should be

conducted, and contracts and so forth should be made. I believe that it will be

a good thing for us to have an opportunity to educate him and the proper

method of doing business in America, as this officer's functions in Poland will

be a check on the activities of the other people we have to deal with."

We think it would be wise to arrange a program at the Brandywine Labora-

tory for the Polish officer, and possibly take him to Carney's Point on 2 or 3

occasions, and permit him to see tlie manufacture of military powder.

WHO'G/h. K. K. V. Casejy, Director.

("Exhibit No. 998" appears in text on p. 2661.)

Exhibit No. 999

[File: MS-lOO-B, no. 106-H]

November 20, 1924.

diphentlaminb, ordnance department, washington, d. c, november 19, 1924

Referring to memo. no. 105, dated November 18th, and following up the

unfinished features of this, trip was made to Washington to negotiate details

by which we would obtain the diphenylamine, also to increase the amount, if

possible. Major C. T. Harris had given Major P. J. O'Shaughnessy instructions

to have a contract prepared acceptable to us, but at the same time complying

with Ordnance Department procedure and the laws of Congress relating to

contracts for ordnance material. Major O'Shaughnessy's first move was to

consult the ammunition division as to their wishes, and especially the matter

of detail of specifications. C. G. Storm handled this matter for the ammunition
division, and inasmuch as this sul)ject had been previously discussed with Dr.

Storm on Monday, November 17th, he was not inclined to make any trouble.

As a follow-up of this discussion, it will be desirable to send to the ammuni-
tion division again, for the attention of Dr. Storm, report of investigations

carried out by the experimental station a number of years ago indicating the

effect of impurities in diphenylamine when used for stabilizing cannon powder.

Also, it will be in order to consider further revisions of the specifications for

diphenylamine, taking advantage of the fact that we are now enabled to

manufacture a pure product because of our experience in the manufacture of

diphenylamine as an intermediate in preparing dyestuffs. The particular point

is that the Ordnance Department specifications contain no requirement as to

the percentage of diphenylamine in the product supplied, depending upon va-

rious physical tests such as melting point and the tests for certain impurities.

Our commercial specifications state that the diphenylamine offered will

contain at least 99.5% diphenylamine. Major O'Shaughnessy would Uke to

have made use of the new specifications for reworked diphenylamine as a

justification for the contract for " reworking ", but we convinced him that the

time necessary to prepare and have approved new specifications, was such that

it was impracticable to do this.

The contract prepared for reworking 60,000 pounds of diphenylamine and as

eventually obtained, follows the laws of our " standard contract " as used

in the supply of smokeless powder to the Ordnance Department. The pro-

visions of the contract are made as simple as possible and require no bond

for the performance. Further, article VI relating to liquidated damages has

been deleted and the date of delivery was made very liberal, that of March 31,

1925. We have arranged to have deliveries at Raritan Arsenal, and this point

has to us the advantage of involving lower transportation costs than delivery

to Picatinny Arsenal.

A justification for this from the standpoint of the Ordnance Department is

that Picatinny Arsenal is short of storage facilities.
^

It was arranged to have Major Ramsey at Picatinny Arsenal notified officially

by telephone of the preparation of the contract and ofiicial letter was mailed

8387e—35—PT 12 13
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him yesterday giving him authority to release 60,000 lbs. of diphenylamine to
us. It is in order to discuss this subject with Major Ramsey and to ascertain
any criticisms or objections that he may have. The writer will undertake to
do this.

C. I. B. Hbnning.

Exhibit No. 1000

[File : 188-U. S. Govt. (Army) Diphenylanrine]

[Copy]

Wilmington, Dex,., November 19, 192/f.
Major N. F. Ramsey,

Picatinny Arsenal, Dover, N. J.:

Our truck will call at arsenal Thursday for load of diphenylamine. AVill you
please deliver approximately ten thousand pounds in accordance with our
agreement with Ordnance Department. Letter giving shipping instructions for
balance of approximately fifty thousand pounds follows.

K, K. V. Caset^.

Ohge : Smokeless powder selling expense*ms*tt.
No. 807-H. Please return third copy to Mil. Sales Div.

("Exhibit No. 1001"' appears in text on p. 2666.)

("Exhibit No. 1002" appears in text on p. 2668.)

("Exhibit No. 1003" appears in text on p. 2670.)

("Exhibit No. 1004" appears in text on p. 2671.)

("Exhibit No. 1005" appears in text on p. 2672)

Exhibit No. 1006

[11S8-23-T. Ms-lOO-A. 188-U. S. Gov't. S4-Cuban Gov't.]

January 12, 1934.

Memo, for file.

Washington, D. C, January 11, 193/f.

Saw Colonel Ramsey and Dr. Storm and handed them a memorandum pre-
pared by Mr. Babbitt of the explosives department on the approximate cost

of different methods of reconditioning TNT now at Fort Wingate, which is below
the desired melting point. This memorandum was exactly what they desired,

their object being to show the Ordnance Department it would be preferable to

purchase new TNT.
Colonel Ramsey advised me that he had started things moving on the

memorandum prepared by Mr. Skilling regarding the labor situation at Carneys
Point.

Pencil markinga.
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Saw General Bricker and left with him a copy of Mr. Skilling's memorandum
of December 29, on the subject of labor conditions at Carneys Point. I

advised him, however, that since that was written we had received a proposal
for 150,000 pounds of .30-caliber powder, which would change the picture to

that extent.
Took up with Major Wilhelm the question of penetration of .50-caliber

cartridges in armor plate at different distances, this information being needed
to answer an inquiry from the Paris office affecting the offer of some Rem-
ington armor-piercing ammunition.
Saw General Tschappat, who advised me that while they had had nothing

definite regarding the Public Works money for the fiscal year 1935, that they
were relying on the promise the President had made to the Assistant Secretary
of War, Woodring, wliere he agreed to allot the Ordnance Department $6,000,000
per year for two years in order to enable them to continue with their ammu-
nition projects.

Had quite a discussion with Major Borden on the general topic of the sales

of powder to foreign countries. Major Borden stated that they knew the posi-

tion du Pont would take in such matters in case they should request that
material not be supplied to a certain power, but he asked if we would be willing
to go a step further and refuse to supply material to a manufacturer of ammu-
nition who in turn might be offering it to a foreign power where they were
anxious to prevent this foreign power from getting ammunition. I soon gath-

ered from Major Borden that he had in mind particularly .oO-caliber powder

;

and while he did not mention Cuba, it was clear that he was referring to the
shipment by the Remington Arms Company of 100,000 rounds of .50-caliber

ammunition. Major Borden advised me that the money for the purchase of

150,000 pounds of .30-caliber powder had come about in this manner. After
setting aside all the money secured from the Public Works last year, they dis-

covered they would have a slight surplus, and therefore it was decided that,

rather than turn this money back to the treasury, they would utilize the
surplus to buy what material they could for the next fiscal year's consumption.

I discussed generalities with Colonel Wesson and Major Zornig.

K. K. V. Casey, Director.

KKVC : MH

Exhibit No. 1007

[1 18S-U. S. Gov. Gen. MS-144]
May 22, 1031.

Mr. T. R. Hanley,
Leffal Department.

In reference to negotiations now being conducted between the du Pont Am-
monia Corporation, and a national of a foreign friendly government, I do not see
any necessity at the present time of notifying either the U. S. State Department
or Military or Naval Intelligence in view of the fact that the negotiations are
confidential from a commercial standpoint.
The du Pont Company and its subsidiaries are under no legal or moral obli-

gation to convey information of a confidential commercial character to tlie

U. S. Government. It is, however, our custom to advise them of such matters
at such times as it is discreet to do so and always before the information bas
been made generally public.

On several occasions where we have given such information to the Govern-
ment, they have always thanked us and mentioned their appreciation of the
fact that we had given them information when under no obligation to do so.

While I am firmly convinced that any information given to Military Intelli-

gence or Naval Intelligence would be regarded and held as confidential, in view
of the delicacy of the negotiations at the present time. I believe that no men-
tion should be made until the other party of this negotiation has so arranged
their affairs as to render the dissemination of the news as harmless.

Aiken Simons.
AS : LCM

1 Pencil markings.
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Exhibit No. 1008

[File 34-Chinese Government. 188-Pdr. stored at Old Hickory. 188-St Julians Credt.
MS-67-A]

D-4
Septkmbeb 21, 1929.

Mr. W. H. O'GoRMAN,
16 place Vendome, Paris, France.

Deab Bill: I believe Jack Guenveur has written you of the cable received
from Nick this morning, announcing his success in getting a contract.
Major Casey suggests that I advise you that we believe that all purchases

for the Mukden Arsenal will be made through Nanking in the very near future
if such is not already the case, since Nanking ali'eady buys for all the other
arsenals and the tendency of the Northern Chinese Government to adhere to
the National Government is becoming stronger as time goes on.

This will be distinctly advantageous for us, in that it will simplify the
question of getting export permits from the State Department and will tend to
concentrate all negotiations with the Chinese Government into the hands of the
Shanghai and Wilmington offices.

Major Casey was in Washington yesterday and was told that an inspector
general has been appointed to look into the matter of putting the powder under
water at Old Hickory. This officer, Col. Louis J. Van Schaick, of the Inspector
General's Department, was put on the job by Gen. Summerall and not by the
Secretary of War, as we had previously understood.

Col. Van Schaick is an Infantry officer, who knows little or nothing about
powder and is looking into the question as to whether the Ordnance Department
was not culpable in putting the powder under water. He has also asked several
officers if they own duPont stock, etc., so that the investigation appears to take
the nature of persecution rather than an inquiry.

The above for your information. Do not broadcast it.

A fire at St. Juliens Creek destroyed 128,000 pounds of powder, which we had
been awarded at a recent sale, but fortunately we had not completed the
purchase, so that we are not losers thereby.

It is supposed that the powder itself caused the fire, so that we are doubly
fortunate in not having taken possession of it.

Everything is going very smoothly in the office, but we will be very glad,

indeed, to see you when you get back.
Sincerely,

Aiken Simons.
AS : RVC.

("Exhibit No. 1009" appears in text on p. 2683.)

("Exhibit No. 1010" appears in text on p. 2685.)

( " Exhibit No. 1011 " appears in text on p. 2685.

)

("Exhibit No. 1012" appears in text on p. 2686.)

Exhibit No. 1013
[File : MS-80-A D-871]

April 12, 1926.

Col. W. N. Taylor,
//7 Avenue de VOpera, Paris, France.

Dear Sir : 1. Attached please find confirmation of our cable no. 330. You
will note that we have decided to let Major de Lanoy quote direct to Poland
through Mr. Klawe on the chemical warfare project.

2. It is quite essential for you to know the company's attitude toward this
project, and we will therefore give you the details as follows:



MUNITIONS INDUSTEY 2829

3. When the inquiry was first received from the Polish War Department,

we consulted Major de Lanoy and asked him to prepare a detailed proposal

for submission to Poland, either directly by him or by the Du Pont Company,
in which latter case De Lanoy was to act as our technical adviser. We also

referred the matter to our dyestufEs department and asked them to prepare a

proposal. Our dyestuffs department decided that we were not in possession

of complete technical details which would enable us to handle the Polish

warfare project, and that unless we could secure the complete cooperation

of the U. S. Ordnance Department, particularly the Chemical Warfare Sec-

tion, it would be useless for us to undertake the construction of the chemical

warfare plant.

4. To obtain the cooperation of the War Department we addressed the

Secretary of War, wlio in turn submitted our question to the State Depart-

ment. After many weeks we received a reply from the State Department
which was quite evasive and left us in the same position that we were when
the Polish inquiry was received. We decided that we could not get a firm

assurance of cooperation from the War Department because of the position

taken by tlie State Department, and tliougiit it best to let Major de Lanoy
proceed and submit his proposal.

5. We have addressed the Polish War Department on this subject, with
copy of letter to you, also copy to Mr. Klawe.

6. Major de Lanoy is willing to let Mr. Klawe act as his agent in this

matter, and has included in his price a commission of 5% for Mr. Klawe.
Major de Lanoy will send his proposal to Mr. Klawe, wlio in tuin will present

it to tl;e Polish War Department in De Lanoy's name. Major de Lanoy will

write Mr. Klawe in detail and we will keep you posted on developments from
this end. If De Lanoy is awarded a contract we will receive no comuiission.

The matter will be handled entirely by De Lanoy and Klawe. We cannot
afford to arouse the criticism of the State Department because you are familiar
with the position they take on cliomical v.'arfare gases. If we were in

possession of complete technical details which would enable lis to construct
and operate the proposed chemical warfare plant, we would undertake the
project regardless of the attitude taken by the State Department. Major
de Lanoy seems to be in this position and we are sure no criticism will be
directed against him for technical services which he may render to the
Polish Government.

7. We regret the delay occasioned by the Government Departments. You
appreciate that this was entirely beyond our control, and that we could not
function until we received a reply from one or both of the Government
Departments.

Very truly yours,
K. K. V. Casbtt, Director.

WHO'G :N

P. S.—Will you kindly assign code words as follows

:

YCLZE—.50 cal. gun.
YCMAE—Chemical warfare plant,

YCMCA—Major S. J. de Lanoy.

Exhibit No. 1014

[D-867]

April 5, 1926.
Col. W. N. Tatlor,

^7 Avenue de V Opera,
Paris, France.

Dear Sir: We acknowledge receipt of your cable #412 and confirm our
reply #329.

CHBJMICAL WARFARE PLANT—POLAND

1. As soon as we received the letter from the Polish War Department re-

questing us to submit a proposal on the installation of a chemical warfare
factory in Poland, we conferred with Major De Lanoy and turned the matter
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over to him. He in turn has worked up a detailed proposal which has been
in our hands for several weeks. The project was fully discussed with our
dyestuffs department and it was decided, from a policy standpoint, that the
du Pont Company would not bid on the project unless we received a complete
authorization from the War Department. We accordingly addressed the War
Department and asked them to state their position in connection with the
inquiry. The War Department in turn submitted the matter to the State
Department and no decision has been received from the State Department as
yet. In the event that the State Department takes the attitude that we
should not bid, we will turn the matter over to Major De Lanoy, who will

immediately submit a proposal. He will forward the proposal to Mr. Klawe and
Klawe can act in his behalf.

2. We have had several cablegrams from Mr. Klawe on this subject and
replied to him. statin? that the proposal would go forward about March 15th.

This occurred, however, before the policy of the du Pont Co. had been deter-

mined. The submission of the project to the War Department has greatly

delayed fm-warding the proposal in question. It is hoped, however, that a deci-

sion will be reached before the end of this week, in which event a proposal
will go forward either from du Pont or from De Lanoy.

3. We regret that a delay has occurred in connection with this project.

It is not a matter for the smokeless powder department to decide, and, there-

fore, we are obliged to await the pleasure of other oflacials of the company.
Very truly yours.

K. K. V. Casey, Director.

WHOG/h

("Exhibit No. 1015" appears in text on p. 2689.)

("Exhibit No. 1016" appears in text on p. 2692.)

("Exhibit No. 1017" appears in text on p. 2692.)

("Exhibit No. 1018" appears in text on p. 2694.)

Exhibit No. 1019

[File: U. S. Goverumeut Edgewood Arsenal. C. W. S.]

January 26, 1929.

Dr. C. M. Stine,
Chemical Director.
B L D G.

COOPE3RATION WITH CHEMICAL WARFARE SERVICE

Confirming informal discussion with you yesterday, there are a number of

reasons why our contact with Chemical Warfare Service should follow prin-

ciples similar to our contact with the Ordnance Department, U. S. Army, and
Bureau of Ordnance, U. S. Navy. We recognize the essential difference that

for the present there is prospectively little to sell to Chemical Warfare, also

that the company's developments in fundamental research are of such a char-

acter that the writer, for instance, is not a competent judge of what is and
what is not important to the other industries with which this department is

not connected; and hence, our suggestion that individuals in the chemical
department and the company's laboratories be careful to refer all these ques-

tions to you personally before passing information on direct to individuals from
Edgewood Arsenal or the Chemical Warfare Service's oflSces in Washington.

It is also appropriate to review a little of the past history of this subject.

In February 1924, question was raised as to our assisting Dr. Rossi, an impor-

tant Italian chemical manufacturer, with technical advice in the erection and
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putting into operation of a plant in Italy for the manufacture of war gases for
the Italian Government. Mr. Irenee duPont wrote General Fries under date
of February 4, 1924, stating, " We believe the duPont Co. should not undertake
Vi^ork of this sort for a foreign government except on the written request of
the Secretary of War stating that it is done in the interest of the U. S. Govern-
ment, and in the present case, authorizing the Chemical Warfare Department
to give us such assistance as they feel is justifiable to aid us in properly doing
the work, in return for which this company will keep the Chemical Warfare
Department posted with such information as we may obtain." No answer
was forthcoming from General Fries for some time, and on December 2d,

Mr. Ir^n^e du Pont and Mr. A. Felix du Pont attended a meeting in the oflBce

of the Secretary of War, at which were present Assistant Secretary of War
Davis, General Williams, Chief of Ordnance, and Col. Ferguson. It was found
that after the matter was explained to Secretary of War Weeks, he was
entirely in sympathy with the proposition and promptly arranged for an
interview with the President. The entire party, with the exception of Col.

Ferguson, put this matter up to Mr. Coolidge, who promptly grasped the basic
principles and in a few words stated what practically amounted to the
*' munitions policy."

Nothing has ever been done in connection with the Italian proposition, but
the above facts are given you as a guide for action in any similar problem
that may arise in the future.

Referring to the questions raised during and after our visit to Bdgewood
Arsenal of last week, the writer endeavored to discuss this subject with Gen.
Fries, bearing in mind the statement of Major Prentiss that he intended to dis-

cuss with Gen. Fries an interchange of reports of research work between the
duPont Co. and Edgewood Arsenal.
We realized from our experience as outlined in the first paragraph, that

such an interchange should be primarily through the AVashington Office rather
than direct with Edgewood Arsenal. Major Prentiss' statement on this subject
came after you had left Edgewood Arsenal.
We have taken the initiative and consider it entirely in order to invite

properly accredited representatives from Edgewood Arsenal to visit our labora-
tories, and specifically. Major W. H. Lyon, Chief of the Technical Division
of the Chemical Warfare Service in Washington, was invited to come to Wil-
mington. We have in mind that you will issue proper instructions to the lab-
oratories prior to any visits made by representatives of the C. W. S. We
assume that you will advise your assistants of the essentials of this situation,

so that in your absence the fundamental principles will be adhered to, in order
to protect not only our interests, but to preserve harmony with past negotia-
tions with the C. W. S.

CIBH/h.

We consider this information confidential.

C. I. B. Henning,
Technical Director.

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.
By K. K. V. Casey.

("Exhibit No. 1020" appears in text on p. 2698.)

("Exhibit No. 1021" appears in text on p. 2698.)

("Exhibit No. 1022" appears in text on p. 2700.)

("Exhibit No. 1023" appears in text on p. 2701.)
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Exhibit No. 1024

[84—Holland Govt. * Ms-49]

June 25, 1930.
Chief of Ordnance, U. S. Army,

Munitions Building, Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir: 1. Under authority contained in section 123 of tlie National De-
fense Act, tl)e du Pont Company requests the loan of one 75 INI/M gun, model
1916-1917, for the purpose of making tests to perfect FNH powder.

2. If this loan is approved, the du Pont Company agrees to furnish a satis-

factory bond in such sum as the chief of ordnance may deem desirable and to

save tlie United States Government harmless from loss or damage to the gun,
as well as paying sucli sum as the chief of ordnance may deem sufficient to
cover the wear and tear on the gun, depending on the number of shots fired

during its loan or any other proper Vv'ear and tear incident to its use.

8. In making this request, the company ft^ls justified since on previous occa-
sions and under provisions of the above act, equipment has been borrowed
from other services.

Tours very truly,

K. K. V. Casey, Director.
AS : LCM.

Exhibit No. 1025

[* 144, Polish Govt. MS-80-A. D-2285]

April 23, 1931.
Colonel W. N. Taylor,

16 Place Vendome, Paris, France.
Dear Sir: Regarding the discussion that Mr. Singer had with Mr. Gray of

the U. S. Sperry Ordnance Company, Mr. Gilmore, vice president of the com-
pany, together with INIr. Gray had an interview with us this morning. Mr.
A. Felix du Pont, Mr. Porter, Mr. Bradway, and the writer were present.

It was practically agreed that there were certain advantages to be gained
by cooperation between the companies. They have discovered that it is diffi-

cult to sell fire-control equipment without the gun and it is likewise difficult

to sell the gun without the ammunition. In our case we have likewise found
it would be to our advantage to be tied up with a proposition involving
complete equipment.
The question of securing a gun from the Ordnance Department and shipping

it to Poland was found to be neither feasible nor desirable. It was, therefore,

agreed that the Sperry Company would immediately start work to induce a
Polish mission to visit this country at the expense of the Sperry Company to
witness a demonstration of the 3 " A. A. equipment and other material, if

deemed necessary. The Ordnance Department have already agreed to put
on such a show.
The advantages of this method are manifold; in the first place, we can rest

assured that the tests will be of such nature as to be at least favorable to the
material being demonstrated. The personnel handling the gun or guns will

be thoroughly familiar with their job. The mission would likewise be given
an opportunity to visit the different plants involved in the manufacture of this

equipment, which would naturally include the du Pont plant and the fact that
the tests would be official tests of "the U. S. Government could be played up
tremendously.
The expense of a mission coming to this country would be considerably less

than the expense involved in securing a gun and shipping the same to the
other side, together with the proper personnel to handle it, as well as the other
personnel involved in the negotiation.

With Pilsudski's return to Warsaw the conditions may be more favorable
than they were heretofore.

Pencil markings.
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By next Monday the Sperry people expect to have a considerable amount
of data collected and on Tuesday the 28th, we expect to receive word from the
Sperry people as to what has been accomplished.

Mr. Gray is sailing for Europe on Wednesday the 29th. We cannot, as yet,

advise the steamer as his reservations have not been made but promptly upon
receipt of siune we will cable you. He expects to arrive at Cherbourg and
proceed directly to the du Pont office in Paris. He will be prepared to discuss

cooperative efforts along lines to our common interest and will be particularly

anxious to discuss with Colonel Taylor the question of a proper agent for the

Sperry Company in Warsaw.
The basis of the willingness of the Ordnance Department to render this

assistance is predicated on the general theory that it is necessary for the
national defense to do everything possi))le to help maintain private manufac-
ture in the ammunition game. Therefore, any assistance they can render to

bring this about they will do but they are not interested in a proposition to

establish the manufacture of Army ordnance material in foreign countries
unless they merely represent a small proportion of the number to be manu-
factured in the United States. In other words, the facilities for manufacture
are the plain objective of the Ordnance Department.
The Sperry people feel that the experience we have had in European negotia-

tions is quite a factor and our participation in any such arrangements would be
limited to the extent of the material to be furnished by us.

If there are any further developments along this line, we will advise you
promptly.

In view of the fact that Mr. Singer's letter was hadwritten, we are enclosing

a typewritten copy of his letter for your files.

Very truly yours,
K. K. V. Casey, Director.

KKVC :MH

("Exhibit No. 1026" appears in text on p. 2706.)

Exhibit Na 1027

Trejasuky Depaktment,
Washington, Dec. 10, 1934.

My Deiar Mr. Chairmajs^ : In reply to your letter of October 31, 1934, regard-
ing appropriations, allotments, and expenditures of the War and Navy Depart-
ments for the fiscal years 1912 and 1934, there are enclosed herewith

:

Exhibit I, showing appropriations and expenditures from appropriations
for the War and Navy Departments from 1912 to 1934.

Exhibit II, showing allotments by Public Works Administration for War
and Navy Departments and expenditures from such allotments during
the fiscal year 1934.

By direction of the Secretary:
Very truly yours,

Herbert E. Gaston,
Assistant to the Secretary.

Honorable Gerald P. Nye,
Ohaiivnan Special Committee Investigating the Munition Industry,

United States Senate.

ends.
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Exhibit No. 1028

Statement showing allotments to the War and Navy Departments authorized

by the PuMic Works Administration to Nov. 28, 193Jf, and expenditures from
those allotments during the fiscal year 1934

Allotments
authorized by

P. W. A.

1934 expendi-
tures

WAE
Air Corps (airplanes) - -

Rivers and harbors
Flood control-. -

Seacoast defenses -

Insular affairs.

National Guard-..
Ordnance, ammunition, and equipment.
Quartermaster Corps, housing and technical construction and motoriza
tion

Panama Canal. -

Other..

Total

NAVY
Aeronautics
Engineering
Ordnance - .--

Secretary's oflJce (machine tools)

Yards and docks .-

Vessels
Other

Total

$7, 500, 000. 00
276, 604, 752. 84
68, 003, 000. 00

7, 000, 000. 00
1, 500, 000. 00

2, 238, 624. 00

8, 679, 491. 00

72,641,233.50
1, 000, 000. 00
801,811.00

$14, 922. 23
50, 232, 192. 88
24, 834, 446. 65
2, 416, 590. 85

239, 160. 37
1, 113, 212. 62
4, 446, 489. 52

27, 303, 122. 62
808, 522. 12
518, 520. 00

445, 968, 912. 34 111,927,179.

7, 500, 000. 00
712, 500. 00
330, 225. 00

2, 850, 000. 00
27, 636, 072. 00

238, 000, 000. 00
385, 662. 00

504, 391. 14

14,700.29
211,345.33

1, 084, 864. 15

11, 396, 446. 82
23, 457, 056. 19

117, 413. 93

277, 414, 459, 00 36,786,217.85
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Exhibit No. 1030

[•Ms-lOO-D, Ms-51, 188-10, 154-Russian Government. S-171]

Wilmington, Del., April 7, 1932.

WASHINGTON, D. O., APRIL G, 193 2

Called by appointment on General Hof to discuss House Joint Resolution

No. 282 introduced into Congress by Representative Fish of New York pro-

posing a resolution whereby the United States Government would join all

other nations in renouncing the sale or export of arms, munitions, or imple-

ments of war. Since Mr. Fish has introduced somewhat similar resolutions on
several other occasions, the Ordnance Department had not taken the above
very seriously and was not aware that it had been reported out of committee
and put on the House calendar.

General Hof called up Colonel MiicFarland of the office of the Assistant

Secretary of War and invited his attention to the above, at the Same time
calling attention to a letter which The Assistant Secretary of War had written

to Mr. Morin under date of March 6, 1928, protesting against House Joint Res-
olution No. 183 of somewhat similar purport. General Hof suggested that

with slight modifications the above letter would serve the purpose of the

present time.

At General Hof's sug;:resti(m called on Colonel MacFarland and discussed
the matter with him. He also was not a^^ale that the resolution had come
out of committee.

Called on Admiral Larimer, Chief of the Bureau of Ordnance, United States
Navy and discussed/ the same matter with him. Admiral Larimer called up
Captain H. K. Cage, Chief of the Katerial Division, office of the Chief of

Naval Operations and called his attention to the resolution and its status,

of which neither of these officers had been aware until their attention was
called thereto. Captain Cage will take appropriate action to have the bill

opposed on the floor of the House.
Called at the office of Colonel P. J. O'Shaughnessy of the Ordnance Depart-

ment, who was in Cleveland at that time.
Called on Lieut. Leslie R. Groves and Mr. McCray, office of the Chief of

Engineers and discussed T. N. T. demolition blocks. The Corps of Engineers
will waive tlie departure from specifications of the blocks now on order and a
reinspection for the purpose of passing them has been ordered.

Lieut. Groves desired information on blasting procedure for the purpose of
revising the field engineers' demolition kit. This will be covered in a separate
memorandum to the technical section, explosives department.

Called on O. N. I. and discussed the Fish Resolution with Captain Baggaley.
Captain Baggaley informed me that the State Department had sent for ap-
proval of O. N. I. tlie du Pont proposal to erect a nitrogen fixation plant in
Russia. O. N. I. offers no objection.

Called on G-2 and discussed with Major W. H. Simpson and Lieut. Col. J. P.
Marley the above Russian proposal. It would appear that the State Depart-
ment desires much additional data on this subject and has made frequent calls
on G-2 and the Ordnance Department.

It is fortunate that this proposal had been mentioned verbally to O. N. I.

and G-21 several weeks ago and it is to be regretted that tbe military sales
division is not kept better informed of du Pont Company contacts with the
U. S. Government officials in Washington.

Called at the State Department, and finding that Miss Christenson was ab-
sent on sick leave, called on Mr. Maxwell Hamilton for the purpose of sound-
ing out the present attitude of the State Department. Although nothing of
great importance developed, it is believed that the visit was opportune and
was welcomed by the State Department.

AiKEN Simons.
ASAKR

* Pencil markings.
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Exhibit No. 1031

[One page of letter only. *Ms-178, Ms-lOO, Ms-lOO-D]

Wilmington, Delaware, January 17, 193S.

Confidential Memorandum to Major K. K. V. Casey, Director.

PROPOSED EMBAEGO ON THE SHIPMENT OF MUNITIONS

Colonel Taylor in his T-2554 of December 28, which was his annual report
for the year, made some very interesting comments on the effect of disarma-
ment in Europe. This was extracted in a memorandum dated January 13,
addressed to you and suflBcient copies of the memorandum prepared so that
they could be handed to interested officials in Washington.
On the morning of Monday, January 16, I called on Major R. D. Brown,

of G-2, handed him a copy of the memorandum, and asked his opinion on the
situation. Major Brown was frankly concerned, and since the authority
requested by the President to declare an embargo on munitions had been
presented to the Senate in the form of a bill, and this bill has already been
reported out of committee. Major Brown's concern is justified.

I then called on General Moseley, deputy chief of staff, and after waiting
some time while General Moseley was in conversation with General MacArthur,
the chief of staff, and Mr. Frederick H. Payne, the Assistant Secretary of War,
General Moseley received me and after glancing over the memorandum, in-

structed me to get a copy in the hands of Mr. Payne at once, since Mr. Payne
had just been discussing the matter.

I then called on Colonel McFarland, who advised me that it would not be
possible for Mr. Payne to see me at the moment but that the memorandum
would be placed in his hands at the first opportunity, and that Mr. Payne
was much interested in it.

I then called on Captain Ogan, executive officer of Naval Intelligence, and
handed him a copy, requesting that it be brought to the attention of the Secre-

tary of the Navy. Captain Ogan informed me that he had no method of
getting it to the Secretary of the Navy and advised that I see the Chief of the
Bureau of Ordnance. Hence, I called on Admiral E. B. Larimer and handed
him a copy of the memorandum. He promised to take the matter up with
Admiral W. V. Pratt, Chief of Naval Operations, with the request that Admiral
Pratt bring the matter to the attention of the Secretary of Navy and indicate

the vital need of maintaining the private manufacture of arms and munitions
in this country.
Some time later in the afternoon in the hall I met General Hof, Chief of

Ordnance, U. S. A. General Hof seemed to be in an?
(S) Aiken Simons.

* Pencil markings.

("Exhibit No. 1032" appears in text on p. 2725.)

Exhibit No. 1033

[File: MS-IOO-D. S-41]

January 26, 1928.

Washington, D. C, January 25, 1928.

It had come to our attention that Representative Hamilton Fish, of New
York, had introduced resolutions into Congress forbidding the shipment of
munitions to any country with which the United States was at peace. It was
desired to ascertain if this bill was known to the War Department and if

there had been any change in the previously announced policy of the War
Department to encourage the private manufacture of munitions into the
United States.

I called on Colonel Standley D. Embick, of War Plans Division, General
Staff, who was unaware of the bill but advised me that there had been no
announced change of policy on the part of the War Department.
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I called on Lieut. Col. William B. Wallace, Executive Officer G-A, General

Staff, who knew of no change in policy but arranged to have me meet several

officers in the office of the Assistant Secretary of War, as follows

:

Col. William P, Wooten (not in).

Major Leonard T. Gerow.
Major Larry B. McAfee,

who discussed the matter at some length. While we were talking, Lieut. Col.

James D. Fife came in and continued the discussion. I learned from Colonel
Fife and Major McAfee that far from there being any detrimental change in

policy of the War Department that the Secretary of War had strongly urged,

in his annual report, that every effort be made to encourage private manufac-
ture and had recommended changes in the national defense account, as well

as sufficient appropriations to permit educational orders being given to the
private manufacturers.
The matter was then discussed with General Williams, Chief of Ordnance,

who had not seen the bill but did not take it very seriously. Since Mr. Fish,

who introduced this bill, served creditably in the A. E. F. and was promoted
to major, it is considered that he is a friend of the Services, and it is possible

that his purpose in introducing these resolutions was to render other action

ridiculous or ineffective.

Lieut. Col. Perkins, of Military Intelligence, was advised of the proposed
visit of Messrs. Cowie and Strickland, of Nobel, to our Carney's Point plant
and offered no comment or objection.

The Bureau of Ordnance, U. S. N., had not yet received our letter of January
24th in reference to reprocessing TNT at Yorktown. When the matter was
discussed with Lieut. Comdr. Johnson he offered no objections to our study
and informed me that the Bureau of Ordnance would probably undertake to
reprocess this material themselves. He asked if we could supply second-hand
graining mills for TNT. Mr. Patterson, of Indian Head, informed him that
we had in surplus. Comdr. Johnson advised me that the silk and black powder
shipped to St. Juliens for use in the Argentine naval charges were satisfactory

and that we would be advised officially in a short time. The shipping direc-

tions for the tanks and crates were satisfactory as outlined in our letter to

the Bureau, which would be answered at once.
I had been previously advised by Captain Le Breton, U. S. N., that permis-

sion had been granted for Lieut. Gomez to visit Dahlgren and St. Juliens in
connection with the tests of Argentine charges. Letters of introduction for
Lieut. Gomez had been handed the Argentine naval attach^. This matter was
brought to the attention of Comdr. Johnson.
Comdr. Johnson advised me that he. Captain Pickens, and Mr. Patterson

were anxious to visit Deepwater Point and Repauno in order to study our
laboratory organizations. He was advised that any or all of them were
welcome.
The Bureau of Ordnance is considering the installation of an ammonia-

oxidation plant at Indian Head, so that a visit to Repauno will be very
opportune.

Called on Captain Knox, U. S. N., and advised him that Mr. Burnell Poole
had been delayed by sickness, so that his picture would not be ready for
presentation until about the 10th of February. Captain Knox spoke of the
desirability of having a presentation ceremony at the Naval Academy and
giving the matter proper publicity. I informed him that the Du Pont Company
would not desire the presentation of these pictures to appear in matter of
advertising publicity, but if the Navy Department desired to give out any
information, we would offer no objections and that the question of having one
of the Du Fonts come to Annapolis to make a presentation would be brought
to the attention of the proper authorities in the Du Pont Company.

Aiken Simons.
MH

("Exhibit No. 10.34" appears in text on p. 2727.)

("Exhibit No. 103.5" appears in text on p. 2728.)
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; Exhibit No. 1036

War Departmeint,
Office Chief Chemical Warfare Service,

Washington, D. C, February 7, 1928.

Mr. Ir^n^e du Pont,
E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company, Wilmington, Delaware.

My Dear Mr. du Pont: On January 25, 1928, Mr. Theodore Burton, of Ohio,
introduced into the House of Representatives a joint resolution knovpn as
House Calendar 136, H. J. R. 183, 70th Congress, 1st session, also given file

number report 492. This is a resolution to prohibit the exportation of arms,
munitions, or implements of war to belligerent nations. Section 3 starts out
as follows

:

"As used in this joint resolution, the term ' arms, munitions, or implements
of war ' means— * * * 13. Poisonous gases, acids, or any other articles

or inventions prepared for use in warfare."
AVould not such a bill encourage the radicals and communists to continually

attack the United States in its commercial relations with other nations when
any two or more of them may be engaged in war?
The first term " poisonous gases " may be applied to a thousand and one

articles. For example, chlorine was the first gas used successfully as a

poison gas. Its effectiveness is such, however, that before the end of the
war, it was abandoned as a war gas. However, it is the basis or a very
important element in nearly all of the so-called " poison gases." In large
quantities against untrained troops, it may still be highly effective.

Notwithstanding it is classed as a poison gas, it is one of the most widely
used chemicals in the world today. Approximately 100,000 tons of chlorine
gas are generated per year in the United States. It is used here and through-
out the civilized world in purifying water, bleaching paper and other materials,
reclaiming gold, and for numerous lesser chemical operations. It would be
extremely difticult to tell in any particular case whether chlorine was going
for war purposes or not.

Phosgene, one of the most powerful of the war gases used effectively in the
World War, is used in making dyes and certain medicines.
The next term used in paragraph 13 of the joint resolution is the single

word " acids." That includes a whole host of important chemicals. They may
or may not have important war uses. For example, carbolic acid, a coal-tar

product, is the basis of many disinfectants and of many medicines. Treated
with nitric acid, it becomes picric acid, a high explosive. If chlorine be added,
it becomes chloropicrin, a war gas. Picric acid is also a dye and an excellent

treatment for sunburn.
Nothing but continual controversy could arise in trying to carry out the

provisions of this act. The latter part of paragraph 13—" or any other articles

or inventions prepared for use in warfare ", is so all-inclusive and so indefinite

as to amount to nothing in the long run except trouble. Cotton is not sup-

posed to be grown for warfare purposes
; yet cotton, treated with nitric acid,

becomes guncotton, a high explosive, and when further treated chemically and
mechanically, becomes smokeless powder. It also forms various kinds of cellu-

loid, useful in innumerable ways in peace-time manufacture
It is believed that such a bill is exceedingly bad. I am just calling this

to your attention as a matter which seems to me to be worthy of serious con
sideration by those interested in the chemical industry in this country.

Very sincerely yours,

(S) Amos A. Fries,
Major General, Chief of Chemical Warfwre Service.

("Exhibit No. 1037" appears in text on p. 2730.)

("Exhibit No. 1038" appears in text on p. 2730.)

("Exhibit No. 1039" appears in text on p. 2731.)
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("Exhibit No. 3040" appears in text on p. 2732.)

("Exhibit No. 1041" appears in text on p. 2735.)

Exhibit No. 1042

[File : MS-178]
Febkuaby 29, 192S.

National legislation.

Mr. H. F. Bebre,
Mgr. Foreign Department,

Wincheste7' Repeating Arms Company/, New Haven, Conn.

My Dear Mb. Beebe : Thank you very much for your letter of February 2Sth)

in reference to possible action necessary to preserve the best interests of the

American manufacturers of munitions.

I am afraid you misunderstood the action that I suggested in reference to
Mr. Hoover, since my belief was and is that better results could be obtained

if you, as chairman of the committee appointed by Mr. Hoover in 1925, would
write him a letter stating the present situation and inviting attention to the

certain hardships which would be phiced on American manufacturers and the

equally certain damage to the interests of the national defense. In this way
the matter could be brought to Mr. Hoover's attention and his aid secured
without publicity. Whereas the publicity necessarily attendant on a meeting
of American manufacturers at Washington to oppose a bill already before
Congress would be equally disadvantageous to the manufacturers and to M^^-

Hoover.
In reference to your inquiry as to my probable presence in New York in the

near future, I do not see any possibility of getting to New York within the-

next two or three weeks by which time it would probably be too late to take
any steps.

I trust you will not think that I am urging my own point of view toa
strongly but I really believe that the best interests of all would be served, if you
would write Mr. Hoover, at your earliest convenience.

Sincerely,
Aiken Simons.

AS:MH

Exhibit No. 1043

[Pile : Ms-178. Copies : C. Stewart Comeaux, Major Simons, F. C. Nichols]

March 5th, 1928.
Subject: H. J. Res. 171.

To the Honorable the Secbetaby of Commerce,
Washington, D. C,

DaAB Mr. Secretary: You will possibly remember that in 1925 prior to thfr

departure of the delegates of the United States to the Geneva convention for
the control of international trade in arms and ammunition you extended an
invitation to representatives of arms and ammunition manufacturers to discuss
the economic phases of the proposed draft.

The results of the discussion were embodied in a report addressed to you
under date of April 14, 1925, a copy of which is attached for reference.

In discussing with some of the arms and ammunition manufacturers the
bill introduced by Senator Burton, H. J. Res. 171, the opinion was expressed that
from the manufacturers' standpoint this bill if passed would in effect drive ta
competitors in foreign countries business which might otherwise employ Ameri.
can capital and labor.

From a national point of view the building up of foreign factories at the
expense of American institutions would naturally leave the latter less prepared
to carry on the work that has in the past and would undoubtedly again be
required of them if we were to become involved in a war.

8.3876—35—PT 12 14
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It would further appear that it would give the nation best prepared for

-war a great advantage over the one that was not, through denying the latter

the right of purchase.
Reversing the situation, the United States would be placed in a position where

if attaclied by another nation it could not purchase any military equipment
from another country.

In view of possible results of the passage of the bill in its present form
some of which may not have been anticipated by Senator Burton, I have been
requested as chairman of the former committee to communicate to you our
opinion that this is a matter of suflScient importance to warrant us in suggest-

ing that you consider the advisability of again extending an invitation to inter-

ested parties to a conference on the subject.

We will highly appreciate such assistance as you may judge proper and
appropriate in this matter which affects the national defense and the best

interests of the American industries involved.

Yours respectfully,
H. F. Bebbe,

Mgr. Foreign Department,
Winchester Repeating Arms Company.

HFB : BRJ.

End.

("Exhibit No. 1044" appears in text on p. 2737.)

Exhibit No. 1045

[Written on regular letterhead of the E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, Inc.]

E. I. Dtr PoNT DB Nemours & Company, Incorporated,
Wilmington, Delaware, March 15, 1928.

Mr. H. F. Bbebe,
Mgr. Foreign Dept.,

Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven, Conn.

My Dear Mr. Beebe: Thank you very much for your letter of March 13th

-with which you sent me a copy of a letter received by you from Mr. Thomas
R. Taylor, Assistant Director in the Bureau of Commerce, as well as your reply

to Mr. Taylor, dated March 13th.

I am sending you herewith a clipping from the New York Tribune of March
15th, which develops the fact that the Burton resolutions have been returned

to the House Committee on Foreign Affairs and that hearings will be held

tomorrow morning. Apparently Mr, Taylor was misinformed on the action of

his own Department or he did not wish to make a premature statement of

such action.

With the opposition of the War Department, the Navy Department, the

State Department, and the Department of Commerce, as well as the American
Legion and certain Representatives on the floor, such as Mr. Andrew of Massa-
chusetts, I do not think that we need worry very much about the passage of

these resolutions.

You will note from this clipping and from the reference to the Army-Navy
Journal of Saturday last to which I previously invited your attention, that the

opposition to the bill has been extremely clever in enlisting the aid of the

farming, mining, and manufacturing interests of the country by pointing out

that their products would be subject to embargo should these resolutions

prevail.

My personal belief is that any activity before Congress on the part of your
company, mine, or other munition manufacturers would prove a detriment

rather than a help to our cause in that it would enable the pacifist and seditious

elements to claim that munition manufacturers encourage war and the trade

in war material for their own benefit.

Since the four most powerful departments of the Government are opposed

to the bill, I believe that we can rest our case. I am in Washington from
time to time and have the situation under observation.

Sincerely,
(Signed) Aiken Simons.

AS.MH.
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Exhibit No. 1046

[File: MS-178]

Winchester Repeating Abms Company,
New Haven, Connecticut, U.S.A., March 17th, 1928.

{Export division)

Major Aiken Simons,
E. I. du Pont de Nemours d Company,

Wilmington, Delavyare.

My Deae Majoe : This will acknowledge receipt of your letter of March 15th,

enclosing clipping from the New York Tribune of that date.
It is fortunate indeed that apparently enough opposition has developed in

other directions to make it unnecessary for the munition manufacturers to
take any concerted action.

With sincere appreciation of your interest in the matter and your kindness
In keeping me informed, I remain

Yours very truly,

(S) H. F. Beebe,
Mgr. Foreign Department.

WRA : HFB : ERJ—39.

("Exhibit No. 1047" appears in text on p. 2743.)

("Exhibit No. 1048" appears in text on p. 2747.)

("Exhibit No. 1049" appears in text on p. 2748.)

("Exhibit No. 1050" appears in text on p. 2748.)

("Exhibit No. 1051" appears in text on p. 2748.)

Exhibit No. 1052

[Copy, Mr. Birney]

New Haven, Conn., February 16ih, 1933.

Subject : House bill giving power to the President to embargo shipments of arms
and ammunition.

Western Cartiudge Company,
,

East Alton, Illinois.

(Attention Mr. J. M. Olin.)

Deae Mr. Olin : As you are doubtless aware when a bill on this subject was
previously passed Senator Bingham succeeded in having it recalled and has
since been able to have it held up.
The bill was then introduced into the House and we immediately made an

effort to have action postponed in order to have an opportunity to enter
objections.

In the beginning it looked as if it was probable that an effort would be made
to rush the bill through, and in order to bring all the pressure we could to bear
to have the action deferred, I wired you on February 9th as follows

:

" Informed probability bill being introduced House regarding arms embargo
and regulations exports stop Have wired Congressman Goss to endeavor have
action deferred to give those interested opportunity to be heard stop Colt and
Remington working stop Suggest you wire your Congressman."



2844 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

I discussed this matter witli Mr. Birney and with Mr. Pugsley. It was decided,

due to the fact that I previously worked on similar proposals, that I had best

go to Washington and appear before the committee.

Saturday afternoon I found that you had telegraphed to Mr. Pugsley instruct-

ing him to attend, and upon telephoning him that I would be glad to turn all

the information over to him, he stated that he had already wired you that he
thought it best for me to go.

From the best information we could get, both before and after reaching Wash-
ington, it appeared that the committee was ovei-whelmingly in favor of the

resolution and that our efforts had best be directed (1) against giving too much
power to the President; (2) that it should include all countries that manu-
factured munitions; and (3) that it specify more definitely what was intended

by arms and munitions.
I reviewed some of the material used at the time I went to Washington in

connection with the Geneva Conference and then drew up the attached state-

ment, which was fully concurred in by a Remington and Colt representative.

This statement I made at the committee hearing and answered a few questions.

Mr. Stone, president of the Colt Company, stressed the importance of indus-

try in time of war, and Mr. Monaghan, of the Remington Company, enlarged
on the fact that the possibilities of embargo would increase the building of
munition plants in foreign countries.

I saw in the morning paper that the bill had been reported out favorably
with ti)e slight change which limited its application to North and South Amer-
ica. I know that when it reaches the Senate, Senator Bingham will fight it

tooth and nail, and I think a few friends in the House, like Senator Goss, will

do what they can.

If you have any instructions in regard to what steps should be taken please
inform me. If I do not hear from you to the contrary I will continue to keep
in touch with the other manufacturers and do what appears to be necessary
or advisable.

Yours very truly,

H. F. Beejbe.

HFB : ERJ-30
End.

("Exhibit No. 1053" appears in text on p. 2751.)

Exhibit No. 1054

th3iegkam fkom wilmington giving kequestei> information about ameeican
dyes institute and relate© sx^jects

December 6, 1934.
Amp:rican Dyes Institute,

130 West 42nd Street, New York City, New York:

According to letter in our file dated May 19, 1921, had at that time the follow-
ing officers : President, R. C. Jeffcott, The Calco Chemical Company : treasurer,
H. E. Danner, 320 Broadway ; secretary, W. 11. Corwine.
Board of Governors consisted of A. G. Burrage, Jr., Atlantic Dyestuffs Com-

pany, Boston, Mass. ; R. C. Jeffcott, The Calco Chemical Company, Boundbrook,
New Jersey ; Samuel Iserman, Chemical Company of America, New York City

;

J. T. Pardee, The Dow Chemical Company, Midland, Michigan ; M. R. Poucher,
DuPont ; H. W. Hyde, Essex Aniline Works, Inc., Boston, aiassachusetts ; J. M.
Matthews, Grasselli Chemical Co., Dyestuffs Department, New York City;
August Merz, The Heller and JNIerz Company, Newark, New Jersey ; B, P. Don-
nelly, Holland Aniline Company, Holland, Michigan ; S. W. Wilder, Merrimac
Chemical Company, Boston, Mass. ; F. L. RlcCartney, Monsanto Chemical Works,
Inc., St. Louis, Mo. ; R. T. Baldwin, National Aniline and Chemical Company,
New York City ; C. N. Turner, Newport Chemical Works, Inc., Passaic, New
Jersey ;

Frank Hemingway, The Sherwin Williams Company, Cleveland, Ohio.
Executive committee consisted of R. T. Baldwin, A. C. Burrage, C. N. Tur-

ner, J. M. Matthews, J. T. Pardee, M. R. Poucher, August Merz.
Volume on hearings before the Committee on Finance, United States Senate,

Sixty-sixth Congress, second session, on H. R. 8078, shows hearings held

:

December 8 to 13, inclusive, 1919, and January 12, 1920.
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Hearings included statement of Joseph H. Choate, Jr., counsel for American
Dyes Institute; Major General W. L. Sibert, director, United States Chemical

Warfai-e Service; Rear Admiral Ralph Earle, Chief of Bureau of Ordnance,

Navy Department; Van H. Manning, Director, Bureau of Mines, Department
of the Interior; Lieutenant-Colonel (now general) Amos A. Fries, United States

Army ; Colonel C. T. Harris, United States Army ; Colonel J. H. Burns, Ordnance
Department, United States Army; Dr. Marston Taylor Borgert, professor,

Organic Chemistry, Columbia University ; Dr. Julius Stieglitz, chairman. De-

partment of Chemistry, University of Chicago ; Dr. Charles H. LaWall, analyti-

cal and consultant chemist, and dean College of Pharmacy, Philadelphia ; Henry
Howard, chairman, executive committee of Manufacturing Chemists Association

and vice president of Merrimac Chemical Co., Boston ; James T. Pardee, vice

president, Dow Chemical Co. ; Henry Wigglesworth, General Chemical Co. ; Dr.

Charles H. Herty, editor. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry;
Henry B. Rust, president, Koppers Company, Pittsburgh ; Dr. Daniel F. Waters,
Germantown Dye Works, Philadelphia; Frank D. Cheney of Cheney Brothers,
Soutli Mancliester, Conn. ; Irenee du Pont ; E. H. Killlieffer, vice president, New-
port Company, Milwaukee.

Textile men and importers also testified.

Hearings before Committee on Ways and Means, House of Representatives,
were held June 18 to 20, and July 14 to 18, 1919.
Many of same Army and Navy officers and textile men testified.

Francis P. Garvan, Alien Property Custodian, testified before both House
and Senate committees.

Following is list of members of American Dyes Institute from undated
memorandum in our office

:

Althouse Chemical Company, Reading, Pa.
American Aniline Products, Inc., New York City.

Atlantic Dyestuffs Company, Boston, Mass.
Atlas Color Works, Brooklyn, New York.
Ault and Wiborg Company, Cincinnati.
Butterworth Judson Corporation, New York City.

Also following from New York City :

John Campbell and Co.
Chemical Co. of America.
Commonwealth Chemical Corporation.
Consolidated Color and Chemical Co.
Dyes Products and Chemical Co.
Frank Hemingway, Inc.

Calco Chemical Co.
Metals Disintegrating Company.
National Aniline and Chemical Company.
Organic Salt and Acid Company.
Rector Chemical Co.
Tower Manufacturing Co.
Dicks, David, Company.
Transatlantic Chemical Corporation.
The Barrett Company.
J. R. M. Klotz of Newport Chemical Works.
Certified Chemical Corporation, Brooklyn, New York.
Dow Chemical Company, Midland, Michigan.
Du Pont Company.
Essex Aniline Works, Boston, Mass.
Gaskill Chemical Corporation, Brooklyn, New York.
Grasselli Chemical Company, Cleveland.
Heller and Merz Company, Newark, New Jersey.
Holland Aniline Co., Holland, Michigan.
Holliday Kemp Company, Woodside, Long Island.
Hydrocarbon Chemical Products Co., Lancaster, Pennsylvania.
Merrimac Chemical Co., Boston, Mass.
Monroe Color and Chemical Co., Quincy, Illinois.
Monsanto Chemical Works, St. Louis, Mo.
George E. Morrill Co., Norwood, Mass.
Naugatuck Chemical Co., Naugatuck, Conn.
Peerless Color Company, Boundbrook, New Jersey.
Sherwin Williams Co., Cleveland, Ohio.
United States Color and Chemical Co., Boston, Mass.
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Exhibit No. 1055
Db. Juuan Adaib,

Medical Abts Building,
Wilmington, Delaivare, Dec. 9, 1934.

This is to certify that Chas. K. Weston is not able to leave his home on
account of an impacted fracture of his right humerus (shoulder).

Respectfully submitted.
Julian Adaib, M. D,

Exhibit No. 1056

[File : Publicity Bureau. Thos. R. Sbipp—Correspondence, dyes]

OCTOBEB 1, 1921.

Mr. Thomas R. Shipp,
Riggs Building, Washington, B.C.

My Dbab Mr. Shipp : Please do not arrange to visit Mr. Cone. I think I have
already arranged that matter satisfactorily.

The question of advisors to the disarmament commissioners is also, I think,

vpell in hand.
Not having heard anything from you as to a working agreement after your

visit here on September 16, I went ahead and arranged these matters through
other channels.

Very truly yours,

Publicity Manager.
CKW/P

("Exhibit No. 1057" appears in text on p. 2765.)

Exhibit No. 1058

[File: Publicity Bureau. Braddock Harold—Correspondence, Dyes]

October 6, 1921.
Mr. Harold Braddock.

123 William St., Neiv York, N.Y.

Dear Mr. Braddock : The Rosengarten matter is in such shape that we
must not depend on a contribution from that firm. I understand that they
are not in a position to go along with us in a publicity campaign and the
chances are that it will be some time before we can expect the contact with
them to bear fruit.

Very good progress is being made in the effort to secure support for our
interests at the coming national meeting of the American Legion. This
matter is very well in hand and is being pushed hard with the national officers

and the executive committee.
We expect action to be taken tomorrow, October 7, by the Army Ordnance

Association meeting at the Aberdeen Proving Grounds. General C. C. Wil-
liams, Chief of Ordnance of the Army, has agreed to introduce a resolution
and to speak in support of it. Several other Army officers who have already
figured actively in the effort to build up a chemical industry will support him
in his efforts.

Very truly yours,

Manager Publicity Bureau.
CKW/AER.

Exhibit No. 1059

[Copy. File 99]

Wabdman Park Hotel,
Washington, December 4> 1919.

Deab Mb. Cabpbntee: T. C and King can help with Senate subcommittee.
Curtis of Kansas is the party whip and always goes regular. The national
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committeemen, urged on by T. C. and King, either directly or througli Hays,
could manage him.

Senator McLean of Connecticut ought to be easy for King to reach.

Can't you get the wires or phone busy on King? He is due here early

in the week for a national committee meeting—expected to arrive on Sun-
day—and could help cause without inconvenience.
We have all kinds of " dope " about Watson, of Indiana. The disquieting:

report is that he has been busy in behalf of importers and is not friendly
to us. We thought Landis had him fixed and still hope that is true. The
diagnosis that we want to accept is that he will follow the Penrose lead
and that Penrose picked him to put this thing over for us. According to all

the political " wise men " this is the case—but you can't be sure and the-

political pull would not be wasted.
Committee meeting was called at direction of Penrose who wrote that action

should not be delayed because of his illness. Evidently it is proposed to pusk
the hearings through next week so that the full committee can act before
Christmas holidays and have bill ready for Senate after first of year.
Think Ir6n6e du Pont will have to come here Sunday for conference. There

is a loud call for him from everyone. Garvan feels that he is worth more
than all the others combined. I am to see Watson tomorrow and then we can-
complete our program. After that I will phone you or Mr. du Pont details^
Taken as a whole, the situation looks good to me, but I don't want to miss-

any tricks, hence the suggestion about T. C, King and Hays.
I have the military situation in hand, Earle, Williams, et al.

Shall not fail to meet you at the Willard Saturday night— (duce tecum).

Yours,
Weston.

Exhibit Nc 1060

[Copy]
O. O. 032.2/7

Decembee 5, 1919.
Hon. James E. Watson,

Chairman of Finance Subcommittee,
United States Senate.

My Dear Senator: 1. I have just been informed that there is a bill before
your subcommittee, H. R. 8078, " To regulate the importation of coal-tar prod-
ucts, to promote the establishment of the manufacture thereof in the United
States, etc."

2. Up-to-date chemical knowledge of all kinds and the ability to apply the
same to the military program are of course absolutely vital to proper prepared-
uess. It is manifestly one of the paramount duties of the Ordnance Depart-
ment to father tlie accumulation of this knowledge in the United. States,
whether in the Ordnance Department itself or in industry.

3. I am also informed that one of the results of the bill in question would
be the building up of a large chemical industry which would of necessity
include among its numbers several thousand trained chemists who would
devote their time to the many chemical problems both routine and researcli
connected therewith and especially to the chemistry of coal-tar products, which
field is very intimately related from all angles to military explosives. The-
industry would also develop the solution of its problems of raw materials
supply, of special chemical manufacturing apparatus, etc., all of which would-
be applicable to our war problems.

4. It seems to me that the above results would be of very great value to
the country from the preparedness standpoint for they would help strengthen
a vital link in the chain that prior to this war was very weak and which will
again become weak unless every effort is made to prevent it.

5. I would be very glad to appear before your committee in person and
wiU do so if you care to have me. I am leaving Washington today, but expect
to return on the 15th instant.

C. C. Williams,
Major General,

Chief of Ordnance, U. 8. A^
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Exhibit No. 1061

[File 110]

<Copy to Mr. K. K. V. Casey—5/4/21.)

E. I. Du Pont de Nemours <& Company (Incorporated),
Production Department, Wilmington, Delaware,
Dyestuffs Departmeint (Manufacturin(; Division),

May 2, 1921.
Mr. Ie6n6e du Pont,

President.

Referring to yours of April 29th, relative to our relations with the Chemical
Warfare Service, I think you will be pleased to know that our contact with
that organization is already quite close and a recent visit to the Edgewood
Arsenal by Dr. Reese has brought about a beginning of cooperation which, no
doubt, will be highly beneficial both to the Service and to ourselves in the
future.

I know that General Fries, from personal conversations that I have had with
him, looks upon us as a main-stay in case we are brought to a situation where
the united effort of the country is needed. There is not. of course, at the
present a demand for any of our byproducts at Edgewood that is of material
moment, but when that does develop, in case their experimental work is

expanded, I am very sure that we shall have the right kind of a call from
the Chemical Warfare Service. I have no intent to let lapse the connection
which has been established by reason of our united effort in legislative work.

(S) Chas. a. Meade, V. P.

CAM:G
[File 110]

{Copy to Mr. K. K. V. Casey, 5/4/21.)
April 29, 1921.

Mr. Chas. A. Meade,
Vice President:

I read General Fries' speech with a great deal of interest and have just
spoken with Casey as to the advisability of seeing whether our company cannot
furnish intermediates or even finished war games in a small way to the Govern-
ment in order to get the practice of their manufacture and to see just where
their requirements dovetail in Mith the dye business.

I feel sure General Fries will look favorably on such a proposition for he
has " rooted " for the dye industry. I think it would be well for you to take
same little interest in this both as an outlet to our deep water products and
also for the future good of the country should we be so unfortunate as to have
another war.

iR^NfiB DU Pont,
President.

Exhibit No. 1062

[File : Publicity Bureau, American Chem. Soc, Dr. Chas. L. Parsons. Dyes]

American Chemical Society,
Office of the Secretary,

Wnshington, D. C 1709 G Street NW., December 1, 1921.

Mr. Charles K. Weston, '

'

PuUicitij Bureau, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., Wilmington, Del.

Dejar Mr. Weston : Replying to yours of November 30

:

I am fully in touch with the work that is being done here in Washington
regarding the question of chemical warfare before the international conference.

At the same time, the matter is a very delicate one, and we can say very little

to reporters. Up to the present time nothing definite has been done except

the organization of the committee which met for the first time yesterday

afternoon at four o'clock. Their meeting was simply for organization, and
they have not yet received the full and necessary instructions to outline their

future procedure.
I agree with you that it is highly important that the commercial interests

hold aloof from this matter for it is a delicate one, and their position is quite
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likely to be seriously misunderstood. You can see- from the articles which
are appearing in the New York Herald and also from the article on page 4,

column 6, of the Philadelphia Ledger of this morning, how careful the chemists

have to be in handling this situation.

I am enclosing for your information copy of a letter which I just wrote to-

the Public Ledger, which will give you an inkling of how we feel these matters
must be handled. I am quite sure that you are in accord therewith.

With best wishes.
Sincerely yours,

Chables L. Parsons,
Secretary.

CLP/EMT

Exhibit No. 1063

[File: Publicity Bureau, Dr. Chas. L. Reese, Corres., dyes]

Copy to : Mr. C. A. Meade, Room 0104 Building.
Decembeb 2, 1921.

Dr. Chaeles L. Parsons,
Secretary, American Chemical Societv,

1709 G St. NW., Washington, DC.
My Dear Dr. Parsons : I want to thank you for your letter of yesterday

and for the copy of your communication to the Public Ledger.
The question of properly guiding the newspaper writers is to my mind the

most serious one before the chemical industry and the chemical society at this

time. The article which you criticise offers the best possible evidence of the
need of educating the writers and their education can be accomplished only

by dealing frankly and fully with them and giving them information in

advance of its actually happening so that they may get the proper perspective

and realize the importance of what is to come.
For instance, it has been evident for some time that Constance Drexel was

in the mood to be hysterical over poison gas. The things she has written since

she first went to Washington to attend this conference have all pointed in one
direction. If she could have been taken in hand and told exactly what this

luncheon was intended to accomplish, she would not have made the serious

misstatements, though she might not have been converted to support of the
proposition.

All this is appropos of your statement that " * * * the matter is a very
delicate one and we can say very little to reporters." I am presuming to

make suggestions because on the advice of Dr. Herty, after conference with
Dr. Smith, it was agreed that matters of publicity for the present should be
left entirely to the discretion of the noncommercial chemical interests with Dr.
Smith, president of your society, as their official representative, and because
of my experience in the newspaper field which presumably has equipped me
to see these things in a different light than that in which they appear to the
layman.

It is very evident that there are a lot of writers in Washington who need
education and need it quickly.

Sincerely yours.

CKW/AER.

("Exhibit No. 1064" appears in text on p. 2779.)

Exhibit No. 1065

[File C-15]
January 28th. 1922.

Mr. A. B. Echols,
Asst. Treas.

In connection with Mr. Irenee du Pont's inquiry for information relative to
expenditures by this company bearing on the dyestuffs legislative situation, 1
have, in accordance with your request, compiled the following data

:
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PAYMENTS TO OR FOE ACCOUNT OF AMERICAN DYES INSTITUTE

2/17/19—1919 dues $250. 00
2/18/19—To cover advance as our portion in connection with pro-

posed organization of a corporation (chemical) foundation to take
over alien chemical patents 1,000.00

3/21/19—Assessment for fiscal year, January 1 to December 31, 1919. 6, 750. 00
9/22/19—Check to order H. E. Banner, treas., American Dyes Inst,

to cover cur portion of expense of having printed 20,000 copies of
dyestuffs hearings before the Ways and Means Committee, to be
distributed among the consuming industries, members of the Amer-
ican Chemical Society, libraries, colleges, etc 5, 000. 00

10/15/19—Check to order of Frank S. Bright and G. S. Ferguson, Jr.,

Washington, D. C, to cover bill of 9/10/19 for services rendered
by them in connection with the Revenue Act of 1918, and all other
services account American Dyes Inst., totaling 10, 000. 00

12/18/19—Check to order H. E. Banner. Voucher simply states

:

"As contribution to the American Dyes Institute " 2, 500. 00

Total for 1919 25,500.00

1/5/20—1920 dues 250. 00
3/18/20—Preliminary assessment for 1920 1.000.00
4/20/20—Assessment for 6 months ending 6/30/20 $7, 687. 50

Credit payment of 3/18/20 1, 000. 00
6,687.50

6/23/20—Copy of translation of printed report made by Inter-Allied
Commission investigation of occupied German territory relating
specifically to manufacture of munitions and poison gases 28. 34

7/20/20—Quarterly assessment for 3 months ending 9/30/20 3,843.75
10/11/20—Our share of expense of meeting at Yama farms, Sept.

29th and 30th 220.15
10/14/20—Quarterly assessment for 3 months ending 12/31/20 3, 843. 75
10/15/20—To cover our preliminary share of immediate expense 10, 250. 00
11/4/20—Our actual portion of assessment (17 percent

of $70,000) $11,900.00
Credit payment of 10/15/20 10, 250. 00

1, 650, 00

Total 27, 773. 49

10/14/20—By amount advanced 2/18/19 toward Chemical Founda-
tion organization 1, 000. 00

10/14/20—By amount advanced 9/22/19 applicable to 1920 assess-

ment 5, 000. 00

Total credit 6, 000. 00

Net amount for 1920 21, 773. 49

1/26/21—1921 dues 250. 00
4/7/21—Advance on assessment as agreed at Lakewood meeting

April 1st 10, 000. 00
•9/13/21—Assessment of American Byes Institute 500. 00

Total 10, 750. 00

CRB3)IT

Eeferring to 4/7/21 assessment our final portion was figured at

17 percent of $55,000, or $9,350.00, we therefore received a credit

of 650.00

Net amount for 1921 10, 100. 00

Grand total, American Dyes Institute 57, 373. 49
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In April 1921 this company paid the bill for 7,500 copies of booklet, " World
Disarmament And The Master Key Industry", and bill in the amount of

$5,357.30 was rendered against the American Dyes Institute under date of

April 30th, 1921, which item has not been paid to us. It is understood that a

portion of this, at least, is to be borne by us anyhow, and that, furthermore,

after the investigation is finished and commitments by the institute will have

to be met, that this amount is o be credited o our share to be paid.

FEDERAL TEADB COMMISSION

We applied for a total of 38 enemy-owned patents, seized by the Alien Prop-
erty Custodian, and paid a license fee of $100.00 for each patent. We finally

secured 5 licenses covering a total of 24 patents, and $1,400.00 was therefore

refunded to us. The net result of our relations with the Federal Trade Com-
mission and the A. P. C. in connection with dye patents is as follows

:

Paid license fee of $100.00 each for 24 patents $2, 400. 00
Paid royalty on sales of vat colors covered by one of these licenses_ 10, 103. 88
Paid royalties on account of sale of indigo made under one of these

licenses 61, 884. 98

Total, Federal Trade Commission 74,388.86

CHEMICAL FOUNDATION, INC.

Reference is made in the American Dyes Institute tabulation that on Febru-
ary 17th, 1919, we contributed $1,000.00 toward expense of formation of the
Chemical Foundation, Inc., for which amount the institute credited us on Octo-
ber 14th, 1920. Our original portion of the underwriting was $125,000.00, which
was taken care of by payments as follows

:

3/15/19—Advanced account this amount $75, 000. 00
6/17/19—Advanced balance 50, 000. 00

Total 125, 000. 00
5/17/20—We were refunded 40, 700. 00

Net holding 84, 300. 00

represented by 2 shares of common stock and 841 shares of 6% nonvoting
cumulative preferred stock, all at par value of $100.00 per share. (See letter

of Mr. C. A. Meade to Mr, Irenee du Pont dated June 22nd, 1920, explaining
why we still have such a large interest in the Chemical Foundation.) For
your information our file is attached, which please return.
Record of other payments to the Chemical Foundation is as follows

:

2/26/20—Royalties on sales of dyes made under patents licensed
to us $26. 02

3/5/20—8 copies of vat dye patents 2. 40
5/10/20—Royalties 169.92
8/3/20—Royalties 731.32
10/20/20—License fee for 1 license 100. 00
10/29/20—Royalties 220.63
12/28/20—Royalties 8, 320. 12

Total for 1920 (licenses and royalties) 9,570.41

1/4/21—Sending out for our account 458 copies " Creative chem-
istry " $.538. 15

1/25/21—118 copies " Creative chemistry " of which 80 were sent out
for our account and 38 sent to us 127. 44

2/1/21—Royalties 347.18
4/22/21—Royalties 1, 280. 81
4/28/21—Royalties, also license fee 1 license 104. 15
6/7/21—50 copies " Creative chemistry " of which 26 were sent out

for our account and 24 sent to us. 250 reprints of an article by
Mr. Garvan 83. 55

7/21/21—Royalties 5, 414. 28
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9/28/2(1—Royalties $262. 15
10/1/21—License fee for 1 license 100. 00
10/21/21—Royalties 8, 441. 01

Total for 1921, licenses and royalties 15,949.58
Publicity aid 749. 14

16, 698. 72

2/3/22—License fees 1, 900. GO
Royalties 12, 193. 28

Total to date for 1922 14,093.28

The Chemical Foundation grants nonexclusive licenses covering the use of
certain patents. Royalties are paid on basis of a certain percentage of net
sales, i. e., gross sales less freight and delivery expense, any licensee paying
the same royalty rates for the same licenses. The original arrangement was
to pay a license fee of $100.00 for each license regardless of the number of pat-

ents it contained. A revision of the license-fee arrangement has recently been
made to the basis of charging us $100.00 for each patent, one fee only, however,
to be paid for the same patent regardless of the number of licenses it may be
included under. This readjustment is reflected in the payment made, and
mentioned above, under date of February 3rd, 1922. We have at the present
time eleven licenses from the Chemical Foundation.
The C. F. recently inquired what portion of our dye investment was used in

connection with the manufacture of products covered by C. F. licenses. Taking
all licenses actually in force, the approximate figure of investment covered is

$1,250,000.00, which includes plant and working capital investment that can
be charged directly ; not including any general plant items, such as portion of

general power investment, etc. The detail of this is covered by the attached
copy of memorandum from Mr. E. G. Robinson to Mr. Meade, dated the 28th
inst. There is also attached the original inquiry from the Chemical Founda-
tion dated December 27th, 1921, to v/hich no reply has as yet been made.

SYNTHBH'IC OKGANIC CHEMICAL MANUFACTURiass' ASSO.

November 1921—Annual dues $250. 00

"W. F. Harrington,
Asst. General Mgr.,

ByF. G. Hess.
FGH : G.

P. S.—Information relative to the two appropriation requests mentioned
below should also be included with the other information.

PROJECT 11642 (ACCOUNT O-IOOO)

Authorized for $3,500.00, actually spent $2,262.81, covering trip of Mr. C. K.
Weston to Europe for the purpose of meeting European journalists, giving
them the proper American viewpoint so that news items of a proper nature
could be sent to this country.

PROJECT 11786 (ACCOUNT C-1042)

This was taken out to contribute our share toward the expense of a cam-
paign of publicity to counteract malicious publicity against the dye industry.

The National's publicity representative was to handle the work in cooperation
with similar representatives of other concerns in the industry. Our original

allotment was $10,000.00. It was later decided, on the information of the new
Synthetic Organic Chemical Manufacturers' Asso., to stop all further work
through this source, but commitments had to be taken care of, of which our
share was $3,000.00, for which a part 2 request was authorized. Later fur-

ther obligations were brought to light under this program, of which our share
is $7,500.00, of which, to date, $2,500.00 has been paid. Summarized, we have
to date paid $15,500.00 out of a total of $20,-500.00 authorized lor this purpose.

W. F. Harrington, A.G.M.,

FGH : G. By F, G. Hess.
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Exhibit No. 1066

[File: MS-80-A. D-502]
Dexjbmbkr 5, 1924.

Col. W. N. Taylor,
Jfl Avenue de VOpcra, Paris, France.

Dear Sir : Some time ago you requested us to ask Mr. Bradner to prepare
for 3'Ou a memorandum on chemical warfare materials and gases. Mr. Bradner
has just forwarded to us the memorandum which we are attaching hereto.

This undoubtedly will be instructive and useful to you.
Very truly yours,

K. K. V. Casey,
WHO'G :N. Director.

[Pile: MS-80-A]
DECBMBE3r 1, 1924.

Military Sales Division.
Attention of Mr. K. K. V. Casey.

Replying to your letter of October 27th which was sent to the dyestuffs

department by mistake and which I have received.

The following is a brief description of the chemical warfare materials which
are mentioned in Colonel Taylor's letter.

Chloracetophenone (C6H5COCH2CI) is a lachrymator or tear gas. It is a

white solid having a fairly low vapor pressure (0.01 mm. of Hg. at normal tem-
peratures). Probably the best method of preparation is the condensation of

chloracetychloride (CICH-COCI) with benzene (CdHe) in the presence of alum-
inum chloride (AICI3). The chloracetyl chloride is made by the chlorination of

chloracetic acid (ClCh2C00H) which in turn is made from acetic acid.

CH2COOH). The process of manufacture is difficult and disagreeable. Unless
a fairly large order could be secured I would not advise making it. In my
opinion there is no place for a lachrymator in warfare but it is excellent for
police work.

Diphenylaminechlorarsine iCcIli)2 NHAsCl) is a very powerful toxic smoke.
It is a greenish solid, yellow when pure, having a very low vapor pressure,

0.003 mm/Hg at 150° C. It is made by the condensation of diphenylamine
(CcH5)2 NH and arsenic trichloride (AsCh). The manufacture is simple and
not particularly disagreeable, due to the low vapor pressure of the toxic. This
material is a very effective military agent but the effects are rather severe for

police purposes.
Phosgene (COCI2) is a lethal agent. It is a liquid whose boiling point is 8° C.

and is made from chlorine and carbon monoxide in the presence of charcoal as
a catalyst. The manufacture is quite simple and reasonably safe. Phosgene Is

a fairly effective military agent but of course is not suitable for police use.

Butyl mercaptau (CiHsiSH) is not a toxic but simply a stench. It is a liquid

which boils at 98° C. and is made from butyl alcohol (C4H9OH) and hydrogen
sulphide (H2S) in the presence of theria as a catalyst. It has been proposed
as a fake gas since its odor is somewhat similar to mustard gas, but I doubt
if it will ever be used.

Titanium tetrachloride (TiCl4) is used for making a nontoxic smoke. It is

a liquid boiling at 136° which fumes in air. It is made by the chlorination of

titanium carbide (TiCi) which is obtained from coke and titanium oxide
(Ti02). It is a good smoke producer and has been used recently in the laying
of smoke screens from aeroplanes.

Picric acid (CcH20H(N02)3 is an explosive but is used as an intermediate
in the manufacture of ehloropicrin (CCI3NO2).

Diphenylamine (CMa)! NH is an intermediate used in the manufacture of

diphenylamine chlorarsine. It is made from aniline (CeH5NH2) which in turn
i« made from nitrobenzene (C6Ht;N02). All of these materials are dyestuff
intermediates and are being manufactured by the dyestuffs department at

present.
Nitrobenzene (CbHsNOz) is made by the nitration of benezene and is used to

make aniline (CeHsHNa).
Dinitrobenzene (CeH4(N02)2) is not an intermediate for any toxic that I

know^ of. It might be used as an explosive ingredient. It is obtained by the
nitration of nitrobenzene.

Dinitrotoluene (C6H2CH3(N02)2) is not used in the manufacture of toxics.

It may be used to make trinitrotoluene (CeH2CH3(N02)8) or it may be used
directly as an explosive ingredient.
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Carbon monoxide (CO) is a gas produced by burning coke with a limited

quantity of ai*. or oxygen in case it is desired pure. It is used in the manu-

facture of phosgene.
Diphenylchlorarsine (C6Hii)2AsCl is a toxic smoke similar m properties to

diphenylaminechlorarsine. It is made from aniline (CSH6NH2) which is

treated with nitrous acid (HNO2) and sodium arsenite (NazAsOa) which gives

pheuylarsenic oxide (C^HsASOa). This compound is reduced with sulphur

dioxide (SO2) to phenylarsenious oxide (CeHoASO) which is then treated with

a limited quantity of hydrochloric acid (HCl). Diphenylchlorarsine and ar-

senous oxide (AS2O3) are formed. The process is difficult and the finished

product is inferior to diphenylaminechlorarsine.

Arsenic trichloride (AsCU) is an intermediate in the manufacture of di-

phenvhiminechlorarsine. It is prepared by the action of hydrochloric acid

or sulphur chloride (S2CI2) on arsenous oxide. It is a liquid boiling at 130° C.

Phenol (CeHnOH) is the raw material from which picric acid is made. It

is obtained from the distillation of coal tar.

Phenolamine. I do not know what compound this is. Possibly it is amino-

phenol (NH2CGH4OH) but no use is known for this substance in chemical

warfare work.
Sulphur chloride (S2CI2) is an intermediate in the manufacture of mustard

gas (CIC2H2SC2H4CI) or may be used to prepare arsenic trichloride. It is a

yellow oil made by the direct action or chlorine on sulphur.

White phosphorus is the ordinary yellow phosphorus made by reducing phos-

phate rock with carbon in an electric furnace. It is used for producing non-

toxic smokes and for demoralizing effect. It is spontaneously inflammable in

air and produces severe slow-healing burns.
Tetrachloride, probably carbon tetrachloride (CCU), might be used as a source

of phosgene or for diluting other gases. No real use is seen for it. It is

prepared by chlorinating carbon bisulphide (CS2).
Ethylene gas (C2H4) is used in the manufacture of mustard gas. It is

made by heating alcohol (C2H6OH) in the presence of kaolin as a catalyst.

Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the gas obtained when coke is burned with an excess

of oxygen. It might be used as a source of carbon monoxide for phosgene
manufacture. No other use can be seen for it.

Of this list only diphenylamine, nitrobenzene, dinitrobenzene, and dinitro-

toluene, could be readily produced by this company. The manufacture of

diphenylaminechlorarsine would require the building of a plant but this would
not be very expensive.

It is believed that the dyestuffs department contemplates the building of a
phosgene plant eventually for their own use. Consequently they might consider

doing so now if an order for phosgene were secured.
Chloracetophenone and diphenylchlorarsine both require expensive plants and

the materials themselves are of doubtful value.

Titanium tetrachloride and white phosphorus are both good smoke-producing
materials, but the company is not in a position to produce them.

Referring to the second paragraph of Col. Taylor's letter. Phosgene is a
fairly effective nonpersistent gas and could be manufactured safely and easily.

Mustard gas is one of the most effective persistent agents known and would be

used in large quantities in case of a serious war. It is made either from sulphur

chloride and ethylene or from thiodiglycol (HCC2H4SC2H4OH) and hydrochloric

acid. Thiodiglycol is made from ethylene chlorhydrin (CIC2H4OH) and sodium
sulphide (Na^S). Chlorhydrin is made by passing ethylene into a solution of

hypochlorous acid (HCIO) formed by passing chlorine into a water suspension

of calcium carbonate. The same properties which make mustard gas effective

in warfare make its manufacture veiT dangerous. The chlorhydrin process is

much safer than the sulphur chloride process, but I doubt if the company would
care to undertake either one. They might, however, be willing to furnish either

ethylene chlorhydrin or thiodiglycol.

Of the various toxic smokes I would recommend that diphenylamine
clilorarsine be used as a warfare agent. I would not recommend its use for

police work due to its high toxicity.

Chloracetoplienone is probably the best of the laerymators. Brombenzyl-
cyanide (CoH^CHBrCN) is very effective but is corrosive to most metals. A
less effective material but one that is easily made is bromacetone
(OHsCOCHsBr).
For the production of screening smokes, I would recommend the use of 60%

oleum which is simply a solution of sulpliur trioxides (SO3) in .sulphuric acid
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(H2SO4). This material is much more effective than titanium tetrachloride and
also much cheaper. The company would be in a position to furnish oleum of

this strength. Another smoke-producing material is a mixture of zinc dust, zinc

oxide, and hexachlorethene (C2CI6). When this mixture is ignited it burns
forming zinc chloride smoke. It is less than half as efficient per unit weight,
as oleum and is more expensive, but has the advantage that small smoke
candles can be made from it which can be used by infantry. The company
could make this mixture without great difficulty.

Chloropicrin (CCI3NO2) is a liquid boiling at 112° C. It is a combination of a
lethal agent and a lacrymator but is much less effective than phosgene as a
lethal agent and nothing like as good a lacrymator as chloracetophenone. I do
not believe it would be used again in war and is too dangerous for police use.

There is one other material which I believe is practically ideal for police

use, but which probably would not be used in warfare. This material is

capsaicin (OH.OCH3CGELCH2NHCOC9H17) which is the active principle of red
pepper. Before coming with the company I developed a method of manu-
facturing this material synthetically and hold a personal patent on the process..

Capsaicin is effective in lower concentrations than any other known materal.
It is entirely nontoxic, while all other material which have been proposed for

police work are very toxic and can only be used because it is improbable that
the concentrations would be high enough to produce serious results. Capsaicin
has the additional advantage of penetrating all except the most efficient type
gas mask. It is a solid whose vapor pressure is about the same as that of

diphenylamine chlorarsine. I have no idea whether or not the company would
care to manufacture this material.
The iodine containing material which you mention is probably ethyliodoacetate

(CH3COOC2H41) which is a very good lacrymator but is probably too expensive
for use.

I have made no attempt to give estimates on manufacturing costs of these
various materials and could not do so without making a study of equipment
and facilities now available which might be converted to this use.

D. B. Bradner.

Exhibit No. 1067
November 6, 1933.

Memorandum : Visit of Mr. G. Donegani, October 27, 1933.

At the invitation of Mr. Lammot du Pont, Mr. Donegani called in Wil-
mington on October 27th, accompanied by Romolo Angelone, Counselor of the
Royal Italian Embassy in Washington, as an interpreter. Unfortunately,
Mr. du Pont was sick and Mr. Pickard and Mr. Swift out of town.
We arranged a meeting with Mr. Wardenburg and Mr. Dannenbaum, and

the general International nitrogen situation was discussed. Mr. Donegani
stated that Chile and Japan were the two great problems to be faced before
the Europeans could reach a permanent agreement. We pointed out to him
that the Europeans must cease to regard America as a dumping gi'ound.
While there is a temporary place for a small amount of European nitrogen in

this market, pending complete development of the domestic industry, the
American producers will not stand for a continuation of present conditions.
The exceptionally favorable position of the American industry, with respect
to cost, particularly for compound fertilizers, was emphasized.
A short meeting was held with Mr. F. La Motte, in which Mr. La Motte

answered various questions of Mr. Donegani relative to the sulphur situation,
particularly the position of the Jefferson Co.

In addition to Mr. Wardenburg and Mr. Dannenbaum, Messrs. Crane, Richter,.
Robinson, and Protto and the undersigned were present at lunch. Mr. Donegani
had no comments to make about the Italian Duco Company except to mention
that they had the Fiat business.

After lunch Mr. Protto, Mr. Robinson, and the undersigned accompanied
Mr. Donegani to the dye plant, taking him in to the camphor operation for a
brief look around. Mr. Donegani had quite a long conversation with Mr.
Protto, in which it came out that the I. G. had told Mr. Donegani not to
discuss dyestuffs with us, as they spoke for us in Europe. Mr. Protto con-
vinced him of the lack of truth in this statement. Mr. Donegani then told
Mr. Protto the history of A. C. N. A. After incurring very heavy losses for
several years. Mu!=solini, who is a personal friend of Donegani, called him in
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and told him that he wanted him to take the company over. Mr. Donegani

objected; first, on the groimds that he did not want to put good money into

a sick company, and that he could not make it a technical success without

securing assistance from abroad. After considerable argument, and after point-

ing out that both da Pont and the English had turned down the proposition to

give A C. N. A. assistance, Donegani secured permission to bring the I. G.

in as minority holders. They paid approximately 20,000,000 lire for a 49%
interest, and agreed to supply technical information to enable A. C. N. A. to

manufacture dyestuffs as soon as there were sufficient consumption to warrant

local production. Either side has the right to terminate the contract, and

the Italians may buy back the I. G. shares at cost. The Italians also pur-

chased a 49% interest in I. G.'s local manufacturing subsidiary, Bianchi.

The financing was done through Credito Italiano upon the orders of Mus-

solini. It is our understanding that 40,000,000 lire was paid for the concern,

49% of which was supplied by the Germans.

The Italian dyestuffs market is about $10,000,000 per year, 607o to 65%
of which is supplied by local manufacture and the balance by imports, prin-

cipally Swiss and German high-priced specialties. The local manufacture

takes care of the bulk colors, prices on which are quite low. At the present

time the A C. N. A. has an export quota of about $1,000,000 per year, expiring

at the end of this vear, when the subject will come up for discussion again.

The Germans have'not played fair with respect to giving technical informa-

tion and their whole policy has been designed to protect the market for then-

exports of high-priced colors to the Italian market. Their interest in export

is entirely subsidiary to their home market, and they are very ambitious to

supply the entire home market from local manufacture, both from a national-

defense and a balance-of-trade point of view. Upon the return of Donegani

and von Schnitzler from tliis country, it is intended to hold a meetmg m
Rome where it is hoped that satisfactory arrangements can be worked out.

As a 'last resort, the Italian Government is prepared to set up a dyestuffs

monopoly which would take over existing sales organizations, including that

of the Germans and the Swiss. This would in effect destroy the position of

I G in Italy as it would take away their sales organization. Mr. Donegani

characterized 'such a step as international brigandage, and hoped it would not

be necessary to go so far. ^- r, ^u t<- t.
Mr Donegani reported that the German Rayon Cartel, in which the Italians

had an 18% interest, was broken up by an edict of the Hitler Government

without any reason except national self-interest to justify the step.

jkj/ems

("Exhibit No. 1068" appears in text on p. 2783.)

Exhibit No. 1069

[Copy]

[File C-3-B. For information]
JUNE3 20, 1922.

Mr. F. W. PiCAKD,
Vice President.

The other day I was talking with Sir Harry McGowan, and we spoke of the

British dyestuffs situation, though he is no longer a director of the company.

Among the comments he made were the following

:

i^ v, ^, ,

If the British made a deal with the Germans, du Pont interests could hardly

be given special treatment in the matter, unless there was a definite under-

taking on the part of Sir William Alexander that he was negotiating for us.

The British Government would not weaken, but were absolutely determined

to see the company successful. The inevitable result would be an agreement

with the Germans, for Sir Harry does not seem to think it possible that the

British will be able to achieve technical success without the help of the Germans.

Mr Pickard ought to come right over to London, and the United States legisla-

tive situation is probably so well in hand that he could now come. Tlie embargo

could not be considered as permanent protection, as the agitation against it was

so serious that there was a big change that the dyestuffs act would be repealed.
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I saw Sir William Alexander last Saturday, and we had a very earnest talk,

in which I frankly told him that his insistence on the 15% commission and his

efforts to revive "a finished episode caused a serious stumbling block in the

way of cooperation between our companies. He replied that that was a second-

ary matter ; it would be laid entirely to one side, and he would be ready to

work out an arrangement with the du Pont Company which would be mutually
desirable. He went on to say that their position was well nigh desperate.

The dyestuffs act does not give them proper protection, for cheaper German
dyes are allowed to come in if the British dyes cannot meet the price. Thus
(and of course he would not want this discussed too broadly), J. and P. Coats
were using a German black, Zambesi black I think the name was, in very large

quantities, and the price was 7/- a lb. The British Dyestuffs Corp. made a

black which was entirely satisfactory to Coats, and sold them 10 tons at 6/8d
per lb., and then an additional 50 tons. The Germans went to Coats and
offered their black dye in quantities as required at 3/4d per lb., or a yearly

contract at 2/6d per lb. Coats took the matter up with the British D.yestuffs

Corp., who went over their figures very carefully, and said the best that they

could do was 6/- per lb., whereas Coats applied for a license to import the

German dye, which was granted. On the 60 tons, approximately their annual
requirements of this one dye, the German price therefore effected a saving to

Coats of about £25,000, which was too big a saving to forego, and he said

throughout the world the Germans were quoting prices far below the British

cost of manufacture.
He pointed out to me more clearly than I ever realized before the difference

between our position and their own. The competition of our dye users is

principally with other American dye users, so that if American users have to pay
more for dyes than other countries, it is unpleasant but it is not final. The
British dyers on the other hand look principally to their export markets, and
must therefore purchase their raw materials, including dyes, as cheaply as

can any other dyers throughout the world.

Sir William went on to say that he had seen von Weinberg and Oppenheim
in Berlin a month ago, and their proposals were that the British company
would limit its sales to the British Isles only, not the Empire, and give tlie

Germans half of their profits in exchange for technical information. He told

them emphatically that the British would not agree to such terms, but were
ready to agree on prices throughout the world, and come to an understanding
about competition. Duisberg was also to be called in if an agreement was in

sight, but naturally there was nothing doing, and I presume that the Germans
are simply biding their time until British Dyes will have to come to them again.

Sir William went on to say that the British Government was going to back the
enterprise up to the limit, favored an arrangement with the Germans, but
were entirely opposed to any such terms as the Germans had in mind. The
British color users were mostly sympathetic and helpful in their attitude, but
the Calico Printers Association had recently gone to Germany, submitted a list

of dyes to the I. G., and asked them to put down their very lowest possible

quotations for these dyes, so that they could submit the list to the licensing

committee and secure entry for the German dyes on the ground of low price.

Yesterday I had lunch with Mr. H. Sutcliffe Smith of the Bradford Dyers
and chairman of the Color Users Association of Great Britain. He was very
favorably disposed to the present management of the British Dyestuffs Corp.
and feels that the agitation for German dyes is exceedingly unpatriotic and
dangerous. But at the same time he faces a continual opposition on the part
of some of the users who want cheaper dyes. He told me more of what I had
already heard, that a strong committee was calling for proxies for the annual
meeting of the British Dyestuffs Corp. June 22nd to put out the present man-
agement. He thought there would be a warm fight at the meeting, but that
the present management would win out.

I have also talked with Lord Ashfield, the other Government dii'ector of the
British Dyes, and he also welcomes cooperation with the Du Pont Company.
He says that they positively will not give in to the Germans, but will keep up
the fight, and being to all intents and purposes an American, he is of course
very much in favor of cooperation with the du Pont Company.
The above, together with the numerous articles in the newspapers about

the British Dyestuffs affairs, has mnde me convinced that it is a very propi-
tious time to negotiate with the Britisli Dyes. They may be far behind us in
technical information, but undoubtedly have a good deal of valuable knowledge,

83876—35—PT 12 15
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while their negotiations with the Germans may result in developments that

will be important to us. If therefore you can spare the time, I think it most
desirable for you to come over to London? Possibly if you can come, you will

be here when Mr. Haskell is here, and I hope that you will not have to delay

your visit much later than the early part of July.

A few enclosed clippings will give you a better idea of some of the comments
on the present situation.

Jasper E. Crane,
JEC :AAD European Manager.
ENC.

Exhibit No. 1070

[Pile 105. Copy for Mr. R. R. M. Carpenter]

Deoembb:r 15, 1920.

Sir Habby McGowan,
195 West Oeorge Street, Glasgow, Scotland.

Dear Sib Harby: Along the lines of my conversation with you in the mat-
ter of inviting Hercules and Atlas Companies to participate in companies to be
formed for manufacturing explosives in foreign lands:

Our executive committee have deemed it expedient to restrict this, for the

present at least, to Chile, where a definite factory is already in process of be-

ing laid down.
I have this morning sounded out Messrs. Webster and Dunham on the ques-

tion and find them in a very receptive mood, both, admittedly not because of

the profits on the investment, but in order that cut-throat competition in that

country may be eliminated, and the economic loss, due to duplication of or-

ganization, eliminated.
The discussion was entirely informal, and. no commitments of any kind were

made, but it is the idea that at an opportune time, after they had had au
opportunity of discussing the question with their colleagues, we would " get

together " to arrive at a more concrete proposition.

Am writing you this as a reminder of the point of view which I expressed
to you, and because it would seem to be a good opening to put in force the

ideas that we were more or less together on in that discussion ; i. e., the pros-

pects on the Chilean enterprise are not so splendid but that we could afford

to permit the other companies to join in without heavy financial loss. I say
this because I think and believe you were of the same opinion, that we must
build in order to prevent losing the trade of that country elsewhere; that the
investment itself was not overattractive. Personally, I would rather have a

25% interest with Hercules and Atlas in than a 50% one with them out. I

wonder if you were feeling the same way?
It was suggested in the meeting that possibly in a short time relations with

the German Nobel group would be reopened in a way which would make it

desirable that they, too, share in the enterprise. What would you think of

such an arrangement?
This is written you while the matter is fresh in mind, but I do not think we

can come to any conclusions by letter, and that the topic had best be dis-

cussed either when you are next in this country or when a suitable represen-

tative of our company is next in yours, according to which happens first.

Wishing you a merry Christmas and a happy new year, and with regards
to Lady McGowan, I am.

Yours sincerely.
iRENfiE DU Pont, President.

Exhibit No. 1071

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company,
54 New Broad Street, London, E. G. 2, nth June, 1923.

Mr. H. G. Haskell, Vice President.

Dear Mr. Haskell : After talking with Mr. Mitchell about detonators we had
a little talk on the relationship between our companies and particularly on mili-

tary matters. He said that he felt it very important to try to get me, as the
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du Pont representative here, to understand Nobels situation and their point of

view, and he went on quite frankly to tell me, partly in reply to my questions,

a good many things that I had not known before.

He reviewed the Czechoslovakian situation and said that Philipp of the

Austrian Nobel Co., thought he had the concession from the Czechoslovakian
Government and on ]iis way to the Government offices to close the deal he met
Leonard Smith coming out of the office with the signed concession in his

pocket. You already know about the ownership of this Czechoslovakian ex-

plosive company and that the Austrians were taken in, but Mitchell explained'

to me the reasons for taking the Austrhins in were primarily in payment for
their plant which they turned over to the new company and secondly because-

they felt it would be desirable to work vvith Philipp in other Eastern Europeaa
countries, which has already been the case.

Although the German group is understood still to own control of the Austrian
Nobels and to that extent Philipp is their man, yet the Nobels have never had
any discussion with the Germans. All the negotiations have been carried on be-

tween Philipp and Leonard Smith.
In Hungary Philipp secured the concession for a Government powder factory

and has taken Nobels in tifty-fifty, that is to say, the Hungarian Government
retain 60% of the stock, Austrian Nobels have 20% and Nobels Industries have
20%.

Philipp also secured the concession for the Government powder factory in
Bulgaria. Mr. Mitchell could not give me off-hand the details of this deal but
I understand it was exactly the same as in Hungary. Work has already been
started at the factories in both these countries.

Mr. Mitchell went on to say that the Jugoslavians would also without ques-
tion build their own plant and that Philipp would secure this concession and
they would go in as partners with him.
There was nothing doing in Koumania yet but that would probably follow suit.

You will note that the French are not included in any of the.se new deals.
Mitchell further said that they were rather worried about Du Pout's attitude

in several markets of the world and he thought it would be desirable to have a
conference on the matter at the earliest convenient time.

( S ) Jaspek E, Ckane,
European Manager.

JEC/OA.

Exhibit No. 1071-A

[Strictly confidential and personal]

European Office, Capel House,
5J,, New Broad Street, London, E. C. 2, June 8, 192S.

Mr. H. G. Haskeix,
Vice President, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del., U. 8. A.
Dear Mr. Haskell: As a result of several conversations with Nobels about

military-powder business, I am prompted to write you this letter to give you
some conclusions, perhaps immature, on the subject of the relations between
the two companies.

It seems to me that a conference should be held and decisions arrived as
soon as is feasible with regard to military supplies. Sir Harry McGowan is
going to South Africa in October, and therefore he is not proposing to go
to the United States again until next spring. It may be best to let the niat*er
wait over until then, but I believe that the desirability of a conference over
here this summer should be given some consideration.

It strikes nje that covenants between the two companies regarding military
business bristle with difficulties and are subject to almost infinite complica-
tions, while there is always danger of leakage of infonnation into improper
hands giving rise to serious criticism of the company and even to a campaign
against us. One of the worst practical <lifficulties seems to nie ^o be that th(-
reduction to written memoranda of decisions reached between the two com-
panies on such subjects has to be very cautiously and only partially carrie<l out
by us, while the other side have fuller notes and are always in the position of
interpreting past agreements and supporting their interpretations by quotation.s
from documents. Knowledge is power, and I think we are always at a dis-
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advantage in these negotiations from this fact, and it will continue to become
more difficult as time goes on.

I am burning up the file copy of this letter and presume you will do the

same with the original, but I hope that before doing so you will think the

matter over and perhaps be kind enough to let me know what you think

about it.

Very truly yours,
(S) Jaspee E. Ckane,

European Manager.
JEC/AAD

P. S.—I am sure that Mr. Felix du Pont won't mind my adding that I admired
the way he handled the discussions with Sir Harry, but you needn't tell him
that I have said that. J. E. C.

Exhibit No. 1071-B

[File—Soc. Cent de Dynamite]

E I. DU Pont de Nemoues & Company,
London Office,

5-J, Netv Broad Street, London, E. C. 2, January 30iil, 1923.

Mr. H. G. Haskell,
Vice President.

Deae Me. Haskell: Your letter of Jan. 9th is received, and I am much
interested to read the copies of your letters to Dr. MuUer.

I met Mr. Spruance in Paris last week, spending a couple of days there. We
went over the cellophane matter together, but deferred meeting various French
interests until next week when I am again going to Paris on my way to Sweden.
We will then spend a day or two talking to Mr. Le Pay, Usins du Rhone, and
other French chemical people.
The only development to inform you about now is that I saw Mr. Le Play

and arranged a meeting with him next week. He told me that the German
negotiations were still proceeding, and showed me a letter written by Dr.
Fausten after the French were in the Ruhr which was expressed in very
friendly terms. He said that Richter and Muller were practically impossible,
but Aufschlager and Fausten were very reasonable and pleasant, and he con-
sidered the latter the coming man in the whole German group. He continned
your information that Nobels have no ownership in the French group. As you
say, they both own stock in subsidiary companies, and they have made an agree-
ment that Nobels will not do business in France or its colonies, and that the
Society General will not do business in the British Empire. Mr. Le Play said

that owing to the exchange position, the Germans could sell explosives more
cheaply than they, and they more cheaply than the British ; for example they
could .sell explosives in Brazil much more cheaply than Nobels. Their domestic
trade was dull, but they were developing the export market, particularly South
America, and felt that at present prices they could obtain all the South Ameri-
can trade they wanted, but they did not wish to go too far in a way that would
be unfriendly to Nobels ourselves. He brought this in as an example, and to
emphasize his remarks about the unbalanced condition of trade at the present
exchanges, but I presume his ulterior rensnn was to sink the idea in our minds
that relationship with them would be desirable for us on competitive grounds.

I have just cabled and written Mr. Pickard some interesting information
obtained on the German dye situation, which was briefly first, that Hoechst, the
principal indigo manufacturer in Germany, is complaining of American compe-
tition on indigo in China, and second, that Mr. Boyden, American observer on
the Reparations Commission, told me that the French are contemplating seizing
25% of the capital stock of German industrial companies, presumably in the
occupied territory and the Ruhr and by issue of stock dividends, though that
was not clearly brought out.

Mr. Spruance is planning to sail back to the United States on the Majestic
Feb. 2.Sth, and to come to Entrland about a week beforehand, by which time I

will have returned from Sweden. While here he plans to make a trip to Ardeer
besides meeting the Nobel officials.

Jasper E. Ceane,
European Manager.

JEC/WS
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Exhibit No. 1072

du Font's and Nobel's relationship
Wilmington, Delaware, March 21, 192ft.

To executive committee
From H. G. Haskell, V. P., and A. Felix du Pont, Gen. Mgr., Smokeless Powder

Dept.

When Sir Harry McGowan and his associates were here last spring, among
the topics discussed there were several which could not be carried to a definite

conclusion, partly because of lack of information as to details, and Sir Harry
earnestly suggested the advi.sability of holding our next conference in London.
Mr. Ir^n^e du Pont was especially invited, he not having paid a visit to our

Nobel friends in a long while, and Sir Harry wanted very much for him to

meet the members of his organization, some of whom are new or have risen

in importance of late.

Mr. du Pont has arranged to sail the middle of April, accompanied by
Felix du Pont and H. G. Haskell.
About a year ago, when Mr. Felix du Pont was in London, the sale of mili-

tary powder in Europe was discussed in connection with the question of some
patent rights involved in our patents agreement with Nobels. Tlie same
subject was discussed in an informal way here last spring before Mr. Felix

du Font's trip, and it will doubtless be one of those to be brought up in

London. It is expected that this will lead to consideration of our relations

with the Nobel Company as a whole. As a guide in discussing this subject,

Mr. Iren^o du Pont has requested consideration of this subject by the execu-

tive committee so that he might be aware of their views. "With this request,

we are submitting some suggestions of a general nature in addition to which,

of course, there are in your committee's files many records, including minutes
of conference held from time to time, copies of contracts, patent agreements,
etc., which have expired, and the present patents agreement, which remains
in force until December 31st, 1929.

The patents agreement covers explosives, etc.. including military proiiellants,

but does not Include many of the things in which the du Pont Company has
become interested in more recently, such as pyralin, dyes, fiber silk, fnbrikoid,

etc. It is true, however, that we have proceeded with respect to many of
these much as we would have done had they been included in the agreement
on explosives. For example, recent technical representatives of Nobels have
visited Newburgh, Parlin, and other plants, as well as explosive factories, and
patents processes on coating matei-ials, for instance, have been handled in the
same way as inventions pertaining to dynamite would be dealt with. This has
been based on general policy, and we believe the results have been satisfactory
and of benefit to both parties. On the other hand, it has not been thought
advi.«;able to exchange information on fibersilk, nor has it been felt necessary
to give information on such subjects as special military powders being de-
veloped for the U. S. Government.

So far as we know, relations between the Nobels and ourselves pertaining
to inventions as specifically covered by the patents agreement, and also inven-
tions not included in that agreement, have been satisfactory and everything
has worked smoothly.
As you know, the present patents agreement between the Nobel Company

and ourselves was a continuation of a somewhat similar agreement between
the du Font Company on one hand and the English Nobels and the German
explosives interests as the other parties, these agreements extending back
many years, being revised and renewed from time to time as they expired by
time limit or otherwise, changes being made to meet new conditions current
at the renewal periods.
One of the industries that has undergone marked evolution during the period

of these successive agreements includes military propellants and explosives,
and the war brought about marked changes, not only of a technical nature,
but also with respect to market conditions. At the time of the first agree-
ment, all parties made much the same kind of gunpowder. Smokeless powder
and TNT were not in use and had hardly been invented. Most of the demand
for military explosives was from the home governments of the respective
parties, and other markets for sale of military explosives were almost neg-
ligible. Today there is a great variety of military propellants and explosives.
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aiul the purchases of other governments ; France, Greece, Siam, Poland, Mexico,
and others, are factors of importance.

In the high explosives field conditions have not changed so radically, either
an the character of the product or its consumption. It is probable the require-
ments of North America equal, if they do not exceed, the consumption in the
I'est of the world.

It is impossible to predict just what the conference in London will embrace,
but it would be valuable if your committee could make certain assumptions and
formulate your views based on these assumed conditions.
Assuming, for argument, that our present agreement as to patents expired

in 1924 instead of 1929, would it be your view that the du Pont Company's
best interests would be served by renewing the present agreement for another
term, or would you modify it, or would it be better to have no fonnal agree-
ment?

If the choice were to be a new agreement, would it cover

—

(a) Inventions in all industries in which both parties are engaged;
(&) Limitation to one m- more industries;
(c) Separate agreements covering each industry; for example, one on fab-

rikoid and allied products, another on commercial explosives, a third limited
to military propellants, etc., etc.?

Assuming our present agreement continues unchanged until 1929, the question
of interpretation will undoubtedly be a matter of discussion in London, and
one of the phases of this discussion, already indicated, is the sale of smokeless
powder in Europe. This is a subject with which you are more or less familiar.

To mention a few points briefly

:

Most of the important trade in Europe (excepting France) was supplied from
Germany. No patents agreements with the Germans have been renewed since
the war. Before the war the du Pont Company was in active negotiations
with France in connection with smokeless powders not covered by patented in-

ventions, but except for that, we had no very good prospects for such trade in

PAirope. During the war, of course, enormous quantities were supplied to the
Allies, and little or no attention was paid by anyone to patented inventions.
After the close of the war, demand arose from " reconstructed " countries
(Poland, Czechoslovakia) and others, mostly in territories formerly supplied
by the Germans, and for this trade the du Pont Company has been a more or
less successful competitor because of its ability to supply and also because of
goodwill acquired during the war. In this competition the du Pont Company
has met Nobel representatives on several occasions. (See footnote.) The
Nobels have intimated that this European trade is more logically theirs than
American. In case they should seriously formulate a suggestion of this char-
acter, would it be your committee's view that Nobel's contention is correct,

and, if so, to what extent should we yield our position in this field?

The smokeless-powder department contends that it has as much right as
Nobel to any foreign business it can get that used to be supplied by the Ger-
mans—this especially on account of the reputation that the du Pont Company
has obtained by its sales of military propellants and explosives during the war.
Owing partly to conditions arising out of the war, there have been, with

relation to military propellants and explosives, some impediments in the way
of exohnnge in inventions by reason of the desire of military authorities to

keep secret certain processes which, in the ordinary course, would be exchangiMl
under the agreement.
The U. S. Army and Navy being unable to give orders sufticient to keep the

du Pont military smokeless-powder plant in operation and yet being exceed-
ingly anxious for reasons of national defense to have the use of that factory
in emergency, have requested the du Pont Company to get military foreign
business and have helped the du Pont Company to obtain such business as
it has got.

These are among the reasons why our smokeless-powder department would
prefer to divorce military propellants and explosives from the agreement with
Nobel. The grounds for this are that present agreement is based, to sonie ex-
tent, on preceding ones made from time to time when conditions were different,

and the existing arrangement is not in tune with today's situation as a whole.
If this could be brought about, it is the smokeless-powder department's opin-

ion that it would be better to have no agreement whatever, in which case
patents or processes could be sold by one party to the other when desirable
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and the company would take its clisince on world competition in connection
with products and processes not so disposed of.

Does your committee agree with this view?
Respectfully submitted.

H. G. Haskell,
Vice President,

A. Fexix du Pont,
Qen. Manager Smokeless Poicder Dept.

Note.—In competing for Polish business we usually find ourselves in com-
petition with M. Philipe, representing the Czechoslovakia company. We under-
stand Philipe represents the Hamburg Nobels ownership of about 12% of tlie

stock. The French company, sometimes spoken of as " Le Play ", and the Eng-
lish Nobels own similar amounts, the three together approximating half own-
ership. The other lialf presumably belongs to Czechoslovakians. When orders
for smokeless powder are obtained by this company, the explosives are usually
supplied from Rorweil, Germany. In competing for Spanish business we meet
a Spanish company in which the Nobels have a large interest, though pre-
sumably a minority one. We understand it is not customary for the English
Nobels to themselves appear as sellers.

Exhibit No. 1073

[File C-1]
Atmex S

[Copy. Attached to excerpts of letter dated 11-6-24]

Notes of Conversations Held at the Hotel des Indes at Thk Hague on
OcrroBEK 15th, 1924, at 2 : 30 p. m.

Present:

Sir Harry McGowan, K. B. E., Mr. H. J. Mitchell, representing Nobel Indus-
tries, Ltd.
Dr. G. Aufschlager, Mr. Fr. Richter, Dr. Paul Miiller, representing the

German companies.
Dr. Axel Aubert, representing the Norwegian company.
After an exchange of courtesies Sir Harry McGowan stated that it was

essential for any discussion to be quite frank on both sides, and he otfered to
provide any information which he could properly do in regard to the develop-
ment of Nobel Industries and its activities in various parts of the world.
Dr. Aufschlager replied that he also was prepared to approach the subject with
the utmost frankness. General statements were then made by the Nobel
Industries' representatives in regard to the situation in the United Kingdom,
Canada, South Africa, and Australia, and reference was also made to the
capital participations which had been acquired in the various Balkan companies
and in the Chilian company. It appeared that the German representatives
were fairly well cognisant of all that had gone on and were also quite au fait
with the satisfactory results which had been achieved by the British company.
At a very early stage in the proceedings it was evident that the chief concern of
the Germans was as to the extent to which any arrangement which might be
come to could be made to embrace the American companies, and information
was asked as to what was the position or as to what understanding.';, if any,
existed among the U. S. manufacturers, special reference being made to

Du Pont, Hercules, Atlas, Aetna, and the Trojan Powder Company. In reply to
the latter question Sir Harry stated that no association existed in the States,
and that in fact any such association would be illegal, but, although active
competition existed, there was a friendly intercourse which in his judgment
would enable the United States manufacturers to come to an understanding in
regard to extra United States questions and further that the existing laws in
the States did not in themselves preclude the possibility of such an under-
standing. He further intimated that from his conversations with the Du Pont
Company he had ascertained that they were not averse to associating in an
agreement governing the South American Continent, but that at this stage he
was not able to speak with any authority on behalf of Du Ponts, and still less
could he say how the matter would be approached by the other American
manufacturers mentioned.
The German representatives provided information as to the position in

Germany, which may be summarized briefly as follows:
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High explosives manufacture appears to be mainly in tlie hands of tliree

groups

:

(a) Dyuamit-Actien-Gesellscliaft group.
{b) Westfalisch-Anhaltische SprengstofE-Actien-Gesellsctiaft (Coswig control-

led by the Stinnes interests).

(c) Oberschlesische Sprengstoff-Actien Gesellschaft von Lignose.
The latter group, which is in the nature of a consumers' concern, does virtually
all the business in the Oberschlesische district and in Poland, but up to the
present they appear to have made no serious attempt to do an export business.
Groups (a) and (6) are associated in a price maintenance convention covering
German territory, which Dr. Aufschlager stated had been loyally observed by
them. Until recently Coswig had done little export business, but recently had
become more active in that connection, and it was reported that a shipment
had just gone forward to Chile of 3,000 cases from the Coswig works.
No arrangement exists between the D.A.G. group and " Coswig " in regard

to export trade, and Mr. Richter stated that his many approaches to bring
about an understanding in this connection had proved abortive owing to the
excessive ideas held by the Coswig i)eople in regard to the export trade, and
further, because that concern had so far declined to listen to any proposals
which did not give them some guaranteed demand on their factories for the
export markets which they demanded in order to assist in reducing costs for
the liome market.
There are other small manufacturing concerns producing in Germany, re-

ferred to as the Bayerische and Gnaschwitz Sprengstoffwerke, but we did not
gather that they were of much importance, particularly in the consideration
of export questions.

Detonators.—There are a large number of comparatively small detonator
and electric-detonator manufacturers in Germany, who are at present asso-
ciated with the Rheinisch-Westfalische SprengstofE-Actien-Gesellschaft in au
international detonator convention, such as existed before the war, but which
Dr. Muller stated was on a very insecure foundation and was, in his opinion,

likely to break up at any moment. He stated that the Rheinisch-Westfalische
Company, which is embraced in the Dynamit-Actien-Gesellschaft group, was
at present doing about 80% of the detonator trade in Germany, and he ex-
pressed grave doubts as to whether he would be able to carry on the detonator
convention much longer. In this connection Sir Harry stated quite definitely

that he felt sure no arrangement would be possible between the parties unless
it embraced also the control of the detonator situation, and to this the
German representatives agreed.

N. B.—Prior to the war the export sales in detonators were controlled
wholly by the D.A.G. group, the Rheinisch-Westfalische Company doing no
business on its own account outside the German territory, but effecting all

its export sales through the medium of the D.A.G. It is not known whether
this condition exists today, but, no doubt, arrangements could be made to that
end if any change has taken place in the meantime.
Black poicder.—The D.A.G. group control Wolff & Company, of Walsrode,

but they have no influence on a number of other powder manufacturers in
Germany nor on the Luxemburg Company. It was felt that the black-powder
situation had better be left for the present until it was ascertained whether
any arrangement could be made in regard to high explosives and detonators.

Safetu fuse.—Apart from the small production of safety fuse from the fac-

tory of the Fabrik Elektrischer Zander (controlled by the D.A.G. group)
the German representatives have no control over the fuse situation. Their
interest in that commodity is comparatively insignificant, and it was clear
that, should any arrangement be contemplated on fuse, the gentlemen present
could not undertake that task, but that it would have to be separately
approached.

Reference was then made to the unsatisfactory conditions which exist in
the various export markets, due to the present competition between the parties,
and it evolved that all the parties represented were in complete agreement
with the principle of coming to some arrangement by which these unsatisfac-
tory conditions could be avoided. Mr. Richter was invited to make his sug-
gestions as to tjie form of understanding which might be considered, and lie

indicated that ni the German view it would be well that each market in
which competition exists should be considered separately, and that an en-
deavor should be made to fix a definite quota percentage of the trade for each
of the companies operating in that market, provision being made for the
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imposition of heavy penalties on any of tlie parties overselling their quota,
such penalties to be paid to those who have short-sold as compensation for
such short sales. Mr. Richter referred to the difficulties which had existed in
the past in controlling agents and expressed the view that the suggestion to
impose heavy penalties would compel the principals to exercise more effective
control over their agents than had been the case in the past.
As a countersuggestion for consideration the Nobel representatives advised

the Germans of the existence, in conjunction with the Du Pont Company, of
the South American pool, and suggested that they give consideration to the
extension of that pool to cover all those interested in the South American trade
with the necessary variation of percentage interests and possibly modified to
the extent that instead of pooling the actual profits made there should be a
fixed sum to be pooled in respect of each unit of sales.

It was abundantly obvious that the Germans' and Norwegians' attention was
more particularly directed to South America and Mexico because they appeared
to attach relatively little importance to ny other country, and eventually it

was suggested that an endeavor should be made in the first place to adjust
matters in regard to the American Continent. Sir Harry was asked whether
he would take up the question with the president of the Du Pont Company
with a view to having an early meeting with the representatives of that com-
pany and such other of the American companies as would be involved. Refer-
ence was also made to the desirability of adjusting the situation in the Japanese
market, and Dr. Aubert also made a passing reference to the Dutch Bast
Indies. No specific reference was made to any question of the reservation of
home territories or other exclusive markets (e. g., the British Empire), but
occasional comments led us to the view that the German representatives were
tacitly accepting such a reservation as a condition precedent to any arrange-
ment.
No direct question was put as to the possibility of bringing about a financial

identity of interests, because it appeared clear from the reports given us
(namely, that the German companies were making good profits in their own
country and furthermore that the various new ventures which had been under-
taken for the purpose of finding employment for their factories, notably lino-
leums, artificial silk, etc., had proved quite profitable), that the Germans had
not even contemplated any question of obtaining advances from Nobel or for
linking up in any financial manner, and in these circumstances it was not
thought judicious to pursue that idea at any rate at this juncture.
Towards the close of the meeting Mr. Richter produced a list of questions

which are set out below, together with the answers which were given in each
case

:

(a) Taking it for granted that Dn Ponts are to join the combine, can Hercules
and other American companies be caused to adhere to the prices?

This has already been dealt with above.
(&) Can the Norwegian company bring influence to bear upon the Swedish

company to abstain from competition?
It was held that this was a matter for the Norwegian company to deal with.
(c) Will the French abstain from competing as they did during the time of

the Hota? Can the same be guaranteed with regard to the Belgian works?
The Noliel representatives expressed the view that no insurmountable diffi-

culty would be met with in obtaining the adhesion of the French and Belgians
to any understanding, but they felt that the time was not opportune to approach
either of these competitors.

(d) Are the new Dutch works likely to come into the combine?
The Dutch works are a very small producer, destined to supply the state

mines in Holland, and it was held to be unlikely that they had an eye on export
business, and that consequently no approach should be made at this stage.

(e) How can the competition of the Westfalish-Anhaltische be avoided, who
are sure to make excessive claims? and

if) What about the Lignose, the Bayerische, and the Gnaschwitz Spreng-
stoffwerke, who have tried several times to gain a footing with their Ammon-
Calucit?

It was pointed out that it was for the German concerns to settle their own
internal arrangements, and Dr. Aufschlager proposed to take up the matter
with his German competitors at an early stage. In the course of the discussion
Mr. Richter referred to the possibility of satisfying the Westfalisch-Anhaltische
by giving them orders, and this is to be explored.
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(fir) Are the English competitors who are not under the control of Nobel
Industries likely to also become competitors in markets abroad?

Sir Harry stated that he anticipated no difficulty in dealing with the small
U. K. concerns not under Nobel control.

(ft) Is there any prospect of bringing the Japanese factories, both the pri-

vate company, Nippon Kayaku Kaisha, and the Government Works, Iwahana,
into line?

It was recognized that the situation in Japan presented exceptional difficul-

ties. Sir Harry threw out the suggestion that it might be considered whether
an endeavour should be made to bring about an understanding with the Nippon
Kayaku Kaisha in the form of a financial merger. The German representa-
tives undertook to think this over.

Lead azide detonators.—Mr. Mitchell asked Dr. Miiller how he proposed to

deal with the present position in regard to lead azide detonators in the United
Kingdom, pointing out that in the Nobel view no proper patent existed in the
aluminum tube, and that it was open for any manufacturer to use that tube, as
the patent is wholly invalid for reasons of lack of description and novelty. It

was made quite clear to Dr. Aiifschlager and Dr. Miiller that the British com-
panies made it a condition that the matter must be adjusted to their satisfac-

tion, and Dr. Miiller undertook to study the matter again pending the next
meeting and to hold up any project for developing manufacture in the United
Kingdom until further discussion. He gave personal explanations of why he
did not approach Nobels in regard to the exploitation of his alleged patent to

the effect that, as he did not anticipate any resumption of friendly relation-

ships, he had to endeavour to exploit his invention through some other channel.
During the discussion it was stated by Dr. Aubert that the Bofors company

had actually shipped fifty tons of nitrocellulose powder to the Argentine Gov-
ernment, and steps have been taken to have this information confirmed or
otherwise.

Finally, the meeting concluded with a suggestion that Sir Harry should
invite the American representatives to a meeting to be held in the early days of

November.

22d OcTOBEB 1924.
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November 21, 1924.

Mr. Waltek S. Carpenter,
(c/o Mr. Jasper E. Crane, 54 New Broad Street.)

London, E. C. 2, England.

Dear Waltek: The following is our version of the coded cables received and
sent to you to date:

Cable from H. G. Haskell, dated November 11th

:

"Adjourned until twenty-ninth. Send by mail to reach London not later
than twenty-sixth our exact sales high explosives caps and electrics each
South American country and Mexico for each of two two-year periods ending
June thirtieth nineteen fourteen and June thirtieth nineteen twenty-four."

Cable to London November 13th:
" Haskell informatiton asked is available prior to January 1, 1914, only

by calendar years stop Mailing Saturday without fail data "for 1912, 1913,
first half 1914, 1922, 1923, first half 1924 stop Advise Walter family all well."
Cable to London, November 17th :

" Carpenter : Have you considered getting option on Coswig, thereby bettering
trading position with German Nobel, also making possible advantageous con-
tinuation of those rivals? Your family all well."
Cable from London from W. S. Carpenter : Nov. 20th.
" Your telegram of November ISth received by Haskell. Brown away,

Haskell here tonight, meanwhile we saw Sir Harry McGowan stop For our
information Coswig controlled by Stinnes interests stop Production in most
part consumed by Stinnes operation also. Desire export outlet stop Sir
Harry McGowan Mitchell Stamp (MAVJB—could not decode) ; unalterably
opposed to Nobel Industries Ltd. investing in German Company now stop In
view of this, cable whether you desire us to explore possibilities further "
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Cable to London November 20th :

•'Carpenter: Your telegram received duU'd Nov. -JOtli. Lnnimot and 1 believe

explore possibilities desirable
"

I was just as much surprised as you to find what the German situation is

with respect to their own internal competition, and it struck me right off the

bat that it would be useless to make much of an arrangement with the Ger-

man Nobels leaving out half of the German capacity under control of Coswig
and others. My idea was, as you have correctly gathered, to acquire an op-

tion at some price on Coswig, \vith an idea that we could then first use it as

a lever on the German Nobels for satisfactory terms, and second, combine the

two competing organizations so as to get greater economy in manufacture and
eliminate needless competition.
The fact that Coswig is largely a consumer organization should not pre-

clude such a move, in fact it is an added incentive for putting it through, for

there is notliing as dangerous as a largely consumer company, which is at-

tempting to reach out for other trade. We recognized that situation in

Canada and Purvis was able to acquire the company in question. We have
the same situation with Apache and it is a serious menace to the Mexican
business. I should think that the Stinnes outfit would be glad to make a con-
tract with a company controlled by such an organization as ours which would
insure them of reasonable returns, especially if those returns were payable in

America. I think we ought to expect a bargain because of the value of that
insured tax-free payment.
The tacking on of words to the effect that your family are all well is not

a formality. I have stopped at your house and inquired for them before
sending each of tlie cables. They are all happy and full of pep. I was also
delighted to find how much better IMrs. Wooten is. She seems quite spry and
about the way she used to be ten years ago.
Understand that Echols has given you all the latest news yesterday.

Sincerely yours,

Ie^niSe du Pont.

Exhibit No. 1075

If we invested in these German companies this investment it appears to me,
is justified because of a combination of two reasons, first, the reasonable
prospects in the long run of a fair return on the money, and second, the ad-
vantages to be gained by Du Pont through the closer contact with those
companies, particularly as regards future development. It seems to me that
an attempt on our part to inject into our negotiations with the Germans any-
special precautionary measures such as the above are not compatible with our
status as a stockholder and may largely destroy the spirit of fellowship and
partnership which it is hoped this investment will engender. I think it will
be necessary for us to work with Nobel in this and do as they do, but I would
recommend to the finance committee that they do not impose the adoption of
one or more of these measures as a condition of their approval.

(The above is paragraph 3, on page 3. of report to finance committee, from
Treasurer W. S. Carpenter, Jr., dated October 2nd, 1925.)

Exhibit No. 1076

Commercial Aspect of Proposaii

The above deals with the financial aspect, but the second and, to my mind,
even more important point than obtaining 5% return is the fact that" by the
introduction of this money we secure a closer and more binding community
of interests than is practicable by any other form of cooperation. In our nego-
tiations for trading understandings we have found the German people very
reasonable, and we have succeeded in securing agreement to their total ab-
stention for a period of five years from competition with us in any of the
British markets, and I feel sure that we shall get agreement—provided' we join
financially with them—to making that period ten years. They have also" ex-
pressed their willingness to leave the African Company's territory alone and to
work jointly with us in those markets in which we are both interested. Fur-
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ther, agreement has been reached that they will refrain fi'om doing anything
likely to prejudice the interests of the various companies in which we are
interested in the Balkan States. All these undertakings will, I am sure, sub-
stantially strengthen our position in the various export markets and will en-
able us to make our business there far more remunerative than would be pos-
sible in competition. Another important aspect which should not only improve
the financial return to the German companies themselves but have a beneficial
effect on our foreign trade, is that they have now come to agreement with
their German competitors for a quota allocation of the home- trade, and as a
direct outcome of this there is every hope that we shall be able to induce those
competitors to refrain from, or restrict their activities in, competition with us.

(The above is paragraph 1 on page 8 of report from H. McGowan to the
directors of Nobel Industries, Ltd., dated September 14, 1925, and attached to

report to finance committee from treasurer dated October 2nd, 192r>.

)
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E. I. Du PoNT DE Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Delawark, U. S. A.,

European Office, Capel House,
54 New Brood Street, London, E. C. 2, December 11, 1926.

PERSONAL & CONFIDENTIAL

Du PoNT Nitrate Co.,

Wilmington, Delaivare, U. S. A., Valparaiso, Chile.

Copy to Messrs. Lamot du Pont, pres. ; H. G. Haskell, V. P.

Mr. Jasper E. Crane,
Lazote, Inc.

Your letters of November 29th and December 2nd have been received, and T

arranged an interview with Sir Harry at the first available time, which turned
out to be yesterday, Dec. 16th.

I opened the discussion along the lines that you suggested, and at first Sir
Harry seemed moderately hopeful that there might be a possibility of arrang-
ing some cooperation in the field of ammonia between du Pont and Imperial
Chemical Industries., Ltd. He said, however, that it would be impossible to do
anything at the present time as there were other factors which would have
to be considered, and then went on to give me a general picture of what he and
Sir Alfred Mond had in mind in the matter of international agreements. He
cautioned me several times that this was an extremely confidential matter and
must on no account be allowed to leak out.

When Sir Harry was in New York he met Sir Alfred Mond there and in the
course of a couple of hours' conversation these two had reached practical
agreement to consolidate the Britisli chemical ^ industries in a single company.
The details of this agreement were arranged shortly after the return of Sir
Harry to London, with the result which you now know. While in New York
Professor Bosch was informed of the proposed amalgamation, and expressed
himself as extremely well pleased, and it was arranged that he would stop
off in London on his return to Germany. Unfortunately, however, he con-

tracted influenza on the voyage and proceeded direct to Heidelberg. A meeting
has been suggested between Sir Alfred Mond, Sir Harry McGowan, and Profes-
sor Bosch in Paris for the second weelc in February, and it is probable that
this arrangement will be carried through. An earlier meeting is impossible
because Sir Alfred Mond is leaving in a day or so for a holiday in the south
of France, and Sir Harrv McGowan is going in January for a holiday in

Egypt.
Sir Harry explained that tl>e formation of I. C. I. is only the first step in

a compreliensive scheme which he has in mind to rationalize chemical manu-
facture of the world. The details of such a scheme are not worked out, not
even in Sir Harry's own mind, but the broad picture includes working arrange-
ments between three groups—the I. G. in Germany, Imperial Chemical Indus-
tries, in the British Empire and du Ponts and the Allied Chemical & Dye in

America. The next step in the scheme is ay arrangement of some sort between

1 Correction.
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the Germans and tbe British. He appreciates fully, or at least he says he does,

the supreme difficulty in the way of the final step, namely, the personality of
the management of the Allied Chemical & Dye. In spite of this he is hopeful
that a satisfactory arrangement can be come to. He hopes to develop some
scheme involving financial ties binding the three groups together. By this he
does not mean exchange of shares so that each company will own part of the
shares of the other two. Just what he has in mind I could not learn, and it

is possible that the thing is too intangible at present for him to express it.

Sir Harry's attitude during the first part of our discussion was sufficiently

hopeful to lead me to suggest the questions of contact hydrogen and methanol,
but after we developed the subject further, it seemed evident that there was no
prospect of getting any immediate satisfaction. The question of contact liydro-

gen cannot be discussed, he says, until the broader questions of international
cooperation are settled. When I mentioned methanol, he explained that I. C. I.

had very definite plans to manufacture methanol in England within the next
year. As Major Bai'ley already knew, through conversations he had had in

Wilmington, about our proposed methanol manufacture, I explained that the
process we expected to use, we believed, would be unique and of unusual ad-
vantage from the standpoint of cost, especially if used in conjunction with the
manufacture of synthetic ammonia. I added that I hoped our relations with
I. C. I. would be sufliciently close to place us in a position where we should be
able to offer this process to them. Here, again, there is nothing to be done until

after the Paris meeting.
I also mentioned the question of the possible sale of your ammonia companies

in Australia. He rather brushed this aside, saying that the I. C. I. had very
definite plans to manufacture synthetic ammonia in Australia. I do not feel

that this is at all hopeless, however, and it is quite possible that later on they
would be glad to give consideration to acquiring the going concerns in which you
have such an important share interest.

I inquired whether the Brunner, Mond organization were disposed to be
fi'iendly with us, and Sir HaiTy replied that he could at any rate say their
attitude was not unfriendly. He did not propose to have the twenty years'
friendship which the Nobel Company and he personally had enjoyed with the
du Pont Company and du Pont officials terminated as a result of the formation
of I. C. I., and he expected to be able to influence the other members of the
amalgamation in our direction, and he rei>eatedly assured me that he would use
every effort to do this.

The only ominous note in our whole conversation was his final word that
he would see to it that no hostile steps against the du Pont Company were
taken by I. C. I. or any combination which they might arrange with the Germans
without telling us of it beforehand. He repeated this twice. This is perhaps
capable of several interpretations, but to me personally it indicates that while
he will do everything reasonably possible to maintain his friendship with us,

nevertheless if the interests of the larger scheme demand it, he will regretfully
accept the principle of the greatest good for the greatest number.

In the course of our conversation I mentioned our joint financial interests in
various companies, and expressed the belief that I. C. I.'s interest in General
Motors would exceed their holdings in Allied Chemical. Personally, I was a
little in doubt about this, but strictly speaking. I find it is true. Sir Harry
did not know the extent of their holdings in Allied, but he believed that Brunner^
Monds, together with Belgian Solvay, held about 25% of the total common stock
of the Allied Chemical & Dye Co. This agrees with my impression. The figures
which I have understood to be true were that Brunner, Monds held 100,000 shares
and Belgian Solvay 400,000. I have always supposed, rightly or wrongly, that
these two together could be considered as a unit so far as any influence they
might exert on the conduct of affairs in Allied Chemical. I may be quite wrong
about this, but at the first chance I shall try to find out just what the relation-
ship between Brunner, Monds and the Belgian Solvay is. Nobels' present hold-
ing in General Motors is 150,000 shares. Taking the par value of their invest-
ment in General Motors, together with the par value of their investments in
C. X. L., Northern Giant, the Chilean Explosives Co., and Nobel Chemical
Finishes, Ltd., this gives a total of approximately $25,000,000 ; i. e., I. C. I. will
inherit Nobels' investments to the extent of $25,000,000 in companies which are
very closely associated with the du Pont Company. If we consider Belgian
Solvay and Brunner, Monds as a single group, the corresponding figure for
I. C. I.'s interest in Allied would be $50,000,000. If the relationship is not so
close, I. C, I.'s interest alone would be $10,000,000 ; all of the above at parity.
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I am sure you will understand Sir Harry's insistence on the confidential nature

of his talk with me and be guided accordingly. I shall make a special effort

to see Mr. Pickard before he sails home and acquaint him with this situation.

His present plans are uncertain, and it is possible that he may get to England.

If he does not, I shall make sure to see him in Paris before he sails.

If you have any further instructions or suggestions in connection with coop-

eration on synthetic ammonia, I shall be glad to receive them.

In accordance with your request, I gave you the gist of the above in our cable

of today, copy of which is attached.

WRS/AAD. Enc. conf. of cable.

Wendell R. Swint.

Exhibit No. 1078

[MS-SO-A. T-763]

Bureau Technique,

Jfl Avenue de L'Opera, Paris, November 3, 1926.

Nobel agreement.

Major K. K. V. Casey,
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del.

Dear Sir- 1 During the week of October the 11th I was in London discussing

the details of cooperation with Nobel, in view of the remit of the Wilmington

minutes of July 20th, 1926, whereby it was agreed that the Nobel and du Pont

military sales departments would cooperate in Europe. There were many

delays in coming to this agreement, due to the vacation period, and immediately

after the Nobel people were very much occupied with the formation of the new

consolidation of the British Chemical Industries. For the information of the

smokeless-powder department, if they have not been othenvise informed the

British Chemical Industries, including Nobel, British Dyestuffs, and some ot the

similar industries, are considering a consolidation which may result m the

formation of a new comjiany in which Nobel may be absorbed.

2 I am attaching to this letter a description of the agreement which we have

come to This is not the final official copy, but it expresses entirely the agree-

ment arrived at, and the final copy will be the same, and I am expecting tc

receive it any day from London.

3. I will now discuss the agreement point by point.

Above extract taken from page 1 to paragraph 1 of letter of Mr. W. N. Taylor

to Maior K. K. V. Casey, under date of November 3, 1926.

Par 8. I aim to prepare a monthly report for my territory, a copy of which

«oes to Wilmington, Vienna, and London, covering the entire business of both

Barties. Vienna is to prepare a monthly report, with a copy for me and a copj

for Wilmington, covering business in their territory. The duty of Mr. Smith

and myself, to work out the allocations the best we can.
, ^^ ^ , .„ .

Par. 9. I am to give Mr. Smith prices on our goods, and Nobel will give me

prices on their goods.
. , „ ,, ^ ^_^^

Par 10 Nobel have already issued to me powers covering most of the coun-

tries where I am to work for them, but these powers will have to be alterec

in their expression, as they are too personal and apply to my personality rathei

than 10 my function as a representative of the du Pont Company. We musl

give Mr. Smith a letter of some kind of power so that he will be able to prop-

Irly represent us, and I propose to write the following letter to Mr. Smith anc

sign it in the name of the company covering each couni ry in ^yhlch he repre

gents us This will permit him to start negotiations. It would be preferable

of course, if these letters were signed in Wilmington, but in order to save tim(

I feel sure you will permit me to sign these letters,

SAMPLE
" Mr. L. W. BicKFORD Smith,

" Bruckncrstranse 8, Vienna, IV, Austria.

"Dear Sir: This letter is to certify that Nobel Industries, Ltd., are oui

authorized agents for the sale of propellant powders, trinitrotoluol, and mtro-

cotton in the State of , and, therefore, you, as their representative, arc
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fully accredited to conduct all negotiations for the above-mentioned materials

on our behali.
" Very truly yours,"

In case that a power of attorney is needed in a specific instance by Mr. Smith,

I presume you will have no objections to sending him one.

Par. 11. This confirms the principle of the original sale to arms manufac-

turers in our respective countries; but in case we push a cartridge order to

Kynochs furnished to them by Nobel counts in the quota. This is very useful,

as it gives us an European cartridge factory to play with.

Par. 12. This is self-explanatory.

Par. 13. This is an assurance that Nobel considers us her first friend, as the

TchecoslovaUs are the only military factory on the continent in which they are

profoundly interested, Spain having been settled by a previous agreement.

Above extract is taken from page 3, beginning with " paragraph 8 ", of letter

of Mr. W. N. Taylor to Major K. K. V. Casey, under date of Nov. 3, 1926.

Par. 14. Due to Mussolini's attitude towards importation, it is necessary for

us to have inside help to sell to Italy, and we think we may be able to make
an arrangement with an Italian factory through relations with the Societe

Centrale des Explosives, manufacturing Ballistite only, for furnishing N. C.

when desired.

Pars. 15, 16, and 17 are self-explanatory.

Par. 18. In the arrangement made between Nobel and the Germans and in

the arrangement contemplated by our people with the Germans, no mention was
made of military material at all, it being taken for granted that the matter

would not come up and that it was settled by the Treaty of Versailles. But
now we have to face the fact that the Germans have been admitted into the

League of Nations, and in accordance with the Treaty of Versailles once they

are admitted to the League they come under the supervision of the Council of

the League as to the manufacture and export of military material which may
at any time allow them to enter this field, and the Germans have already

requested the Council to consider this matter.

Mr. Marquardt, of the Hamburg Nobel, had a conversation with Nobel in

which he asked them if they would not do something to guard what they called

their international position in explosives in the case of their beginning the sale

of military explosives, and the Nobel people said that they were willing to

maintain their attitude ; that there was nothing in their agreement that entitled

the Germans to any consideration as regards their military material position.

They therefore wrote to Mr. Marquardt telling him so. I have not a copy of

their letter, but I have a copy of Mr. Marquardt's answer, which I enclose.

Nobel, however, says that in case the Council of the League officially permits

Germany to reenter the manufacture and export of military material that they

will have to reconsider the whole business, including their relations with the

Germans and their relations with us on the continent, regarding military

material. This is a very serious matter, and our officials who deal with such

matters should prepare themselves to the eventuality of having to reconsider

these various agreements in the case of the Germans becoming fully author-

ized by the League of Nations to reenter the field of the manufacture and
export of military material. Not being familiar with the matter. I can offer

no suggestions except to report the reaction our conversations with the Germans
and Nobel's have on my business as mentioned in paragraph 18. While
nothing has been said, I think that Nobel feels that it may be necessary for

both du Pont and Nobel to withdraw from the military field in Europe when
Germany is released by the League.

I telegraphed to you the points which I thought would be most vital for you

to know and you telegraphed back your approval. I therefore presume that you
will approve this arrangement, and I will continue to work as if you have
approved it, as the sales season is coming on and we must not lose any more
time to put this matter in operation.

Very truly yours,
(S) WiLijAM N. Tayloe.

V7NT/AK.
The above is page 4 in full of letter of Mr. W. N. Taylor to Major K. K. V.

Casey, under date of November 8, 1926.
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Exhibit No. 1079

[File SP-410-AFduP]
December 22, 1926.

Du Pont-Nobel cooperation—Sales of military propellant powders and ex-
plosives.

To: Executive Committee (M. D. Fislier, secretary).
From : H. G. Hasl^ell and A. Felix du Pont.

The following suggested arrangement, whereby cooperation will be brought
about in the sales of propellant powders and other material for military pur-
poses, is hereby set forth and recommended. Mr. J. P. LafCey has been con-
sulted in regard to the legal aspects of this proposition and advises that there
is no objection from that standpoint to entering into such an arrangement.

In accordance with the remit of the Wilmington minutes (military) of July
20th, 1926, that Colonel Taylor and Mr. Major should discuss details of the
du Pont-Nobel cooperation in Europe, the following arrangement, subject to
ratification by the Nobel and du Pont administration, resulted from a meeting
held in London on October 14, 1926.

Present: Colonel W. N. Taylor, Mr. A. G. Major, Mr. J. Laing, Mr. L. W. B
Smith, Mr. W. Shearer, Mr. R. B. Brown.

1. The products embraced within the scope of this arrangement are the fol-

lowing, for naval and military purposes only : Propellant powders, trinitro-

toluol, tetryl, nitrocellulose for propellant powders.
2. The du Pont office in Paris, administered by Colonel Taylor, to supervise

the following territory both on behalf of du Pont and Nobel : France, Belgium,
Holland, Denmark, Sweden, Finland, Esthonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland.

3. The Nobel office in Vienna, administered by Mr. L. "W. B. Smith, to super-
vise the following territory both on behalf of Nobel and du Pont: Austria,
Czechoslovakia, Jugoslavia, Roumania, Bulgaria, Greece, Turkey.

4. Expenses of the Paris and Vienna oflBces to be borne by du Pont and
Nobel, respectively.

5. Nobel's agents in the territory falling under the supervision of du Pout's
to refrain from offering the products falling under the scope of this arrange-
ment, and similarly to du Pont agents in the territory falling under the super-
vision of Nobel's to abstain from offering the products coming within the scope
of this arrangement, except by special agreement between the principals.

6. Allocation of sales between Noliel and du Pont to be determined in the
following proportions

:

Combined sales of nitrocellulose poic-ders.—Du Pont to Nobel 7:3.
Combined sales of TNT.—Nobel to du Pont 7 : 3.

Nitroglycerin poivders.—Total sales to Nobel.
Notwithstanding the above proportions, Nobel agree in respect to N. C.

powder to limit their quota to a yearly maximum of 30O tons, whilst du Pont
agree in respect to TNT to limit their quota to a yearly maximum of 300 tons.

It is recognized that in actual practice these quotas may not be adhered to.

and it is therefore suggested to the Du Pont and Nobel management that at
the end of each year adjustment shall be made for services rendered in the
event of one party obtaining an overquota by the payment of some agreed
amount per unit of oversales.

7. With a view to the interchange of information on cordite and nitrocellulose

powders as between Colonel Taylor and Nobel technicians, arrangements to be
made for Colonel Taylor to have detailed discussions with the Nobel technical
department. It is understood that as and when occasion demands. Colonel
Taylor is to be provided with technical assistance from Nobel necessitated by
inquiries from his territory, whilst reciprocally Mr. Smith may call for tech-

nical assistance from Colonel Taylor where necessary.
8. Copies of all correspondence to be exchanged between the Paris and Vienna

offices shall be sent to the Nobel offices in London.
9. It is suggested that minimum prices acceptable to the principals be indi-

cated to Colonel Taylor and to Mr. Smith, also that the credit policy be defined

as regards specific countries.
10. Colonel Taylor to be provided with a power of attorney from Nobel, should

experience show this to be desirable, whilst reciprocally provision to be made for
Mr. Smith to be granted a power of attorney by Du Pont should occasion de-

mand, but, irrespective of powers of attorney, each party to be furnished with
credentials designed to give them entry to war offices, government departments,
etc., on behalf of both Nobel and Du Pont.
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11. Business emanating through armament firms, including Kynocli, Limited,
to be excluded from the terms hereof, but should Colonel Taylor be instrumental
in diverting ammunition orders to Kynoch, Limited, the powder used for loading
such ammunition to form part of the respective quotas according to whether
it be made in America or at Ardeer.

12. Blasting explosives and other products manufactured by the principals
are specifically excluded from the scope of this arrangement, and Colonel
Taylor undertakes to refer any inquiries he may receive respecting explosives
for industrial purposes to Nobel.

13. With regard to Czechoslovak Explosives, Ltd., it is iinderstood that where
this firm meets us in competition in countries outside Czechoslovakia, then they
shall be treated as ordinary competitors, unless Mr. L. W. B. Smith can find

some means of compromise on any particular order.
14. Italy: It is considered that for the time being Italy should be handled

through Nobel's French connections.
15. Government objection or prohibition shall be a valid excuse on the part

of either of the parties hereto to decline to make disclosure of information
pertaining to products within the scope of this arrangement.

16. It is agreed that this arrangement shall not entail the exchange of costs.

17. The arrangement to be for twelve months and to continue thereafter
unless either party gives three months' notice to terminate.

18. In the event of the embargo under the Versailles Treaty on the export of
propellants and military ammunition from Germany being partially or wholly
removed, tliis arrangement to be reviewed.

H. G. HAsKEi-ii AND A. Fehjx Du Pont.
AFduP :F.

Exhibit No. 1080

[Copy]

[File. C. S. A. E. I. C. I. Explosives. I. C. I. Military. I. G. Explosives]

NoBEL House, Buckingham Gate,
London, S.W., 1, 21st May, 1928.

South America and the Germans.
Lammot du Pont, Esq.,

President E. I. du Pont de Netnours,
Wilmington, Delaware.

Dear Mb. Lammot du Pont: Our German friends have been advised by their
agents in Valparaiso that the government are issuing enquiries for the erec-
tion of a TNT factory in Chile. It is not clear yet whether the Germans are
aware that the whole question of propellants is being examined by the Chilean
Government, but I should say that they do know. At any rate they ask us
what we know of the matter, and, therefore, we must show our hand to some
extent in answering them.
We have discussed the matter and we feel that a question of principle arises

on which we should like to liave your opinion. The question to be answered
is whether on South American propellant factories, in general, we should
cooperate with the Germans.
The case as we see it is as follows

:

(1) Despite the Treaty of Versailles the Germans can compete with us in

Chile or elsewhere as we cannot prevent the export of brains and the manu-
facture of plant ; they could easily obtain any plant they might require from
a neutral country.

(2) Many hold the opinion that it will not be long before Germany, as regards
armaments, will be put on identical terms with the other signatories to the
Locarno agreement ; it therefore may be that at some future date we may
want to collaborate with them in propellant business as we do on industrial

explosives.

Supposing we and Du Ponts tender for the Chilean Government military
factory without reference to the Germans, we may expect them to compete.
Unless finance would be a stumbling block, they would probably be low
bidders.

83876^.^5—PT 12 16
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Witli regard Lo Chile, one could reasonably advance the argument that the
Germans, by refusing to take financial participation in the Chile Company,
have ruled themselves out of participation in any scheme that is being worked
out by the Chile company, and if it is desired to offer them a sliare, then it

might quite well be agreed that they should take it through the Chile company.
This might offer a solution of quota difficulties with Hamburg in Chile and
Bolivia.

As the Chilean factory proposals have now taken definite shape, and as the

Germans are asking us for our views, I should feel obliged if you would let us
have a cable from you when you have had time to consider this matter.
With kind regard,

Yours sincerely,
(Signed) H. J, MiTCHEax.

('• Exhibit No. 1081 " appears in test on p. 2795.)

Exhibit No. 1082

[Copy]
December 26, 1928.

I, G. Nitrogen Plans in United States.

Mr. F. W. PiCKAKD,
% London Office:

This will confirm our cable of December 22nd.
Mr. Burton, president of the American Agricultural Chemical Company, re-

cently told me that there would be a third large synthetic ammonia plant in this

country, as foreign interests were going to build a plant and had already
arranged for the necessary financing. Mr. MacDowell, president of the Armour
fertilizer works, has just told me that the I. G. are going ahead with a synthetic

ammonia plant, not from natural gas, but located in the coal fields, and he
appeared to have received this information from Mr. Krauch or Mr. Schneider,
who, as you know, have been over here. Carl Peters has given out an interview
that the I. G. are considering building a synthetic ammonia plant in the United
States in alliance with a powerful industrial group who are not now engaged
in nitrogen fixation.

These statements were sufficiently affirmative to make us think that a U. S.

plant is again receiving serious consideration by the I. G., and it is bad news.
My feeling is that ultimately we will, by our own efficiency, stand on our own
feet and not be fearful that a second large competitor will become established in

the ammonia field, but that during the next two or three years there is grave
danger of increased competition which once established would always have to

be dealt with, and that we should do everything we can to keep the I. G. from
coming in.

In the talks in Heidelberg a year ago Bosch was very emphatic in stating that
the building of additional ammonia plants anywhere was " a foolishness ", and
in answer to Lammot du Pout's query about their own building projects he
stated very warmly that these were all under weigh and they would not build
any more ammonia plants ; he had stated that before, was ready to state it

again, that they would give an undertaking not to build any more ammonia
plants. Also you will remember that their great interest in our project seemed
to be particularly along the line of limiting the size of the American plant.

So, if they are seriously considering an ammonia plant in the United States it

is absolutely inconsistent with their declared policy a year ago. The overpro-
duction they spoke about then seems even more sure now to be in process of
realization.

You will recall that the upshot of our negotiations with the I. G. a year ago
was that we could not get together on the control of the enterprise, particularly
as affecting the size of the plant, and that they proposed to hold the whole
matter in abeyance and see us again in May of this past year, which they did

not do.

I have discussed the whole matter with the executive committee, and the
president has approved the cable sent to you. We feel here that it would be
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well to take a stronger line on this subject than we have hitherto, and try to

Convey to them the unwisdom of invading this country by manufacturing nitro-

PS products here, which would lead us to take steps to protect our own

'''l''hope'you can talk it all over with Professor Bosch. If he says that they are

not going ahead, well and good. If he admits that they are considering the

establishment of an American company, you may think it wise to point out

that this is inconsistent with their declared policy and an unfriendly act to

the Du Pont interests. We have gone ahead to enlarge our plant, as we told

them we would, but we do not propose to go beyond the present moderate-size

Dlant of 125 tons of ammonia a day until further expansion is thoroutih y

iustified The Allied plant at Hopewell, we now definitely learn, will promptly

have a capacity of 300 tons a day. These two plants will take care ot American

needs, and there is no economic reason for a third plant.
_ .^, u ^^

For—and I think this is a very potent argument with them, though they

will be reluctant to believe it—our experimental work has progressed so favor-

ably that we are confident that we will produce hydrogen and ammonia more

cheaply than anyone else will be in a position to do in this country. Despite

the rumors that have been circulated about our lack of success, our cost of

manufacture is satisfactorily low today and will drop, we believe, to the lowest

""^Beskles^nd I am sure quite distinct from this I. G. threat to build a plant

Here—the Consolidated Mining & Smelting Company are, as you know, plan-

ning to go into synthetic ammonia in British Columbia. Mr. Blaylock, their

managing director, is going abroad early in the year to see European ammonia

processes and expects to see the I. G. There is some danger that the Con-

solidated and I. G. would get together in a joint enterprise for making syn-

thetic ammonia ; but I feel sure that this would be unwise on the part of 1. G.,

inasmuch as Consolidated people, who are, between us, a pretty ruthless bunch,

would not be satisfied with a development of the nitrogen business in Canada,

but also plan to export nitrogen products to the Far East, which would be

decidedlv against the interest of the I. G. They simply couldn t control Con-

«olidated's actions at all, and will probably reject cooperation with them on

that account You may not feel in a position to discuss this Consolidated

project, but I thought I would add this point for your information.

Jasper E. Crane.

JEC-LDN
End.

Exibit No. 1083

[File 24 : Bulgarian Government. BMl/BS/GEC]

BiCKFORD AND COMPANY, A. G.

London office, Noble Industries, Ltd., Nobel House
Vienna, 9th July 1928,

IV, Bruckerstrasse 8.

Bulgaria powder factory.

Colonel WnxiAM N. Taylor,
16 Place Vendome, Paris.

Dear Colonel Tayt.or : Replying to your question of July 5th, I should like

to say that Noble Industries, in view of the small size of its powder factory

desired by the Bulgarians and the consequent small amount of profit to be made

out of erecting a factory, did not consider it worth all the work and risk that

would be entailed, except, perhaps, as a means of obtaining interim powder

orders during the building period. These interim powder orders, which mi^ht

run to about 80 tons p. a., cannot be guaranteed by the Bulgarian War

Office because it has to seek permission every time it wishes to import. Never-

less they are likely to be given to the people contracting to erect the factory

There was a further reason why we did not wish to hand in an offer for this

powder factory, and that is that for us to erect a military powder factory in

Bulgaria would have seriously prejudiced our chances of succeeding in our

negotiations for the industrial explosives monopoly in Jugoslavia.
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My energies, therefore, were directed toward getting somebody else to tender
for tlie erection of the factories and on the understanding that if they were
succssful they would endeavor to stipulate that the interim orders be passed
to them for execution by us. I was successful in this respect, but it meant our
undertaking to finance the Koeln-Rottweil-Bratislava proposition in return for

a third share of the profits (if any) made on the erection of the factories. I

think you must agree that this is the best arrangement that could be made in

the circumstances.
The present position has just been reported to me this morning by the Brati-

slave representative who has just spent five weeks in sunny Sofia, handing in

the tenders and holding on for the result. The position is as follows : The com-
mission appointed to decide on the tenders allotted the work to our group, which
handed in a tender in the name of the Bratislava Noble Company. The War
Minister, however, was unable to sign the contracts, because our tenders (and
I believe all others) exceeded the amount for which he asked to expend on
these factories. There will be, therefore, a fresh adjudication in September,
at which I believe Bratislava has every prospect of obtaining the contract, and
we any subsequent powder orders that may be going.
With kind regards.

Yours very truly,

(Signed) .

Exhibit No. 1084

[File: MS-80-A]

* BXCEBPT

11. The competitors for this business are very few: Aktiebolaget Bofora, of
Sweden ; Vickers Armstrong, of England ; and Schneider, of France. As you
know, these three firms work under a common agreement and apparently, if

Bofors does not get the business, it will go to Schneider. We believe that the
H. I. H. is active on this enquiry and will probably present a bid also.

12. The Bofors company presented the most interesting offer, giving for each
gun a longer range than the Schneider guns, but the Turks are evidently be-

coming a little wiser as to Bofors' ways of getting business, and they decided
to send a commission to the various factories to verify that their statements
in writing checked with the actual performance of the guns. This commission
is at present at Bofors, and we are informed that, after being once more ver-

bally informed of the excellent performance of Bofors' guns, they had some
firings made, which proved that the statements were false and that the guns do
not function as stated. This has caused a great deal of ill feeling in the com-
mission against Bofors. After completing its report, the Turkish commission
is proceeding to France ; it therefore looks as if the chances of Schneider get-

ting the business are increased.
13. Under the bids, the furnislier of the guns is alsa called upon to supply a

certain number of complete rounds for each gun, and under this plan, Schneider
submitted specifications for French TNT having a solidification point of 79.5° C.

and French powder specifications.

14. The Turkish technical commission in Angora has rejected these specifi-

cations and states that it requires materials complying with its own TNT
specifications, which are the Ardeer specifications for TNT 80.5° C, and with
its nitrocellulose powder specifications, which are in accordance with United
States speciflcations.

15. They have indicated to Schneider that if that firm cannot obtain mate-
rials complying with those specifications in France, they will have to import
them from abroad for loading in, and transmit through France.

16. There are no negotiations on these matters yet, as the whole proposition

is not yet mature, but this is the general situation today.

(" Exhibit No. 1085 " appears in text on p. 2801.)

The above excerpt is page 3 (starting with par. 11 and onding with pjir. 10) fnim
letter of Mr. William N. Tavlor, 16, Place Vendome, Paris, to Ma.ior K. K. V. Casey,

Wilmington, Delaware, T-1130, under date of February 18th, 1928.
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Exhibit No. 1085-A
Sweden.

Received: Feb. 24, 1928.

Foreign Relations Committee.

STOOKHOLMS SUPEaiFOSFAT FABBIKS AKTIEBOLAG
(STOCKHOLM)

"Oa*iital: Kr. IS.OGOjOOO.
Manfs. : Superphosphates, calcium carbide, calcium cyanamid, sulphate of am-

monia, chlorate of potash and soda, etc.

Owns : 5CM[5%> of capital of Nitroglycerin A/B.
Directors: G. Sandstrom, C. Edluud (Man. Dir.), M. A. Seymer, James Hunch,

Rich. Nilsson, H. Nordenson, Ivar Olsson.

Net promts
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AKTIEBOLAGET BOFOEf? KOBEI-KKUT

(Bofors)

Capital: Kr. 2,000,000.

Manfs. : Smokeless powder, nitrocellulose, trotyl, tetryl, hexyl, dynamite.
Directors: H. Th. Holm, R. Sohlman, S. Wingquist, G. Ekman, S. Nauckhoff,

C. Edlund, C. Berlin (Man. Dir.).

Net pi'ofits
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Exhibit No. 10S7
London, July 9th, 1929.

Letter from E. I. du Pont de Nemours European Office, Capel House, 54, New
Broad Street, London, E. C. 2, England.

To Mr. Fred G. Singer, 16 Place Vendome, I'aris ler, France.

Deae Fred: Your letter of July 8tb has been received, and we have had a

talk with Mr. Laing, of Imperial Chemical Industries regarding the visit

of Mr. Luthyen, of Imperial Chemical Industries Vienna office.

It might be well to explain our present position with regard to Bofors

in the South American commercial explosive market. This company last year

sold approximately 150 tons in that market, and it is thought that it might

be well to make a quota arrangement with them. It was agreed, during the

last board meeting of Explosives Industries, Limited, held on June 14th, that

Mr. Marquard, of D. A. G., would open negotiations with Mr. Berlin early in

August to bring about the desired arrangement.
It was further agreed at this meeting that no mention would be made of

propellants, but it was the feeling of those present that Bofors' representative

might possibly want to bring in propellants. If so, it is understood that Mr.
Felix du Pont has expressed his willingness to attempt a deal with Bofors.

It was also agreed that if the meeting between Mr. Marquard and Mr. Ber-

lin precipitated the propellants question, Mr. Marquard would report the mat-
ter, and we would then put the question before you and the other interested

parties for your decision.

In conversation with Mr. Laing this morning he intimated that Mr. Luthyen
had not been called to London to carry on negotiations with Bofors, but that

among other things the matter of Bofors' competition would be talked over with
him, and Mr. Laing intended to secure his views, so that in case the matter
of propellants came up later Mr. Laing would then be in possession of Mr.
Luthyen's ideas on the matter.
We believe the above will explain the situation, but if there are any points

on which we have not made ourselves clear, please advise. You also may want
to think over the matter of propellants, in case this question is brought up
later.

Yours faithfully, (Signed) Philip J. Kimball.
RM.

[ Explosives—Sweden ]

Exhibit No. 1088

E. I. DU Pont de Nemoues & Company,
Explosives Dsa'AETMENT,

WiUnington, Delaware, May H, 1930.

E. I. L.—Bofors.
Mr. J. K. Jennet : I am enclosing for your information and files, copy of

letter of May 5th from Mr. Donaldson to Mr. Swiut and copy of letter of
April 26th from Bofors to Mr. Marquardt, together with copy of the agreement
referred to therein.

J. W. McCoy.
[Explosives—Sweden]

5th May 1930.
Bofors agreement—private.

W. R. SwiNT, Esq.,

E. I. du Pont de Nemours d Co.,

5Jf New Broad Street, E. C. 2.

Deab Mb. Swint : We have now heard from Mr. Marquardt that the agree-
ment with Bofors has been sigTied by Mr. Herlin. Copies of translation of
this are enclosed herewith.
You will see that the question of Bofors interesting tliemselves in local

manufacture of commercial explosives abroad has not been dealt with in the
agreement, but Mr. Herlin has written a letter undertaking to communicate
with us or with Mr. Marquardt in the event of his receiving any enquiries.

Copy of this letter is also enclosed herewith.
Yours very truly,

(S) E. L L. (Ltd.).

(Encs.)
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[Explosives—Sweden]

Abschbift Aktebolaget Bofobs Nobexkeut,
Bofors, den 264.1930.

Erectiou of factory.

Hekrn Dibektor Emil Marquaedt,
Dynamit-Actie^i-Oesellschaft,

Alstertor 23, Hamburg, 1:

With regard to the contract which we enclose herewitli signed by us and
which refers to our export of dynamite, we confirm herewith that we shall
communicate with you if we get enquiries for the construction of factories for
commercial explosives.

Yours faithfully,

(Sgd.) Aktiebolaget Bofobs' Nobelkbut,
Herlin.

[Explosives—Swedeu]

Agbeement

Between the Dynamit Actien Gesellschaft vormals Alfred Nobel & Co.. Ham-
burg in Hamburg, as representative of the German and foreign companies
allied with them (in the following referred to as Hamburg) and Aktiebolaget
Bofors Nobelkrut of Bofors (in the following referred to as Bofors) the
following agreement lias been made today

Clause 1.—Bofors bind themselves to limit their exports of industrial explo-
sives to 330 (three hundred and thirty) tons of 2,000 lbs. each per annum.
This quantity shall as far as possible be disposed of in South America.

Clause 2.—Hamburg bind themselves to avoid everything which could hinder
in any way Bofors in the disposal of the before-mentioned quantity. For this

purpose the prices ruling for the various countries which come into consid-
eration will be made known to Bofors in order tliat Bofors can arrange their
prices in such a way as to enable them to dispose of the before-mentioned
quantity. Hamburg is also ready to quote occasionally at higher prices than
the ruling list prices in order that the Bofors prices shall not be reduced
unnecessarily, if and as far as this is possible in the interest of the consumers.

Clause S.—In cases where Bofoi-s is called upon to supply detonators (plain

and electric) and fuse, they biud themselves to adhere to the prices to be made
known to them by Hamburg in each case.

Clause Jf.—In order that Hamburg may be able to see which quantities are
to be delivered by Bofors under this contract, Bofors agrees to transmit at
the end of each quarter, commencing with the 1st quarter of 1930, to Hamburg
a statement of the quantities exported by the Bofors Co.

Clause 5.—This agreement commences on the 1st January 1930 and ter-

minates on the 31st December 1934.

Bofors, the Hamburg, the

(••Exhibit No. 1089" appears hi text on p. 2803.)

Exhibit No. 1090

[PO—1443]
Bofors. May 25th, 1934,

L. W. B. Smith, Esq.,
Imperial Chemical Industries,

Millhank, London, SW. I.

Dear Sir. I had the visit this morning from IVIr. Sohlman of Bofors. We
talked about the Greek adjudication and both expressed our dissatisfaction

with the manner in which the Greeks have conducted the affair.

Shortly the Greeks will ask for more samples and expect to repeat the same
kind of competition for another gun.
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Mr. Sohlman said that he was of a uiind uot to send samples next time, but
to offer to do nothing more than to put in a written offer, to be taken or left.

I told him that I thouglit it was a good thing to do and a way to teach the
Greeks.
We then discussed tlie question of the possibility of an agreement among the

principal powder manufacturers, whereby we would not present bids if the
requirements of the customers were unreasonable. We both thouglit that such
a thing might be possible.

We also discussed the possibility of making an agreement among the manu-
facturers on standard laboratory methods.
We did not talk about a price agreement, nor of any territory agreement of

any kind.
We discussed at length the general question of the possibility of an agreement

of some kind among military manufacturers, and we both thought that while
such an agreement might be possible as far as the manufacturers themselves
were concerned, that due to the political situation in Europe today, and due
to the general attitude toward arms manufacturers, any attempt to make a
formal agreement among manufacturers would cause the loudest and most
violent criticism and put us in a very disagreeable position. We would be
accused of joining together to foment wars, increase armaments, etc. And we
agreed that an agreement among military manufacturers and private manufac-
turers was a very different matter, and that any agreement made among mili-

tary manufacturers would be a grave political error.

Mr. Sohlman also stated that their powder factory was getting pretty filled

up with ordei-s and very soon they would be no longer able to offer reasonable
deliveries ; also that they are not feeling so liberal about matters as they have
in the past.

Very truly yours,
William N. Taylor.

WNT/MS.

Exhibit No. 1091

[Copy. Royal Dutch Shell]

Lazote, Inc.,

1001 Market Street, Wilmington, Del.,

Cooperation with Royal Dutch Shell. September 16, 1929.

Mr. Jasper E. Crane,
du Pont Ammonia Corporation, du Pont Building,

Wilmington, Delaicare.

Dear Mr. Crane: In considering the possibility of cooperative effort by du
Pont and I. C. I. with R. D. S. it should be recognized that the I. C. I. viewpoint
and the du Pont Ammonia Corporation viewpoint are fundamentally different.
The I. C. I. desire for cooperation has three objectives

:

(A) R. D. S. presents a source of methane which may be used for a great
variety of organic syntheses—-most of which are as yet undeveloped.

(B) It is desirable to curb the R. D. S. activities in nitrogen fixation.

(C) The R. D. S. are the leading factor in the gasoline business in England

—

I. C. I. propose manufacturing gasoline in EJngland and desire an alliance with
R. D. S. on this accounr, first, because it is felt that R. D. S. might shield I. C. I.'s

position in the gasoline field due to R. D. S.'s influence in the oil world, and,
second, R. D. S. could distribute I. C. I. gasoline through the large established
distributing organization which R. D. S. maintahis in England and which I. C. I.

does not desire to duplicate.
Objective "A", namely, the methane as a raw material for organic syntheses,

is, in my estimation, of minor importance and is probably brought to the fore to
no small extent in order to mask objective " C " when discussing the entire
subject with us.

That objective " B ", namely, the curbing of R. D. S. activities in nitrogen
fixation, is highly important in the eyes of I. C. I. there is absolutely no question.
However, I gather that I. C. I. do not know just how to go about this and their
suggested procedure seems to be rather brutal, namely, to form a holding com-
pany in which I. C. I. would be the cnntroUiiig factor—this holding company
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would veto all suggestions to build nitrogen-fixation plants. This proposed
method of procedure would be efficacious if practicable, but it seems unlikely

that it will be possible to draw an agreement which would make the suggested

procedure practicable.

In objective " C " it is quite clear that I. C. I. is an aggressor in the R. D. S.

field and obviously R. D. S. would feel toward I. C. I.'s coal hydrogenation
aspirations in precisely the same manner as I. C. I. feels about R. D. S. nitro-

gen fixation aspirations. It will be noted, however, that the I. C. I. does not

propose to keep out of coal hydrogenation and as an offset ask R. D. S. to

keep out of nitrogen fixation—quite the contrary, I. C. I. on the one hand
desires to hydrogenate coal and on the other hand desires to keep R. D. S.

from fixing nitrogen. Just how I. C. I. expect to accomplish this one-sided

cooperation is neither clear to me nor apparently "clear to the I. C. I., unless

the R. D. S. were inveigled into an agreement of a type which it seems quite

apparent the R. D. S. is far too smart to sign.

Insofar as the du Pont Ammonia Corporation is concerned there are two
possible objectives in cooperation with R. D. S.

:

A. To secure a source of methans.
B. To curb the activities of R. D. S. in nitrogen fixation.

Although there may be some foundation for the I. C. I.'s expectation that

cooperation with the R. D. S. will secure a supply of methane otherwise not

available, this possibility cannot hold from our viewpoint. Of methane, prac-

tically limitless supplies are available from dozens of sources in the United
States and there seems little question that we can obtain all we desire or

require at a price of 20 to 4t per 1,000 cubic feet without entangling alliances

of any type. From the viewpoint of securing a supply of methane via an
alliance with the R. D. S., it would be quite as reasonable to propose a part-

nership with a coal company in ordei- to secure for ourselves an adequate
supply of coal.

Our objective " B " is, as I see it, our sole objective. It is not clear to me
how an alliance with the R. D. S. will curb their activities in nitrogen fixation.

R. D. S. desire our cooperation in order to enable them to approach nitrogen
fixation and the chemical field generally via the high-pressure synthesis route
with a minimum of effort.

As I see it, the only manner in which the cooperation between R. D. S. and
du Pont Ammonia Corporation could curb R. D. S. would lie in the possibility

that we undertook to refrain from doing something if the R. D. S. refrain from
nitrogen fixation. Casting about for possibilities of things we might offer to
refrain from doing, which might be interesting to the R. D. S., I can think
of but two—first, tlie hydrogenation of petroleum and second, the hydrogenation
of coal.

Insofar as either of these hydrogenation possibilities are concerned it must
be recognized that we have no definite plans to proceed with either in the im-
mediately foreseeable future. Insofar as hydrogenation of petroleum is con-
cerned, the Standard Oil Company of New Jersey is now building three plants
for this purpose and it seems quite unlikely that our offering to refrain from
entering this field v.ill carry much weight with R. D. S. Similarly an offer

on our part to refrain from coal hydrogenation would carry little weight with
the R. D. S. as R. D. S. know quite as well as we do that it is unlikely that
coal hydrogenation will be an economically feasible method of gasoline pro-
duction in the United States until the present sources of crude oil become
exhausted—in other words until it is necessary to go to oil shale for raw
materials for gasoline and oil production. This development is certainly ten
or fifteen years in the future, and an offer on our part to forego coal hydro-
genation, were we prepared to make such rash promises, would at best it

seems carry but little weight with the R. D. S.

Turning to the R.D.S. viewpoint for a moment, it seems probable that tl.e

R.D.S. interest in nitrogen fixation does not lie primarily in R.D.S.'s desire
to become a factor in tlie nitrogen business but rather to R.D.S.'s desire to
obtain aii education in high-pressure synthesis. Nitrogen fixation presents the
readiest method of applying high-pressure synthesis on a commercial scale with
a developed process on the one hand and with a market to absorb the product
of the process on the other hand.
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R.D.S. have the example ol" the Standard Oil Compauy of N.J. before tliem,

i.e., the allowance of the Standard Oil Company of N.J. with the I.G. R.D.S.

realize that the supply of crude oil, be it sufficient for five years or for fifty

years, is not unlimited, and that one day, however far in the future, the products

now derived from crude oil must be made by another method. In view of the

R.D.S. investment in the oil business, it seems logical and foresighted that

R.D.S. should prepare themselves for the day when petroleum products are
made by other methods than the refining of crude oil.

Putting the matter in a nutshell, R.D.S.—at the moment—see in tlieir Cali-

fornia ammonia plant the opportunity for a chemical education in the high-pres-

sure synthesis field rather than a stepping stone to becoming factors in nitrogen

fixation. If this were not so, it would be very much more logical for R.D.S. to

build a nitrogen-fixation plant at one of the R.D.S. oil fields adjacent to the
Gulf of Mexico. The plant is being built instead in California, because at Cali-

fornia are concentrated the technical forces of the R.D.S. All of the foregoing
should not be construed to mean tliat R.D.S. would not build other nitrogen-

fixation plants once the California plant is successful, for nntnrally their view-
point would change with their progress in the art.

It seems probable that the California nitrogen-fixation plant proposed by the

R.D.S. would be more troublesome to the I.C.I, in the nitrogen markets in the
Far East than it would be to ns, as it will be impossible to ship nitrogen products
from California to the United States east of the Rocky Mountains. The west
'.-oast will not support the California Tl.D.S. nitrogen plant and tlie Far East
is a logical market for the bulk of the nitrogen produced in California.

If the California plant of R.D.S. were the beginning and end of oil companies'
activities in nitrogen fixation, the problem presented would be simple. The
serious aspect of the matter is the fact that there are many sources of methane
supply owned by many oil companies, and witli R.D.S. blazing the trail it seems
not unlikely that at least some other of the oil companies would decide that they
must get into the chemical field and find it convenient—even as the R.D.S.

—

to start their education by building a nitrogen-fixation plant. An association or
alliance with the R.D.S., unless that alliance effectively stopped the R.D.S.
nitrogen-fixation program, might well have the result of encouraging other oil

companies to get in the chemical business and specifically into nitrogen fixation

rather than to curb them from doing so.

Finally, consideration should be given to the point that R. D. S. are not
necessarily the best partners to have in the United States, if we must have
an 0)1 company as a partner ; for even though an alliance with R. D. S. might
today have advantages from our viewpoint, those advantages may not have
equal force ten or fifteen years from now when perhaps du Pont Ammonia
^Corporation will be interested in coal hydrogenation.

In conclusion I wish to say that it is my personal opinion tliat the lesser

of the many evils pi-esented by the R. D. S. proposal lies in our refusing to

partake in the cooperation which has been suggested; giving as a reason for

this refusal the very evident uneconomic nature of the R. D. S. venture in

California and coupling with our refusal an expression to the effect that the
du Pont Company would consider the building of a nitrogen fixation plant in

California as an unfriendly act, whereas we desired mutual good will to make
jiossible cooperation in some economically sound enterprise in the future.

Finally, reference should be made to fhe possibility that the I. C. I. may be
quite unable to cooperate with R. D. S. unless the I. C. I. are assured that

R. D. S. will not fix nitrogen ; this possibility exists if the reported I. C. I.-

I. G. agreement binds the parties thereto not to build or be interested in build-

ing further nitrogen fixation plants other than expansions of existing plants

in England and in Germany in accordance with the provisions of said agree-

ment. No doubt the actual provisions of the I. C. I. -I. G. agreement will be
learned from the I. C. I. before the discussion of the R. D. S. matter or in the

discu.ssion of the R. D. S. matter with I. C. I.

("Sd.) Waltek Dannenbaum.
WD :FM.
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Exhibit No. 1092

[Copy. Royal Dutch]

*Orig. letter in Lazote files.

B. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Ca,
Wilmington, Del.\ware

EuBOPEAN Office, Capel House,
54 New Broad Street, London, E. G. 2,* July 25, 1929.

To : Mr. Jasper E. Crane and Mr. F. A. Wardenburg.
From : W. Dannenbaum, London.

Finding that it would be impossible for us to arrive in London in time ti>

keep the 3 o'clock appointment with Sir Harry McGowan, we cabled Mr. Swint
from Cherbourg. Mr. Swint met us at the train, and we discovered that the

engagement had been shifted to 4 o'clock. Mr. Swint and I proceeded to the
I. C. I. Building directly from the ti'ain and first saw Sir Harry alone.

After a little general conversation. Sir Harry asked about the object of our
visit insofar as Billingham is concerned, and regarding the length of time we
might want to stay there. We informed him that it seemed to us a minimum
of 2 weeks would be desirable, or perhaps 3 weeks would he necessary if a
visit of this duration would be satisfactory to him. He seemed to think this

entirely in order.

He then spoke about the Royal Dutch Shell matter, and stated that R. D. S.

were apparently trying to force the negotiations to a conclusion, and that
their head commercial man, a Mr. Kessler, expected to talk with them in a
rather final manner the next day, namely, Tuesday. However, after discussing
the matter among themselves, Sir Harry had come to the conclusion that the
R. D. S. people should be put off and that Lord Melchett was writing a letter

to the R. D. S. chairman on Monday afternoon to the general effect that, if

an immediate decision with regard to the cooperation were demanded by
R. D. S., I. C. I. must be unwilling to cooperate, for it would be necessary to
consult with du Pont before an arrangement could be made with R. D. S. and
a discussion with du Pont could not very well take place before September,
when Sir Harry would visit the U. S.

Sir Harry also set forth in somewhat indefinite terms the fact that he did
not want the R. D. S. matter to interfere in any way with the du Pont-I. C. I.

cooperation.

Sir Harry then turned us over to Mr. Mitchell and Colonel Pollitt. These
gentlemen asked us about the duration of our stay at Billingham, and we
went over about the same ground as that covered with Sir Harry. They both
seemed most cordial in their invitation to stay as long as we found it neces-
sary or desirable. In this connection, I wish to say that I did not have with
me the letter addressed to Col. Pollitt—it was delivered to him yesterday

—

and wo, i. e., Messrs. Swint, Williams, Varnes. and I, are to see Col. Pollitt

this afternoon.

Mr. Mitchell and Col. Pollitt then enlarged upon the R. D. S. matter and told

us that Mr. Pyzel, the man who has charge of the R. D. S. operations in Cali-

fornia and who is carrying on the negotiations with I. C. I., would be on hand
on Tuesday to discuss the technical features of the ammonia plant, among other
things. Messrs. Mitchell and Pollitt were also under the impression that Mr.
Kessler would be on hand in the afternoon to carry on the discussion of the
world-wide I. C. I.-R. D. S. cooperation. They were apparently not aware of the

decision that had been reached by Sir Haity and Lord Melchett to stall on this

matter. We told them of our understanding in this connection, and they im-
mediately made inquiries and discovered that we were correct, and I gathered
that they thought this a rather good solution for the immediate difficulties.

Both of these gentlemen expressed themselves quite strongly to the effect that
they did not desire to have the proposed cooperation with R. D. S. interfere with
the Du Pont-I. C. I. arrangement in any manner whatsoever. At the same time,

it is quite apparent that they desire the hook-up with R. D. S. Personally, I am
inclined to the opinion that they desire tliis in large part because they wish to

be able to control the R. D. S. activities. On the other hand, they seem to think

* Pencil markings.
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that, if the I. G. found cooperation with the Standard of N. J. desirable, it is

similarly desirable for the I. C. I. to have an alliance with another large oil-

producing company. Please understand that the latter statements are con-

jectures on my part ratlier than definite statements made by either of these

gentlemen.
,, ^ »

We found that Messrs. Mitchell and Pollitt were whole-heartedly in favor of

blocking the R. D. S. ammonia plant in California. This feeling on their part

is by no means solely due to a desire to further our interests, but is due to the

fact that they plainly see that the logical market for ammonia produced in

California, other than the small consumption of ammonium sulphate in Cali-

fornia and Hawaii, would be in the Far East, and to put it mildly, the I. C. I.

are very jealous of the Far Eastern market. There is absolutely no question that

the I. C. I. wish to block the ammonia plant in California, but it is not entirely

clear to them how they should go about doing it.

About this time, Major Samson joined us—Major Samson is the London office

man who keeps in close contact with Billingham on ammonia matters and fer-

tilizer matters and apparently is Col. Pollitt's chief assistant (in the London
office)—in this discussion. Major Samson is the one who will take us to

Billingham.
After Major Samson's appearance, we discussed briefly other possibilities for

using the R. D. S. gas in California, including hydrogenation of crude oil, develop-

ment of electrical power, etc. It was finally decided that we would meet Major
Samson on Tuesday morning and discuss ways and means for presenting the

best argument to Mr. Pyzel, and then come together with Mr. Pyzel on Tuesday
afternoon.

I should explain that the gases which R. D. S. propose utilizing for ammonia
manufacture in California are not, as we th(.ught when we left the U. S., re-

finery gases, but are natural gases (chiefly methane), which come forth from
the oil wells together with the oil. There is a tremendous amount of these

gases being wasted to the air in California. The R. D. S. fields are sending

about 75,000,000 cu. ft. per day into the air, or enough to make 50O tons of

ammonia per day via the rather crude method of gas utilization the R. D. S.

propose employing. R. D. S. propose cracking the gas, or " reforming " it, at a

comparatively low temperature—this " reforming " process produces a gas con-

taining about 66% hydrogen. The hydrogen is to be separated via the Linde
apparatus and ammonia produced by the Mt. Cenis process.

Messrs. Swint, Williams, Varnes, and I met Major Samson at 10 o'clock on
Tuesday and proceeded to discuss the manner in which we should pursue our
conversations with Mr. Pyzel. We discussed the possible markets and all of

the factors we could think of, and finally arrived at the conclusion that we
should try to let Mr. Pyzel tell us his story and then ask time to digest the

information thus receive<l, and finally have another talk to present our views.

After lunch we met Mr. Pyzel anil triel to get him tt) talk. This was some-
what of an undertaking, and I believe that at the beginning he was rather

suspicious—of just what I do not know. However, as the afternoon wore on
he loosened up a bit, and finally we got him down to brass tacks.

We discovered that he believes he can make ammonia for 2.3 cents per lb.

at a plant which it is proposed to erect at Long Beach, Cal. We also dis-

covered that he thinks the market for calcium nitrate is increasing rapidly in

California and that it can be greatly increased by means of propaganda. We
found that the R. D. S. had made a very thorough study of the technical end
of the proposed process and have apparently gathered bids on all the necessary
equipment and would be ready to start building a plant immediately. The
plant they are building at Ymuiden will be complete and in operation before
the end of the year.
At the R. D. S. laboratories in Amsterdam, or near Amsterdam, the R. D. S.

are working on quite a number of schemes to utilize the refinery byproduct
gases, including the process for making butyl alcohol, propyl alcohol, ethyl
alcohol, and acetone. Apparently they have done little, if any, work on hy-
drogenation of crude oil.

Finally, on Tuesday aftenioon, we were given a rather sketchy memorandum
drawn by the I. C. I. regarding the California ammonia plant and another con-
fidential cost report, which had been compiled by the I. C. I. on the basis of
information given by the R. D. S. with regard to costs of ammonia at Ymuiden
and at the proposed California plant.
Tuesday evening we spent in going over these costs reports and translating

them into American figures. We reached the conclusion that the 2.3 cents
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cost might be a trifle low. In other words, that the ammonia might cost 2^/2

cents per lb. Adding the cost of making ammonium sulphate from gypsum and
adding various other items, such as royalty, taxes & insurance, depreciation,
we arrived at a mill cost of sulphate of a little under $.30.00 a ton ; and adding
sales expense and a $4.00 freight, we arrived at a delivered cost at Califoruian
points of about $34.40 per ton. Needless to say, the $4.00 freight figure was
just a guess. We added working capital to the capital cost of the plants, and
found that a return of less than 1% would be made if the selling price were
$35.00, and a return of 12.8% if the selling price were $44.00 per short ton of
sulphate delivered.

Yesterday, Wednesday, morning we discussed these figures with Major Sam-
son, and later, when Mr. Pyzel joined us, showed them to him. We went over
the figures item by item and found that R. D. S. have no intention of taking out
Chemical Foundation license. Not that they object to paying a royalty, but
because they cannot obtain the Chemical Foundation license due to the fact
that they are not 75% American owned. They are quite firm in their convic-
tion that if sued by the Chemical Foundation, the R. D. S. would be the victors
in the lawsuit.
The discussion finally boiled down lo a discusision of the future prices of

nitrogen. We set foi-th that in all our calculations w-e assumed a price not
exceeding $35.00 per ton of sulphate and evaluating various fertilizer processes,

and that we felt any process should be able to live with a sulphate of ammonia
price of $30.00 per ton delivered in the eastoru part of the U. S. It is a curious
coincidence that I. C. I. figure that sulphate may go as low as about $28.00 a

ton f. a. s. Bill'ngham.
All of this was in the nature of a jolt to Mr. Pyzel. He did not say that

these prices would not be current over a period of years, but he seemed of
the opinion that it miglit take quite a few years to reach such low prices.

The discussion.^ led to no very definite conclusion except that Major Samson
undertook to draw up a report embodying the " conclusions " arrived at in the
three-cornered conference, and IMr. Pyzel and we are to examine this report
before it becomes an " official document." The I. C. I. are strong on writing
reports.

Just where this matter stands it is difficult to say. The R. D. S. apparently
wish to get into the chemical industry. Originally, the ammonia plant was
intended as a club againsit the I. G. The I. G. apparently made the mistake
of telling the oil industry generally and the R. D. S. specifically that in due
time the I. G. would make all of the oil the world required by synthetic methods.
Whether the I. G. said this or not, that was the R. D. S. impression of the
I. G.'s intentions. It seems evident that the R. D. S. no longer think an am-
monia plant in California would be a good club insofar as the I. G. are con-
cerned, but perhaps they think it a good club to obtain an association primarily
with I. C. I. and perhaps* secondarily with Du Pont. The R. D. S. is deter-

mined to get in the chemical business.

The I. C. I., on the other hand, seem quite as anxious for the association as
the R. D. S. From an international viewpoint, the R. D. S. association for the

I. C. I. has far more interest than the R. D. S. association, from our viewpoint.
The R. D. S. is the outstanding international oil company, whereas it is hardly
the outstanding oil company in the U. S. It seems to me that, from our view-
point, R. D. S. is merely one s'mrce of supply of methane—one source among
literally thousands of sources. However, the discussions of the broad policy in

this matter seemed to be postponed until Sir Harry goes to New York, and we
have made it quite evident that we are not here to discuss broad policies but are
merely here, insofar as the R. D. S. matter is concerned, to discuss the technica.
features and the economics of definite proposals which the R. D. S. may wish to

bring up for discussion. Yesterday morning Mr. Pyzel had a conversation with
Sir Henry Bettering, who is in London at the present time, and apparently the
conclusion was reached that Mr. Pyzel will go to the U. S. and be there when
Sir Harry arrives. This is to make it possible to have a three-cornered discus-

sion in the United States.

If we are correct in our belief that the R. D. S. will build this plant, or will

L'ontinue to propose building it, not because it in itself is a profitable venture but
instead on account of some ulterior motive, it seems obvious that we will not
get very far discussing either technical matters or the economics of the proposal.
We see Colonel Pollitt this afternoon, and. unless something new and unfore-

seen arises, we are leaving for Billingham early this evening niid will spend tw'>

weeks in Billingham. We will then return to I^)nd; ii and will, I believe, carry
on further discussions with regard to the R. D. S. matter—at that time it is to be
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assumed that the alcohol and acetone aspirations of the R. D. S. will be touched

upon.
Yours very truly, ( Sd. ) Walter Dannenbaum.

WD/AAD
P. S.—The R. D. S. mode of thinking does not recognize depreciation as an

item of cost. Their practice in the oil industry seems to be to see how much
profit can be made and how many years it talies to write off an investment, and
after the investment is written off all of the profifis profit. When we speak of a

12% return and 91/2% depreciation, they speak of a 20^/2% return and say that

it will only take five years to write off a plant. This viewpoint makes it more
difficult to get R. D. S. to worry about future prices of nitrogen—it also tends

to confirm the opinion that R. D. S. have in mind other things than the profit

to be made from the plant. In a way, perhaps, they regard it as their introduc-

tion into the chemical industry and the cost of the plant as the price of education.

The total cost of the California plant rated at about 60 metric tons W2 capacity,

and including a plant for converting 48 metric tons of W2 into sulphate and
18 metric tons of W2 into calcium nitrate, is approximately $8,000,000.

W. D.

Exhibit No. 1093

[I. G. meetings]
*

P. S.

E. K. B.

E. I. Du Pont De Nemours & Company
Wilmington, Delaware

London Offices, Bush House,
Aldwych, W.' C, 2, July 17, 1933.

Mr. Wendell R. Swint, Director,
Foreign Relations Department.

Letter no. 1097. Conferences in Germany with Mr. Jasper B. Crane, Vice
President, July 9 to 14, 1933, inclusive.

I am including in the following paragraphs results of Mr. Crane's and the
writer's conversations during trip to Germany July 9 to 14, inclusive. I am not
writing separately to the respective department, but am enclosing two extra

copies of this report, Mr. Crane already having received a copy here in the
office.

Prof. Dr. Carl Bosch, Heidelberg, July 10

Messrs. Crane and Ewing met with Prof. Dr. Carl Bosch at his home in

Heidelberg on Monday afternoon, July 10. We found Professor Bosch looking
extremely well considering his long period of sickness.

Mr. Crane explained that he was on a trip to Europe to I'enew old friendships,

this being the first trip to Germany in six years. There followed a general
discussion of the economic situations in Germany and in the United States, and
Prof, Bosch confirmed our opinion that times in Germany at present are very
difficult, and for industry the last few weeks have been especially difficult.

Whereas the revolution of 1918 consisted of the middle and upper classes against
the lower, the present revolution consists of the lower and middle classes against
the upper class and industry. Just now It is a question of fascism and bolsbe-

vism, and industry must support the present Government to prevent further
chaos. In the beginning, Hitler did not consult industrial leaders, but in recent
weeks he has shown his stability by curbing the more extreme element of the
party and bringing the industrial leaders into consultation with him. Dr.
Bosch has been in Berlin in direct contact with the Government, and in fact

spends practically all of his time between his dwelling in Heidelberg and the
government offices in Berlin, thus leaving little, if any, time for the affairs of
the I. G. Farbenindustrie.

Dr. Bosch expects a relief in unemployment taxes through the spreading of
work similar to the scheme which has been adopted in America. The unemploy-
ment figure is decreasing, and from a high of about 7,000,000 there are now unem-
ployed in Germany only about 4,800,000 to 5,000,000.

The home trade is improving, although the export business has been badly hit.

According to Dr. Bosch, Germany must export. Of the total business of the
country the normal export is 20%, but I. G. normally exports about 60%.

1 Pencil markings.
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Dr. Bosch then told ns of the I. G. Farbenindustrie pUms for oil from coal.

Up to the present they have been manufacturing 50,000 tons per annum of gaso-
line from tar. Now they have succeeded in manufacturing gasoline direct from
brown coal and are at present operating at the rate of 80,000 tons i>er year from
tar and 20,000 tons from brown coal. Plans are under way to increase the pro-

duction fourfold, thus producing 400,000 tons of gasoline per year. We under-
stand that all of the increase will be manufactured from brown coal, and produc-
tion will therefore be divided 80,000 tons per year from tar and 320,000 tons per
year from brown coal.

Mr. Crane recalled to Prof. Bosch the splendid cooperation which we enjoy
with I. C. I., and in this Prof. Bosch was much interested. He asked regarding
collaboration in research work, saying that, in his opinion, there must be compe-
tition in research. Mr. Crane explained that even in the respective companies we
have competition between different departments on research work, but that col-

laboration between the two companies has eliminated unnecessary duplication.

Prof. Bosch indicated approval of the idea of collaboration in research.
Prof. Bosch stated that he wanted to retire from active participation in indus-

try and to devote his time to his scientific hobbies. When asked who would head
up the I. G. Farbenindustrie he replied. Dr. Krauch, Dr. ter Meer, and Dr.
Gajewski, and indicated that Dr. Gaus was due to retire.

After our conversation, Prof. Bosch took ns on a tour of his laboratories,
during which he showed us also his excellent crystal collection—one of the best
in Germany—and his collection of beetles and buttei'llies.

Mr. Crane explained that Grasselli had produced quantities of indium metal,
and Professor Bosch asked for a sample of a few grams. (Will you kindly
arrange for transmittal of a representative quantity direct to Prof. Bosch?)

/. G. Farhenindustrie investment

On Tuesday, July 11, we met in Dr. Schmitz' office at the Deutsche Laender
Bank, Berlin. Present also were Dr. Krauch, of I. G. Farbenindustrie, and Mr.
Akers, of I. C. I. Mr. Crane explained to Dr. Schmitz the situation regarding
our investments in I. G. bonds and shares and our desire to convert the entire
investment either to cash, if that were possible, or to shares in the Swiss com-
pany or the American I. G., giving as the reason that the dollar is now off and
marks will buy more dollars than at the former rate. Mr. Crane said he felt

that our investment in I. G. Farbenindustrie was so small as to be relatively
unimportant to I. G. Farbenindustrie. Furthermore, the growth of nationalism
in different countries would indicate that in these small investments it would
be a better plan to sell the interest.

Dr. Schmitz emphasized the fact that I. G. does not control the I. G. Chemie-
Basle, which is strictly a Swiss company governed by a Swiss board of directors.

He also impressed upon us the wisdom of his action several years ago in setting
up the I. G. Chemie-Basle, as the trend of recent events shows that his plans
were well founded. I. G. Chemie-Basle, according to Dr. Schmitz, is set up
to control practically all investments of I. G. Farbenindustrie outside of Ger-
many, and I. G., Germany, does not own one share. We presume that a dummy
Swiss director holds the I. G. interests in this company. It was Dr. Schmitz'
opinion that it would be quite impossible to convince the board of I. G. Chemie-
Basle to transfer our German holdings in return for shares in the Swiss com-
pany or in the American company, and neither the Swiss directors nor the
directors of the American I. G. would consent. In speaking with Mr. Mitchell
of I. C. I. later, he said very definitely that Dr. Schmitz' analysis of the
situation is untrue.

Dr. Schmitz agreed to determine if we can sell in Switzerland our German
bonds and shares and buy I. G. Chemie-Basle shares in Switzerland. However,
as the bonds are quoted in Switzerland at about 70% as against 118% in Ger-
many (which difference accounts for the sperrmarks transaction of 40 to 50%),
it is not likely that the exchange will be attractive.

Dr. Schmitz stated that he wanted to keep us as investors in the German
company and felt that it was onlv feasible to sell the bonds in Germany and
to buy I. G. shares in Germany, which, according to the regulations, would be
blocked for five years. He promised to advise us further on this point, but
at the same time agreed to assist us in carrying through the transaction within
Germany upon our request.

In discussing the question later 'at lunch. Dr. Schmitz told Mr. Crane that
it might be possible to convert our I. G. holdings to I. G. Chemie-Basle. pro-
viding we would take the revenue therefrom in the form of blocked marks.
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This scheme is unattractive, as the I. G. Chemie-Basle shares would not be

salable with the dividend restriction.

Present at the luncheon, in addition to Mr. Crane and the writer, were: Dr.

Schmitz; Mr. Akers ; Dr. Jaeobi, commercial director, nitroj,^en dept., I. G.

;

Mr. Oster, director, Stickstoff-Syndicate ; Dr. Krauch, director, nitrogen dept.,

I. G. ; Dr. Mueller, manager of Oppau ; Mr. Pfarenhorst, asst. manager of

Oppau ; and Mr. Schneider, manager of Merseburg.

Hydrogen & nitrogen cooperation

Following the luncheon, we met in Dr. Krauch's office with Mr. Akers, Dr.
Mueller, and Mr. Pfarenhorst to discuss hydrogen and nitrogen cooperation.

In principle, the representatives of the I. G. agree that a technical exchange of

nitrogen is desirable, but they would prefer to discuss the situation further
with their commercial people, who at the moment do not see how the two
companies could continue to compete in neutral markets. While agreeing in

principle, I. G. Farbenindustrie cannot reduce the contracts to written form
because of the present chaos in the Government and the suspicion which would
follow an international cooperative movement of this kind. The Government
men in high place are being clianged daily, which also makes it difficult to

discuss the situation. Dr. Krauch also confirmed that Dr. Bosch is in constant
touch with the Government and believes that in the end sane views will prevail.

Meeting with KoTcswerke July 11

At 3 : 30 we met with Dr. Berckemeyer, Dr. Bie, Dr. Borner, and Dr. Weltzien,
at Kokswerke's office, when the economic situations in Germany and the United
States were discussed. Later, Mr. Crane visited Spindlersfeld in company with
Dr. Borner, and in the evening we dined with Dr. Weil, Dr. Borner, and Dr.
Weltzien before taking the train for Frankfurt.

Meeting tvith Scheideanstalt July 12

Having learned by telephone from Berlin that Dr. Busemann was leaving
early on Wednesday morning for holiday, we called upon him at 9 o'clock at
the Scheideanstalt offices in Frankfurt. Respective affairs in the two com-
panies were discussed, and Dr. Busemann touched upon the proposed du Pont-
Scheidenastalt agreement. He also referred to the proposal to curtail or elimi-
nate the Downs process royalties and referred to the histoi-y of the development
of this situation and the different events with Dr. Carveth. Later we saw
Mr. Schlosser, who confirmed the feeling of Scheidenastalt with respect to the
Downs process. Mr. Schlosser stated that Mr. Berwind would be returaing
to Frankfurt from New York in a few days, following his discussions in the
U. S. A. with the R. and H. chemicals department and would no doubt have
some comment with I'espect to our intentions on the Downs agreement.

Meeting v>ith I. O. Farbenindustrie July 12

At 10 o'clock we called at the main offices of I. G. Farbenindustrie and spent
some time with Dr. von Schnitzler and Dr. ter Meer, and were later joined at
iHncheon by Mr. Weber-Andreae. Mr. Crane related the trend of developments
in the United States and emphasized the fact that a strong feeling of national-
ism pei-vades our country today. The German gentleman discussed the political
situation in Germany, with particular reference to the positive position of the
Government against the Jews. They also explained how Herr Krupp had de-
velope<l a scheme whereby industry could contribute to the party organization
funds; and, in fact, every industry is called upon to pay y.^% of the annual wage
and salary roll to the Nazi organization. For the I. G. Farbenindustrie the.
annual amount is about RM. 1,000 000. which would indicate a combined annual
wage and salary payment of the I. G. Farbenindustrie of RM. 200,000,000. or
$50,000,000 at par. Later it was learned that the employees of I. G. total 68,000,
exclusive of mine workers and those in affiliated companies.
During the course of the morning I took occasion to explain to Dr. ter Meer

the functions of Dr. W. F. Zimmerli, attached to the London office, and received
a very favorable reaction from Dr. ter Meer, who had already met Dr. Zim-
merli personally. It was Dr. ter Meer's expressed idea that du Pont and I. G.
Farbenindustrie should collaborate more closely on research and development
ideas, and he would be glad to have Dr. Zimmerli confer with the different
laboratory heads. (Although Dr. Zimmerli has already met many of the lead-

83876—35—PT 12 17
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ers in I. G. research, he has purposely refrained from making any direct con-
tact witli tliem until after his first meeting with Dr. ter Meer. Accordingly,
the way seems to be clear now for Dr. Zimmerli to pursue his work through
the I. G. Farbenindustrie organization.)

Following luncheon, we visited Dr. Carl von Weinberg, who is now 73 years
old and who comes to the office daily for consultation with the active members
of the I. G. Dr. von Weinberg also discussed the situation in Germany and,
although he is a Jew, has given the movement his full stamp of approval. He
stated further that all of his money is invested in Germany and he does not
have one pfennig outside the country. We spoke of the proposed increase in

collaboration with I. G., to which he was in heart.v agreement. In touching
upon I. G.'s interest in the U. S. A., Dr. von Weinberg indicated that I. G. was
very well pleased with the investment, and by suggestion gave us to understand
that they had no intention of retiring from that market.

Interviews in general with I. G. Farbenindustrie were of a very pleasant
nature, and indicated the closer cooperation which is manifest between du Pont
and that company.

Dr. Paul Mueller, Cologne, July IS

We made a brief call on Dr. Paul Mueller in Cologne, when Mr. Crane men-
tioned that we would probably want to dispose of our German holdings if

IX)SS!ble. Dr. Mueller showed keen disappointment and regretted exceedingly
that we would want to part with our interests in D. A. G., and felt that, if for

no reason other than for sentimental attachment,, we should try if possible to

retain them. While he would not object if we had gootl reasons for selling, yet
he would fe(4 a personal loss if we were to dispose of our equity. We left it

that we would probably not dispose of our D. A. G. shares, but that if the time
should ever come when our holding of these shares would prove to be an em-
barrassment to Dr. Mueller, he would advise us immediately, when disposal

arrangements could be made.
Dr. Mueller spoke of the development at Troisdorf, saying that their present

rate of production is 4,000 kilos, celluloid daily, divided between four factories.

In fact, celluloid is declining at a rapid rate and is being displaced by the new
synthetic resins, such as urea formaldehyde and phenyl formaldehyde.

HHE/AAD Homer H. Ewing.

Exhibit No. 1094

[Copy to Mr. W. H. O'Gorman, Smokeless Powder Dept.]

Col. W. N. Tatlor, November 18, 1929.

E. I. du Pont de Nemours £ Co., Military Sales Department,
16 Place Vendome, Paris, France.

Deiar Colonel Taylor : As you probably know the London oflBce recently signed
a contract with the Lurgi Corporation which is the chemical engineering sub-
sidiary of Frankfurt Metallbank relative to the exploitation of the ammonia oxi-

dation process in certain European countries. The artillery department of the
Royal Swedish Army recently wrote them asking for assistance in planning a
factory for the manufacture of oxidation of ammonia to nitric acid. It happens
that Sweden is not in the territory assigned to Lurgi, and we believe that the
inquiry emanated as the result of Dr. Sparre's discussions with Mr. Ragnar Sohl-

mann last June. Our London office is, therefore, handling the matter direct.

I am forwarding this information to you purely for your general information
as you are of course interested in any relations we may have with any European
war departments. Possibly the London office have already told you about this.

Very truly yours. Foreign Relations Committee,
jkj/ems J. K. Jenney, Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1095

[Copy to : Messrs. F. E. Pickard, F. B. Davis, Jr., J. E. Crane, Wm. Rich ter, W. F.
Harrington, H. G. Haskell, Fin Sparre]

Wilmington, Deit,.,

To : Mr. Lammot du Pont, President. October 19, 1928.
From : Foreign Relations Committee.

Witli reference to your memorandum to Mr. Pickard of October 17th, attach-
ing letter from Mr. Agache, stating that he and Mr. Berr would like to visit
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some of our plants, I have ascertained from Messrs. Harrington, Richter and
Davis that there is no ohjection, so far as tliey are concerned, to showing these
gentlemen the dye works, Philadelphia and Arlington plants. Mr. Crane feels
that we have no right to show them the Belle phint which is unfortunate as I

judge this is the plant they will be most anxious to see.

Mr. Donat Agache is president of Kulilmann, being a grandson of Frederic
Kuhlmaun, the founder of the company. He wasi boru in 1882, educated in
France and at Oxford, has traveled extensively in England and the United
States. He was recalled from the front in 1915 to become managing director
of Kuhlmann, and to coordinate the activities of his company with the
munitions department of the Government. He became president in 1921. He
is also a director of the Ciiemins de fer du Nord, of the Mines d'Anzin and a
director of the A. C. S. A. (International Casale).
Mr. Raymond Berr, with whom Mr. Crane is acquainted, is director general

of the organic chemical activities of Kuhlmann, and he is in charge of the pro-
duction of synthetic nitrogen and nitrogen fertilizersi.

As you know, the du Pont Company has had friendly relations with Kuhl-
mann through our dyestuffs department, and on various chemical matters,
principally through our development department. It is by all odds the most
important company in the dyestuffs and general chemical field in France. It
has recently been branching out into synthetic ammonia (Casale process) and
synthetic methyl alcohol (General Patart's process) and our Loudon office is

now negotiating with them relative to the possible purchase of our ammonia
oxidation process rights for Europe. Tlie company has also entered the rayon
industry, and has recently expanded its activities in lithopoue. I believe that
their activities parallel ours in such lines as: Lactic acid, acetic acid, carbon
bisulphide, sulphuric acid, sulphur dioxide, rubber accelerators, etc., etc. They
recently purchased the General Electric glyptal resin patents for France, and
are building a plant. It is also reported that they have purchased the Pollak
patents for France on phenol formaldehyde moulding powders, plastics, glass,
lacquers, etc. We have heard nothing recently concerning their activities in the
laquer field, but Mr. Albert Blum told us about a year ago that they had invented
a substitute for duco which he said was supposed to be superior to it, and is being
manufactured, or will he manufactured, by Kuhlmann. Sometime back they
also expressed interest in the manufacture of tetra-ethyl lead for France.
As you also know, the outstanding point about their relations with other

companies is the Kuhlmann-I. G. agreement of dyestuffs. Tliere have also been
numerous rumours that this agreement will be extended into the nitrogen field,
and we have also heard that the I. G. has aided them in the production of
mixed fertilizer.s (nitrophoska).
We have more detailed information along the above lines in our files in case

you are interested,

jkj/ems. (S) J. K. Kenney, Secretary/.

Exhibit No. 1096

London Office, Bush House,
AxDwicH, W. C. 2,

August 11, 19S1.

Copy to: Mr. J. T. Mason, Nitrate Division, Purchasing Dept., Foreign Relations
Dept,

Nitrogen.

Mr. F. W. Wabdenburg,
President Du Pont Amitionia Corporation,

Wilmington, Del.

We had a further conversation with Mr. Speyer, of I. C. I., and obtained some
additional information on the recent nitrogen conferences. The Brussels con-
ference finally broke down, due to the attitude of the French. The Germans
were not able to agree to the economic and political demands made, and the
breach is so wide that there is very little chance of further conferences, at least
for six or nine months.
The press reports did not state that I.C.I, were attending this confei-ence

I.C.I, informed us that they purposely did not attend, mainly because they
believed very little could be accomplished. In addition, they anticipated that
the Fi-ench would make impossible demands and by not attending they pro-
vided the opportunity for the Germans to delay proceedings if necessary for
conferences with I. C. I. The Chileans, of course, were not in attendance, and
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as there is no agreement between the synthetic producers, there is no possibility
of any agreement with the Chileans.
The sulphate market is reported to be very weak, and prices are being quoted

in Holland by Dutch producers of £4.— per ton at works. This is equivalent ta
$23.— c.i.f. United States. I.C.I, have just announced a price of £16.10

—

per ton for sulphate delivered any railway station in England. This price is

reported to be just a feeler, and they are willing to quote lower prices when any
business is in sight.

The Chileans are still very quiet. Their recent price announcment is about on
the same scale as last year's. The price for England is reported at present to
be £8,17.— ., at which figure they can expect no sales. It is rumored that they
are shortly to announce a new price about 30/— per ton lower than that given
above, but even this reduction will not be sufficient to stimulate business.

Mr. Ewing bad an opportunity to discuss nitrogen with Dr. Weber-Andreae
of the I. G. while in Germany last week. Mr. Andreae reports that it is

absolutely impossible to come to an agreement, and it will now be a fight to a
finish. The I. G. is reported to be prepared for this, but they do not know how
low prices are likely to go.

We will try and give you additional information as it is obtained. At present
everyone seems to be waiting for the other fellow, and no one has a definite price
program. These conditions are exi>ected to last for several weeks, with con-
stantly falling prices. At present no one is willing to forecast just how low prices

may go.

(S) Henry E. Fobd.
HEF : MH

("Exhibit No. 1097" appears in text on p. 2811.)

Exhibit No. 1098

[Du Pont—Russia. Copies to F. A. Wardenburg, gen. mgr.. Ammonia Department

;

W'. J. Beadle, asst. dir., Development Dept.

]

January 23, 1934.

Russia—Possible sale of nitrogen information.

F. W. PioKARD, Vice President.
J. Thompson Brown, Vice President.

In connection with Mr. Wardenburg's report to the executive committee,
January 22nd, asking for instructions in the event the representatives of the
Russian Nitrogen Trust (who are visiting Belle this week) are interested in
purchasing our process, the following summary of previous relationship with the
Russian Government, relative to sale of processes, may be of interest

:

In May 1929 contract for sale of our ammonia oxidation process to Chimstroy
(which is the Russian Chemical Trust) was consummated through the Amtorg
Trading Corporation, New York. Under this contract two plants were con-
structed under the supervision of du Pont engineers, who were sent to Russia.
Payments, amounting to $50,0(X), were made promptly. Exchange of information
provision in the contract expires May 1934.
On July 22, 1929, the Development Department submitted a report to the

executive committee, stating that Amtorg had applied for our lithopone infor-
mation. The executive committee authorized them to discuss this matter further
witii Amtorg and the New Jersey Zinc Co. The files of neither the Foreign
Relations Department, the Development Department, nor the executive com-
mittee are clear as to the final disposition of this matter. Presumably the
Russians were not interested in paying the amount asked.
On August 2, 1929. Mr. F. W. I'ickard submitted a report to the executive

committee on Russian Government business and the committee passed the
following resolution

:

" The Amtorg Trading Corporation should be advised that the Du Pont Com-
pany does not care to enter into any general agreement for the supply of infor-

mation, advice, plans, construction, or processes for use in Russia, nor to under-
take any consti'uction involving financing of connnercial projects in Russia.

" Tlie Du Pont Company is willing and glad to negotiate for the sale of any
goods to the Amtoi-g Trading Corporation for export to Russia, each order to be
(onsidered independently.
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" There is also no objection to the outright sale of plans or processes, provided

in each case the fee to be received by the Du Pont Company appears adequate

and the receipt thereof assui-ed.
" In carrying out this policy, we shall be governed by the proposed I. C. I.

"on April 2, 1930, the executive committee authorized the Development De-

partment to continue negotiations with Amtorg relative to the sale of dyestuffs,

rubber chemical, and Duco information, subject to consultation with I. C. I.

It developed that I. C. I. had also been approached by Arcos (the London office

of the Russian Foreign Trade Organization) for information on dyestuffs. It

was finally decided that I. C. I. would withdraw from the negotiations but would
receive 15 percent of the fee paid by the Russian Government to us for our
information. This offer was made to compensate I. C. I. for their information,

in our possession, which would be passed along to the Russians. At a meet-

ing with Lord Melchett and Sir Harry McGowan, in New York, August 1930, it

developed that I. C. I. were strongly opposed to the sale of technical iufonna-

tion to Russia. At executive committee meeting, September 17, 1930, it was
resolved that the Du Pont Company was not justified in continuing its nego-

tiations with Russia for the sale of its information on dyestuffs. Negotiations

in connection with the sale of Duco information were to be continued.
There is no record in our files as to the final outcome of the Duco negotia-

tions but we presume that they were dropped after resolution of the board of

directors, October 1930, that the Du Pont Company at this time should not
enter any arrangement in the nature of a partnership with the Russian
Government.
On March 19, 1931, the executive committee informed the Development De-

partment that the methanol process should not be sold to Amtorg.
As pointed out above, we recognized an obligation to keep I. C. I. informed

of our negotiations with respect to dyestuffs and their feeling in the matter
was a considerable factor in our decision to drop negotiations. We did not
recognize any obligation to them in the case of Duco (in w'hich industry their

license territory is limited to the British Empire) or lithopone (in which
industry they are not engaged).
During the course of the dyestuffs negotiations, the executive committee

decided not to inform the I. G. that the negotiations were being carried on.

After we withdrew from them, London office was instructed to telephone the
information to Dr. Von Schnitzler. Due to a misunderstanding, the London
office telegraphed the information, thus making it a matter of formal record.

I am not able to locate the information in our files but it is my recollection
that Dr. Bosch informed Mr. Pickard or some other official of the company,
some years ago, that the Russians had used an offer received from us to
force the I. G.'s hand at the time they made a deal on dyestuffs witli the
Russians in about 1926.

Mr. Pickard informed the I. G. that we had refused to sell the Russians
information on methanol and this was acknowledged, with thanks, by Dr.
Gaus.
Following are the prices at which we offered our information

:

Dyestuffs and rubber chemicals $3,000,000
Lacquer 1,000,000

20 percent on signing the agreement ; 00 percent in installments as complete in-

formation would be given to the Russian representatives, probably witliin 6-

months' time ; and the balance of 20 percent 21 months after the last informa-
tion had been submitted.
The Russian representatives objected to the amount and short term of pay-

ment. It was subsequently proposed to extend the terms to cover a 3-year
period.

Lithopone $75,000

to be paid in installments, the final installment to be paid 3 months after

plant is in operation. It was proposed to charge an additional royalty of

$4.00 per metric ton ^ in return for which Du Pont would act in a consulting

capacity and give them the benefit of new developments.

1 Installed capacity.

Foreign Reu^-tionb Department,
J. K. Jenny, Asst. Director.

JKJ.C.
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Exhibit No. 1009

[Nitrogen. Strictly confidential. Copy to Mr. W. R. Swint, London office]

Bush House,
Aldwych, W. C, 2, July 19, 1932.

Nitrogen convention—England.

Mr. F. A. Wardenburg,
Qeneral Manager Ammonia Department:

In our cable of July 12 we advised you that tlie nitrogen meeting which had
been in progress in Paris liad been transferred to England, and that we would
report any progress. Up until this morning there had been no apparent progress
in reports received from I. C. I., but late last night an agreement was reached
among the synthetic producers. A new Convention International de 1'Azote was
formed, including all the synthetic producers of Europe. The convention was
really brought about by the D. E. N. group, or, in other words, Germany, Eng-
land, and Norway, but as yet the Chileans have not been included. It is the
earnest desire of the synthetic manufacturers to have them come in, but Mr.
Welpley, president of Cosach, has not been able to agree on quota. He is in

constant cable communication with Chile, and at the present stage of the negotia-
tions, there is an equal chance that an agreement will or will not be reached
with the Chileans.
The synthetic producers agreed in principle that the home market should be

maintained insofar as it is possible for the home producers, and, in this connec-
tion, Fi'ance was the most difficult market with which to deal. The export is

divided by percentage quota, which is based closely on the export ratio of the
D. E. N. group, from whose figures portions have been allotted to the smaller
producers. The members of the C. I. A., as given to me today by Mr. Akers,
are, in addition to Norwegian, German, and English producers, those of Holland,
Czechoslovakia, Italy, Belgium, and Switzerland, together with Mekog and the
State mines of Holland. All of these have a percentage quota in the new
C. I. A., but Schluskill and the Poles have been given specific tonnages.

Quite apart from the C. I. A. agreement, the D. E. N. group have bought off

completely Ressaix Laval, which is the Belgian plant under construction, and
which will not be completed, and have also paid to the Schluskill owners an
amount for closing down a fair portion of the Schluskill plant. Mr. Akers
estimates that in effect not more than one unit will operate after the agreement
is finally concluded.
Regarding the United States, the synthetic producers have sold forward

already for this year 175,000 tons, but from the date of the agreement onward
export sales to the U. S. vv-ill be regulated through the C. I. A. Mr. Akers
contemls that the C. I. A. will not ship into the U. S. any more than the market
can easily absorb and explains that in these times, when steel production is

low and l3yproduct anunonia is light in quantity, sales may probably be heavier
than when an improvement in steel production is apparent. At any rate, the
sales for the U. S. will now be regTilated through C. I. A. instead of being
handled by each individual producer.

It is the feeling of the members of the new cartel that if Chile comes into the
fold, there still remain three producers to be dealt with, namely. Trail in western
Canada, NACCO, and the Japanese. With the inclusion of these there will be
a world-wide nitrogen cartel, which with the most difficult situation in Europe
straightened out should pi'oceed in a successful fashion.

All of this information was given to me in a strictly confidential fashion by
Mr. Akers, who stated that not any of it had been released excepting certain

phases which had been sold by the French delegation to the French press.

In connection with the sale of certain of our information to the Japanese, I

am wondering if our position is perfectly clear to I. C. I. Naturally, I have no
reason to raise the question here.

Attached is confirmation of cablegram sent you today.
Homer H, Ewing.

HHE/AAD.
Enc, copy cable sent today.
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Exhibit No. 1100

[Triparty agreement. Nitrogen]

(Imperial Chemical Industries, Limited, from the chairman, Sir Harr^-
McGoiwan, K. B. E.)

Mellbank, London, S. W. I.,

10th May 1933.
Synthetic nitrogen—exchange of information with I. G.

Lammot du Pont, Esq.,

E. I. du Pont de Nemours, Inc.,

Wilminffton, Del., U. S. A.

My DB1A.R Lammot: As a result of our agreement with the International
Hydrogenation Patents Company and our cooperation with the I. G. to put
forward a joint scheme for a nitrogen plant in China, we find ourselves in
rather a curious position vis-a-vis tlie I. G., and I would like to ask you if you
would consider if we cannot simplify this.

As you know, the hydrogenation agreement requires the I. G. and ourselves to
pass to I. H. P. our information on the manufacture of hydrogen. This knowl-
edge is available to licensees of I. H. P. for the strictly limited field of hydro-
genation of coal and oil.

In actual practice, as I. H. P. has no effective technical department, and as
we are interested in hydrogenation as possible licensees of I. H. P., we exchange
information within the scope of this agreement directly with I. G.—and not
through I. H. P. So far, both I. G. and ourselves are quite satisfied that no
improper use has been made of this hydrogen information by either party, and
this is simplified by the fact that we have both restricted the knowledge of this

information to personnel interested solely in hydrogenation.
If we should decide to build a hydrogenation plant, and you will remember

that in my speech to the I. C. I. shareholders I expressed a strong hope that
our Government would so modify its fiscal regulations in regard to new indu.s-

tries as to make this possible, we should erect the factory at Billinghaui, making
our present hydrogen plant common to both ammonia synthesis and hydro-
genation.
We have for some time been considering the advisability of introducing the

principle of the removal of sulphur from the gases before these enter the
hydrogen catalysis plant, and if we should decide to go ahead with hydrogena-
tion, we should most certainly adopt this step, as it will give us a small increase

in the output of the hydrogen plant, of which we shall be in need. I do not

think that we have anything to learn from the I. G. on this question of sulphur
removal, but if we were considering the position, solely from the point of view
of hydrogenation we should naturally investigate the experience of the I. G. in

this process.

You will undei-stand now tliiit our position is a litttle diflOicult, because if we
proceed to introduce sulphur removal into our hydrogen plant, after a dis-

cussion by our hydrogenation staff with I. G., they would be in a position to

maintain that we had made use of information which we had obtained from
them not only within the hydrogenation field but also in connection with our
ammonia manufacture.
Apart from the complication arising through hydrogenation, a somewnat

similar position confronts us in connection with the joint pl'an between the

I. G. and ourselves with regard to the nitrogen plant for China. In order that

we should be satisfied that any scheme we put forward for a nitrogen plant

in that country should represent the most efiicient plant which can be designed,

making use of the knowledge which we both possess, we agreed with the I. G.
that two members of our st'afC should cooperate with two members of theirs

to draw up the plans. Although they did not discuss minor details of the design,

it was clearly necessary for them to discuss with each other the general prin-

ciples of the plant. Here again we are both satisfied that the exchange of in-

formation has been limited to its use for the design of this plant, as the tech-

nicians on each side have not passed on the infoi'mation to their colleagues.

The position, very naturally, is rather delicate and would become more so
if we were actually proceeding with the erection of this Chinese plant.

From the foregoing you will appreciate that a complete simplication of the
position could be obtained if we were free to exchange with the I. G. informa-
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tion on the wliole of our nitrogen plant. Obviously, of course, however, we
cannot consider this without your agreement.

I think tliat this general scheme is one which will require very careful
consideration and I would like to leave it over for discussion when we next
meet.
The limited question of hydrogen information is, however, a more pressing

one in view of our interest in hydrogenation, so that I am writing today to

ask if you can see your way to allow us to exchange information with the I. G.
on the manufacture of hydrogen up to the point where it leaves the hydrogen
catalysis plant.

You will understand, of course, that we have not discussed this with the
I. G. as, clearly, we must obtain your consent first. I think, however, that the
I. G. would raise no objection as I am sure that they feel the present position,

as much as we do.

Yours sincerely,

(Sd) H. McGowAN.

Exhibit No. 1101

Notes on Chart A

—

Exhibit No. 1103.

INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS ON IMMEDIATE OR CONVERTIBLE WAR MATERIALS
OR PROCESSES

Line code:
Continuous line= Financial arrangements for sales and/or part ownership or

prices or territory.

Dotted line= Interchange or sale of chemical or other patent information on
immediate or convertible war materials or processes.

Notes on Chart B—Exhibit No. 1102.

international relations in chemicals

Continuous line= Financial arrangements for sales and/or part ownership or
prices or territory.

Dotted line= Interchange or sale of chemical or other patent information.



MUNITIONS INDTJSTBY 2897

O earn .
f^ -^

® « gH g< >-«

;iH tL< plH plH pL, pCf |i4 pL4

W o

Ml
SB
dN
aj a

I
'-

I 5J

." 1 >>MO CT> O CO

o en 00^ p;-co M
fc- bjD . c-^ pC .

S Sfs-rM fe a S r-2J,o

022°0-^O^C-t5a>

5f=3 H" >>M « O o a fe 05

^

:9Hi3&M?aW^T
-o tj ^r^ m =" ca =" 7^ -S

— O ™ M QJ , (V) <

'^ S os'^S oti oti °

21 >>

o-

ii

?5fe2
2 ^ d
?r2 ^
r-l *^ O

2 2 o

^o a
ap o

« .tH

«««
pt<&Hft(

03 ea

a s 3

s •:^ P
M 03 P O m 03

a o3ja



2898 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

»C CO

»0 "O
lO ^ ^ -^—

< CO CO 1-1

.-< .-I lO ^

T)



MUNITIONS INDUSTEY 2899

;^
C0 05

r-og§£i

3 3 >. w

(i< fiH^ PJ ft.

S3"

PhPh

o o

^ o o
"?.?.

sen

CC 02 03

OTS
'O'O TS 'O'O'O

03 010303

I I

v UJ i^

OOO

2*2*

a a

oo

< „

> ^
s 2

» 2 •gj

o
a g

s-

6 B^

^ o

O! " O
.-.ho;'

0-c«

X3 3
C O*

o o

-oo§3§^^:<03

O OOO OrH l-H rt -H rt

Ph

|«20P4
(§J

O O o o _

ig fi O O >i

•— tj r^ >> en

ajmo303 o3

p_ce

o o

as

p]
^OiOlOiCsCSOsOsC

SS"sSja434ax]x:.aj3x3j:

tf«£tftfddddddddd
pL,plH;^(X(pE<l_Jl-<l-4l-!l-i)-Hh-il-HI-H

1^ W Lh
c3 c3 ca

aaa a a 13

03 03

aa

O'5'SOO^O O 0-5-3 O^ O
PmMOQMQQQMmPmP

.as!
>Of Ph OQ O

B?of f saaaaaf, i£-g

S S g S 5 g £ £ 2i £ £ » 9 S

S2 9 (i(

s"To'3 g.fci

O'

:- >y 03 1

l-jM 5 »
dd ^^^

JO o

^ t-r --

3 ® .-;
*

> >

-^«,o

00>.-3
tn top "

> > ® g

C ° °o
3 aac.£
g X X fi t?

C8--

ai

>2 g p

?" CD O

o o o o

s£§|2i
- 6J)_M.£

-J^

O'o'S o ^
h-iWWcoO
o o o o o

° te OoEqs

2-2 o° a

t. _, <u .W
Oi C I- _cS

2 ^ w a a
M 3 o oP^
ow^«^.g
O O O O <^ '3

ddddddddddddddS.

lO <D QO O) O ^ CS CO Tt^ »0 CO t^ 00 Oi O —

«

O O 00--^--^^Ht-H.—IrH.—t.—tr-*^-*C^C^



2900 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

I ^

CO DO
•^

iz;

•to w

<» o

» r\
r« 5
&3 <

o

c8 03 a O

50 CD ^O CD COCOCOCDCD CO CD CD CO

CO CO

few MM

C3 C3

K_,_, „^„„„„
McoPOcoOoiai cQMCQMCQm w mPmccm m m m ot

O ® C8-I
>-,j3 co«

H a a
a <u »
tsa
C!j 4) »

g o a
-3 05 O q 03 '^S *^ 03 <D 2 C'S '

S 5?3 oSH'S SMaShi

"D <D Oi O fl

MCCOWlJ

g ,„ ®
S S a

Ti S 03 03

*J +J i2 <D <U

s gs aa
S £ a H a g® £—

'
03 03 2

bjo bjc'o ^ '- S
C3 ^ CS C3 ^
o o a 2 o 3
*+j '.^ 03 J +j J-i

a a-g a a a

J<1cQa) <! < P

^ C3

•^a

04^ a<i 03 osO

oooooooo

OQODODDO

mW Oi c/l

a 03^ ,_ dS
3-ti 2 »£-2
.a o — 'Sti o

O MH N OS O ^-^

n oOPqo,
o *f o o o

d.sdddd^du

ci "

QoQaa 5
c^ ffi-a-'-'

^a-|M] «

.§§o|s^ -2
O) « a— o3

?3 -r: '»?

^ S;i3 K d
2 c3.gX2t-,

o o o o-"<^

hH l-H hH 1-1 l-t o
ddddd

w

O 03 _" a o

dod<

^ P

l-i^M
d.«d

ID CO t^ on Oi O »-< C^ CO "* »0 CO t^ 00 03 O ^ C^ CC -^ lO
cocococococo co co co co -^ -^ -^ tt* -^ -"^

<nc^mcs<N(N[ cs (Mimmcscn cm (N <n n

>.a IC^



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2901

eo^- • .o

p*^ a . o— o 3 i-< --^

coO

fe M Eh.

=3 ^ ^
« « §"

Ufi^

0^ Cd 03 A cd ^ ^ C3 ^ I

^ .n J3 ,C ^ c: X3 J3 .£3 J

«tf««Kdo"rtddddd-2ddddcddc
^(i4p;H(i^i^h-^i-;tM>-<'i-iMj-;i-iMi-;)-ii-ii--ii-i>--ii-<%

§^^H H ®

o i2

O H! {=1;^

o o

0) a
a a
a a

OP??

'^ a
o a
+J 4)

WW

M i-i

03 03

> "O 'O "O TD 'O 'O "O T3 'O 13 'O 13 "O 'O 'O "O

e as
*^ -4-^ 'O "O 'O 'O *^ "*^ "O "C 'O'^ 1

55'o'o 'o'o55'o "o "o "o "5 "o © "o "o "o "o c "o "o "o "o 'o'o'o'oPHmo; coa/Mf-ic« cccoMccaiCOmt/jaicccococBajco coco coco 03 m COM

OJ QJ CJ H

OOwO

is
a a

_D. g. " « a

qS fc w O Sj

P O fc fe B

oo£5o

03— P

I S2S a
'2 — -b Q^

'

I

»< &
O'T- C3 o

p
i

=

s "^

S'S^p

tie

OccOOOfJhcoOOOOOPiiOM

na

a; O)

p p

OO

S ^ c OJ

.S -3 « P P

aS|2«
a'S^gS

£5
|B|d
OpH p O

a g-c
t: ts su— P

^ f^ -p 1

"3 r2 r

O p o <

i:-ti o P-O g

q ooq
i—j 1^ h-t (—

'

:
3^£

;
P g p

^^ p 03

o ^ *^

coo

e K p_
^ -d ,„- P

o c c o

„c S 3> o p s -

^o'Sp
S t: P —

C O P c

el

S -2 S mS HH H^ -*^

> P p-5
o a ra'^

° as p a 0^.^.2
SO*^|"OOczi
22C feC2 °co

'cU'3

6 R 03

2 S-^
pPo,

P w.
±; a am

HqOfeK

a> a

OOOCC--'COOOOOCCOOOOCO^-^":CO'

§ s ^ E CO i*

S S a JB (u
M

|,2£o£'gg£?
CD bC3^^:3 S K d

lo '-::: r-- 00 c o --i ci co tj- »C'OOO o — —'i-'T
CO {« C^ CO

-OCOiO^C^CC'fiOtCt^C
"jcccococceoccfCicccocococccocc eocoecco

ro CO CO re co
CO CO CO CO CO

^



2902 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

a



. INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS IN CHEMICALS
KVMIBIT Xo. 1102

CONTINUOUS LINE: FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR SALES AND/OR PART OWNERSHIP OR PRICES OR TERRITORY.

DOTTED LINE; INTERCHANGE OR SALE OF CHEMICAL OR OTHER PATENT INFORMATION.
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INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS IN WAR MATERIALS OR PROCESSES

CONTINUOUS LINE: FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR SALES AND/OR PART OWNERSHIP OR PRICES OR TERRITORY.

DOTTED LINE INTERCHANGE OR SALE OF CHEMICAL OR OTHER PATENT INFORMATION ON IMMEDIATE OR CONVERTIBLE WAR MATERIALS OR PROCESSES. CHART 'A"
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INYESTIGATION OF MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

THUESDAY, DECEMBER 13, 1934

United States Senate,
Special Committee to

Investigate the Munitions Industry,
Washington,, D. G.

The hearing was resumed at 10:30 a. m., in the Finance Com-
mittee room, Senate Office Building, pursuant to the taking of re-

cess, Senator Gerald P. Nye presiding.

Present: Senators Nye (chairman), Barbour, Vandenberg, Pope,
and Clark.

Present also : Alger Hiss, legal assistant to the committee.

At this point the committee concluded that part of the testimony
which is incorporated in Part XII of these hearings, " Relationship
of Munitions Makers to the Government and International Connec-
tions in the Chemical Industry."

The Chairman. The committee is unaware this morning whether
there is anyone here to represent the Colts, the Remingtons, or the
Winchesters, but if there are representatives here, we want them
forward at this time. Also Mr. Pierre du Pont and Colonel Harris,
please; or. Colonel Harris, if you have someone with you from the
War Department who is prepared to discuss the matter we have on
hand this morning, have him come forward also, please.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. This session is profiteering?
The Chairman. That is right.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I have an officer with me who will dis-

cuss that phase of it.

The Chairman. Then, if you will, have that officer come forward,
please.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Lieutenant Brannon.
Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, this is during the war period.
The Chairman. During the war period?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. During the period of the World War.

TESTIMONY OF PIERRE DU PONT (RESUMED), LT. COL. C. T.

HARRIS, AND LT. E. M. BRANNON

APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES DURING WORLD WAR

(The latter two witnesses were duly sworn by the Chairman, Mr.
du Pont having been previously sworn.)
The Chairman. Now, gentlemen, be seated, and if you will, please

give the reporter your full name, Lieutenant Brannon, and your
connection with the War Department, your title.

2903
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Lieutenant Brannon. E. M. Brannon, first lieutenant. Infantry,
with the Judge Advocate General's Department.

Senator Vandenbekg. What is your relationship with the War De-
partment, Lieutenant ?

Lieutenant Brannon. I am on duty in the Planning Branch Of-
fice of the Assistant Secretary of War.
The Chairman. Colonel Harris, you might come down here and

join the circle, if you wish, at this time.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I was just going to say, Mr. Chair-
man, if you are going to discuss the background, the relations or

operations concerning the Old Hickory plant, I am familiar with
that.

Mr. Hiss. That will come later.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. That will come later, you say?

Mr. Hiss. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. I think perhaps you had better sit here,

Colonel Harris. There might be some questions you might be able

to help us on.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. All right; I will just bring my papers
up here.

Senator Vandenberg. Colonel Harris, what is your connection

with the Department?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I am director of the Planning Branch,

Office of The Assistant Secretary of War.
Mr. Hiss. Lieutenant Brannon, you are familiar, in a general way,

with the total expenditures of the United States during the war?
I have here a document which is in the form of a letter, and two
attachments, which was introduced into the record on Tuesday of

this week, December 11, as " Exhibits Nos. 1027, 1028, and 1029 ",

respectively.^ It is a letter signed b}^ Herbert E. Gaston, Assistant

to the Secretary of the Treasury Department, to the chairman of this

committee, showing appropriations and expenditures by fiscal years
for the period 1912 to 1934, inclusive, for the War and Navy Depart-
ments. There is only one copy of it, and we will both have to use

that.

Lieutenant Brannon. I have no figures on that.

Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to the years 1917, 1918, and 1919.

The total appropriations listed for the year 1917 for the War De-
partment are $403,355,000, using round figures in giving these

amounts; for 1918, $7,549,931,000; and for 1919, $15,459,728,000.

Can you explain why there was such a large appropriation in 1919,

after the war had ended, Lieutenant Brannon?
The Chairman. Before he answers that question, that was offered

as an exhibit the other day, was it not?
Mr. Hiss. That is correct, and so marked.
The Chairman. Have 3'ou referred to that as an exhibit?
Mr. Hiss. I have read the exhibit numbers that were given to it on

that day.

The Chairman. Very well.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Mv. Chairman, may Ave alternate in

answering questions as seems best?

1 Hearings, Part XII, p. 2717.
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The Chairman. Yes; most assuredly. That is what we would
welcome having you do.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I understand. In attempting to an-
swer that question I would say that the fiscal year of 1919 began on
July 1, 1918, and in that period we were still in the war, so the appro-
priations for the fiscal year in 1919 were really for the latter part
of the war.
Mr. Hiss. These gross appropriations for the 3 years all repre-

sent, or, at least primarily are, war appropriations; is that correct?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The latter portion of the 1917 appro-

priations and all of the 1918 and all of the 1919 appropriations were
for war purposes.
Mr. Hiss. And you would say the majority of the 1917 appro-

priations ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I should say so; yes.

Mr. Hiss. The total expenditures shown on this chart for the years
1917 through 1920, inclusive, of the War Department, are as follows

:

For 1917, $462,238,000. I will not read the odd dollars in any case.

For 1918, $5,723,369,000.

For 1919—that is the fiscal year, I judge, as you explained it

—

$9,285,487,000.

For 1920, $1,109,599,000.

Why in the fiscal year of 1920, Colonel Harris, was the expenditure
such a large one?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. In the fiscal year 1920 they were still

paying obligations incurred during the war and in the settlement of
contracts.

Mr. Hiss. So that all of these expenditures, or the majority of
them, also must be considered as war appropriations?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Generally speaking; yes.

Mr. Hiss. How long did the influence of the war contracts—that
is, the settlement or the payment of war contracts, affect the expendi-
tures of the War Department?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. That is rather difficult to say defi-

nitely. I imagine even the fiscal year 1921 must have some of it.

Mr. Hiss. As late as 1921 ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. You see, all of the contracts were can-
celed and adjustments were made by bodies examining these con-
tracts, and the payments undoubtedly would go into the fiscal year
1921.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris or Lieutenant Brannon, whichever is

familiar with this, I would like to identify a chart which I received
from the War Department, headed " Eelative Proportions of Ex-
penditures of the Army Supply Branches During Nineteen Months
of War Comjiared with Nineteen Months of 1922-23, Approximate ",

which was prepared in the office of The Assistant Secretaiy of War,
Procurement Division, planning branch, in January 1923. Can you
identify that?
Lieutenant Brannon. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. This shows that in 19 months of the war the Quarter-

master's Department spent $6,242,745,000, whereas in 1922-23, a com-
parable period of 19 months, only $99,656,000 was spent, a ratio of 1

in peace time to 62 in war time.
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Similarly, the Ordnance Department, which was the next largest

in point of expenditures, spent during 19 months of the war
$4,087,347,000, as compared to only $10,624,000 during 19 months of
the period 1922-23. There the comparison was as 1 is to 384. The
war-time expenditure was 384 times the peace-time picked as a fair

period by the War Department.
For the Air Service the expenditures were $859,291,000 during the

19 months of the war, as compared to $20,108,000 during peace time.

That is as 1 is to 42, or 42 times.

Of the total shown on this chart from all of the supply branches,

namely, $12,356,000,000, it will be noted that the Quartermaster
Corps has slightly more than half of that total expenditure, and
that the Ordnance Department spent slightly less than a third of

the total, the air service considerably less, but the three together

constituting by far the bulk of the total money spent during the war.

Colonel Harris, will you kindly describe for the committee how the

purchasing is done by the Army? Is all purchasing done by one
purchasing group, or is it diversified ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The purchasing is done in time of
peace by competitive bidding and is carried out by procurement
organizations assigned to the supply branches. Approximately one-

half of the Army appropriations, or slightly more than one-half, are

normally spent by the Quartermaster Corps, which has to do with
the feeding, housing, and clothing of the Army.
Mr. Hiss. May I interrupt at that point. Colonel Harris ? During

the war who had charge of construction outside of the theater of
operations?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The construction outside of the theater

of operations was under the Construction Division, which was under
the War Department.
Mr. Hiss. Which of the procurement branches?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It started off under the Quartermaster

Corps and afterward became separate as the Construction Division.

Mr. Hiss. In this chart where do you think that expenditure will

appear?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I would place that expenditure under

the Quartermaster's appropriation.

Mr. Hiss. I interrupted you. Colonel Harris. Please proceed.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Each of the supply branches has a
procurement organization and procures the quantities and equipments
that they issue. So that there is no centralized execution or procure-

ment. There is, however, a centralized control of procurement
through the supervision of the Assistant Secretary of War under the

law.
Mr. Hiss. If I have not offered this as an exhibit already, I would

like to offer that as an exhibit with the appropriate number.
(The chart referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1104", and is

included in the appendix on p. 2974.)^

Senator Vandenberg. Before you leave it, Colonel, is there any
expenditure charted here as those of the Quartermaster Corps which
would classify munitions of war in the accepted phrase?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The dictionary defines munitions of

war as all material required by the Army, except men and money.
Now, if you mean arms and equipment

1 Entered into further in Hearings, Part XV, p. 3627 ; Part XVII, p. 4169.
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Senator Vandenberg. That is what I mean.
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Arms and equipment; the Quarter-

master Corps supplies the leather and webbing elements of that

equipment.
Senator Vandenberg. Would it be a fair conclusion from this

chart that war expenditures in a major proportion therefore are

outside of the thing commonly called munitions?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I am afraid I did not understand your

question, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. Would it be unfair to conclude from this

chart that more than half of the expenditures in a war operation are

for commodities other than arms and armaments and the things

commonly called " nuniitions " ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I think about half is a fair figure.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, returning again to this chart, what kind
of equipment is purchased by the Ordnance Department? This four
billion expenditure during the 19 months of the war does not include

payments made and settlements made after the armistice, or do you
think it does ? I am referring to this figure of four billion.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. You see, I am not familiar with how
this chart was prepared or what these figures are, but I w-ould say
that they do include the settlement of contracts.

Mr. Hiss. That is the gross expenditures?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes. Although I am not prepared to

say that there won't be any differences between the figures you
read before and these figures, because I have not compared them.
Mr. Hiss. There may be some changes and adjustments since 1923?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Exactly.
Mr. Hiss. What type of equipment constitutes the bulk of the four

billion purchase, roughly, during the World War?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Arms, ammunition, tanks, arms for

aircraft, armaments, bombs. I think that answers your question.
The great bulk is anununition.

Senator Vandenberg. Under what classification, for instance, were
trucks ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Commercial trucks are procured by
the Quartermaster's Corps. Special trucks and armored cars are
procured by the Ordnance Department.
Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, did you bring a copy of the photostat

of the break-down of the ordnance expenditures which you sent me
a few days ago? ^

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. No.
Mr. Hiss. I would like to introduce that into the record some-

what later as further amplification of that.
The Chairman. Would you like to have it appear at this juncture

in the record ?

Mr. Hiss. Yes.
The Chairman. That may be done.
Mr. Hiss. What proportion. Colonel Harris, would you say am-

munition constituted of the four billion, roughly?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. As a rough approximation, I should

say 40 percent.

unJ'^^ j^Si'i™®°*^ showing Ordnance expenditures were later marked "Exhibit Nos.
1105 and llOo-A

' and are included in the appendix on pp. 2975 and 2976.
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Mr. Hiss. And how much of that wouki be powder and how much
other ingredients, in value? By powder I mean propellants and ex-

plosives, and so on.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. To give you a correct answer, there

would have to be an analysis made. I am only giving the approxi-

mation from my own knowledge of ordnance equipment.
Mr. Hiss. All right.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I should say that possibly 40 percent

represents the cost of propellants and ammunition.
Mr. Hiss. And the explosives, all of the powder, and so on?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I should say in the neighborhood of 40

to 45 percent.

Mr. Hiss. So that 40 to 45 percent of the 40 percent of the four
billion woidd give the powder and explosives cos-t, roughly?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. That is an offhand estimate, which I

am not responsible for, if you carry it into money later on, because

it may not agree with something else.

,Mr. Hiss. If you find later anything that causes you to change
that estimate, or an official statement on it, will you please furnish

that to the committee, Colonel i
^

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.
Senator Vaxdenbero. Where vvould gas expenditures appear,

Colonel ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Under " Chemical W. S."
Mr. Hiss. Under " Chemical W. S." It is a separate classification.

Senator Vandenberg. You say it is a separate classification?

Mr. Hiss. Yes. Of the ingredients other than power and pro-

pellants and the explosives, the primary raw materials going into

ordnance, from the standpoint of value, are roughly what? They
are in the metal field, are they not?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The remainder is in the metal field.

The shell is a large portion. The fuze is a smaller portion. The
brass cartridge case is a small portion. But all of the metal com-
ponents make up the remainder of the cost of the ammunition.
Mr. Hiss. And primarily they are steel, copper, brass, nickel, tin?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Those elements go into it. They are

not used in their native forms, of course.

Mr. Hiss. No. But they are the raw materials that go into the

primary part of the other 60 percent of the ordnance purchases; is

that correct?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. That is correct.

Senator Vandenberg. Before you leave the chart, apparently from
this chart the " Chemical W. S.", what does thai, stand for?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I don't know, sir.

Mr. Hiss. Chemical warfare, is it not?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The Chemical Warfare Service.

Senator Vandenberg. Chemical Warfare Service?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.

Senator Vandenberg. According to this chart, that was the

smallest of the subdivisions of expenditures in the World War.
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.

Senator Vandenberg. Just speaking abstractly, that would not be

true today, would it?

1 For corrected estimate see footnote on p. 2916.
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Lieutenant Colonel Hakris. Under the set-np we have in the War
Department it Avould still be true for this reason: That all of the
^las shells, all of the elements of that round of ammunition, except
the gas itself, is procured by the Ordnance Department. The Chemi-
cal Warfare Service procures the gas alone of all of the elements.

Senator Vandenverg. Is that true of the expenditures charted
here ?

Lieutenant Colonel Hakkis. Yes; that is true.

Senator Yaxdexberg. So that the classification of the Chemical
W. S. would scarcely be a picture of the actual relative contribution
of the chemical lield to the war equipment?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It is a minor j)ortion.

Mr. Hiss. Mi-. Chairman, I have just got a copy of the chart to

M'hich I referred before and which was marked " Exhibit No. 1105."

I will ask the reporter to see that the record shows the sheet to which
the chart is attached as 1105 and the chart as 1105-A. please.

(The sheet referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1105 ", and the
chart referred to was marked ^ Exhibit No. 1105-A", and are
included in the appendix on pp. 2975 and 2976.)
Mr. Hiss. This gives a break-clown of ordnance expenditures ac-

cording to major items as used by the War Department; is that
correct ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. That is correct.

Mr. Hiss. How many of those items, Colonel Harris, were pur-
chased by the Government during the war in the form in which they
are there listed? For example, jou will notice item no. 1, mountain,
field, siege, and antiaircraft artillery. Did the Government during
the war purchase mountain artillery in complete form, or did it as-

semble it itself?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I think every possible arrangement
of procurement was used. In some cases we were able to get firms
that were able to give the complete unit ; others were not.

Mr. Hiss. I see.

Lieutenan.t Colonel Harris. Some made part. Some made the
whole.
Mr. Hiss. I have here a memorandum listing certain gross war-

time expenditures compiled from official sources, which I would like

to file as an exhibit in the record.

The Chairman. That is ordered.
(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1106 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 2976.)
Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, can you give some estimate of the total

construction costs of the last war?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I can give you roughly the figures,

and you can correct them later, if you wish.
The Chairman. Please do so.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Roughly, the figures Avhich have been
submitted officially were approximately $500,000,000 for cantonment
construction and for housing troops, about $400,000,000 for procure-
ment of facility construction which was operated by industry, and
approximately $350,000,000 for facility construction'^ which was op-
erated by the Government. Those figures are subject to change when
this record appendix A is found.
Mr. Hiss. The appendix to a letter from the Secretary of War
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Lieutenant Colonel Harris. That is appendix A, as I understand.

Mr. Hiss (continuing). To the chairman of the committee will be
marked as an exhibit at this point.

(The appendix referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1107 " and
is included in the appendix on p. 2981.)^

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, during the war-time purchases by the

Government, was it a custom for the Government to advance to

manufacturers and to construction companies part of the cost of

manufacturing or construction activities?

Lieutenant Colonel Haeris. That was done in many cases.

Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to an excerpt from a deficiency

appropriation act for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1918, which was
approved October 6, 1917, and appears at 40 Statutes at Large, 345,

at page 386. This provides that the Secretary of War and the Sec-

retary of the Navy are authorized, during the period of the existing

emergency, from appropriations available therefor, to advance pay-

ments to contractors for supplies for their respective departments in

amounts not exceeding 30 percent of the contract price of such sup-

plies. Then there is a proviso that there shall be adequate security

required for the protection of the Government.
Do you know how much money, roughly, was so advanced?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I do not.

Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to a letter, which I would like you
to identify, of February 6, 1920, from the contract section. Adminis-
tration Division ; what do the initials O. O. stand for ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Ordnance Office.

Mr. Hiss (continuing). Ordnance Office, to Messrs. Taber and
Firestone, historical branch, executive section, Ordnance Office. Par-

agraph 12, which appears on the fourth page, reads

:

The War Credits Board, acting under the provisions of the act of Congress

of October 6, 1917—

which I have just read into the record in part—

•

had advanced to ordnance contractors $173,366,1.56.04. These advances had
been recouped upon deliveries or completed units or articles in the amount of

approximately $79,000,000, and it became necessary for tl)e Claims Board to

deduct from settlement contracts and statutory awards sufficient amounts to

fully reimburse the War Credits Boai'd for the total of the advances made and
the interest accrued.

Do you knoAv what the advances were for other branches than Ord-
nance, and do you know whether it would be possible to have those

figures compiled, if you do not have them in mind at the moment? ^

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I cannot state, because I do not know.
It should be possible to obtain that information.
Mr. Hiss. Was it customary to make the advances in connection

with quartermaster work, as this paragraph states it was in connec-

tion with ordnance?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I have no knowledge on the subject.

Mr. Hiss. If the material is readily available, would you supply a

statement on that?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I will endeavor to supply the com-

mittee with that information.-

1 Entered hito further in Hearings, Part XV, p. 3627
^A memorandum from the War Department showing total war-time advances authorized

by the Secretary of War was entered as " Exhi})it No. 11.5G " and appears in Hearings,
Part XIV, appendix, p. 3286.
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Senator Vandenberg. Do I understand that all the figures in this

memorandum which we are discussing were exclusiA^ely War Depart-
ment figures and do not include any Navy Department expenditures 2

Mr. Hiss. That is my understanding. Is that correct, Colonel

Harris ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Those are all ordnance expenditures.

Mr. Hiss. Those are all ordnance expenditures, but the charge
which is here—

^

Senator Vandexberg. I am referring to this sentence [reading] :

it is shown on the books of the War Department that the total expenditures
and obligations of the War Department from April 6, 1917, until September 1,

1919, was $18,501,117,000—

That would be exclusively War Department and would not include

Navy Department or anything outside the jurisdiction of the War
Department?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes, sir ; that is correct.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, at the hearings before the so-called
" Graham " committee, which was officially known as the "Select
Committee on Expenditures in the War Department ", in volume 3
of serial 1, page 651, which contains reports of the committee after

their hearings, there is a statement made:

It is showii on the books of the War Department that the total expenditures
and obligations of the War Department from April 6, 1917, until September 1,

1919, was $18,501,117,00(>—

and some odd. That is considerably in excess of the total shown on
'this chart, which was $12,000,000,000.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris, Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. How do you explain the difference?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. In the use of the word " obligations."
'When we place the contract, the full obligation is set up. When
the contract Avas canceled and adjustments were made, there was a
great reduction in actual expenditure.
Mr. Hiss. That states the total amount that the Government would

have been obliged to pay, had all contracts been carried out?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Fulfilled.

Mr. Hiss. Which were in existence some time during the war?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. That means, then, there was a shrinkage of
about $4,000,000,000 between obligations and expenditures?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Whatever the difference is between the

two figures.

ADVANCES MADE TO THE DU PONT CO. ON WAR-TIME CONTRACTS

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, I have a document before me which we
received from your company which states advance payments held
by the du Pont Co. by months, from 1914 to 1918, inclusive. Have
you a copy of that with you, Mr. du Pont?

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1108 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2982.)
Mr, Pierre du Pont. I beg your pardon?
Mr. Hiss. On the first page there is a tabulation of advance pay-

ments held by the du Pont Co., by months, from 1914 to 1918,
inclusive. Have you a copy of that with you ?
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. May I see it ?

Mr. Hiss. We miofht look at it together.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. These, of course, are not adAance pa^niients

from the United States GoA'ernment.
Mr. Hiss. No. These show that, beginning with October 1914:, the

following advance payments were held by the du Pont Co.

:

October 1914, 6 million-and-some-odd dollars; approximately the

same fi<>ure in November; $6,800,000 in December; in January 1915,

$13,500^000; February, $17,000,000; increasing to $85,000,000 i'n Sep-
tember 1915; and to $97,000,000 in December 1915.

I assume this is a cumulative statement as of any particular time.

Is that correct, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr, Pierre du Pont. I understand that that is the case, held at

those particular dates; yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. 1916, January, the figure was $102,000,000. whk-h was
apparently the high point of this particular tabulation. Do you
know whether any of the figures stated for 1917 and 1918 included

advances from the United States Government for contracts carried

out by your company? You were president of the company at this

time, were you not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. My recollection is all the advances which

we have from the United States Government were in connection with
Old Hickoiy plane, and that advance was made in the spring of 1918.

in tlie amount of about $18,000,000, I think.

Mr. Eliason. That is not included in these figures.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. These were only advances from the European
governments.
Mr. Eliason. And the advance by the United States in connection

with Old Hickory was made
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Am I right in saying the advance made to

the du Pont Co. in connection with the Old Hickory plant is the only

one?
Mr. Eliason. That is the only one I have any recollection of.

The Chairman. What is the name of this gentleman ?

Mr. Eliason. J. Bayard Eliason.

Tlie Chairman. For the information of the committee at the pres-

ent time state your official capacity with the du Pont Co.

Mr. Eliason. I am treasurer of E. I. du Pont de Nemours Co.

TESTIMONY OF J. BAYAED ELIASON—Recalled

(The witness was previously duly sworn by the chairman.)

Mr. Hiss. Certain advances were made to a compaiw known as
" du Pont American Industries " during the war by the United States

Government ; is not that correct, Mr, Eliason ?

Mr. Eliason. I believe that is correct.

Mr. Hiss. Have you any statement indicating the total amount of

the advances that went to E. I. du Pont de Nemours Co., the parent

company, or to du Pont American Industries, Inc., or to any other

subsidiary? ^

1 Under date of Apr. 19. 11).'!.5, tho du I'oiit Co. .'Jiibinltled a sfatiMiicnt of .idvances
from tbe United States Government in connection with military contract.-;. This state-

ment appears in the appendix on p. .'U.jl.
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Mr. Eliason. I have no figures on that.

Mr. Hiss. If it is not too ditiiciilt a task, will you supply the com-
mittee with those figures?

Mr. Eliason. I will be very glad to.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont
Mr. Pierre du Pont. May I make a statement there?

Mr. Hiss. Yes.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Eliason reminds me that the advances
to the du Pont American Industries Co. w^ere in connection with
purchases of Lnters for the manufacture of powder.
Mr. Hiss. So I understand.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I understand that those linters were pur-

chased for the company. They should be called ^ cotton linters."

Mr. Hiss. Do you know whether the du Pont American Industries

acted as agent for the Government in buying linters and shavings
for other than their own contracts, that is, for otlier than contracts

of E. I. du Pont de Nemours Co. ?
^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. My recollection is that they were bought
by the Government as well as the du Pont-owned plants. Tliat must
be verified. I cannot sa}^

Mr. Hiss. Ma}^ we have a verification of that, Mr. Eliason?
Mr. du Pont, in a report of wdiat is known as the Government

Claims Division—do you remember that organization in your
company ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.

Mr. IIiss (continuing). For July 1920, the report being dated
September 14, 1920, there is a statement that some $20,800,000 worth
of materials, including sulphur, cotton, nitric acid, and other mate-
rials, had been turned over to the Government at the conclusion of

the war. Can you explain what those transactions were?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think very likely in connection with the

Nashville plant.

Mr. Hiss. Were any of these linters, for example, purchased by
du Pont American Industries ?

Mr, Pierre du Pont. That was at Nashville, also.

Mr. Hiss. Did the du Pont Co., or any of its subsidiaries, act in

purchasing nitrate for the Government?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I should not wonder if nitrate was pur-

chased also.

Mr. Hiss. Do you recall wdiat w^as known as the nitrate pool
during the war?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not recall,

Mr. Hiss. Is there anyone of your company present who is

familiar Math that, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Might Mr. Irenee du Pont be called, Mr.
Chairman ?

The Chairman. Mr. Irenee du Pont.

1 The ilii Pont Co. notified tlie committee under date of Jan. 10, 1935, that during the
W'orld War and until June 1920, du Pont American Industries, Inc.. acted as agent ffl\r

the United States in the inspection, purchases, etc., of cotton linters, and received a
total net income of $232,711.12, during that period. Copies of the contracts and forms
invoivrd wi're fnrnisbeil to the conuniftee and are in its flies. See appendix, p. '151,
for additional information, submitted to the committee on Apr. 17, 1935.
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TESTIMONY OF IRENEE DU PONT—Resumed

(The witness was previously duly sworn by the chairman.)
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Have you knowledge of the purchase of

linters and nitrate and the pooling in 1918? Is that the question?

Would you repeat your question again, please?

Mr. Hiss. The question was this, Mr. du Pont : On September 14,

1920, the Government Claims Division in a report referred to the

turning over to the Government of $20,800,000 worth of materials,

including sulphur, cotton, and nitric acid.^ I asked Mr. Pierre du
Pont if he could explain what such transactions were. You were
president at that time, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was in 1919 or 1918?
Mr. Hiss. I think the actual transaction was completed sometime

in 1919 or 1920.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Irenee du Pont was president at that

time.

Mr. Hiss. I beg your pardon.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is going back a good ways on a de-

tailed matter which I cannot recall now, but it certainly must be of

record in the War Department, which you could get.

Mr. Hiss. The specific question which Mr. Pierre du Pont wanted
you to answer was, In the purchase of nitrate for the Government
did the du Pont Co. act as agent for the Government?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not recall. It is very hazy in my mind.

I would not be at all surprised if we did.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, have you any recollection on the subject?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I do not believe they did. I believe

the nitrate pool handled nitrate, but that is nothing but my recol-

lection.

Mr. Hiss. Can you explain the set-up of the nitrate pool?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Only in a general way. Certain im-
porters acted as agent for the Government in holding and distribut-

ing according to the desires of the Government.
Mr. Hiss. Was the du Pont Co. a member of that group?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I do not think so, but I am not

positive.

Mr. Hiss. The du Pont Co. during the war had nitrate holdings in

Chile, did it not?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. And received nitrates from that source?

Mr. Irenp:e du Pont. Yes; but a very small proportion of our
requirements.
Mr. Hiss. May I request you to investigate this particular item

of $20,800,000, and if it refers only to the Old Hickory estalilish-

ment. there is no further interest in it.^

If it refers to du Pont American Industries or to nitrates or any
other item, then there is interest in it.

Mr. Pierre du Po>;t. I feel almost certain that the nitrates pur-
chased for the du Pont Co.'s own use in its own plants were not

^ Undpr date of Apr. li>. li)"5. [he du I'diit (^i. submitted lurther infonimtiDii rrg.nrdins;

this )|;20,800,000 item. See appendix, p. .•5152.
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involved in the pool of the Government, but I would like to have
that verified. It is purely a recollection of a long time ago.

Mr. Eliason, That is material turned over to the United States

Government during the war?
Mr. Hiss. You may have my notes and return the slip, please.

Would it be possible to have that by tomorrow or early next week?
Mr. Eliason. We can have it by early next week.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, is it not true that as a result of the large

orders which your company had during the war—and I here offer as

a further exhibit another page of this particular statement, which
represents the military contracts, gross sales of camion powder, rifle

powder, TNT, black powder, caps and fuses, and miscellaneous of

the du Pont Co. from 1914 to 1918. The gross value of all those

items was $1,245,563,000 and some odd; of which cannon powder in

value represented $796,000,000, smokeless rifle powder $124,000,000,

TNT $112,000,000, and other items are black powder $3,928,000—
are you checking it?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I know the chart, and I am sure it is correct.

Mr. Hiss Caps and fuses $8,351,000, and miscellaneous a total of

$200,000,000, which is the second largest single item.

What would go into making up miscellaneous items? Do you
know, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think I can find it. Was not that shown
in the testimony at the first hearing ?

Mr. Hiss. I do not believe so on this particular item.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is in one of our annual reports,

(The list of military contracts referred to in the document above
mentioned was marked " Exhibit No. 1109 " and included in the ap-
pendix on p. 2982.)

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg can make a statemerit as to the purchase of
linters, Mr. du Pont. Mr. Gregg, of the du Pont Co., had not been
sworn.

TESTIMONY OF WILLIAM S. GREGG

(The witness was duly sworn by the chairman.)
The Chairman. Give your full name.
Mr. Gregg. William S. Gregg, Wilmington, Del.

The Chairman. And your capacity or position with the corpora-
tion is what?
Mr. Gregg. Attorney.
The Chairman. Attorney?
Mr. Gregg. That is correct.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg has some information in respect to the rela-

tions of the du Pont Co. with the Government in the purchase of
linters.

Mr. Gregg, will you please state what you care to?

Mr. Gregg. For the information of the committee, my understand-
ing is that the du Pont Cos. were appointed agent for the United
States Government to purchase all linters, the object being to have
only one purchaser in the market for linters. The Government had
practically fixed the price which should be paid to the producers of
linters. It is further my understanding that the Government, after

the purchase of those linters by the du Pont American Industries,

83876—C5—PT 13 2
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allocated the linters not only to the concerns using linters in this

country but also to the Allies, as any quantity of linters were

shipped to the other side.

Mr. Hiss. Do you have any information, Mr. Gregg, as to the rela-

tions in the purchase of nitrate?

Mr. Gregg. No; I do hot. Mr. Hiss.

Mr. Hiss. Have you a copy of the annual report there?

Mr. PiERKK Du Po>:t. I Jiave it for 1918. Mr. Chairman, this

annual report of the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Co. for 1918 gives

some of the detail of this item of $206,000,000 of materials—caps,

fuzes, ignition pellets, and the loading of explosives for use in the

field. Those are apparently the major items of that miscellaneous

caption.

Mr. Hiss. Have 3^011 the 1916 report with you?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Does that answer the question?

Mr. Hiss. Yes, sir; I think it does.

Mr. Pierre du Pont, as a result of the large volume of business

which your company
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Chairman, might I call attention to a

statement Avhi'^'li was made a few minutes ago in regard to the pro-

portion of propellants used in the total purchases? It is civen at

40 percent, I think, of $4,000,000,000. That would be $2,400,000,000,

or. rather, $1,600,000,000.

Mr. Hiss. Not propellants; explosives and propellants, all

powders.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Our total sales to the Allies from the du Pont

Co. on evervthing were $1,245,000,000. I cannot see how that 40

percent or $1,600,000,000 could be correct. I do not want to doubt
your figures. Colonel.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. My statement was subject to cor-

rection.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The greater part of our sales was made to

the Allied Governments and not to the United States. I do not

know wdiether it is a material item, but I think there must be con-

fusion on that thought.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Of course, the statement was 40 per-

cent of the total appropriation for ammunition, and our statement

was that 40 percent of that was pow^ler and all explosives.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I beg your pardon.
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. But that is subject to correction, after

I view the record.^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I beg your pardon.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, to return to the specific question. Is it not

true tb.at during the period from the beginning of the World AVar
until the e;;(l of the AVorld War your com})any built some $60,000,000

worth of ])owder plants not in existence at the beginning; that is,

you extended your capacity by approximately
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think the total is $80,000,000 in the record.

Mr. Hiss. $80,000,000. During the same period, or toward the

end of that period, your company, in addition, went into the dye

1 Under date of Apr. 4, ]0:i5, Cokiiii'' Ihirris corrected his starciiK'iit as fnllows :

"About CO percent of total ordnance expen it nres were for ammunition and of this 60
percent ai)out one-fonrtii was for i)owder and explosives, including powder plants, ex-
plosive plants, and leading plants."
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field, with an investment of some additional millions, and also

developed one or two other industries. You went into paints and

other things, too?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. During that time, 1914 to 1920, do you know of any-

financing, public financing, carried on by the du Pont Cos. to aid

their construction of these plants^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. There was no public financing or offering of

securities. That is correct, is it not?

Mr. Irenee du Po^"T. Yes, sir.

Mr. PIiss. I offer for the record a statement furnished by the du
Pont Co. showing the issues of capital which were underwritten by
outside banking houses from October 1, 1915, which was the date of

incorporation of tlie present company, to November 2i2, 1924, and I

would say that to that there is a footnote [reading] :

Furthermore, there were no such issues by E. I. du i'out de Nemours Powder
Co. during 1914 iind up to Oct(jher 1, 1915.

(The statement referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1110 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2984.)

Mr. Hiss. That is tlie predecessor of the present company?
Mr. Eliason. Tliat is riglit.

Mr. Hiss. That shows, as I say, no outside aid from banks or

banking houses in the construction which you have just described.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Of course, the very large financing of that

construction was furnished by the advances of the Allies, which you
read, and which was apparently confused with the advances from the

United States Government, which it was not.

Tliat long list of advances, running up to $97,000,000, was ad-

vanced—r:ioney advanced to us 1)}^ the Allies—us?d for tlie purpose
of expansion.
Mr. Hiss. I attempted to make that clear and I am sorry if I did

not, and I asked for a statement as to how much had been advanced
by the United States Government, which your company will furnish.^

Senator Vandenberg. We loaned them the money which they ad-

vanced to you, did we not?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. No, sir. That was advanced before the

United States got in the habit of loaning.
Mr. Hiss. Furthermore, a large investment was made in General

Motors Co. during this jDeriod, too. Is not that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. May I look at this ?

Mr. Hiss. Certainly [handing paper to witness].
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not certain of tliis one item.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. What is the origin of this statement? Was

that taken from our files ?

Mr. Hiss. No; your company prepared it at my request.

Mr. Eliason. We furnished that statement.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It is certainly correct, then.
Mr. Hiss. This shows that the first outside assistance was in May

of 1921, first from the year 1914. in which there was a public offering
of bonds of a par value of $35,000,000, underwritten by J. P. Morgan

1 See footnote on p. 2912, for statement of advances.
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& Co., with a fee to the underwriter of $1,Y50,000 ; in December 1925

the next issue underwritten was by J. P. Morgan & Co., with a par

value of $10,000,000 being debenture stock callable at 125. This, I

judge, was largely taken over by stockholders of the du Pont Co.?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That shows that 40 percent was taken over

by stockholders.

Mr. Hiss. And 59 percent was taken over by the underwriter?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Right.

Mr. Hiss. A total of 59,338 shares by the underwriter.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Right.

Mr. Hiss. Then in April 1928 there was a further issue of de-

benture stock, par value $10,157,000, which was offerecl to debenture

holders pro rata. In that case the underwriters exercised rights on

only 5.99 percent, a total of 6,080 shares.

Mr. Pierre du Pont, during the war did your company not decide

to carry out its own insurance business; in other words, to cease

placing ordinary insurance through insurance companieis, or to

undertake to finance your own insurance risks?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We had always insured our own explosion

risks. We set up a reserve for explosions. I think you must refer

to marine insurance or something else. We always placed boiler

insurance outside.

Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to a resolution of the executive

committee, June 11,^1917, in which it was decided that the company
should carry its own insurance except on boilers and marine risks, on

automobiles, and where excessively low rates were offered by insur-

ance companies. AVas that policy carried out?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I presume so. I do not recall the resolution,

although I think I was a party to drawing the resolution.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think we have still quite a large blanket

insurance over certain amounts, calamity insurance.

Mr. Hiss. Can you give us some estimate of how much the company
insures its own risks and how much is placed with outside firms ?

^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We can furnish it.

Mr. Hiss. Will you please furnish it?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. But I have not the information.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, have you still a copy of that letter ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. If you will turn to paragraph 22, you will find the

following statement

:

No statistics are available as to tlie imiiibei- of fluaucial wrecks in the wake
of ordnance-manufacturing activities. The Claims Board has frequently had
evidence of financial stress and strain. The number of receiverships and
bankruptcies among prime contractors coming to the attention of the Ordnance
Claims Board may, it is believed, be counted upon the fingers of two hands.

As a result of the war, I judge from this statement, there were rela-

tively few failures on the part of prime contractors who contracted

with the Ordnance Department. Is that correct. Colonel?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I have no knowledge. That is an

official report, and I presume it to be true.

1 Under date of Apr. 19, 1935, the du Ton! Co. informed the cimiinitlee that "as of

Dec. ."il. 1034, B. 1. du Pont de Nemmirs «: Cn. iitid wholly o\\ned subsidiaries insured
their own risks to the extent of approximately 82 percent and placed with outside in-

surance firms ciivcrag*- on approximately is percent."
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Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, is it not true that during the war, as a

result of the enormous expenditures by the Government which have
already been referred to and to the advancing of funds by the Gov-
ernment, a considerable amount of the risk of doing contracting

business for the Government was assumed by the Government?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. In many cases that is true, and in

many cases it is not true.

Mr. Hiss. Will you describe for the committee the use of cost-plus

•contracts during the World War?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. In the case of those noncommercial

items wath which industry was not familiar and could not form a

reasonable estimate of cost, it was found necessary in many cases,

and also in the case of cantonments, where speed was so urgent that
time for negotiation could not be spared, it was found necessary to

enter into what is known as a " cost-plus contract " ; that is, the
Government defraying all costs and paying the contractor—reim-
bursing the contractor for all costs, plus a percentage fee on the

total expenditures.
In many cases, however, there was a top limit to the amount that

the contractor could earn through this percentage of profit.

Senator Vandenberg. What was that percentage fee ordinarily ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Ten percent, generally speaking, in

the beginning, although in later contracts there were variations from
that.

Senator Clark. Variations up?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Generally down, Senator.
Mr. Hiss. What is the present attitude of the War Department, in

retrospect, with all the value of hindsight, on cost-plus contracts?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. We, together with everybody else, are

opposed to cost-plus contracts. AVe still, however, do not know quite

how we are going to make contracts in time of war for material
unknown to the contractor, with which he is not familiar. We do
not know just how we are going to make a contract to cover that
contingency right now.
Mr. Hiss. Referring again to the chart which was introduced

earlier and marked " Exhibit No. 1104 ", would you not say that the

major purchases of the Ordnance Department, represented on this

chart at 4 billion dollars, are of items with which the ordinary manu-
facturer in the United States is not familiar in peace time?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Generally speaking, the ordnance

equipment is such that the ordinary manufacturer is not familiar
with it.

Mr, Hiss. Then cost-plus contracts were to a considerable extent
used in the ordnance field?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. To a considerable extent.

Mr. Hiss. Is that also true of the construction field, in building
cantonments and things of that sort?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I think that is generally true in the
construction field.

Mr. Hiss. As a result of cost-plus contracts, in the opinion of the

War Department were excessive profits earned in some cases?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. In some cases they were. In other
cases the cost-plus contracts resulted in a reduction of price. We
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have one example, in the manufacture of the shoulder rifle. The
Remington Arms and one other arms company would not take a
fixed-price contract on account of changing the rifles from the Brit-

ish chamber to the American chamber, and insisted on a cost-j)lus

contract; and under that contract reduced the price from $42, which
the Allies had been paying, to $26, which it amounted to under the

cost-plus contract. Our records showed that the company' would
have preferred to have a fixed-price contract and applied for it, but
it was not given to them,
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Chairman, may I call Mr. Muir, one of the account-

ants working for the committee ?

The Chairman. Has Mr. Muir been sworn?
Mr. Hiss. No ; he has not.

TESTIMONY OF R. F. MUIR

WAR-TIME INCOMES OF CERTAIN COMPANIES AND INDIVIDUALS

(The witness was duly sworn by the chairman.)
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Muir, will you please state your experience in the

field of accounting?
Mv. Muir. Since 1932 to date I have been accountant investigator

for the Banking and Currency Committee, the Ocean and Air Mail
Investigation, and presently with the Munitions Committee. Prior

to that I have been at the head of the accounting department of a

large maimfacturmg concern in New York City.

Mr. Hiss. I show you a report of net taxable income, invested cap-

ital and the percentage of income to the invested capital. Was^
this prepared by you, Mr. Muir?
Mr. Muir. Yes ; it was.
Mr. Hiss. From official records in the Bureau of Internal Revenue ?

Mr. Muir. Yes; that is right.

Mr. Hiss. You have checked this report carefully against the

records of the Bureau?
Mr. MuiR. Of the Bureau; yes.

Mr. Hiss. That is all, thank you.
This report, which I offer as " Exhibit No. 1111 *', shows certain

profits made in the metals industry.

(The report referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1111 '', and is

included in the appencUx on p. 2985.)

Mr. Hiss. The American Brass Co. Were they a contractor of

the Government, Colonel Harris?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. They undoubtedly furnished brass.

Mr. Hiss. In 1916 their net taxable income after all deductions

was $20,000,000 upon an invested capital of $39,000,000, or a profit

of 51 percent. That was before the United States entered the war,
so that was presumably primarily for contracts from foreign orders.

In 1917 their percent of net taxable income on the invested capital

was 23 percent.

The Bethlehem Steel Corporation. Were they a contractor of the

Ordnance Department?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. They were.

Mr. Hiss. In 1917 they had a net taxable income of $61,810,000,

the percent of net income to the invested capital being 43 percent.
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Jones & Lauglilin Steel Co. Were they a contractor of the

Ordnance Department ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I could not answer definitely.

Mr. Hiss. In 1917 this company had a profit of $48,869,000 on an
invested capital of $10;j,000,000; in other words, 47 percent profit.

The Atlas Powder Co. Were the}' a contractor of the Ordnance
Department ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. In 1917 they made 27 percent on the invested capital.

Colt's Patent Firearms Co. Were they a contractor?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. They were.

Mr. Hiss. In 1916, before this country entered the war, their profit

was 60 percent of invested capital. In 1917 it was 64 percent and
in 1918 51 percent.

The Midvale Steel & Ordnance Co. Were they a contractor of the
Ordnance Department ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. They certainly were of the Navy, but
I am not sure about the Ordnance.
Mr. Hiss. In 1917 this company had a profit on its invested cap-

ital of 43 percent.

Senator Vandenberg. How many of these contractors would be
on a cost-plus basis?

Mr. Hiss. The majority of the ordnance contractors, according to

the previous testimony of Colonel Harris, were on a cost-plus basis.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I am sure that many of the con-
tractors listed here were not on a cost-plus contract. For example,,
brass purchases would certainly be purchased on a straight contract.

Mr. Hiss. Tlie Savage Arms Corporation. Were they contractors
of the Ordnance Department?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The}^ were.
Mr. Hiss. In 1917 it had 65 percent return on its invested capital;

$6,000,000 profits on $10,000,000 investment. In 1918, 43 percent
profit.

The Western Cartridge Co. Were they also a contractor of the

Ordnance Department?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.
]Mr. Hiss. In 1916, before this country entered the war, their profit

was 49 percent ; in 1917 and 1918, 35 percent and 39 percent, respec-
tivel}'.

The Winchester Repeating Arms Co. Were they a contractor ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. They were.
Mr. Hiss. In 1918 they show a profit of 22 percent.
The following three items do not refer to the Ordnance Depart-

ment but refer to the Navy Department. They were companies
engaged in the shipbuilding industry.
The Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corporation in 1918 showed a profit

of 40 percent on its invested capital, and in 1919, 63 percent.
The New York Shipbuilding Co. in 1918 showed a profit of 41

percent, in 1919 a profit of 49 percent, and in 1920 a profit of 46
percent.

The Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co. in 1917 showed
a profit of 86 percent on its invested capital

; $3,298,000 net income,
with an invested capital of $3,800,000. In 1918 the profit was 72 per-
cent ; in 1919, 70 percent ; and in 1920, 75 percent.
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The Bethlehem Loadinir Co.—was that a subsidiary of the Beth-
lehem Steel Co., Colonel Harris?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It was.
Mr. Hiss. It showed a profit in 1918—were they a contractor of the

Ordnance Department?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. They were a contractor of the Ord-

nance Department.
Mr. Hissi. It showed a profit on invested capital of 3G2 percent,

the net income being $151,000. and the invested capital being $41,000.

Senator Vandenberg. Mr. Hiss, do these statements show the in-

come tax for these same years ?

Mr. Hiss. That has been stricken out, because the accountant could

not be sure that perhaps some additional munitions tax was not paid.

The records of the Bureau of Internal Revenue were not absolutely

clear on that point, so we preferred not to put anything in that there

might be a dispute about.

Senator Vandenberg. In other words, we have no information as

to how much of this

Mr. Hiss. Was paid back to the Government in the form of taxes.

That is correct.

Senator Barbour. This might be subject to an excess-profits tax?

Mr. Hiss. That is correct. We do not have information at this

time as to how much was paid back in any of these years.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You know that the law says that all above
a certain nominal percentage—I think 80 percent—was taken back
by the Government.
Mr. Hiss. You are referring to the munitions tax, or to the ordi-

nary excess-profits tax?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am talking of the excess-profits tax. Is

that not a fact?

Mr. Hiss. I am afraid I do not know.
The Chairman. Colonel Harris, you wish to speak on this?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes, I would like to make a state-

ment. With reference to the matter of the contracts with the com-
panies that did business for the War Department, I feel sure that
they were fixed-price contracts. With your permission, I should
like to put into the record for each one of those companies whether
it was a cost-plus or a fixed-price contract.^

One other point with reference to some of those companies, they
were acting only as agents of the War Department. In the case of
the loading plant of the Bethlehem Co., for example, they were
simply acting as agents of the Ordnance Department, and the War
Department was putting up all the money for the entire expenditure.
I do not know what effect that would have on their capitalization.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Muir, may I ask you one more question, please?

Do the figures stated in the report that has just been put in evidence
represent the final figures of today in the Bureau of Internal
Revenue ?

Mr. Muir. The net taxable income was the final figure determined
by the Bureau upon which a tax was based.

Mr. Hiss. Subject to no further adjustments at the present time?
Mr. Muir. Subject to no further adjustments.

1 During hearings of Dec. 19, 19.'!4, Colonel Harris introtliiced additional data on cost-
plus and fixed-price contracts. Hearings, Part XVI, p. 39o6.
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Mr. Hiss. Is the same thing true of the figure of invested capital?

Mr. MuiR. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. Thank you. That is all.

Is Mr. Edward White, of the Bureau of Internal Revenue, here?

TESTIMONY OF EDWARD WHITE

(The witness was duly sworn by the chairman.)
Mr. Hiss. Mr. White, I show you a report in six pages headed

" Statistical Section, Income Tax Unit. Individuals reporting net
income of $1,000,000 or over for any one or more of the years 1917
to 1920."^

Will you please identify that for the committee? Was that pre-
pared under the supervision of your department ?

Mr. White. It was.
Mr. Hiss. Has Mr. White's official position with the Bureau of

Internal Revenue been stated?
The Chairman. It has not. It had better be stated.

Mr. White. I am chief of the statistical section of the Income Tax
Unit.
The Chairman. How long have you been such?
Mr. White. I organized this in 1917.

The Chairman. You have been its chief since its organization in

1917?
Mr. White. Continuously

;
yes, sir.

The Chairman. Thank you, Mr. White.
Mr. Hiss. I would like to offer this as the next exhibit.

(The report referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1112 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 2987.)-
Mr. Hiss. This shows a total of 181 persons who report a net

income of a million dollars or over. Mr. White, does this mean net
taxable income?
Mr. White. That is the net income

;
yes.

Mr. Hiss. Subject to taxation?
Mr. White. Subject to tax; that is right.

Mr. Hiss. That is, after deductions?
Mr. White. After all deductions.

Mr. Hiss. And all losses, and so forth?
Mr. White. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. The years covered by this report are 1915, 1916, 1917,
1918, 1919, and 1920. Of these 181, 47 reported taxable income of a
million dollars or over for the first time in 1917 and 1918, the war-
time period.

Senator Vandenberg. Did the table show what taxes they paid ?

Mr. Hiss. Xo statement as to taxes or the amount of income other
than that it was over a million dollars.

^ In connection with "Exhibit No. 1112"' the committee received two denials from
individuals mentioned as having: a net income of $1,000,000 or over for any one or more
of the years 1917 to 19'20. One was from Ogden L. Mills, which was entered into
the record as " Exhibit No. 1203 ", Hearings, Part XV, appendix, p. :!736. Mr. Mills'
name is not included ir the list although that of Ogden Mills, his father, is included. The
other denial is from Julius Forstmaiiii of the Forstmann Woolen Co., and is included in
the appendix to this Part on p. 3164.

- Under date of Jan. 28, 1935, the Treasury Department supplemented this report with
a list of individuals reporting net incomes of $1,000,000 or over, for one or both of the
years 1915 and 1916, who did not report $1,000,000 or over for any of the years 1917-20.
This list, and the accompanying letter from the Treasury Department, are included in the
appendix on p. 3152.
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Mr. Pierre du Pont, do you know whether in sellino; cannon
powder and rifle powder abroad, title was taken by the purchasers in

this country or whether it was part of your contract to deliver?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Delivered in this country by us.

Mr. Hiss. Who paid the freight to Europe ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The purchaser.
Mr. Hiss. Can you explain, referring to that document which we

have already discussed, how in the year 1915 and in 1916, under the
heading " Cannon powder "—let us turn to 1915. If you will look
down that list, under treasurer's contract no. 20, you will see an order

for a million pounds of cannon powder to the Bethlehem Steel

Corporation. Is that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is right.

Mr. Hiss. The price of that is 80 cents.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. All the other prices of cannon powder during that year
are approximately 90 cents or more, many of them at a dollar. For
example, the sale to England in tlie same month, February 17, of a

larger amount at a dollar a pound ; again on February 13, treasurer's

contract no. 24, there was a further sale to Bethlehem Steel at 80

cents. That is true again of item 39. In fact, all the Bethlehem
Steel sales in 1915 and 1916 seemed to be at 80 cents. Do you know
just why they were able to purchase from 3'our company at that

price ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes. Bethlehem Steel were old customers
of ours. We felt they were entitled to a price on powder furnished
by our original plant, on which there was a heavy amortization.

The charge of a dollar was made by arrangement with our European
customers to include the cost of amortizing the plants in the period
of a year or in the period of the first contract, l^y agreement that we
could not afford to build a plant for them unless they were going
to use it and amortize it at the same time. That accounts for the

differences.

Our price to the United States Government at that time, although
we sold no powder, would have been at the 53-cent price provided by
Congress. I think there are no contracts with the United States

Government in this—yes ; here is one. No ; that is TNT.
Mr. Hiss. I would like to offer these sheets showing the individual

contract sales for the years 1914 to 1918, inclusive, as the next exhibit.

(The tabulations referred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1113 " and
is included in the appendix on p. 2990.)^

Senator Vandenberg. Mr. Hiss, I would like to ask Mr. AVhite
this : Would it be possible to make a table comparable with this

statistical section which you provided which, without indicating the

name of the individual, would show the tax paid? -

Mr. White. Yes.
Senator Vandenberg. Upon these incomes.

1 The committee later computed the total amount of du Pont sales from 1014 to 1918
to certain foreign countries from " Exhibit No. IIIM." These computations were intro-
duced into the record as " Exhibits Nos. l-".!)(t to 1394 '", inclusive. See Hearings, I'art
XVII, Appendix, pp. 4432 to 4435.

- Under date of .Ian. 8, 1935, the Treasur.v Department supplied the committee with a
compilation of original taxes filed by list of individuals in "Exhibit No. 1112." This
list and the accompanying letter from the Treasury Department appear in the appendix
on p. 3154.
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Mr. White. Yes. I can only say this, that our record uj)on which

this was made is the amount of income and, of course, the tax as

reported originally without any adjustment after audit or exaniina-

tion by the Bureau. The section that is shown hei-e was as originally

filed; and, of course, the tax would have to be that same amount,

because the statistical section does not have the data showing the

final disposition of these cases.

Senator Vandenberg. But on the same basis that this was pi-e-

pared, you could provide that statement?

Mr. White. Yes.

Senator Vandenberg. Would you be kind enough to provide that

at your convenience to the committee?
Mr. White. Just the amount in each instance, the aggregate

amount ?

Senator Vandenberg. The amount in each instance.

Mr. White. Without the name?
Ser.ator Vandenberg. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. That is, the amount of the tax paid and the amount of

income ?

Senator Vandenberg. Yes; the amount of income and the amount
of tax paid.

Mr. White. The amount of income and the amount of tax re-

ported. It will have to be the amount reported.

Senator Vandenberg. That is right.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Chairman, I should like to offer for the record a

memorandum consisting of excerpts from various official reports,

summarizing profits made during the war.

The Chairman. Very well. It will be received.

(The memorandum referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1114"

and is included in the appendix on p. 3006.)

Mr. Hiss. In a report made to the Director General of Railroads by
Washington E. Lowe and James L. Dohr, certified public account-

ants, now in the files of the Director General of Railroads, the

United States Steel Corporation is shown to have had the following

profit record

:

In 1914 it made 3 percent on its investment. In 1915 this had
increased to 10 percent; in 1916. 23 percent; in 1917, 3.5 percent; and
in 1918, 2'9 percent.

The gross adjusted earnings as reported for the years 1915 through
1918, respectively, were as follows:

$131,223,000 in 1915, $348,254,000 in 1916. $585,494,000 in 1917, and
$519,469,000 in 1918.

The Nagel Steel Co. showed in 1917 a percentage of 319 percent
on investments, according to a report of the Federal Trade Com-
mission.

The Utah Copper Co., according to the report of the Graham
committee previously referred to. in 1917 had 200 percent profit on
the capital stock, without considering whether it was overcapitalized;

in 1918. 150 percent.

In 1917 the Calumet & Hecla Mining Co. had 800 percent return
on its capital stock, and in 1918 it was 300 percent.

Senator Vandenberg. That will be a poignant memory today.
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Mr. Hiss. According to the Federal Trade Commission report, the

New Jersey Zinc Co. in 1916 paid dividends of 76 percent on invest-

ment and on capital stock issue, and its net earnings were 95 percent

of investment.
Senator Vandenberg. Again there are no figures indicated as to

the tax?
Mr. Hiss. No, sir.

Mr. Irenee du Pont, you referred a few moments ago to the fact

that heavy taxes were levied on income during the war. Earlier

Mr. Pierre du Pont had referred to the fact that part of the high
powder charges to certain of your customers, part of the difference

between the charges to Bethlehem Steel Co., for example, and certain

foreign customers, was due to the necessity for amortizing plants.

Is it true that as a general rule during the war-time period there was
amortization of plants throughout the munitions industries, or was
your company alone in that respect?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know, but I should think prudence
would have dictated it to others as it did to us.

Mr. Hiss. Are you familiar with the Revenue Act of 1918. that

section which permitted deductions based on the amortization for

disuse ; that is, deterioration and obsolescence of facilities constructed

for war time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I have heard there was such a thing. I am

not familiar with it.

Mr. Hiss. Do you know whether your company claimed any deduc-

tions on that account?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not tell you. I presume some of our

American orders involved them.
Mr. Hiss. Would you furnish the committee with a statement of

how much of your plant investment you claimed deductions for in

later years, on income taxes in later years? ^

I will not read this into the record, but will the reporter please

copy it into the record as though it had been read in full ?

(The matter referred to is as follows :)

REVENUE ACT OF lOlS, PUBLIC, NO. 1154, SIXTY-FIFTH CONGRESS

Sec. 234. (a) Tliat in computing the net income of a corporation subject to

the tax imposed by section 230 there shall be allowed as deductions: * * »

(8) In the case of buildings, machinery, equipment, or other facilities, con-

structed, erected, installed, or acquired, on or after April 6, 1917, for the pro-

duction of articles contributing to the prosecution of the present war, and in

the case of vessels constructed or acquired on or after such date for the trans-

portation of articles or men contributing to the prosecution of the present war,
there shall be allowed a reasonable deduction for the amortization of such part

of the cost of such facilities or vessels as has been borne by the taxpayer, but
not again including any amount otherwise allowed under this title or previous

acts of Congress as a deduction in computing net income. At any time within

3 years after the termination of the present war the Commissioner may, and
at the request of the taxpayer sliall, reexamine the return, and if he then
finds as a result of au appraisal or from other evidence that the deduction orig-

inally allowed was incorrect, the taxes imposed by this title and by title III

for the year or years affected shall be redetermined and the amount of taxi

due upon such redetermination, if any, shall be paid upon notice and demand
by the collector, or the amount of tax overpaid, if any, shall be credited or
refunded to the taxpayer in accordance with the provisions of section 252.

^ See footnote on p. 2927 for statement of amounts allowed on a basis of amortizatioD..
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. I might say that in our own accounting we
took amortization year by year, trying to apportion it as best we
could over the likely time of use of the plants. But under the Fed-
eral tax office ruling, that amortization, I think, was all taken at

the end of the period, was it not?

Mr. Eliason. As I recall it, the law at the time did not permit
amortization as such. The law permitted, as I recall, a reasonable

allowance for depreciation, including wear and tear. On our books
we took the amortization charge. The Revenue Bureau refused

to allow the deduction which had been taken on our books and wliich

we claimed on our report as filed.

Mr. Hiss. Will you furnish that report?

Mr. Eliason. What do j^ou want?
Mr. Hiss. A statement of actual amounts allowed on the basis of

amortization.^

Mr. Eliason. Amortization allowed by years?
Mr. Hiss. Right.
Colonel Harris, in addition to the profits made by actual con-

tractors with the Government, were there not also large profits

made in the field of raw materials? In other words, the demand for

raw materials in order to fill large Government orders must have
increased the demand for raw materials as well, must it not?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The demand for raw materials was
increased, and the price rose. In many cases it was later brought
down by governmental intervention.

prices of certain raw materials from 1913 TO 1919

Mr. Hiss. I should like to introduce certain charts that have been
prepared for the committee as to price fluctuations of raw materials
during the war. The first of these, " Exhibit No. 1115-A ", is fuel
oil, as contrasted with the price of all commodities during the period
from 1913 to 1919. You will see that all commodities were gradually
rising, so that there were high prices for everything. Fuel oil in

January 1916 was well up above the line, and in August 1917, after

the United States had entered the war, it went sharply above the
level of all commodities and remained there until after the armis-
tice, when it fell way below the ordinary commodities line.

The next chart, " Exhibit No. 1115-B ", is wool, which was required
largely, I assume, for uniforms, blankets, and things of that sort.

It will be seen that from the beginning of the World War, or from
slightly before that, wool went way up above the all-commodities
level, and after the United States had entered the war this shows
a very sharp increase until just after the armistice, when it fell, but
did not fall below the general level of commodities.
The price of bacon, shown in " Exhibit No. 1115-C ", which was

purchased in large quantities by the Army, I assume, similarly, in

April 1917, just after the United States went into the war, "rose

sharply from a position well below the level of all commodities, to
a position well above that, and remained well above until after the
armistice.

1 Under date of Dec. 15, 1934, the du Pont Co. notified the committee that Mmortiza-
tion allowed by the United States Internal Revenue Bureau, in final consolidated tax-
returns of E. T. du Pont de Nemours & Co. was $15,343,987.69 for 1918 and iR 2.5,1 ;!5.b(i
for 1919, a total of $15,369,123.55.
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Senator Vandenbekg. Have you stated the basis of your statistics ?

Mr. Hiss. That is stated at the bottom. These data were fur-

nished by the Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Similarly, in regard to brass sheets, shown in " Exhibit No.

1115-D " Brass was an important ordnance item?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It was.

Mr. Hiss. The price rose beginning with 1917 and remained up
until January 1918, when suddenly it came down, and rose again

in August 1918 and remained up until after the armistice.

Steel sheets, shown on " Exhibit No. 1115-E ", show an enormous
increase immediately following the entering of the United States

into the war. This, then, comes down in the latter part of 1917 to the

even level, well above the price of all commodities, which it main-

tained until after the armistice.

Senator Vandenberg. Does this indicate that this price is 400 per-

cent as compared with normal?
Mr. Hiss. That is correct.

Senator Vandenberg. During the war, at the peak of the war?
Mr. Hiss. That is correct.

Similarly, with regard to steel plates, shown in " Exhibit No.
1115-F *". which took a larger chart than the othere. The level was.

600 percent at a period a month or two after the United States had
entered the war, in 1917. This high peak was brought down to 200

percent of the mean average of 1913, where it remained well above

the all-commodity average until shortly after the armistice..

(The charts referred to were marked "Exhibit Nos. 1115-xV to

1115-F "' and are inchided in the appendix on pp. 3011 to 3014.)

Senator Clark. It remained above 200 percent until after the

armistice ?

Mr. Hiss. That is correct.

Senator Clark. Colonel, would 3^our dealings with steel producers,,

speaking generally, be on a cost-plus basis or on a contract basis ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Generally on a contract basis,. Senator.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Have you no sheet for the powder?
Mr. Hiss. No; the Bureau of Labor Statistics had no figures on.

powder.
Mr. Irknee du Pont. I can furnish them.
Might we put in similar charts on the price of pow^der for the

same period? ^

Mr. Hiss. I think it lias been generally admitted that the price of

powder went down frt)m the beginning of the war. I do not see the

necessity for the chart. Mr. du Pont. We already have the informa-

tion.

Mr. Irexee du Pont. The facts are, of course, prior to the war,,

in 1913. the i)rice of cannon powder was 53 cents. I think you will

find that all the Government powder bought from the du Pont Co..

during the war was at much less than that price, less than ordinary
cannon powder.
Mr. Hiss. The exhibit already introduced lists each, sale by the-

du Pont Co. from 1914 to 1918.^

Mr. Ljenee du Pont. But it does not show the pre-Avar price..

1 These charts were furnished hiter and marked "Exhibits N\)s. 12r)n-A.t(.) 12o3-F>''
Hearings. Part XV. p. :'.072, appendix, pp. .'585;") to o8.">7.

-' " Exhibit Nil. 11(1!)."
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Mr. Hiss. Another document in here will show the pre-war price,

which will be introduced later.^

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I thought it might be well to put them in

together, to show the comparison.
Senator Clark. The committee will take a recess until 2 o'clock.

(Thereupon, at 12:30 p.m. a recess was taken until 2 p.m. of the

same day.)

ArTERNOON SESSION

The committee reconvened at 2 p. m.

TESTIMONY OF LT. COL. C. T. HARRIS, JR., LT. E. M. BRANNON,
IRENEE DU PONT, PIERRE DU PONT, J. B. ELIASON, AND W. S.

GREGG—Resumed

Senator Pope. The committee will be in order. Mr. Hiss, you may
proceed. Mr. Swint, did you desire to make a correction?

Mr. Swint. Yes; in yesterday's testimony, in response to a ques-

tion from Mr. Raushenbush, I stated that the German Explosives Co.
did put in a temporary bid for the erection of a Chilean powder fac-

tory. I meant to say that they expressed a willingness to do so or an
intention to do so. As a matter of fact, the Chilean Government lost

interest in the proposition and no proposals were received from
anyone.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Irenee du Pont, I understand, wants to make a

slight correction for the record.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I was asked whether the du Pont Co. car-

ried its own insurance. I said they did carry insurance against
explosives. That w^as true before the war and after the war, but
during the war period, when we had these large contracts for the
Allies, we did carry outside insurance.

In answer to your question as to whether we had sufficient nitrate

capacity to cover our needs, I was speaking of the war period, in

which case we had a very small fraction of it.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, to clear up what may or may not be

an uncertain statement in the record, would you please state whether
or not during the late war contracts let by the Ordnance Depart-
ment of the War Department were let on a bid basis or on a nego-
tiated basis.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. During the war many of the con-
tracts let b}^ the Ordnance Department were on a negotiated basis,

using both the fixed-price type of contract and the cost-plus type
of contract.

Mr. Hiss. I wish to turn over to the reporter a document which
marked for the record as " Exhibit No. 1107 '' this morning, but of
which I did not have d copy. This is a statement of the cost of
construction by the "War Department during the World War.
Colonel Harris testified to it, to the best of his memory, subject to

correction when the original document was later produced. This
has been furnished to the committee by the Secretary of War. It

shows that the cantonment construction—by the way, that includes
camps of all kinds as well as cantonments ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes; housing.

Mutrodiicea as "Exhibit No. Iin2.'" See Hearings. Part XIV, appendix, p. ."1:280.
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Mr. Hiss. It shows that cantonment construction amounted to

$496,389,000, that facilities construction operated by industry; that
means the facilities after construction were to be operated by in-

dustry, doesn't it?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. They were built and operated by in-

dustry.

Mr. Hiss. Facilities construction operated by industry, amounted
to $442,430,000. Facilities construction operated by the Govern-
ment; that means after the building; to be operated by the Govern-
ment, but actually not constructed by the Government, is that
correct ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. That is $332,000,000. That makes a grand total of

$1,271,000,000 for construction during the war.
Mr. Rudd, will you please be sworn.

TESTIMONY OF JOHN H. RUDD

1916 AND 1917 INCOME AND TAXES OF CERTAIN CORPORATIONS

(The witness was duly sworn by the chairman.)
Mr. Hiss. Will you give your full name, please?

Mr. RuDD. My full name is John H. Rudd,
Mr. Hiss. Will you state your experience in accounting work?
Mr. Rudd. Since February 1, 1921, I have been with the United

States Government, the Interstate Commerce Commission, Bureau
of Finance. On November 7, 1933, I was detailed to work on the
Commission's air-mail investigation, and since June 1, I have been
on the munitions investigation. Prior to February 1921, I was with
the Southern Railway C^o.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Rudd, I show you a volume entitled, " Senate
Document No. 259 of the Sixty-fifth Congress, second session. Cor-
porate Earnings and Government Revenues ", being a letter from the

Secretary of the Treasury, transmitting in response to a Senate
resolution certain facts, figures, data, and information taken from
1916 and 1917 income and excess profits tax returns of corporations,

published in 1918. This publication states the earnings of certain

corporations that were referred to by code numbers. Is that cor-

rect, Mr. Rudd?
Mr. Rudd. That is correct; yes.

Mr. Hiss. Have you been furnished a copy of the code which was
retained by the Bureau of Internal Revenue and from which this

was made up?
Mr. Rudd. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. Have you had copies made of the code, insofar as it

relat<^s to certain companies?
Mr. Rudd. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. I will offer that as part of " Exhibit No. 1116."

Mr. Hiss. I will show you these documents and ask you to identify

them. Were they prepared under your direction?

Mr. Rudd. Under my direction; yes.

Mr. Hiss. Were they carefully checked against the originals?

Mr. Rudd. They were checked against the originals; yes.
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Mr. Hiss. And they represent the statement of the actual names
of the corporations referred to by code on certain pages of this par-

ticular document ?

Mr. RuDD. They do; yes.

Mr. Hiss. I should also like to have marked as " Exhibit No.
1116 "" the respective pages which are referred to on tlie attached

-sheets here.

(The codes in S. Doc. No. 259, each followed by the corresponding
codes relating to companies as made up by Mr. Rudd were marked
"Exhibit No. 1116" and are included in the appendix on p. 3015.)

Mr. Hiss. I would like to state for the record, Mr. Rudd, before

you go, that we are informed that these figures represent the figures

.as of the date that this was printed—namely, 1918—before refunds.

Mr. Rudd. Excuse me; 1917.

Mr. Hiss. As of 1917?
Mr. Rudd. Yes, sir; that was in 1917 and also the net income for

1916.

Mr. Hiss. I beg your pardon. The question is this : Since that

book was published certain adjustments and changes may have been

made in certain of the accounts.

Mr. Rudd. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. In other words, the taxes may be less or greater now
than are indicated here?
Mr. Rudd. That is right.

Mr. Hiss. And the income may be less or greater?

Mr. Rudd. That is right.

Mr. Hiss. In order to properly describe them, that qualification

should be made?
Mr. Rudd, Yes.
Mr. Hiss. They are not final figures?

Mr. Rudd. No, sir.

Mr. Hiss. Merely figures as of 1918?

Mr. Rudd. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. All right, thank you.

Colonel Harris, are you familiar with certain of the construction

<€ontracts let during the World War?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. No; I am not.

-OLD hickory contract—NECESSITY FOR CONSTRUCTION OF OLD HICKORY
POWDER PLANT

Mr. Hiss. Are you familiar with the contract for the construction

-of a powder plant at Nashville, Tenn., known as the " Old Hickory "

plant?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I have knowledge of that contract, but

not detailed knowledge as to its provisions.

Mr. Hiss. Would you state your relations to the Old Hickory
negotiations, or operations, or whatever part you played?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. You mean my personal relations

during the war?
Mr. Hiss. Yes.
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I had no relations whatever with the

negotiations for nor the execution of that contract.

83876—35—PT 13 3
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Mr. Hiss. Is the construction of Old Hickory considered a rep-

resentative contract? Would you say that it was typical of other
contracts let during the war?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It was an unusual contract, because of

its magnitude. It was a typical contract in regard to certain other
phases, inasmuch as it was not a fixed-price contract and also in

that the Du Pont Engineering Co. acted as agent for the Govern-
ment. Other corporations did the same thing.

Mr. Hiss. Is it a contract which represents the kind of relation-

ship between Government and industry of which the Ordnance De-
partment felt proud ? Was it considered a signal achievement in the
field of engineering construction ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. You are asking my personal views ?

Mr. Hiss. Yes.
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Or my views as a representative of

the War Department?
Mr. Hiss. Your personal views.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The contract as signed, in my opinion,

was an excellent contract, under the circumstances.
Mr, Hiss. I am referring, rather, to the construction carried out

under the contract, the job in toto.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. That was a splendid contract, because
the Government paid $1 for the services.

Mr. Hiss. I am not sure of the date at which this was published,
but it is a publication entitled " Old Hickory '', published by the du
Pont Co. in Wilmington, Del., a pamphlet of some 20 pages. At page
6 there is quoted a letter from C. C. Williams, Chief of Ordnance.
Do you know whether Major General Williams was Chief of Ord-
nance, or can you tell the time he was Chief of Ordnance ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. He was Chief of Ordnance from early

in 1918 until 1930.

Mr. Hiss, The last two paragraphs quoted from General Wil-
liams' letter are as follows, this being a letter presumbably to the
du Pont Co. [reading] :

The history of what j'ou have done at Nashville

—

That is where Old Hickory was located?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.
Mr. Hiss (continuing) :

The history of what you have done at Nashville is paralleled by the very
satisfactory and uniform fulfillment of your expectations on practically all

other work you have undertaken for the Government.
It is therefore a distinct pleasure to express to you the very sincere appre-

ciation of the Ordnance Department for the highly efficient and fruitful

part your company has played in the development of the munitions s^upply.

This contract as finally signed on March 23, 1918, provided for

no profit in the construction, did it not?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. $1.

Mr. Hiss. That was a rather unusual provision in a contract in

those days, was it not, Colonel Harris?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I would say so. We had a number

of people working for the Government also for the compensation
of $1.

Mr. Hiss. I offer for the record a memorandum dated December
13, 1917, signed by H, M. Pierce, chief engineer.
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(The memorandum referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1117"

and is inchided in the appendix on p. 3124.)

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Pierre du Pont, would you just keep a copy of that

in front of you ? Mr. Pierce, who signs this as chief engineer, was
the chief engineer oj/the du Pont Co. throughout the year 1917,

was he, Mr. gli^c^oii/^

Mr. Pieri(e 1)U ^^nt. He was.
Mr. Hiss. ^^:^='& will notice that in the first paragraph of this

memorandum Mr. Pierce states

:

Diplomatic relations between the United States and Germany being broken
on February 3, 1917, and we, realizing the powder situation in the United
States and the advisability of locating a new powder plant to comply with
the rulings of the War College, started our engineers on February 7 collecting

data on stream flow and study of topographical maps for n smokeless-
powder-plant location to comply with the rulings of the War College, since
none of our plants complied with these rulings.

Was that as a result of negotiations with the War Department,
Mr. du Pont?
Mr. PiEREE DU Pont. I think not at the time. Our executive

committee had passed a resolution authorizing this investigation in

the early part of April, but this particular investigation was started

without the executive committee's command. I think it had no
relation to the War Department, but I may be quite mistaken in that.

Mr. Hiss. Was this investigation preparatory to a plant being
built by the du Pont Co. for its own operation ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We did not know. Our plants were located

near the seaboard and evidently in vulnerable position in the event
of enemy attack. We thought some preparation should be made to
move into the interior, either through our own building or Govern-
ment buildings or that of some other party.

Mr. Hiss. At this time-—namely, February 1917—was your com-
pany considering the problem of the proper utilization after the
war of excess plant capacity developed during the war?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think we realized almost at the beginning

that that plant capacity would be perfectly useless after the war,
excepting the real estate that might remain.
Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to a meeting of the executive com-

mittee on February 5, 1917, of which I have not a complete report.

I should appreciate it if you would furnish us with a copy of the
resolution. In this the development department reported on the
utilization of plant capacity after the war, and the development de-
partment was directed by the executive committee to confine its

efforts to the development of five fields of industry, namely, dyestuff
and allied or organic chemicals, vegetable oil industry, paint and
varnish, water-soluble chemicals, and industries related to cellulose

and to cotton purification.

This was an attempt to prepare your excess plant capacity for
use, or was it an investigation looking toward new construction?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It is hard to say what you mean by excess

plant capacity. The powder plants were useful as such, but the
nitric-acid and sulphuric-acid plants, connected with the water sup-
ply, were possibly useful for other purposes, and it was of those
facilities that the investigation was made. The actual powder plant,

of course, had no relation to any industrial development.
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Mr. Hiss. And the purification of cotton which was done for
powder could be used for various cellulose products?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. I offer this letter dated Marcli 22, 1917, as an exhibit,
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1118 *' and is

included in the appendix on p. 3125.)
Mr. Hiss. On March 22, 1917, you, Mr. du Pont, wrote a letter

to the then Secretary of War, Mr. Newton D. Baker, in which you
submitted sonie data with respect to the production of military ex-
plosives and raw materials. On the first page of the enclosed memo-
randum you stated that your orders with the Allies were sufficient

to run your plants at their full rated capacity of 27,500,000 pounds
per month until September 15, 1917.

On the second page 3^ou stated that the du Pont Co. bought nitrate

of soda for the Hercules Powder Co. and the Atlas Powder Co. under
a court dissolution decision. In 1912 there was a consent decree

entered in an antitrust suit ; is that correct, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. And under that decree the Hercules Powder Co. and the

Atlas Powder Co. were established?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is right.

Mr. Hiss. And after they were established the du Pont Co. pur-

chased nitrate on behalf of the Hercules Powder Co. and the Atlas

Powder Co. ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. They were given that right under the disso-

lution decree.

Mr. Hiss. I have been unable to find that particular sentence. I

wish you could have somebody point it out.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think possibly is it a general right to use

facilities.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, nitrate of soda was an essential item in

the making of powder, was it not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It was at that time

;
yes.

Mr. Hiss. So if you controlled the price which Hercules and Atlas

had to pay, you would control their output of powder?
Mr, Pierre du Pont. We could not control, because under the

arrangement with them they were entitled to the same price we paid.

Mr. Hiss. Whatever price you paid ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes; with possibly some kind of a comm's-
sion. I am not sure about that. But the commission was agreed

upon in the dissolution suit.

Mr. Hiss. What right did they have to call upon you for delivery

of nitrate, if you did not have enough for your own uses?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not remember the exact arrangement
with them, but I presume they notified us of their requirements in

time for us to purchase in Chile.

Mr. Hiss. You had no difficulty in those days in getting all the

nitrate that was necessary?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Not before the war ; no.

Mr. Hiss. You mean before the United States went into the war?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. No; I mean before the Great War started.

Mr. Hiss. This letter is March 22, 1917. As of this time, do you
remember ?
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. There was grave doubt about the nitrate

supply. Nitrate had to be brought from Chile, brought through the

Canal, which was not in hundred-percent condition at the time. We
were obliged to make arrangements to carry the nitrate across the

continent by rail, in the event of failure of the Canal. So that situa-

tion was not at all assured. Of course, there was the question of

enemy attack then, even before the United States went into the war.
Mr. Hiss. Do you know what the obligations of your company

were to turn over to Hercules and Atlas nitrate, if you did not have
enough for your own needs? ^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I have no recollection that there was any
obligation.

Mr. Hiss. Were they permitted under the arrangement with you
to buy from any source other tlian your company 'i

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe so; yes.

Mr. Hiss. You believe they were?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. If this is important, I would like to look up

the exact standing, because my recollection is very faint on it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. The thing to do is to go right to the original

document. Do not depend on memory 17 or 18 years ago.

Mr. Hiss. If you will, submit copies of the contracts.

Mr. Eliason. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. On the next page, Mr. du Pont, the last paragraph

:

In our judgment, the users of nitrate in this country, other than the above,
have about 3 months' supply on hand and liave contracts for delivery in this

tcuntry for the balance of the yeai*.

Do you know what users of nitrate you were referring to?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Of course, there was a large fertilizer in-

dustry. I do not know what condition they were in at the time.

And there w^ere other large manufacturers of acids and, of course,

other manufacturers of commercial explosives.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg has pointed to a particular paragraph in the
consent decree filed June 13, 1912, in the District Court of the United
States for tiie District of Delaware, in tlie case of The United States

18 contratts dated Jan. 15, 1913, between the du Pont Co. and the Hercules
Powder Co. and 3 contracts of the same date and covering thie same matters between
the du Pont Co. and the Atlas Powder Co. were furnished to the committee in response
to the above request and are in the committee's files. Under these contracts (1) Her-
cules and Atlas agreed to buy all of their requirements of nitrate of soda and of crude
glycerine exclusively from the du Pont Co. at cost plus a coiiimissiion of 1^4 percent for
nitrate and of lYs percent for glycerin ; this feature could be canceled by Hercules or Atlaa
on 1 year's notice

; (2) Hercules and Atlas were entitled to use the facilities of the du Pont
purchasing department for other suppli-es at cost plus a commissi.in of ,^^5 percent
(on July .31, 1914, this commission was reduced to % percent for the Atlas Co.) ; (3)
information contained in the du Pont Co. trade bureau as of Dec. 31, 1912, was made
available to the Hercules and Atlas companies upon request at cost of compilation and
delivery; (4) Hercules and Atlas agreed to pay a proportion of tue expenses of' th_
du Pont facilities in reference to experimentation, development of the art and scientific
research in the respective fields of dynamite, B. blasting powder, black sporting powder,
and smokeless sporting powder whenever used by Hercules and Atlas, based upon the
relation the gross output of each company of each of the listed articles bore to the
total output thereof by all companies, including the du Pont Co., using the facilities:
this was terminable by Hercules or Atlas at the end of any year on 6 months' notice ;

(5) the contracts were to continue for 5 years terminable by Atlas or Hercules, except
in the respects indicated above, on 3 months' notice.

I'nder date of May 9, 1935, the du Pont Co. notified the committee that by agreements
dated Dec. 31, 1917, Oct. 26, 1918, and Dec. 31, 1919, the exclusive arrangements as to
nitrate of soda, crude glycerine, and refined glycerin were exten<led to December 1920.
The Dec. 31. 1917, agreement included suljihur within the exclusive arrangement. Copies
of all the agreements are in the committee files.
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of America v. E. I. (hi Pont de Nemours & Co.^ and others. At page
8, paragraph 13, of the decree, the final decree, it says

:

During a period of at least 5 years

—

This is an obligation imposed on all of the defendants, I judge.
There is no subject to the sentence.

Mr. Gregg. What do you mean ? This paragraph you are reading
here 'l

Mr. Hiss. Yes. That means all of the defendants named in the
suit, doesn't it?

Mr. Gregg. No
; it means E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.

Mr. Hiss. On page 3 of the consent decree, the order is that a
plan be adopted by 27 named defendants, including the du Pont
Co., and the thirteenth paragraph in that order is that during a

period of at least 5 years there shall be furnished to each of two
corporations to be established such facilities, information, and use
of organization as E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. may operate or
possess in reference to the purchase of materials, ex])erimentation,
development of the art and scientific research, as said two corpora-
tions—they were the Atlas and Hercules—may desire from time to

time in the interest of their business and upon some reasonable terms
as to the cost thereof to said two corporations. Purs'uant to that
clause, specific contracts were entered into, including nitrate of soda

;

is that right ?
^

Mr. Gregg. I presume so.

Mr. Hiss. If we may have copies of those contracts, that will clear

it up.

Mr. Pierre du Pont, in 1917 do you know whether any of the offi-

cers or major stockholders of your company were also stockholders
of either the Hercules or the Atlas Powder Co. ?

-

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe there w^ere. I think the records
have been presented here.

Mr. Hiss. In 1917?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I thought that record was presented. Maybe

that record only relates to recent days.
Mr. Hiss. I have here simply a summary of dividends received by

certain of the officers and directors.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe quite a number of them were inter-

ested in the stocks of those companies.
Mr. Hiss. And you believe that has been furnished ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I thought it had, but I may be mistaken
about it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know what date that was.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. In 1917.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think the data furnished of the holdings
of the Atlas and Hercules Powder Cos. were as of September this

year.

Mr. Hiss. I think so.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You asked for it and we give it that way.
Mr. Hiss. I think so.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. At least, I did.

^ See footnote on p. 29.S5 for information regarding Atlas and Hercules contracts.
2 The du IVint Co. later supplied the list of Hercules and Atlas stockholders as of

Jan. 1, 1917. See appendix, p. 3160.
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lAv. Hiss. Will you give us, Mr. Eliason, the 1917 stock holdings

that were held by officers and directors of the du Pont Co. ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont, in the spring of 1917 did your company for-

mally launch upon the manufacture of dyes?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe it was about that time. Undoubt-

edly there is a record of the executive committee on that subject.

Mr. Hiss. The only record I have been able to find that seemed to

point to a sf)ecific date was a meeting of April 3, 1917, just before the
declaration of war, and the resolution stated that there had been an
agreement made with Mr. M. R. Poucher to deliver $100,000 worth
of common stock at the then market value, whenever the company
decided to engage in the dye industry.

The resolution further recited that as the company had decided
to engage in the dye industry and had on April 2 appropriated money
for an auramine plant, the stock should be delivered to Mr. Poucher.
That would be the official beginning of the company's entrance

into the dye field ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I would think so
;
yes.

Mr. Hiss. Was construction undertaken by the company in con-
nection with the dye industry in this period—1917?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Could you state ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It certainly was started about that time. I
certainly could not tell you what was done personally.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, I call your attention to extracts from the

minutes of a meeting of the General Munitions Board held on
Wednesday, April 11, 1917, which are offered as an exhibit, at which
were present Colonel Dunn, Major Pierce, Paymaster Hancock, Mr.
Summers, ]\Ir. Eisenman, Mr. Rosenwald—do you know what Mr.
Rosenwald that was. Colonel?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Mr. Julius Rosenwald, I imagine.
Mr. Hiss (continuing). Mr. Scott, and Mr, Bolton, secretary.

(The minutes referred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1118-A" and
are included in the appendix on p. 3129.)
Mr. Hiss (reading) :

Mr. Scott advised the Board that a conference had been held yesterday with
the Du Pont powder iieople. in which nieetinir a possible shortage of powder
was mentioned and that further data on this subject was being compiled by
the Du Pont people and would be submitted by them at an early date.

Then, in this same connection, there was a meeting on April 16,

1917, of the same Board, extracts of the minutes of which I will offer

for the record.

(The minutes referred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1119 " and
are included in the appendix on p. 3129.)

Mr. Hiss. At which the chairman—Mr. Scott being in the chair

—

reported that a conference had been held yesterday with Colonel Dunn

—

That is the day before, April 15

—

and representatives of the Du Pont Powder Co., at which it was decided that
the facilities of the Aetna Explosives Co. would probably not be needed.

At this time you were of the opinion that there was serious danger
of an extreme poAvder shortage, were you not, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Hiss. Do you remember on what basis it was thought that the

facilities of the Aetna Explosives Co. would not be needed, if there

was a demand for powder ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I did not know until today that was decided

-

upon. I had never heard of it before.

Mr. Hiss (continuing reading) :

Major Pierce suggested that, clue to the location of the Aetna Explosives Co.'s

plants, it might be advisable to keep them in operation.

Colonel Dunn and Mr. Summers were appointed a committee to look into-

this matter further.

Then the following day, April 17, a further meeting was heldy

extracts of the minutes of which I offer for appropriate number.
(The minutes referred to were marked " Exhibit Xo. 1120 " and

are included in the appendix on p. 3129.)

Mr. Hiss. That states [reading] :

Mr. Summers presented a verbal report on conferences held with the repre-

sentatives of the du Pont Powder Co. in connection with the advisability of

continuing the Aetna Powder Co., who at present are in financial trouble,

Mr. Summers reported that the Aetna people had had valuable experience in

the manufacture of smokeless powder. * * *

In connection with this matter. Mr. Summers pointed out the very great

possibility of shortage in Army i-equirements and estimates.

Were you of the opinion that the then existing Army estimates

were inadequate and did not call for a sufficient amount of powder,
Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The only record I have in April, I believe,

is a statement issued, I think, by Colonel Harper, the day after the

declaration of war in April, which indicated that for that year a

very small amount of powder was needed.
Mr. Hiss. And you felt that that was an inadequate estimate?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Certainly I did

;
yes.

Mr. Hiss. Returning again to the document which has been marked
" Exhibit No. 1117 ", the memorandum of Mr. Pierce, you will notice

in the first part of the paragraph the following statement

:

On April 21, at our request, a letter was obtained from General Crozier, of
the Ordnance Department, which was in the nature of a passport for our
engineers to visit water intakes and structures that were under guard from
alien enemies.

According to that paragraph, it was at your request, and not at

the War Department's request, that you wanted your engineers to

visit sites for powder plants. Is that correct ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe that is the case; yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. I show you a letter dated April 21, 1917, addressed to
Mr. F. A. Scott, chairman of the General Munitions Board, and
signed by Mr. Jay E. Hoffer, lieutenant colonel, Ordnance Depart-
ment.

(The letter referred to was niarked "Exhibit No. 1121 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3130.)^

Mr. Hiss. The first paragraph states [reading] :

1. x\s the personal representative of the General Munitions. Board in this
I)articular matter, I submit the following rejwrt of the conference held in the
Office of the Chief of Ordnance on April 20-, 1917. with companies who are
manufacturers of nitrocellulose smokeless powder. These companies, with
their representatives present, are named below

:

1 Entered Into further in Hearings, Part XVII, p. 4173.
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E. I. du Pont do Nemours & Co., Wilmington, Del. : Col. E. G. Buckner. vice

president, Mr. C. B. Landis, Mr. H. F. Brown, Maj. K. K. V. Casey, and Mr.
L. R. Beardslee.

Aetna Exposives Co., Inc., 120 Broadway, New York City : Col. Odus C.

Horney.
Hercules Powder Co., Wilmington, Del. : Mr. J. T. Skelley, vice president.

Western Powder Co., Alton, 111. : Mr. F. W. Olin.

The second paragraph says [reading] :

2. These four companies had been previously advised that the present and
-anticipated needs of the Ordnance Department of the Army for smokeless
powder durinc: the next 12 months amount to 26,500,000 pounds of caliber .30

powder, 42,000,000 pounds cannon powder of web thickness less than .0'5, and
approximately 10,000,000 pounds seacoast cannon powder for 6-iuch guns and
above.

The total of those three items, which is not given in tlie letter, is

-78.500,000 pounds.
The third paragraph contains estimates by the various companies

-as to their possible production.
Under the heading " Caliber .30 powder " it appears that the du

Pont Co. estimated that they could produce 1,500,000 pounds per
month from May 1 to October 1, which wT)uld be a total of 7,500,000
pounds, and 3,175.000 pounds per month commencing October 1,

which would be a total, going on the 12 months' basis, of 22,225,000
pounds, or a grand total of 29,725.000 pounds to meet the total Army
requirement for .30 caliber powder.
Under the next heading, " Cannon powder, web thickness less than

,05 ", the du Pont estimate, beginning with November, which is stated

on the next page, was 23,000,000 pounds, so that in November and
December alone more than the total estimated requirements of cannon
powder could be produced by the du Pont Co.
Under the heading of " Seacoast cannon powder " the statement is

made [reading] :

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. submitted a s«^hedule under which the entire
requirements of the Army could be completed by January 1918 and the entire

TJavy requirements within the time indicated by the representative of the
Bureau of Ordnance, Navy Department, as desirable.

Under paragraph 4 it states [reading] :

The du Pont Co. is willing to furnish caliber .30 powder, water dried, at 60
cents per pound ; cannon powder, water dried, at 47i/2 cents per pound ; and
air-dried cannon powder at 50 cents per pound.
The Hercules Powder Co. is willing to furnish caliber .30 iwwder, water dried,

at 62V^ cents, air-dried at 65 cents a pound, and cannon powder of web thick-

ness less than .05, water dried, at iJYj cents, based upon present cost of raw
materials and ability to procure the same.

Those raw materials, at least to the extent of nitrate of soda, being
purchased by you at that time.

Turning over to the next page, paragraph 6 states [reading] :

The companies were informed that it is not the present policy to urge an
increase of capacity where existing free capacity is in excess of estimated
requirements.

At this same time your engineers were being sent to the field,

according to Mr. Pierce's memorandum, if you will look at the third
paragraph of the memorandum. There you will see the statement,

on April 25—it was on April 21, the date of this letter, that the

permission was secured from General Crozier for a passport for your
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engineers to visit various places, and on April 25 two of your locating

enfjineers were sent from your Wilmington office to the field.

In other words, you disagreed with the estimate of the Army at

that time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. May I point out one thing which you seem-

ingly did not observe? Take, for instance, the cannon-powder
schedule: 1,650,000 in June, 3,350,000 in July, 2,220,000 in August,
1,600,000 in September, and 1,350,000 in October, and then it jumps
to 23,000,000 in November. Of course, w^e had no new plants coming
in which made such a jump. It simply meant that the foreign

governments' contracts had expired and all the powder going to them
might have been turned over to the United States, but that would
leave the Allies short on their requirements of powder, and they w^ere

depending on us.

Mr. Hiss. Paragraph 7 of the letter states, in the last sentence

[reading] :

These last prices are lower than the present cost of manufacturing this

powder at the Army powder factory.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What page is that, please ?

Mr. Hiss. The last page of the letter, just above Hr. Hoffer's sig-

nature, the page with Mr. Hoffer's signature on it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Paragraph 7 ?

Mr. Hiss. Paragraph 7. The first two sentences state specific

prices. I will read the wdiole paragraph

:

In November 1916 the Department placed orders for air-dried cannon powder
at 52 cents and .53 cents a pound, and for water-dried cannon powder at 51

cents and 52 cents a pound. Orders were placed on April 10, 1917, for water-
dried cannon powder at 47% cents a pound and air-dried powder at 50 cents a
pound. These last prices are lower than the present cost of manufacturing
this powder at the Army powder factory.

Did you at a later time, Mr. Pierre du Pont, see an estimate pre-

pared by Indian Head, the Navy producing plant, as to cost of

powder at about this same time ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe there was one
;
j^es, sir ; showing, I

think, 32 cents per pound.
Mr. Hiss. Yes.
Mr. Pierre di^ Pont. But I think that was the liare labor and ma-

terial cost and did not include many items that the ordinary manu-
facturer would have to include, but I am not sure of that because no
details were given.

Mr. Hiss. We will refer to that specifically later on.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. In that connection, would it be proper to

ask what the actual cost at Indian Head was on powder wdiich they

produced at this time?
Mr. Hiss. We can take it up now, if you would like.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I thought it might be very interesting, be-

cause I understood them to say they used nine-tenths of 1 pound of

alcohol per pound of powder, and during the war period we whittled

it down to three-tenths of a pound, and the difference between nine

and three made a differential of six-tenths on that one item, on which
w^e had that advantage, I know.

Mr. Hiss. If you do not mind, let us wait until we reach the date

when it was actually submitted, which was a couple of months later.
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Attached to this letter from Mr. Hoffer is a proposed draft of a

letter to the Chief of Ordnance. The first paragraph reads

:

The General Munitions Board, having been verbally requested by you to
determine what is a fair and just price to be paid by the Government to the

manufacturers of smokeless powder required to be made for the Army during
the next IS months, and having made what is considered a satisfactory investi-

gation, recommends to you as fair and just the prices shown on the following

table, wliich prices are to be exclusive of the cost of container and f.o.b.

contractor's works

—

No. 1 are substantially the prices stated before—namely, GO cents

a pound for caliber .30 powder, water dried, and 62 cents if air dried

;

47i/> cents for cannon powder, if water dried, and 50 cents if air

dried ; and 50 cents a pound for seacoast cannon powder, if air dried,

and no quotation for water dried.

The next document in the same folder does not bear a signature.

If you could look that up for us, Colonel, we would like to know
whether or not the letter was actually adopted on April 27, 1917.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Any identifying numbers on it?

Mr. Hiss. You might have a look at it [handing paper to witness].

Keferring back again to Mr. Pierce's memorandum [reading] :

Between April 25 and July 12 these engineers covered Tennessee, parts of
Alabama, Kentucky. Illinois, Indiana, West Virginia, and the southwestern part
of Virginia in search of suitable locations for smokeless-powder plants.

That was at the same time that recommendations had been made
in the letter of April 21, 1917, previously referred to, paragraph 6

reads

:

The companies were informed that it is not the present policy to xirge an
increase of capacity where existing free capacity is in excess of estimated
requirements.

Then, referring to the bottom of the paragraph of " Exhibit No.
1117 ", the memorandum by Mr. Pierce, we find the following:

You are familiar witli the work done by Colonel Buckner during approxi-
mately this entire time in endeavoring to bring the serious situation regarding
lack of powder-nianulacturing capacity before the proper authorities in Wash-
ington, this we understand lieing fnuilly accomplished by the 1st of Octolier.

He was the vice president of your company in charge of military
sales at that time ?

Mr. Pierre du Po^T. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. On June 4, 1917, according to the minutes of your
executive committee, there was a discussion but no action in regard
to increasing military-powder' capacity. Wherever I refer to them
will you get the copies?

Mr. Eliason. You do not have that?
Mr. Hiss. We did not get the complete statement, and when

furnished will be used to A^erify wdiatever I may read by way of
paraphrase.^
Mr. Eliasox. The date was what?
Mr. Hiss. June 4, 1917. A resolution was passed to have the engi-

neering department request an appropriation to build additional
smokeless-powder capacity at Carneys Point, Haskell, and Parlin.

They were three of the smokeless-powder plants?

1. The copies of executive committee minutes were later supplied by the du I'oiit Co.
and appear in the appendix on p. 3161.
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. And to use ^n-cotton capacity at Hopewell not now
being used of about 5,000,000 pounds a month.
Do you remember this particular incident to which this refers?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; I do not, but I have no doubt it is true.

Mr. Hiss. On June 7 the executive committee resolved to spend
$3,000,000 to increase the smokeless-powder capacity, it being stated

that $1,000,000 would have to be spent for renovation anyway, and
further resolved to spend perhaps $1,000,000 more, if the cost can

be amortized over orders which the Allies may be willing to give,

should they deem it advisable and desirable to have this increased

capacity to take care of 5,000,000 pounds excess at Hopewell.
Colonel Buckner reported 227,760,000 pounds which had been of-

fered to the French and British and had not yet been sold and
recommended against additional construction until orders were ac-

tually in hand.
On June 26 the committee decided, or it was learned that a con-

tract has been signed to furnish the Hercules Co. with 2,000,000

pounds of gun cotton a month, which took care of 2 million of the 5

million being produced at Hopewell. It was therefore decided to

reduce the capacity to 3,000,000 pounds of gun cotton as a basis.

Mr. du Pont, it seems from this account that at this particular

time your company was not desirous, as a business risk, of entering

into large expansion in the smokeless-powder field.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I should say not.

Mr. Hiss. You did not feel that it was a justifiable business risk

for the du Pont Co. to assume ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We had only two or three customers and if

they were not ready to take the powder, there was no use building

the factory for them.
Mr. Hiss. But you stated you felt convinced and had been urging

upon the War Department the fact that there was likely to be a

great shortage of powder?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. You were not sufficiently convinced of the estimate

to justify investing money of your own in building additional

plant capacity?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It was the War Department's problem to

determine the question, and we had no control of it.

Mr. Hiss. On June 30, 1917, General Crozier, then Chief of Ord-
nance, wrote to ]Mi". Scott, chairman of the General Munitions
Board, a letter which I offer for appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1122 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3133.)^

Mr. Hiss. That states, in part [reading] :

I have recently had a conference with the representatives of the E. I. du
Pont de Nemours & Co., who have urged that the price of the caliber .30 powder
manufactured after December 31, 1917, and the price of the cannon powder
manufactured after February 28, 1918, be increa^d 2 cents a pound to meet
the increase in the price of manufacture, especially due to the increased cost
of raw materials. These increased prices are less than the prices at which
the powder can be manufactured at the Army powder factory at Plcatinny
Arsenal, and from our careful observation of the prices of raw materials,
I am satisfied that the increased price after the dates indicated is fair and
just, as compared with the prices recommended in my letter of AprU 21, 1917,
and concurred in by the General Munitions Board.

1 Entered into further in Hearings, Part XVII, p. 4174.
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He apparently refers to the letter signed by Mr. Hoffer.

[Reading:]

I am, therefore, placing orders which obligate the Government to pay the

increased prices referred to above, and in the procurement of additional quan-

tities it may be necessary to make further concessions in price for the same
causes.

Again, there is no reference to the Indian Head costs, which, so

far as I know, were not available, the momorandum on that being

dated in October.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Might I ask whether you have the letter of

April 7 from the War Department addressed to the E. I. du Pont de

Nemours Co.?
Is that the one which you read from ?

Mr. Hiss. I do not recall it.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I would like to identify it, if I may. I have
a memorandum of such letter, giving the requirements of the Army
and Navy, and I am not sure that it corresponds with what you read.

Would you mind looking at that, because, if it does not correspond,
I would like to have it put in the record, until we can determine the
question.

Mr. Hiss. I think the top one is the same [examining paper].

May I just read the document which has been put in evidence?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think the quantities were the same, but I

am not sure.

Mr. Hiss. The figure given for caliber .30 was 26,500,000.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Right.
Mr. Hiss. For cannon powder, web thickness less than .05, 42,-

000,000, and for seacoast powder, 10,000,000. Yours is 9,000,000.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. 9,480,000.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is for 12 months.
Mr. Hiss. For 12 months beginning April 1.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. There are no Navy requirements there.

Mr. Hiss. No, sir; there are no Navy requirements there.

Again referring back to Mr. Pierce's memorandum, between July
12 and July 28 your company was working up data collected by
the field engineers for making a report on the same. From

July 28 to August 3, two engineers were in the field reconsidering locations
and a definite recommendation was made for the selection of the Charleston
site.

The latter became the site of the plant known as Nitro, did it not ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. During this time from February 7, shortly after the
breaking off of diplomatic relations, down to August 3, when the
recommendation was made for the selection of the Charleston site,

it would appear that that was primarily in order to make a site for
a plant to be constructed by the Government rather than a plant for
your own construction. Is that correct?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It might have been either.

Mr. Hiss. I mean a plant to be financed by the du Pont Co., when
I say a plant of your own construction.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not certain that there was any deter-
mination as to which it would be, but it seems rather immaterial.
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Mr. Hiss. It would appear from the references to the executive
committee's minutes that the company was not desirous of embark-
ing upon increasing its own capacity on any very large scale.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think that is true, certainly.

Mr. Hiss. But, nevertheless, thorough examinations were being
made throughout the country for sites for a large powder plant on
July 30, 1917, as shown by a letter from E. G. Buckner to Mr. Scott,

chairman of the Munitions Board, which I offer for appropriate
number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1123 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3133.)

Mr. Hiss. Page 2, the second paragraph, states [reading] :

There are in existence a small number of competitors of the du Pont Co.

—

we do not know whether their capacity has l)een sold or not—but we are
inclined to believe that they probably have some luisold capacity. We do not
think it will amount to a large quantity compared to the total requirements.

Your company was, far and away, the preponderant producer of

smokeless powder ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. On account of orders of the Allies.

Mr. Hiss. The next paragraph states [reading] :

The only suggestion we can make is that steps be taken at once to augment
the siujply of powder by building additional plants. To this end Ave have
prepared plans by wliich 3,000.000' pounds per month additional capacity can
be provided beginning with the month of January 1918, which would require
an amortization charge aggregating approximately $4,500,000.

That is probably the 3,000,000 referred to in the executive com-
mittee minutes. Gun cotton is required pound for pound for smoke-
less powder, is it not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. About that.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

Beyond this, we could build plants to supply an additional 10,000,000 pounds
of powder per month, but this capacity could not be made available in less

than 12 months' time.

Tlie reference to an amortization charge, Mr. du Pont^—if the
company had decided to expand, there would have been an amortiza-
tion charge against the price of the powder ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. So that the fact that you have referred to two or three

times in the hearings, that no amortization charges were made
against the United States, was simply because the plants happened
to have been already built at a time that the United States was
requiring powder in large quantities? You would have had to

charge them otherwise ? Is that correct ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes. The charge—in this case—was finally

reduced, later on, to 9 cents per pound amortization.

Mr. Hiss. On the 3,000,000 pounds excess ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It was a 40,000,000-pound contract, with
a 9-cent amortization charge.

Mr. Hiss. To be furnished over a period of months out of the

new 3,000,000-pound capacity?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. That contract was closed in 1917. I think

you will come to that later.

Mr. Hiss. I do not have any reference to it. I wanted to make
sure that the 3,000,000 pounds additional capacity, to which we re-
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ferred before, was later made the subject of a contract calling for

a total delivery of 40,000.000 pounds over a sufficient number of
months, to be determined by dividing 3 into 40, with a 9 cents per
pound amortization charge.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir; I do not know whether the con-
tract covered a greater period or not.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. The 30 cents applies to a 10-million-pound
per month capacity.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. There are two ideas : The 9 cents does not
apply to the first one.

Mr. Hiss. Of the first two sentences which I read, the second one
refers to the amortization charge which I had in mind. That says:

An amortization charge of $4,500,000 for 3,000,000 pounds per month capacity.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir,

Mr. Hiss. And does not say specifically how many cents per
pound. I think it is 9 cents a pound on 50,000,000 pounds.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Nine cents a pound on 40,000,000 pounds,

approximately $3,600,000.

Mr. Hiss. But, as indicated in the executive committee minutes,
that was for an excess capacity you already had of guncotton.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Right.
Mr. Hiss. Three million pounds of which was unsalable.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is correct

;
yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. Did you have any other market for that 3,000,000
pounds at that time?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think not at that time.
Mr. Hiss. Then, again, on August 9 there is a letter from Mr.

Buckner to Mr. Scott, which encloses a letter from Mr. Buckner
to a man who is apparentlv a Russian purchasing officer, refusing
an order for 18,000,000 to 20,000,000 pounds of smokeless powder,
and emphasizing the fact that there is great need for additional
capacity.

(The letters referred to were marked "Exhibit No. 1124" and are
included in the appendix on p. 3135.)

Mr. Hiss. If you will refer to the letter of October 4, 1917, from
Colonel Hoffer, the Ordnance Department, to the War Industries
Board, you will notice in the first paragraph that the new require-
ments estimated by the Army are now 315,000.000 pounds, prior to
September 1, 1918, approximately 12 months from October 4 to Sep-
tember 1, actuallv less than 12 months, whereas the previous one of
April 21 had beeii a total of 78,500,000 pounds.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1125" and is

included in the appendix on p. 3136.)
Mr. Pierre du Pont. There was that intermediate letter of July 30,

" Exhibit No. 1123," which gave 123,000,000 for the Army and Navy.
I think you read that, did you not?

Mr. Hiss. Was that on a 12 months' basis?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not sure.

Mr. Hiss. I have the record of that.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. My memoranda does not show the time.
Mr. Hiss. Referring back again to Mr. Pierce's memorandum,

" Exhibit No. 1117," I call your attention to the statement that
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. That 123,000,000 was unfilled orders on our
books at the time. I presume they covered not more than 12 months,
Mr. Hiss. I refer again to Mr. Pierce's statement that

—

You are familiar with the work done by Colonel Buckner during approxi-
mately this entire time in endeavoring to bring the serious situation regarding
lack of powder manufacturing capacity before the proper authorities in Wash-
ington, this we understand being finally accomplished about the first of October,

I assume this letter of October 4 represents the final acceptance by
the War Department of your views as to the need of increased
powder capacity.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I would not say that, no, because their deter-

minations certainly were not made on our recommendations, although
what we said may have had something to do in the determination.
But would it be fair to state at this time that we had the enor-

mous powder-manufacturing capacity that had been prepared for the
Allies, and the War Department would certainly learn that part of
that was available for use, and it was quite a factor in the whole sit-

uation. I do not know how they figured it, but certainly those plants
were available for the United States at any moment if they had
chosen to take over the plants. Naturally that was a great safeguard
in the situation, the existence of those plants. It was a tremendous
safeguard in the whole situation.

Mr. Hiss. Referring back again to Mr. Pierce's memorandum, you
will notice that on the same date of Mr. Hoffer's memorandum, to

which I have just referred, that was addressed to the War Industries
Board with a new estimate, on that date, according to Mr. Pierce,

your company started to option property.

. On October 5 this optioning was stopped on account of the high prices of land.
On October 22 to 28 one of our engineers, in company with Col. J. C. Nichols,

of the Ordnance Department, visited the various sites and obtained the approvai
of the Ordnance Department through Colonel Nichols of two of the sites
selected by us.

One of those w\as the Nashville site, and the other was the Charles-
ton site?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Right.

OLD hickory contract ORIGINAL, NEGOTIATIONS BETWEEN ORDNANCE
DEPARTMENT AND DU PONT CO. FOR CONSTRUCTION OF OLD HICKORY

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

On October 23 our real-estate department resumed optioning the Charleston
site.

Meanwhile, on October 8, 1917, a letter was written to the Chief
of Ordnance on the letter head of your company, signed by you, I
believe.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1126" and is

included in the appendix on p. 3137.)^

Mr. Hiss. No. I think this is Mr. Buckner. I beg your pardon.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think there was a letter signed by me on

October 8.

1 " Exhibit No. 1126 " was entered into further in Hearings, Part XIV, on p. 3168.
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Mr. Hiss. This particular one, that just shown you, is signed by

Mr. Buckner. It says

:

lu accordance with your request of October 3—
The Chief of Ordnance at that time was General Crozier, was he

not, Colonel Harris ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. General Crozier, yes.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

we submit the following proposition to the Government

:

Whenever the words " du Pont C<>." are used in this proposal, they shall

be taken to mean either E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., a corporation, or a
company to be organized by it for the purpose of carrying out this proposal

if accepted.

Was the idea of a subsidiary corporation to build this factory part

of the du Pont plan, that is, your conception of the proposition, from
the beginning?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. This October 8 was preceded by a letter of

Colonel Hoffer of October 3, making certain general recommenda-
tions as to an understanding of how this procedure was to take place,

and we gave on the day following memorandum of what we should

do, which was elaborated into this October 8 proposition.

Mr. Hiss. At whose suggestion was the use of a subsidiary com-
pany introduced into the negotiations?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. At ours.

Mr. Hiss. Do you remember the reason for that ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The reason was that it was for the first time
proposed that we should act as the agents of the Government. We
did not know at all what that would mean in the way of obligations,

so we decided that the best thing was to organize a separate company
so as to settle once and for all the relations between the construction

and operating company that we proposed and the United States

Government.
Mr. Hiss. This was a large proposal?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It was very large.

Mr. Hiss. Involving, if operated for 12 months, perhaps as much
as $300,000,000?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think that was the estimate.

Mr. Hiss. Your estimated cost was something like $90,000,000 at

the beginning?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes ; something like that.

Mr. Hiss. And the operating costs over a period of 12 months
might make up the rest?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. Do you remember what the capitalization of the sub-

sidiary company was that you set up in order to carry out this

proposition ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think it was comparatively small. Do
you know?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not recall the amount. You have a
record of it there.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The result of that was a guaranty of the
operations of the subsidiary company by our parent company, the
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. I think that covered the question
of capitalization.

83876—35—PT 13 4
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Mr. Hiss. The capitalization as appears from the records of the

subsidiary company was 5,000 voting shares issued at a dollar a

share, total capitalization $5,000. That is really all that the du
Pont Co. risked in entering into this very large construction plan.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It was the intention of that subsidiary com-

pany to cover the question of risk, excepting that the parent

company guaranteed that the subsidiary company would carry out

the contract.

Mr. Hiss. There was no risk involved in that guaranty, though,

Mr. du Pont, was there ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What was the idea of asking for it if

there was not ? There must be some cause for asking for a guaranty.

Mr. Hiss. If you were sued for any loss due to any explosions,

that guaranty would not affect your liability, would it?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. In that particular case the Government pro-

posed to hold us harmless, but I think the whole purpose was to

settle this question of direct liability.

Mr. Hiss. May I restate the original question?

Your total capital which was risked in this adventure amounted
to $5,000, did it not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not so sure about that, because it is a

question of what the guaranty meant.
Mr. Hiss. Perhaps we can determine that as we go along.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Gregg reminds me of it. I think

there was also this question of the vouchers and the accounts of the

company, so that we would not get all balled up with our own
accounts as to what was what. We made a separate company, and
the Government auditors checked everything that was paid on ac-

count. That made us an entirely separate organization, different

rooms, buildings, and everything.

Mr. Hiss. In paragraph 3 of Mr. Buckner's letter of October 8,

toward the end of that, is this statement

:

It being understood that in order to expedite construction and insure satis-

factory and economical operation, tlie du Pont Co. sliall be free to exercise

its judgment as to the plans, materials, and equipment to be used in the

construction of said plants and in the arrangement thereof.

Referring to the first part of that same paragraph

:

The du Pont Co. proposes to act as agent for the Government.

Is not this rather wide authority for an agent, the authority to

exercise its judgment as to plans, materials, and equipment? S'o that

the ])hrase " agent " does not mean the usual supervision of a princi-

pal over an agent, it merely means that you were carrying it out at

the Government's behest ; is that correct ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. And at the Government's expense, according

to the proposed contract.

Mr. Hiss. But not the Government control over these particular

items ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is right.

Mr. Hiss. Paragraph 4 [reading " Exhibit No. 1126"] :

Any expenditure or ol)ligation arising or growing out of the construftion or
operation of said plants made or incurred by the du Pont Co., together with
any and all loss by accident, fire, flood, or explosion, arising or growing out
of the construction or operation of said plants, will be for the account of the
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<Jovernment, who shall at all tinies indemnify and hold the dn Pont Co.

harmless therefrom, and the Government will at all times during the con-

.struction and operation of said plants furnish the du Pont Co. sufhcient funds

to enable it to meet and pay all bills.

The Government was to finance the operation as well as to pay the

<J0St?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. Going back again to what I just read

:

Any expenditure or obligation arising or growing out of the construction or

operatidu of said plants made or incurre<l by the du Pont Co., together with any
and all loss by accident, fire, flood, or explosion, arising or growing out of the

construction and operation of said plants, will be for the account of the

Government who shall at all times indenuiify and hold the du Pont Co. harm-
less therefrom

—

Just what effect does that have on any guaranties that might have
been given by the du Pont Co., since in return the Government
leguarantees you?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That sounds very well on paper. I suppose

irom an attorney's point of view it looks bullet-proof. But you
know many things can happen on a deal like this, and many expenses

might not be allowed.

Mr. Hiss. Paragraph 5, the next page [reading] :

The Government will within 5 days thereafter

—

That refers to the payment of expenditures on the first of each
anonth

—

pay to the du Pont Co. as its charges for the following services, the following
percentages on the total amount of such expenditures made during the previous
month, viz. for drawing plans and engineering supervision from the Wilming-
ton office, 5 percent ; for purchasing and urging deliveries of material by
Wilmington office, 2 percent : for compensation, including administi'ation and
other services rendered from the Wilmington office, 8 percent.

That is a total of 15 percent of cost, which, in a $90,000,000 con-
tract, would come to $13,500,000 for the construction.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Have you there the details of how that was
made up?
Mr. Hiss. That was made up as I have just been reading from

paragraph 5 of this letter.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. There were details submitted as to what part
of that 15 percent was out of pocket, and our estimates varied from
making no profit to a maximum of 61^ percent. The difference was
actually out of pocket.

Mr. Hiss. Was not that submitted at a somewhat later date, on
October 8?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Before the contract Avas written. But the
15 percent w^as based on that estimate, although it was not so ex-
pressed in this letter.

Mr. Hiss. I think that document will be put in a little later, Mr.
du Pont.
Paragraph 7 of " Exhibit No. 1126 " says [reading] :

This offer to act as agent for the Government in and about the matters set
forth herein is conditioned that as units of manufacture are completed and
ready for oi)eration, the Government will appoint the du Pont Co. its agent to
operate said units or plants for at least IS months after their completion, if

their plants are operated.
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Going to the second part of paragraph eight

—

The Government will pay all the costs and expenses of the operation of said

plants as and when they become due and payable, and in addition thereto will,

oni or before the 15th day of each month, pay to the du Pont Co. 5 cents per
pound

—

Five cents a pound. The estimated output of this plant was
1,000,000 pounds of powder a day. Five cents a pound on a million

pounds a day was the fee for operating, and the Government guar-

anteed that that fee would be paid for 18 months.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. If you will read right on on that, sir, in

your paragraph 8, it says

:

Five cents per pound on all powder manufactured and packed during the pre-

vious month as payment for main office supervision, administrative and pur-

chasing expense, and compensation to du Pont Co.

It is not profit, that 5 cents a pound. It included the profit, but
there were other expenses.

Mr. Hiss. Namely, main-office supervision, administrative and pur-

chasing expense, and compensation.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. In other words, overhead in general, and compensation.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. There is a further provision that in addition to 5 cents

a pound [reading] :

Should the total mill cost of water-dried smokeless powder, exclusive of boxes,

amortization, and depreciation of plants, but including all ingredients, labor in

operation, labor and materials in repairs, power, transportation, general-works
expense, works accidents, plant superintendence, be less than 44i/^ cents per

pound in any month, the Government will pay the du Pont Co. one-half the

difference between the said mill cost and 44^2 cents per pound.

In other- words, if you reduced the cost below 441/2 cents a pound,
in addition to the 5 cents a pound, you got half of the savings?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We got half of the savings.

Mr, Hiss. So the 5 cents a pound does not represent the total pos-

sible fee for operation and overhead expenses.

On the next page [reading] :

In case the Government requires a part of the powder to be air-dried, the

mill cost basis, on such air-dried iwwder will be increased 2^^ cents per pound.

That is, if it is to be air-dried, you get half the saving whenever
you reduce it below 47 cents ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Right.
Mr. Hiss. Then paragraph 10 [reading " Exhibit No. 1126 "] :

The Government shall have the privilege of canceling the agency at any time
during the construction of these plants, in which event the du Pont Co. shall

receive as compensation in lieu of the compensation herein provided 1 percent

of $90,000,000 for each month—

That is $900,000 a month—
for each month or section thereof elapsing between the date of the signing of

said agency contract and the date of the cancelation thereof as aforesaid, which
percentage it is hereby agreed covers full and fair compensation to the du Pont
Co. for its service in and about the construction of said plants, but in no event
shall this compensation be in excess of 15 percent of $90,000,000.

Mr. Hiss. In other words, $13,500,000 was the maximum set in the

event of cancelation.
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was for 5 months, was it not? That
covered only a 5-month period?

Mr. Hiss. Not at this stage of the negotiations, Mr. du Pont.
Colonel Harris, that proposition which has just been read is by

and large a cost plus contract, is it not? Cost of construction plus

15 percent?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Cost plus a fee. The cost plus contracts are

usually understood to mean cost plus a percentage of cost.

Mr. Hiss. The construction was cost plus a percentage of the cost.

It was cost plus 15 percent of the construction cost, so that the higher
the construction cost the higher the fee. On the operation it was a

flat 5 cents a pound, plus half of any saving.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. May I observe here that this suggestion was
made within 5 days of the first notice that we were expected to do
anything of the kind, and naturally would be quite incomplete?
Mr. Hiss. Had you not, Mr. du Pont, in accordance with Mr.

Pierce's memorandum been considering the possibility of the con-

struction of a powder plant for some time?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. We were considering the possibility, but the

first definite notice we had was Colonel Hoffer's letter of October 3,

1917, find we made him a proposition very much in this outline the

day after covering substantially the same proposition, the same
$300,000,000 proposition, overnight. Naturally it could not be very
definitelv worked out.

Mr. Hiss. On October 11, 1917, at a meeting of the War Indus-
tries Board, Mr. Scott, who was chairman, reported that

—

the Chief of Ordance will recommend to the Secretary of War that the du Pont
Co. be permitted to expend $3,000,000 to create additional facilities to produce
3,500,000 more pounds per month of smokeless powder.

That is the same increase that we have spoken of before ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss (reading) :

Likewise that he had practically decided to recommend that they be permitted
to expend additional $90,000,000 to double their smokeless-powder capacity, and
that the Chief of Ordnance expected to recommend this without bringing the
matter before the War Industries Board.

That refers to the proposal of October 8, 3 days before this meet-
ing?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. That was to expend an additional $90,000,000 of funds

to be advanced to you currently by the Government, with payment of
costs by the Government plus the fees that we have described. It is

described here as merely doubling your smokeless powder capacity,
just as the $3,600,000, which was to come from the du Pont Co.'s
own financial structure. Actually they were very different propo-
sitions.

Senator Vandenberg. What is the full membership of the War In-
dustries Board as listed at that time?
Mr. Hiss. At this meeting Mr. Scott was chairman, Mr. Baruch

was present, Mr. Brookings, Mr. Bingham as secretary. Admiral
Fletcher, Colonel Pierce and Mr. Frayne.

(The excerpts from the meeting of the War Industries Board re-

ferred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1127 ", and are included in the
appendix on p. 3139.)
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Mr. Hiss. Then on October 16, 1917, there was a further meeting-

of the War Industries Board, which is stated in Mr. Baruch's opinion

not to be a meeting of the War Industries Board, but only a confer-

ence of the explosives committee of the Board. At that meeting were
present Mr. Scott, Mr. Brookings, Admiral Fletcher, Colonel Pierce,

Mr. Bingham, and Mr. L. L. Summers.
(The excerpts from the meeting of the War Industries Board re-

ferred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1128 " and are included in the

appendix on p. 3140.)

Mr. Hiss. Can you identify Mr. Bingham, Colonel Harris?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. No ; I cannot identify him.

Mr. Hiss. At the bottom of that page, Mr. du Pont, it reads

:

The chairman stated that he had been verbally advised by the Ordnance
Department that the Secretary (if War has given his approval to the plan
authorizing- the du Pont Co. to practically douljle their capacity for the manu-
facture of smokeless powder at an expense of approximately .$90,000,000.

Mr. Summers expressed the view that since the Government was so vitally

interested in this matter that such additional facilities should be the property of
the Government and not of a private interest.

As a matter of fact, the du Pont Co. would not have been willing to

construct it with its own capital and make it its own property any-

way? The du Pont Co. in.si.sted that it would act as agent of the

Government and would not increase its own capacity ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The original suggestion was decided by Col-

onel Hoffer. that whereas that plant apparently would be useless after

the war, the du Pont people should not be expected to build it. It

would be on account of the Government.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Could we go back, Mr. Secretary, a moment?

You were a little bit mystified, and so was I, as to what started this

looking for the plant site. I have been lianded a memorandum which
reads

:

On December 2, 1916—

That is the previous December, before we went into the war

the company was asked by the Board for tlie Investigation of the Manufacture
of Arms, ^Munitions, and Equipment,, if they would l)e prepared in the future to

cooperate with the Government in the provision of adequate supplies of military

explosives, etc. The company sent representative H. M. Barksdale to Wash-
ington to attend conference witli the above Board.

Mr. Hiss. That is the one that was known popularly as the Kernan
Board ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know.
The memorandum I referred to is as follows :

On March 6 Mr. Bernard Baruch of the advisory committee of the Council

of National Defense asked the company for information on raw materials
available in the United States, provided we were cut off from the rest of the
world. This information was given.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think we had evidently been in conference

with those b;)ards, and I have no doubt at all it was the views ex-

pressed in tiiose conferences that led us to go out and hunt up a site.

Mr. Hiss. Plus your belief that the existing capacity for powder
was inadequate, in spite of the fact that up until October 4 the

Army's own estimates differed radically from the estimate thej^ fi-

nally adopted on October 4.
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. They, the Allies, had been taking our entire

output, and the Government apparently thought we could provide
also any quantity of powder they wanted. Those two things are a
little bit inconsistent. They could not go on both at once.

Senator Clark. In other words, you could not supply to the
United States Government without taking it away from the Allies?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. We had just been through the mill. We

knew what it meant. Of course, the Allies were the same way.
Their needs were vastly in excess of anything estimated in the be-

ginning, of course.

Mr. Hiss. Under date of October 21, 1917, a memorandum was
prepared in the Gun Division of the War Department by Capt. E. A.
Hamilton of the Ordnance Department, addressed to General Con-
trol, Gun Division, Ordnance OiRce.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1129 ",

and is included in the appendix on page 3140.)^

Mr. Hiss. This is ap})arently a legal memorandum referring to the
then current negotiations.

The last sentence of the first paragraph says

:

Judge Laffey, counsel for the company

Was lie a director of the du Pont Co. at that time, Mr. Pierre du
Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think not. but I am not certain.

Mr. Hiss. He later did become so?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. He became director later, and still is.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

has siil)nutted a memorandum to which this is an endorsement wherein he
reviews the reasons advanced by his company in support of their reciuest that
they be permitted to form a new company ft)r the performance of this worlv.

The next page, paragraph -4 quotes from Judge Laffey's memo-
randum :

Tlie arynment advanced in paragrapli 1 of the memorandum is based upon a
a desire to limit liability which •' lies in the possibility of it being hereafter
lield that the Onhiance Department exceeded its lawful powers in making this
contract, in which event the agent might be held liable on its implied warranty
of authority on all contracts signed by it as agent of the Government. The
du Pont Co. desires to assume no risk of financial loss to itself."

That was one of the primary reasons, as Judge Laffey has indi-
cated.

On page 3

:

It is the magnitude of the undertaking which gives rise to the apprehension
of the du Pont Co. rather than a doubt as to the validity of the proposed
contract, and consequently, no discussion, howevei' convincing, will remove
its reluctance to undertake this work in the name of the parent organization.

Mr. Pierre du Pont, May I state that when the settlement was
made at the end of the war the validity of the contract was ques-
tioned.

Mr. Gregg. The contract of March 23, 1918?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.

^ " Exhibit No. 1129 " was entered into further in Hearings, Part XV, on p. 35S5.
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Mr. Gregg. That was only during the process of the reaudit after

the war. Some of the auditors on the work raised the question as

to whether or not the Secretary of War had the authority to make
a contract such as the contract of March 23, 1918, but it was never

raised by any responsible authority.

Senator Clark. Never brought up to legal adjudication?

Mr. Gregg. No, never,

Mr. Hiss. Continuing from the same memorandum

:

The counter proposal contemplates the formation of a new company having
as its officers, directors, and employees every member of the present du Pont
organization whose services will in any way he necessary or desirable in the
performance of the contract. The parent organization will affiliate itself with
the new company and will guarantee to the Government the fulfillment of

every obligation proposed by the contract. In this way, it is asserted, the
Government will have the services of the du Pont Co. but the risk of loss

will be limited to the capital of the new company.

In other words, $5,000.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think we should add after your last remark
that there was a possible loss through the guarantee of the subsidiary

company's operations. We guaranteed its performance, which might
have been quite a costly procedure.

Mr. Hiss. May we take that up in connection with this specific

proposition which was the order of October 25, addressed to your
company and accepted by you as president?

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1130 ", and is

included in the appendix on page 3141.)

Mr. Hiss. This was directed to you by William Crozier, Major
General, Chief or Ordnance.

It directed you in the first paragraph to

—

proceed as soon as possible with the construction for the Government of com-
plete plants for the manufacture of smokeless powder for cannon in units of

100,000 pounds, rate of daily capacity, the total capacity of which will be
1,000,000 pounds of powder per day of 24 hours.

The estimated cost is set forth in the last part of paragraph 2.

The estimated costs of construction are $90,000,000.

The third paragraph

:

You will act as the agent for the Government in selecting sites for the
plants.

Then the last sentence in paragraph 3 :

The Government will indemnify you against any and all loss by accident,

fire, flood, or explosion or otherwise arising or growing out of the construction

of the plants.

Paragraph 4:

In order to expedite the construction of the plants you will be given freedom
in the exercise of your judgment

—

The same clause that was in the original proposition.

This is paragraph 5 :

The Government will reserve the right to furnish lumber, nails, cement,
brick, and steel necessary in the construction of the plants, and to the extent

that the Government exercises the right, it will agree to make deliveries of

materials of suitable quality at such times and in such quantities as the bill of

materials which you will furnish i)rovides, but the cost of such materials shall

be included in the cost of the plants upon which payments provided for In

subdivisions (a) and (&) of the next following paragraph are computed.
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(a) and (h) provide for cost plus 7 percent and cost plus 8 per-

cent, respectively, a total of cost plus 15 percent, as in the original

proposition.

Paragraph 5 ])rovides that even when the Government supplies

you with the materials where you have no purchase expense, you will

still receive 15 percent of the cost of those items.

Paragraph 6

:

The Government will pay directly or will reimburse you for all cost of the

construction of the plants, and in addition you will be paid at the time of

making payments, on account of such construction whether directly to you or

in reimbursement, (a)—
Then the 7 percent, which is to govern preparation of plans, the

procurement of sites, engineering supervision. Most of that pro-

curement of sites had already been carried out at your own risk

without specific governmental order, had it not, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I did not catch that question.

Mr. Hiss. If you will look at paragraph 6 (a), it is stated that the

7 percent of cost is to cover preparation of plans, the procurement
of sites.

My question was, as of this date, October 25, practically all the

Avork of procuring sites had already been done, and this is repay-

ment for expenditures already made for which no specific govern-

mental order was in effect. It was just a matter of your own judg-
ment that it would become necessary at some time.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. If that is of any importance, it ought to be
checked. I do not know if the selecting of a site actually took up
options on the property at that time or not.

Mr. Hiss. I am going simply by what Mr, Pierce's memorandum
says.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Does he say that?
Mr. Hiss (reading " Exhibit No. 1117 ") :

On October 4 we started to option the property * * * on October 23 our
real estate department resumed optioning the Charleston site.

This letter is October 25, and talks about the procurement of

sites.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You appreciate we only started to option

sites on October 23. By the 25th we could have hardly secured

—

Mr. Hiss. No : I beg your pardon. You started on October 4.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. He said he went back to continue optioning
sites.

Mr. Hiss. That is right.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. But answering your question, this covers

what had already been expended
Mr. Hiss. To some extent.

Mr. Pierre dit Pont. In the examination of options on the real

estate, as well as what followed.
Mr. Hiss. The primary M^ork of selecting sites was that described

in ]Mr. Pierce's memorandum from February 7 on, when you had
engineers in the field.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is right.

Mr. Hiss. You spent money and months of work on that [reading
" Exhibit No. 1130 "] :

—engineering supervision other than local supervision, and services in con-
nection with purchasing and forwarding deliveries of material necessary for
the construction of the plants, and
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(b) A sum equal to 8 percent to cover administration other than local

administration, pro rata share of overheail expense other than local overhead
expense, and to cover profit.

The last part of paragraph 8, the last sentence, reads

:

The Government will make prompt payments, and if necessary so to do, will

attach a disbursing otlicer at the plant or at the office of your company.

Paragraph 9

:

The Government will pay directly or will reimburse you for all cost of the
operation of the plants and in addition there will be paid to you the sum of 5
cents per pound for all smokeless powder delivered and accepted.
At the end of the first full month of operation of any unit or fraction of a

imit, the cost of the water-dried powder exclusive of the cost of boxes and
amortization

It goes on with much the same provisions as before as to what
shall be done in the event the cost is reduced below 441/2 cents in

the case of water-dried and 47 cents in the case of air-dried.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is the same thing exactly.

Mr. Hiss. Paragraph 11, the termination provision, provides for

a fee of $900,000 for each month during which the agency has been
in operation, in the event of termination, which is precisely the

same as in the original October 8 proposition.
Mr. PiicRRE DU Pont. Please note in the event such right is exer-

cised at a date later than 6 months, there is no obligation to make the
payments other than those in the letter provided, so that covered
only the period up to 6 months when that $900,000 was due.

Mr. Hiss. That is correct.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. After that the contract followed its terms.

Mr. Hiss. That is, ^''ou would be paid on the poAvder produced
during the period of more than 6 months.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. And on the construction finished.

Mr. Hiss. Yes; but you expected to finish construction in much
less than 6 months, didn't you ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. AVe rather hoped that we would.
Mr. Hiss. Your actual construction time was
Mr. Pierre du Pont. If the war had terminated quickly, which

was a hoped-for event, we might have stopped in a month.
Mr. Hiss. Do you remember what the actual construction time

was?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It was 8 months.
Mr. Hiss. The construction time ? Not for the first unit.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The first unit was 8 months.
Mr. Hiss. I don't think so, Mr. du Pont. In this pamphlet

entitled, " Old Hickory ", which has been referred to before, on
page 8 it says that ground was broken for work on necessary rail-

road spurs on February 9, that ground was broken for the plant

March 8, that on June 1 the first unit was in operation, for the

manufacture of sulphuric acid, 67 days after breaking ground, that

on July 2 the first powder was manufactured, that this was 116

days after breaking ground.
iVIr. Pierre du Pont. Yes; but the contract alloAvance was twice

that. We accomplished the results in practically half the time.

Mr. Hiss. I am merely pointing out that this 6 months provision,

as it turned out, would have permitted you to have 5 cents a pound
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on all powder produced for 3 months in some units, or at least in

one unit, and in less than that—well, as a matter of fact, the agency
w^as signed some time before the ground was broken, so that we
ought to add another month on that.

Mr. Gregg. The agency Avas signed January 29.

Mr. Hiss. And the ground was first broken in February or March ?

Mr. Gregg. Yes.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. There would have been no powder paid

for at 5 cents if the construction had not been completed in that
time specified, but the construction was completed.

Mr. Hiss. Just a minute. You mean after the G months period,
if you had not finished construction until, say 7 months, there would
have been no payment as to the powder, is that your point?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; the point is this : That if construction

had ceased within 5 months, there was a definite $900,000 per
month due. Now, after the 5 months period we were to have been
paid on construction as provided in the contract, and nothing on
manufacture until manufacture occurred, and then according to the
terms of the contract.

Mr. Hiss. That is quite correct. Let me restate it, to be sure we
understand each other. Had the contract terminated prior to the
6 months you would have been paid $900,000 for each month or a
fraction of a month for all fees?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. Had the contract terminated after 6 months you would

have been paid 15 percent of the cost of construction to date and
5 cents on whatever powder had been produced?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is right.

Mr. Hiss. Paragraph 12 of " Exhibit No. 1130 " reads

:

It is understood that this order, after acceptance by you, may be assigned
to the du Pont Engineerins Co., a Delaware corporation of nominal capitaliza-
tion to be organized solely for the purpose of construction and operation of
powder plants under this order.

It then provides that the officers and directors of the engineering
company will be: President, Pierre S. du Pont; vice president, E. G.
Buckner; vice president, Irenee du Pont; vice president, H. F.
Brown; treasurer, J. J. Kaskob; and secretary, Alexis I. du Pont;
and then it lists the directors.

Those are the same officers and directors that the parent company
had at that time ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. This would indicate that Mr. Laffey was
a director at the time.
Mr. Hiss. These are the same officers and directors that the parent

company had at the time ?
^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe so.

Mr. Hiss. You said some time back ago that the October 8 mem-
orandum represented a hasty proposition.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Just a moment on that question you asked.

That is my present recollection, that the directors were the same, but
I am not sure that all the directors of the du Pont Co. are named
here. If you want it checked, that can be done.

1 See footnote on p. 2958 for information regarding officers and directors.
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Mr, Irenee du Pont. I am not even sure that Henry Pierce was
a director.

Mr. Hiss. That will be cleared up in another report, Mr. du Pont.
While that is being looked up, we may proceed.

Some time back you referred to the fact that the October 8 coun-
terproposition submitted by your company was, in your opinion,

a hurried, hasty proposition. The October 25

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The October 4 was very hasty and the Oc-
tober 8 a little more perfected, and it gradually grew up to this one.

Mr. Hiss. But it was the October 8 one we dealt with in some
detail.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. We did not refer to the October 4 one specifically. I

do not think it has been introduced in evidence.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It has not.

Mr. Hiss. But the October 25 one is substantially the same in

things other than form as the October 8.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes. The principal terms are exactly the

same.
Mr. Hiss. Precisely the same.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. So that the terms can hardly be called hasty terms by

this time, October 25 ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes. We made a pretty good guess the first

time. It was hasty to make a proposition of that kind in 5 days,

quite a hasty matter,

Mr. Eliason. The annual report for 1917 does not give a list of

the directors. I will have that obtained from Wilmington, to be
accurate about it, if you want.^

Mr. Hiss. Yes.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. May I call attention to paragraph 10 in this

contract, wdiich is quite important? I am not sure whether it was in

the October 8 or not.

Mr. Hiss. Do you want to read it into the record, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think it would be well. It is quite lui im-

portant part of the contract.

Mr. Hiss. If you would like to read it, do so,

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Paragraph 10 reads

:

The Government will reserve to itself the right to reduce the output of the
plants herein provided to lie constructed and operated, in which event the terms
and conditions herein set forth will he applicable.

Mr. Hiss. On October 31, at another meeting of the War Indus-
tries Board
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Just a moment, Mr. Hiss. There is a similar

provision in regard to construction. Although it provides for a

million pounds per day manufacture, I think there is a provision

there that it can be reduced.

Mr. Hiss. In the October 8?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No; October 25.

Mr. Hiss. I did not ({uite get the point, ]Mr. du Pont.

'^ T' e 1017 list of ofHciTs and directors of the du Pont EiiKiiieerinjr ("o. and the E. I.

du I'ont de Nemours & Co. was later furnished to the committee and appears in the
appendix on p. 3163.



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2959

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That the contract provided that all or a part
of a million pounds of powder per day

Mr. Hiss. Just a minute. Paragraph 1 simply says:

The total capacity of which will l)e 1,000,000 pounds of powder per day of
24 hours.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Maybe October 8 was the one that had it in.

There was one like that.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Is this an exhibit in the testimony?
Mr. Hiss. I don't know what you are referring to.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. The contract.

Mr. Hiss. October 25?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. The October 25 contract.

Mr. Hiss. That is right. It was just introduced as " Exhibit No.
1130."

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It is an exhibit, then ?

Mr. Hiss. Yes.

I refer to the minutes of a meeting of the War Industries Board
of October 31, 1917, excerpts from which are now offered as an exhibit.

(The excerpts from meeting referl-ed to were marked '' Exhibit
No. 1131 ", and are included in the appendix on p. 3144.)
Mr. Hiss. This document says in part, Mr. du Pont

:

A communication from the Chief of Ordnance, dated October 29, informing
the Board of arrangement made between the Ordnance Department and the
E. I. du Pont de Nemours «& Co. for the construction and operation of powder
plants having- a rated capacity of 1,000,000 pounds of finished smokeless powder
per day and involving an exjjenditure of approximately .$90,000,000, was read
for the information of the board.

It was ordered that the following letter be sent in acknowledgement to the
Chief of Ordnance.

Then, quoting from the proposed letter

:

We beg to say that the only previous definite information the War Indus-
tries Board had regarding the contract referi-ed to therein with the E. I

du Pont de Nemours & Co. was a telephone message to the chairman of the
Board to the effect that you proposed to make a contract with the du Pont
€o. involving the expenditure of about $90,000,000 without referring it in

any way to the Board.
We now understand that you simply advise us of your action as a matter

of information.

OLD HICKORY CONTRACT SECRETARY OF WAR BAKER's ORDER TO SUSPEND
negotiations

Mr. Hiss. On October 31 a telegram was sent to you by the Secre-

tary of War, Mr. Baker, which said

:

I have just had precsented to me the details of the proposed contract with
regard to increased capacity for powder production. This matter is large,

intricate, and important. Do nothing about it until you hear further from
me. Stay all action under the order until I can acquaint myself thoroughly
with all features of the matter.

Senator Pope. What is the date of that communication?
Mr. Hiss. October 31, the date the War Industries Board an-

nounced they had received under date of October 29 the communi-
cation from the Chief of Ordnance.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Before you get away from that contract,

-which is referred to in this telegram, you did not read the last
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sentence in the contract of what the du Pont Co. were undertaking
to do.

(c) Furnish such working capital as may be needed.

I gather that meant we had to put up the money until we were
reimbursed on the 15th of the month. They were monthly payments,
I believe.

Mr. Hiss. That is a change from the provisions of the contract of
October 8 ?

^

Mr. Irenee du Pont. But this is the one that was signed.

Mr. Hiss. Yes.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I just want you to appreciate what that

might mean. We were spending money on the actual plant that

was built later at a rate of $20,000,000 a month, and that meant we
were carrying up to $20,000,000 a month before we Avere repaid.

Mr. Hiss. But that provision did not remain in the contract.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is true, but this contract, which seemed
to give a rather high remuneration the w.ay you read it, bear in

mind w^e were out $20,000,000 at the end of the month for 15 days.

Mr. Hiss. At the same time you were financing your own con-

struction and carrying your own insurance, so you had considerable

free cash at this time, didn't you, the company?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not think that makes a particle of dif-

ference. If you put up $20,000,000, you must have that much
free cash.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Hiss, have you a memorandum of Octo-

ber 15 in which there was a telephone communication from Colonel

Hoffer to us saying that the Secretary of War approves this general

project, which was after the October 8 proposition was made, and
directs that steps be taken to carry it out?

Mr. Hiss. I have not seen a copy of that.

Senator Pope. What is that date, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The telephone message was October 15.

Mr. Hiss. That was before the actual form of contract was devel-

oped and referred to the general proposition.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. But it was after the October 8 proposition.

Mr. Hiss. That is correct.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Which covered the essentials of October 25

and it says that

—

I, the Secretary of War, wish to be infonned as to the terms before they
reach finality.

I understand he was so informed.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, had not the terms reached finality in the

order of October 25. Didn't you regard that as a final order?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We thought that it was. It was signed.

Mr. Hiss. The telegram I read from the Secretary of War, the date

he sent that telegram being October 31, said:

I have just had presented to me the details of proposed contract.

He evidently had not seen it before.

Mr, Pierre du Pont. We were not aware of that. We thought he
knew.
Mr. Gregg. The du Pont Co. formally accepted the order of

October 25.
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Mr. Hiss. At that time it was a formal agreement.

Senator Pope. October 25?

Mr. Hiss. Is there a date on the acceptance ?

Mr. Gregg. There is no date on the acceptance.

Mr. Hiss. On the same date that the Secretary of War telegraphed

:

Do nothinc; about it until you hear furtlier from me; stay all action under
the order

—

according to Mr. Pierce, on that same day you started surveys of that

portion of the site which was under option ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think that is right.

Mr. Hiss. You went ahead in spite of the Secretary of War's
order, I assume, because you felt confident the order would have to

be rescinded. Do you recall why you went ahead with the survey?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; we thought at that time there were lack-

ing some matters of detail. Of course, we did not know what the

trouble was. The Secretary had approved, apparently of the general

features of the October 8 order which were all incorporated in the

October 25 memorandum.
Mr. Hiss. But obviously any expense you incurred after that tele-

gram would be at your own risk.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Oh, yes ; legally it would be.

Mr. Hiss. And going ahead, as you did, you must have felt fairly

confident that the proposition would eventually go through ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes ; as it did.

Mr. Hiss. Under date of November 1, 1917, you wrote a letter to

Mr. Biickner, who was a vice president of the company, which I will

oifer as the next exhibit.

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1132 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3144.)^

Mr. Hiss. You wrote this letter to Mr. Buckner, as I say, giving
detailed information as to the disadvantages to the du Pont Co. in

undertaking the proposed contract. On page 2, the second full

paragraph, you say:

The loss of the use of our engineering department will be a great burden to

the welfare of our company.

What engineering work was in process at the time that this

occurred ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I could not tell you that.

Mr. Hiss. Was Mr. Ackart your chief engineer there ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; I don't think so.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Ackart prepared this chart of pay-roll employees
and of the salaried employees of the engineering department of the

du Pont Co. at my request and stated that from 1917 to the end of

the war the major construction undertaken by the company was in

connection with the dye works and that in his opinion this was
approximately one-fifth of the smokeless-powder plant that had been
prepared.

I will offer this chart as an exhibit.

(The chart referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1133 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3146.)

1 • Exhibit No. 1132" was entered into further in Hearings, Part XIV, on p. 3168.
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Mr. Hiss. This particular chart shows that in August of 1914 the

pay-roll employees of the engineering department were only 615, that

in August of 1915, 1 year later, this had increased to 22,756. It

remained up at about that level until nearly the middle of 1916, or

the spring of 1916, and in August came down again to 4,574, still well

above the 1914 level. It went gradually to 7,754 in January of 1918
and then jumped to 44,000 in August.

Is this the period of construction of Old Hickory?
Mr. Gregg. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. In other words, at the time that this was undertaken you

had a greatly reduced pay roll in the engineering department. There
does not appear to be, from the pay-roll list, any indication that the

company contemplated any considerable expansion of its own plant

at that time, so that the loss of the use of your engineering depart-

ment would not appear to be a great burden, as stated in this letter.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not think that we have the evidence

before us, because I am sure this statement is not made idly, and I

am sure that Ave had a great deal of concern about our engineering
department employment and the company's employment at that

time.

Mr. Hiss. I want to call attention to, and offer for the record as an
exhibit, a report of June 14, 1923.

(The report referred to was marked "Exhibit Xo. 1134" and is

included in the appendix on p. 3147.)

Mr. Hiss. A copy of that is now before you. This report was pre-

pared by Mr. Pierce, who at that time was president of the du Pont
Engineering Co. This is an analysis of the net results of outside

contracting work and the effect upon the du Pont organization as a

whole.
The third paragraph reads:

Following the signing of the armistice we were left with this organizntion
and it was neces.^ary to decide very quickly what was to he done with it.

Since it has heen the du Pont Co.'s policy for approximately 20 y< ars to main-
tain an organization to do its own design and constrtictinn work and since

the executive committee at that time decided to continue this policy, we were
confronted with the prohlem of demohilizing the engineering organization
to a point where it could hest meet the normal requirements of the du Pont
interests. Our forces at that time consisted of 2,479 salary employes and ap-

proximately 45,000 field forces. We very quickly demobilized 75 percent of

these forces, retaining the hest men—the remaining portion to be demobilized
more graflually and as conditions warranted. It was suggested that we under-
take to do such work for the General Motors Corporation as they would give

us under a contract where we would charge them only 10 percent profit on the

cost of the engineering and which actually figured but only a fraction of a
percent on the actual cost of construction.

On page 2 of this report—the excerpt which was furnished does
not refer to that part—on page 2 of that report your Mr. Pierce

makes the statement that by the taking on of outside contracting
after the war, that it, the du Pont Engineering Co., was kept alive

after the war; that is correct, is it not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. And it took on outside engineering. He points out that

on the General Motors work, which has been referred to above as

being a volume of $40,000,000, $362,496 of overhead was charged to

General Motors, which materially reduced the du Pont engineering
costs and absorbed, further, $238,107 charges from other departments
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account purchasing, traffic, and so forth, and made an outright profit

of some $300,000 on this fraction of 1 percent.

Was it not true in connection with the Old Hickory building that
a large part of the overhead of your concern, or of the engineering
overhead that for 20 years it had been your policy to maintain, was
absorbed in the construction of Old Hickory?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I would think not, because the obligation re-

quired was proportionately greater. We spent just as much as we
originally had on our own work. But I would have to go to the
record to find that out.

Mr. Hiss. On page 3 of this same letter from you to Mr. Buckner,
" Exhibit No. 1132 " describing the disadvantages of the proposed
plant

Senator Pope. That was on what date?
Mr. Hiss. November 1, 1917.

You say, Mr. du Pont

:

:

We cannot undertake any work of the magnitude contemplated in these
Government factories witliout including in our charges the profit that one
might reasonably expect from the use of our stockholders' money. If we
should fail to do this, the unfriendly minority would have a case of some merit
to promote against those in charge of the company's affairs. Apart from the
possibility of these attacks, this feature of the situation only serves to accen-
tuate the duties of our officers and directors to endeavor to win reasonable
profits for the stockholders.

Wlio were the major stockholders of your company at that time?
Has that been offered in evidence ? That is 1917.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. No; I think not.

Mr. Hiss. Could you supply the 10 or a dozen controlling stock-
holders in 1917? 1

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That was the point which I wanted to bring

out. In all these contracts, remember we were in a dual capacity
of American citizens doing our level best we could for the country
and still maintain the position of trustees of the funds ofthe stock-
holders. Some of these major stockholders might have been un-
friendly and might have caused us some trouble, but that does not
change at all one's duty to look after their stockholders. We could
not do that and lightly hand away their money.
Mr. Hiss. Didn't you and members of your family hold large in-

terests in the company yourselves?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. So that you were also referring to your duty to

yourselves ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. B»t that does not give us a right to give
somebody else's money away. Today things are a little bit different.
You are allowed to dip into somebody else's pocket.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. This statement was borne out by the fact that

we had just gone tlirough a long suit with some of our stockholders
on a point very similar to this.

Mr. Hiss. Continuing with that same paragraph

:

This is not only part of our duty, but we cannot assent to allowing our own
patriotism to interfere with our duties as trustees. Our commanding position

1 This information was later supplied to the committee and appears in the appendix
•on p. 3160.
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in the explosive industry lias been won only by incessant work and expenditure
of money by the company. The situation is an asset of the stockholders which
cannot be dissipated lightly.

What did you mean by the phrase "the situation," Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I have lost track of that. I have been look-

ing at another copy of my own.
Mr. Hiss. This is the top of the fourth page, the second complete

sentence. Read the first complete sentence and the second complete
sentence.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The situation as developed over years of

experience, the goodwill of the company.
Mr. Hiss. In other words, your commanding position ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes; not only in explosives, but everything

we manufacture.
Mr. Hiss (continuing reading " Exhibit No. 1132 ") :

It is undoubtedly true that the contemplated work could not be executed
by other contractors at costs to the Government better than that which we
propose to charge, including our commission. If we are wrong in this supposi-

tion, we will gladly relinquish the work to other contractors, as we do not

feel that our low compensation

That was 15 percent, plus 5 cents. Do you consider that low ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We would get no compensation at all on that.

The maximum compensation "we expected on that was 6 percent, and
if our cost of overhead was as great as it had been in our own plant,

there would not be anj^ compensation whatever.

Mr. Hiss. Five cents a pound?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Five cents a pound might never have eventu-

ated. The construction was $90,000,000 and the hard part of the

work, and our possibility there was a minimum of 6 percent and a

minimum of nothing.
Mr. Hiss. On this your overhead was so great as to eat up all but

that percentage?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. We had our overhead.
Mr. Hiss. Do you recall what that overhead was?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. You will hear something of the detail of that

overhead. It was submitted about this time to the Department.
Mr. Hiss. In the October 25 agreement, " Exhibit No. 1130 ", as to

payment by the Government in paragraph 6, it reads

:

(a) A sura equal to 7 percent thereof to cover preparation of plants, the
procurement of sites, engineering supervision other than local supervision, and
services in connection with purchasing and forwarding deliveries of material
necessa:ry for the construction of the plants; and (&) a sum equal to 8 percent
to cover administration other than local administration, pro rata share of
overhead expense other than local overhead expense, and to cover profits.

Didn't you regard this as a complete contract, involving operation

as well as construction?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The construction might prove so, but had the

work ended it might not have been so.

Mr. Hiss. Would your company have accepted the contract with
only the construction feature?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; as long as the operation was to be done,

we insisted that we should do it.

Mr. Hiss. Didn't you refuse to do the construction alone ?
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. We did, but if the war had ended there

would have been no operation.

Mr. Hiss. But you were counting upon the profit from the opera-

tion as a part of the total remuneration, isn't that true?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It was operated.

Mr. Hiss. All right.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was a long distance away; 8 or 12

months at that time was a long stretch of time. Nobody knew when
the war was going to end.

Mr. Hiss. On November 2, 1917, a letter was written to General

Crozier, Chief of Ordnance, signed by you, on the same general line

as the letter, just discussed, to Mr. Buckner.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. I offer that for appropriate number.

(The letter referred to was marked" Exhibit No. 1135 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3147.)

Mr. Hiss. In that letter you say [reading] :

In answer to your request that I put in writing an estimate of the expenses
vshich are chargeable against the 15-pereent commission

That is the specific break-down which you were speaking about ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. In the second paragraph it reads

:

For instance, the rate of construction demands a monthly outlay in excess

of the average monthly outlay in the construction of the Panama Canal.

Eventually the capital was furnished by the United States, so that

that was cut out in the negotiations.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No, indeed.

Mr. Hiss. In this paragraph are you not referring to the strain

upon your financial facilities?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes ; but there was a strain on our organiza-

tion from other losses.

Mr. Hiss. I meant this particular sentence, Mr. du Pont, which
I read, was referring to the financial strain.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Only one part.

Mr. Hiss. To the extent that it relates to financial strain, it was
eliminated in the agreement as finally consummated?
Mr. Gregg. Is this still on the 15-percent basis for construction?
Mr. Hiss. This is still on the 15-percent basis for construction.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Take the financial part of it : When we finally

finished the Old Hickory plant, it took us 8 years to get the whole
thing settled up.

Mr. Gregg. The Government was not going to furnish us any
funds. You were going to use your own funds.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. They were going to reimburse us.

Mr. Hiss. At that time you had to furnish capital from month
to month?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. What would have happened if the Govern-

ment had not furnished the capital? We would not shut down and
discharge all the men. We were in a fix which one does not like to

get into.
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' Mr. Hiss. That was a fix which was completely obliterated later

on, which I was attemj)ting to point out, that the Government agreed
to keep a balance, and advanced some $18,000,000 for construction

and some $18,000,000 for operation.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. The telegram from Secretary Baker : Sup-
pose that had come at the end of the month when we had already
spent $20,000,000, and we would have been left sitting in the air,

and I do not know how long, and holding the bag, and a great force

of men there, and no work for them. What would you have done?
These things are quite important. He was quite right.

Mr. Hiss. On page 2, of " Exhibit No. 1135 " the first complete
paragraph reads

:

You appreciate that the task imposed upon our company is enormous and
fully justifies the alternative offer made last night when Mr. Buckner offered

to furnish the Government our existing plans from which to build these plants,

without charge

—

The plans were already in existence by the 2d of November?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The plans furnished had been approved.

The}^ Avere fairl}^ well along.

Mr. Hiss (continuing reading) :

if, in return, you can arrange to have the work done by other engineers and
lii'.ilders, thus relieving us entirely of the burden. I believe, however, that
this counteroffer should not be accepted. These factories can be constructed
nirre cheaply and efficiently and with greater certainty of immediate maximum
output if the work is conducted by E. I. de Pont de Nemours & Co. than if

handed over to contractors who cannot place themselves in immediate contact

with similar iilants in actual operation.

Did you not believe at the time that you were practically the only
company that could construct and operate, both, any plant of this

size in the United States?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I thought so, but apparently others differed

with me. I was not the only person competent to speak.

i\[r. Hiss. On page 3, Mr. du Pont, the second complete paragraph
[reading] :

The development of these general conditions has convinced us of the pro-

priety of the seemingly high charge of 15-percent commission which may
auKauit in maximum to $13,500,000.

With any saving in the cost below 44% cents for water-dried and
47 cents for air-dried, you would have received in addition to the 5

cents on a pound of powder considerably more than the $13,500,000
referred to here on the construction end of it. That is true, is it not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

^ Mr. Hiss. You,had at no time discussed this as two separate propo-
sitions, had you, construction or operation? It was always a joint

pro]:)Osition. You refused to do one and not the other ?

j\Ir. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. So that here you refer to a maximimi compensation of

$13,500,000, whereas, the maximum compensation—assuming, as when
you use the word " maximum " you must assume, favorable circum-
stances—would be much greater because of the 5 cents a pound on
however much powder you produced ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We are talking about the construction of the

plant, are we not?



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 2967

Mr. Hiss. I think you were talking about the entire contract in this

regard, Mr. clu Pont.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I have not read the letter.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think here we are talking about con^^t ruc-

tion, that is, the maximum construction.

Mr. Hiss. I was trying to bring out that throughout the negotia-

tions you insisted that construction and operation could not be
separated, and you would not consider any proposition of the Gov-
ernment for one without the other. Therefore that reference to

$13,500,000 for construction profit, as the maximum profit, does not
accurately describe the maximum profit of the only deal you have
considered ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was the maximum profit which could
have accrued to us in a period of quite a number of months.

Senator Pope. Mr. du Pont, between the time you signed the con-

tract, October 25, and the time you received this telegram from Mr.
Baker, had you expended any substantial amount of inonej^ on this

particular contract?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I cannot tell you how much was expended.

I think we spent some for land and did not get it for a time.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We made a good many arrangements, tak-

ing options on things, and at the same time purchased this ma-
chinery plant to manuiacture machinery in.

Senator Pope. Do you have any records on that, Mr. Hiss?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think there is a record on Avhat was ex-

pended.
Mr. Hiss. No; I have not.

Mr. du Pont, referring to page 4 of the same letter, " Exhibit No.
1135 " from you to General Crozier, of November 2, 1917, the first

complete paragraph on page 4, referring to the losses which maj^ be
incurred by the company in undertaking the new work, it states

(reading) :

For instance, we have already undertaken large construction in connection
with the dye industry and other chemical manufacture

—

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Will you give the date of the letter from
which you are reading?
Mr. Hiss. November 2, 1917, from Mr. Pierre du Pont to Gen-

eral Crozier, page 4, the first full paragraph.
That is the second sentence (reading) :

For instance, we have already undertaken large construction in connection
with the dye industry and other chemical manufacture, and have engaged to
deliver the product to these factories in large amounts.

I call your attention to the Junel8, 1917, executive committee meet-
ing, at which the committee advised that the total investment in the
dyestuffs industry would be $7,000,000, the estimated annual profit

17 percent at present prices, and the further statement that 7 months
at one-half capacity would repay the investment.
So that what you have in mind is loss of prospective profits and

not actual loss, when you make the statement that there

—

we have already undertaken large construction in connection with the dye
industry and other chemical manufacture, and have engaged to deliver the
product of these factories in large amounts.
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Because one-half of the capacity would repay your investment.
Now, turn to the last page of the letter, page 5, the last sentence

in the first paragraph

:

However, in a situation so uncertain as is that of today, business prudence
and our duty to our stockliolders malve it necessary to provide against loss,

even though prospective profit is unlikely to be adequate.

Then there is listed in an attached memorandum certain costs

:

1. Preparation of plans, including selection of sites, optioning of laud, survey
or land, making of contour maps, and use of all our standard drawings.
Estimated cost to us between 1 and 2 percent of estimated cost of plant.

That means between $900,000 and $1,800,000. Now, the majority
of that had already been spent prior to October 25.

Mr. Ikenee or Pont. Where do you get the majority from?
Mr. Hiss. From Mr. Pierre du Pont's previous testimony,
Mr. Irenee du Pont. The majority of the expense?
Mr. Hiss. The majority of the expense involved in item 1, " prep-

aration of plans, including selection of sites, optioning of land, sur-

vey of land, making of contour maps, and use of all our standard
drawings."
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think you are misreading it somewhere.
Mr. Hiss. I was referring, at that point of the examination, to

Mr. Pierce's memorandum, in which he refers, first, to the fact that
February 7, 1917, " our engineers " started " again collecting data
on stream flow and study of topographical maps for a smokeless-
powder-plant location to comply with the rulings of the War Col-
lege, since none of our plants complied with these rulings."

That is from '' Exhibit No. 1117." [Reading:]

On April 21, at our request, a letter was obtained from General Crozier of

the Ordnance Department, which was in the nature of a passport for our
engineers to visit water intakes and structures that were under guard from
alien enemies.
On April 2.5 two of our locating engineers were sent from the Wilmington

ofRce to the field.

Between April 25 and July 12 these engineers covered Tennessee, parts of

Alabama, Kentucky, Illinois, Indiana, West Virginia, and the southwestern
part of Virginia, in search of suitable locations for smokeless-powder plants.

July 12 to 2S was spent in working up data collected by the field engineers
and making a report on same.

July 28 to August 3 two engineers were in the field reconsidering locations

and a definite recommendation was made for the selection of the Charleston
site. * * *

On October 4 we started to option the property.
On October 5 this optioning was stopped on account of the high prices of

land.
On October 22 and 28 one of our engnieers, in company with Col. J. C. Nichols,

of the Ordnance Department, visited the various sites and obtained the approval
of the Ordnance Department, through Colonel Nichols, of two of the sites

selected by us, with a third, smaller in area, as a possibility.

On October 23 our real-estate department resumed optioning the Charleston
site.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. There is nothing in that about preparation
of plans, making of contour maps, and use of standard drawings.
Mr. Hiss. The preparation of plans is referred to in the letter of

November 2, according to which Colonel Buckner had offered to turn
over the plans to some other contractors, and at that time I asked you
whether plans were comj^lete by November 2.
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. I said they were pretty well along.

Mr. Hiss. You said they were pretty well along.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. How much of that could have been completed between
October 25 and November 2? Not very much; could it?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Whether the money was spent or not, we
were endeavoring to recoup it if it were spent.

Mr. Hiss. Right.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Does that answer my question about the

majority of expense on engineering and building of plant?
Mr. Hiss. I beg your pardon. The first item in Mr. Pierre du

Pontes memorandum, " Exhibit No. 1135 ", does not make any men-
tion of engineering supervision. I will read it

:

Preparation of plans

—

which we have just described

—

including selection of sites

—

which that memorandum specifically refers to

—

optioning of land—

which it refers to

—

survey of land

—

which that does not refer to until October 31

—

making of contour maps

—

which it does not refer to until a later date

—

and use of all our standaixl drawings

—

which is the November 2 letter, on which Mr. du Pont commented
on the basis of that letter as pretty well along, 7 days after October
25, which he testified he assumecl had been pretty well along also

1 days before.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. On that basis you think the majority of the

engineering expense had been expended ? Is that what I understand ?

Mr. Hiss. Does this constitute engineering expense, what I have
just read?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. No; engineering plans.

Mr. Hiss. I said the majority of the items described in this " no.

1 " had been complete at that time, for which a charge of II/2 per-

cent was being made.
The next one goes on with supervision of construction and in-

specting engineer
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not follow that, Mr. Hiss.

Mr. Hiss. May we phrase the question this way:
How much of " point 1 ", for which you estimated a cost of

between 1 and 2 percent of the $90,000,000, in other words $90,000
to $180,000, do you estimate had been completed by October 25?

jSIr. Pierre du Pont. I could not make an estimate at this time.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was not a majority?
Mr. Hiss. Of those items?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am talking about the expense. You say

the majority of the expense had been spent, as I understood you
to say, and I said, '' AYliere did 3^011 get the majority from? "
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Mr. Hiss. I did not say how much it cost to do it; but I said the

majority of the work, which you estimated would cost that much,
had been done. I do not know whether you spent that much or

not, Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I imagine this thing was made from pre-

vious experience, and I am informed already
(Informal discussion off the record occurred at this point, after

which the proceedings were resumed as follows:)

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I started to say, I think the report on the

Old Hickory construction, which was quite analogous, indicated

that they used 40 acres of blueprints. Those certainly had not

been made at that time. And an acre of blueprints, made a foot

at a time, which would have to be prepared for a specific site, must
require a great deal of engineering.

Mr. Hiss. Item No. 3 states [reading from " Exhibit No. 1135 "] :

Cost of extra compensation tO' be offered to men engaged on the work as an
inducement to extraordinary effort to expedite early completion and economy
of construction (our expenditure on this account amounted to $1,800,000).

In this connection I call your attention to an extract from the min-
utes of the executive committee meeting on October 26, 1917, which
I offer for appropriate number.

(The excerpts referred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1136 " and
are included in the appendix on p. 3150.)

Mr. Hiss. The second paragraph reads

:

Report was received from the chairman, dated October 25, 1917 (no. 9509),
in regard to establishing a bonus fund to be available for employees who
successfully carry out the construction of the plants for the manufacture of

1,000,000 pounds of smokeless powder per day for the United States Govern-
ment.

After full discussion, it was moved and unanimously carried that this report

be received and filed, and the chairman advised that it is agreeable to this com-
mittee to enter into a contract with the du Pont Engineering Co. under which
we will receive from the du Pont Engineering Co. $1,500,000 of the total com-
missions which they receive on account of work which they are proposing to

undertake, as an amount of money to be available for payment by the du Pont
Co. to the employees of the du Pont Co. and du Pont Engineering Co., either in

cash or in stock of the du Pont Co., as in the discretion of the executive com-
mittee of the du Pont Co, may seem best, as bonuses to the men who con-

tribute most in the successful prosecution of this work * * *.

If, in fact, this discretion had been exercised, Mr. du Pont, in favor

of an issue of stock, would this have represented an actual cost or

merely a capitalization of $1,500,000?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The cost of the stock, whatever it might have

been.

Mr. Hiss. You would have issued stock from your treasury under
this plan, or would you have gone in the market and purchased it,

or not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. We practically always purchased the stock.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Even if we issued it from the treasury, it is

worth the market price.

Mr. Hiss. Would not that be a capitalization of the $1,500,000?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No.
Mr. Hiss. What would it be ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It would be an expense, a part of the cost.
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. As a matter of fact, we would have pur-
chased the stock.

Mr. Hiss. I will also ask to have marked as " Exhibit No. 1137 "

an extract from the minutes of the executive committee of the du
Pont comjoany dated November 9, 1917.

(The extract referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1137 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3150.)

Mr. Hiss. That is on the same subject.

Senator Pope. The committee will be in recess until 10 o'clock

tomorrow morning.
(Thereupon, at 4:15 p.m., Thursday, Dec. 13, 1934, the hearing

was recessed until tomorrow, Friday, Dec. 14, 1934, at 10 a.m.)

This concludes that part of the testimony known as " Part XIII,
Profiteering, Government Contracts and Expenditures during the
World War, including early negotiations for Old Hickory Contract."
At this point the committee took up the story of " Old Hickory."
(See pt. XIV.)
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Exhibit No. 1105

[OJG:MCM Tel. War Br. 2704, Mun. 3075]

Memorandum to Mr. Tillson:

1. Pursuant to your recent request, I am attaching a statement which will show
the actual expenditures of the Ordnance Department from April 6, 1919, to No-
vember 30, 1919, grouped under 12 major headings.

2. A brief summary of the entire situation is as follows:

Actually expended from April 6, 1917, until Nov. 30, 1919__ $4, 549, 765, 744. 98
Still expected to be paid on uncanceled portions of contracts

incurred prior to Nov. 11, 1918 . 400,000,000.00
Claims still to be paid on uncanceled portions of old contracts

(approximately) ._- 200, 000, 000. 00
Expected expenditures to be made in overhauling and storing

war materiel as the result of the war 130, 000, 000. 00

Total $5, 279, 765, 744. 98

3. The total expenditure of the Ordnance Departmei^t for the fiscal year 1916,
which may be assumed as an average year prior to the war, was .$16,580,421.00.

Assuming this average for the period from April 6, 1917, until April 6, 1920, the
normal expenditure of the Ordnance Department would have been $50,241,-
263.00 for these three years. Deducting this amount leaves as an approximate
cost of the war for the Ordnance Department $5,229,324,481.98, or roughly, iu

round figures, five and a quarter billion dollars.

4. Of the $4,549,765,744.98 actually expended, the allocation by principal

items of Ordnance material is shown on the attached list. The amounts are
accurately allocated on 85% of this amount, the other 15% being allocated in

the same proportion as the 85% which is believed to be a reasonably fair assump-
tion. I have no data as to the allocation by items of the expenditures remaining
to be made. It is believed, however, that by far the greater proportion will be
for artillery and artillery ammunition.

5. With reference to the materiel on hand which the Ordnance Department has
to show for this tremendous expenditure of money, you will find in exhibit 1,

page 9, serial 6, part 1 of the hearings before the Ordnance Subcommittee of the
Select Committee on Expenditures in the War Department of the House of

Representatives, a statement showing the number of machine guns on hand at
the beginning of the war; the number acquired in the United States since April

6, 1917; the number acquired from allied countries; the number now on hand;
and the approximate cost per unit. Similarly, the principal items of Ordnance
materiel of this nature appear in that exhibit.

6. Exhibit 2, appearing on page 15, the same serial and part, indicates the
quantities of artillery ammunition in the same way.

7. The schedule on page 18 indicates the quantities of explosives and unloaded
ammunition.

8. Exhibit 3 on page 24 indicates the principal types of artillery materiel of

United States production, foreign production, and on hand.
9. Page 34 shows the small-arms ammunition produced and on hand.
10. The list on page 13 indicates the number of tractors and tanks. More

detailed information in this connection is given in the testimony of General
Rockenback at page 541, et seq., in connection with tanks of American and
foreign manufacture.

11. Also, you will find a great deal of information regarding the Chemical War-
fare testimony in the testimony of General Sibert on pages 444, et seq., includ-
ing the statement on total disbursements by the Chemical Warfare Service from
August 1, 1918, to June 30, 1919. This statement also includes expenditures
"by other Departments prior to the organization of the Chemical Warfare
Service."

12. In serial 6, part 43, page 2373 of the hearings before Mr. Graham's Sub-
cornmittee, appear statistics regarding expenditures in the War Department by
services or bureaus as furnished by the Director of Finance, and as shown by
the data made by Messrs. Warwick, Mitchell, Peat & Co. Those figures only
apply up to June 1, 1919. Subsequent figures to those have been obtained in
preparing the statement above appearing in the second paragraph of this letter.

By order of the Chief of Ordnance.
O. J. Gatchell,

Li. Col., Ord. Devi., U. S. A.,

Executive Ass't. to Chief oj Ordnance.
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Exhibit No. 1105-A

Ordnance Department expenditures

Classification

Apr. 6, 1917, to Feb.
28, 1919, from audit
section records

Per-
cent

Apr. 6, 1917, to Nov.
30, 1919, from di-

rector of finance

Amount Per-
cent

Mountain, field, siege, and antiaircraft artillery,

including guns, mounts, carriages, caissons, optical

and fire-control instruments, repairs, replacements,
tools and accessories, and plant facilities for their

manufacture
Ammunition for moimtain, field, siege and anti-

aircraft artillery, including plant facilities for their

manufacture
Seacoast artillery, including that for Panama and
the insular possessions, with their mounts, optical

and fire-control instruments, repairs, replacements,
tools and accessories, submarine mines, radio-

dynamic torpedoes, and plant facilities for their

manufacture
Ammunition for seacoast artillery, including plant

facilities for their manufacture
Machine guns and automatic rifles, including guns,
mounts, tripods, optical and fire-control instru-

ments, repairs, replacements, tools and accessories,

and plant facilities for their manufacture
Small arms, including rifles, shotguns, pistols,

sabers, bolos, optical and fire-control instruments,
repairs, repliceraents, tools and accessories, and
plant facilities for their manufacture

Ammunition for small arms, machine guns and
automatic rifles, including plant facilities for their

manufacture
Trench and aerial warfare materiel; optical and fire-

control instruments; illuminating and signaling

devices; bombs; gas, flame, and smoke apparatus;
trench mortars; shells, etc.; and plant facilities

for their manufacture
Transportation vehicles and equipment, horse-
drawn, motorized, and railway, for artillery, am-
munition, machine guns, infantry, etc., including
pk.nt facilities for their manufacture

Armored motor cars, tanks, tractors, trailers, re-

pairs and replacements, tools and accessories, in-

cluding plant facilities for their manufacture.
Ordnance equipment and supplies, personal equip-
ment, entrenching tools, construction and repair
tools, an 1 other supplies, including plant facilities

for their manufacture
Arsenals, proving grounds, ordnance depots, operat-
ing divisions, barracks, terminal storage and ship-

ping facilities, nitrate plant, powder factory, their

repair, maintenance and operation, of which
?163,791,834.73 was expended for permanent im-
provements -.

$412, 263, 866. 44

1, 867, 141, 896. 03

13, 505, 670. 14

31, 150, 106. 38

179, 604, 966. 66

162, 334, 618. 18

242, 327, 963. 83

94,840,310.74

298, 784, 139. 32

39, 551, 375. 90

198, 910, 561. 84

242, 440, 090. 03

10.90

49.32

.35

.82

4.75

4.30

6.40

2.5:

7.90

1.04

5.25

6.40

$495, 924, 466. 21

2, 243, 944, 464. 53

15,924,180.11

37,308,079.11

216,113,872.89

195, 639, 927. 03

291, 185, 007. 68

116,928,979.64

359, 431, 493. 85

47, 317, 563. 74

238, 862, 701. 61

291, 185, 007. 68

10.90

49.32

.35

.82

4.75

4.30

6.40

2.57

7.90

1.04

5.25

6.40

Total expenditures from Apr. 6, 1917, to Feb.
28, 1919

Total expenditures from Apr. 6, 1917, to Nov.
30, 1919

3, 782, 855, 565. 49 100.0

4, 549, 765, 744. 98 100. CO

Exhibit No. 1106

some gross wartime expenditures

"It is shown on the books of the War Department that the total expenditures
and obligations of the War Department (from Apr. 6, 1917), until September 1,

1919, were $18,501,117,999.12." (Source: Select Committee on Expenditures
in the War Dej^artment [Graham Committee]. Expenditures in the Ordnance
Department. Mar. 2, 1921 (66th Cong., 3d sess.), Rept. no. 1400, p. 67. Hear-
ings Before the Select Committee, serial 1, vol. 3, p. 651.)
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Expenditures by Army bureaus

2977

Expended to
Apr. 30, 1919

Percent

Quartermaster Corps:
Pay of the Army, etc

Other Quartermaster Corps appropriations
Ordnance Department .-_

Air Service __

Engineer Corps
iVIedieal Department
Signal Corps
Chemical Warfare Service
Provost Marshal General
Secretary's office and miscellaneous

Total

831, 273, 000
242, 745, 000
087, 347, 000
859, 291, 000
638, 974, 000
314, 544, 000
128, 920, 000
83, 299, 000

1 24, 301, 000
' 33, 367, 000

14, 244, 061, 000

12.9
43.8
28.7
6.0
4.5
2.2
.9
.6

.17

.23

100.00

1 Figures are for Dec. 31, 1918.

pared with other items in table.

Expenditures since that date for these purposes have been small com-

The Quartermaster Corps, which paid the soldiers and furnished them with
food, clothing, equipment, and miscellaneous supplies, spent the most. The
Ordnance Department was next in order, with over $4,000,000,000 for munitions,
more than half of its expenditure being for artillery ammunition. (Source:
The War with Germany, by Leonard P. Ayres, p. 133.)

Ordnance Department expenditures, April 6, 1917, to November 30, 1919

[Source: War Department, Office of the Chief of Ordnance, Document No. 0.0. 112.8/22, dated January
1920]

Class
no.
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Aside from the actual expenditures of the Ordnance Department listed above,
there were additional expenditures expected at the time (January 1920). These
are summarized in a memorandum by O. J. Gatchell, then Lt. Col., Ordnance
Dept., U.S.A., executive assistant to the Chief of Ordnance, dated January 16,
1920:

Actually expended from April 6, 1917, until Nov. 30, 1919- - $4, 549, 765, 744. 98
Still expected to be paid on uncancelled portions of contracts

incurred prior to Nov. 11, 1918 400, 000, 000. 00
Claims still to be paid on uncancelled portions of old con-

tracts (approximately) 200, 000, 000. 00
Expected expenditures to be made in overhauling and storing
war material as the result of the war 130, 000, 000. 00

Total—- 5, 279, 765, 744. 98

The total expenditure of the Ordnance Department for the fiscal year 1916,
which may be assumed as an average year prior to the war, was $16,580,421.00.
Assuming this average for the period from April 6, 1917, until April 6, 1920, the
normal expenditure of the Ordnance Department would have been $50,241,263.00
for these three years. Deducting this amount leaves as an approximate cost of the
war for the Ordnance Department $5,229,324,481.98, or in round figures five and
a quarter billion dollars.

Source: Wax Department, Office of the Chief of Ordnance, Document No. 0.0. 112.8/23.

Expenditure of the Quartermaster Corps from April 6, 1917, up to and including
December 1, 1918

Spent within the United States $6, 196, 561, 573. 26
Spent overseas 558, 204, 592. 00

Total 6, 754, 766, 165. 26

Included in the above sum, of course, are expenditures for an immense number
and variety of items, the larger of which are listed below. The source for these
materials is an undated War Department document, entitled "Report dealing
with the procurement and supply operations of the Quartermaster General from
April 6, 1917, to December 1, 1918, and with the method of procuring, commis-
sioning, and promoting personnel." Unless otherwise indicated all figures are

for this peroid and refer exclusively to the Quartermaster Corps. The table on
expenditures above is from data on page 1 of the report. The figures below whose
source is stated to be an exhibit identified by number or letter are from exhibits
accompanying the report.

Expenditures on supplies

[Source: Quartermaster General report, finance exhibit no. 1]

Clothing and equipage $2, 288, 291, 540. 32
Subsistence 727, 092, 430. 44
General supplies 166, 230, 619. 42
Forage 139, 824, 699. 20
Fuel 72, 450, 453. 53

Total 3, 393, 889, 742. 91

. . (Source: Quartermaster General report, finance exhibit no. 2]

Pay of the Army $1, 287, 197, 405. 24

Transportation of the Army

[Source: Quartermaster General report, finance exhibit no. 3]

Total $933, 353, 406. 62
Of which the larger items are:

Autos, truclcs, motorcycles, bicycles, purchase and repair. 590, 567, 959. 03
Transport charter, harbor and artillery boats 129, 762, 651. 77
Transjjortation of troops 85, 830, 400. 23
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Construction and repair

[Source: Quartermaster General report, finance exhibit no. 4]

Total $774, 327, 469. 11
Of which the larger items are:

Barracks, quarters 440, 007, 739. 43
Construction and repair of hospitals 167, 866, 242. 60
Roads, walks, wharves, and drainage 60, 906, 087. 24
Heating and lighting systems, post bakeries, laundries,

etc I 53, 214, 867. 08
Water systems 43, 093, 100. 74

Inland and Port Storage and shipping facilities construction

[Source: Quartermaster General report, finance exhibit no. 5]

Total $205, 818,086. 89
Of which the larger items are:

Joint reserve depots:
Expeditionary^ depots 136, 882, 703. 68
Ordnance depots 26, 443, 698. 00

Quartermaster depots 19, 652, 468. 73
Addition at various camps 6, 570, 117. 45

Purchases of subsistence stores, from July 1, 1918, to Dec. 1, 1918

[Source: Q.M.G. report. Exhibit B]

Article
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Status of motor vehicles and approximate valuation, as of Nov. 11, 1918

[Source: Q.M.G. report.Exhibit Q]

Total no.

ordered
to Nov.

11

Value of no.

ordered

Total no.
com-

pleted to

Nov. 11

Value of
number

completed

Due on
outstand-
ing con-
tracts

Nov. 11

Value of

outstanding
contracts

Trucks and chassis-

Bodies
Passengers cars
Motorcycles -..

Trailers

208, 032
187, 801
38, 460
67, 881

40, 720

$577, 567, 300
54, 674, 700
33, 676, 800
20, 364, 300
25, 531, 440

83, 390
87, 208

17, 666
28,310
15, 021

$217, 689, 400
27, 156, 000
16, 509, 400
8, 493, 000
9, 418, 167

124, 642
100, 593

20, 794

39, 571
25, 699

$359, 877, 900
29,618,700
17, 167, 400
11,871,300
16, 113, 273

Total (including side
cars and bicycles) 720, 271, 170 282, 478, 359

Note.—Total amount expended and obligated for autos, trucks, motorcycles, bicycles, purchase, and
repair in United States from April 2, 1917, to December 1, 1918, $590,567,959.03, with estimated savings on
contracts to be canceled of $208,000,000.00. Figures in above chart are for amounts contracted for and
expended in United States and overseas; consequently are more than expended in United States alone.

Exhibit " J-1
"

Value of the principal quarterynaster items in stock on hand, in the United States and
overseas, as of Dec. 1, 1918

[Source: Exhibit O, Q.M.G. report]

Clothing & equipage $605, 802, 646
Clothing & equipage materials 225, 885, 603
Subsistence 263, 440, 083
Motors 66, 294, 769
Vehicles 11, 594, 849
Remount 110, 619, 668
Forage 24, 80 1 , 232
Harness 19, 893, 415
General supplies 15, 626, 896
Raw materials 8, 584, 999

Total 1,352,544, 160

Costs of camp construction

{Source: Select Committee on Expenditures in the War Department, hereafter referred to as the Graham
Committee, Report on Camps, Apr. 10, 1920, H. R. (66th Cong., 2d session) Report No. 186, p. 117; Hear-
ings Before the Select Committee, serial 1, volume 3, p. 379]

Name of camp Approx. costs •

Camp Lee $19,060,920
Camp IVIeade 18, 614, 020
Camp Upton 15,370,820
Camp Grant 14, 689, 620
Camp Pike 2 13, 505,320
Camp Custer 13, 385, 920
Camp Sherman 13, 247, 620
Camp Dix 13, 109, 220
Camp Jackson 2 12, 710, 720
Camp Devens 12, 311, 420
Camp Funston 11, 715, 520
Camp Gordon 2 n^ 639, 420
Camp Dodge 10, 365, 120
Camp Lewis 2 9^ 231, 420
Camp Taylor 8, 801, 120
Camp Travis 2 g^ §05, 720

Total 206, 632, 920

1 "Approx. costs" were found in the Annual Reports of the Construction Division for 1919, published in
1920, plus freight and audit-force charges as furnished by the construction division, not included in costs
shown by their report.

2 Southern construction estimated to cost 6 percent less than northern.
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"It is probable that the approximate amount expended by the United States

in the matter of procuring poisonous gases during the war for defensive and
offensive purposes was approximately $200,000,000." (Source: Graham Com-
mittee, Report No. 1400, p. 8; volume p. 592.)

"Contracts awarded for these machines (22,772 tractors) approximated
$100,000,000. Approximately 7,500 tractors were delivered on the contracts,

at an expense of approximately $30,000,000 to the Government." (Source:

Graham Committee, Report No. 1400, p. 9, volume p. 593.)

" We had 53 contracts for 37-millimeter shells, on which we expended $9,-

134,582.
" We had 689 contracts for 75-millimeter shells, on which we expended $301,-

941,459.
"We had 142 contracts for 3-inch shells, on which we expended $44,841,844.
"We had 439 contracts for 4.7 shells, on which we expended $41,716,051.
"We had 305 contracts for 6-inch shells, on which we expended $24,189,075.
"We had 617 contracts for 155-millimeter shells, on which we expended

$264,955,387.
"We had 301 contracts for 8-inch shells, on which we expended $51,371,207.
"We liad 152 contracts for 240-millimeter shells, on which we expended

$24,136,867.
"We had 239 contracts for 9.2 shells, on which we expended $54,389,377.
"We had 71 contracts for 12-inch shells, on which we expended $9,507,878.
"We had 6 contracts for 14-inch shells, on which we spent $1,266,477.
"We let 111 contracts, to the amount of $478,828,345, for the construction of

artillery of all calibers, guns, howitzers, gun carriages, limbers, and recuperators."
(Source: Graham Committee, Report No. 1400, p. 28; volume p . 612.)

"During the period of the war the War Department undertook the construction
of seven Army supply bases and port terminals. These were located at Boston,
Mass.; Brooklyn, N.Y.; Norfolk, Va.; Charleston, S.C.; New Orleans, La.;
Philadelphia, Pa.; and Newark, N.J. The plans were apparently worked out in

the fall of 1917, and construction begun early in August 1918. These works were
very extensive, and the costs, as given to the committee by the War Department
on each project, were as follows:

Boston, Mass $24, 787, 000
Brooklyn, N.Y 32, 037, 000
Newark, N.J 11, 790,000
Philadelphia, Pa 13, 850, 000
Norfolk, Va 28, 860, 000
Charleston, S.C 17, 116, 000
New Orleans, La 13, 110, 000

Total 141, 550,000

[Source: Graham Committee, Report No. 1400, pp. 42-43; volume pp. 626-627]

Exhibit No. 1107

Cost of construction by the War Department during the World War

1. Cantonment construction $496, 389, 705. 71
2. Facilities construction (operated by industry) 442, 530, 890. 17
3. Facilities construction (operated by Government) 332, 402, 348. 94

Total 1, 271,322, 944. 82

Planning Branch, Office of The Assistant Secretary of War, December 8, 1934.
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Exhibit No. 1108

Advance paymenls held by Du Pont Co., by months from 1914-1918, inclusive

1914 1916 1918

January
February..
March
April
May -

June.-
July
August
September-
October
November.
December.,

, 065. 950. 00
, 093, 046. 93
, 815, 634. 55

$13, 567,

17, 370,

24, 565,

39, 967,

47, 057,

45, 677,

63, 143,

66, 622,

85, 449,

83,618,
91, 138,

97, 199,

913.74
528. 57
578. 80
342. 45
243. 26
432. 56
895. 09
039. 95
332.91
209. 46
661. 65
305. 04

$102, 386,

93, 382,

86, 727,

77, 174,

6S, 694,

58, 886,

50, 602,

39, 252,

29, 469,

33, 127,

24, 300,

32, 833,

985. 77
436. 81
448. 62
989. 39
429. 80
620. 12

290. 83
773. 54
301. 64
760. 16
157. 04
492. 24

$31, 004,

25, 460,

41, 568,

35, 401,

28, 455,

24, 848,

25, 535,

25, 143,

24, 165,

24, 280,

22, 139,

19, 068.

489. 01
716.11
658. 90
887. 62
010. 46
561. 15

834. 67

942. 63

143.46
939. 87
860. 07
711.12

$47, 055,

42, 606,

41,437,
36,811,
31,518,

28, 737,

27, 142,

24, 546,

27, 360,

27, 502,

528. 37
789. 29
174 36
537. 88
213. 14
277. 81
658. 84
409. 01
603. 81

411.47

Exhibit No. 1109

Military contracts
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Exhibit No. 1109

Military contracts—Continued

SUBDIVISION OF 1918 CONTRACTS

2983
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Exhibit No. 1111

The following compilation was based upon data contained in the files of the
Bureau of Internal Revenue and indicates the net taxable income, invested

capital and the percentage of net income to invested capital of the following

companies for the years of 1916-20, inclusive:

Metals industry

AMERICAN BRASS CO.

Year
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Munitions industries—Continued

MIDVALE STEEL & ORDNANCE CO.

Year
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Exhibit No. 1112

Statistical Section—Income Tax Unit

individuals reporting net income of $1,000,000 or over for any one or more of the years 1917-1920, showing
names and addresses as of 1920 and indicating by an asterisk the years from 1915 to 1920 in which net

income was $1,000,000 or over]

Name and address
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Statistical Section—Income Tax Unit—Continued

Name and address
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Statistical Section—Income Tax Unit—Continued

Name and address
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Exhibit No. 1114

profits during the war

Except where otherwise indicated, the source for this material is the Report
of the Federal Trade Commission Regarding Profiteering, Senate Documents,
vol. 20 (65th Congress, 2d session). Document ISo. 248. Similarly, unless other-
wise indicated, matter in quotation marks is from that report.

Steel

Following are data on the profits of the United States Steel Corporation :'
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Wartime profits of four copper companies

Source: Select Committee on Expenditures in the War Department, [Graham Committee] Expenditures
of the Ordnance Department. 11. R. (60th Cong., 3d sess.) Report No. 1400, p. 94. Hearings before
the Select Committee, Serial 1, vol. 3, p. 678]
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Sidphur

[Source: F. T. C. report, p. 11)

During the war all the sulphur in this country was produced by the Freeport
Sulphur Co. and the Union Sulphur Co. In the first half of 1917 the Union
company's costs were $5.73 per ton. The average realization of the Union
company during this period was $18.11 per ton, making a margin of $12.38 per
ton. By June 1918 costs increased but did not reach $10 per ton, while sul-

phuric acid manufacturers were paying about $25 per ton and some as high
as $35, making a margin of over $15 per ton for the sulphur company.
Data for Freeport Sulphur Co.:
For the 11 months ending October 31, 1917, the company's balance sheets show

an operating profit of $4,301,310 or 236 percent on investment.
The company's balance sheet on Nov. 30, 1916, shows dividends declared of

,$925,000.
The company's balance sheet on July 31, 1917, shows dividends declared of

:$1,850,000.
The company's balance sheet on Oct. 31, 1917, shows dividends declared of

$2,600,000.
Surplus: Nov. 1916, $1,254,000; Oct. 1917, $2,543,000.

Lu7nber

[Source: F. T. C. report, p. 12]

In 1917, 48 southern pine companies made an average profit of 17 percent on
the net investment. This is unusually large for the industry, for the average
profit in 1916 was only 5.2 percent. In 1917, 47 percent of the footage of the
companies covered was produced at a profit of over 20 percent.

The margin of profit per thousand board feet in 1917 was nearly double that
in previous years, the figure being $4.83, as compared with $2.11 in 1916. The
1917 figures are after deducting for Federal income and excess-profits taxes, and
are the sums actually available for additions to surpluses or dividends.

Coal

[Source: F. T. C. report, pp. 12-13]

The bituminous coal operators in 1917 had much larger margins than in

previous years. The margin is the sum actually received by the operator for

coal sold less its f. o. b. mine cost. The increase is illustrated by figures for 23
typical bituminous coal companies in the central Pennsylvania field.

Year
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First

quarter,
1918

1918 (es-

timated)

Atlantic Refining Co
Standard of Indiana
Standard of New Jersey
Standard of New York
Standard of Ohio
Standard of Kansas
Magnolia Petroleum Co
Standard of California.
Continental Refining Co
Empire Oil Works
Penn American Refining Co-
Cosden & Co
Muskogee Refining Co
National Refining Co
The Texas Co

16.4
36.5
9.7
21.2
23.4
91.6
19.2
16.8
1.6
4.4
35.3

8.7
24.9
17.1

-3.7
14.5
7.8
8.1

13.8
1.0

16.5
12.5
-7.8
-3.1
13.3
30.6
6.9
8.0
13.3

21.7
36.0
20.6
16.0
23.9
17.9
14.2
10.6
3.3
5.6
12.3

-50.7
18.8
20.4
12.7

2 15.0
2 21.7
2 9. 1

2 6.6
2 14.3
3 25.6

4.4
6.5
1.2
7.3
15.8
5.9
6.2
2.3

2 13.3

+30.0
+43.3
+18.2

13.3
+28.6
+51.3

17.6
+25.9
+4.7
+29.2
+63.1
23.5

+24.8
9.2
26.7

1 Estimates based on figures for last fi months of 1917 or first quarter of 1918.
2 Six months period. July-December 1917.

' Last six months of 1917.

Meat packing

[Source: F. T. C. report, pp. 14-15]

An exposition of the excess profits of four of the big meat packers (Armour,
Swift, Morris, Cudahy, omitting Wilson as not comparable) is given in the fact

that their aggregate average pre-war profit (1912, 1913, and 1914) was $19,000,-
000; that in 1915 they earned $17,000,000 excess profits over the pre-war period;
in 1916, $36,000,000 more profit than in the pre-war period; and in 1917,
$68,000,000 more profit than in the pre-war period. In the three war years from
1915 to 1917 their total profits have reached the astounding figure of $140,000,000,
of which $121,000,000 represents excess over their pre-war profits.

These great increases in profits are not due solely to increased volume of
business. The sales of these companies in this period increased 150 percent,
much of this increase being due to higher prices rather than to increased volume
by weight, but the return of profit increased 400 percent, or two and one-half
times as much as the sales.

The profit taken by Morris & Co. for the fiscal year ended November 1, 1917,
is equal to a rate of 18.6 percent on the net worth of the company (capital and
surplus) and 263.7 percent on the three millions of capital stock outstanding.
In the case of the other four companies the earned rate on common capital stock
is much lower—from 27 percent to 47 percent—but the reason for this is that these
companies have from time to time declared stock dividends and in other ways
capitalized their growing surpluses. Thus Armour in 1916 raised its capital

stock from twentj' millions to one hundred millions without receiving a dollar
more of cash. If Swift, Wilson, Cudahy, and Armour had followed the practice
of Morris in not capitalizing their surpluses (accumulated from excessive profits),

they too would now show an enormous rate of profit on their original capital.

"Rates of profit earned by these five companies in war years compared with
the pre-war average, based on net worth (capital and surplus) and on common
stock, are as follows:

Actual profit on net worth

Pre-war average, 1912-14

War average, 1915-17

Year 1917
Rate on common stock, 1917.

Percent
6.2
14.6

2 16.8
2 27.1

Swift

Percent
8.3
21.0
26.7
47.2

Morris

Percent
6.8
13.5
18.6

263.7

Wilson

Percent
(')

(')

23.8
42.5

Cudahy

Percent
7.3
14.1
18.7
47.0

1 Figures not available.
2 Foreign business, not included, would undoubtedly raise percentages.

"The independent packers, as measured by results compiled for 65 of the
largest of them, earned during 1914, 1915, and 1916 a rate of profit as high or
slightly higher than that earned by the big packers in those years."
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Leather and leather goods

[Source: F. T. C. Report, pp. 15-17]

A number of the larger tanning companies in the United States had net profits

in 1916 that were in several instances two, three, four, or even five times as large
as the 1915; and the 1915 net profits, in turn, showed increases of from 30 percent
to more than 100 percent over those of 1914. One striking instance is a company
whose net profits were reported as follows:

1914 $644,390. 90
1915 945,051.37
1916 3, 576, 544. 27

The tanners took advantage of the enormous demand for leather and took very-

high prices. During 1917 the prices of hides were advanced very rapidly,
notwithstanding that during the period of advance great supplies of hides were
withheld from the public.

As an indication of earnings of the big packers in the selling branch of their
leather business the following is quoted from a letter of January 17, 1917, by the
Eastern Leather Co., an Armour selling subsidiary, to Mr. F. W. CroU, of Armour
&Co.:
"We are inclosing our check on the National City Bank, New York City,

payable to Mr. J. Ogden Armour, for $915,787, same being a dividend of 53 percent
on the 17,279 shares of common stock standing in his name. In addition to this,

and in accordance with our conversation when in Chicago, we have set aside as a
surplus $250,000, which represents 10 percent on the common stock.

"We are also inclosing a check on the National City Bank for $202,145.62
payable to Mr. Armour, this being the balance due on 6,020 shares of common
stock held for employees."

Flour

[Source: F. T. C. Report, p. 17]

Figures from representative mills for the four years ending June 30, 1916 >

indicate that the flour millers received a profit of 135-^ cents on each barrel of

flour and 12 percent on the capital investment. In the year ending June 30,
1917, these same mills made an average of 52 cents on each barrel of flour sold
and nearly 38 percent on their capital investment. For six months of the year
one mill showed an average profit of $2 per barrel.

The average net profit of jobbers reporting to the Federal Trade Commission
was about 15 cents per barrel for 1913 and 1914, but increased to nearly 50 cents
the first half of 1917. These profits include all the pay received by the proprietors
of the business for their services.

Salmon canners

[Data and quotation from F. T. C. Report, pp. 18-19]

Ninety percent of the salmon packed in 1917 was produced at a total cost that
was less than $7.75. The weighted average of the 1917 opening prices for different
grades of salmon was $8.29 per full case, but more salmon was sold above than
below this price during the year. This indicates a margin for a high-cost canner
of 54 cents per case and larger margins on the bulk of the production. Several
canners having costs in the vicinity of $7.25 in 1917 made profits as follows:
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average of 52.8 percent does not reveal the fact that some of the low-cost com-
panies, included in the average, made over 200 percent. It is significant that
some of these low-cost companies are those allied with the big meat packers.

Ordnance

[Source: Report on Expenditures in the Ordnance Department, cited above under Copper. Report No.
1400, pp. 37-39; serial 1, vol. 3, pp. 621-623. Quotation from p. 39 (623)]

American Brake Shoe & Foundry Co. had several Government contracts for
howitzers and the Government furnished $5,572,945 for new buildings and ma-
chinery equipment in connection with them. The exact plans for the howitzers
were apparently not definitely in hand and according to the company's statement
the Ordnance officers made 30 changes in dimensions and specifications. Conse-
quently, there were repeated delays in turning out the guns.
"As a result of these contracts, in addition to costs of every kind, including

salaries of executive officers, the American Brake Shoe & Foundry Co. received a
profit of $841,364.70. Included in the cost were the labor, materials, salaries,

and even taxes, all of which the Government paid, and an additional item of

$37,500 interest on money which the company had used in this work. The
entire amount paid to the company, exclusive of its cost, amounted to, approxi-
mately, $1,000,000."

Exhibit No. 1115-A

PRICE PER BARREL OF FUEL OIL F. OB. REFINERY. OKLAHOMA
AND PRICES OF ALL COMMODITIES

INDEX NUMBERS (1913 = 100)

PERCENT

1913 1914

U S DCPAHTMtNT OF ASPICULTURt

1919

NEG. BUREAU Of AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS
MTA FURNISHCO BY tURCAU Or LABOR STATISTICS

83876—35—FT 13 8
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Exhibit No. H15-B

PRICE PER POUND OF WOOL AT BOSTON AND PRICES OF ALL COMMODITIES
INDEX NUMBERS ( 1913 = 100 )

*. J\H.y JAN.

1913

U.S DCPARTMCNT OF ASRlCUtTURC

l^l'f

JULY Jl
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Exhibit No. 1115-D

PRICE PER POUND OF YELLOW BRASS SHEETS AND
PRICES OF ALL COMMODITIES

INDEX NUMBERS (1913 = 100)

1913

US.eCPARTMENT OF ASRICULTURC

I9l<f 1915 1916 1917 1918 1919

Exhibit No. 1115-E

PRICE PER POUND OF STEEL SHEETS AT PITTSBURGH DISTRICT MILLS
AND PRICES OF ALL COMMODITIES

INDEX NUMBERS ( 1913 = 100 )

PERCENTr

JVVr JAN. JULV JAN. JUUV JAN. JULY JAN JULY JAN. JULY

1913 191^

u s.ocpammemt Of Assicuunme

1915 1916 1917 1918 1919
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Exhibit No. 1115-F

PRICE PER POUND OF STEEL PLATES AT PITTSBURGH
AND PRICES OF ALL COMMODITIES

INDEX NUMBERS ( 1913 = 100 )

PERCENT

600

550
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Exhibit No. 1117

[File 90]

Wilmington, Dhxaware,
December 13, 1911.

Memorandum

investigations and SECXJKING sites for SM0KELESS-P0V,'DER plants by E. I. DTJ

PONT DE NEMOUES AND COMPANY IN THE INTERESTS OF THE UNITED STATES

GOVERNMENT

Diplomatic relations between the United States and Germany being brolcen

on Februarv 3, 1917, and we, realizing tbe powder situation in the United States

and the advisability of locating a new powder plant to comply with the rulings

of the War College, started our engineers on February 7th collecting data on

stream flow and study of topographical maps for a smokeless-powder plant

location to comply with the rulings of the War College since none of our plants

complied with these rulings.

Oil April 21, at our request, a letter was obtained from General Crozier of

the Ordnance Department, which was in the nature of a passport for our

engineers to visit water intal^es and structures that were under guard from
alien enemies.
On April 25 two of our locating engineers were sent from the Wilmington

office to the field.

Between April 25th and July 12th these engineers covered Tennessee, parts

of Alabama, Kentucky, Illinois, Indiana, West Virginia, and the southwestern

part of Virginia in search of suitable locations for smokeless-powder plants.

July 12th to -Sth was .spent in working up data collected by the field en-

gineers and making a report on same.
July 28th to August 3rd, two engineers were in the field reconsidering loca-

tions and a definite recommendation was made for the selection of the Charles-

ton site.

You are familiar with the work done by Col. Buckner during approximately
this entire time in endeavoring to bring the serious situation regarding lack

of powder manufacturing capacity before the proper authorities in Washing-
ton, this we understand being finally accomplished about the 1st of October.
At this time we have ready for the Government consideration twelve suitable

sites for smokeless-powder plant locations.

On October 4th we started to option the property.
On October Sth this optioning was stopped on account of the high prices of

land.
October 22d to 28th, one of our engineers, in company with Col. J. C. Nichols

of the Ordnance Department, visited the various sites and obtained the approval
of the Ordnance Department, through Col. Nichols, of two of the sites

selected by us, with a third, smaller in area, as a possibility.

On October 23rd our real estate department resumed optioning the Charleston
site.

On October 31st we started surveys of that portion of site under option.

On November 13th sufficient of topographical map was received from the
field to make paper location of plant.

November 24th, options completed.
November 19th to 24th, options closed, covering 1,390 acres of land at a price

of $382,250. Prior to that date, 2,529i^ acres of land at a price of $235,000 had
been optioned on Nashville site.

At this writing the topographical map of Charleston site is completed, and
paper location has been finished in this office.

Since November 24th (the day we acquired the land) we have been ready to

start active construction work in the field.

H. M. PiEBCE, Chief Engineer.
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Exhibit No. 1118

E. I. Du Pont db Nemours & Company,
Wilmington, Dela., March 22, 1917.

Executive offices.

Houoiable Newton D. Baker,
Secretary of War, Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir: I submit herewith some data with respect to productiou of mili-

tary explosives and raw materials, which I believe will be of interest to your
department.

If additional information is desired, please so indicate to me and I shall be
glad to supplement the enclosed data.

Copy of this information is being forwarded to the Secretary of the Navy.
I request that the information contained herein be considered strictly con-

fidential.

"Very truly yours,
E. I. DU Pont db Nemours & Company.

S Pierre S. du Pont, President.

MILITARY SMOKELESS POWDERS

Our orders with the Entente Allies are sufficient to run our factories at their

full rated capacity of 27,500,000 pounds per month until September 15, 1917.
However, the contracts do not make necessary the production of more than
98.5 percent of this amount, so that there is available beyond contract require-
ments capacity amounting to 400,000 pounds per month. In addition to this
we are building additions to plant which should give additional production of
2,300,000 pounds per month beginning with June next. Further, under favor-
able conditions we can probably make 3,000,000 pounds per month above our
rated capacity. (By rated capacity we mean the production that is practically
certain and which we are willing to sell under contract for specific delivery,
above which we have the margin indicated which can be produced under favor-
able circumstances but which we do not believe we are warranted in selling for
specific delivery.)

The actual production of our factories for the past four months has been:
November 1916, 27,900,000 lbs. ; December 1916, 28,050,000 lbs. ; January 1917.
30,850,000 lbs. ; February 1917, 26,850,000 lbs.

(March, estimated, 30,500,000 to 31,000,000 lbs.

nitrate of soda

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company purchases nitrate of soda for the
Hercules Powder Company and the Atlas Powder Company under the court
dissolution decision. In giving statistics it is convenient to make statements
of the total purchases for the three companies. The situation on March 1st,
1917, was as follows :

On hand

:

Tons
Hopewell, Virginia 45, 227
Carneys Point, N. J 1,219
Repauno, N. J 4, 615
Barksdale, Wis 5^ 260
Misc. commercial explosives factories in United States 37,017

Total at du Pont plants only 93, 333

Hercules Company 18, 979
Atlas Company 16' 902

35,881

Grand total on hand all companies 129,219
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In addition we have purchased in Chile, South America, for the three com-
panies and have arranged transportation, so that there will be on hand on
the first of each month, the following

:

Apr. 1, 1917 110. 855
May 1, 1917 112, 765
June 1, 1917 106 765
July 1, 1917 100, 865
Aug. 1, 1917 102, 965

Sept. 1, 1917 90.065
Oct. 1, 1917 76,465
Nov. 1, 1917 63, 465
Dec. 1, 1917 50, 565
Jan. 1, 1918 53,865

We have ocean-tonnage capacity under time charter sufficient to keep us
with stocks of 110,000 tons on hand each month all through the year and we
could, unless something unusual happens in Chile, purchase the balance of
soda required.

In our judgment the users of nitrate in this country, other than the above,
have about three months' supply on hand and have contracts for delivery in

this country for the balance of the year. This would mean that these other
users have all-told probably 100,000 tons on hand and 33,000 tons contracted for
monthly.

COTTON
Purified cotton at

:

'^^s-

Hopewell. Virginia 3, 893, 640
Carneys Point, N. J 1, 465, 704
Haskell. N. J 763,417
Parlin, N. J 496,650
Storage ,__, 4. 654, 672

11, 274, 083

Crude cotton expressed as equivalent of purified cotton :

Hopewell. Virginia 31, 700, 000
Carneys Point, N. J 1, 452, 500

33. 152. 500

Total cotton on hand, March 1st, 1917 44, 426, 580

We also have contracts which will give us available the first of each month, in

terms of purified cotton :

Lis.

April 40, 656, 120
Ma.y 36, 885, 660
June 33. 115, 200
July 29, 344, 740

Estimated monthly consumption as basis for above, 23,071,600,

Lbs.

August 25, 574, 280
September 21. 803, 820
October 21, 901, 360

ALCOHOL

At a factory located at Georgetown, South Carolina, our company manu-
factures 2.000 gallons only per day of ethyl alcohol from wood waste. How-
ever, we have outside contracts covering the full requirements of our smoke-
less-powder factories until August 1st, 1917. We now have on hand and en-

route to factories (3/1/17) :

Carneys Point, New Jersey 12, 213, 860
Parlin, New Jersey 3, 010, 989
Haskell, New Jersey 1, 925, 808

We have contracts which will give us on hand the first of each month the
following quantities

:

Pounds

March 17, 150, 657
April 18. 772, 105
May 16, 772, 543
June 19, 893, 981

These figures are based on using 13,878,562 lbs. of alcohol per month and
show that on present contracts we will be practically out of alcohol Septeni])er

1. 1917.

Pounds

July 23, 015, 419
August 14, 128, 857
September 1, 212, 295
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We have ether factories at our smokeless powder plants as shown below.
The factories are divided into seven separate units and produce from alcohol
all ether requirements for military powder capacity. Their productive capac-
ity includes the ether returned from solvent recovery of powder manufacture.
In addition to this we have capacity for the manufacture of 70,000 pounds per
month of ether for anesthetic purposes.

Capacities for output of ether, pounds per month

Carney's Point, N. J.

:

No. 1 4, 000, OOO
No. 2 6, 500, 000
No. 3 4, 400, 000

Haskell, N. J.

:

A 1, 000, 000
B 1, 8U0, 000

Parlin, N. J.

:

No. 1 1, 800, 000
No. 2 2, 600, 000

Total pounds per month including the reworking of recoveretl
solvent 22, 100, 000

(This total is a safe figure and could be augmented if necessity arose).

TMNITBOTOLUOL

Our factories can produce 3,000,000 pounds of crude trinitrotoluol, melting
point 760° per month ; from this we can refine by crystalization 825,000 pounds
per month melting point 80°. Our greatest three-months' production of trinitro-

toluol was in the months of:

7ft°•^ Pounds

September 1916 3, 235, 145
October 1916 3, 440, 725
November 1916 2, 855, 137

The largest production of refined was

:

^°
Pounds

September 1916 556, 900
October 1916 301, 870
November 1916 455, 400
December 1916 580, 130

DIPHENYLAMINB

We have at our factory at Repauno, New Jersey, capacity to manufacture
monthly 200,000 pounds (sufficient to produce our entire rated output of military
smokeless powders with a surplus of 45,01K) pounds monthly). The raw mate-
rial for this manufacture is benzol, of which sufficient quantity is obtainable
in the United States.

Stocks on hand March 1, 1917 {pounds)

Carneys Point, New Jersey 103, 056
Parlin, New Jersey 89, 844
Haskell New Jersey 38,006
Repauno, New Jersey 53,881

284, 787
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Forecast of future prodiiction (pounds)

Month

March
April-.
May...
June—

.

July-

Can
make^

200, 000
200, 000
165, 000
224, 000
224, 000

Have use
for—

158, 000
158, 000
158, 000
158, 000
158, 000

Excess

42, 000
42, 000
7,000

66. 000
66,000

(For the manufacture of sulphuric acid)

All of this sulphur is in the form of brimstone brought from Freeport Sulphur
Company, Freeport, Texas ; Union Sulphur Company, Sulphur Mines, Louisiana

;

Yellowstone Sulphur Company, Cody, Wyoming.
We have at the sulphuric-acid factories of military powder plants the following

amounts

:

Pounds
Hopewell, March 1st 28, 167, 303
Carneys Point, March 1st 588,299

Total 28, 755, 602

In addition there is at commercial sulphuric-acid plants a total of 8,668,358
pounds.
We also have at our black-powder factories scattered throughout the country,

3,373,919 and 12,042,277 pounds ; total, 40,797,879 pounds.
We have contracts for 25,251,520 pounds monthly over the entire year from

March 1st, 1917.

CHARCOAL

We have two charcoal factories in Michigan, one near Bay City, the other
near Grey ling (Crawford County). Their production is all that will be neces-
sary for military requirements. In addition, manufacture of charcoal could be
readily started at other points should demands require.

TOLUOL

(For the manufacture of trinitrotoluol)

We have on hand and due on contracts 929,000 gallons. Our supplies are
generally purchased against orders which are now at a minimum. If we are
to be called upon for trinitrotoluol, steps should be taken immediately to secure
a proper supply of toluol. The production of the country is sufficient to take
care of the needs of the United States.

GLTOEBINE

(For the production of nitroglycerine and dynamite)

Since the beginning of the European war the United States has relied nearly
entirely upon domestic production of this article. Glycerine for large quan-
tities of dynamite manufactured for commercial purposes has been drawn
from this source, so that no difficulty should arise from lack of glycerine
supply unless the Government should require for military purposes explosives
other than those in present use.
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Exhibit No. 1118-A

minutes of meeting of the genebal munitions boaed, held wednbslay, april
11, 1917, at 8 : 15 a. m., munsett building

There were present Colonel Dunn, Major Pierce, Paymaster Hancock, Mr.
Summers, Mr. Eiseman, Mr. Roseuwald, Mr. Scott, Mr. Bolton, secretary. Mr.
Scott presided.
Report on conference with poivdei' manufacturers.—Mr. Scott advised the

board that a conference had been held yesterday with the Du Pont powder
people, in which meeting a possible shortage of powder was mentioned and
that further data on this subject was being compiled by the Du Pont people
and would be submitted by them at an early date.
The meeting adjourned at 9 : 15 a. m.

Chester C. Bolton, Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1119

minutes of meeting of general munitions board held monday, aprh, 16, 1917,
at 8 :15 a. m., munsey building

There were present : Mr. Scott, Colonel Blunt, Colonel Dunn, Major Pierce,
Paymaster Hancock, Mr. Summers, Mr. Rosenwald, and Mr. Bingham, Assist-
ant Secretary. Mr. Scott in the chair.

Explosives.—The chairman reported that a conference had been held yester-
day with Colonel Dunn and representatives of the Du Pont Powder Company,
at which it was decided that the facilities of the Aetna Explosive Company
would probably not be needed.
Major Pierce suggested that, due to the location of the Aetna Explosive

Company's plants, it might be advisable to keep them in operation.
Colonel Dunn and Mr. Summers were appointed a committee to look into

this matter further.
The meeting adjourned at 10 o'clock a. m.

W. W. Bingham,
Assistant Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1120

MINUTES OF meeting OF GENERAL MUNITIONS BOARD HELD TUESDAY, APRIL 17, 1917,

AT 8 : 30 A. M., IN THE MUNSEY BUILDING

There were present : Colonel H. Fisher, Dr. R. C. Holcomb, Dr. T. T. Simp-
son, Lt. Commander Gardner, Commander R. H. Leigh, Paymaster J. H,
Hancock, Rear Admiral H. H. Rousseau, Lt. Col. W. B. Lemly, Rear Admiral
W. S. Capps, Major P. E. Pierce, Capt. A. B. Barber, Gen. Thos. Cruse, Colonel
Blunt, Colonel Dunn, Commander T. A. Kearney, Mr. L. McH. Howe, Mr. Julius
Rosenwald, Mr. F. A. Scott, Mr. C. C. Bolton, secretary, Mr. Bernard Baruch,
Mr. L. L. Summers, representing the Raw Materials Committee. Mr. Scott
presided.

Conference with Du Pont Powder People.—Mr. Summers presented a verbal
report on conferences held with the repi'esentatives of the Du Pont Powder
Company in connection with the advisability of continuing the Aetna Powder
Company, who at present ave in financial Mr. Summers reported that the
Aetna people had had valuable experience in the manufacture of smokeless
powder. He also spnke of the activities of the Du Pont Company in the past
and tlieir actual dealings with the Allies, advising tliat they were contracted
up to 05% of their capacity until October 1st, and that they had a capacity
of 32,000,000 pounds per month. He stated that the vital thing was to learn
what the requirements of our Army were in order to ascertain the advisability

of continuing the Aetna plant.

In connection with this matter Mr. Summers pointed out the very great pos-
sibility of shortage in Army requirements and estimates.
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The question of having the entire powder and explosive plants in one
locality under one control was discussed, and it was decided to hold this matter
in abeyance until Colonel Dunn and Mr. Summers could get more information.

The meeting adjourned at 10 : 30 a. m.
Chester C. Bolton, Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1121

War DEPAETMBNr, Office of the Chief of Ordnance,
Washington, April 21, 1917.

Mr. F. A. Scott,
Chairman, General Munitions Board,

Council of National Defense,
Munscy Building, Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir : 1. As the personal representative of the General Munitions Board
in this particular matter, I submit the following report of the conference held

in the oflSce of the Chief of Ordnance on April 20, 1917, with companies who
are manufacturers of nitrocellulose smokeless powder. These companies, with
their representatives present, are named below

:

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, Wilmington, Del. : Colonel E. G.
Bucknei', vice president, Mr. C. B. Landis, Mr. H. F. Brown, Major K. K. V.

Casey, and Mr. L. R. Beardslee.
Aetna Explosives Co., Inc., 120 Broadway, New Yoi'k City : Colonel Odus

C. Horney.
Hercules Powder Company, Wilmington, Delaware: Mr. J. T. Skelley, vice

president.
Western Powder Company, Alton, 111. : Mr. F. W. Olin.

There was also present Lieutenant Caskey, Bureau of Ordnance, Navy
Department, as representative of that Department.

2. These four companies had been previously advised that the present and
anticipated needs of the Ordnance Department of the Army for smokeless
powder during the next twelve months amount to

—

26,500,000 lbs. of caliber .30 powder, cannon powder of web thickness less than
0.05, and approximately.

42,000,000 "

10,000,000 " Seacoast cannot powder for 6-inch guns and above.

3. The representatives of the companies were requested to state the amounts
of powder that each could manufacture with existing plants, without inter-

fering with existing orders for either the United States or for the Allies, and
furnished the following information

:

Caliber .30 powder
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Cannon powder, web thk-kness less than 0.05

Air dried Water dried

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.

Aetna Explosives Co...
Hercules Powder Co...
Western Cartridge Co. No capacity.

1,650,000 lb. in June, 3,350,000 in July,
2,220,000 in Aug., 1,600,000 in Sept., 1,350,000
in Oct., 23,000,000. in November, and each
succeeding month.

1,500,000 lb. beginning in 5 months.
1,000,000 lb. beginning January 1918.

No capacity.

Seacoast cannon powder for 6-inch and larger cannon

Air dried
Western Cartridge Co No capacity
Hercules Powder Co Do.
Aetna Explosives Co 200,000 lb. per month, beginning in five months

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. submitted a schedule under which the entire
requirements of the Army could be completed by January 1918, and the entire
Navy requirements within the time indicated by tlie representative of the
Bureau of Ordnance, Navy Department, as desirable.

4. The representatives of the various companies were requested to state the
minimum price at which they would agree to furnish this powder, delivered
f. o. b. the contractor's worlds, the prices to be exclusive of the cost of the
containers which may or may not be furnished by the Government. Colonel
Horney stated he had noticed in the papers that the Aetna Explosives Company
had been placed in the hands of the receivers, and tliat lie was, therefore,
unable to submit a flat price; he withdrew from the conference. The repre-
sentatives of the other companies submitted slips ui>on which were written
their flat prices, which were then made public.
The Du Pont Company is willing to furnish caliber .30 powder, water dried,

at 600 per pound ; cannon powder, water dried, at 47%^ per pound, and air-

dried cannon powder at 500 per pound.
The Hercules Powder Company is willing to furnish caliber .30 powder,

water dried, at 62% 0, air dried at 650 a pound, and cannon powder of web
thicliness less than 0.05, water dried, at 471^0, based upon present cost of raw
materials and ability to procui-e the same.
The Western Cartridge Company is willing to furnish caliber .30 air-dried

powder at 620 a pound, based upon last invoices covering purchases prior to
this date for alcohol, soda, and sulphuric acid.

5. A general discussion of the cost of powder followed, and it was finally

agreed that any company would accept an order for such of the powder as it

could manufacture at the following prices per pound, f. o. b. the works of the
contractor, cost exclu.sive of that of container

:

Air dried

Caliber .30 powder
Cannon powder, web thickness less than 0.05

Seacoast cannon powder for 6-inch cannon and above.

6. The companies were informed that it is not the present policy to urge an
increase of capacity where existing free capacity is in excess of estimated
requirements.

7. In November 1016, the Depnilment placed orders for air dried cannon
powder at 520 and 530 a pound, and for water dried cannon powder at 51^
and 520 a pound. Orders were placed on April 10, 1917, for water dried cannon
powder at 47^:0 a pound and air dried powder at 500 a pound. These last
prices are lower than tlie present cost of manufacturing this powder at the
Army powder factory.

8. In November 1916, the Department placed orders for caliber .30 powder
at 650 a pound, and the prices at which the companies now offer to malie this



3132 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

powder are not only lower, but are less than the cost of manufacturing this

powder at the Army powder factory.

9. It is, therefore, recommended that the Genetal Munitions Board inform the
Chief of Ordnance, U. S. Army, that it considers the prices enumerated in
paragraph 5 fair and just, and that orders should be placed so as not to neces-

sitate an increase in the present total capacity, unless all demands increase
beyond that capacity.

10. I inclose a proposed draft of a letter to the Chief of Ordnance, U. S. Army,
/s/ Jay E. Hoffer,

Lieutenant Colonel, Ordnance Department.
1 inc.

PEOPOSED DRAFT OF A LEITTEB TO THE CHIEF OF OEDNANCB, U. S, A.

Sir : 1. The General Munitions Board, having been verbally requested by
you to determine what is a fair and just price to be paid by the Government
to the manufacturers of smokeless powder required to be made for the Army
during the next eighteen months, and having made what is considered a satis-

factory investigation, recommends to you as fair and just the prices shown in

the following table, which prices are to be exclusive of the cost of container
and f. o. b. contractor's works

:

Air-dried

Caliber .30 powder
Cannon powder, web thickness less than 0.05

Seacoast cannon powder for 6-inch cannon and above.

Cents per
pound

2. The General Munitions Board favors the contracts being so drawn as to

protect both the manufacturer and the Government on the present prices of the
principal raw materials that enter into the manufacture.

3. The Board recommends that the orders be so placed as not to necessitate
at this time an increase in the total capacity of the United States for the
manufacture of this class of material, unless such action is found necessary
in view of greatly increased needs of the Entente Allies or of this Government.

Sib;
April 27, 1917.

1. The General Munitions Board, having been verbally requested by you to
determine what is a fair and just price to be paid by the Government to the
manufacturers of smokeless powder required to be made for the Army during
the next 18 months, and having made what is considered a satisfactory investi-

gation, recommends to you as fair and just the prices shown in the following
table, which prices are to be exclusive of the cost of container and f. o. b.

contractor's works

:

Water dried Air dried

Caliber .30 powder.
Cannon powder, web thickness less than 0.05
Seacoast cannon powder for 6-inch cannon and above.

Cents per
pound

60

Cents per
pound

2. The General Munitions Board favors the contracts being so drawn as to

protect both the manufacturer and the Government on the present prices of the
principal raw materials that enter into the manufacture.

3. The Board recommends that the orders be so placed as not to necessitate
at this time an increase in the total capacity of the United States for the manu-
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facture of this class of material, unless such action is found necessary in view
of greatly increased needs of the Entente Allies or of this Government.

Respectfully,

Chairman General Munitions Board.
Brig. Genl. William Croziee,

Chief of Ordnance, War Department,
Washington, D. C.

Exhibit No. 1122

ajh/ig
War Department,

Office of the Chief of Ordnance,
Washinffton, June SO, 1917.

Mr. Frank A. Scott,
Chairman General Munitioym Board,

Council of National Defense,
Munsey Building, Washington, D. C.

Deab Sie : I desire to invite attention to my letter of April 21st, 1917, and to
your reply fixing the price of smokeless powder as follows

:

Water dried Air dried

Caliber .03 powder
Cannon powder, web thickness less than .05

Seacoast cannon powder for 6-inch cannon and above.

Cents per
pound

60

47H

Cents per
pound

62
60
60

2. I have recently had a conference with the representatives of the E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company, who have urged that the price of the caliher

.30 powder manufactured after December 31st, 1917, and the price of the can-
non powder manufactured after February 28, 1918, be increased 20 a pound to

meet the increase in the price of manufacture, especially due to the increased
cost of raw materials. These increased prices ai-e less than the prices at which
the powder can be manufactured at the Army powder factory at Picatinny
Arsenal, and from our careful observation of the prices of raw materials, I am
satisfied that the increased price after the dates indicated is fair and just, as
compared with the prices recommended in my letter of April 21st, 1917, and con-
curred in by the General Munitions Board.

3. I am, therefore, placing orders which obligate the Government to pay the
increased prices referred to above, and in the procurement of additional quan-
tities it may be necessary to make further concessions in price for the same
causes.

Respectfully,
/s/ Wm. Crozier,

Brig. Genl., Chief of Ordnance.

Exhibit No. 1123

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company

military sales department—OFFICE OF E. G. BUCKNER, VICE PRESIDENT

Wilmington, Del., July 30th, 1917.
Mr, F. A. Scott,

Chairman Munitions Board, Council of National Defense,
Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir : Having noted by the papers that you have been appointed chair-
man of the committee in charge of the purchase of munitions, etc., we feel
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it our duty to call your attention to some Important facts in relation to the
powder situation in this country for the United States and the Allied Gov-
ernments.
The du Pont Company, as you know, has a smokeless powder capacity of

approximately 31,875,000 pounds per month. We have uniilled contracts and
orders as follows

:

Pounds
U. S. Army—aggregating approximately 67,000,000
U. S. Navy—aggregating approximately 5G, 000, 000
England—aggregating approximately IGO, 000, OOO
France—aggregating approximately 7i"), 000, 000
Italy—aggregating approximately 25, 000, 000
The above contracts will require our entire manufacturing capacity up to

and including the month of May 1918 and the U. S. Government c(mtracts con-
tinue throughout the year 1918. The net result is that we now have unsold
manufacturing capacity as follows

:

I'ollIKh:

June 1918 15, 590, 000
July 1918 26, 075, 000
August 1918 20,075,000
September 1918 26,075, 000
October 1918 28, 875, 000
November 1918 28, 875, OOO
December 1918 28, 875, 000
January 1919 29, 175, 000
February 1919 31, 875, 000

—and the succeeding months the same.
The Ordnance Department of the Army has already asked us to reserve for

the Army our entire unsold capacity, and we feel confident that the Allied
Governments will require large additional quantities of powder. In fact, we
understand informally that the U. S. Government will require within the next
twelve to fourteen months close to three hundred million pounds in addition
to the capacity that we have available within that time. How this large
amount of powder is going to be supplied to the United States and the Allied
Governments v.-e do not know, unless all the Allied Governments confer upon
the subject and determine upon a plan of procedure which will involve the
construction of increased capacity.
There are in existence a small number of competitors of the du Pont Com-

pany—we do not know whether their capacity has been sold or not—but we
are inclined to believe that they probably have some inisold capacity. We do
not think it will amount to a large quantity compared to the total requirements.
The only suggestion that we can make is that steps be taken at once to aug-

ment the supply of powder by building additional plants. To this end we have
prepared plans by which three million pounds per month additional capacity
can be provided beginning with the month of January 1918. which would require

an amortization charge aggregating approximately .$4,500,000.00. Beyond this

we could build plants to supply an additional 10,000,000 pounds of powder per
month, but this capacity could not be made available in less than 32 months'
time and would require an amortization charge of something over 30^ per
pound of outjnit upon a twelve months' contract—based upon today's cost of

materials and construction work. Owing to the increase in price of various
materials—labor, etc.—this expense may be considerably increased if there is

any delay in starting this work.
From the foregoing you will readily see that it is quite important for the

United States and the Allied Governments to at once reach some conclusion

as to what amount of powder they will require and what plans should be
adopted to provide the same. The English and French Governments were very
mucli disappointed that they could not purchase a larger quantity from us for

delivery up to June of next year, and in view of the estimated requirements
of the U. S. Government, in addition to those of the Allies, we fear that there

may be a serious disappointment in the powder supply for all the Allied Gov-
ernments beyond next June unless prompt and urgent methods be taken to

augment present capacity.-

Very truly yours,
E. I. DuPONT DE NeMOXJKS & COMPANY,

By /s/ E. G. BuoKNEB, Vice President.

B/c
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Exhibit No. 1124

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company

Wilmington, Delaicare, August ninth, 1917.

MILITARY SAI^S DEPARTMENT, OFFICE OP E. G. BUCKNER, VICE PRESIDENT

Powder situation.

Mr. F, A. Scott, Chairman, Munitions Board, Council of Nafl. Defense,
Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir: Referring to my letter of July thirtieth, in order th;it you may
be fully posted as to the powder situation, we beg to enclose copy of our
letter of August eighth to Colonel Tschekaloff of the Russian Commission in

reply to his inquiry for an offering on 18,000,000 to 20,000,000 pounds of smoke-
less powder.
You will note that we have made the same suggestion to him as contained

in our letter of July thirtieth, tliat it would be very desirable if representatives

of all the Allied governments could confer and determine upon the best plan

for supplying their powder requirements.
Yours very truly,

/s/ E. G. BucKNER, Vice President.

LRB : c end.

[Copy to : Mr. Frank A. Scott, Chairman Munitions Board, Council of National Defense,
Wasbington, D. C]

E, I. DU PoNT DB Nemours & Company,

Wilmington, Delaware, August eighth, 1911.

MILITARY SALES DEPARTMENT, OFFICE OF E. G. BUCKNEK, VICE PRESIDENT

Colonel A. N. Tschekaloff,
Building.

Deiar Sir: Replying to your letter of August sixth, no. 1858, asking if we can
accept a contract for nine thousand (9,000) to ten thousand (10,000) short tons
of cannon powder to be delivered by January first, 1918, we regret exceedingly
to advise you that because of large purchases made by the United States and
other Allies, it will not be possible for us to submit any offering for additional
powder for delivery by January first, 1918, neither will it be possible for us
to manufacture any additional quantities for a considerable time thereafter^
except by an arrangement to build additional facilities.

It looks to us that all of the Allies may want more powder than the present
plants will be able to supply and that it would be a very desirable thing for
representatives of the different governments to confer upon this situation with
a view to arranging for their requirements in the most economical manner.
We beg to suggest, therefore, that your commission confer with the representa-
tives of the other Allies in regard to this situation.

We would be glad to take up the matter of building additional plants to
supply the increased needs if the same is desired and if suitable arrangements-
can be made for the extra cost of building same, etc.

Thanking you for your inquiry and regretting that we cannot make you a
definite offer at this time, we are,

Yours very truly,

LRB : c

E. I. DU Pont de Nemoubs & Company,
/s/ E. G. Buckner, Vice President.
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Exhibit No. 1125

[eck-ia]

War DE3'ARTMETSrT,

G^m Division, October 4th, 1911.

Subject : Smokeless powder.

War Industries Board,
Council of Natio)ial Defense,

Munsey Building, Washington, D. C.

Gentlemen : 1. I am directed by the Chief of Ordnance to acknowledge
receipt of your report of the 26th instant signed by Mr. L. L. Summers.

2. It is noted that the present total orders for smokeless powder of the
British Ministry of Munitions cover their requirements until the end of Octo-

ber 1918.

3. It is also noted that they are willing to postpone the manufacture of some
14,000.000 lbs. to be manufactured at rate of 3,500,000 lbs. from the months of

November 1917 to February 1918, inclusive, to July to October 1918, inclusive.

4. Arrangements have already been made h^ this department with your board
and the E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company to take this quantity of 14,000.000

lbs. of powder at monthly rate of 3,500,000 lbs., beginning November of this year.

Respectfully,
/s/ Jay E. Hoffer,

Colonel, Ordance Department.

[aje/ia]

Subject: Smokeless powder.
War Deipartment,

Gun Division, Office of the Chief of Obdnancb,
October 4, 1917.

Wab Industries Board,
Council of National Defense, Munsey Building,

Washington, D. C.

Gentlemen : 1. I am directed by the Chief of Ordnance to inform you that

the ammunition requirements of this Department, covered by money now avail-

able or requested from Congress, call for some 315,000,000 lbs. of smokeless
powder to be manufactured prior to September 1st, 1918. It is also thought
that monthly requirements for smokeless powder from September until Jan-
uary 1919 may amount to some 50,000,000 lbs. of smokeless powder. The
requirements of this Department prior to January 1st, 1919, may, therefore,

total some 500,000.000 lbs. of smokeless powder.
2. So far as this Department is able to determine an available capacity

exists as follows

:

Month du Pont Co. Hercules Co.
Aetna Explo-

sive Co.
Accumulative

total

Nov. '17.

Dec. " ..

Jan. '18.

Feb. " .

Mar. " .

Apr. " .

May " .

June " .

July " .

Aug. " .

Sept. " .

Oct. "
.

Nov. " .

Dec. " .

Totals.

15, 590, 000
22, 575, 000
22, 575, 000
22, 575, 000
25, 375, 000
28, 875. 000
28, 875, 000

166, 440, 000

1, 000, 000
1, 000, 000
1, 000, 000
1, 000, 000
1, 000, 000
1,000,000
1, 000, 000
1, 000, 000
1,000,000
1, 000, 000
1, 000, 000
1, 000. 000

3, 000, 000
3, 000, 000
3, 000, 000
3, 000, 000
3, 000, 000
4, 000, 000
4, 000, 000
4, 000, 000
4, 000, 000
4, 000, 000
4, 000, 000
4, 000, 000
4, 000, 000
4, 000, 000

12, 000, 000 51, 000, 000

3, 000, 000
6, 000, 000

10, 000, 000
14, 000, 000
18, 000, 000
23, 000, 000
28, 000, 000
48, 590, 000
76, 165, 000

103, 740, 000
131,315,000
161,690,000
195, 565, 000
229, 440, 000

229, 440, 000

Note.—While the Aetna Explosives Company have submitted the above
quantities as their possible plant capacity it is understood that they are not
at present provided with an organization capable of turning out the above
quantities of powder. It is also understood that of this Aetna capacity
1,500,000 lbs. are at their Drummondsville plant in Canada.



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 3137

3. From the above table of Ciipacities it is therefore seen that the require-
ments of this Department cannot be met with the present available capacity
even though all could be utilized by this Department.

4. The Department is now prepared to place firm orders for all of the above
quantity of powder.

5. Tentative arrangements were made some time ago with E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company that they hold all of the above capacity for this De-
partment.

6. This oflice is also negotiating with the Hercules Powder Company and
with the Aetna Explosives Company in an effort to make definite arrange-
ments with them to utilize their capacity.

7. Definite information is requested as to what part of the above capacities
for pciwler can be negotiated lor by this Department so that these orders can
be definitely placed and arrangements made to develop the increased capacity
necessary to meet the requirements.

Respectfully,
/s/ Jay E. Hoffer, Colonel Ordnance Department.

Exhibit No. 1126

[Copied from flle no. G-728-323E. E-471.0-324]

E. I. DU Pont db Nemours & Company

MILITARY SAXES DEPARTMENT, OFFICE OF B. Q. BUCKNER, VICE PRESIDENT

Address reply to room 996, du Pont Bldg.

Wilmington, Delaware, October 8, 1917.

Chief of Ordnance, U. S. A.,

Washiriffton, D. C.

Sib : In accordance with your request of October 3d, we submit the follow-
ing proposition to the Government

:

1. Whenever the words " Du Pont Company " are used in this proposal, they
shall be taken to mean either E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company, a
corporation, or a company to be organized by it for the purpose of carrying
out this proposal if accepted, and wherever in this proposal the word " Gov-
ernment " is used, it shall be taken to mean the Govei-nment of the United
States of America.

2. We understand that the Government desires the construction, as soon
as possible, of complete plants for the manufacture of water-dried smokeless
powder for cannon, of the capacity of approximately one million (1,000,000)
pounds of powder per day of twenty-four hours, said plants to be located on
two or more sites to be selected by the Du Pont Company, and to include also
sulphuric and nitric acid manufacturing and recovei'y plants, cotton purifica-

tion, gun cotton, water supply, waste disposal, power, lines of communication
and transmission, store houses, freight yards with standard-gauge tracks,
plants for the manufacture of ether and diphenylaniine, houses for employees to

the extent provided at the existing plants of the Du Pont Company, admin-
istrative buildings, laboratories, shops, box factories, etc., all of which, based
on our past experience and best knowledge and with allowance made for
increased cost of construction work, will cost according to our best estimate
approximately ninety million dollars ($90,000,000).

3. The Du Pont Company proposes to act as agent for the Government in the
selection of two or more sites for the location of said plants and in the purchase
of all necessary land, materials, and equipment and in the furnishing of all

necessary labor for the erection and completion of plants capable of producing
approximate'y 1,000,000 pounds per day of water-dried smokeless cannon pow-
der, with all reasonable dispatch, and will furnish the necessary plans for the
construction thereof, it being understood that in order to expedite construction
and insure satisfactory and economical operation the Du Pont Company shall

be free to exercise its judgment as to the plans, materials, and equipment to

be used in the C(nistruction of said plants and in the arrangement tliereof.

4. In selecting the sites, procuring the land, acquiring materials, machinery,
and equipment and employing the labor for the completion of said plants, as
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well as in tlie operation of said plants when completed, the Du Pont Company
will act solely as the agent of the Government, with the usual power and
authority of an agent to contract for and in the name of his principal, and
any expenditure or obligation arising or growing out of the construction or
operation of said plants made or incurred by the Du Pont Company, together
with any and all loss by accident, fire, flood, or explosion, arising or growing
out of the construction and operation of said plants, will be for the account of
the Government, who shall at all times indemnify and hold the Du Pont Com-
pany harmless therefrom, and the Government will at all times during the
construction and operation of said plants furnish the Du Pont Company suffi-

cient funds to enable it to meet and pay all bills and other obligations for
land, material, equipment, labor, etc., as and when the same become due and
payable, and shall promptly repay the Du Pont Company for any expenditure
paid or laid out by it on account of the construction and operation of sujd
plants.

5. On the first of each month, during the time said plants are under con-
struction, the Du Pont Company will furnish to the Government a statement
of the expenditures made during the preceding month for land, materials,
equipment, labor, including superintendence of construction in the field, fire and
liability insurance, and any other expenditure paid or laid out on account of
the construction of said plants, and the Government will within five days there-
after pay to the Du Pont Company as its charges for the following services,

the following percentages on the total amount of such expenditures made dur-
ing the previous month, viz : For drawing plans and engineering supervision
from the Wilmington office, five percent (5%) ; for purchasing and urging de-
liveries of material by Wilmington office two percent (2%) ; for compensation,
including administration and other services rendered from the Wilmington
oflice, eight percent (S%).

6. The Du Pont Company will use its best efforts to construct said plants as
quickly as possible, in units having a capacity of 100,000 pounds each i)er day
of twenty-four hours, and estimates that the first unit can be constructed and
begin operation about eight montlis from the date the land is secured, and that
additional units may be completed one each month thereafter, so that the full

output may be reached in about eighteen months. The above is our best esti-

mate, it being understood that the date of completion depends largely upon
the extent of the cooperation given us by the Government in obtaining con-
struction materials, equipment, and workmen.

7. This offer to act as agent for the Government in and about the matters
set forth herein is conditioned that as units of manufacture are completed and
ready for operation the Government will appoint the Du Pont Company its

agent to operate said units or plants for at least eighteen months after their

completion, if said plants are operated.

8. As units are completed and put in operation the Du Pont Company will use
its best efforts to operate the same to their full capacity upon the following

basis

:

The Government will pay all the cost and expenses of the operation of said

plants as and when they become due and payable, and in addition thereto will,

on or before the 15th day of each month, pay to the Du I'ont Company five cents
(5c) per pound on all powder manufactured and packed during the previous
month as payment for main office supervision, administrative and purchasing
expense, and compensation to Du Pont Company, and in addition thereto, should
the total mill co.st of water-dried smokeless powder, exclusive of boxes, amorti-
zation, and depreciation of plant, but including all ingredients, labor in opera-

tion, labor and materials in repairs, power, transportation, general works ex-

pense, works accident, plant superintendence, be less than forty-four and a half
cents (44i^(/:) per pound in any month, the Government will pay the Du Pont
Company one-half the difference between the said mill cost and forty-four and a
half cents (44%^) per pound as illustrated in the following table

:
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Mill cost of
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the du Pont Company be permitted to expend $3,600,000 to create additional
facilities to produce 3,500,000 more pounds per month of smokeless powder.-
Likewise that lie had practically decided to recommend that they be permitted
to expend additional $90,000,000 to dcmble their smokeless-powder capacity, and
that the chief of ordnance expected to recommend this without bringing the
matter before the War Industries Board.
The meeting adjourned at 1 : 00 p. m.

H. P. Bingham, Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1128

special meining of the wae industries board held tuesday, october 16, 1917,

at 9 : 45 a. m., in room 945, muk'set building

Note.—In Mr. Baruch's opinion this was not a meeting of the War Industrie?
Board but only a conference of the explosives committee of the Board.
Present : Mr. Scott, chairman, Mr. Brookings, Admiral Fletcher, Colonel Pierce,

Mr. Bingham, secretary, and Mr. L. L. Summers.
Chemicals—explosive situation.—Col. Pierce presented a summary prepared

by the statistical department under date of October 15th covering the require-

ments for explosives during the period of from October 1917 to October 1918,

of the Army, Navy, Engineer Corps, industrial needs of the United States, Brit-

ish (contracts and prospectives), French (contracts and prospectives), Italian
(contracts and prospectives).
This report was given to Mr. Summers to correct, if necessary, and he was

requested to report on the explosive situation to the War Industries Board,
making definite recommendations as to how the Government should proceed to

secure the maximum amount of explosives.

Mr. Summers said that progress is being made in arranging for the securing
of toluol from sras used in various cities. He bvoug'^t out the pxtveme serious-

ness of the sulphuric acid situation showing that the requirements would be
very much above the present production.
The chairman stated that he had been verbally advised by the Ordnance De-

partment that the Secretary of War has given his approval to the plan author-

izing the du Pont Company to practically double their capacity for the manu-
facture of smokeless powder at an expense of approximately $90,000,000.

Mr. Summers expressed the view that since the Government was so vitally

interested in this matter that such additional facilities should be the property

of the Government and not of a private interest. It was the unanimous opinion

of the Board that immediate and drastic action should be instituted, as the

explosive situation was regarded as critical and of supreme importance.
The meeting adjourned at 11 : 00 a. m.

H. P. Bingham, Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1129

[Copied from file no. G-728-232 E]

War Department,
Gun Division, Office of the Chief op Ordnance.

1S30 F Street, Washinfifon.

In replying refer to no.— , CP 471.5/645. 1st ind. : EAG/j ; legal office, purchase

section, ffun division, O. O., Oct. 21, 1917. To general control, gun divi-

sion, O. O.

1. I am in receipt of a telegram from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.

(GP 471.5/642) advi.sing that preliminary order (GP 471.5/644) War-Ord-
G728-323E, for the erection and operation as the agent of the Government of

smokploss-powder plants having a capacity of 1,000.000 pounds of powder per

day, meets the approval of the directors of the company in all respect except

that paragraph 12 is objectionable in that the company desires that the order

be issued to a subsidiary comnany to be organized especially for the purpose.

.Tudw Laffpy, counsel for the company, has submitted a memorandum
(CP 471.5/645) to which this is an endorsement wherein he reviews the reasons

advanced by his company in support of their request that they be permitted
tn form a new company for the performance of this work.
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2. The memorandum is a summary of the discussion of the subject at con-
ferences held on "Wednesday October 17th attended by seven of tlie representa-
tives of the company, General Crozier, Colonel Iloffer, Colonel Nichols, Major
Burns, and the undersigned.

3. The objections in para.c^raplis 2 and 4 of the memorandum, that the forma-
tion of a new comjiany would (a) centralize litigation and (b) facilitate ac-

counting, are entirely secondary in importance. If the Du Pont Co. acts as
agent for the Government and is made defendant in an action arising out of
the agency, whether in a nearby or distant State, a complete defense would
be made by the disclosure of the relationship of the company to the Govern-
ment.

4. The argument advanced in paragraph 1 of the memorandum is based
upon a desire to limit liability which " lies in the possibility of its being here-
after held that the Ordnance Department exceeded its lawful powers in mak-
ing this contract, in which event the agent might be held liable on its implied
warrantry of authority on all contracts signed by it as agent of the Govern-
ment. The Du Pont Company desires to assume no risk of financial loss to
itself."

Financial loss to the Du Pont parent organization if it undertakes the per-
formance of the contract would be suffered only in the event that the Supreme
Court of the United States should hold the contract to be invalid on the
ground that the Secretary of War did not have the power to execute the same.
Under the statute the Secretary is not only authorized but obligated to

procure for the Army the supplies for which Congress has appropriated funds
and in so doing he may delegate the authority to execute contracts vested in
him to the heads of bureaus of the War Department.
The power of the United States to make contracts through its various

departments has been discussed in a long line of cases which hold that the
Government has tlie same powers and rights in the matter of making contracts
as has an individual.

It is the magnitude of the undertaking which gives rise to the apprehension
of the Du Pont Company, ratlier than a doubt as to the validity of the pro-
posed contract, and consequently, no discussion, however convincing, will
remove its reluctance to undertake this work in the name of the parent
organization.
The counterproposal contemplates the formation of a new comiiany having

as its oflicers, directors, and employees every member of the preesnt Du Pont
organization whose services will in any way be necessary or desirable in the
performance of the contract. The parent organization will affiliate itself with
the new company and will guarantee to the Government the fulfillment of
every obligation proposed by the contract. In this way, it is asserted, the
Government will have the services of the Du Pont Company but the risk of
loss will be limited to the capital of the new company.

It is recognized that the guarantee of the Du Pont Company and its affilia-
tion with the new organization might be so designed as to give effect to the
alleged intention of establishing the same relationship with the Govemment
as though the contract had been taken direct, and the question therefore
reselves itself into one of policy.

E. A. Hamilton,
Captain, Ordnance Dept., U. S. R.

Exhibit No. 1130

[Copy. File GP 471.5/644. In replying refer to War-Ord-G728-323E]

War Department,
Office of the Chief of Ordnance,

Washington, October 25, 1917.
Messrs. E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Delaware.
Gentlemen: 1. I have to advise you that your proposal under date of

October 4, 1917 (G#635.V5), as modified by letter of October Sth (GB
471.5/524) has been given consideration, and in accordance with the under-
standing reached at today's conference, attended by Colonel Buckner, Judge
Laffey, Mr. Beardslee, Colonel Hoffer, Captain Hamilton, and myself, I hereby
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direct you to proceed as soon as possible with the construction for the Gov-
ernment of complete plants for the manufacture of smokeless powder for cannon
in units of a 100,000 pounds rated daily capacity, the total capacity of which.

will be 1,000,000 pounds of powder per day of twenty-four (24) hours.

2. The proportion of water-dried and air-dried smokeless powder to be
manufactured in the plants will be determined before the execution of the
formal contract covering this order. The plants will be located on sites

selected by you with my approval, and will include sulphuric and nitric acid
manufacturing and recovering plants, cotton purification, gun cotton, water
supply, waste disposition, power, lines of communication and transmission, store
houses, freight yards and standard gauge tracks, plajits for the manufacture-
of ether and diphenylamine, houses for employees to an extent which shall

be proi)ortionate to the housing facilities provided at existing plants of your
company, administrative buildings, laboratories, shops, box factories, etc.,.

all of which, it is estimated will cost about $90,000,000.

3. You will act as the agent for the Government in selecting sites for the
plants and in effecting the use and occupancy or acquirement thereof by the
Govei'nment and in providing all necessary labor and materials for the com-
plete construction of the plants with the greatest dispatch. As the agent
of the Government, you are authorized to do all acts necessary or convenient
in and about the construction of the plants, and as such agent you will also
make contracts and incur obligations in the name of the Government. The
Government will indemnify you against any and all loss by accident, fire, flood,

or explosion, or otherwise arising or growing out of the construction of the
plants.

4. In order to expedite the construction of the plants you will be given^
freedom in the exercise of your judgment as to the preparation of the plans
and the specifications of material and equipment to be used in construction
and in the arrangement of the plants. All plans, drawings, and specifications,
all subcontracts, and all other writings in any way relating to the exercise
of the agency created will be subject to the insptction of the Chief >)f the
Gun Division of this office.

5. The Government will reserve the right to furnish lumber, nails, eement,
brick, and steel necessary in the construction of the plants, ana to the extent
that tlie Government exercises this right, it will agree to make deliveries of
materials of suitable quality at such times and in such quanties as the bill

of materials which you will furnish provides, but the cost of such materials
shall be included in the cost of the plant upon which payments provided for
in subdivisions (a) and (6) of the next following paragraph are computed.

6. The Government will pay directly or will reimburse you for all cost of
the construction of the plants, and in addition you will be paid at the time of
making payments on account of such construction, whether directly or to you
in reimbursement

—

(a) A sum equal to seven (7) percent thereof to cover preparation of plans,
the procurement of sites, engineering supervision other than local supervision,
and services in connection witli purchasing and forwarding deliveries of
material necessary for the construction of the plants, and

(&) A sum equal to eight (S) percent to cover administration other than
local administration, pro rata share of overhead expense other than local
overhead expense, and to cover profit.

The Government will make prompt payments and, if necessary so to do, will
attach a disbursing officer at the plant or at the office of your company.

7. It is understood that, based on your best judgment developed by past
experience, the first of the units will be completed and ready for operation
about eiglit (8) months after the date the land on which such unit is to be
constructed is acquired, and that additional units will be completed at inter-
vals of thirty (30) days thereafter; and that all units will be completed
within eighteen (IS) months thereafter.

8. Upon the completion of each of the units, you will act as the agent of
the Government to operate each unit and such agency will continue for a
period of eighteen (IS) months after beginning operation of the first unit,
unless revoked because the need for the outirat of such plants has ceased to
exist or because of willful misconduct as the agent of the Government.
As the agent of the Government, you will be authorized to do all acts neces-

sary or convenient in and about the operation of the plants or any parts
thereof, and as such agent you will also make contracts and incur obligations
in the name of the Government. The Government will indemnify you against
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any and all loss by accident, fire, flood, or explosion, or otherwise arising or

growing out of the operation of the plants.

9. The Government will pay directly or will reimburse you for all cost of

the operation of the plants and in addition there will be paid to you the sum
of five (5) cents per pound for all smokeless powder delivered and accepted.

At the end of the first full month of operation of any unit or fraction of

a unit, the cost of the water-dried powder, exclusive of the cost of boxes and
amortization and depreciation of phmt, but including the cost of components
and the conversion thereof, repaii-s, power, transportation, general works
expense, works accidents, and plant superintendence, and all other proper
items of cost shall be determined, and in the event that such cost shall be
found to have been less than forty four and one-half (44yo) cents per pound,
the Government will pay to your company, in addition to the five (5) cents
per pound as above, fifty (50) percent of the difference between the amount by
which the actual cost is less than the base cost of forty-four and one-half

(44%) cents per pound. With reference to air-dried powder, the base cost on
which additions to profit are computed will be forty-seven (47) cents.

10. The Government will reserve to itself the right to reduce the output of

the plants herein provided to be constructed and operated, in wliich event the
terms and conditions herein set forth will be applicable.

11. The Government will reserve tc itself the right to revoke and terminate
the agency to construct the plants at any time. In the event that such right

is exercised within six (6) months from the date hereof, the Government will

pay to your company in addition to the cost of construction, paid or incurred
to the date of such termination or revocation, a sum which, together with all

moneys theretofore paid under subdivisions {a) and (b) of paragraph 6 of

this order, will equal $900,000 for each month and proportionately for any
fraction of a month, during which the agency has been in operation. In the

•event that such right is exercised at a date later than six (6) months from
the date of this order, the Government will be under no obligation to make
payments other than those in this letter elsewhere provided.

12. It is understood that this order after acceptance by you may be assigned
to the Du Pont Engineering Company, a Delaware corporation of nominal
•capitalization, to be organized solely for rhe purpose of the construction and
operation of powder plants under this order.

The officers and directors of the Du Pont Engineering Company will be as
follows : President Pierre S. du Pont ; vice president, E. G. Buckner ; vice

president, Irenee du Pont ; vice president, H. F. Brown ; treasurer, J. J. Raskob ;

and secretary, Alexis I. du Pont. Directors : H. F. Brown, E. G. Buclcner,

R. R. M. Carpenter. F. L. Connable. William Coyne, Alexis I. du Pont, Irenee
du Pont, Lammot du Pont, Pierre S. du Pont, H. G. Haskell, J. P. Laffey,

H. M. Pierce, J. J. Raskob, and F. G. Tall man.
13. It is also understood that concurrently with the execution of the formal

contract with the new company covering this order, a tripartite agreement will

be entered into by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., the Du Pont Engineering
Company, and the Government, wherein E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. will

guarantee to furnish to the Government and to the Du Pont Engineering Com-
pany as and when and to the extent required in tlie construction and operation
of the said powder plants

:

(a) The services of its engineering, purchasing, operating, and other special

and technical departments.
(&) The right to use all plans, drawings, and specifications, patents, proc-

esses, and trade secrets possessed by it.

(c) Such working capital as may be needed.
This tripartite agreement will continue during the life of the contract be-

tween the Du Pont Engineering Company and the Government and will be
subject to modification only with the consent of the Government.

Respectfully,
(Sgd.) William Croziek,

Major General, Chief of Onbuince.

The terms and conditions of the foregoing order accepted and agreed to:

B. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

(Sgd.) Pierre S. du Pont, President.

Attest

:

(Sgd.) L. R. Beardslee, Asst. Secreta^-ij.
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Exhibit 1131

exceepts from meeting of the war industeies board hb3ld wednesday, ootobeb
31. 1917, at 10 a. m. in boom 703. c. n. d. building

Present : Judge Lovett, acting chairman ; Mr, Barucli, Mr. Brookings, Admiral
Fletcher, Mr. Frayiie, Col. Pierce, Mr. Bingham, sect'y.

Chemicals—Increase of plants of the Dupont Powder as "brought to the atten-
tion of the Board by Major Oenl. William Crozier.—A communication from the
Chief of Ordnance dated October 29th, >Co. GE 471.5/350 informing the Board
of arrangement made between the Ordnance Department and the E. I. Dupont
de Nemours & Company for the construction and operation of powder plants
having a rated capacity of one million pounds of finished smoKeless powder per
day and involving an expenditure of approximately $90,000,000, was read for the
information of the Board.

It was ordered that the following letter be sent in acknowledgment to the
Chief of Ordnance

:

October 31, 1917.

The Chief of Ordnance,
War Department, Washington, D. C.

Sir : 1. Replying to your communication of October 29th, No. GE 417.5/350, we
beg to say that the only previous definite information the War Industries Board
had regarding the contract referred to therein with the E. I. Dupont de Ne-
mours & Company was a telephone mesisage to the chairman of the Board to

the effect that you proposed to make a contract with the Dupont Company
involving the expenditure of about $90,000,000 without referring it any way to
the Board.

2. We now understand that you simply advise us of your action as a matter
of information.

Respectfully,
[Signed] H. P. Bingham.

Secretary War Industries Board.

Mr. Brookings stated that he and Mr. Baruch had been called upon this morn-
ing by the Secretary of War who had requested that the Board investigate the
contract advising him as to the opinion of the Board of the terms thereof
Mr. Baruch and Mr. Biookings were thereupon requested to consider the con-
tract in its various phases and advise the Board.
The meeting adjourned at 1:00 p. m. to reconvene at 2:30 for discussion of

the regulation of the price of tin plate and of certain items of steel.

H. P. Bingham, Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1132

[File 90]

November 1, 1917.

Mr. E. G. BucKNER, Vice President,
Wilmington, Delaware.

Dear Sib: In reply to your inquiry for more detailed information as to tlie

disadvantages to the du Pont Company in undertaking the proposed contract
for constructing powder factories for the United States Government, and the
advantages to the Government in our proposal, I submit the following

:

In order to provide special machinery, such us powder presses, dehydrating
presses, etc., we have been obliged to purchase a machine shop at cost of

$7C0,0C0. This purchase is, of course, at an inflated value, due to war condi-

tions. We will probably not realize on the property at an advantageous price

when a sale is made, and the shop is not necessary for the purposes of our
company.
We will mnke all such machinery in our machine shops and charge to con-

tract at cost. If these items were purcliased in the open market a very large
profit would be charged by the manufacturer, and there might be great delay
in obtaining the machinery.
The engineering and mechanical work necessary for making drawings of

apparatus is completed. These drawings could not be prepared anew without
great expense and greater loss of time, due to difficulty of obtaining drauglits-
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men for work on the scale required, I mention that the blueprints used for

our factories would cover some sixty acres of ground if spread out, giving

some idea of the enormous work involved in their preparation, and in the groat

saving to the Government in both time and money in having this material at

hand.
When we built our own smokeless-powder factories such work was more

ready of accomplishment, and I do not think it could have been done without

the stimulus of our bonus plan. We cannot divert our principal men to this

new work without similar payments to them, not only because we would be

unwilling to undertake the work without making such provision for payment
of those employed but because we could not hold the men in our service unles.s

such outlay be made, either in salary, or, as we prefer to do, in bonus. We
are setting aside $1,500,000 for this purpose, this being less than the sum
expended in the erection of our own plants.

The loss of the use of our engineering department will be a great burden to

the welfare of our company ; construction work amounting to millions of dollars

would have been undertnken by us in the year which must be devoted to the

construction of the Government plants. This work would make a handsome
return to our stockholders, even in normal times ; and if the war should (Con-

tinue, the indirect financial loss to our stockholders would be much greater;

and in addition, our failure to fini.sh construction may seriously handicap »'Ur

work for many years. As an instnnce, I might cite one factory is now under
construction and under whose operation we have firm contracts for delivery of

material. Delay in constructing this plant and furnishing material, under our
contracts will cost the company $500,000 per month. Undoubtedly, the prD-

posed Government work will interfere seriously with the completion of this

particular plant.

In times such as these, possible savings through improvements are enormous!.

Many of these savings will be lost, owing to diversion to Government construc-

tion of men whose duty it is to search them out. The estimated saving fronri

improvements devised by the engineering department in the past six months
of this year aggregates $3,869,000 annually. After the contemplated construc-

tion for the Government is finished it will be too late to make savings from
the operation of our military plants.

There is another point on which we have touched lightly, but whose import-

ance I wish to impress upon you, namely, that we have among our stockholders

a very aggressive and wealthy minority who are spending much time in trying to

harass the present administration of the company. We cannot undertake any
work of the magnitude contemplated in these Government factories without
including in our charges the profit that one might reasonably expect from the

use of our stockholders' money. If we should fail to do this, the unfriendly
minority would have a case of some merit to promote against those in charge
of the company's affairs. Apart from the possibility of these attacks, this

featui'e of the situation only serves to accentuate the duties of our officers and
directors to endeavor to win reasonable profits for the stockholders. That is

not only part of our duty, but we cannot assent to allowing our own patriotism

to interfere with our duties as trustees. Our commanding position in the

explosive industry has been won only by incessant work and expenditures
of money by the company. The situation is an asset of the stockholders which
cannot be dissipated lightly. It is undoubtedly true that the contemplated
work could not be executed by other contractors at cost to the Government
better than that which we propose to charge, including our commission. If

we are wrong in this supposition we will gladly relinquish the work to other
contractors, as we do not feel that our low compensation will bring to the
company as great financial reward as we would reap were we to continue
our own business unhampered by this contract for governmental work.

Yours very truly,

President.
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Exhibit No, 1133
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Exhibit No. 11o4

Extract From Report Addkessed to thk Executive Committee of E. I. i>u Pont
DB Nemoltrs & Company Fkom President of du Pont Engineering Compan-x,

Dated June 14, 1923 (#9579)

engineering organization analysis showing nett results op outside con-

tracting work and effect upon du pont organization as a whole

The outside contracts (lump sum) that we were permitted to undortalvc during

the latter part of the year 1921 have not worked out as we had originally

planned, hn-gely due to conditions heyond our control. I am inclosing exhibit

"A", activities of du Pont Engineering Company for period from January 1919

to June 1923 (not including General Motors work). I am also attaching ex-

hibit " B ", photostat of du Pont Company construction curve, showing the trend

of construction costs from 1914 to date.

The very rapid recovery in business beginning at about the time we under-

took our outside contracts was a great surprise, especially to contractors who had
conchKled the time had arrived to take work on a lump-sum basis. These
conditions will be noted by examining the curve on exhibit " B." We are

sure, however, that the curve for construction work in general is approximate to

our curve. Due to the above conditions, it is necessary that we make a complete
analysis of all work done following the war other than du Pont work, in order

to present a true picture of what actually happened during the period of demo-
bilization of our engineering organization which had been expanded to meet the

war conditions, and which during August 1918 was operating on a basis of

$800,000 worth of engineering,, design, and construction work per day.

Following the signing of the armistice we were left with this organization and
it was necessary to decide very quickly what was to be done with it. Since it

had been the du Pont Company's policy for approximately twenty years to

maintain an organization to do its own design and construction work and since

the executive committee at that time decided to continue this policy, we were
confronted with the problem of demobilizing the engineering organization to a
point where it could best meet the normal requirements of the du Pont interests.

Our forces at that time consisted of 2,479 salary employees and approximately
45,000 field forces. We very quickly demobilized 75 percent of these forces,

retaining the best men. the remaining portion to be demobilized more gradually
and as conditions warranted. It was suggested that we undertake to do such
work for the General Motors Corporation as they would give us under a contract
where we would charge them only 10 percent profit on the cost of the engineering,

and which actually figured but only a fraction of a percent on the actual cost

of construction. The total of this General Motors work following the war has
amounted to approximately $40,456,667. We were therefore able to keep the
remaining portion of our organization very busy for approximately two years
following the war or until the beginning of the terrific business slump. As a
matter of fact we found it ner'ossary to increase our salary forces from approxi-
mately QCO to 972 in order to handle the great volume of General Motors work
during the eighteen months immediately following the war. When the business
depression came the General Motors Corporation curtailed its entire construction
program and the du Pont Company likewise so reduced its construction program
that it was necessary to immediately begin a secondary demobilization of our
forces from a peak of 972 during the first part of 1920 to an average of 150
salary employees. This secondary demobilization was under way for a period
of approximately eighteen months.

Exhibit No. 1135

[Copied from file no. G-728-323-E]

NOVEMBEK 2, 1917.

General Wm. Ckozier,
Chief of Ordnance, U. S. A., Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir: In answer to your request that I put in writing an estimate of
the expenses which are chargeable against the 15% commission on the pro-
posed contract for construction of plants for the United States Government.
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I wish first to call attention to some general conditions indicating the magni-

tude of the work and the burden that is placed upon our company in this

undertaking to the injury of existing business.

The importance of the proposed undertaking must not be minimized. For
instance, the rate of construction demands a monthly outlay in excess of the

average monthly outlay in the construction of the Panama Canal. The contract

represents transactions equal to nearly four times the annual business of oui"

company prior to the war. This burden is to be superimposed on immense
developments already made and now being operated at maximum pi-essure.

The proposed factories will require a water supply equal to that of the citj

of Boston, and this supply must not only be filtered before using, but must be

neutralized after using before returning to the streams from which it is to be
withdrawn. Probably no such plant exists anywhere in the world excepting at

our factory at Hopewell, Va. At the peak of construction work these factories

must be equipped to handle 600 cars per day for a period of a month, and
probably an average of 250 cars per day throughout the 14 months of
construction.
You appreciate that the task imposed upon our company is enormous anci

fully justifies the alternative offer made last night when Mr. Buckner offered

to furnish the Government our existing plans from which to build these plants,

without charge, if. in return, you can arrange to have the work done by other
engineers and builders, thus relieving us entirely of the burden. I believe,

however, that this counter offer should not be accepted. These factories can be
constructed more cheaply and eflSciently and with greater certainty of immediate
maximum output if the work is conducted by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Com
pany than if handed over to contractors who cannot place themselves In

immediate contact with similar plants in actual operations.

The expected output is very large. Small savings in methods of operation
applied in the.se new factories will result in great advantage to the Government,
Tlierefore it seems almost necessary that construction and operation should be
conducted in closest contact with the improvements continually being made in

our own factories, all of which will be incorporated in the new plants.

As an illustration of this point, I call attention to the saving in the use of
alcohol developed in two years' operation of our great Carney's Point plant,

This improvement alone will probably reduce the cost about $10,000,000 pet
annum in the operation of the new factories. I might add to this that general
improvement in methods of handling materials has re.sulted in an almost
complete offset of the increased cost of about 60% in the price of raw materials
used. These improvements have enabled us to sell powder to the United
States Government and to its Allies during war times at a price less than that
charged in times of peace.
Many of the improvements apply only to factories doing business on the

enormous scale now in contemplation, therefore could not be developed from
the business of our company as it was conducted prior to the war, or from the
existing factories of the Government or of other private manufacturers.
The development of these general conditions has convinced us of the pro-

priety of the seemingly high charge of 15% commission which may amount in

maximum to $13,500,000. This commission covers not only profit but many
indirect expenses which are so involved in the daily conduct of our business a&
to prevent segregation except by an estimated division of thousands of expense
items incurred throughout the period of construction. The difficulty of making
this segregation has led us to agree to assume all of this indirect cost, an
estimate of which is given in the attached list.

I am also including several more direct expenses, such as extra compensation
to employees for rapid and satisfactory conduct of the work. This compensa-
tion cannot be determined until the contract is well nigh completed. An extra

compensation plan has been carried out with good effect liy our company for

many years. We are satisfied that in the present emergency it is not only

inadvisable but really dangerous to attempt to withdraw it. The actual cost

of this item in Iniilding similar plants for our own company amounted to

$1,800,000; however, this is a small percentage of the total salary and pay roll

involved in the work.
I am also outlining in the statement attached hereto some losses which will

be incurred by our company in the undertaking of this new work. For instance,

we have already undertaken large construction in connection with the dye

industry and other chemical manufacture, and have engaged to deliver the
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product of these factories in large amounts. The delay in finishing construc-
tion work, due to our proposed new undertaking, will result in serious financial
loss, that in the dye industry is most certain, and is estimated below.
Embarkation in these new lines of manufacture, part of which are already

in operation, has placed us in position of making very large savings through
close attention to details of manufacture and application of economies. This
work is that of our engineering department and must be discontinued on accoimt
of the proposed contract with the United States Government. I have had pre-
pared an estimate of the annual savings due to the improvements installed in
the first six months of this year, as a result of our endeavors toward economical
operations. There is every reason to believe that similar reduction in cost can
be obtained in the future, as the past six months have not been extraordinary
in this line. I might add that over 90% of the $3,800,000 annual saving result-
ing from these economies relate to the manufacture of military powders, and
will be incorporated in the construction of your factories, so that your cost of
manufacture will be reduced by similar amount.

In final explanation of the tabulation attached I might call attention to the
fact that the figures ai-e estimates based nn many factors. It is unlikely that
the minimum figures can be attained for every item, or that the maximum will

be imposed throughout. However, in a situation so uncertain as is that of
today, business prudence and our duty to our stockholders make it necessary to
provide against loss, even though prospective profit is unlikely to be adequate.

If I have made omissions in the above or failed in clear explanation, please
call upon me for anything additional that you may desire.

Yours very truly,

PIB3JJIB I. DU Pont, President.

Estimate of items chargea'ble to Commission to he received for construction of
factories to produce 1,000,000 smokeless powder per day

A. Direct cost over and above those paid by the Government in accordance with
our offer

:

1. Preparation of plans, including selection of sites, optioning of
land, survey of land, making of contour maps, and use of all our
standard drawings. Estimated cost to us between 1 and 2 percent of

estimated cost of plant ($90,000,000) say a mean of IV2%
2. Supervision of construction, being work usually done by the

general contractor, of inspecting engineer, including supervision of

fabrication of machinery and apparatus, as well as supervision ( f

actual building. Estimated cost between 1 and 2 percent, s.ay a
mean of 2%

3. Cost of extra compensation to be offered to men engaged on the
work as an inducement to extraordinary effort to exiiedite early com-
pletion and economy of construction (our expenditure on this account
amounted to $1,800,000) estimated $1.500,000 1.67%

4. Purchasing exp. including cost of urging deliveries and Wash-
ington oflSce for keeping in touch with Priority Board and Civil
Service Commission. Estimated cost between % and li/o percent
say a mean of 1. 0%

5. Administrative expense. It seems reasonable to assume that at
least one-half of our present administrative effort will be expended on
this great work. Based on the present cost, this would amount to
about $900,000 or 1%

6. Likely depreciation or amortization of machine shop which
must be provided. We have engaged to purchase a macliine shop not
provements will be necessary. There will be a heavy loss in dispos-
ing of this shop after the work is done. This loss estimated at
$225,000 : .25%

B. Indirect costs

:

7. Interference with completion of operations of Dye Industry, in
which we have already invested several million dollars. A loss of
profits of $500,000 to $1,500,000, estimated $900,000 1.0%

8. Loss of economies in current operations due to diversion of our
Engineering Department to new construction work, $2,000,000 to
$4,000,000, estimated $2,700,000 3. 0%
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the above-mentioned subject, action on ^Yllich was deferred at the last regular
meetinix, was again presented for consideration. Tlie cluiirman advised that
Col. Hoffer, of tlie U. S. Or(hiance Di'irartment, thon.uht it inadvisable to make
any reference in the contract with the Government to the malter of the bonus
fund to be contributed by the Du Pont Engineering Company, in view of its

being a matter between the Du Pont Engineering Company and tl.e Du Pont
C( nipauy, and that consequently it was not incorporated in the order given us
for the plants by General Crozier.

After discussion, it was moved and unanimou-=;ly carried that this report be
accepted nud ordered filed.

(The following information was requested by the committee of the

du Pont Co. See text, p. 2912.)

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del., April 19, 1935.

United States Senate Speciai, Committee
Investigating the Munitions Industky,

WasJiington, D. C.

Gentlemen: There is attnched hereto statement showing advances made by
the United States Government, in connection with military contracts, to E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Co., Du Pont Engineering Co., and Du Pont American
Industries, Inc.

Yours very truly,

H. W. Lynch, Assistant Comptroller.

Statement of advances from United States Government in connection loith

military eontracts '

January 1918
March 1918
April 1918
May 1918.
June 1918-

August 1918
September 1918.
October 1918. .

.

November 1918.

December 1918..

January 1919
February 1919...

Advanced

Total advanced 58,959,042.81 45,334,629.87

E. I. du Pont
de Nemours

& Co.

$32, 062, 519. 30
1,114,285.00
1, 290, 000. 00

1, 290, 000. 00
2, 527, 500. 00
8, 413, 600. 00
4, 541. 138. 51

720, 000. 00

7, 000, 000. 00

Du Pont En-
gineering Co.

20, 466. 829. 87
713, 800. 00

1,000,000.00
12, 636, 000. 00
4, 200, 000. 00

6,318,000.00

Du Pont
American In-
dustries, Inc.

5, 400, 000

5, 400, 000

(The following information was requested of the du Pont Co.
by the committee. See text, p. 2913.)

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del., April 17, 1935.
United States Senate,

Special Committee Investigating
the Munitions Industry,

Washington, D. C.
Gentlemen: In accordance with agreement 'between the United States of

America and du Pont American Industries, Inc., dated August 28, 1018, and
supplemental agreements dated September 10, 1918, November 20, 1918, July

1 Mr. Lynch's total of $58,959,042.81 for advancps to the parent rompany exceeds bv
about .$4,000,000 the similar total shown in tabulation at the end of "Exhibit No. 1138"
(Hearings, Part XIV, appendix, p. Z2m . .326.'>). That is because the total of that exhibit
was arrived at by considering only advances made on and after Jan. 10, 1918 (as indi-
cated at the end of the text preceding the tabulation), whereas the total shown in Mr.
Lynch's tabulation is fully inclusive for the entire period of the war.
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1, 1919, December 28, 1919, and June 15, 1920, du Pont American Industries,

Inc., acted as the sole purchasing and selling agent for the United States
Government of all cotton linters produced in the United States during the life

of the contract.

The United States Government advanced to du Pout American Industries,

Inc., the sum of $5,400,000 to compensate the agent for the utilization of its

own funds in the purchase of linters not allocated by the War Industries
Board in accordance with the terms of the contract. This sum was deposited
in " special " bank acc(junts and kept separate during the period of the above
stated agreements. Interest accrued to the credit of the United States Gov-
ernment and upon completion of the contract, the principal amount plus accrued
intei'ej?t of $151,708.85 was refunded to the Government.

In tlie performance of this contract, du Pont American Industries, Inc.,

financed certain purchases out of its funds. Sales of linters were made to

individuals or firms as directed by the War Industries Board and du Pont
American Industries, Inc., received reimbursement from the individuals or
firms to whom linters were sold, or from the above advances from the United
States Government in instances where the War Industries Board failed to

allocate materials in accordance with the terms of the contract.

Very truly yours,
A. C. NiBir.soN, Comptroller.

(The following information was supplied at the request of the

committee. See text, p. 2914.)

E. I. DU Pont db Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del., April 19, 19S5.

United States Senate,
Special Committee Investigating

THE Munitions Industry,
Washington, D. C.

REPORT OF GOVERNMENT CU.\IMS DIVISION FOR JULY 1920 MADE SEPTEMBER 14.

1020, IN EEGARD TO MATERIALS AGGREGATING $20,800,000

Gentlemen : During the hearings held in December 1934 the committee
requested further information in regard to this matter in event same had no
reference to the Old Hickory plant.

In reply, we wish to state that this claim had no relation to Old Hickory,
but instead represented materials purchased by the du Pont Co. in connection
with tlie performance of certain contracts entered into between du Pont Co.
and the United States Government.

Immediately upon the signing of the armistice, the du Pont Co. suspended
operations on the various Government contracts in hand, and claims were sub-
mitted to the Government covering sulphur, cotton, and nitric acid purchased
in connection with the fulfillment of said contracts.

Yours very truly,

A. C. NiELSON, Comptroller.

(The following report supplements " Exhibit No. 1112." See text

p. 2923.)
January 28, 1935.

Hon. Gekald P. Nye,
Chairman Special Committee Investigating the Munitions Industry,

United States Senate.

My Dear Mr. Chairman : I have your letter of January 3, 1935, identified as
Treasury request no. 55-A, having reference to a list of individuals who reported
for income-tax purposes net incomes in excess of $1,000,000 during certain years.
The list in question was transmitted to you with my letter of September 5, 1934,
in response to your request of August 3, 1934, identified as request no. 26.

Your letter of Januai'y 3, 1935, refers to the information previously furnished
as " a list of all persons having incomes over $1,000,000 in 3 or more of the
years between 1915 and 1920, inclusive ", and the request is made that there be
compiled a list of all the individuals having incomes over $1,000,000 in any one
of those years. The quoted expression and the request contained in your letter

leads me to believe that the exact nature of the list previously submitted to you
has not been fully understood. The exact nature of the information conveyed
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in the original list is indicated in the second paragraph of my letter to you of
September 5, 1934, which is quoted as follows

:

" I advised you in my letter of August 20, 1934, that, in accordance with the
result of a discussion of such request with Mr. Stephen Haushenbush, of the
committee's staff, there w^ould be compiled and furnished to the committee a
compilation showing the names of all individuals with net incomes in excess of
$1,000,000 for any year from 1917 to 19'20, inclusive, and indicating all and any
years between 1915 and 1920, inclusive, when such individuals had net incomes
in excess of $1,000,000."

In other words, the name of any individual taxpayer who reported a net
income in excess of $1,000,000 for any year from 1917 to 1920, botli inclusive, is

shown on that list together with an indicatinu of the year for which the reported
net income was in excess of $1,000,000. If any such taxpayers reported net
incomes in excess of $1,000,000 for more than 1 year during the period from 1917
to 1920, both inclusive, all years during such period when the reported net
incomes exceeded $1,000,000 are indicated. Furthermore, if any of the taxpayers
who reported a net income in excess of $1,OOU,000 for any of the years 1917 to
1920, both inclusive, also had a net income in excess of $1,000,000 for eitlier one
or both of the taxable years 1915 and 1910, such fact is indicated on the list.

It will thus be seen that the only taxpayers who reported net incomes in
excess of $1,000,000 for any one or more years from 1915 to 1920, both inclu-
sive, and whose names have not been furnished to the committee are those tax-
payers, if any, who may have reported net incomes in excess of $1,000,000 for
either one or both of the years 1915 and 1916, but who did not report net in-
comes in excess of that sum for any one of the years 1917 to 1920, both
inclusive.

In order that the committee may have a complete record of all individuals
who reported net incomes in excess of $1,000,000 for any one or more of the
years from 1915 to 1920, both inclusive, it now becomes necessary to furnish
only the names of the individuals who reported net incomes in excess of a
million dollars for either one or both of the years 1915 and 1916, and whose
names do not appear on the list furnished you with my letter of September 5,
1934. With this information before it, the committee will then have not
only the names of all individual taxpayers in the million-dollar classification for
the years 1915 to 1920, both inclusive, but also an indication of the years when
the reported net income was within the classification.

I trust that the explanation furnished above will clarify the committee's
undex-standing of the information heretofore furnished and that the com-
mittee's desires with respect to this matter will be fully satisfied by submission
of the names of any individuals who reported net incomes in excess of $1,000,-
000 for either or both of the years 1915 and 1916 and whose names are not
contained on the previous list. A list of such names is enclosed.

In the event that further correspondence relative to this matter is necessary,
reference should be made to IT : E : RRR-CWC.

Very truly yours,

T. J. CooLiDGE, Acting Secretary.

Five enclosures: Copy of this letter; copy of letter dated August 20, 1934;
copy of letter dated September 5, 1934 ; photostats ; copy of letter from chairman
dated August 3, 1934.

Statistical Section—Income Tax Unit

Individuals reporting net income of $1,000,000 or over for one or loth of the
years 1915 and 1916 who did not report $1,000,000 or over for any of the years
1917-20, showing names and addresses as of 1916 and indicating by an
asterisk the years in which the net income ivas $1,000,000 or over

Name and address
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(The following information was requested by the committee of the

Treasury Department, See text, f). 2924.)

(Copy)

IT : E

:

RRR
Hon. Arthur H. Vandenbebg, .January S, 1935.

Special Committee Investigating the Munitions Industry,
United States Senate.

My Dear Senator: In accordance with the written request of Chairman Nye,
of the Special Committee Investigating the Munitions Industry, I submitted to

him uiuU^r date of September 5, 1934, a compilation showing the names of all

individuals who reported for income-tax pur^wses net incomes in excess of

$1,000,000 for any year from 1917 to 1920, both inclusive, and indicating all and
any years between 1915 and 1920, both inclusive, when such individuals had net
incomes in excess of $1,000,000 according to the income-tax returns as filed by
them.
The data in question were submitted in evidence as an exhibit at the hearings

being held before the committee on December 13, 1934, and were properly identi-

fied at that time by an official of the Bureau of Internal Revenue. As a member
of the committee, you asked at that time whether it would be possible to have
submitted the amounts of net incomes and the amounts of taxes thereon with
respect to each of the individuals whose name appears upon tlie lists and for

such years as the net incomes exceeded $1,000,000 according to the lists. You
were advised that such information could be furnished on the basis of the returns
as filed by the taxpayers.

In a further discussion of the matter with you, off the record, it was agreed
that the information requested by you .should be submitted in such form as
would not disclose the name of the taxpayer, and that the order in which the
statistics taken from the taxpayers' returns were to be arranged would not follow
the same order in \\hich the taxpayers' names appear on the lists introduced into
evidence before the committee on December 13, 1934, thereby preventing identifi-

cation of the statistics relating to any particular taxpayer's return by comparison
of the lists first submitted with the lists to be furnished later.

The lists submitted to Chairman Nye wiih my letter of September 5, 1934,

contain the names and addresses of 181 individuals who reported a net income
of $1,000,000 or over for any one or more of the years 1917 to 1920, both inclu-

sive. There are submitted herewith photostatic copies of three sheets comprising
the new lists, prepared in accordance with your request, which furnish, in

thousands of dollars, the net income and total tax reported in the case of each
of the 181 individuals named on the lists submitted under date of September 5,

1934, with the net incomes and taxes shown only for such years as the individ-

uals in question reported taxable net incomes of $1,000,000' or more and with
the data taken from the returns in an arrangement differing from that used in

compiling the lists which were introduced in evidence before the committee on
December 13, 1934.

Please understand the data submitted herewith have been compiled on the
basis of information taken from the returns as originally filed by the taxpayers
and not on the basis of returns as finally adjusted and closed by the Bureau of
Internal Revenue. This method of compilation was stated to be agreeable to

you when it was explained that it greatly simplified the work of the Bureau of
Internal Revenue in complying with your request.

I trust that the enclosed information fully satisfies your desires with respect
to this matter.

In the event that further correspondence relative to this matter is necessary,
kindly refer to IT : B : RRR-CWC.

Very truly yours,
T. J. CooLiDGB, Acting Secretary.
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(The following lists of stockholders in Hercules and Atlas Powder
Co.'s was requested of the du Pont Co. by the committee. See text^

p. 2936.)

Stock and number of shares of Hercules Powder Co. held hy officers and
directors of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. as of Jan- 1, 1917



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 3161

The following copies of du Pont Executive Committee minutes
were submitted in response to a committee request. See text, p. 2941.)

E. I. DU Pont de Nbjiours & Co. Executive Committee

QUESTION OF INCKEl^SING OUR MILITARY POWDEB CAPACITY

At this point discussion again ensued as to the question of increasing our
military powder capacity in order to take care of prospective orders, as a
result of which the following resolution was offered and unanimously adopted

:

Resolved, That Vice President PI. F. Brown request the engineering depart-
ment to present to this committee as soon as possible, and not later than next
Monday, June 11, an appropriation request to cover the cost of building addi-
tional smokeless-powder capacity at Carney's Point, Haskell and Parlin to

utilize the guucotton capacity at Hopewell not now being utilized (estimated
at about 5,000,000 pounds l)er month), this additional capacity to be completed
ready for operation by October 1, 1917, with the understanding that the com-
pany will be assisted by the United States Government in expediting the deliv-

ery of the equipment necessary to be employed in this construction.
After further discussion, the following resolution was offered and unani-

mously adopted

:

Whereas, the best information we get from Washington leads us to believe
that should the war continue it is quite likely we shall be called upon to supply
10,000,000 pounds of smokeless powder per month in addition to our present
capacity and the capacity required to utilize the guncotton capacity at Hope-
well not now being utilized

;

Resolved, That the smokeless powder operating department be requested to

study this problem with a view to having this additional capacity available by
November 1, 1917, and make a report to this committee as soon as possible

with recommendations.
This is to certify that the foregoing are true and correct copies of resolu-

tions unanimously adopted by the Executive Committee of E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Co. at a meeting held on June 4, 1917.

M. D. FlSHEJB,

Assistant Secretary, E. I. du Pont de Nemours d Co.

Extract from Minutes of Meeting of Executive OoMMiriEE of E. I. du Pont

DE Nemours & Co. Held on June 7, 1917

QUESTION of increasing OUR SMOKELESS POWDER CAPACITY

After full discussion, the following resolution was offered and unanimously
adopted

:

Whereas, the military sales department advises us that our entire output of

smokeless powder up to April 1, 1918, has been sold, except 128,000,000 pounds
(counting as sold the offerings of 58,850,000 pounds to the United States Govern-
ment which are awaiting governmental appropriations before final acceptance) ^

and
Whereas, we have at Hopewell guncotton capacity sufficient to manufacture

approximately 5,200,000 pounds of nitrocellulose powder per month ; and
Whereas, Vice President H. F. Brown advises that smokeless powder capacity

can be added to Carney's Point Haskell, and Parlin sufficient to manufacture
5,200,000 pounds of nitrocellulose powder per month, at a cost, based on engi-

neering department estimate of $3,050,000 (of which amount approximately
$1,000,000 will have to be spent in any event to provide additional power equip-
ment) to which amount it may be necessary to add approximately $1,220,000
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to cover cost of a plant to make up the sulphuric acid deficiency in the manu-
facture of the extra 5,200,000 pounds of guncotton per month ; and
Whereas, this additional capacity can likely be available for production on

or about October 1, 1917, thus giving added capacity of approximately 75,000,000
pounds of smokeless powder to the end of 1918 ; therefore, be it

Resolved, That the military sales department be advised of this condition,

and that the executive committee are ready to proceed immediately with this

construction work provided the cost can be amortized over orders which the
Allies may be willing to give should they deem it desirable and advisable to

have this increased capacity.
This is to certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of extract from

minutes of meeting of Executive Committee of E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Co. held on June 7, 1917.

W. D. FiSHEK,
Assistant Secretary, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.

Extract From Minutes of Meeting of Executtvb Committee of E. I. du Pont
DE Nemours & Co., Held on June 26, 1917

^miTARY power situation—question of increasing smokeless-powder capac-
ity to utilize Hopewell's excess gun cotton capacity of 5,000,000 pounds
per month not now being utilized

In compliance witli action taken at meeting June 18, report was received
from the chairman dated June 21, 1917 (no. 8756), in regard to the contract
between the Hercules Power Co. and the Du Pont Co., whereby the latter

agreed to furnisli the Hercules Co. with 2,000.000 pounds of gun cotton per
month. The chairman stated that he had taken the matter up with Judge
Laffey, who advises that the quedtion is not one of law but of fact, i. 0., what
was intended in the arrangement which was largely oral betv.een Hercules
and Du Pont. The chairman further stated that he also took the matter up
with Mr. R. H. Dunham, president of the Hercules Co., who definitely stated
that although the contingency of the war continuing for a long period and the
Hercules Co. being out of orders for a length of time during the war, were not
considered, he is sure that had it been considered, Hercules would have insisted

that they have the call on the output of the plant which they propose to amor-
tize in the orders given to Du Pont during the whole period of the war. The
chairman further stated that he was inclined to think that Du Pont would have
acquiesced in that demand, as the only alternative was that of building a plant
for Hercules at their cost away from Hopewell, which would have involved an
engineering burden which we were loath to take on ; that such being the case,

he was inclined to think that we should asquiesce in Mr. Dunham's demand;
that if, however, the United States Government has need of the capacity which
is temporarily held idle he thought we could properly go to Hercules and lay
the facts before them, at which time some mutually satisfactory adjustment
could be made.

After discussion it was moved and unanimously carried that this communica-
tion be accepted and ordered filed, and the opinion expressed by the chairman
approved.

This is to certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of extract from
minutes of meeting of executive committee of E. I. du Pont de Nemours ik, Co.
held on June 26, 1917.

M. D. Fisher,
Assistant Secretary, E. I. du Pont d Co.

(The following information was requested of the du Pont Co. by
the committee. See text, p. 2958.)
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Officers and Directors of E. I. du Pont db Nemoubs & Col, Year 1917, and
Proposed Officers and Directors of Du Pont Engine>;ring Co-, as Sett
Forth in Contract Date» Oct. 5. 1917, Between E. I. du 1'ont de Nemours-
& Co. and the United States Government, with Respect to' the Cox\stbuo-
TioN AND Operation of a Smokeless Powder Plant to Cost Approximatei^y
$90,000,000

E. I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS & CO. DU PONT ENGINEERING CO.

' President

P. S. du Pont P. S. du Pont

H. M. Barksdale
C. L. Patterson
Ireuee du Pout
J. A. Haskell
E. G. Buckuer
Frank L. Connable
Lammot du Pont
William Coyne
H. F. Brown
H. G. Has-kell

R. R. M. Carpenter
F. G. Tallman

Vice president

Irenee du Pont
E. G. Buckner
H. F. Brown.

Alexis I. du Pont

John J. Raskob

P. S. du Pont
J. A. Haskell
H. M. Barksdale
C. L. Patterson
Irenee du Pont
E. G. Buckner
Frank L. Connable
John J. Raskob
Alexis I. du Pont
Lammot du Pont
A. Felix du Pont
William Coyne
H. F. Brown
H. G. Haskell
R. R. M. Carpenter
Hem-y Belin, Jr.

J. P. Laffey
H. F. du Pont
F. G. Tallman
Eugene du Pont
Eugene E. du Pont

Secretary

Treasurer

Directors

Alexis I. du Pont

John J. Raskob

P. S. du Pont
Ireuee du Pont
E. G. Buckner
Frank L. Connable
John J. Raskob
Alexis I. du Pont
Lammot du Pont
William Coyne
H. F. Brown
H. G. Haskell
R. R. M. Carpenter
J. P. Laffev
F. G. Tallman
H. M. Pierce

[Note.—It will be observed that the proposed officers of the Du Pont Engi-
neering Co. were likewise officers of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. All of
the directors of the proposed Du Pont Engineering Co. were likewise directors
of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. except H. M. Pierce.]
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(The following information was requested of the du Pont Co.

by the committee. See text, p. 2963.)

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del, April 11, 1935.

United States Senate, Special Committee Investigating
The Munitions Industby,

Washington D. C.

Gentlemen : As of November 30, 1917, the number of stockholders of E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Co. was as set forth below

:

Common stock 2, 259
Debenture stock 4, 333

As requested by you, we also list below the ten largest stockholders of

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. as of November 30, 1917

:

COMMON

Du Pont Securities Co.
Alfred I. du Pont.
William du Pont.
Pierre S. du Pont.
Henry F. du Pont.
Fidelity Trust Co., Tr. u/w Alexis I. du Pont.
Francis I., A. Felix, and Ernest du Pont, Tr. u/w Francis G. du Pont.

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.
Amelia E. du Pont.
Ralph H. Ensign.

DEBENTUBH

E. I. du Pont de Nemours Powder Co.
Francis I., A. Felix, and Ernest du Pout, Tr. u/w Francis G. du Pont.

Heni-y F. du Pont.
Fidelity Tr. Co. Trustee u/w Alexis I. du Pont.

E. E. Beach.
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.
Amelia E. du Pont.
E. G. Buckner.
John L. Riker.
Estate of H. M. Boies.

A. C. Nielsen, Comptroller.

The following information is included in the record at the request

of Julius Forstmann in connection with " Exhibit No. 1112"

:

Cable Address, Forstmann, Passaic.
Julius Fokstmann,

Passaic, N. J., Decemher 21, 193If.

Chairman, Senate Munitions Committee,
Senate office BniWing, Washinffton, D. C.

Sir: In the newspapers of Friday, December 14, my name is mentioned as

one of a number of citizens whose incomes during all or part of the years
from 1915 to 1920 exceeded one million dollars. This information was made
public at the instance of your committee during an investigation of the muni-
tions industries, with which I have never had any connection whatever.

In order to correct the false impression which the publication of my name
at this time may have created, I am enclosing herewith a letter dated Decem-
ber 20, 1934, from the firm of Lylirand, Ross Bros. «& Montgomery, accounts,

certifying that the cf)mpany, of which I am founder and president, made no
profits on the contracts for uniform cloths, which were tlie only contracts it

ever made with tlie United States Government. It certifies also that neither

the company nor I personally have ever had any shares or interest in any
concern manufacturing munitions of war.
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When the United States entered the World War, the Forstmann Woolen
•Co. (formerly Forstmann & Huffmaun Co.) began the manufacture of uniform
materials at the request of the Government. Later, at the invitation of the

Senate Military Affairs Committee, I testified regarding the practicability

and serviceability of uniform cloths as they were then being manufactured.
Shortly thereafter I was asked by Major General George W. Goethals, newly
appointed Quartermaster General, to suggest revised specifications. I sub-

mitted new specifications which were adopted as standards on which all suc-

ceeding contracts for Army uniform materials were made. After peace was
declared my company received from the War Department the Distinguished
Service Certificate with a letter citing the reasons for the award, both of

which I attach to this letter.

Our production of uniform cloths for the Government during the participa-

tion of the United States in the World War was the only time we have ever

produced materials for military purposes either for the United States or for

any other government.
Since these facts have at all times been available to your committee, or to

anyone else interested in them, it is only fair that they be placed in your
records.

Very truly yours,
Juuus Forstmann.

Lybeand, Ross Bkos. & Montgomeey,
Accountants and Auditors,

90 Broad Street, New York, December 20, 1984.
-Resident partners:

William M. Lybrand,
Robert H. Montgomery,
Walter A. Staub,
H. Hilton Dumbrille,
Thomas B. G. Henderson,
Prior Sinclair,

Hermon F. Bell,

Norman J. Lenhart,
Conrad B. Taylor.

Mr. Julius Forstmann,
Passaic, N. J.

Dear Sir: As requested by you, we have reviewed our records in connection
with the examinations made by us for the year 1917 and subsequent years as
auditors of Forstmann and Huffmann Company and its successor, Forstmann
Woolen Company, both of which companies were controlled and managed by
you and furnished the principal source of your income.
During the year 1919 and subsequently we made an investigation of the

financial results of the contracts entered into by your company with the
United States Government during 1917 and 1918 for the manufacture of
Army uniform material. This investigation disclosed that

:

1. The net profit resulting to the company from the said contracts was
^\ approximately 2 percent of the contract price;

2. The company had to cancel a number of profitable civilian orders in
order to undertalie the Government contracts, and that the profit which
would have resulted from the civilian orders would have been far in excess
of the small profit obtained from the Government contracts, so that the
undertaking of the Government contracts caused the company to sustain
a loss of profits whiclv could otherwise have been earned.

3. The company had contracted for materials in anticipation of manufactur-
ing further supplies of army uniform material which it had been informed
by the Government would be required in considerable quantities and no reim-
bursement was ever received for the loss sustained on the disposition or
utilization of such materials.

4. No reimbursement was ever received for the expense and loss of profits

occasioned by the transfer of mill operation from civilian business to the
manufacture of army uniform material, or from the sudden reversion from
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manufacture of such material to civilian goods at the time of the armistice,
without any opportunity for securing sufficient orders for civilian goods in
preparation for such change. The loss on materials referred to under 3
and the expense resulting from the conversion of mill operation from manu-
facturing army material to civilian goods was, in our opinion, substantially in

excess of the small amount of profit derived from war contracts.
We are of the opinion that the profits earned by the company during the war

years, which were derived from civilian business, were not in any way excessive
considering the size and character of production of the company's mills, as is

indicated by the fact that for a number of years following the termination of
the war the company's profits were materially larger than during the war
years.
We further state that the company has owned no shares of stock or other

Interest in any concern manufacturing munitions of war either during the war
years or since.

Very truly yours,
Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Montgomery.

CBT:C

Supply Division, General Staff.

War Department,
Office of the Chief of Staff,

Washington, May 27, 1922.
Forstmann & Huffman Company,

Passaic, New Jersey.

Gentlemen : In accordance with recommendation of the Quartermaster Gen-
eral, a certificate of merit has been awarded and will be sent you under separate
cover.
The citation by the Quartermaster General is as follows

:

" This company gave practically the entire capacity of their plant for the
period of the emergency in the manufacture of materials for uniforms and
overcoats. The quantity of the work performed was large, the character of

the services was excellent, and the company executed its contracts with the

Government in a manner highly satisfactory to all concerned."
It is very gratifying to me to be enabled to transmit this visible recognitior

of patriotic war service.

Yours very truly,

W. D. Connor,
Brigadier General, Assistant Chief of Staff, G-i,

By Joseph F. Barnes,
Lieutenant Colonel, General Staff, Executive.

X
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INVESTIGATION OF MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

FRIDAY, DECEMBER 14, 1934

United States Senate,
Special Committee to

Innestigate the Munitions Industry,
Washington^ D. C.

The hearing was resumed at 10 a. m., in the Finance Committee
room. Senate Office Building, pursuant to the taking of recess, Sen-
ator Gerald P. Nye presiding.

Present: Senators Nye (chairman), Clark, Pope, Vandenberg, and
Barbour.
Present also : Alger Hiss, legal assistant to the committee.
The Chairjian. The committee will be in order.

At this point the committee concluded that part of the testimony
which is incorporated in Part XIII of these hearings, " Profiteering,

Government Contracts, and Expenditures during the World War,
Including Early Negotiations for Old Hickory Contract."

TESTIMONY OF IRENEE DU PONT, PIERRE DU PONT. LAMONT DTJ

PONT, WILLIAM S. GREGG, J. BAYARD ELIASON—Recalled

(The witnesses were previously duly sworn by the chairman.)
Mr. Lammot DU Pont. Mr. Chairman, before you start on your

line of inquiry today
The Chairman. It was just suggested that there were two wit-

nesses whom we might be calling on during the day, or who might
have occasion to offer testimony, and we would like to swear them.

If you will give your name to the reporter.

Mr. Banker. W!^ B. Banker.
The Chairman. And your official connection with the du Pont

Co.?
Mr. Banker. Assistant chief engineer.

The Chairman. And your name [referring to second witness] ?

Mr. Nielsen. A. C. Nielsen.

The Chairman. And your official capacity?
Mr. Nielsen. Comptroller of the du Pont Co.

TESTIMONY OF W. B. BANKER AND A. C. NIELSEN

(The witnesses were duly sworn by the chairman.)
The Chairman. Now, Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. Senator, this matter refers to a previous

hearing. In the September hearings your committee asked us to
give our views on the munitions question.

: 3167
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The Chairman. Yes.
Mr. Lammot du Pont. We prepared a letter under date of No-

vember 14, which was sent to you and the other members of your
committee, and I would like to have that letter submitted as an
exhibit and given an appropriate number.
The Chairman. The Chair has been advised that that has already

been done. Likewise that was done with the communication from
the United Aircraft Corporation. For a time it w^as thought advis-

able to delay entry into tiie record until we reached the point in our
enquiry where we were going to sit down to the technical consider-

ation of ways and means and plans, as the committee has in mind,
but it is a part of the record and will appear in the volumes covering

the September hearings.'

Mr. Lammot du Pont. As an exhibit?

The Chairman. As an exhibit.

Mr. Lammot du Pont. Thank you.

The Chairman. You may proceed, Mr. Hiss.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Chairman, before we commence with
Mr. Hiss' examination, I would like to call attention to one or two
exhibits which were presented yesterday. First the exhibit show-
ing the proposition submitted by the du Pont Company, October 8,

with regard to the building of a smokeless powder factory. I, un-
fortunately, have not the number here.^

Mr. Hiss. Yes; Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I wish to call attention to paragraph 9 of

that exhibit, on page 5. It states

:

While this proposition contemplates the construction and operation of plants
with a total capacity of approximately one million pounds of water-dried
smokeless cannon powder per day, it is understood that in case the Government
desires plants constructed and operated with a lesser total capacity, the terms
and conditions of this proposal will apply to any such plant or plants of lesser

capacity.

That is, it was for the whole or part of the proposition.

Then at the recommendation of the War Department it was
changed to a definite 1,000,000 pounds per day, when the contract

of October 25 was drawn—not at our instance.

I would also like to call attention to a letter of November 1, 1917,*

a letter addressed to Colonel Buckner by the president of the du
Pont company, at the bottom of page 1, referring to the drawings
[reading] :

The engineering and mechanical work necessary for making drawings of
apparatus is completed. These drawings could not be prepared anew without
great expense and greater loss of time due to difficulty of obtaining drafts-

men for work on the scale required. I mention that the blueprints used for
our factories would cover some sixty acres of ground if spread out, giving some
idea of the enormous work involved in that preparation, and in the great sav-
ing to the Government in both time and money in having this material at
hand.

That is the drawings of the apparatus.
Yesterday we took up the question of the completion of the draw-

ings. You will note that these are the drawings of the apparatus.
And as the site was not chosen until later, none of these drawings
could apply to the site chosen. Therefore, all the drawings relating

1 Hearings, Part V, text p. 1260, appendix p. 1411.
2"Bxliibit No. 1126", Hearings, I'art XIII, p. 2!)40.
» " Exhibit No. 1132 ", Hearings, Part XIII, p. 2961.
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to surveys and placing of the buildings and apparatus on the ground
were still incomplete on November 1.

Mr. Hiss. May I ask one or two questions about that, to be sure

I understand, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. The first sentence says :

" The engineering and mechan-
ical work necessary for making drawings of apparatus is com-
pleted " and those last two words are underscored.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. This is November 1, and the point we were specifically

discussing yesterday was a rather technical legal one, of how far

the completion had progressed on October 25.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. As I remember it, you said you could not be sure; you

did not remember. I then intended to ask—I am not sure that I
made it clear—how long a job engineering and mechanical work
necessary for making drawings of apparatus is, and whether it could
be completed in the short space of time between October 25 and
November 1. And, as I remember it, you indicated that you hardly
thought it could be completed in that period of time. Is that
correct ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir; that is the whole drawings. This
relates to the drawings of the apparatus only.

Mr. Hiss. I meant merely the engineering and mechanical work
necessary for making drawings.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. May I say, Mr. Hiss, I am not competent to

express an opinion on this. What I would say would be a mere
guess, and if agreeable you may refer in the record to any informa-
tion given, that it should be marked as a guess or stricken out.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Will you ask Mr. Banker approximately
how many man-hours it would take to do the drawings for the
buildings of the Old Hickory plant ?

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Banker, the first sentence of the paragraph to which
Mr. Pierre du Pont has called attention reads as follows, referring
to the bottom paragraph on the first page:

The engineering and mechanical work necessary for making drawings of
apparatus is completed.

Could you give an estimate of how long it would have taken the
force then assembled in the du Pont Co. to do the work referred to

in that first sentence ?

Mr. Banker. I am not sure that I know just what that first sen-
tence means. " The engineering and mechanical work necessary for
making drawings of apparatus is completed."
Mr. Hiss. Had not the company already that experience from its

previous manufacturing of apparatus for its own plants?
Mr. Banker. We had a number of drawings for apparatus which

had to be adapted, early drawings, to a specific site.

Mr. Hiss. In respect to the apparatus as well as buildings that is

true, is it?

Mr. Banker. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. You say that you had drawings completed and they
needed to be adapted. Which is referred to here, merely the draw-
ings, the work necessary for adaptation, or the work necessary for the
original drawings?



3170 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Banker. The work necessary for ada])tation in a majority

of the cases. In certain cases we had to design for that specific

plant; we had to design apparatus for that specific job.

Mr. Hiss. The second sentence, Mr. Pierre dii Pont, says [reading] :

These drawings could not be prepared anew without great expense and
greater loss of time, due to difficulty of obtaining draughtsmen for work on the
scale required.

I take it to mean that there had been considerable completion on
this work of drawings.
The third sentence says [reading] :

I mention that the blueprints used for our factories would cover some 60
acres of ground

—

these are blueprints already in existence which would be adaptable
for use of other factories; is that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pois^t. I am sorry.

Mr. Hiss. The third sentence says [reading] :

I mention that the blueprints used for our factories would cover some 60
acres of ground.

That means your then-existing factories?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

* * * would cover some 60 acres of ground.

I judge that they are implying in that sentence that the experience

that your company has had in building plants would enable you to do
the work of building Old Hickory more quickly than any other

company. Is that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think that would be true; yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. Therefore, what you would be selling in this case would
be your experience rather than specific work?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Experience was certainly enormously

valuable.

Mr. Hiss. In regard to the 60 acres of blueprints, you would not
have to duplicate them?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. A great many of them were standard. If

you would like to see the drawings, we can get a freight car and
bring them down.
Mr. Hiss. I do not think that is necessary.

Yesterday there was a reference to advances made by the United
States Government to the du Pont Co. during the war for various
purposes, and a statement was to be furnished to the committee as to

that. In the meantime, I have found a document which we had
received earlier, prepared by the publicity bureau of the du Pont Co.
in 1922, which I will offer as an exhibit together with the statement
of advances.

(The documents referred to were marked " Exhibit No. 1138 " and
are included in the appendix on p. 3261.)
Mr. Hiss. The last complete paragraph on page 1 says [reading] :

The money advanced by the United States Government to E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Co. (hereinafter referred to as du Pont Co.) was used for the
purchase of raw materials for the fulfillment of contracts to supply the Govern-
ment with explosives

—
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From that sentence I would judge that advances were made to the

parent company for the manufacture of explosives, just as European
governments made advances.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No; not all. I think these advances were
payments on materials ordered or delivered. I am not sure at just

what point. But there were no such advances made as in the case of

European governments, lump sums prior to the starting of construc-

tion or operation.

Mr. Hiss. The first complete paragraph on page 2 at the bottom
says, Mr. Pierre du Pont
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The statement will stand itself, if there is a

detail of it.

Mr. Hiss. Will you turn to page 2 of the memorandum?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think there were no cases of advances com-

plete on 50 percent of the contract.

Mr. Hiss. If we can just stick to this memorandum.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir, Mr. Hiss.

Mr. Hiss. The first complete paragraph on page 2 [reading] :

The records show that the $54,807,380.83 advanced to the du Pont Co. has
been completely liquidated and accounted for by the completion of contracts,

the delivery of material, the settlement of claims, or the return of cash to the
United States Treasury.

This is in 1922. [Continuing reading :]

To a subsidiary of the du Pont Co., viz, the du Pont Engineering Co., the
Government advanced money to be used and which was used only in connection
with the construction and operation of Government-owned plants.

In addition to the Old Hickory plant, your company operated on
behalf of the Government and constructed on behalf of the Govern-
ment other plants?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss (continuing reading) :

For the construction of Government-owned plants the du Pont En-
gineering Co. received direct advances fi'om the War Department total-

ing $24,506.2,50 and in addition thereto the sum of $160,579.87, making a
total of $24,666,829.87. * * *

The remainder of the funds advanced by the Government to the du Pont
Engineering Co., viz, $20,667,800, was advanced for use in the procurement of

raw materials * * *.

In other words, a total of $45,000,000 and some odd hundred
thousands was advanced to the du Pont Engineering Co. in connec-
tion with the half dozen or so contracts which you had with the
Government for construction or operation of the plants. Is that
correct ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not sure what 3^ou mean by " advances."
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Could I refresh Pierre's memory? At the

time we actually started to build at cost plus $1 the Old Hickory
plant, the Government put in our hands a revolving fund of, I
think, roughly, $18,000,000, from which we paid vouchers, and they
replenished the fund as they approved the vouchers. I think in a
short time it demonstrated that the machinery of the Government
could not replenish it fast enough, and it was increased later. There
was a rotating fund of the same kind, 18 or 19 million dollars, at
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Old Hickory. It was not an advance to build a plant ourselves, like

the Allies did in the photostat yesterday.

Mr. Hiss. That is correct.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was a rotating fund which was the Gov-
ernment's, but which we could draw on until they replenished it,

until they passed the vouchers.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Are you sure of that ?

Mr. Gregg. I think I can state that.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Gregg has studied it.

Mr. Gregg. On the contract under construction the Government
advanced to the du Pont Co. $18,875,000 in one sum, and that was
used as a revolving fund. As we paid bills out of that amount, the
Government representatives checked those bills; and if they ap-

proved them, then they paid us the amount of those bills. In other

words, this $18,875,000 was used as a revolving fund on account of

construction.

Senator Pope. Was there an additional fund?
Mr. Gregg. There was an additional fund.

Mr. Hiss. Equal in amount, was it not?
Mr. Gregg. On operation, a little bit higher. As I recall it, on

operation.

Senator Clark. This fund of $18,875,000 was simply a construc-

tion fund?
Mr. Gregg. That is correct.

Senator Clark. And had nothing to do with operation?
Mr. Gregg. That is correct.

Senator Pope. And another fund for operation?
Mr. Gregg. For operation there was an advance, as I recall it,

of $18,954,000, which was used in the same way in connection with
operations.

Mr. Hiss. In addition to the advances on Old Hickory there were
also, as this memorandum implies, advances in connection with the
construction of other Government plants?
Mr. Gregg. There Avere advances.
Mr. Hiss. On the same basis as in the Old Hickory contract ?

Mr. Gregg. That is correct.

Mr. Hiss. The total of which as stated in this memorandum was
$45,334,000, instead of the $37,000,000 advanced on Old Hickory?
Is that correct ?

Mr. Gregg. The total advances to du Pont Engineering Co. from
all contracts were $45,334,629.87.
Mr. Hiss. Correct.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. You understand, Mr. Hiss, this is quite a

different proposition from the foreign governments, in which a per-

centage of the total contract was deposited, anywhere from 25 to

50 percent.

Mr. Hiss. The last complete paragraph on page 3 of this memo-
randum says:

To another subsidiary of the du Pont Co., viz.. the du Pont American In-
dustries, Inc., the Government advanced $5,400,000, to be used by the du Pont
American Industries, Inc., as agent for tlie United States, in the purchase
of cotton linters for the United States and its Allies.

Mr. Gregg. That is correct.
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WAR INDUSTRIES BOARD OBJECTIONS TO COMPENSATION DEMANDED BY
DU PO>;t CO.

Mr. Hiss. Returning to the negotiations in connection with the

Old Hickory contract, the last point tliat had been reached was the

telegram of the Secretary of War on October 31, directing the du
Pont Co. to suspend operations under the order of October 25 of

Major General Crozier, Chief of Ordnance.
On November 7, 1017, Mr. Brookings of the War Industries Board

wrote to the Secretary of War, and said

:

Wishing to get to tlie bottom of tlie pioposed contract with the tlu Pont
Co.. I motored with Admiral Earl to Indian Head yesterday afternoon, and
made a rather hurried but complete inspection of the naval powder plant

which is located there. While the plant is small, producing only 25,000 pounds
per day, they have an appropriation for doubling this capacity at an expendi-
ture of something like $2,000,000. I am convinced, from statements made me
by the superintendent, IMr. Patterson, and the officers in charge that the plant

is producing as good powder as is produced by any plant in the world, and
I herewith enclose copy of report made by them October 21

I think the reference is to a rejDort of October 22, which is also

offered in evidence at this point.

(The letter of Nov. 7, 1917, and report of Oct. 22, 1917, referred

to were marked " Exhibit No. 1139 " and " Exhibit No. 1140 ", respec-

tively, and are included in the appendix on p. 3264.)

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

showing the cost during the fiscal year 1917 to be about 31 cents for what is

known as " direct shop cost ", with an overhead including boxing, interest, out-

bound freight, depreciation, and so forth, of about 9 cents, or a total of 40
cents per pound.

The base price in the October 25 agreement was 441/2 cents, was it

not, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. 441/^ cents.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

Of this cost, the contract with the du Ponts would entirely eliminate the item
of boxes, depreciation, outbound freight and barge expense, and interest which
you will notice aggregates about 7 cents per pound, reducing the cost to 33
cents. This is a small scattered phmt of only one-fortieth of the capacity of the
proposed new plant. With the purchasing power of the Government and the
magnitude of the proposed plant, it is quite probable that the cost as outlined
by the du Pont agreement will not exceed 35 cents per pound, so that under
the du Pont contract, they would make during the first year of operation a
profit of about 10 cents per pound or approximately $30,000,000 in addition to
the $13,500,000 construction commission pi'ovided for.

Senator Vandenberg. Who is that speaking?
Mr. Hiss. Robert S. Brookings, of the War Industries Board, re-

porting to the Secretary of War, Mr. Baker.

I herewitli hand you enclosures just received from Colonel Pierce which
indicate the cost to the British Government for contractor's services on a plant
probably similar to this would average about 2 percent.

In other words, $1,800,000.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Are you getting away from this first exhibit

you are just reading from?
Mr. Hiss. No. We will return to that in just a moment. I would

like to finish reading this letter.

This does not seem, however, to cover the plans and specifications.



3174 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

That the price demanded by the du Fonts for construction, service, and

operation is utterly out of scale with any possible service they can render would

seem obvious.

The cost report of October 22 of the Naval Proving Ground, Indian

Head, Md., addressed to the Bureau of Ordnance, shows a total cost

of a direct shop nature of 31 and some fractional cents, including a

depreciation item of .02 and a further fraction. The shop cost of

31 cents plus an overhead cost of seven cents and an interest cost of

1.8 made a total cost of 39.9 cents as reported in this particular state-

ment.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Secretary, may I call attention to a few

items on this estimate you have just read out?

Mr. Hiss. Certainly.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I have never seen this estimate before, so this

is very superficial examination.
I would like to point out some of the prices on the materials used

in this estimate. I think they are probably based on the stocks on
hand at Indian Head earlier, in the earlier period before the war.
Mr. Hiss. Just before that, may I give you another document to

consider at the same time so that you will have that before you ?

A letter of October 27, 1934, from the Secretary of the Navy to

the chairman of this committee listing the costs of Indian Head for

the entire war period, namely, 1915-16, 191G-1T, 1917-18, and
1918-19, with the statement of the price paid for raw materials

throughout the period.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1141 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3267.)

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Take the item of alcohol, which I happen
to notice because right at the bottom you have down there 6.45 cents

a pound as the price in the estimate for the year 1918. The Amer-
ican Distilling Co. price was 10.9 cents a pound, a differential of

4.4 cents, whicli represents an error in this thing of 3l^ cents on the

low side.

Mr. Hiss. If 3^ou will turn to the last sheet of the Secretary of

the Navy's chart, you will see the costs stated for 1915 through to

1919, which shows that new powder, total cost including deprecia-

tion, insurance, and interest, in 1915-16 was 44 cents, in 1916-17 was
40 cents, and in 1917-18 went up to 51 cents. The statement is as of

October 1917.

Mr. Ihenei: du Pont. I do not follow that, quite ; 51 cents—where
do vou see that ?

Mr. Hiss. 1917-18. Do you see that?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. 1917-18, 51 cents; yes.

Mr. Hiss. 1918-19 was the other one.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Does this represent the actual cost?

Mr. Hiss. So w^e are informed.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Have you the prices for raw materials

charged in?
Mr. Hiss. They are shown on the first three pages, with the state-

ment of the supplies of the raw materials. You will notice that

diphenylamine in 1917 was purcliased from your company at $0.60.

In other words, 60 cents a pound.
Mr. Irenp:e du Pont. Diphenylamine, they used an insignificant

amount of that. The big items are alcohol, nitrate of soda, and
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cotton. The alcohol prices, as I recall at this time, had gone up
to 12 cents, notwithstanding that apparently they bought early
enough in 1918 to get it for only about 11 cents, here. But in this

estimate that is given as the 31-cent estimate, it is down for 6.45

cents. It manifestly is not applicable. You could not buy alcohol

for these plants at that price. We were quoting on the then market.
We could not buy alcohol like they bought the year before.

Similarly, nitrate of soda, we have down 2.1 cents. See what
they have for the price of nitrate of soda here—never having seen
this document before. They have in 1918 2.6 cents, and I do not
think the}' bought very much at that price, because j^ou can find out
what we actuall}' paid for it.

Mr. Hiss. Will you also notice on page 2 the price paid for cotton
linters in 1917 at 14 cents a pound, which was very high, was it

not? Did your company pay anything like that for cotton linters

in 1917?
^

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know. I imagine those are purified
cotton linters, which we did not buy except in a smali way.

Mr. Hiss. You produced those?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. We produced those. That is what those

large buildings along the horizon are [indicating on panoramic
picture].

Mr. Hiss. On November 14

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I beg your pardon. Could I just look at
those cotton linters? They say they paid 14 cents for them in 1917,
and the cotton linters down here are 10 cents.

Mr. Hiss. One is a complete 1917 report and the other is as of
October. You will notice the total 1917 cost is higher than the
October one.

On November 14, 1917, Mr. Brookings wrote a further letter to
the Secretary of War.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1142", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3269.)
Mr. Hiss [reading] :

You have doubtless heard that the War Industries Board, by invitation of
General Crozier, had a long conference today with General Crozier, Colonel
Hoffer, and Mr. McRoberts, representing the Ordnance Department, and Colonel
Butler

Which probably means Colonel Buckner

—

and Mr. du Pont representing the du Pont Co.

That was you, Mr. Pierre du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not sure whether I was there or Irenee

du Pont.
Mr. Hiss (reading) :

I wish to say to you confidentially that v^iiile our protest has produfed chanf^esm the contract which will probably save the Government $5,000,000 or $6,000,000
and has modified one or two other conditions of the contract in the Govern-
ment's interest, it still remains in shape where tliose who expressed them-
selves—Judge Lovett. Mr. Barueh. and myself—declined to approve it. While
upon the one hand Colonel Hoffer devoted himself to criticizing the Indian
Head cost submitted to you as compared with the cost of severalkinds of ma-
terials today, upon the other hand the du Pont people franklv admitted that
they expected to make 10 cents per pound under the contract. In other words,
that they expected to produce the powder at 10 cents less than the fixed price
mentioned in the contract. Practically the only changes offered were to rebate6^ cents
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six and one-half percent it probably meant

—

of the 15 percent charged on construction out of the profits they would make on
operation, to be paid, however, in installments whicli would require 16 to 18
months' operation of the plant in order to secure it. The other change, as I

remember it, reduced their compensation from 5 cents to 3i^ cents per pound
under certain conditions where the powder cost more to produce than the price
named in the contract.

My only purpose in sending you this communication is to emphasize the
conviction which I think we all have in the War Industries Board that, when
a large sum of money like this is to be expended, unless we participate in the
first stages of the conference and are able to mold it along lines which we feel

to be fair and equitable, it is almost impossible to do anything with it. General
Crozier, Colonel Hoffer, and Mr. McRoberts had recommended in the most
unqualified way this original contract, and, in our interviews with General
Crozier and Colonel Hoffer no amount of arguments made any impression,
on them, as they still insisted that the contract was not only a reasonable one
but one which evidenced the greatest generosity on the part of the du Fonts.
You can readily see how diflBcult it is to get men who have so conclusively
passed upon a proposition to admit that they have made a mistake. I may be
wrong, but 1 have the feeling that if we had participated in this negotiation
from the beginning we could just about have reduced it one-half, that is, 7^^
percent on construction and probably 2^2 cents per pound for operation. Even
this would have given them an absolutely secured profit of 7% million dollars
per year for nothing on earth but directing the policy of the company from
their main office, as of course everything else was chargeable to the cost of
powder and the Government furnished absolutely all the capital, and, by the
terms of the contract, assumed risk of every kind and character.
On leaving the conference. General Crozier announced that he felt that,

regardless of price, the Government must have immediate action on this, and
immediate action could only be had through the du Fonts, and therefore he
would urge upon you the emergency necessity which, in his judgment, ovex*-

shadowed all question of cost.

It was suggested to the du Fonts that they go ahead and construct this plant
and operate it after construction, charging all cost of every kind and character
to the Government, and, after they had demonstrated the great service rendered
the Government, to leave to the Secretary of War the question of their com-
pensation, assuring them that the Secretary of War could not do other than
treat them fairly—in fact liberally—if he assumed the responsibility of paying
them a fair price for their service. They may consider this, although I do not
think it was received very favorably.

It seemed to me that you should have from the War Industries Board as
quickly as possible our interpretation of this interview.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Chairman, I would like to say in regard
to that matter. That may have been the writer's opinion—it was not
our opinion—that it was a hand-out of $7,000,000 for nothing.
The Chairman. Who was the writer?
Mr. Hiss. Robert S. Brookings, of the War Industries Board.
Mr. Pierre du*Pont. The representation there is that it was mere

pen work at Wilmington, signing of vouchers, checks, or whatnot
and that there was nothing else done by the du Pont Co.
As a matter of fact, a contract was entered into to build a plant

at Nitro, W. Va., with other contractors, reputable men, I guess the
best men in the country. They did not have our knowledge. They
came to us for their technical knowledge, which was furnished free.

They had our drawings and all the knowledge we could put into their

heads by telling them. They started to make a plant and they built

it, and the record here shows that had we in the cost of Old Hickory
expended as much money proportionately as they did, it would have
cost about $20,000,000 more.
Mr. Hiss. Could we just stick to Old Hickory for the time being?
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think it is very pertinent here to bring
in this letter which will go in the record as the opinion of a man,
and probably not worth anything; he made a bad guess, in other

words. They hired somebody else to do the work who did not have
the knowledge, and the consequence was they paid more than if they
had taken us up on the original proposition. That is the record
and the story. It is better to put that in now than at the last, when
we have forgotten about this first business.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I have not quite forgotten that Brookings
incident. I would like to quote Mr. Brookings.

I think I was the Mr. du Pont there at that time, because I had
an interview with Mr. Brookings. I could not say if this is the one.

But at that interview he told me he would rather pay a dollar a
pound for powder for the United States in a state of war if there

was no profit in it rather than pay the du Pont Co. 50 cents a

pound for powder if they had 10 cents profit in it. That is what
he told me. I think that is where the 10 cents came from ; I do not
suppose I denied it. I plainly recall that I pnt down Mr. Brook-
ings as a woodenware manufacturer in St. Louis or somewhere. He
evidently did not appreciate that we might have war on the east

coast of the United States. I was fearful of war. Apparently
he thought that he was far enough inland so that it did not matter
much.

Senator Vandenberg. Do you recall the suggestion that was made
at that conference that you do this on a cost basis and leave your
own compensation to the Secretary subsequently?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. No; Mr. Senator.
Senator Vandenberg. Do you recall such a suggestion?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not say that I do recall it exactly

that way, but the idea of leaving things to be decided later is not
sufficiently businesslike, and I think you will recognize that, even in

this case. Consider the next war—that there is somebody who must
do something for the Government. Will he not be extremely un-
likely to do it in view of our sad experience with Old Hickory?
We took 8 months to build the plant. There is a rough picture

of a little jDart of it. The vouchers were audited by Government
officials and it took them 8 years, auditing and reauditing and re-

auditing. I do not know how many investigations we have had, but
this is simply another. This is all expense to the company. We are
held up to ridicule or worse, that we are trying to rob the United
States, when we did one of the most magnificent jobs done in the
war there; perfectly astonishing that a thing like that could have
been built so quickly and have gone into production ahead of time
in every unit, when the time set for that production was so extremely
short.

Mr. Hiss. Do you believe that there was any other company in the
country that could have done it with the same speed at that time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know of any that there were. I

cannot conceive that there could have been.
Mr. Hiss. Did any of the Government officials at any time during

that period indicate to you that they thought anyone else could
do it as well as you could do it ?
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. Unless you would say that by Mr. Baker
taking it out of our hands and putting the Charleston plant in

other hands certainly indicated he thought so.

Mr. Hiss. I mean the Old Hickory proposition itself.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. This first proposition you have been talking

about was the Charleston plant. When Mr. Jackling came, he tried

to take our chief engineer away from the du Pont Co., upsetting their

work, and the chief engineer said, " I cannot do anything. I cannot
help you. This is the organization that does the thing. You will

have to take the organization."

Mr. Hiss. My impression of the October 25 contract is that it re-

ferred to a site or sites to be determined, and there was consideration

of the possibility of two sites ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Charleston was the first selection for a

location.

Mr. Hiss. And at the same time producing a combined total of a

million pounds per day. It was later decided to have a million

pounds per day at Nashville and an additional plant at Charleston.

Is that not correct?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Oh, no; I think that is wrong. The addi-

tional plant comes first. Charleston was started in January, two
months before Old Hickory. The Charleston plant did not get into

operation as fast as the one at Old Hickory, although Old Hickory
had the disadvantage of having to build a railroad to it, whereas
Charleston had the railroad already there.

Mr. Hiss. Was that not also because your contract with the Gov-
ernment could not be determined earlier, since the point of compen-
sation was not agreed upon?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. They agreed with the contractor for the

Charleston plant before they agreed with us. That contract is dated,

I think, 2 months earlier; at least, they started work 2 months
earlier.

Mr. Hiss. Two months earlier than January or 2 months earlier

than October, the first order?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The Charleston plant started work in the

early part of January 1918, I believe.

Mr. Hiss. But not until after the October order had been issued
by General Crozier, which would have given you the Charleston
project?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss, As well as whatever project may have been contemplated

at Nashville ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Presumably would be, although the October
contract originally was planned that we would take all or part.

To refer back just a moment to this question of savings, if the
Government had contracted Old Hickory to the same contractors as

built Nitro
Mr. Hiss. Who were the contractors xdio built Nitro, Mr. du Pont?
Mr, Gregg. The Government made a contract with Thompson

Starret Co. to construct a plant. Mr. Jackling was in charge.
Mr. Hiss. Was Mr. Coleman du Pont a director of the Thompson

Starret Co. ?

Mr. Gregg. I could not tell you that. I do not know.



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 3179

Mr. PiEERE Du Pont. But taking the cost of Nitro, if they had
built the Old Hickory plant at the same cost per pound of output,

it would have cost $19,000,000 more than it did to us. That is the

difference. It was more than any contemplated proht on construc-

tion, surely. That is the construction contract only.

CONTINUANCE OF NEGOTIATIONS ON PAKT OF ORDNANCE DEPARTMENT

Mr. Hiss. On November 15, although the War Industries Board
had recommended against the contract, the Chief of Ordnance, Gen-
eral C'rozier, notified your company, according to this memorandum
of November 17, 1917, which I offer as an exhibit, reading as fol-

lows :

I consider it necessary to the interests of the Government for your company
to acquire title to the land that you have under option for a smokeless-powder

plant.

It is understood that your company is willing to purchase the land and to

either sell it to the Government or dispose of it to any individuals that the

War Department may name at the actual cost to your company plus interest

at 4 percent.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1143 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 3270.)

Mr. Hiss. In other words, the War Department thought that not-

withstanding the criticisms of the War Industries Board, the con-

tract must go ahead, and authorized you to take steps in that direc-

tion. Is that correct, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. This is November 17, after the whole deal

was off.

Mr. Hiss. After the whole deal w^as off ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. The War Department still urged you to go ahead op-

tioning sites ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. For them. The understanding was they

were going to take the property, and if they did not want it they
would pay us for it, plus 4 percent.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Not plus 4 percent
;
plus interest at 4 percent.

Mr. Hiss. In your opinion at that time, there was to be no further

plan of the du Pont Co. constructing its plant? You thought the

entire deal was off?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Apparently it was
;
yes.

Mr. Hiss. May I show you a draft of a contract dated November
19, 1919? This copy comes from the War Department files, but I

have seen a similar copy in the files of your own company.
JVIr. Pierre du Pont. There are nr.merous negotiations on the

thing.

Mr. Hiss. It indicates that the negotiations were continuing
throughout this time.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We did not let go of a thing.

Mr. Hiss. I am sorry I misunderstood your statement.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. We had been notified that the deal was off.

Mr. Hiss. Returning to the November 17 document, my question

was that although the Secretary of War had ordered you to suspend
operations and the War Industries Board had expressed its disap-
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proval of the contract, the War Department still directed you to con-

tinue with optioning the property?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. That seems to be true

;
yes.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Does it say " optioning " ? Acquire title to

the land.

Mr. Hiss. Which is even more than an option.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That does not mean we agreed to have an
interest in the thing at all.

Mr. Hiss. Not even taken in connection with the fact that new
contracts were being made up in consultation between the War De-
partment and your company?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We kept the thing going, but as to what the

outcome would be was a mere guess. This would have worked equally

well if we had been kept in the game or left out.

Mr. Hiss. On November 21 General Crozier wired you, Mr. Pierre

du Pont, as follows [reading] :

Colonel Euckner advises me that options are beginning to expire on tlie

machinery for the proposed plant of 1,000,000 pounds of smokeless powder per
day. The Department desires and authorizes you, if the prices are reasonable,
to close all option;? where action is considered by your company necessary to

protect the Government in the procurement of this machinery. You may close

these options in the name of the Ordnance Department.

(The telegram referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1144 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3271.)
Senator Vandenberg. What was the relative authority of the War

Industries Board and the War Department in respect to these things,

Mr. Hiss?
Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris?

TESTIMONY OF IT. COL. C. T. HARRIS AND IT. E. M. BRANNON—
Recalled

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The War Industries Board had no
real authority to control the letting of contracts. The authority
rested with the War Department.
Mr. Hiss. The War Industries Board were advisers to the Secre-

tary of War and to the President ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. To the President and also the Secre-
tary of War.

Senator Vandenberg. And the War Industries Board had no con-
clusive authority of its own in any aspect ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. In connection with letting of contracts,
no, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. Did they have any authority ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. They had the authority of the Presi-
dent's letter to them of March 4 in connection with raw materials,
checking prices, and so forth, but they had no authority in connection
with letting of a contract of this character.

Senator Vandenberg. They had a price-fixing authority?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. All right.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Before leaving that 51-cent cost, I think it

ought to be proper to insert Avith this record what the actual cost was
at Old Hickory. Bear in mind it was a new plant just going into
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operation, with all the wastefulness of getting under way and break-

ing in new crews. I think yoii will find that that is materially under

the 51-cent price estimated for Indian Head, notwithstanding their

low price of raw material.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Mr. Chairman, may I amend my
statement? These dates have to do with the authority of the War
Industries Board. At this time the War Industries Board was a

creation of the Council of National Defense, and had no executive

authority of anv kind. After ISlarch 4, 1918, they did have authority

by virtue of the President's letter to them. At this time they did

not have any executive authority.

Senator Vandenberg. Purely advisory at this point?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It was a creation of the Council of

National Defense, which did not have any authority.

Senator Vandenberg. Purely advisory ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes, sir.

Mr. Gregg. I might state that at the Old Hickory powder plant

35,538,345 pounds of powder were manufactured at a cost per pound
44.09841, or about 44.1 cents per pound.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg, how much of that was completed after the

armistice ?

Mr. Gregg. It is my recollection that at the time of the signing

of the armistice approximately 25,000,000 pounds of powder had
been delivered and accepted by the Government. The rest had been

manufactured, but it had not yet reached the point of acceptance by

the Government. In other words, there was about 10,000,000 that

held over and was accepted later on.

Mr. Hiss. But that had been completely manufactured by that

time, Mr. Gregg?
Mr. Gregg. I might explain that.

Mr. Hiss. How much was in process ?

Mr. Gregg. In process ?

Mr. Hiss. Yes; on November 11?

Mr. Gregg. I could not tell you how much was in process on
November 11, but the situation was this: Material that had already

been started through in the manufacture of powder, if you stopped
in the midst of that the raw materials used in the manufacture of

powder would be practically worthless. Therefore, it was necessary

to go through with what was in process and complete it. That was
the situation at Old Hickory. We went on through with what
was in process at the time of the signing of the armistice and
completed that powder.

Mr. Hiss. May I interrupt you? I think this statement which I
had intended to refer to later states how much was completed at

the time of the armistice.

November 19, 1918, statement of guncotton nitrated, cannon pow-
der manufactured, and cannon powder packed.

(The tabulation referred to was marked " Exhibited No. 1145 ",

and is included in the appendix on p. 3271.)

Mr. Hiss. You will notice that on that date 16,000,000 pounds, by
November 19, had been finished; 32,000,000 had been nitrated;

26,000,000 had passed through the first stage. So that after that

time, according to your figures, at least 3,000,000 more pounds were
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nitrated and those 3,000,000 plus an additional 31/2 million or so were
put through the first stage.

Mr. Gregg. That is only for the month.
Mr. Hiss. Those are the totals of this year that I was reading.

Mr. Gregg. Total to date.

Mr. Hiss. That is what I was reading, total to date.

Mr. Gregg. The total this year; that is guncotton alone.

Mr. Hiss. So I stated, Mr. Gregg. You misunderstood me. But
since your figures showed 35,000,000 altogether of poAvder, there must
have been another 3,000,000 pounds of guncotton nitrated after this

date, since it was testified yesterday that guncotton is used about
pound for pound in finished powder.
Mr. Gregg. Some of the operating men would have to testify to

that.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Bradway I think could answer that.

He is the technical man on that.

Mr. Hiss. After November 11, 1918, did powder-manufacturing
costs increase or decrease?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. After what date ?

Mr. Hiss. November 11, 1918, at Old Hickory, did labor rates go
up or down ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We shut down right off. They stopped
nitrating immediately on the armistice.

Mr. Hiss. Three million more pounds were nitrated after that.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Three million more pounds represent about
5 days' operation. If the cotton is already starting through the

nitrating plant, Mr. Bradway can tell you more about it, because he
knows more of those details, and I have only observed them.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Bradway.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Bradway, just one question. The question is.

How many pounds of gunpowder are required for the production of
1 pound of smokeless powder ?

Mr. Bradway. Approximately one.

Mr. Hiss. That is all, thank you.
Mr. Bradway. That is smokeless cannon powder.
Mr. Hiss. That is right.

Mr. Bradway. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, the question I asked just before Mr. Brad-

way testified was : Did labor costs and manufacturing costs of this

powder in process increase or decrease after November 11, 1918, in

your opinion? If they decreased, the cost figures that Mr. Gregg
has read may not be completely comparable with cost figures prior

to November 11. 1918, isn't that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pokt. That is possible.

Mr. Hiss. Have you the costs in October 1918, for example?
Mr. Gregg. We clo not have it by months, Mr. Hiss.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think you will find, Mr. Hiss, that this

32,300,000 pounds of guncotton produced at Old Hickory was even-

tually transposed into finished gunpowder or finished powder of

some kind.

Mr. Hiss. That is correct. Mr. Gregg has already testified to this,

that 35,000,000 pounds were completed. Therefore, 3,000,000 more
had to be nitrated after that date, according to Mr. Bradway's.
testimony.
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1 call your attention to the letter of November 23, 1917, to Mr.

Baker from Mr. Pierre du Pont.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1146 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3272.)

Mr. Hiss. I am quoting from the last sentence of the second para-

graph on the first page [reading] :

During the course of the formulation of the project there was full discussion

concernintf compensatiou to our company and later full explanation of our

position in that respect. It was our understanding that the percentage charges

and form of plans were acceptable to you, though we had no definite assurances

to that effect either from you or through General Crozier or Colonel Hoffer.

Immediately on receipt of order we started to put into eifect plans which
had been rapidly developed during the course of negotiations.

On page 3 of the letter, the third full paragraph, second sentence:

We have agreed to construct the 10 proposed units of the factory, or any
substantial part thereof, or to donate our plans of existing plants to the Govern-

ment should you desire the work done by others than ourselves. We have
agreed to do construction work without profit, provided that the plants are

operated by us for a sufficient length of time to give our company reasonable

compensation for our services.

You regarded the total compensation as compensation for the entire

job of construction and operation, didn't you, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It seems so; yes.

Mr. Hiss (continuing reading) :

We have refused two conditions only : First, to work without proper compen-
sation ; second, to divide with other contractors the work at any one site. The
first refusal is necessary, because the directors of our company, acting for our
stockholders, have no authority to do otherwise. The second, because the work
cannot be accomplished promptly and properly under divided responsibility at

any on,e point.

The next page, the last complete sentence [reading] :

There is no doubt that we have made large profits, but their making has
enabled us to complete work that has not been duplicated elsewhere. It has
also placed us in a position to name prices for powder to the United States
Government below those in force before the war, without any amortization
charge whatever to cover use of factories which will shortly be permanently
dismantled.

Yesterday Mr. Irenee du Pont testified that had it not been for

sales to European customers at prices permitting amortization, the

company would have been forced to make amortization charges in its

sales to the United States,

Mr. Irenee du Pont. If we built the plant for it
;
j^es.

Mr. Hiss. Consequently, it was merely a fortuitous circumstance
that the United States did not have to pay amortization charges in

its contracts with you, is that correct ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I don't know what the definition of " for-

tuitous " is.

Mr. Hiss. It was not a matter of patriotism but of happenstance.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. We manifestly could not give the cost of the

powder plant to the United States Government. We would be great
trustees for the stockholders if we did, if that is what you mean.
Mr. Hiss. May I call your attention to an extract from the minutes

of an executive committee meeting held on January 18, 1918, which I
will offer as exhibit for the record.

(The extract referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1147" and is

included in the appendix on p. 3274.)



3184 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Hiss. This is just before the Old Hickory contract was signed

[reading] :

Resolved that the development department be authorized to pay $3,250,000 for
the properties of the Federal DyestufEs & Chemical Corporation as outlined in

their report of January 17, 1918, provided we are able to close a contract with
suitable advance-payment clause with the United States Government or others

for the sale of picric acid at a price and in an amount sufficient to net us a
fair profit after amortizing the entire cost of this investment, including the
cost of necessary construction work to manufacture picric acid including sul-

phuric-acid plant.

Do you use picric acid in the manufacture of dyestuff ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I believe we did. I think there is a little

explanation there. These people represented they had orders from
the Government and wanted to sell out their properties. We had
no interest in the orders for picric acid. Our interest was in the

dyestuff business.

Mr. Hiss. Do you not use picric acid in the manufacture of dye-

stuff?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes ; but not in this quantity. Nothing ever

happened to this at all. They were one of the war brides at the time.

They claimed they had these orders for picric acid, and I think they
had been in the sulphur-black business, or some other dye. They had
some war orders and wanted to cash in on them, so we put up a prop-
osition which enabled them to do that, if they would, and they came
across. That is all that happened.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The property was not acquired.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was not acquired ; no.

offer of secretary of war baker to pay $1,000,000 and to arbitrate
AS to balance

Mr. Hiss. On November 26, 1917, the chairman of the War In-
dustries Board, who was then Daniel Willard, wrote a letter to the
Secretary of War, which I will offer as an exhibit.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1148 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3274.)

Mr. Hiss. This says:

Inasmuch, however, as we have so far been unable to agree with the du
Pont as to what would be fair compensation for the erection and operation of
the plant, we recommend that you invite the responsible heads of the du Pont
Co. to meet you at your office.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What is the date, please ?

Mr. Hiss. November 26, 1917.

This follows a statement in the preceding paragraph that

—

It is our opinion that the du Pont people are in every way the best fitted for
securing this result

—

Namely, the construction in the least possible time and the operation
at the greatest efficiency.

Continuing with what I started to read before

—

and that you say to them that the emergency nature of the Government needs
is such that you must insist upon their taking hold of the project without fur-
ther delay, and, as the Government's agent, proceed to construct, organize, and
opei-ate the plants, aggregating approximately 1,000,000 pounds capacity per
day in the shortest time possible, the Government to pay every dollar of expense
connected therewith as the work progresses ; that inasmuch as we have not
agreed as to what would be fair compensation for their services both in the
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erection and operation of the plant, and inasmuch as they must, of course, be
willing to accept fair compensation for their services and the Government being
perfectly willing to pay fair compensation

—

Now, therei'oro, the Government proposes to pay them $1,000,000 in advance
on account of the net profit or compensation to them over and above all cost

of construction and operation and that pending the completion of the contract,

i. e., 18 months after the first unit is ready for operation, the Government,
through the Secretary of War, will endeavor to negotiate with them from time

to time as to what, if any. additional compensation they should fairly receive

for their services, and on the completion of the contract if the du Pont Co. and
the Secretary of War have not been able to agtee upon such sum, then the

matter shall he left to the usual form of arbitration—that is, each party to

select one arbitrator and the two so selected to agree upon a third, the findings

of the two of these three to be binding upon both interested parties.

Mr, du Pont, is it not unusual in your experience to have a Gov-
ernment official offer to arbitrate a point which it is his duty as a

Government official to exercise discretion on ?

Mr, Pierre du Pont, I never had any experience in that line.

Mr, Irenee du Pont, Mr, Secretary, that letter is perfectly easily

explained. You know Daniel Willard is as honest and straightfor-

ward as he could be. If he made a proposition to me to do a job for

him, on a basis of that kind, I could trust him and it would be all

right. But the Government cannot do that sort of thing. They
haven't got the power to do it. They would just pass the buck and
never get anywhere on it,

Mr, Hiss, Did your company accept that offer?

Mr, Pierre du Pont. It did not.

Mr, Hiss, On November 28, 1917, Mr, du Pont wrote a letter to

the board of directors of the company, which I will offer for appro-
priate exhibit number,

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1149 ", and
is included in the appendix on p, 3275.)

Mr, Hiss, This letter refers to a conference the day before with
the Secretary of War [reading] :

The Secretary informed me that a meeting had been held the day before, at

which were present the War Industries Board, General Crozier and himself.

He and General Crozier bad presented opposite opinions. The Secretary being
in favor of giving the work to other contractors and architects, such as Mr.
Graham

—

Is he of the Thompson Starrett Co. ?

Mr, Pierre du Pont, I do not recall him.
Mr, Hiss. Do you know, Mr. Gregg? Do you know Mr, Graham?
Mr. Gregg. I do not know Mr. Graham,
Mr, Hiss (continuing reading) :

who has visited our plants with the purpose of learning the nature of the work
to be accomplished.

Can you identify Mr. Graham, Colonel?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris, I think he belongs to the firm of

Graham Starrett of Chicago,^
Mr, Hiss, Not Thompson Starrett?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris, My records will show.
Mr, Hiss. We will just go on while you are looking that up.
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. All right.

^ Under date of April 4, 1935, Colonel Harris notified the committee of liis belief thai
the Mr. Graham referred to was a member of the firm of Graham, Anderson, Probst &
White of Chicago, designing engineers, employed by the Thompson Starrett Co. in con-
nection with the construction of the Nitro plant at Charleston, W. Va.



3186 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Hiss (continuing reading " Exhibit No. 1149 ") :

The Secretary evidently realized that I understood that Mr. Graham was
willing to undertake the work, for he said, " You understand, of course, that

Mr. Graham has made no bid." He then said that the War Industries Board
had made a decision, which though contrary to his own views, he had decided

to adopt. The decision is attached hereto.

That refers to the letter of November 26 offering arbitration, does

it not, Mr. du Pont? The last paragraph, I think, will identify it,

the last paragraph on the first page. After having referred to the

decision, you say

:

The words " you must insist upon their taking hold of the project without
^further delay "

—

Those words you will find in the letter of November 26.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think that is right.

Senator Barbour. Who wrote that letter, Mr. Secretary?
Mr. Hiss. The one I am reading from?
Senator Barbour. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Pierre du Pont, to his board of directors.

Senator Pope. Mr, Hiss, do your records show when General
Crozier's services were discontinued with the Government or the

War Department?
Mr. Hiss. I do not know. Colonel Harris, do you know what his

service record is?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It was some time in February.
Senator Pope. 1918?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. 1918.

Mr. Hiss. That he ceased to be chief of ordnance or retired from
the Army?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. That he ceased to be chief of ordnance.
Mr. Hiss. He did not retire from the Army at that time?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. He did not retire from the Army ; no.

He went on another work.
Mr. Hiss. Continuing with this letter of November 28

:

After reading this letter of the War Industries Board I told the Secretary
that I wiuld not assume the responsibility of a decision; that our directors
were to meet today and I would lay the latter before them with the recom-
mendation that we do not accept the proposition of the War Industries Board,

Senator Vandexberg. Does that refer to the Willard letter?

Mr. Hiss. The Willard btter of November 26.

Senator Vandexberg. Yes.
Mr. Hiss (continuing reading) :

The words " you must insist upon their taking hold of the project without
further delay ", and some remarks of the Secretary lead me to make the
statement that if the Government had power to commandeer our services we
should insist that such power be exercised in order to relieve us of responsi-
i)ility that we could not assume ourselves. The Secretary replied that he was
no', sure of the law, but did not believe the Government had power of insistance.

Colonel Harris, do vou recall section 120 of the National Defense
Act?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I do.
Mr. Hiss. And was that in effect at this time ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It was.
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Mr. Hiss. In your opinion, did that give power to commandeer
plants where a reasonable compensation could not be agreed upon
between the Government and the operator or owner of the plant.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It gave power to commandeer existing

plants, but I do not know whether it gave them power to commandeer
an organization to build one.

Mr. Hiss. How manj' instances of commandeering do 3'ou know
of during the vrar?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. There were many compusory orders

placed, which is ulso covered in section 120; but very few plants

were actually connnandeered, because that involved the operation

of those plants and the personnel was not available for their

ojieration.

Mr. Hiss. So section 120 was really limited for practical purposes
to compulsory orders?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Generally speaking, that is right.

Mr. Hiss. And would have to be, in the nature of the case ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. Page 2 of " Exhibit No. 1149 " [reading] :

As the Secretary had approved of the compensation agreed upon, I called

attention to that nnderstanding, to which he replied that our protit on the
work might be anywhere from $13,000,000 to $30,000,000; that his mind could
not conceive of services of anyone being worth such a price.

The last sentence of the same paragraph [reading] :

The $1,000,000 proposed by the "War Industries Board is one-fourth of 1 iier-

cent, so that the largest addition that we might expect to be added to this

amount would leave a profit wholly inadequate for so great an undertaking.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. You note the inference thei-e. The Secretary
insisted that this 15 percent was profit. I explained carefully that

it was not, and if the contract and our services with them be measured
according to his views, which seemed to be the case, we would have
been something like $10,000,000 out of pocket to start with, even
though we received a million dollars.

Mr. Hiss. But after your explanation to him, he still was of the
opinion that the profit might be anywhere from $13,000,000 to

$30,000,000.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. He insisted that this 15 percent was all profit.

Mr. Hiss. He disagreed with your view of it ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. He disagreed with my view of it, yes; but
it was his opinion against mine. His opinion ma}^ have been correct;

I have no doubt it was honest, but it was a difference of opinion.

Mr. Hiss. The last page, the second complete sentence [reading] :

The developments of the past month have shown that there is not urgent
haste.

Your company had insisted all along that there was urgent haste

in having additional powder capacity?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. A lack of urgent haste was indicated by the

actions at Washington.
Mr. Hiss. Did that cause 3'ou to change your opinion as to whether

or not there was need to increase powder capacity.
Mr. Pierre du Pokt. It did not change my opinion, but it seemed

to indicate that Washington did not appear to agree very closely

with my opinion.
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Mr. Hiss. In this sentence where you said, " The developments of

the past month have shown that tliere is not ui'fi^ent haste ", you
mean you still thouf^ht that there was urgent haste ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I still thought there was
;
yes.

Mr. Hiss. The last paragraph [reading] :

In view of the above I refommend that we decline the offer of the War
Industries Board, as presented by the Secretary of War, and recommend to the
latter that he employ other contractors as we have reached the conclusion that

our services to the Government have not the value that we had supposed.

By " value " did you mean importance, or value from a price point

of view?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Either way. I think it would be fair to say

here that one remark of the Secretary was very important to my
mind.

Just after we received his telegram canceling the October order,

which we supposed was agreed upon and which we thought was fair,

as we had a different point of view in regard to the amount of profit

on the 15 percent, the Secretary said to me, in substance, these words

:

" I think it is time for the American people to show they can do
things for themselves."

I thought up to that time I was an American citizen, but he seemed
to indicate that he considered we were a species of outlaws, and I
confess I resented the remark. If he believed in it, we certainly were
not wanted. It could not have been a clearer indication that we were
not wanted, to say the American people could do things for them-
selves, and we were not included in the American people. It was a

clear indication from the conversation that our help was not wanted.
The Chairman. You understood what he meant by the American

people was the American Government?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. You can translate it as well as I can, I

know he seemed to indicate we were not included in the American
people, because we were not considered. I never could understand
why the delay until the contention at Washington developed,

I heard about it for the first time yesterday. It may not have had
anything to do with it. We were not aware there was any contention

at Washington. We thought the whole Government was acting as a
unit. We did not distinguish between the War Industries Board, the
Secretary, and General Crozier. We thought they were all together.

We never suspected there was any difference between their opinions
and actions.

Mr. Hiss. On November 28, 1917, your board adopted your recom-
mendation, didn't it, Mr. du Pont? I offer an extract from the
minutes of that date as an exhibit.

(Tlie extract from minutes referred to was marked " Exhibit No.
1150", and is included in the appendix on p. 3276.)

Mr. Hiss. But the board added a clause to the refusal, namely

:

This board is willing to add a clause to its said revised proposal under and
by which the du Pont Co. will apn'ee that in no event shall the total compensa-
tion received liy this company be an amount ijreater than 10 percent of the
actual construction cost and 15 percent of the actual mill cost of powder
produced at such plants.

The Chairman. That was a suggested amendment to the contract?
Mr. Hiss. That was a suggested counter offer.

On December 1. 1917
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The Chairman. Just a moment. I take it from the minutes of

this meeting that the company was not willing to accept any contract

or enter into any understanding unless there could be a guaranty

that they were going to have at least 10 percent on their construction

cost and 15 percent on their operating cost. Is that the conclusion

to be drawn?
]\Ir. Pierre du Pont. Not quite that. We would put in the pro-

vision that the profits should not exceed that. There was a great

divergence in the opinion as to what constituted a profit and what
did not. We probably thought—I am only guessing at this—
that was a safe margin."^ We never expected to get that amount out

of it originally.

Senator Vandenberg. There is constant reference to the board and

the action of the board in these matters. Was it a large board, Mr.

du Pont, or a small board ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not remember how many were on it.

Senator Vandenberg. I mean your board of directors.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes; I know.
Senator Vandenberg. Was it a large group ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I should think about 15 to 20 at that time.

I am not sure. It was not a small board of 4 or 5.

Senator Barbour. Mr. du Pont, when you speak of 15-percent

mill cost, that would not probably be a net 15-percent cost to the

company in the final profit sense ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. What we meant by a profit was clear of all

expenses. But there was a great difference between our opinion of

what constituted expenses as compared to the Government's opinion.

We thought originally when we made the proposition of 15 percent

that a large part of that was actual out-of-pocket expenses, but the

Government did not agree with us on that. Our minds would not

meet on the subject. We each had our opinion and stuck to it, and
that was the end of it.

Mr. Hiss. In a letter of December 1, 1917, Mr. Pierre du Pont
more fully sets forth the counteroffer of the board of directors. I

might just read that, and that may clear up the point you have in

mind.
Senator Vandenberg. May we have a list of the board of directors,

at your convenience, at that time? ^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. On December 1, 1917, you wrote to Mr. Willard, then
chairman of the War Industries Board. I offer this letter for the
record.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1151", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3277.)

Mr. Hiss. The third sentence reads:

At a meeting" held November 28, 1917, the proposition was given most careful
and lengthy consideration, not only from the point of view of financial advantage
to the company but from the side of the Government, with full appreciation of
its needs, the gravity of the situation, and the appeal of patriotism. As a
result the board of directors have requested that this letter be addressed to
the War Industries Board, respectfully declining their offer of November 26.

1 The (111 Pont Co. later submitted a list of their officers and directors for 1917 (see
Hearings, Part XIII, text footnote p. 2958, appendix p. 3162).
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Page 2, the first complete paragraph

:

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. are the owners of about 90 percent of the-

military smokeless powder producing capacity of the United States.

You had far and away the most experience in producing powder
on a large scale, hadn't you ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont, No doubt. What letter is that '(

Mr. Hiss. December 1, 1917, from you to Mr. Willard.
Mr. Pierre du Pont, Yes,
Mr. Hiss. I was reading from the first complete paragraph on page-

2. Now, turn to page 3, the Irst paragraph on that page [reading] :

When amortization charges were covered we voluntarily reduced our prices,

so that in April 1917 our price was 60 cents per pound. When our Government
aslied for bids we again voluntarily made a reduction and offered to all cus-

tomers for prompt delivery millions of pounds of smokele.ss powder at 47i/^

cents per poinid.

That price refers to cannon water-dried powder, which was the

cheapest of three types of powder, was it not ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. As I understand it.

Mr. Hiss. In other words, cannon air-dried was 49 cents, and 3U-

caliber smokeless powder was 60 cents, was it not ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. You stated the lowest of the three possible prices.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That Avas the large tonnage.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe in those offers w^e took the risk of

the raw materials.

Mr. Hiss, On page 4, Mr, du Pont, the first complete paragraph,
[reading] :

Throughout our foreign customers have placed absolute reliance upon the
ability of the company to manufacture powder for them and have advanced
for construction and operation of the factories very large sums of money so
that at times we held in excess of $100,000,000 of their cash without any-
security whatever.

This refers to the evidence put in as to advance payments, and no
security was furnished by the compan}^ for any of those advance pay-
ments ; that is correct, is it not ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It depends on what you mean by security.

We did not put up any collateral or anything of that kind.
Mr. Hiss, I was asking what you meant.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was acknowledged as a debt of the com-

pany and would have to be returned. We acknowledged the receipt

of the advanced money, on open account.
Mr. Hiss. In other words, it Avas an open account, unsecured by

collateral

?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I take it.

Senator Barbour. Your customers did not need any security ?

Mr, Irenee du Pont, We did not have any to put up.
Senator Barbour. That is what I say,

Mr, Irenee du Pont. Unless it would be a mortgage on the plant.

Mr. Hiss. The last paragraph on the same page [reading] :

From the above it is evident that the United States Government now enjoys
the advantage of an enormous and certain powder supply amounting to 440,-

000,000 pounds per annum, at a low price, and without necessity of paying one
cent for amortizating these factories whose cost at today's prices would be
$130,000,000 and without submitting to any delay for their building.
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Mr, Pierre du Pont, I think that this, Mr, Chairmfin, was one of

tlie principal factors in this whole contention, the back log of

capacity actually existed. Tlie situation would have been quite dif-

ferent on both sides if that had not been the case.

The Chairman. And the requirement now was for pay for capacity

that had been made to exist?

I\[r. Irenee du Pont. What is that?

Mv. Pierre du Pont. I do not quite understand that, Mr. Chair-
man.
The Chairman, Maybe I misunderstood in drawing the conclu-

sion that you were feeling that in asking that the larger considera-

tion in way of assurance of a profit you had in mind that you had
created a capacity that the Government now had access to and that
that capacity was inviting consideration from the Government in the
way of pay.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not quite understand the question yet,

Mr, Senator, The fact that this large powder factory—series of

powder factories—existed in the country and was available for a

part of the supply of our Government, as well as our Allies, was a
great factor on both sides in the negotiations. The pressure for
new powder plants was in a measure relieved in that way. I am
looking backward on the thing now. I never recall having con-
sidered that point at the time, but looking backward on the thing
now, I think it did.

The Chairman. I am referring to the minutes of the meeting of
the board of directors just prior to that in which you were insisting

upon at least a 10 percent return.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No
; not more than 10 percent. That is, we

were putting a top limit.

The Chairman. Your minutes show that you were ready to make
it a case of not more than that.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is right.

The Chairman. Ten percent on construction costs and 15 percent
on the operating costs.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That certainly indicates the top margin for
the benefit of the other parties, not the profit we were getting. The
company put a minimum price they would sell for in a contract
to protect themselves. We agreed that it shall not be over that
under certain conditions.

DELAY IN construction FOR 3 MONTHS DUE TO DISAGREEMENT AS TO
amount of COMPENSATION TO DU PONT CO.

The Chairman. Colonel Harris, sitting where you did in those
days, how much quibbling did you encounter as respected the profit

that was to be enjoyed out of the contracts which the Government
was extending?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I was not on the procuring side or on
the negotiating side during the war. I was on the engineering and
technical end of the ammunition, so that my experience would not
enable me to give first-hand information on that question.

The Chairman. Surely in your contact you must have had some
knowledge of the difficulties that were being encountered in connec-
tion with contractingf.
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Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I would say that there was not a great
deal of difficulty in arriving at an agreement during the war. Dur-
ing the war the time element was the important thing. When this
original agreement of General Crozier's was reached on October 25
we were half way through the World War or well into the World
War, and General Crozier thought he was making an equitable
contract.

The negotiations afterwards came from the War Industries Board
disagreeing with General Crozier. Three months were taken up in
negotiations which finally led to the final agi'eement. There were 3

months lost in the middle of the war by these negotiations. That
had a very serious effect on the military effort. Fortunately it did
not have a fatal effect, but it might have had.
The Chairman. It might have had?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. There is no question in my mind that

this time was lost, that something ought to have been done to get
this production under way.

Senator Vandenberg. In other words, are you saying there were^

3 months involved in the negotiations over what the compensation
should be on this program ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The original contract as signed was a.

legal document, on October 25, 1917.

Mr. Hiss. October 25 ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. October 25, 1917. The final agree-
ment was signed, I think, on January 28.

Mr. Gregg. January 29.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. January 29, 1918, which is 3 months-
and 4 days later.

Mr. Hiss. That was again amended on March 23, 1918, and turned
into quite a different kind of contract. It was not even then
satisfactory.

Senator Vandenberg. And Avas there no progress made, no physi-
cal progress itself, during those 3 months?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. There were dealings in connection

with getting under way, as has been brought out here. The du Fonts
had gone ahead at the direction of the Ordnance Department, and,,

to my mind, proper direction.

Senator Clark. But there was not any construction going on
during that period?
Mr. Hiss, There was a delay in construction, wasn't there?
Mr. Gregg. Had not the Government started on the construction

of Nitro prior to January 1918?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The Nitro plant was started about 2

months before the Old Hickory. What date it is without looking it

up I could not say. I think it is in January. I might say, as long as

I am talking, as a result of this dela}^ there was a proposal to build
a third plant, because of the fear that was engendered by the grow-
ing demand for supply, and there was a proposal put forward to

build a third plant of some size. I was one of the advisers on that
and I advised against it; did not think it was necessary.

The Chairman. What was the one thing that prevented quick
accomplishment of agreement there ?
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Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I think it must have been the differ-

ence of opinion by members of the War Industries Board and the

du Pont Co. as to what their net profit would be.

Mr. Hiss. And the refusal by the du Pont Co, to enter into

arbitration up to the point which Ave have now reached.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is not a fair remark. It never came
up to arbitrate what was a proper compensation. Mr. Willard said

if we would accept the proposition, and if we could not then agree

on what was proper, we would arbitrate, but the holding up of this,

contract had nothing to do with failure to arbitrate.

Mr, Hiss, I beg your pardon. The November 26 letter of the

War Industries Board was an offer to you to start immediate con-

struction, to pay you $1,000,000 in advance, and to arbitrate what,

if any, additional compensation might be paid to you, if you could

not agree after 18 months' negotiation,

Mr. Irenee du Pont, That is only one clause in that, sir. It pro-

vides that the Secretary of War should determine at some time in

the future, which would be to try to determine it.

Mr. Hiss. It does not provide that the Secretary of War is to de-

termine it. It was to be based on negotiation.

Mr. Irenee du Pont, Negotiated by the Secretary of War,
Mr. Hiss. Negotiated by the Secretary of War with the du Pont Co.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Do you think that anybody on behalf of the

Government had a proper right to enter into a contract committing
the Government to that kind of a proposition ?

Mr. Hiss. I doubt it ; but is that the reason you turned it down ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was not workable. I would not want to

sign a contract of that kind. That would have been my reason.

The Chairman. Was that the reason at the time?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not tell you what was in the minds of

the other people, but I could not find anj^body keen about it.

The Chairman. Colonel Harris, was there a more critical time
during the war than that immediate time was?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It is hard to say which was the most

critical time of the war, but certainly that was a very critical time.

Senator Clark. The Germans were about ready to break through
on Paris?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. March was a critical time on the west-

ern front, and this Avas 3 or 4 months before that.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Irenee du Pont, in the letter written by Mr. Pierre

du Pont, copy of which is before you, entered in the record as
" Exhibit No. 1151 ", which is in answer to the proposition of the

War Industries Board, I find no statement that the company was
afraid of the legality of an arbitration clause.

At the bottom of page 5 it says [reading] :

We have insisted that these general conditions be safeguarded in our proposi-
tion to tlie United States Government ; that is, this worli is to be allotted to us
as agent of the Government, with absolute power as to tlie exercise of our
judgment and discretion in its accomplishment.

To go back to the conditions, they are

—

First. The absolute confidence of our customers and our employees.
Second. The placing of responsibility upon our men and upholding theJr

decisions.
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Third. The offering of proper financial inducement to all employees and gen-

erous reward to every man wlio shows extraordinary attainments.
Fourth. The pursuit of normal metliods in conducting a very large business

under prosperous conditions.

On page 6, the first complete paragraph reads

:

In arriving at the terms of the order as it now stands, we foresaw the

possibility of a failure to operate the proposed factories after their comple-
tion. We, therefore, asked compensation for construction work, agreeing that

this should be 6^^ percent on the cost thereof. This condition was promptly
eliminated when the Ordnance Department proposed that similar compensation
would be guaranteed through the operations of the factories.

In other words, you at all times wanted compensation for con-

struction as well as operation, and the reason you changed from a cost

of construction and a cost of operation to a cost of operation plan was
because compensation for construction would be guaranteed through
the operation of the factories. [Continuing reading :]

We also asked a minimum compensation on operation. At first 5 cents per
pound on a base cost of 44^^ cents was proposed. By this means the Govern-
ment was to be assured powder at today's price and E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Co. was to be guaranteed a profit of lli/4 percent on cost. In naming this

price we were confident that probable conditions would enable us to reduce the

base cost which was proposed as an insurance provision only.

You, of course, expected to make more than II14 percent; is not

that correct?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It would look like it if we could save the

difference.

Mr. Hiss. And you were confident that the probable conditions

would enable you to do it, according to this statement of Mr. Pierre

du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That sounds reasonable.

Mr. Hiss. On page 8 [reading] :

Whatever may be the position in regard to the compensation of B. I. du
Pont de Nemours & Co., the essential point of interest is the cost of powder
to the Government. Prior to the war the price of powder was fixed by con-

gressional act at 53 cents per pound. AVar conditions have added 10 cents per
pound to this cost for essential ingredients alone ; so that today's comparative
figure should be 63 cents per pound without any additional allowance to the
powder manufacturer.

That does not take into consideration increased volume which
might decrease cost, does it?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Of course, increased volume would tend to

decrease costs quite materially, but the great thing was the improve-
ment in efficiency in manufacture.
Mr. Hiss. Which in itself reduced the cost?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We used less alcohol, which I pointed out.

Alcohol was 12 cents, I think, without regard to your quotation.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

Under the order now before the War Industries Board the Government may
obtain powder at 44^2 cents, or 16 percent below pre-war prices in face of the
above-mentioned advance in essential materials of 10 cents per pound.

That 441/2-cent figure did not include depreciation charges, did it?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No.
Mr. Hiss. Whereas, if the Government had been buying from you

direct, it would have to include depreciation charges? In other
words, the Government was standing its own depreciation charges?
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Mi\ Irenee du Pont. Obsolescence, really. The plant would be
useless after the war. Somebody had to pay for it.

Mr. Hiss. So that 44i/^ cents does not represent the cost per pound
of powder to the Government, since it had to stand the cost of con-
struction less salva<^e?

Mr. Irenee du Pokt. Yes; they had to do that anyhow.
Mr. Hiss. That had to be added into the 441/2 cents. The cost

turned out to be $85,000,000. Are you informed how much Old
Hickory brought the Government, if anything, by way of salvage?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am not informed.
Mr. Hiss. Are you. Colonel Harris ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Approximately 3i/^ million dollars.

Mr. Hiss. So that the difference between $85,000,000 and $3,500,000
must have been added into the 441/2 cents.

Mr. iRENiiE DU Pont. Nobody knew the armistice was coming in

1918 at that time.

Mr. Hiss. Therefore your statement that the Government could
obtain powder at 44i/o cents or 16 percent below pre-war prices is

not a complete statement?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. It is not complete, but it is accurate. There

was no amortization of the plants when w^e quoted that, because it

was a going concern, to be used year after year.

Mr. Hiss. Do you know what your profit was when you were
quoting 53 cents?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think it varied from year to year.

Mr. Hiss. May I introduce at this time the statement of sales to

the United States Government from 1899 to 1914?
(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1152 " and

is included in the appendix on p. 3280.)

Mr. Hiss. That shows in the left-hand column fixed investment
less depreciation, the next column working capital. These are totaled

as your total investment. Then are shown the number of pounds
sold, the gross price per pound, and the net per pound. What does

that net per pound mean? Mr. Eliason, can you get out a copy of

that, so that we can have it before us?
Mr. Eliason. Mr. Bradway has all that information.

Mr. Hiss. This is a statement we had yesterday, the blue-backed

study.

Mr. Eliason, Is it the one which shows advances on the contract ?

Mr. Hiss. That is it. According to the next to the last column,
your percentage of profit on your net investment, including fixed

investment and working capital, in 1914, on sales to the United
States Government—and this includes du Pont, Laflin & Rand, and
International companies—was 28 percent in 1914, to June 30, appar-
ently, 28 percent; in 1913, 20 percent; in 1912, 40 percent; in 1911,

41 percent.

There was very good reason why at that time there should be a

reduction over the pre-war cost, was there not, Mr. du Pont, par-

ticularly in view of the increased volume and increased efficiency?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think so, excepting for the increased cost

of raw materials which must be taken into effect.

Mr. Hiss. I think that this information might well be a footnote

to the proposed chart as it applies to powder, which is going to be

offered. Do you not think so?

83876—3.^—PT 14 3
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think that would be quite proper, by stat-

ing what the costs were in previous years. We proceeded to meet
that.

Mr. Hiss. And profit in previous years.

Mr. Ikenee du Pont. I would like to explain one item. You put
down total investment. This represents the actual working capital,

the raw materials, the actual cost, and things in process, and all

that. This represents an appraisal of what the reproductive cost of
the buildings on hand and utilized was. It does not represent what
the du Pont Co. paid for this in 1904, which was a great deal more
than that.

Mr. Hiss. At the bottom of this page there is a statement as to

your original investment. Over the period 1899 to June 1914, it is

stated that on sales to the United States Government there was a
25-percent return on investment.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. That investment is reproducible investment..

That is the point I wanted to make there. That does not represent
what the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Powder Co. paid for these
joroperties in 1904. They paid a great deal more than that, because
we had to pay for their earning power at that time, which had all

been absorbed in previous years. They had built up a goodwill and
" know-how " and destroyed a great many buildings which had been
built because, with the advance in the art, they were not necessary
and because improved buildings were put in.

Mr. Hiss. In stating this for your directors, that information did
not seem to be important?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was understood. That was the appraisal.

I helped make the appraisal myself.
Mr. Hiss. On page 9 of " Exhibit No. 1151 ", which refused the

offer of the War Industries Board, it states

:

Our willingness to negotiate

—

This is the top of the page

—

has been based entirely upon the necessities of the Government and the belief
that our company is not only the best equipped for executing the work promptly
but practically the only organization capabl© of so doing.

Is it not true that that was the general belief, not only of yourself
but of the War Department, and of most informed people on the'

subject?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The chief of the War Department advised us-

directly to the contrary.
Mr Irenee du Pont. The Secretary of War.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I mean the Secretary of War.
Mr. Hiss. Not according to the letter. The War Industries Board

specifically stated in their letter that it was their belief that you were
the best people [reading from " Exhibit No. 1148 "] :

It is our opinion that the du Pont people are in every way the best fitted
for securing this result.

We are of the further opinion that the emergency nature of the case requires;
that the proposed plant be constructed in the least posvsible time and operated
with the greatest efficiency. * * *

It was only the compensation which was causing the delay.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I did not so consider it, but the Secretary's

statement practically meant that we were not needed in the situation^
although we were and always did think so.
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Mr. Hiss. On page 9 of " Exhibit No. 1151 " you state

:

The order of General Crozier dated October 25, 1917, we thought official

and final. On its receipt work was begun by us.

As a matter of fact, some work—we won't try to determine how
much, because there has been some dispute as to it—some work was

done before that. That is true, is it not?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. You state, on page 10 [reading] :

Since tb.en

—

Since the receipt of the telegram of October 31

—

or for a period of 1 month, everything has been held in abeyance.

That was not quite accurate, was it? You had continued with

the options, you had received instructions from General Crozier to

take up options on machinery, and to begin taking up options on
land?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. But that was a very small part of the whole

thing.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

We do not know of any criticism as to the fairness of the eouTpensation
proposed for the construction and operation of these plants.

You at that time did not know of Mr. Brookings' letters of Novem-
ber 7 and the later letter of November 14, 1 think ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Those letters I had never seen before. Col-

onel Buckner might have known of them, but I certainly did not.

Mr. Hiss (continuing reading " Exhibit No. 1151 ") :

The stumbling block seems to be the payment of the whole compensation
to one corporation, especially to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. To meet
this difficulty, we have offered to surrender any part of the work, or preferably
the whole of it, and to furnish other contractors with drawings of existing
plants free of charge. We have insisted on two things only

:

First, that we shall not be responsible for mistakes of others, that is, we
will not operate a factory built by others, nor will we build a factory to be
operated by others ; and on any one factory site the entire work shall he done
by us.

Second, that for any part of the work done by us we shall receive a rate of
compensation that is fair, even though the total amount of money so re-

ceived may seem large if the magnitude of the work involved is not con-

sidered. * * *

We, therefore, submit that the following must be of the essence of our con-
tract with the United States Government in this important work

:

First, the absolute confidence of the Government in us and our ability to
perform the duties allotted to us. * * *

Second, the responsiblity to us for ultimate success of the undertaking
without interference. * * *

Third, a decision as to proper compensation for our services, including an
allowance for extraordinary performance, such as that already named in the
order of October 25 issued by General Crozier.

I find nothing in this letter which says that the company was
fearful of accepting any offer of arbitration because it might exceed

the powers of the Government.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. No.
Mr. Hiss. Was that in your mind in writing the letter, so far as

you can recall?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not recall it in that form, but I thought
it highly inadvisable to enter into that kind of a contract with the
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Government, where we had no protection against what their idea of

proper compensation was or what should be charged to compensation.

Mr. Hiss. On December 3, 1917, the War Industries Board hekl a

special meeting at which were present Mr. Willard, chairman; Mr,
Baruch; Mr. Brookings; Admiral Fletcher; Judge Lovett; and Mr.
Bingham, secretary. I offer excerpts from the minutes of this meet-

ing as the next exhibit.

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1153 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3281.)

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Might I say something in regard to the

October contract? That was a firm contract, we thought, from the

Government, signed, and had started in operation. It w^as abrogated
the next day, almost, maybe 2 days afterward. We made no com-
plaint about that. We accepted the new situation and went ahead
trying to be useful, without any prospect, so far as tiie Secretary's

announcement was concerned, that we were wanted in the picture or

would be in the picture, but we still maintained right down that any-
thing we had was open to the use of the Government or we would
undertake the work. We could not have done much more.
Mr. Hiss. On December 3, 1917, at the special meeting to which I

referred, the following appeared [reading] :

Special meeting, increase powder facilities.—The Secretary of War iuformed
the Board that the flu Pont Co. had refused to undertake the building of the
proposed powder plant on any other terms than those contained in their last

proposition, except for a minor change which was considered to have little or
no effect on the favorableness of the proposed arrangement.

That was the oifer to limit the contract to 10 percent on construc-

tion and 15 percent on operation. That is the only change which
your board of directors had specified in the resolution of November
28, which has already been introduced. Is that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not sure. I cannot tell.

The Chairman. In the meantime, Colonel Harris, who was the

secretary of the War Industries Board?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. He was the secretary of the War

Industries Board. Mr. Bingham.
Mr. Hiss. What was his first name?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I will find out, sir. I do not know.'
Mr. Hiss. On December 10
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I have not assented to your statement. That

is your testimony, so far, and not mine.
Mr. Hiss. All right, sir.

May I call your attention to the extract from the board of direc-
tors' minutes of the du Pont Co. of November 28, 1917, already
introduced in evidence? [Reading from "Exhibit No. 1150":]

Whereas, in the judgment of this board, this company's revised proposal
declined by the War Industries Board, by letter of November 26, 1917, will, if

accepted, return us a net total compensation of not more than 10 percent on
the construction cost and 15 percent on the operating cost ; and

Whereas this board feels that the War Industries Board must be of the
opinion that the compensation may be materially in excess of the above
percentages ; therefore, be it

Resolved, That the Secretary of War be advised that this board is willing to
add a clause to its said revised proposal under and by which the du Pont Co.
will agree that in no event shall the total compensation received by this com-

^ See p. 3207 for additional information regarding Mr. Bingham.
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pany be an amount greater than 10 percent of the actual construction cost and
15 percent of the actual mill cost * * *_

Did you inform the Government of that action of your board, Mr.
dii Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not certain that that was sent them.

But this letter to Mr. WiUard, on December 1, covers the ground.
I do not care whether this was submitted or not.

Mr. Hiss. The letter of December 1 refused the offer of November
26, which was that you start work with the payment of $1,000,000
and leave the compensation to be determined by negotiation which,
if not completed, if not successfully terminated at the end of 18

months, wotdd then be open to arbitration. This letter refused that.

My question was, Did you inform the Secretary of War of this

resolution of your board of directors?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I have no record of that. I do not know.
But the letter of December 1 outlined our position. It refused their

proposition and on the next to the last page (no. 11) stated what
the essence of our proposed contract was to be, which was indefinite,

to be sure, but it was not quite in line with what you said.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Secretary, can you give me the author-

ity of Mr. Bingham in stating that the du Pont Co. had refused to

undertake the building of the proposed powder plant on any other

terms than those contained in the last statement? Have you any
authority for that statement?
Mr. Hiss. My authority is the letter of December 1, 1917, " Ex-

hibit No. 1151 " which has just been read, and in which Mr. Pierre

du Pont said

:

We therefore submit that the following must be of the essence of our contract

with the United States Government in this important worli * * *_

It is with deepest regret that we find ourselves imable to accept the plan
of the War Industries Board, but trust that this letter of explanation, together

with our willingness to limit our compensation in the manner above stated, will

enable the Board to reach a conclusion in this important affair.

That is, namely, 10 and 15 percent, which was contained in the

resolution ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. This says we refused to do it on any other

terms.

Mr. Hiss. Read a little further, " except "

Mr. Irenee du Pont (reading) :

For a minor change.

Mr. Hiss. That is right. Which is the 10 and 15 percent change.
That is the only thing which your board authorized you to do.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. But we did not refuse to do it under any
other terms.

Mr. Hiss. You refused to do it under their offer.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. And replied that you would do it under the then-con-

sidered proposition, limited to 10 and 15 percent on construction and
operation, respectively.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is correct, but it does not say we refused
to do it under any other terms.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. As a matter of fact, we did it under other

terms.
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. I recall Mr. Bingham's report being incorrect

and was demonstrated as being incorrect by subsequent happenings.

The Chairman. Mr. du Pont, do you know who H. P. Bingham is?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not.

The Chairman. Is that Harry Payne Bingham?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could not tell you.

The Chairman. Harry Payne Bingham happens to be one of those

listed in the evidence taken yesterday, concerning those with incomes
of $1,000,000 or more per annum throughout this period. You do
not have personal acquaintance with him to know whether this is the

same Bingham?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am sorry to hear he is considered a culprit.

Mr. Hiss. On December 10, 1917, Mr. Pierre du Pont wrote an-

other letter to the Secretary of V\"ar. The previous letter revised

the offer of the War Industries Board of December 1.

(The letter of Dec. 10, 1917, and attached i^roposal referred to

were marked '' Exhibit No. 1154 " collectively and are included in

the appendix on p. 3281.)

Mr. Hiss. On December 10 the statement is made

:

* * * 6 weeks of valuable time has already been lost * * *.

Over what issue was the loss of time, Mr. du Pont ? Only on com-
pensation, was it not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. No, sir. It was entirely different. Weeks

of valuable time were lost to the Government in getting a powder
supply, in my opinion.

Mr. Hiss. I beg your pardon. You misunderstood my question.

The cause of the loss was a dispute as to the amount of compensation.
That was the only thing on which you had not agreed?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I was not certain that was the case. The Sec-

retary in turning us down did not say that was the case. He said

the American people were going to do it themselves, whether it cost

more or less, and Mr. Brookings' opinion certainly substantiated

that. He did not care what was made out of it, as long as there was
no profit in it.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, you had the letter of November 26, 1917,

from the War Industries Board, which made you an offer to do the
job. Why do you feel you were not sure they wanted you to do the
job, although they had said so in writing?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. We looked to the Secretary as being the chief.

Maybe we were wrong.
Mr. Hiss. The Secretary had turned that over. Your reply of

December 1 said

:

We refuse to consider

—

The company refuses to consider

—

the offer of the War Industries Board.

That must mean that the Secretary had adopted the resolution and
had turned it over to you to consider. Js not that correct?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not think so.

Mr. Hiss. You did not consider that an offer that could be
accepted ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Certainly, something could be negotiated. I
did not distinguish between what they said and what the Secretary
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said, except he made the final say, which did not jibe with what they

had said.

Mr. Hiss. In your letter to the Secretary you do not refer to the

terms of a prior offer, but refer specifically to the offer of November
26, 1917, as though he had adopted it, and you limited yourself to

addressing yourself to that particular offer.

On December 10, 1917, in the letter to which I have referred, you

say further

:

Yesterday General Crozier requested a conference at Wilminston. Prior to

his coming the executive committee of our company, Mr*. E. G. Buckner and
myself determined to ask him whetlier there is a general agreement at Wash-
ington that our company's services are necessary to the Government and whether

we are right in supposing that the question of compensation is alone responsible

for the delay.

Was not that your then opinion, Mr, du Pont, that that was the

only thing responsible for delay?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. We determined to ask him whether that was.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

And whether we are right in supposing that the question of compensation
is alone responsible for the delay.

Do you not suppose that the question of compensation was alone

responsible for the delay?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The record here would look that way, but

I do not remember back as to just the circumstances.

Mr. Hiss (continuing reading) :

If so, we determined to agree to submit to arbitration the disputed question

in order that nothing might interfere with this important work.

The original offer was October 25.

Senator Clark. Kead the last sentence again, Mr. Hiss.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

If so, we determined to agree to submit to arbitration the disputed question

in order that nothing might interfere with this important work.

That is 9 days after the refusal to accept an offer which involved

as one term possible arbitration. That is the thing which Mr.
Irenee du Pont testified he thought was beyond the Government's
authority.

The co])y of the proposal which is attached to " Exhibit No. 1154 "

reads as follows:

Whereas it appears necessary for the welfare of the United States that E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Co. should undertake the work of construction and oper-

ation of the proposed Government factories for the manufacture of military

smokeless powder at rate of 1,000,000 pounds per day ; and
Whereas this work, which was ordered begun by order of General Crozier

under date of October 25, 1917, has been discontinued by telegraphic order of

the Secretary of War dated October 31, 1917 ; and
Whereas the Government desires continuation of this work if the question of

compensation under the order can be satisfactorily arranged : Now, therefore,

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. proposes to accept the order of October 25,

1917, with proper allowance for time already lost

—

That means compensation to you for any services you have under-

taken; is that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I should say it was advancing the time of

compleiiion.
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Mr. Hiss (reading) :

Together with the modifications thereof suggested in the proposed form of
order dated November 19, 1917, changed to provide for capacity of 1,000,000

pounds per day, and letter of December 1 of B. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.

addressed to the Board of War Industries in reply to their letter of November
26, 1917. Copy of these documents are attached hereto. The letter of Decem-
ber 1 is to be further modified so that the maximum compensation shall be
15 percent on cost of manufacture plus 10 percent on cost of construction.
* * * All of these modifications are embodied in the suggested form of
order dated December 11.

You will note that this letter is dated December 10, so that the

attached draft was dated a day ahead of time, and I assume was a

draft intended for use the following day. Is that correct ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Just a moment. You said all of these modi-
fications are included?
Mr. Hiss. I was reading from your proposal, Mr. du Pont, at

the tojD of page 2 of your proposal

:

All of these modifications are embodied in the suggested form of order dated
December 11, 1917.

I show you a copy of that as received from the files of the War
Department. I have compared this draft of December 11 with the

November 19 draft, which has previously been offered in evidence,

and find that in substance the two are identical, except that this

provides in paragraph 11 for $900,000 compensation a month instead

of $450,000 a month in the event of termination prior to 6 months
from the date of the agreement

—

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Is not that because of the increase of the

size of the plant?
Mr. Hiss. It may be.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The original plant was a $500,000 plant.

Mr. Hiss. I have no doubt that is correct.

(The order of Dec. 11, 1917, referred to was marked " Exhibit No.
1155 ", and is included in the appendix on p. 3283.)

Mr. Hiss. And that the price of 481^ cents is specifically stated. It

is the cost for air-dried powder, in paragraph No. 10.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. For air-dried or water-dried?
Mr. Hiss. For air-dried. The water-dried was already in.

And that a new paragraph was inserted providing a maximum
compensation of 15 percent of cost of operation. You will find that

at paragraph 15, the 15 percent of cost of. operation and 10 percent

of cost of construction, less 6i/o percent when the cost of operation

exceeds the Qy^ percent. In other words, that was to be reimbursed
to the Government so that a maximum of 6l^ percent would be paid
if operation continued long enough.
Now, will you please explain to me what this offer to arbitrate

means, when you state that it must be subject to the letters that

you have referred to, and that their modifications are embodied in

the suggested form of order? How does this differ from the offer

you had already made? I call your attention particularl}^ to the

next paragraph.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I could not tell you without examining it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Secretary, you are going so fast on these

things—remember, these things are 15 or 16 years old. You are

flashing one letter after another; before we can even read through
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it you are off on something else. If you are trying to get informa-

tion from me, you are approaching it in sucli a way that I cannot

give information. I think we need to study these things and find

out what you are driving at. You reel these things off so fast I

cannot follow you.
Mr. Hiss. I was asking that particular question of Mr. Pierre du

Pont. I am sorry.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I am quite sure he is in the same position.

ISIr. Pierre du Pont. I am in that position with respect to this

letter.

Mr. Hiss. Will you please refer to the last paragraph on the last

page of the proposition, not of the draft of December 11, I think
you will find the gist of the whole thing in there. I must say I
am unable to understand what your offer to arbitrate meant.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I can only make a guess on that. I have not

the least recollection what it meant. But as I have reviewed the

subject, it was evidently an attempt to arbitrate the question of

whether certain outlay was to be mcluded as an expense or was to be
part of the compensation. This whole contention arose over the

question as to whether out-of-pocket expenses, which we had, we
thought, clearly shown would occur, should be considered as profit or
not. Naturally, the company would make no profit from the out-of-

pocket expenses. The Secretary continually claimed that we did
make a profit of 15 percent regardless of the fact that most of that
was dissipated in necessary expenses. It was that character of thing,

I imagine, that was to be arbitrated.

Mr. Hiss. It was not an offer, in your opinion, to arbitrate all

question of compensation?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I really do not know, but I do not think so.

Mr. Hiss. I can say that I find it very difficult to understand just

what the proposition is. It is not very clearly stated.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The controversy was over what was con-
sidered expense and what was considered profit in the 15 percent.
That was the question at issue right through. I think that this

related to those questions.

Senator Clark. Did I understand you to say that most of the
15 percent was dissipated in out-of-pocket expenses?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. That is the way we put it up in our original

letter.

Senator Clark. I understood it was said that would be a net profit
of 10 percent out of the 15?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes; we put it there; but in the same 10

l^ercent we realized that a great deal might be in jeopardy over
this question of what was profit and what was not. From his
own definition of profit, the Secretary considered the expenses
of our engineering department in promoting freight as part
of the profit. It is clearly out-of-pocket expense in sending men out
all over the country to look after the freight coming in, to make sure
it was delivered in time. But the Secretary evidently included that
in the profit. I think it was because he did not clearly understand
the situation. He had thousands of things on his mind at the time.
I am not surprised he did not take it in. But that was a fact as far
as we were concerned.
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Mr, Irenee du Pont. Mr. Chairman, on this arbitration, I have
had time to read this letter. Is it not perfectly clear that this arbi-

tration would be in advance of signing the contract to arbitrate

what is a fair contract ? The arbitration referred to by Daniel Wil-
lard was to do the job, spend maybe tens of millions of dollars, and
then be in a position, having been bust, to go to the Government to

arbitrate on what we ought to get for it and what was expense and
what we ought to absorb. I think one is arbitration before we
signed the contract and the other is an arbitration to determine what
was fair after the contract was done. I do not think any prudent
man ought to be asked to put up enormous sums of money and then
have them arbitrate whether he had done it right and what com-
pensation he ought to have.

Senator Vandexberg. Were you putting up enormous sums of
money under any of these agreements ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. According to Mr. Brookings' thing, we
might be hooked for any amount of money.

Senator Vandenberg. Underlying the whole proposition, is it not
Government money that is at risk and not your own ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I do not know. He did not say anything
about the Government putting up the money and using that. Even
if they did, how much of it might we be hooked for ?

Senator Vandeberg. Is not the theory of the entire negotiation
that the Government is funding the investment ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. There is nothing said about it in Mr. Wil-
lard's letter at all. Presumably they would have to. We did not
have the funds to do it at all. But he wanted to suggest instead of
having a contract that we go ahead and do it without any arrange-
ment and arbitrate it after the fact. This, as I read it, arbitrates in

advance of the contract what a fair contract would be.

Mr. Hiss. Where do you find that. Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. The context indicates that.

Mr. Hiss. Which part of the context?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. This i^art of " Exhibit No. 1154 " you have

just read. [Reading:]

In accepting this order we agree that all questions of compensation to our
company for service to be rendered both in construction and operation of the
factories shall be referred to a board of arbitration of three members, one to

be appointed by the Secretary of War

—

and so forth.

Mr. Hiss. How would you phrase it? Wouldn't you enter into an
order, begin work immediately, and arbitrate the question of com-
pensation while you were carrying out the contract ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. We had that only on an advance of a million
dollars or these other figures.

Mr. Hiss. Where is that?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. This letter from Mr. Willard.
Mr. Hiss. But Mr. du Pont, the attached form which you are

willing to submit to arbitration has no mention of the million-
dollar advance in it.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is what I say.

Mr. Hiss. You were ^xot addressing yourself to the million-dollar
advance ?
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. No. But you asked me how we would state

it if we wanted to arbitrate after the building. I say we would
refer to that.

Mr. Hiss. May I call your attention to the draft of December 11?

Under section 6 of that draft, which was entered as " Exhibit No.
1155 "—
the Government will pay directly or \Yill reimburse you for all cost incurred

in the construction of the plants

:

(a) There shall be included as a part of the construction cost and paid to

you a sum equal to 1% percent of all disbursements.
(b) There shall also be included as a part of the construction cost a sum

equal to QV^ percent of all disbursements.

That first one w^as to be used by way of bonuses. The second was
payment to you. That paragraph is excluded from the offer to

refer certain paragraphs to arbitration. In other w^ords, you agree

that you would be paid 6I/3 percent of the construction cost and
additional compensation to be arbitrated. Have you ever partici-

pated in arbitration proceedings, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Not with the United States Government ; no,

sir.

Mr. Hiss. Have you ever participated in any arbitration pro-

ceeding ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I presume I have.

Mr. Hiss. Of this magnitude ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No.
Mr. Hiss. How long do you think it would take to have an aw\ard

conferred and handed down in such a matter as this ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I would say if three men could not get

together
Mv. Hiss. Would it not take months of preparation for argument

before a board of arbitrators ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It would according to the way a lawyer

would go at it, but I should think that three business men getting

together could decide on a contract, that would be fair.

Mr. Hiss. You had not been able to, from October 25 to De-
cember 10.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. The trouble was we were not dealing with

business men. We were dealing with the Government.
Senator Clark. Dan Willard was a pretty good business man.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. He may be an excellent business man. So

were all the others. But when you get into the machinery of gov-

ernment, you get into all sorts of details, as we found.

Senator Clark. You mean they lose their business sense?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Not necessarily,

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Secretary, picture this: Supposing the

war had suddenly ended during the course of construction, we would
have made numerous contracts and commitments and then

The CiiAiR:srAN. What vfould those commitments and contracts

amount to. at the outside?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I have not the slightest idea, all depending
on when they occurred. If we had ordered materials ahead in pros-

pect of full operation on the representation of the Government reim-

bursing us, and they had suddenly said, " Shut down ", and refused

to pay, w^e would have been out on quite a limb. We could not
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have made payments. The Government might refuse the money
to us and not help us any. We know that on this final contract

which was executed and operated, after the war was ended and
everything was shut down, it took us 8 years to get a settlement of

that contract, with very few, comparatively, things to be settled.

If that had occurred during construction, with the money paid

out by us, I do not know hoAv long it would have taken.

Senator Vandenberg. Is there any of your own capital at risk

in any of these propositions?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think so, on a proposition such as this,

because we made the commitments with the contractors for materials

and everything else. The Government was to reimburse us. But if

the Government had not reimbursed us, we were in a very bad fix.

We know from our experience with the Government when the final

transaction was liquidated that it took 8 years for them to settle up
with us.

Senator Vandenberg. But the theory of of the procedure was that

it was not your capital at risk ; am I wrong about that ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not know what your theory is. My
theory is

Senator Vandenberg. I say, the theory of these negotiations is

that the Government is going to hold you harmless against loss.

That is the theoiy of the negotiations, is it not?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes; but the practice of such things is so

at variance with theory that I do not think any reasonable man
would undertake such a contract. As it turned out in the end, I

think the contract was very much better written, because the Govern-
ment's reimbursement was much more prompt than expressed in this

last statement that the Government will pay directly or reimburse
you.
The Chairman. Mr. du Pont, why would you object to anyone

appointed on the board of arbitration on this proposition being con-

nected with the Government, an officer of the Government?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not remember that I put that in. I do

not remember that I had any objection.

The Chairman. The proposition says this [reading from " Exhibit
No. 1154 "] :

No arbitrator shall be an officer of or a person receiving compensation from
the United States Government, or an officer, employee, or stockholder of E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Co.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think both are proper provisions. I can-
not see any impropriety in it.

The Chairman. Perhaps not, but it rather impressed me that you
were putting yourselves quite on a par with the Government as re-

spected the ultimate disposal of the proposition.

J\Ir. Pierre du Pont. I think it is customary in any arbitration

that the two sides shall not be represented in the arbitration.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Irenee du Pont, do you still say that in your opinion
this offer to arbitrate was an offer to arbitrate before signing a con-

tract rather than
Mr. Irenee du Pont. I ask you if that was not very clear from

the context.

Mr. Hiss. I said that it certainly did not seem clear to me. I am
asking you if you still think it is clear to you.
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. I should say that is what the intent was. It

looks like it. I do not recall it.

Mr. Hiss. A formal arbitration before a board
Mr. Irenee du Pont. What do you mean by " a formal arbitra-

tion " ? If you mean one strung out for months, no ; it would not be

worked ; could not be worked.
INIr. Hiss. The reference in your proposal is that there is to be

—

a board of arbitration of three members, one to be appointed by the Secretary

of War and one by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. ; the third to be appointed
by the two arbitrators so chosen ; no arbitrator to be an ofiicer of, or person
receiving compensation from the United States Government, or an officer, em-
ployee, or stoclvholder of E. I. dn Pont de Nemours & Co. These arbitrators

shall have placed before them this letter and the documents attached hereto
and shall determine the compensation due our company in view of the services

to be rendered and in view of the compensation provided in similar contracts

now being entered into by the departments of the United States Government.
The board of arbitration will be furnished such additional data as may be
needed for reaching a conclusion. Their decision shall state the comi>ensation
to be provided by paragraphs 10, 11, 13, and 15 of the suggested form of order
dated December 11, 1917, and shall be final and binding on both parties.

Does not that seem to you a formal statement of a formal arbi-

tration ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I will not quarrel with you over the " for-

mal " but I will ask you, can you conceive that that was to be deter-

mined at the close of the w^ar, at the finish of the construction of

this plant, or currently? We give them currently these things. We
are negotiating with them. Say what is fair; that is what it says.

And that is why I say it must have been intended to be, " arbitrate

when you are writing a contract what you are going to put in."

Certainly it is not the intention to wait until the thing is completed

and find out after the fact what is a fair compensation,

Mr. Hiss. If you are going to be bound to go ahead with the price

fixed, what difference w^ould it make whether they settle it before you
start or after you start?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I think it makes a great deal of difference.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Chairman, I think you are arguing at

cross purposes, because I do not agree with my brother. How can

the three of us agree?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. There is nothing new in that.

The Chairman. The committee will be in recess until 2 o'clock.

(Thereupon, at 12: 15 p. m., a recess was taken until 2 p. m. of the

same day.)
afternoon session

(The committee met pursuant to recess at 2 p. m.)

TESTIMONY OF IRENEE DTI PONT, PIERRE DU PONT, C. T. HARRIS,
W. S. GREGG, J. B. ELIASON, AND A. C. NIELSEN—Resumed

The Chairman. The committee will be in order.

Mr. Hiss, before you proceed, I should like to have the record

cleared as respects the matter of Mr. Bingham, whose case was
referred to this morning. Mr. Bingham, who came into evidence as

secretary of the War Industries Board—was that it ?

Mr. Hiss. That is correct.
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• The Chairman. Mr. Bingham, who came into evidence as secre-

tary of the War Industries Board, was the Henry Payne Bingham
who appears as one of those enjoying incomes during tlie war period

of more tlian a million dollars a year. Incidentally, his service as

secretary of the Board was on the $l-a-year basis. The committee
has been unable to ascertain the business connections of Mr. Bingham,
but will during the course of its study so ascertain.

You may proceed, Mr. Hiss.

Mr. Hiss. I have been furnished with a memorandum from the

War Department as to the total advances shown by the records of

the War Credits Board and other advances authorized by the Secre-

tary of War. I assume that all these are limited to w^ar-time

advances ?

Is that correct. Colonel?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. I will offer this as an exhibit.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1156 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 3286.)

Mr. Hiss. I will call attention to the fact appearing from this ex-

hibit that contractors for the Quartermaster Corps had advanced to

them through the War Credits Board $19,000,000; that contractors

of the Signal Corps, which included the purchases for the Air Corps,

had advanced through tiie War Credits Board $53,000,000 ; and that

contractors of the Ordnance Department, as stated yesterday, had
advanced to them $174,000,000.

In addition, the Secretary of War authorized $4,000,000 for ad-

vances relating to contracts for the Signal Corps, $17,000,000 addi-

tional for similar contracts of the Quartermaster Corps, and $84,-

000,000 in connection with contracts of the Ordnance Department.
Colonel Harris has also answered the question that was put yes-

terday as to whether the letter of AjDril 27, 1917, showing that it

had been prepared for the signature of the chairman of the General
Munitions Board, which stated that 50 cents a pound for .30-caliber

powder for water-dried, 62 cents for air-dried, 471/2 cents for cannon
powder for water-dried, 50 cents for air-dried, and 50 cents for sea-

coast cannon powder for air-dried were fair prices, was actually

signed by the chairman of the General Munitions Board. Colonel
Harris has brought to the hearing the original files of the Ordnance
Department on this matter, and they show a carbon copy of the
letter sent to the Ordnance Department at the time the letter went
out.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Hiss, may I ask on that question of ad-
vances. Does that show the balance outstanding at any particular
time ?

Mr. Hiss. I think this is total advances for the war period.
Is that correct. Colonel Harris?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. But those amounts were not outstanding at

any time, even the single items ?

Mr. Hiss. I do not know that that appears.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. There is nothing to show what balance is

outstanding in any of these accounts at any time, is there ?

Mr. Hiss. No.
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ISIr. Pierre du Poxt, Therefore there may have been a very much
smaller balance outstanding^, the rest having been accounted for by
vouchers showing expenditures.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, was the Old Hickory contract the

largest construction contract undertaken by the Government during
the war?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I am not prepared to say about the

Government. It was the largest by the War Department.
Mr. Hiss. The largest by the War Department?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. AVas it the largest contract of any kind ; that is, includ-

ing purchase as well as construction, undertaken by the War Depart-
ment during the war? ^

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I believe it was,

Mr. Hiss. Could you verify that?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I can; yes.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Pierre du Pont, in selling to the Allies, did you
sell direct or was there a purchasing agent in this country who pur-

chased for some or all of the Allies?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I believe a great many of the contracts were
made through Morgan & Co.
Mr. Hiss. As purchasing agents for some of your customers?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was for the British and French Gov-

ernments. I do not know what relation there was.

Mr. Hiss. Do you know what proportion of the total sales of your
company of powder to England and to France went through
Morgan & Co. ?

-

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I haven't it in mind, I think we have a

record of it.

Mr. Hiss. Mr, Eliason?
Mr. Eliason. I have not anything definite on it at all. We can

supply the record for j'ou.

Mr. Hiss. Will you please do so?

Mr. Eliason. Yes,

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, in negotiating for contract sales abroad,

did you conduct negotiations as well as enter into formal contracts

with Morgan & Co. at times?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Morgan & Co., as agents for the British

Government, for instance, came to us with their requirements and
negotiations were entered that way.
Mr, Hiss, Were they authorized or did they carry out negotia-

tions on price and such matters with you, or did they simply place

orders ?

Mr, Pierre du Pont. I was not in direct contact with that, but my
recollection is that they negotiated and placed the order.

Mr. Hiss. Do you know which members of the firm of Morgan &
Co. or what representatives of Morgan & Co. dealt with you most
frequently in that connection?

1 Colonel Harris later verified this.
- Under date of Dec. 18, 1934, the du Pont Co. informed the committee that the total

sales value of contracts with the British and French Governments aggregated $490,573,806.
Of these sales, J. P. Morgan & Co. acted as agent, under sales contracts aggregating
$351,259,813.28. The sales made through Morgan & Co. accounted for 71. (iO iMTcciit of
the total military business done with the British and French Governments during the
war.
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; I could not say.

Mr. Hiss. Is there anyone from your company who knows?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I could answer that. Edward Stettinius.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Stettinius?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. My impression is that the earlier contracts

were negotiated by representatives of the governments sent over

here, and the Morgan arrangement was made later, but I could not

tell you what date.^

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Eliason, will you furnish that data ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. The contracts will show who they were

signed by.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, was the proposed contract at Charles-

ton, W. Va., finally awarded to a company other than the du Pont

Co.?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It was.

Mr. Hiss. Do you remember the name of the company?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I think it was Thompson Starrett;

but after looking up this other Starrett name, it has gotten me con-

fused. I can answer the question you asked me this morning,

however.
Mr. Hiss. You, have documents here with which to check up?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. You asked who Mr. Graham was this

morning.
Mr. Hiss. Yes.
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I have that in my records, and a little

later on I can tell you.^

Mr. Hiss. All right, sir.

I will offer this next document, dated December 12, 1917, a letter

from the Secretary of War, for appropriate marking.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1157 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3286.)

secretary of war notified du PONT CO. THAT NEGOTIATIONS WERE
CLOSED

Mr. Hiss. On December 12, 1917, the Secretary of War replied to

the letter of December 10, which we have discussed before, stating

that:

On the 10th clay of December Mr. Pierre S. du Pont and Mr. Buckner pre-
sented to me your letter of that date with regard to the question of manu-
facturing smokeless powder and the creation of additional capacity therefor.
Prior to December 10 this matter had been under consideration between your
company and the War Department, a full history of our conferences and cor-
I'esiwndence appearing in the papers, of which both your company and the
Government have copies.

After the receipt of the letter from your company definitely declining to
accept a proposition from the Government as formulated in the suggestion of
the War Industries Board and pi-esented by me to your company

That indicates, Mr. Pierre du Pont, that the Secretary of War had
adopted the letter of the War Industries Board as his offer as well
as their offer, or as Avell as their recommendation. Does that refresh

1 Under date of Apr. 19, 1035, the du Pont Co. informed the committee that their
lefords indicate tliat tlie first contract on wliich J. P. Morgan & Co. acted as agents was
dated Feb. 17, 1915, and they continued to act In this capacity until June 30, 1917.

2 Footnote, p. 3185.
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3'oiir memory on that particular point, on which you were uncertain

this morning?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. It appears so

;
yes.

Mr. Hiss (continuing) :

the War Department proceeded to work out a plan for the direct creation of
this capacity by the Government itself. I therefore notified Mr. du Font and
Mr. Buckner on December 10 that the question would not be reopened, and
that the Government would proceed directly in the matter. I then assured
Mr. du Pont of my great appreciation of tlie generous willingness expressed
by your company to aid the Government in its undertaking.

On December 15, 191T the Secretary of War appointed Mr. Jack-
ling to take charge of the problem relating to the building and
operating of new powder plants, which is in the form of a letter

from the Secretary to Mr. Jackling which I offer for appropriate
marking.

(The document referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1158" and
aj^jDcars in full in the text.)

Mr. Hiss. The letter of appointment reads as follows:

In appointing you to build and operate the proposed new Government
powder plants, I wish to say that you will be given an entirely free hand and
full authority in the matter, except where it is necessary for legal reasons that
you conform to certain Government methods, such for instance as Government
terms of accounting, which must be followed.

I am pleased to acknowledge your acceptance of this work, with the under-
standing, first, that there will be no compensation or merely a nominal one to
you, and with the understanding also that you will be at liberty, when neces-
sity requires, to return to the West occasionally to keep in touch with your
regular professional and business pursuits.

Do you know what Mr. Jackling's regular professional and busi-

ness pursuits had been up to this time, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. He was connected with, I think, the Utah
Copper Co., but I do not know exactly in what capacity.

Mr. Hiss. Had he had any experience in the manufacture of
powder or explosives, so far as you know ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Not that I know of ; no.

Mr. Hiss (continuing) :

I do understand, however, that you will give to the business here under
discussion all of the time necessary to supervise effectively its organization
and progress and to complete it in the most expeditious and satisfactory way.

That is December 15, and on January 11 you wrote another letter

to Secretary Baker, which I will offer for appropriate exhibit mark-

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1159" and is

included in the appendix on p. 3287.)

Mr. Hiss. Referring in the first sentence to General Crozier's

order of October 25, referred to in the Secretary's telegram of Octo-
ber 31, you then state

:

This order calls for transactions estimated at $325,000,000, covering a period
of over 2 years and is probably one of the largest orders ever given by the
United States Government.
As we understand that the Department is ready to compensate us for actual

expenditures to date under this order, a statement of this account will be sent

to you in a few days.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Do you mind reading between there ? " the

cancelation of the order."

83876—35

—

pt 14 4
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Mr. Hiss. Shall I read it, sir, or would you like to read it?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. As you wish. Shall I read it?

Cancelation of the order calls for a payment of $900,000 per month and pro-

portionately for days elapsing between the date of order and the date of can-

celation.

Mr. Hiss. The time elapsing between October 25 and October 31

would be approximately 6 days; is that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pont :

Whatever may be due our company under this provision of the order we make
no claim for payment, as relief from the burden of the order is worth much to

this company, even under its proposed compensation.

Mr. Hiss. The actual time elapsing to which you refer, between
the date of the order and the date of the cancelation, would be 6 days,

wouldn't it?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Whatever it is.

Mr. Hiss. Which should be one-fifth of the proposed compensation
per month, or $180,000.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, do you know whether the Chief of Ord-

nance had authority to enter into contracts without the approval of

the Secretary of War at this time ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The Chief of Ordnance had authority

to enter into contracts, but he operates under the supervision of the

Secretary of War, so I cannot answer your question definitely.

Mr. Hiss. Would you understand the order of October 25, 1917, as

a binding obligation on the Government of the United States?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I would.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. You note that this letter is evidently to

make a final disposition of the matter, for it says further

:

Abrogation of the order is not referred to in your letter of December 12, 1917,

nor in any other correspondence. We will greatly appreciate formal notice

of abrogation, as it would seem fitting to so formally close the transaction.

Mr. Hiss. In other words, at that period you considered that that

contract was abrogated and negotiations were definitely concluded
and you wished a formal acknowledgment to that effect?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes ; and we received that later, I believe.

Mr, Hiss. Under date of January 12 you received a letter from the
Secretary of War, Mr. du Pont, which I will ask to have marked Avith

the appropriate exhibit number.
(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1160", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3287.)

Mr. Hiss. The Secretary of War says in this letter

:

I have just received your letter of the 11th, and have referred it to The
Assistant Secretary

—

Do you know who The Assistant Secretary was to whom that wa^
referred. Colonel Harris?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. It should be Mr. Crowell.
Mr. Hiss (continuing) :

as the powder matter is now under his immediate supervision.

Were there other Assistant Secretaries during that time ?
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Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I am not sure whether there was at

that time. There were later. I will verify that.^

Mr. Hiss. This is January 12^ 1918.

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Yes.

Mr. Hiss (continuing) :

and I want liim to prepare the formal letter to wliicti you refer with the papers
in the case before him.

The next document I have here I would like to have marked with

the appropriate number.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1161 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3288.)

Mr. Hiss. On January 16, 1918, 4 days after the Secretary's letter

and just a month after the Secretary had appointed Mr. Jackling •

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Might I go back there, Mr. Hiss, to that

original letter?

Mr. Hiss. Which letter is that?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. January 11, addressed to the Secretary.

Mr. Hiss. Yes.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. There are two subjects embodied there, and
we have only treated of one, and apparently, to his mind, judging
from his opinion, the second subject was possibly the more important.

I say in the letter of January 11, "Exhibit No. 1159":

May I also call attention to the enclosed clipping from today's New York
Times. Erroneous conclusions may l>e drawn from this statement. The profit

of from twenty to forty million was not obtainable from the ninety-million-

dollar investment in factories but from the construction and operation con-

tract, amounting to three hundred and twenty-five millions, of which the larger

sum of $40,000,000 represented 12.3 percent ; the smaller, 6.16 percent only.

Reference to our offer to limit profits to 10 percent plus a further maximum
addition of 5 percent based on equal divisions of reduction of cost of operation
and the final order to arbitrate th.e question of compensation would have more
fairly repre.sented the final condition of the negotiations. However, our com-
pany is not disposed to enter into any argument or public discussion, and we
do not ask correction of the statement above mentioned.

The Secretary deals with that in this way in " Exhibit No. 1160 "

:

I am writing this only to say that the extract from the New York Times
which you enclose, and upon which you comment, is not an adequate repre-

sentation of my testimony on the subject before the Senate committee. I have
not a copy of the testimony, but it will be out shortly, and you will then
see that I have dealt with the utmost candor and fairness with the negotia-
tions between your company and the War Department.

That apparently was the Secretary's chief reason for answering.
That is why I call attention to it.

Mr. Hiss. You remember, you specifically asked for formal notice

of cancelation.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. To clean up the matter.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. On January 16 you wrote to Secretary Baker—this is

4 days after his letter announcing he had referred the matter to The
Assistant Secretary—asking him to prepare a formal letter definitely

concluding the negotiations, and 1 month after Mr. Jackling had

1 For list of Assistant Secretaries of War in 1918 see Hearings, Part XV, p. 3541.
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been appointed to handle the operation of new Government powder
plants, under the Secretary's decision not to continue further nego-
tiations with your company.
Your letter to Secretary Baker, of January 16, "Exhibit No. 1161 ",

says:

Mr. D. C. Jackling has requested nie to negotiate with him concerning work
to be done in connection with the proposed military powder factories of the
United States Government. I hesitate to enter these negotiations without your
consent lest such intrusion might be misunderstood or prove objectionable. If
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. can be of further service to the United States
Government, I should like to be assured of Mr. Jackling's authority and of
your consent to negotiations.

You remember the Secretary's letter to you of December 12, " Ex-
hibit No. 1157", said that—

The War Department proceeded to work out a plan for the direct creation

of this capacity by the Government itself. I therefore notified Mr. du Pont
and Mr. Buckner on December 10 that the question would not be reopened and
that the Government would proceed directly in the matter.

On January 19, 1918, Mr. Baker replied to you that Mr. Jackling
had full authoritj^ to discuss and negotiate with you in regard to any
work in connection with the proposed military powder factories of

the Government.
That will be offered as the next exhibit.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1162 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3288.)

Mr. Hiss. I will offer for the record also excerpts from a meeting
of the War Industries Board on January 25, 1918.

(The excerpts from meeting referred to were marked " Exhibit
No. 1163 ", and are included in the appendix on p. 3288.)

Mr. Hiss. On January 25, 1918, the War Industries Board dis-

cussed a contract with the du Pont Co. for the design, construction,

and operation of a plant at Nashville, Tenn., for the production of
smokeless powder

:

Mr. Baruch submitted for the information of the Board memorandum of
understanding between Mr. Jackling, Mr. MacGowen, Major Mudd on behalf of

the Government, and Mr. P. S. du Pont and Col. E. G. Buckner on behalf of
the du Pont Co., dated January 24, 1918, regarding the proposed arrangement
with the du Pont Co. for the design, construction, and operation of the above
plant.

In other words, once the Secretary had determined that the Gov-
ernment should build the plant itself, negotiations for the building
of the plant with your aid proceeded much more swiftly than they
had before; is that correct, Mr. du Pont?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; I think the first negotiations were the
quickest of all. We made a. proposition overnight which was in the
course of 2 or 3 days translated into a definite order.

Mr. Hiss. I mean after the stay order of the Secretarj'^, Mr. Baker,
negotiations did not proceed very swiftly until immediately after the
Secretary had announced that the Government would proceed itself.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Not immediately aft^r. That announcement
was in December, was it not, and this is January.
Mr. Hiss. The formal notice did not come to you—that is, the

formal notice of revocation or the Government's cessation of nego-
tiations, had not come to you but was ex]:)ected by you 4 daj^s before

you Avrote that Mr. Jackling had approached you; isn't that correct?
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Mv. Pierre du Pont. No ; I think not. Was not the definite notice

in December or the appointment of Mr. Jackling, that the Govern-
ment was going to do the work itself ?

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Jackling's name is not mentioned at that time.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. "No
; but Jackling was appointed on Decem-

ber 15.

Mr. Hiss. That is correct.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Now, he took charge of the whole thing.

That is definite. But I thought before—Decmber 12, yes; the
Secretary says to us

—

The War Department proceeded to work out a plan for the direct creation of
this capacity by the Government itself.

Mr. Hiss. What does "direct creation itself ", in your opinion,

mean, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not know what he meant. I haven't the

least idea.

Mr. Hiss. Did j^ou think it meant that the War Department would
itself take charge of the building and supervise it?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I have not the least idea what he meant,
because the War Department could not get to work without making
the preparation.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. To be perfectly clear, he did not mean that

the du Pont Co. was going to do it.

Mr. Hiss. Pie did not mean the du Ponts ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is what it looks like, certainly.

formal contract executed shortly after resumption of
negotiations

Mr. Hiss. On January 29 an agreement was entered into between
the du Pont Engineering Co. and the United States, approved by the
Secretary of War. This contract is stated to be between the du Pont
Engineering Co. and the United States of America, by the Brigadier
General of the Quartermaster Corps.
The letter from Mr. Jackling to the Secretary of War enclosing

the contract and the contract are offered as exhibits.

(The letter and contract referred to were marked " Exhibits Nos.
1164 and 1165 ", respectively, and are included in the appendix
on pp. 3288 and 3289.)

Mr. Hiss. On the second page of this contract, article 1, it reads

:

The construction manager

—

By which is meant the du Pont Engineering Co.

—

will engage as the sole agent of the United States of America in the creation,

construction, and operation of the plant hereinbefore described, and in consid-
eration of the fee of $500,000 to be paid to it as provided in article 7 hereof
in sections (a), (b), (c), and (fZ), agrees to procure from the E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Co.

—

1. The disposal for the purposes of the party of the second part exclusively
for the Nashville plant, of the said company's experiences, records, and plans
appertaining to the production of smokeless powder of the kinds and quantities
herein referred to.

And in carrying out the job of building and operating a plant
capable of producing 500,000 pounds of powder per dsij—this ap-
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pears at the top of page 3—the description that follows on page 3 as

to the type of plant is substantially that described in the October
25, 1917, order; in other words, an up-to-date powder plant.

Mr. Hiss. Article IV
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think we did include a railroad, but it is

not very material.

Mr. Hiss. Article IV, page 4 [reading, " Exhibit No. 1165 "]

:

United States of America shall bear the entire cost of the designing and
construction of said plant and will supply all the money necessary therefor in
such amounts and in such manner as to allow the activities with respect to
the designing and construction of the plant to proceed without delay or inter-

ruption. To make the above effective, a disbursing officer or officers shall be
appointed by the contracting officer, who shall be provided vs^ith the necessary
funds to meet all payments as due upon presentation by the construction man-
ager of bills approved by the special director. The responsil)ility of the dis-

bxirsing officer shall extend only to the ascertainment that bills, vouchers, or
statements submitted for payment have been properly certiiied and approved
by the special director or his duly authorized representative or successors.

Article VII [reading] :

As full compensation for the services of the construction manager

—

that is the du Pont Engineering Co.

—

herein provided to be employed for the designing and erecting of said plant,

the United States of America shall, in addition to the costs of the work, labor,

and materials herein provided for, make payments to the construction manager
as follows

:

(a) At such time as in the judgment of the special director 25 percent of the
work to be done in designing and preparing the plans for " the plant " shall

have been completed, the United States of America shall pay to the construction
manager the sum of $125,000.

Then, paragraph (h) provides for a later sum of $125,000 and
(c) and (d) each $125,000, or a total of $500,000.
Clause (/), page 7, reads:

In addition to the foregoing fees, the construction manager shall be paid as
compensation for designing and constructing the plant as herein provided 3
percent on the total cost of the construction of the plant, the same to be paid
proportionately and monthly as the work progresses. Such monthly payments
shall be based upon estimates made by the construction manager and approved
by the special director. The total compensation to be paid under this para-
graph marked " / " shall be limited to a maximum of $1,500,000.

Article IX reads

:

The United States of America shall hold harmless the construction manager
from any and all loss by accident, fire, flood, or otherwise

—

And so forth.

Article X reads:

The United States of America will pay all costs of whatsoever nature
incurred in the operation of the plant and will in addition pay to the construc-
tion manager for operating said plant the sum of 314 cents per pound for all

smokeless powder delivered and accepted.

There is a further provision, which has been in the earlier drafts,

that in the evem of the powder costing less than 441/2 cents a pound,
half of the saving will go to the du Pont Engineering Co.

Clause (e) , on page 10, reads

:

It is understood and agreed that the construction manager shall operate
the plant for the equivalent of 6 months at its full capacity * * *^
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. Could I just call your attention, Mr. Secre-

tary, to the prices put in here? You are discussing the cost of raw
materials. The current price is listed of nitrate of soda, 4.11 cents,

compared to Indian Head price of 2.11 cents; and the price of alcohol

is down here at 12.459 cents, practically 121/2 cents, compared to 61/2

cents in tliat other estimate of the Navy.
As compared with here the figure is 1.35 against 1.1, I think, in

theirs, but that is not very material. We have linters here at 5.25,

and I do not know how they would compare with their purified

linters which they had in their cost.

Mr. Hiss. You mean, Mr. du Pont, you were not able to get the

same prices on articles that the Government was ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No ; I said that the Navy, in making up an
estimate of 31 cents for cost of powder, were erroneous because

they used prices which were not available on raw materials.

Mr. Hiss. They were supposed to be costs which they were paying.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. No ; the costs which they had paid some time
before.

Mr. Hiss. Article XX reads

:

The construction manager shall furnish to the United States of America
within 10 days after the execution and delivery of this agreement a performance
bond in the sum of $250,000, conditioned for tlie full and faithful performance
of this contract.

Does that seem to you an adequate bond for an undertaking which
you estimated might come to $300,000,000, Mr. du Pont ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It is not for me to say. It was evidently

sufficient in the eyes of the Government at the time.

(The bond referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1166 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3296.)

Mr. Hiss. The premium of such bond, according to the last sen-

tence, was to be charged to the cost of the work. The bonding
company was the Delaware Surety, of which Mr. Laffey, general

counsel of the company, was president. Are you familiar with the

Delaware Surety Co. ?
^

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No; I remember now the name of it, but I

do not know anything about its capitalization or anything else, and
I do not remember the conditions under which that was formed.

Senator Vandenberg. Is this the final contract under which the

work now proceeds ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; it started

Mr. Hiss. The contract did proceed for several months under this

contract. A later contract was entered into, March 29, and we will

take that up right now, sir.

Senator Vandenberg. I would like to ask, then, Mr. du Pont, under
this contract, were there any capital risks on your part?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I think the situation was somewhat improved
over the original contract, in that the approval of Mr. Jackling on
vouchers, and so forth, definitely committed the Government in a

way that we did not have before, but I am not certain of the details

of that.

Senator Vandenberg. Speaking generally, would it be fair to say
that there is no capital risk in this contract on your company?

1 Statement of assets and liabilities of the Delaware Surety Co. was entered as
" Exhibit No. 1214 ", see Hearings, Part XV, p. 3578.
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Mr. Pierre du Pont. I am not sure that there would be. I would
have to think over the matter. I have never had the question put
to me before, and I have not thought of it in that light.

Mr. PIiss. There is a $5,000 investment in the company, which was
certainly a risk.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Answering your question the way you want
it answered, we did not put any capital in the du Pont Engineering
Co. except $5,000, but I am sure that this contract had a guaranty
by the du Pont Co., or on the $250,000 bond, and running over
hastily I have not found it.

Mr. Hiss. I do not find it in this contract, but it may be there.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I would like to point out one essential

difference in it

:

The original contract in October contemplated that E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Co. would undertake the contract with the right to

organize this du Pont Engineering Co. That part of it was not
thought out. It was just something in the air. In order to take
care of what are ordinarily called overhead expenses, such as pur-
chasing-department expenses and administrative, which were in-

included in the 15 percent commission originally, the du Pont Co.
would have had to segregate its expenditures, allotting a certain per-

centage to this contract and a certain percentage to its own business.

There was no way of making a complete segregation on the com-
pany's own books. It was a matter to be determined and, of course,

indefinite and open to a great deal of discussion.

In this new contract the du Pont Engineering Co. had been defi-

nitely thought out, and it was decided that the du Pont Engineering
Co. should take the very forces that had been in the du Pont Co.
They then became the forces of the du Pont Engineering Co., and
their expenses, salaries, traveling expenses, and everything of that

kind were definite, because they were in a separate company, and
there was no need of a division then between du Pont expenditures
and du Pont Engineering expenditures, except to a very limited

degree, which was accounted properly by bills between the two
comi^anies, approved by Government officials.

Senator Vandenberg. The thing I am trying to get at is whether
the basic fiscal risk is not entirely that of the Government.
Mr. Gregg. That is correct. Senator. Article IV of the contract

provides [reading " Exhibit No. 1165 "] :

United States of America shall bear the entire cost of the <lesi,gning and con-
struction of said plant, and will supply all the money necessary therefor in
such amounts and in such manner as to allow the activities with respect to the
designing and construction of the plant to proceed without delay or interruption.

Now, of course, as to when the Government was going to supply
the money, the contract does not state. All it states is that the Gov-
ernment will supi3ly the money necessary to allow the activities with
respect to the design and construction of the plant to proceed without
delay or interruption.

That article then further provides [reading] :

To make the above effective a disbursing officer, or officers, shall be appointed
by the contracting officer, who shall be provided with the necessary funds to

meet all payments as due upon presentation by the construction manager of
bills approved by the special director.
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Now, then, if dii Pont Enf^ineerinf]^ Co. made an expenditure and
submitted a bill which was disapproved by the special director, then
the du Pont Engineering Co. would be out the amount of that bill,

or, in other words, would have to ]5roceed with it in some other way.
[Continuing reading :]

The responsibility of the disbursing officer shall extend only to the ascertain-
ment that bills, vouchers, or statements submitted for payment have been
properly certified as approved by the special director or his duly authorized
representatives or successors.

So that it is the responsibility, under that article, of an expendi-
ture being made by the du Pont Engineering Co. which, when sub-
mitted for payment or for the approval by the special director, the
special director might disapprove that bill and, if the expenditure
had already been made by the du Pont Engineering Co., they
would be out that amount of money.

Senator Vandenberg. Could that decision be wholly arbitrary,
or would it have to be justified ?

Mr. Gregg. It would be left to the discretion of the special director,

and if he said, " I disapprove that bill ", then under the contract
the only recourse for the du Pont Engineering Co. would be to pro-
ceed through the courts to endeavor to recover it.

Senator Vandenberg. Again using the language which I used this

morning, so far as the theory of the arrangement was concerned, the
Government was wholly financing it and indemnified you against
any capital loss?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That was, I think, the theory, and our in-

tent ; but it did not remove the capital risk, which might be very
considerable.

Senator Vandenberg. The capital risk was utterly limited, as com-
pared to the capital risk if you had been operating the whole thing
yourself?

INIr. Pierre du Pont. There is no doubt of that ; yes.

The Chairman. What was the actual capital risk in it ? Let us get
that clearly in mind. Was it more than the $5,000?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes, indeed. Supposing the du Pont Co., in

very good faith, had entered into a considerable subsidiary contract,

with the almost certainty they had in their mind that the director
would approve the contract, and the du Pont Co. had been committed
to it, or the du Pont Engineering Co., and the director had refused
to O. K. that contract, Avhatever responsibility there was on the
part of the E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., on the bond, and of the
du Pont Engineering Co., was in jeopardy.

I am not sure that E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. had any re-

sponsibility on this or not. I have not had opportunity to look at it

now, and I am not sure whether they guaranteed that contract or not.

But it would seem to me that the bond of du Pont Engineering Co.
must have had some value, and I would want to look into it before I
would say there was no responsibility.

Mr. Gregg. Even with reference to your statement. Senator, as to

whether the du Pont Engineering Co. assumed any capital risk under
this contract, I might say—I must say, to be specific, at this point

—

that under the contract which subsequently followed and took the
place of this contract, and which w^as broader than this contract, a
number of items and expenditures by du Pont Engineering Co. were
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disallowed; in other words, to the extent of a little over $300,000,
and there were several items that had to be threshed over, and some
of them went to the Attorney General for opinion and some of them
were allowed by the Attorney General, but in the final wind-up

—

that takes in, however, all the du Pont Engineering Co. contracts,

when I speak of the $300,000, because all the contracts were along
the same line—there were expenditures by du Pont Engineering Co.
amounting to a little over $300,000, which were finally disallovv^ed by
the Government.

Senator Vandenberg. And how much of that $300,000 was at Old
Hickory ?

Mr. Gregg. The greater part of it, Senator, I would say, was at

Old Hickory.
Senator Vandenberg. Let us go to the final contract.

AMENDED CONTRACT EXECUTED 3 MONTHS LATER

Mr. Hiss. The final contract was the March 23, 1918, contract, a

copy of which I offer in evidence, was it not, Mr. Pierre du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. March 23

;
yes, sir.

(The letter of transmittal from the Chief of Procurement Division

to the Acting Chief of Ordnance enclosing the final contract was
marked " Exhibit No. 1167 " and is included in the appendix on

p. 3297.)

(The contract referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1168 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3297.)

Mr. Hiss. Under that contract you ceased to be an agent
Senator Vandenberg. Why was this contract substituted for the

other one?
Mr. Hiss. Will you explain why this contract was adopted in place

of tile other one, Mr. du Pont?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I was going to try to find my record on that

so I would not have to rely on a poor memory.
Mr. Hiss. Perhaps, if we bring out some of the differences, that

may show it, Mr. du Pont. The capacity of the plant is increased

from 400,000 or 500,000 pounds in January 1918 to 900,000 pounds
of smokeless powder a day. That appears at page 2 of the contract.

In addition, the payment of a fee for construction, as such, was
eliminated, and a provision was made that a fee of $1 should be paid
for construction, all costs to be paid by the United States. The
United States agreed to advance $18,974,000 immediately ; I beg your
pardon, $18,750,000.

Mr. Gregg. $18,750,000.
Mr. Hiss (continuing). For construction purposes and to advance

$18,954,000 for production. So that there was no question of finan-

cial strain in the sense of making the purchases and acquisitions in

this contract as opposed to the January contract.

Mr. GrtKGG. Senator, an-wering vour qucs-tion as to the reason why
this contract took the place of the January contract : I was connected
with the matter at that time—Mr. du Pont may have some additional

reasons, however—but, as I understood it, at that time the real reason

for the March 23 contract taking the place of the January contract

was because under the contract of January 29, 1918, Mr. Jackling,
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as special director, under article III, could do this. Article III of

the contract of January 29 provides [reading] :

The special director may from time to time by written instructions issued

to the construction manager order changes in drawings and specifications,

issue additional instructions requiring additional work, or direct the work
l)re\iously ordered, and the provisions of this contract shall apply to all such

changes, modifications, and additions, with the same effect as if they were
embodied in the original drawings and specifications.

It was my understanding at that time that the work of construct-

ing the plant was being delayed due to the fact that the du Pont
Engineering Co. had to submit to Mr. Jackling, whose offices were

located over in New York, all drawings and specihcations for

approval before we could go ahead with the work, and that all pay
roiis had to be approved by Mr. Jackling. Various other things

had to be approved by Mr. Jackling, and thau this necessarily re-

sulted in holding up the work, and that the progress was not being

made that the du Pont Co. felt should be made.
As a matter of fact, that matter was taken up with the War De-

partment and, as I recall it, with the Secretary of War, all of which
was submitted to him, and the du Pont Engineering Co. submitted

a proposal to the Secretary of War in order to expedite the work
of construction that if the War Department would give the du
Pont Engineering Co. a contract under which it could proceed in

its own way in the construction of the plant, without all these de-

lays in getting approval of plans and specifications, that the du
Pont Engineering Co. would be willing to construct the plant for

cost plus $1.

In constructing the plant for cost plus $1, of course, there would
be nothing in the construction of the plant, no profit out of which
the du Pont Engineering Co. could reimburse itself for any losses

that it might incur, any bills that might be disapproved.
And that it was also requested by the du Pont Engineering Co.

that the contract provide for an advance payment to be used as a

revolving fund during the construction of the plant.

In other words, that the Government would advance $18,750,000,

and the du Pont Engineering Co. would go ahead and purchase
the materials and proceed with the work, bills would be rendered
to the Government disbursement officers who were located at the

plant, and were also located in Wilmington. When those payment?
would come due, then they would check the receipted materials,

check the bills, and, if they found the bills to be proper, they would
reimburse the du Pont Engineering Co. for those amounts.
So that this advance payment of $18,750,000 during the progress

of the work was used as a revolving fund to carry on the work.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Pierre du Pont, I show you a recapitulation state-

ment as to the operations of the du Pont Engineering Co., Govern-
ment contracts, as of September 1, 1925, which I offer for the record.

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1169 " and
is included in the appendix on p. 3310.)

Mr. Hiss. Under the first column you will see that a total of

advances for the construction of Old Hickory of $18,875,000 had
been made, or were made. This is, of course, after the contract,

which has just been put in evidence. Total advances for operaticffij

Old Hickory, $18,954,000.



3222 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Over to the extreme right, total on all Government contracts.

$45,334,629.87.

Furthermore, the United States reimbursed the du Pont Co. for

expenditures in connection with construction, $66,000,000; in con-

nection with operation, $6,466,000—these both refer to Old Hickorv

—

a total on all contracts of $87,738,000.

Senator Clark. That was the amount which was actually spent at

Old Hickory?
Mr. Hiss. The total amount actually spent at Old Hickory was

$84,973,000 on construction, and on operation $25,420,000.

Mr. Gregg. Where do you get the $87,000,000 ?

Mr. Hiss. That is the total on all contracts, total reimbursed.
Mr. Gregg. Total reimbursed on all contracts.

Mr. Hiss. In addition to Old Hickory, this exhibit shows four

other contracts—Penniman, Tullytown, Seven Pines, and Ives.

The total amount expended by the United States in the form of

advances or reimbursements on all those contracts was $133,073,000.

PROFITS OF DU PONT FOR CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION OF OLD HICKORY

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, I show you a statement prepared by your
company as to the profits made by your company in connection with
the construction and operation of Old Hickory, which I ask be
appropriately numbered.

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1170 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3312.)

Mr. Hiss. You Avill note that you list as profits on Old Hickory
construction the sum of $1, on Old Hickory operation $1,961,000,

On that basis of $1,961,000, the percent of return on the original

$5,000 investment was 39,231 percent.

I\Ir. Nielsen. As I sa3% I think 3-011 should take into consideration

the $200,000 worth of disallowed expense applying against Old Hick-
oiy, for which we were not reimbursed, and that is before taxes also.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Hiss, you remarked a while ago that the
capital risk in this thing was the Government's, and that the $5,000
put up v/as the nominal capital of ourselves, and had nothing to do
with this work.
Mr. Hiss. I did not say that. I said it was only $5,000 out of a

total of many millions.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You do not undertake to say this has a rela-

tion to the $5,000 capital of the du Pont Co. ?

Mr. Hiss. Were not the profits of Old Hickory stated in the form
of dividends to the du Pont Co. ?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I presume so, but I do not know. I do not
think it changes the question at all.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, I would like to call your attention to the
minutes of the engineering company, shoAving the amount of divi-

dends declared to the holders of the stock. Practically all the stock,

except for qualif^dng shares, was held by the du Pont parent com-
pany. Is that correct?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Yes, sir.

Mr. Gregg. May I make a statement, or do you want to go ahead?
Mr. Hiss. May I finish this point ?

Mr. Gregg. Go ahead.
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Mr. Hiss. On December 31, 1919—when Avas the Old Hickory con-

struction ceased? Do 3^011 remember, Mr. du Pont? When did you
cease construction and operation at Old Hickory?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The construction was not completed at the

time of the armistice.

jNIr. Hiss. Do you remember when jou turned the plant over to

the Government?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I do not remember the exact date. It must

have been in the latter j)art of 1918.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg, do you know the time when the Old Hickory
plant was turned over to the Government after the armistice by the

company ?

Mr. Gregg. April 17, 1919.

Mr. Hiss. Between April and December of 1919, do you know
what business, other than Government business, the du Pont En-
gineering Co. carried out?

Mr. Gregg. Mr. du Pont can explain that better than I can.

Mr. Nielsen. We had an earlier contract with General Motors to

do some construction w^ork in 1919.

Mr. Hiss. On December 31, 1919, according to the directors' min-
utes of the du Pont Engineering Co., dividends of $80 a share were
declared. The original subscrij)tion of the stock had been $1 a
share.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. Mr. Secretary if we had organized that com-
pany w4th only $1,000 capital, then I suppose we w^ould have made
five times as much on the investment. I think we made a bad mistake
in overcapitalizing it.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Hiss, you surely cannot mean a state-

ment of that kind to go into the record as meaning anything.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Pierre du Pont, are you familiar with the subcon-

tract of the Mason & Hangar firm?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Let us finish this subject first.

Mr. Hiss. I am sorry. I thought we had finished.

Mr. Gregg. I have a question I want to ask.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg.
Mr. Gregg. Mr. Hiss mentioned a total payment under all these

du Pont Engineering contracts of $133,073,323.23. Of that amount,
$4,128,441.35 was returned to the Government prior to the time of

final settlement. In other words, the total cost of the work under all

of these five contracts was $129,535,541.06.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Pierre du Pont.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. I would like to pursue the subject a bit fur-

ther, because I do not want a ridiculous statement of that kind to go
into the record and be spread broadcast all over the United States,

because the people of the United States are without the benefit of

this discussion.

My brother has just handed me a question, asking what the per-

centage of return on a physician's services would be for a physician's

services. He has no capital invested at all. His services would re-

turn an infinitely great percentage on investment, even if he charged
only one fee in a year.

Senator Vandenberg. Now^ you are getting back to the precise

thing I was trying to establish a while ago, that this is a service con-

tract and does not involve a financial risk.
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Mr. Irenee du Pont. It involves a financial risk, but it does not
give a capital return on the investment. That is a fiction.

Senator Vaxdenberg. There is no fi.nancial risk as compared
with
Mr. Irenee du Pont. We have just found there were $300,000 loss

on it.

Senator Vandexberg. Out of $1,900,000 return?

Mr. Irenee du Pont. That is pretty heavy, and we might have
gotten hurt worse. This latter contract is much clearer in its state-

ment of what must be paid and what must not be, and which was
extra compensation paid the men in the construction, and was not

covered in the operation because they did not allow it.

Senator Vandenberg. The point is you are now arguing the precise

thing I was trying to settle for my own satisfaction originally,

namely, that this was not a capital operation, but that it was a service

fee essentially.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. It was.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. A service fee with financial responsibility

for the account.

Senator Vaxdenberg. I said limited. Mr. du Pont.

Mr. Pierre du Poxt. I am not so sure of that, because the same
disallowances might have amounted to $100,000 times as much. We
did not know. Expenses were so arbitrarily thrown out. They were
just thrown out. There was no question about the $300,000 having
been expended on the plant as being in that category of expenditure,

as we made on our own plant.

Senator Vandenberg. If there had been anj' seriously unfair chal-

lenge to your accounts, you could have taken them into court for

review, could you not ?

Mr. Gregg. That is correct.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes ; but we have not infinite wisdom in such
things. There might have been some quirk of a legal phrase that

we did not know anything about that might have disbarred us.

Senator Vandenberg. I fully understand that, and I fulh^ ac-

knowledge the existence of a collateral liability which, it seems to

me, compared with the whole show is exceedingly limited in prospect,

leaving us at the point where my mind started this morning, namely,
that 3^our entire negotiation is primarily for a service fee rather
than for a capital return. Is not that a fair statement?
Mr. Gregg. With the possibility that you will get reimbursement

for all the expenditures that you have incurred and with the pos-
sibility that if you went through the courts, the courts would allow
you all the expenditures that you had incurred. You are taking
that chance. Senator?

Senator Vandenberg. I think that is so.

Mr. Gregg. May I make one more remark, please? I would like

to clear this up at this point in the record.

In addition to the $4,128,441.35 that we had previously returned
to the Government prior to the date of final settlement, which was
October 31, 1925, we returned to the Government at the time of final

settlement, in addition to this figure of $352,840.35
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg, may I interrupt you at that point? Did

not that settlement involve all construction contracts or pending
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claims on powder contracts of the clii Pont American Industries
for cotton linters?

Mr. Gregg. No; not this settlement. This settlement had nothing
to do with du Pont American Industries.

Mr. Hiss. What items were involved in the October 1925 settlement
other than the construction accounts?
Mr. Gregg. Just these five contracts here.

Mr. Hiss. And nothing else?

Mr. Gregg. Nothing else.

I might say at this point that all these funds of the Govern-
ment that we had in our hands were kept in a separate bank account,
and all interest accruing on those balances was credited to the United
States and eventually paid to the United States, not kept with our
funds at all. They were kept se])arate and apart from our funds.
Mr. Nielsen. May I point out that on that Old Hickory profit, we

paid 79 percent tax on it to the Government, which reduced it to a
very small amount, three or four hundred thousand dollars.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I was going to give you this illustration

:

We have quantities of nitrate of soda coming from Chile in different

cargoes, a long voyage, open to enemy attack, seizure, accident, or
what not. Supposing a number of those cargoes had been unexpect-
edly lost; they would never arrive at the plant, and we could never
prove without delivery that they had been bought for the plant.

Supposing the Government had refused to reimburse us for that
on the ground it was money not expended for the plant? We would
have been out. I do not know how long it would take to collect the

account. I do not know whether we could have done so.

Senator Clark. Could you not have the cargo insured?
Mr. Pierre du Pont. The insurance might have failed. We have

had a great many insurance failures.

Senator Clark. It sounds to me like the ox-tail soup; it is going
pretty far back for soup.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It is; but there is a connection.
Mr. Irenee du Pont. Suppose one of our trusted employees had

embezzled a lot of money down there. Would we as the principal

not be responsible for it?

Senator Clark. Do you not have your trusted employees bonded
who handle large sums of money?
Mr. Irenee du Pont. You can not bond them all when you see how

many we are working here.

mason and hanger subcontract fee of $1,000,000

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, are you familiar with the subcontract
entered into by the du Pont Engineering Co. with the firm of Mason
& Hanger?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I have not left my subject yet. I want to

enter the greatest objection to a statement of that kind going into

the record. It is misleading, and I do not say purposely, but it

comes pretty close.

Senator Vandenberg. Which statement do you refer to?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. The statement of the percentage of money
earned. That ridiculous statement should not so into the record.
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Mr. Hiss. In 1924 your company filed a brief before a special

board composed of representatives of the War Department and the
Department of Justice, relating to the Old Hickory contract. At
page 14 of a document attached to that brief as " Exhibit No, 7 ",

the attached document being a brief on the subject of the Mason &
Hanger subcontract, the following statement is made

:

Undei- the contracts of February 6, 1918, and March 23, 1918, with the Mason
& Hanger people, the total cost of the construction work performed by that
company amounted to $21,511,175 and the company was paid a fee of 5 percent
on such cost, amounting to $1,078,558.79, in accordance with the provisions of
the contracts.

In other words, your company was paid a fee of $1 for construc-

tion and it was reimbursed by the Government a million dollars for

a fee which it paid to Mason & Hanger, a subcontractor, who per-

formed $20,000,000 worth of the total construction work of $80,000,-

000. Is that correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. I will ask Mr. Gregg to explain that. He
has the information there,

Mr. Gregg, I would like to state that about the time or after the

time that the January 29 contract was entered into between the

United States and the du Pont Engineering Co., a contract was
entered into between du Pont Enginering Co, and the Mason &
Hanger Co, to do certain work in connection with the construction

of the Old Hickory powder plant. That included the building of the

village within the plant site, railroad switching lines for cars within
the plant site, and various other work. The du Pont Co. did agree
to pay them a fee of 5 percent upon the cost of that work.
At about that time Mr. Jackling, who was then special director

under the January 29 contract, entered into a contract with the

Nashville, Chattanooga & St. Louis Railway Co. to construct a rail-

road line from a junction point on the N. C. & St. L. to the plant

site. Under that contract Mr. Jackling agreed to pay the N. C, &
St, L, cost plus 10 percent for the construction of the railroad line.

That was about 7 miles long.

When we made the new contract with the Government on March
23, 1918, the contract that Mr. Jackling had made with the N. C. &
St. L. was canceled and terminated.
Under the new contract with the Mason & Hanger Co,, they were

to do certain work within the plant site and beyond the plant site,

which included taking up the work of the construction of this rail-

road line and completing it, for cost plus 5 percent, not cost plus 10

percent as was provided under Mr, Jackling's contract. So that on
the total cost of the work performed by the Mason & Hanger Co.

they contended that they were entitled to a fee of 5 percent. It was
my view that under their contracts they were entitled to such a fee.

That fee was questioned by the representatives of the Government.
They finally went to the War Department. The Assistant Secretary

of War rendered an opinion, which, in my judgment, was arbitrary,

in which he cut down the fee of the Mason & Hanger Co. to approxi-

mately one-half or two-thirds, whatever it was. Following that, the

Secretary of War sent the entire matter to the Attorney General for

an opinion as to whether or not the Government was obligated under
that contract to pay the fee of 5 percent on cost.
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Mr. Hiss. Mr, Gregg, there is no contention that the Government
was not obligated to pay it. I am merely stating the fact that a fee

of $1,000,000 was paid to the Mason & Hanger Co. That is correct,

is it not?
Mr. Gregg. Whatever it was

;
yes ; 5 percent on cost.

Mr. Hiss. Right.
Mr. Gregg. But I think it is entirely proper to bring this out at

this point : The Government asked us

—

Why did you pay this fee of 5 percent on cost when there was a War Depart-
ment regulation limiting the fee to subcontractors to $250,000?

We never knew anything about that regulation. It had never been
furnished to us by the Government and we knew nothing about it.

The Government representatives had checked and audited Mason &
Hanger's disbursements, and had reimbursed for the Mason &
Hanger disbursements during the period the work was going on,

and they never raised any question about the fee. It was not until

after the armistice was signed and the reaudit came along that this

question was raised.

I merely say in the end that the 5-percent fee on the cost to the

Mason & Hanger work was allowed.

Mr. Hiss. The total fees paid to Mason & Hanger and to the

du Pont Co. for the construction and operation of Old Hickory
totaled $1,900,000 and $1,053,000, being the fee to Mason & Hanger, a
total fee paid directly on the construction and operation of Old
Hickory of $3,000,000.

Mr. Gregg. No. The only fee the du Pont Engineering Co. got
was the $1.

Mr. Hiss. I said for construction and operation.
Mr. Gregg. May we confine it to construction for the moment,

because the Mason & Hanger Co. fee comes in on construction?
Mr. Hiss. Now that we have confined it to that, may we now set up

construction and operation ? In construction and operation the total

fees paid by the United States Government were $1,970,000. Is that
the latest figure that you have, $1,976,000?
Mr. Gregg. Yes; but that does not include Mason & Hanger.
Mr. Hiss. $1,976,000 were the profits made by the du Pont Engi-

neering Co.?
Mr. Gregg. Yes ; that is before taxes were paid.
Mr. Hiss. What was the total profit? The statement furnished

previously to me shows Old Hickory operation profits of the du Pont
Engineering Co—this has already been offered as an exhibit—as
$1,961,000. The fee of Mason & Hanger, already referred to, was
stated in the brief of the du Pont Co. as $1,053,000. The total comes
to three million and a few thousand dollars for fees paid in connection
with the construction and operation of the Old Hickory powder
plant.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Chairman, I must object to any such
statement going into the record. That is almost a falsification of
the record. It is an endeavor to show that fees of $3,000,000 were
paid simply because a fee was paid to a subcontractor. You might
just as well put in the profits on nitrate of soda and alcohol and
everything else that was bought for the plant.

83S76—35—PT 14 5
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Senator Clark. The Government paid it; it was out of pocket for

your fee and also for the subcontractor's fee, was it not?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It has nothing to do with the du Pont Co.

Senator Clark. The statement was not made it had anything to do
with the du Pont Co. The statement was made as to how much the

Government was out of pocket in fees in connection with the Old
Hickory construction.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. There is an endeavor here to couple up this

fee with the du Pont Co.
Mr. Hiss. No, Mr. du Pont.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. Otherwise you would put in the fees and

other things? Why did you not put in the profits on the nitrate of

soda ?

Mr. Hiss. I did not know there was any profit on nitrate of soda.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. You ought to have guessed there was profit

there.

Mr. Hiss. To du Pont Co. on nitrate of soda ?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No. There is no profit on the Mason &
Hanger matter to the du Pont Co.
Mr. Hiss. I am pointing out that the du Pont Co. has stated in

the pamj^hlet referred to hitherto and at other times that this con-

struction of $85,000,000 was undertaken at a profit of $1.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. It was by the du Pont Co.

Mr. Hiss. $20,000,000 worth of the $80,000,000 construction, or,

rough]3% one-fourth, was performed by Mason & Hanger and not by
the du Pont Co., and the Government paid a fee on that part of

the construction of $1,000,000. Therefore, a fee of $1,000,000 was
paid by the United States in connection with the construction of the

Old Hickory factory.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. That fee was no different from the profit

made on anything else that was furnished in the plant. That had
nothing to do with the du Pont Co.; simply because it was stated

as a fee instead of a profit. It had no relation to profit of du
Pont Co.
Mr. Hiss. It was paid, was it not, for construction services?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Surely.

Mr. Hiss. Your company had a contract to perform construction

services?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. The total fee the Government had to pay for construc-

tion services at Old Hickory was not $1 but $1,000,000. Is that
not correct?

Mr. Pierre du Pont. No ; it is not. The du Pont Co. was paid a
fee of $1. What other people made out of it as subcontractors or in

the furnishing of materials has nothing to do with the du Pont Co.
any more than it had in the Nitro plant.

Mr. Gregg. I might say that under the contract we had the right

to sublet any part of that.

Senator Clark. The question is, as I see it, how much the United
States Treasury was out of pocket for construction fees.

Mr. Hiss. That is it.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. In constructing the Nitro plant the same con-

dition existed, but no such statement was made.
Senator Clark. That may be. I do not know anything about the

Nitro plant. I was just referring to the statement Mr. Hiss made
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that the Government of the United States was actually out for con-

struction fees for construction services the sum which he named.

He did not assert that the du Pont Co. got that sum; he said that

much was out of the United States Treasury, which I understand

has not been controverted.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. This is an endeavor to try to make the du
Pont Co. statement appear false and erroneous. We had a right

to subcontract this thing. It had nothing to do with the du Pont
Co.'s business. They could have made a fee contract or a lump
sum contract or no contract with Mason & Hanger. It is all within

their contract with the Government. We got $1. That was all

we got.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. du Pont, Mr. Gregg has stated that the War De-
partment regulations at the time forbade the payment of subcon-

tractors' fees in excess of $250,000. No point was made of that

in the statement that I made. That fact seems to me to indicate a

policy of the War Department to limit subcontract fees to a certain

amount. Colonel Harris has had to leave the room for a minute,

and I would like to reserve that question until his return to get his

testimony on that subject.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Mr. Gregg has just pointed out that the

Government authorized under Jackling a 10-percent contract with
the Tennessee Railroad.
Mr. Hiss. The evidence was put in simply to show that in this

particular contract, which has been stated as a one dollar cost of con-

struction contract, $1,000,000 was pai^^ for constriictio!i services by
the United States Government. That $1,00.),000 did not go to your
company and no statement has been made that it did.

Mr. Pierre du Pont. Please dissociate that matter from our
company.
Mr. Hiss. It went to a company that assumed the responsibility

for one-fourth of the construction services performed.
Mr. Pierre du Pont. And the du Pont Co. had nothing to do

with it. That is clear.

Mr. Gregg. You are going to take this substitute, are you, Mr.
Hiss?
Mr. Hiss. Yes ; if you will read those figures in.

Mr. Gregg. I think it is entirely proper at this point to state so
far as the du Pont Engineering Co. is concerned, the gross and
net profits realized by that company with the Government under
those five contracts after paying Federal income taxes. The con-
tracts involved the construction and operation of the Old Hickory
powder plant, the construction and operation of the loading plant
for shells and casings at Penniman, Va., the operation of a bag-
loading plant at Tullytown, Pa., and another one at Seven Pines,
Va., both of those plants having been constructed by the Founda-
tion Co., the du Pont Engineering Co. only operating them; and
the construction of a TNT plant at Ives, Wis. That contract was
entered into just a short time prior to the armistice, so we did not
get very far with the construction of that plant.
The net taxable income for the year 1918 as ascertained by the

Internal Revenue Department for' the du Pont Engineering Co.
was $518,164.58, and the net taxable income for the year 1919, as
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ascertained by the Internal Revenue Department, was $2,031,163.49,

or a total net taxable income for those 2 years of $2,549,328.07.

The commercial profits by du Pont Engineering Co. for the year
1919 of $98,142.19 left a total of $2,451,185.88 taxable income on
Government work for those 2 years.

The du Pont Engineering Co. paid the Government in income and
profits taxes for the year 1918, $417,135.61, and for the year 1919,

$1,603,557.47, or a total of $2,020,693.08.

Deducting from the $2,020,693.08 the tax applying to the commer-
cial profits, $44,047.63, left a balance of tax applicable to the Gov-
ernment work of $1,976,645.45.

Deducting that from the total taxable income of $2,451,185.88 of

the Government work left a balance of a final net profit to du Pont
Engineering Co. of $474,540.43 on an amount of work totaling a

little over $129,000,000.

From that $474,540.43, it seems to me that we are entirely justified

in deducting the following:
The contract for the construction and operation of the Old Hickory

powder plant provided that on construction the du Pont Engi-
neering Co. had the right to pay extra compensation to employees to

expedite the work of construction, and such extra compensation was
set up and was paid after having been threshed over a number of

times with the Government. There was nothing in the contract to

provide any extra compensation to employees engaged on operation,

so that the E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. awarded a common-stock
bonus to certain employees who were engaged on operations in these

Government plants, and those stock-bonus awards, which were en-

tirely borne by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., and no part of them
by the Government, amounted to $193,194.18.

Mr. Hiss. Do you know whether that stock was acquired by the du
Pont Co. by purchase, or do you know by what means it was
acquired?
Mr. Gregg. I could not say definitely, but I should assume it was,

because, as I understand it, practically all that stock used for bonus
purposes is bought in the open market.
Mr. Nielsen. It was purchased stock. That was our policy at that

time.

Mr. Gregg. That was an out-of-pocket expense of E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Co. Of course, that company owming all the capital stock

of the du Pont Engineering Co., whatever profit du Pont Engineering
Co. got on this work eventually, of course, would go to E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Co. So deducting that $193,194.18 from the $474,540.43

left a total net profit of $281,346.25.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg, how many of the employees who received

that bonus remained with the company after the Government con-

tracts had been ended and the engineering company started outside
construction work ?

^

1 Under date of Jan. 10, 1035. the du Pont Co. informed the committee that :
" The

total number of employees of du Pont Ena:ineering' Co. wh.o were paid a bonus on account
of their work in the construction of Government plants by du Pont Engineering Co.
was 1'.>1, and of this number 12G were transferred to El. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.
or one of its subsidiary companies after the (Jovernment ^\ork was terminated. All of
the employees who received a bonus on account of the construction of Government plants,
with the exception of 9 employees of du Pont Engineering Co., were in the employ of
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co, prior to their transfer to du Pont Engineering Co. for
Government construction work."
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Mr. Gregg. I could not tell you that otfhand. I will be glad to

get that information for you. I have a list of the employees in that

book that I gave you.

AUDITING OF OLD HICKORY CONTRACT

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg, you are familiar, are you not, with the inves-

tigations which have from time to time been conducted by the Gov-
ernment into the question of the Old Hickory contract? Would
you give a resume as you remember them of some of those investiga-

tions ?

Mr. Gregg. There are so many of them that I do not know if I
can give you all of them. They started, as I recall it, in 1919, and
they continued up to the year 1925.

To begin with, in the year 1919 the Government sent out a force

of auditors to Wilmington. My information is that at one time
they had 103 auditors there. Those auditors were also working on
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.'s claims after the armistice, as well

as du Pont Engineering Co.
Those auditors remained at Wilmington for a certain period and

then they were all moved to Philadelphia. A number of the records

were moved to Philadelphia by the Government. Shortly after they
were moved up there they had a fire where the records were stored

and, as I recall it, none of the records were actually destroyed by
fire, but a number of them were water-soaked to such an extent that

you could hardly make them out.

Mr. Hiss. Will you complete the general summary, please, of the
investigations that took place?

]\Ir. Gregg. I am going to do that.

]\Ir. Hiss. I am sorry ; I thought you had finished.

Mr. Gregg. Then, later on, they returned those records to Wil-
mington and pursued the investigation from Wilmington.
Do you wish me to state the various questions that came up?
Mr. Hiss. No, no; just a general outline of the time involved, the

investigations carried on, and when the thing was finally settled.

Mr. Gregg. So far as the actual investigation was concerned with
the auditors, it began to run out about 1923 and 1924. Then about
that time the Attorney General appointed outside counsel to go over
this whole matter, and that related only to Old Hickory to a great
extent.

Mr. Hiss. Who was the counsel appointed, Mr. Gregg?
Mr. Gregg. Those counsel were Mr. Frierson, who was Solicitor

General during the Wilson administration, and ]\Ir. Williams, a law-
yer in Tennessee. Both of them were appointed on this work to
look into certain charges and expenditures in connection with the
du Pont Engineering Co.'s contracts.

Mr. Hiss. Was that the first connection that the Department of
Justice had had with the contract?
Mr. Gregg. No. The Department of Justice had a prior connection

with these contracts. As I recall it, various accusations were filed

with the Department of Justice as early as 1922 and probably 1921.

They were over there until 1923.

In 1923 Colonel Anderson, wdio was then general counsel—I would
not say general counsel, but the attorney representing the Govern-
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ment in the war frauds section of the Department of Justice—told

me that there were a number of matters pending 'in his division
relating to the du Pont Engineering Co.
Just about that time a subcommittee was appointed of the Joint

Board of Survey of the War Department and the Department of
Justice. That subcommittee consisted of Major General Williams,
Chief of Ordnance; Mr. Dwight F. Davis, who was then Assistant
Secretary of War, and Col. Henry W. Anderson, who was then legal

adviser for the war frauds or war transactions section of the Depart-
ment of Justice.

Colonel Anderson told me that there were certain things that the
du Pont Engineering Co. would have to answer. My recollection is

that he either called me on the telephone in Wilmington or wrote me
a note asking mc to stop in and see him the next time I came to

Washington, which I did.

He then told me that he was going to give me a number of ques-

tions that the du Pont Engineering Co. would have to answer in con-

nection with the du Pont Engineering Co. work. He stated to me,
in view of the fact—this board having already been appointed—that

as he was going to sit on this board, he did not want to have anything
to do with it, that he wanted to keep his mind free, but that he
would turn me over to one of his men to give me a list of the things
that the Department desired to have the du Pont Engineering Co.
answer.
Mr. Hiss. Who was that assistant, Mr. Gregg?
Mr. Gregg. "VVliereupon he called in Major Carncluff. Major Carn-

duff did submit
Mr, Hiss. Major Carnduff is in the room, Mr. Chairman. Would

you mind calling him and having him sworn ?

Senator Clark. Major Carnduff, will you come forward, please.

Do you want him sworn, Mr. Hiss?
Mr. Hiss. Yes.

TESTIMONY OF ARTHUR CARNDUFF ^

(The witness was duly sworn by Senator Clark.)

Senator Clark. Will j^ou state 3'our full name, please. Major?
Mr. Carnduff. Arthur Carnduif.

Mr. Hiss. Will you state your present position. Major Carnduff?
Mr. Carndiff. Special attorney'. Bureau of Internal Revenue.
Mr. Hiss. Will you state your position at the time that you had

some connection with the Old Hickory matter?
Mr. Carnduff. Special assistant to the Attorney General, working

under Henry W. Anderson, also special assistant.

Mr. Hiss. When did you first become interested in or when were
you first assigned to the Old Hickory case, approximately ?

Mr. Carndiff. Late in the year 1922, or very early in the year

1923.

Mr. Hiss. What was the nature of your work on that from the

standpoint of responsibility and detail?

1 In ooniU'Ction with the testimony of Arthur Carndufif, Mr. Gregg, under date of Dec.
28, 1034, notified the committee that some of Mr. Carnduff's statements were incorrect.
These statements were in connection witli the testimony of Maj. R. R. Farr at a private
executive and confidential hearing lield in 102.". l>efore a subcommittee on ordnance of
the General War Transactions Board. Both Mr. Gregg's letter to the cx)mmittee and the
complete transcript of above hearings are included in the appendix on pp. ;!362 and 3364.
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Mr. CARNDurr. I was responsible for the case, it was assicrned to

me as an attorney, and I worked under the direction of Colonel
Anderson.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Grejrg, can you identify Col. P. J. O'Shaughnessy

?

Mr. Gregg. What do you mean, identify him?
Mr. Hiss. Do you know him ?

Mr. Gregg. Oh, I know him, yes.

Mr. Hiss. What was his position with the Army and in what
branch was he?
Mr. Gregg. Colonel O'Shaughnessy was in the Army during the

war, as I understand it. I will not be positive about this, Mr. Hiss;
it is just hearsay; but prior to the war, he had been retired, he had
been in the Regular Army and retired, and then was called back dur-
ing the war, and after the armistice he continued in the War Depart-
ment and in the Ordnance Department.

Mr. Hiss. We might wait until Colonel Harris comes back to

identify him.^

Mr. Gregg. Now I would like to go a little further with these

matters I was discussing, Mr. Hiss.

Mr. Hiss. All right, if you will.

Mr. Gregg. As I stated. Colonel Anderson said he wanted to keep
his mind entirely clear. He called in Major Carnduff and asked
Major Carnduff to give me a list of the things that they desired to

have me answer ; and this is the list that Major Carnduff gave me and
the only thing that he did give me

:

IN THE MATTER OF GENEEAL INQUIRY

1. Has du Pont Engineering Co. a complete and accurate system of account-
ing of

—

(a) Construction project.

ib) Operation.
Is such now available for examination by the United States?
2. What are contractor's views on a joint audit of

—

(a) Mason & Hanger expenditures.
(ft) Operating expenses as determining costs in relation to manu-

facturing bonus claimed.
3. Has contractor ever rendered a complete statement of account to United

States? May we have a copy of its statement?
4. "Will contractor furnish a summary of items disallowed by United States,

and accepted by du Pont? This should include a summary of disallowances
already vouchered upon which there should be a refund or credit due the
United States.

5. What amount does contractor at this time admit is due United States?
6. "Will contractor furnish a statement of operations with such an analysis

by way of schedules to show generally (1) the description of charges entering
into operations from which the basis for the bonus for saving was determined,
and (2) profits on operations from inception of operating period to the end
of operations.

7. Will contractor furnish a statement of costs of construction and equipment
with such an analysis by way of schedules to show the costs by respective units
of the whole.

IN THE MATTER OF SPECIFIC ITEMS OF INQUIRY

1. Mason & Hanger transaction

:

(1) What were du Font's dealings with Mason & Hanger previous to this
contract?

(2) Who negotiated contract between du Pont and Mason & Hanger?

^ For Colonel Harris' identification of Colonel O'Shaughnessy see p. 3235.
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(3) Have du Fonts any stock in Mason & Hanger?
(4) Who does own majority of Mason & Hanger stock?
(5) Explain circumstances of concern now rated at $400,000 to $500,000

capital, with class B credit rating in a town of 5,662 population receiving a
contract totaling $21,511,175.80 on which they were paid a fee of $1,075,558.79
(R. G. Dunn 1923 listing) ($1,075,558.79—$250,000—$825,558.79).

(6) What are the intercorporate relations of du Pont and Mason & Hanger?
(7) Was the du Pont official who negotiated the Mason & Hanger contract

aware of the maximum fee of $250,000 in War Department regulations? Is it

not a fact that Mason & Hanger had other government contracts with
regulation scale of fees?

(8) What check was kept on Mason & Hanger expenditures?
(9) Did they not buy from du Pont subsidiaries? Was this an agreed

arrangement?
(10) What was the necessity for agreeing to an unlimited 5 percent fee,

obviously excessive when regulations called for a maximum of $250,000?

BONUSES PAID TO EMPLOYES

2. (1) Will contractor furnish a complete statement of all bonuses paid to
employes for any cause?

(2) What payments were made to employes of E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Co. over and above "Salaries and traveling expenses"?

SUBSIDIARIES

3. (1) Was it not the rule to purchase materials from du Pont subsidiaries?
Was this not profitable to E. I. duPont deNemours & Co.?

(2) Was purchase noncompetitive?
(3) Was there any check on materials or prices by du Pont? Explain

system ?

COTTON LINTERS

4. (1) Explain excessive prices above maximum contract rates.

(2) Was this cotton bought from du Pont?
(3) Was there ever a readjustment on books of this excessive price and was

credit allowed United States?
(4) Why were 47 carloads of cotton of a value of $83,000 shipped from

Hopewell, a du Pont plant, to Old Hickory on February 15, 1919?
(5) Explain this transaction.

(6) Excess on cotton shavings of $42,354.98. Was this refunded?
(7) Explain weights from duPont American Industries of 1,000 pounds to

2,468 pounds per bale, on cotton linters, so charged to United States. (See
Agent Towles report.)

FKEIGHT CHARGES

5. (1) AVas a reaudit or refund of excessive freight ever made?
(2) Why was freight allowed to come in at excess charges?
(3) Was Mason & Hanger paid 5 percent on this freight?

BROADWAY MOTORS

6. (1) Will contractor furnish a report of transaction with Broadway
Motors, comparing prices charged United States for Chevrolet cars with current
prices?

That was the list of questions that Major Carnduff submitted to

me. I don't know whether it was the same day; it may have been
the next day; but at that time. That is all he ever did submit to

me in connection with the matters then pending before the Depart-
ment, then or at any other time.

Now, then, this hearing which Colonel Anderson mentioned was
held in the Munitions Building on December 5, 1923. I appeared
there with several of our representatives.
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In the meantime, I had written this reply to the questions, submit-
ting exhibits to practically every question asked/ I look up each
question and gave the answer. I do not assume that it is worth
while or that the committee desires to take up the time of going
through all of these answ^ers.

Mr. Hiss. No, Mr. Gregg.
Mr. Gregg. I did not assume so. But what I would like to do,

in view of the fact that this is our answer to the questions submitted
to us by the Department of Justice, is to have a copy of this go into

the record as an exhibit.

Senator Pope. What was that committee? What was the nature
of the committee?
Mr. Gregg. It was a subcommittee—that is, this is my understand-

ing of it, Senator—it was a subcommittee of the Joint Board of

Survey of the War Department and the Department of Justice.

Now, just who appointed them, maybe perhaps Mr. Hiss or Major
CarndufF can tell. Major Carnduff, you tell them how that com-
mittee w^as appointed.
Mr. Carnduff. The Department of Justice, War Transactions

Section, felt that it should investigate the Old Hickory contract, to

ascertain if any moneys were due the United States. It was an
accounting investigation that was desired. The War Department
felt that the Old Hickory contract had not yet been settled. The
War Department seemed to be of the opinion, in the opinion of the
Department of Justice, that it was a matter for the War Depart-
ment to settle, and not a matter for the Deparment of Justice to

handle, except insofar as the War Department asked the opinion of

the attorney general on certain points.

Thereupon a joint meeting was held to ascertain if the wdiole mat-
ter of the Old Hickory contract should be referred to the attorney
general, first, for investigation, and, second, for action, if action was
indicated.

Mr. Hiss. Major CarndufF, may I interrupt you just a minute?
There are one or two points that occurred earlier than that which I
would like to bring out at this time.

Mr. Carnduff. Yes.

Mr. Hiss. First, for the record, I should like to have marked as

an exhibit the statement from which Mr. Gregg was reading as to

the total of profits. This differs slightly from the statement pre-

viously furnished me by the company, which has already been intro-

duced in evidence as " Exhibit No. 1170 ", and these should be
printed together.

(The statement referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1171 " and
is included in the appendix on p. 3313.)

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, can you identify Lt. Col. P. J.

O'Shaughnessy ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. He is an officer of the Ordnance De-
partment on the retired list.

Mr. Hiss. Do you know" what his functions were in 1917 and
1918?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. He was on duty at the Frankfort
Arsenal during the active portion of the war, and after the war
came to Washington and was on duty in the legal and contract
section of the office of ordnance.

1 Entered as "Exhibit No. 1173", see p. 3236.
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Mr. Hiss. Did he have wide experience with the contracts entered

into during the World War ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. Not at the time they were entered

into, but subsequently he did.

Mr. Hiss. Did he have any experience or was he in a position to

be informed as to the auditing being done in connection with

contracts ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. The portion after the war and the

records as to auditing he was familiar with.

Mr. Hiss. I offer as exhibits a letter which Mr. Raushenbush, the

committee's secretary, wrote to Colonel O'Shaughnessy on Decem-
ber 10, 1934, and the telegram which Colonel O'Shaughnessy sent

in reply.

(The letter and telegram referred to were marked " Exhibit No.
1172 ", and are included in the appendix on p. 3313.)

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Raushenbush's letter to Lieutenant Colonel

O'Shaughnessy, dated December 10, 1934, reads:

We have been supplied by the Wai* Department with a copy of a memo-
randum prepared by you on April 4, 1932, concerning certain criticisms of the
then form of adjusted compensation contract by the Bridgeport Ordnance
District. At page 8 of this memorandum the following statement appears:

" During the World War we had to audit every cost-plus contract. I know
of only one which was not audited currently ; after the war we spent nearly
7 years auditing and investigating that contract. It cost the Government
upward of $1,250,000. Had the auditing been done concurrently, it would have
save the Government a very great deal of money."
Will you please inform the committee of the conti'act to which you referred.

We would appreciate an immediate reply by telegram collect.

Under date of December 14—Colonel O'Shaughnessy is in Florida
and was not subpenaed—Colonel O'Shaughnessy replied as follows

:

Re letter 10, my reference was to du Pont Engineering Co. contract for
construction and operation of the Old Hickory Powder Plant at Nashville,
Tenn.

That will be attached to Mr. Raushenbush's letter as a part of this

last exhibit.

As I understand it, the exhibits attached to the brief prepared by
Mr. Gregg for the joint committee to which he has referred have
been marked for identification as " Exhibit No. 1173-A ", and will

be in the files of the committee for anyone who wishes to consult

them, and the brief proper, apart from the exhibits, will be printed

as an exhibit.

Senator Clark. That is correct.

(The brief referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1173 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 3314.)
Mr. Gregg. Might I go a little further on this case ?

Mr. Hiss. I would rather continue this way, if you don't mind,
Mr. Gregg.
Mr. Gregg. All right, go ahead.
Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, do you know anything to the contrary

of the statement made by Colonel O'Shaughnessy, namely, that the

Old Hickory contract was not audited currently at the time of the
expenditures ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I have no knowledge in that regard

at all.
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Mr. Hiss. You have no knowledge that he is incorrect?
Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I have no knowledge that he is incor-

rect, and he should be in a position to know, because he was in official

charge of the ordnance office and should know.
Mr. Hiss. Major Carnduff, in your experiences and in your work

on the Old Hickory contract, did you have any occasion to learn
whether or not the War Department did audit the Old Hickory
contract currently?
Mr. Carnduff. To the best of my knowledge, information and

belief, there was not a complete audit of the contract made currently
with construction and operation. There w^as some check on materials
received and there was some check on bills and vouchers rendered by
the War Department. There was not what was in the opinion of the
auditors and attorneys of the Department of Justice a complete
auditing by the War Department.

Senator Pope. Do you know why that was, that it was not audited
currently ?

Mr. Carnduff. I do not, sir, because I was assigned to this mat-
ter in 1923 and the construction was in 1918. I was in France then.

Mr. Hiss. I will ask that this report be marked as the next exhibit.

(The report referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1174 " and is in-

cluded in the appendix on p. 3327.)

Mr. Hiss. Major Carnduff, I show you excerpts from a report on
file in the Department of Justice, prepared by Mr. Cameron. Can
you identify Mr. Cameron?
Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Cameron was directing the accounting investi-

gation for the Department of Justice. He is a prominent accountant
of New York City and during this work he was paid an annual
salaiT of $18,000 by the Government.

]Slr. Hiss. The report from which these excerpts are made is a
report on the du Pont Engineering case, made for the Attorney Gen-
eral by the War Transactions Section of the Department of justice.

The first page, being page 6 of that report, lists certain of the
contracts in addition to Old Hickory and describes them.

Penniman : Under contract G1320-732A, dated December 31, 1917, the com-
pany were to he paid, in addition to the cost of constimction and operation
of the plant, 10 percent of the cost of construction and 10 percent of the cost
of loading different sizes of shells to a maximum of 1,4S2..500 shells. In excess
of such quantity there was to be paid 10 percent of established base cost plus
50 percent of any saving below the base cost. The new contract under date
of April 12, 1918, provided a compensation $1 nominal profit on construction
plus 14 percent of the cost of operation.

That is an increase over the original 10 percent.

Any profit accruing under the contract of December 31, 1917, was voluntarily
waived and applied as an advance against the new contract.

Tnllytown : This contract. P3509-643 E. dated .March 2, 1918, provided for
reimbursement of all costs of operation plus 14 percent as compensation.
Seven Pines: This contract, P9050-960E. dated June 1, 1918, covered reim-

bursement of ail costs of operation plus 14 percent as compensation.
Ives: This contract, P15271-1433E, dated October 2, 1918. provided that the

United States would bear all costs of construction and in addition pay a
specified price per pound, subject to adjustment, of all TNT manufactured.
A nominal profit of $1 was to be paid for the construction of the plant.
Prior to the armistice construction of foundations for the buildings had only
begun.

Previous examinations : Various charges were made from time to time that
there were serious irregularities, great waste and extravagance in expenditure
of Government funds. Mr. G. H. Dorr, assistant director of munitions
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Colonel Harris, do you know who G. H. Dorr was ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. He was an officer in the War Depart-
ment during the war.^

Mr. Hiss. Do you know what his first name was ?

Lieutenant Colonel Harris. I do not.

Mr. Hiss. Could you ascertain? [Continuing:]

—assistant director of munitions, in October 1919, issued instructions to th»?

Ordnance district chief at Pliiladelpliia, Pa., to continue such auditing and
accounting as may be necessary in tlie interests of the Government. Tlae Ord-
nance district chief in turn authorized tlie cost-accounting branch to pro-
ceed within the^audit. A great deal of auditing up to this time had already
been performed, but obviously a reaudit was begun. Tliis reaudit was in
charge of various individuals and was not completed until June 1922, and
the result thereof summarized as of May 31, 1922, by an auditor of the War
Department.

Major Carnduff, I show you a recapitulation, copies of which were
furnished by the Department of Justice, which I will offer as the
next exhibit.

(The recapitulation referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1175 "

and is included in the appendix on p. 3335.)

Mr. Hiss. The lower left-hand corner of this bears the date June
23, 1922. The top heading is

:

Du Pont Engineering Co., recapitulation of all contracts, May 31, 1922.

Do you know whether this is the summary referred to in Mr.
Cameron's report?
Mr. Carnduff. This is the summary referred to in Mr. Cameron's

report. This was in the possession of the Department of Justice
prior to the inquiry made of Mr. Gregg.
Mr. Hiss. Continuing with this report:

It is quite appai'ent that during the course of the reaudit, considerable
trouble arose due to a lack of adequate legal interjiretation of certain provi-
sions in the contracts. Maj. R. R. Farr was appointed a sjiecial representa-
tive of the Assistant Secretary of War on July 16, 1921, to bring the reaudit
of all du Pont Engineering Co. claims to a satisfactory conclusion. Major
Farr (at present a si)ecial assi-stant to the attorney general in the War Trans-
actions Section) proceeded to issue legal opinions of matters submitted to liim

for a guidance of the various Government auditors engaged upon the work?

While you were investigating this case, INIajor Carnduff, did you
inquire of the War Department for any material that might show
any auditing made by the War Dej^artment?
Mr. Carnduff. I notified the War Department in May 1923, that

I had this reaudit.

Mr. Hiss. You mean this recapitulation?
Mr. Carnduff. Or this recapitulation to which you have referred

and asked them for supporting data upon which this recapitulation
was made.
Mr. Hiss. Is this the letter which you wrote to the War Depart-

ment ?

Mr. Carnduff. Yes.
Mr. Hiss. I offer it for appropriate marking as an exhibit.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1176 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3336.)

1 Under date of April 4. 1935, Colonel Harris informed the committee that Mr. Dorr's
first name was Goldthwaite and that he was assistant director of munitions.
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Mr. Hiss, I call your attention to this letter, dated May 24, 1923,

signed Arthur Carnduff, special assistant to the Attorney General,

addressed to Maj. John G. Booton, Ordnance Department, United
States Army, and I call your attention particularly to the last sen-

tence of the first paragraph

:

The supporting details upon which this is based would be very valuable at

this time, and therefore requested, referring to the document entitled, " llecapit-

uhition of all contracts, May 31, 1922."

Were you referring to the recapitulation which has been intro-

duced in evidence. Major?
Mr. Carnduff. I was referring to that recapitulation, and I wrote

this letter and sent it to Major Booton, who was at that time assigned

to the furnishing of any details required by the Department of

Justice on all War Department contracts.

Mr. Hiss. I also call your attention to the last paragraph on the

first page [reading] :

If the recapitulation of May 31, 1932, referred to above is the final statement
of the War Department, would you kindly advise as to where and how it

was prepared, and as to where the supporting documents and proof as to same
may be obtained?

Mr. Carnduff. Also as to where the files are, which is very im-
portant,

Mr. Hiss. I would like to have this reply of Major Booton's
marked with the appropriate exhibit number.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1177 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3336.)

Mr. Hiss. Major Carnduff, I show you a letter of June 15, 1923,
signed John G. Booton, addressed to you, and ask you if that is the
reply which Major Booton made to you?
Mr. Carnduff. Three weeks after I wrote that letter I received a

reply from Major Booton, in which he made certain statements, and
to which he appended two documents. One of them was the recapit-

ulation already in evidence, which I had, and the other was a report
or comments upon this recapitulation made by one W. G, Kileen.
The recapitulation I already had, and the comments by Mr. Kileen,
in the opinion of myself and Colonel Anderson, were not of any
great value to us.

Mr. Hiss. Did the documents which were enclosed in Major
Booton's letter to you constitute in any sense an audit of the Old
Hickory construction or operation?
Mr. Carnduff. Neither of the documents were an audit, nor did

they contain details of the supporting papers. They contained sum-
maries, totals, and comments upon some of the summaries. The
purpose of our inquiry was to ascertain for what the $80,000,000
had been paid in the construction of the Old Hickory plant. We
were interested primarily in finding out if there had been any
overpayments, if there were any moneys due the United States, and
how this payment had been checked by the War Department. We
Avere not criticizing. We were endeavoring to find out.

The reply of Major Booton added nothing to what we already
knew,
Mr. Hiss, Is Mr. Moore, of the Department of Justice, here?
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TESTIMONY OF R. M. MOORE

(The witness was duly sworn by the chairman.)

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Moore, will you state your name and position for

the record?
Mr. MooRE. K. M. Moore, chief, division of records, Department

of Justice.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Moore, do you have charge of supervision of the

files of the War Transactions Section, which are still retained by the

Department of Justice?

Mr. Moore. I do.

Mr. Hiss. I show you a copy of a letter dated June 15, 1923,

from Major Booton to Major Carnduff, which has already been

introduced in evidence as " Exhibit No. 1177." This copy was fur-

nished us by the War Department. Can you identify that as a

letter, the original of which is now in the files of the Department of

Justice [handing paper to witness] ?

Mr. MooRE. It is.

Mr. Hiss. Have you examined the files containing that letter?

Mr. MooRE. Just this letter alone, not the files.

Mr. Hiss. I mean, have you found that letter in your files?

Mr. Moore. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. What enclosures, if any, are attached to the letter in

the files of the Department of Justice ?

Mr. Moore. There are no enclosures.

Mr. Hiss. That is all, Mr. Moore. Thank you.

(Witness excused.)

Mr. Hiss. Major Carnduff, you are familiar with the hearings

which Mr. Gregg has described?

Mr. Carnduff. I think I conducted them on the part of the

Government. I am familiar with them.

Mr. Hiss. I show you an excerpt from the stenographic tran-

script, being pages 284 and 285, which I will ask to have appro-

priately numbered.
(The excerpt referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1178" and

is included in the appendix on p. 3337.)

Mr. Hiss. I ask you if that refreshes your recollection as to the

competence of Mr. Kileen as an auditor or accountant. I call your

attention particularly to a question which you asked Mr. Kileen.

Was Mr. Kileen under oath at this time, Major Carnduff?
Mr. Carnduff. He was not. This was a joint hearing of the War

Department and the Department of Justice and the testimony was
given without oath.

Mr. Hiss. Was this a public hearing?
Mr. Carnduff. It was a private executive hearing and the hear-

ing was confidential.

Mr. Hiss. Have the records ever been published of that hearing?
Mr. Carnduff. Unless they were published before some senatorial

or congressional committee, they have not.

Mr. Hiss. Your question, at the top of this page, of Mr. Kileen,

was as follows

:

Mr. Kileen, we have asked each of the accountants giving opinions here
to give a brief resume of their experience as accountants, and I would like

to ask you the .same question : Namely, are you a certified public accountant?
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To which Mr. Kileen replied

—

No, sir.

Your next question was

—

Have you been a senior accountant?

Mr. Kileen replied:

I was given that grade by civil service, that is all. Never served in public
accounting.

You asked him:

Oh, you never serv'ed in public accounting?

He replied

—

No, sir.

You then asked him to give briefly his experience in accounting
before entering the Government service. He stated that he

—

attended the Utica Business College, and left there to accept a position in a
wholesale jobbing and hardware concern, a clerical position.

He said he

—

was there about two years and a half.

His—
next position was with the General Electric Co.

—

where he

held the positions of claim chaser, claim clerk, assistant to the head of the
distribution department, and was later given charge of the distribution de-
partment, making a service of 7 or 8 years with the General Electric Co. I
then made application to the civil service, and was assigned to the Ordnance
Department in March 1918.

You then asked him what his rating was, and he replied

:

Senior accountant. In the civil service.

You asked him if he ever examined " the books of the du Pont
Engineering Co. " and he replied that he had examined the general
books.

He answered:

I have worked on the cash books to determine the cash transactions, the
accounts payable registers, and the cost records and journal entries.

He said he did this while in the employ of the United States
Government.
You asked him " for what purpose " this was done, and he said

:

The purpose of this audit, under Major Farr.

You then asked him:

But you never made any general examination of the operating books of
the du Pont Engineering Co.? "

And he replied:

No, sir ; only for the purpose of this audit, under Major Fair.

Mr. Carnduff. There is a final sentence there, which is also im-
portant.
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Mr. Hiss. Your statement at the end, after the witness had been

excused, was

—

I might say, Colonel, that I have not sent for Mr. Kileen, as I did not
consider his evidence would much more than corroborate all of what Major
Farr would tell us, and of course I didn't even know how he got here.

After refreshing your recollection with this excerpt from the hear-

ing, Mr. Carnduff, what is your present memory of your opinion

of Mr. Kileen's accounting ability?

Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Kileen worked in a clerical capacity under
Major Farr, and Major Farr at that time was an attorney in the

Department of Justice. He was in charge of Mr. Kileen and
naturally could tell us anything that Mr. Kileen could have told

us. We felt that Mr. Kileen was not competent to make an audit

of an $83,000,000 transaction.

I might add that I felt that Mr. Kileen had never made such

an audit,

Mr. Hiss. Will .you describe the kind of audit that was made
by Major Farr?
Mr. Carnduff. I can only describe that from Major Farr's testi-

mony before this Board, and I have every confidence that his

testimony was accurate. He stated that a spot check was made of

expenditures, and he stated that approximately 1 in 10 vouchers
were checked on this review and reaudit.

Mr. Hiss. Was that checking a matter of an official order?

Mr. Carnduff. He stated at this investigation that this spot check

was made upon the order of C. C. Williams, who was then Chief of

Ordnance.
Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to a further excerpt from this

hearing. This is at page 52. I will ask that that be appropriately

numbered.
(The excerpt referred to was marked " Exhibit No, 1179 " and

appears in full in the text.)

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Cameron asked Mr. Guise a question. Can you
identify Mr. Guise?
Mr. Carnduff. I believe that Guise at one time was a reserve

major. At any rate, he was engaged in auditing work on the Old
Hickory contract, but discontinued that work before it was com-
pleted,

Mr, Irenee du Pont. Which audit was that?

Mr, Carnduff. To the best of my recollection, that was one of the

original audits.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. On the plant, prior to when construction was
going?
Mr. Carnduff. Yes, sir.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. And did the vouchers on that construction

work all bear the signature of an Army officer approving them?
Mr. Carnduff, I do not know, because I did not see any of those

vouchers.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. You did not see any of those vouchers?
Mr. Carnduff. That is, I never got that far with this case.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Cameron, whom you have already identified, asked
Mr. Guise the following question (" Exhibit No. 1179 ") :
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Wei'e you called upon to audit the cost of operation?
Mr. Guise. That was not started at the time I left. We were beginning to

audit quantities.

Does that mean left Old Hickory ?

Mr, Carnduff, I do not know.
Mr. Hiss. He was stationed at Old Hickory at one time, was he

not?
Mr. Carnduff. He said he was. I do not know of my own knowl-

edge.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

That wiis not started at the time I left. We were beginning to audit quan-
tities.

Mr. Cameeon. But did you not make the statement that it could not be
done now?

Mr. Guise. I do not think that a real audit, on account of the lack of
records, cuuld be made now—definitely and legally audited ; I will put it

that way.

Did you ever visit the Old Hickory site j^ourself, Major Carnduff?
Mr. Carnduff. I did during the course of this investigation, yes,

visit Old Hickory in company with Mr. McLane, the district at-

torney; Mr. Cunningham, assistant to the head of investigation. De-
partment of Justice ; and Mr. Cameron, in charge of audits.

Mr. Hiss. Did you find any records of the transactions at the
plant location?

Mr. Carnduff. There were no records that could be utilized at

Old Hickory at that time. I might say that was about the middle
of 1923. We found some records that were valueless, and we found
th:it there were records at Wilmington, Del.

Mr. Hiss, Can you identify Mr. G. E. Youmans? [Handing
paper to witness.]

Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Youmans was a man who had been employed
in auditing work or investigating work in conection with the du
Pont contracts. I believe he was an auditor working under the
direction of Major Farr, somewhat similar to Mr. Kileen.
Mr, Hiss. I will offer that document for the record.
(The document referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1180" and

is included in the appendix on p. 3338.)
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Kileen's audit, to the extent that it was an audit,

was as a clerk, you said, under Major Farr?
Mr. Carnduff. Right.
Mr. Hiss. And Mr. Youmans was also under Major Farr?
Mr. Carnduff, Yes, sir.

Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to a further excerpt from the
hearinsis, referring merely to pages 87 and 88. You asked Mr.
Youmans to state his position, and he replied

:

Supervisor of collector's office.

Of Internal Revenue, I assume.
You then asked him to state his former connections having to do

with the du Pont Engineering transaction. He replied

:

My first connection with the du Pont Engineering Co. contracts was In
December 1919.

Colonel Anderson then said :

You refer now to the Old Hickory, do you?

83876—35—PT 14 6
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Mr. Youmans replied that he was never there except once, he
believed, " but not during the active operation of the contract."

He then stated as follows

:

Then as accountant in charge under Mr. Cobb, supervisor of the cost

accounting branch of the Philadelphia district. Subsequently I became super-

visor of the Philadelphia district, the cost accounting branch, and continued
the supei-vision of the audit of these contracts. And I continued in that

•capacity until about September 1921, at M^hich time Major Farr, a special

representative of the Secretary of War, took entire charge of the audit of

the du Pont Engineering Co. contracts, and then I continued to operate under
his direction until some time in November 1921, at which time I resigned.

Was Mr. Youmans under oath at this time. ]SIr. Carnduff ?

Mr. Carisduff. He was not, to my knowledge.
Mr. Hiss. None of these statements were made under oath at this

hearing ?

Mr, Carnduff. I think not.

Mr. Hiss. It was an informal hearing before the war transactions

section^ Is that correct?

Mr. Carnduff. It was a hearing to determine whether the De-
partment of Justice should investigate and close this Old Hickory
contract, or whether the War Department should continue its nego-
tiations toward a settlement.

Mr. Hiss. You asked Mr. Youmans to state the circumstances of
his resignation, and he replied:

I resigned so that I could, in my private capacity, make a report to the
Comptroller General, placing before him in this report certain matters that
I thought he might not leam of through the settlement or award that was
being prepared en these contracts.

You asked him:

Just tell the Board what the basis of your report was, briefly, and the
i"«asons for it.

He replied:

Why, I prepared a statement which included items that he had previously
disapproved.

General Williams asked him:

Who had previously disapproved?

He replied

:

The Comptroller General.

He went on to state

:

Showing the disposition that had been made of them by the present control
over the audit of these contracts. It was impossible to get an advance ruling
on the items and principles involved in this audit without presenting a bona
fide voucher. So in tlie course of time vouchers were prepared, and attached
to them were the contractor's receipted vouchers supiwrting them. These
vouchers embodied practically all of the principal disputed items, and his
decision regarding the propriety of payment resulted in practically an inter-
pretation of the contract, and in a great measure supported the intei-preta-
tions that had already been given by the cost accounting branch.

Did you understand that testimony to mean that vouchers were
prepared not only after the transactions had taken place but after
the transactions liad been questioned?

Mr. Carnduff. Vouchers had been prepared, but that did not
mean that they had been paid. They were referred to some higher
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authority, to see whether the amount vouchered should be allowed
as a disbursement by the du Pont Co. However, Major Booton's
letter to me admitted that several vouchered items had been paid.
Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to a further place in Mr. Youman's

testimony, the second page of this excerpt, being pages 106 and 107.

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1181 " and
is included in the appendix on p. 3338.)

Mr. Hiss. I refer to the next to the last answer; no, I will read all

of it [reading] :

Mr. Anderson. What was the general character of your report to the Comiv
troHer General? Merely a protest against payment?

Mr. Youmans replied

:

It was not a protest even. I criticized no one at all. Merely presented some
facts that I wanted to get to him so that he would be warned and know
what that lump sum might contain.

Colonel Anderson asked

:

And it dealt chiefly with the items that you reviewed?

Mr. Youmans replied

:

Yes ; and I showed the action taken by Major Farr on those same items.

Colonel Anderson asked:

Well, what was that action?

Mr. Youmans replied

:

Approved all the items that the Comptroller General had suspended.

At a further place in Mr. Youmans' testimony, pages 110 and 111,
lie stated

:

Operating costs had not been gone into on any of those contracts. We were
still waiting for a decision as to the necessity of furnishing proof of delivery
•of material. That was still an open question. Operating costs were not to be
gone into until after that was determined.

I offer that for appropriate number.
(The excerpt referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1182 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3339.)

Mr. Hiss. Again at page 114 Mr. Youmans testified

:

We questioned every voucher, hut not prices.

He was asked by Colonel Hull

:

You didn't go into the prices of any of these?

And he replied:

On anything.

Colonel Anderson asked

:

Why did you leave the prices entirely alone?

Mr. Youmans replied

:

Why, we were so advised by—I think it was the District Claims Board at
the time.

Colonel Anderson asked:

In other words, you didn't undertake to verify the fact that the amount
-charged the Government was the price paid by the du Pont Co. for the stuff

at all?
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Mr. Youmans replied

:

No.

I offer that for appropriate number.
(The excerpt referred to was marked " Exhibit No, 1183 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3339.)
Mr. Hiss. Can you identify J. R. Peebles, Major Carnduff [hand-

ing paper to witness] ?

Mr. Carnduff. Peebles was either an accountant or investigator
who was employed at some time or other on those Old Hickory
contracts.

Mr. Hiss. At page 132 Mr. Peebles testified that you were correct
in stating that he had formerly been contracting officer of the
du Pont Engineering Co. contracts, and succeeded Major Guise as

contracting officer.

You then placed in evidence a letter dated December 13, 1921,
headed "Subject: Elimination of detailed summaries."

As a result of confei'ences held in AVasliington, December 10, 1921, you are
hereby directed to discontinue preparation of detailed summaries.

It has been decided the only information necessary is the voucher number
and amount which will permit tieing up the charges with the contract and
the contractor's books.

That was signed by R. R. Farr, special representative of the

Assistant Secretary of War.
I offer that for appropriate number.
(The excerpt referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1184 " and is

included in the appendix on p. 3340.)

Mr. Hiss. At page 155 Mr. Peebles testified that he had " had
charge of a number of large operations for the Government " in

the form of audits.

You then asked him if the Old Hickory transaction w^as handled
in the same way as the others. "• Was it handled the same way as

you handled other transactions?"

And he replied

—

No, sir ; because we completed the audit as prescribed by the Comptroller.

I offer that for appropriate number.
(The excerpt referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1185 " and

is included in the appendix on p. 3340.)

Mr. Hiss. Did you understand that to mean that in other cases

he had completed an audit prescribed by the Comptroller, but had
not in this case ?

Mr. Carnduff. I understood that to mean that in other cases he

had completed his audit in the method prescribed by the Comp-
troller, but in the Old Hickory case he had done it the way Major
Farr had told him to do it, in that manner, which was not the same
way.
Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to an office order, No. 1, dated

May 9, 1918, which appears ;at page 187 and following pages of the

hearings referred to, which I offer for appropriate number.
(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1186 " and

is included in the appendix on p. 3340.)

Mr. Hiss. This is headed [reading] :
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Routing to be followed by United States Army Ordnance Inspection Force,
Old Hickoi-y powder plant, Nashville. Tenn., governing construction under
contract No. War. Order P^755-711-E

—

which is the number of the Old Hickory contract.

At page 2 of this excerpt, item (C) 1, it reads

:

At least 10 percent of the documents received in this office without stip-

Dorting papers will be held out and will be forwarded to the contractor with
request for supporting papers.

Do you know whether that procedure of holding out at least

1.0 percent was limited to holding out only 10 percent?
Mr. Carnduff. I do not know anything about that. I had noth-

ing to do with War Departaiient orders, so that I cannot give any
opinion on that.

Mr. Hiss. I show you a copy of a report dated September 12, 1918,
from Robert L. Oden, Chief Clerk, Ordnance Department, to Capt.
George K. Foulke, Jr., which I offer for appropriate number.

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1187 " and
is included in the appendix on p. 3343.)

Mr. Hiss. That states [reading] :

Subject : Develo])ment of Construction Inspection, per office order No. 1 at Old
Hickory powder plant.

1. Reference: Paragraph III, C-4, subparagraphs (a) to {g) inclusive, of
office order no. 1.

The monthly report referred to in the reference is made up and on hand
at this office for reference on demand, for each month commencing .Tune 1, to
date. The net result of reports for June, .July, and August is summarized be-

low in accordance with the reference, except for the omission of subparagraph
(a) in the reference, whicli reuds "The total number of documents received
for each class of material during the month for inspection."

(h) Grand total of documents received to September 1 54,965
(c) Total number of documents checked for supporting papers by this

office to September 1 5. 371
id) Total number of documents found to be correct upon check for sup-

porting papers to September 1 5, 371

In the case of (c) it was approximately 10 percent of the total

number received, and in the case of (d) it was 100 percent of the
items checked.
Paragraph II. Underneath that is

:

(a) Total number of "check comparisons " made to September 1 4, 765
(ft) Total numl)er of " check comparisons " found to be correct 3, 561
(c) Total number of "check comparisons" found to be incorrect 1,204

Under (e) [reading] :

Percentage of " check comparisons " found to be incorrect, based on total
number of " check comparisons " made to September 1, 25.2 percent.

Under paragraph III it states [reading] :

A study of the figures given herewith, together with a complete understanding
of the situation reveals a discrepancy. First of all, it will be noted that all

vouchers when submitted to this office for final inspection and passing, appar-
ently have complete supporting papers. Secondly, it will lie noted that in 25.2
percent of all the cases which have been checked by this office and which consti-

tute 8.6 percent of the total documents received, supporting papers could not
be furnished at the point and by the office where these supporting papers are
supposed to originate in every case. In other words, apparently whenever a
field checker's report was not available to cover a given voucher, and payment
was desired on the same, a field checker's report was made up from the face
of the voucher, attached thereto, certified, and forwarded to the Army inspector
of ordnance for signature as a proper supporting document.
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I offer for the record a statement furnished by the War Depart-

ment as to Mr. Foulke's personal history before he entered the War
Department.

(The document referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1188 " and
is inckided in the appendix on p. 3344.)

Mr. Hiss. That shows that he was employed by the du Pont Pow-
der Co. in various services from 1911 until February, 1916; that he
then went to the Aetna Explosives Co. until January, 1917, and then
was with the Ball Grain Explosives Co. until he entered the Army.
Do you know what the Ball Grain Explosives Co. is, Mr. Gregg?

Have you ever heard of the Ball Grain Explosives Co., Wilmington,
Del.?

Mr. Gregg. I have not.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. What is the name?
Mr. Gregg. Ball Grain Explosives Co.
Mr. Hiss. Lieutenant Foulke, Jr.

Mr. Irenee du Pont. I gather from the name of the man and the

fact that the explosives company is at Wilmington, that must be a

black powder proposition started by E. Paul du Pont, who married
a Miss Foulke, and that is what it was, I think, and what it refers to.

Mr. Hiss. The order of May 9 directing a check of 10 percent of
the documents received was signed by Lieutenant Foulke, as Army
Inspector of Ordnance. Was he in charge of auditing at one time ?

Mr. Carnduff. I think that my investigation developed that Cap
tain Foulke was in charge of checking at the Old Hickory plant. Htj

was in charge of some bookkeeping device at the plant for the Army,
as a reserve officer.

Mr. Hiss. I show you a letter dated June 7, 1918, from Lieutenant
Foulke to Lt. Col. F. H. Miles, Jr., which I offer for the record.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. liSS-A" and is

inchided in the appendix on p. 3345.)

Mr. Hiss. Paragraph 7, the last page, states

:

It is realized most keenly that the inspection outlined in office order no. 1 is

not a 100 percent inspection. It is felt, however, that if properly carried out,

it is reasonably certain to develop any troubles which may exist and provide a
remedy for them and that no more certain system of inspection can be devised
to meet the conditions short of an absolute 100-percent inspection. This last is

practically out of the question. The du Pont Engineering Co. and the subcon-
tractors are conducting a lOO^percent inspection. In doing this the du Pont
Engineering Co. is employing 100 checkers and the subcontractor's force is

approximately 100 checkers covering incoming material alone, while an office

force of several hundred people is maintained to do the necessary paper work.
In addition to these men, there is a small army engaged in checking the dis-

tribution of material, auditing vouchers, etc. Inasmuch as the du Pont Engi-
neering Co.'s files are open at all times to the Government and will eventually
be turned over to the Government, it is felt that to institute a check on them
which would cover the work as they are doing would involve a waste of men
and money and a loss of time which would not be justified.

This is dated while construction and operation were still going on,

June 7, 1918?
Mr. Carnduff. That is riglit.

Mr. Hiss. I now refer to page 170 of the hearings, which I will

offer for appropriate number.
(The excerpt referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1189 " and is

inckided in the appendix on p. 3346.)
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Mr. Hiss. There appears a statement by General Williams. Gen-
eral Williams was on the Board hearing the testimony brought

forth by you?
Mr. Carnduff. He was sitting as a member of this Board, which

was to determine whether Justice or the War Department should

close the contract with the du Fonts, and he made the statements

you are about to read. I have seen them before.

Mr. Hiss, (reading) :

General Williams. I am willing to say this: I think that under the con-

tract I, as Chief of Ordnance, would have had authority to direct a 10-percent

audit. Furthermore, I will say that under the circumstances—the question

never was brought to me, but under the circumstances had it been broujiht

to me, I would have directed such an audit.

Mr. McLane

Who w^as Mr. McLane ?

Mr. Carnduff. He was United States district attorney for the

middle district of Tennessee, at Nashville, Tenn.
Mr. Hiss. Was he assisting at this time in the preparation and

investigation of this case?
Mr. Carnduff. He was urging that the Department of Justice

investigate the Old Hickory transaction. He was assisting us to

some extent, but at one of the hearings he became very angry
and withdrew from the hearing. At this time I presume he was
still assisting. I do not know.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. McLean asked:

What I was driving at is, who did direct it?

General Williams. I will admit the responsibility for directing that audit.

Mr. Guise, later on at the same page, is recorded as having made
the following statement:

This 10 percent that has been referred to is not an audit ; it never was an
audit. The 10-percent method referred to was the method used in checking,
the quantity and class of incoming materials.

Colonel Anderson asked him

:

That was true of the period of construction and operation.

And Mr. Guise replied

:

During the operation. There was practically no check ever found on the
operation materials.

He stated, at the bottom of the same page [reading] :

This was not the audit. Do not get " audit " and " check " mixed. An
audit is an entirely different thing from a check. The Army inspector of ord-
nance, under the old system that was carried along to some extent in the new

—

although we were relieved to some extent of his responsibility for property

—

was the representative in the field and had to assume property accountability
for all materials received and paid for by the Government. In tliese cost-
plus contracts the miscellaneous items that made up the material being
manufactured by the contractor had to be checked ; the actual final cost
of the article had to be checked in under the same method.
The Army inspector was given a group of men—sometimes depending on

his discretion, and generally depending on how far he made his check, more
than anything else—for several purposes ; primarily, we may say, so far as
incoming materials are concerned, to check against the quantity and quality
received. Secondarily, to check against processes in producing the material.
Normally it was expected that a complete check would be made on the receipt
of materials. That was had ; there was no reversal that I know of at any
time of the Ordnance Department regulations in that direction. Of course-
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I had myself about 8 months of inspection work, and during that period I

had the old-time method, and I had the old-time property accounts. I only
had nine all told to take care of.

In this case the evidence that it was possible to secure, together with a
copy of the order issued by Lieutenant Foulke, indicated that a 10 percent
check was made on the receipt of the material. That is, out of, we will say,

100 vouchers, 10 vouchers would be pulled out and checked up, and the 100
accepted as being correct if the 10 were correct.

Who was the chairman of this committee?
Mr. Caknduff. Dwight F. Davis, Assistant Secretary of War.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Davis asked:

Was that the customary practice in the case of a large contract of this sort

in those times, or was tliat specially in this particular case?
Mr. Guise. Well, I don't know. This was the only case anyway where I

definitely came in touch with that particular practice. As I stated, in my
property accounts I always worked on the old method. Even over in France
I used the old system.

I also offer for the record at this time a memorandum to the As-
sistant Attorney General in regard to a preliminary investigation

of the Old Hickory powder plant, prepared by George W. Storck,
expert bank accountant.

(The memorandum referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1190 ",

and is included in the appendix on p. 3347.)^

Mr. Hiss. When the Department of Justice came into the case

was any complete audit undertaken, so far as you know? I call

your attention to these excerpts from Mr. Cameron's report, page 8.

Mr. Carnduff. Without that I can answer that as far as I was
able to ascertain, or anyone working for me or with me, we had no
complete audit with which to investigate the Old Hickory plant.

So far as I know there never was any audit that was shown to us
or that we knew about.

Mr. Hiss. On page 8 of Mr. Cameron's report there is a heading
^' Scope of examination."

It was an undertaking to determine the balance due from the du Pont Engi-
neering Co. on August 31, 1924, qualified, however, in that accountants of this

imit accepted as the base the balances as shown on the books of the du Pont
Engineering Co. as of May 31, 1922. These balances of May 31, 1922, were
reviewed by the then War Department examiner, W. G. Kileen, and were made
the subject matter of a report.

That is the report you have already testified about as being sent

to you, Major Carnduff?
Mr. Carnduff. That Kileen report is the second document in the

letter sent to me by Major Booton in June 1923.

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

The report of May 31, 1922, made by the auditors for the War Department,
was brought up by your examiners to August 31, 1924. All charges and credits
appearing on the books of the company between these dates wert audited by
this section. It should he observed that a reaudit of the whole of the accounts
was not undertaken by this unit.

It was apparent that no attempt was ever made by the company or by the
War Department to i-econcile the finance records of the Government with the
books of the company.

Theie are expenditures aggregating $35,323,732.84 yet to be put through the
finance division for which no public vouchers have ever been issued.

1 In connection with "Exhibit No. 1100", Mr. Grepg under date of Apr. 26, lO.SS,
submitted a brief which i.s included in the appendix on p. ;?516.
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On August 5, 1925, the Attorney General wrote to the Secretary of

War.
(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1191 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3352.)

Mr. Hiss. He stated in the last paragraph as follows

:

In conclusion, may I emphasize tlie fact that, in accordance with my under-

standing of your wishes, expressed in your letter of May 23, 1924, this Depart-

ment lias made no general investigation into the payments made to the du Pout
Co. in the course of its work under the contracts in question.

Furtliermore, this Department has for obvious reasons made no effort to pass

upon the accuracy or completeness of the War Department's audit in this case.

Was that the final action taken by the Department of Justice so

far as you know in this case?

Mr. Carnduff. I do not know, because after this meeting in

December 1924 I was taken off the case—in 1923, I mean. So I was
not in the Department of Justice.

Mr. Hiss. Did you make any recommendation prior to your being

taken off the case. Major Carnduff ?

Mr. Carnduff. Yes, sir; and it was acted upon.
Mr. Hiss. What was your recommendation?
Mr. Carnduff. I recommended to the Attorney General that the

contract between the du Pont Engineering Co. and the Government,
commonly known as the " Jackling contract ", be investigated by the

Department of Justice to the end that a final accounting be made,
and that all papers, documents, and records connected with it be
transferred by the War Department to the Department of Justice

for investigation and action if action were indicated. And that

recommendation was approved. That was done late in December
1923 after the meeting at which the whole matter was discussed, at

which Mr. Gregg and Mr. Pierre du Pont, and I believe, Mr. Raskob,
were present.

Mr. Gregg. No; Mr. Pierre du Pont was not present at that, nor
was Mr. Raskob. Mr. Haskell was there.

Mr. Carnduff. And Mr. Haskell was there ; representatives of the
du Pont Co.
Mr. Hiss. Do you knoAv whether the Comptroller General ever

made any audit of the Old Hickory contracts ?

Mr. Carnduff. Up to the time I was taken off this case at the end
of December 1923 I know he did not.

Mr. Hiss. I call to your attention a letter of July 10, 1925, which
I offer as an exhibit, from the Comptroller General of the United
States to the Attorney General.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1192", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3355.)

Mr. Hiss (reacting) :

I have the honor to call your attention to my letter of April 18, 1925, in mat-
ters pertaining to the indebtness to the United States of the du Pont En-
gineering Co. on vx'hose bond the E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. is surety, and
to state that no reply has been received to my said letter.

This ofBce is especially desirous of closing up the audit of the accounts of the
du Pont Engineering Co., but it cannot do so until the accounts are received
from the War Department and the Secretary of War advises that the accounts
cannot be transmitted to this office until the case is returned by your Depart-
ment with a report of the result of its investigations as requested by the War
Department.
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It was on Au^ist 5 that the Attorney General wrote to the War
Department as already stated in evidence. On October 23, 1925, the

Comptroller General wrote a further letter to the Attorney General.

(The letter referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1193 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3355.)

Mr. Hiss (reading) :

By your letter of July 24, 1925, you informed this office tliat the case of the

du Pont Engineering Co. would prot)ably be closed so far as your Department is

concerned within a comparatively short time, and that when a final deter-

mination had hocn m^de as to the matters to be reported to the War Depart-
ment, you could ccmmun'eate to this office the character of any indebtedness
which your Department considered to exist again the du Pont Engineering Co.

in favor of the United States, how it has been determined, and whether it is

considered by your Department as still standing against either the du Pont
Engineering Co. or the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Co.

As no further information about the matter has been received, I have the
honor to request the present status of the matter before your Department,
and if it is possible to indicate when a determination will be reached, request
is made that this office be informed about it.

On October 26 Paul Shipman Andrews—was he in the Depart-
ment of Justice ?

Mr. Carnduff. Paul Shipman Andrews was a special assistant to

the Attorney General in the Department of Justice.

Mr. Hiss. He replied to the Assistant Comptroller General as

follows

:

Your letter of October 23 to the Attorney General has been referred to this

office. The du Pont Engineering Co. case has been transferred to the War
Department for further action and for administrative determination.

In other words, up to October 26 no documents could have been
turned over to the Comptroller General, according to the record so

far.

(The letter referred to was marked "Exhibit No. 1194", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3356.)

Mr. Hiss. On October 31, 5 days after the letter from Mr. An-
drews, a final settlement contract was entered into between the

United States of America and du Pont Engineering Co., signed by
H. M. Pierce, president of the Engineering Co., and by Major
O'Shaughnessy on behalf of the United States. So that appar-
ently the Comptroller General could not have made a very com-
plete audit of the voluminous records involved in this case between
October 26 and October 31, the date of the settlement contract.

I offer that in evidence.
(The contract referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1195 ", and

is included in the appendix on p. 3356.)^

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg, one question to you.

I show you a report of the Government Claims Division to the

executive committee of the du Pont Co., dated December 18, 1922.

(The report referred to was marked " Exhibit No. 1196 ", and is

included in the appendix on p. 3359.)

Mr. Hiss. At the time that the Comptroller General was writing
to the Attorney General what matters were pending before the
Comptroller General involving the du Pont Co.?

^ An Ordnance Department memorandum prepared in connection with this settlement
contract was entered into the record as "Exhibit No. 1215", see Hearings, Part XV, p.

3578.
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Mr. Gregg. The du Pont Co. had been selling material from time
to time to the Government. The du Pont Engineering Co. still had
a certain balance in its possession under the du Pont Engineering
contracts.

Mr. Hiss. An undisputed balance that it admitted it owed the
Government over and above claims, Mr. Gregg?
Mr. Gregg. In other words, the du Pont Engineering matters had

not been closed up at that time. They were still under investigation.

We still had a certain balance in our hands, and the Comptroller
General took the position that he would not approve payment to

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. for current sales of materials to the
Government until the du Pont Engineering contract was closed up
and the unused balance returned to the Government.
Mr. Hiss. May I call your attention to page 6 of this report,

" Exhibit No. 1196 ", which states

:

Funds on hand were, November 30, 1922, for tbe Government, $947,000.

Does that mean that on that date that amount of money belonging
to the United States was held by the du Pont Engineering Co. ?

Mr. Gregg. That is correct. And the reason that was held is be-

cause these investigations were still going on. We did not know
how long they would continue. We did not know whether we
would have to go through the courts eventually, and we were un-
willing to return the unused amount until the contract was closed

up, because we did not know what expenditures we might have.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg, these claims you referred to, before the
Comptroller General, that were being carried on at this time, had
no relation to the Old Hickory contract, did they?
Mr. Gregg. That is correct, except as the Comptroller General

related them to them in this way.
Mr. Hiss. But they arose out of the sale of materials to the

United States Government?
Mr. Gregg. By the E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.
Mr. Hiss. And the du Pont Engineering Co. had nothing to do

with those contracts?

Mr. Gregg. With those sales.

Mr. Hiss. With those sales?

Mr. Gregg. That is correct.

Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to page 3, in which you say

:

Of the claims and accounts before the Comptroller General of the United
States for settlement and payment, some have been tentatively allowed in

whole or in part, but payment withheld on account of the du Pout Co. being
surety for du Pont Engineering Co.

In other words, the Comptroller General refused to pay claims
which he admitted the Government owed you until

Mr. Gregg. Owed E. I.

Mr. Hiss. Owed E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. until the Engi-
neering Co. had paid back to the United States the amount which
the Engineering Co. admitted was a balance due to the United
States.

Mr. Gregg. Not admitted that it was a balance due to the United
States, but it was the balance that was still in our hands.
Mr. Hiss. How much dispute was there at that time about that

amount ?



3254 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Gregg. There were various items in dispute at that time.
Mr. Hiss. I call your attention to page 5 of " Exhibit No. 1196 ":

The du Pont Engineering Co.'s differences with the War Department are
as follows

:

The total there shown is $361,709.13.
Mr. Gregg. That is correct.

Mr. Hiss. Whereas, on page 6, the total amount of Government
funds was $947,674. So that you had a clear balance of well over
$500,000, even if every point in dispute were resolved in your favor
and you were to retain

Mr. Gregg. But there was no assurance that those claims would
be resolved in our favor, and therefore the possibility that we
might have to go through court.

Mr. Hiss. But if they were not resolved in your favor you would
repay the full $947,000"?

Mr. Gregg. If they were resolved in our favor?
Mr. Hiss. If they were not resolved in your favor, you would

repay the United States the full $947,000; is that not correct, Mr.
Gregg? Perhaps the third sentence of the second paragraph on
page 3 will refresh your memory.

We are endeavoring to assist the legal department in the preparation of a
brief or appeal to the Comptroller General, asking that the du Pont Co.'s

accounts be paid, for the reason that the United States is protected in the
case of the du Pont Engineering Co. by du Pont Co.'s bonds on the advances
made to the Engineering Co.

By the " du Pont Co.'s bonds " you meant they had put up collat-

eral?

Mr. Gregg. Oh, no, no. The du Pont Co. had bonded the du
Pont Engineering Co. in connection with the advances that had
been made.
Mr. Hiss. You do not mean bonds put up as collateral, you mean

obligation bonds?
Mr. Gregg. Surety bonds.
Mr. Hiss. Right. So that you suggested that the United States

rely upon the du Pont Co.'s credit rather upon a set-off of amounts
held by the United States which the Comptroller General admitted
you had a claim to, but for the Engineering Co., is that correct?

Mr. Gregg. What I meant by that was that if the Comptroller
General went ahead and paid these claims of E. I. du Pom de
Nemours & Co. for current sales, and even though we still retained
this cash in our hands, the Government was still protected.
Mr. Hiss. By the credit of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. ?

Mr. Gregg. JBy the credit of F. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.
Mr. Hiss. But you did not wish to rely upon the credit of the

Government at the same time?
Mr. Gregg. It was a question of whether or not we might not have

to go through court and incur a lot of expense in going through the
courts.

Mr. Hiss. May I call vour attention to the last sentence on page
3 [reading from " Exhibit No. 1196 "] :

So long as the Comptroller follows the plan of holding up payment of money
to the du Pont Co. it will be a misfortune for the du Pont Co. to have its

unpaid accounts with the United States exceed the amount of unspent United
States money held by du Pont Engineering Co. Should the du Pont Co.'s un-
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paid accounts exceed the sum of money held by the du Pont Engineei'ing Co. the
du Pont Co. might then be forced to sue in the Court of Claims for the amount
due and the Government's reply would undoubtedly throw the du Pont Engi-
neering Co.'s business into the Court of Claims instead of into the local Federal
court, where it would be if the United States eventually sued the du Pont
Engineering Co.

You did not wish to have the Court of Claims pass upon your
powder claims, that is, claims for materials sold to the Government,
but if the case were thrown into court, you preferred to have it tried

in the local Federal court?
Mr. Gregg. Where we Avould have a chance to get before a jury.

]\rr. Hiss. That is all I have.

The Chairman. You wanted to raise a question?

Mr. Gregg. How many minutes may I have. Senator?
The Chairman. If it is going to be extended minutes at all, let us

wait until Monday morning,
Mr. Gregg. It is not going to be extended, just a couple of points

I would like to make at this time.

I observe that one exhibit has been put in by Mr. Storck. In the

investigation by a Congressional committee of Attorne}^ General
Dougherty, which you will no doubt recall, Mr. Storck and Mr,
McLane, the United States attorney at Nashville, appeared before

that committee and made various charges in connection with the

Old Hickory contract. Mr. Storck testified that before that commit-
tee at this hearing on December 5, 1923, before this joint board which
I mentioned, and which Major Carnduff has referred to. Mr. Storck
there testified that he saw in my possession at that hearing that day
his original rejoort to the Attorney General with respect to the
charges at Old Hickory.

I Avish to state now that that statement is untrue. I never saw
Mr. Storck's original report, a copy of his report, or an extract of

his report to the Department of Justice, at any time or anywhere.
Mr. Hiss. That was not referred to, Mr. Gregg, in any of these

letters that went in. There was no charge made that you had seen
Mr. Storck's report in any of these exhibits,

M, Gregg. No. I appreciate that. I just wanted to clear that up.

That Avas the only thing that I ever got fro^m the Department of

Justice before this hearing or after that hearing with respect to Mr.
Storck, and I did not know that these questions that Major Carnduff
had submitted to me were in any way based on any report that Mr.
Storck or anybody else had made to the Department of Justice

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Gregg, may I ask one question to clarify that?

The congressional investigation to which you referred was an
investigation on the charge that the Government's case had been
disclosed to the du Pont Co., was it not?
Mr. Gregg. That is correct. And I say that that is untrue.

As to the settlement contract which we entered into with the War
Department, dated October 31, 1925, eventually, of course, that went
to the Comptroller General. When it reached the Comptroller Gen-
eral, the Comptroller General then called upon me for explanation
of certain expenditures allowed under that report, and I wrote two
memorandums for him. One was on the extra compensation for

meritorious services performed by certain employees in connection
with the construction of the plants, which included Old Hickory.
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Another memorandum which I prepared for the Comptroller Gen-
eral dealt with certain other items that were in dispute before the
War Department.

After the submission of those memorandums to the Comptroller
General, the Comptroller General approved the settlement contract

which the du Pont Engineering Co. had made with the War
Department.

I also wish to call attention at this time—I have a number of
other matters, but I will make this brief—that before the settlement
contract was made with the War Department, a letter was written by
Attorney General Sargent to the Secretary of War. I merely wish
to point out at this time one paragraph. I may desire to refer to it

later, but at this time one paragraph of that letter by the Attorney
General to the Secretary of AVar.

Mr. Hiss. That letter is already in evidence, Mr. Gregg, as " Ex-
hibit No. 1191." That was a letter from which I read the last

paragraph.
Mr. Gregg. I just want to point it out.

An extensive investigation of the charges of fraud or crime above referred
to—

And this has to do with the du Pont Engineering matters

—

An extensive investigation of the charges of fraud or crime above referred to

has failed to disclose reasonable or probable grounds for believing that during
the performance of the contracts in question the du Pont Co. committed the
offenses with which it has been charged, or any crimes, and in my opinion
there is no warrant either for further investigation along these lines or for
the institution of p.roceeuings ; gainst the company based upon charges of fiaud
or crime.

Senator Clakk. Who wrote that, Mr. Gregg?
Mr. Gregg. Mr. Sargent.
In this opinion of the Attorney General, he did suggest to the

War Department that they give further reconsideration to certain

items that were in dispute at that time. Those I will take up later.

Mr. Hiss. Mr. Carnduff, do you know what attorney succeeded you
in charge of the case?

Mr. Carnduff. A hearing was held about the middle of December
1923, as a result of which it was determined that the Department of
Justice should investigate this contract. A few days thereafter,

within a week thereafter I received a letter from Attorney General
Dougherty telling me that Mr. R. H. Williams, of Chattanooga,
Tenn., had been assigned to the Old Hickory case, and I was in-

structed to turn over all my records and papers to Mr. Williams.
In January 1924 I turned over all records of the Department of

Justice in my possession to Attorney R. H. Williams, of Chatta-
nooga, Tenn., and had nothing further to do with the Old Hickory
case. I did not leave the Department of Justice. I remained there
for another year. I did not, however, see Mr. Williams thereafter

nor was I consult-ed by him.
Mr. Hiss. Mr. Williams did not ask your views as to the case or

as to the procedure to be followed with respect to the case. Major
Carnduff?
Mr. Carnduff. On the contrary, I tried to see Mr. Williams. I

had worked on the case off and on for a year. I endeavored to get
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him. to consult me or consult Colonel Anderson, who was my chief.

To the best of my knowledge he never saw or consulted either of us.

Mr. Hiss. Major Carndujff, if you had been assigned to draft a

reply to the Secretary of War for the Attorney General's approval,
w^ouid you have included the paragraph which Mr. Gregg read into

the record a few minutes ago?
Mr. Carnduff, Regarding fraud and crime?
Mr. Hiss. Yes.
Mr. Carndutf. At the time I left the case, I would. After a year's

investigation and the reports of various auditors, detectives, and
investigators, at the time I was taken off the case I had no positive

evidence whatsoever of any fraud or crime on the part of the du Pont
Co. or any of its subsidiaries, and I had nothing to lead me to sus-

pect that there was fraud or crime. What we were desiring to do
was to have an accounting.
Mr. Hiss. Would you have recommended a thorough audit or ac-

counting at that time. Major Carnduff?
Mr. Carnduff. I certainly would, for the reason that our auditing

and accounting of various reputable concerns as well as disreputable
concerns had disclosed large sums of money due the United States.

Up to that time I personally had collected back over $2,000,000 that
had been wrongfully paid by the United States on war contracts.

In many instances, where the evidence of this overpayment was
shown to the contractor, he freely and gladly paid the amount due
the United States without further trouble. Before we could set up
a bill as to what we thought was due, we had to have a thorough
auditing and accounting and proof of the amount due. We did not
have that with reference to the du Pont Co. in December 1923.
Mr. Hiss. Did you ever satisfy yourself that there had been any

thorough auditing of the du Pont contract for the construction and
operation of Old Hickory by the War Department or by any other
agency of the Government?
Mr. Carnduff. There had been within the knowledge of anyone

in the Department of Justice no thorough audit of the Old Hickory
contract by the Government. We understood that there was a com-
plete audit of the Old Hickory contract made by the du Pont Co.,
and that the supporting papers and vouchers and the audit were in
Wilmington, Del. Mr. Cameron and myself went to Wilmington,
Del., and were shown those supporting papers, which filled a room
larger than this room on the top floor of the du Pont Building. And
the du Pont officials told us we were free to look at any and all of
them we desired.

Mr. Gregg. I wish to say at that point that starting in 1919 and
leading up to 1921 the War Department had a force of auditors in
Wilmington, as I say, running at one time up to approximately 103,
going over these contracts. So far as I know, they audited every
voucher. Just as an illustration, they got down to one point where
they disallowed a fountain pen costing $2.75 because we could not
locate the fountain pen.

Senator Pope. What is the date of that letter, that opinion of the
Attorney General?
Mr. Hiss. August 5, 1925.

Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Hiss, I would like to add to my answer.
At the time I left the case, I was fully convinced that the du

Pont Engineering Co. owed the United States a balance of at least
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$900,000, and possibly a great deal more. This balance was ad-

mitted as due, and I made demand upon the du Pont officials for

this balance. There was some question as to how it would be paid

and what kind of a receipt would be given if it were paid. I never

got a chance to collect it because I was taken off the case. But
I am confident that I could have collected the greater part of that

$900,000 at that time. Mr. Gregg indicated that he was ready to

pay it, or some of it.

Mr. Gregg. No. I said at that time. Major—I beg your pardon

—

that we did not want to return that sum of money until we knew
that there was going to be a settlement or there was some wind-up

of the case, either through the courts or otherwise.

Mr. Carnduff. I believe it was agreed that the money would be

])aid if a receipt in full would be given. I refused to give a receipt

in full for the reason that an audit might develop more money due.

Mr. Gregg. I do not recall your mentioning a receipt in full at

the present time.

I would like to state this at this time: These matters had been

in the Department of Justice for over a year, and we were not

making verv much progress toward settlement. We did want to

get through with this thing some day. I saw Attorney General

Sargent shortly after he came into office. I had never met 'him

before. I spoke to him about these matters in the War Fraud

Section. He said, " I do not know anything about the details."

I said, " Mr. Attorney General, I am not asking you to go into

the details. I am not asking you to dismiss these charges. I do not

want them dismissed. I want them fully investigated. If we are

guilty of fraud, we should suffer the consequences. The only thing

1 am' asking you to do : Will you not be good enough to try to move
the investigation along so that if we have to go into court, the

sooner we get into court the sooner we will get out of court?"

Senator Clark. Mr. Gregg, did not the district attorney for the

district of middle Tennessee, to whom you refer, testify in that

Dougherty investigation that the grand jury down there had either

returned indictments or was about to return indictments, and that

he was ordered by the Attorney General to send those papers to

Washington, and that they fell into the possession of Assistant

Attorney General Goff, and that he was never able to get them
back?
Mr. Gregg. I do not recall that. Senator. I thought I had gone

through that testimony quite thoroughly.
Senator Clark. I have not been through it. That is my informa-

tion, but I do not vouch for it. I was just asking if that was not the

testimony, to that effect.

Mr. Gregg. But I do recall at this hearing that we had on Decem-
ber 5, 1923, near the close of the hearing, that Mr. McLane made vari-

ous charges about overpayment of freight rates, and so on and so

forth, and Colonel Anderson asked him to produce any evidence that

he had to him the next morning at 9 o'clock. Colonel Anderson said

to me, "You come in at 11 o'clock, and if I feel that there should

be further expUiuation of this, or if it requires further explanation,

you will have to do it."

I went to Colonel Anderson's office at 11 o'clock and, when I went

in, he said, " Have you seen McLane this morning? "
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I said, " No, I have not seen an^'thing of him."
He said, " Well, he never showed up here, and I have not been able

to find him." He told me later on that the evening of the hearing
McLane had gone back to Xashville and never did submit the mem-
orandum to him.

Mr. Hiss. Major Carnduft', may I ask you one further question:
At the time that you left this case, were you of the opinion that,

wholly apart from fraud and crime, solely in the realm of proper
accounting to the United States for funds advanced, there w^as need
of further investigation?

Mr. Carxdiff. I was; and I think this hearing of December
brought out—you have the testimon}-—that the responsible du Pont
officials admitted there was some balance due the United States, the
return of this monej^ advanced it. We wanted to ascertain what the
correct balance was and collect it. That had nothing to do with
fraud or crime ; an accounting proposition,

Mr. Gregg. That amount of $900,000 due at that time was reduced
by various expenditures wdiich were approved by the Government.
Wliat was left—between three and four hundred thousand dollars

—

we did return to the Government at the time of the settlement con-
tract.

Mr. Hiss. Major Carnduff, over and above the $900,000 wdiich was
admittedly held on deposit, whether subject to claims or not is im-
material, were you of the opinion that it was proper to carry on a
further investigation to determine w^hether or not the du Pont Co.
owe<i the United States more than that $900,000?
Mr. Carnduff. Certainly. I wanted especially to investigate the

matter of the Mason & Hangar fee, and a matter of bonuses paid to

employees, to find out if they were proper or not. We had not made
any decision as to whether they were right or wrong, but we felt

these large sums should be investigated and examinee! from a legal

standpoint. We needed evidence to do that, and we did not have the
evidence at that time.

Mr. Gregg. I might say that as to the Mason & Hangar fee we did
go to the Attorney General and the Attorney General rendered an
opinion to the Secretary of War that the fee of 5 percent should be
allowed.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, Mr. Gregg has referred to a number of

Government auditors from time to time investigating. Were they
War Department auditors, Mr. Gregg?
Mr. Gregg. They Avere War Department auditors.

Mr. Hiss. Colonel Harris, would you please bring on Monday
whatever there is in the nature of an audit in the War Department
that those 103 auditors prepared ?

The Chairman. The committee will be in recess until 10 o'clock

Monday morning.
(Thereupon, at 5 p. m.. a recess was taken until Monday, Dec. 17,

1934, at 10 a. m.)
This concludes that part of the testimony known as " Part XIV,

Old Hickory Contract." At this point the committee continued with
the story of Old Hickory and entered into the question of industrial

organization in war. (See Part XV.)
83876—35—PT 14 7
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Exhibit No. 1138

[File: Publicity Bureau. Moses, Senator, replies to Dyes]

* August 16-22.

Memorandum of reply to statement of Senator Moses in United States Senate
on July 14th, 1922.^

During the discussion of the tariff bill in the United States Senate on Fri-

day, July 14, Senator Moses, of New Hampshire, made statements concerning
the dealings of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, and is subsidiaries,

with the United States Government in the late World War which should not
be allowed to stand uncorrected. He said

:

" I have here a tabulation drawn from oflScial sources showing that, begin-

ning with January 10, 1918, and running through to a latest date of Febru-
ary 11. 1919, the du Pont Co. and two of its subsidiaries secured advances
from the Federal Treasury in the gross sum of $99,250,552.80. his money,
Mr. President, was paid for the purpose of creating huge establishments which
bear the du Pont name and which were devoted to furnishing supplies to the
Government during the war. Thus the people of the United States not only
financ3d the du Ponts in the tremendous extension of their business but were
also mulcted by the du Ponts to an extent which enabled the company to

increase its plant value to an admitted $220,000,000 wliile at the same time
taking out net profits which in one year amounted to $129,000,000.

"The du Ponts still hold, as of July 1, 1922, $35,131,066.02 of Government
funds unaccountetl for, although the war ended almost four years ago. On
practically none of this $100,000,000 of public money advanced to them did the
du Ponts pay interest ; and the only security they ever gave for any portion of
this huge sum of the public's funds was their own notes or bonds."
The money advanced by the United States Government to E. I. du Pont de

Nemours & Company (hereinafter referred to as du Pont Company) was used
for the purchase of raw materials for the fulfillment of contracts to supply
the Government with explosives, with the exception of $3,870,000 advanced by
the Navy under contract 35819 for the construction of a plant for the produc-
tion of T. N. T. for the Navy.
The du Pont Company's war construction work, to meet the demands of

foreign governments for explosives, was virtually completed before the United
States went into the war, and none of the funds advanced by our Govern-
ment in 1918 could have been used " to increase its plant value to an admitted
$220,000,000." lie same statement applies to the profits which were mentioned
in th? Senator's speechT.

he records show that the $54,807,380.83 advanced to the du Pont Company
has been completely liquidated and accounted for by the completion of con-
tr.'TCts, the delivery of material, the settlement of claims, or the return of
cash to the United States Treasury.
To a subsidiary of the du Pont Company, viz, the du Pont Engineering Com-

pany, the Government advanced money to be used and which was used only
in connection with the construction and operation of Government-owned plants.

For the construction of Government-owned plants the du Pont Engineering
Company received direct advances from the War Department totaling $24,506,-

250.00. and in addition thereto, the sum of $160,579.87, making a total of
$24,666,829.87. The sum of $160,579.87 represented profit which had accrued

* Pen and pencil markings.
3261



3262 MUNiTioisrs industry

to the du Pont Engineering Company under the first contracts for the construc-
tion of these Government-owned plants, whicli jirofit was waived in favor of the
United States under the later contracts. The cost of construction of the
Oovernnient-owned plants, the greatest of which was the Uld Hickory Smoke-
less Powder Plant near Nashville, Tennessee, total $9&,923,U08'.23, and (* These
plants) were built by the du Pont Engineering Company at a prcjfit ttj it of

$1.00 per plant, but as the third plant was not completed, due to the armistice,

the total protit paid to the du I'ont Engineering Company on construction work
totaling $99,923,608.23 was $2.00.

The remainder of the funds advanced by the Government to the du Pont
Engineering Company, viz, $20,667,800.00, was advanced for use in the procure-
ment of raw materials, payment of labor, etc., in coimection with the opera-
tion of Government-owned plants.

As of June 30, 1922, the Du Pont Engineering Company had on hand $940,-

D60.60. This sum of $940.960.6(t remained because some accounts were still in

.process of adjustment with the War Department. A total of $45,334,629.87

was advanced to the Du Pont Engineering Company in connection with the con-

struction and (iperation of Government-owned plants. There was I'eturned to

the United States by four checks, dated June 30, 1920, of Du Pont Engineering
^'onipanv, a total of $3,174,000.00; by check dated January 19, 1921, the sum of

$133,981.57; and by check dated March 23, 1921, the sum of $16,516.20, or a

total of $3,324,497.77 returned in cash to the United States. The l)alance of

the funds advanced to Du Pont Engineering Company were expended in con-

uection with the constructi(in and operation of the Government-owned plants,

nil of which expenditures have been approved by the War Department with
tlie exception of certain items in dispute involving approximately $361,709.00.

All moneys advanced by the Government to the Du Pont Engineering Com-
pany were kept in separate bank accounts and were drawn on only for use in

connection with the contracts for the Government-owned plants, and all in-

terest on unexpended funds advanced accrued to the benefit of the United
States.
To another subsidiary of the Du Pont Company, viz, the Du Pont American

Industries, Inc., the Government advanced $5,40O,001>.0O, to be used by the Du
Pont American Industries, Inc., as agent for the United States, in the purcliase

of cotton linters for tlie United States and its Allies. These funds were kept

in separate liank accounts and interest to the amount of $147,965.28 accrued to

the benefit of the United States.

Du Pont American Industries, Inc., was accountable for the total sum of

^5,547.965.28. and by five checks, dated July 19, 1920, it returned to the United
States in cash the total sum of $5,410,105.62, and has been credited with the

return of an additional .'^um of $77,849.98 through the approval by the United
States of certain accounts. Pending final settlement of one or two accounts.

the Du Pont American Industries, Inc., has in hand only $62,175.62, which
includes accrued interest.

The attached statement gives a detail of the advances made by the United
States on and after January 10, 1918, to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company,
and its subsidiaries, the Du Pont Engineering Company and the Du Pont
American Industi'ies, Inc.

Approved

:

H. Fletcher Brdwn.
*Aug. 16-22.

* Pen and pencil markinss.



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 3263

ADVANCES MADE BY THE UNITED STATES TO E. I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS & COM-
PANY ON AND AFTER JANUARY 10, 1918. FOR USE IN THE PROCUREMENT OF SUP-
PLIES AND MATERIALS AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF A PLANT FOR THE NAVY '

Govt, contract number
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Exhibit No. 1139

[Copies from file no. G-728-323-E]

War Industries Board, Council of National Defense

robert 8. brookings, commissioner finished products

Washington, D. C, November 1, 1917.
Hon. Newton D. Baker,

War Department,
My Dear Mr. Secretary : Wishing to get to the bottom of the proposed con-

tract with the Du Pont Company, I motored with Admiral Earl to Indian Head
yesterday afternoon, and made a rather hurried but complete inspection of the
naval powder plant which is located there. While the plant is small, producing
only 25,000 lbs. per day, they have an appropriation for doubling this capacity
at an expenditure of something like $2,000,000. I am convinced, from state-

ments made me by the superintendent, Mr. Patterson, and the officers in charge
that the plant is producing as good powder as is produced by any plant in the
world, and I herewith enclose copy of report made by them October 21st of
this year showing the cost during the fiscal year 1917 to be about 31^ for
what is known as " direct shop cost ", with an overhead including boxing,
interest, outbound freight, depreciation, etc. of about 9<^, or a total of 40^ per
lb. Of this cost, the contract with the Du Ponts would entirely eliminate the
item of boxes, depreciation, outbound freight and barge expense, and interest,

which, you will notice, aggregates about l^ per lb., reducing the cost to 330.

This is a small scattered plant of only l/40th of the capacity of the proposed
new plant. With the purchasing power of the Government and the magnitude
of the proposed plant, it is quite probable that the cost as outlined by the
Du Pont agreement will not exceed 35«? per lb., so that under the Du Pont con-
tract, they would make during the first year of operation a profit of about 10^
per lb., or approximately $30,000,000 in addition to the $13,500,000 construction
commission provided for. From statements made me by Mr. Patterson, super-
intendent at Indian Head, I would place very little value upon the super-expert
knowledge of the Du Ponts, or patents or other privileges attached to their
service. They probably produce at Indian Head everything provided for at the
propo.sed new plant except possibly a small amount of diphenylamine.

I herewith hand you enclosures just received from Col. Pierce, which indi-

cate the cost to the British Government for contractor's services on a plant
probably similar to this would average about 2%. This does not seem, however,
to cover the plans and specifications.

I send this by bearer, hoping it may reach you before your interview with
Mr. du Pont.
That the price demanded by the Du Ponts for construction, service, and op-

eration is utterly out of scale with any possible service they can render would
seem obvious.

If there is any further assistance which I can render you or the Department
in solving this problem, I am, of course, at your command.

Yours truly,

Robert S. Brookings.
RSB-BMP

Exhibit No. 1140

[Copied from file no. G-728-323-E. Refer to no. 2908-22. HDBl

Naval Proving Ground,
Indiaiihead, Maryland, October 22nd, 1917.

To : Bureau of Ordnance.
Subject: Cost of smokeless powder manufactured at Indianbead during fiscal

year 1917.

References: (a) Bu. Ord. letter 33446 of October 8, 1917.

(b) Bu. Ord. letter 32239 of June 9, 1917.

1. In compliance with references (a) and (b) above, the following report

is submittetl

:
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DEn"AILED COST OF MANUFACTUEB OF SMOKEXESS POWDER DURING THE FISCAL YEAK
1917

The cost of a pound of new powder is calculated for the year as follows

:

Per lb. of powder

0.645913 lbs. of cotton, at .108618 $0. 070159
0.803035 lbs. of alcohol, at .0645S2 . 051942
2.2743 lbs. of sodium nitrate, at .021027 . 047824
1.485 lbs. of sulphur, at .011557 . 0171G2
Production labor . 036737
Handling materials, labor . 004183
Leave and holiday . 009;)07

Superintendence and clerical . 007024
Repairs, labor, and material . 032885
Powder expense . 025465
Other material . 008191

Total 0.310879
(The above are all the items of cost which can be considered

direct shop cost.)

Overhead cost: Per lb. of powder

(1) Powder boxes $0.014308
(2) Administration (officers' pay and allowances) .002743
(3) Pensions (disability pay) .000505
(4) Expense charged to other appropriations .014340
(5) Depreciation . 022766
(6) Insurance . 000440
(7) Rejected powder .000000
(8) Experiments . 000000
(9) Purchasing expense .001475

(10) Tug and barge service .004533
(11) Freight . 009207

Total . 070317
Interest .018495

Interest is calculated at 3 percent on a plant value of $2,001,635.00 and a
value of stock in suspension of $1,993,800.00. Both the interest and all items
of overhead expense are averaged to the total output of new and reworked
powder, a total of 6,480,809 pounds, at $0.018495, $119,863.05.

Total cost to Government for the manufacture of one pound of powder dur-
ing the fiscal year 1917, at the naval proving ground

:

Shop cost $0. 310879
Overhead cost . 070317
Overhead cost . 070317

Total .399691

Shop cost includes all material entering into the composition of the powder,
all labor expended directly in connection with the manufacture, labor, and
material used in repair of plant, cost of power for operating and all incidental
material expended in connection with manufacture, whether entering into com-
position or not.

Overhead charges include all matters of actual cost to the Government ex-
clusive of shop cost. Some of these expenditures are from ordnance appro-
priations and some are from other appropriations.

Interest is charged at 3 percent on the assumption that the Government
can and does borrow money at that rate. All figures are reduced to a per
pound basis on the total output of the factory.

Analysis of items included in overhead charges

:

(1) Powder boxes.—A box contained an average weight of 109.5 pounds of
powder, and is assumed to be good for three shipments, 109.5-328.5 pounds at
$4.70 per box, equals $0.014308 per pound.
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(2) Administration {offioers' pay d allowances)

.

—
One-hnlf (inspector, paymaster, surgeon) $6,364.12
Three-fourths (assistant inspector) 3,649.80
One-fourth (powder gunner)

. 659.74
One-half (warrant machinist and pay clerks) 4,672.92
All (marine officer) 2,428.96

Total administration ($0.002743 per pound) 17,775.54
(3) Pensions {disaMUty pay), $3,275.08 per pound, $0.000505.
(4) Expense charged to other appropriations, or johs not already included.—

Watchmen (one-half regular, all of special force) $12,037.67
Handling refuse, one-half 497. 57
Care of motor trucks, carts, and wagons, one-half 420. 93
Care of livestock, one-half 817. 33
Care of grounds, one-half 7,615.60
Care of cottages, one-half 8,473.05
Care of launches, one-half 3,973.96
85 marines, at $433.16 per man 36, 816. 60
Heating and light offices and handling coal, one-eighth 502. 58
Care of Washington telephone line, one-half 811.67
Care of offices and detachetl buildings, one-half 1, 825. 58
Care of laboratories 5, 430. 12
Care of creek water front and coal store 4, 888. 81
Tool room charges 1, 056. 47
Maintenance, garage 169. 64
Mixing house repairs 253.85
Sulphuric house repairs 3, 090. 89
Dry house changes 4,199.25

Total ($0.014340 per pound of powder) 92,936.90

(5) Value of investment.—
Land $10, 40O. 00
Improvements, including railroad lines, pipe lines, grading, sew-

ers, electric lines, etc 315, 745. 00
Buildings 815, 940. 00
Machinery, tools, furniture, and equipment 859, 550. 00

Total 2, 001, 635. 00
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(10) Tug and harge seruice.—Reconls show during the fiscal year:
Tons

Tonnage for powder factory 77, 563

Tonnage for proving ground 29,740

Tonnage is for one way, not round trip. On account of the greater numlier
of barges and trips required for bulky material delivered to powder factory,

and the greater passenger list, % of total cost of service is a fair estimate.

Total cost of tug service from supplies and accounts

:

Maintenance $28, 504. 03
Pay and provisions 10, 610. 16

Total 39, 174. 19

Cost per pound for % tug survice 0.004533.

(11) Freight.—The cost of making actual consecutive shipments of powder
durina- the year ending June 30, 1917, from Indianhead to various magazines
by rail, was:

Freight

Powder (net), 5,402,935 pounds $46, 227.09

During the same period of time additional shipments by Government con-
veyance were made

:

Cost of
shipmen

Powder (net), 366,037 lbs $1,924.24

Summary of freight charges

Shipped by rail

Shipped by boat
For proving-ground use.
Awaiting shipment

Total
Demurrage charges at Indianhead and Washington Navy Yard-

Total freight

Per pound, $0.009207.

Pounds

1, 857, 907
366, 037
158, 532

4, 098, 333

6, 480, 809

Cost of

shipment

$15,717.89
1,924.24
0. 000. 00

1 34, 426. 00

52, 068. 13

7, 598. 00

59, 666. 13

' Estimated.

Exhibit No. 1141
A2-14(5) (330921-2)

Dbs'artment of the Navy,
Office of the Secretary,

Washington, Oct. 27, J934.

Hon. Geraxd P. Nye,
Chaii-rtian Special Committee Investigating the Munition,^ Industry,

United States Senate, Washington, B.C.

My De:ar Senator Nye: In reply to your letter of 17 October 1934 (request
no. 20), the information which you requested is contained in Indianhead letter

of 22 October 1934, which is enclosed.
Sincerely yours,

CtAUDB A. Swanson.
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[Copy]

LL/A9^1(9-1)

Naval Powde:e Factory,
Indianhead, Md., October 22, IBSI/.

From : Inspector of Ordnance in charge.
To : Bureau of Ordnance.
Subject : Data on cost of raw materials and manufacture of smokeless powder

at the Naval Powder Factory during the fiscal years 1915-16, 1916-17,
1917-18, and 1918-19.

Reference: Telephone message from Bureau of Ordnance 17 October 1934
(received 19 October).

Enclosure (herewith) : (A) Tabulated cost report of manufacture of new and
reworked powder.

1. Complying with Bureau's telephone message received at Naval Powder
Factory 19 October 1934, relative to request no. 20—memorandum to Secretary
of the Navy ; the following is the information desired given in the order listed
in memorandum

:

(1) PRICE PAID FOR RAW MA'rERIALS
Sulphur-: Per ton

1916 Union Sulphur Co $23. 03
1916 " " " 28.16
1917 " " " 24.11
1918 " " " 24.11
1918 " " " 30.51
1919 (None purchased.)

Alcohol: Per pound

1916 F. O. Boyd & Co .06

1917 American Distilling Co .06

1917 James A. Webb & Son .074

1918 American Distilling Co .10909
1919 (None purchased.)

Cotton I Inters:

1916 Massosoit Manufacturing Co .0698
1917 " " "

. 1419
1917 Standard Textile Co .10
1918 Tennessee Fibre Co .1079
1918 Maridia Cellulose Co .0975
1918 Standard Textile Co .0869
1919 (None purchased.)

Diphenylamine:
1916 General Chemical Co 1.0036
1917 National Chemical Co .60326
1917 E. I. du Pont de Nemours Co . 60
1918 (None purchased.)
1919 (None purchased.)

Sodium nitrate:
1916 H. J. Baker and Bro . 02375
1917 " " " " " .0198
1918 Crossman and Seilkman .02221
1918 H. J. Baker and Bro . 0265715
1919 (None purchased.)

Caustic soda:
1916 James A. Miller .042
1917 (None purchased.)
1918 Shoemaker and Busich .0825
1918 Wing Evans, Ine . 035
1919 Union Dye and Chemical Co . 03

Soda ash:
1916 Mackall Bros .0325
1917 (None purchased.)
1918 Mackall Bros .0325
1919 (None purchased.)
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(2) ANNUAL PRODUCTION SMOKELESS POWDER AT NAVAL POWDER FACTORY

—

FISCAI,

YEARS 1915-16, 1916-17, 1917-18, AND 1918-19
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one hand Col. Hoffer devoted himself to criticising the Indian Head cost sub-
mitted to you as compared with the cost of several kinds of material today,
upon the other hand the du Pont people frankly admitted that they expected
to make 100 per lb. under the contract. In other words, that they expected to

produce tlie powder at 100 less than the fixed price mentioned in the contract.
Practically the only changes offered were to rebate 6M.'0 of the 15% charged
on construction out of the profits they would make on operation, to be paid,
liowever, in installments which would require 16 or 18 months operation of the
plant in order to secure it. The other change, as I remember it, reduced their
compensation from 50 to 3i/>0 per lb. under certain conditions where the powder
cost more to produce than the price named in the contract.
My only purpose in sending you this communication is to emphasize the

conviction which I think we all have in the War Industries Board that, when
a large sum of money like this is to be expended, unless we participate in the
first stages of the conference and are able to mold it along lines which we feel

to be fair and equitable, it is almost impossible to do anytlung with it. Gen-
eral Crozier, Col. Hoft'er, and Mr. INIcRoberts had reconnnended in th-.^ most
unqualified way this original contract, and, in our interviews with General
Crozier and Col. Hoffer, no amount of arguments made any impression upon
them, as they still insisted that the contract was not only a reasonable one,

but one which evidenced the greatest generosity upon the part of the du Ponts.
You can readily see how difficult it is to get men who have so conclusively
passed upon a proposition to admit that they have made a mistake. I may be
wrong, but I have the feeling that if we had participated in this negotiation
from the beginning we could have just about reduced it one-half, i. e. 7V2% on
construction and probably 2i/^0 per lb. for operation. Even this would have
given them an absolutely secured profit of IVj million dollars per year for
nothing on earth but directing the policy of the company from their main
office, as, of course, everything else was chargeable to the cost of powder and
the Government furnished absolutely all the capital, and, by the terms of the
contract, assumed risk of every kind and character.
On leaving the confei-ence. General Crozier announced that he felt that, re-

gardless of price the Government must have immediate action on this, and
immediate action could only be had through the du Ponts, and therefore he
would urge upon you the emergency necessity which, in his judgment, over-
shadowed all question of cost.

It was suggested to the du Ponts that they go ahead and construct this plant
and operate it after construction, charging all cost of every kind and character
to the Government, and, after they had demonstrated the great service rendered
the Government, to leave to the Secretary of War the question of their compen-
sation, assuring them that the Secretary of War could not do other than treat

them fairly—in fact liberally—if he assumed the responsibility of paying them
a fair price for their service. They may consider this, although I do not think
it was received very favorably.

It seemed to me that you should have from the War Industries Board as
quickly as possible our interpretation of this interview, and, not wishing to
intrude upon your much occupied time, I concluded it was better to send you
this communication at once by bearer.

Yours very respectfully,
RoBT. S. Brooking.

Exhibit No. 1143

[Copy. File 90]

November Seventeenth. 1917.

New smokeless-powder plant for Government authority for purchase of land.

To Mr. Ir£n^e nu Pont.
To Mr. J. J. Raskob.
From E. G. BucKNEai.

For your information and records, we quote below letter from the Chief of
Ordnance, dated November 15th, 1917

:

" 1. Confirming our conversation of this afternoon, I consider it necessary to
the interests of the Government for your company to acquire title to the land
that you have under option for a smokeless-powder plant.
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" 2. It is understood that your company is willing to purchase the land and
to either sell it to the Government or dispose of it to any individuals that the
War Department may name at the actual cost to your company plus interest at
4 percent.

•'3. Your purchase of the land will be considered an acceptance of the con-

ditions named above."

Exhibit No. 1144

{Copy, file 90]

Washington, D. C, Nov. 21-17.

Mr. PiEKRE S. Du Pont,
Prest. E. I. du Pont de N. d- Co., Wilmington. Del.

Colonel Buckner advises me that options are beginning to expire on the ma-
chinery fiir the proposed plant of one million pounds of smokeless powder per
day. The Department desires and authorizes you if the prices are reasonable
to close all options where action is considered by your company necessary tO'

protect the Government in the procurement of this machinery. You may close
these options in the name of the Ordnance Department.

Crozier,
503 p.

Copy to Ir^n^e du Pont, F. G. Tallman, H. M. Pierce.

Exhibit No. 1145

[Copy]

Statement of guncotton nitrated, cannon poicder manufactured, and cannon
poicdcr packed, Old Hickory Plant, Nov. 19, 1918

Total this

month
Total to date

this year

Guncotton nitrated:
June 225,751
July 1-..- 1,835,185
August--- - 4,486,652
September _.-- 8,008,034
October i 9,491,798
Nov. 1st to 5th, inc 2,442,928
Nov. 6th to 12th, inc .- 3,610,790
Nov. 13th to 19th, inc -- 2,880,517

Daily average for period
Daily average for month

Cannon powder manufactured (1st stage):

July 1,125,932
August 2,874,084
September 6,380,042
October 9,385,036
Nov. 1st to 5th, inc :. 2,077,710
Nov. 6th to 12th, inc 2,587,874
Nov. 13th to 19th, inc ..- 2,329,416

Daily average for peiod
Daily average for month

Cannon powder finished:
August .--. 1,121,100
September - 3,256, 160
October 6,754,656
Nov. 1st tooth, inc .._- 1, 127,400
Nov. 6th to 12th, inc 1,876,500
Nov. 13th to 19th, inc .- 2,001,280

Daily average for period
Daily average for month... ._

8,934,235 32, 381. 65J
454, 819
625, 543

6, 995, 000 26, 760, 096-

367, 749
411,470

5,005,180 16,137,086
315,991
294, 422
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Exhibit No. 1146

[Copied from file no. G-728-323- E]

[Copy]

November 23, 1917.
Honorable Newton D. Bakeb,

Searetary of War,
Washinffton, D. C.

Deiab Sib: In view of the complicated situation which has developed with
respect to the proposed construction of military-powder plants for the United
States Government, I wish to outline our point of view in order that no diflft-

culties may arise through failure on our part to understand correctly this situa-
tion from the somewhat conflicting opinions that have been expressed.
The original negotiations for factories capable of producing a million pounds

of smokeless powder per day to be constructed for the Government and oper-

ated as agent by E. I. du Pont De Nemours & Company was suggested by
Colonel Hoffer, acting for General Crozier. Our company has constructed sim-
ilar factories of equal capacity within 3 years and was therefore in possession
of all information necessary for the carrying out of this project. We were able
to give immediate reply in a definite proposition submitted by us to Colonel
Hoffer. To this proposition General Crozier replied by an order dated October
25th, 1917, to proceed with the work. During the course of the formulation of
the project there was full discussion concerning compensation to our company
and later full explanation of our position in that respect. It was our under-
standing that the percentage charges and form of plans were acceptable to you,
though we had no definite assurances to that effect either from you or through
General Crozier or Colonel Hoffer.

Immediately on receipt of order we started to put into effect plans which
had been rapidly developed during the course of negotiations. The following
work was accomplished under the order:
We had already selected several interior sites, in anticipation of probable

needs of the Government, and were able to recommend immediately the most
desirable of these to the oflScers of the Government. Their approval was given,

and immediately steps were taken to obtain options. The first site at Charles-
ton, West "Virginia, was placed under option.

We negotiated for a second site near Nashville, Tennessee, and obtained op-

tions on a major part of tlie necessary acreage.
We brought together rapidly the manufacturers of various apparatus and

placed oral orders amounting to $2,369,762 on which work has been started.

We purchased a machine shop in Wilmington with a view to quickly extend-
ing our production of special machinery which has heretofore been built in our
existing shops and which cannot be obtained elsewhere.

It was only after work was well in progress that we received your telegram,
as follows (dated October 31, 1917)

:

" I have just had presented to me the details of the proposed contract with
regard to increased capacity for powder production. This matter is large, in-

tricate, and important. Do nothing about it until you hear further from me.
Stay all action under the order until I can acquaint myself thoroughly with all

features of the matter."
Since then we have delayed fitting of the new machine shop to its special

purpose, as our company has no use for the property other than that involved
in construction work for the United States Government.
We now have an order given to our vice president, E. G. Buckner, to proceed

with the purchase of the West Virginia property for the United States Govern-
ment, under agreement that we will be reimbursed for the cost plus 4% interest

for the time that our money has been in use. The purchase is now being
closed. Today we have received a telegram from General Crozier, as follows •

" Colonel Bufkner advises me that options are beginning to expire on the
machinery for the proposed plant of one million pounds of smokeless powder per
day. The Department desires and authorizes you if the prices are reasonable
to close all options where action is considered by your company necessary to

protect the Government in the procurement of this machinery. You may close

these options in the name of the Ordnance Department. Cbozieb."
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Under this telegram we will endeavor to close contracts for necessary ma-
chinery, but this authority may not prove satisfactory to those who are asked
to manufacture apparatus which is entirely useless for purposes other than
the proposed factories.

From the above it appears that we have done promptly everything that it is

in our power to do to expedite the completion of this important project.
We have agreed to construct the ten proposed units of the factory, or any

substantial part thereof, or to donate our plans of existing plants to the Gov-
ernment should you desire the work done by others than ourselves. We have
agreed to do construction work without profit, provided that the plants are
oi)erated by us for a sufficient length of time to give our company reasonable
compensation for our services. We have refused two conditions only : First, to
work without proper compensation ; second, to divide with other contractors the
work at any one site. The fir.st refusal is necessary because the directors of
our company, acting for our stockholders, have no authority to do otherwise.
Tlie second because the work cannot be accomplished promptly and properly
under divided responsibility at any one point.
You doubtless realize that the magnitude of this work is very great, involv-

ing as it does transactions amounting to three hundred million dollars. The
contractor acting as agent of the Government must be trustworthy to a degree
not usually sought. I do not know if those responsible for the Government's
side of the contract have satisfied themselves with respect to our company,
hut developments of the case indicate that at least some of those concerned have
iiot the confidence that the situation seems to demand. May I ask that you and
all others accepting responsibility with you satisfy yourselves absolutely on this
point. If. on investigation, you cannot yield to us complete confidence, it would
seem highly inadvisable to allot the whole or even an important part of this
contract to us.

In this connection I will call attention to the history of our development of
the military powder industry since the declaration of war in the year 1914.
At that time our company was called upon by several of the Allied Nations for
powdor supply. We did not have factories in any way equal to their demand,
nor (lid we have capital with which to construct these factories and supply
materials. With absolute frankness we placed the situation before our pros-
pective customers, stating that we could not undertake work of such magnitude
unless we were paid $1.00 a pound for powder and obtained an advance of 500
per pound to furnish the necessary capital. Contracts were closed under
which we became committed to the expenditure of over sixty million dollars in
the construction of factories. Immediately on the completion of the first con-
tracts at the price named, we made voluntary reduction to a price which we
believed proper. This figure again proved acceptable. Since then every price
named by us to foreign customers has met with approval without material dis-
cussion. Our customers have expressed themselves as more than satisfied with
the treatment accorded them by our company. There is no doubt that we have
•made large profits, but their making has enabled us to complete work that has
not been duplicated elsewhere. It has also placed us in a position to name
prices for powder to the United States Government befow those in force before
the war, without any amortization charge whatever to cover use of factories
which will shortly be permanently dismantled. When these low prices were
named to the United States Government a like reduction was made in offers to
the Allied Governments, much to their satisfaction. It is impossible from the
record of recent years to cite an instance where our conduct was unfair or
where improper profits were exacted.

With the assurance of our earnest desire and entire willingness, as always,
to aid the Government in any way in our power, we feel that this matter lias
now been delayed so long and has become so complicated that we should express
to ynu in writing our willingness to withdraw or to proceed under the modi-
fication of the order suggested by the Ordnance Department on Saturday,
November 17th. May we ask for a prompt decision as to which of these
<'ourses is to be pursued?

Very truly yours,
E. I. Du Pont de Nbmoubs & Company,

(Signed) Pierre S. du Pont, President.
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Exhibit No. 1147

extract from minutes of executive commiit^ee meeting no. 187, held on
january is, 19 is

Resolved, That the (levelopineut department be authorized to pay .$3,25t>,0U0

for tlie properties oi the Federal Dyestuffs & Chemical Corporation as outlined

in their report of January 17, 1918 ; provided, we are able to clothe a contract
with suitable advance-payment clause with the U. S. Government or others for
the sale of picric acid at a price and in an amount sufficient to net us a fair

prolit after amortizing the entire cost of this investment, including the cost of

necessary construction work to manufacture picric acid including sulphuric
acid plants ;

jirovided further, that before determining the amount to be amor-
tized there sliall be deducted a credit of $500,000 covering the estimated value
of the dye investment to our company.

Exhibit No. 1148

excerpts from special meeting of the wak industries boardi heid monday,
november 26, 1917, at 11 : 00 a.m. at room 54, c.n.d. building

November 2G, 1917.

Hon. Newton D. Baker,
Secretary of War.

Dear Sir : After cousideral)le deliberation and discussion of the two pro-

posals for the erection of a powder plant, we have concluded that there is much
technical expert service to be rendered in the construction and equipment of
this plant not fully covered in the Graham-Sterritt proposition. AVe are of the
further opinion that the emergency nature of the case required that the pro-

posed plant lie constructed in the least possiljle time and optTUted with the
greatest etiicieucy, and based upon the best evidence we have—which is that

of demonstration—it is our opinion that the du Pont people are in every way
the best fitted for securing this result.

Inasmuch, however, as we have so far been unable to agree with the
du Fonts as to what would be fair compensation for the erection and operation
of the plant, we recommend that you invite"^ the responsible heads of the
Du Pont Company to meet you at your office and that you say to them that
the emergency nature of the Government needs is such that you must insist

upon their taking hold of the project without further <lelay, and, as the Gov-
ernment's agent, proceed to construct, organize, and operate the plants, aggre-
gating approximately 1,000,000 lbs. capacity per day, in the shortest time pos-

sible, the Government to pay every dollar of expense connected therewith, as
the work progresses ; that inasmuch as we have not agreed as to what would
be fair compensation for their services both in the erection and operation of
tlie plant, and inasmuch as they mUiSt, of course, be willing to accept fair

compensation for their services and the Government being perfectly willing
to pay fair compensation.
Now, therefore, the Government proposes to pay them $1,000,000 in advance

on account of the net profit or compensation to them over and above all cost of
construction and operation and that pending the completion of the contract,

i. e., 18 months after the first unit is ready for oi:)eration. the Government,
through the Secretary of War, will endeavor to negotiate with them from time
to time as to what, if any, additional compensation they should fairly receive
for their services, and on the completion of the contract if the Du Pont Com-
pany and the Secretary of War have not been able to agree upon such sum,
then the matter shall be left to the usual form of arbitration—that is, eadi
party to select one arbitrator and the two so selected to agree upon a third,

the findings of the two of these three to be binding upon both interested parties.
I may add that this recommendation of the AVar Industries Board is

unanimous.
Respectfully submitted.

(Signed) Danieil Willabd, Ch<i<irman.
Tlie meeting adjourned at 3 : 00 o'clock p.m.

(Signed) H. P. Bingham, Secretary.
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Exhibit No. 1149

[File 90]

NOVKMBKI! 28, 1917.

To: Board of Directors.

From : President.
At the request of the Secretary of War, I visited Washington ye.-terday and

learned from him the decision in regard to contract for proposed Government
«>mokeless powder plants.

Tlie Secretary informed me that a meeting liad been held the day l>efore, at

wliich were present the War Industries Board. General Crozier, and himself.

He and General Crozier had presented opposite opinions. The S.'cv?*^ary

being in favor of giving the vvork to other contractors and architects, iivAi as

Mr. Graham, who has visited our plants with the i)urpose of learning the

nature of the work to be accomplished. The Secretary evidently realized that

I understood that Mr. Graham was willing to undertake the w^n-k, for he sal(i.

"You understand, of cours\ that Mr. Graham has made no hid." He th^n

said that the War Industries Board had made a decision, which, though con-

trary to his own views, he had decided to adopt. The decision is artached
hereto.

After reading this letter of the War Industries Board. I told the Secretiiry

that I would not assume the resiMinsibility of a decision : that imr directors

were to meet today, and I would la.y the matter before them with the recom-
mendation that v\-o do no accept the proposition of the War Industries' Board.
The words " you nmst insist up<m their taking hold of the proje;T without

further delay ". and .son.e remarks of the Secretary lead me to make the
statement that if the Government had iiower to commandeer our services we
should insist tliat such power be exercised in order to relieve \is of responsi-
bility that we could not assume ourselves. The Secretary replied that he was
not sure of the law, but did not h?lieve the Government had power of insistence.

As the Secretary had approved of the compensation agreed up< n, I called
attention to that understanding, to which he reidied that our jtrofit on the work
might be anywhere from .$13,00i>,000 to $30,000,000, that his mind could not
conceive of services of anyone being worth such a price. In view of this opinion
and the words of the War Industries Board, in which they propose to negotiate
" as to what, if any, acjditional compensation tht^y shou'd fairly receive for their
services" (above the million dollars which it is proposed to advance on profit

account) it appeal's to me that Wash'ngton dot>s not value our services highly.
Assume the cost of powder at S-l^"- per pound and the amount manufactured,
450,000,000 lbs., the total transaction including the cost of plant at $90,(X>0,000

will amount to about .$250,000,000. The profit named by the Secretary will

amount to from 5 to 12%. The $1,000,000 proposed by the War Industries
Board is i/4 of one percent, so that the largest addition that we might expect
to be added to this amount would leave a profit wholly inadequate for so great
an undertaking.
As I pointed otit to the Secretary, the agreement of the Government to pay

promptly for all obligations incun-ed does not relieve us of responsibility. In
the first place, the validity of our agency cannot be established outside of
courts, and no matter what precautions may be taken through the organization
of the subsidiary engineering company we may become liable in some way.
Furthermore, if the work is to be accomplished we must proceed with it without
stoppage or delay of any kind. If the Government should suddenly conmiand
us as their agent to cease work, as they have already done twice, we would be
obligated to assume great financial responsibilities in order to avoid a complete
collapse of the project. This the Secretary could not deny.

I believe that I am right in saying that our interest in this project has been
created through a desire to be of service to the Government at a critical time.

We have all believed that as a business project we should not entertain the

proposition in any way. The developments of the past month have shown that

there is not urgent haste, otherwise we would have been allowed to proceed
immediately. Second. We have not the implicit confidence of the Government,
which will be necessary if we are to do this work successful. Third. In the
opinion of the Secretary, who is the responsible head of the War Department;
we are not necessarj- to the project and our services are being forced upon him
against his recommendation.

Fourth. The delay that has already occurred forcing us further into the

winter season and the methods that are to be adopted by the Government show

83876—35—PT 14 8
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that our services cannot be of the value we supposed. We are unaccustomed to
handling Government contracts of this kind, and I doubt extremely if we have
an organization capable of moulding itself to Government conditions.

Id view of the above I recommend that we decline the oft'er of the War
Industries Board, as presented by the Secretary of War, and recommend to the
latter that he employ other contractors as we have reached the conclusion that
our services to the Government have not the value that we had supposed.

President.

Whereas this board feel that our proposition will result in a net total com-
pensation to us of not more than 10% on the construction cost and 15% on the
operating cost involved in the revised order suggested by General Crozier, under
date of ; and
Whereas this boai-d feel that the War Industries Board must be of the opinion

that the compensation may run materially in excess of this amount

:

Resolved, That the Secretary of War be advised that we are perfectly willing
to add a clause to the suggested revised order now before them under which our
company will agree that in no event will the total compensation received by this

company be an amount greater than 10% of the actual cost of construction
and 15% of the actual mill cost of powder produced at these plants under our
operation, as specified in the suggested revised order, this clause, however, shall

not operate in the event of the Government discontinuing this suggested revised
order within six months from the date of its execution

;

Resolved further, That we re.spectfully decline the offer of the War Industries
Board as presented by the Secretary of War, and that the president address a
letter to the War Industries Board with a copy to the Secretary of War out-

lining our position in this whole matter, a copy of which letter will be spread
on the records of this meeting.

Exhibit No. 1150

HXTKACT FROM MINUTES OF MEETING OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF E. I. DU PONT DE
NEMOUES & COMPANY HEDLD ON NOVEMBER 2 8, 1917

On motion, duly made and seconded, the following resolution was unanimously
adopted

:

Whereas in the judgment of this board this company's revised proposal de-

clined by the War Industries Board, by letter of November 26, 1917, will,, if

accepted, return us a net total compensation of not more than 10% on the
construction cost and 15% on the operating cost, and
Whereas this board feels that the War Industries Board must be of the

opinion that the compensation may be materially in excess of the above per-

centages : Therefore, be it

Resolved, That the Secretary of War be advised that this board is willing

to add a clause to its said revised proposal under and by which the du Pont
Company will agree that in no event shall the total compensation received by
this company be an amount greater than 10% of the actual construction cost

and 15% of the actual mill cost of powder produced at said plants under our
operation, as specified in said revised proposal ; this clause, however, not to be
operative in the event of the Government discontinuing operations under said
revised proposal within six months from the date of its execution ; and be it

further
Resolved, That we respectfully decline the offer of the War Industries Board

as contained in letter of the Board, dated November 26, 1917, to the Secretary
of War, and the president of this company is requested to address a letter to

the War Industries Board, with copy thereof to the Secretary of War, outlining
our position in this matter, and that a copy of said letter be made a part of the
minutes of this meeting.
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Exhibit No. 1151

[Copy fronf file no. GE-471.5—635.1-21]

Dek;ember 1, 1917.

D. WiLLAKD,
Chciirman War Industries Bom-d, Washhiffton, D. C.

Dear Sir: The Secretary of War has tran-smitted to E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Company the letter of your Board dated November 26th, 1917. outlining a
proposal for construction and operation for the United States Government of

factories capable of producing 1,000,000 pounds of military smokeless powder
per day. The responsibility imposed in the acceptance of the proposal is so

great that it was referred to the board of directors of the company for their

decision. At a meeting held November 28th, 1917, the proposition was given

most careful and lengthy consideration, not only from the point of view of

financial advantage to the company but from the side of the Government with
full appreciation of its needs, the gravity of the situation and the appeal of

patriotism. As a result the board of directors have requesteil that this letter

be addressed to the War Industries Board, respectfully declining their offer of

November 26th.

It is important that thei'e may be no misunderstanding of motive and no
failure to exactly meet the minds of those who have the responsibility of pro-

viding the powder supply for the proper conduct of the war. Therefore a com-
plete picture of the situation as presented to our officers and directors is given

:

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company are the owners of about ninety per-

cent of the military smokeless powder producing capacity of the United States.

We are credibly informed that our capacity is equal to that of Great Britain
and France combined. Practically all of our plants are now in operation, includ-

ing land, waterworks, cotton purification, sulphuric and nitric acid factories,

guncotton, ether, and diphenylamine manufacture; rectification of alcohol;
recovery of that ingredient, of sulphuric acid, of nitric acid, and of caustic
soda ; neutralization of waste water ; villages for housing employees and a
continuous daily output of 1,300,000 pounds of military powder has been
developed by our engineers and operative forces since November 1914. In
that period of time these plants have produced nearly 750,0(X).000 pounds of

military propellants. It is known that others in the United States, with
ample opportunity and unhandicapped by our control of any basic patent
or monopolistic advantage, have failed to develop as we have done. Abroad
-we believe that neither our speed nor our economy of production was matched,
though the spur of necessity bore heavily upon those in charge of furnishing
the powder supply.

In contracting to build and operate these factories for foreign customers,
now our allies in the war, a uniform charge of one dollar per pound of
powder was made. Though in retrospect this price may now seem extremely
liigh, the directors and officers of our company can testify as to their misgivings
and sense of deep responsibility in accepting, even at that price, contracts
calling for extreme rapidity of construction and operation in order to make
deliveries in specified time. It was not only necessary to produce promptly
in order to earn a profit, but certain deliveries were required to insure the
amortization of factories whose cost alone, without materials to operate, almost
equaled the entire capitalization of our company, including its then bonded
debt. Failure meant loss of all profit on this important and onerous under-
taking, and the company faced possible financial embarrassment had we met
with serious reverses.
When amortization charges were covered we voluntarily reduced our prices,

so that in April 1917 our price was 600 per pound. When our Government
asked for bids we again voluntarily made a reduction and offered to all cus-
tomers for prompt delivery millions of pounds of smokeless powder at 47% <*

per pound, a price never before equaled even in time of peace. However, the
price was afterwards raised to 49'^/2(t per pound in order to cover the advance
in price of one essential material. This price now prevails.

Throughout our foreign customers have placed absolute reliance upon the
ability of the company to manufacture powder for them and have advanced
for construction and operation of the factories very large sums of money,
so that at times we held in excess of $100,000,000 of their ca.sh without any
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security whatever, excepting the credit of the company and its good name.
That their confidence was not misplaced is shown in the result.

The Allied Nations have so far received from us over 700,000,000 pounds of

military smokeless powders.
During a period of three years every pound of powder has been delivered

on time and not a complaint has been received as to th;- quality of any powiler

shipped and there has been no contention or dispute over any part of the

contracts or their execution.

From the above it is evident that the United States Government now enjoys

the advantage of an enormous and certain pdwder supply amouiiting to

^iO.OOO.OOU pounds per annum, at a low price, and without necessity of paying
one cent for amortizing these factories who.se cost at today's prices would he

$i;iU,CO0,0OO, and without submitting to any delay for their building.

The history of this development is all important at present, for the Govern-
ment now calls upon E. I. du Pont de Nemouns & Company t(i duplicate its

former accomplishment at a time when war conditions impose great difficulties

in obtaining labor and materials, as compared to the year 1915, when con-

struction work could be undertaken under favorable circumstances.

Our officers have given closest study to the causes leading to success but so

far have failed to find any one or more specific things that have seemed to

govern. A few general conditions we believe have been essentials

:

1st. The absolute confidence of our customers and our employees.
2nd. The placing of responsibility upon our men and upholding their decisions.

3rd. The offering of proper financial inducement to all enujloyees and gen-

erous reward to every man who shows extraordinary attainments.

4th. The pursuit of normal methods in conducting a very large business under
{srcsperous conditions.

V>^e have insisted that these general conditions be safeguarded in our propo-
sition to the United States Government ; that is, this work is to be allotted to us
as agent of the Guvernuient with absolute power as to the exercise of our
judgment and discretion in irs accomplishment. It is provided that the cost

of work is to include an agi'eed percentage to cover necessary, overhead expen.ses

and extra compensation to the men who make the enterprise successful. Apart
from these percentages there is to be a normal compensati* ii to the company
with addition thereto if costs are reduced below an agreed Imse figure.

In arriving at the terms of the (jrder as it now stands we foresaw the pos-

sibility of a failure to operate the proposed factories after their ciimpletion.

We. therefore, asked compensation for construction work agreeing that this

should be GV^'/f on the cost thereof. This condition was pnmptly eliminated
when the Ordnance Department proposed that sinular compen.sation would be
guaranteed through the operations of the factories.

We also asked a minimum compensation on operation. At first 5^ per pound
on a base cost of 44i/j<? was proposed. By this means the (Government was to be
iissured powder at today's price and E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
was to be guaranteed a pre fit of 1114% on cost. In. naming this price we were
(•(mfident that probable conditions would enable us to reduce the base cost which
was iiroposed as an insurance provision only. Therefore, we have not counted
material ti.e change now e.stablished. namely, a base price of 46«' with guaran-
teed compensation of 3Vi!<^, even though this amounts to 7.6% only on cost of
manufactures.
The offer as now worded does not leave us more than a small profit unless

v,e attain complete success. Thus, should we numufacture our estimate of full
output for the eighteen months operation (325,000,000 pounds if factories are
operated until February 1st, 1920) at base cost of 4G«', the profit of SVo^ per
l>ound is .5% only on the total expenditure of $247,000,000 (this include's cost
of factories at the estimate of $97,200,000). If operations at full output should
<i>ntinue until August 1st. 1919, only producing 175,000,000 pounds of powder
the <'o.st must fall to 4Oy20 per pound in order to return to us 61/2 7o on total
ex])enditure. If, however, we meet greatest success in turning out the full out-
put of 325,000,000 pounds of powder, c(»st must fall to an average of 36<' per
prunrl on the entire contract in order that the return to us may represent a
commission of 10% on cost of construction and 15% on cost of powder.
We believe that a further reduction of cost lielow 360 pel- pound entitles us

to participation in their savings even though our profit on operation should
exceed 157c of cost. Such reduction must be conceded extraordinary as the
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average cost is figured on eighteen months operation during ten of which new
units of manufacture will be continually l)rought into commission. However,
if such such inducement to further economy is considered unwise by the War
Industries Biiard our directors are willing to abide by that decision and will

submit to a further modifieatidn of the order under which the maximum com-
pensation to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company will be limited to 10%
en cost t>f construction and 15% on cost of manufacture as above indicated.
Whatever may be the position in regard to the compensation of E. I. du

Pont de Nemours & Company, the essential point of iiiterost is the cost of
powder to the Government. Prior to the war the price of powder was fixed
by congressional act at 53(f per pound. War conditions have added lOf pei-

pound to this cost for essential ingredients alone; so that today's comparative
fiirnre should be (iSt per pound without any additional allowance to the
powder manufacturer. E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company has reduced this
figure by 2l9f and is now selling to the Government at 3Vi;«^ below pre-war
j'rice fixed by Congress. Under the order now before the War Industries Board
tiie Government may obtain powder at 4-iV>t, or 16% below i>re-war prices in

face of the above mentioned advance in essential materials of 10(^ per pound.
We Iielieve that a similar condition does not exist in any other business and
that in the purchase of all other supplies the Government is paying a very
substantial advance over pre-war figures.

We have responded quickly to every demand of the Ordnance Department
in the formulation of plans for the construction and operation of the proposed
factories, but have made it clear at the outset that we do not seek the whole
or any part of this contract. The additional risks and l)urdens placed upon us
cannot he compensated by financial return so that our willingness to negotiate
has been based entirely upon the necessities of the Government and the belief
that our company is not only the best equipped for executing the work promptly,
but practical iy the only organization capable of so doing.
The order of General Crozier dated October 25, 1917, we thought official

and final. On its receipt work was begun by us.

At once we were able to recommend the most desirable of several sites
wliich had been selected b.v us after careful examination. The approval of
the Ordnance Department was given and the first site at Charleston. West
Virginia, placed under option.
We negotiated for a second site near Nashville, Tennessee, and obtained

options on a major part of the necessary acreage.
We brought together rapidly the manufacturers of various apparatus i'.nd

placed oral orders amounting to ,$2,369,762 on which work was started.
We purchased a machine shop in Wilmington, Delaware, with a view to

quickly extending our production of special machinery which has heretofore
been built in our existing shops and which cannot be obtained elsewhere.

All of this was accomplished within six days after the order was placed.
On October 31st, 1917, we received the following telegram from the Secretary

of War:
" I have just had presented to me the details of the proposed contract with

regard to increased capacity for powder production. This matter is large,
intricate, and important. Do nothing about it until you hear further from me.
Stay all action under the order until I can acquaint myself thoroughly with
all features of the matter."

Since then, or for a period of one month, everything has been held in abeyance.
We do not know of any criticism as to the fairness of the compensation pro-

posed for the constniction and operation of these plants. The stumbling block
seems to be the payment of the whole compensation to one corporation, espe-
cially to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company. To meet this difficulty we
have offered to surrender any part of the work, or preferably, the whole of
it, and to furnish other constractors with drawings of existing plants free of
charge. We have insisted on two things only:

First, that we shall not be responsible for mistakes of others—that is, we
will not operate a factory built by others nor will we build a factory to be
operated by others—and on any one factory site the entire work shall be done
by us.

Second, that for any part of the work done by us we shall receive a rate of
compensation that is fair, even though the total amount of money so received
may seem large if the magnitude of the work involved is not considered.
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In attempting to duplicate our past record for tlie United States Government,
under conditions that are more exacting and difficult than heretofore experi-
enced, we must insist that the above-mentioned general conditions be continued
as they now exist in the order of General Crozier. Without them we cannot
undertake the work, as otherwise such undertaking will result in disappoint-
ment at a time w^hen failure cannot be tolerated.

We therefore submit that the following must be of the essence of our contract
with the United States Government in this important work

:

First. The absolute confidence of the Government in us and our ability to
perform the duties alloted to us. This confidence we will continue to impose
upon our men in full belief that they will respond as they have in the past.

Second. The responsibility to us for ultimate success of the undertaking with-
out interference. We will, in turn, divide this responsibilty among our men,
and again they will succeed.

Third. A decision as to proper compensation for our services, including an
allowance for extraordinary performance such as that already named in the
order of October 25th issued by General Crozier.

It is with deepest regret that we find ourselves unable to accept the plan
of the War Industries Board, but trust that this letter of explanation, together

with our willingness to limit our compensation in the manner above stated,

will enable the Board to reach a conclusion in this important affair.

Very truly yours,
E. I. DU Pont db Nemours & Company,
Pie:rbe S. du Pont, President.

124.

Exhibit No. 1152

Statement of sales to U. S. Government, 1899-1914, inclusive, including du Pont,

Laflin d Rand, and International companies, but excluding California Poivdev
Worhs, 1899-1902, with calculations on investment, permanent and working
capital (excluding gooduyill, etc.), and percent return thereon
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Net profit as above 13,930,102
Plus profit oil B. & A. &c 563, 28S

14, 493, 390
Less:

Amt. depreciation clmrged to goodwill by International Co.

entry, April 1906 322, 719
Inventory adj. International Co. March '05 387,036
Assuming abandonment of permanent investment, 6-30-1914— 1, 514, 588
Santa Cruz plant charged ofe Feby. 1912 139, 169
Less deprec 67, 952

71, 217

Net (25.27% return on investment) 12,197,830
Add: profit year 1915:

Army & Navy 428,802
Bethlehem, etc ^ 331,401

760, 208

12, 958, 083
Average investment, 93.93^ per lb.

Exhibit No. 1153

EXCEIRPTS FBOM SPECIAL MEETING OF THE WAR INDUSTRIES BOARD HELD MONDAY,
DECEMBER 3, 1917, AT 3 : 00 P. M., ROOM 54, O. N. D. BUILDING

Present : The Secretary of War ; the War Industries Board : Mr. Willard,
chairman; Mr. Baruch, Mr. Brookings, Admiral Fletcher, Judge Lovett, Mr.
Bingham, secretary ; also Major General William Crozier.

Special meetmg—Increase powder facilities.—The Secretary of War informed
the Board that the du Pont Company had refused to undertake the building
of the proposed powder plant on any other terms than those contained in their

last proposition, except for a minor change which was considered to have
little or no effect on the favorableness of the proposetl arrangement. The
opinions of the various members of the Board were expressed as to the advisa-
bility of giving the building of such a plant into other hands.
The Secretary of War having taken these opinions under consideration, the

meeting adjourned at 4 : 35 p.m.
(Signed) H. P. Bingham, Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1154

[Copied from file no. P-4755-711E]

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company,
Wilmington, Delaware, December 10, 1911.

Honorable Newton D. Baker,
Secretary of War, Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir : The directors of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company have been
confident in the preeminent ability of their company to construct and operate
the proposed Government factories for the manufacture of one million pounds
of military smokeless powder per day. This opinion was justified in the
negotiations that led to the order of October 25th, 1917, received from General
Crozier. Your temporary withdrawal of this order gave hope that means
might be found by which we would be relieved of the burden of this work
and the Government enabled to obtain satisfactory service at less cost but the
fact that six weeks of valuable time has already been lost is a clear indication
that better and cheaper service is not obtainable.
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Yesterday General Crozier requested a conference at Wilmingtfni. Prior to

his coming tlie executive committee of our company, Mr. E. C. Buckner and
myself determined to ask liiui whether there is a general agreement at Wash-
ington that our company's services are necessary to the Government and
whether we are right in supposing that the question of compensation is alone
responsible for the delay. If so, we determined to agree to submit to arbitra-
tion the disputed question in order that nothing might further interfere with
this important work. General Crozier has assured us that he believes it neces-
sary to call upon us for assistance and that there is no doubt in any mind that
our company should undertake the work if proper compensation can be deter-
mined. I therefore have requested him to make an appointment lor the pur-
pose of presenting to you the attached proposition.

Very truly yours,
(Sgd.) E. I. Du Pont de Nemoubs & Compant.
(Sgd.) Pierre. S. du Pont,

Presidotf.

[Copied from file no. r-4755-711E]

PROPOSITION OF E. I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS & CO. TO THE SECRETARY OF WAR

Whereas it appears necessary for the welfare of the United States that E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company should undertake the work of construction
and operation of the proposed Government factories for the manufacture of
military smokeless powder at rate of 1 million pounds per day,
And, whereas this work which was ordered begun by order of General Crozier

under date of October 25th. 1917, has been discontinued by telegraphic order
of the Secretary of War dated October 31st, 1917.
And, whereas the Government desires continuation of this work if the

question of compensation under the order can be satisfactorily arranged.
Now, therefore, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company proposes to accept the

order of October 25th, with proper allowance for time already lost, to-

gether with the modifications thereof suggested in the proposed form of orders
dated November 19th, 1017, changed to provide fnr capacity of 1.000000 pounds
per day, and letter of December 1st of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
addressed to the Board of War Industries in reply to their letter of November
26th. 1917 (copy of these documents are attached hereto). The letter of
December 1st is to be further modified so that the maximum compensation shall
be ir% on cost of manufacture plus 10% on cost of construction; from the
total shall be subtracted the QV3% to cover cost of overhead expense referred
to in paragraph 6, subdivision (&) of suggested order <if November 19th, 1917.
All of these modifications are embodied in the suggested form of order dated
December 11th, 1917, copy of which is also attached hereto.

In accepting this order we agree that all questions of compensation to our
company for service to be rendered both in construction and operation of the
factories shall be referred to a board of arbitration of three members, one to

be appointed by the Secretary of War and one by E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company ; the third to be appointed by the two arbitrators so chosen ; no
arbitrator to be an officer of, or person receiving compensation from the United
States Government, or an officer, employee, or stockholder of E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Company. These arbitrators shall have placed before them this
letter and the documents attached hereto and shall determine the comiiensatiou
due our company in view of the services to be rendered and in view of the
compensation provided in similar contracts now being entered into by the de-
partments of the United States Government. The board of arbitration will be
furnished such additional data as may be needed for reaching a conclusion.
Their decision shall state the compensation to be provided by paragraphs 10,

11, 13, and 15 of the sugested form of order dated December 11th, 1917, and
shall be final and binding on both parties.

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

(S) PimBE S. J)V Pont, President.
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Exhibit No. 1155

Dbcbmbek. 11, 1917.

Messrs. E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, Wilmington, Delaware.

Gentlemen : 1. I hereby direct you to proceed as soon as possililo with the
construction for the Government of complete plants for the manufacture of
smokeless powder for cannon in units of a 100,000 pounds rated (h^ily ca-

pacity, the total capacity of which will be 1,0011,000 pounds of powder per
day of twenty-four (24) hours.

2. The proportion of water-dried and air-dried smokeless powder to be
manufactured in the plants will be determined before the execution of the
formal contract covering this order. The plants will be' located on sites se-

lected by you with my approval, and will include sulphuric and nitric acid

manufacturing and recovering plants, cotton purification, gun cotton, water
supply, waste disposition, p<nver. lines of communication and transmission,
storehouses, freight yards with standard-gage tracks, plants for the manu-
facture of ethei- and diphenylamine, houses for employees to an extent which
shall be proportionate to the housing facilities provided at existing plants of

your company, administrative Iniildings, laboratories, shops, box factories, etc.

3. You will act as the agent for the Government in selecting sites for the
plants and in effecting the use and occupancy or acquirement thereof by the
Government and in providing all necessary labor and materials for the com-
plete construction of the plants with the greatest dispatch. As the agent of

the Govenimeiit, you ai'e authorized to do all acts necessary or convenient
in and about the construction of the plants, and as such agent you will also

make contracts and inciir obligations in the name of the Government. The
Govei-nment will indemnify you against any and all loss by accident, fire,

flood, or explosion, or otherwise arising or growing out of the construction of

the plants.

4. In order to expedite the construction of the plants you will be given
freedom in the exercise of your judgment as to the preparation of the plans
and the specifications of material and equipment to be used in construction
and in the arrangement of the plants. All plans, drawings, and specifications,

all subcontracts and all other writings in any way relating to the exercise
of the agency created will be sul)_iect to tlie inspection of the chief of the
gun division of this oftice.

5. The Government will reserve the right to furnish lumlier, nails, cement,
brick, and steel necessary in the construction of the plants, and to the extent
that the Government exercises the right it will agree to make deliveries of
the materials of suitable quality at such times and in such quantities as the
bill of materials which you will furnish provides, but the cost of such ma-
terials shall be fi>r all purposes included in the cost of the plants.

6. The Government will pay directly or will reimbui'se you for all cost in-

curred in the construction of the plants.

ia) There shall be included as a part of the construction cost and paid to
you a sum equal to 1%% of all disbursements for construction (exclusive of
amounts provided in sul)divisions (n) and {h) of this paragraph) ; this fund
to be expended by you at your discretion but in general accord with the
existing practice of your company, as special comi>ensation to the employees
engaged in the construction of the plant and for the purpose of securing the
completion and initial operation of the plant at the earliest possible date.

{h) There shall also be included as a part of the construction cost a sum
equal to 6%% of all disbursements (exclusive of amounts provided in sub-
divisions («) and (b) of this paragraph) which sum Is hereby agreed upon
as the cost of selecting and securing the sites, making all necessary sui"veys,
supplying all plans, all engineering direction and supervision other than local
supervision at the plants, purchasing and expediting the delivery of all ma-
terials and all administrative cost other than local administration at the
plants, supervision other than local supervision at the plants and use of a
machine shop which you are to provide at your expense for the manufacture
of special machinery to be charged to construction at cost.
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7. The Goverument will make prompt payments and, if necessary so to do,
will attach a disbursing officer at the plants or at the office of your company.

8. It is understood that, based on your best judgment developed by past
experience, the first of the units will be completed and ready for operation
about eight (S) months after the date the land on which such unit is to be
constructed is acquired, and that additional units will be completed at inter-
vals of thirty (30) days thereafter; and that all units will be completed within
eighteen (18) months thereafter.

9. Upon the completion of each of the units you will act as the agent of the
Government to operate each unit, and such agency will continue for a period
of eighteen (18) months after beginning operation of the first unit, unless
revoked because the need for the output of such plants has ceased to exist
or because of willful misconduct as the agent of the Government.
As the agent of the Government you will be authorized to do all acts neces-

sary or convenient in and about the operation of the plants or any parts thereof,
and as such agent you will also make contracts and incur obligations in the
name of the Government. The Government will indemnify you against any
and all loss by accident, fire, flood, or explosion or otherwise arising or growing
out of the operation of the plants. No such loss shall be charged to the cost
of operation, but in lieu thereof $0,004 per pound will be charged to the cost
of operation, which amount is agreed as a proper charge to cover such losses.

10. The Government will pay directly or reimburse you for all costs of opera-
tion of the plants and in addition there will be paid to you the sum of BVa^
per pound for all smokeless powder delivered and accepted, to cover engineer-
ing direction and supervision of operation, other than local supervision at the
plants, purchasing and expediting the delivery of materials for operation, all

cost of the administration of operation other than the cost of local administra-
tion at the plant, possible bonuses, and profit.

At the end of each month of operation the cost of the water-dried powder,
exclusive of the cost of boxes and amortization and depreciation of plant but
Including the cost of components and the conversion thereof, repairs, power,
transportation, general works expense, works accidents (as provided in para-
graph (9) ), and plants superintendence and all other proper items of cost shall

be determined, and in the event that such cost shall be found to have been less

than forty-six (46) cents per pound the Government will pay to your company,
in addition to the 31/2^ per pound as above, fifty (50) percent of the difference

between the amount by which the actual cost is less than the base cost of forty-

six (46) cents per pound. The price of forty-six (46) cents per pound herein-

before mentioned shall be increased or decreased as the cost of nitrate of

soda used in the manufacture is greater or less than four (4) cents per pound,
on a basis of using 1.65 pounds of nitrate of soda to manufacture one pound
of powder.
Example : Should the cost of nitrate of soda used in the manufacture be

three cents per pound instead of four cents per pound, the above-estimated
base cost of forty-six (46) cents per pound will be reduced by 1.65^ per pound
to 44.35^ per pound. With reference to air-dried powder the base cost on which
additions to profit are computed will be forty-eight and one-half (40%) cents

per pound.
11. The Government will i-eserve to itself the right to revoke and terminate

the agency to construct the plants at any time. In the event that such right

is exercised within six (6) months from the date hereof, the Government will

pay to your company, in addition to the cost of construction paid or incurred

to the date of such termination or revocation, a sum which, together with all

moneys theretofore paid under subdivisions (a) and (6) of paragraph 6 of this

order, will equal $900,000 for each month and proportionately for any fraction

of a month during which the agency has been in operation. In the event that

such right is exercised at a date later than six (6) months from the date of

this order, the Government will be under no obligation to make payments other

than those in this letter elsewhere provided.

12. The Government will reserve to itself the right to reduce the output of

the plants herein provided to be constructed and operated, in which event the

terms and conditions herein set forth will be applicable.
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13. If the Government terminates the agency herein given after six (6)
months there will be pnid you, in addition to the sums paid under paragraph 10
of this order, a sum equal to six and one-half (6Vij) percent of the construction
cost allowed in paragraph 6, less the following amounts

:

10% of tile sum due and allowed under paragraph ten (10), when the first

twenty million pounds of powder have been made and accepted.

15% of the sum due and allowed under paragraphs ten (10), when the second
twenty million pounds of powder have been made and accepted.

20% of the sum due and allowed under paragraph ten (10), when the third
twenty million pounds of powder have been made and accepted.

25% of the sum due and allowed under paragraph ten (10) when the fourth
twenty million pounds of powder have been made and accepted.

35% of the sum due and allowed under paragraph ten (10) when the fifth

twenty million pounds of powder have been made and accepted.

45% of the sum due and allowed under paragraph ten (10) when the sixth
twenty million pounds of powder have been made and accepted.

55% of the sum due and allowed under paragraph ten (10') when the seventh
twenty million pounds of powder have been made and accepted.
65% of the sum due and allowed under paragraph ten (10) when the eighth

twenty million pounds of powder have been made and accepted.

75% of the sum due and allowed under paragraph ten (10) on powder made
and accepted thereafter.

Provided, however, that when the total deductions computed in the above
manner shall have equaled 6V2% of the construction cost all obligations to pay
compensation for the services rendered in the construction of the plants will be
cancelled and discharged and your compensation limited to that for operation as
provided in paragraph 10.

14. It is understood that this order after acceptance by you, may be assigned to

the du Pont Engineering Company, a Delaware corporation of nominal capitali-
zation to be organized solely for the purpose of the construction and operation of
the powder plant under this order.
The officers and directors of the du Pont Engineering Company will be as

follows : President, Pierre S. du Pont ; vice president, C. B. Landis ; Irenee du
Pont; H. F. Brown; H. M. Pierce, and F. G. Tallman ; treasurer, C. B. Holliday;
and secretary Alexis I. du Pont. Directors : H. F. BroAvn ; E. G. Buckner,
R. R. M. Carpenter, F. L. Connable, William Coyne, Alexis I. du Pont, Irenee du
Pont, Lammot du Pont, Pierre S. du Pont, H. G. Haskell, J. P. Laffey, H. M.
Pierce, J. J. Raskob, and F. G. Tallman.

15. It is agreed that the maximum compensation to be paid E. I. du Ponf de
Nemours & Company and/or du Pont Engineering Company shall be 15 percent
of the cost of operation plus 10 percent of the cost of construction ; from this
total shall be substracted the 6% percent provided in paragraph 6, subdivi-
sion (b).

16. It is also understood that concurrently with the execution of the formal
contract with the new company covering this? order, a tri-partite agreement will
be entered into liy E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, the du Pont Engineer-
ing Company and the Government wherein B. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
will guarantee to furnish to the Government and to the du Pont Engineering
Company as and when and to the extent required in the construction and opera-
tion of the said powder plants.

(ffi) the services of the its engineering, purchasing, operating, and other
special and technical departments;

(&) the right to use all plans, drawings and specifications, patents, processes,
and trade secrets possessed by it

;

(c) such working capital as may be needed.
This tripartite agreement will continue during the life of the contract

between the du Pont Engineering Company and the Government and will be
subject to modification only with the consent of the Government.

Respectfully,

The terms and conditions of the foregoing order are accepted and agreed to.
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Exhibit No. 1156

War Department,
Office of the Assistant Secretary,

Washington, D. C, December I4, 1934-

Memorandum for the Director, Planning Branch.

1. The records of the War Credits Board, in the custody of the Chief of Finance,
show that the following advances were authorized to contractors for the various
services as follows:

Corps of Engineers $3, 375. 00
Coast Artillery Corps 34, 000. 00
Chemical Warfare Service 493, 000. 00
Medical Department 498. 000. 00
Quartermaster Corps 19, 825, 464. 26
Signal Corps (which included Air Corps) 53, 177, 020. 16
Ordnance Department 1 174, 460, 855. 96

2. In addition to advances made by the War Credits Board, the Secretary of
War authorized the following advances:

Sigjial Corps $4, 000, 000. 00
Quartermaster Corps 17, 700, 400. 00
Ordnance Department 84, 645, 452. 72

3. The total advances authorized were:

Corps of Engineers $3, 375. 00
Chemical Warfare Service 493, 000. 00
Medical Department 498, 000. 00
Coast Artillery Corps 34, 000. 00
Quartermaster Corps 37, 525, 864. 26
Signal Corps 57, 177, 020. 16
Ordnance Department 259, 106, 308. 68

E. M. Brannon,
First Lieut., J. A. G. D. {Inf.).

Exhibit No. 1157

[Copied from File No. P4755-711E]

December 12, 1917.
E. I. DU Pont de Nemours Powder Co.,

Wilmington, Delaware

(For attention of Mr. Pierre S. du Pont.)

Gentlemen: On the 10th day of December Mr. Pierre S. du Pont and Mr.
Buckner presented to me your letter of that date with regard to the question of
manufacturing smokeless powder and the creation of additional capacity there-
for. Prior to December 10th this matter had been under consideration between
your company and the War Department, a full history of our conferences and
correspondence appearing in the papers, of which both your company and the
Government have copies.

After the receipt of the letter from your company definitely declining to accept a
proposition from the Government as formulated in the suggestion of the War
Industries Board and presented by me to your comj)any, the War Department
proceeded to work out a plan for the direct creation of this capacity by the
Government itself. I therefore notified Mr. du Pont and Mr. Buckner on Decem-
ber 10th that the question would not be reopened, and that the Government
would proceed directly in the matter. I then assured Mr. du Pont of my great
appreciation of the generous wilhngness, expressed by your company to aid the
Government in its undertaking, and I shall be most happy from time to time to
call on you for such assistance as in the nature of the case you are most highly
qualified to render.

Cordially yours,

Secretary of Vv^\r.

iNfjTE—The six totals were not listed separately, but the above figure was determined by subtracting
the total advanced to the other services, namely, $74,030,859.42, from the total advanced by the Board
of $24>i,491, 715.38.
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("Exhibit No. 1158" appears in text on p. 3211 )

Exhibit No. 1159

[Copied from File No. P-4755-711E]

(Du Pont established 1802)

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company,
Executive Offices,

Wilmington, Delaware, January 11, 191 S.

Honorable Newton D. Baker,
Secretary of War, Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir: May I call your attention to the order of Major General William
Crozier dated October 25tli, 1917, which order is referred to in your telegram of
October 31st, 1917, asking for a stay of proceedings until you have had opportunity
to acquaint yourself with all features of the proposed contract. This order calls
for transactions estimated at $325,000,000, covering a period of over two years
and is probably one of the largest orders ever given by the United States Govern-
ment. Cancellation of the order calls for a payment of $900,000 per month and
proportionately for days elapsing between the date of order and date of cancella-
tion. Whatever may be due our company under this provision of the order we
make no claim for payment, as relief from the burden of the order is worth much
to this company, even under its proposed compensation. As we understand
that the Department is ready to compensate us for actual expenditures to date
under tliis order, a statement of this account will be sent to you in a few days.

Abrogation of the order is not referred to in your letter of December 12th, 1917,
nor in any other correspondence. We will greatly appreciate formal notice of
abrogation as it would seem fitting to so formally close tlie transactioii.

May I also call attention to the enclosed clipping from today's New York
Times. Erroneous conclusions may be drawn from this statement. The profit
of from twenty to forty million was not obtainable from the ninety-million-dollar
investment in factories, but from the construction and operation contract amount-
ing to three hundred and twenty-five millions, of which the larger sum of fortv
milHou dollars represented 12.3%, the smaller, 6.15% only. Reference to our
offer to limit profits to 10% plus a further maximum addition of 5% based on
equal divisions of reduction of cost of operation and the final offer to arbitrate
the (]uestion of compensation would have more fairly represented the final condi-
tion of t!ie negotiation. However, our company is not disposed to enter into any
argument or public discussion and we do not ask correction of the statement
above-mentioned.

Very truly yours,
E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company.

(Signed) Pierre du Pont, President.

Exhibit No. 1160

[Copied from file No, P-4755-711E]

January 12, 1918.

My Dear Mr. du Pont: I have just received your letter of the 11th, and
have referred it to the Assistant Secretary, as the powder matter is now under
his immediate supervision, and I want him to prepare the formal letter to which
3'ou refer with the papers in the case before him.

I am writing this only to say that the extract from the New York Times which
you enclose, and upon which you comment is not an adequate representation of
my testimony on the subject before the Senate committee. I have not a copy
of the testimony; but it will be out shortly, and you will then see that I have
dealt with the utmost candor and fairness with the negotiations between your
company and the War Department.

Cordially yours,
(Signed) Newton D. Baker,

Secretary of War.
Mr. Pierre I. du Pont,

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del.



3288 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Exhibit No. 1161

[Copied from file No. P-4755-7nE]

E. I. DTJ Pont de Nemours & Co.,
Executive Offices,

Du Pont, established 1802 Wilmington, Del., January 16, 1918.

Honorable Newton D. Baker,
Secretary of War, Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir: Mr. D. C. Jackling has requested me to negotiate with him con-
cerning work to be done in connection with the proposed military powder factories

of the United States Government. I hesitate to enter these negotiations without
your consent lest such intrusion might be misunderstood or prove objectionable,

if E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company can be of further service to the United
States Government I should like to be assured of Mr. Jackling's authority and
of your consent to negotiations.

I wish to thank you for your letter in regard to the incorrect reports of the
newspapers concerning the powder situation and look forward to receipt of the
full statement. While I felt sure that the brief paragraph of the New York Times
could not represent all that was said on this subject, it seemed fitting to call

attention to the inaccuracy in view of the cordial relations that have existed

between us.

Respectfully yours,
(Signed) Pierre du Pont, President.

12

Exhibit No. 1162
[Copied from file no. P.4755-711E.]

January 19, 1918.

My Dear Du Pont: Mr. D. C. Jackling has full authority to discuss and
negotiate with you with regard to any work in connection with the proposed
military powder factories of the Government.

Cordially yours,
(Signed) Newton D. Baker,

Secretary of War.
Mr. Pierre I. du Pont,

President E. I. du Pont De Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del.

Exhibit No. 1163

excerpts from meeting of the war industries board held FRIDAY, JANUARY
25, 1918, AT 11:45 A. M., IN ROOM 54, C. N. D. BUILDING

Present: Judge Lovett, acting chairman; Mr. Baruch, Mr. Brookings, Mr.
Frayne, General Pierce, Mr. Ingels, acting secretary.

Chemicals: Contract with du Pont Co. for design, construction, and operation of a
plant at Nashville, Tenn., for the production of smokeless powder: Mr. Baruch sub-
mitted for the information of the board memorandum of understanding between
Mr. Jackling, Mr. MacGowen, Major Mudd on behalf of the Government, and
Mr. P. S. du Pont and Col. E. G. Buckner on behalf of the du Pont Co., dated
January 24, 1918, regarding the proposed arrangement with the du Point Co. for

the design, construction, and operation of the above plant.

The meeting adjourned at 1:00 p. m.

(Signed) H. P. Ingels, Acting Secretary.

Exhibit No. 1164
[Copied from file no. p-4755-71IE.]

Washington, Ja7iuary 29, 191S.

Honorable The Secretary of War,
Washington, D. C.

Honorable Si \v. Under the authority given to me in your letter of appointment
dated December 15, 1917, empowering me to proceed with the construction and
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operation of new Government powder plants, 1 have agreed upon the form and
terms of a contract with the Du Pont Engineering Cotwhereby tiiat company under-
takes to build and operate a smokeless powder plant near Nashville, Tenn. A
copy of this proposed contract is hereto attached and I recjuest that you approve
the same and direct its execution by such contracting officer as you may designate.

Very respectfully,

D. C. Jackling.

Exhibit No. 1165

Construction of Explosives Plant Near Nashville, Tennessee

Contract made and concluded this 29 day of January 1918, by and betv^een
Du Pont Engineering Company, of Wilmington, Delaware, a corporation organized
under the laws of the State of Delaware, represented by Pierre S. du Pont, its

president, party of the first part, hereinafter called "construction manager", and
the United States of America by Brigadier General I. W. Littell, Quartermaster
Corps, National Army, hereinafter called "contracting officer", acting bj^

authority of the Secretary of War, party of the second part;
Whereas the Congress having declared by joint resolution approved April 6th,

1917, that war exists between the United States of America and Germany, a
national emergency exists and the United States urgently requires the immediate
performance of the work hereinafter described and it is necessary that said work
shall be completed within the shortest possible time, and

Whereas it is advisable under the disturbed conditions which exist in the con-
tracting industry throughout the country for the United States of America to
depart from the usual procedure in the matter of letting contracts and adopt
means that will insure the most expeditious results, and

Whereas the partj^ of the first part has been requested by the party of the second
part to act in the capacity of designing engineer and construction manager for
this operation, and

Whereas the construction manager, its officials, and employees have had broad
experience in the designing, construction, and operation of smokeless-powder
plants and are capable of managing the construction program herein contemplated
and are ready to undertake the same upon the terms and conditions herein
provided, and

Whereas D. C. Jackling, of San Francisco, California, under authority given
him by letter dated December 15th, 1917, signed by the Honorable Newton D.
Baker, Secretary of War, was appointed special director with full power and au-
thority to represent the United States of America in the construction of this
plant and hereafter referred to as special director. Now therefore this contract
witnesseth:

That, in consideration of the promises and of the payments to be made as
hereinafter provided, the construction manager hereby covenants and agrees to
and with the contracting officer as follows:

article I

The construction manager will engage as the sole agent of the United States of
America in the creation, construction, and operation of the plant hereinbefore
described, and in consideration of the fee of five hundred thousand dollars to be
paid to it as provided in article 7 hereof in sections a, b, c, and d, agrees to procure
from the E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company

—

1. The disposal for the purposes of the party of the second part, exclusively for
the Nashville plant, of the said company's experiences, records, and plans apper-
taining to the production of smokeless powder of the kinds and quantities herein
referred to.

2. If it becomes necessary to employ supervisors, foremen, or laborers at
existing plants of E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company, or at the several
sections of the Nashville plant, for the purpose of instruction in order to provide
skilled employees for the sections of the Nashville plant as they are ready for
operation, it is agreed that the United States of America shall pay for the cost
of said instruction, but such cost shall not be included as one of the proper items
of cost herein referred to in the determination of cost or powder on which the
construction manager's compensation is to be based.

3. The construction manager will secure from E. I. du Pont de Nemours and
Company, of Wilmington, Delaware, the services of its engineering department,
and the full cooperation of the officers and organization of said company in and
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in connection with the designing of, and preparation of plans, drawings, and
specifications for, the said plant and its subsequent operation.

ARTICLE II

The construction manager, acting under the direction of D. C. Jackling,
special director, aforesaid, will immediately upon the signing of this contract,
proceed with a survey of the site and general lay-out of the plant, design, and
preparation of all plans, drawings, and specifications necessary for the construc-
tion on a site owned by the United States of Ainerica, at or near Nashville, Ten-
nessee, of a complete plant for the manufacture of water-dried smokeless cannon
powder to consist of five sections or units, the aggregate capacity of said completed
plant to be approximately five hundred thousand pounds of powder per day of
twenty-four hours, the said plant to include sulphuric and nitric acid manufactur-
ing and recovery plants, caustic soda manufacturing and recovery plants, cotton
purification, guncotton, water supply, waste disposition, power, lines of communi-
cation and transmission, storehouses, freight yards with standard gauge tracks,
plants for the manufacture of ether, diphenylamine, and rectification of alcohol,

houses for employees, administrative buildings, laboratories, shops, box factories,

hospitals, commissaries and stores, and such other things as may be necessary
for a coinplete plant to manufacture five hundred thousand pounds of smokeless
powder per day of twenty-four hours. The foregoing enumeration of work and
activities shall not be deemed to be inclusive of all the work required to be done
hereunder, and shall not be construed to exclude the right hereunder of the
special director to order anj^ work done not specifically herein mentioned.

If the United States of America desires the manufacture of small-arms smokeless
rifle powder or air-dried smokeless cannon powder, the construction manager
must be, in order to avoid delay, so notified in writing within ten days after the
signing of this contract what proportion of the aforesaid capacity shall l^e devoted
to small-arms smokeless rifle powder and what proportion to air-dried smokeless
cannon powder.

ARTICLE III

The special director may from time to time by written instructions issued to
the construction manager order changes in drawings and specifications, issue

additional instructions requiring additional work, or direct the omission of

work previously ordered, and the ])ro\-isions of this contract shall apply to all

such changes, modifications, and additions v.ith the same effect as if they were
embodied in the original drawings and specifications. The cost of canceling
contracts with respect to omitted work is to be charged as part of the cost of the
plant.
The construction manager shall comply with all such written instructions and

drawings as part of this contract. All drawings and specifications to govern
the execution of the work shall first have the approval of the special director.

The intent of this article is to insure that the design and construction of the
plant is in accordance with the standard practice employed by the E. I. du Pont
de Nemours and Company in the use of standard machines, types of apparatus,
arrangement, and construction of same and methods of operation.

ARTICLE IV

United States of America shall bear the entire cost of the designing and con-
struction of said plant and will sujjply all the money necessary therefor in such
amounts and in such manner as to allow the activities with respect to the designing
and construction of the plant to proceed without delay or interruption. To
make the above eff'ective a disbursing officer or officers shall be appointed by the
contracting officer, who shall be provided v ith the necessary funds to meet all

payments as due upon presentation Vjy the constrr.ction manager of bills approved
by the special director. The responsibility of the disbursing officer shall extend
only to the ascertainment that bills, vouchers, or statements submitted for pay-
ment have hecn properly certified as ajjproved l^y the special director or his duh*
authorized representatives or successors.

ARTICLE V

With the written approval of the special director, obtained from time to time,
the construction manager shall l)e authorized to do all acts necessary or con-
venient in and about the construction of the plant and every part thereof, including
the purchase and procurement of all materials and labor, also including the
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salaries and expenses of all officials and employees of the construction manager
whose services are devoted to work on or in connection with said plant, and
including also the traveling expenses of the officials and employees of the con-
struction manager and of said E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, when
engaged upon work connected with said plant, and as such the construction
manager may make contracts and incur obligations in the name and on behalf
of the United States of America, subject to the approval of the special director.
In order that the construction manager may be enabled to secure the utmost
possible expedition on such work of construction, it may, in its discretion, but
sul)ject to the approval of the special director, from time to time award reasonable
cash bonuses to employees chargeable to said construction, and such bonuses
shall be included as a proper item of cost in the determination of the construction
manager's compensation for the construction aforesaid. Whenever it is inexpedi-
ent for any portion of the work of or connected with said construction to be
performed by the construction manager, it may, in its discretion, sublet such
portion of the work; provided, the contract of subletting is submitted to and
approved by the special director before being entered into L\v the construction
manager. All payments recjuired to be made under the purchases and procure-
ments and subcontracts above mentioned shall l)e made promptly by the United
States of America through the disbursing officer herein provided for. It is

understood that the construction manager in dealing with persons other than
United States of America shall make all contracts, purchases and other arrange-
ments for the jjerformance of this contract in its capacity as agent for the United
States of America and in its name and without liability on the part of the construc-
tion manager or special director under any contracts or purchases so made.

ARTICLE VI

United States of America shall not be obligated to make any expenditures
relating to the performance of this contract unless the approval or ratification
of the special director, or of the Secretary of War as provided in article 18,
shall have been obtained, and the construction manager in the conduct of its

duties shall abide by such directions of the special director as shall be given to
the construction manager from tir.e to time.
Pay rolls for labor and compensation for services performed and expenses

incurred, invoices for materials, invoices for rental, contracts for construction of
plant, and payments thereunder shall all be submitted to the special director for
approval or ratification. Upon such approval or ratification the disbursing
officer shall promptly pj-ovide and pay the amount required for such pay rolls,

expense accounts, invoices, and contracts. The special director will from time to
time instruct the contruction manager as to

—

1. Method to be followed in reporting costs.

2. A submission of statements thereof, bills therefor, and all other supporting
papers.

3. Submission of engineers' and accountants' certificates.

ARTICLE VII

As full compensation for the services of the construction manager herein
provided to be employed for the designing and erecting of said plant, the United
States of America shall in addition to tlie costs of the work, labor, and materials
herein provided for make payment to the construction manager as follows:

(a) At such time as in the judgment of the special director twentj^-five percent
of the work to be done in designing and preparing the plans for "the plant"
shall have been completed, the United States of America shall pay to the construc-
tion manager the sum of one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars.

(6) At such time as in the judgment of the special director fifty percent of the
work to be done in designing and prepraing the plans for said plant shall have
been completed, the United Sttaes of America shall pay to the construction
manager the further sum of one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars.

(c) At such time as in the judgment of the special director seventy-five per-
cent of the work of designing and preparing the plans for said plant shall have
been completed, the United States of America shall pay to the construction
manager an additional sum of one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars.

(d) Upon the substantial completion of the general plans a final sum of one
hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars shall be paid by the United States of
America to the construction manager.

83876—35—PT 14 9
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This fee of five hundred thousand dollars shall in any event be fully paid
within four months of the date of this contract and shall not be included in
computing the cost of the construction of the plant for the purpose of fixing the
amount of additional compensation under paragraph (/) hereof.

(e) In the event the work is discontinued the foregoing fees mentioned in sub-
divisions a, b, c, and d hereof, amounting to five hundred thousand dollars shall
be paid.

(/) In addition to the foregoing fees the construction manager shall be paid as
compensation for designing and constructing the plant as herein provided three
percent on the total cost of the construction of the plant, the same to be paid
proportionately and monthly as the work progresses. Such monthly payments
shall be based upon estimates made by the construction manager and approved
by the special director. The total compensation to be paid under this paragraph
naarked "/" shall be limited to a maximum of one million five hundred thousand
dollars.

(</) The construction manager will make no charge to the United States of

America for the services of its officers, directors, or officials as such and only for

such officers, officials, and employees as are actually employed on the work
connected with this plant, and then only for such time as is so employed; the
salaries-, however, of all other employees of the construction manager who may
be actually employed upon this operation as and when so employed, as well as

the necessary traveling expenses and extraordinary or excess living expenses
which constitute a part of their regular compensation under the terms of their

employment, shall be paid by the United States of America.

ARTICLE VIII

The special director shall have the right to terminate this contract as to all its

provisions because the need for the plant or the output of the plant has ceased
to exist or because of the willful violation of this contract by the construction
manager as agent for the United States of America. If the work is discontinued
for either of the reasons above named, the amount to be paid for the services of

the construction manager shall be determined as follows:

(a) Should the contract be terminated or the work discontinued before the
completion of the construction of the plant, there shall be paid to the construction
manager the sum of five hundred thousand dollars mentioned herein in article

VII, paragraphs A, B, C, D, plus the percentage for construction mentioned in

article VII, paragraph F, which shall have accrued at the time of such termination
or discontinuance.

(6) Should this contract be terminated after the commencement of the opera-
tion of the plant, either in part or in whole, in the manufacture of powder, and
within the six months' period or before ninety million pounds of finished powder
have been produced, the compensation of the construction manager for the opera-
tion of the plant will be limited to the payments due and applying on the finished

powder produced to the date of such termination plus a further payment on
unfinished powder or materials actuall}^ in process of manufacture, which addi-
tional pajanents shall be based upon the proportion which the cost of such unfin-
ished i^owder or materials bears to the total cost of an equivalent amount of

finished powder that such unfinished materials would have produced.
(c) The construction manager hereby agrees to accept in the event of such

termination of this contract or such discontinuance of the work, the afore-

mentioned payments in full liquidation and settlement of all claims of any sort

or nature hereunder and agrees upon the receipt of the same to release and in-

demnify the United States of America, the contracting officer and the special

director hereunder from all claims of any nature whatsoever on the part of the
construction manager.

ARTICLE IX

The United States of America shall hold harmless the construction manager
from any and all loss by accident, fire, flood, or otherwise, arising or growing
out of the construction or operation of said plant, but for the purpose of deter-
mining cost of production no loss due to accident, flood, fire, or explosion arising
or growing out of the operation of the plant shall be charged to the cost of opera-
tion, but in lieu thereof $0,004 per pound of powder shall be charged to the cost
of operation, which amount is agreed upon as a i)roper charge to cover such losses.
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ARTICLE X

(a) The United States of America will pay all costs of whatsoever nature
incurred in the operation of the plant and will in addition pay to the construction
manager for operating said plant the sum of Sji cents per pound for all smokeless
powder delivered and accepted.

(b) At the end of each month of operation the cost of powder, exclusive of the
cost of boxes and amortization and depreciation of plant and expense of main-
taining guards at the plant, but including the cost of labor, ingredients, and the
conversion thereof, repairs, power, transportation, general works expense, works
accidents as provided in article IX hereof, plant superintendence, salaries, and
expenses of all officials and employees of the construction manager whose ser-

vices are devoted to work on or in connection with the operation of said plant,

and also the traveling expenses of the officials and employees of the construction
manager and of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co. when engaged upon work con-
nected with the operation of said plant, and all other proper items of cost, admin-
istrative or otherwise, shall be determined, and in the event that such cost shall

be found to have been less than 44^ cents per pound the United States of America
will pay the construction manager, in addition to the 3H cents per pound as

above, 50 percent of the amount by which the actual cost is less than the base
cost of 44^2 cents per pound. The base cost of 44y2 cents per pound herein-
above mentioned shall be increased or decreased as the cost of nitrate of soda,
linters, shavings, alcohol, and sulphur vised in the manufacture are greater or less

than the prices per pound specified in this paragraph on the basis of the actual
amounts of each of these five articles entering into the manufacture of one pound
of powder. The prices to apply f. o. b. Nashville, Tennessee, are as follows:

Nitrate of soda, 4.1175?i per pound.
Linters, 5.25(4 per pound.
Shavings, 4.22^ per pound.
Alcohol, 12.459^ per pound.
Sulphur, 1.35450 per pound.

All other ingredients (being of small importance) will be charged at actual
cost.

Example as to nitrate of soda: Should the cost of nitrate of soda used in the
manufacture be 3.1175 cents per pound, instead of 4.1175 cents per pound, and
the quantity required be 1.65 pounds nitrate of soda per pound of powder pro-
duced therefor, then the above base cost of 44)^ cents per pound will be reduced
by 1.65 cents per pound to 42.85 cents per pound.

It is understood that the base price of 44J4 cents per pound refers to water-
dried smokeless cannon powder.

(c) In the event of the United States of America requiring the manufacture at
this plant of air-dried powder or small-arms powder, the construction manager
will be paid as compensation for the manufacture of such powder the same num-
ber of cents per pound as is paid concurrently for the manufacture of water-dried
smokeless cannon powder, under the terms of this agreement. In the event,
however, during any month no water-dried cannon powder is manufactured, the
cost of the air-dried cannon powder shall be used in the calculation, and the base
cost shall be 45J^ cents per pound.

(fZ) In determining the cost of powder at such time as the construction and
operation are in progress concurrently, the cost of each department, i. e., con-
struction and operation, is to be determined on the basis of actual expenditures
incurred in each. The expense of those employed on both construction and
operation is to be divided in direct proportion as their time is so employed.

(e) It is understood and agreed that the construction manager shall operate
the i^lant for the equivalent of six months at its full capacity; that is to say, that
the plant, consisting of five sections, when and as completed will be operated to
the equivalent of thirty section months. It is estimated that the full capacity
of each of the five sections of the plant will be three million pounds of powder
per month. And that accordingly thirty section months' operation will produce
ninety million pounds of powder; but if, for any reason other than that of the
termination of this contract as provided in article 8 hereof, the operation of the
plant shall result in a production of less than ninety million pounds of powder
during the period specified, then the construction manager shall continue opera-
tion until ninety million pounds of powder have been produced.
On water-dried powder the period of six months referred to herein shall com-

mence for each section when the first powder therefrom is packed.
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On air-dried powder the period of six months shall commence for each section
when the first powder therefrom is put into the dryhouse.

If, during the operating period of six months specified herein, there shall be
produced more than ninety million pounds of powder, the construction manager
shall be paid upon the full amount so produced during such period.

At the expiration of the period of six months specified herein, payment shall
be made to the construction manager for all finished powder and all other pov.'der,

whether air or water-dried, that is in process of drying or in a further state of
comiyietion.

If, at the expiration of the period of six months specified herein, the powder that
has been accepted and the air-dried powder which is in process of drying, and
which for purposes of final compensation is considered as finished product,
aggregate ninty million pounds or more, the operation of the plant under the super-
vision of the construction manager shall cease, unless the United States of America
has exercised its option as expressed in paragraph "F" of this article, but if less

than ninty million pounds of powder, as specified in this paragraph have been
produced, the construction manager is to continue operations of the plant until
ninty million pounds of powder have been produced as outlined herein.

( /) The United States of America shall have the option of requiring the con-
struction manager to continue operating the full plant upon the same terms and
compensation as provided in paragraphs a, b, and c of this article for successive
and additional periods of six months each upon giving notice to the construction
manager three months prior to the termination of the operating period herein
provided or of any extension of such operating period.

ARTICLE XI

The construction manager will use its best endeavors to construct the plant as
quickly as possible, and estimates that the first section of the plant can be ready
for operation in about eight months after the signing of this contract, and that
the additional sections may be ready for operation, one each six weeks thereafter,

so that the entire plant may be ready for operation in about fourteen months;
it being understood, however, that the foregoing is merely an estimate and is in

no sense a guarantee by the construction manager, the date of completion de-
pending upon the full cooperation of the United States of America in obtaining
the construction materials and equipment and the necessary labor. In making
this estimate no allowance has been made for time necessary for securing the
approval of contracts and drawings.

ARTICLE XII

The special director at all times shall have access to the work and operations
provided for under this contract for inspection thereof, and at all times shall have
access to all the books, records, correspondence, instructions, plans and drawings,
receipts and vouchers, and memoranda of every description of the construction
manager, and of all contractors upon the work appertaining to this contract, and
the construction manager shall at the completion or cessation of the work under
this agreement will leave in the possession of the special director all books, records,
and other papers under its control and herein mentioned, but the construction
manager thereafter shall have access to these records and papers.

ARTICLE XIII

As directed by the United States of America the boxes required for packing the
powder to be manufactured hereunder shall be fabricated by the construction
manager in the box factories constructed in connection with said plant, but the
cost of such falsrication shall not be included in the determination of cost of pow-
der on which the construction manager's compensation shall be based, nor shall
the construction manager be paid any compensation therefor.

ARTICLE XIV

The United States of America shall arrange to remove the finished powder as
fast as it is submitted, tested, and accepted.
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ARTICLE XV

The construction manager is hereby authorized to procure liability insurance
protecting it against loss due to claims on the part of employees or the public,
charging the premium for such insurance as part of the cost of the work.

ARTICLE XVI

No Member of or Delegate to Congress or Resident Commissioner is, or shall
be, admitted to any share or part of this contract or to any benefit that may
arise therefrom; but this article shall not apply to this contract as far as it may
be within the operation or exception of section 116 of an act of Congress approved
March 4, 1909 (35 Stats. 1109).

ARTICLE XVII

No person or persons shall be employed in the performance of this contract
who are undergoing sentences of imprisonment of hard labor which have been
imposed by the courts of the several States, Territories;, or municipalities having
criminal jurisdiction.

ARTICLE XVIII

If any doubts or disputes shall arise as to the meaning of anything in this con-
tract, they shall be referred to the special director for determination. If, however,
the construction manager shall feel aggrieved at any decision of the special director
upon such reference it shall have the right to submit the same to the Secretary of
War, whose decision shall be final.

ARTICLE XIX

Notice under this contract shall be deemed to have been suflEiciently given to
and received by construction manager when mailed in a sealed, postpaid wrapper,
addressed to Du Pont Engineering Co. at the plant site.

ARTICLE XX

The construction manager shall furnish to the United States of America within
ten days after the execution and delivery of this agreement a performance bond
in the sum of two hundred and fifty thousand dollars, conditioned for the full

and faithful performance of this contract. Such bond shall be in the form and
with sureties satisfactory to contracting officer. Premium of such bond to be
charged to cost of the work.

ARTICLE XXI

If necessitated by lack of existing appropriations of public funds, applicable
to this agreement, the United States of America shall have tlie right to make
and execute and the construction manager shall thereupon execute a new contract
under the same terms and conditions as herein provided.

ARTICLE XXII

It is imderstood and agreed that the parties hereto hereby release the said
special director, D. C. Jackling, personally of and from any and all claims of any
name and nature arising out of the execution, carrying on or termination of this
contract for any reason or by reason of any act or omission on his part.

ARTICLE XXIII

This contract shall bind and enure to the benefit of construction manager and
its successors.

It is understood and agreed that whenever the words "contracting officer" are
used herein, the same shall be construed to include his successor in office or any
other person to whom the duties of contracting officer may be assigned by the
Secretary of War, and any dulj' appointed representative of the contracting
officer, and wherever, with tiie exception of articles 7 and 18 of this agreement,
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the words "special director" are used herein, the same shall be construed to
include his duly authorized representatives or successors.

Dti Pont Engineering Company,
By (s) Pierre S. dxjPont, Presiderd.

Attest:

Approved by

—

Approved by

—

Witness:

(s) Alexis I. duPont, Secretary.

United States of America,
By (s) I. W. Littell, Contracting Officer,

Brigadier General, Quartermaster Corps,
National Army.

Evan Shelby.
James H. Dangler.

(Sgd.) (s) Newton Baker,
Secretary of War.

(s) D. C. Jackling,
Special Director.

(s) Irving E. Burdick.

Exhibit No. 1166

[One number of this paper bears revenue stamps
of the value of $25.00, the said stamps having
been properly cancelled.]

[The rate of premium on this bond is $10.00 per
thousand; total amount of premium charged is

$2,500.00.]

bond no. 291

Know all men by these presents, that we, Du Pont Engineering Company, a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of Delaware, as principal, and
Delaware Surety Company, a corporation existing under the laws of the State of
Delaware, as surety, are held and firmly bound unto the United States of America,
in the penal sum of Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000), to
the payment of which sum, well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, and our
successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents.
The condition of this obligation is such, that whereas the above-bounden

Du Pont Engineering Company has on the 29th day of January 1918, entered into

a contract with the United States of America, represented by
to act as construction manager for the United States of America in and about the
designing, constiuction, and operation of a plant at or near Nashville, Tennessee,
for the manufacture of smokeless powder.
Now, therefore, if the above-bounden Du Pont Engineering Company, and

its successors, shall and will, in all respects, duly and fully observe and perform
all and singular the covenants, conditions, and agreements in and by said contract
agreed and covenanted by said Du Pont Engineering Company to be observed and
performed according to the true intent and meaning of the said contract, and as
well during any period of extension of said contract that may be granted or during
any period when the time limit may be waived on the part of the United States
of America as during the original term of the same, then the above obligation
shall be void and of no effect; otherwise to remain in full force and virtue.

In witness whereof the parties hereto have executed this instrument vinder
their seals this 29th day of January 1918 (the name and corporate seal of said
principal being hereto affixed and these presents duly signed by its vice president
duly authorized so to do) ; and the name and corporate seal of said surety being
hereto affixed and these presents duly signed by its president i:)ursuant to resolu-
tion of its board of directors, passed on tiie 12th day of August 1915, a copy of the
record of which is hereto attached.

Du Pont Engineering Company,
By H. M. Pierce, Vice president.

Attest:
Alexis I. du Pont, Secretary.

Delaware Surety Company,
B}' J. P. Laffey, President.

Attest:

W. r. Raskob, Secretary.
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Exhibit No. 1167

[Copied from File,No. P-4755-711E. P400.13-2712J

Procurement Division,
Office of the Chief of Ordnance, 6th and B Sts. NW.,

Washington, D. C, March 23, 1918.

From: Colonel McRoberts, Chief of Procurement Division.
To: General Wheeler, Acting Chief of Ordnance.
Subject: Contract with Du Pont Eng. Co.

1. I transmit herewith for your approval, draft of contract between the United
States Government and the Du Pont Engineering Co., for construction of powder
plant at Nashville, Tenn., and its operation for an average period of six months
from the time each unit is constructed.

2. The contract calls for an advance to the contractor, which, under the law,
can be only granted upon the direct approval of the Secretary of War, or his

constructive approval through the action of the War Credits Board.
3. It is suggested that the contract, if approved by you, be forwarded to the

Secretary of War for approval and returned to this Division for execution.

Samuel McRoberts,
Colonel, Ordnance N. A.

End.
draft of contract.

Exhibit No. 1168

[Copied from File No. 00 313.5-374]

Contract Made by the Chief of Ordnance with Du Pont Engineering
Company, of Wilmington, Delaware, for a Smokeless-powder Plant
and for the Operation Thereof, Dated March 23, 1918

Total amount of contract, $
Execution completed

(Date of final signature)

Copy sent to returns office. Department of the Interior

War Department.
Office of the Chief of Ordnance.

[Washington, Government Printing OflSce, 1918]

This contract, made this 23d day of March 1918, by and between Du Pont
Engineering Company, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of
Delaware (hereinafter called the "contractor"), party of the first part, and the
United States of America, by Samuel McRoberts, colonel. Ordnance Depart-
ment, United States National Army (hereinafter called the "contracting officer")
acting by and under the authority of the Chief of Ordnance, United States Army,
and under the direction of the Secretary of War, party of the second part.

Witnesseth:
Whereas a state of war exists between the United States of America and the

German and Austro-Hungarian Governments, constituting a national emergency,
and the United States requires the immediate performance of the work herein-
after described, and it is necessary that said work shall be completed within the
shortest possible time; and

Whereas the United States entered into a contract with the said Du Pont En-
gineering Company, under date of January 29, 1918, which contract was approved
by D. C. Jackling, as special director, for the construction, as agent for the United
States, 49971—18— 1, on land owned by the United States at or near Nashville,
Tennessee, of a plant for the manufacture of smokeless powder, said plant to
consist of five sections or units of an aggregate capacity of approximately 500,000
pounds per day of 24 hours, and work thereon has been commenced; and

Whereas it has now become necessary that a plant consisting of nine sections or
units shall be constructed, with an aggregate capacity of 900,000 pounds of
smokeless powder per day of 24 hours; and

Whereas it is desirable that a new contract should be entered into for the con-
struction and completion of the enlarged plant, and the operation thereof, such
new contract to supercede and cancel (by mutual consent of the parties hereto
and in accordance with the best interests of the United States) said contract of
January 29, 1918:
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Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual agreements herein contained,
the said parties have agreed, and by these presents do agree with each other, as
follows:

ARTICLE I

The contractor agrees to proceed with a survey of the site and general lay-out
of the plant, to design and prepare all plans, drawings, and specifications, to pro-
cure all the necessary labor and materials, and to construct on a site owned by the
United States, at or near Nashville, Tennessee, a complete plant for the manu-
facture of smokeless powder, to consist of nine (9) sections or units, each with a
capacity of one hundred thousand (100,000) pounds of smokeless powder per day
of 24 hours, the aggregate capacity of said completed plant to be approximately
nine hundred thousand (900,000) pounds per day of 24 hours (capable of being
operated 27 days per month) , available for the daily manufacture of

—

(1) 700,000 pounds maximum of water-dried smokeless powder for cannon;
provided, however, that not more than 50,000 pounds of water-di-ied military
small-arms smokeless powder, in lieu of an equivalent amount of water-dried
smokeless powder for cannon, may be produced, if required;

(2) 200,000 pounds maximum of air-dried smokeless powder for cannon.
The said plant to include sulphuric and nitric acid manufacturing and recovery

plants, caustic soda manufacturing and recovery plants, cotton purification plants,

gun-cotton manufacturing plants, water supply, waste disposal, power, lines of

communication and transmission, storehouses, plants for the manufacture of

ether, diphenylamine and rectification of alcohol, houses for employees, adminis-
trative buildings, laboratories, shops, box factories, hospitals, commissaries,
stores, freight yards with standard-gauge tracks, spur track of standard gauge of

approximately eight miles in length extending from the existing railway line of the
Nashville, Chattanooga & St. Louis Railway Company to the plant site, and such
other things as may be necessary for a complete plant of the capacity aforesaid.

The plant for the manufacture of diphenj'lamine, above referred to, will have
aia excess capacity sufficient to supply an adequate quantity of diphenylamine for

the operation of the smokeless-powder plant now being constructed by the United
States at or near Charleston, West Virginia, at its present capacity of 625,000
pounds of smokeless powder per day of 24 houis.

It is estimated that the total cost of the work aforesaid will be approximately
seventy-five million ($75,000,000) dollars.

If, owing to the location, construction, or operation of said plant, it shall become
necessary to remove, relocate, or extend any water main through which the city

of Nashville, Tennessee, is supplied with water, the contractor is authorized to

incur the necessary costs and expenses in connection therewith, and the United
States shall promptly reimburse the contractor therefor. It is understood that
no part of the cost of such work is included in the above estimate of $75,000,000.

ARTICLE II

The contractor is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or convenient in

and about the construction of the plant, including the purchase and procurement
of all materials and labor necessary therefor, except that the United States shall

furnish the requisite amount of platinum, estimated at approximately 13,000
ounces, to be paid for by the contractor and charged to the cost of construction.
In order that the contractor may expedite the work of construction, it may in

its discretion, from time to time, pay extra compensation for materials or services,

subject, however, to the approval of the contracting officer, which extra compen-
sation shall be charged to the cost of construction. Whenever it is inexpedient for
any -portion of the construction work to he performed by the contractor, it may, in its

discretion, sublet such portion of the work, upon the most advantageous terms
obtainable consistent with the best interests of the United States. All such sub-
contracts to be subject to cancellation and termination upon the same conditions
as those governing the cancellation and termination of this contract.
The United States shall reimburse the contractor for all costs and expenses of

every character and description, incurred or made in connection with the con-
struction and equipment of the plant, or any part thereof, including the pro rata
share properly attril)utable to the construction work under this contract (a) of
the expense of maintaining the contractor's offices at Wilmington, Delaware, or
elsewhere, and (b) of the salaries and traveling expenses of all officials and em-
ployees of the contractor and of E. I. DuPont de Nemours & Company.

In order that the work of construction may proceed with the utmost promptness
and dispatch, the contractor shall, from time to time, make the expenditures and
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pay the costs aforesaid, and the United States, upon presentation of satisfactory
evidence of such expenditures and payments, shall promptly reimburse the con-
tractor therefor.

Payments and reimbursements shall be made to the contractor by the United
States, on account of said construction work, as follows:

(a) In consideration of the fact that the contractor is undertaking the con-
struction of said plant without compensation for its services beyond the payment
oi $1. as hereinafter provided, it is agreed that the United States will, as far as
possible, relieve the contractor of any necessity of utilizing its own funds in the
prosecution of the work, and to that end, upon the signing of this contract the
United States shall advance to the contractor, without payment of interest
thereon by the contractor, the sum of eighteen million seven hundred and fifty

thousand ($18,750,000) dollars to be absorbed or returned as in this article
provided.
Any interest that may be received by the contractor on the moneys advanced

on the construction work shall belong to the United States and be credited to the
cost of construction. The contractor will deposit the sum so advanced in a
separate bank account and at all times keep said sum distinct and separate from
its own funds. It will use its best efforts to obtain from the depository or deposi-
tories the highest rate of interest obtainable on said balance or balances.

(b) Upon presentation of satisfactory evidence showing the costs and expendi-
tures incurred or made in connection with said construction work, the United
States shall promptly pay to the contractor amounts equal to such costs and
expenditures, which payments shall be in addition to the advance payment
mentioned in paragraph (a) of this article.

(c) Whenever seventy-five (75) per cent of the total estimated cost of the
plant has been paid to the contractor, in addition to the advance payment
mentioned jsaragraph (a) of this article then no additional payment on account of
said construction work shall be made to the contractor by the United States until
said advance payment of $18,750,000 is expended; provided, however, that if the
total cost thereof shall be in excess of the amounts paid to the contractor, includ-
ing said advance payment, then the United States shall, upon presentation of
satisfactory evidence, reimburse the contractor to the extent of such excess cost,
and if upon the completion of the plant there shall remain due the United States
from the contractor any unused sums theretofore advanced by the United States
in respect of the construction work aforesaid, the same shall be promptly returned
to the United States.
The contractor shall be paid, in addition to reimbursement for the total cost

of the construction of the plant, the sum of one (1) dollar, and no more, as its

profit for designing, supervising, and constructing the plant. Any sums heretofore
paid the contractor as compensation under the provisions of the said contract
between the United States and the Du Pont Engineering Company under date of
January 29, 1918, shall be credited by the contractor to the advance payment on
account of construction, as herein provided, and be subject to the same conditions
and disposition as herein provided for the said advance payment.

ARTICLE III

The contractor shall use its best endeavors to construct the plant as cjuickly
as possible, and estimates that the first section will be ready for the manufacture
of powder on or about August 15, 1918, and that the additional sections will be
ready for the manufacture of powder one each thirty days thereafter, so that the
entire plant may be ready for the manufacture of powcler on or about April 15,
1919. It is understood, however, that the foregoing is merely an estimate and
in no sense a guaranty by the contractor, the date of completion depending in
part upon the full cooperation of the United States in obtaining the necessary
construction materials, eciuipment, and labor.

ARTICLE IV

(a) As each section is completed the contractor shall forthwith proceed to
operate it and shall do all things necessary or convenient in and about the opera-
tion of the plant, or any part thereof, including the purchase and procurement of
all necessary materials and labor therefor. The contractor shall not, except
with the written consent of the contracting officer, purchase raw materials for the
manufacture of powder in excess of the amounts rec}uired for the complete ful-

fillment of this contract. The United States shall bear all costs and expenditures
of every character and description incurred or made in connection with the
operation of the plant, or any part thereof, including the cost of labor, materials,
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and their conversion, repairs, power, transportation, general works expense,
works accidents as provided in article XIV hereof, plant superintendence,
maintenance of guards, and also the pro rata share properly attributable to the
operation of the plant, or any part thereof, (1) of the cost and expense of main-
taining the contractor's office at Wilmington, Delaware, or elsewhere; and (2)

of the salaries and traveling expenses of all officials and employees of the contrac-
tor and of E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company.
The costs and expenditures determined as above, exclusive, however, of (1)

the cost of placing finished powder in storehouses, (2) the cost of boxes, and (3)
the expense of maintaining guards at the plant, shall be used in calculating the
"actual cost" of powder, which actual cost shall be ascertained on or before the
last day of exch month for the preceding month. Amortization and depreciation
of plant shall not be considered in any way under this contract.

(b) In determining the actual cost of powder while construction and operation
are in progress concurrently, the actual cost pertaining to each is to be determined
on the basis of the actual expense incurred in each. Labor expense incurred in

construction and operation is to be prorated in accordance with the time devoted
to each.

(c) In addition to reimbursement by the United States for all costs and expen-
ditures outlined in this article, as aforesaid, the contractor shall be compensated
by the United States for the operation of the plant, as follows:

The United States shall pay to the contractor three and one-half (3)^) cents
per pound for each and every pound of powder delivered and accepted vmder this

contract, and, in addition thereto, one-half the difference, if any, between the
price per pound to be determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs
(d) and (e) of this article, and the actual cost per pound, as ascertained under
paragraph (a) of this article, where such actual cost is less than the price so
determined.

(d) The base prices hereinafter specified are predicated upon the prices per
pound, given below, f. o. b. Nashville, Tennessee, of the five component materials
named:

Nitrate of soda 4.11750 per pound.
Linters 5.25(4 "
Shavings 4.22(4 " "
Alcohol 12.459^ " "
Sulphur 1.35450 " "

It is the intention of the parties hereto that the contractor shall not benefit
or lose by any decrease or increase in the prices of any of said five raw materials
from the prices named in this paragraph. If the cost of said raw materials, or
any of them, shall so change as to decrease or increase the actual cost of the
powder, as determined under paragraph (a) of article IV hereof, then the base
prices hereinafter specified shall be decreased or increased accordingly.

All materials for construction or operation upon which prices have been fixed

by the United States shall be purchased by the contractor at the prices so fixed,

and where the price of any of the raw materials named in the above schedule has
not been fixed by the Government, they shall not be purchased by the contractor
at prices more than 20 percent higher than those specified above, except with
the approval of the contracting officer.

(e) The base prices for the several grades of powder to be manufactured here-
under shall be as follows:

(1) For water-dried powder for cannon of a web thickness of 0.060 of an inch
or less, the base price shall be 44:%^ per pound.

Illustration of the change in cost of raw materials: Should the cost of nitrate of
soda used in the manufacture of powder be 3.11750 per pound instead of 4.11750
per pound, and the cjuantity required be 1.65 pounds of nitrate of soda per pound
of powder produced therefrom, then the above base price of 44)40 per pound
would be reduced by 1.650 per pound to 42.850 per pound.

(2) For water-dried powder for cannon of a web thickness greater than 0.060
of an inch, the base price shall be 45}^^ per pound.

(3) For water-dried "regular" military small-arms powder, the base price shaU
be 52)^0 per povmd.

(4) For water-dried "improved" military small-arms powder, the base price
shall be 56}40 per pound.

(5) For air-dried powder for cannon, the base price shall be 45}^0 per pound.
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ARTICLE V

(a) The United States shall advance and pay to the contractor thirteen (13)
cents per pound on the total estimated production of 145,800,000 pounds of
powder. The total of such advance payments will be eighteen million nine
hundred and fifty-four thousand ($18,954,000) dollars, to be made as follows:

On Mav 15, 1918 $6, 318,000
On September 15, 1918 6, 318, 000
On December 15, 1918 6, 318, 000

The contractor shall not be required to pay interest on the sums so advanced,
and any interest that may be received by the contractor on the money advanced
shall be credited to the Government as money advanced. Said advances shall

be secured as and when made by bonds or other security satisfactory to the
contracting officer.

(b) As and when each lot of 50,000 pounds or more of powder is placed in
dry house, the United States shall pay to the contractor twenty-two (22) cents
per pound in addition to the advance payment of thirteen (13) cents per pound
provided in paragraph (a) of this article.

(c) As and when any lot of powder has been accepted and delivered, bills

therefor shall be presented to the United States by the contractor, in which the
United States shall be charged with:

(1) The actual cost per pound of powder as ascertained under paragraph (a)

of article IV hereof;

(2) Three and one-half (3^) cents per pound for each and every pound of
powder, as fixed in paragraph (c) of article IV hereof;

(3) One-half of the difference, if any, between the actual cost per pound of

powder, as ascertained under paragraph (a) of article IV hereof, and the price
per pound of powder, as determined under paragraphs (d) and (e) of article; and
the United States shall be credit with;

(4) The amounts per pound of powder theretofore paid to the contractor by
the United States under paragraphs (a) and (b) of this article.

Upon presentation of satisfactory evidence of the correctness of such bills, the
United States shall promptly pay the balance to the contractor.

ARTICLE VI

The contractor shall operate the sections of the plant, as and when severally
completed, until such times as the aggregate operation of the completed sections
shall be equal to the operation of one section for fifty-four (54) consecutive
months. It is estimated that the fvill capacity of each section will be approxi-
mately 2,700,000 pounds of powder per month, and that the operation of one
section for fifty-four (54) consecutive months will produce approximately
145,800,000 pounds of powder. Said estimate, however, shall not be con-
sidered as a limitation of the amount of powder to be produced. If there shall

be produced more than 145,800,000 pounds, the contractor shall be paid for all

powder in excess of said amount upon the same terms and conditions as apply
to said amount of 145,800,000 pounds.

In the case of water-dried povv^der the period of operation shall begin for each
section when the first lot of 50,000 pounds or more of powder therefrom is packed.
In the case of air-dried powder the period of operation shall begin for each section
when the first lot of 50,000 pounds or more of powder therefrom is placed in the
dry house.

If, after operating the plant, or any part thereof, to an extent equivalent to the
operation of one section for fifty-four (54) consecutive months, the amount of
powder produced shall be 145,800,000 pounds or more, then the contractor shall

cease operating the plant, unless the United States shall exercise the option re-

ferred to in article VII hereof. If, after so operating the plant, the amount of

powder produced shall be less than 145,800,000 pounds, then the contractor shall

continue to operate the plant until said amount shall have been produced.
When the operation of the plant shall cease, or upon termination or cancelation

of this contract under article XV, the United States shall reimburse the contrac-
tor for all costs and expenses of every character and description incurred or made
in, or connected with, the construction, equipment, or operation of the plant, or
any part thereof, including the cost of all labor, freight, and all apparatus and
materials purchased, whether delivered or undelivered, in connection with the
construction and equipment of the plant or the operation or contemplated opera-
tion thereof; all obligations of the contractor incurred hereunder, outstanding at
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the date of such cessation or termination or which may thereafter arise, shall be
assumed by the United States and the United States shall save harmless the con-
tractor in respect of any liability whatsoever in connection therewith. At the
option of the United States, the contractor shall assign or transfer to the United
States, or its nominee, all contracts then outstanding entered into by the contrac-
tor hereunder.

Should this contract cease or be terminated after the manufacture of powder
has begun, the contractor shall be paid by the United States in addition to all

costs and expenses incurred to the date of such cessation or termination, the sums
provided in paragraphs (c), (d), and (e) of article IV hereof, for all finished powder
produced to the date of such termination, and also for all other powder, whether
air or water dried, that is in process of drying or further state of completion.
If there shall remain due the United States from the contractor any sum thereto-
fore advanced by the United States, after all reimbursements and payments out-
lined in this article have been made, such sums shall be promptly returned by the
contractor to the United States.

ARTICLE VII

When the plant, or any part thereof, shall have been operated to an extent
equivalent to the operation of one section for fifty-four (54) consecutive months
and 145,800,000 pounds or more of powder have been produced, the United
States, upon notice to the contractor (given at least three months prior to the
time when the plant will have been operated to such extent) shall have the option
from time to time of requiring the contractor to continue to operate the plant
for additional periods of at least three months each, upon the same terms and
conditions as those provided in article IV and V hereof.

ARTICLE VIII

Powder for cannon shall be manufactured in accordance with the provisions
of part II (manufacture, inspection, and test) of Pamphlet No. 450, as last

revised, entitled "Instructions to Bidders and Specifications Governing the Manu-
facture, Test, and Inspection of Smokeless Powder for Cannon," and "regular"
militarj^ small-arms powder shall be manufactured in accordance with the pro-
visions of part III (special specifications and tests) of Pamphlet No. 451, as last

revised, entitled "Instructions to Bidders and Specifications Governing the
Manufacture, Test and Inspection of Smokeless Powder for Small Arms", issued
by the Ordnance Department, United States Army. Both of said parts of said
pamphlets are hereby made a part of this contract with like effect as if herein set

out in full.

The contracting officer may from time to time make changes in the specifica-

tions governing the manufacture of smokeless powder, provided he shall give the
contractor due and timely notice of such changes. If such changes require a sub-
stantial amount of additional work, labor, or materials, a fair addition shall be
made to the pertinent base price or prices specified in paragraph (e) of article IV
hereof, but if such changes involve a substantially smaller amount of work, labor,
or materials, a fair deduction shall be made therefrom, all as shall be determined
by the contracting officer. No claim for addition or deduction on account of any
such change shall be made or allowed unless the same has been ordered in writing
by the contracting officer.

The United States shall advise the contractor as to the granulations of powder
to be manufactured, as follows:

(a) In the case of guns for which the contractor has previously manufactured
satisfactory powder, at least sixty days' notice shall be given prior to the manu-
facture of powder:

(b) In other cases, ample notice and opportunity shall be given to enable the
contractor to make a satisfactory granulation test before beginning manufacture.

ARTICLE IX

The contractor shall keep complete records as to all construction and operating
expenses, all of which records shall at all times be open to the inspection of the
United States or its duly authorized representatives. The United States may
examine all work as it progresses and shall audit all accounts, but in such a manner
as not to interfere with the contractor proceeding with the construction and opera-
tion in any manner and by any means that in its judgment will best produce the
desired results under this contract.
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ARTICLE X

To facilitate prompt payments to the contractor, the United States shall detail

paymasters at the plant and at the contractor's home office. Any payments by
the United States shall be subject to correction for errors, if any.

ARTICLE XI

The title to all parts of the plant and to all materials, including powder, shall

vest in the United States simultaneously with any payment on account thereof
by the United States.

ARTICLE XII

The contractor shall fabricate in the box factories connected with the plant
all boxes required for packing powder. The United States shall remove from
the plant site the finished powder as fast as it is submitted, tested, and accepted,
it being understood that the contractor has not made any provision for store-
houses in v/hich to store powder after it has been accepted by the United States.
If the United States requires storage facilities for finished powder, the contractor
shall erect storehouses for such purposes on the plant site, if there shall be ade-
quate space thereon, and if not, then upon land immediately adjoining the plant
site, if available. The United States shall, exclusive of any profit, reimburse
the contractor for all costs and expenses incurred or made in connection with
any of the work described in this article.

Delivery of the powder shall be made, as may from time to time be directed
by the contracting officer, either f. o. b. cars at the point of manufacture or in

storehouses erected in accordance with the provisions of this article. All powder
so delivered shall thereafter be in the custody of the United States.

ARTICLE XIII

The contractor is authorized to procure liability insurance protecting it against
ny and all loss due to claims on the part of employees or the public, and to charge
1 premiums therefor as part of the cost of construction and operation.

ARTICLE XIV

The contractor is not required to place any fire or other insurance in respect of
any work or materials involved in this contract. The United States shall hold
and save harmless the contractor from all loss by accident, fire, flood, explosion,
or otherwise, arising or growing out of the construction or operation of the plant.

For the purpose of determining the cost of production, no loss due to accident,
fire, flood, explosion, or otherwise, arising or growing out of the operation of the
plant, shall be charged to the cost of operation, but in lieu thereof $0,004 per
pound of powder shall be charged to the cost of operation.

ARTICLE XV

This contract may be terminated and canceled by the United States (1) at
any time before the manufacture of powder has begun, and (2) after the manu-
facture of powder has begun the contract may be then canceled, because the need
for the plant or the output thereof has ceased to exist, or because of the willful

violation of this contract by the contractor.

ARTICLE XVI

In case the contractor is prevented from performing any work, or delivering
any powder hereunder, by reason of causes beyond its control or by reason of
inability to obtain essential materials to be used in the construction of the plant
or in the manufacture of powder, or by reason of labor shortage or labor troubles,
the contractor shall be excused from performing work or delivering powder
while prevented from so doing by any one or more of the causes aforesaid, but
this contract shall, as to the work, materials, and powder aff"ected thereby, but
not otherwise, be suspended during the time such cause for delay is present, and
all such work shall be performed and the powder delivered as soon as practicable
after such disability is removed, all subject to the provisions of article XV.
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ARTICLE XVII

This contract shall not, nor shall any right to receive payment or any other
interest therein, be transferred or assigned by the contractor to any person, firm,
or corporation without the written consent of the Secretary of War: Provided,
however, the contractor shall, unless otherwise directed by the contracting
ofiicer, insert in every contract hereafter made for construction work, increased
facilities, labor, material, supplies, and the like, or otherwise relating to the
performance of this contract, a provision that such contract may be assigned by
the contractor.

ARTICLE XVIII

If any doubts or disputes shall arise as to the meaning of anything in this
contract, they shall be referred to the Chief of Ordnance for determination. If,

however, the contractor shall feel aggrieved at any decision of the Chief of
Ordnance upon such reference, he shall have the right to submit the same to the
Secretary of War, whose decision shall be final.

ARTICLE XIX

The contractor shall furnish to the United States within ten days after the
execution of this contract a bond in the sum of $20,000,000, conditioned upon
the full and faithful performance by the contractor of all terms, covenants, and
conditions thereof. Such bond shall be in form and with sureties satisfactory

to the contracting officer. Unless such bond is furnished within the time limited,
this agreement may, at the option of the contracting officer, be canceled.

ARTICLE XX

No Member of or Delegate to Congress or Resident Commissioner, nor any
person belonging to or employed in the military service of the United States, is

or shall be admitted to any share or part of this contract, or to any benefit that
may arise therefrom, but this article shall not apply to this contract so far as it

may be within the operation or exception of section 116 of the act of Congress
approved March 4, 1909 (35 Stat., 1109).

ARTICLE XXI

No person or persons shall be employed in the performance of this contract
who are undergoing sentences of imprisonment at hard labor which have been
imposed by the courts of the several States, Territories, or municipalities having
criminal jurisdiction.

ARTICLE XXII

Any notice addressed to the contractor at Du Pont Building, Wilmington,
Delaware, and either there delivered or deposited in a post-paid wrapper in any
post-office box regularly maintained by the United States, shall be deemed to
have been served upon the contractor. The address of the contractor may be
changed at any time by notice in writing to the contracting officer. Nothing
herein contained shall preclude service of notices upon the contractor by delivery
thereof to any of its officers in person.

ARTICLE XXIII

Wherever the term "Contracting officer" is used in this contract the same shall

be construed to mean his successor or successors, his duly authorized agent or
agents, or anyone designated by the Chief of Ordnance, from time to time, to act
as contracting officer.

ARTICLE XXIV

This contract shall supersede, cancel and terminate the contract of January
29, 1918, between Du Pont Engineering Company and the United States, by
which said company was authorized to act as agent of the United States in the
construction and operation of the plant aforesaid; Provided, however, That such
cancellation and termination shall not in any way affect any of the subcontracts,
obligations or commitments which the Du Pont Engineering Company, as
agent, has heretofore in good faith entered into, made or incurred under said
contract of January 29, 1918; Provided also. That such cancellation and termina-
tion shall not affect the right, title or interest of the United States to or in any
work heretofore done or property heretofore purchased under said contract for
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which the United States may have paid or for which it may have become obli-

gated in any manner, or to which it was entitled under said contract at the date
hereof; but on the contrary each and every such right and interest of the United
States is hereby confirmed.

In witness whereof the parties hereto have caused these presents to be executed
and delivered (in sextuplicate) at Washington, D. C, the day and year first above
written.

Du Pont Engineering Company,
By E. G. BucKNER, Vice Pres.

Wm. S. Gregg.
United States of America,

By Samuel McRoberts,
Col. Ord. N. A., Contracting Officer.

W. S. Clark.
Approved.

Benedict Crowell,
Acting Secretary of War.

These supplemental articles of agreement entered into this 2nd day of Novem-
ber 1918 between the Du Pont Engineering Company, a corporation organized
and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and having its principal
place of business in Wilmington, Delaware (hereinafter called the "Contractor"),
party of the first part, and the United States of America, acting through and
represented by R. P. Lamont, Colonel, Ordnance Department, United States
Army (hereinafter called the "Contracting officer"), acting by the direction of
the Chief of Ordnance, United States Army, and under authority of the Secretary
of War, party of the second part.

Witness:
Whereas the parties hereto entered into a contract, dated March 23, 1918

(War Order P4755-711E) for the construction and operation of a plant near
Nashville, Tennessee, for the manufacture of smokeless powder; and
Whereas the said parties desire to amend and supplement said contract, dated

March 23, 1918, in the interest of the United States, as hereinafter set forth, so
as to provide and allow for an increase in the estimated total cost of the plant
aforesaid over and above the amount stated in said contract, dated March 23,

1918; and
Whereas the estimated cost of said plant in said contract, dated March 23, 1918,

is $75,000,000.00; and
Whereas the contracting officer has satisfied himself that the estimated total

cost of said plant should be in the sum of $90,000,000.00.
Now, therefore, under the laws of the United States in such cases made and

provided, and in consideration of the mutual agreements herein contained, the
said parties have agreed and by these presents do agree with each other, as
follows:

article I

That the provision of article I of said contract, dated March 23, 1918, which
reads

—

"It is estimated that the total cost of the work aforesaid will be approxi-
mately seventy-five million ($75,000,000) dollars."

be and the same is hereby amended so as to read—
"It is estimated that the total cost of the work aforesaid will be approxi-

mately ninety million ($90,000,000) dollars."

article II

Paragraph (c) of article II of said contract, dated March 23, 1918, which reads

—

"Whenever seventy-five (75) percent of the total estimated cost of the
plant has been paid to the contractor, in addition to the advance payment
mentioned in paragraph (a) of this article then no additional payments on
account of said construction work shall be made to the contractor by the
United States until said advance payment of $18,750,000 is expended; pro-
vided, however, that if the total cost thereof shall be in excess of the amounts
paid to the contractor, including said advance payment, then the United
States shall, upon presentation of satisfactory evidence, reimburse the con-
tractor to the extent of such excess cost, and if upon the completion of the
plant there shall remain due the United States from the contractor any
unused sums theretofore advanced by the United States in respect of the
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construction work aforesaid, the same shall be promptly returned to the
United States."

be and the same is hereby amended so as to read

—

"Whenever seventy-one million, two hundred and fifty thousand
($71,250,000) dollars, of the total estimated cost of the plant has been paid
to the contractor, in addition to the advance payment mentioned in para-
graph (a) of this article, then no additional payments on account of said
construction work shall be made to the contractor by the United States
until said advance payment of eighteen million, seven hundred and fifty

thousand ($18,750,000) dollars, is expended; provided, however, that if the
total cost thereof shall be in excess of the amounts paid to the contractor,
including said advance payment, then the United States shall, upon pre-

sentation of satisfactory evidence, reimburse the contractor to the extent
of such excess cost, and if upon the completion of the plant there shall remain
due the United States from the contractor any unused sums theretofore
advanced by the United States in respect of the construction work afore-

said, the same shall be promptly returned to the United States."

ARTICLE III

Each and every other provision, recital, and covenant of said contract, dated
March 23, 1918, shall remain in full force, virtue and effect.

In witness whereof the parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed
(in triplicate) by their respective officers, duly authorized, the day and year first

above written.
DtJ Pont Engineering Company,

Contractor.

{W. S. G.)

By Wm. Coyne, Vice President.
United States of America,

By R. P. Lamont, Colonel, Ord. Dept.,

United States Army, Contracting Officer.

E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company hereby consents to the provisions

contained in the foregoing agreement, executed this 2nd day of November, 1918,

at Washington, D. C.
E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

By Wm. Coyne, Vice President.
{W. S. G.)

[War-Ord-P4755-71E]

Du Pont Engineering Company and United States of America Ordnance
Department, United States Army

agreement supplemental to contract dated march 23, 1917, between the
same parties in relation to construction and operation of a powder
PLANT at NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE

Dated April 1, 1918

This supplemental contract made this 1st day of April 1918, by and between
du Pont Engineering Company (a corporation organized under the laws of the
State of Delaware, hereinafter called the "contractor"), party of the first part,

and the United States of America, by Samuel McRoberts, colonel. Ordnance
Department, United States National Army (hereinafter called the "contracting
officer"), acting by and under the authority of the Chief of Ordnance, United
States Army, and under the direction of the Secretary of War, party of the
second part, witnesseth:

Whereas it is provided in article 13 of the contract between the parties hereto,
dated March 23, 1918, covering the construction and operation of a Government
smokeless powder plant at or near Nashville, Tennessee, that the contractor is

authorized to procure liability insurance protecting it against any and all loss

due to claims on the part of employees or the public, and to charge all premiums
therefor as part of the cost of construction and operation; and

Whereas under the law of Tennessee an employer is liable to his employees in

work accident cases according to the common-law doctrine of liability for negli-

gence, and
Whereas the parties hereto mutually agree that works accidents can be more

humanely and economically handled by the voluntary payment of compensation
in all works accident cases occurring during the construction and operation of
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said plant according to the plan and schedule of compensation hereinafter set
forth.

Therefore the parties hereto agree that in lieu of procuring liability insurance
as provided in said article 13, the contractor, in performing said contract, will

pay compensation as hereinafter provided for the disability or death of an em-
ployee resulting from a personal injury caused by accidents rising out of and in
the course of his employment, without regard to negligence, but no compensation
will be paid if the injury or death is caused by the wilful misconduct of the em-
ployee including intentional self-inflicted injury or due to intoxication or wilful
failure or refusal to use a safety appliance or the wilful breach of any rule or
regulation adopted by the employer and brought prior to the accident to the
knowledge of the employee. Compensation will be paid according to the
following schbdule:

1. Medical and surgical aid.—For a period not to exceed 30 days after the
accident, the contractor will furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the
injured employee, such necessary medical attention as the nature of his injuries
may require, and during the whole or any part of the remainder of his disability
resulting from the injury, the employer may, at his own option, continue to
furnish or cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, an attending
physician, and in addition such surgical and hospital services and supplies as
may be deemed necessary by said attending physician.

2. Waiting 'period.—No compensation will be allowed for the first fourteen
calendar days of incapacity resulting from an injury, except the benefits provided
for in section 1 above, but if incapacity extends beyond that period compensation
shall commence with the fifteenth day of disability.

3. Permanent total incapacity

.

—Where the incapacity for work resulting from
the injury is total the contractor will pay or cause to be paid, as hereinafter pro-
vided, to the injured employee during sucli total incapacity compensation equal
to one-half his average weekly wages but not more than $10.00 nor less than $5.00
a week, and in no case shall the period covered by such compensation be greater
than 500 weeks, nor shall the total amount of all compensation exceed $4,000.00.

4. Permanent -partial incapacity.—Except as otherwise provided in the next
section where the incapacity for work resulting from the injury is partial, the
contractor will pay, or cause to be paid, as hereinafter provided, to the injured
employee during such incapacity compensation equal to one-half the difference
between his average weekly wages before the injury and the average weekly
wages which he is able to earn thereafter, but not more than $10.00 a week, and
in no case shall the period covered by such compensation be greater than 300 weeks
from the date of the injury. In case the partial incapacity begins after a period
of total incapacity the latter period shall be deducted from the maximum period
herein allowed for partial incapacity.

5. Specific payments for specific injuries.—In cases included by the following
schedule the incapacity in each case shall be deemed to continue for the period
specified and the compensation so paid for such injury shall be as specified therein
and shall be in lieu of all other compensation, to wit:

(ffl) For the loss of a thumb, fifty per centum of the average weekly wages
during sixty weeks.

(6) For the loss of a first finger, commonly called the index finger, fifty per
centum of the average weekly wages during thirty-five weeks.

(c) For the loss of a second finger, fifty per centum of average weekly wages
during thirty weeks.

(ci) For the loss of a third finger, fifty per centum of average weekly wages
during twenty weeks.

(e) For the loss of a fourth finger, commonly called the little finger, fifty per
centum of average weekly wages during fifteen weeks.

(/) The loss of the first phalange of the thumb or any finger shall be considered
to be equal to the loss of one-half of such thumb or finger, and the compensation
shall be for one-half of the periods of time above specified.

(g) The loss of more than one phalange shall be considered the loss of the
entire finger or thumb; provided, however, that in no case shall the amount
received for more than one finger exceed the amount provided in this schedule
for the loss of a hand.

(h) For the loss of a great toe fifty per centum of the average weekly wages
during thirty weeks.

(j) For the loss of one of the toes other than a great toe, fifty per centum of
average weekly wages during ten weeks.

83876—35—PT 14——10
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(k) The loss of the first, phalange of any toe shall be considered to be equal
to the loss of one-half of such toe, and the compensation shall be for one-half of
the periods of time above specified.

(Z) The loss of more than one phalange shall be considered as the loss of the
entire toe.

(m) For the loss of a hand, fifty per centum of the average weekly wages
during one hundred and fifty weeks.

(n) For the loss of an arm, fifty per centum of average weekly wages during
two hundred weeks.

(o) For the loss of a foot, fifty per centum of average weekly wages during one
hundred and twenty-five weeks.

ip) For the loss of a leg, fifty per centum of average weekly wages during
one hundred and seventy-five weeks.

(q) For the loss of an eye, fifty per centum of average weekly wages during
one hundred weeks.

(r) The loss of both hands, or both arms, or both feet, or both legs, or both
eyes, or any two thereof, shall constitute total and permanent incapacity, to be
compensated according to the provisions of section three.

The compensation payments referred to in this section shall in no case be
more than $10.00 per week nor less than $5.00 per week.

6. Compensation to dependents in death cases.—If death results from the acci-

dent the contractor will pay or cause to be paid in the manner hereinafter pro-
vided to the dependents of the employee wholly dependent upon his earnings
for support at the time of the accident, compensation equal to one-half the
average weekly wages, but not more than $10.00 nor less than $5.00 a week, for a
period of 300 weeks from the date of the injury, and burial expenses not exceeding
$200.00. If the employee leaves dependents only partially dependent upon his

earnings for support at the time of the injury the compensation to be paid shall

equal the same proportion of the weekly payments for the benefit of persons
wholly dependent as the amount contributed' by the employee to' such partial

dependents bears to the annual earnings of the deceased at the time of his injury.

If the employee does not leave dependents, citizens of and residing at the time
of the accident in the United States or the Dominion of Canada, the amount
of compensation will not in any such case exceed $1,000.00.

7. In case of no dependents.—If the deceased employee leaves no dependents
the employer will pay the burial expenses of the deceased not exceeding $200.00.

8. Maximum amount.—Tlie total compensation in no case shall exceed
$4,000.00.

9. Lump-sum payment.—Compensation in all cases will be computed on the
above basis, but at the option of the contractor may in all cases be paid in a lump
sum equal to the present value of all future payments when discounted at 5

percent simple interest.

The contractor is authorized to charge the amount of compensation paid in

accordance with the above plan to the cost of construction or operation, as the
case may be, together with all the expenses incident to the administration of

said plan, and the United States will reimburse the contractor for all amounts
so paid in the manner provided in said contract for reimbursing the contractor
for expenditures made on account of the construction or operation of said plant.

It is further agreed that in case any employee, or the personal representative
or dependent relative of a deceased employee, declines to accept the compensa-
tion prescribed by said plan and asserts claim for personal injuries or death on
account of the negligence of the contractor, its agents and servants by suit at
law or otherwise, the contractor is authorized to compromise, adjust or litigate

such claim as it deems best, and to charge to the United States the amount so
paid to compromise, adjust, or litigate such claim, together with all costs, fees,

and disbursements paid or incurred by the contractor in connection therewith,
and the United States will reimburse the contractor for all such amounts, fees,

and costs so paid in the manner provided in said contract for reimbursing the
contractor for disbursements made in connection with the construction and/or
operation of said plant.
As and when requested by the contracting officer the contractor shall furnish

to the contracting officer copies of jjleadings and in any and all suits brought
against the contractor to recover damages of whatsoever kind arising or gi'owing
out of the construction and/or operation of said plant, and the United States
shall have a riglit, if it desires so to do, to have a representative present at the
trial of any such action.
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In witness whereof the parties hereto liave caused these presents to be executed
and delivered in sextuplicate at Washington, D. C, the day and year first above
written.

Du Pont Engineering Company,
By .

United States of America,
By .

Contracting Officer.

Witnesses:

lORDER NO. WAR-ORD-P4755-711E]

Du Pont Engineering Company and United States of America. Ordnance
Department U. S. Army. Second Supplemental Contract, July 10th,
1918

These supplemental articles of agreement, entered into this 10th day of July
1918, between the Du Pont Engineering Company, a corporation organized
and existing imder and by virtue of the laws of the State of Delaware

,

and having its principal place of business in the city of Wilmington, State of

Delaware (hereinafter called the Contractor), party of the first part, and the
United States of America, by Samuel McRoberts, colonel Ordnance Depart-
ment, National Army, acting by direction of the Chief of Ordnance, United
States Army, and under the authority of the Secretary of War, party of the
second part: Witness:

Whereas the parties hereto entered into an agreement dated March 23, 1918,
for the construction of a powder plant at or near Nashville, Tennessee, supple-
mented by a first supplemental agreement, dated April 1, 1918; and

Whereas the acquisition of land for a gun range for testing powder and for

storage facilities is necessary for the successful operation of said plant; and
Whereas a tract of land near said plant containing approximately 533.36

acres can be purchased for the sum of sixty-one thousand fifty and no-lOOths
dollars ($61,050.00), which is the reasonable value thereof and said land is in all

respects suitable and adequate for such gun range and storage facilities, and it is

in the interest of the United States to supplement and amend the original con-
tract so as to provide for the acquisition of said land:
Now, therefore, under the laws of the United States, in such cases made and

provided, and in consideration of the mutual agreements herein contained, the
said parties have agreed, and by these presents do agree, to and with each other,

as follows:

Article I. The coiitractor is hereby authorized and directed by the United
States, and agrees to purchase for the sum of not to exceed sixty-one thousand
fifty and no-lOOths dollars ($61,050.00), that certain tract of land located near
Nashville, Tennessee, and near the powder plant, the construction and operation
of which is provided for in the original contract, known as the John Donelson
tract, containing approximately 533.36 acres. The contractor shall obtain a deed
of general warranty conveying the title to said land to the United States, in fee

simple, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances whatsoever. The contractor
shall also secui'e an abstract and opinion of title satisfactory to the Chief of

Ordnance. The United States will reimburse the contractor for the cost of the
said land as herein authorized.

Article II. All other provisions of the agreement dated March 23, 1918, as
amended and supplemented by a first supplemental agreement dated April 1,

1918, shall remain in full force and effect.
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In witness whereof, the parties hereto have caused tliis contract to be executed
under their seals and by its duly authorized officers, the day and year above
written.

Signatures:
DU Pont Engineering Company, Contractor.

By .

Witnesses:

United States of America,
By Samuel Mc Roberts,

Colonel, Ordnance, N. A.,

Contracting Officer.

By
,

Lt. Colonel, Ord., N. A.

The undersigned hereby consents to the execution of the above supplemental
contract, amending and supplementing the agreements dated March 23, 1918,
and April 1, 1918.

Attest:

Exhibit No. 1169

Summary No. 1

Recapitulation of status statements, du Pont Engineering Company, U.S. Government
contracts, September 1, 1925
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Recapitulation of status statements, du Pont Engineering Company, U.S. Government
contracts, September 1, 1925—Continued
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Exhibit No. 1170

statement showing gross and net profits realized by du pont engineer-
ing company on contracts with the u. s. government during the world
WAR

The contracts involve the construction and operation of the Old Hickory
powder plant at Old Hickory, Tennessee; construction and operation of the
loading plant for shells and casings at Penniman, Virginia; the operation of bag
loading plants at Tullytown, Pennsylvania, and Seven Pines, Virginia, and the
construction of a T. N. T. plant at Ives, Wisconsin.

Old Hickory construction $1. 00
Old Hickory operation 1, 961, 560. 68
Penniman construction 1. 00
Penniman operation 399, 848. 57
Tullytown 188, 991. 40
Seven Pines 120, 422. 16

Total gross profit $2,670,824.81
Less Federal income and/or excess profits taxes

paid:
1918 $417, 135. 61
1919 1, 621, 557. 47

2, 038, 693. 08

Total 632, 131. 73
Less stock bonus awards to employees which were entirely borne
by E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company 193, 194. 18

Total net profit 438, 937. 55

STOCK BONUSES AWARDED BY E. I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS AND COMPANY TO EM-
PLOYEES OF DU PONT ENGINEERING COMPANY FOR SERVICES RENDERED IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATION OF THE OLD HICKORY POWDER PLANT,
OLD HICKORY, TENN., AND PENNIMAN SHELL LOADING PLANT, PENNIMAN, VA.

Cost to E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company of stock awarded:
Old Hickory powder plant $167, 366. 72
Penniman shell loading plant 25, 827. 46

Total 193, 194. 18

The cost of this stock was borne solely by E. I. du Pont de Nemours and
Company, and no portion whatsoever was charged to the U. S. Government.

EXTRA COMPENSATION PAID BY DU PONT ENGINEERING COMPANY, AND WHICH WAS
BORNE BY THE GOVERNMENT, TO CERTAIN OF ITS EMPLOYEES ENGAGED IN THE
WORK OF CONSTRUCTION OP THE FOLLOWING PLANTS: OLD HICKORY POWDER
PLANT, OLD HICKORY, TENNESSEE; PENNIMAN SHELL LOADING PLANT, PENNI-
MAN, VIRGINIA; AND VIES T. N. T. PLANT, RACINE, WISCONSIN

Old Hickory $151, 355. 00
Penniman 47, 647. 00
Ives 648. 00

This expense was charged to the Government contracts as follows:

Old Hickory construction $151, 355. 00
Penniman construction 47, 647. 00
Ives construction 648. 00

Total 199,650. 00
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Exhibit No. 1171 '

statement showing gross and net profits realized by du pont engineering
company of contracts with the u. s. government during the world war

The contracts involve the construction and operation of the Old Hickory
powder plant at Old Hickory, Tennessee; construction and operation of the
loading plant for shells and casings at Penniman, Virginia; the operation of bag
loading plants at Tullytown, Pennsylvania, and Seven Pines, Virginia, agid the
construction of a T. N. T. plant at Ives, Wisconsin.

Net taxable income, year 1918 (as per Government agent's report) _ $518, 164. 58
Net taxable income, year 1919 (as per Government agent's report) _ 2, 031, 163. 49

Total net taxable income, years 1918 and 1919. 2, 549, 328. 07
Deduct commercial profits, year 1919 98, 142. 19

2, 451, 185. 88
Income and profits taxes paid for

—

Year 1918 $417, 135. 61
Year 1919 1, 603, 557. 47

2, 020, 693. 08
Less tax applying to commercial profits (above
shown) 44,047. 63

1, 976, 645. 45

474, 540. 43
Less stock bonus awards to employees which were entirel}^ borne
by E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company 193, 194. 18

Total net profit 281, 346. 25

Exhibit No. 1172
December 10, 1934.

Lt. Col. P. J. O'Shaughnessy, U. S. A., retired.,

707 Escobar Ave., Coral Gables, Fla.

Dear Colonel O'Shaughnessy: We have been supplied by the War Depart-
ment with a copy of a memorandum prepared by you on April 4, 1932, concerning
certain criticisms of the then form of adjusted-compensation contract by the
Bridgeport ordnance district. At page 8 of this memorandum the following
statement appears:
"During the World War we had to audit every cost-plus contract. I know

of only one which was not audited currently; after the war we spent nearly seven
years auditing and investigating that contract. It cost the Government upwards
of $1,250,000. Had the auditing been done currently, it would have saved the
Government a very great deal of money."

Will you please inform the committee of the contract to which you referred?
We wou'd appreciate an immediate reply by telegram collect.

Yours very truly,

Stephen Raushenbush, Secretary.
AH:cvp

[Telegram 1

Miami, Fla.,
December I4, 1934.

Steven Raushenbush,
Secretary Special Committee Investigating the Munitions Industry,

United States Senate:

Retel letter tenth my reference was to Du Pont Engineering Company contract
for construction and operation of the Old Hickory powder plant at Nashville,
Tennessee. After the war all of the expenditures on this contract, both for con-
struction and operation, were audited by the War Department, the Depart-
ment of Justice, and these aduits were approved by the Comptroller General
before making settlement. The investigation lasted over several years. The
figures given as cost of audit is only an estimate.

P. J. O'Shaughnessy.

* Substituted for "Exhibit No. 1170", see text, p. 3235.
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Exhibit No. 1173

Reply of Du Pont Engineering Company to Certain Inquiries Propounded
BY THE War Transactions Section, Department of Justice, With Respect
TO Certain Contracts Between Du Pont Engineering Company and the
United States 1

2

A copy of the inquiries propounded is hereto attached, marked "Exhibit 1",

and the inquiries are directed more particularly to the contracts entered into
between the Du Pont Engineering Company and the United States, and the sub-
contracts thereunder, for the construction and operation of the Old Hickory
smokeless powder plant, near Nashville, Tennessee. However, during the late
war the Du Pont Engineering Company entered into contracts with the United
States for the construction and/or operation of five plants for the United States,
and in our replies to the inquiries propounded it is necessary in some instances
to make reference to all of such plants.
The following are the Contractor's replies to the inquiries propounded.

"in the matter of general INQUIRY"

Question: "1. Has Du Pont Engineering Company a complete and accurate
system of accounting of— (a) Construction project, (b) Operations. Is such now
available for examination by the United States?"

Answer: (a) "Construction project."—The Du Pont Engineering Company
has a complete and accurate record of its expenditures in connection with all

construction projects. The system for accumulated expenditures on the general
ledger relating to construction w^as in accordance with plans mutually discussed
between representatives of the contractor and the contracting officer, and was
adopted with the approval of the contracting officer. The card of accounts
attached hereto, exhibit 2, adopted in connection with the Old Hickory construc-
tion accounting, will illustrate the subdivision of construction cost used in the
contractor's ledgers. An intricate system for keeping separately the cost of
units was not adopted, inasmuch as the Government did not consider such record
necessarj', and desired to save the expense of the additional accountants which
would have been required to keep such records. The postings on the general
ledgers are supported by properly approved vouchers.

(b) "Operations."—The operating ledgers were handled in a somewhat
similar manner. The controlling account for operating cost, however, was not
subdivided as in the case of the construction ledgers. Each month's operating
cost was posted in total to the controlling account. The detail costs were kept
by a separate division which prepared monthly cost sheets showing the total and
unit costs of manufactured products, and also the total and unit cost of semi-
finished products in the several stages of manufacture. These cost sheets were
prepared monthly throughout the duration of field operations.
The ledgers and books of the contractor and all supplementary records per-

taining thereto, including the accounts payable vouchers, except such vouchers
as were not returned by the War Department accountants, are filed in the Wil-
mington office of the contractor.

Question: "2. What are contractor's views on a joint audit of: (a) Mason &
Hanger expenditures, (b) operating expenses as determining costs in relation to
manufacturing bonus claimed."

Answer: "(a) Mason & Hanger expenditures."—All invoices paid to Mason
& Hanger by the contractor, all Mason & Hanger pay rolls and all shop orders for
materials drawn from stocks of the contractor by Mason & Hanger, were carefully
audited at the plant by representatives of the contractor and by the War Depart-
ment auditing staff. These bills and vouchers were subjected to a second audit
by the War Department's contracting officer in Wilmington, and were approved
bv him. During the reaudit begun in October 1919, by the Philadelphia District
Claims Board, Mason & Hanger expenditures were again subjected to a thorough
audit.

"(b) Operating expenses as determining costs in relation to manufacturing bonus
claimed."—Operating costs and expenditures in connection with all of the
operating projects undertaken by the contractor were audited in detail through-
out the progress of field operations, both in the field and at Wilmington, and
were later reaudited by the auditors of the War Department. Mr. W. G. Kileen,

> Exhibits attached to this brief are in the committee files.

2 Text of this brief is contained in hearings before a subcommittee on ordnance of the General War Trans-
actions Board under date of Dec. 5, 1923. (See appendix, pp. 3364.)
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supervising accountant for the War Department, prepared statements showing the
result of his audit in checking contractor's operating costs, compensation and
savings, and these statements, together with other data relating to the audit,

were delivered by Mr. Kileen to the War Department.
It would therefore appear to be a waste of time and money to make any fur-

ther audit of the Mason & Hanger account, in view of the fact that several
hundred thousands of dollars have already been expended at the expense of the
Government during the period of construction and operation, and during the
period of the reaudit which continued until the end of May 1922. The contractor
cannot acquiesce in the expenditure of any more public funds in a further reaudit
of either the Mason & Hanger expenditures or expenditures by the contractor.
If the Government expends any more public funds in connection with a further
reaudit of the Mason & Hanger expenditures or of the contractor's expenditures,
the Government must assume the sole responsibility for pursuing such course.

Question: "3. Has contractor ever rendered a complete statement of account
to United States? May we have copy of its statement?

Answer: Tliruughout the progress of field operations, the contractor's books,
trial balance sheets, accounts receivable and accounts payable records, etc., were
checked and inspected by representatives of the contracting officer of the War
Department, condensed statements were issued monthly, and cash statements
daily, copies of which were delivered to the contracting officer. Following cessa-
tion of field operations, the contracting officer was furnished by the contractor
with a condensed financial statement monthly for approximately one year. The
contractor then discontinued sending in such statement at the request of the con-
tracting officer. Subsequently such statements were renewed upon the request of

the contracting officer whenever they were requested by the contracting officer.

Attached hereto, marked "Exhibit 3", is a condensed financial statement showing
the status of the contractor's accounts with the United States as of October 31,
1923. This statement represents the actual condition of the contractor's books
as of that date, and is supported by the contractor's books of account and
vouchers.

Question: "4. Will contractor furnish a summary of items disallowed by
United States, and accepted by du Pont? This should include a summary of

disallowances already vouchered upon which there should be a refund or credit
due the United States."

Answer: Disallowances by the War Department auditors during the progress
of the audit and accepted conditionally by the contractor, are as follows:

Seven Pines $7, 283. 76
Ives 973.61

Total 103,405.87

Old Hickory construction. $9, 039. 92
Old Hickory operation. . . 66, 096. 94
Penniman construction 13, 747. 66
Penniman operation 7, 735. 27
Tullytown ^ 1, 471. 29

A detail of these suspensions, with voucher references, can be furnished if

desired.

By the use of the word "conditionally" is meant that the contractor accepted
the above disallowance for the purpose of facilitating settlement and with the
understanding with the War Department representatives that if settlement of the
contracts was not made, such disallowances would be charged to the contracts.

Question: "5. What amount does contractor at this time admit is due United
States?"

Answer: The amount due the United States as of October 31, 1923, as shown by
the books of the contractor was $958,602.07. So long as the contracts remain
unsettled, this account is subject to reduction on account of any expenditures
which may be necessary in connection with the contracts. This amount is kept
in separate bank accounts and all bank interest accruing thereon is credited peri-
odically to the United States. The contractor has frequently urged the Govern-
ment during the past two or three years to make final settlem^ent of the contracts
so that any balance remaining in the hands of the contractor at the time of such
settlement could be returned to the United States.

Question: "6. Will contractor furnish a statement of operations with such an
analysis by way of schedules to show generally (1) the description of charges
entering into operations from which the basis for the bonus for saving was deter-
mined, and (2) profits on operations from inception of operating period to the
end of operations?"

* Credit item.
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Answer. Statements as described above were prepared by Mr. W. G. Kileen,
supervising accountant for the War Department, and were delivered by liim to
the War Department.

(1) " The description of charges entering into operations from which the basis for
the bonus for saving was determined."—^Exhibit 4 hereto is a complete to date cost
sheet dated as of May 31, 1922, which was checked and approved by War Depart-
ment auditors, and a summary of the charges, exhibit 5, on which "saving pro-
fit" was based. In this connection Mr. Kileen computed a profit of $55,892.28
less than the profits calculated by the contractor, which amount was suspended
by the War Department auditors, but inasmuch as it is the contractor's view
that the profits as indicated by exhibit 5 hereto are correct, this difference is still

in dispute and has not been refunded to the contract.

(2) "Profits on operations from inception of operating period to the end of opera-
tions."—Exhibit 5 hereto contains the answer to this question relating to the Old
Hickor}^ contract. In this connection statements of costs and profits prepared
by Mr. Kileen, supervising accountant of the War Department, were delivered by
him to the War Department.

Question: "7. Will contractor furnish a statement of costs of construction and
equipment with such an analysis by way of schedules to show the costs by respec-
tive units of the whole?"

Answer: As explained in answer to question 1, contractor is unable to furnish
a statement of costs by units, but a statement, exhibit 6, is hereto attached,
showing cost of construction as subdivided on the contractor's ledgers for each
contract.

"in the matter of specific items of inquiry"

1. "Mason & Hanger transaction"—
Question: "1. What were Du Font's dealings with Mason & Hanger previous

to this contract?"
Answer: The only dealings between the Du Pont Company and Mason & Hanger

previous to the subcontracts at Old Hickory consisted in the purchase by Mason
& Hanger Company of explosives from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company,
just the same as the Du Pont Company sold explosives to other contractors
throughout the country.

Question: "2. Who negotiated contract between Du Pont and Mason &
Hanger?"

Answer: The contracts were negotiated, on the part of the Du Pont Engineering
Company, by H. M. Pierce, then chief engineer of E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company, now president of Du Pont Engineering Company, and by John L.

Pratt, then special assistant to Chief Engineer H. M. Pierce, and now vice
president and director of General Motors Corporation; and on the part of the
Mason & Hanger Company, by Silas Mason and H. B. Hanger.

^ Question: "3. Have Du Fonts any stock in Mason & Hanger?"
' Answer: Neither E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company nor Du Pont Engineer-
ing Company, nor any of their subsidiaries, nor any of their officers, has any
stock of other financial interest in Mason & Hanger Company.

Question: "4. Who does own majority of Mason & Hanger stock?"
Answer: After this question was propounded, we have been informed that

over 90% of the stock of the Mason & Hanger Company is owned jointly by
Silas Mason, H. B. Hanger, and John G. Watts.
* Question: "5. Explain circumstances of concern now rated at $400,000 to

$500,000 capital, with class B credit rating in a town of 5,662 population receiving

a contract totalling $21,511,175.80 on which thev were paid a fee of $1,075,558.79?
(R. G. Dunn 1923 listing.) ($1,075,558.79—$250,000—$825,558.79.)"

_

Answer: The contractor's answer and position with respect to this matter
is fully set forth in a brief filed by the contractor with the Secretary of War on
November 22, 1922, which was referred by the Secretary of War with other papers
to the Attorney General in December 1922 with request for opinion. The reasons

for making the subcontract with the Mason & Hanger Company, and the fee

contracted to be paid therevmder, are stated in the brief above referred to, a copy
of which is herewith submitted, marked "Exhibit 7."

Question: "6. What are the intercorporate relations of Du Font and Mason &
Hanger?"

Answer: This question is answered by the replies to questions 1 and 3 above,

under heading "In the matter of specific" items of inquiry ", and no other corporate

relations exist.
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Question: "7. Was the du Pont official who negotiated the Mason & Hanger
contract aware of the maximum fee of $250,000 in War Department regulations?
Is it not a fact that Mason & Hanger had other government contracts with regu-
lation scale of fees?"

Answer: The Du Pont officials who negotiated the Mason & Hanger contracts
were not aware of a maximum fee of $250,000 fixed by War Department regula-
tions to be paid to subcontractors, as they did not then have any information or
knowledge of a War Department regulation or regulations fixing a maximum fee
of $250,000 to subcontractors, nor has the contractor ever been furnished with
an}' such regulation or regulations, nor was the contractor ever instructed by any
representative of the Government to limit the fees to be paid to subcontractors,
nor was the contractor confined to any such limit under its contracts with the
United States.

A copy of the agency contract, dated January 29, 1918, between the Du Pont
Engineering Company and the United States for the construction and operation of
the Old Hickory Plant; a copy of the contract of March 23, 1918, between Du Pont
Engineering Company and the United States, which canceled and superseded the
contract aforesaid of January 29, 1918; a copy of the contract of February 6,

1918, between Du Pont Engineering Company and the Mason & Hanger Companj^,
and a copy of the contract of March 23, 1918, between the Du Pont Engineering
Company and the Mason & Hanger Company, which canceled and superseded
the contract aforesaid of February 6, 1918, are attached to and made a part of
the brief filed by the Du Pont Engineering Company with the Secretary of War on
November 22, 1922, which is hereto attached, marked "Exhibit 7."

"Is it not a fact that Mason & Hanger had other Government contracts with
regulation scale of fees?"

Answer: The Government is in a better position to obtain this information than
the Du Pont Engineering Company.

Question: "8. What check was kept on Mason & Hanger expenditures?"
Answer: The answer to this question is covered in our answer to question 2

under heading "General inquiries".
Question: "9. Did they not buy from Du Pont subsidiaries? Was this an

agreed arrangement?"
Answer: It is possible that Mason & Hanger in their work at Old Hickory may

have made some minor purchases from Du Pont subsidiaries, but Mason & Hanger
invoices were not classified in accordance with the names of the vendors from
whom they made purchases, and in order to ascertain from whom Mason &
Hanger purchased their various materials, it would be necessary to make a com-
plete analysis of all of the suijvouchers attached to their invoices. There was
certainly no agreed arrangement that the Mason & Hanger Company should
purchase from Du Pont subsidiaries.

Question: "10. What was the necessity for agreeing to an unlimited 5% fee,

obviously excessive when regulations called for a maximum of $250,000?"
Answer: We have no knowledge of any War Department regulations calling for

a maximum fee of $250,000 to subcontractors, nor do we consider the 5% fee paid
to Mason & Hanger excessive under the conditions which then existed. The
contractor's position with respect to this matter is set forth in exhibit 7 hereto.

2. "Bonuses paid to employees"—
Question: "1. Will contractor furnish a complete statement of all bonuses paid

to employees for any cause?"
Answer: All of the contracts between DuPont Engineering Company and the

United States, for the construction of Government plants, contained provisions
with respect to the payment of extra compensation for materials or services, the
said provisions being as follows:

"In order that the contractor may expedite the work of construction, it may
in its discretion, from time to time, pay extra compensation for materials or
services, subject, however, to the approval of the contracting officer, which
extra compensation shall be charged to the cost of construction."

In March 1921 Major Farr, then an attorney on the War Department Claims
Board, rendered an opinion to the effect that the extra compensation paid by the
contractor to its employees should not be allowed. Thereupon the contractor
took an appeal from Major Farr's decision, and filed a brief in support of its view
that the extra compensation the contractor had paid to certain of its employees
was allowable. A copy of the contractor's brief is herewith submitted, marked
"Exhibit 8", and sets forth the reasons for paying the extra compensation and
the contractor's position with respect thereto. On November 19, 1921, Colonel
H. M. Morrow, vice chairman of the War Department Claims Board, overruled
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Major Farr's opinion, and held that the extra compensation paid by the con-
tractor to certain of its employees should be allowed. It may be here stated
that the contractor complied fully with the provisions of its contracts with the
United States before paying the extra compensation, as is shown in its brief

filed with the War Department Claims Board and attached hereto, marked
"Exhibit 8."

A statement showing the total extra compensation paid by the contractor on
account of construction of Government plants is hereto attached, marked
"Exhibit 9."
A statement giving the names of the contractor's employees, the positions

occupied by them, their location, and the amount of extra compensation paid to
each, is hereto attached, marked "Exhibit 10."
A statement listing the names and monthly salaries of the contractor's em-

ployees who were paid extra compensation is hereto attached, marked "Exhibit
11."

Question: 2. What payments were made to employees of E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company over and above "salaries and traveling expenses"?

Ansv/er: For a number of years E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company has
awarded bonuses to its employees for meritorious services performed, such
bonuses being usually paid in common or preferred stock of the company.
A list of employees who were awarded stock bonuses by E. I. du Pont de

Nemours & Company on account of meritorious services in connection with the
operation of the Old Hickory smokeless powder plant and Penniman shell

loading plant—both Government plants—is hereto attached, marked "Exhibit
12."

It should be borne in mind that no part of the extra compensation or Ijonuses
awarded to operating employees at Old Hickory or Penniman was paid from
Government funds, but the expense thereof was assumed in its entirety by E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company.
In order that the extra compensation paid by Du Pont Engineering Company

in cash to certain of its employees in connection with the construction of Gov-
ernment plants, which was charged to the Government, may be compared with
the extra compensation or bonuses paid in stock by E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Company during the same year, on the basis of its cost to the company, we
attach hereto a tabulation, marked "Exhibit 13", which was prepared and
furnished to the Government in 1919.

3. "Subsidiaries"—
Question: 1. Was it not the rule to purchase materials from Du Pont sub-

sidiaries? Was this not profitable to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company?
Answer: There was no rule relating to the purchase of materials from du Pont

subsidiaries. Cotton linters and hull shavings were purchased directly from or
through E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company or its subsidiary, Du Pont Ameri-
can Industries, Inc. The cost of shavings and linters purchased for use at Old
Hickory was approximately $4,580,000. No profit resulted to E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company or Du Pont American Industries, Inc., through the purchase
of linters and shavings.

Certain special machinery and equipment were purchased by Du Pont Engineer-
ing Company from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, aggregating in value
approximately $7,342,926.03, under an arrangement approved by the contracting
officer for the United States, which provided that E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company was to receive a profit of 10% above cost. See exhibit 14 hereto
attached. However, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company voluntarily waived
its rights to the 10% profit, and settled with Du Pont Engineering Company on
a basis of cost in which was included the amortization of special facilities, pur-
chased for producing such machinery and equipment. The total amount of

profit waived by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company in connection with this

matter was $734,292.60, while the total charges for amortizing facilties was
$475,338.99, or a saving to the United States of $258,953.61.

Automobiles manufactured by the General Motors Corporation and its sub-
sidiaries were purchased from dealers in the vicinity of the several plants operated
by the contractor. Such purchases, however, were the result of expediency and
on account of the fact that the class of car in question was suitable to the con-
tractor's requirements, and deliveries could be made promptly.
The indirect profits accruing to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company

through its stock ownership in the General Motors Corporation, on account of

automobiles purchased by the Du Pont Engineering Company, were intangible
and insignificant.
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For use at the Old Hickory powder plant, 54 Ford cars were purchased by
Du Pont Engineering Company from the Hippodrome Motor Company and
Blackwood Tire Company, and 41 Chevrolet cars were purchased from the
Broadwaj' Motor Company, which serves to illustrate that the contractor did
not show any preference for cars manufactured by companies in vv'hich E. I. du
Pont de Nemours & Companj- was interested.
The contractor purchased its principal supply of paints and paint ingredients

from the Harrison branch of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, although a
considerable cjuantity was bought from competitive manufacturers and vendors
who dealt in competitive brands. Purchases of paint, pigments, lead, etc., were
made from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company on account of the fact that
by reason of the relationship tjetween E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
and the contractor, pressure could be exerted to insure priority in deliveries, and
paints could thus be obtained when needed without delays. Preference was not
given to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company for the purpose of increasing its

profits, inasmuch as the demand for such commodities throughout the war
period was in excess of the supply, and a ready market was available for all the
commercial products then manufactured by E. 1. du Pont de Nemours & Company
and its branches. Paints purchased from the Harrison works were invoiced to
the contractor at the market price. No profit accrued to E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company on account of paint sales to the contractor, as the Du
Pont Company's paint business resulted in a deficit for the year 19 IS.

Question: 2. Was purchase noncompetitive?
Answer: Purchases in quantity, with the exception of materials specifically

contracted for and emergency procurements, were usually made after securing
competitive bids with a view to obtaining such materials at the lowest price
consistent with cjuality and the assurance of delivery.

Question: 3. Was there any check on materials or prices by Du Pont?
Explain system.

Answer: The invoice prices for materials shipped for account of the Du Pont
Engineering Companj^ were checked and compared with orders by the contractor's
staff, and also by the accountants emjoloyed bj^ the United States working under
the direction of the contracting officer of the War Department. Materials re-

ceived at the plant were checked and verified by the contractor's representatives
and by United States Government resident stores inspectors.
The following plan for making, checking, and recording disbursements and

keeping a record of the contractor's business, approved by the representatives
of the United States in charge at the time, was modeled on a system which had
been followed by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company and found by experience
to be satisfactory:

Certain proficient employees were appointed to direct and supervise the work
of the several departments. Whenever the procurement of material or equipment
was necessary, requisitions were issued by the departments responsible and for-

warded to the purchasing agent in Wilmington, unless the need was sufficiently

urgent to necessitate ordering direct by telegraph or otherwise. In all cases
requisitions were sent to the purchasing agent for record. Orders for materials
specified in such recpiisitions were issued by the purchasing department, and
numbered in series, copies being sent, respectively, to the vendors, plants, and
accounting department, one being retained bj' the purchasing department for
comparison with the vendors' invoices.

Vendors were required to show the order number on the face of each invoice
for identification. Each invoice, after receipt at the home office, was compared
with the orders and checked as to terms, quantity, and price by the purchasing
department, and then forwarded to the plant which issued the recpiisition, where
certification was made as to receipt of material, and the approval of the plant
representative affixed; and then returned to the home office at Wilmington.
Vouchers were then approved bj' the departmental director responsible for such
expenditures, and the charge distribution was noted thereon, after which the
accounting department functioned, checking extensions, recording, and issuing
checks in payment therefor.
When vouchers had been audited, recorded, approved and paid by represen-

tatives of the contractor they were transmitted to the contracting officer of the
United States, who checked and vertified the expenditures until satisfied that
the requirements of the contracts had been fulfilled. He then indicated his

approval on each voucher and forwarded all vouchers applicable to construction
projects to the disbursing officer, who recorded the approved expenditures on
public vouchers, and issued instructions for the contractor's reimbursement.



3320 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

While vouchers applicable to the operating projects were checked and approved
in the manner described above, the contractor was reimbursed as provided by
the several contracts with respect to operation.

4. Cotton linters.—
Question: 1. Explain excessive prices above maximum contract rates.

Answer: Assuming that question 1 refers to cotton hull shavings, which at the
time of purchase were at a price in excess of the contract limit, the transaction
is explained as follows:

An audit was made of the cotton hull shavings purchased by Du Pont Engi-
neering Company by the contracting officer, representing the War Department,
resulting in disallowance by the contracting officer, based on the statement that
the contractor had purchased cotton hull shavings at a price in excess of the
limits established by the contract. The contractor then prepared a statement
showing the purchases of cotton hull shavings, exhibiting that the total amount
paid, including freight to Nashville, was in excess of the contract limitation in

the amount of $42,354.98, or based on rates in effect as of the date of the contract
between Du Pont Engineering Company and the Government, an excess of

$29,952.85. See statement hereto attached, marked "exhibit 15."

In article IV, paragraph (d), of the Old Hickory contract, it is stated:
"All materials for construction or operation upon which prices have been fixed

by the United States shall be purchased by the contractor at the prices so fixed,

and where the price of any of the raw materials named in the above schedule has
not been fixed by the Government they shall not be purchased by the contractor at
prices more than 20 percent higher than those specified above, except with the
approval of the contracting officer."

The above allowed a maximum price for shavings of 5.064 cents per pound,
delivered at Nashville.
The contractor states that in lieu of entering the market as a direct purchaser

of shavings, it arranged for E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company to purchase
the shavings required for Old Hickory, for the reason that E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company was already a large purchaser.

It was soon found that shavings could not be bought within this price limit

and by letter of June 26, 1918, here quoted, the contractor was authorized to
pay 25% in excess of the base price of 4.22 cents, or a total of 5.275 cents per
pound for shavings, delivered at Nashville.

[In replying refer to No. War Ord. 4755-7nE Sym. PR file P^l^^- HEV/avl

War Department,
proctjrement division,

Office of the Chief of Ordnance,
Sixth & B Streets NW.,

Washington, June 26, 1918.
E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del.

(Attention Mr. A. C. Price, Assist, to Director.)

Gentlemen:

Subject: Contract price on cotton shavings.
1. This will acknowledge you letter of May 23, 1918 (our file P 471.867/1052),

your file A. C. P., requesting that yoxi be authorized to pay in excess of the 20%
increase over the 4.22fi price on cottonseed-hull shavings specified in contract
P 4755-711 E, between the Ordnance Department and the du Pont Engineering
Company for the operation of the Government smokeless plant at Nashville,
Tenn.

2. This letter is for the purpose of authorizing you to pay for cottonseed-hull
shavings a price not more than 25% in advance of the 4.22^ price mentioned in
contract.

3. This is in accordance with conversation between the officers of this division
and your Mr. Price and your vice president, Mr. Connable.

Respectfully,
Procurement Division,
Samuel McRoberts,

Col., Ord. N. A.
By (s) Chas. N. Black,

(Chas. N. Black),
Lt. Col, Ord. N. A.
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The contractor states that it was not realized for some time that the above
letter and the contract itself made the price of 5.275 cents include delivery at
Nashville, and shavings were purchased within the price limit of 5.275 cents per
pound, f. o. b. point of production.
The contractor states that under date of October 18, 1918, the Ordnance De-

partment was requested to authorize an increase in the maximum price limit for
hull fibre or shavings, this request being in the form of a letter, below ciuoted:

E. I. Dtj Pont de Nemours & Co.,
October 18, 1918.

Major W. H. Gelshenen,
Procurement Division, Ordnance Department,

Sixth and B Sts., NW., Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir: Confirming our conversation this morning regarding hull fibre
and recommendations, that—

-

1. We declare our polic}'.

2. Indicate a price we can pay for fibre.

3. Establish this policy and price upon as firm a foundation as possible, all

factors considered.
We repeat and confirm our expressed view that this price should be 5}^ cents

per pound, f. o. b. point of production.
We give below the estimated cost of producing fibre in large quantities at

varying hull prices starting at $20.00 per ton down to and including $10.00 hulls-
Hulls at $20.00 per ton fibre cost $7.14 per lb.

• Hulls at $19.00 per ton fibre cost $6.94 per lb.

Hulls at $18.00 per ton fibre cost $6.69 per lb.

Hulls at $17.00 per ton fibre cost $6.44 per lb.

Hulls at $16.00 per ton fibre cost $6.19 per lb.

Hulls at $15.00 per ton fibre cost $5.94 per lb.

Hulls at $14.00 per ton fibre cost $5.69 per lb.

Hulls at $13.00 per ton fibre cost $5.44 per lb.

Hulls at $12.00 per ton fibre cost $5.19 per lb.

Hulls at $11.00 per ton fibre cost $4.94 per lb.

Hulls at $10.00 per ton fibre cost $4.69 per lb.

Since the price recommended is an increase over the price limit specified in
contract existing between the Government and the du Pont Company, it is

necessary that we secure your approval before contracting for fibre requirements.
Therefore, upon receipt of letter containing your approval, we shall proceed

to buy.
Our plan will be to advise those experienced in, at present engaged in, and equip-

ped to make acceptable fibre, without new construction or increased plant
equipment, that we are ready to negotiate fibre contracts for a limited tonnage
at a price of 5]4 cents per pound, f. o. b. point of production, fibre to be made
under enclosed specifications, deliveries to be shown by months up to but not
beyond June 1, 1919.

Very truly yours,
(s) F. L. CoNNABLE, VicB President.

FLC-ins
There being no reply, contractor repeated the request in follow-up letter of

October 31, 1918, herewith quoted.
October 31, 1918.

Major W. H. Gelshenen,
Ordnance Department Procurement Division,

6th & B Sts., NW., Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir: You have not yet advised us in writing of the authority to pay
55-4?^ for fibre. As the contract specifications limit to .0467^ f. o. b. points of
production, our records, to be complete, should have your written authority to
pay 5K figure.

We advised you that certain purchases had already been made covering monthly
deliveries up to August 1st, 1919. Is it your desire to have on file a record of
these purchases as made with the sellers, naming the quantities? If so, we shall
promptly supply this information.

Yours very truly,

(s) F. L. CoNNABLE, Vicc President.
FLC-c

It will be noted that the contractor's letter of October 31, 1918, refers to the
price limit named in the contract as .0467 cents but requests authority to pay
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5J4 cents for fibre. The limit of .0467 is the unit price named in the contract for

linters and the contractor contends that the follov.fing letter from the War De-
partment, dated November 5, 1918, erroneously refers to linters and that this

letter was intended to refer to hull fibre or shavings:

War Department,
Office of the Chief of Ordnance, Procurement Division,

Washington, November 5, 1918.

[To insure prompt attention in replying refer to P No. 471.857/1730. Attention of M;ijor W. H. Gelshenen
WGII/ali)

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company,
Wilmington, Delaware.

(Attention of Mr. Frank S. Connable.)
Subject: Cotton linters.

Gentlemen: 1. The Chief of Ordnance instructs me to authorize you that
under the circumstances of the shortage of the crop in cotton linters you may
advance the limit agreed upon for the purchase of fibre from .0467 cents f. o. b.

points of production to .0525 same terms and conditions.

2. The second paragraph in your letter of October 31st is noted, and it is felt

that it would he better policy to spread the present orders over a greater number
of producers and confine purchases to the next four or five months rather than to

tie up with one or two purchasers for a long period. In this way the commitments
of the Department at any one time will not be as heavy.

Respectfully,
(s) W. H. Gelshenen,

(W. H. Gelshenen),
Major, Ord. Dept. U. S. A.

The contractor states that the average cost of ail shavings purchased was
5.5939 cents per pound delivered at Nashville.

The contractor further states tha.t to the best of its knowledge, the United
States did not directly fix the price of havings, but did indirectly fix it through
the act of the Food Administration in naming p, price of $20.00 per ton for cotton
hulls, which vvas equivalent to a price of 7.14 cents per pound for shavings at
point of production.
The contractor contends that it purchased shavings at the lovs^est obtainable

price and in particular at less cost than the price for shavings corresponding to

the Food Administration's price for hulls; and further, had the Ordnance Depart-
ment been requested earlier to authorize an increased price, the authorization
would have been given, as hull shavings had to be obtained. And this conclusion

is justified by the approval which was given b,y the Ordnance Department on
November 5, 1918, to pay 5.25 cents per pound f. o. b. point of production.
The amount involved, viz, $42,354.98, was allowed by the Assistant Secretary

of War under date of April 5, 1922, by the following decision:
"1. Freight on shavings being a claim for $45,572.27 by reason of a payment

by the contractor of prices for cotton shavings in excess of prices stipulated in

article IV of the contract, allowed."
It will be observed that the amount allowed by the Assistant Secretary was

$45,572.27, but the actual amount as it finally checked out was $42,354.98.
Question: "2. Was this cotton bought from Du Pont?"
Answer: When the Du Pont Engineering Company on account of its Old

Hickory operations became a prospective purchaser of shavings, it was decided
that it would be unwise to enter the market as an additional competitor which
might have had a tendency to cause sellers to increase prices, inasmuch as the
demand at this time for cotton hull shavings was in excess of the supply. It was,
therefore, mutually agreed that E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company would
buy not only for its own requirements, b t arrange to purchase such shavings as
might be required by the Du Pont Engineering Company. Shavings for Old
Hickory, as well as shavings for the plants of the ]3arent company, were ordered
in accordance with a requirement schedule which was revised from month to
month, or oftener if necessary.
The purchasing department of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company purchased

millions of pounds of shavings, but such piu'chases were not made specifically for

any plant or contract, l)ut whenever shavings were reciuired by E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company or by Du Pont Engineering Company, shipments were
ordered by the purchasing department. Therefore, question 2 may l^e answered
by stating that cotton hull shavings purchased in connection with the Old
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Hickory operations were procured through the agency of E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Company and bills were rendered by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
for such purchases to the contractor.

Question: "3. Was there ever a readjustment on books of this excessive price

and was credit allowed United States?"
Answer: This question apparently applies to the excess payment on hull shav-

ings indicated in question 1 and on this assumption the contractor states that

the $42,354.98 was not refunded inasmuch as the Assistant Secretary of War, as

explained in the answer to question 1, held this disbursement proper under the
circumstances.
The contractor purchased, utilized, and disposed of hull shavings in connection

with the Old Hickory operation as follows:

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company #25, Oil, 348
Distribution:

Used in manufacture #10, 930, 835
Destroyed by fire and paid for by trans-

portation company #98, 686
Adjustment (short) #84,625
Transferred to the U. S. as per inventory

at the close of operation, #13, 897, 202
#25, Oil, 348

A refund was made to the United States on account of charges made by E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company in excess of cost in connection with the purchase
of cotton hull shavings in the amount of $150,497.77. The history of that trans-

action is as follows:

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company purchased for the account of Du Pont
Engineering Company, during the progress of operations at Old Hickory,

25,011,348 lbs. of cotton hull shavings as per statement attached hereto, exhibit

16. The purchase of shavings was made under the direction of Mr. F. L. Connable
vice president of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, who was then in charge
of the purchase of shavings. Purchases of shavings were made under contracts

which contained adjustment clauses, and by direction of Mr. Connable bills were
rendered to the Du Pont Engineering Company at 5%^ per lb., subject to later

adjustment, and such bills were paid by the Du Pont Engineering Company, with
the understanding that the prices would be adjusted later. Early in 1919 a
written report was addressed to Mr. Connable by a subordinate which indicated

approximately the actual cost of the shavings shipped to the Old Hickory plant
and the approximate amount of refund due the Du Pont Engineering Company.
Mr. Connable, however, was ill at this time, and the adjustment was overlooked,

and for this reason a refund to the Du Pont Engineering Company was not made
until the matter was brought to the attention of the contractor by Major Guise
in a letter dated November 8, 1920, whereupon the adjustment was made.
The contractor purchased, utilized, and disposed of cotton linters in connection

with the Old Hickory operation as follows:

Purchases: Pounds

Du Pont American Industries 43, 020, 382
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co 13,894, 538

56, 914, 920

Distribution:
Used in manufacture 25, 090, 576
Less adjustment 162, 212

24, 928, 364
Transferred to United States as per inventory at close of

of operations 31, 986, 556

56, 914, 920

A charge aggregating $157,976.03 was made by E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company in excess of the fixed price established by the War Industries Board in

connection with cotton linters purchased and delivered to Du Pont Engineering
Company. See exhibit 17 attached hereto. This overcharge was refunded to the
Du Pont Engineering Company and the funds deposited in bank to the credit of

the Old Hickory contract.

83876—35—PT 14 11
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Linters purchased from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company were billed to

Du Pont Engineering Company at 5%^ per lb., subject to the understanding that

this price would subsequently be adjusted when the actual cost of such linters was
determined. However, on account of the illness of Mr. Connable, vice president

in charge of cotton linters, and his retirement from actual participation in business,

the adjustments were overlooked and the linters purchased from the E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Company were entered on the contractor's books and paid for at

the price of 5%^ per lb. Adjustment was later made, and the excess refunded, as

stated above.
Question: "4. Why were forty-seven carloads of cotton of a value of $83,000

shipped from Hopewell, a Du Pont plant,to Old Hickory on February 15, 1919?"
Answer: Through an error on the part of the consignors, the Buckeye Cotton

Oil Companj^ of Cincinnati, Ohio, 45 cars containing shavings ordered for the

Old Hickory powder plant were shipped and delivered to E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Company, at Hopewell, Virginia, and when this error was discovered the linters

were reconsigned to the Old Hickory Plant. This error in shipment delayed the

deliveries at Old Hickory until February 1919.

The latter part of 1918 an order was placed with the Buckeye Cotton Oil Corn-

many of Cincinnati, Ohio, for November delivery of shavings at the Old Hickory
powder plant, but through a misunderstanding on the part of the Buckeye Cotton
Oil Company, they were consigned to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company at

Hopewell, Virginia. As soon as this eri'or-was detected, the Buckeye Cotton Oil

Company was notified to stop further shipments to Hopewell and arrange for the

diversion of all cars en route. Prior to the latter part of 1918 the cotton hull

shavings purchased for Old Hickorj- were furnished by the East St. Louis Cotton
Oil Company, but on account of their inabilitj' to supply shavings in the latter

part of 1918, arrangements vrere made with the Buckeye Cotton Oil Company to

furnish these shavings. The Buckeye Company had been shipping to Hopewell,
Virginia, regularly and had theretofore never shipped any shavings to

_
Old

Hickory. This accounted for the misunderstanding of the shipping directions.

The Buckeye Company admitted the error and absorbed the difference in freight

charges. In other words, the Government only paid freight charges from origi-

nating points to Old Hickory; the excess freight charges resulting from the ship-

ment into Hopewell and from Hopewell to Old Hickory were borne by the

Buckeye Cotton Oil Company.
It may be here stated that had these shavings been retained at the Hopewell

plant, they would have been delivered to and charged to the United States in the

inventory of materials on hand at the Hopewell plant at the close of operations

there. So that any inference that the Du Pont Company was trying to unload
shavings at the expense of the Government is without justification. The shav-

ings that were shipped from Hopewell to Old Hickory were purchased for use at

Old Hickory on Du Pont engineering requisition GOH-2128, copy of which is

hereto attached, marked "Exhibit 18."

Question: "5. Explain this transaction."

Answer: See answer to question 4 above.
Question: "6. Excess on cotton shavings of $42,354.98. Was this refunded?"
Answer: See answer to question 1.

Question: "7. Explain weights from Du Pont i^ierican Industries of 1,000

lbs. to 2,468 lbs. per bale, on cotton linters, so charged to United States. (See

Agent Towles' report)."
"The following is a list of apparent overweights charged in shipments of cotton

linters to the Old Hickory powder plant, as evidenced by documents in the

possession of investigators for the Department of Justice:

Car D. L. & W. no. 34250 from Hopewell, Va. 2/20/19, 45 bales weighing

59,980, average 1,332 pounds to bale.

Car N. Y. C. no. 236165 from Hopewell, Va. 2/22/19. 51 bales weighing

76,144, average 1,492 pounds to bale.

Car R. F. & P. no. 2203, from Mangum, Okla. 11/7/18. 40 bales weighing

98,749, average 2,468 pounds to bale.

Car. M. K. T. no. 94333 from Dallas, Texas. 10/16/18. 24 bales weighing

24,000 pounds, average 1,000 pounds per bale.

All of the above from Du Pont American Industries."

Answer: No standard package weight for linters or shavings has been estab-

lished or recognized by dealers in these commodities and bales vary considerably

in weight. The avoirdupois pound is the unit on which trading is based and
the public weigher or warehouse weight certificates are usually accepted by both

sellers and buyers.
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Agent Towles' report, supplementary to your question, is apparently based
on incorrect information, inasmuch as the following errors are apparent:
The first two cars mentioned by him w^ere not obtained through the Du Pont

American Industries, but from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, and con-
tained cotton hull shavings and not linters. The other two cars did contain
cotton linters and were billed by Du Pont American Industries.
The shipments w"ere as follows:

D. L. & W. car no. 34250, from Hopewell, Va., February 20, 1919, billed by E. I.

du Pont de INemours & Company—no. 3205 (1919)—contained 45 bales of cot-
ton hull shavings, 29,980 lbs., which is an average weight per bale of 666 lbs.

(See bill of lading, exhibit 19, attached hereto.)

N. Y. C. car no. 236155 from Hopewell, Va., February 22, 1919, billed by E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company—no. 3254 (1919)—contained 51 bales of cot-
ton hull shavings weighing 31,760 lbs., which is an average per bale of 662 lbs.

(See bill of lading, exhibit 20, attached hereto.)
R. F. & P. car no. 2203 from Magnum, Okla., November 7, 1918, billed by Du

Pont American Industries—no. 110457 (1918)—contained 39 bales of cotton
linters weighing 18,749 lbs., which is an average of 431 lbs. per bale. (See weight
sheet, exhibit 21 attached hereto.)
M. K. & T. car no. 94333 from Dallas, Texas, October 16, 1918, billed by Du

Pont American Industries—no. 100571 (1918)—contained 23 bales, weighing
13,789 lbs., which is an average per bale of 600 lbs. (See weight sheet, exhibit 22,
attached hereto.)

The above w'eights are in accord with the weights billed by the vendor to the
contractor, and paid for by the contractor, and no greater weights were paid for
by the Government.

5. '^Freight charges".—
Question: "1. Was a reaudit or refund of excessive freight ever made? "

Answer: A reaudit of freight bills w^as made by the War Department, and
refunds of freight overcharges detected by the contractor or revealed by the
Government audit, or disclosed du.ring audits made by the Railroad Adminis-
tration, were refunded to the contractor, with the exception of overcharges in
freight by the N. C. & St. L. Railroad Company-, which claims, aggregating
$26,411.09, were withheld by the N. C. & St. L. Railroad Company on the grounds
that its accounts with the United States were in process of adjustment, and it

was not considered advisable to pay this amount to the contractor at the time.
In this connection, it is well to state the method which was pursued by the con-
tractor in handling freight tiills.

Freight bills w^ere presented at the contractor's plants when materials covered
by such freight bills were delivered. These freight bills were then noted vith
reference to the contractor's order numbers for identification purposes. The
railroad companies made sight drafts on the contractor at convenient intervals
attaching to such drafts statements of the freight bills covered, which drafts were
honored by the contractor, and after the freight bills w^ere received from the
plants at the Wilmington office, they were checked with the above-described
statements, and anj- discrepancies detected were taken up with the railroads for
adjustment. At the Vvllmington office of the contractor all freight bills were
checked with the material orders or requisitions and the proper references cross
noted for record. Each freight bill was given a serial number and entered on
registers. The charges were then recapitulated and distributed to the proper
ledger accounts. After the contractor had completed the above process, the
freight bills were transmitted to the contracting officer of the United States who
proceeded to audit same in any manner that he desired. Upon the return of these
bills to the contractor, the freight Inlls relating to operating projects were for-
warded to the traffic department for audit as to rates.

Construction freight bills were not subjected to an audit as to rates on account
of the fact that the United States Government did not consider such an audit
necessary or desirable. (See letters hereto attached, marked "Exhibit 23.")
Overpayments or underpayments of freight in connection wdth construction

projects did not result in any loss or gain to the United States, inasmuch as
overcharges paid to the Railroad Administration and reimbursed to the contractor
were returned to the United States in the form of increased receipts from the
Railroad Administration, and undercharges vice versa decreasing the Railroad
Administration's receipts were offset by corresponding decreases in the amount
expended by the contractor and reimbursable by the United States.
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Freight in connection with operating projects, however, involved the factor of
profits as follows: On all cost-phis contracts the contractor's profit varied directly
in the ratio of cost at the rate of profit stipulated in the contracts. Profits in
connection with the Old Hickory operating project, however, were affected in an
inverse ratio, inasmuch as this contract provided that the contractor would
benefit to the extent of 50% in any saving effected over and above a stipulated
base price. Therefore in consequence of this profit factor, freight bills relating
to the operating projects were subjected to audit as to rates, and claims instituted
for overcharges.

Question: "2. Why was freight allowed to come in at excess charges?"
Answer. The Railroad Administration did not do business with the Du Pont

Engineering Company on a credit basis, and the best arrangement that the con-
tractor could make was to accept the sight drafts of the various railroads for
freight in connection with deliveries at the plants. It was impracticable to audit
freiglit bills prior to payment and excess charges could not be detected until
such bills had been subjected to audit.

Question. "3. Was Mason & Hanger paid 5% on this freight?"
Answer. Under the terms of the contract entered into between the Du Pont

Engineering Company and Mason & Hanger, Mason & Hanger were entitled to
receive 5% on the freight paid for such materials as were purchased and used by
them in connection with the work performed for the Du Pont Engineering Com-
pany at the Old Hickory powder plant. However, a large quantity of material
consigned to Mason & Hanger was delivered to the Du Pont Engineering Company
at the Old Hickory plant, and in such instances wherein shipments were accepted
directly by the Du Pont Engineering Company the freight charges were included
in drafts drawn by the railroad companies for freight charges of the Du Pont
Engineering Company and were thus paid by the Du Pont Engineering Company
direct.

In order to save accounting work, Mason & Hanger did not insist upon receiving
a commission on freight paid by the Du Pont Engineering Company, as described
above, and consequently received commission only on such freight as was paid
directly bj' themselves and included in their invoices to the Du Pont Engineering
Company. Affidavit of F. L. Bebout, who was employed by Du Pont Engineering
Company as chief clerk in charge of the freight-checking division, is hereto
attached, marked "Exhibit 24."

6. ^^ Broadway Motors".—
Question. "1. Will contractor furnish a report of transactions with Broadway

Motors, comparing prices charged United States for Chevrolet cars with current
prices?"

Answer. On May 11, 1921, Mr. J. R. Peebles, auditor for the War Department,
presented to the contractor a memorandum alleging that the Du Pont Engineering
Company had paid invoices of the Broadway Motors Company on which cars,

accessories, etc., were charged at higher prices than the prices charged to their

general trade. Attached hereto is a copy of a report, dated October 30, 1921,
marked "Exhibit 25", submitted by the contractor to Major Farr, special repre-
sentative of the Assistant Secretary of War, and accepted by him as a satisfactory
reply.

In the inquiries submitted to the Du Pont Engineering Company by the war
transactions section several points were not touched upon which may be of in-

formation to the board, and therefore we are submitting herewith a statement,
marked "Exhibit 26", of gross earnings and net profits of the Du Pont Engineer-
ing Company (United States Government contracts) to date from inception to
October 31, 1923. In order to obtain the results shown on this statement it was
necessary to estimate Federal income taxes payable, inasmuch as final settlement
has not been made with the Internal Revenue Department. With the exception
of this one item, however, the figures as compiled represent the status of the con-
tractor's books as of October 31, 1923.
We also attach hereto, marked "Exhibit 27", tables showing the distribution

of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company's departmental expenses which were
distributed in part as charges to Du Pont Engineering Company. The construc-
tion contracts were charged with a pro rata share of the general office expenses of

the construction department of E. I. du Pont de Nemours k Company in the ratio

of the direct salary payments of persons employed on E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company and Du Pont Engineering Company projects. The operating depart-
ment expenses of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company were distributed between
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company and Du Pont Engineering Company in the
ratio of direct salary and labor cost
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The total charges made by E. I. du Pout de Nemours & Company to Du Pont
Engineering Company for the use of its technical departments are as follows:

Engineering department $161, 830. 02
Smokeless powder operating department 106, 652. 15
High explosives operating department 48, 677. 97
Purchasing department 12, 794. 08
Traffic department 8, 688. 90

Total 338, 643. 12

Of the above a7nount the United States disallowed the sum of $126,071.30 on
the assumption that under the terms of Du Pont Engineering Company contracts
it was not entitled to rembursement for departmental expenses of E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Company other than salaries and traveling expenses. The above
disallowances, subdivided as to contracts, are as follows:

Old Hickory construction $87, 991. 02
Old Hickory operation 9, 147. 93
Penniman construction 19, 755. 78
Penniman operation 4, 654. 53
Tullvtown 1, 099. 68
Seven Pines 768. 78
Ives 2,653. 58

The items still in dispute between the contractor and the War Department are

as follows:

Part of Mason & Hanger fee $179, 259. 79
Departmental charges of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company 126, 071. 30
Profit adjustments 52, 554. 29
Miscellaneous expenditures 19, 545. 58

Total 377,430. 96

Respectfulh' submitted.
W. S. Gregg, of Counsel.

December 4, 1923.

Exhibit No. 1174 ^

du pont engineering company the honorable, the attorney general
washington, d. c. war transactions section, department of justice

Penniman.—Under contract G 1320-732A, dated December 31, 1917, the com-
pany were to be paid, in addition to the cost of construction and operation of the
plant, 10% of the cost of construction and 10% of the cost of loading difTerene

sizes of shells to a maximum of 1,482,500 shells. In excess of such quantity there
was to be paid 10% of established base cost plus 50% of any saving below the
base cost. The new contract under date of April 12, 1918, provided as compensa-
tion $1.00 nominal profit on construction plus 14% of the cost of operation.
Any profit accruing under the contract of December 31, 1917, was voluntarily
waived and applied as an advance against the new contract.

Tullytown.—This contract, P3509-643E, dated March 2, 1918, provided for

reimbursement of all costs of operation plus 14% as compensation.
Seven Pines.—This contract, P9050-960E, dated June 1, 1918, covered reim-

bursement of all costs of operation plus 14% as compensation.
Ives.—This contract, P15271-1433E, dated October 2, 1918, provided that the

United States would bear all costs of construction and in addition pay a specified

price per pound, subject to adjustment, of all T. N. T. manufactured. A nominal
profit of $1.00 was to be paid for the construction of the plant. Prior to the
Armistice construction of foundations for the buildings had only begun.

Tlie plants were turned over to the Government: Old Hickorv on April 17, 1919;
Penniman on Feb. 19, 1919; Tullytown on Feb. 28, 1919; Seven Pines on Feb. 19,

1919; Ives on April 16, 1919.

I Exhibits referred to in " Exhibit No. 1174" are appended to original report on file in the Department
of Justice.
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Previous examinations

Various charges were made from time to time that there were serious irregu-
larities, great waste and extravagance in expenditure of Government funds. Mr.
G. H. Dorr, assistant director of munitions, in October 1919, issued instructions to
the ordnance district chief at Philadelpliia, Pa., to continue sucli auditing and
accounting as may be necessary in the interests of the Government. The ordnance
district chief in turn authorized the cost-accounting bi-anch to proceed with the
audit. A great deal of auditing up to this time had already been performed, but
obviously a reaudit was begun. This reaudit was in charge of various individuals
and was not completed until June 1922, and the result thereof summarized as of

May 31, 1922, by an auditor of the War Department. It is quite apparent that
during the course of the reaudit, considerable trouble arose due to a lack of ade-
quate legal interpretation of certain provisions in the contracts. Major R. R.
Farr was appointed a special representative of the Assistant Secretary ox War on
July 16, 1921, to bring the reaudit of all Du Pont Engineering Company claims
to a satisfactory conclusion. Major Farr (at present a special assistant to the
Attorney General in the War Transactions Section) proceeded to issue legal
opinions of matters submitted to him for tlie guidance of the various Government
auditors engaged upon the work.

Charges of irregularities were brought to the attention of the joint board of

survey of the War Department and Department of Justice, who submitted the
matter for further investigation to a subcommittee. This subcommittee con-
sisted of Hon. Dwight F. Davis, Assistant Secretary of War, chairman, Major
General C. C. Williams, chief of ordnance, and Henry W. Anderson, special
assistant to the Attorney General, representing the Department of Justice. A
hearing war had before this subcommittee in executive session on May 10 and
May 11, 1923, at which time several persons who had participated in the audit of

the books of the contractor were present and gave testimony. The record of

testimony accompanies the file.

On December 10, 1923, the subcommittee issued their report to the joint board
of survey, running as follows:

"(a) Upon the present state of the I'ecord, it is not believed that a complete
reaudit of the accounts—which would be very expensive and require at least 1

year of time—is justified, but there are certain items shown upon the record as
to which there should be further investigation and additional audit, if the same
be required.

" (6) In view of the fact that certain aspects of this matter are now before the
Department of Justice and under investigation and that the questions of law
which have been presented as to certain allowances made under the contract
are proper for a decision of that Department, it is believed that this entire matter,
including all files and documents, should be referred to the Department of Justice
for such additional investigation as that Department may deem judicious and
for such action thereon as may be necessar}^ to protect the rights of the United
States."

Thereafter, Mr. R. H. WQliams, on December 17, 1923, and Mr. Wm. L.
Frierson, on January 24, 1924, were appointed special assistants to the Attorney
General and were assigned this case.

Scope of examination

It was an undertaking to determine the balance due from the Du Pont
Engineering Company at August 31, 1924, qualified, however in that accountants
of this unit accepted as a base the balances as shown on the books of the Du Pont
Engineering Company as of May 31, 1922. These balances of May 31, 1922,
were reviewed by the then War Department examiner, W. G. Kileen, and were
made the subject matter of a report. It further included the determining of the
amounts expended in respect of extra compensation paid to employees for meri-
torious service on construction of the plants, and of extra compensation paid to
salaried employees and others on discharge. In addition, expenditures disallowed
by War Department and eliminated from charges against United States Govern-
ment were examined.
The report of May 31, 1922, made by the auditors for the War Department,

was brought down by your examiners to August 31, 1924. All charges and
credits appearing on the books of the Company between these dates were audited
by this section.

It should be ol)served that a reaudit of the whole of the accounts was not
undertaken by this unit.
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Accounting records

Separate and distinct records were kept for each project, both in respect of

construction and operation, but no provision was made for keeping separately
the cost of each unit of the respective projects. General ledgers with supporting
books of original entry are operated for each project, in addition to a general
ledger and supporting records for the Du Pont Engineering Company. Access
was obtained by your examiners to all desired records with the exception that
certain cancelled checks specified hereafter could not be located.

It was apparent that no attempt was ever made by the company or by the
War Department to reconcile the finance records of the Government with the
books of the company. Certain expenditures placed on public vouchers were
reimbursed or recouped against advances. In exhibit B and schedule no. 1 of
exhibit A your examiners have shown the status of reimbursements and recoup-
ments against advances. There are expenditures aggregating $35,323,732.84 yet
to be put through the finance division for which no public vouchers have ever
been issued. The advances were originally placed on public vouchers, excepting
the advances by way of profit under the original Old Hickory and Penniman
contracts waived by the company. Furthermore, an expenditure originally re-

imbursed or recouped, as shown by public vouchers, may subsequently have been
suspended in whole or in part or a proportion absorbed by the Du Pont Engineer-
ing Company. The amounts, therefore, shown as reimbursements or recoupments
are merely now a reduction of approved expenditures.

Balance sheet

The net liabilitv to the United States Government, as shown on the books of

the Du Pont Engineering Company as of August 31, 1924, is $970,286.30 (exhibit
A). This conclusion is predicated upon no disallowance by the Government of
any suspended items except those agreed to by the company and as shown in

exhibit E. In other words, there is an undisputed balance of $970,286.30 due
to the United States Government at August 31, 1924, subject to adjustment for
interest on bank balances yet to be credited.

Details of the cash receipts and disbursements from the inception of the work
to August 31, 1924, will be found in exhibit B and accompanying schedules.
Exhibit B shows total net receipts of $130,483,358.19 and total disbursements of

$129,513,071.89 for all projects, an excess of receipts over disbursements of

$970,286.30, an amount, therefore, available to meet the undisputed liabilitj^,

subject to adjustment, above referred to.

It will be observed by reference to exhibit A that a dividend of $400,000.00 was
paid to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, the parent organization, on
December 31, 1919 ($143,772.46 in excess of net profit). The amount, however
set aside as a reserve for Federal taxes is obviously in excess of requirements.

Profit and loss

Details of the profit and loss will be found in exhibit C. The profit derived from
the construction and operation of Government plants, exclusive of any adjustment
affecting operation profits in respect of items suspended by the War Department
and never accepted by the company, is $2,723,577.68. The gross income after
adding interest on bank balances 'of $11,687.47 is $2,735,265.15. From the
latter figure is deducted expenditures disallowed by the War Department and
not now charged against the Government but absorbed wholly by the du Pont
Engineering Company of $103,405.87, details of which appear in exhibit E, as
well as miscellaneous expenses of $56,114.85, not charged to the Government,
a total, therefore, of $159,520.72. The net profit before deduction of Federal
taxes is $2,575,744.43. Federal taxes of $2,319,516.89 charged thereto, of which
$1,490,013.19 has been paid and the balance of $829,503.70 reserved, is in excess
of requirements. The net profit after deduction of the amount for Federal taxes
is $256,227.54.

Expenses Suspended by War Department

Details of the suspended items to August 31, 1924, appear in exhibit D and
accompanying schedules. These items were disallowed on appeal to the Assistant
Secretary of War and have never been accepted by the company but charged
against the various contracts. Certain items previously disallowed by the War
Department and either allowed in whole or part on appeal to the Assistant
Secretary of War operate either as an increase or a decrease to the suspended
items, depending on whether or not the du Pont Engineering Company absorbed
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such expenses (exhibit E). No dispute arises as to the items allowed on appeal,
but clearing entries have not yet been made on the books of the company pending
a settlement of the contracts. The items in suspense are discussed in the para-
graphs that follow.

Departmental charges of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, other than salaries
and traveling expenses, $126,071.30 {exhibit D).—The War Department disallowed
all departmental charges of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, other than
salaries and traveling expenses, on the ground that the contracts limited such
overhead to salaries and traveling expenses. Details of the departmental
charges claimed appear in schedules nos. 1 to 5 of exhibit D, together with the
apportionment thereof to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company and the various
Government projects constructed and operated by the du Pont Engineering Com-
pany. The basis of distribution is (1) on direct salary and (2) on direct salary
and labor cost.

Included in this item of $126,071.30 there is shown a charge of the loss from
sale of furniture purchased from the City Club, $11,822.22. This is not correct.
The whole amount should not have been charged against Old Hickory construc-
tion. It is now conceded that the charges should be distributed as follows:

Against E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company $7, 238. 27
Against Du Pont Engineering Company Construction:

Old Hickory $3, 591. 12
Penniman 852. 50
Ives 140. 33

4, 583. 95

11,822.22

Whether or not the departmental charges of $126,071.30 are allowed, there
must be an adjustment operating to effect the distribution in the manner recited
above. If the expenses are not chargeable, the amount in suspense is $125,071.30
(exhibit D) from which should be deducted $2,822.69 (exhibit D) on account of
profit adjustments, a total, therefore, of $123,248.61.

Old Hickory contract runs—Construction, article II:

"The United States shall reimburse the contractor for all costs and expenses of

every character and description, incurred or made in connection with the con-
struction and equipment of the plant or any part thereof, including the pro rata
share properly attributable to the construction work under this contract (a) of the
expense of maintaining the contractor's offices at Wilmington, Delaware, or else-

where, and (6) of the salaries and traveling expenses of all officials and employes
of the contractor and of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company."

Operation, article IV:
"The United States shall bear all costs and expenditures of every character and

description, incurred or made in connection with the operation of the plant, or
any part thereof, including the cost of labor, materials and their conversion,
repairs, power, transportation, general work of, plant superintendence, main-
tenance of guards, and also the pro rata share properly attributable to the opera-
tion of the plant, or any part thereof (1) of the cost of maintaining the contrac-
tor's offices at Wilmington, Delaware, or elsewhere, and (2) of the salaries and
traveling expenses of all officials and employes of the contractor and of E. I. du
Pont de Nemours & Company."

If the expenses are held to be chargeable against the contract, and adjustment
of $7,238.27 becomes necessary, or, if disallowed, the corrected amount is $123,-
248.61.

Extra compensation, $1,628.57 {exhibit D).—This item represents extra com-
pensation paid to employees transferred to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
at reduced salaries, details of which appear in schedule no. 6 of exhibit D. The
total amount paid was $4,677.98 of which $3,049.41 was absorbed by the Du
Pont Engineering Company, leaving a net charge of $1,628.57. This is the
difference between the old salary and the new salary for a period of one month.
The correct amount, however, is $2,606.68, a difference of $978.11, which if

adjusted would result in a corresponding reduction in the amount to be absorbed
by the Du Pont Engineering Company. The company, however, concede that
the expense should be wholly borne by them and not charged against the Govern-
ment, and for this reason it is unnecessary to make the adjustment above referred

to. The $1,628.57 is, therefore, a cost to be charged to the company.
Return transportation, wage-roll employes, $3,867.53 {exhibit D)

.

—This repre-

sents 50% of the expenditures made on accoimt of certain return transportation
for wage-roll employes ($7,735.06) disallowed by the Assistant Secretary of War,
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which disposition was accepted bj' the contractor. While we have disposed of

this item pursuant to this compromise agreement between the contractor and the
Assistant Secretary of War, it is respectfully submitted in passing that your
examiners' opinion is that either all of the amount was allowable under the
contract or none of it.

Administrative expenses, $13,202.97 {exhibit D).—The composition of this item
is as follows:

Salaries:

Wm. Coyne $8, 545. 73
J. B. Broad and secretary 4, 060. 57— — $12, 606. 30

Rent, Government claims division 500. 93
Traveling, officials on claims 95. 74

13, 202. 97

These expenses formed part of the administrative expenses prorated to the
construction and operation projects on the basis of pay rolls from February 28,

1919 to December 31, 1921. They were disallowed by the War Department on
the ground that they were incurred in preparing data for and appearing before
the claims board. This appears to be in accordance with rulings of such board,
and in the parent company settlements, it is understood, expenses of this nature
were either disallowed or withdrawn.

Salaries and expenses of officials and employes, $2,943.05 (exhibit D.)—The
items under this group are as follows:

^Q 1 Q pipe *

H. G. Haskell $1, 035. 00
Engineering department of E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Company 621. 57

$1, 656. 57
Traveling expenses:

H. G. Haskell 155. 23
W. S. Gregg 999.89
John Lee Pratt 20. 72

1, 175. 84
Telegraph, telephone, etc 110. 64

2, 943. 05

These expenses were also incurred in preparing data for and appearing before
the claims board.

Freight between Nashville, Tennessee, and Jacksonville, Tennessee, 50%,
$55,862.28 {exhibit Z)).—The Old Hickory contract, dated March 23, 1918,
provides in article IV:
"The United States shall pay to the contractor three and one-half (3)^) cents

per pound for each and every pound of powder delivered and accepted under the
contract, and in addition thereto, one-half of the difference if any between the
price per pound to be determined in accordance with the provisions of para-
graphs {d) and (e) of this article, and the actual cost per pound, as ascertained
under paragraph (o) of this article, where such actual cost is less than the price

so determined."
The base price of 44}^ cents per pound of powder was predicated upon basic

rates of five component materials f . o. b. Nashville, and if the cost of such materials
shall so change as to decrease or increase the actual cost of the powder, then the
basic prices shall be decreased or increased accordingly.
The War Department auditors in determining the cost of powder included

freight between Nashville, Tennessee, and Jacksonville, Tennessee, and eliminated
from the basic prices for the five component materials such freight on the found
that the contract stated the basic prices to be f.o.b. Nashville.

At the time the contract was signed, the spur track running between Nashville,

Tennessee, to where the plant was located at Jacksonville, Tennessee, had not
been constructed, which no doubt accounts for the prices of the five component
materials being specified f. o. b. Nashville. Even though the basic prices are

f. o. b. Nashville, it is illogical to include freight between Nashville, Tennessee,
and Jacksonville, Tennessee, in the cost and exclude it from the basic prices in

taking the difference between the two on which the company had an equity of

50 percent in the saving. Freight to the plant is beyond question part of the

cost, and it is necessary to adjust the basic prices to conform.
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Your examiners are of the opinion that the auditors for the War Department
are clearly in error in eliminating the freight between Nashville, Tennessee,
and Jacksonville, Tennessee, from the basic prices. The freight amounts to
$111,724.55, the equity of the company being 50 percent thereof, or $55,862.28.
Reference is made to schedule no. 2 of exhibit B showing the total profits derived
from one-half saving between adjusted base prices of materials over actual cost
per pound of powder, which includes the $55,862.28 referred to, amounting to
$770,452.99.

Miscellaneous, $254-88 {exhibit D).—These consist of miscellaneous expenses,
principally hotel expenses, which it is now conceded will be borne by the Du Pont
Engineering Company.

Plant pMication, $1,652.03 {exhibit D).—Charges in respect of plant publica-
tion were at one time suspended by War Department auditors and the cost
absorbed by the Du Pont Engineering Company. Subsequent thereto this

expense was allowed in full by a decision of the Assistant Secretary of War. The
cost, therefore, now is a proper charge against the Government and operates as
a reduction of items to be disallowed. The profit of 14 percent on this amount
now accruing to the company is $231.29.

Return transportation, salaried employes, $1,326.65 {exhibit D).—This represents
50% of the expenditures for certain return transportation of salaried em-
ployees ($2,653.29), the whole amount of which had previously been absorbed by
the Du Pont Engineering Company. Subsequently the Assistant Secretary of

War compromised with the contractor by offering to allow 50% of the ex-

penditures. We have disposed of this item pursuant to the compromise, but,
again, it is submitted that either the whole of the amount is allowable under the
contract or none of it.

Profit adjustments, $3,053.98 {exhibit D).—These items have already been dis-

cussed, $2,822.69 being applicable to departmental charges of E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company, other than salaries and traveling expenses jand $231.29 to

plant publication.
Recommendations—Suspended items.—The following is a summary of the items

suspended by the War Department, giving effect to your examiners' interpre-

tations:
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The construction contracts all contain substantially the following provisions:
"In order that the contractor may expedite the work of construction, it may,

in its discretion, from time to time, pay extra compensation for materials or
services, subject, however, to the approval of the contractinja; officer, which
extra compensation shall be charged to the cost of construction."
The extra compensation in question was paid on August 1, 1919, and the con-

sent of the contracting officer, Lt. Col. R. H. Hawkins, obtained prior to such
payment. The "extra compensation for materials or services" does not, it is

submitted, extend to paying a bonus to employes for meritorious services approxi-
mately seven months after the suspension of the contract.

Extra compensation to einployes on discharge, $396,580.06

Reference is made to exhibit G and accompanying schedules showing the
extra corajiensation paid to employes, principally salaried employes, on discharge,
amounting to $441,002.66 (exhibit G). This covers one to two months' salary
or pay, depending on the length of service of the employes with the Du Pont
Engineering Company and the parent organization, E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company. The payment of this extra compensation was authorized by Con-
tracting Officer Lt. Col. R. H. Hawkins on July 29, 1919, and paid, with the
exception of $4,272.20, prior thereto. Subsequently, on November 19, 1921,
the \Var Department claims board limited this extra compensation to a period
of 30 days, any excess over that period to be borne by the contractor, who agreed
to this nding. It will be seen that the amount absorbed by the Du Pont Engi-
neering Company is $44,422.60 (exhibit E), but the corrected figure reducing the
extra compensation to one month is $43,873.93. The months in which the total
extra compensation was paid are as follows:

1918:
November $27, 111. 42
December 187, 007. 44

1919:
January 76, 338. 59
Februarv 77, 457. 70
March 22, 184. 76
April 38, 602. 05
Mav 7,245.02
June 603. 48
Julv 180. 00
Subsequent thereto 4, 272. 20

Total 441, 002. 66

The contractor justifies the payment of extra compensation on discharge
because the contracts provided that all costs and expenses of every character
and description were to be borne l:)y the United States.

Obviously a payment of extra compensation on discharge does not fall within
this provision. It might be here emphasized that the contractor is claiming
$22,679.15, representing one month's extra compensation paid to employes of
Mason & Hanger Company, the subcontractors for part of the work at Old
Hickory, although this subcontractor received a fee of $1,075,558.79. From an
examination of the records it would appear that this amount did not carry 5%
on the "extra compensation" paid.

It is respectfully recommended that the amount now charged to the Govern-
ment of $396,580.06, and made up as follows, be disallowed:

Total extra compensation paid on discharge, per exhibit G $441, 002. 66
Less:

Excess of 30 days absorbed by Du Pont Engineering Company. 43, 873. 93

397, 128. 73
Fart of 30 days' extra compensation borne by Du Pont Engi-

neering Company 548. 67

396, 580. 06

It required extensive work for your examiners to determine the amount of
extra compensation paid on. discharge. No proper lists had ever been prepared
by War Department auditors or by tlie company, nor was there any control to
work to. The extra compensation was merged and reflected in regular salaries
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and charged to numerous accounts on the construction and operation ledgers.
Certain cancelled checks could not be produced, particvilarly for extra compen-
sation paid through Mason & Hanger Company at Old Hickory. In such cases,
however, receipts were produced or other satisfactory evidence of the payment
produced. On the whole the preservation of records pertaining to the work is

remarkably good.

Outward transportation and moving expenses, estimated

An estimate of $307,396.82 was made by the contractor and given to Messrs.
Williams & Frierson, special assistants to the Attorney General, as the amount
of expenditures made by the contractor involved under this subheading, as of

February 28, 1919. The program of our examination did not include the veri-

fication of this amount on the books of the Du Pont Engineering Company at
Wilmington. When it was found that the verification of outward transportation
and incidental moving expenses of salary and wage-roll employes upon discharge
and the verification of the inward transportation and incidental moving expenses
of employes involved an effort that would require the services of a corps of

accoiuitants over a period of several months, it was directed that this verifica-

tion be deferred. Its requirement by the division of the Government which will

be called upon to effect a settlement of these contracts depends upon the de-
termination, legally, of the right of the contractor to have been reimbursed for

such expenditures under the contracts.
The Du Pont Engineering Company, giving effect to certain legal interpreta-

tions and the contention of your accountants outlined in the pages which have
gone before, are indebted to the United States as of August 31, 1924, in the sum
of $1,592,441.66, made up as follows:

(Exhibit A:) Balance per admission of contractor $970, 286. 30
(Exhibit F:) Expenditures by Du Pont Engineering Company

for extra compensation to employes for meritorious service 199, 650. 00
(Page 20:) Expenditures by the Du Pont Engineering Company

for extra compensation to employes on discharge 396, 580. 06
(Page 18:) Suspended items 25, 925. 30

Total 1,592,441.66

Giving effect to the contention of the War Department that the Du Pont
Engineering Company are not entitled to reimbursement for (a) departmental
expenses of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, other than salaries and
traveling expenses, and (b) freight between Nashville, Tennessee^ and Jackson-
ville, Tennessee (page 17), which when put in effect means that the accountants
of this unit are not correct in their conclusion that the Du Pont Engineering
Company are entitled to these reimbursements, then the Du Pont Engineering
Company are indebted to the United States in the amount of $1,764,314.28.
These amounts mentioned as conclusions are, of course, subject to adjustment
for interest on bank balances at the date of the settlement.
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Exhibit No. 1176

War Transactions Section,
May 24, 1923.

Major John G. Booton,
Ordnance Department, U. S. Army,

Munitions Building, Washington, D. C.

My Dear Major Booton: Confirming conference of yesterday regarding the
hearing before the Joint Committee of the War Department and the Department
of Justice, regarding the transactions of the Du Pont Engineering Company with
reference to the construction and operation of the Old Hickory powder plant at
Nashville, Tenn., beg to advise that the War Transactions Section would be very
glad at this time to avail itself of the general accounting and audit between the
War Department and the Du Pont Engineering Company, both as to construc-
tion and operation. We have had in this Department, for several months, the
document entitled "Recapitulation of all contracts", dated May 31, 1922, sum-
marizing the total receipts and disbursements and setting up a refund due the
United States. The supporting details upon which this is based would be very
valuable at this time, and therefore requested.

If possible, we would like a complete report of disallowances and the action
taken on same, also a report of all suspended items and what action was taken on
same, also a complete statement of all bonus paid to the contractor or to employees

It is understood from the conference yesterday that of the total amount ex-

pended approximately $80,000,000 has been certified to the Comptroller General,
and approximately $28,000,000 has not been sent to him. If this is correct would
you so advise, or would you give us the correct figures? We would like a state

ment of the conclusions of the War Department as to how much is due the United
States upon complete settlement of the transaction, and the accounting data
upon which the same is based.

If the recapitulation of May 31, 1922, referred to above is the final statement
of the War Department, would you kindly advise as to where and how it was
prepared, and as to where the supporting documents and proof as to same may
be obtained. Also, as to where the files upon which such summary was prepared,
now are.

Very truly yours,
Arthur Carndtjff,

Special Assistant to the Attorney General.

Exhibit No. 1177 JGB/ghm

War Department,
Office of the Chief of Ordnance,

Washington, June 15, 1923.
Major Arthur Carnduff,

Special Asst. to the Attoi'ney General,
Old Land Office Building, Washington, D. C.

My Dear Mr. Carnduff: In reply to your letter of May 24th, relative to the
records of the Du Pont Engineering Company on the cost of construction and
operation of the Old Hickory powder plant, there is inclosed herewith a copy of a
summary of these transactions prepared for the use of the Secretary of War.
This Summary shows the results which are tabulated in the Recapitulation of

May 31, and is the supporting detail for that summary.
The only material change from the results set forth in these two documents is a

reduction of $172,259.79 in the allowance to the Du Pont Engineering Company
on account of fee to the Mason & Hanger Company of this city. This matter has
been under consideration by the Attorney General for some time.
The above is not the record of a settlement or proposed settlement, but is the

record of the allowances and disallowances made to that date by the Secretary of

War. I am also inclosing an extra copy of the report of May 31, 1922, to which
are attached reports showing the general situation as to disputed items.

As noted in paragraph 4 of the report of Mr. Kileen, no summary of amounts
disallowed and accepted by the contractor is in existence.
The susi:)ended items still remain suspended. These items will probably be

considered by the Secretary of War when he is in position to make a final settle-

ment.
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No statement is available of bonus paid employees, either on account of superior
services or on accormt of separation. Statement of the bonus for savings under
the contract is set up in connection with operation accounts.
The total amount vouchered on account of this contract is $72,565,801.34.
Some disallowances of the War Department accepted by the contractor cover

amounts already vouchered. These adjustments and the remaining allowances
will be summarized and transmitted to the General Accounting Office in connec-
tion with the final settlement.

The War Department has never reached a conclusion upon the amounts to be
allowed the contractor and the amounts to be refunded the United States. Action
was suspended pending the reply of the Attorney General upon the Mason &
Hanger fee, and will probably be suspended until the completion of the joint
hearing by the War Department and the Department of Justice, which was
begun some time ago.
When these two matters shall have been completed and the Attorne}- General

has indicated his wishes as to the case, the Secretarj- of War will be in position to
negotiate a settlement.

Sincerely,

John G. Booton,
Major, Old. Dept., U. S. A.

2 inclosures.

Exhibit No. 1178

Mr. Carnduff. Just one question. Mr. Kileen, we have asked each of the
accountants giving opinions here to give a brief resume of their experience as
accountants, and I would like to ask you the same question, namely, Are you a
certified public accountant?

Mr. Kileen. No, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. Have you been a senior accountant?
Mr. Kileen. I was given that grade by Civil Service, that is all. Never

served in public accounting.
Mr. Carnduff. Oh, you never served in public accounting?
Mr. Kileen. No, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. Would you give us very briefly your experience in accounting
before entering the Government service?

Mr. Kileen. I attended the Utica Business College, and left there to accept a
position in a wholesale jobbing and hardware concern, a clerical position. I was
there about two years and a half. My next position was with the General
Electric Company. And I held the positions of claim chaser, claim clerk, assist-

ant to the head of the distribution department, and was later given charge of the
distribution department, making a service of seven or eight years with the General
Electric Company. I then made application to the Civil Service, and was
assigned to the Ordnance Department in March 1918.

Mr. Carnduff. What was your rating, Mr. Kileen? What capacity, I mean?
Mr. Kileen. Senior accountant.
Mr. Carnduff. In the Civil Service?
Mr. Kileen. In the Civil Service.
Mr. Carnduff. Did you ever examine the books of the Du Pont Engineering

Company?
Mr. Kileen. The general books?
Mr. Carnduff. Yes.
Mr. Kileen. I have worked on the cash books to determine the cash trans-

actions, the accounts-payable registers, and the cost records and journal entries.
Mr. Carnduff. In whose employ were you then?
Mr. Kileen. In the United States Government.
Mr. Carnduff. For what purpose did you work on these books, Mr. Kileen?
Mr. Kileen. The purpose of this audit, under Major Farr.
Mr. Carnduff. But you never made any general examination of the operating

books of the Du Pont Engineering Company?
Mr. Kileen. No, sir; only for the purpose of this audit, under Major Farr.
Mr. Carnduff. Thank you very much.
Mr. Kileen. Yes, sir. Now, gentlemen, may I return to Detroit?
Mr. Carnduff. I think that is all.

Mr. Anderson. Yes.
Mr. Carnduff. And we are very much obliged to you.
(Witness excused.)
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Mr. Carndtjff. I might say, Colonel, that I have not sent for Mr. Kileen, as
I did not consider his evidence would much more than corroborate all of what
Major Farr would tell us, and of course I didn't even know how he got (here).

("Exhibit No. 1179" appears in text on p. 3242.)

Exhibit No. 1180

statement of mr. g. e. youmans, swarthmore, pennsylvania

Mr. Carnduff. Your name is G. E. Youmans. You reside at Swarthmore,
Pennsylvania, and you are at present supervisor of accountants of the Internal
Revenue Department of the Treasury?
Mr. Youmans. Supervisor of collector's office.

Mr. Carnduff. Will you please state to the board your former connections
with the Du Pont Engineering transaction, and anything to your knowledge that
you feel the Government should know about that. Just tell your story infor-
mally.

Mr. Youmans. My first connection with the Du Pont Engineering Company
contracts was in December 1919.

Mr. Anderson. You refer now to the Old Hickory, do you?
Mr. Youmans. I was never there—yes, I was down there once, I believe; yes,

but not during the active operation of the contract, though.
Mr. Anderson. Very well. Proceed.
Mr. Youmans. Then as accountant in charge under Mr. Cobb, supervisor of

the cost-accounting branch of the Philadelphia district. Subsequently I became
supervisor of the Philadelphia district, the cost-accounting branch, and continued
the supervision of the audit of these contracts. And I continued in that capacity
until about September 1921, at which time Major Farr, a special representative
of the Secretary of War, took entire charge of the audit of the Du Pont Engineer-
ing Company contracts, and then I continued to operate under his direction until

some time in November 1921, at which time I resigned.
Mr. Carnduff. Please state the circumstances of your resignation, and the

reason for it.

Mr. Youmans. I resigned so that I could, in my private capacity, make a
report to the Comptroller General, placing before him in this report certain mat-
ters that I thought he might not learn of through the settlement or award that
was being prepared on these contracts.

Mr. Carnduff. Just tell the board what the basis of your report was, briefly,

and the reasons for it.

Mr. Youmans. Why, I prepared a statement which included items that he had
previously disapproved.

General Williams. Who had previously disapproved?
Mr. Youmans. The Comptroller General.
General Williams. Yes?
Mr. Youmans. Showing the disposition that had been made of them by the

present control over the audit of these contracts. It was impossible to get an
advance ruling on the items and principles involved in this audit without present-
ing a bona fide voucher. So in the course of time vouchers were prepared, and
attached to them were the contractor's receipted vouchers supporting them.
These vouchers embodied practically all of the principal disputed items, and his

decision regarding the propriety of payment resulted in practically an inter-

pretation of the contract, and in a great measure supported the interpretations
that had already been given by the cost-accounting branch.

Exhibit No. 1181

excerpts from executive session, old hickory investigation, room 3538,

munitions building, WASHINGTON, D. C, MAY 10-11 1923, SUBCOMMITTEE ON
ORDNANCE OF THE GENERAL WAR TRANSACTIONS BOARD, PAGES 106-7.

Mr. Anderson. Why did you feel that you had to resign in order to make a
report to the Comptroller General? Did you feel that there were irregularities
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going on which you could not report efficiently unless you were free as a private
citizen to say as you thought?

Mr. YouMANs. Well, yes.

Mr. Anderson. Don't hestiate to come right out and talk.

Mr. YouMANs. There was a sense of loyalty. As long as I was employed by
the Ordnance Department, why I made, prior to that, all m\' reports to them.

Mr. Anderson. Of course. Now what were the conditions which led you to
feel that you ought to take such a drastic step as to resign in order to make that
report?

Mr. YouMANS. I understood, or I was told—-I don't remember by whom

—

that the award would be finally made in a lump sum on these contracts.
Mr. Anderson. Yes?
Mr. YouMANs. And such an award would practically bury all detail. And in

that lump sum award would be these items that we had excluded, and the Comp-
troller General himself had excluded and said were not proper items of expense
on the contract.

Mr. Anderson. What was the general character of your report to the Comp-
troller General? Merely a protest against payment?

Mr. YouMANS. It was not a protest even. I criticized no one at all. Merely
presented some facts that I wanted to get to him so that he would be warned and
know what that lump sum might contain.

Mr. Anderson. And it dealt chiefly with the items that you reviewed?
Mr. YouMANs. Yes; and I showed the action taken by Major Farr on those

same items.
Mr. Anderson. Well, what was that action?
Mr. YouMANS. Approved all the items that the Comptroller General had

suspended.

Exhibit No. 1182

excerpts taken from minutes of executive SESSION, OLD HICKORY INVESTIGA-
TION, ROOM 3538, MUNITIONS BUILDING, WASHINGTON, D. C, MAY 10-11, 1923,

SUBCOMMITTEE ON ORDNANCE OF THE GENERAL WAR TRANSACTIONS BOARD,
PAGES 110-111.

Colonel Hull. Now on the subsidiary companies you completed absolutely
all the audit accounting work, did you not, on all the contracts except Old
Hickory?

Mr. YouMANS. No. Operating costs had not been gone into on any of those
contracts. We were still waiting for a decision as to the necessity of furnishing
proof of delivery of material. That was still an open cjuestion. Operating costs

were not to be gone into until after that was determined.

Exhibit No. 1183

excerpts FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION, OLD HICKORY INVESTIGATION, ROOM 3538,

MUNITIONS BUILDING, WASHINGTON, D. C, MAY 10-11, 1923, SUBCOMMITTEE ON
ORDNANCE OF THE GENERAL WAR TRANSACTIONS BOARD, PAGE lU

Mr. YouMANS. We questioned every voucher, but not prices.

Colonel Hull. Sir?

Mr. YouMANS. Prices are something that were left entirely alone.
Colonel Hull. You didn't go into the prices on any of these?
Mr. YouMANS. On anything.
Mr. Anderson. May I ask a question, or will it bother you. Colonel Hull?
Colonel Hull. You may
Mr. Anderson. Why did you leave the prices entirely alone?
Mr. YouMANS. Why, we were so advised by—I think it was the District Claims

Board at the time.
Mr. Anderson. In other words, you didn't undertake to verify the fact that

the amount charged against the Government was the price paid by the du Pont
Company for the stuff at all?

Mr. YouMANS. No.

83876—35—PT 14 12
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Exhibit No. 1184

statement of j. r. peebles, haddonfield, new jersey

Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Peebles, your name is J. R. Peebles, I believe, Haddon
House, Haddonfield, New Jersey, formerly contracting officer of the Du Pont
engineering contracts, and you succeeded Major Guise as contracting officer,

I believe?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir; that is correct.

Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Peebles, I have here a copy of a letter which I desire to
place in evidence, reading as follows:

"December 13, 1921.
"Subject: Elimination of detailed summaries.

"As a result of conferences held in Washington, December 10th, 1921, you are
hereby directed to discontinue preparation of detailed summaries.

"It has been decided the only information necessary is the voucher number and
amount, which will permit tying up the charges with the contract and the con-
tractor's books."

This was evidently handed to Mr. Kileen, with a copy to you. I will ask you
if you received such instructions?

Mr. Anderson. Who is it signed by?
Mr. Carnduff. "R. R. Farr, special representative of the Assistant Secretary

of War".
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir; I have recollection of that.

Mr. Carnduff. Did you receive such instructions?

Exhibit No. 1185

EXCERPTS FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION, OLD HICKORY INVESTIGATION, ROOM 3538,

MUNITIONS BUILDING, WASHINGTON, D. C, MAY 10-11, 1923, SUBCOMMITTEE ON
ORDNANCE OF THE GENERAL WAR TRANSACTIONS BOARD, PAGE 155

Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Peebles, you have had charge of a number of large opera-
tions for the Government audits, I think?

Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. Was the Old Hickory transaction handled in the same way as
the others? Was it handled the same way as you handled other transactions?

Mr. Peebles. No, sir; because we completed the audit as prescribed by the
Comptroller.

Exhibit No. 1186
[Copy]

GRF/W
May 9, 1918.

office order #1

Subject: Routing to be followed by United States Army Ordnance Inspection
Force, Old Hickory powder plant, Nashville, Tenn., governing construction
under contract no. war order P-4755-711-E.

I. Work of Inspection.—Inspection vnll be divided into five classes, as follows:
(A) Inspection of vouchers, invoices, bills, etc., material, expenditures, etc.,

and the approving or disapproving of same, before sending through to the disburs-
ing officer at Wilmington, Del.

(B) Inspection of incoming material.
(C) Inspection of distribution of material after receipt.
(D) Inspection of the actual work of construction with a view to checking up

delays, excess of employees on any particular piece of work, undue waste of materi-
al, loafing employees, leaving the job early, etc.

(E) General inspection, covering commissary methods, office methods, police
methods, fire prevention, etc.

II. The personnel and division of work.—The work of inspection will be divided
among the personnel of this office as follows:

(A) Sergt. E. F. Coffin, in charge of office and outside inspection for the inspector
of ordnance.
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(B) J. S. Wood, acting chief clerk and stenographer, directly responsible for
routine work in the office.

(C) Private W. C. Gibbons, in charge of outside inspection on incoming
material in bulk in carload lots.

(D) Private E. J. Taylor, in charge of outside inspection on incoming mis-
cellaneous material in shipments of carload and less-than-carload lots.

(E) Private Harry W. Strickler, general inspection. Private Strickler will be
detailed daily for specific work.

III. Methods to be followed in conducting inspection of vouchers, invoices, bills,

etc.—(A) Such documents will be divided into three classes, according to the
contractor's classification, as follows:

1. Lumber.
2. Mason.
3. Miscellaneous.
(B) 1. Such documents when presented to this office for approval will be

immediately checked by Sergt. Coffin or Mr. Wood.
2. Those found correct will be stamped approved and returned to the contractor

when complete, each day.
3. From time to time documents will be submitted for approval which may

be found to be incorrect in various ways. Whenever such errors are found, Sergt.

Coffin or Mr. Wood will call the matter to the attention of the inspector of

ordnance and take the matter up with the contractor with a view to correction.

(a) A record of such documents will be kept in the proper file. This record
will give full details in each case covering the actual error (when it can be ascer-
tained) :

Action taken by this office.

Action taken by the contractor.
Result of the action taken.
(b) A monthly report will be compiled from this file, showing

—

Total number of errors detected.
Total money value of errors detected.
Total number of errors detected which could not be corrected from reports

when taken up with the contractor.
(C) 1. At least 10% of the documents received in this office without support-

ing papers will be held out and will be forwarded to the contractor with request
for supporting papers.

2. Upon notification from the contractor that these documents are ready for

inspection with supporting papers attached, either Sergt. Coffin or Mr. Wood
will go to the contractor's office and check.

3. A daily record will be kept by this office in the proper file showing results
of the check.

4. On the first day of every month a report will be compiled from the informa-
tion in this file and from the record specified in paragraph IV-H-1 showing

—

(a) The total number of documents received for each class of material during
the month for inspection.

(b) The grand total of documents received during the month for inspection.
(c) The total number of documents found to be correct upon check during the

month.
(e) The total number of documents found to be incorrect upon check during

the month.
(f) Percentage of documents checked by this office during the month based

on the total number received for inspection.

(g) The percentage of documents found to be incorrect during the month,
based on the total number received for inspection.

IV. Method to be followed in making inspection on incoming material.— (A) 1.

The men assigned to inspection of incoming material will be known as field

inspectors.
2. They will check each day covering as wide an area and as great a diversity

of materials as possible, using the forms issued by the contractor to his field

checkers for records.
(B) In checking carload lots in bulk the entire carload will be checked.
(C) In checking less-than-carload lots any single complete parcel or part of

the shipment may be checked.
(D) In checking carload lots of miscellaneous material any single complete

parcel or part of the shipment may be checked.



3342 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

(E) It is not desired that entire carloads of miscellaneous shipments may be
checked, as with the present force the work would be restricted to too small a
percentage of the incoming cars.

(F) 1. At the end of each day's work, the field inspectors will report to the office,

turning in their reports and taking up with the inspector of ordnance any points
of particular importance. In the absence of the inspector of ordnance, written
memorandum must be made calling his attention to such points.

2. Reports should be clipped together and should have attached to them a
written report, signed by the field inspector, calling attention particularly to aU
shortages, broken parts, etc., that the day's work may have developed, indicating
the trouble bv the contractor's requisition number covering the material referred

to.

3. Any other points of interest which may have been noted during the day's
work in connection with incoming material should be covered in the field inspec-
tor's report.

4. Each morning the reports of the field inspectors for the preceding day will

be carefully checked up by Mr. Wood or Sergt. Coffin. After this has been done
the contractor will be furnished with a list of the material covered in the reports,

identified by requisition numbers and car numbers, and the contractor will be
required to submit corresponding reports by their field checkers for comparison.
The check comparison will be made by Mr. Wood or Sergt. Coffin immediately
upon notice from the contractor that he has the required records ready. In
making comparison, particular attention will be given to reports by our inspectors
indicating broken or missing articles.

(G) 1. A daily record will be kept by this office in the proper file showing the
results of the comparison called for in paragraph IV-F-4, preceding.

2. On the first day of every month a report will be compiled from the informa-
tion in this file and the record specified in paragraph IV-H-1, showing

—

(a) The total number of "check comparisons" made during the month.
(b) The total number of "check comparisons" found to be correct.

(c) The total number of "check comparisons" found to be incorrect.

(d) The percentage of "check comparisons" found to be correct, based on the
total number of "check comparisons" made during the month.

(e) The percentage of "check comparisons" found to be incorrect, based on
the total number of "check comparisons" made during the month.

(f) The total number of documents (vouchers, invoices, bills, etc.) received by
this office during the month for inspection.

(g) The percentage of "check comparisons" made during the month, based on
the total number of documents received during the month for inspection.

(H) 1. A daily record will be kept in the file provided showing the total

number of vouchers received in this office each dsi\, classified as specified in III-A,
preceding.

2. The first day of each month a total for each class and a grand total for all

classes will be taken for purposes of reports specified in the preceding paragraphs.
V. The inspection referred to in paragraph I-C will for the time being be

handled by the inspector of ordnance or such other of the personnel of this office

whom he may designate from time to time.
VI. Inspection referred to in I-D will be handled by the inspector of ordnance

himself, or such other of the personnel of this office as he may designate. All
field inspectors, however, will "keep their eyes open" for any of the points re-

ferred to in paragraph I-D and will submit a daily report in writing covering any
of the points referred to which the inspector may believe that he has noted.
These reports should specify the time, place, particular trouble, and, when it

can be obtained without friction, the name and the number of the foreman
involved.

VII. Inspection referred to in paragraph I-E will be handled by the inspector
of ordnance in person.

George R. Foulke, Jr.,

1st Lt. Orel. R. C. Army Inspector of Ordnance.
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Exhibit No. 1187

[Copy] mg

Old Hickory Powder Plant,
GRF:d

Nashville, Tennessee, September 12th, 1918.

From: Robert L. Oden, Chief Clerk, Ordnance Department, U. S. A. (local).

To: Capt. Geo. R. Foulke, Jr., Ord., U. S. A., Army Hickory powder plant (local).

Subject: Developments of construction inspection, per office order no. I, at Old
Hickory powder plant.

I. Reference: Paragraph III, C-4, Subparagraphs (a) to (g), inclusive, of

office order no. 1.

The monthly report referred to in the reference is made up and on hand at this

office for reference on demand, for each month commencing June 1st, to date.
The net result of reports for June, July, and August, is summarized below in

accordance with the reference, except for the omission of subparagraph (a)

in the reference, which reads: "The total number of documents received for each
class of material during the month for inspection."

(b) Grand total of documents received to September 1st 54, 965
(c) Total number of documents checked for supporting papers by this

office to September 1st 5, 371
(d) Total number of documents found to be correct upon check for

supporting papers to September 1st 5, 371
(e) Total number of documents found to be incorrect to September 1st None
(f) Percentage of documents checked by this office to September 1st,

based on total number received for inspection 9. 8

(g) Percentage of documents found to be incorrect to September 1st None
II. Reference: Paragraph IV., C-2, Sul^paragraphs (a) to (g) inclusive, of office

order no. 1.

(a) Total number of "check comparisons" made to September 1st 4, 765
(b) Total number of "check comparisons" found to be correct 3, 561
(c) Total number of "check comparisons" found to be incorrect 1, 204

Note.—Included in the "check comparisons" found to be incorrect are all reports which did not
compare favorably with the Contractor's reports when same could be obtained, which was received
at this plant on which Contract held no parallel papers.

(d) Percentage of "check comparisons" found to be correct, based on
total munber made to September 1st 74. 8

(e) Percentage of "check comparisons" found to be incorrect, based on
total number of "check comparisons " made to September 1st 25. 2

(f) Total niuuber of documents received by this office during the period
for inspection 54, 965

(g) Percentage of "check comparisons" made during the period, based
on total number of documents received during period for inspec-
tion 8. 6

III. A study of the figures given herewith, together with a complete under-
standing of the situation reveals a discrepancy. First of all, it will be noted that
all vouchers when submitted to this office for final inspection and passing,

apparently have complete supporting papers. Secondly, it will be noted that in

25.2% of all the cases which ha\-e been checked by this office and whicli constitute

8.6% of the total documents received, supporting papers could not be furnished
at the point and by the office where these supporting papers are supposed to

originate in every case. In other words, apparently wlienever a field checker's

report was not availal)le to cover a given voucher, and payment was desired on the
same, a field checker's report was made up from the face of the voucher, attached
thereto, certified, and forwarded to the Army inspector of ordnance for signature

as a proper supporting dociuiient.
IV. Reference: Letter of ^lay 13th, 1918. Subject: Routine of inspection,

paragraphs 2 and 3.

Paragraph 2 reads, in part, "In other words, the report specified above first

develops with reasonable certainty whether any errors exist or not."
Paragraph 3 reads, in part, "It is felt that this report will develop with reason-

able certainty, first, whether the inspection made by the contractor is a good and
proper inspection."

It is felt that the facts developed in paragraphs I and II above show

—

(1) With absolute certainty that errors do exist:
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(2) That at least part of the inspection made by the contractor has not proved
to be a good and proper inspection.

Robert L. Oden, Chief Clerk.

Exhibit No. 1188

War Department,
Office of the Chief of Ordnance.

Washington.
Memorandum for 1st Lieut. George R. Fotjlke, Jr., U. S. R.,

0. O. Neio York City, N. Y.

In order to complete the records in this office, it is requested that you return
this paper to the Commissioned Section, Personnel Division, Office, Cnief of
Ordnance, Washington, D. C, with the information indicated below.

James L. Walsh,
Major, Ordnance Department, U. S. A.,

Personnel Officer.

Date of birth: July 2nd, 1889.
Place of birth: Bala Farm, Penna. (Chester, near West Chester, Pa.).

Age on January 1, 1918: 28 years 6 months.
Graduate of college: University of Penna., 1911, B. S. Degree.
Previous Military experience: None.
Rank: U. S. Commission as 1st Lieut. Ord. R. C, July 10th, 1917.
Called to active service: July 30th, 1917.
Employment before entry into service: Du Pont Pdr. Co., Technical Div.,

July 1911 to Nov. 1912. Private business as Agt. for Du P. Co. & Farmer to
April 1915. Asst. Supervisor of Pdr. Line & Supervisor of Fin. Dept. for Du
Pont Pdr. Co. to Feb. 1916. Senior asst. Supt. Summerville plant Aetna Ex-
plosives Co. to Jan. 1917. Supt. Black Pdr. Pellet Plant, Ball Grain Explosives
Co. to July 30th, 1917.

George R—edd Foulke, Jr.,

1st Lieut. Ord. R. C. Corps,
Washington, D. C.

War Department,
Office of the Chief of Ordnance,

Washington, June SI, 1917.
From: The Ordnance Office.

To: Commanding Officer, Picatinny Arsenal, Colonels Dun and Hoffer.
Subject: Utilization of services of Mr. George R. Foulke, Jr. (Field).

1. I am instructed by the Chief of Ordnance to inform you that Mr. George
R. Foulke, Jr. of Bala Farm, West Chester, Pennsylvania, has been recommended
for commission as First Lieutenant in the Ordnance Officers' Reserve Corps.

2. In order to assist the Department in utilizing his services to the best ad-
vantage, the following information in reference to him is furnished.

Age: 27 years.
Education: 4 years Univ. of Pa. Graduate of same, 1911.
Member: No engineering societies.

Experience: As farmer, foreman, supervisor, assistant Supt. and Supt. of plants
and construction of same in connection with smokeless powder. Supt. of Black
Powder, Pellet Dept., Ball Grain Explosive Company, Wilmington, Delaware.

Qualifications for duty: With troops in field "Yes". On technical duty "Yes".
Remarks by board: "Notify Picatinny Arsenal of this recommendation."
3. In case the services of the officer named above can be utilized under your

direction, it is requested that you communicate promptly with this office, other-
wise, this letter need not be returned to the Ordnance Office for file.

R. T. Davis,
Lieutenant, Ordnance Department, U. S. R.
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Copy for file.

Exhibit No. 118S-A

[Copy]

June 7, 1918.

From Lt. Geo. R. Foulke, Jr., Ord. R. C, army inspector of ordnance, Nashville,
Tenn.

To Lt. Col. F. H. Miles, Jr., inspection division Ord. Dept. U. A. S., 6th & B
Streets, Washington, D. C.

Subject: Routine of inspection.

1. Attached herewith is copy of office order no. 1 in re inspection specified in my
letter to j'ou of the 23d ulte.

2. Referring to the monthly report specified in paragraph 111-C4, you will note
that the report gives a general summary, not including money value of errors

found. The money value of the percentage of error, if any, can readily be deter-
mined by referring to the file record from which this report is compiled. The
actual documents which were in error can be found. From them the actual
money value of the errors can be computed, based on the money value of the
documents in which the errors occurred, and, if satisfactory, reimbursement, when
construction is finished, can be made based upon this percentage. If this reim-
bursement is not thought to be accurate enough, then the auditor, when ap-
pointed, can cover each document, check all errors, and reimbursement can be
made on the strength of his report. In other words, the report specified above
first develops with reasonable certainty whether any errors existed or not, and
second provides a working basis on which adjustment can be made if desired.

Attached herewith are cards, and from the one marked "# 1", you will note
how the information regarding documents checked with supporting papers is

shown in the files of this office.

3. Referring to report specified in IV-G-2 it is felt that this report will develop
with reasonable certainty, first whether the inspection made by the contractor is

a good and proper inspection, and, second, that it will develop a basis for financial

adjustment of claims, in the following manner; if comparison of reports of the
"field inspectors" from this office with the reports of the contractor's field check-
ers develojas that the contractor's field checkers are not reporting shortages,
breakages, etc., certain specified instances of failure to make such reports can be
determined from the records kept in this office, and, by referring to the files by the
contractor, the loss in money value occasioned by the errors in the contractor's
field checkers' reports can be determined as a percentage based on the value of the
shipment. This percentage could be applied if satisfactory to the entire vahie of

all purchases made for purposes of reimbursement upon conclusion of construc-
tion. If this method of settlement is not satisfactory the fact of the error exist-

ing has been established, and audit can be made bj' the proper parties and specific

adjustment obtained. From the card marked "# 2" attached, you will note
how the information regarding comparison between the field inspectors' reports
and reports of the contractor's field checkers is shown in the files of this office.

4. Referring to paragraph I-C, this inspection will be handled as specified in

paragraph V. No particular men have been designated to handle this work
regularly because investigation has developed that when material is received on
the ground here and properly checked in, it is almost sure to be checked up and
handled in an economical manner and with as little waste as conditions will permit.
Sufficient inspection can be given, therefore, as outlined in paragraph V to insure
that the present methods are continued. In case this inspection develops at any
time that carelessness is creeping in, steps will be taken to institute inspection
that will put a stop to such carelessness.

5. The method of handling inspection referred to in paragraph I-D as specified
in paragraph VI is forced upon this office by the very nature of the work. It is

almost impossible to prove that the troubles specified did exist even if they seemed
to at the moment of inspection. This office is cooperating with the du Pont En-
gineering Co. to put a stop to such troubles, and it is the belief of this office that
the du Pont Engineering Co. is doing everything in their power to prevent such
troubles. If the services of one or two thoroughly trained construction engineers
with experience in big construction work could be obtained, interesting criticism
might be made, but it is not believed that any more or any better action could be
taken than is being taken at the present time.

6. Relative to inspection specified in paragraph I-E, this inspection will of

necessity have to be handled by the inspector of ordnance himself. For the
du Pont Engineering Company it is being covered by men who have years of pre-
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liminary training in other work of the same character, ai.d in the opinion of the
inspector of ordnance they are doing all that is possible at the present time.

7. It is realized most keenly that the inspection outlined in office order no. 1 is

not a 100% inspection. It is felt, however, that if properly carried out, it is

reasonably certain to develop any troubles which may exist and provide a
remedy for them and that no more certain system of inspection can be devised
to meet the conditions short of an absolute 100% inspection. This last is prac-
tically out of the question. The Du Pont Engineer ng Co. and the subcontractors
are conducting a 100% inspect on. In doing this the Du Pont Engineering
Company is employing 100 checkers and the subcontractor's force is approxi-
mately 100 checkers covering incoming material alone, while an office force of
several hundred people is maintained to do the necessary paper work. In
addition to these men, there is a small army engaged in checking the distribution
of material, auditing vouchers, etc. Inasmuch as the Du Pont Engineering Co. 's

files are open at all times to the Government and will eventually be turned over
to the Government, it is felt that to institute a check on them which would cover
the work as they are doing would involve a waste of men and money and a loss
of time which would not be justified.

George R. Foulke, Jr.,

1st Lieut. Ord. Y. C,
Army Inspector of Ordnance.

Exhibit No. 1189

General Williams. I am willing to say this: I think that under the contract
I as chief of ordnance would have had authority to direct a 10 percent audit.
Furthermore I will say that under the circumstances—the question never was
brought to me—but under the circumstances had it been brought to me, I would
have directed such an audit.

Mr. McLane. What I was driving at is, who did direct it?

General Williams. I will admit the responsibility for directing that audit.
Mr. Guise. The only information we have as to orders, or that I secured as to

orders
Colonel Hull. Limit that to the time of operation.
General Williams. Construction and operation.
Mr. Guise. This 10 percent that has been referred to is not an audit, it never

was an audit. The 10 percent method referred to was the method used in

checking the quantity and class of incoming materials.
Mr. Anderson. That was true of the period of construction and operation?
Mr. Guise. During the operation. There was practically no check ever found

on the operation materials.
Mr. Anderson. Just a minute. Then during the period of construction and

operation there was what we might call a 10 percent check. That is, one receipt
in ten would be checked to verify its correctness, and the other nine would be
assumed to be correct on the basis that that one was found correct?

Mr. Guise. This was the Government check.
Mr. Anderson. The governmental check. Now then, what was the next

audit?
Mr. Guise. This was not the audit. Do not get "audit" and "check" mixed.

An audit is an entirely different thing from a check. The Army inspector of

ordnance, under the old system that was carried along to some extent in the new

—

although we were relieved to some extent of his responsibility for property—was
the representative in the field and had to assume property accountability for all

materials received and paid for by the Government. In these cost plus contracts
the miscellaneous items that made up the material being manufactured l^y the
contractor had to be checked; the actual final cost of the article had to be checked
in under the same method.
The Army inspector was given a group of men—sometimes depending on his

discretion, and generally depending on how far he made his check, more than
anything else—for several pur):)Oses; primarily, we may say, so far as incoming
materials are concerned, to check against the ciuantity and quality received.

Secondarily, to check against proccesses in producing the material. Normally it

was expected that a complete chedk would be made on the receipt of materials.

That was had; there was no reversal that I know of at any time of the ordnance
department regulations in that direction. Of course I had myself about eight
months of inspection work, and during that period I had the old-time method,
and I had the old-time propertj^ accounts. I only had nine all told to take care of.
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In this case the evidence that it was possible to secure, together with a copy
of the order issued b}' Lieutenant Foulke, indicated that a 10 percent check was
made on the receipt of the material. That is, out of we will say 100 vouchers,

10 vouchers would be pulled out and checked up, and the 100 accepted as being

correct if the ten were correct.

The Chairman. Was that the customary practice in the case of a large contract

of this sort in those times, or was that special in this particular case?

Mr. Guise. Well, I don't know. This was the only case anyway where I

definitely came in touch with that particular practice. As I stated, in my prop-

erty accounts I always worked on the old method. Even over in France I used

the old system, and I found that I could keep things clear, and my accounts were
"zeroed" even overseas, so I assumed it was satisfactory for me to do it.

In this particular case it must be remembered that the Army inspector of

ordnance at the Old Hickory smokeless powder plant had, in proportion to the

magnitude of the task, a comparatively limited number o checkers.

Exhibit No. 1190

Washington, D. C, Sept. 14, 1923.

Memorandum to Assistant Attorney General John W. H. Grim.
In re: Preliminary investigation Old Hickory powder plant, Nashville, Ten-

nessee.

1. In accordance with instructions your accountant proceeded to Nashville,

Tennessee, for the purpose of making a preliminary investigation of the plant

records of the Old Hickory Powder Co., and submits the following findings:

2. I visited the plant, which is situated about 20 miles from Nashville at a

place called Jackson, Tenn., and found that some of the plant records, such_ as

requisitions, and duplicate work vouchers, were in the keeping of the commanding
officer, ordnance division, War Department. Major Oscar Krupp, being the

commanding officer now in charge of the plant. I also found records that were
stored in a temporary building in the powder area by orders of one Major O'Shaugh-
nessy, who was then commanding officer and who, I understand was formerly

connected with the corporation of E. I. du Pont de Nemours Co., and who has

lately returned to the ordnance division.

3. The records in question were dumped into tin cans under the major's in-

structions, carried to this temporary storehouse, and there dumped into rooms
without any regard as to system or importance. The building in question

originally had four rooms, but same was struck by a cj'clone and part of the build-

ing was blown away, and some of the records were scattered to the winds. The
roof of the building was torn away and the records were exposed to the elements

for a number of weeks. Other records were found under the flooring of the build-

ing covered with acids. The building at the present time has a padlock on it,

but at least a dozen persons have keys thereto. This was called to the attention

of Major Krupp who advised your accountant on Sept. 12, 1923, that the con-

dition would be remedied.
4. The following leads and reports of irregularities relative to the construction

and operation of the plant during the war period have come to the attention of

your accountant during the further conduct of this preliminary investigation:

Alcohol.—Total shipments of this commodity amounted to 22,859,811 lbs.,

with total values of $2,472,484.11. The auditors for the War Department took
exception to 755,072 lbs., valued at $75,507.20, which was shipped to the plant

after date of Dec. 1, 1918.
Cotton.—The total shipments of cotton 82,301,401 lbs., with a value of $4,685,-

342.42, the exceptions being to 13,683,822 lbs., with a value of $832,702.41 which
was shipped after Dec. 1, 1918.

(a) The exceptions taken are based upon records showing materials received

after Dec. 1, 1918, cotton shipments originating at Hopewell, Va., and at Nitro,

W. Va., both being plants of the parent company of the Du Pont Engineering Co.

These records also disclose that part of these shipments were made from Dec. 1,

1918, up to and including April of 1919. Further investigation will disclose the

fact that this cotton was purchased on requisition and purchase orders for the

production and operation of the above-named plants.

(6) Investigation of prices at one point of origin, Jackson, Tenn., shows that

the American Industry Corporation, formed by the parent company, the E. I.

du Pont de Nemours Co., bought cotton from "the planter and shipper at lower
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prices than called for by the contract and sold to the contractor, the Du Pont
Engineering Co., at the values set forth in the contract. This plainly shows a
profit to the subsidiary company. Price paid shipper was 04.67^ per lb., and it

was vouchered through for payment by the Du Pont Engineering Co. to the Gov-
ernment at 05.75^ per lb., bridging their contract. They therefore received a
profit although the contract plainly states that the contractor shall not gain or
lose by the prices as stipulated in the contract. This one example clearly shows
how the use and bridging of this contract was worked to their own advantage.
Investigation of all points of origin will undoubtedly disclose further irregularity.

(c) Railroad records that were transcribed show a freight rate being applied
and paid by the contractor (Du Pont Engineering Co.) vary from 60 cents to
$3.20 per 100 lbs. from the same point of origin.

(d) The question of freight rates have been argued at various times; some could
not see whereby the contractor was benefited as the railroads were operated under
Federal control at the time, and it appears to others that the questioning of these
rates was a useless expense and a waste of time. It is the contention of j'our

accountant that where materials were bought through a subsidiary company of

the parent company, the contractor, on a cost i?lus basis, it was to their advantage
and profit to allow these variations in freight rates to go through without further
questioning or adjustment.

(e) If your investigators were to proceed to the point of origin, the books of the
various shippers would disclose as to weights and prices shipments where bales of

cotton weighing over 2,000 lbs. each were paid for by the Du Pont Engineering
Co., while it is a known fact among cotton shippers that a bale of cotton has a
commercial weight of 500 lbs.

(/) It has come to the attention of your accountant that the Du Pont American
Industries shipped long after the Armistice many bales of cotton linters to the
plant, that were of excessive weights, and by way of illustration your attention is

directed to the following: On Oct. 16, 1918, there was shipped from Dallas, Tex.,
car M. K. T. 94,333, containing 24 bales weighing 24,000 lbs., each bale being an
average of 1,000 lbs. On Nov. 7, 1918, there was shipped from Maridina, Okla-
homa, car R. F. & P. 2,203 containing 40 bales, weighing 98,749 lbs., being an
average of 2,468 lbs. to a bale. On Feb. 20, 1918, there was shipped from Hope-
well iDlant, car D. L. & W. 34,250, containing 45 bales, weighing 59,980 lbs., the
average weight per bale being 1,333 lbs. On Feb. 22, 1919, car N. Y. C. no.

236,165 from Hopewell, containing 51 bales, weighing 76,144 lbs., being an
average of 1,492 lbs. to a bale.

(g) In connection with the above shipments your attention is again directed
to the fact that the cotton gins compress only 500 lbs. to a bale. By way of a
test your accountant took car no. 2203, R. F. & P., containing 40 bales, weighing
98,749 lbs., and on which weight the Du Pont Engineering Co. paid freight, and
found from car records that the car in question was an automobile car, and that
the capacity of same was 80,000 lbs. Shippers are permitted to increase this weight
by ten percent, making a total capacity of 88,000 lbs., and it would be utterly

impossible to get 98,749 lbs. in this car. An investigation of these cotton ship-

ments would probably disclose other gross irregularities.

(h) In connection with these cotton linters it has been brought to my attention
in reference to a sale made on Nov. 22, 1922, in which 4,000 tons of cotton linters

were sold at $12.50 per ton, amounting to $50,000, the sale being to the Lookout
Oil and Refining Company, by the Nashville Industrial Corporation. This
matter should be investigated to determine whether the sale should accrue to the
Government or not.

Causticising lime.—-There were 8,081,600 lbs., with a value of $30,079.91, excep-
tions being taken that shipments were made after Dec. 1, 1918; that these
shipments all originated within a radius of 100 miles of Nashville, Tenn., and
that most of it was bought through a local firm, T. L. Herl^ert & Sons, with
offices in Nashville, Tenn. Claims entered against the above-mentioned shipper,
and acknowledged as correct by the railroad agent as to weights, were weighed
by the contractor and paid in full.

Nitrate of soda.—Total shipments were 202,844,173 net lbs., with a total valua-
tion, including iidand freight, of $8,729,293.63.

(a) Exceptions taken on shipments made after Dec. 2, 1918. It required 38
days to travel by ocean route to point of entry. It is the contention of your
investigator, and borne out bj^ the contractor's own statement, made on the
first page of their annual report for the year 1918, that they could and should
have cabled cancellations of all shipments, especially of such a vast amount of

material used in the production of smokeless powder. Question of price on this

particular material should be thoroughly investigated, as we have information
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leading us to believe that the parent company again through its purchases with
a subsidiary company, received an excessive profit on nitrate of soda.

(6) There was a commission appointed to purchase, and this commission was
invested with the distribution rights of all nitrate of soda. The commission,
we are led to believe, were all members directly or indirectly connected with or
for the parent company. In the opinion of your accountant there is a matter
that should be investigated relative to shipments of soda, which is as follows:
"Whv place an additional price of six shillings a quintal at ship-side before the
nitrate of soda was placed aboard ship for transportation to point of delivery."

(c) This additional charge was levied by the commission above referred to.

This charge can be verified through Majors Finlitter, H. P. Guise, and R. E.
Bauman, all of whom were formerly connected with the U. S. Ordnance Depart-
ment.

(d) The unloading of a vast quantity of materials as the records disclose should
be thoroughly investigated, and whoever is responsible should be reciuired to show
the reason and authority for permitting this unloading. The signing of the
Armistice was the moral notice to corporations and individuals alike, that the
w^ar was at an end.

(e) This point was upheld by the Army Ordnance Department and instructions
were issued to take exceptions to all materials shipped or contracted for after
Dec. 1, 1918.
Soda Ash.—The total w^eight of soda ash was 8,293,100 lbs., valued at $129,-

129.85. Exceptions were taken to 691,300 lbs., of the value of $10,790.61,
shipped after Dec. 1, 1918. Prices and freight should be compared at the point
of origin against sales and prices as billed to other firms.

Crude sulphur.—Of a weight, 80,583,780 lbs., with a total value, including
expenses of guarding, of $796,012.00. Exceptions were as follows:

(a) 426,200 lbs. valued $4,185.90. These shipments originated in Louisiana,
and could have been readily cancelled, but along with other shipments of material,
they were unloaded after Dec. 1, 1918.

(6) Guarding charges of $4,744.50, listed, shows some very interesting facts.
Some cars required shows the expenditures to be approximately 40% higher
charges from the same point of origin and for the same number of cars.

Sulphuric acid.—There were shipped from Mineral Point Zinc Co., 117,600
lbs., at a price of $34.84 per ton, and from the Graselli Chemical Co., 506,000 lbs.,

at a price of $28 a ton. Exception in this case being the difference in price. All
shipments were made within a period of seven days, which shows that there
should not have been any change in price. Further investigation might shov.- the
Mineral Point Zinc Co.'s connection as to whether they are a subsidiary of the
contractor. If this fact is disclosed, the reason is obvious.

Solder.—240,000 lbs. priced from 47fi to 55>^ji, $122,250. Exceptions are taken
on 87,000 lbs., at 47 cents, amounting to $37,600. The shipment originated at
Long Island City, N. Y., and exceptions should be taken that this material was
shipped after Dec. 1, 1918. It would appear that this is another case of unloading.

Cast-iron borings.—There were shij^ped from John C. Kane, Philadelphia, Pa.,
177,200 lbs., at $16.30 per long ton. Also from Joseph Bros., Cincinnati, 2,689,532
lbs., at $22.06 per long ton. Exceptions taken to the difference in price. Kane
shipments were made from Da3'ton, Ohio, while Joseph Bros, shipments origi-

nated at Cincinnati. Investigations at point of origin would undoubtedly disclose
some interesting facts. It should be determined whether the contractor is

interested financialh' in Joseph Bros.
Powder bags.—There were shipped from J. Spencer Turner & Co., New York,

10,500 bags, at 61 cents each, and from Carter Haugh Tent and Awning Co.,
Nashville, Tenn., 220 bags, at $1.70 each. These latter bags should have been
taken on at the difference in price, and it is the opinion of your investigator that
if a further investigation is made, it would be found that these bags were obsolete
as containers of powder. Other and more eflScient containers were being used in

the trade.
Box shooks.—There were shipped 300,035 complete shooks of a value of $297,-

718.21. The exceptions taken were as follows: 15 carloads were received at the
plant after Dec. 1, 1918, amounting to $23,032.70. In addition to this 30 cars left

the E. I. du Pont Nemours plant known as the "Brandywine shop" at Wilming-
ton, Del. On Nov. 25, 1918, two weeks after the signing of the armistice, this

shipment arrived at the plant after Dec. 1, 1918, and cost approximately $50,000,
exclusive of freight. There were no vouchers in the plant files covering these
shipments.
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It would appear that this was an unloading of surplus stock onto the old Hickory
company, and I am advised by one of our informants that he personally handled
the sale of 35,000 shooks at 16fi loaded at Nashville. Question of this sale should
be thoroughly investigated.

Sulphate alumina.—There were purchased from the Harrison Paint Works, a
subsidiary company of the Du Fonts, 250,000 lbs., at .025 a lb., with a loading
charge of $65.76 a car. Other shipments purchased from Isaac Winkler Bros. Co.,
of Cincinnati, were paid at a price of .02 to .025 per lb. without loading charges,
and from the Kalbfleisch Corporation at Chattanooga, at prices from IV^ cents
to 2 cents per lb., without loading charges and 1% cash discount. The exceptions
taken on this are through the high prices paid to Harrison Bros., and it is again
apparent that the contractor bought through their subsidiaries at a profit to
themselves.

Benzol.—Shipments of benzol from Deep Water and Carney's Point, N. J.,

both plants of the E. I. du Pont Nemours Co. Received 30 cents per gallon, the
maximum price, along with a loading charge of $10 a car. While shippers from
Woodard, Ala., received from 20 to 30 cents per gallon, with a cash discount of

1% and no loading charges.

Overcharge in freights.—From a cursory examination I find that there are over-
charges in some freights for shipments into the plant of at least $29,000 that the
railroad company has acknowledged. I believe this to be only a small amount of

the total, and I have been informed that the Government can recover at least

$1,000,000 without recourse to the courts. These freights, of course, will all have
to be investigated and proof made of the overcharges.

Undertakers, hospitals, etc.—From a cursory examination your accountant finds
that the Du Pont Engineering Co. at the time of the epidemic of flu entered into
a contract with a firm of undertakers in Nashville, Tenn., named Wiles Bros.,
in which the undertakers were to care for the victims at a price of $75 for each
burial. In this connection I would state that the facts as disclosed by the records
are deplorable. At times when a death would occur this firm of undertakers
would charge the Du Pont Engineering Co. the amount under the contract and
transfer the body to Potter's Field, in which they paid the county authorities
$11.00 and made a clear profit of the difference. Where relatives of the deceased
were able to pay for the funeral, exhorbitant prices would be charged by this firm.

As an illustration, a casket costing $29.50 would be charged up at $200 or more, if

they thought the parties could stand for it. Again, the relatives of the deceased,
if a burial was to cost $300, would contribute, say, $150. This firm would charge
$300 to the Du Pont Engineering Co. and pocket the $150 in addition. Again, if

money was coming to the deceased in the way of wages, they would collect these
wages from the Du Pont Engineering Co. and pocket same. Valuables belonging
to the victims' would be lost. The victims bodies when sent home for burial, in
some instances, would be shipped nude and would arrive in a decomposed con-
dition. This matter should be thoroughly investigated and the offenders brought
to justice.

The Du Pont Engineering Co. sent a number of patients to the various hospitals
in Nashville, who afterward died, and were buried by Wiles Bros. Among them
were children from four months old to ten years old, and the United States Gov-
ernment paid the expenses. At times the patient also paid the bills, but never-
theless this was not credited to the United States Government.
Mason and Hanger Co. {subcontractor).—This concern was organized with

offices in Frankfort, Ken. They were formerly railroad contractors, and the
records disclose an overpayment in fees of $826,456.60. It -will be necessary to
make a thorough investigation of their books, as thej' purchased independently of
the Du Pont Engineering Co. The latter however paid the amounts of Mason &
Hanger Co.'s creditors, as shown on the face of the invoice. The ordnance
department has taken exception to the above amount. Other exceptions were as
follows: Inapplicable administrative expenses (I. E. du Pont de Nemours Co.),
$181,872.26; shop orders (contractors allowed credit), $88,376.71; railroad
charges (N. C. & St. L. Rv.), $110,000.00; audit of subcontracts (N. C. & St. L. &
T. C. Ry.), $137,447.14; duplicate payments made to N. C. & St. L. Ry. on sub-
contracts, $112,081.92; pay roll overpayments, $61,591.94; making a total of
$1,507,826.57. These items cannot in any sense of the word be allowed, as they
are contrary to the provisions of the contract or anj^ subcontracts apj^roved by
the ordnance department, or signed by the contractor and subcontractor, are
errors of a class for which the United States is not responsible.

Exceptions are taken to the following items: Meritorious bonus, $151,355.00;
extra compensation, wages & salaries paid after discontinuing services (no services
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rendered), $286,319.47; transportation and moving of household goods after dis-

charge of employees, $270,355.77; making a total of $708,030.24. A portion of
these items may be accepted by a claims board acting for the Secretary of War,
but the exceptions are taken on the basis that these were costs or damages in-
curred after suspension, and should not have l)een incurred except with the assent
of the proper administrative officials of the United States, and that this assent
should have been given in advance of any action by the contractor with relation
thereto. Also pai-t of this expense is of a class that has been disallowed by the
controller. Total exceptions in both classes $2,215,856.81.

Statement.—It will be understood that there are very large sums in addition to
tliis that will be disallowed on account of the impossibility of accepting them as a
charge properly applicable to this contract, such as gifts, unlawful legal expenses,
losses on account of criminal acts of the contractor's employees, incidental
expenses of a purely personal nature, claims for personal expenses not supported
in any way (impossible of support), claims for personal expenses over and above
any reasonable charge, and other items of detail. It is estimated that such items
as these will in the aggregate amount to something over $3,000,000. Under
date of Sept. 3, 1920, the auditor for the War Department suspended payments of
Walter F. Baylis, Capt., U. S. A., disbursing officer, Du Pont Engineering Co., as
follows:

"Payment to Du Pont Engineering Co. under contract P4755-711-E. All
vouchers from you voucher 564, Oct. 18, to voucher 868, Dec. 1918, inc., are
svTspended for properly receipted invoices for materials purchased, itemized
statements of expense account, and receipts for same, certified copies of subcon-
tracts, if any, and other proper evidence should be secured and forwarded to this
office in support of payment."

Major Guise states: "Under date of Nov. 30, 1920, this covers practically all

payments made by said disbursing officer against said contract. In addition to
the above has information that the advance of $18,750,000 made by Capt. Shepard
has also been suspended".

Your accountant is of the opinion that a statement should be prepared beginning
with voucher 564 down to and including voucher 868, showing the date, when
paid, to whom paid, what for, whether supporting schedules when paid, who
authorized payment, no. of check, name of bank, if vouchers were subsequently
cleared, on whose authority, and for what reason.

Cambria Steel Com-pany.—It would appear that a shipment of steel was made
from Johnstown, Penn., amounting to $15,015.82, for which invoices were rendered
giving the car numbers and waybills. Seven days later another alleged shipment
was made giving the same car number and amount. Both of these alleged ship-
ments were paid for. It will be necessary to make a complete analysis of the
Cambria Steel Company's account at point of origin, and compare same with the
account on the Du Font Engineering Co.'s books at Wilmington, Del., as it is

inconceivable that the steel company could make two shipments identical in

weight and amount in the same car in a space of seven days, as the particular car
being shipped by freight could not be returned from the plant to point of ship-
ment and again arrive back at the plant with another shipment in one week.

The foregoing indicates some evidence of criminal and civil liability and that if

an investigation of a thorough nature were made millions of dollars might be
recovered by the Government.

The investigation to be made would have to be concentrated at three points,
viz.: Nashville, Tenn.; Wilmington, Delaware; and Philadelphia, Pa.

Nashville.—At the Old Hickory plant there are a number of books and records
by no means complete, for the reason that some of them have been destroyed,
but there are many files, containing copies of the Mason & Hanger invoices
(subcontractors), carbon copies of work vouchers of the Du Pont Engineering
Co., and miscellaneous material on construction. These, however, are only
about 60% of the total material receipt cards, both original and fabricated
(made up), freight records of railroad companies, automobile purchases (local

dealers), books of hospitals and undertakers, books of local lumber companies,
and the Du Pont Engineering Co.'s bank account.

In the opinion of your accountant the investigation of these various concerns
will have to be made in order to run out the various leads that we have before us.

Wilmington.—At the office of the Du Pont Engineering Co. are supposed to be
the original vouchers, cancelled checks, private wires, correspondence, and all

other supporting papers pertaining to the construction and operation of the
Old Hickory powder plant. All vouchers and cancelled checks must be examined
and carefully scrutinized to determine whether any collusion or overpayments
have been made.



3352 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Philadelphia.—At the Frankford Arsenal are supposed to be all the records of

the Ordnance Department in connection with the construction of the plant at
Nashville. These records must be thoroughly investigated.

The investigation.—In the course of the investigation it will be necessary to
ascertain the names of the subsidiary companies of the Du Fonts, then examine
in those companies from whom the greater volume of purchases was made,
ascertain their profits, and show how they were related to the general Du Pont
Company. It will also be necessary to determine from the books of the sub-
sidiary companies whether the prices charged to the Government were in excess
of those charged to private individuals. We must ascertain from competitors
whether their prices for the same class of materials were less than those charged
by the Du Pont subsidiaries.

It will be necessary to check up the car records of the various railroad companies
for all payments of freights, rates, etc. This will entail considerable work. We
must determine vrhether or not the funds in bank on deposit earned interest on,
balances, and, if so, did the Government receive the benefit thereof. In the
banks in which funds were deposited, we must ascertain whether the.y were Du
Pont banks, or those with which they were affiliated. We must ascertain whether
or not the Du Pont Engineering Co. in paying bills took advantage of all cash
discounts and whether the Government received the proper credit.

Apparently very few claims, if any, were made for shortages, but a cursory
examination shows that no attention was paid to claims for shortages, and when
a shortage was called to their attention it was disregarded and the invoice was
paid in full.

Special agent in charge Towler, at Nashville, wrote to a number of the con-
signors of material relative to damage claims and received replies from about 75
that no claims were filed against them for shortage.

It also appears that large bonuses were paid to emplo3-ees and that a number of

the emplovees were overpaid. With reference to bonuses one voucher alone
amounted to $250,000.00.

In many instances it was found that employees of the powder plant were sub-
sequently employed by the Du Fonts and that a number of those employed at the
plant were previously in the employ of the Du Fonts.

It further appears that at the signing of the Armistice the Du Fonts began
unloading their surplus stocks on the Old Hickory plant, but these transactions
will have to be thoroughly investigated to determine when the material was
ordered and whether same was properly charged to the plant.

A number of items properly chargeable to operation were incorrectly charged to
construction. This would make construction cost high, and operation cost low,
which -would be to their advantage. There are manj- matters to be gone into,

but this memorandum will give you an idea of the general situation.

In the proper conduct of this investigation it will be necessarj' to have at least

ten special agents to run out the various leads, and as many accountants, if not
more, to work at the various places in checking out the many voluminous records
involved.

It is further suggested that the investigation be started simultaneously at the
various places so that there will be no opportunity to destroy or misplace records.

In conclusion the men who are selected to make this investigation must be
thoroughly reliable and experienced in this class of work.

Geo. W. Storck,
Expert bank accountant.

Exhibit No. 1191

[Exhibit A]

Office of the Attorney General,
Washington, D. C, August 5, 1925.

00160/28592,
Du Font Co.

The Honorable, the Secretary of War.
My Dear Mr. Secretary: Heretofore you have referred to the Department

of Justice for study and investigation certain criminal charges against the Du
Pont Engineering Corporation in connection with its performance of certain war
contracts with the Government. A reference of the case to this department was
also recommended by a committee of the Joint Board of Survey, of which the
chairman was the Assistant Secretarv of War.
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Since, however, you indicated in your letter of May 23, 1924, that upon the
determination of the question of criminaUty you desired the case returned to
your department for administrative settlement of the contracts involved, I have
ordered the files returned to the War Department.
An extensive investigation of the charges of fraud or crime above referred to

has failed to disclose reasonable or probable grounds for believing that during the
performance of the contracts in question tlie Du Pont Company committed the
offenses with which it has been charged, or any crimes, and in my opinion there is

no warrant either for further investigation along these lines or for the institution
of proceedings against the company based upon charges of fraud or crime.
However, in the course of this department's investigation, its attention was

called to and it inade a study of certain expenditures of the Du Pont Company.
On the basis of the information before me, I have concluded that there is grave
doubt as to such expenditures being properly chargeable against the Government.
1 therefore felt it my duty to call them to your attention, especially since, in your
letter of May 23, 1924, you invite my advice on any phases of the matter which
may become the subject of special study by this department.
The expenditures which I have in mind may be classified as follows:

1. So-called "Meritorious bonuses."
2. Thirty days' pay on discharge of men empIo3^ed on the work.
3. Return transportation and moving expenses furnished employees to the

places from which they had come in order to engage in the vrork.

Payments made to discharged employees for living expenses after they arrived
at their home stations and the cost of returning their families to their homes,
would, in my opinion be governed by the same principles as the items numbered
2 and 3 above.

4. Payments to banks for losses which the banks sustained in establishing
branches at the points at which work was being performed under the contracts.

5. A sum variously stated as $45,572.27 or $42,354.98, being the excess of the
price of certain cotton shavings above the price prescribed by the contract.

6. Expenses incurred by the contractor in the course of the Government's
audit.
My reasons for believing that on the basis of the information in mj^ possession

there is grave doubt as to propriety of charging the Government with the expendi-
tures above mentioned, are very briefly as follows:

1. Meritorious bonuses. Some reasonable sanction for each payment must
be found within the contract or else such paj^ment was not properly chargeable
to the United States. The language of article II seems to have been relied on by
the Du Pont Company as supporting this class of bonus payments. Article II,

it will be remembered, deals exclusively with the construction of the plant, not
with its operation after completion. Article II reads as follows:

"The contractor is hereby authorized to do all things necessary or convenient
in and about the construction of the plant including the purchase and procure-
ment of all materials and labor necessary therefore, * * *_ ji^ order that the
contractor may expedite the work of construction it may, in its discretion, from
time to time, pay extra compensation for materials or services subject, however,
to the approval of the contracting officer, which extra compensation shall be
charged to the cost of construction."

I will not discuss in detail the reasons for my conclusion that article II applies
to construction only and not to operation, but if I am correct in this, it follows that
no authority can be found therein for any part of these bonus payments made to
operating, as distinguished from construction, employees.
As far as such payments to construction employees are concerned, I have seen

no evidence except the unsupported statement of the company that such bonuses
were paid pursuant to any agreement between the recipients and the company,
made when such recipients were emploj'ed or subsequently, to the effect that at
the end of the work they would receive a bonus for meritorious services. If it

turns out that no such agreements were made or can be proved, then I question
whether the Du Pont Company could charge the amount of this bonus against
the Government on the theory that it expedited the work. Moreover, on the
company's own statement, so far as my information extends, the only promises
which they claim to have made to their employees were that the men trans-
ferred from E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company to the Du Pont Engineering were
not to lose their status as employees of the former or their eligibility to a bonus
or extra, compensation under the system prevailing in the former company.
But I call your attention to the fact that the system of bonsuses of the parent or
E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company did not contemplate the payment of cash
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bonuses under such circumstances as those arising under the Du Pont Engineering
Company's contracts and did not involve the positive obligation to pay bonuses
at all. The parent company did pay cash bonuses as a reward for inventions or
conspicuous service, but these were paid on an entirely different theory from the
bonus now in question.

Article II authorizes the payment of extra compensation for the purpose of
expediting the work. A bonus after the conclusion of the work pursuant to no
prior agreement coud not have had that effect. Except article II, I find nothing
in the contract which expressly or impliedly perm ts the payment of bonuses or
extra compensation, or which, in the absence of previous agreement with the
recipients, would make the bonus contracts legal charges against the United
States.

I realize that the contracting officer approved the meritorious bonus before
payment and approved or ratified the other bonuses after payment under the
contract. However, he had no authority to approve payments of extra com-
pensation unless made to expedite the work of construction. If not made for
that purpose, his approval would be without warrant in the contract. Never-
theless, in view of the broad terms of the contract, the length of time which has
elapsed since the payments were made, the enormous task performed by the
contractor, the urgent necessity for not disturbing the labor market by turning
loose upon it numbers of penniless men, and the possibility that under such
circumstances a court might be inclined to indulge ever}- intendment in favor
of the Du Pont Company, the contracting officer's approval or ratification of
the bonus payments might possibly be regarded as conclusive of the purpose for
which they were made and as binding upon the Government. Accordingly, I

do not feel that in case of a legal action to recover the amount of this bonus
payment the Governnaent could feel absolutely assurance of success.

2. Thirty days' pay on discharge.
3. Return transportation and moving expenses.
These two classes of bonus payments, in my opinion are governed by the

same consideration as the so-called "meritorious bonus."
4. Payments to banks. Should it be established to your satisfaction that

these payments were made pursuant to agreements between the Du Pont Com-
pany and the respective recipients antedating the performance by the banks of

the services for which the payments were made, I think they would be proper
charges against the Government. The facts presented to me, however, fall short
of establishing this. One of these claims, amounting to approximately $7,000,
appears to have been at one time withdrawn by the Du Pont Company itself.

Another, amounting to approximately $33,000 was denied by various War
Department boards and on appeal the denial was affirmed. It was paid by the
Du Pont Engineering Company only after these denials. In the absence of

proof, such as is not contained in the files before me, to the effect that these
banks were entitled to he repaid their losses under a preexisting agreement with
the Du Pont Company, I question that these payments constitute proper charges
against the Government.

5. Excess price of cotton shavings. The contract prescribed limits for the
price to be paid by the Du Pont Company for these shavings. The contractor
exceeded this price but relies on a letter from the War Department authorizing
and permitting an increase in that price. That letter, while doubtless sufficient

authority for making subsequent purchases at the increased price, in my opinion
does not support the contention of the contractor that the increase in price was
to be retroactive.

6. Contractor's audit expenses. I suggest for your consideration that if the
expenditures of the contractor in the course of the Government's audit were
made primarily for the purpose, not of furthering and helping that audit and of

furnishing information to the Government, but, on the contrary, of opposing
the Government's audit, and of defending against and refuting such claims as
the Government might raise against the company, the legality of charging the
contractor's expenses in this audit against the Government would be open to
serious question. This becomes a question of fact, of course, and I have not
sufficient information before me to enable me to determine the matter.
You will appreciate that this letter contains only a brief summary of the

reasons for my opinion as to the items mentioned. If, in the course of your
administrative settlement of this case or at any other time, you desire a more
full statement of these reasons, or if this Department can be of any service to

you in that connection, I shall be glad to have you call upon me.
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In passing, I also note that the War Department has disallowed claims of the
contractor for general overhead expense of the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Com-
pany, and for an adjustment of profits on the bonus for saving amounting to
$55,862.28, due to the manner in which freight between Nashville and Jackson-
ville, Tenn., had been accounted for bj^ the contractor. Both of these disallow-
ances are, in my opinion, correct under the contracts.

In conclusion, may I emphasize the fact that, in accordance with my imder-
standing of your wishes, expressed in your letter of May 23, 1924, this Depart-
ment has made no general investigation into the payments made to the Du Pont
Company in the course of its ivork under the contracts in question. I am therefore
making no suggestions as to the propriety of any payments except the ones
above mentioned. Furthermore, this Department has for obvious reasons made
no effort to pass upon the accuracy or completeness of the War Department's audit
in this case, except that, incident to this Department's investigation of the
general payments above referred to, its accountants determined the amounts
paid on account of the so-called ''meritorious" and "discharge" bonuses.

Sincerely yours,
(Sgd) John G. Sargent,

Attorney General.

Exhibit No. 1192

Comptroller General of the United States,
Washington, July 10, 1925.

A-3897
The Honorable the Attorney General.
My Dear Mr. Attorney General: I have the honor to call your attention

to my letter of April 18, 1925, in matters pertaining to the indebtedness to the
United States of the du Pont Engineering Company on whose bond the E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company is surety, and to state that no reply has been
received to my said letter.

This office is especially desirous of closing up the audit of the accounts of the
du Pont Engineering Company", but it cannot do so until the accounts are re-
ceived from the War Department, and the Secretary of War advises that the
accounts cannot be transmitted to this office until the case is returned by your
Department with a report of the result of its investigations as requested by the
War Department. It has now been six years since the transactions out of which
the du Pont Engineering Company indebtedness arose occurred, and it would
seem that a final determination of all matters involved should be made as speedily
as possible, and it is to this end that I am calling vour attention to the unanswered
letter of April 17, 1925.

In this connection I would also call attention to the statement contained in
the concluding paragraph of your letter of September 10, 1924, and recjuest to
be informed of the character of such indebtedness, how it has been determined,
and whether it is considered by the Department of Justice as still standing against
either the du Pont Engineering Company or the E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company.
Your early attention to this and previous letters will be greatly appreciated.

Sincerely yours,
J. R. McCarl,

Comptroller General of the United States.

Exhibit No. 1193

General Accounting Office,
Office of the Comptroller General of the United States,

Washington, October 23, 1925.
(Stamped:) Recorded.

A-3897
The Honorable the Attorney General.

Sir: By your letter of July 24, 1925, you informed this office that the case of
the du Pont Engineering Company would probably be closed so far as your
department was concerned within a comparatively short time, and that when
a final determination had been made as to the matters to be reported to the
War Department, you would communicate to this office the character of any

83876—35—PT 14 13
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indebtedness which your department considered to exist against the du Pont
Engineering Company in favor of the United States, how it has been determined,
and whether it is considered by your department as still standing against either
the du Pont Engineering Company or the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company.

As no further information about the matter has been received, I have the
honor to request the present status of the matters before your department, and
if it is possible to indicate when a determination will be reached, request is made
that this office be informed about it.

The E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company is writing about matters of claim
which cannot be determined until the matters pending before your department
are settled. It would be appreciated, therefore, if the office may be advised at
some early date.

Respectfully,
LXJRTIN R. GiNN,

Assistant Comptroller of the United States.

Exhibit No. 1194

(PSA/dd 70-240-187J
October 26, 1925.

Hon. LuRTiN R. GiNN,
Assistant Comptroller General,

Washington, D. C.

My Dear Sir: Your letter of October 23 to the Attorney General has been
referred to this office. The du Pont Engineering Company case has been trans-

ferred to the War Department for further action and for administrative deter-

mination. The amount, if any, which may be found to be due from that company
to the United States, so far as this department is informed, has not yet been
decided upon by the War Department.

Respectfully yours,
Paul Shipman Andrews, Director.

Exhibit No. 1195

[Copy]

No. Ordnance Office, Washington, D.C,
No. Arsenal.

The United States of America and du Pont Engineering Company

ordnance department

ARSENAL

or

ORDNANCE OFFICE

Settlement contract for War Ord. P4755-711E, War Ord. P2337-1228A, War
Ord. P3509-643E, War Ord. P9050-960E, War Ord. P15271-1433E

Dated October 31, 1925

This contract made this thirty-first day of October, 1925, between du Pont
Engineering Company, a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue

of the laws of the State of Delaware, and having an office at Wilmington, Dela-

ware (hereinafter called "Contractor"), party of the first part, and the United

States of America, by P. J. O'Shaughnessy, Major, United States Army, retired

(hereinafter called "Contracting officer"), acting by and under the authority of

the Chief of Ordnance, United States Army, and under the direction of the

Secretary of War, party of the second part:

Witnesseth: Whereas, certain contracts were entered into between the con-

tractor and the United States of America, for the construction and/or operation

of certain munition plants for the United States, as follows:

Contract War Ord. P4755-711E, dated March 23, 1918, for the construction

and operation of a smokeless powder plant near Nashville, Tennessee;
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Contract War Ord. P2337-1228A, dated April 12, 1918, for the construction
and operation of a loading plant for shells and casings at Penniman, Virginia;

Contract War. Ord. P3509-643E, dated Mafch 2, 1918, for the operation of a
bag-loading plant at Tullytown, Pennsylvania;

Contract War Ord. P9050-960E, dated June 1, 1918, for the operation of a
bag-loading plant at Seven Pines, Virginia;

Contract War Ord. P15271-1433E, dated October 2, 1918, for the construction
and operation of a plant for the manufacture of trinitrotoluol, at or near Racine,
Wisconsin;
And whereas, subsequent to the signing of the armistice on November 11, 1918,-

the United States suspended all of the contracts aforesaid because the need for
the plants and the output thereof had ceased to exist; and

Whereas, early in the year 1919 the United States took over all of the plants,
the construction and/or operation of which was covered by the contracts aforesaid,
together with all machinery, equipment, and materials; and

Whereas, the contractor has fulfilled and performed all and singular the con-
ditions, covenants, and provisions of the contracts aforesaid and all agreements
and orders supplementary thereto; and

Whereas, it is in the public interest to terminate all of the contracts aforesaid,
and the execution of this contract is in the financial interest of the United States.
Now, therefore, in consideration of the premises and of the mutal covenants

herein contained, the parties hereto have agreed and by these presents do agree
with each other as follows:

Article I. This contract supersedes and takes the place of each and all of the
contracts aforesaid, and all agreements and orders supplementary thereto, all of
which are hereby terminated; and wherever the words "contracts aforesaid" are
hereinafter used in this agreement, said term shall include the original contracts
specified on pages 1 and 2 hereof, and all agreements and orders supplementary
to said original contracts, except this agreement.

Article II. The United States acknowledges that all property, both real and
personal, of every character and description, involved under the contracts afore-
said has been properly accounted for by the contractor to the United States,
and has been taken over by the United States.

Article III. The contractor shall forthwith pay to the United States the sum
of three hundred fifty-two thousand eight hundred forty dollars and thirty-five
cents ($352,840.35), which amount shall constitute full and final recoupment of
all funds received by the contractor from and for account of the United States
under the contracts aforesaid, the said amount being determined as of October
31, 1925, as follows:

Contract P4755-711E, "Old Hickory"

Cash advances by U. S. to May 31, 1922 $37, 329, 000. 00
Cash reimbursements by U. S. to May 31, 1922 72, 565, 801. 34
Interest and credits accruing to U. S."to May 31, 1922 383, 470. 48
Interest and credits accruing to U. S., May 31, 1922, to Oct.

31, 1925 49,318. 16

Total credits to U. S 110, 327, 589. 98

Approved costs, construction, May 31, 1922 83, 583, 674. 72
Approved costs, operation, Mav 31, 1922 22, 238, 461. 51
Approved profits. May 31, 1922 1, 961, 805. 50
Refunds to U. S., May 31, 1922 1, 600, 497. 77
Approved costs, Mav 31, 1922, to Oct. 31, 1925 53, 493. 40
Refunds to U. S., Oct. 31, 1925 614, 150. 81

Total debits to U. S 110, 052, 083. 71

Balance due U. S. Oct. 31, 1925, contract P-4755, "Old
Hickory" 275,506. 27
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Contract P2SS7-1228A, "Penniman"

Cash advances bv U. S. to May 31, 1922 $2, 545, 629. 87
Cash reimbursements by U. S. to May 31, 1922 13, 361, 177. 64
Interest and credits accruing to U. S.'to May 31, 1922 30, 239. 31
Interest and credits accruing to U. S., Mav 31, 1922, to Oct. 31,

1925 1 8, 204. 46

Total credits to U. S 15, 945, 251. 28

-Approved costs, construction, to May 31, 1922 11, 922, 629. 44
Approved costs, operation, to Mav 31, 1922 3, 302, 139. 39
Approved profits, to May 31, 1922 399, 728. 67
Refunds to U. S. to Mav 31, 1922 200, 000. 00
Approved costs. May 31, 1922, to Oct. 31, 1925 1, 501. 46
Eefunds to U. S., Oct. 31, 1925 55, 692. 00

Total debits to U. S 15, 881, 690. 96

Net balance due U. S. Oct. 31, 1925, contract P2337-
1228A, "Penniman" 63, 560. 32

Contract P3509-643E, " Tullytown"

Cash advances bv U. S. to Mav 31, 1922 630, 000. 00
Cash reimbursements by U. S. to May 31, 1922 1, 191, 297. 22
Interest & credits accruing to U. S. to Mav 31, 1922 2, 942. 26
Credits accruing to U. S., May 31, 1922, to Oct. 31, 1925 44. 42

Total credits to U. S 1, 824, 283. 90

Approved costs, operation, Mav 31, 1922 1, 633, 170. 35
Approved profits, Mav 31, 1922 188, 839. 17
Approved costs. May 31, 1922, to Oct. 31, 1925 1, 389. 90

Total debits to U. S 1, 823, 399. 42

Net balance due U. S., Oct. 31, 1925 (contract P3509-
643E, "Tullytown") 884. 48

Contract P9050-960E, "Seven Pines"

Cash advances by U. S. to Mav 31, 1922 630, 000. 00
Cash reimbursements by U. S. to May 31, 1922 621, 709. 98
Interest & credits accruing to U. S. to May 31, 1922 4, 349. 35
Interest & credits accruing to U. S., May 31, 1922, to Oct. 31,

1925 579. 70

Total credits to U. S 1,256,639.03

Approved costs, operation, Mav 31, 1922 1, 125, 852. 22
Approved profits. May 31, 1922 120, 354. 17
Approved costs, May 31, 1922, to Oct. 31, 1925 2, 659. 05

Total debits to U. S 1, 248, 865. 44

Net balance due U. S., Oct. 31, 1925 (contract P9050-
960E "Seven Pines") 7,773.59
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Contract P15S71-1433E, "Ives"

Cash advances bv U. S., May 31, 1922 $4, 200, 000. 00
Interest & credits accruing to U. S., May 31, 1922 94, 453. 34
Credits accruing to U. S., May 31, 1922, to Oct. 31, 1925 7, 915. 73

Total credits to U. S 4, 302, 369. 07

Approved costs, construction. May 31, 1922 2, 639, 150. 14
Refunds to U. S., Mav 31, 1922 1, 524, 000. 00
Approved costs. May 31, 1922, to Oct. 31, 1925 2. 47
Refunds to U. S., Oct. 31, 1925 134, 100. 77

Total debits to U. S 4, 297, 253. 38

Net balance due U. S., Oct. 31, 1925 5, 115. 69

SUMMARY

Contract P4755-711E, balance due U. S 275, 506. 27
Contract P2337-1228A, balance due U. S 63, 560. 32
Contract P3509~643E, balance due U. S 884. 48
Contract P9050-960E, balance due U. S 7, 773. 59
Contract P15271-1433E, balance due U. S 5, 115. 69

Total balance due U. S., Oct. 31, 1925 352, 840. 35

Article IV. Payment by the contractor to the United States of the aforesaid
sum of three hundred fifty-two thousand eight hundred forty dollars and thirty-

five cents ($352,840.35) shall constitute full and complete satisfaction and termi-
nation of any and all claims and demands in law or in equity by or on behalf of

the United States against the contractor, and/or by the contractor against the
United States, in connection with each and all of the contracts aforesaid.

Article V. This contract shall not become valid and binding on either party
hereto, until the approval of the Secretary of War is noted at the end hereof.

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have caused this agreement to be duly
executed, in septuple, by their authorized officers as of the daj^ and year first

above written.
Attest.

Du Pont Engineering Company,
Contracto?'.

By (S) H. M. Pierce, President.

(S) E. A. Howard, Assist. Secretary.

United States of America,
By (S) P. J. O'Shaughnessy,

Major, U. S. Army, Retired, contracting officer.

(S) Onalee Hall Swain,
Approved.

(S) Hanford MacNider,
Acting Secretary of War.

Exhibit No. 1196

[File X-1341

Executive Secy.'s No. 8625 Committee
December 18, 1922.

Report for November 1922

To Executive Committee
From Government Claims Division

In recent months we have listed in the reports as outstanding certain amounts
representing claims on suspended war contracts and a few counter claims which
we were forced to satisfy under protest, in order to obtain payment of much
larger sums of money on other suspended contracts. In addition to these accounts
others have developed on which we are attempting, with the assistance of the
legal department in most cases, to make collection. As of November 30th the
accounts on which we were working are as follows:
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Now the subject of suit in Court of Claims

Claim, contract 604, powder boxes $726, 551. 35

Claims and accounts now before Comptroller General, on which payment is withheld

Claim, contract 443, tetryl $10, 967. 60
Claim, contract 577, tetryl 1, 837. 92
Claim, contract 500, amm. picrate 972. 86
Claim, contract 572, amm. picrate 3, 060. 53
Storage contract 287 7, 300. 00
Storage contract 307, repairs 1, 313. 72
Storage contract 307, storage 82. 78
Refund of counterclaim 591 94. 65
Refund of counterclaim 380 8, 205. 60
Refund of counterclaim 381 2, 830. 50
300 spools of wire 159. 98
Carboys retained by Edgewood Arsenal 4,1 86. 00
Guard Service for Navy at Carney's Pt 5, 400. 00
Storage of powder for Navy 3, 064. 73

49, 476. 87

Voucher with Phila. District Salvage Board for Approval and Transmission, to

disbursing officer

Overdelivery of solid caustic soda at Government selling price less 2>^%_ 356. 95

Claim against Quartermaster's Dept., U. S. A. for rent

Claim of Du Pont Bldg. Corp. for occupancy by U. S. of quarters
at Vandever Ave. in July and August 1922 500. 00

Total $776,885. 17

Demands from United States on which payment has been refused by Du Pont Co.,

but not dropped by the United States

Alleged damage to Gov't, stock of linters, shavings, and refined
cotton fiber at Hopewell $86,321. 84

Payments previously made by U. S. for repairs to buildings at Hope-
well used by U. S. for storage of soda, contract #307 3, 504. 27

Shortages occurring during storage of Gov't, nyoil and castor oil at
Pompton Lakes 1, 164. 96

Shortage in shipment of Gov't TNT to Penniman 17, 952. 00
Shortage in shipment of Gov't ammonium nitrate to Penniman 360. 81
Alleged shortage of 31 4.7" shells in shipment from Penniman 951. 70

110, 255. 58

Counter claims by U. S. on which settlements have been offered by Du Pont but not

yet accepted by United States

Shortage of sulphuric acid and overage of nitric acid at HopeweU $4, 875. 96
Shortage of hull shavings stored at East St. Louis 2, 319. 29

7, 195. 25

4: 4: * * H< * *

We have not completed the testimony on the suit covering the claim under
contract 604 for the reason that it has not been convenient for the Government
attorney to meet with us. It is now planned to complete the taking of testimony
early in January 1923.

Of the claims and accounts before the Comptroller General of the United States
for settlement and payment, some have been tentatively allowed in whole or in

part, but payment withheld on account of the Du Pont Company being surety
for Du Pont Engineering Company. We are endeavoring to assist the legal

department in the preparation of briefs on these claims and accounts with the
idea of having Comptroller General approve, if he will, the amounts due, so that
when the Engineering Company's accounts are settled the Du Pont Company's
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bills can then be paid. In addition, we are endeavoring to assist the legal de-

partment in the preparation of a brief or appeal to the Comptroller General,

asking that the Du Pont Company's accounts be paid for the reason that the
United States is protected in the case of the Du Pont Engineering Company by
Du Pont Company's bonds on the advances made to the Engineering Company.
We believe it unlikely that the Comptroller General will release any money to

the Du Pont Company so long as the Du Pont Engineering Company's accounts
are unsettled, and in the decisions of earlier Comptrollers and in certain decisions

of the courts, the Comptroller has some authority for this action. So long as the
Comptroller follows the plan of holding up payment of money to the Du Pont
Company it would be a misfortune for the Du Pont Company to have its unpaid
accounts with the United States exceed the amount of unspent United States

money held by Du Pont Engineering Company. Should the Du Pont Company's
unpaid accounts exceed the sum of money held by the Du Pont Engineering
Company the Du Pont Company might then be forced to sue in the Court of
Claims for the amount due and the Government's reply would undoubtedly
throw the Du Pont Engineering Company's business into the Court of Claims
instead of into the local Federal court, where it would be if the United States
eventually sued the Du Pont Engineering Company.

The demands by the United States on which we have refused payment are
familiar to the committee by our earlier reports. Nothing new has transpired
in the case of any of the items.*******

For over a year we have had outstanding an offer to settle with the United
States on the shortage of sulphuric acid and overage of nitric acid at Hopewell,
but to date no officer or representative of the United States seems inclined or
empowered to settle. We have recently made an offer of settlement on a short-

age of hull shavings in the amount that was stored at East St. Louis, 111. It

develops that there were less shavings stored there than were paid for by the
United States. In other words, our claim was too large. In view of the fact

that the United States is holding up payments to the Du Pont Company we plan
to refuse payment in cash of these two settlements unless in the meantime the
United States has resumed cash payments to us.

The expense of this division for the month of October was $1,361.95, and to
date for the year 1922, $7,514.47.

Du Pont Engineering Company

The Du Pont Engineering Company's differences with the War
Department are as follows:

Mason & Hanger fee $179,259. 79
Du Pont Co. charges for departmetal expense 126, 071. 30
Difference in calculation of profits 55, 862. 28
Ford car purchased for employee of Rust Eng. Co., payment to du
Pont Engineering Co. not located 515. 76

Total 361, 709. 13

In addition to the above the Du Pont Engineering Company's books as of

May 31, 1922, showed differences of $27,622.20, which it is proposed to accept
in the interest of settlement if the War Department will make settlement on a
basis that can be accepted.

Last month it was reported that the Assistant Secretary of War declined to
revise his arbitrary disallowance of $179,259.79 of the fee paid to the Mason &
Hanger Co., on the subcontract work at Old Hickory. The Assistant Secretary
thought that the second contract with Mason & Hanger made after the change
in the contract between the Engineering Co. and the United States should have
cut the Mason & Hanger fee from 5% to 2}^% on new work, and therefore, made
this disallowance.

This question was taken by Mr. Haskell and Mr. Gregg to Mr. Weeks, the
Secretary of War with the request that the Secretary lay the facts before the
Attorney General of the United States with the request for an opinion and advice.
A brief presenting the facts and our arguments was left with the Secretary, who
promised to think it over and decide. The impression was obtained that the
Secretary had previously decided that he would not reverse the Assistant Secre-
tary, but seemed somewhat nonplussed when he was asked by us to seek other
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counsel and was not directly requested to review and revise the Assistant Secre-
tary's opinion. We cannot foretell the Secretary's action. He may send it to
the Attorney General or he may not.

The other item of $126,071.30 has been appealed to the Secretary of War and
disallowed by him. We have not yet said whether we are willing to accept the
disallowance.
The other two items of $55,862.28 and $515.76 we propose dropping from the

list of differences, for we have little chance of winning any appeal from these dis-

allowances.
It should, of course, be remembered that in case no settlement is effected by

amicable procedure and in the event that the Engineering Company's business
is finally drawn into the courts either by the United States or by us, we plan to
reinstate and stand for reimbursement by the United States of all of the items on
which we have agreed to accept disallowance in the interest of settlement, except-
ing, of course, those items where some mistake was involved or where there was
no authority under the contract for the kind of an expenditure that was made.

Funds on hand were: November 30, 1922, Government, $947,674.96; com-
pany, $12,003.37.
The expenses of this division of the Du Pont Engineering Company for October

were $1,262.89 and to date for the year 1922, $24,388.40. Arrangements have
been made for the reduction of salary expense by the loan of certain employees
to the Du Pont Company. It is not advisable, in our opinion, to make any further
permanent reduction in this force until the company knows how much work will

be involved before settlements are finally effected.

Respectfully submitted,
Government Claims Division,
E. C. Britton.

Ajjproved.
H. G. Haskell, Vice President.

The following letter from Mr. Gregg is entered into the record in

connection with the testimony of Arthur Carnduff. See text, p. 3232.

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company, Inc.,
Legal Department,

Wilmington, Delaware., December 28, 1934.

Special Committee of the United States Senate
Investigating the Munitions Industry,

U. S. Senate Office Building, Washington, D. C.

(Attention: Hon. Gerald P. Nye, Chairman.)

Dear Sirs: On December 14, 1934, your committee called as a witness Mr.
Arthur Carnduff, who in 1923 was a special assistant to the Attorney General
in the War Transactions Section, Department of Justice. Mr. Carnduff then
testified that at a private executive and confidential hearing held late in the
year 1923 before a subcommittee on ordnance of the General War Transactions
Board, Maj. R. R. Farr made certain statements which, an examination of the
record of that hearing discloses. Major Farr did not make.

Major Farr, as special representative of the Assistant Secretary of War, was
placed in charge of the War Department auditors from July 1921 to the end of

May 1922 engaged in the reaudit of expenditures made by du Pont Engineering
Company in connection with the construction and/or operation of certain Govern-
ment plants, including the construction and operation of the Old Hickory
smokeless powder plant.

Mr. Carnduff erroneously testified before your committee that Major Farr
had stated at said confidential hearing before said Board that a spot check was
made of expenditures and that approximately one in ten vouchers were checked
on the review and reaudit.

Mr. Carnduff 's testimony in that connection is as follows (vol. 23, p. 5248):
" Mr. Hiss. Will you describe the kind of audit that was made by Major Farr?
"Mr. Carnduff. I can only describe that from Major Farr's testimony before

this Board, and I have every confidence that his testimony was accurate. He
stated that a spot check was made of expenditures, and he stated that approxi-
mately one in ten vouchers were checked on this review and reaudit."

At no time prior to Mr. Carnduff's appearance as a witness before your com-
mittee had any representative of either E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company
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or du Pont Engineering Company an opportunity to inspect the minutes of said

private and confidential hearing, hereinbefore referred to. Following Mr.
Carnduff's testimony, and at my request, j^our chairman very kindly addressed
a letter to the Attorney General stating, in substance, that your committee had no
objection to my inspection of said transcript of testimony. The Attorney Gen-
eral granted me permission to examine such transcript, which examination I made
on December 21, 1934.
Upon examination of Major Farr's statements before said subcommittee

of said Board, I found that Major Farr did not make the statement that only a
spot check was made of expenditures or that one in ten vouchers were checked
on the review and reaudit, as attributed to him by Mr. Carnduff in his testimony,
above quoted, before your committee. Upon examination of the statements
made by Major Farr before said special committee, it will be found that he stated
in effect, as follows:

That he had heard rumors to the effect that only a 10% audit had been made
of the material receipt vouchers involved in the construction and/or operation of

the several plants, including the construction and operation of the Old Hickory
smokeless power plant;
That he (Major Farr) thereupon took the matter up with Mr. J. R. Peebles,

contracting officer, du Pont engineering contract unit, wno had been engaged
in the reaudit of expenditures made by du Pont Engineering Comj^any prior to
the time that he (Major Farr) was placed in charge of such reaudit;
That he (Major Farr) thereupon requested Mr. Peebles to furnish him with a

report of the extent to which material receipt vouchers had been audited by the
War Department auditors engaged in the reaudit;
That thereupon Mr. Peebles in October 1921 reported in writing to him

(Major Farr) the extent to which the material receipt vouchers, including those
applicable to the construction and operation of the Old Hickory smokeless
powder plant, had been audited (Mr. Peebles' memorandum was read by Major
Farr at the hearing before the subcommittee of said board and is quoted in the
minutes)

;

That at that time, October 1921, Mr. Peebles reported to him (Major Farr)
the extent to which material receipt vouchers, including those applicable to the
construction and operation of the Old Hickory smokeless powder plant, had been
audited up to that time, viz, October 1921;
That as to the construction and operation of the Old Hickory smokeless powder

plant, Mr. Peebles reported to him (Major Farr) that the audit of the material
receipt vouchers ivas then 90% complete, and that Mr. Peebles also gave him the
percentages of completion of the audit of the material receipt vouchers applicable
to the other plants constructed and/or operated by du Pont Engineering Company
for the Government. (It may be stated here that the reaudit by the War Depart-
ment forces was inaugurated in October 1919 and continued up to the end of
May 1922 or a period of over 2% years.)
Major Farr further stated, as appears in the minutes of the hearing before said

subcommittee of said Board, that from 150 to 175 men were engaged in the reaudit
of expenditures made by du Pont Engineering Company, with a portion of such
forces being located in Wilmington, Delaware, and another portion at the several
plants, including the Old Hickory smokeless powder plant.

Therefore, it is clear that Mr. Carnduff's testimony before your committee

—

that Major Farr had stated before said subcommittee of said iBoard that only a
spot check was made of expenditures, and that approximately one in ten vouchers
was checked on the review and reaudit—is grossly in error. However, Mr. Carn-
duft^'s testimony on that point was broadcast through the newspapers throughout
the country.
The record of the statements made bj^ Major Farr before said subcommittee

of said Board, shows that in fact a substantially complete reaudit was made, not
only of the material receipt vouchers, but of all other expenditures made by du
Pont Engineering Company. In view of the erroneous testimony given by Mr.
Carnduff before your committee, I respectfully request that your committee
examine the record of the statements made bj- Major Farr before said subcom-
mittee of said Board.

I also respectfully repeat the request which I made in open session before your
committee that Major Farr be summoned to appear before your committee.

I also respectfully request that this communication be included in and made a
part of the record of the hearings before your committee.

Very respectfullj-,

W.
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The following record of a private executive and confidential hear-

ing held before a subcommittee on ordnance of the General War
Transactions Board is offered in connection with the testimony of
Arthur Carnduff (see text, p. 3232) :

[bkecutivb session]

OLD HICKORY INVESTIGATION

(Room 3538 Munitions Building, Washington, D. C, Thursday, May 10, 1923,

Friday, May 11, 1923)

Proceedings had and testimony taken in executive sessions before subcom-
mittee on ordnance of tlie General War Transactions Board.

INDES;

Statement of— I'age

Hiram Barnes Guise ,— 13, 166
G. E. Youmans 87
J. R. Peebles 132
R. E. Bowman 157
R. R. Farr 225
Wallace G. Kilee^ 271

1 OLD HICKORY INVESTIGATION

Thtjbsday, May 10, 1923, 11 : 30 O'Clock a. m.

Room 3541 Munitions Building,
Washington, D. C.

Proceedings had and testimony taken before subcommittee on ordnance of
the General War Transactions Board, composed of the following members:
Honorable Dwight F. Davis, Assistant Secretary of War, chairman ; Major
General C. C. Williams, Chief of Ordnance ; Henry W. Anderson, Esq., repre-
senting the Department of Justice.

Present : Colonel J. A. Hull, executive officer of the War Transactions Board

;

Colonel F. W. Coleman, of the Finance Department; Arthur Carnduff, Esq.,

special assistant to the Attorney General ; James Cameron, Esq., director of

audit of the Department of Justice ; A. V. McLane, Esq., United States District
Attorney, Nashville, Tennessee ; Major J. G. Bootou, Ordnance Department,
United States Army ; Major P. J. O'Shaughnessy, Ordnance Department.
The Chairman (Assistant Secretary of War, Hon. Dwight F. Davis). Gen-

tlemen, this is a meeting to consider certain matters which are before tlie sub-

committee on ordnance of the War Transactions Board. I am going to
2 ask Colonel Anderson, representing the Department of Justice, to make

an announcement in regard to the procedure to be followed at this

hearing.
Mr. Anderson. Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, the Board have held a con-

ference, and the Secretary has asked me to state its conclusions. The matter
for investigation is in connection with the construction of the Old Hickoiy
plant at Nashville, which is before the Board for survey, the subcommittee
consisting of General Williams and myself and the Secretary as ex-officio

member.
It has been determined by the Board that in view of existing circumstances

and the character of the survey they wish to make, that they will hold meet-
ings in executive session. That the witnesses, or the persons who are willing
to make statements voluntarily to the Board, will bo called into the committee
to give their statement, which will be confidential and will be for the use of
the committee only. There will be present in this investigation, which is purely
a governmental investigation, the representatives of the Government who are
investigating this matter, and who desire to present to the committee any facts

they have, and in addition, at the proper time, any representatives of the du
Pont Engineering Company who desire to appear to explain any aspects of
the matter will be given opportunity to be heard by the committee, to the end
that the full facts may be disclosed.
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But in the existing circumstances the Board has determined, after careful

consideration, that in the interest of the Government it is not desirable to

have an open or public hearing. I understand, Mr. Chairnum, that you
3 have decided that we will have the hearing in the Chemical Warfare

conference room, to which we will now go, and any who are interested

may remain here and we will send out for them if we wish to have them appear
before us. ,

The Chairman. Well, the committee will adjourn to the Chemical Warfare
conference room in the eighth wing. And you gentlemen may make yourselves

comfortable. I am sorry to discommode you, but if you will make yourselves

comfortable we will give everybody an opportunity to be heard.

(Thereupon the committee adjourned to reconvene in executive session in

room 3538 Munitions Building.)

4 E3XECUTIVE SESSION
,

OLD HICKORY INVESTIGATION

Thursday, May 10, 1923, 11 : 40 O'clock a. m.

Room 3538 Munitions Building,
Washington, D. C.

Proceedings had and testimony taken in executive session before Subcom-
mittee on Ordnance of the General War Transactions Board, composed of

the following members

:

Hon. Dwight F. Davis, Assistant Secretary of War, chairman ; Maj. Gen.
C. C. Williams, Chief of Ordnance ; Henry W. Anderson, Esq., representing the
Department of Justice.

Present: Col. J. A. Hull, executive oflficer of the War Transactions Board;
Col. F. W. Coleman, of the Finance Department ; Arthur Carnduff, Esq., special

assistant to the Attorney General ; James Cameron, Esq., Director of Audit
of the Department of Justice ; A. V. McLane, Esq., United States district at-

torney, Nashville, Tenn. ; Maj. J. G. Booton, Ordnance Department, United
States Army; Maj. P. J. O'Shaughnessy, Ordnance Department.
The Chairman. Colonel Anderson.
Mr. Anderson. Mr. Carnduff, who do you want to call first?

Mr. ANDEajsoN. Mr. Carnduff, who do you want to call first.

5 Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Chairman, I desire to make an oi)ening statement
which will go into the record, and which will contain the salient facts

of the investigation as ascertained by the Government audits and reports.

They may be taken as true. I make this opening statement with the idea
of expediting the testimony, after which I desire to call Major Guise, formerly
contracting oflicer.

I think at this time it would be pertinent to ask Mr. Youmans, the corrobo-
rating witness, to step outside a few minutes, and also Major Farr, who is

interested, so that Mr. Guise may give his testimony in confidence.
Mr. Anderson. Very well.

As the chairman asked me to discuss the question of procedure here, 1

would like to state that the procedure before this Board is absolutely confi-

dential. While nobody will be sworn, it will have all the elements of secrecy
and of contidence that a grand jury investigation would have. Everyone
present is supposed to be under pledge not to disclose anything that takes
place before the Board, either its method of procedure, or anything that may
be said, and no witness will be supposed, under any circumstances, to tell

outside of the Board room anything that he testifies to in this room. While it

has not the legal formality of a grand jury, it has all of the moral obliga-
tions of a grand jury.

Mr. Carnduff.
Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Chairman and gentlemen. In order to expedite matters

1 will make a brief opening statement which will contain the salient facts of
the investigation, a statement based on Government records.

6 The du Pont Engineering Company, by a formal contract, dated March
23, 1918, agreed to construct and operate for the United States a smoke-

less-powder plant at Nashville, Tennessee, of nine units, having a total capacity
of 900,000 pounds per day. The estimated cost of the plant was originally
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$75,000,000, but on the second clay of November 1918, such estimate was for-
mally increased to $90,000,000. The approved items expended under this con-
tract aggregate $107,609,614.33, $83,583,074.72 being for construction and $24,-

200,267.01 for operation. The plant was completed to a degree of about 85
percent, six units being in operation and 35,538,345 poiands of powder produced.
The contract provided that the contractor should receive as reimbursement

for the construction of the plant a fee of $1.00 and no more, but that the
United States should reimburse the contractor for all costs and expenses of
every character and description, and should, upon the execution of the con-
tract, advance to the contractor, without interest, $18,750,000, and should
promptly pay all costs and expenditures upon receipt of satisfactory evidence
thereof mitil such payments plus the said advance payment should equal the
estimated price, and that the United States should, upon the completion of the
contract, pay or receive back any approved excess cost or deficiency cost, as
the case might be. The contractor was to build the plant with the utmost
speed and thereafter operate it for a theoretical period of 54 months if

necessary.
In the operation of the plant the United States was to pay all costs,

7 both labor and material, of every nature, and was to pay the contractor
the profit of 3^2 cents per pound upon powder manufactured plus a

bonus conditioned on manufacture at less than a base price, whjeh base price
for the various grades was 44% cents, 45^/^ cents, 52% cents, 56% cents per
pound conditioned on certain base prices of essential materials. And the
United States was to advance to the contractor $18,945,000 in three quarterly
payments as an operating fund, to be absorbed as powder was delivered, and
was to pay the actual cost, plus the profit, as acceptances of the powder were
consummated.
The cunlract provided that the contractor shoidd keep complete records,

at all tJme.s accessible to the United States, and that the United States
might examine the work as it progressed and should audit all accounts. The
contractor was authorized to do all things necessary or convenient, and to
pay extra compensation when approved by the contracting officer of the United
States, and to sublet its work when so approved, and was to use its best
endeavors to construct the plant as quickly as possible.

In consummation of the contract, the plant was built with incredible speed.

An average force of 40,000 people was employed in the construction, and as
a part of the contract, a small city was built to house the construction and
operation personnel and their families. Of course production of powder
ceased after the armistice, and the plant now stands near Nashville, Ten-
nessee, a source of litigation between the United States and a private corpo-

ration which purchased the same—such matter being irrelevant to the present
investigation.

8 From time to time during the active period of construction and oper-

ation, and almost continuously thereafler, various charges of fraud
and irregularities have been made, and numerous questions as to reimburse-

ments to the contractor of expenditures incurred have arisen. An audit of

the transaction was commenced by the War Department in an effort to effec-

tuate an accounting of the transaction, and numerous disputes, controversies,

and claims were presented for decision, but no pronouncement upon the same
was ever had by a court or by litigation. On May 31, 1922, a report was
made by War Department officers and officials to the War Department, but

same was never referred to the Department of Justice. Various charges,

reports, and complaints were made to the former United States attorney at

Nashville, the Hcnorable Lee Douglas, and the attention of the Department
of Justice was invited to the situation and to complaints received in Novem-
ber 1922 by the Honorable A. V. McLane, United States attorney at Nash-

ville ; whereupon a preliminary survey of the situation was made by certain

personnel of the Department of Justice, Avho heard testimony on serious

charges of irregularities, who ascertained that there was apparently over

$500,000 still retained by contractor, who recommended that it be ascertained

if there had ever been a general and comi)lete accounting between the con-

tractor and the United States, and that it should be determined whether

such accounting ought properly to be reviewed, considering the magnitude of

the transaction and the enormous cost of a re-audit or further investigation.

It has therefore been decided to invite all parties having knowledge of

9 the transaction to present their views freely at this hearing, so that

such further procedure may be determined as may be necessary to
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afford a JB..st and proper detennixiation of tlic questions involved so tliat
expense ef further investigation may be incurred only if justifiable and so that
tbe intere.sts of the United States may be carefully safeguarded.
To that end I have invited to be present the officials who functioned in the

'matter, and such witnesses as we deemed pertinent and relevant, and with
your permission I will now ask Major Guise, who functioned in this matter
to tell his story to you.

'

In this connection I would' like to invite your attention to the fact that the
real problem in this case is reimbursement of the du Pont Engineering Com-
panj'. They were paid by presenting to the Government a voucher or a state-
ment that tliey had expended a certain sum. Upon approval of that voucher
the amount claimed was paid them. During all this time they had as a con-
struction fund advanced $18,750,000, and as an operating fund advanced
$18,950,000 additional. But of course it was necessary for them to secure from
the Government payment of items as they paid them. Therefore the testi-
money of Major Guise as to how this reimbursement proceeded is extremely
pertinent.

The Department of Justice will show you during the course of this hearing
that ^yhen the plant was being constructed only one voucher in ten was audited.
In other words, if ten bills were presented to the United States at the plant,
one was arbitrarily taken out and checked, and if it were found correct, the

other nine were passed pro forma.
10 It will also be shown that no economical check of freight rates was

made. Tliat thousands of dollars was paid for freight, and the over-
payments and excess payments never paid back to the United States.
They will show charges of gross overcharges in the matter of cotton and

cotton linters, cotton being an essential component of smokeless powder.
They will also present to you evidence of gross irregularities in payments

made at this plant, payment of labor, in administration, and in payment of
bonuses to employees, very large bonuses, thousands of dollars.
Now these matters are extremely important, because it was to the interest

of the contractor to complete the plant as speedily as possible, regardless of any
expense, so that the contractor then might get into production and commence
earning profit.

General Williams. I will object to that statement, Colonel Anderson. The
real reason why the question of time was so important was that these supplies
were needed for the supplying of troops.
Mr. Carndufp. Exactly.
General Wiixiams. And not at all that it was for the question of the du Pont

Company getting into production so that their bonuses might commence.
Mr. Carnduff. General Williams, we quite appreciate that the production of

powder was a prime element.
General Williams. No ; the element. The controlling element.

11 Mr. Carnduff. But until production commenced there would be no
profit for the contractor.

General Williams. Well, naturally not.
Mr. Carnduff. We agree on that.
General Williams. Why, of course. But the motive which you assign is not

the real one, in my mind.
Mr. Anderson. Major Carnduff, you made a statement that the real problem

was the reimbursement of the du Pont Company. You do not mean to say that
the problem liefore this committee is the reimbursement of the du Pont Com-
pany, but rather that the investigation of the method of reimbursement is the
first question that you wish to present. Of course, the problem before this
committee is whether or not there are any irregularities of such character as
required a further audit, and civil or criminal proceedings in the matteer, or,
I should say, such irregularities as might require a reference to the Depart-
ment of Justice for any action. That is really our problem.

Mr. Carnduff. Colonel Anderson, your problem is twofold here. You have
on one hand the problem of fraud, criminality, irregularities. You have on the
other hand the civil problem of recovery of money from the du Pont Company.
The du Pont Company have this money. If we commence a civil action, our
action will be to recover money they now have. Therefore the method used in
the reimbursement, the justice of the reimbursement, is an important problem
on the civil side.
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Mr. ANDEaisoN. Yes ; that is what you meant by saying that the real problem

was the reimbursement of the du Pont Company?
12 Mr. Cx\RNDXJFr. Yes.

IVTl' A NrVKRSOW I SGG

Colonel HxjLL. The du Pont Company are willing to pay the amount they have

on special deposit, aren't they? They admit they have Government money.

They are waiting until u final determination of the amount.

Mr Carndxjff. The du Pont Company, I understand, are willing to pay a

<?ertain amount to the United States, based on a settlement, provided the sum
is accepted as payment in full, and the controversy ended. From this amount

they will deduct "all costs of expenses, including the cost of this investigation,

-as borne by them.
Mr. Anderson. Mr. Chairman, with your permission I would like to ask the

district attorney of Nashville, Tennessee, Mr. McLane, if he has anything to add

^t this time, or does he wish just to take part in the investigation and examina-

tion of the witnesses, should it be necessary?

Mr. McLane. I would be gh-.d to take part in the examination of witnesses.

I have nothing further to add at this time.

Mr. Anderson. I suggest then that we proceed with the examination ot

witnesses. . ^, . .,,

Mr. Carnduff. All right, I will introduce Major Guise. Major Guise, will

you kindly sit down and tell your story.

13 STATEMENT OF HIRAM BARNES GUISE, BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS

Mr. Carnduff. Will you kindly give your name, address, former relations

with the Government, and present occupation to the reporter

Mr. Guise. Hiram Barnes Guise. Formerly major, Ordnance Department,

U. S. A. After concluding a tour of duty overseas I was directed to proceed to

the Philadelphia district ordnance cfiice for duty. I had two weeks' leave of

absence. I arrived early in March, I should say about the first of March 1919.

The chief of the Philadelphia district, ordnance district, ordered me to proceed

to Wilmington, Delaware, to take over certain matters pertaining to the E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company claims. And later, approximately April 1st,

1919, I was appointed by the district chief as commanding oflicer on all du Pont

Engineering matters for the Philadelphia district claims board.

At about the same time I was nominated and appointed by the ordnance

office as the representative of the contracting officer in all du Pont Engineering

contracts. This including the Old Hickory plant, the T. N. T. plant at Racine,

Wisconsin, the shell-loading plant at Tullytown, Pennsylvania, and the Seven

Pines shell-loading plant. ^ ^ ^, ^ . -,«-,«

During the time from March 1st, 1919, to approximately October 1st, 1919,

I was very busily engaged as officer in charge on E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company claims.
During this entire period the cost-accounting branch, that was proceeding

with the audit of the du Pont Engineering contracts, was under the

14 Baltimore district ordnance office. At about this time it was transferred

to the jurisdiction of the Philadelphia district ordnance office, and sev-

eral changes were made in the supervision of the cost accountants working on

the du Pont Engineering contracts. I had gotten to a point in the claims

where I could find the time to proceed to the various plants and go much
deeper into du Pont Engineering matters than I had before, and I proceeded to

Nashville, Tennessee, as I remember, some time in October, taking with me
several investigators so as to ascertain the possibility of securing certain evi-

dence required for the validation of public vouchers, and the memoranda
supporting them.

After arriving and investigating conditions in general, I found matters were

somewhat complictaed, and directed a much further and complete investigation

as to the supporting papers needed for tliis jiurpose, and returned to Phila-

delphia. I called the du Pont Engineering officials' attention to the lack of a

considerable amount of primary evidence, such as the proper material receipts,

and also to the necessity of our being able to get full access to all documentary

evidence that they might have, with regard particularly to materials, as I had

taken this particular matter under my observation. It seemed to be rather

difficult, in fact almost impossible, to secure the necessary supporting evidence

frcjm the du Pont Company. They claiming that they have presented vouchers
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whlcli were filled in in their office, either copies of the original account from
the person from whom they bought, or a form that they sent to the various

people from whom they purchased, materials for them to fill out and
15 present as their invoice.

As it was necessary for us to have further supporting evidence to

validate the payment of any moneys to the du Pont Company, we then en-

deavored to secure by any means whatsoever, either with or without the cooper-
ation of the company, tlie receiving records, and after delving through quite a
number of fides we found a considerable number of receiving reports, part of
which were doubtful, in fact, they were signed by clerks rather than clieckers.

Investigating further, we found considerable evidence that these records were
copied from the vouchers and did not represent an actual check of materials
received at the plant. This immediately threw all the transactions into doubt
until we could verify the receipt of materials. And this struggle continued on
practically to the tennination of my period, at least, of service. This with
regard to materials and the receipt of materials.

On bulk shipments, such as carloads, we went through the railroad records,

not at the du Pont Engineering offices or the offices of the Old Hickory powder
plant, but we went to the railroad offices and reviewed the railroad records,

checking up on car numbers, car lots, weights, and by other methods tried to

verify, and did verify, that carloads of material were received as represented
by the invoices presented. In this way we cleared up a great many bulk
shipments and were able to certify to the applicability and receipt of the
material for the purposes of the contract.

But we still had many items in doubt, due to this question of fabri-

16 cated records, which they were, purely and simply, and nothing else

;

that is, this statement of mine being based on the evidence presented by
former employees of the du Pont Engineering Company, and by the fact that
clerks ( iily had signed, in a great many cases, these receiving reports, so-called.

Mr. Andekson. Would it bother you if I interrupted you with a question?
You speak of " fabricated " evidence. Were you convinced that this evidence
was made-up evidence to support those vouchers V

Mr. Guise. In reviewing a large number of records such as those, amounting
to probably over—considerably over—100,000 vouchers, we would find normally
a great many intermingled ; there would be some shortages, loss and damage
reports, and other things like that intermingled. We never found shortages,
only on those records that we verified as being made by checkers. We never
found them on the others.

Secondly, thousands of records were made in the handwriting of one man,
and signed by one man. It would be absolutely impossible for that man to

check, or be in charge of checking directly in the field of the received materials.
There was only a small percentage of the total validated by the representatives
of the Ordnance Department in the field.

Mr. Anderson. Now, one question more, Major. Could you give us the names
of any of the persons you speak of?

Mr. Guise. It would be rather difficult. They are all a matter of record, and
I think you will find the Ordnance office should have a report which carries
many of those names.

Mr. Carndui'F. I beg your pardon, Major, several of them will testify.

17 Mr. Guise. You will undoubtedly have them at the meetings.
Mr. Cabnduff. We will have several of them here.

Mr. Guise. It would be rather difficult after four or five years for me to recall
the names of people that I only met once or twice.

Mr. Andekson. If you can and if you will give us the names of people who can
substantiate these statements, or with whom we can go further into detail, it

would help us.

Mr. Guise. I would hesitate. Colonel Anderson. I might give the wrong name,
and I would hesitate as to that.

This practically covers that iwrtion of the investigations pertaining to the
receipt of materials. And I might possibly have made it a little stronger about
the question of getting information, because we didn't get any—that is the long
and short of it—until I insisted at least that a few representatives of the du
Ponts come down with us and help us further along with the case so as to
accelerate settlement. AVe found quite a number of records by tearing away
boards, the foundation of buildings, and getting underneath, pulling them out
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from where they had been placed underneath the floors of the various tempo-
rary buildings there.

General Williams. Records, do you mean?
Mr. Guise. The records in some cases were practically hidden, you might say,

in those points. We had testimony—I will not say that it was all complete

—

that a considerable number of records—in fact rather good sized bundles—had
been destroyed, burned up, before the du Pont Engineering Company left the

place.

18 On examination of a great deal of apparently scrap paper we found
records intermingled with scrap. These covered both construction and

operation.
But our principal difl5culty was to find the primary support to the invoices

presented. That was the great difficulty. We could get a great number of ex-

pense bills, but to get the support for those bills, that was where all the hesita-

tion came.
As far as the receipt of material is concerned, the first thing that we were

endeavoring to do was to establish that the materials were received on the
ground. The second thing that the representative of the contract section had
to determine would be their applicability.

We did not review the question of whether if the du Pont Engineering Com-
pany bought a keg of nails or a carload of lumber, it was necessary, because
that was material of the class they used, and if it was left there it should nor-

mally be in the possession of the United States after it was turned over. We
did not question that. The only thing we wanted to know was that it was de-

livered there, that we had prime evidence and legal evidence of that fact, and
that that was difficult to get at. I am speaking now of the construction. The
matters that I am speaking of now are those pertaining to construction.

The last function of the repersentative of the contract section was that of

determining the reasonable price ; whether the contractor was paying in excess
of what you would call a normal price, and if so, whether there was a particu-

lar reason for his paying it. We did investigate quite a number of

19 those eases, and in some cases we found, for example, in relation to tile,

that the subcontractor, the Mason & Hanger Company, had purchased
tiles and some other materials cheaper than the du Pont Company. That ele-

ment would not have amounted to a very large percent, however, in the total

involved, and we did not review very far into that. That was a question par-
ticularly for investigation in general, rather than in detail at the time. What
we were trying to do, in fact, was to clear the matter up and get the vouchers
off our hands so we could issue public vouchers and pass them through, if it

was possible. This element of doubt, and the impossibility of securing full and
complete evidence did throw quite a number of material vouchers into suspense.
Mr. Caenduff. Pardon me. Major Guise. Will you state to the Committee

the approximate aggregate total of your suspensions?
Mr. Guise. At the time I left I should say there was approximately five

millions of dollars that was suspended on account of illegality or nonapplica-
bility for the purpose of the contract. And this was reduced by the late audit
to about $300,000.

General Williams. What do you mean by "illegality"?
Mr. Guise. Well, those things that had been determined by various decisions

of the court, by law, as impossible, such as the removal of criminals ; the pay-
ment of the cost of removing a criminal from the State of Tennessee to the
State of Indiana ; that was one case. Miscellaneous items of various kinds,
and all that.

And inapplicability : A great deal of it was due to various determina-
20 tions, that is under the contract ; the determination of the direct ex-

penditure for the purpose of the contract, the contract being purely and
solely for the construction of a smokeless powder plant and the operation
thereof. Now, it would be impossible to go into the vast number of details,
the enormous amount of detail included in it. But there were so many differ-

ent types. For example, they paid the expense of a man's wife and daughter
proceeding to California, and their return, and tendered the bill to the United
States for reimbursement. Not on this contract.

Mr. Cabnduff. You would su.spond that on the basis of inapplicability?
Mr. Guise. I would suspend that oJi the basis of inapplicability.
Mr. Cabnduff. Now, Major, in addition to the $5,000,000 that you suspended

because of illegality, tell the Committee the additional aggregate amounts sus-
pended because of inapplicability?
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Mr. Guise. These pertained primarily and solely to construction account.

Mr. Carnduff. Yes.

Mr. Guise. Not less than $13,000,000.

General Williams. Just a moment, please. I would like to know a little

more about that " illegality " business. Five million dollars is a pretty large

sum. This taking of a criminal from one State to another is a rather minor
item. There must have been some large items to make up that five million

dollars.

Mr. Caknduff. Well, General, there were bonuses, I think as high as $20,000

to one man.
21 Mr. Guise. Cut that $5,000 please.

Mr. Caknduff. $15,000.

Mr. Guise. $15,000.

Mr. Caknduff. $15,000 bonus to one man.
General Williams. Who was the man?
Mr. Guise. As I remember, the name was—I can't give it to you just now.
General Williams. What is his function in the plant?
Mr. Guise. He was the supervising—I believe he was the manager there at

the plant.

General Williams. Well, does not the contract provide for the paying of

extra compensation?
Colonel Hull. Mr. Chainnan, I think we can simplify matters. The ques-

tion of bonuses has all been threshed out. The exact amount of bonuses paid
every man is on the records. The reasons for it, as advanced, and the decision?

of Major Farr, are all in writing on the question of bonuses.
Mr. Carnduff. Exactly.
Colonel Hull. So I think we had better take the records on that question of

bonuses.
Mr. Caknduff. But that shows what the eighteen million dollars are made

up of which were suspended.
Mr. Guise. The $13,000,000 was made up solely on account of lack of

evidence.
Mr. Anderson. The total of $18,000,000, I understand, was suspended.

Mr. Guise. The total of $18,000,000 was suspended, yes, sir.

22 General Williams. Does or does not the contract provide for the pay-
ment of bonuses largely as compensation?

Mr. Carnduff. It does provide for extra compensation when approved by the
contracting officer. I think those are the words of the contract.

Colonel Hull. The exact amount, and to whom they are paid, are all mat-
ters of record.

Mr. Anderson. I suggest that we go ahead with his statement, and then we
could have those questions argued before us.

General Williams. I wanted to get some idea as to what was involved.

Mr. Anderson. I did not mean to cut that off. General.
General Williams. There were considerable sums. Where did they

come in?
Mr. Anderson. Yes ; $18,000,000 is a great sum.
General Williams. Yes.
Mr. Guise. You must remember that these suspensions were on an aggre-

gate of probably 150,000 voucher.s or better. In fact more than that; all

classes of vouchers. And some of them included personal expense vouchers
that were presented by the du Fonts for reimbursement, for the transportation
of various employees to different points. Under the terms of the contract the.

du Pont Engineering Company were allowed to pay premiums for the purpose
of protecting themselves against all compensation losses of various kinds.
But instead of doing that they paid compensation direct, under lawsuits and
various suits that were brought against them for personal damages, and

torts ; miscellaneous items of that class ran ui> into—oh. I will say
23 hundreds of thousands of dollars at least. Those expenses could not be

paid directly, and I think I am quite certain that a decision made by
the—in fact there is a law, a statute law of the United States that provides
that where damages occurred which the United States would have to pay
through legal action, that the Attorney General's office has first to act upon
it-—that it has to he brought to the attention of the Attorney General of the.

United State.*. Well, you must remember this is four or five years back,
but there were miscellaneous items of that class that aggregated in the.

total about the sum I have mentioned.
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Mr. Cakunuff. Tell the committee, if you know, what liecuine of this

eighteen million dollars worth of suspensions?
Mr. Guise. I don't know, only by hearsay.
Mr. Cardnxiff. Well, let us have it.

Mr. Guise. I understand that the suspensions were disallowed. That is,

that the entire amount was taken out of suspension by the representative
of the Assistant Secretary of War, and practically all allowed to the du Fonts.
Mr. Cardnuff. You mean this $18,000,000 was paid in toto?
Mr. Guise. The payment was validated.

General Williams. It had already been paid?
Mr. Guise. Yes.
General Williams. There was a question of suspension.
Mr. Guise. We were suspending the validation, you might say, of the

payment.
Now, this is a question of documentary evidence that I secured in the offices

of the Cincinnati district ordnance office; in the offices at Nashville; a
24 small amount subsequently in the du Pont Engineering Company's

offices. The representative of the finance division at the plant, and at
Wilmington, both wei-e notified b.v—Colonel Blythe, was it at that time?

General Williams. Colonel Blythe at tliat time was at the head of our
finance department.

Mr. Guise. I believe this letter was signed l)y Colonel Blythe. They were
warned that it might lie necessary for them to make an audit at the time and
re^"iew these questions, but that the final determination as to the actual
invalidation would have to be done late •. And on my review of conditions,

as exhibited in the Wilmington office of the cost accounting branch, I should
assume that they had continued the audit about in tbe same manner that they
did at the time that Colonel Blythe liad given this warning late in 1917.

It was known to the proper authorities in the ordnance office; that is, to

(;'olonel Blythe, and others, that the audit was proceeding in somewhat
irregular manner, but the necessity for a further review was plainly apparent
in these instructions, indicated in these instructions.

General Williams. Whicli audit are you speaking of now?
Mr. Guise. Tlie first audit, tbe original audit that proceeded along during

the construction and operation of the plant.

General Williams. So it was recognized then that a further audit w^ould be
necessary?

Mr. Guise. Yes, sir; at that time. The ordnance office has a copy, I am quite
certain, of that letter of Colonel Blythe's. provided they have got the

25 copy that was supposed to come through channels to it of my final

rei)ort. I gave Mr. Francis, at Philadelphia, before I left my report,

two copies of which was to be forwarded through to the oi'dnance office.

In this was included a large amount of supporting papers of various kinds,
and this was included in that.

General Williams. All of these suspensions of yours were subsequently
taken up by the proper agents of the Government and made a matter of investi-

gation by these agents, together with the representatives of the du Pont
Engineering Company, and in most cases an agreement or a settlement was
arrived at, is that true?

Mr. Gt:ise. I don't know. We discussed the matter—I had conferences at
different periods with the du Pont Engineering Company's officials, but what I

wanted was documentary evidence which was required under the regulations ; as
far as that is concerned, under any regulations that I knew, before I could
proceed with the final certification of the voucher. Before I could do that I

had to have the supporting papers there. I do not consider, and do not now
consider, tliat the mere presentation of a bill, without all the necessary evidence
back of it. gives us the proper supporting papers for a public voucher. We
must have absolute and definite knowledge that that work was performed, and
the material was received as represented in that bill.

General WiiLiAi^ts. Well, tlie only thing that I wanted to bring out was that
these suspensions of yours were subsequently taken up and all the evidence
available was examined by tbe agents of the Government, and that an agree-

ment was reached, or a settlement was reached with the du Pont people.

26 Colonel Hull. The Government duly passed on all items.

General Williams. Yes.
yiv. Guise. Insofar as I have irone up to the present time the statements

pertain solely and only to construction matters, you may say. There may be
a few of them that would gn further.
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In the late summer and early fall of 1920 I sent representatives in the field

to determine, so far as possible, the question of the receipt of prime components
for operation. It was necessary for them to proceed to New York to secure

records there, and at other points, particularly on nitrate of soda. Tliere were
practically no receiving reports on carload shipments of components. We only

had car records, which we secured by the method of proceeding to the office

of the railroad company. And we also began to examine into, preparatory to

the final audit on operations, the costs presented by the du Pont Company, as

well as quantity. The contract is specific as to the question of costs on prime
materials.

27 In one instance, which was the only one that I had completed at the

time I left, I sent a memorandum to the du Pont Company pertaining to

the question of linters, calling their attention to the fact that they had pur-

chased under his contract—the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company functioned

with and alongside the du Pont Engineering Company, and their expenses
were to be paid according to the items of the contract; all expenses incurred

in connection with the contract by the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company
would be included with the account of the du Pont Engineering Company. I

found that they had charged the United States a considerable amount more
than they had expressed in the contract. I had become rather conversant

with the costs, and I received, after leaving the service, a note from the

Philadelphia Claims Board, enclosing a copy of their minutes, in which the

E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company returned to the United States a certified

check for something like, as I remember, $136,000 as reimbursement for a

wrongful charge on these particular materials.

It must be remembered that this is only one item of several that would have
to be reviewed very closely and carefully, and these items covered a very large

amount of the $24,000,000.

In this instance there was not any question but what, constructively, it was
something that could be described, if a person wanted to act arbitrarily, as

securing something that they were not entitled to. However, as I remember,
they reimbursed—the Philadelphia Claims Board accepted this amount tenta-

tively, not as a final adjustment.
28 I will say this, gentlemen. I do not care anything about any settlement

that has been made on operations. I do not believe it possible, by any
method, that the Ordnance Department or the Cost Accounting Branch would
endorse at the present time—that is, at the time we took it—I think it would
be impossible to make a definite and proper audit of the operating costs of the

du Pont Engineering Company. And it is my belief that any settlement

that has been made has been made on book accounts only and not on presenta-

tion of the actual amounts expended on operation. That is my belief.

I reviewed that in general very thoroughly. I found records that should

have been kept by the Du Pont Co. were acid eaten, thrown over into corners.

There was nothing that was kept up properly, subject to the review of the

Ordnance Department officials. And the mere presentation of a balance sheet

on that is not an audit. The discrepancies in freight, the transfer of materials

from Hopewell, Virginia, to Nashville, so as to reduce the amount that would
come in from excess on Hopewell, and miscellaneous items of that kind at the

time of cancellation were enormous. And I do not believe myself that any
definite audit can be made without a very thorough investigation. And I do

not believe, when you get down to the question of justness, you will ever be

able to get anything except a compromise settlement. And I would certainly

consider any compromise settlement based on the presentation that was given

me by the Du Pont Co. as being something entirely wrong.
General Wilmams. Major Guise, when did you leave the Department?

29 Mr. Guise. I was discharged November 30, 1920.

There were shipments made by the Nashville plant to various other

points of acids and other powder components and other materials, and it was
imposible from the records that we could get to make any definite audit. We
just simply scraped the surface on that. I do not believe that the cost of

production of smokeless powder at the Nashville plant amounted to anywhere
near 80 cents a pound—not when that powder was produced by a company
that has been manufacturing powder for 3 or 4 years and was selling it to

the United States for much less than 60 cents a pound on all classes.

General Williams. Was it not specified in the contract just how the cost of

the powder should be determined?
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Mr. Guise. Yes. They charged operation costs up to $24,000,000, General,
as against operation costs in their own plants, which gave them a profit

—

'

charged 80 cents a pound against operation costs in their own plants that
gave them a profit of between 40 and 50 cents a pound in their later contracts.

General Williams. Did you go into the method of determining the cost of
the powder per pound?

Mr. Guise. No, sir ; I did not get to that point. I was trying to get the
amount of materials that had been delivered there, and the amount consumed.

General Williams. Your opinion, then, is not based on knowledge of the
costs ?

Mr. Guise. We have a statement of operating costs. I am taking it

30 now in gross, not in detail. Our inventories would reduce that, of
course, to some extent, but the Inventories for operating costs would be

represented in general by the sulphur and nitrate of soda and linters, and so
forth, that would be on hand. It would not be represented by any construe^
tional feature.
Mr. Carnduff. Major, I have forgotten during the space of the few months

since you formerly testified : Was it you that testified as to the transfer ot
the large amount of operating costs into construction costs, and visa verse?
Mr. Guise. I think you will find that from the cost-accounting branch. That

was brought to my attention, but I do not think there is any question in rela^

tion to that that I could answer at the present time.
Mr. CarnouI'T. While I am interrupting you, you testified that you wel*e

discharged in November 1920. You mean you were honorably discharged from
the Army?
Mr. Guise. I was ; yes, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. As a major?
Mr. GxnsE. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. In order to get on the record. Major, a little more fully
your qualifications, I would like to know what your business was before you
became an Army officer.

Mr. Guise. I was consulting engineer for certain plants Of the United States
Rubber Company for about seven years. Immediately preceding that I built
probably half a million dollars worth of chemical plants, nitrate plants, and
other plants of that class. For about a year and a half I dealt with railroad
industrial matters as chairman of a special committee, in relation to safety,

sanitation, welfare, and labor problems.
31 Mr. Anderson. Are you an engineer by profession?

Mr. Guise. I am not a graduate engineer. I am a member of the
American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and of the American Institute of
Electrical Engineers.

Mr. Anderson. You were familiar with matters of accounting and construc-
tion and operating accounts prior to the war, were you?

Mr. GuisEL To a very large extent ;
yes. For a period of about 10 or 12 years

I was in active charge of production and manufacture of various types. And
as far as that is concerned, I was a student of the Taylor system and other
systems of that class.

Mr. Anderson. You spoke of linters as being purchased and improperly
charged to the Government. Will you explain a little more fully what you
mean there?

Mr. GxnsE. Linters were purchased by the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company
at a ceitain definite price, a price at this time, as I remember—no ; that was
shavings ; linters were purchased under a pool. Shavings were purchased by
the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company at a certain average price, and were
paid for or charged to the du Pont Engineering Company at a higher price than
the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company paid. In other words, there was some-
thing ovei- a cent a pound charged in there. I do not know—I expect Mr.
McLane i)robably has one bundle of those vouchers. I saw them the last time
I was in Washington, when I was first called in for an inquiry.

Mr. Anderson. Did you come across any instances where linters were charged
to tlu' United States at excessive weights?

32 Mr. Guise. We came across instances where it was impossible to recon-

cile carload weights with the invoice weights. You must remember that

we did not have any method whatever—we had no I'eceiving reports on com-
ponent materials ; we had carloads coming in there, but nothing else. The only
record we had was according to the railroad charges. There were times when
the invoic(>.s did not agree entirely witli the railroad total.
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You see, the question that we had in mind was to take those materials en
"bloc, as far as quantity was concerned, add up the total amount as invoiced of
linters, lor example, and the total railroad weights, and then tind out what the
gross discrepancy was. If we had SO.OOO pounds according to the sum total of
invoices for linters, and we had 49,000,000 pounds on the railroad weights, why,
we would validate the 40,000,000 pounds according to the railroad weights, and
let the contractor prove, by some method or other, that the one million pounds
discrepancy had been delivered.

Mr. And'EKson. Did you find any other instances that you now recall where
goods or materials were charged by the du Pont Engineering Company, con-
tracted from the du Pont de Nemours Company or other subsidiaries of that
company, at a profit?

Mr. Guise. That is rather diflBcult to determine. That question leads into an
item that we were told to drop when we started to investigate it, back during
the investigation of claims. It was considered as being such a large proposition
that we would not—it was not considered possible to do anything with it. That

was the question of nitrate of soda.
33 Mr. Anderson. As a matter of fairness to all persons concerned. I

would like to ask you vi'ho told you to drop it, and why?
^Ir. Guise. Why, we were informed by the Chief of the Philadelphia District

Claims Board that we had so many other things to take care of that it would
be rather difficult for us to take that up. and it ought to be taken up really

through Washington rather than as a district proposition, it being national in

character. The idea was that it was impossible to know what the cost to the
E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company was on nitrate of soda, and we did not
know whether they made any money indirectly through their agent. Hemem-
her. the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company furnishes all money to the du Pont
Nitrates Corporation ; they act purely and solely as their agent in handling the
transaction relative to nitrate of soda We do not know how much the E. I.

du Pont de Nemours Company made by those transactions. It would have been
impossible for us to go into that definitely and in detail.

A nitrate committee was set up, composed, as I remember, of three or four
importers of nitrate of soda, by the War Industries Board. They were given
full authority in relation to this. They worked in conjunction with an inter-

allied board overseas for the fixing of prices, and it was such a complex proposi-

tion that it would be almost interminable. I found out and reported just ex-
actly what the conditions were, and it was up to my superiors to take care of
that.

But so far as the price of nitrate of soda was concerned and the
34 charges made by the du Pont Engineering Company or the E. I. du Pont

de Nemours Company to the United States, we had not gotten to that part.

Each item was being taken up one after another, and it would be impossible,
without a very large force and a considerably larger number of technical men
than I had, to have gone through that any faster than we did. And I may add
we worked on the plan of the old Army game, thinking we were through, and
letting the other fellow handle it.

We had fixed prices on certain definite materials; we had variable prices

on certain other definite materials. The price of nitrate of soda varied from
month to month. The f. a. s. price was fixed through London, but the f. o. b.

price was, of course, fixed in New York, and to determine the f. o. b. meant
the reviewing of a large number of items that really were not in the possession
of anybody at Philadelphia, and probably not at Wilmington. The Nitrates
Corporation had some there. But we did review that item of costs ; it

had to be reviewed, and we did review it in conjunction with claims. They
were adjusted, though, during the claims audit. As I stated, in my opinion,

to have really cleared up the du Pont Engineering Company's contracts would
have required a continuous audit of a year to a year and a half longer than
we had already gone.

General Williams. It ran about that long, did it not?
Mr. Guise. Y'ou must rememlicr that the actual audit did not start until late

in 1919. and at the time I left it had not lasted one year. For a year and
about eight months cost accountants had been on this proposition, making

35 a very perfunctory audit, generally speaking. When the cost accounting
branch at the Wilmington office wanted the supporting vouchers at least

in behind those papers they did not have them.
The Chairman. It is almost one o'clock ; I think probably we had better

adjourn for lunch.
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Mr. Cabndtjff. I believe Major Guise has almost completed his statement.
Mr. Guise. I cannot say much more in relation to this. As far as details

are concerned, there are records pertainintr to this. There are records per-
taining to evei'.v voucher, so far as the disallowance or suspension is con-
cerned. Full and complete records were kept riglit along. As fast as we got
through with a proposition it was set aside. The du Pont Company was
notified when a voucher was thrown into suspense. In some cases they said,
" Oh, we had all the records." In other cases the statement was " We Lave
not got anything beyond what yoii have already got." It was plainly apparent,
the lack of interest on the part of E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company and
the du Pont Engineering Company as to the furnisliing of information, and
what you might call cooperation in general. We found some opposition in
relation to claims in the earlier stages ; we found no cooperation in relation

to the others.
I asked them where all these prime vouchers and supporting vouchers were.

They informed me they did not need to keep them ; they were not required
to keep anything but just simply general records. And as you know

—

36 at least, it was War Department procedure—we had to have reasonable
legal evidence to pay any vouclier, and that evidence had to be of a

kind that would be accepted, not only by the certifying officer but also by
the disbursing officer and by the Comptroller of the Treasury. I went so far
as to interview the Comptroller's office in relation to this, and they told me
that if we did not liave the evidence they would not accept it in a thousand
years, and the evidence was not there. That is the sum and substance of the
whole thing. In relation to personal exiJense vouchers, I requested the con-

tractor to give me an affidavit, signed by any responsible representative of
the contractor, that could be attached, that the expenditures for which tliey

asked reimbursement were necessary and required for the purpo.se of the
contract and that the expenditures had actually been made, and they refused
to give nie the affidavit. Well, if they, with their closer and more direct

knowledge than I had, could not do that, I certainly would hesitate very
much about certifying and validating an expenditure of that class. A reviewal
of those alone would have required three or four men for a period of several

months.
Expenditures were charged in personal expense vouchers for round-about

trips—I will even say holidays. Personal expense vouchers were rendered for

the transportation of other people on many of them, as far as that is con-

cerned, over and above the employee or his immediate family. It would be
impossible to cite all tlie instances. I remember one in particular wliere a

man was employed in New Jersey, and went out to Indiana and visited

37 a few days out there, and took his wife's father and mother to Nashville,

and the entire amount was cliarged. Of course, we get rather hard-
boiled in relation to vouchers, and it does not matter whether it is for a
dollar or a million dollars, our attitude toward that voucher is just the same.
This may not have amounted to more than eight or ten dollars, but there

were any number of otlier cases of that same character.

Colonel Hull. You do not Ivuow whether the suspension was ever removed
on that voucher or not, do you, sir?

Mr. Guise. I do not know anything about that. Those vouchers were thrown
into suspension until they were finally audited.

General Williams. I think that for the purpose of this committee the essen-

tial thing is what was finally done, not what the situation was in an inter-

mediate stage. I do not believe it is material what Major Guise did, if the
settlement was gone into by the agencies of the Government and agreement
was readied.

Mr. Anderson. I think, General, that the purpose of these gentlemen is to

present to us the series of steps, and then call Major Fnrr. who handled this

matter finally in relation to Colonel Hull, and develop what did take place in

the final analysis. These matters have been the subject of a great deal of dis-

cussion, and while it t;ik('s up a great amount of time to go through them I

think it would be just as well to go through them and dispose of them for all

time. Uidess we know how it started we do not know the process by which
it reached final adjustment.

38 General Williams. Are we concerned with anything more than the

sufficiency of tlie evidence on which payments were made? Are we con-

cerned with the process by which that evidence was gotten?
Mr. Anderson. I think we are concerned this far, that if, even in the best of

faith, there were errors made or evidence furnished of any other situation which
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required a final audit^—or it may be a simple accounting—against the du Pont
Engineering Company, it would be necessary for us to develop those facts here;
because we might, upon the final action taken, reach a conclusion on the subject
of whether there is necessity for a complete audit, or whether there is neces-
sity for an accounting different from what we might reach if we developetl
the situation from the beginning. It is just what each person discovers in

connection with it, taking each side.

So while we are at it I would suggest that we finish it ; that we begin at
the beginning and end at the close ; and then decide that we are going to have
an accounting or that we are going to close this case once for all. Because it

is coming up constantly at one end of the line—I do' not know whether it is

with you at the other—and there is hardly a day passes that somebody does
not come in with a complaint about the du Pont Engineering Company. So
I told Major Carnduff to go to the bottom of the thing from our standpoint
and let us know where we stand. It may be when we get through with it

we will find it has already been done.
Mr. Carnduff. Let me say, Colonel, that we did not initiate this.

39 Mr. Anderson. Oh, yes ; this was brought to my attention through the
district attorney originally, as a matter of fact, through these various

reports, and other sources.
The Chairman. Are there any other questions?
Colonel Htjll. I have a number of questions.
The Chairman. I think we had better suspend.
(Whereupon, at 1 : 10 o'clock p. m., a recess was taken until 2 o'clock p. m.)

40 AFTER RECESS

The committee resumed its session at 2 o'clock p. m. pursuant to the taking
of recess.

Mr. Anderson. Secretary Davis has informed me that he cannot be here until
about three o'clock, so we shall have to go ahead without him.
Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Chairman, as to a few matters in relation to the account-

ing phase of this investigation, Mr. Cameron, who investigated it for the Depart-
ment, has a few questions to direct to Major Guise.
Mr. Camexon. Major, did you make any examination to determine the receiv-

ing system at the Old Hickoi-y plant?
Mr. Guise. AN'hy, I went into it in a general way. I had put men at the plant

to examine into that matter in its entirety ; and, in fact, all invoices were for-

warded to Old Hickory with directions to the force at Old Hickory plant to
attach the receiving report where possible.

Mr. Cameron. But did you make any inquiry into the method of the receiving
of goods at the time the goods were received—the system that was in vogue of
the time the goods were received?
Mr. Guise. The receipt in general was taken up by the Du Pont Engineering

Company. The Army inspector of ordnance was supposed to be able to verify
their receipt of material, and did have checkers—insufficient in number to check
everything in its entirety : there was not any question about that.

Mr. Cameron. You did find, in your investigation, however, that the Du Pont
Engineering Company had checkers out in the yard?

41 Mr. Guise. They had checkers around various points in the plant, and
a considerable amount of material was actually checked in there. In

other cases it was unloaded in the field, and they took memoranda of it and
asked tlie field engineer to sign them.

Mr. Cameron. Who told you that, Major?
Mr. Guise. In that case it was an employee—an old employee of the Du Pont

Engineering Company.
Mr. Camekon. Do you remember his name?
Mr. Guise. I don't remember his name—working for the Ordnance Depart-

ment, one of our witnesses. Y"ou can refresh my memory
Mr. Carnduff. Bridwell?
IVIr. Guise. Bridwell. Bridwell was one of them.
Mr. Cameuon. Did you find also in making this inspection that the Govern-

ment had what were known as yard clerks and yard checkers?
Mr. Guise. They had checkers.
IMr. Cameron. Checkers out in the yard?
Mr. Guise. They had checkers in the yard also.

Mr. Cameeon. Did you make any investigation to find out what the duties of
those yard checkers were?
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Mr. Guise. The receipt of material—their duties are plainly defined so far as
the receipt of material is concerned—and the verification thereof by the Ord-
nance Department or, you might say, in the accounting branch of the War
Department. A checlier should be able to verify the receipt of materials charged
to or against the contractor

Mr. Cameron. I will expedite the matter by interrupting you. I really

42 was not asking what they should do. My question may not have been
phrased properly. I was not asking what they should do under the regu-

lations, but what your development was of what they did do.

Mr. GnsE. Why, they checked about 10' percent, as near as I could tell by all

the evidence it was posible to procure.
Mr. Camebon. Will yoi; tell us just how you came to the conclusion that these

checkers checked about 10 percent?
Mr. Guise. By examining tlie records and finding out the actual verification

of the receiving reports by Ordnance employees
Mr. Cameron. You base that conclusion, then, on the number of receipts that

you found which bore evidence that they had been signed by a yard clerk?
Mr. Guise. By Ordnance representatives.
Mr. Cameron. In the yard?
Mr. Guise. That would be impossible for me to determine. You must re-

member thi.s, that as far as the administration in the field was concerned it was
properly under the Ordnance ofiicer in charge. If he saw fit to have his men
check at a certain unloading point in the yard or anywhere else, he probably
would direct them to proceed to tliat point, and that service might require them
to be a mile away from the normal unloading point. But they could check
at that point as well as they could at the unloading platform or anywhere else.

I could not tell by the figures whether they were checking a car being unloaded
in the field or cliecking at a storehouse to be unloaded on platforms.

43 Mr. Cameron. But you did distinguish the receiving record which bore
evidence of having had some sort of independent checking as compared

with some sort of record wthich bore evidence of having been written in the
same longhand writing, beginning with the date and running right through to
the signatui-e?
Mr. Guise. You must remember this, that those did not bear any evidence of

having been checked by an Ordnance representative. These fabricated—I will

put it that way, plainly ; that is what I think tliey are. These fabricated
receiving records bore no evidence of having been presented to an Ordnance
Department representative.

Mr. Cameron. Major, were you ever told what records these receiving clerks

in the yards did have?
Mr. Guise. You mean Ordnance receiving clerks?
Mr. Cameron. Any clerks.

Mr. Guise. Ob, any clerks? Well, there was some particular form of card
used in connection with the direct receiving. There was a different form in
most of these fabricated reports. There was a different type of form entirely,

and no so-called " cliecker's card " accompanied the report.

Mr. Camebon. I hope, Major, you do not think I am trying to break down your
testimony
Mr. Guise. Oh, no.
Mr. Cameron. But I would like to ask you whether or not you recall having

been told of certain yard clerks in the Ordnance Department—that is, they were
representing the Government, receiving goods—had certain blank books,

44 blank receiving records, in which they would record the receipt of goods
as they came in at that station.

Mr. Guise. That is correct.
Mr. Cameron. Now, I want to ask you—you spoke of a fabricated receipt.

That is, because it was written in the same handwriting, because hundreds of
them were written in the same handwriting, to you that would suggest that that
was fabricated ; and by " fabricated " I understand you to mean that that was
not a valid receiving record?
Mr. Guise. So far as we could determine, it was a copy of the invoice.

Mr. Cameron. And do you know whether or not the du Pont Company gave
any instructions—or do you know whether anyone gave any instructions that
when these yard clerks. Ordnance clerks, or clerks representing the Government
in the yard, brought in their blank books it was the duty of the recoi-d clerks in
the receiving department, in the office, to make a transcript on the receiving
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form and attacli such transcript and form to tlK^ invoice after liaving evidenced
tlie receipt of goods in tlie yard?
Mr. Guise. AViiy, I liave no direct evidence tliat they ever did or did not. All

I know is that there were some valid receiving reports with the checker's card
attached. Tlie difference between a clerk in the field and a checker is this: A
checker was the man who received th.e goods and checked against tlie quantities.

The clerk was the man who transcribed only. I know that there were receiving

reports that had duplicate checker's cards. The checker's cards invariably, I

will say, so far as I examined them, had also a validation by the Ordnance
4a Department representative ; but that included only about 10 percent of

the total.

Mr. Cameron. Is the committee to understand that the checker's cards were
missing?

Mr. Guise. Well, the checker's cards were not there. They undoubtedly were
missing.

Mr. Cameron. And an investigation was made to locate them?
]Mr. Guise. Oli, yes ; we looked everywhere.
Mr. Camebon. And inquiry was made of the du Pont Company?
Mr. Guise. The du Pont Company stated that they had left all these records

behind, in charge of the Ordnance Department representative, and they were
not further interested.

Mr. Carxduff. Do you know wliether there ever were any such checker's
cards?

Mr. Guise. I have no evidence in either direction ; they were not in the files.

Mr. Carnduff. Your assumption is that there was a 10-percent check, is

it not?
Mv. Guise. That was the actual order given by the Ordnance representative

in the field.

IMr. Carnduff. Will you state what that order was, as you understand it?

Mr. Guise. I cannot give it verbatim. In general, it was that on account of
tlie impossibility of checking everything there they had decided to make a

ten-percent check and pass the other 90 percent on the basis of the 10-
46 percent check.

Mr. Carnduff. And it was understood that this 10-percent check was
at the actual time the goods were received?

Mr. Guise. Well, that is not definitely stated in the memorandum sent out.
Copies of that are attached to my final report on this particular proposition.
While I have not go any direct evidence that the 10-percent check was the only-

check made by the checkers in the field, we have no documentary evidence to
the effect that any check was made.

Mr. Cameron. Upon what do yon base your opinion that only 10 percent
were checked?

Mr. Guise. Well, because the man in charge, the ofiicer in charge, stated
that that was what he was going to do ; that he intended to confine himself
to a 10-percent check.
General Williams. You were down there about 2 years after the thing was

completed, were you not—after the material was received?
Mr. Guise. About a year or a year and a half, I should say. It varied from

a year to a year and a half.

General Williams. So you are just telling us the gossip that you heard
around the plant?

Mr. Guise. Oh, no ; I am telling you what I found in the files, and I have
also the documentary evidence as to the statements made by the oflScer in
charge.

General Williams. But you are testifying here as to instructions that were
given, as I understand?

47 Mr. Guise. The written instructions were in the file to that effect.

General Williams. As to what was done in the matter of checking up
these goods as received you have no first-hand information, apparently?

Mr. Guise. Only documentary evidence and affidavits.

Genei'al Williams. And gossip that you heard?
Mr. Guise. Well, and affidavits also. You see, the only way I could find

out—I tried to ascertain why there were not more records and more definite

certification as to the receipt of materials on the invoices or on the receiving
reports accompanying them.

General Williams. Did you investigate any of the circumstances under
which this material was received, as to whether or not there was any conges-
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tion of cars, delay in handling, and so on, expedition being one of the prin-
cipal things

Mr. Guise. Yes, that is correct.

Mr. Anderson. Who was the ordnance officer in charge of field construction?
Mr. Guise. Captain Foulke.
Mr. Andebson. Is he still in the Army?
Mr. Guise. I know nothing against his character whatsoever.
Mr. Anderson. I mean, is he still in the Anny?
Mr. Guise. Oh, no, sir. No, sir ; he was a temporary officer.

Mr. Anderson. I did not mean in asking that question to imply that there
was any suggestion of anything against him.

48 Mr. Guise. I know nothing personally against the man whatsoever, as
far as his character or anything else is concerned.

Mr. Cameron. Major, you were telling us about a shortage in weights of
materials, which you endeavored to reconcile by tracing the cars?

Mr. Guise. Not necessarily shortage in weights. That was only determined
in gross, while we had large amounts of materials coming in.

Mr. Cameron. I speak of the point in your testimony in which you referred
to reconciliation en bloc from bills or invoices
Mr. Guise. That is right.

Mr. Cameron. And I think you referred to weights, did you not?
Mr. Guise. Yes.
Mr. Cameron. What was the purpose of that reconciliation?
Mr. Guise. So as to determine absolutely the amount of materials received

at the plant.

Mr. Camesjon. According to the invoices?
Mr. Guise. No; to determine the actual amount; to ascertain the actual

amount, so far as we could, from the railroad records of various materials
that were delivered at the plant, regardless of the invoices. Then by taking en
bloc the weights as shown on the invoices against the amounts shown by the
railroad's records we would be able to indicate a shortage or an overage.

Mr. Camebon. And in instances you did indicate shortages and over-

ages?
49 Mr. Guise. We could not reconcile on certain shipments

Mr. Cameron." But en bloc?
Mr. Guise. En bloc we never had gotten to that point. But we knew there

were shortages ; there were shortages so far as the invoice records as against
card records were concerned. We had not determined as to shortages en bloc.

Mr. Cameron. You remember having heard, I imagine, in this investigation

some rather grave charges with reference to some freight-rate manipulations,
do you not?

Mr. Guise. There were some radical variations in freight rates, which jt was
impossible for us to reconcile, but those had (not?)* been reviewed and audited
at the time I left. I will carry it further. The railroad companies themselves
had agreed, and, in fact, were perfectly willing to hand back a consid-

erable amount of overcharges that they had made, on account of a reviewal
of their books in connection with overcharges. But there had not been any
other review of the freight rates at the time I left.

Mr. Cameuon. Assuming then that there were gross irregularities in the
freight rates

General Williams. Why should we assume that? Why should we assume
fraud before it is proven?

Mr. Cameron. I am not going to assume any fraud in this inquiry. If you
will permit him to answer this question you will at once know
General Williams. Well, is it necessary for you to phrase your question that

way?
Mr. Cameiron. I think it is. Assuming irregularities in the invoices and

weights, .irregularities as between invoices and freight bills, I want to
50 show that the witness could not reconcile weights on invoices with the

freight bills. I want to show that it will be impossible to reconcile the
weights charged for in the invoices with the freight bills and assume at the
same time that the freight bills were grossly irregular.

Mr. Anderson. I do not quite follow you. Mr. Cameron.
Mr. Cameron. Assuming, for instance. Colonel Anderson, that there were

gross irregularities in the freight bills—and those charges have been made;

(Not) Inserted in pencil in original.
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but that is not A charge against the War Department, that is h6t a Charge
•against any officer or official of the Government

General Williams. We are not here to consider only the War Department's
side of it, but the contractor's side of it

Mr. Camekon. I will also say that this is no reflection in any manner, di-

rectly or indirectly, on the contractor.

General Williams. It is in my mind, the way I see it.

Mr. Cameron. I am sorry if I have not made myself plain.

General Williams. I object to your question and the phrasing of it.

Mr. Anderson. See if you cannot phrase it a little differently, without as-

suming anything that is involved.
Mr. Carnduip. If I may be permitted, I think the Louisville & Nashville

Railroad have voluntai-ily offered to refund .$27,0<K), if we agree to take it,

so we assume there must have been something irregular when the railroatl

company on its own volition is willing to return that sum to us.

51 General Williams. That in my mind is not an argument. Errors may
perfectly well enter into an accounting.

Mr. Anderson. Suppose you put your question this way : Assuming there
were errors in freight charges, then what would follow?—instead of "irregu-
larities." The word " irregularities " implies something that is out of the
ordinary. Errors in freight charges are very ordinary.

Mr. McLane. May I interrupt there? The witness has stated that he found
gross irregularities in the freight charges. That is a positive statement. Now,
there could not be any assumption in Mr. Cameron's question, taking a state-

ment of fact and applying it. This witness has stated that he found gross
irregularities in freight rates.

Mr. Anderson. Would it not be just as effective for the purpose of the record
if we said there were errors in freight charges?

Mr. Cameron. I am quite sure it would be to me.
Mr. Anderson. All right ; let us have it that way. An error is an iri*egu-

larity in one sense, but it is not a fraudulent irregularity.

Mr. CAME210N. Assuming, Major, that there were errors in the freight
bills-
Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Mr. Cameron. Then the reconciliation between the weights as shown on the
invoices and the weights as shown on the railroad freight bills would amount
to nothing in the way of an audit?

Mr. Guise. It w^ould immediately throw the question in doubt.
52 Mr. Cameron. That is all I wanted to ask you about that.

Mr. Guise. You must remember, however, as I explained, that the only
record of any description that we had in relation to the component mate-
rials as far as the i-eceipt was concerned, checked against statements of the
contractor—that is, the invoices as presented—was the freight bills, or the
books—that is what we checked up. We did not take the freight bills ; we took
the books of the Louisville & Nashville and went into questions of demurrage
and everything at the same time. That w\is the only way we had to even come
near checking against the quantities shown on the invoices.

Mr. CAMEa?oN. Major, you made a voluntary statement with respect to the
cost of operation, and you used the expression that a mere presentation of the
balance sheet would show nothing.

Mr. Gxn&E, No; unless supported by the primary evidence complete. A pre-
sentation of an account is simply a statement made by an interested party as to
expenditures claimed.

Mr. Cameron. Were you called upon to audit the cost of operation?
Mr. Guise. That was not started at the time I left. We were beginning to

audit quantities.
Mr. Cameron. But did you not make the statement that it could not be done

now?
Mr. Guise. I do not think that a real audit, on account of the lack of records,

could be made now—definitely and legally audited : I will put it that way.
Mr. Cameron. Did you evpr see the books of the du Pont Engineering

Company?
53 Mr. Guise. No.

Mr. Cameron. You never saw the operation accounts of the du Pont
Engineering Company?
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Ml-. Guise. The only statement ever given to me by the du Pont Engineering
Company was a general balance sheet.

Mr. Cameron. And when you mean it could not be done you mean on anything
you had ever seen?

Mr. Guise. You must remember this, that when we come to the question of a
dehnite audit, we do not only audit the books of the company. I do not mean
day-book records of the cost of operation, or the original pay rolls and material
accounting at the factory. A ledger or a journal, for a definite accounting is

—

when I say " fabricated " you understand, gentlemen, I do not mean that it is a
false account ; it is a fabricated account, built of many memoranda and day-
book charges, and those are the legal evidence.

Mr. Camehon. Major, I am not going into any discussion of accounting with
you, but I am going to tell you that I do not agree with you. However, I am
not going to enter into any discussion with you.

Mr. Guise. You put a man's ledger up in front of a court and see what it

amounts to without something back of it.

Mr. Cameron. I was just trying to get, for the sake of the committee, some
intimation that you made with respect to the audit of the cost of operation.

Mr. Guise. You can undoubtedly get it in the du Pont Engineering Company's
records at Wilmington. They undoubtedly would have full accounts—that is,.

ledger accounts—of the cost of operation at Old Plickory. I am speaking
54 now of ledger accounts.

General Williams. I would like to ask you. Major, a question al)out

the cost of itowder. You said, I think, that you did not think the cost of iK)wder
was less than 80-and-some-odd cents a pound.
Mr. Guise. Sir?
General Williams. I think you gave it as your opinion the cost of the powder

was not less than something like Sb cents a pound.
Mr. Guise. Averaging it through on their claimed cost.

General Williams. In arriving at your estimate did you make allowance for

the surplus material that was left in stock?
Mr. Guise. No ; and there were several million dollars worth of that left

there. I just roughed it off. I would have to modify that statement to that
extent. If inventories were taken out you would find though. General, that you
would still run your operating cost higher than any price we paid for powder
along in that time of the year, that is all.

General Williams. That is entirely susceptible, I take it, of closer examina-
tion ?

Mr. Guise. I will acknowledge the error made there ; that was a definite error ;

I should have correct inventories, and those we had not reviewed to any extent,

although we knew approximately what they were.
Colonel Hull. Major, you were foi- some time in charge of this reaudit the

War Department ordered in 1919, were you not?
Mr. Guise. I was not in definite charge; only in a general way. The

55 accounting branch was, as you know, rather independent. I did not control

their activities.

Colonel Hull. Who was put in charge of tliat to start with?
Mr. Guise. You mean of the cost accounting branch?
Colonel Hull. Yes; of the reaudit?
Mr. Guise. Well, so far as the contracting officer's and commanding officer's

end was concerned, I had that—the supervising cost accounting. At the time

I took charge
Colonel Hull. During the fall of 1919?
Mr. Guise. During the fall of 1919 tliere were several

Colonel HuxL. Cobb was in charge of the work, wasn't he?
Mr. Guise. Cobb was in general charge of it.

Colonel Hull. And that audit work was directed by Mr. Door, wasn't it?

Mr. Guise. I believe that was tlie name.
Colonel Hull. Were you one of the ])arties that came down from Philadelphiii

and recommended a complete audit of that matter?
Mr. Guise. I made a recommendation at Philadelphia.

Colonel Hull. You made the recommendation in writing at Philadelphia?

Mr. Guise. Yes. I don't remember now ; I came to Washington two or three

times, and I might have talked to Mr. Door, but I was not in the conference.

Colonel Hull. But anyway the War Department did direct a complete exam-
ination of all these matters?
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Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Colonel HiyLL. And you were put in charge of one feature of it, and
56 Mr. Cobb was put in charge of the contracting feature.

Mr. Guise. Cobb took general oversight. Of course, he had supt-rvisiug

accountants that were doing the work.
Colonel Hull. And that work was ordered in the fall of 1919, and started

about January of 1920, did it not?
Mr. Guise. Some of the work was started immediately. That was more

properly a reviewal and examination of conditicms to ascertain how far we
could go in the matter of records and other things of that kind.

Colonel Hull. The class of men that Cnbb put on that accounting work
were competent, so far as you know?

Mr. Guise. Generally speaking, I think they were competent ; yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. You were given a free hand to go into any question of irregu-
larity or impropriety of any kind, weren't you?

Mr. Guise. Up to the limit of my field force.

Colonel Hull. What I mean is, you were not circumscribed in any way
Mr. Guise. I was directed by the Philadelphia district chief to continue on

claims primarily rather than to take up contracts at the time that I started
to work on the contracts. The claims were considered preeminent at that
time.

Colonel Hull. I came into the work along about .Tune 1920. Your W(u-k was
under full headway at that time, wasn't it?

Mr. Guise. Yes. sir.

Colonel Hull. Do you remember that along about June 1920 tlie War Depart-
ment was a little circumscribed for funds?

57 Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. And the Philadelphia board aske<l for $300,000 to con-
tinue their work?

Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. Do you remember your estimate at that time as to when your
work of investigating the du Pont Engineering Company's reaudit would be
completed ?

Mr. Guise. I do not know.
Colonel Hull. Suppose I told you—which is my recollection—you said it

would be completed by December 31, 1920—that that was your estimate in

June?
Mr. Guise. I did expect it at that time. I had not gone into every detail, of

course.
Colonel Hull. You had been on the reaudit, however, for 6 months at that

time, and you had been working on it for a year.
Mr. Guise. Not myself.
Colonel Hull. I mean on the du Pont Engineering Company.
Mr. Guise. As I stated, for a long period of time I devoted all my effurts to

trying to clear up claims. We had $400,000,000 to review there to get $30,000,-
000 claims completed. We had to go into contracts back in 1917 on the E. I.

du Pont de Nemours matters and had to go into many other things preceding
that audit.

Colonel Hull. Do you remember a long report which you made—I think it

was in .July 1920—on the du Pont Engineering Company matter, in which
you recited all the irre.gularities and the different lines that the work should

take? That was in July 1920, wasn't it?

58 i\Ir. GuTSE. It may have been.
Colonel Hull. Have you a copy of that, Major Booton?

Major BooTON. Yes.
Colonel Hull (handing paper to witness). You made this report, didn't you,

along about 1920?
air, Guise. Yes. sir—that was May.
Colonel Hull. It was May, wasn't it?

Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. You had done considerable work on the du Pont Engineering
Company matter by May then?

Mr. Guise. Yes ; that is correct.

Colonel Hull. And this is an outline of your views at that time?
Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.
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Colonel Hull. So in June, when you said it would be completed in December
1920 you were pretty familiar with tlie general aspects of the case?

Mr. Guise. Yes. I did not expect, however, to be cut like we were in per-

sonnel. We were cut down pretty heavily after .Tune, you know. We had to

let quite a number of people go, to be able to hold enough money to complete
claims.

Colonel Hm.L. The Philadelphia Ordnance Board at that time, in June, when
you said you would complete it in December, asked for $300,000?

Mr. Guise. Yes.

Colonel Hull. And you were given $300,000 in June?
Mr. Guise. A large percentage of that was used for claims work alone, not

for this contract,

no Colonel Hull. Well, Philadelphia was also recommending this same
work, wasn't it?

Mr. Guise. Well, I assume so, but they were entirely

Colonel Huix. Mr. Jones was working there

Mr. Guise. I know the allotment for contracts was cut for Philadelphia at

that time.
Colonel Hull. But I say, Mr. Jones was in favor of this i-eaudit?

Mr. Guise. Decidedly so.

Colonel Hull. Then you remember that that $300,000 was rapidly expended?

Mr. Guise. We were aware of it along in September.

Colonel Hull. And Philadelphia asked for an additional allotment, and in

September you made an estimate as to when the work would be completed?

Mr. C.uisE. I may have at that time. I don't remember the exact time.

Colonel Hull. I 'think the records will show that in September you said

that if you continued the work the way it was going tt would be completed

in March, if Philadelphia was then given the money that they requested.

Mr. Guise. I expected that it would be completed In March.

Colonel Hull. And you stayed on the work until when?
ilr. Guise. I stayed—I was discharged Novembei^ 30th, and I stayed in a

civilian capacity for one month, clearing up various matters pertaining to

both contracts and claims.

Colonel HLT.L. And all the evidence of any irregularities, all suspen-

CO sions and everything, was of record when you left Washington?

Mr. Guise. Up to that time; yes.

Colonel Hull. And you turned the work over to whom?
Mr. Guise. That was turned over to Mr. Peebles.

Colonel Hull. Mr. Peebles has been an employee of yours prior to that time;,

had he not?
Mr. Guise. Yes, sir. ^ • ^ •

Colonel Hull. You left after Peebles and Youmans had been trained in-

the work, did you not?
Mr. Guise. I did.

Colonel Hull. And the work was turned over to them, was it not?

Mr. GuTSE. Yes. , ^, ,
.,

Colonel Hull. And as far as you know, they continued the work exactly on-

the same lines that you had planned it and laid it out?
^ , „ -..^

Mr GuiSF I don't know. I don't know anything about what Youmans did.

I <lon't know what Peebles did after I left. I assume, though, that the general-

method of procedure was about the same.

Colonel Hurx. Now. when you came to suspending a voucher—you sa> you

had about $18,000,000 worth of vouchers suspended. I presume that in tne-

urdinarv work you would at times suspend a voucher awaiting an explana-

tion, and if the ex].lanation was sufficient you would remove the suspension.

A,Ti' O tttr*r *V^p^ Sit*

Colonel Hull.' So that a suspension meant merely that this voucher was-

questioned until some further action?
. .v, * -^ „,«.,«- ir^^n «ii«!

61 Mr Guise. Suspending a voucher simply meant that it went into sus-

pense. A disallowance of a voucher meant that it was considered not

applicable to the contract for some reason or other, or an illegal payment, or

something of that kind.
, . . ,. i.- f 4-i,„ riio,-,»<= nn-^rii''

Colonel Hl-ll. You also worked under the jurisdiction of the Claims Boara.

Coio?e?Hu^^\rPhiladelphia and Washington? So your decisions on the-

question as to what was a legal payment or not a legal payment ^^as not

supposed to be final, was it?

Mr. Guise. No.
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Colonel HuxL. Only tentative?
Mr. Guise. Only a tentative proposition.

Colonel Htnx. And on the question of whether it vpas a legal payment, you
would naturally expect your decisions to be questioned and have that passed
on as a legal matter?

Mr. Guise. Oh, yes. I simply objected to what was to me a false certification,

that is all.

Colonel Hull. So that this item of $18,000,000, if you had stayed there, might
have been cleared up, or might have been increased?

Mr. Guise. It might have been increased or reduced ; that is right.

Colonel Hull. You spoke a while ago about destruction of records.
Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. If I may I would like to have a little more detailed informa^
tion on tliat. Colonel Anderson.

62 Mr. Anderson. Certainly ; make any inquiry you wish.
Colonel Hull. I would like to have a little more in detail what you

personally know of the destruction of records.
Mr. Guise. The point as far as destruction of records is concerned is this.

In making the examination of records we found that a large number of what
I call primary records were missing, as I stated before. We found that at
the time—now, remember this is an evidential statement, and not, of course,
my own observation. Affidavits were made to this effect, however, that at
the time the Du Pont Company left they transferred a large number of records
to Wilmington—selected ; that there were some records bundled up and—this

is hearsay, based on affidavits too—that there were some records that were
taken out and burned. What they were we do not know. I do know this

Colonel Hull. Do you know anything of your own personal knowledge?
Mr. Guise. All I do know is that there were many primary records that we

did find, particularly on the operating end, that were partially destroyed by
acid and illegible, and others mixed up with waste paper, and other things of
that kind. We found, in fact—and this is no reflection on General Horney,
General Williams, I will say that. He had some help down there that was not
any too good. We rescued some records from being destroyed by the Ordnance
Office employees, after the place was taken over.

Colonel HuT.L. Do you mean that these records, formerly in the possession
of the Du Fonts, had been turned over to the Government?

63 Mr. Guise. They were piled in sheds, mixed up in every way. We
picked up some down in the operating departments. We picked up

some, as I stated, under buildings.
Colonel Hull. But I mean, that was after the buildings and the documents and

everything had been turned over to the Ordnance Department?
Mr. GxnsE. The buildings and documents and everything at Old Hickory

had been tui'ned over to the Ordnance Department.
Colonel Hull. How long had they been in the possession of the Ordnance

Department at the time you noticed that?
Mr. Guise. Oh, about six months. I had the statement made there that

they had not done anything with these records, however—from an Army
officer, the information that those records had not been moved from the time
they took it over—that is, these papers.

Mr. Anderson. Wiiere are those affidavits of which you spoke?
Mr. Guise. Why, I assume that some of them are—I do not know whether

you have them in your possession or not [addressing Mr. McLane] ?

Mr. McLane. I have not.
Mr. Guise. They were in the files. I had affidavits in the files, a dozen of

them I should say, that we left behind, under the Du Pont Engineering and
Old Hickory contract.
Mr. ANDBaisoN. You left those down there?
Mr. GnsE. The files were left in your possession

Colonel Hull. They are right here.
64 Mr. GmsB. You have the files right here?

Colonel Hull. Not all of them.
Mr. GuisEi. Those affidavits were on file ; that is all I can say. I did not take

away—there is only one thing that I kept when I left, and that was a copy of
my final report.

Colonel Hull. Did you follow up that question of the destruction of records'?
Mr. Guise. I was infonned by the du Pont Company that they did not take

care of any records except those they thought necessary.
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Mr. Andekson. Do you recall who made that statement to you on account of
the du Pont Company?
Mr. Guise. Why, most of the statements of that kind were made by Mr. Broad,

the comptroller at that time; that is all I can say.

General Williams. Would anybody keep the records that they did not con-

sider necessary, Major? I don't do it.

Mr. Guise. No ; but these were not du Pont engineering records, in a sense

;

they were United States records. They had been instructed in the early
stages—that is in the records of a conference held at Wilmington, that they
were fully conversant with the type of records that were required by the
Ordnance Department or the War Department for the validation of payments.

Colonel Hull. Major, you have not stated anything here today, as I recall,

that was not in .your report of May 20, have you, in the main? You touched
on those items?

Mr. Guise. Why, in general. Of course, we had a considerable amount
65 more information, I think—have you my final report there?

Major BooTON. Yes ; we have several copies.

Mr. Guise. In my tinal report I think I covered tliat, practically.

Colonel Hull. Now, take up the question of what you call a fabricated
report

Mr. Anderson. Befoi'e you leave that subject, let me ask this. Y"ou said
something about finding records under buildings. Were these important records,
original records, or what?
Mr. Guise. They were bills of lading and records of that class more than

an.vthing else—shipping records.

Mr. Anderson. How did you happen to find them under those floors?

Mr. Guise. W^e were looking for records, and we pulled off a board and got
down under and got them out. That is all there was to it.

Mr. Carnduff. Have you any evidence about the destruction of several hun-
dred records b.v Sergeant Coffin?
Mr. Guise. Only the statements made. I have no direct evidence.
Mr. Carnduff. We will pass that now ; we have another witness on that.

Colonel Hltll. Let us take up the question of fabricating vouchers, which
you have mentioned several times. Y'ou went into that quite thoroughly, did
you not?

Mr. Guise. I spent about two days reviewing it before I made any
66 statement that they v/ere fabricated ; yes, sir—down at the plant. I

went through the files yiretty thoroughly. I will not say I examined all

of the files. I had not gone there for the purpose of going into detail on that.

Colonel Hull. Was there a false statement in these vouchers?
Mr. Gx'isE. It was impossible to state, sir. The only way you can determine

anything about the quantity of material that would be received, as against the
invoice, would be by a definite check made by somebody, indicating" the shortage
or O. K. As far as I was concerned, the validation of the receipt of material
on a receiving slip or the original invoice, if endorsed on the back by a repre-
sentative of the Ordnance Department, that would carry it.

Colonel Hull. Did you make any statement to the du Fonts that they were
manufacturing vouchers?

Mr. Guise. It Avas discussed with Mr. Coyne, the vice president in charge of—
it seemed to be impossible for anybody to know anything about it. It was not
absolutely denied, and it was not accepted as being the truth, either way.

Colonel Hull. Did you give any instruction about taking that matter to the
district attorney?

Mr. Guise. No, sir ; I did not consider we were to appoint—in fact, I would
not do it ; I would not have taken it to anybody except through the War Depart-
ment, through my chief.

Colonel IltrLL. Did .vou consider taking it up, with the idea of taking it to
the district attorney—-that is, through channels?

Mr. Gt-irb. Throuu-h channels? That particular thing?
G7 Col<;nel Hull. Yes.

]\Ir. GrisE. Why. I tliink I would hesitate until I had more complete
evidt nee all the w:iy (hroiieh. I would want to finish up, so we would know how
much in bulk there was, and have direct evidence.

Colonel HuT>L. So you had not given that any real cnnsideration up to the
time .you left the Government employ?

Ml'. Guise. You mean about carrying it up to the district attorney?
Colonel HuT.L. Yes.
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Mr. Gl'ise. Oh, no. I may have been rather rigid in my ideas, hut I should
never have made any move in that direction myself except through channels.

I shnuld consider it my duty to bring it to the attention—of course, these

matters were brought to the attention of the Ordnance Department. If you will

remember, the thing that I wanted—now, this is positive, and it is recommended
in my May report. What I wanted to have put on there was the equivalent of a
summary court, to examine into the evidence for the Ordnance Department, or

for the War Department, either way you please, and see whether the conditions

were such that they should be taken up and whether there was any definite

fraud present that would invalidate the contract.

Colonel Hull. When you took the checking of the cars, where you had the

bills of lading and invoices, and no receipt on file, you say you went back to the

freight weights?
Mr. Guise. AVe made up a complete tabulation of a year's deliveries into the

Old Hickory yard.
68 Colonel Hull. On some of those items in carload lots you compared the

invoices with the car weights, did you not?
Mr. Guise. Yes. In some cases there were discrepancies.

Colonel Hull. How did they run on the whole?
Mr. Guise. Oh, theie were cases where it was impossible—well, you must

remember that the block had not been completed when I left.

Colonel Hull. I mean outside of the block were you not comparing certain

items?
Mr. Guise. We found a great many that were practically correct, some cor-

rect, and some incorrect. Some were under and some were over. I should
say we did find up to the time that I left that they would run a little under
rather than over—up to that time. But we were tabulating—that was not taken
up until late in 1920, because we had gotten to a point where certainly we could
not get any evidence in any other way.
The original audit was made purely on construction. All of our investigation

was on construction. The operation was not started. In fact, late in 1920 we
had about made up our minds that it would be rather diflScult to do anything
except get rather close to an audit ; that we could not make a complete audit on
that.

Colonel Hull. I will ask you this question, to clear up the record, because
from the questions there seems to be some misunderstanding : When the property
came in the du Fonts were supposed to have a check on the property coining in,

were they not?
Mr. GuiSB. Yes.

69 Colonel Hull. That was their check?
Mr. Guise. Yes.

Colonel HuTx. And they were to check until they were satisfied that the prop-
erty was received—that is, theoretically?

.

Mr. Guise. Yes.
Colonel Hull. And then the Ordnance Department had a limited force of

checkers?
Mr. Guise. Yes.
Colonel Hull. And they made a 10-percent check of the property?
Mr. Guise. That is it.

Colonel Hull. And then the du Fonts had an accounting system, and they
were supposed to make a complete accounting, and during 1917 and 1918 the
Government made a 10-percent spot check of that, too? Wasn't that true?

Mr. Gltisb. Finance never makes a 10-percent spot check.
Colonel Hull. But was not that what the Government was doing through

1920?
Mr. Guise. You must remember that the I'eimbursement of expense for labor

and materials paid by Finance—that an officer's signature must certify that the
account is correct. The reimbursement, as far as Finance was concerned, was
made out on a public voucher, stating it was correct ; and so far as the check-up
back of that was concerned, I do not think it was even 10 percent.

Colonel Hull. This is also true, is it not, that the vouchering of the
70 Government got away behind the exi^enditures of the du Pont people?

Mr. Guise. Oh, I had a reviewal of that. I made a definite reviewal
of how far back they were, and I will say definitely that there was no time
that they did not have reasonable funds in bank. My record of that is in

the files. I had a yearly statement from the du Pont Company as to the
amount of funds that it would require.

83876—35—PT 14 15
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Colonel Hull. I mean, the advances of the du Fonts were greater than they
expected, because they had expected to use that $18,000,000 as a revolving
fund, had they not?

Mr. Guise. They had more than $18,000,000; I think they had $37,000,000
on construction.

Colonel Hull. I mean, $18,000,000 was the original amount?
Mr. Guise. They had another advance later on of $18,750,000.
Colonel Hull. And had another advance, because the accounting got behind?
Mr. Guise. There was nothing in the records that showed it was far enough

behind for that. They were behind in getting invoices through. According
to copies of their own letters, they directed that they be shoved through faster.

That is all I know about it.

Colonel Hull. That was perfectly proper, for the head office to send an
order
Mr. Guise. Oh, certainly ; but the point was this. I think they strained it

pretty well down at Nashville about that time. I think that is where the
question of clerical check came up. You must remember this, that in

71 any investigation of where work has been completed, the affidavits and
statements made by people on the ground, supported fairly close by

ocular evidence, has to be accepted to some extent ; and in this case the informa-
tion given was given by people who were working for the du Pouts at the
time. It was volunteered, I will say that, when we were trying to find out
about why these records were there. I think they began to make up these
so-called fabricated records when they got behind in their invoices. They
could not get the checking through fust enough. You must remember this,

that so far as I was concerned, in my stand on the proposition, I had no
recourse except to follow—I was not settling a claim and I had no compromise

;

it was an audit to be made. Certain definite things had to be done and certain

definite information had to be given. The support had to be there to validate
a certification to the Finance Division, and it was not there. Now, if there
was any doubt in my mind as to the validity of evidence presented, I sus-

pended the account as far as that was concerned.
Colonel Hull. So if the best evidence was not attached to the papers, the

voucher was suspended?
Mr. Guise. And in a great many cases there was not any real evidence

attached.
Colonel Hull. But you would suspend the voucher?
Ml". Guise. I would suspend the voucher. You must remember this. I did

not have any discretion. I was not transcendent as far as my powers were
concerned. There were people beyond me that might possibly do something in

the line of eliminating my difficulties, but what I was there for was
72 to guard against any possibility of payments being made that were

contrary to the evidence and not according to either the contract or the
law.

Colonel Hull. Let us get that perfectly clear. Did you ever hear of a big
freight jam down there—did you tell the general—something that happened
at Nashville like happened down at Tampa in the Spanish-American War,
when they carried more freight cars in there than they could unload?
Mr. Guise. Why, I heard they kept a number of cars ahead. I don't think

they ever told me that they had over 600 at one time ahead of the unloaders.
Colonel Hull. Did you ever hear of them spending a couple of weeks down

there—checkers and everybody-—alongside of the tracks, trying to break tliat

freight jam?
Mr. Guise. That was in the early stages ; it was not after the yards were

finished. No ; I don't know as I did—anything quite as bad as that.
Colonel Hull. Did you ever hear of anything like that?
Mr. Guise. I have heard of some interfei'once with deliveries there—that

they had to unload in some cases and get the stuff right over into the field

where they needed it right away, without a chance to check it.

Colonel Hull. And under those circumstances, under your authority as you
understood it, you would have suspended every one of those vouchers?
Mr. Guise. Yes.
Colonel Hull. Would there be anything improper in the Government getting

a reimbursement contract and passing the du Pont expenditures on that
property ?

73 Mr. Guise. Under a contract auilit I do not think there is anything
to do except to complete the audit in accordance with the regulations.
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But the fill Fonts had the final—on the final clean-up, we will say, there was
$10,000,000 in suspense. The contract had been audited, and there was
$10,000,000 suspended. Then it was a question for them to put their evidence
before a board—the audit is complete, and we have not found evidence
sufficient to pay that money.

Colonel Hull. I think, Major, you would save time if you would hear the

question read.

Mr. Guise. What was the question?
(Tlie reix>rter repeated the last preceding question as above recorded.)

Colonel Hull. That is, the property that was unloaded in a jam and taken
up and used.

Mr. Guise. I know ; but you cannot carry that through the entire period

Tills one particular thing?
Colonel Hull. Yes.
Mr. Guise. Remember, I am taking it as an officer of the United States, you

understand. The only thing I can say is that it would not be proper to pass
that expenditure.

General Williams. Suppose you view it as a matter of common sense
instead. What would you say then?

Mr. Guise. That is entirely different. That is claims ; that is not contracts.

You understand my point? You must remember, there you have got the two
cases, claims and contracts. I have compromised, myself, on claims, but I

am darned if I would on contracts. You leave a loophole there and you
74 don't know how far you will go. I will tell you what I told Mr.

Coyne, the vice president that I dealt with. I said they did a wonderful
piece of engineering down there, and a damned poor piece of financing.

Mr. Carndutf. Major Guise, as an officer of the United States, did you have
any discretion to pass claims?

Mr. Guise. I was not a claims auditor. I had no authority to do anything
except what the law and the regulations called on me to do there. You must
remembei-—there may have been some officer that would have, but suppose
there were. I may have been a little bit stiff necked in that direction. I did
not liave any o. s. d. proposition to wipe out that end of it.

Colonel Hull. On the question of the cost of making powder down there,

you have it 80 cents a pound, dividing the cost by the amount produced. In
answer to General Williams' question you stated that, of course, that price

would have to be reduced by the amount of goods on hand—the inventory.

I would like to state for the record that I understand there was about 70,000
tons of nitrate of soda left there. Is that correct?

Mr. Guise. That is rather large I think, for Nashville.

Colonel Hull. What was the approximate cost of the nitrate of soda?
Mr. Guise. At that time?
Colonel Hull. Yes.
Mr. Guise. A little over four cents, I think—four and a quarter wasn't it?

General Williams. About $90 to $100 a ton.

75 Colonel Hull. About $90 to $100 a ton. Have you any idea how many
hundred tons of cotton linters were on hand?

Mr. Guise. That was not so large. I don't remember. The values there
should have been reduced.

Colonel Hull. That was cost though, wasn't it?

Mr. Guise. Yes. There was a pool fund that should have come out of that
to a material amount.

Colonel Hull. Would you say there was anything like 23 million pounds
of cotton linters tliere?

Mr. Guise. There might have been that, approximately, I should say.

Colonel Hull. Do you know how many gallons of alcohol?
Mr. Guise. No ; only what I found there, at the time I visited the plant.

Colonel Hull. Suppose there was 190,000 gallons of alcohol, several hundred
tons of sulphur, and a great amount of platinum

Mr. Guise. But the platinum—those platinum construction costs—platinum
masts. That was charged over, my understanding is, into construction cost at
the time they put it into the field.

Colonel Hull. Sulphuric acid, nitric acid, and things of that kind?
Mr. GtnsE. A considerable amount, I think, as compared to Hopewell.
Colonel Hull. Would not those costs reduce your 80 cents approximately

one-half?
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Mr. Guise. Oh, no ; hardly half.

Colonel Hull. All right ; that is all.

Mr. Carnduff. Is that all?

76 Mr. McLane. Mr. Guise, you spoke of checkers. I will a>^k you if the
company did not luiiintain a number of checkers who did nothing but

make up false or fabricated checking cards?
Mr. Guise. All I know is the statements made to me.
Mr. MoLane. All you know is the statements made to you by the indi-

viduals?
Mr. Guise. Yes.
Mr. McLane. Were those statements made by the individuals told to those

in charge of the du Pont works?
Mr. Guise. Yes.
Mr. McLane. That was communicated to them while you were in charge

there, that the checkers' cards were being made up in that way?
Mr. Guise. No ; not being made up. I was not there at the time the opera-

tions were on. That was communicated to me long after the operations had
ceased at the Old Hickory plant, and all I know about checkers' cards is this,

that there are certain types of cards in the files that indicate that they were
written by one person—that is. that a great many of them were—and there
Avere about three persons, all told, that seemed to he writing that type of cards,
and that those men, in tracing through the employment end of it, were clerks
and not chCL-kers. That is all I know aliout it. And the statement was made
to me by men who were there that they had been instructed to make those.

Mr. McLane. Now, coming back to the cars and the vouchers on which car-

load shipments were received, I will ask you if you found on the same
77 date the same number of a car on two different vouchers, as showing the

arrival at the plant of two cars with the same number at any time?
Mr. Guise. You are getting down to details now. You must remeu-iber there

were thousands and thousands of cars. There were one or two instances that
I can remember. I can't go beyond that.

Mr. McLane. In each instance were those duplicate cars received from other
companies belonging to the du Pont people?

Air. Guise. I couldn't absolutely make that statement, because it has passed
from my memory now. The principal thing that I objected to was the transfer
of materials from the du Pont de Nemours plant to the Old Hickory plant, and
the cost of that going against the Old Hickory contract.

General Williams. Major, what percentage of error would you consider
permissible?

Islv. Guise. Permissible do you mean in the receipt of materials?
General Williams. Yes ; in these records. Would you expect that every-

thing would absolutely check up?
Mr. Guise. No.
General Williams. Well, now, you are a man of experience in manufacture,

and all that kind of thing?
Mr. Guise. Yes.
General Williams. You would have some idea.

Mr. Guise. We ordinarily allow 5 percent variation, maximum.
Mr. McLanb. You spoke of finding discrepancies in freight rates.

78 Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Mr. McLane. I will ask you what was the amount of recovery at the

time you were ordered to cease tracing freight rates?

Mr. Guise. The actual amount that had been brought to my attention by
dii-ect audit

Mr. MoLane (interposing). Yes.
Mi: Guise (continuing). Not by reviewing of rates, but by direct audits,

was something over sixty or eighty thousand dollars.

General Williams. Major, may I ask you : Were you ordered to cease tracing

freight rates?
Mr. Guise. No, sir ; I was not.

General Williams. Mr. McLane, I believe, put his question that way.
Mr. McLane. Yes ; I did. I understood that that was what he stated.

Mr. Guise. I will say that we were not ordered to cease figuring freight

rates. I was not.

Mr. McLane. I will withdraw that question then.

Mr. Guise. No; there was a question of method, but there was never any
direct order given to cease auditing. The statement was made to me, however,
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that it would have to be audited elsewhere than there; it would have to be
audited by a transportation division somewhere that was fully conversant
with freight rates. But we didn't audit freight rates. We only checked
discrepancies in freight rates indicating that there was a probability that an

audit should be made.
79 Mr. Caknbutf. Has the Board finished with the witness?

Mr. Anderson. Are you through, Mr. McLane?
3Ir. McLane. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Major, have you told the conniiittee all that yovi know about
this situation down tliere? Was there any further statement that you could
make that would help us in arriving at the actual facts of this situation in a
survey?

Mr. Guise. W^hy, of course, Colonel, you must remember this : I could en-
large on any amount of things. The point is that tliere are peciple who can
give direct evidence which they reported to me, where I would have to give
the same tiling in another way.
The question of discrepancies I think I have gone into pretty thoroughly'

from my viewpoint. I have never charged that the officers of tiie du Pont
Engineering Company definitely themselves committed any fi'audulent acts in
any way. I will say this plainly, that I think some of their employees came
very close to it. It may have been partially on account of their desiring to
make a good showing. It may have been possibly in some cases where there
\\;!s iK'r.sonal gain from it. But if I would go into it, and enlarging on tliat

—

wliy. there are a great many more witnesses to come, and your direct evidence,
as far as that is concerned, can come from other witnesses probably bettei'

than from me.
Mr. Anderson. What I mean is this, that we are trying to make this survey

a final and complete investigation of the situation, to the end that we may
either take such action as necessary to defend the Government, to protect

SO the interests of the Government, or close the matter with the evidence
that the Government interests have been protected.

Mr. Guise. I see.

Mr. Anderson. And we would therefore like you to say anything now that
you wish to say, for this is the last chance that you are going to get, unless
we take the alternative view that further action is necessary.
Mr. Gt^SE. I will say this, that the irregularities present were sufficient for

me to believe that profits were made over and above the amounts stated in
tliH contract.

Mr. Anderson. By the du Pont Engineering Company?
Mr. Guise. By the du Pont Engineering Company.
Mr. Anderson. Did you have any reason to believe that the du Pont Engineer-

ing Company made a profit out of their subsidiaries and purchases?
Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. If so, could you indicate the source of your information or
belief so that we could follow it?

Mr. Guise. In the reviewal on paint alone—now I cannot give this man's
name, that is the worst of it—one of these well-known men in Nashville. He is

an employee in the bank there now, but I only interviewed him in passing
through Nashville on my way to the train. In this particular case they were
directed positively to buy Harrkson paints no. 1.

General Williams. I didn't understand that.
Mr. Guise. They were directed positively to buy the Harrison paints. That

is the du Pont subsidiary. This man, being a resident in Nashville,
81 possilily would know him better than I would [referring to Mr. McLane].

Mr. McLane. Was it Alexander?
Mr. Guise. That sounds like the name. I made a note of it at the time.

I made a memorandum.
Mr. McLane. What bank, do you remember?
Mr. Guise. It is on the corner.
Mr. McLane. The bank in Nashville on Fourth and First—the Old Hermitage?
Mr. GuisK. I think it is Fourth and First. I wouldn't swear to it. He is

an old employee of Mason & Hangar Company, that is all I can say, and he
stated that they are directed to use Harrison paints.

General Williams. Mason & Hanger were subcontractors, were they?
Mr. Guise. Mason & Hanger were subcontractors.
General Williams. Who gave the directions?
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Mr. Guise. Tlmt came from the—so this man infdrmed me—\\ell, it was
published directions, I liuow it was shown to him, from the supervising en-

gineer of the du Pont Company.
Mr. Carndupt. Can you give me a description of liim?

Mr. Guise. A man of medium heiglit, pretty well along in years.

Mr. Carnduff. May I l)iing in Mr. Towler? He will not be a witness.

Mr. Anderson. Mr. Towler is representing the Department of Justice.

Mr. Carxduff. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. I assume, of course, it will be all right to bring him in. He

is head of the Department of Investigation?
82 General Williams. Yes.

Mr. Guise. There were so many miscellaneous liearsay items that
came up there. The Department of JvLstice has had records that I did not
have, you understand, and questions were discussed with the Department of

Justice employees to ascertain whether they knew about such things, and
where I could get in touch with certain men. There were not any complaints
made, or anytliing of that kind, but they were asked for information, because
tliey had been in touch with some of these men, and especially in the transfer of

materials. They were irregular, tlie du Fonts were, in their transfers. Tliey
transferred machinery, for instance, from Old Hickory to Kacine ; from one
company account to another, we will put it that way, witliout any check-up.

and put tlirough a memorandum voucher, and we found the same things, the

identical things on both.
General Williams. These were botli Government plants?
Mr. Guise. They were both to be Government plants

;
yes, sir. They did

transfer things of that kind, and they did transfer materials, to my knowledge

—

in fact, their own memoranda show that—they did transfer materials from
the Hopewell plant to the Old Hickoi-y plant, and they did divert materials
that had been billed to the Hoi>ew^ell plant to the Old Hickory. That is as far

as I know in that direction.

General Williams. Was there any reason why that should not have been
done?
Mr. Guise. Well, there comes a question of dormant contracts, General.

In one case it would have been a saving to the Government, and in the
S3 other case it was a cost. When a contract becomes dormant you have got

two things there in question. Here is one where they will load up; they
had more coming in than we needed ; the contract was cancelled, and tliey

transferred the stuff there. In the other case it became Government property
as soon as the transfer was made there. So there is your question of dormant
contracts ; there is where the question or dormant contracts comes in. Whether
tliey should be able to increase the cost to the United States after a contract
becomes dormant.

Mr. McLane. Did you find any irregularities in the grades of lumber, and
the number of feet received per car?
Mr. Guise. The only exliibit we had on that was where we had checking

reports showing shortages. The question of grades we did not enter into very
far up to that time. We had statements made that there were irregularities.

Mr. MoLane. You had statements made that there were irregularities?
Mr. Guise. That is a question that could only be determined by me or by

any representative of mine by ocular representations. There were statements,
however, that there were irregularities in that line. That is all I can say.

I don't know who they got their lumber from.
The doubtful items, as far as gain was concerned, to the du Pont organiza-

tion, rests more with component materials than any other thing.
General Williams. What do you mean by "component materials"? Those

entering into the manufacture of powder?
Mr. Guise. Those entering into the manufacture of smokeless powder

;

yes, sir.

84 General Williams. The raw materials?
Mr. Gi^isB. The raw materials ; yes, sir.

General Williams. All right.

Mr. Guise. The question of how far they controlled—I am speaking now of
the du Pont grouii—how far they controlled the purchase of linters outside
of the pool, and how far they controlled the purchase—that is purchasing in
advance, you understand ; owning a large percentage, if not all of the materials
before they were billed in to the Government, and purchasing at a lower
price, and other things of that kind, were the most probably suspicious points
in view there.
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And tlien this question that arose, as I stated, on shavings alone ^Yas suffi-

cient, of course, to cast doubt on any other materials for which we h;ul vouchers
until tliey were carefully reviewed. When you consider that they covered
almost all of the shavings delivered, that there was a difference of a cent a

pound, better than a cent a pound mainly, it would cast doubt on their prices

until they had been carefully reviewed and followed back to the point of origin.

Mr. McLane. Was your attention called to an overcharge in Chevrolet cars?
Mr. Guise. They were above Government prices

; yes, sir.

Mr. McLane. Who owned the company that the cars were purchased from?
Mr. Guise. Why, it is the General Motors, Durant proposition, a du Pont

organization, I believe.

General Williams. When did the du Fonts buy into the General Motors?
85 Mr. Guise. I don't know. They had a lot in there for a long time.

Mr. Catjnduff. In 1915.

General Williams. Their big interest they bought in 1915.
Mr. Caknduff. The du Pont interests entered into the General Motors in

1915.
Mr. Guise. That was a hard question. We had a hard crack at it at Tully-

town, as well as at Nashville, the question of Government price against other
prices. I don't remember the total amount there so far as that is concerned.

Colonel Hull. Cars or trucks, Major?
Mr. Guise. Cars. Sixty-five percent of the cars, practically, that they had

at the Old Hickory plant were Chevrolets. And when General Horney took that
over 65 percent of the cars at the Old Hickory plant were in scrap, and they
were all Chevrolets. That is the principal thing I remember about the Chev-
rolet down there ; all the Chevrolets were in scrap when General Horney took
it over, and about 65 percent of tlie cars were Chevrolets. I wouldn't say 65
percent of the value, because they had Stutz cars down there as well as Fords.
Mr. Anderson. Have you any other point that you feel you have not covered,

th;!t can give us any suggestions. Major Guise?
Mr. Guise. I can only give it to you in a general way. I tliink you can get

more information in detail on the cost-accounting proposition—in fact, you can
get more information in a great many things, except in general in my

86 own section, from Mr. Peebles than you did from me and Mr. Youmans
will give you all you want to know on the cost-accounting end, probably.

He was on the job during the entire active period of the accounting, and he
had direct charge of all cost-accounting matters. And Mr. Cobb could give
you information on that matter.

Mr. Anderson. You have been kind enough to come here, Major, and now
what I want to know is this : Y'ou fes'l that you have given us all the informa-
tion available, and now you feel that you have exhausted the information that
jou feel you can give for the benefit of the Board?

Mr. Guise. I don't think that I could give you any more definite information.
You understand primarily the reason why tlie suspension was made. There
wasn't evidence back of the vouchers that was competent evidence ; the evi-

dence was secured back of the vouchers presented ; that was all.

Mr. Anderson. I am very much obliged to you. Major. We appreciate your
courtesy in coming here and helping us out.

General Williams. Thank you. Major.
(Witness excused.)
Mr. Carnditff. I would like to introduce the Board to Mr. Youmans.

87 STATEMENT OF G. E. YOUMANS, SWARTHMORE, PENNSYLVANIA

Mr. Carnduff. Your name is G. E. Youmans? You reside at Swarthmore,
Pennsylvania, and you are at present Supervisor of Accountants of the Internal
Revenue Department of the Treasury?

Mr. Youmans. Supervisor of Collector's Office.
Mr. ('arndufi\ AVill you please state to tlie Board your former connection

with tlie dn Pont engineering transaction, and anything to your knowledge that
you feel the Government should know about that? Just tell your story in-
formally.

Mr. Youmans. My first connection with the du Pont Engineering Company
contracts was in December 1919.

Mr. Anderson. You refer now to the Old Hickory, do you?
Mr. Youmans. I was never there—yes ; I was down there once, I believe

;

yes; but not during the active operation of the contract, though.
Mr. Anderson. Very well. Proceed.
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Mr. YouMANS. Then as accountant in charge under Mr. Cobh, supervisor of

the cost-accounting branch of the Philadelphia district. Subsequently I became
supervisor of the Philadelphia district, the cost accounting branch, and con-

tinued the supervision of the audit of these contracts. And I continued in

that capacity until about September 1921, at which time Ma.ior Farr, a special

representative of the Secretary of War, took entire charge of the audit of the
du Pont Engineering Company contracts, and then I continued to operate under

his direction until some time in November 1921, at v\'hich time I resigned.

88 Mr. Caenduff. Please state the circumstances of your resignation, and
the reason for it.

Mr. YouMANS. I resigned so that I could, in my private capacity, make a
report to the Comptroller General, placing before him in this report certain

matters that I thought he might not learn of through the settlement or award
that was being prepared on these contracts.

Mr. Carnduff. Just tell the Board what the basis of your report was,
briefly, and the reasons for it.

Mr. YouMANS. Why, I prepared a statement which included items that he
had previously disapproved.
General Williams. Who had previously disapproved?
Mr. YouMANS. The Comptroller General.
General Williams. Yes.
Mr. YouMANS. Showing the disposition that had been made of them by the

present control over the audit of these contracts. It was impossible to get an
advance ruling on the items and principles involved in this audit without pre-

senting a bona fide voucher. So in the course of time vouchers were prepared,

and attached to them were the contractor's receipted vouchers supporting them.

These vouchers embodied practically all of the principal disputed items, and
his decision regarding the propriety of payment resulted in practically an
interpretation of the contract, and in a great measure supported the interiire-

tations that had already been given by the cost-accounting branch.

Mr. Anderson. Mr. Youmans, have you a copy of the report which you made
on this subject?

89 Mr. Youmans. I think not. The copy that I did have was turned

over to Mr. Cameron, I believe.

Mr. Anderson. Have you got it, Mr. Cameron? You have a copy of Mr.

Youman's report?
Mr. Cameron. I cannot recall it, but assuming that he turned it over to

me, I have it.

Mr. Carnduff. Either he or Mr. Cunningham of the Department of Justice

has it.

Mr. Anderson. That is the report to the Comptroller?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.

Mr. Anderson. Now, Mr. Youmans, perhaps we can get along more expedi-

tiously if I ask you a few questions to clear up my mind. You were at

that time a civilian employee of the Government in connection with the War
Department, were you?

Mr. Youmans. Why, at what time? When I made this report?

Mr. Anderson. No ; before you made this report.

Mr. Youmans. Yes.

Mr. Anderson. And let me say: Feel that you can talk perfectly honestly,

because there is going to be no criticism one way or the other, because we
want the full facts, and if you have felt it your duty to criticize anybody, say

so. That is the right of the American citizen, you know, even of the courts.

We do that. Then what time was it that yon resigned?

Mr. Youmans. Why, sometime in November. I don't remember as to dates.

November 1921.

Mr. Anderson. November 1921. How long had you then been connected

with this work?
Mr. Youmans. On the du Pont Engineering Company contract since Decem-

ber 1919.

90 Mr. Anderson. You worked at Wilmington, did you, or at Philadelphia?

Mr. Youmans. Wilmington first. Subsequently removed to Phila-

delphia, and then back again to Wilmington.
Mr. Anderson. Just what was your position in connection with it? You

said yoii were supervisor.

Mr. Youmans. Supervising the cost-accounting branch. Not exclusively the

du Pont Engineering Company contracts.
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Mr. Anobrson. Why did you feel that you had to resign in order to make
a report to the Comptroller General? Did you feel that there were irregularities
going on which you could not report efficiently unless you were free as a
private citizen to say as you thought?

Mr. YouMANS. Well, yes.

Mr. Andebson. Don't hesitate to come right out and talk.

Mr. YouMANS. There was a sense of loyalty. As long as I was employed
by the Ordnance Department, why I made, prior to that, all my reports to

them.
Mr. Anderson. Of course. Now, what were the conditions which led you

to feel that you ought to take such a drastic step as to resign in order to
make that report?

Mr. YouMANS. I understood, or I was told—I don't remember by whom—that
the award would be finally made in a lump sum on these contracts?
Mr. Anderson. Yes.
Mr. YouMANS. And such an award would practically bury all detail. And

in that lump-sum award would be these items that we had excluiled, and the

Comptroller General himself had excluded and said were not proper items of

expense on the contract.

91 Mr. Anderson. Could you describe generally the character of items to

whieli you refer?
Mr. Y'ouMANS. I can recall some of them. Some of them were pay-roll errors,

duplicate payments, and nondelivery of material ; that is, shortages of material.

The payment of bonuses to salaried employees subsequent to the closing of the
contract.

Mr. Anderson. When you say the closing of the contract, do you mean termi-
nation?
Mr. YouMANS. Subsequently to the closing of the plants.
Mr. Anderson. Subsequent to the closing of the plants?
Mr. Youmans. The conclusion of the operations.
Mr. Andeirson. Can you state approximately the amount of the items so dis-

allowed by you which were to be included in the final lump-sum allowance ?

Mr. YouMANS. My impression is about the time that I resigned there was
approximately $5,000,000', some of which might have been subsequently cleared
through the establishment of delivery of material. A great deal of this, or quite
a proportion of it, was suspensions for lack of proof of delivery of material. And
the contracting officer's force were working upon this phase of the audit, at-

tempting to prove delivery. The proof of delivery having been placed upon the
Government instead of the contractor. And through railroad records they
established delivery of material on several millions—perhaps five or six mil-
lion—prior to the time I resigned.

Mr. Anderson. What do you mean by the proof of delivery having been placed
on the Government instead of the contractor?

92 Mr. Youmans. The contractor claimed that he had spent the money, and
he was going to get all that was coming to him. He didn't have to bother

about proving delivery of the material at the plant.
Mr. Anderson. Well, he claimed that, but was that claim allowed?
Mr. Y''ouMANS. Well, he had paid himself and there was no proof of delivery

until we took it up through the railroad records, but I understand that even
those items that we disallowed, because we could not show delivery, were
ordered paid notwithstanding.

Mr. Anderson. Well, now, let me get that a little clearer. You mean to say
that because the contractor had money in his hands belonging to the Govern-
ment of the United States, and he credited himself with the deliveries of mate-
rial, that he required you to assume the burden of disproving delivery?

Mr. YouMANS. He did.
Mr. Andekson. As a condition of removing the credit?
Mr. Youmans. Well, not even removing the credit. The proof of delivery was

up to the Government employees.
Mr. Anderson. The proof of nondelivery was up to the Government by elimi-

nating delivery ; is that so?
Mr. Youmans. Well, yes ;

practically.
Mr. Andekson. The same thing

;
practically the same.

Mr. Youmans. Well, I don't know -whether even then we could prove non-
delivery, but we could make every possible effort to prove delivery.
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Mr. Anderson. In other words, you would not allow anything as a credit the

delivery of which you could not establish ; is that the idea ?

93 Mr. YouMANS. That is the idea.

Mr. Anderson. And he did not assume the burden of establishing the

delivery of anything?
Mr. YouMANS. He did not ; no.

Mr. Anderson. Now, how long were you at work on this project, on this

contract?
Mr. YouMANS. Well, it was over a year and a half.

Mr. Anderson. Mr. Youmans, what conditions did you find with respect to the

records of the DuPout Company covering this operation?
Mr. YouMANs. Why, the records were accurate, but very lacking in detail.

Mr. Anderson. Lacking in detail?

Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Andekson. Now, please explain what you mean by that, and, if you can

do it, indicate to us what records you used in verifying the account, and the

character of records.
Mr. Youmans. When I said they were lacking in detail there came to my mind

miscellaneous credits. There were several million dollars that they had allowed
the Government for miscellaneous credit. They were almost entirely lacking in

detail. We scarcely knew from what source they came. Material sold, and
refunds, and sales from commissary, all that sort, so lacking that we could not
tell whether they should be five millions or ten millions coming to the Govern-
ment. It was very difficult to determine that.

Mr. Anderson. Did you find the records of receipts of material complete?
Mr. Youmans. No. Those were particularly lacking.

94 Mr. Anderson. Then how could you verify deliveries claimed by the
du Pont Company?

Mr. Youmans. Most of it was done through the railroad records, the records
of the railroad showing delivery of the materials, and not depending upon
the du Pont records, because they were so incomplete.

Mr. Anderson. Now as I understand it the du Pont Company received
so much money from the Govei'nment.

Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. As advances under this contract, and those advances were

constantly kept up by payment on vouchers allowed?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Andeuson. So that when the contract was terminated, on the face of

the papers the Government had a credit with the du Pont Company of a very
large sum of money, amounting to some millions of dollars, is that true?

Mr. Youmans. Well, a few millions, but not the entire advance.
Mr. Anderson. Not the entire advance, but a very considerable sum?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Now, they had taken credit for themselves against this

balance or advance by the Government for all material and labor and so
forth covered by the contract which they claimed to have delivered or ren-
dered, is that it?

Mr. Youmans. Every bit.

Mr. Anderson, And you undertook to check their credits which they
95 had taken against the Government advances from their records, is that

the case?
Mr. Youmans. Yes, sir ; we did. We verified all expenditures.
Mr. Anderson. You verified all the allowed expenses?
Mr. Youmans. We verified all the expenditures that they claimed.
Mr. Anderson. You verified all the expenditures that they claimed?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Now, could you verify those expenditures from the available

records to your satisfaction as an accountant?
Mr. Youmans. We could verify the actual expenditure. We had a cancelled

check for all the moneys that they claim to have spent.
Mr. ANDB31SON. Yes ; but you did not accept the mere fact of expenditures

as conclusive evidence of their right to credit, did you?
Mr. Youmans. No, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Well, then, how did you verify their right to credit?
Mr. Youmans. By handling each individual voucher in considering its ap-

plicability to tlie contract itself and the necessity for the expenditure.
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Mr. Andersox. Did you find vouchers to support all their credits which you
had allowed up to that time? I mean hy that, orii?iiial papers?

Mr. YouMANs. Yes; showing that the money had actually been spent.

96 Mr. Andekson. Did it show for what the money was actually spent?
Mr. YouMANS. Some of it only in a general way. Like traveling

expenses. Detail was very lacking on that.

Mr. Anderson. How^ about for material?
Mr. YouMANS. The.v described the material on all the vouchers.
Mr. Anderson. They described the material on all the vouchers?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Did they have supporting papers?
Ml'. YOUMANS. No.
General Williams. That was where your trouble came then, in supporting

papers?
Mr. Anderson. Yes ; that is what I am getting at.

Mr. YouMANS. That is the proof of delivery that we required.
Mr. Anderson. Yes. Then you had to verify the delivery of material solely

from the railroad records where they were lacking in supporting' papers?
Mr. YouAfAN. Almost entirely.

Mr. Anderson. And when the railroad records showed their delivery you
allowed them credit for that material, is that right?

Mr. YouMANs. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Now taking the labor. Were the vouchers for labor pay-

ments supported by proper evidence?
Mr. YouMANS. That was only partially audited, the payrolls.

97 Mr. Anderson. What do you mean by "partially audited"?
Mr. YouMANS. That is, partially reviewed. They were supposed to

liave been audited at the time that the disbursement was made. We under-
took to review^—make a review audit of the pay rolls. We had spent quite a
considerable time, and had suspended practically $60,000 in duplicate and over-
payments. It was taken under advisement by the District Claims Board—the
amount to be saved, as compared to the cost of making the audit—and they
determined that the review should not be completed on the balance of the
pay roll.

Mr. Anderson. What percentage of the pay roll did you audit? Approxi-
mately?

Mr. YouMANs. I think about 25 percent of that had been completed before
I took charge.

Mr. Andbsison. What percentage of the material accounts did you audit?
Mr. YouMANS. Why, of all the contracts I suppose about 85 or 90 percent.
Mr. Anderson. Did you make a complete audit of 85 or 90 percent of the

vouchers ?

Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. And in every instance satisfied yourself as an accountant

that they had adequate supporting evidence, either from the railroad receipts
or from other sources?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Then, as a result of your complete audit to the extent of 85
or 90 percent, and 25 percent of the labor accounts, you had a balance which

you refused to allow" of some 5 million dollars in suspensions?
98 Mr. YouMANS. Practically.

Mr. Anderson. Of the entire accounting claimed by the du Pont Co.?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. In other words, if that balance could be cleaned up and

audited you would have to do a complete audit of the du Pont Company and the
settlement of their aecotints ; is that right?
Mr. Youmans. Well, that would not have completed the audit. There was

quite considerable to do besides that. After establishing delivery of material
tlie operating cost; that is, the operating processes had to be checked up and
the amount of material used.
Mr. Anderson. I see.

Mr. Youmans. Recovered and reused. There v/as another large item of
commissary expense. Perhaps that was four or five millions in itself. It
was operated jointly tbetween construction and operation. It was allocated
especially to the two contracts, one bearing a profit and the other not, except
a dollar. That was never audited.
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Mr. Anderson. Now then, in addition to the $5,000,000 expenses, there was
a good deal of auditing yet to be done wlien you discontinued your cuuuectiou
with the work?

Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Mr. Andekson. The work was still in progress, was it?

Mr. YouMANs. Yes.
Mr. Andebsox. Why did you conclude that they were going to allow a lump

sum to settle the whole thing?
Mr. Yo'UMANS. I was told so.

99 Mr. Anderson. You were told so?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.

General Williams. Who by?
Colonel Hull. Authoritatively?
Mr. YouMAxs. I think it came from Major Farr, came down through chan-

nels* that that would be the way it would be handled ; that there would be
a lump-simi award.

Mr. Andekson. Settlement ; yes.

Colonel Hull. Did you get that from Farr?
Mr. YouMANs. I am not sure.

Colonel Hull. That is important.
Mr. YouMANS. It came to me in a way that I accepted it as official and

as true, anyway ; that that was the way the settlement was to be made ; a
lump-sum award, instead of submitting vouchers and detailing the contractor's

bills or paid vouchers in support—that there would be an award made.
Colonel Hull. I would like to have you fix that as definitely as you can.

Mr. Anderson. How can you fix about the time that that information
reached you, and whether it was verbal?

Mr. YouMANS. Why, it was verbal.

Mr. Anderson. It was verbal?
Mr. YouMANs. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. You are sure it came to you from a Government representa-

tive?
Mr. YouMANs. Yes ; it came to me from a Government representative.
General Williams. And before you resigned?

Mr. YouMANS. Oh, yes
;
probably two or three weeks before I resigned.

100 General Williams. You resigned then in September, you say?
Mr. Youmans. I resigned in November.

General Williams. November of '21?

Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Just two or three weeks before you resigned?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. And you regarded that as oflicial?

Mr. Youmans. Yes ; I did regard that as oflicial ; I accepted it. In fact, the
suspension of the writing of the vouchers would indicate that also, because
up to that time we were preparing the vouchers in the regular way of a cost-

plus contract, detailing the vouchers, and approving for payment by the
Treasury Department, or the War Department.

Mr. Anderson. Now, Mr. Youmans, did you think at that time, or have
reason which was sufficient in your judgment to believe that there had been
irregularities? And when I use the term, I do not necessarily mean fraud,
but irregularities in the performance of this contract, or in the settlement of
this contract? I want you to speak out quite frankly and tell us what they
were, if you thought so. The fact that you thought so does not make it

necessarily true, but it will enable us to investigate what were your conclusions.
Mr. Youmans. Why, it seemed very evident to me, because we were handling

similar contracts right along, and these were not handled in the same way,
they were not oi>erated in the same way. On other contracts, before the

purchases were made they were approved by some price-approving body
101 or representative. And there were no price approvals made on the

du Pont Engineering Company contracts, so far as I know, except in
some isolated cases after the goods were purchased, and those were by rubber
stamp, and initialed by some officer on them.

Mr. Andekson. Did you find any evidence, in your opinion, meriting consid-
eration, that the du Pont Company availed themselves of this condition to

bu.v, either from their subsidiary companies, or anyone else, at extravagant
prices ?

Mr. Youmans. I was not in a position to know just how extravagant they
were in comparison to what they actually had to buy. I knew they bought
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from subsidiary companies, but I never went very extensively into the com-
parison of prices, only they seemed very high to me, and going higher.

INIr. Ande3{Son. Well, you said they bought from their subsidiary companies.
Could you suggest some of the names of those companies, if you know them?

Mr. YouMANS. Well, the paint company is one.

General Williams. What paint company?
Mr. Anderson. Do you mean the Harrison Paint Company?
Mr. YouMANS. l"es. And then I have forgotten the name of this wall board

;

I think they supplied all of them.
General Williams. Beaver Board Company?
Mr. YouMANS. Let's see—I don't think it was Beaver Board.
Mr. Andekson. Any motor cars?
Mr. YouMANS. Why, I don't know of any.
Mr. ANDEajsoN. Do you recall any purchases from Mason-Hanger Com-

pany?
102 Mr. YouMANS. Do I recall any purchases from Mason-Hanger Com-

pany?
Mr. Andekson. Y'es.

Mr. YouMANS. No; any more than the subcontract that the Mason & Hanger
Company operated.

Mr. Ande]rson. Yes. Now, did you see any evidence there of their paying
profits to these subsidiary companies which seemed abnormal? I am not
undertaking to cross-examine you, but merely to get at some definite points
that we can investigate, if you have any in mind.

Mr. Y'ouMANS. Profits to subsidiary companies—I don't know as they paid
any profits. Unless included in the purchase price. Perhaps you have in mind
the Mason & Hanger subcontract, on which I considered there was an excessive
fee paid.

iMr. Andersow. Well, tell us about that.

Mr. Y'ouMANS. Of course, there is a difference of opinion as to the interpreta-
tion of that contract—that subcontract.
Mr. Andehson. Well, give us your opinion.
Mr. YouMANS. But it appears to me that .$20.j,000—I think it is the maximum

fee expressed—or two hundred and fift.y—:ind $1,026,000' w^as paid them.
Mr. Anderson. What do you mean "as"?
Mr. YouMANS. As profits. Mason & Hanger furnished no money, nor much

of anything else as far as I can figure out. The Government financed the
whole transaction. Mason & Hanger loaned their skeleton organization—

I

think there was only one man that did not draw a salary, possibly
103 two men that did not draw a salary which was reimbursed by the

Government through the du Ponts, and it got a fee of $1,026,000.

Mr. Andeirson. Do you mean a percentage on the amount expended on their
subcontract?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Mr. Andeirson. That was actually allowed, was it?

Mr. Y^'ouMANS. They paid themselves; they reimbursed themselves. It was
paid to Mason & Hanger, and they reimbursed themselves to Mason & Hanger.

Mr. Anderson. Do you know whether that was allowed in the final settle-

ment or not?
Mr. YoTJMANS. I cannot say.

Mr. Anderson. Now, were there any other evidences of what you conceived
to be irregular or improper transactions that came under your observation in

connection with it?

Mr. YofMANS. Well, the principal thing is their lack of, you might say, sup-
port ; their actual unaccountability for the money exi>ended. For instance,

labor scouts were given five or ten thousand dollars, and they were sent out.

and they reported in a statement or a letter, or something, to the effect that
they had purchased railroad fares and paid meals in transit for so many men,
ani(!unting to so much money, and that is all the support we had. We were not
sure whether they employed one man, shipped one man, or whether they bought
one meal, or whether they delivered one man or two men at the plant. That
was the support that was given an expenditure of five or ten thousand

dollars.

104 Mr. Anderson. Can you recall any other large items that were unsup-
ported of that character?

Mr. YouMANS. Well, of course, traveling expenses were very large items
that were lacking in detail. They would seldom, if ever, mention the reasons

for making the trip or in any way explaining the necessity for it, and making
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it very difficult to audit and pass upon the expenditures of those funds. It
might have been a joy ride.

And then moving expenses in and out of the plant of employees. If their
goods were in storage the contractor paid their storage bill then due, paid for
the packing of the furniture, the transportation of it to the plant, the settling
of the house at the plant, and at the time of the closing of the plant, or sub-
sequent to it, when they returned, why, the same operation was gone through
again, paying all the expenses, paying the transportation of the employee's
family. And in case of breakage, why, the contractor paid for the breakage
of furniture. Apparently no attempt being made to hang a responsibility on
the railroad ; either the railroad or the packer or the shipper. The contractor
assumed the breakage.
Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Youmans, you might speak briefly of vacation allow-

ances, machinery, and electrical fixtures.
Mr. Andebson. I wish you would take that up now. You know more about

this than I do, Major Carnduff.
Mr. Carnduff. All right. Tell the Board briefly about vacation privileges

allowed.
Mr. Youmans. From 30 to 60 days were allowed the salaried employees

after their services terminated. This was given them in addition to their
105 transportation home, and was paid them, regardless of whether they had

worked three days—that is, the minimum allowance was paid them,
Avhether they had worked three days or a longer period.

Mr. Anderson. What was the minimum allowance?
Mr. Youmans. Well, it was not less than thirty days, and I think it was

sixty—it was either sixty or ninety days ; I am not so positive about that.
Colonel Huix. Wasn't it thirty days?
General Williams. It must be a matter of record.
Colonel Hull. It must be a matter of record.
Mr. Youmans. Yes ; it must be a matter of record.
Colonel Hull. Some thirty and some sixty.

Mr. Youmans. I rather think so.

Colonel Hull. Well, it is all a matter of record.
Mr. Carnduff. Let us have machinery and electrical fixtures. What dis-

crepancies, if any, did you find there?
Mr. Youmans. Well, I don't recollect just what you refer to there. I rather

think that that is something that Mr. Peebles developed in his checking up the
physical property.
Mr. Carnduff. We will get that.

Mr. Youmans. Yes ; in the matter of checking up the physical property.
Mr. Carnduff. And when you referred to 85 percent of deliveries being

reconciled by the fi-eight bills, were you referring to all expenses or merely to

t.peration expenses, or to construction, or which?
]Mr. Youmans. I was referring to both operation and construction.

Mr. Carnduff. Both operation and construction?
106 Mr. Youmans. Yes.

Mr. Carnduff. Is there anything else you can add briefly. Mr. You-
mans?

Mr. Youmans. I had not mentioned particularly these bonuses paid.

General Williams. Well, that is all a matter of i-ecord, too, I believe.

Mr. Youmans. (3h, yes ; that is all a matter of record. We had a great deal
of correspondence with it.

Mr. Anderson. Now, Mr. Youmans, were there any other facts in connection
with the matter which made you feel it your duty as a citizen to bring this

matter to the attention of the Comptroller General in the form of a protest,

other than you have indicated?
Mr. Youmans. No; I had no other motive whatever except to get before him

what was liable to be presented in that lump-sum award.
Mr. Anderson. Well, do you know how • much was paid in the lump-sum

award?
Mr. Youmans. I never knew anything about the award. It was made sub-

sequent to my connection with it.

Genei-al Williams. There was an award, was there?
Colonel Hull. I will say that I never heard of the term "lump-sum award"

in the du Pont Engineering Company until it was mentioned today.
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Mr. ANDEa?sox. What was the general character of your report to the Comp-
troller General? Merely a protest against payment

V

107 Mr. YouMANs. It was not a protest even. I criticised no one at all.

Merely presented some facts that I wanted to get to him so that he
would be warned and know what that lump sum might contain.

Mr. Anderson. And it dealt chiefly with the items that you reviewed?
Mr. YouMANS. Ye.s, and I showed the action taken by Major Farr on those

same items.
Mr. Anderson. Well, what was that action?
Mr. YouMANS. Approved all the items that the Comptroller General had

suspended.
Mr. Anderson. Major Farr did approve all the items?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Novv^, without in any way suggesting criticism of Major Farr

I would like to ask you if there are any other actions of his that you think
are subject to criticism, or difference of opinion even, because we are investi-

gating all these things, you know. We want to get at the facts, and I don't
mean to imply by that the slightest criticism of either Major Farr or yourself.
Mr. YouMANS. Why, the only comment I can make there is simply a com-

Ijarison between his printed decisions made as presiding oflScer in the Board
of Contract

General Williams. Adjustment.
Mr. YouMANS (continuing). Adjustment, I think it is.

General Williams. Yes.
Mr. YouMANS. The records are full of decisions on parallel cases, and they

were entirely opposite or opposed to those made in the Du Pont Engineering
Company.

108 General Williams. I would like to ask Mr. Youmans a question or
two.

Mr. Anderson. Are the decisions in the du Font Engineering Company cases
in writing? Were they in writing?

Mr. Youmans. Yes; I believe I have a copy of it. It is bound. Now hold on.

The hearing we had before them was printed. But these subsequent decisions
and approvals were not included in that, because he was not acting then in

connection with the Board of Contract Adjustment.
Mr. Anderson. .Just approved papers?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Do you regard it as in conflict with his decision as chairman

of that board?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Andei;son. Anything else in that connection which you suggest was

erroneous?
Mr. Youmans. No ; I have nothing more to say in regard to that.

Mr. Anderson. Now, General, I am through.
General Williams. You spoke about certain Comptroller's decisions, and as

I luiderstood you to say. the principles of those Comptroller's decisions were
not followed?

Mr. Youmans. No ; they were not.

General Williams. Were vouchers prepared and passed for payment contrary
to the decisions of the Comptroller?

Mr. Youmans. Major Farr ordered those items approved, the identical items
that the Comptroller had disapproved.

General Williams. Without any further evidence or supporting evidence in
the matter?

Mr. Youmans. Exactly.
109 General Williams. And the Comptroller had specified these particular

things as disapproved?
Mr. Youmans. Yes. I took this particular method of getting the Comptroller

General's interpretation of that contract.
General Williams. That is all I care to ask.
Mr. Carndufp. Mr. Y^oumans, is thei*e anything further you can add before

leaving this committee that will throw any further light on the investigation,
or have you told all within your knowledge that will assist us in this inves-
tigation?

Mr. Youmans. Why, I think so. All of the the principal matters.
Mr. Carnduff. By the way, did the Comptroller General ever acknowledge

receipt of your protest?
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Mr. YouMANS. He never did.

Mr. Carndxjff. Do you know that it readied liim?

Mr. YouMANS. I sent it by registered mail.

Mr. Caenduff. Did you get a receipt?

Mr. YouMANS. No; I did not require a receipt.

Colonel HxjLL. I have a few questions.
Mr. Anderson. Proceed.
Colonel Hull. I wish you would go bacls to that lump-sum award. I was

not connected with the War Department claims board in November when you
resigned. Colonel Morrow was then in charge, as you recall.

Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Htxll. When I tell you I never heard of the term " lump-sum

110 award " in connection with these contracts before today, I would appre-
ciate it very much if you would search your memory and try to fix when

you heard that.

Mr. YouMANS. Well, now, I have been searching ever since you made the
inquiry, but I do not think that I can say who just told me that, but that is

just the term. I don't mean that that is the way it came to me.
Colonel Hull. How could you make a lump-sum award in this case?
Mr. YouMANs. I don't know. I don't know. This case is a special one,

anyway.
Colonel Hull. How did it fit this kind of a case?
Mr. YouMANS. It didn't appear to, to me, but it seemed the action that was

being taken regarding the abandonment of preparing vouchers further sub-

stantiated the information that came to me.
Colonel Hull. You mean Major Farr's instructions not to set up certain

settlement summaries?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes ; Major Marr's instructions not to set up certain sum-

maries.
Colonel Hull. Not to set up certain summaries.
Mr. YouMANS. Yes ; discontinue that entirely.

General Williams. I am ratlier wondering whether the Government would
not save money by such relations.

Colonel Hull. Now on the subsidiary companies, you completed absolutely

all the audit accounting work, did you not, on all the contracts except Old
Hickory?

Mr. YouMANS. No. Operating costs had not been gone into on any of those
contracts. We were still waiting for a decision as to the necessity of

111 furnishing proof of delivery of material. That was still an open ques-
tion. Operating costs were not to be gone into until after that was

determined.
Colonel Hull. Now, wliat were those complete papers that you were pre-

paring and showed me on Seven Pines and those kind of papers?
Mr. YouMANS. Well, Seven Pines, you will find that the report itself refen-ed

to items that were not
Colonel Hull. Take those papers there and turn it over. Take your report

there to me.
Mr. YouMANs. I think in a paragraph you will find that I make esjception to

those particular items not yet printed.
Colonel Hull. Let us get that.

Mr. YouMANS. There was also administrative expense of the parent company
that was not included here. That was an item that was in suspension also,

that was not finished.

Colonel Hull. Because that was in debit?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull. That was appealed to the Secretary of War?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull. But I mean the accounting had all been done on it, hadn't it?

The decision hadn't been made, wasn't that it?

Mr. YouMANS. We had covered the delivery of the material, and the expendi-
ture had been made. We set up all of our suspensions, except that the actual
operating costs and verification of the profits and the parent company's ad-
ministrative expense—the portion to be assumed, and those were still open

items on that report.

112 Colonel Hull. The accounting had been done. The question was as
to whether as a legal matter certain of these items were to come in or

not, wasn't that the fact?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
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Colonel Hull. So you bad tlien the decision of the Secretary of War, l)y the
various appeals, and so forth, and you could not allocate it one way or the
other until that had been done?

Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull. But the original investigation of the vouchers, though, and

all the accounting had been done on all those items?
Mr. YouMAXs. They had practically completed, finished with the vouchers.

We couldn't determine the administrative expense until we could get a certain
decision.

Colonel Hull. You couldn't determine the administrative expense until you
could get a certain decision as to whetlier this voucher sihould go in under this

line or on the other side of the fence?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull. But the work had been done?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull. And you had to get the decisions to throw them one way or

the other, according to the decisions of the authorities?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull. And that was true with all these?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull. Now, wasn't every decision on all those questions, so far as

you know, in writing?
113 Mr. YouMANS. No ; some of them had not come through yet w-lien I

left.

Colonel Hull. But 1 mean those that had come through ; weren't they all in

writing?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull.. Can you recall to mind any decision that was orally made on

any of these questions?
Mr. YouMANS. They were not made, only by Major Farr.
Colonel Hull. But give us some sample of any oral decisions of Major Farr.
Mr. YouMANS. No oral decisions.

Colonel HuLU. No oral decisions?
I\Ir. YouMANS. No ; they came through in writing.

CV>lonel Hull. In writing?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes.
Colonel Hull. They were all in writing?
Mr. YoLTMANs. Yes; in fact, I required, when there was any oral decision

—

I asked to have it reduced to vrriting every time there was an oral decision.

Colonel Hull. No objection from your superior officer in doing that, was
there?

Mr. YouMAxs. Yes; because I think it is very necessary in undertaking any-
thing of that kind to have it in writing to support the action that I took.

Colonel Hull. I say did Major Farr make an objection to that request for

decision in writing?
Mr. YouMANS. No ; because, by reason of the purpose for which it was in-

tended, he could not take any exception.

114 Colonel Hull. Consequently, on these audits here, if there had been
any improper dealings with subsidiary companies up to the time of these

reports, you would have mentioned it in here, would you not? You questioned
every voucher?

Mr. Y'ouiiANS. We did not
Colonel Hull. You questioned every voucher?
iMr. YouMANS. We questioned every voucher, but not prices.

Colonel Hull. Sir?
Mr. YouMANs. Pricesi are something that were left entirely alone.

Colonel Hull. You didn't go into the prices on any of these?
Mr. YouMANS. On anything.
]Mr. Anderson. May I ask a question, or will it bother you. Colonel Hull?
Colonel Hull. You may.
Mr. Anderson. Why did you leave the prices entirely alone?
Mr. YouMANS. Why, we were so advised by—I think it was the District

Claims Board at the time.

iNIr. Anderson. In other words, you didn't undertake to verify the fact that

the amount charged against the Government was the price paid by the du Pont
Company for the stuff at all?

Mr. Youmans. No.

8.3876—35—PT 14 16
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ColDuel HuivL. Those instructions came from Mr. Jones?
Mr. YouMANS. Tliat I can't sa.v. Tliat was a matter that was liandled I)efore

I became f-nipervisor of tlie district. The order came to me throuj-'li Mr.
115 Cobb, tlien supervisor, but I thinlv it was talien up by tlie Board.

Colonel Hull. Jones was in charge at that time?
Mr. YouMANS. Yes ; but I am pretty sure that particular subject was settled

down here in Washington. I think he came on for the purpose of dis-

cussing that very matter.
Mr. Andeuison. Now, let me get that quite clear, Mr. Youmans. If, for

instance, you had a bill for material at the cost of $100,000, bought from some
concern. You had no way of verifying the fact that the du Pont Company
paid $100,000 for that material?

Mr. YouMANs. Yes; we had. That is, they paid it. Because we would check
against that voucher the cancelled check. But beyond that we didn't go.

Mr. Anue];son. In other words, the actual charge to them ; while they may
have paid out the money, you didn't investigate whether the price was the
price of the material at that time, or whether the man that sold it was actually

selling material at that price. In other words, it might have been a padded
account?

Mr. YouMATvS. It might have been.

Mr. Anderson. Did you have any reason to believe that any of those accounts
were irregular or inaccurate?

Mr. YouMANS. Nothing more than in noting the apparently excessive prices.

They were large, but just whether they were necessary or not, why we never
discovered it.

Mr. Anderson. Do you know whether those prices were ever checked by
anybody? Did you ever hear of it?

Mr. YoujtANS. I never knew that they were. They had no previous

116 approval before the purcliase was made. The contractor admitted that.

And any subsequent approval was included in the contracting officer's

stamp, which was put on there and initialed, and supposed to cover the price

and the 'quality and the quantity and its applicability to the contract, and
the necessity for the expenditure. It was supposed to include all of that,

and was covered by a rubber stamp and initial.

Mr. Anderson. I see. Now, then, he decided all that question before it

reached you. You merely audited on the basis of his decision that the price

was fair?

Mr. YouitANs. Yes.

Mr. Anderson. Now, do I understand from you that the Government turned

over the money to the du Pont Company, and they bought at any price they

saw fit. and that that was not subject to review by anybody?
Mr. YovMANs. It was not reviewed anyway by anyone before they actually

made the purchase, and was not approved by anybody before they made the

purchase.
Mr. Anderson. But after they made the purchase it was subject to review

then by the contracting officer?

]\Ir. Youmans. It was ;
yes.

Mr. Anderson. And you did not pass any vouchers that did not have a stamp
on them?

Mr. Youmans. No ; I did not.

Mr. Anderson. In other words, you would have to have that stamp showing
approval of price, amount, and applicability in order to pass the voucher at all?

Mv. Youmans. Yes; that was required, according to our manual.

117 Mr. Anderson. Yes. So that all of the accounts that you audited had
that approval on them, and then you had reduced the amount of un-

allowed items down to about $5,000,000 when you left?

Mr. Youmans. Yes.

Mr. Anderson. Items in suspension?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Andehson. Did that include both construction and operation?

Mr. Youmans. Yes.

Mr. Anderson. So that the balance of unaudited and unallowed accounts

when you left in November 1021 was approximately $5,000,000?

!\Ir. Yot-mans. No.; I would not say that. The unaudited portion was about

from 10 to 15 percent.

Mr. Anderson. I say, of the whole contract?
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Mr. YouJiANs. Yes. Whether that would increase or decrease the disapproved
items I could not say. Besides that there might have been suspensions made
when we audited operating costs of the various processes of manufacture.
Mr. Andekson. Mr. Youmans, did you see anything in connection with the

operation of this contract which, as an officer of the Government, you thought
the Government was not adequately protected in, in accordance with its regu-
lations, or that was irregular, on the part of the du Pont Company, that you
have not mentioned?

Mr. Youmans. I don't think so. There is nothing else occurs to me right
now.

118 Mr. Anderson. Is there anything that you can suggest that would be
helpful to this committee in making its survey of this contract and

transaction in getting at the facts, or getting at anything in connection with
the contract that you think ought to be investigated? Can you suggest any-
thing? You see you spent a year and a half on this thing, and we have just
taken it up fresh.

Colonel Hull. Two years.
Mr. ANDBiJsoN. Now can you give us any points that we ought to look into,

charged with a duty as a Government officer?

Mr. Youmans. Well, certainly the prices ought to be looked into.

Mr. Andeeson. You mean the prices paitl by the du Pont Company?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Andekson. To the persons from whom purchases were made?
Mr. Youmans. If the prices were correct it would not occur to me that it

made any difference from whom they were purchasetl.
Mr. Andeeson. That is right. Now, if those prices were approved by a repre-

sentative of the War Department, and there was nothing in them so extravagant
as to suggest negligence or error, or worse, would you think that we ought to
survey that subject now after his approval a year or two ago?

Mr. Youmans. His approval as to prices was practically worthless, as he
also was operating under that first instruction that the prices were to be

approved on the vouchers. He made no verification of them, and the
119 instructions went to the contracting officer really instead of to the ac-

countant, because he was the price-approving man.
Mr. Andekson. Let us get that clear. You say that there were instructions

sent to the contracting officer that he was not to check prices?
Mr. Youmans. Yes; it was given to him, and he operated under that, because

there had been no comparisons, so far as I know.
Mr. Andekson. Who was the contracting officer at the time these purchases

were made? Do you recall?

Colonel Hull. Those instructions did not go to the purchaser. You mean to
Major Guise?

Mr. Youmans. Yes ; and Peebles.
Colonel Hull. Which one do you mean?
Mr. Youmans. Major Guise had them first.

The Chairman. Who gave those instructions?
Mr. Youmans. I mean the review the subsequent audit. There was no in-

struction issued, so far as I know, to the contracting officer at the plant during
its operation to either approve or disapprove the prices, or verify them or not
verify them.

Mr. Andekson. In other words they were accepted. Vouchers passed during
the iieriod of construction and operation were just passed through?
Mr. Youmans. They were passed through. They paid themselves and they

were up for audit subsequently.
Mr. Anderson. Then when you came to check the accounts the contracting

officer was given instructions not to undertake to verify prices but to accept the
prices charged?

120 Mr. Youmans. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Were those instructions in writing: do you know?
Mr. Youmans. Why, I don't know just how they came to him."
General Wh.liams. Is this the contracting officer, do you mean?
Colonel Hull. Yes.
Mr. Youmans. Major Guise was the first contracting officer, and Mr. Peebles

succeeded him. and Mr. Peebles would not have the instructions. They were
given to Major Guise I am pretty sure. But prices were not considered.'
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Ml". Andeeson. So your view is tliat tlie prices never liave been clieclied at

air.'

Mr. YouMANS. No.
General Williams. Well, were tliey checked at the plant, do you know, at the

time of receipt? Do you know that Mr. Youmans?
Mr. Youmans. Well, they were in the same manner that delivery was checked.

Quantity and quality. There was a report stamp put on them and soniebotly's

initial.

General Williams. And that carried the approval of the price paid?
Mr. Youmans. Yes ; that certified that the price was right, and the material

was correct, and the cpiantity was right, and that the purchase was necessary.

Mr. Carndufp. Mr. Youmans, who Vvas the contracting officer at the
plant?

121 Mr. Youmans. Why, I don't recollect. There was a Major Wood at one
time, I believe. They had several of them.

Mr. Caenduff. Was it Captain Foulke?
Mr. Youmans. Yes ; he was one of them.
Mr. Carnduff. Was it a matter of fact that Captain Foull^e was contracting

officer during the majority of the time of this contract?

Mr. Youmans. I think that his tenure of office was longer than anyone else's,

yes, and Ire was the last one, I believe. His certification appears on more
vouchers than anyone else's or all the rest of them combined.
Mr. Carnduff. Do you know how old a man he was?
Mr. Youmans. Why, I never had met the man. I understand he is a young-

man.
Mr. Carnduff. He was a lieutenant, wasn't he, at the beginning?
Mr. Youmans. Yes. I believe the son-in-law of one of the du Fonts.
Mr. Carnduff. I want to get in here—I was getting some other witnesses

while you were testifying, Mr. Youmans—a very brief statement of your ex-

perience as an accountant prior to entering the ordnance service. Will you just

give us say the ten years before you went into this Ordnance Department,
your experience?

Mr. Youmans. Well, I don't know that I can recall the exact dates, but for

a period I was with the Audit Company of New York.
Mr. Carnduff. In what capacity?

Mr. Youmans. As junior accountant. Subsequently with Marv.ick.

122 Mitchell & Feet, semisenior. I was in business for myself doing audit-

ing work for a period of about two years. And I was employed by
Edison to install a cost system in the Bates Division, and operated the system
for a time, and became manager of that particular division. That covers prac-
tically all my public accountant work.
Mr. Carnduff. You are what is known as an expert public accountant?
Mr. Youmans. Well, I have qualified as such.

Mr. Carnduff. And as such you are at present employed by the Government.
Mr. Youmans?
Mr. Youmans. Yes ; I have a rating as senior accountant in the civil service.

anyway.
Mr. Carnduff. Thank you ; that is sufficient.

Mr. Andier,S0'N. Mr. Youmans, did you find that the du Font Company co-

operated with you in getting the facts and data in making these checks and
accounts?

Mr. Youmans. No. They gave me what they had to give me, or else I got

it by stealth, or any other way that I could get it. They were rather inde-

pendent. They had spent the money, and they had it, and were going to keep
it, and they didn't bother much about furnishing proof. In fact, a large part
of the time I spent in auditing was submitting to them these vouchers, giving
them a first and a second chance to explain the expenditure, and they would
come liack with a stereotyped reply—they had an electric typewriter tn)iug
them out by the thousand, I guess, simply saying that they were certified by
their accredited representative, and that is about all there was to it. We

had taken them under second consideration, and then they were submit-
123 te<l again for a further chance after we had suspended them. So that

a vast amount of correspondence and bills went back and forth resulting

in delay mostly. That is about all that was accomplished for a long time.

Mr. Anderson. That is all.
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Mr. Caknduff. As an expert public accountant, would you say that this

du Pout transaction was audited?
Mr. YouMANS. No, because unless completed, an audit is not made. That is

the way I consider it.

General Williams. Well, the 85 percent that you spoke of—I think you testi-

fied that that was entirely satisfactory, did you notV
Mr. YouMANS. Well, it was. We made our suspensions, but those suspen-

sions were subsequently approved, and the records we made of suspensions
were confused on the books, and were subsequently approved. We could not
go back to the records that I had made and pick out those suspensions very
well again. The way the records were handled it would be very difficult to

pick up those suspensions. There were prepared specially ruled sheets to treat

each voucher. We did not care so much for the contractor's book records.

We treated each voucher with the best evidence we had, or the expenditure,
and passed upon individual vouchers, and on these sheets were recorded the
action taken, and here they were suspended, or they were approved, or there
was another column where they were placed to go back to the contractor again
to furnish additional evidence of the propriety or the necessity of whatever

we required. ,But subsequently those columns were shifted back into
124 the mass again, and it would be very difficult to determine which items

we originally suspended. But those sheets and books that we had ma<le
up would have told the complete story, and we would have had a history of
every voucher, and the action taken when it came down to that final settlement.
The Chairman. What happened to those sheets?
Mr. YouMANS. I don't know.
The Chairman. They are not in the records?
Mr. Youmans. They were left in the office when I came away, but they

were not of nmch use, because of the subsequent action in distributing these
suspended items amongst them. I suppose they stand practically 100 percent
proven, nearly so, anyway.
The Chairman. Are they still in existence?
Mr. I'ouMANS. I don't know.
Mr. Anderson. You mean the items which were suspended were afterwards

put on those sheets, so that they can be now satisfactorily identified?
Mr. YouMANs. They were mixed back into the approved items. They were

changed. They were subsequently approved, those that we originally suspended.
But those items of nondelivery of material were approved, and that pay roll

that we had suspended for duplicate and erroneous payments, was approved,
and all those items were changed on the record that we had made.

Mr. Anderson. Do you think that the du Pont Company owes the United
States any money now?
Mr. YouMANS. Well, I know they have some unexpended funds that they

have not even credited to themselves yet.

125 Mr. Anderson. W'ell, I mean in addition to the comparatively small
balance that they admit? I mean after your study of the subject, after

the time that you liave given to it, do you think the du Pont Company owes
the United States any money?

Mr. YouMANS. Yes ; I do.
Mr. Anderson. How much?
Mr. YouMANS. Oh, that is hard to say. They owe more—well, that de-

pends on interpretation, too—than the balance that they show, because they
have been paying ofiicials of the company all during these years, salaries to
employees that have been preparing their case and protecting the contractors'
interests. Those salaries have all been charged to the Government, and I dare
.say that they have reimbui'sed themselves for all those funds that they have
spent.

^Ir. Anderson. Do you think that if this thing were reopened that the Gov-
ernment of the United States could recover any substantial amount from the
du Pont Company?

Mr. YouMANS. That would depend upon the interpretation of the contract
and support that would be given the suspensions made.

Mr. Anderson. Now, I am going to ask you another question which is not
evidence, but I want to get your point of view. If you had to determine this
question would you undertake an audit, a complete audit of the du Pont Com-
pany's account, such as you say should have been made, at a cost of $300,01)0
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or $400,000 by the Government on the chance of what it could set back as
the result of that audit?

126 Mr. YouMANs. It depends on how well it would be supported, the audit.
Mr. Andekson. Well, you mean supported how?

Mr. YouMANS. The suspensions that would be made—the interpretation of
the contract. If that contract is as the du Fonts claim—that they are en-
titled to all expenditures of every character and nature, there would not be
much use of making the audit in the first place.

General Williams. Who has the authority to determine the interpretation?
Mr. Youmans. The du Fonts claim that they have.
General Williams. I had never that.

Mr. Youmans. They insist that they have the sole right to determine the
propriety and necessity of all expenditures.

General Williams. Well, why do they come to the Assistant Secretary of
War and bother him then?

(The question was not answered.)
Mr. Anderson. Now, you have been studying this thing, and did study it

for a number of years. If you had to decide the question right now as to what
the Government ought to do—it may not be a fair question to you. and you do
not have to answer it-—if you had to decide the question as to what the Gov-
ernment ought to dO' in the light of the circumstances as they now exist,

what would you do about it? I know that is not legal, and probably it is not
fair.

Mr. Youmans. It is too one-sided, because those in authority might have
different opinions on the same subject from what I might have. But if mv

interpretation of that contract was supported in any great degree it would
127 be very profitible for the Government to undertake a reaudit and attempt

to recover the excessive expenditures.
Mr. Anderson. Do you think there was any fraud, material fraud, in

the conduct of those transactions on the part of the du Font Company, or any
representative of the du Pont Company? Did you see any evidence that
made you think that?

Mr. Youmans. No conclusive evidence. There are a good many lines that

suggested themselves as possibilities, but they were never followed up.
Mr. Andeeson. Anything else?
Colonel HuxL. Take your written report here that I showed you a minute

ago. Isn't that all a matter of record, as to exactly what is on each schedule
there? Couldn't you tell exactly what is in dispute?

Mr. Youmans. I could on that small contract, because that is something that
was practically completed, and it is so comparatively small, you know, not being
even—well, about one percent maybe—or five percent of what the Old Hickory
is. Why, that could be very easily dug out and handled and disposed of very
quickly, because it is very small.

Colonel Hull. It is complete, isn't it? You turned it in to me as a complete
piece of work?

Mr. Youmans. Well, with the exceptions that I have mentioned in it.

Mr. Anderson. That is the Seven Fines, isn't it?

Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Colonel Hull. That we worked on before.
Mr. Youmans. But at the same time those suspensions that I made there

were not supported, and were not approved. The whole thing would have to be
changed again.

128 Colonel Hull. But I mean on appeal to the Secretary of War he did
not agree with your idea of what constituted cost. He did not agree

with your views as to how the contract should be inteipreted?
Mr. Youmans. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Anything else, Mr. Caniduff, that you want to present?
Mr. Carnduef. I have two other witnesses whose testimony is short. I

ft-ould like very much to got them in tonight and let them go home.
Colonel Hull. I would like to ask Major Guise one thing.

Mr. Cahnduff. Certainly. Is there any objection to the other witnesses com-
ing in at this time?

Mr. Anderson. No ; not at all.

Mr. Carnduff. I ^\•ould like to present to the Board also the two representa-
tives of the Department of Justice, Mr. Towler and Mr. Cunningham.

Mr. Anderson. Before you leave, with the consent of the chairman, I will

state, Mr. Youmans, that the committee determined this morning that whatever
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took place in this room was confidential, as though in a grand jury room. In
other words, we want to protect tlie men that come in here and tell the truths
without any discussion on the outside.

Mr. YoxjMANs It is confidential as far as I am concerned. What I have
told you, and what you have asked me will be confidential as tar as I am con-

cerned, but you can tell the world.
Mr. Andeirson. But at the same time we want to observe that I'ule, because

then men can talk more freely.

129 I might ask you one more question, Mr. Youmans. Why was it you
did not report those facts that you reported to the Comptroller General

to the Secretary of War or the Assistant Secretary of War? That may be
embarrassing, but I would like you to answer it if you can.

Mr. Youmans. Why, I didn't think I could get to him except through chan-
nels. I know it wouldn't get very far on its way.

Ml'. Andekson. Water didn't run up hill very fast, is that the idea?
Mr. Youmans. So I just issued a warning, that is all. I didn't criticize any-

body at all, and I explained in the report that I just wanted to get some
information to him. That is all that happened.
Major BooTON, I would like to ask him one question before he gets off, if

I may.
Mr. Andeeson. Yes.
Major BooTON. You spoke about the procedure being changed when you were

informed that a combined settlement would he made, or a lump-sum settlement
that you spoke of. What was the nature of that change in procedure?
Mr. Youmans. Discontinuation in preparation of those summaries.
Major Booton. What difference did that make in the papers that were pre-

pared? What particular papers were omitted, or what change was there in
the review of the accounts as the result of that?

Mr. Youmans. I don't just get you on that.

130 Major Booton. Well, were the subvouchers ; that is, were the primary
expenditures of du Pouts still checked under that procedure?

Mr. Youmans. Yes; that part of it had not been changed at all.

Major Booton. In other words, you verified all du Pont expenditures?
Mr. Youmans. Well, up to that period. AVhat happened after that I don't

know.
Major Booton. Well, I mean after that order was given you didn't make any

change as to vertifj'ing du Pont's expenditures?
Mr. Youmans. No.
Major Booton. What were the summaries themselves?
Mr. Youmans. What were they?
I\Iajor Booton. Yes; what would you put on them?
Mr. Youmans. Why, really a summary of detailed expenditures prepared on

the regular ordnance forms. Usually presented to the disbursing oflicer for
payment. The payments were made on those forms. And they were printed
for that purpose, for those war contracts, in the Ordnance Department, and all

the payments and disbursements that I know of were made on those summaries.
Major Booton. Might you call those summaries an abstract of the individual

du Pont vouchers? Or subvouchers?
Mr, Youmans. They were more like a summary or list of du Pont vouchers.
General W^illiams. There was nothing original in those summaries, was

there?
Mr. Youmans. No ; I think the vouchers themselves were supposed to

131 support them. They didn't go with them many times, because they were
the contractor's records, but it was intended to originally support them

with the paid vouchers.
Major Booton. Well, then, what was actually omitted then was a certain

form, either prescribed by the Ordnance Department or the Treasury Depart-
ment—I don't know which—I guess the Treasury Department—which normally
went as a support to the voucher itself?

Mr. Youmans. Well, they are the form on which the payment was usually
made.

Major Booton. Yes. Did it make any actual difference in the amount paid
the du Pont Company?

Mr. Youmans. It didn't make any difference with the amount. They were
simply placed to their credit. They had already received payment.
Major Booton. Did it make any difference in the check that the Treasurer-

could give to those vouchers?
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Ml-. TouMANs. Why no. He could pay them on any form that he liked, but
the discontinuation in preparation of those, confirmed the report that came to
jue tliat a lump-sum award was to be made, as it was expressed to me, that
a settlement was to be made.

Maj<:r liooToN. Do you know why the making of those summaries was
stopped V

Mr. Yoi'iiANs. No.
Major BooTON. I don't think of anything else.

Mr. Andee.soN. Thank you very much.
(^Vihless excused.)

132 Mr. Oarnduff. I would like to introduce as a witness, Mr. Chairman,
Mr. Peebles, who succeeded Major Guise.

Mr. Anderson. Is Major Guise coming back?
Mr. Caendtjff. He has gone for the afternoon. I think he will be back to-

morrow. I told him to come back tomorrow.

STATEMENT OF J. R. PEEBLES, HADDONFIELD, N. J.

Mr. C.'.RNDUFr. Mr. Peebles, your name is J. R. Peebles I believe, Haddon
Plouse, iladdonfleld. New Jersey, formerly contracting officer of the du Pont
engineering contracts, and you succeeded Major Guise as contracting officer,

I believe?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir ; that is correct.

Mr. Caenduff. Mr. Peebles, I have here a copy of a letter which I desire to
place in evidence, reading as follows

:

" December 13, 1921.
^' Suliject : Elimination of detailed summaries.

'As a result of conferences held in Washington, December 10th, 1921, you are
hereby directed to discontinue preparation of detailed summaries.

" It has been decided the only information necessary is the voucher numljer
and amount, which will permit tying up the charges with the contract and the
contractor's books."

This was evidently handed to Mr. Kileen, with a copy to you. I will ask you
if you received such instructions?

Mr. Anderson. Who is it signed by?
Mr. Carnduff. " R. R. FaiT, special representative of the Assistant Secretary

ot War."
Mr. Peebiles. Yes, sir ; I have recollection of that.

Mr. Carnduff. Did you receive such instructions?
133 Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. What was the effect of such instructions?

Mr. Peebles. Well, it was simply an indication to me that they were changing
the manner in which the accounts were to be handled to completion. Hereto-
fore they had been complying with the ordnance regulations in so far as sub-
mitting summaries with vouchers. That was being discontinued, which to me
simply meant that they were changing the plan on which the settlement of
this contract was to be made.
Mr. Carnduff. And after the receipt of such instructions vouchers would be

merely listed and would not be audited?
Mr. Peebles. I would not say not audited. They would be listed, but not

on the formal summary as required by the auditor.
General Willla.ms. Would they or would they not be audited?
Mr. Peebles. They would be audited within the instructions which we had

covering specific cases.

Mr. Carnduff. Will you state briefly to the committee your account of the
accounting of the du Pont engineering contract during your service as con-
tracting officer, calling attention to anything you thought was erroneous or
should be investigated at this time.
Mr. Peebles. When I was appointed as contracting officer I was given to

understand that it was the intent to conduct what we recognized as a War
Department audit ; that is, such an audit as would be acceptable to the Comp-

troller. We were having considerable trouble to get the contractors'

134 representatives to appreciate our position and accept any decisions that
were made. We were accomplishing nothing. And by permission of

Colonel King, who was then the chief of the administrative section under the
Chief of Ordnance, I sulunitted a trial voucher of various kinds that was the
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subject of dispute between our department and the contractor, through chan-
nels to the Comptroller's office for a decision. And all of those vouchers, to

the best of my recollection, were suspended by the Comptroller for reasons as
set forth in our report that was attached to each summary as it went forward.

Subsequently when the hearings in connection with these various matters-
were being had, and decisions rendered, vouchers that had previously been
suspended by the Comptroller were put through—we made copies of such vouch-
ers and put them through accounts as being approved under the decisions that
were made subsequent to the time that they were presented. Of course all

this has happened quite a while ago, and I am giving you the best of my
recollection. There is a lot of it that is very hazy. In these vouchers were
vouchers for payment of bonuses to men when they left the service of the con-
tractor on Government work. The total of those bonuses, as I recall it, would
be about a quarter of a million dollars. That was one of the sets of suspensions
that we had made.

Others were vouchers for travel expense, moving expense, that were for
varied amounts, and in favor of simply some man's name; no position being
given; and in the case of travel, no reason for making his travel, and the expense

report itself was simply a statement of expense, and not supported in
135 any way by an receipt indicating that that money had been expendetl for

the purpose as set forth on the face of this expense voucher.
Another item that was in those vouchers was the question of material paid

for, the receipt of which had not been certified by a proper representative of
either the Stores Department or the proper Government agency that 'was
authorized to certify to receipt of materials.

Mr. Caknduff. Approximately w^hat was the amount of these material
vouchers ?

Mr. Pkebles. I could not say, sir. They were simply submitted as samples
of the jirevailing vouchers.
Mr. Carnduff. Do you know what became of this account? Do you know

how it was finally settled?
Mr. Peebles. No, sir. I left the du Pont worlc in May of last year, and I

understood that the work was not finished until about August or September,
I am not clear as to that.

Mr. Caenduff. How long were you employed on the du Pont work, Mr.
Peebles?

Mr. Peebles. I entered the service of the Ordnance Department on April the
9th, 1920, as property auditor, and I served under Major Guise until Jaiaiary
1921, when I was appointed contracting oflieer.

Mr. Caknduff. From your experience on this contract do you think the du
Pont Engineering Company owes the United States any money?

Mr. Peebles. Well, that is a rather difficult question to answer, because my
point of view is probably different from the legal point of view. I would

say that there was money expended on this contract, in my judgment^
136 that did not reflect proportionately to the benefit of the United States

Government.
Mr. Caenduff. Can you state any approximate amount in your opinion that is

due?
Mr. Peebles. No, sir ; I would not like to state a figure at this time.
Mr. Caknduff. Is there anything you can add that will throw any light on

this matter, or assist us in surveying?
Mr. Peebles. Well, it seems to me that had this contract been audited to the

completion, as originally proposed, the contractor would then have been com-
pelled to produce substantiating evidence that was satisfactory to the Comp-
troller, and would have then put the Government in position to better detei'mine
from the absolute facts to hand as to whether or not such charges were applica-
ble to the contract.

Mr. Carnduff. You commenced such audit?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. Why was it stopped?
Mr. Peebles. It was stopped, to the best of my recollection, that detailed audit,

about August of 1921, I take it.

Mr. Carnduff. I said, why? I am glad to get when. Who stopped it?

Mr. Peebles. Why, Major Farr reported at Philadephia with instructions to
take charge of the work, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. Do you know why it was stopped?
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Mr. Peebles. No, sir ; I don't know anything about it.

Mr. Cai:nduff. Have you anything to ask, Colonel?

137 Colonel Huix. Yes ; I have got a few questions. When you took charge
of the work following Major Guise, were there any instructions limiting

the scope of your inquiry, Mr, Peebles?
Mr. Peebles. No, sir.

Colonel Hull. You were perfectly free to go into any subject for investigation

or scrutiny that you though would save money to the Government?
Mr. Peebles. Only insofar as conducting the audit was concerned. We were

not authorized to go outside—for instance, if it might appear to us to be a case of

profiteering, or something of that kind, we were not supposed to touch that.

Colonel Hull. What do you mean by that? Explain to me what you mean by
that?

Mr. Peebles. By profiteering?
Colonel Hull. Yes.
Mr. Peebles. If there was an indication that a vendor liad charged the Gov-

ernment, through the contractor, more for an article than he was charging to a

private individual, it would appear that the private individual was being given

the benefit of his prices, and not the Government.
Colonel Hull. Who gave you those instructions not to go into that feature?
Mr. Peebles. It came from the ofiice of the Chief of Ordnance, sir. I don't

remember now who signed the letter.

Colonel Hull. Was it in writing?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. What other luies? Then you eliminated looking into any
question of prices?

138 Mr. Peebles. Practically so; yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. Did you have any information that the prices were in-

>correct in any of these vouchers?
Mr. Peebles. There was one particular instance arose that rather led us to

believe that there were some differences there in the commercial and the Gov-
ernment prices. That is what raised the question. And we were told that that

was without our province, and not to touch it at that time.

Colonel Hull. You think that those were in writing?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir ; that is my recollection.

Colonel Hull. What other instructions limiting the scope of your inquiry, if

any?
Mr. Peebles. I don't recall any now.
Colonel Hull. What instructions did Major Farr bring up in August of 1921

that limited the scope of your inquiry?
Mr. Peebles. I don't know, sir, that he had. He had instructions

Colonel Hull. What did he give you that limited the scope of your inquiry?

Mr. Peebles. He had instructions to take over the charge of the work, and to

do anything that he saw fit in connection with the completion.
Colonel Hull. Yes ; but I mean did he give you any instructions limiting the

scope of your inquiry at that time?
Mr. Peebles. It came up from case to case, and he didn't present us anything

at the time that would interfere with that in any way. But as these different

occasions arose, why, naturally, the matter was referred to him for his action.

Colonel Huix. And were those instructions that he gave you oral or in

writing?
139 Mr. Peebles. In writing, sir.

Colonel Hull. So that they are all a matter of record?
Mr. Peebles. They are all a matter of record ; yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. And the grounds on which you were acting are all a matter
of record, too, are they not?

Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. So that the entire matter there is one easy to determine from
the record itself?

Mr. Peebles. Absolutely everything is a matter of record, sir.

Colonel Hull. And in a great many of these transactions there were a great

many divergencies of opinion?
Mr. Peebles. Absolutely; it didn't make anybody wrong, but it was a differ-

ence of opinion.

Colonel Hull. Now, those instructions which were read at the commence-
ment, will you give me the date again, those instructions of Major Farr on
that little paper?

Mr. Peebles. December the 13th, 1921.
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Colonel Hull. And Mr. Youmans resigned in November of 1921, did lie notV
Mr. PeeblBvS. That is my recollection. I am not clear as to the date. It

was alon.ii' nliout that time.
Colonel Hull. When lie said a few minutes ago that one of the jirounds of

his resignation was those instructions, lie was mistaken, was he, if those instruc-

tions were not given until later, in December 1921?
Mr. Carnduff. Colonel Hull, if you please, I don't think it is fair to inter-

r(igate this witness on his own knowledge as to what is in Mr. Youmans' or
Major Guise's mind.

140 Colonel Hull. I will withdraw the question, but I want to get it on
record.

Mr. Carndxjff. He has no knowledge.
Colonel Hull. I say, I withdraw it. I can put it on record in a minute

or so.

Mr. Andekson. Anything else?
The Chairman. In what way did this change of instructions limit the

inquiry, Mr. Peebles?
Mr. I'EEnLES. Well, there were so many different angles to th.at matter that

tl'.at is a rather difficult question to handle. As far as I could observe, the
attorneys had determined in their mind wliat could or could not be substan-
tiated, whereas from our point of view we were tied up l)y what we recognized
to be the known requirements of the Comptroller. That is what we were
working on. An attempt to complete the audit as we knew would he required
by him before he would accept and finally credit the advances.

Colonel HuTX. Mr. Peebles, glance at your report there on Seven Pines,
which was the first case—was Seven Pines or Pendleton the first case that was
completed?

Mr. Peebles. Seven Pines, sir.

Colonel Hull. There is a report covering all the suspensions and olijections
that the accountants, and yourself, as supervisor, could present to the Govern-
ment to charge back against the du Ponts?

Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. There is nothing in there in regard to prices ; no reservation
that there was any intimation that tlie prices had not been checked. So I

was wondering vrhether the prices entered into your mind at that time, or
141 where these instructions came?

Mr. PEEffiLES. They entered into our minds insofar as checking the
invoice or the public voucher against the purchase requisition.

Colonel Hull. Y'ou stated all the principles under which your audit and
examination were made though in that paper, and do not make any reservation
as to not going into prices.

Mr. Peebles. Inasmuch as the majority 'of the material prices had been fixed
by the Washington department we did not go into the detail of the prices,
provided the price on the voucher or the invoice agreed with the purchase
requisition, but we didn't go behind that. Colonel.

Colonel Hull. But you say that that report is absolutely incorrect because
you had not gone into prices?

Mr. PBE33LES. I wouldn't take it so, because we didn't consider that our work
should carry us back to the base of all prices. We were not equipped, nor were
we instructed to check all prices. We had no price lists. We didn't have the
finding of the price-fixing commission. The only thing that we did have was
the purchase requisition which stipulated the price. Unless such prices as in
the Old Hickory contract, on some of the component materials, were stipulated
in the contract. Then, naturally, we checked all prices against the contract.

Colonel Hull. You checked back on that?
Mr. Peebles. Against the contract.
Colonel Hitll. Now, you checked over all the shavings and linters, didn't you?

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
142 Cidonel Hull. You went over every item of that, didn't you?

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Colonel Hull. Checked it back and forth and determined that there had been

an overcharge of a certain amount on that?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Colonel Huix. And that was settled by du Pont acquiescing in your figures?
Mr. Peebles. Not entirely, sir. The question of the delivery of that stuff

came up later, and I don't know how it was settled, but they delivered a check,
one for .$150,000, as I rememljer it, and the other for $19,000, on shavings.
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That was the first check that was made, and afterwards they accepted an
overcharge on the linters, but they did not deliver a check for it. They simply

took it into their accounts.
Colonel Hull. And acquiesced in the accounting?
Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Colonel Hull. Would you say that if we would go back and re-audit the

linters and cotton by weight and everything, that we would be apt to recover
anytiling?

Mr. Pi33nLES. On shavings and linters?

Colonel Hull. Yes.
Mr. Peebles. No, sir.

Colonel Hull. What percentage of accounting and investigation would you
say has been made on cotton litners and shavings? As complete as you know
how to make it?

Mr. Peebles. I would say so, sir. We checked the railroad weights as cer-

tified to by the Southern Weighing & Inspection Bureau, and we checked the
price. We checked the warehouse ; we checked everything that we were

143 in position to check.
Colonel HtJLL. That checking was all made in cooperation with Mr.

Youmans? Your entire force was all working on it?

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
CoU)nel Hull. Did you do that with any other ingredient?
Mr. Peebles. Only those materials that were stipulated in the contract. As

I recall it there was sulphur and soda and shavings and linters. I think that
was the

General Willl\ms. Alcohol? Did you check alcohol?
Mr. Peebles. Oh, alcohol ; yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. And a similar check was made on those?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. The linters, were they billed as an arbitrary, with an under-
standing that they were to be rechecked afterwards, or did you check those
up just in current work?
Mr. Peebles. Checked it up in the current work.
Colonel Hull. There wasn't a stipulation of an arbitrary for the purpose of

accounting?
Mr. Peebles. No, sir.

Mr. Andebson. Were the prices fixed on any materials for construction?
Mr. Peebles. Not in the contracts ; no, sir.

Mr. Anderson. So you didn't check prices on construction?
Mr. Peebles. No, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Mr. Peebles, you are not connected with the Government now,
are you?

Mr. Peebles. No, sir.

Mr. Anderson. I am going to ask y^u a question which is probably
144 not within the scope of our examination. You don't have to answer it

if you don't want to, of course. You have made a study of this situa-
tion for how long?

Mr. Peebles. Well. I was in the Government service for 5 years, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Well, I mean on this particular matter.
Mr. Peebles. Since 1920; the early spring of 1920.
Mr. Andeeson. Well, as a citizen of the United States, and a man that is

familiar with the facts as you can be from that study, do you know of any
circumstances in connection with the performance of this conti'act or these
accounts which in your judgment would justify a re-audit of this whole matter
at a cost of several hundred thousand dollars t*! the Government of the United
States?
Mr. Peebles. That is a rather large order. Colonel.
Mr. Anderson. It is a large question, but I would like, if you are willing to

give it to us. to give your fiank view of it, and your reasims for it. if yon
think it should ht" done. That is the best way to get at it. We don't have to
accept your view. l)ut I think it would be good if you would give it.

Mr. Peebles. Oh, I understand, sir.

Mr. Anderson. We would like to have you give it.

Ml-. Peebles. There are some things in this contract that in my opinion are
absolutely unfair and out of all ordei-. One of them is the bonus that I

referred to awhile ago. The idea of giving out good United States money to
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some iiKui, when he finished maybe 2 months' work, because he was a good
Tellow, did his work all right, but he was paid a good salary for doing that

work—I say he is not entitled to any Government money in addition to

145 his regular monthly pay, because the Government got no returns on that
stuff at all.

There is another item, that, while it was a matter of contract, I felt was
inifair, and that was the fee that was paid to Mason & Hanger.
Mr. Andeieson. Do you think that the fee paid them was excessive?
Mr. PEEB03S. Absolutely.
Mr. ANDEiiiSON. It has been suggested to me in some connection that it was

erroneous ; in other words, that it was a million dollars and something, when
it should have been only $205,000'. Did you look into this question?

Mr. Peeibles. I would like to put this to you, if you please.

Mr. Anderson. All right.

Mr. Pee'bles. To the best of my recollection, when the original agency con-
tract was made by the du Pont people, which they subsequently took violent
exception to, it called for the construction at Old Hickory—I am simply giving
you this from my memory ; I am not clear as to this^

Mr. Andeeson. Go ahead ; that is all right.

iNIr. Peebles (continuing). It called for the construction of five units of the
powder plant. As soon as this contract was made the du Pont people made a
contract with Mason & Hanger to do the necessary work in connection with this
plant, insofar as I believe roads, sewers, general railroad constiaiction was
concerned, and if I remember correctly the fee under that original contract was
five percent on the gross. When the agency contract was done away v^ith

and the new contract was made it increased the units from five to nine

—

146 practically double. They made a new contract with the Mason & Hanger
people, five percent, double the amount of work, practically, and yet the

fee was the same. It is not reasonable, in my judgment. I would like to state
this to you for what it is worth. I understand that Colonel Shell)y, who was
formerly connected with the construction division, had had conversation with
Mr. Harry Hanger, of Mason & Hanger Company, indirectly in connection with
this contract, and that he told Colonel Shelby, if I have been correctly in-

formed—this is all hearsay.
Mr. Andekson. I understand.
air. Peebles. That he would be satisfied to take this contract oil the same

basis that the construction division contracts were made. The fees of the con-
struction division contracts were on a graduated scale, with a maximum of
.$250,000, which covered about ten million dollars' worth of work. In our fig-

uring on this Mason & Hanger contract, we took the position that they were
not entitled to more than two maximum construction contracts as under the
construction division. AVhile it was stipulated in the contract, our position was
that that contract was unfair. And instead of being entitled to five percent on
the gross of all that work they were not entitled to more than $500,000, which
would be two maxinnim construction division contracts.
Mr. Anderson. Well, now, before you leave Mason & Hanger, I want you to

go on with other items that you think ought to be investigated, because you are
helping us—helping me at least. Before you leave the Mason »& Hanger Com-

pany I want you to tell me, if you can recall, how" much were the fees of
147 the iMasou & Hanger Company all together?

Mr. Peebles. Well, I don't know exactly. I did not see the final fig-

ures, but my recollection was it was about $1,200,000; something in that
neighl)orhood.

Mr. Anderson. Did Mason & Hanger have a large organization that they had
to pay out of that?

yiv. Peebles. They had a large organization
; yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Did they pay the cost of it or did the Government?
Mr. Peebles. Well, it was handled, as I recall it, the same as all other con-

tracting firms ; and if they sustained any expense, why, they were innuediately
reimbui-sed by the prime contractor, who in tui"u was reimbursed by the Gov-
ernment.

Mr. Anderson. What did they get the million dollars for?
IMr. Peebles. Well, that was five percent on
Mr. Anderson. Profit?
IMr. Peebles. Yes ; on twenty-odd million dollars.

Mr. Anderson. That was the net profit to them?
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Mr. Peebles, Yes, sir.

Mv. ANDEa?soN. That was after paying all the overhead and everything, was
it, in connection with this contract?

ftlr. Pee,blbs. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. The Government paid all that?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sii-.

Mr. AxDEiRsoN. Of coui'se, as you say. that was a matter of contract; and
while it may be unfair, it may be the Government cannot get by with it, and
we will have to take it.

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
148 Mr. Andekson. Now, are there any other points that you think should

be subject of inquiry or audit in this matter?
M. Peebles. Well, of course one large item of expense which I took serious

objection to was the traveling expense and the transportation of household
goods. Now, the majority of those expense vouchers were not supported in
any way, and quite a number of expense vouchers that are in existence simply
show that a certain man, whose position is not given to indicate that he was
an employee, or his number, or anything else, was advanced $200 for traveling
expenses. And he made no report. Now that voucher would be put through
for reimbursement by the Government. I took exceptions to these travel
vouchers, because they were not supported within reason by receipts, and the
contractor absolutely refused to make an affidavit that to the best of his knowl-
edge and belief this money was expended for the purpose outlined. He abso-
lutely refused to do that.

Mr. Anderson. Now as to the bonus, you think there should be an investi-

gation, and as to travel allowance, you think there should be investigation
and audit, or reinvestigation?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. As to the Mason & Hanger fees, that is a matter that was
covered by contract?

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. And as concluded by the contract, of course, is not open to

further inquiry.

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. And then what other items do you think we should make

149 a careful investigation of, if you can think of any now?
Mr. Peebles. This is such a varied contract that it is awful hard to

light on any one thing. And, of course, I am awfully rusty on it. I have been
out of touch with it so long.

Mr. Anderson. Now would you do this, Mr. Peebles. You are familiar with
the contract. Would you take a cop.y of it tonight and run over it and see if

you can refresh your memory with anything else? Here is our position—with
the permission of the Board—we want to do what is right here to protect the
Government and the people of the United States, and also the du Pont Com-
pany ; we want to do the fair thing to them, to be absolutely fair to everybody.

If there is anything here that ought to be investigated or reaudited then we
want to know it so we can recommend to the proper officers of the Govern-
ment that it can be done, and closed. If there is nothing here, if there are
things that do not require reaudit, we do not want to put the people of the

United States to the expense of reudit unneoessarily. Taxes are heavy enough
anyway. Now if you can help us on that it would be a real help.

Mr. Peebles. What my judgment, compared to you legal gentlemen, is worth,

I am in doubt, because we don't see it from the same angle.

Mr. Anderson. Well, we would like to have it anyway. It might be that we
might reach the conclusion that legally we cannot do what you suggest because

we are stopped by the law. But anyway, we would have the benefit of your
suggestion.

150 Mr. Peebles. These items that I have mentioned are items that are

very large, and not at all scattered. They can be easily concentrated

upon.
Mr. Anderson. You will obviously agree wi^^h us that (he Government ought

not to spend three or four hundred thousand dollars reauditing all of those

supply accounts that have been audited. A reaudit might be a waste of money.

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Mr. Andkkson. But yet the Government might reaudit certain specific mat-

ters. If you think there are some perhaps that are subject to change by reaudit

we might do that at small expense.
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Colonel Hull. ]May I clarify tlie matter?
Mr. Anderson. Yes.
Colonel Hull. On the matter of bonuses, all the bonus vouchers have been

segregated out; so far as audit is concerned, that has all been done, has it not?
Mr. Peeblks. Yes.
Colonel Hull. The audit has all been done on the Mason »& Hanger subcon-

tract?
Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Colonel Hull. We knovs^ hovp much is in dispute there?
Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Colonel Hull. The auditing has been done on all the traveling expenses?
Mr. Peebles. Y'es.

Colonel Hull. We know what vouchers have been expended?
Mr. Peebles. Yes.

151 Colonel Hull. Isn't it true that on all that you have mentioned the
auditing has been done, and it is simply a question as to determining as

to whether these items are or are not allowable under the terms of the contract
as a legal matter?
Mr. Pejebles. The auditing has been done insofar as proving that the con-

tractor expended that money.
Colonel HuLii. We know in the vouchers.
Mr. Peiebles. Yes.
Colonel Hull. You know why.
Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Colonel Hull. They have all been segregated; the audit has all been done..

Mr. Anderson. I understand you take the position that the travel vouchers,
are not adequately supported for allowance?

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. Therefore the audit on that is an audit for inadequate support..

Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Mr. Andei!Son. I want to get your position on the record. I do not express,

any opinion as to what conclusion we will reach, but I want to get your posi-
tion, if you please.

Mr. Peebles. My proposition was that it was a case of getting substantiation
for the payment of the travel. If they delivered $200 to John Jones to make-
a certain trip, and John Jones went out on a drunk, that was of no use to the
country.

Mr. Anderson. And you have no evidence that he expended the money.
152 Mr. Pbkbles. No evidence what his business was, or what he did, or

anything about it.

Mr. Anderson. I see.

Mr. Carnduff. Would you call it an audit unless it was substantiated as
to what the money was expended for?

Mr. Peebles. I wouldn't call it an audit in the strict sense of the word. I.

would call it a substantiation of the payment of the money by the company
to some unknown individual.

Mr. Carnduff. Then when you answered Colonel Hull as to certain items
being audited you meant that they had been segregated, but you did not mean
tliat they had been substantiated?

Mr. Peebles. No ; I think I made that clear, Mnjor.
General Williams. Well, does not an audit really determine whether or not

a thing is substantiated?
Mr. Carnduff. Yes, sir; that is a true audit.

General Williams. Then, if the evidence is not there, would a new audit
produce any new evidence, do you suppose?

Mr. Carnduff. If tlie evidence was not produced, the du Pont Company would
be lijible for that amount of money.

General Williams. Well, but that is all up now, isn't it?

Mr. Carnduff. No.
Colonel Huix. Yes; as far as two years audit can support it.

Mr. Carnduff. It has not been supported. It has been segregated, gentlemen.
The items have been put in there, but not supported. If you will allow

153 me to ask the witness a hypothetical question, I think I can clear tliis up.
With regard to the cotton linters. Mr. Peebles, you stated that n;> fur-

ther action, in your opinion, would result in benefit to the United states. I ask
you, if tlie I'uited States shculd be able to prove that five months after tbe
completion of production at this Old Hickory plant twenty-nine carloads of
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cotton were shipped in to the plant and charged to construction, from Hope-
well, Virginia, would such fact have been ascertained by you in your so-called
" audit "?
Mr. Peeblks. If it was a matter of record receipt in the plant, yes. Of course,

we were not at the plant. All we had was the records of the vouchers for the

stuff we paid for.

Mr. Carnduff. If it were Ave months after?

Mr. Peebles. Yes ; any expense in connection with that. If we paid any
money out for this stuff it would have been developed that that material
reached the plant. If tliis stuff was not paid for we would know nothing about
it and would have no record of it.

Mr. McLane. If it was received five months after you were there, you would
have no record of it, would you?
Mr. Peebles. Oh, after I was there ; oh, no.

Mr. McLane. No.
Mr. Peebles. I tliought you meant after the suspension of tliis construction

contract.
Mr. McLane. If it \\as received five months after the armistice was signed,

you would have no record of it?

Mr. Peebles. If we paid for it, we would have a record of it.

154 Mr. McLane. You couldn't tell anytliing except it was received at the
plant, could you?

Mr. Peebles. No, sir.

Mr. McLane. If this was not received at the plant but was delivered five

months after the signing of the armistice, you would not have looked at it,

would you? You would not have audited it?

Mr. Peebles. Not unless it became a matter of payment we would not have
been concerned in it at all.

Mr. McLane. And the same would be true as to nitrates, wouldn't it?

Mr. PEEajLES. Yes, sir.

Mr. McLane. The same would be true as to

General ^^'ILLIAMS (interposing). I think I see what Mr. McLane is after.

Why, nitrates might have been ordered in Chile, say five days before the
armistice, for the use at that plant, and might not have been delivered
there for four or five months after it was audited, and still be charged against
the operation of the plant. It would have to be. And, likewise, with these
linters. It is entirely probable. I should say, that a number of carloads
were delivered in there for months after the operation of tlie plant ceased.

Mr. Carnduff. The linters came from Hopewell, General.
Mr. McLane. They came from the company itself, direct.

Colonel HuLX. But if we paid for them
Mr. McLane (interposing). But the question would come up: How would

they come to get to Hopewell and be there in storage, when it would be just
as well, because the supply of linters is from the South?

155 Mr. Peebi^s. It occurs to me that in the operation of this cotton
matter that there was a mix-up of linters through an error made by the '

Buckeye Cotton Oil Company, who afterwards made it good. They shipped
:

a lot of linters in to Hopewell by mistake, instead of to Old Hickory, and i

they were obliged to refund the freights and adjust the error, or whatever it :

was. I don't remember just tlie details at this time.
Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Peebles, you have had charge of a number of large !

operations for the Government, audits, I think?
Mr. Peebles. Yes, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. Was the Old Hickory transaction handled in the same way >

as others? Was it handled the same way as you handled other transactions? J

Mr. Peebles. No, sir; because we completed the audit as prescribed by the j

Comptroller.
\

Mr. Carnduff. For instance, the Nordyke & Marmon account, was it handled 1

the same way as that?
Mr. Peebles. I applied what I knew to be the requirements of the Treasury I

Department in conducting that audit.
General Williams. What are the differences between those requirements, .|

and, say. your method, after you received these instructions here? First,
may I ask : Do .vou regard tlie instructions contained there as to not prepar-
ing that summary to accompany the voucher, as a vital matter?
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Mr. Peebles. Why, I wouldn't say so, General, but it is just a question of

what the various governmental departments require. Now, the Ordnance
Department, under which this contract was made, heretofore, in my

156 experience, required a summary. Well, a summary is nothing in the
world hut just a transcription of the voucher itself to accompany the

voucher.
General Williams. There is no new evidence on the summary, is there?

Mr. Peebues. No, sir.

General Williams. No original evidence on the summary?
Mr. Peebles. The only thing about a summary is that it bears the approval

of everybody getting a dollar a day and up on the face of it. Whereas on the
voucher itself there is no provision made for signatures.

Mr. A?.DERSON. Will Mr. Peebles be here tomorrow?
Mr. Carndutt. Can you remain over?
Mr. Peebles. Yes.
Mr. Carnduit. I would like to dispose of Mr. Bowman, whose testimony

will not take more than ten minutes, and let him get away. He has come here
at a considerable sacrifice.

Mr. Anderson. Try to do it in ten minutes. If you can think of any other
points, Mr. Peebles, that you think ought to be included, let us have them.
Mr. Peebles. It is a big order. Colonel.

Mr. Anderson. I know it is a big order, but we are all trying very hard
to get the " straight " of this thing.

Mr. Peebles. Yes ; and I don't want to make a mistake there. I don't want
to recommend something that won't do good.
Mr. Anderson. You are quite right, and we are all sincerely trying to get

at the facts.

Mr. Peebles. It is the layman against you legal lights, and I cannot see it

In the legal light.

157 STATEMENT OF R. E. BOWMAN, NATIONAL "VILLAGE, BOOTH'WYN, PA.

Mr. Caunduft. Your name is R. E. Bowman, address 237 Ridge Road, National
Village, Boothwyn. Pennsylvania?

Mr. Bowman. Yes.
Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Bowman, will you repeat, briefly, trying to make your

testimony cover about five minutes, the substance of what you told us in Wash-
ington last November when you testified in my oflice with reference to the Old
Hickory contract at Nashville, Tennessee?
Mr. Bowman. I was sent to the Old Hickory plant in June 1920, and then

later, in August 1920, remaining there possibly three months in total. And
during that time I was the special representative of Major Guise, and in charge
of the essential material side of the audit, taking up the materials entering
into smokeless powder, and used there at the plant. For a while the work on
ray end was held up until the i-ailroad records were transcribed, and finally we
were able to get into it.

I took the vouchers and classified them as to materials. There are about
38 main materials entering into smokeless powder. And then we had all kinds
of miscellaneous materials from—well, incidental to the operation of the plant.

This is on the opei'ation side, and not on construction at all. Facings sheets
were prepared by the assistants from the railroad records. The voucher was
applied to the railroad record, and if there was sufficient evidence that the

material had been received, the facing sheet so stated, and it was stamped
158 and approved by myself, and when the messenger arrived it was sent in

to Philadelphia. After that time I had nothing further to do with the
vouchers.

Mr. Cabnduff. Well, what did you find there, if anything, that was in error

or incorrect, if there was anything incorrect?
Mr. Bowman. I took exception to certain differences in freight rates; certain

cases where discounts for prompt payment were not taken advantage of by
the contractor, and a few miscellaneous cases that do not occur to me at this

time.
Mr. Carnduff. Tell us what you learned about the receipt cards and vouchers

;

how the receipt of materials was checked, if it was checked?
Mr. Bowman. There wei-e many cases where the only receipt we had was the

railroad record, and that we took as authentic. These railroad records were

8:3876—35—px 14 17
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made up from sources not in any way related to plant records. They were taken
from the records in the railroad offices entirely.

Mr. Carnduff. Did you check the receipt of these materials?
Mr. Bowman. Against the railroad record. And where there were records

in the contractor's office or in file we checked against those.

Mr. Carnduff. Dou you know anything about the so-called " fabrication " of
receipt cards?

Mr. Bowman. I saw a fabricated voucher, so-called fabricated vouchers
there at the plant.

Mr. OAENnuFF. How many of them?
159 Mr. Bowman. I couldn't state the number, but a good many of them.

General Wiu^iams. How do you know they were fabricated?
Mr. Bowman. They were signed by clerks there in the office who were not

in a position to gO' out in the plant. The main office of the plant, of course,

was a good distance from either gate where materials would enter, or from
the freight office, and a good deal of material was coming in by automobile
and truck as well, coming over that single bridge from Nashville. And these

clerks in the office were in no position to check that authoritatively.

Mr. AndeesO'N. Did they sign these records or receipts?
Mr. Bowman. I saw receipts signed " By order of "—signed by a certain man,

by order of the du Pont Company. " I certify that this material has been re-

ceived ", and signed " So-and-so, by order of the du Pont Company ", or the du
Pont Engineering Company.

Mr. Anderson. And that person who signed that receipt was a clerk in the

oflSce?

Mr. Bowman. Yes, sir.

Mr. Andeirson. While the goods were delivered down some distance away?
Mr. Bowman. May have been delivered some distance away, and never came

near the office at all. Taken into remote areas of the plant.

General Williams. Could that have been a transcript from any other record?
Mr. Bowman. I can't say. There might have been in some cases. But there

were cases where these vouchers were signed, and we could find no record

160 on the plant, or in NashviUe at all, at the railroad offices.

Mr. Anderson. Of the goods having been received? Do you mean rec-

ords were signed for goods of which you could find no record of delivery on the

part of the Railway Company?
Mr. Bowman. I think so ;

yes. I would have to see individual vouchers and
see my own facing sheets before I would
Mr. Andeksoin (interposing). Testify to that effect?

Mr. Bowman (continuing). Testify to that entirely and clearly.

Mr. Anderson. Anything more?
Mr. Carnduff. He is Mr. McLane's witness. I think Mr. McLane has more

knowledge of him than I have. I called him at Mr. McLane's request,

Mr, McLanb. That is all.

Mr. Carnduff. Thank you, sir.

Colonel Hull. One moment. W^henever you found any irregularities in any
voucher you say you put a facing sheet on it?

Mr. Bowman. Whenever I found any irregularity in any voucher I put a fac-

ing sheet on there to that effect.

Mr. Anderson. Did you allow or pass any of those accounts or vouchers for
material, founded upon those so-called fabricated vouchers?
Mr. Bowman. No, sir.

Mr. Anderson. You rejected them in every instance?
Mr. Bowman. I did.

161 Mr. Anderson. You don't know what finally became of those?
Mr. Bowman. No, sir,

Mr. Anderson. You passed them through to Philadelphia rejected?
Mr. Bowman. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. That is all,

Mr. McLanb. Now I will ask you if there were not three men kept at the cen-
tral office whose business it was to make up what is known and called a fabri-
cated card, a checker's card? I will ask you if Mr. Ayers was not one of
them?

Mr. Bowman. One man that I remember was Russell Brown.
Mr. McLanb. Russell Brown. Now what was his duty, as you remember?
Mr. Bowman. I think he was one of the clerks there in the office. Just how

much further I don't know.
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Mr. MoLane. Do you know what he did? And wasn't it his duty, Russell
Brown's duty, Ayers' and another mau's duty, to make up a fabricated card,

checker's card, signing it just as you stated? And later on, while you were
there, wasn't that force increased?
Mr. Bowman. Oh, I wasn't there while those cards were being made up. I

think they were made up before I came. I didn't get in there until—I didn't

get really to work until August 1920.

Mr. McLane. Now you spoke of Russell Brown. AVhat do you know about
what Russell did? Did you learn his handwriting, or know anything that you

could tell definitely to this committee?
162 Mr. Bowman. I simply saw vouchers made up with that form, and

signed with his name.
Mr. McLanb. Yes.
General Williams. Was Mr. Brown employed there at the time that you were

there?
Mr. Bowman. I believe he was still in the employ of the Engiceering Com-

pany ; yes, sir.

General Williams. Well, did you interview him and ask him for an explana-
tion of this?
Mr. Bowman. No ; my work did not bring me in touch with him at all.

General Williams. Yes. You inspected these vouchers, did you?
Mi-. Bowman. Yes.
General Williams. These cards?
Mr. Bowman. I did if they looked bad.
General Williams. And there was a man within reach of you, and you didn't

make any effort to find out from him what they were?
Mr. Bowman. Well, I didn't imderstand that that was strictly my province.

Not many of that sort of vouchers came through on the essential materials, as
I remember. More came through on the construction side than on the essential
material side.

General Williams. Yes ; but here is a paper presented as a piece of evidence,
signed by a definite man, and you question that evidence, you question the cor-
rectness of that piece of paper as evidence, and yet you do not question the man

who signed the paper.
163 Mr. Bowman. That was probably a fault on my part in not going after

him.
General Williams. That is all.

Mr. Carnduff. Let me see, Mr. Bowman, if I cannot draw out why you
committed the so-called fault, if it were a fault. Was it not your understand-
ing that this was the method of authenticating receipts, to make up these cards
in such manner?

Mr. Bowman. Well, I don't believe that on the essential material end of it

we paid much attention to the cards at all, but we went to these railroad
records.

Mr. Caenduff. Then the cards were immaterial in your investigation?
Mr. Bowman. They were not material there.

Mr. Carnduff. And therefore you disregarded them?
Mr. Bowman. Yes, sir.

General Williams. Why are they presented here as evidence if they are not
material? Why are you presenting this fact here as evidence if it is

immaterial?
Mr. Caenduff. It is immaterial as to the scope of his duties, but during

his duties he learned of this irregularity with reference to the construction
work, with which he had no connection.

Mr. McLane. I believe you stated that you found some vouchers that you
could not find the railroad records supporting them?

Mr. Bowman*. Yes, sir ; at the time I closed up and went back to Philadelphia
we hadn't found a record of some.

Mr. McLanb. And how many of those, and what would they amount
1

164 to? What would they average? What would the purchase price on an
average amount to of the component part that you handled of that

product?
Mr. Bowman. Well, that has been several years ago, Mr. McLane. and I

don't remember, but I do think that they were probably small vouchers. That
the big items were probably checked against the railroad records, and these
were the small injacellaneous vouchers, most of them. Not full carload ship-
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meuts. Where there was a carload shipment I think we could get a pretty-

good record on it. But the small items I don't think that we did.

Mr. McLane. That is all.

(Witness excused.)
Mr. Andeeson. Gentlemen, I move we adjourn until tomorrow, unless these

gentlemen have something else?

The Chairman. How many more witnesses will there be here. Major
Carnduft?
Mr. Caendxjff. Six or eight.

(The witness was excused at 5: 20 p. m., and after some informal discussion

an adjournment was taken until 10 : 30 a. m. of the following day. Friday,

May 11, 1923.)

165 SECOND DAY

OLD HICKORY INVESTIGATION

Friday, May 11, 1923. 10 : 45 o'clock A. M.

Room 3538, Munitions Building,
Washington, D. C.

Further proceedings had and testimony taken in executive session before

Subcommittee on Ordnance Transaction of the General War Transactions

Board, composed of the following members: Honorable Dwight F. Davis, As-

sistant Secretary of War, chairman ; Major General C. C. Williams, Chief of

Ordnance; Henry W. Anderson, Esq., representing the Department of Justice.

Present : Colonel J. A. Hull, executive officer of the War Transactions Board

;

Colonel F. W. Coleman, of the Finance Department; Arthur Carnduff, Esq.,

special assistant to the Attorney General; James Cameron, Esq.. Director of

Audit of the Department of Justice ; A. V. McLane, Esq., United States district

attorney, Nashville, Tenn. ; Major J. C. Booton, Ordnance Department. United

States Army; Major P. J. O'Shaughnessy, Ordnance Department.

166 Mr. Carnduft. Mr. Chairman, I believe it was desired to recall Major
Guise for examination by Colonel Hull. Major Guise is here.

Mr. Anderson. Very well, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. With your i)ermission, I will recall Major Guise.

STATEMENT OF MR. H. B. GUISE—Resumed

Colonel Hull (handing paper to the witness). Major, do you recognize that

letter in any way?
Mr. GuiSEJ. Yes, sir; this is a copy
Colonel Hull. Will you please read it to the reporter, with the date and

•everytliing?

Mr. GriSE. This is a letter from the chief of the Philadelphia district ordnance

office to the supervisor of the cost-accounting branch of the Philadelphia district

ordnance office, dated October 4, 1919, addressed to Mr. W. S. Hall, supervisor

cost-accounting branch, subject: E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company, Old

Hickory plant [reading] :

" I have just received instructions from Mr. Door, Assistant Director of

Munitions, that this office is to pursue the investigation which we have begun
and to go into such auditing and accounting matters concerning the contract at

this point as we may deem necessary in the interest of the Government.
" Please, therefore, proceed with your investigations, making them as

107 complete as you deem necessary for the Government's best interests, and
also for the "proper protection of this office, without, however, allowing

the incurring of an expenditure not warranted by the result obtainable. Put-

ting it in another way, I leave it to your good judgment to determine the extent

to which you will go into details as to reaudits, rechecking, etc. I would also

appreciate if you will from time to time advise me the progress of your investi-

gations, with suggestions of what action, if any, shall be called for by the

Ordnance Department of the War Department.

"(Signed) John C. Jones.
" Ordnance District Chief."

Colonel Hull. You testified yesterday, in answer to questions by me, that as

long as you were in charge of the work you had discretion to go into any
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question that you thought advisable—with the exception of going into the nitrate

prices?
Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. There was testimony given that you issued orders that in no
case were the investigators or accountants or examiners to go back of the prices

set forth in the voucher? Is that true?
Mr. Guise. That was to be done later and was not to be examined into until

the determination of quantity had been reached. That was to avoid the possi-

bility of delay after the determination of the quantity of components, so that

further analysis could be made in relation to the question of materials. Cost
then would be examined in general rather than in detail, and compared

IGS with tlie price fixed by the agent appointed by the War Industries Board
for that purpose.

Colonel Hull. Suppose you ran across a voucher for a table of this kind, and
it struck the examiner as being three or four times the value. Would that be
passed without question, or would there be a note made?

Mr. Guise. There would be a note made and attached, sir.

Colonel Hull. You did not issue any instructions that they were to be
absolutely passed without question?

Mr. Guise. Not at all, sir ; not on the question of cost. As I stated yesterday,
the prime factor that we were after at the time was the determination of

quantity rather than cost. The final reviewal of cost was slowly progressing,

but it was a pertinent fact that we were after, to enable us to clear up the
question of the delivery of materials to the plant.

Colonel Hull. Asking the question in another way : Up to the time you left

the work, was tliat chart that was given to you by Mr. Jones in that letter

virtually the chart by which you were sailing?

Mr. Guise. Not entirely. I had been instructed in several other different

instances—I think there are copies of the letters in here—with regard to the
care necessary in conjunction witli the audit ; and I had been directed, on
consultation with the legal advisers to the district chief, that this was to he a
definite audit and check, and that no compromises or arrangements could be

i-eached with the contractor until that was finished, that being the method
169 that would have to be pursued until the work was completed, when any

disagreements between the contractor and the district claims board or
other governmental agency woukl be taken up.

Colonel Hull. That is all I have to ask.

General Williams. What is the date of that letter?
Mr. Guise. The letter to Mr. Hall? October 4, 1919.
Mr. Anderson. There has been a good deal said here about a 10-percent audit.

Do you know anything about that?
Mr. Guise. You must remember that the only thing that I had as evidence

in relation to that was secured through the efforts of myself in this case, plus
additional information that was received and forwarded through the Depart-
ment of Justice and through Colonel Neville, I believe, to the district chief, and
by him brought to my attention.
Mr. Andeeson. Let me make my trouble clear ; I do not know whether you

can clear it up, or somebody else. There has been more or less suggestion that
there was originally a 10-percent audit, and then a complete audit was started
and never completed, and that there never has been a complete audit. Now,
in order for me to reach a conclusion as to whether, in my judgment, a complete
audit would be justified in this case I would like to know just what auditing
has been done down there.

General Williams. And I would like to make an additional request there,
that we get an authoritative definition of what a complete audit is.

Mr. Anderson. If we can ; yes, sir. I want to know what auditing has been
done and at what times, and whether there has ever been a complete audit.

170 General Williams. There is another point that I think should be
brought out. This 10-percent audit was during the construction and

operation of the phmt. I would like to have, also, brought out whether or not
it was possible or practicable at that time, considering the circumstances, to
make a complete audit. Was the 10-percent audit in accordance with, say, com-
mercial practice, or was it something that was justified by the circumstances at
the particular time, or was it not justified?
Mr. McLane. I would like, also, to have brought out who authorized the 10-

percent audit, in order that we may find out from the proper witness why the
10-pereent audit was authorized.



3424 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

Mr. Anderson. Major Guise, you have heard all these questions. Can you
throw any light on that situation?
Mr. Guise. May I refresh my memory to some extent?
General Williams. I am willing to say this : I think that under the contract,

I as Chief of Ordnance would have had authority to direct a 10-percent audit.

Furthermore, I will say that under the circumstances—the question never was
brought to me, but under the circumstances, had it been brought to me, I would
have directed such an audit.

Mr. McLane. What I was driving at is, Who did direct it?

General Williams. I will admit the responsibility for directing that audit.

Mr. Guise. The only information we have as to orders, or that I secured as
to orders

Colonel Hull. Limit that to the time of operation.
General Williams. Construction and operation.

171 Mr. Guise. This 10 percent that has been referred to is not an audit

;

it never was an audit. The 10-percent method referred to was the method
used in checking the quantity and class of incoming materials.
Mr. Anderson. That was true of the period of construction and operation?
Mr. Guise. During the operation. There was practically no check ever found

on the operation materials.
Mr. ANDEatsoN. Just a minute. Then during the period of construction and

operation there was what we might call a ten-percent check. That is, one
receipt in ten would be checked to verify its correctness, and the other nine
would be assumed to be correct on the basis that that one was found correct?

INIr. Guise. This was the governmental check.
Mr. Anderson. The governmental check. Now, then, what was the next

audit?
Mr. Guise. This was not the audit. Do not get " audit " and " check " mixed.

An audit is an entirely different thing fi*om a check. The Army inspector of
ordnance, under the old system that was carried along to some extent in the
new—although we were relieved to some extent of his responsibility for prop-
erty—was the representatives in the field and had to assume property account-
ability for all materials received and paid for by the Government. In these
cost-plus contracts the miscellaneous items that made up the material being
manufactured by the contractor had to be checked ; the actual final cost of the

article had to be checked in under the same method.
172 The Army inspector was given a group of men-—sometimes depending

on his discretion, and generally depending on how far he made his
check, more than anything else—for several purposes

;
primarily, we may say,

so far as incoming materials are concerned, to check against the quantity and
quality received. Secondarily, to check against processes in producing the
material. Normally it was expected that a complete check would be made on
the receipt of materials. That was had; there was no reversal that I know
of at any time of the Ordnance Department regulations in that direction. Of
course, I had myself about eight months of inspection work, and during that
period I had the old-time method, and I had the old-t,ime property accounts.
I only had nine all told to take care of.

In this case the evidence that it was possible to secure, together with a copy
of the order issued by Lieutenant Foulke, indicated that a 10-percent check
was made on the receipt of the material. That is, out of, we will say, 100
vouchers, 10 vouchers would be pulled out and checked up, and the 100 accepted
as being correct If the ten were correct.
The Chairman. Was that the customary practice in the case of a large con-

tract of this sort in those times, or was that special in this particular case?
Mr. Guise. Well, I don't know. This was the only case anyway who'e I

definitely came in touch with that particular practice. As I stated, in my
property accounts I always worked on the old method. Even over jn France
I used the old system, and I found that I could keep things clear, and my ac-

counts were " zeroed " even overseas, so I assumed it was satisfactory
173 for me to do it.

In this particular case it must be i-emembered that the Army inspector
of ordnance at the Old Hickory smokeless-powder plant had, in proportion to
the magnitude of the task, a comparatively limited number of checkers.
The ('hairman. That is what I was wondering—whether this was the only

practicable thing to do under the circumstances or whether special instructions
were issued in this case.
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Mr. Guise. Whether the Army inspector of ordnance with the proper number
of inspectors could have properly handled the matter or not is another question.

Wliat I would do under the same conditions js also another question which
does not cuter into this matter. The du Fonts and the subcontractors had
about 400 checkers in the field, according to the records, so far as we could
ascertain. The Army inspector had about 76; as I remember, that was the
number stated in his own correspondence.
Now, with 7G men it would be impossible—I say this liased on my own ex-

perience in general. It would be impossible for him to make even a real

10-percent check, with the magnitude of the operation. If the men had been
furnished the horses and could have gotten around all over the place rapidly

—

they would have to use horses in a groat many cases, instead of automobiles—
the probabilities are that witli 200 checkers he might have controlled it in

general fairly well. But he could not do it with 70 men.
That is all I can state regarding it. There is not any question of an

174 approximate 10-pereent check having been made. That was what was
done after the issue of this order, which I do nor believe was carried

on in the early stages of the contract.
With relation to that it must be remembered—you will understand, this is

not a reflection on the Ordnance Department in general ; it may be somewhat
of a reflection on the man who was in the held, if he did not foward this
information to the Ordnance Department. The chief clerk in the office of the
Army inspector of ordnance at the Old Hickory i)la]it did call attention to

quite a number of discrepancies that had occurred with relation to the receipt
of material, that had occurred very close to the time at which this order
for a 10-percent check was pronuilgated. Now, that would, ordinarily speaking,
render any officer rather cautidus about proceeding with anything except, as
nearly as he possibly could, a full check. I am speaking now, of course, my
own judgment. That is what I should consider necessary to do.

General Williams. How many other contracts do you think the Ordnance
Department had going at this time?

Mr. GtnsE. Oh, they had an enormous number.
General Williams. Yes ; we had some 20.000 or 25,000 contracts altogether.
Mr. GLasE. Yes, sir.

General Williams. So that the wdiole attention of the Ordnance Depart-
ment could not have been focussed on this particular contract.

Mr. Guise. No; that is certain. General. There is not any criticism of the
Ordnance Department at the headquarters, unless officers in the field gave

them full and definite information regarding matters in the field—

I

175 mean important matters, relative to either production or other matters—
in such a way that they could be taken care of. The Ordnance Depart-

ment had in adjacent territory people that could have very well run down
to Old Hickory and conferred relative to these matters that they were given
general supervision of

General Williams. Yes; I understand.
Mr. Guise. And anything that was neglected by him—tliat is, by the district

officer or by the officer in the field—could never be considered as a' reflection on
the people at the head. An officer's business in the field—that is, one who is
isolated and has practical command of the situation in the field—is to keep
his superiors thoroughly posted as to any developments that he thinks are out
of the ordinary. And if he does not do that, while it might be considered,
according to Army regulations, that it rested on the others, still it does not
rest there. It rests solely on the man that is responsible for the withholding
of information.
Mr. AivDEKSO'N. Major, let me get myself clear about one matter. I do not

know anything about all these things. The 10-percent check covered the period
of construction and operation?
Mr. Guise. Just let me get that firmly settled. The only tiling that I know

anything about with reference to a 10 percent check was on construction. I
never could find anything relative to receipt of materials on oixn-ation. There
is that sharp subdivision right there. Materials for construction we could find

had been partially checked, so far as records that were available to us
176 were concerned ; we had no check on materials for operation. I do not

mean every item ; I am speaking in general. There may have been and
undoubtedly were some on the minor invoices. I am speaking of the great
bulk of expense that was incurred. We were trying to check that by what
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we might call secondaiy evidence—a rather round about way, that would, how-
ever, have given us the information eventually.

General Williams. Mr. Peebles yesterday testified, concerning certain of
the prime raw materials of manufacture, that an entirely satisfactory audit
was made. Now, how could that audit have been made had there not been
records concerning the receipt and consumption of the materials?
Mr. Guise. Why, I cannot be responsible for anything Mr. Peebles stated.

General Williams. Then you and Mr. Peebles are directly disagreeing on
that particular point?
Mr. Guise. It is extremely probable that we would be if he said an entirely

satisfactoiT audit was made on operation.
General Williams. I did not say operations ; I said on certain raw materials.
Mr. Guise. Component materials? At the time I left we were securing sec-

ondary evidence with relation thereto, and it may be that they did secure suffi-

cient evidence as to the matter of shipments so that it was accepted. That had
not been completely and finally secured, or anywhere near secured, at the time
I left. I cannot be responsible for what he found afterward. What I was

trying to do was to get the total amount of bulk shipments and materials
177 in there.

Ml". Anderson. Now, with an understanding of what is meant by a
check, and the limits fixed so far as your knowledge goes, as I understand it

when you were assigned to this work—which was about what time, Major?
Mr. Guise. So far as the du Pont Engineering Company is concerned, about

April 1, 1919.
Mr. Anderson. Then what was the nature of the audit that was to be

made under your direction, when you went into the work in April 1919?
Mr. Guise. At that time the cost accounting branch of the du Pont Engineering

matters was under the Baltimore district office. I was under the Philadelphia
district ordnance office. The cost accounting branch cooperated, but were not,
we might say, extremely cordial in relation to the matter. There was a shai-p
division as to how far my authority would carry with regard to thysm, they
being under an entirely different supervision than I was. They could not com-
plete a valid public voucher without my certification ; because so far as my ap-
pointment as representative of the contract section was concerned, that came
from Washington, and there was no other person present in that section to act
in that capacity. And in other ways they did not work under the Philadelphia
district ordnance office.

I inquired of them as to whether they had full supporting evidence with
relation to the vouchers. Proper summaries were supplied on quite a number

of vouchers. They told me that they did have, and there were quite a
178 number of vouchers passed through that were properly endorsed on the

back, so far as could be told. We found later they w^ere endorsements
in red ink, and cross-offs—Army officers in the field, modifying materially the
record that the voucher carried.
Mr. Anderson. Now, let me see if I can get in your mind what I am driving

at. You went there in April 1919, and the letter which you have just read was
in October 1919. Between April and October what was the nature of your
inquiry or audit, or whatever you Avould call it? What was the scope and extent
of it in those six months, as briefly as you can state it?

Mr. Guise. My directions were to concentrate. At the beginning I had Her-
cules and Atlas claims. I threw those overboard. I do not mean that I was
overworked, but I bad more than I could reasonably attend to, and I requested
that I be relieved of the Hercules and Atlas claims, and I was, after about
mid-year.

I concentrated all my efforts on requesting the cost accounting branch to

proceed with their work, to call to my attention anything that did come up.
I concenti-ated my efforts almost entirely, until late in the summer or early
fall of 1919, on claims. You must remember that we had a very large number
of accountants on this work, and that the expense of the United States was
far greater on claims, even if we did have quite a number of accountants on
this contract, owing to the enormous mass of matter it was necessary to review
on those claims.

To illustrate the different things that came up, and to show you that
179 everything was not perfectly easy, even in the Department, I will cite one

item. We had variable price contracts on claims that must be settled
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and could be settled only in accordance with the terms of the conti*act, costs

and prices being fixed in such a manner that you could diminish or increase
the contractor's profit. To establish that cost I set up a certain method by
which it could be determined.
Here were certain contracts paralleling each other. It was almost impossible,

according to the du Font's idea, for those to be audited. I simply told them,
and it was agreed later on—about eight months later on, however—that that
should be divided by months, and the cost price of all the component materials
for each and every month be determined under the provisions in the various
months. That went into effect in 1920, and I say without hesitation it must
have cost a considerable amount of money. The other way it was impossible
for any officer of the United States to criticize. It was impossible for the
du Fonts to accept. They would not know whetheV it was right or wrong,
and it certainly would have been impossible for the Finance officer to have paid
over the money.
Now, that was one item, and it was important ; but the decision was not

with me, because I had no definite or transcendent power over the cost account-
ing branch. They opposed this method of accounting. It was found to be the
only way, and by that method we were able to settle practically all of the
smokeless powder contracts that were entered into between late 1917 and the
end of the contracts.

A great many of those items had to be taken up in that way. I had
ISO to go to Hopewell to review niatters pertaining to large quantities, mil-

lions of dollars of supplies, and look over the condition at all of these
points where they had claims—except, I believe, at Barksdale, Wisconsin, and
possibly some Pacific coast points.

Mr. Anderson. You exercised rather a general jurisdiction over labor in

connection with the settlement of claims largely, through the summer of 1919?
Mr. Guisa. Y'es, sir ; and that was carried along more or less all the way

through until the final settlement of the claims.
Mr. Anderson. Now, then, in October 1919 there were instructions given,

which you have read, which covered a broad investigation in the nature of a
general audit. As I understand it, however, you did not personally have control
of the audit of the accounts?

Mr. Guise. My duties were primarily to determine—my orders were practi-

cally to take the place, so far as I could, of the officer that was in the field

during the period, as to the determination of certain things. In addition to

that, contractual questions arising were, of course, discussed with various
people—discussed with AVashington, as far as that is concerned.

ilr. Anderson. Now then, during that period from April, say, to October, the
co.st accounting was going on in the Cost Accounting Department?

Mr. Guise. Cost accounting was going on in exactly the same manner that
it had during the entire term of the contract. There was no correction made

to any great extent. They were asked as to the supporting evidence
181 that they had back of these contracts.

Mr. Anderson. Then after October, when the general scope of the
investigation was bi'oadened by that letter, the accounting went on on the
basis of that letter? And your services terminated when?

Mr. Guise. My services as an officer terminated November 30, 1920.

Mr. Anderson. During that year, Major, was there a general audit going on
up to the time you left?

Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. A general audit of the whole thing?
Mr. Guise. There was a definite audit being made, according to the Ordnance

Department, Cost Accounting and Finance Division regulations.
Mr. Anderson. And that was in px'ogress when you left?

Mr. Guise. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. This is the first time I have ever had clearly in my mind
what bad been done in this case.

Mr. Guise. My instructions were, so far as I was concerned, to proceed to

audit this contract as a contract, and not in any sense of the word as a claim.
There was nothing we could adjust ; the adjustment would have to be made
later on by a board. Those directions were definite and direct.

Mr. Anderson. And if you hesitated about anything you would merely put
it in suspense?
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Mr. Guise. Anything that was put in su.spense was to be reviewed later
witli all the elements of a claim.

The Chairman. If we assume that this 10-percent check was insuflfi-

182 cient to determine the actual materials that were received, would any
irregularities in delivery be caught up by this audit that came afterward?

Mr. Guise. The only determination that you could make, when you cannot
get from the contractor the necessary evidence, the burden of proof rests on
the contractor, not on the United States; never.
The Chairman. My point is this. You have got to show during the audit

that the materials were received. The audit will catch that up. If thej
could not show that, then that item would be put in the suspended list?

Mr. Guise. Yes, sir ; it would.
The Chairman. So that if a complete audit were made all of those different

items would be caught up at that time, regardless of the sufficiency of the
10-percent check?

Mr. Guise. Yes, sir. The point is that so far as bnlk materials were con-
cerned we were getting secondary evidence, and where it was reasonably
sufficient I would have certified it through. If I could not get the original
receiving report properly validated and we did get the other, picking it up from
various railroad and express companies' records and other accounts—if we
could not get it through that, the item would go in suspension until the con-
tractor produced the evidence.
The Chairman. So that the fact that there was only a 10-percent check

would really be a handicap to the contractor in proving his case, rather than
to the Government in finding out the facts, would it not?
Mr. Guise. Yes.

The Chairman. In other words, if there had been a 100-percent check
183 at that time it would have been easier for the contractor to make his

proof of these vouchers?
Mr. Guise. If there had been a real 100-percent check at the time there would

not have been any question. This contract, as far as materials are concerned,
would have been closed out a long time ago.
The Chairman. But if there were any insufficiency as to the evidence it

would have been put in suspension?
Mr. Guise. We considered that entirely a matter for the contractor to prove.
Mr. Carnduff. Does the chairman understand that although the contractor

might have been embarrassed to make his proof, he had already been paid,
and that by virtue of this 10-percent check the contractor had paid himself, and
this audit was not for the purpose of paying the contractor but for the purpose
of ascertaining what moneys had been overpaid, and should properly have been
paid back to the United States.
The Chairman. Yes ; I mean that in any claims for that $500, or whatever

it may be, these items would be caught up now?
Mr. CARNDtTFP. Yes ; but the contractor had the money.
General Willl\ms. The contractor, however, is liable for the money, and if

he could not prove that he had been made a just payment, then the Govern-
ment has recourse and can recover from him. Is not that the complete story?
You just stated one part of it. Is not that the complement to what you just
said?

Mr. Carnduff. I will give you the complete story, sir. The contractor is

a corporation with extremely limited capital, and was required to give a
184 bond of $20,000,000. There is some doubt in the mind of the Depart-

ment of Justice as to tlie collection of the judgment if it should be ob-
tained. In order to recover the money, if the contractor were liable, it would be
necessary to institute a suit and to prove the case of the United States, thereby
throwing the burden of proof on the United States and not on the contractor.
He, having received the money by this process, is in the advantageous position.

Mr. McTjAnb. Major, you were asked about the number of plants and the small
number of men with which to make a check. There never at any time was any
trouble in securing the men to do auditing work, was there?

Mr. Guise. I cannot state that. There was no trouble in securing men at
the time of the particular audit that I am conversant with, or at any time after
I returned from overseas.

General Wiixiams. I can answer Mr. McLane's question. At all times it was
difficult to obtain labor—difficult to obtain the kind of people that we wanted.
At all times during the war, I mean.
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Mr. McLanb. I hope the general will not get the impression that I am trying

to east a reflection upon him or any member of the department. That has crept

into this a number of times. What I am driving at is the fact that they had so

many plants that there was not a proper check made—not because there is criti-

cism of the Department but because of the fact that actually it was not done
and that there is a demand for it to be done at this time.

185 General Williams. How can it be done? It is all gone. How can you
go back and make a check?

Colonel Hull. How can you check the delivery at this time?
Mr. McLane. We can force the men who did not show that the materials

arrived to bring us something on which to stand. I do not think any contractor

has a right to say, " Well, I have delivered the material ; noW you prove that

I have not." I do not think the Government is called upon to do that.

Colonel Hull. Is that the position here?
Mr. McLanb. It is not my position.

Colonel Hull. Is it the position of the du Pont people?
Mr. McLanb. I am wondering. They have not, in my judgment, furnished

proper evidence of delivery.

Colonel Hull. Have you seen the evidence that they have submitted?
Mr. McLanb. I have not, because you have it.

General Wiixiams. Why do you make a statement like that to this board, when
you do not know?

Mr. McLane, Because I know of $29,000 in money in the hands of the Nash-
ville & Chattanooga Railroad at Nashville, Tennessee, that the Nashville & Chat-
tanooga Railroad says does not belong to them ; that it either belongs to the
Railroad Administration or to the Government, on account of overpayments.
Because I know of numerous items of that kind in which there has been no
accounting, I feel justified in making that assertion upon such information. I

will state further that—if I am correctly informed by the Bureau of Intelli-

186 gence of the Department of Justice—there is no reason why $29,000 should
not be covered into the Trea.sury tomorrow if the War Department will

make a proper investigation of that item.

General Williams. What proof have you of these statements you are making?
Mr. MoLane, I have not seen the letter, but I have Mr. Towler, who has the

proof^—a statement from the president of the N. & C. road that there is $29,000
covered into profit and loss that does not belong to the N. & C. road, which was
an overpayment on freights that was never accounted for.

General Williams. Why don't you bring out the documents and show them
to us?
Mr. McLanb. I am bringing it out now. I am bringing it to you when I come

here and ask that this audit be made in order to determine it. That is why I

am here today.
Mr. Caendutff. In this connection, Mr. Chairman. I think we should introduce

the correspondence of the War Department—which Major Booton has kindly
furnished me this morning—showing that this 10 percent check was ordered
by office order no. 1 on May 9, 1918, by Lieutenant Foulke, the oflicer in charge
at Nashville ; and that Lieutenant Foulke in a report to the Ordnance Depart-
ment at Washington in .Tune 1918 called attention to the fact that this check was
incomplete, and that sul)sequently the chief clerk at Nashville reported to Lieu-
tenant Foulke that errors had crept in and that the 10 percent audit was incom-
plete. Those three letters are in the possession of Major Booton. So the War
Department had notice.

Colonel Hull. And have acted on it.

187 General Williams. We do not dispute that ; that is a matter of record.
We know that.

Mr. Carnduff. We will put it in our record now. if you do not object.
Major BooTON. These are attached to a report of May 20, 1920, of Major

Guise to Mr. .John C. Jones, district chief, at the Philadelphia office, and
are supporting documents to the report of Major Guise. The original report
contains these copies of office orders and so on.

Mr. Anderson. If there is no objection, those will just be put in by refer-

ence on the record.
Mr. Carndutf. I would like to have them put in verbatim, Colonel Anderson.

They are official records.
The Chairman. Yes. It is not necessary to read them now.
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(The documents referred to are here copied in full as follows:)

[Copy]

May 9. 1918.

office order no. 1

Subject : Routing to be followed by United States Army ordnance inspection
force, Old Hickory powder plant, Nashville, Tenn., governing construction
under contract no. war order P-4755-711-E

1. Work of inspection.—Inspection will be divided into five classes, as fol-

lows :

188 (A) Inspection of vouchers, invoices, bills, etc., material, expendi-
tures, etc., and the approving or disapproving of same, before sending

through to the disbursement officer at Wilmington, Del.
(B) Inspection of incoming material.
(C) Inspection of distribution of material after receipt.

(D) Inspection of the actual work of construction with a view to checking
up delays, excess of employees on any particular piece of work, undue waste
of material, loafing employees, leaving the job early, etc.

(E) General inspection, covering commissary methods, office methods, police
methods, fire prevention, etc.

II. Tlie personnel and division of worJc.—The work of inspection will be
divided among the personnel of this office as follows

:

(A) Serg. E. F. Coffin, in charge of office and outside inspection for the
inspector of ordnance.

(B) J. S. Wood, acting chief clerk and stenographer directly responsible
for routine work in the office.

(C) Private W. C. Gibbons, in charge of oiitside inspection on incoming
material in bulk in carload lots.

(D) Private E. .J. Taylor, in charge of outside insiiection on incoming mis-
cellaneous material in shipments of carload and less-than-carload lots.

(E) Private Harry W. Strickler, general inspection. Private Strickler will

be detailed daily for specific work.
III. Methods to he folloivcd in conducting inspection of vouchers, i)u-oices,

hills, etc.— (A) Such documents will be divided into three classes, according
to the contractor's classification, as follows

:

189 1. Lumber. 2. Mason. 3. Miscellaneous.
(B) 1. Such documents wdien presented to this office for approval will

be immediately checked by Sergt. Coffin or Mr. Wood.
2. Those found correct will be stamped approved and returned to the con-

tractor when complete, each day.

3. From time to time documents will be submitted for approval which may
be found to be incorrect in various ways. Whenever such errors are found,
Sergt. Coffin or Mr. Wood will call the matter to the attention of the inspector

of ordnance and take the matter up with the contractor with a view to correction.

(a) A record of such documents will be kept in the proper file. This record
will give full details in each case covering the actual error (when it can be
ascertained)—
Action taken by this oflSce.

Action taken by the conti-actor.

Result of the action taken.
(ft) A monthly report will be compiled from this file, showing

—

Total number of errors detected.

Total money value of errors detected.
Total number of errors detected which could not be corrected from reports

when taken up with the contractor.

(C) 1. At least 10 percent of the documents received in this office without
supporting papers will be held out and will be forwarded to the contractor

with request for supporting papers.

190 2. Upon notification from the contractor that these documents are
ready for inspection with supporting papers attached, either Sergt

Coffin or Mr. Wood will go to the contractor's office and check.

3. A daily record will be kept by this office in the proper file showing results

of the check.
4. On the first day of every month a report will be compiled from the infor

mation in this file and from the record specified in paragraph IV-H-1 showing

—
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(a) The total number of documents received for each class of material dur-
ing the month for inspection.

(&) The grand total of documents received during the month for inspection.
(c) The total number of documents found to be correct upon check during

the month.
(e) The total number of documents found to be incorrect upon check during

the month.
(/) Percentage of documents checked by this office during the month based

on the total number received for inspection.
iff) The percentage of documents found to be incorrect during the month

based on the total number received for inspection.
'

IV. Method to be fotlowed in making inspection on incoming material.—
(A) 1. The men assigned to inspection of incoming material will be known
as " field inspectors."

2. They will check every day, covering as wide an area and as great a
191 diversity of materials as possible, using the forms issued by the con-

tractor to his field checkers for records.
(B) In checking carload lots in bulk, the entire carload will be checked
(C) In checking less-tliau-carload lots, any single complete parcel or "part

of the shipment may be checked.
(D) In checking carload lots of miscellaneous material, any single comnlete

parcel or part of the shipment may be checked.
(E) It is not desired that entire carloads of miscellaneous shipments maybe checked, as with the present force the work would be restricted to toosmall a percentage of the incoming cars.
(F) At the end of each day's work, the field inspectors will report to the

office, turning in their reports and taking up with the inspector of ordnanceany points of particular importance. In the absence of the inspector of ord-
nance, written memorandum must be made, calling his attention to such points

2. Reports should be clipped together and should have attached to them awritten report, signed by the field inspector, calling attention particularly to
all shortages, broken parts, etc., that they day's work may have developed
indicating the trouble by the contractor's requisition number covering thematerial referred to.

"^^^ s

3. Any other points of interest which may have been noted during the day'swork in connection with incoming material should be covered in the field
inspector's report.

192 4. Each morning the reports of the field inspectors for the precedingday will be carefully checked up by Mr. Wood or Sergt. Coffin Afte?
this has been done the contractor will be furnished with a list of the materialcovered in the reports, identified by requisition numbers and car numbersand the contractor will be required to submit corresponding reports by their
field checkers for ^mparison. The check comparison will be made bv Mrwood or hergt. Coffin immediately upon notice from the contractor that hehas the required records ready. In making comparison, particular attentionwill be given to reports by our inspectors indicating broken or missing articles(G) 1 A daily record will be kept by this office in the proper file! showin-the results of the comparison called for in paragraph IV-F-4 preceding

rv^of-. •*^f,?''l*,'^''^
of every month a report will be compiled from the infor-mation in this file and the record specified in paragraph IV-H-I showin-—

)i\ m?^ ^^^^\ ""'^•^er of "check comparisons" made during the month
Zi^ P^^^

number of "check comparisons " found to be correct
c) The total number of "check comparisons" found to be incorrect

((Z) The percentage of "check comparisons" found to be correct based onthe total number of " check comparisons " made during the month
(e) The percentage of "check comparisons" found to be incorrect based

IQ^ ,^^ri?^^\ ".T^"'" ^^ ^^/''^ comparisons " made during the month193 U) The total number of documents (vouchers, invoices bills efM
received by this office during the month for inspection

' '

(g) The percentage of " check comparisons " made during the month bn^ed
.n tlie total number of documents received during the month for inspecdS(H) 1. A daiy record will be kept in the file provided showing the total

[II-A!'p?Lecnng
"'' '^'' '^'^ ^^'' "^'"^ ^""'^ '^''^' classified as specified fn

,

2. The first day of each month a total for each class and a grand total for
ill classes will be taken for purposes of reports specified in the preceding
-Jell £1^1 cl^Jllfe,
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(V) The inspection referred to in paragraph I-O will for the time being be
handled by the Inspector of Ordnance or such other of the personnel of this
office whom he may designate from time to time.

VI. Inspection referred to in I-D will be handled by the Inspector of Ord-
nance himself, or such other of the personnel of this office as he may designate.
All Field Inspectors, however, will " keep their eyes open " for any of the
points referred to in paragraph I-D and will submit a daily report in writing
covering any of the points referred to which the inspector may believe that
he has noted. These reports should specify the time, place, particular trouble,
and, when it can be obtained without friction, the name and the number of
tJie foreman involved.

VII. Inspection referred to in paragraph I-E will be handled by the Inspec-
tor of Ordnance in person.

George R. Fgulke, Jr.

194 Army Inspector of Ordxance,
June 7, 1918.

From : Lt. Geo. R. Foulke, Jr., Ord. R. C, Army Inspector of Ordnance,
Nashville, Tenn.

To: Lt. Col. F. H. Miles, Jr., Inspection Division Ord. Dept. U. S. A., 6th & B
Streets, Washington, D. C.

Subject : Routine of Inspection.

1. Attached ht rewith is copy of Office Order No. 1 in re inspection specified in

my letter to you of the 23rd ulte.

2. Referring to the monthly report specified in paragraph 111-C4, you will

note that the report gives a general summary, not including money value of
errors found. The money value of the percentage of error, if any, can readily
be determined by referring to the file record from which this report is com-
piled. The actual documents which were in error can be found. From tliem

the actual money value of the errors can be computed, based on the money
value of the documents in which the errors occurred, and, if satisfactory, re-

imbursement, when construction is finished, can be made based upon this per-

centage. If this reimbursement is not thought to be accurate enough, then
the auditor, when appointed, can cover each document, check all errors, and

reimbursement can be made on the strength of his report. In other
195 words, the report specified above first develops with reasonable certainty

whether any errors existed or not and second provides a working basis

on which adjustment can be made if desired. Attached herewith are cards,

and from the one marked " #1 ", you will note how the Information regarding
documents checked with supporting papers is shown in the files of this office.

3. Referring to report specified in IV-G-2 it is felt that this report will

develop with reasonable certainty, first whether the inspection made by the
contractor is a good and proper inspection, and, second, that it will develop
a basis for financial adjustment of claims, in the following manner ; if compari-
son of reports of the " Field inspectors " from this office with the reports of

the contractor's field checkers develops that the contractor's field checkers are
not reporting shortages, breakages, etc., certain specified instances of failure to

make such reports can be determined from the records kept in this ofiice, and,

by referring to the files kept by the contractor, the loss in money value occa-

sioned by the errors in the contractor's field checkers' reports can be deter-

mined as a percentage based on the value of the shipment. This i)ercentage

could be applied if satisfactory to the entire value of all purchases made for

purposes of reimbursement upon conclusion of construction. If this method of

settlement is not satisfactory the fact of the error existing has been estab-

lished, and audit can be made by the proper parties and specific adjustment
obtained. From the card marked " #2 attached, you will note how the

196 information regarding comparison between the field inspectors' reports

and reports of the contractor's field checkers is shown in the files of

this office.

4. Referring to paragraph I-C, this inspection will be handled as specified

in paragraph V. No particular men have been designated to handle this work
regularly because investigation has developed that when material is received

on the ground here and properly cliecked in, it is almost sure to be checked

up and handled in an economical manner and with as little waste as conditions

will permit. SuflScient inspection can be given, therefore, as outlined in
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paragraph V to insure that the present methods are continued. In case this
inspection develops at any time that carelessness is creeping in, steps will be
taken to institute inspection that will put a stop to such carelessness.

5. The method of handling inspection referred to in paragraph I-D as speci-

fied in paragraph VI is forced upon this office by the very nature of the work.
It is almost impossible to prove that the troubles specified did exist even if

they seemed to at the moment of inspection. This office is cooperating with the
du Pont Engineering Co. to put a stop to such troubles, and it is the belief
of this office that the du Pont Engineering Co. is doing everything in their power
to prevent such troubles. If the services of one or two thoroughly trained
construction engineers with experience in big construction work could be
obtained, interesting criticisms might be made, but it is not believed that any
more or any better action could be taken than is being taken at the present

time.

197 6. Relative to inspection specified in paragraph I-E, this inspection
will, of necessity, liave to be handled by the Inspector of Ordnance

himself. For the-du Pont Engineering Company it is being covered by men
who have years of preliminary training in other work of the same character,
and in the opinion of the Inspector of Ordnance they are doing all that is

possible at the present time.

7. It is realized most keenly that the inspection outlined in office order no. 1

is not a 100% inspection. It is felt, however, that if properly carried out, it

is reasonably certain to develop any troubles whicli may exist and provide a
remedy for them and that no more certain system of inspection can be devised
to meet the conditions short of an absolute 100% inspection. This last is prac-
tically out of the question. The du Pont Engineering Co. and the subcontrac-
tors are conducting a 100% in.spection. In doing this the du Pont Engineering
Company is employing 100 checkers and the subcontractor's force is approxi-
mately 100 checkers covering incoming material alone, while an office force of
several hundred people is maintained to do the necessary paiier work. In
addition to these men, there is a small army engaged in checking the distribu-

tion of material, auditing vouchers, etc. Inasmucli as the du Pont Engineering
Co.'s flle.s are open at all times to the Government and will eventually be
turned over to the Govenment, it is felt that to institute a check on them
which would cover the work as they are doing would involve a waste of men
and money and a loss of time which would not be justified.

George R. Foulke, Jr..

1st Lieut. Ord. Y. C,
Army Inspector of Ordnance.

198
(Copy)

Old Hickory Powder Plant,
NashriUe, Tennessee, September 12, 1918.

From : Robert L. Oden, Chief Clerk, Ordnance Department, U. S. A., Local.

To: Capt. Geo. R. Foulke, Jr., Ord. U. S. A., Army Hickory Powder Plant,
(Local).

Subject : Developments of construction inspection, per office order no. 1, at

Old Hickory Powder Plant.
1. Reference: Paragraph III, C-4, subparagraphs (a) to (g) inclusive, of

office order no. 1.

The monthly report referred to in the reference is made up and on hand
at this office for refei-ence on demand, for each month commencing June 1st,

to date. The net result of reports for June, July, and August is summarized
below in accordance with the reference, except for the omission of subparagraph
(a) in the reference, which reads "The total number of documents received

for each class of material during the month for inspection."

(b) Grand total of documents received to September 1st 54,965
(c) Total number of documents checked for supporting papers by this

office to September 1st 5.371
(d) Total number of documents found to be correct upon check for sup-

porting papers to September 1st 5, 371

(e) Total number of documents found to be incorrect to Septem-
ber 1st None.

199 (f) Percentage of documents checked by this office to September
1st, based on total number received for inspection 9. 8%

(g) Percentage of documents found to be incorrect to September 1st

—

None.
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II. Reference: Paragraph IV, C-2, subparagraphs (a) to (g), inclusive, of
office order no. I.

(a) Total number of "check comparisons" made to September 1st 4,765
(b) Total number of "check comparisons" found to be correct 3,561
(c) Total number of "check comparisons" found to be incorrect 1,204

(Note.—Included in the "check comparisons" found to be incor-

rect are all reports which did not compare favorably with the con-
tractor's reports when same could be obtained, and 1,016 reports
covering material which was received at this plant on which con-
tract held no parallel papers.)

(d) Percentage of "check comparisons" found to be correct, based on
total number made to September 1st 74. 8

(e) Percentage of " check comparisons " found to be Incorrect, based on
total number of " check comparisons " made to September 1st 25. 2

(f) Total number of documents received by this office during the period
for inspection 54, 965

(g) Percentage of " check comparisons " made during the period, based
on total number of documents received during period for inspec-

tion 8.

6

III. A study of the figures given herewith, together with a complete under-
standing of the situation reveals a discrepancy. First of all, it will be noted

that all vouchers, when submitted to this office for final inspection and
200 passing, apparently have complete supporting papers. Secondly, it will be

noted that in 25.2% of all the cases which have been checked by this

office and which constitute 8.6% of the total documents received, supporting
papers could not be furnished at the point and by the office where these sup-
porting papers are supposed to originate in every case. In other words, appar-
ently whenever a field checker's report was not available to cover a given
voucher, and payment was desired on the same, a field checker's report was
made up from the face of the voucher attached thereto, certified, and for-

warded to the Army inspector of ordnance for signature as a proper support-

ing document.
IV. Reference: Letter of May 13th, 1018. Subject: Routine of inspection,

paragraphs 2 and 3.

Paragraph 2 reads, in part, " In other words, the report specified above first

develops with responsable certainty whether any errors exist or not."

Paragraph 3 reads, in part, " It is felt that this report will develop with
I'easonable certainty, first whether the inspection made by the contractor is a
good and proper inspection."

It is felt that the facts developed in paragraphs I and II above show

:

(1) With absolute certainty that errors do exist:

(2) That at least part of the inspection made by the contractor has not
proved to be a good and proper inspection.

Robert L. Oden, Chief Clerk.

201 The Chairman. The point I would like to get cleared up is this. Does
this list of suspended items cover all these points where there may

be irregularities or lack of check or any other matter that the Government
might have some claim under?

Mr. Guise. That could not be corrected by a careful investigation. I will

say that we had not completed it ; there should have been more men on the
job. As I state, I was a pretty busy man for about eight months in 1919. I

should have had men out then on this proposition, checking in. I will say this

plainly—and I would like to have this on the record—that so far as the vice

president of the du Pont Engineering Company is concerned, Mr. AVilliam Coyne,
he did everything possible, I think, to assist us. So far as the comptroller of

the du Pont Engineering Company and the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company
was concerned, he blocked our way—at lease considerably. Mr. Coyne did his
level best to clear up things. I sat across the table from Mr. the comp-
troller of the E. I. du Pont de Nemours Company—when we had it hot and
heavy

Mr. Carndiiff. Mr. Broad?
Mr. Guise. Mr. Broad

; yes. I would not, I told him, validate certain
payments. We were not in any way concerned with them ; they were contrary
to law and were contrary to regulations. And Mr. Broad made the observation
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to me that if it was necessary they would come up to the United States Congress
and get the money.

Now, part of these things were such items as those : The payment of
202 fees for country-cluh dues for the manager of a certain phint. The

payment of the expenses of certain officers of the United States—

I

mean Army ofiicers—which it would be rathtr irregular, to say the least, for

me to validate. They have another way of securing their reimbursements ; it

is fixed by law.
Colonel Hull. But none of that was passed and paid?
Mr. Guise. None of that stuff was passed. As I say, he made those state-

ments to me. AYe had difficulty, not only under contracts, but under claims,
in securing information from the du Pont organization in general, for a
period of time lasting nearly one year. When I speak of information, I mean
detailed information. Generalities—the books were there. " Go to them."
But books do not count. That was our biggest trouble of all, and for a long
period of time it occasioned a very serious delay in the settlement and increased
expense to the United States in the settlement of claims.
Mr. McLane. Major, may I direct your attention to and ask you to give

the committee the facts, if you know the facts, witli reference to a purchase
by construction from operation of a warehouse, as you remember the trans-
action? Will you tell the committee the facts of the purchase and transfer
from one contract to the other contract?
Mr. Guise. The committee will excuse me for not being able to give absolute

information. The figures are as near as I can give them. This occurred
some years ago.

On or about August 30, 1918, the du Pont Engineering Company decided that
they would swing over their commissary storehouse from construction to

operating account. Now, normally for several months before and after-

203 wards the contents of the commissary storehouse, being inventoried
monthly, would run from $800,000 to over $1,000,000. You must remem-

ber there were about 40,000 people concerned in this case.

On August 30 or September 1, 1918, the interdepartmental voucher that was
exchanged between the two, transferring this commissary storehouse from
construction to operation, gave an item as of October 30th of $141,000 as I

remember it. In other words, it was anywhere from one-fiftli to one-seventli,

we will say, of what had been found to be the normal value of the material in

the storehouse.
I will state that I liave no direct evidence that they had not reduced the

quantity of material down to $141,000. All I know is that before and after,

taking each side, there was anywhere from five to seven time as much material
in that.

Now, as a precautionary measure in an audit of this class it would be neces-
sary to determine that that transfer was correct, because, if you transfer
from construction to operation by this means, values that were far in excess
of the actual book exchange you wouhl disguise by practically that amount
the cost of operation, which immediately would throw into question the cost
of operation, and so forth ; and, of course, to go down further into the facts,

if this was considered an overhead in relation to the production of powder,
increase the compensation to the United States.

Colonel Hull. That was a matter of record?
Mr. Guise. That was a matter of record ; yes.

Colonel Hull. You do not know what the final action of the officers

was?
204 Mr. Guise. I do not, sir.

It was a customary practice with the du Pont Engineering Company
to make exchanges in that way. To check up those required an investigation
that would be material, and unless there were discrepancies or questions in-

volved like compensation or profit, it would be improbable that we would go
very far into that. Just as quick as you would get into operation costs—that
is, production costs of powder—you would get to a point where, for the protec-

tion of the United States, it was necessary to establish the cost of the powder.
Colonel Hull. Was it your intention to carry on that inquiry when you came

to operations?
Mr. GxnsE. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. And you do not know whether it was done or not?
Mr. Guise. I do not ; so, sir.

8.3S76—35—PT 14 18
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Colonel Hull. But the i-ecords will show?
Mr. GxjiSE. The i-ecords will show

;
yes, sir. That is all I can say. It was

completed after I left Philadelphia, if it was completed at all. I do not know
anything about that, sir.

The Chairman. Let me ask one more question. As I understand it, there
are several different classes of items here. First, there are apparently certain
vouchers which the auditors did not think were correct and which were not
paid, like that country club fee, as I understand. That was one class. That
money has not been paid to the contractors on that class?

Mr. GmsE. The moneys have been paid, but claim has undoubtedly been made
by the United States for it.

205 Colonel Hull. But it no longer stands in the accounts.
Mr. Anderson. In other words, you have charged the contractor, and

he has admitted the charge?
Mr. Guise. Yes.
Mr. Carnduff. But the money has not been returned to the United States.
The Chairman. That is secondary. What I am trying to do now is to segre-

gate the classes of items. Then, as I understand it, there are other items
which were suspended by the audit and later were paid?

Colonel Huxx. Some passed and some disallowed.
The Chairman. That is another class. The thii'd class, I understand, were

not audited at all—the railroad matter that Mr. McLane brought up. Those
have not been audited at all?

Mr. GuiSB. There was an audit of materials received on a considerable
amount of that work, but it was not completed.
The Chairman. And then tliere is another class that everybody agrees is all

right—I mean, as far as the audit was concerned?
Mr. Guise. There were a large number.
The Chairman. Now, is it possible to segregate those items? In other words,

instead of going to the expense of making a complete audit of things which
everybody agrees were all right, is it possible to segregate the items that are
in question and audit those? I would like to have Mr. McLane's idea on that,

too, as to whether it would be possible to segregate those different
206 classes, leaving out of consideration the ones that everybody agrees are

all right and those which the du Pont people admit were wrongly paid
to them, and limit the thing to the ones that are in dispute.

Mr. McLane. I would rather refer that to Major Cameron, who is an auditor
and has a better idea of those things than I have.
The Chairman. I simply wanted your idea, as well as the others.

Mr. McLane. I think it would be, from my standpoint, but my opinion is

likely to be erroneous, because I am not an auditor in any sense.

Mr. Cameron. I would not think that up to this time, so far as anything has
been brought out in the evidence, this has been so clearly defined that such a
program could be arranged, excepting in isolated instances ; that is to say,

review the freight charges, and then take up the isolated instances and follow
those up. But as to a line of demarkation, as to where the 90 percent begins
or leaves off, when we are speaking of a 10-percent audit, that would be rather
difficult at this time.

The Chairman. I am not speaking of a ten-percent audit, but of this later

and more or less complete audit.

General Williams. Is it your idea that nothing can be determined without a
complete reaudit?

Mr. Cameron. I do not think I said that. General Williams.
General Williams. I was just trying to understand you.

207 Mr. Cameron. If you ask me the question, I would be glad to answer
it, but I do not think I said that.

General Williams. Let me ask you this question, then. It has been tes-

tified here that a certain percentage, call it 75 percent, of the final audit
was satisfactory. Now, is it possible to set aside and accept as complete and
satisfactoi*y that 75 percent, and reaudit the other 25 percent?

Mr. Cameron. That question is based upon a knowledge of what that 75 per-
cent is.

General Williaives. No; I have no knowledge of what that 75 percent is.

Mr. Camkhon. And I have no knowledge of it.

General Williams. Then you do not know?
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Mr. Cameron. I cannot answer your question regarding some 75 percent,

or some other percent, of which I know notliing.

General Williams. Then the 75 percent referred to there—you do not think

tliat can be segregated?
Mr. Camekon. I do not know anything about it. That is not my testimony.

General Williams.
General Williams. But you came in and expressed an opinion, as I under-

stood it, concerning this matter, about a certain percentage of the contract

having been satisfactorily audited and the remaining percentage not satisfac-

torily audited. And as I understood the Secretary's question it was witli

reference to whether or not the unsatisfactory part should be corrected.

The Chairman. I was wondering whether it would be possibly to seg-

208 regate the items that everybody agrees are all right and separate them
from the Items that are in question, in order to save expense.

Mr. Anderson. Possibly I can put it this way—with your permission, ;\Ir.

Chairman. Mr. Cameron, if you and the finance section could help us in

directing our inquiiy so as to eliminate those things that have been completely
audited and to segregate for further consideration those things that have not
been completely audited, it would greatly help us.

To illustrate what I mean : Yesterday Mr. Peebles testified that the audit
of component materials in operation was complete and satisfactory. Mr.
Youmans' I think, said that certain portions of the audit up to the time he
left were complete and satisfactory, but it left some $5,000,000, covering some
hundreds of items, unaudited.
Now, if you and the finance section would engage in consideration of that

and such other evidence as may be adduced, and eliminate from further con-

sideration those things that have been completely audited and indicate the

things that ought to be audited, it would be of great assistance to the Board.
For Instance, on freight charges, on the showing yesterday, I do not hesitate

to say that without further information my opinion would be that that ought
to be audited, to see whether there is any fraud in the intervening transactions,

even if we do not get the money.
There were certain other things which Mr. Peebles and Mr. Youmans testi-

fied were about 90 percent complete, but were not completed because it was
found to be quite expensive. Now, if you could accept as true what has

209 been done, and make an additional audit of those things that have not
been done, we might save expense and delay to the Government and

complete a 100-percent audit. Do you thing that might be possible?
Mr. Cameron. I think it is inconceivable that any man could determine where

these gentlemen draw their line between 90 and 10, or 75 and 25, or 65 and 35.

Mr. Anderson. It would be of great assistance if you gentlemen who are
familiar with accounts could indicate what Items the developments here re-

quire should be further investigated. It would be very helpful in saving money
to the Government, and also to us in reaching our conclusions.

210 Colonel Hull. I think if you will take the testimony of Mr. Kileen, who
completed the audit, and Major Farr, who was in charge, that you will have

actualities, rather than theories in front of you, and that the records will show
what has been done.

Mr. Andekson. Anyhow, if you will keep in mind what has been done, now we
will know what It is.

General Williams. I am wondering, Mr. Chairman, why the gentlemen at the
other end of the table have not examined these audits. Why have they not
availed themselves of the records they have at hand?

Mr. Andekson. I think it would take six months to do it.

Mr. McLane. The reason the district attorney has not done it is because he
has not had access to the papers.

General Williams. I don't know what the district attorney had to do with it

Mr. Carnduff has men and has assistants there, and he should have done it.

Mr. McLanb. I am here by invitation, and if I am not wanted, I will retire.

General Williams. I don't understand that you are the principal counsel
prosecuting this case. Major Carnduff was the man, I understood. Why hasn't
he availed himself of the material at hand?

Mr. MoLanb. I didn't think that this would assume a personal basis. I

thought we were all interested in the matter. I believe some criminal re-
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spoiisibility is here. I don't mean that for any member of the War Department,
or the War Department as a whole. But I believe there is gross

211 and flagrant fraud, and I believe that is the reason my department has
asked me to come here. If I am in the wronj^ place, or if my presence is

objectionable, why, I will retire.

The Chairman. The committee wants to get all the information possible, and
if you have some information, we want to get it.

Colonel Htjll. Mr. Chairman, I think if he has any concrete facts that he has
in mind, I would like to have those to compare with our records, and our records
are available and have been available to the Department of Justice at all times.

You are speaking many times, in many cases from information. Now, whether
that information is correct, or not, can be determined, in many instances, from
our records. For instance, you take the freiglit payments, have you got infor-

matiun which you stated yesterday, that they had been charged three times
illegal freight? Now, that is your information. Now, our records—the records
right here in WaiShiugton, in the General Accounting Oflice, will show whether
there are any such facts, and such instances.

Mr. McLane. Just exactly. Now, would there be any objection to the De-
partment of Justice finding out if our information is correct?

Colonel Huix. No ; that is the exact basis.

Mr. McLanb. That is the reason I thought I was invited here, to see if such
information as I have is authentic. That is the only place I thought it could be
authenticated.

Colonel Hull. If your information is produced, we will determine in a few
minutes whether it is correct, or not.

212 Mr. Anderson. I think, Mr. Chairman, I can make this statement, if

you will consent. The original discussion of this matter arose from infor-

mation—Mr. McLane, will you sit down? I want you to get what I say.

I\Ir. McLane. Mr. Chairman, I think it is best I withdraw.
The Chairman. No, sir ; we prefer to have you here.

Mr. McLane. There is .some opposition here. I would be glad to have access

to the facts, but I think I had better withdraw.
Mr. Carnduff. Mr. Chairman, as counsel for the Government, Mr. McLane is

invaluable to me. He is the United States attorney for the middle district of

Tennessee ; he is the officer of the United States charged with the duty of

inquiring into frauds and crimes and perjuries within that district. We have
evidence that impels us to believe that a crime has been committed in the middle
district of Tennessee, and I request Mr. McLane to remain here and to continue
to give me his assistance.

Mr. Anderson. Sit down, Mr. McLane. I want to make a statement. This
matter originally arose by a report

Colonel Hull. We might excuse the witness.
Mr. Anderson. Are you through with Major Guise?
Mr. Carnduff. Major Guise was called this morning at the instance of Colonel

Hull.
Colonel Hull; I am through.
The Chairman. Yes ; we can excuse him.

(Thereupon Mr. Guise, the witness, withdrew from the room.)
213 Mr. Anderson. This matter came up originally, so far as the Depart-

ment of Justice is concerned, through a report from Mr. McLane of mat-
ters that had come to his attention in the discharge of his official duties at Nash-
ville, through his department of investigation. The Attorney General requested
me to take this up with Mr. McLane, what he had to report, as it belonged to
war transactions, and to reach a conclusion as to anything that should he done.
Now, Mr. McLane and his officers and assistants were in conference with me

for several days, and I referred the matter to Major Carnduff, and to Mr.
Cameron of the Bureau of Investigations, and to Mr. Cunningham of the De-
partment of Investigation under Mr. Burns, and they went down to Nashville
to make a personal investigation to see if the matter required further investiga-

tion. I omitted to say it did not involve the officials of the War Department
here, but was a local matter. However, upon the information they i-eported,

I took the matter up and wrote to the Attorney General stating that, since the
matter did not come from the War Department, that we should not take it

up from this end ; but if there were any local crimes in Tennessee, Mr. McLane
should continue to tnke it up and handle it there, unless we were requested by
the War Department to take it up here. I mean, on a broad investigation.

That correspondence was then forwarded to the General Board of Survey ; no
reply was received.
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Colonel Hull. No letter was received from the Department of Justice.
Mr. Anderson. At any rate, to relieve myself and not to have it stop on my

doorstep, I asked the Board of Survey to take it up. It was determined then
to make this preliminary survey, v.-hich is all this hearing is. Then I

214 directed Major Carnduff, in order to get the matter before the Board
properly, to appear as counsel, in a sense; not in any sense as prosecut-

ing, but to assist as counsel, because he had investigated the matter and could
ask questions intelligently, and I could not. And I asked ]Mr. McLane to come
here and assist in bringing out any points that might be covered. And it was
in that sense that Mr. McLane, at my request, is here; and also by direction of
the Attorney General he was requested to come here and assist us in this in-

vestigation.
Colonel Hull. Up to date none of the witnesses has affected Mr. McLane's

purposes here.

Mr. Anderson. No ; it was to determine in the first place whether a general
audit should be made ; and, second, whether there were any facts in the case
that would require a reference of this case—the general case, a reference by
the War Department to the Department of Justice.

Mr. McLane's local in\'^stigation in Tennessee, where the minor and detached
matters are recorded, are matters which should go before the grand jury there,

if they went at all after an investigation : but he could be of great assistance
to us, and also we could be of assistance to him in informing him of facts as
bearing upon his duties in Tennessee.

Colonel Huix. I should imagine Mr. McLane, before he presented any of this
evidence to a grand jury, would want to investigate the information he had
obtained, whether this evidence would sustain or disprove his information.

General Williams. I think Major Carnduff would want to know the
same.

215 Mr. Carndutt. I have l^een waiting an opportunity to reply to the
question asked me by General Williams. General Williams asked me a

question, and I did not have an opportunity to reply. His question was as to

why, as counsel tor the Government, I had not examined the records of the
War Department in the matter of accountancy. Have I stated the question
correctly. General?
General Williams. Insofar as I am able to ascertain from what you have

said and your witnesses have said, you have not examined and informed your-
self on the audit that has already been made of this contract.
Mr. Carnduff. Notwithstanding the fact that I am acting under the direction

of the Attorney General of the United States and am accountable to him solely

for my actions in this regard. I desire to call the attention of this committee
to a report signed by myself, Mr. McLane, Mr. Cameron, and Mr. Cunningham
of the Bureau of Investigation, dated December 12, 1922, wherein we asked that
the War Department be requested to furnish such accountancy and data as is

available before any definite and complete recommendations are made, and more
particularly the following

:

"(1) The acquisition of real propert.v ; the erection, construction, and equip-
ment of the Old Hickory plant.

"(2) A complete financial statement covering the operating period from its

inception to its termination."
And also to the following letter written by my assistant, dated the 20th day

of December 1922, and bearing at the bottom my signature in concurrence
thereof, wherein I asked and recommended that the War Department be re-

quested to advise the Department of Justice with respect to the following

:

216 "(1) If the du Pout Engineering Company have made a general ac-

counting to the United States Government growing out of its relations'

in connection with its contracts for the acquisition of real property ; the erec-

tion, construction, and equipment of Old Hickory powder plant.

"(2) That if such general accounting has been made, that the original or

duplicate original of such report be made available to the Department of

Justice.
"(3) Whether the du Pont Engineering Company have rendered a complete

statement of operation covering the productive period from the beginning
of its operations to its termination. If such report has been made, that the
original or a duplicate thereof be made available to the Department of Justice.

"(4) That the Department of Justice be furnished with a report covering
the auditors' examination and review of the general accounting report and
statement made by the du Pont Engineering Company."
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General Williams, we requested such data on two separate occasions, one a
week after the other, and forwarded them to the Attorney General. After -we
had done that we could do no more.

General Williams. Have you been denied access at any time to the records
of the War Department, the records the War Department has in the matter
of this contract? Have you at any time been denied?
Mr. Carnduff. No, sir.

General Williams. And no branch of the Department?
Mr. Carnduff. Nor have we said we were denied.

217 General Williajis. The thing that strikes me, you have not availed
yourself of the information you could have.

Mr. Cabnduff. We endeavored to get the information.
Colonel Hull. Let me right there say this : When I heard of these letters

upon my return from Panama in March, I caused a thorough search of the
War Department to be made, and no letter has come, that I could find, from
the Department of Justice to the War Department ; but I told Colonel An-
derson and Major Carnduff that the records of the War Department, ir-

respective of any letter, are open to them.
Mr. ANDE25SON. And it was then that this matter was referred to this com-

mittee for investigation. That is, I sent these papers on to the Attorney
General, and it was to some extent growing out of the circumstances of that
character that I suggested to the Attorney General the ci'eation of a board
of this kind. The papers get hung up in that direction, and they naturally
get hung up in the other direction in going through the channels. Therefore,
I suggested that before we undertook to make a checking or go over the-

jludit—I suppose it is an enormous thing.
Colonel Hull. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. I understand they are at Philadelphia.
Colonel Hull. A great many of them are.

Mr. Anderson. I understand they fill a complete room. We have not got
the force to check these papers. And my idea was to go on and determine'
whether to put on additional auditors and make this audit. And without
our putting on our force, if we could develop whether there was any necessity

for the amount of labor that would be required for the District At-
218 torney's oflice to go behind a certain situation which you undertook to

locate here this morning ; to determine if there was any necessity of
going behind that. It was to avoid all that labor that we are here, I under-
stood. It would take Mr. Cameron's force six months to get any information
from those books.

Colonel Hull. I think any specific question, or any specific information that
Mr. McLane has, I think can be verified in 24 hours, on any point.

General Williams. Mr. Chairman, I would like to make my position clear

on this point which has arisen. As I understood the object of this committee
getting together and holding this conference, it was to determine whether a
reaudit was necessary. In Mr. Cameron's replies to the questions that he was
asked by the Assistant Secretary and myself, it seemed to me that he indi-

cated that he didn't know what audits had already been made. Now, I can't,

myself, understand how we are going to determine whether a reaudit is neces-
sary until the old audit has been examined and has been pronounced insuf-

ficient. Am I wrong in that?
Mr. Andeirson. No ; but I thought by putting the various persons here who-

had supervision of it on the stand—having them come before us, and after
we understand how far an audit was made, we reach the point where we can
determine whether it is necessary to do it over again.

General Williams. If that audit has not been made, it should be made ; if

that has been made, it seems to me we are wasting our time here.

219 Mr. Anderson. Instead of sending checkers to go over the audit, can
we not find out here how far it has gone, so we do not have to do

it over?
Colonel Hull. I think so.

Mr. McLane. I thought that was the pui'ijose we were here for.

The Chairman. Yes ; that is it.

Colonel Hull. Yes ; that is the reason we are here.

Mr. McLane. That is the purpose for which I came.
Genei'al Williams. What I cannot understand is how these gentlemen can

accept any charges without going to the audit and seeing whether it was made.
Mr. Anderson. Nobody is accepting any charges at all.

Mr. Williams. The charges are the basis of everything that was said here.
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Mr. Carnduff. I take exception to that. We have repeatedly said we are in

a judicial capacit.v. AVe do not accept any charges. I do not think the charges
are the basis of anything that was said here.

General Williams. I don't know what your legal terms are, but that is the
reaction in my mind.
Mr. Caknduff. I regret you have that reaction.
The Chairman. Can we not get along, gentlemen? I want to make one state-

ment here for the War Department, and that is that any record that the Depart-
ment of Justice wants at any time in any case is always available from the War
Department to the Department of Justice.

Mr. Carnduff. That has always been our understanding.
Mr. Andekson. Who else have we to examine this morning?
Mr. Carnduff. On this phase of the question the next witness would be Major

Farr.
22U Mr. Andeeson. Then let us get him in.

Mr. Carnduff. I think he should be examined by Colonel Hull, or some
body to develop the facts.

Colonel Hull. I don't krmw anything about it.

Mr. Anderson. Bring him in and I will examine him.
General Williams. If they have not asked Major Farr any questions, and

have not investigated about the audit, it is inconceivable to me.
Mr. Anderson. I told these gentlemen to bring the case here. They might

have taken this evidence originally, but, being a case of such wide importance,
I suggested that they let us hear what they had to bring out, and not to hear it

and then have us go over it again. They would take days going over it, and
then we would have to repeat their work.

General Williams. Mr. Chairman, here are these people who have had charge
of this audit for the War Department ; unquestionably they approve of it, and
we do not question the audit.

Mr. Anderson. Neither do we. But suppose a lot of people came •to you and
brought evidence of what they claimed to l>e proof of certain facts in connection
with this matter, you would want it investigated.

General Williams. Yes ; and I would want to find out what the basis of their
evidence is.

Colonel Hull. We want the facts.

Mr. Anderson. I have been responsible for not calling Major Farr. I have
been very busy. I rather desired to have him called before than call him myself
and then go over it again.
General Williams. Personally, I have no desire to have Major Farr

called.

221 Mr. Andekson. Can't we find the facts and find out what they did?
General Williams. We say here are the facts ; there are the records.

Mr. Anderson. Gentlemen, it will take us, to go over these records, an enor-
mous anK)unt of time. Of course, the records are there.

General Williams. Then how are we going to reach a conclusion?
Colonel Hull. Mr. McLane says he has evidence of certain facts ; he doubts

whether an audit has been made ; whether there has been an audit.
Mr. McLane. I say there are certain irregularities not justified by any audit.

For instance, the remaining of $29,000 in an independent company ; that does not
belong to one Department or the other.

Colonel Hull. That item can be traced.
Mr. MoLanb. I am informed that there are a number of items like that which

should be checked. I have numerous items of that kind.
Colonel Hltll. Just a minute. In the course of these two or three j'ears of

work the War Department has had probably 10,000 such items that have been
investigated. Now, if you will take the information you are concerned about
and take the records to the officers who know about it, that can all be determined
as to whether your information is well founded, or whether it can be shown by
the records.

Mr. McLane. Now, would you say that a matter that would drift into
222 me as district attorney, and if I sent a man to investigate the facts,

would you say that I, as district attorney, would be justified in saying
that the War Department has this, and it is not my duty to call it to yo'ur
attention and ask for an investigation, or that an investigation be made? I'll

be justified in saying it was.
Colonel HxHX. No, Mr. McLane ; but if you will give us the information, we

will show you the records and tell you whether that is true. You have in
your mind something about cotton linters. We have recovered $300,000 on
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cotton linters. Maybe that is the very evidence that the War Department has
recovered on.

Mr. McLane. Will you tell me how I can
Colonel HtiLL (interposing). You have not asked us for that information.
Mr. McLane. It would not be proper for me to address you direct.
General Williams. No; that is true.
Mr. McLane. I must come to you through my superiors.
Colonel Hru.. Take with reference to duplicate payments to Cambria Steel

Is that one of them?
Mr. McLane. I don't know.
Colonel Hull. All right ; let us ask Mr. Peebles, and Mr. Farr about it and

see whether it is or not. Let us ask them about it. You would have to
do that before a grand jury.

Mr, McLanb. Absolutely, but how can I do it without coming here?
Colonel Hull. You are here. Let us go ahead and do it.

223 Mr. McLane. What I can't understand is that there seems to be an
idea that somebody is opposing the members of the War Department, or

the War Department itself.

• General Williams. You are speaking to me. I have no such idea.
Mr. McLanb. I take that statement, and accept it as made. General.
Colonel Hull. Let us take the statement of Farr, or Guise is here.
Mr. McLanb. Guise has taken the stand, and all of them say that 10 percent

audit—10 percent of the whole was made.
Colonel Hull. Do you believe the audit of October 1919 was a full audit?
Mr. McLanb. I haven't enough infonnation to know about it.

Mr. Carnduff. Let me crystallize this : The case of the Old Hickory powder
plant has not been referred to the Department of Justice?

Mr. Anderson. No.
Mr. Carnduff. Until that was done we could not come over here for in-

formation, until the formation of the joint sui-vev board. The first case in-
formation was called for after the formation of the joint survey board was the
Old Hickory powder case, shortly after the formation of the board. The re-
quest was made by Mr. Cameron and myself, and the furnishing of the informa-
tion was probably defen-ed until the hearing of the case.

Mr. Anderson. Yes ; you are riglit. The Department of Justice has no juris-
diction to investigate it until it is referred to us.

224 General Williams. We are not standing on anything of that kind.
Mr. Anderson. It is a technicality. But the Department of Justice

has no right to spend its time, nor have I, to investigate things not referred to
us. Tliat is the reasqn I sent my preliminary inquiry on the information of
the district attorney, to see whether the Department wanted it investigated.
We are your counsel. We do not want to force it. If you do not want this
thing to go through, let us stop it. We are your counsel. We have plenty to
do in our department.
The Chairman. Let us get ahead, gentlemen. We are wasting time. I am

here ex officio to sit with the committee. This committee is to say whether
it will recommend the sending of the information to the Department of Justice.
Mr. Anderson. Yes; and if it is sent to the Department of Justice we will

take the matter up.
The Chairman. Let us go ahead. Call Major Farr.
Mr. Anderson. And if it is sent to the Department of Justice you will not

have any further trouble with it. We will go to the records and find out for
ourselves.

Colonel Hull. One of the questions that was asked was about cotton linters.'
We asked the one question about cotton linters. If you have any additional
information on cotton linters, don't you think it would be well to present it
to Mr. Peebles?
The Chairman. Here is Major Farr.

225 STATEMENT OF R. E. FARR, SPECIAL ASSISTANT TO THE ATTORNEY
GENERAL, WASHINGTON, D, C.

Mr. Anderson. Major Farr, you are now special assistant to the Attorney
General, are you not?

Mr. Faer. I am.
Mr. Anderson. Are you connected with the War Transaction Section?
Mr. Farr. Y'es, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Ordnance Branch?



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 3443

Mr. Fabr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Now, were you connected with the War Department prior to

your connection with the Department of Justice?

Mr. P^ARB. I was.
Mr. Andeeson. How long, approximately?
Mr. Farii. Three years and a half or four years, I think ; something like that.

Mr. Andekson. Then you were connected with the War Department up to

about June 1922 weren't you?
Mr. Fakr. I was.
Mr. Anderson. During that period, after the armistice, were you connected

with the Claims Board for the settlement of claims?
Mr. Fakr. I was, as attorney for the Board of Contract Adjustment, and

later an attorney for the appeals section.

Mr. Andebson. Did you have anything to do with the contract between the

Du Pont Engineering Company and the Government, for the erection of the

Old Hickory Powder Plant?
Mr. Farr. I did. ^

226 Mr. Anderson. State when your connection began about that, and how,,

in your own way, please.

Mr. Fare. During the time that I was a major judge advocate certain papers
were forwarded to me one day with instructions to hear representatives of the

Engineering Company and the Government auditors that were to appear before

me. I designated a hearing room, and at the hour appointed I went in there

and spent a day or a day and a half listening to the wrangle between the

Government officials and the representatives of the Du Pont Engineering Com-
pany. After that I wrote a couple of memoranda on the subject, and prior to

my discharge from the Army the same officials and the auditors appeared in

my office on certain angles of the matter that they had presented to me the
first day. That, primarily, dealt with some other of the contracts, as well as

the Old Hickory contract.

Mr. Anderson. Who was the auditor you speak of?

Mr. Fare. Mr. G. E. Youmans was the auditor in Philadelphia who was
supposed to be the chief accountant; and I think there was a Mr. J. R. Peebles
also, who had the title of contracting officer, that passed on the vouchers.

Mr. Anderson. There were differences between them and the Du Pont officials

as to the settlement of the accounts at Old Hickory?
Mr. Farr. Oh, yes

;
grave differences.

Mr. Anderson. About what time was this?

Mr. Fare. It was March 1921—February and March 1921.

Mr. Anderson. February and March 1921 ?

Mr. Fabb. Yes, sir.

227 Mr. Anderson. Then what further connection with the matter did you
have ?

Mr. Faer. Why, I was discharged from the Army, I think, in June 1921.

Mr. Anderson. In 1921?
Mr. Faer. In June 1921 and about five days after that Colonel Hull's office,

or the Assistant Secretary of War's Office phoned me, and I came down here
and agreed to go up to Philadelphia to take charge of the reaudit and see if I

could wind it up.
Mr. Anderson. Major Fai'r, can you tell approximately, in a general way,

the status of the audit and proceeding for settlement of this contract at the

time you took charge, as you say, at Philadelphia?
Mr. Fare. You mean how far it had progressed ?

Mr. Anderson. How far it had progressed, and what was its status?
]Mr. Farr. Well, on memoranda that I had written while a member of the

Claims Board, the auditors had passed certain vouchers, and refused to pass
others. And when I arrived in Philadelphia I found a large force of men work-
ing on those vouchers, and they were divided into all kinds of different forces

under different men, with variovis duties. There was a lot of confusion, and
nobody seemed to ha^e the authority to say what they should do and what they

should not do. So I jumped in and attempted to say what they should do and
what they should not. I consulte<l with Colonel Hull and the other representa-

tives of the War Department, and when Colonel Hull became Acting Judge
228 Advocate General, I then took the matters up with Colonel Morrow, and

we used to have hearings before him, at which hearings, I think Major
Booton was present, and I think Major Cameron Hawkins, until he was dis-

charged from the service, or resigned.
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Mr. Anderson. It has appeared here in the statements of someone—either
Mr. Youmans or Mr. Peebles, I forget which—to the effect that the audit was
completed of this contract and the transactions thereunder to the extent of
about 90 percent; that there were certain elements that were not completely
audited, and that you then made a settlement for what was still owing as a
lump sum. Now, will you take up the situation and tell this committee just
what was the status and what you did; and where you deem it necessary to
do so, say by what authority, so far as you can recall.

Mr. Pare. The various questions that came up, of course, involved the pass-
ing by the auditors on the accounts that were reimbursable on the various
voucliers of the du Pout Engineering Company. Those vouchers covered every
kind of conceivable expense; there were expenses for labor; for funeral ex-
penses; for materials for construction; for materials for operation; for freight
bills, and everything you could imagine that would be used in a plant of that
size and during the time they were constructing it. The auditors—and by audi-
tors I refer to Mr. Peebles and Mr. Youmans. although Mr. Peebles was called
the contracting officer—and those auditors would pass on the vouchers, and they
might say, " I don't like that voucher " and would refuse to pass it, and then
those would come to me for decision.

Mr. Anderson. In other words, he would refuse to pass it for want of proper
supporting evidence?

229 Mr. Farb. Not always that, but he would say that even if the evidence
was proper, he might say that it should not be paid. For instance, take

funeral expenses. One man's funeral expense was considered high, and he
refused to pay it. It came to me, and I refused to allow it. It was appealed
from my decision. The evidence showed that the money had been expended for
the purpose alleged, and the attachments to the voucher were sufficient, but
notwithstanding it was sufficient, in our opinion the expenditure was out of all
reason, and should not have been allowed.
Now. when those things come to me—and I attempted to get the vouchers

under different heads, so that one decision would dispose of all vouchers coming
under that head. I would have my auditors pass on it and take it up with
the du Pont people, and then write a memorandum decision or opinion either
directing them to pass it or directing them to refuse to pass it. In every deci-
sion, practically, that I made, that was against the du Pont Engineering Com-
pany—with a few exceptions—they noted an appeal to Colonel Morrow, and
then we came to Washington with their attorney and myself, and the repre-
sentiitives of the du Pont Engineering Company, and we had a hearing before
Colonel Morrow, and naturally he reversed me in part and sustained me in
part. Whenever he reversed me they were, of course, satisfied ; but when he
sustained me and upheld my decision they said, " We will go to the Assistant
Secretary of War." We had a number of liearings before the Assistant Secre-
tary of War which disposed of my decisions on appeals which the du Pont

people had taken from Colonel Morrow to the Assistant Secretary of War.
230 Colonel Htjll. In some cases didn't Mr. Peebles and Mr. Youmans

bring to the attention of the Secretary some decisions that had been
favorable?

Mr. Fark. The one that I remember particularly was the Mason-Hanger case.
I rendered an opinion while in the Ai-my on the Mason-Hanger contract. The
decision speaks for itself, if anyone cares to see it. After that they had been
allowed quite a sum of money, fees paid subcontractors. And in this hearing,
when before the Assistant Secretary of War, Colonel Morrow and INIr. Cassel
objected to that, with the result that the Assistant Secretary of War, Wain-
wright, forwarded it to the Claims Section, and being forwarded there by the
Assistant Secretary of War

Mr. Anderson. Go ahead. What did you do?
Mr. Fare. Now, there were a tremendous pile of vouchers, and to anyone

who has not seen them you cannot visualize the pile of work there. There
were vouchers in various conditions, the paper being worn out and chewed up,
by constant handling. Mr. Peebles would scrap directly first with the repre-
sentatives of the du Pont Company, and as I say, if they could not get together,
they would come over to me and I would write a decision or memorandum, and
then they would handle it.

Now. I understood that some question has been raised about the percent of
the audit of the material receipt vouchers. I was told someone had made the
statement that only 10 percent had been audited.
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On October 7, 1921, which was shortly after I began on this, I took the mat-

ter up with Mr. Peebles as to what extent delivery had been established

231 on materials on various contracts. And under date of October 7th he
advised me that

Colonel Hull (interposing). What year. Major?
Mr. Farb. 1921. [Reading from memorandum:]
"Referring to conversation of today with reference to establishing delivery

of materials on the various contracts, we have established delivery, through

the eftorts of our investigators and information which we have been able to

develop, approximately as follows

:

" Ives, 9S percent

;

" Seven Pines, all vouchers except three

;

" Penuiman construction, 80 percent ; Penniman operation, 90 percent

;

" Tulleytown, 60 percent

;

" Old I-Iickory, operation and construction, 90 percent."

After I got this from Mr. Peebles, who had been working on this, I issued

a memorandum that for the administration of vouchers, they should cease

to attempt to establish the deliveries of the materials that were supposed to

be covered by these vouchers, and to accept the vouchers. We did that, except

where the vouchers, themselves, on their face showed there was something
wrong about them, and then in each case we compelled the du Pont Engineer-

ing Compiuiy to submit additional and other information.
Mr. Anderson. Now, Major, will you state why you gave those instructions?

Mr. Parr. Why, I presume that I discussed the matter with the officers of

the War Department with whom I was working, and my recollection is that

we were not establishing sufficient recovery money to justify the con-

232 tinned expense of verifying the other 10 percent, or whatever percent

it was on the various contracts. In other words, I could not see where,
by spending a dollar to collect fifty cents, that I was helping anything, so I

quit. That is my recollection.

Mr. Anderson. And you gave that order to discontinue undertaking to

establish the actual delivery^—check the actual delivery in the remaining un-

established deliveries, because your experience demonstrated at that time
that the amount established by such elaborate checking did not pay the cost

of the work?
Mr. Farr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Now, let me ask you : It has been stated here, I think,

that at the time that instruction was given, that there was an undisposed-
of voucher, or undisposed-of vouchers in suspense on the Old Hickory con-
tract to the amount of about $5,000,000?

Mr. Farr. Covering what?
Mr. Anderson. In the Old Hickory contract.

Mr. Farr. But covering what?
Mr. Anderson. Covering operation and construction.
Mr. Farr. Well, I have not made myself plain; covering receipt of materials?
Mr. Anderson. I don't think it was very clear ; that there were items that

had been put in suspense to the amount of $5,000,000 balance on these Old
Hickory contracts.

Mr. Farr. Well, that statement could be correct and yet not show anything,
because at the time that I wrote this memorandum I had not been reversed in

part by the higher officials and the Assistant Secretary of War, and the
233 total items that I had disallowed might run 5,000,000; I don't re-

member. I could establish that approximately, I think, by going over the
files or the new files that were left at Frankfort Arsenal.

General Williams. And that then would be only a portion of it?

Mr. Farr. Oh, yes ; these vouchers covered all sorts of things ; scouting
for labor; funeral expenses; cars, and every conceivable thing that could be
used down there.

Major BooTON. And bonuses?
Mr. Farr. Yes ; that was a big item.
Mr. Anderson. I will come to that later.

Mr. Farr. The going-away bonuses.
Mr. Anderson. Before you get to that, let me ask you : Up to the time you

gave these instructions, every audit was a complete audit?
Mr. Farr. Every voucher was, unless the men lied to me ; if they did, my

information was wrong.
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Mr. Anderson. Well, everybody may be subject to that.
Mr. Farb. Iliere were upwards of 150 or 175 men. I had to depend on my

men. Before I said, " Quit ; you are getting nothing ", I said to Mr. Peebles,
"How much are you getting?" He said, "Nothing." Up to that time he had
liandled, so far as I know, every voucher ; he passed on every voucher, and then
I said to quit.

Mr. Anderson. You told him to quit checking actual delivery of material,
or did you tell him to quit auditing vouchei'sV

234 Mr. Fakr. Oh, we put them all through the books. I told him to
quit demanding of the du Pont Engineering Company supporting papers,

if what they said on their paper was true.
Colonel HvjA.. On materials?
Mr. Farr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. On materials alone?
Mr. Fare. Yes, sir.

i\Ir. Anderson. Now, in order to get at the bottom of this. It has been espe-
cially urged on our attention that the amounts for bonus were in suspense.
What took place about the bonus?

Mr. Farr. That is rather a long story?
Mr. ANDE2JS0N. Make it as short as you can ; we are not interested in the

details.

Mr. Farr. The du Pont Engineering Company first presented a voucher cov-
ering a payment of bonus to men of 30, 45, and 60 days, supposed to have been
based on the length of time each man had served with the parent company
and with the Government. I didn't like that and disallowed it, and said that
the only portion that we should assume would be the proportion of time that he
had worked for the Government bore to the time that he had worked for the
parent company to entitle him to the 30, 45, and 60 days. So then du Pont
comes back and said perhaps they were a little harsh, or something, and that
they will take a 30-day straight bonus right through. I didn't back down ; I
stuck to my position ; and they brought it down to Colonel Morrow ; and I don't
know who, but either Colonel Morrow or the Assistant Secretary of War

—

the papers will show—accepted the 30-day bonus. That is my recollection
of it.

235 Mr. Anderson. Now, there were also various travel vouchers which
were said to have been thrown out because unsupported.

Mr. Farr. The travel vouchers caused all kinds of trouble and near fights and
everything else. The travel vouchers from all over—all kinds of points came
up. For instance, the du Pont Engineering Company hired a man in New York
and sent him to the plant, and when the job for which he was hired was over.
they sent him to Kalamazoo; and then they charged that travel up to us. If
they could reasonably show us they had hired him from New York we allowed
the return voucher to New York, but would allow no greater distance than that.
Then we had the matter come up where they hired a man and sent him tQ
Wilmington, but he had to be sent to Carneys Point for instruction. The ques-
tion there involved from what point should we assume his transportation and
where should we return him. I think the Assistant Secretary of War sustained
me in my decision on the point that we should return him to a point no greater
distance away than where he was hired. Now. there were a great number of
those travel vouchers, and we fought those over.

Mr. Anderson. There have been statements made here that in some cases the
company would give an amount to the individuals in a lump sum, but have no
evidence that he traveled at all. What did you do with a voucher like that?

Mr. Farr. My recollection is that if we got a voucher like that that we
demanded some proof—some reasonable proof that the man had traveled. We
didn't think the du Pont people had any right to make a present of the Govern-
ment's money to anybody. That is my recollection. I think there are some

decisions that would throw light on that.
236 Mr. Anderson. I'our decisions weir all in writing on these matters?

Mr. Farr. I think the niajoriry of them. There may have been a few.
Colonel, that were verbal. I wil say that I turned what I have here—some I

didn't get ; some were left in the War Department—I turned them over to
Major Carnduff, when I found this was coming up, and to Mr. Kileen.

I\Ir. Carndufd. You furnished me all the information you have?
Mr. Farr. Yes. There is a large file in the Frankfort Ar.senal that will show

what was done.
Mr. ANDERaoN. You mean tliey are up there now?
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Mr. Farb. Yes : I was up there a while a.go and got for Major Carnduff these

files relating to the audits and the bonuses.

Mr. Carnduff. And the pay roll?

Mr. Farr,. I don't remember the pay roll.

Mr. Anderson. Now, then, Major, to get on ; it has been suggested here that

there was no audit made of the freight charges on materials there for operation

or construction, and that those freight charges were very excessive ; and it has
been also suggested that this was possil)ly not made because the Government
was operating' the railroads at the time, but that it gave opportunity for fraud
between the payment and the amount received by the railroads. In other

words, that the Government would pay three times the freight charge it should,

and the agent might account for the actual freight charge, and the balance
would be divided. That it might occur. Did you investigate that or did that

come to your attention?
237 Mr. Farb. I don't think, unless in some discussion with Mr. Peebles,

that was ever suggested to me ; that perhaps the railway-station agent
was in cahoots with the shipper and thereby mulcting the Government. The
freight proposition came up.

Mr. Anderson. What did you do with it?

Mr. Fakb. I found a large end of a room devoted to freight audits. I asked
them what they were doing, and they said auditing freight. My recollection

is they were auditing to 100 per cent of the freight charges during the time
That the i-ailroads were not under the control of the United States Govern-
ment, and that the same thing applied to express bills during the time that the
express companies were opei'ating for themselves ; and that where they showed
erroneous charges were made claims were filed, and we collected a substan-

tial amount of money, in comparison.
Mr. Anderson. You didn't do it while the railroads were in Government

hands?
Mr. Fabr. Now, I discussed this with Mr. Peebles, and found out that what

they were then working on involved a period in which the railroads were oper-

ated by the United States Railroad Administration. And under date of August
19, 1921, I gave Mr. Peebles this memorandum. It is headed " Special audit

of freight bills", in capital letters. [Reading:]
"As a result of the conference with you this moi'ning, it is my information

and opinion that the following conditions exist in the continued audit of freight

bills

:

"(1) That from a monetary standpoint the amount of money that might be
lecoverable from other than the Railway Administration on account of over-

charges will not justify the expense of any further freight audit.

238 "(2) That the amount of money that might be recovered from vendors
on account of freight erroneously paid to them would not justify a con-

tinued audit of the freight bills.

"(3) That the continued audit of freight bills will only help to tie up and
prove the receipt of materials at the ])laut.

" You are, therefore, directed, pending final decision on shortage, damage to,

and non-receipt of materials, to discontinue the audit of the freight bills."

Mr. Anderson. I did not get the last point clear. Do you mean by that that

you would only audit freight bills where there was a question of the receipt of

the property?
Mr. Farr. No ; I mean pending v/hat decision I might make on material

vouchers. You understand, these vouchers had various names ; we called a
voucher on material at the plant a " material voucher."
Mr. Anderson. I see.

Mr. Farr. I didn't want to commit myself to that so that they would put in

those vouchers.
Mr. Anderson. I see ; you left that audit open as to the material for the

plant and the freight?
Mr. Farb. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. There you left the question open?
Mr. Farr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. But where there was an audit for establishing discrepancies

in freight charges, you discontinued it?

Mr. Farr. Yes, sir; and I didn't take it up again, for this reason: I came
down here to Washington one time and tried to persuade the Railroad

239 Administration to pay me for the War Department some .$18,000 that

the Central Tennessee Railroad and some other railroad down there had
received as an overpayment on freight ; and the Railroad Administration said,
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"No; we are not going to pay you any money." My recollection is whoever I

was talking to said, " Not a damned cent." I said, " Here are the hills." He
said, "And here is the release, too ", and he produced a general release from
the War Department to the Railroad Administration, whereby it appeared that
they had struck a balance, and the War Department had paid the Railroad
Administration a considerable amount of money, or vice versa, and they had
called it square. And I couldn't persuade them to pay me. He said, " You
shouldn't have had some damned fool down there who is paying your money
out." I didn't fool any more with freight bills, because I didn't see where I

could come out.

Mr. Anderson. Did I understand then there was a lOOpercent audit made
of freight bills for the period of private operation, as distinguished from Gov-
ernment oi:)eration?

Mr. Farr. That is my recollection.

Mr. Andekson. Why did you give the instructions not to continue tlie audit
further?

Mr. Farr. Because I didn't see any use in the War Department setting up
a lot of expense, such as overcharges against the Railroad Administration,
and have the Railroad Administration, which was the Government, pay it to us.

Mr. Anderson. Then you discontinued it as to the Government operation?
Mr. Fare. My recollection is at the time I suspended it we had audited

240 all bills that were current during the time the railroads were running
the railroads for themselves, and that also applied to the express bills.

And I quit it because I couldn't see where we were getting any money ; and if

I did set up a big charge against the Railroad Administration, it was the Gov-
ernment taking its money out of its right pocket and putting it in its left

pocket.
Mr. Anderson. Did you reach a final accounting with the du Pont Company

before you left the Government, or what took place? I suggest this question

for this point? It was suggested that it was settled for a lump sum, and I

would like to know what you did in this connection.

Mr. Farr. I did this. Along in 1922, I think it was. Colonel Morrow phoned
me to know if I couldn't come here and help with some matters here. I left

Mr. Kileen up there alone, most of tlie clerks having been discharged. I came
down. We never arrived at any lump-sum settlement. We had passed, as I

suggested, certain vouchers of the du Pont Engineering Company, and I had
disallowed certain vouchers, aggregating quite a sum of money.. They had
appealed to Colonel Morrow, and he had reversed me in part. And I had
directed Mr. Kileen to accept certain vouchers that had been passed by Colonel
Morrow. The other matters were apjiealed to the Secretary of War, Mr.
Wainwright, and he also allowed certain things that I disallowed. And the

things wherein he sustained me ran up to about .$300,000. And at the time
I left the War Department I understood those things were still standing dis-

allowed, and the du Pont people never accepted it, and I think their attorney
admitted the other day that they had not been accepted. So if the War

241 Department had any lump-sum agreement with the du Pont Company
I never knew it. You understand I handled not only the Old Hickory,

but the five contracts. And some time, about the end of May, Mr. Kileen had
to set up an audit showing the amounts suspended and the amount paid. The
du Pont Engineering Company still have, I suppose, about a million dollars

due the Government left off some advances made to them and not reimbursed.
Mr. Anderson. The purpose of this survey that the committee is making,

as I understand, is to ascertain whether the situation in respect to the du Pont
contract would justify the expense of a reaudit ; and, second, whether there
are any conditions or circumstances which can be developed in a preliminary
and superficial survey of this character which would justify the committee
in recommending that the case be sent over to the Department of Justice for

further action, either civil or criminal, in the interests of the Government. I

wish you would state, from your knowledge of this case, your views on that
subject, on both sides, if you know anything about it or any phase of it.

Mr. Farr. Well, from the earliest inception—from the earliest time that I

heard anything about this case, I heard the usual rumors that they were
crooked, and that there had been money spent that should not have been spent;
and the audit that I made—of course had made—I didn't do it—wherever we
saw anything that looked crooked, it was suspended or called to the attention
of the higher officials of the Department. And if you are asking for my opinion,

I don't tlunk that we would be justified in reopening this case on a gen-
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242 eral audit, unless you have got some reasonable evidence to assure that
certain accusations can be supported. In other words, if you have got

something about paycar shortages, or something like that, and you have some-
thing reasonable, you might look into that. But I don't think we would recover

enough to justify if we jumi^ed in on a general reaudit. Of course, I don't

know what evidence you have got here. I am wholly in the dark.

Mr. Anderson. Let me ask you this : You spoke of when you found anything
crooked you brought it to the attention of the higher officials. Did you find

anything crooked?
Mr. Farr. I perhaps was reckless in the use of the word " crooked."
Mr. Anderson. That is a dangerous word.
Mr. Fabr. I should have said, perhaps, anything that was suspiciovis. I

simply mean things like this : For instance, there were men who evidently
faked the pay roll, and they came in for weeks and weeks and faked the pay
roll. I disallowed that voucher and claim on the ground that if it happened
once it might happen in such a large body of men, but if it happened for
months and months there must be something lacking in the system, and the
du Fonts should pay for it.

I also disallowed a voucher for the absconding of a labor scout. The du
Pont people were supposed to bond these fellows, and this one they didn't

bond, and he got away with some $1,500 or $2,000. Perhaps I was reversed
in that case, but I disallowed the voucher.
Major BooTON. I think you were in this case.

Mr. Carnduff. That money was paid.
243 Mr. Farr. I think it was. And then there was also a question, there

seemed to be some thievery at the hospital ; a man would be put in a hos-
pital and his suitcase and all his belongings wou,ld be taken. They presented
vouchers for that. I disallowed those. It looked to me like there was some-
thing lacking in their supervision, and I disallowed those vouchers. Perhaps
the Assistant Secretary of War or Colonel Morrow reversed me; the records
will show.
Now, some of the travel vouchers were disallowed. Mr. Peebles is a good

man, and it did look like in some of these travel vouchers, in some claims they
were too liberal in the damnge allowed to furniture and things like that, and
we disallowed them. We disallowed vouchers to the amount of a number of
thousands of dollars.

Mr. Anderson. There was evidence here of the disallowance of claims for
damages to furniture and claims against the railroads for damages. Did you
ever deal with them?

Mr. Farr. I did.

Mr. Anderson. Did you disallow them?
Mr. Farr. I think I allowed damage to furniture in some cases, because I

couldn't prove it was not damaged, and if the railroad damaged it, it was an-
other claim against the Government ; we were operating the railroads. In
some instances, I think, I demanded proof of the du Pont Company that this
furniture had been damaged. There may be some I passed without proof.
Mr. Anderson. Did you have dealings with a man in the du Pont Company

who presented these claims and looked after them?
244 Mr. Farr. Yes ; a Mr. Brittou used to come over and fight with me

about them, and if I made it too hot for him he would go back to Mr.
Haskell and the other fellows, the higher officials, and they would shoot him
full of pep, and then he would come back and fight with me some more.

Mr. Anderson. Did you have dealings with the controller of the du Pont
Company at all?

Mr. Fakr. Only if you call Mr. Schaefer the controller, I had dealings with
the controller. As I say, when I got them in a corner they always had to go to
see Mr. Schaefer or the higher officials.

Mr. Anderson. Did you find cooperation, or a disposition for obstruction,
among the officers of the du Pont Engineering Company?

Mr. Fakr. When I first went to Philadelphia I found that the relations be-
tween the Government and the du Pont people were very bad ; they were at
each other's throats, and everybody thought everybody else was a crook. That
continued for a little while, until I could get it straightened out and secure
cooperation. But when I had to move to Wilmington, when the office was
closed at 1710 Market Street, Philadelphia, I got away from that. I told them
I didn't care what anybody else had done ; I wanted to get this job done. And
then they did try to give me cooperation, although they were always rather
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insistent tlie " tlie king could do no wrong "
; they liad done it, and it was right.

But when I would demand proof they got it to the best of their ability. And
they liad a buncli of men hunting proof all tlie time. I see one of the men

here now that I sent to Penniman to get evidence on tlie pay roll and as
245 to the methods of tlie labor scouts.

Mr. Anderson. Now, did you, in your dealings with the du Pont Com-
pany, come in contact with the local situation at Nashville at all. or at Old
Hickory?
Mr. Farr. Well, Mr. Peebles liad a bunch of men there at Old Hickory that

were auditing the Mason-Hanger vouchers ; primarily tlie vouchers of Mason-
I-Ianger, showing the receipt of materials. And having that bunch of men there

and seeing them, I wanted to know what they were doing. He said they were
checking the Mason and Hanger vouchers. I asked him liow long they had
b?en at it, and he said they had been at it a long while. I asked him what he
expected to do. Well, they expected to show a duplication of the Mason-Hanger
pay roll for a time. So as soon as I could I went to Old Hickory—I liad been
tliere during the war—but I went back to Nashville and sent for a Govern-
ment car—I think Major O'Shaughnessy was there at the time, and he sent his

car for me, and I went and investigated what they were doing. They had
auilitiirs. and they had one or more stenographers, and I forget how many
clerks, und they bad not showed any duplication. I wanted to know when they
weie going to show some, and they said right away; they were just ready to

start nov.'. Anyhow, the upshot of the thing was that I told the man if he
didn't show something soon I was going to can him. I came back to Phila-

delplda. By that time I had gotten to Wilmington. That was along in October.
Along about the first of the year—I forget liow far they had completed their

investigation of the Mason and Hanger vouchers, and they hadn't sliown
241] me enough overpayments to justify my spending any more money down

there, so I ordered Mr. Shields, who was in charge, to come here, and
I dischai'ged the other man. And Major O'Shaughnessy said to leave the
records there, and he had them piled up in a room there helter-skelter. Now,
you understand all these vouchers of the du Pont Company they have in their
-possession, and they have refused to turn them over to us. They think they
liave been badly treated and won't turn anything loose until everything is

settled. They did have those vouchei-s in Philadelphia.

Mr. Anderson. You have brought up a matter I want to ask you about, and
that is the matter of the Mason-Hanger contracts. It has been suggested here
that under the Mason-Hanger contracts, on one construction they were to

receive some $205,000 ; on another construction they did get over a million dol-

lars with a commission or profits on those contracts. Did you have anything to

<lo with the Mason-Hanger contracts or the settlement of it?

Mr. Farr. I construed the provisions of the Mason-Hanger contract while I

was in the Army, and also in 1921. And that rode there until Colonel Morrow
took it up before the Assistant Secretary of War in 1922, and as a result of
that the Assistant Secretary of War took away from the du Pont Engineering
Company a part of the fee that had been paid to Mason and Hanger. In the
memorandum I wrote I criticized this contract, and said I didn't think they
had made a contract in the best interests of the United States Government. My
construction of the contract was misconstrued.

Mr. Anderson. Did the Assistant Secretary of War sustain your construction
of the contract?

247 Mr. Farr. No. sir. I think my decision was given a construction that
I did not intend, but I sat tight, knowing what was coming; but I sup-

pose you can say that the Assistant Secretary of War reversed me. Anyway,
he took away a part of the fee.

Mr. Anderson. That you had allowed?
Mr. Farr. Well, I don't want to admit that I allowed it.

Mr. Andeuson. Well, under your construction would have allowed it?

Mr. Farr. No ; under the construction given to my decision it was allowed.
Mr. Andeirson. Oh, under the construction given to your decision it was

allowed?
Mr. Farr. Yes; according to my decision.

Mr. Anderson. Major, if you are familiar with that matter, and you are a
lawyer, I would like to know if .you think the allowance to Mason and Hanger
under that contract was a reasonable construction of the contract.

Mr. Farr. I am perfectly willing to agree with the opinion of Mr. Cassel,
who first brought it to Colonel Morrow's attention—of course, be knew this was
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coining ui3—and Colonel Morrow's opinion and the disallowance by the Secretary
of War of a part of that fee. Now, as I say, I wrote that memorandum before
1 Iiatl all tlie facts before me, I frequently liad to do that; you would get some-
thing to decide and you hadn't got all the facts or all the evidence.

Mr. Anderson. How much was the final fee allowed, do you know?
Colonel Hull. No final action has been taken on it by the Secretary

248 of War, because an opinion and decision has been asked of the Attorney
General.

Mr. Fare. It is down now before Judge Bigger and Judge Kerr.
Mr. Andeuson. What is the question now?
Mr. Fakk. Whether the decision of the Assistant Secretary of War shall be

sustained. My recollection is Mason and Hanger spent between $21,000,000 and
$22,000,000, and that they were allowed a fee of 5 percent. The objection to

that fee by the men who have taken exception to it is that in various other
construction contracts there was a limitation in all the contracts, so that the
contractor could not get over $250,000, and that these people were, therefore,

allowed too much money.
Now, this Mason and Hanger contract was a duplicate of the first contract

that was entered into at Old Hickory, and that was O. K'd. by D. J. Jackliu,
I think.

Now, all that fee has not been allowed yet, but Colonel Wainwright took away
a certain part of it, based on the estimated cost of the plant at the time they
entered into the first contract and the estimated cost of the plant at the time
they entered into the second contract, on March 23, 1918.

Mr. ANDE21S0N. Now, going back : I think Mr. Youmans testified that under
some order issued by you in September 1921 you directed him to make up
abstract sheets, or something
Mr. Fare. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Which had the effect of practically destroying that work.
Mr. Farr. Destroying \^'hat work?

249 Mr. ANDEaisoN. His work up to that date. He understood that that
meant there would be a lump-sum settlement. Would you give us all

you know about that?
Mr. Farr. I got up there and found these men doing a whole lot of what

appeared to me to be useless work. When I asked them what they were doing
he said it was being done under the rules of the W^ar Department. I wanted
to know why it was being done iri that way. He said so that when the next
war came on they would have a proper accounting so that they would know
just how matters stood. They made up a great number of sheets of these
figures. They had a white sheet, and then a green sheet, and a red sheet, and
then two or three other white sheets, and they put those in the typewriter,
and you have tlie vouchers that referred to lumbei", and the vouchers that
referred to tin, packed up according to some theoretical observation, down here
at the Ordnance Department. So it was taking a whole lot of time. We had
no inventory of the stuff at the plant ; so far as I could find, Ave were absoliTtely

unable to set up a property accountability, and after discussing it with Mr.
Cassel and Colonel Morrow—I don't know whether I said anything to Colonel
Hull ; if he was around I suppose I did—we decided we didn't care what the
Ordnance Department wanted ; it was taking too much time, and we didn't
believe the Ordnance Department knew they wanted it anyhow. So we took
a piece of paper and put the number of the voucher here, and the amount of
the voucher here, and the amount allowed over here, and we took the number

of vouchers together, and w^e had the total amount, and when we got
250 through we had practically the same thing as they had before. Then I

issued that order, and the vouchers went through. It was about that time
that Mr. Youmans came to me and told me that he was not in sympathy with the
present methods of auditing, and he was going to resign, and he did. Shortly
after that I appointed Mr. W. E. Kileen as my chief accountant. Now, if

that spoiled the audit, I don't know how it did it, because we didn't do a thing
except to set these things up in a short, brief, comprehensive manner ; at
least, I was so advised by various accountants I talked to, that it was just as
good a way, and we got away from all the time it took in setting up all these
other things in the other way.
Mr. Anderson. Major, I wanted to get a little clearer in my mind—l)ecause

Mr. Jones made a good deal of that—^just what was the process? As I under-
stand, these vouchers were first audited; is that true?

8387G—35—PT 14 19
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Mr. Faek. What do you mean by audited, Colonel?
Mr. Anderson. I mean checked ; audited and established ; verified.

Mr. Faeb. Well, I will tell it as I saw it there.

Mr. Anderson. Yes
;
you do that.

Mr. Farr. Mr. Youmans only had authority to set it up in his control sheets

:

they had great, big books there, and those were sunnnaries on the pink and
green sheets, of the vouchers that Mr. Peebles sent over to him as properly
established.
Mr. Anderson. I see.

Mr. Farr. He had no authority to say that a voucher was proper; if he
didn't think it was, he came to me with it and told me he thought I had

made a mistake, and it should not be allowed. But Mr. Peebles, with a
251 bunch of men he had, checked these vouchers, for the sufficiency of the

vouchers, and then sent them to Mr. Youmans, and if Mr. Youmans didn't

audit them, I didn't know it. I thought they were audited. Peebles went over
them for the sufficiency of the attachments, and then Youmans audited them.
Mr. Anderson. In other words, they were first audited by Mr. Peeliles as

being properly supported?
Mr. Farr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. And then checked and audited by Mr. Youmans?
Mr. Farr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Andekson. And then were thej' listed, if they were entered on this sheet?
Mr. Farr. Colonel, they were entered so many times I don't know
Mr. Andekson (interposing). I mean, putting down an entry here on this

form you spoke of had nothing to do with the summary?
Mr. Fahr. Well, they had great control sheets ; they had them up there by

the ton, on which every voucher was put down and went through the mill.

Mr. Anderson. And when they got to this point, it was put on one sheet
instead of four sheets?
Mr. Farr. Oh, we had many duplicates, too.

Mr. Andekson. I mean, instead of the different colors? You spoke of the
red and green sheets. When they got to that point, they had been audited and
duly checked, and this was a summary for the records of the Department ; do

I understand that correctly?
252 Mr. Farb. I understand when they got to Youmans and he put them

on his books—these were great detail sheets ; they were in great detail,

these summaries—that the vouchers had then been checked. That was my
understanding ; that they had been checked and audited. Now, if you will ask
Mr. Youmans that question he can tell you—or Mr. Kileen, or any of them that
were on the books. But I am not a bookkeeper, and depended on them to keep
the books.

Mr. Anderson. Now, were there any other irregularities, other than you have
mentioned, in connection with the operation and construction of Old Hickory
that you have not mentioned? You have mentioned some hospital and furniture
bills. Can you think of any general class of irregularities that was brought to
your attention that were flagrant?

Mr. Farr.. Well, funeral expenses ; and doctors' bills ; and the Santo Domingo
niggers, and things like that. And the flu victims, and the excess price for
coffins—boxes.

Mr. Anderson. In those cases did you reject the vouchers, or insist upon a
reduction ; or what did you do with it?

Mr. Farr. I was reversed in some of those cases. I wrote a decision about
the situation and the men down there, and limited it to the officers in the Army.
I think I was reversed on that. And the doctors' bills, some I allowed ; I don't
know whether I disallowed any or not. And the undertakers' bills. I remem-
ber one I disallowed—two ; I disallowed two or thi'ee undertakers' bills that I

thought were too high on the same theory that we were not justified in
paying for a man that was working at a plant any more than we would

253 pay for a man in the Army I based it on the same thing ; but I think I

was reversed on that.

Now, of course, there were charges made that a man would start from San
Antonio, Tex., for Old Hickory with a train load of laborers, and when he got
to Nashville he would check up noses and find out that he didn't have them

;

they had absconded along the road, and he had lost 15 or 20 of them. Those
decisions were made on the theory that a different method should have been
used to keep them on the train, and the Government should not pay for a ticket

for a man up to the time that he jumped off the train. The same thing with
reference to meals. I investigated that and found out that everybody was
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having a hard time getting labor, and everybody was having trouble—the Gov-
ernment and everybody else.

IVIr. Anderson. And you allowed them?
Mr. Fakk. I tliinlj I allowed them, unless it was out of all proportion, in

which case I would not have allowed it.

Mr. ANDE3RSON. Is there anything else in connection with this matter that
you can tell the committee to enable the committee to determine whether there
should be a reaudit, or whether it should recommend that the case be sent to the
Department of Justice, or I'ecommend that it should be closed? If so, tell it now,
will you?

Mr. Farr. Well, Colonel, I don't know what you had brought out here before

;

I don't know what your charges are, and there was so much to remember
here

i\Ir. Anderson. It isn't an investigation of charges ; it is a survey.
Mr. Farr. This was an expenditure of millions of dollars, and I think every

conceivable voucher came before me for payment, from a woman's skirt
254 to a pair of trousers for a man ; little bills, and big bills, everything con-

ceivable came before me; spoiled meat, and rotten cabbage, and every
conceivable thing. That is a right big question ; I don't know how to handle it.

Mr. Andekson. Did you find, in your investigations, that any material was
received there and paid for—charged for, and then shipped av\'ay ; was that
brought to your attention?

IMr. Farb. No ; I found that the du Pont Engineering Company had made a
contract with the parent company to handle the sales of salvage there.

Mr. ANDEaisoN. Did it come to your attention that the du Pont Engineering
Company had transferred material from Hopewell to that point at Old Hickory

;

and if so, under what circumstances?
Mr. Farb. From Hopewell?
Mr. Anderson. Yes ; for operating.
Mr. Farb. I think perhaps there was some transfer of powder-making ma-

chinery, or something like that, and some badly needed stuff at Old Hickory
was transferred to Hopewell, but I have no particular recollection of it. I know
we transferred some sruff to Penniman ; we had a lot of trouble getting that
straight. You see, at Penniman the du Punt people had one contract of their
own, and one of ours.

Jlr. Anderson. Gentlemen, can you suggest any questions in particular?
General Williams. Major, in an operation of this magnitude, would you ex-

pect that there would be certain dishonesties and irregularities?
255 Mr. Farr. Why, I think certain small ones would be bound to happen,

like somebdy swiping pay checks, and matters of that kind.
General Williams. Let us take a commercial enterprise, say, like the

building of the Gary plant of the steel corporation. Do you suppose they had
certain irregularities in the building of that plant?

Mr. Farb. Personally, of course, I don't know anything about it. But take
the J. G. White Construction Company, and those people, they all suffered the
same kind of losses.

General Williams. In your investigations in this case, did you find any evi-
dence that there was anything serious in the way of irregularities ; anything on
the

Mr. Farb (interposing. In certain things I thought the du Pont Com-
pany was too liberal to its officers and themselves, and frankly said so and
wrote memoranda to that effect.

The Chairman. Would it be practicable. Major, to separate and segregate the
items about which there are no disputes from those about which there is a
dispute?

Mr. Farb. It would be very hard, sir. You understand this is a colossal
task, and many thousands of vouchers. To start with, you would have to
separate your vouchers, and get them out in two separate piles, like you w^ould
separate and sort a deck of cards; you would have to take the vouchers that
come under such a ruling and such a heading, and then the vouchers that were
classed as good, and were paid, and that came under another heading. It is a
colossal job.

The Chairman. Were they filed in that way; and not filed together?
256 Mr. Farb. I can't tell you hdw they were filed, because the du Pont

Company has retained those ; in consequence of which the general comp-
troller has disallowed every payment, and so instructed the disbursing officer.
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Mr. Anderson. I tbink what the Seci'etary has in mind i.s this : Suppose, for
instance, on the question of tlie bonus; those bonus items are all

Mr. Farb (interposing). I think the bonus vouchers were set up on great
large work sheets, perhaps with the man's name, and you could take all the
evidence and handle that without setting up those vouchers individually. I

think those are set up ; tlie going-away bonus, and the regular bonus—there
were two bonuses. And I think the return transportation of the men is set

up. There are great large sheets. We worked them up to see how much was
involved. We also worked up the various vouchers for the amounts.
The Chairman. Isn't there also a list of suspended items? Suppose, in the

case of any suspicious items, wouldn't those items be suspended?
Mr. Farb. When I made a decision against the payment, it would be sus-

pended, but when it came down here to Colonel Morrow and Colonel Morrow
reversed me, it would go tlirougli, usually. If Colonel Morrow sustained me,
it would be suspended. And then if it went to The Assistant Secretary of

War, and he reversed us both, then it went to the disbursing officer to be paid.

Mr. Anderson. Is there anything else?

Mr. Carndufp. I desire to invite the attention of the committee at this

257 time to the testimony of the witness that the bonuses, to a large extent,

were paid ; and to advise the committee that by a recent decision of the
Court of Claims, unanimously rendered in the case of Preiss against the United
States, which lias just been printed this v.eek, so recent is it, that the Court
of Claims lias decided that all such bonuses are illegal, and an action for

recovery will lie. It is, therefore, our duty, I l)elieve. as officers of the United
States to institute an action for the recovery of them.

In addition to tliat, I am impressed by the testimony of the witness that
approximately a million dollars—I don't thing it is quite that nuich—is

retained by the du Pont Company, regardless of any further claims. I believe

it is our duty to recover sucli sum and pay it into the Treasury of the United
States.

The Chairman. That would not affect our rights under any further claims
against them, would it?

General Wiixiams. No ; it has no bearing, I think, on the re-audit.

Mr. Carndxjf'F. It has a bearing on our investigation of the case.

General Williams. What is there to investi.^iate? It is admitted. What is

there to investigate? It is admitted that is there.

Mr. Carnduff. Has any action been taken to recover the money?
General Williams. What has been done will be shown by the records.

258 Mr. Farr. The du Pont people frankly admit they have the money

;

and every time they spend a little money they charge it up to us.

General Williams. The amount of money is governed by the contract.
The Chairman. Is there any other question to ask him?
Mr. Andebson. Have you got clear the question of segregation, Mr. Cliairman?
The Chairman. He said it would be very difficult.

General Williams. I would like to ask him if that amount of money in the
hands of the railroads, the $28,000 or $29,000 is our old friend that Mr. McLane
has introduced here?
Mr. Farb. I have not heard the testimony here.
General Williams. Will you make the statement of it, Mr. McLane?
Mr. McLane. The statement is made that the N. & C. Railroad is ready to

pay over to the Government $29,000 that it has in its hands.
]\Ir. Farr. Why don't they do it? They wouldn't give it to me.
Mr. McLane. I couldn't state about that. I am stating this at the request

of General Williams, that there is in the hands of the Nashville & Chattanooga
Railroad, as I understand, about $29,000 that it is ready to pay over to the
Government.

Mr. Fakr. I will state that there was a question with reference to some money
to tlie N. Y. C. & St. L. for shipments to the Frankfort Arsenal; in the files

there there is a history of that matter, and there is some money in their
259 hands, I think. But they refused to turn it over, on some decision of

tlie Department here.
Mr. McLane. What was that amount?
Mr. Farr. I don't know the amount. Some of the witnesses could state it,

I believe.

Mr. McLane. And was there some amount from the T. C?
Mr. Farr. The Tennessee Central?
Mr. McLane. Yes.
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Mr. Farr. Yes; I think so.

Mr. McLane. What was there from the N. & C?
Mr. Fare. I don't know.
Mr McL\NE You have testified about the way the vouchers were audited.

Was 'there ever any investiijation made as to the price the du Fonts sold to

the du Pont Engineering Company, through their various agencies and small

companies, was there any investigation made with reference to purchasing

from themselves, as to the prices, and the quantity and quality delivere<l.'

Mr FvER As to the quantity, I presume there was. As to the prices, I

had no idea who tlie subsidiaries of the du Fonts were, except, I believe, the

Broadway Motors, in which it was chiimed they had an interest, and it was

fl-iiined that the du Fonts paid Broadway Motors $50 more for Chevrolets

than they were selling for to other people. W^e investigated that, and it was

established that the price at which they were sold was the price they were soid

to other people.

Colonel Hull. What was that?
. ^, i o f

Mr F^EB That the price they sold Chevrolets—Chevrolet cars to the du 1 ont

people was the list price, and was not any more than they were charging other

people.
, .„ ,, ,,

'>60 Mr McLanb. To refresh your memory, I will ask you it there wasn t

a recovery from Broadway Motors, and if it isn't a fact that was $100

diffoivrce; that "is, they sold for $600 to them, and on the streets of Nashville for

$.500, and that there was a considerable recovery?

Mr Fare If there was, I didn't know it. My recollection is—if you will ask

Mr i'cebles, who is here, he can tell you, because he investigated it at my
request I don't recollect that I ever recovered a penny. But we thought we

were going to recover a substantial sum, but we fell down, because we couldn t

esiabli:-<h that Broadway Motors had charged the du Fonts any more than they

were charging other people.

Mr McLvNE. Now, there was an item of hams that came to you, amomitmg

to $1 700, shipped by INIorris & Company, which, on receipt, were not fit for use.

Mr Fare You are asking me about one of thousands of items. I don t

remember aibout that. I remember I had a lot of fight about rotten meat. If

it v^-a-: in that, it came to my attention.

Mr. McLane. Now, that voucher was paid, and no attempt was made to collect

the $1,700, and the meat was shipped out again and resold.

Mr. Fabb. You are making a statement I know nothing about.

Mr. McLane. I am asking you about that.

Mr Fare I am answering you that if the matter was brought to my attention

I presume I investigated it. If the meat was shipped out and sold, I,

261 at this time, have no recollection of it. And if the records do not disclose

there was a recovery made, there was none made.

Mr. McLane. Understand, Major, some of the questions I am going to ask

you, some of it may be true, and some may be untrue.

General \Villiams. Are these matters you have now true?

Mr McLane. No, sir ; I have allegations that it is true.

General Williams. Why should the committee take up its time with this

matter? , , ^ n ^^

Mr. Faee. There was some meat came in there that was undoubtedly rotten.

It caiue in on the car, and there was no ice on it and it spoiled.

Mr. McLane. This is a matter for you to rule upon, of course. You are a

member of the committee, and if you think it is improper I don't want to

go into it. , ,,

General Wili.iams. It seems to me these rumors are mere rumors antl thej

should be investigated before it came to the attention of this committee.

Mr. McLane. I have no power to investigate it, you understand. I am
bringing it to the attention of the committee for you to investigate it.

Mr. Fare. I will say for Mr. McLane that the only way I can establish it is

from the voucher in the possession of the du Pont people. And while various

rotten meat matters were brought to my attention. I don't remember it.

Mr. McLane. I will say that Mr. Towler, Chief of the Bureau of Investigation

states that he has that voucher of $1,7W. Of course, if the committee

262 does not desire these matters that I have partial information upon, that

they are true, I don't desire to bring them in. If it is not proper to

bring them in, I don't want to burden the record, or the time of the committee

You are a member of the committee, and it is up to you to determine it.

Mr. Fabb. I will be glad to answer anything you ask me, if I can.
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Mr. McLajsb. I am sure of that.

The Chaibman. I think it is all right, General.
General Williams. So far as I am concerned, I think it is a waste of time.

I don't care anything about it.

The Chaibman. You may proceed, Mr. McLane.
Mr. McLane. Now, I will ask you if the hospital bills first presented by the

Nashville Hospital were ever audited?
Mr. Fakb. What do you mean by audited?
Mr. McLane. By any person from the du Pouts, or your people, or in any

other way?
Mr. Faer. Do you mean whether my men went down and went over the

hospital bills?

Mr. McLane. Whether the amount presented by the hospital bill was ever
audited in any way?

Mr. Faeb. I presume every bill from that hospital was audited by the auditor
whose hands it went through.

Mr. McLane. That v-;ould be mere presumption, and without any definite

knowledge on your parL?
Mr. Fabb. Mr. McLane, I have heretofore given a statement as to how those

very vouchers were audited, and you must remember that I was in charge of
the auditing of thousands of vouchers, and that I not only don't remember

263 or attempt to remember these individual instances, but can't. And if

those vouchers came to my auditors, as they must have, I presume there
must have been some kind of an audit made of them.

Mr. McLane. Now, if almost daify during the month of November there
were duplicate charges for different men in the hospital receiving services and
charged to you—if there were men who paid their own expenses, and that
were, in turn, charged to you, those facts didn't come to your attention

;
you

would have remembered that if that had been a daily occurrence?
Mr. Farb. No ; I don't know as I would have remembered that. If it had

been a daily occurrence, as you say. I presume I would have. But I have no
recollection of any snieh thing at the hospital there. I suggest that you ask
Mr. Peebles ; maybe he can tell you.
Mr. McLanb. Now, could you recall whether there was an undertaking firm.

Myers—did you liave any suspended items that came to you from that firm?
Mr. Faeb. Was that the undertaking establishment that had some bills

against the county, and we had a fight as to what the charges should be?
Mr. MgLane. I can't tell you.
Mr. Fare. If it was, I think there is a large file on that. Because they billed

the county and us, too, I think.

Mr. McLanb. Those files were not audited, were they? In other words, it

appeared from the records that came to you, and the bills that were paid by
the Du Pont people, that caskets that cost them $23 were billed to you at the

rate of $250; did you have such items?
264 Mr. Fakb. I had various items from this undertaking establishment, I

think.
General Williams. Aren't those all matters of record?
Mr. McLane. I couldn't say, but I don't think so.

Mr. Faer. I don't want to be put in the position for the record here of answer-
ing yes or no to these things.

Mr. IMcLane. I don't want you to be.

Mr. Faeb. But I will say that the records in Philadelphia and Frankfort
Arsenal and Wilmington will show what items I disallowed on those matters
individually. Niiw, in these undertaking establishments, we had a lot of fuss
about that, and that matter vv-as under investigation for quite a while, and there
were large bills, and I think that the bill that they submitted was, after a good
deal of effort by special representatives of the du Pont Engineering Company
sent down therv, was afterward cut down very much smaller that they pre-
sented it.

Mr. McLane. Now, if those items did conie to you, they are matters of record

;

if tliey did not come to you, then there are reasons why they sliould now be
investigated and be collected from the du Pont people, who paid them?

Colonel Hull. Isn't that necessarily a conclusion?
Mr. Fare. Mr. McLane, if you ask me these questions, I could answer them

;

but when you i)Ut a lot of conclusion in them I couldn't answer them without
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committing myself, wliich I am not going to do. If I passed on these things,

which I did after the du Pont people got hold of it, the records are there and
will speak for themselves. I am sure the du Pont people will help get

265 hold of it. If it has not been investigated and is crooked, it should be

investigated ; I will say that.

Mr. McLanb. As major in charge, did it come to your attention that the du
Pont people used and continued to use a number of men whose duty it was to

make up receivers' checkers' cards, who were not present when the material

was unloaded from the cars or trucks, and it was their duty to make up these

car(;s, and that those were the cards that you passed upon?
itir. Farb. I have heard it said a good many times that they employed a large

force of men to make up the receipts you refer to. On October 7, 1921, I was
advised by Mr. Peebles that he had verified—to quote him, " We have established

delivery, through the efforts of our investigators and information which we have
been able to develop, approximately as follows : Old Hickory operation and con-

struction, 90 percent."
He had advised me that he had, by extraneous examination, by various vouch-

ers or papei's or investigations of his men and efforts of the du Pont people

—

had been able to establish, regardless of what the face of the voucher shows, 90
l>ercent of a delivery so far as he had gone.

266 Mr. McLane. No ; you didn't answer my question. Did you or did you
not have this definite information at the time you passed upon these

material vouchers : That a number of men in the custody of and in the charge
of and under Mr. Brown were employed with the one purpose—to make up a
checker's card without being present at the receipt of the material, on the receipt

of the material?
Mr. Fakb. Well, that question is hard to answer. I told you I had heard these

rumors. And that the men working under me had been able to establish 90
percent delivery, and that, regardless of the rumors, I had taken their word for

what they had been able to establish.

Mr. IMoLanb. Now, at the time those rumors came to you did you investigate

or undertake to find out from the parties who made the 90 percent report

—

to wit, Mr. Peebles—whether or not he was accepting the checker's cards, which
were, as it was said, to use their term, " fabricated " ?

Mr. Fahk. I don't think you understand what these voucher's were.
Mr. Anderson. Excuse me just a minute. How much longer will this take,

Mr. McLane? I was wondering whether it would be better to adjourn now
until after lunch and then have Major Farr come back. It is a quarter of 2 now.
Mr. MoLanb. I will be through with him in just a moment.
Mr. Anderson. All right.

Mr. Farr. These vouchers had various annotations on them by Government
checkers, Government auditors, and representatives of the du Pont Engineering

Company. That voucher never had attached to it a checker's card. The
267 checker's card was supposed to be somewhere ; where they were I don't

know. But the voucher that came to me had no checker's card attached
to it. That is my recollection.

Mr. McLane. But, Major, that is not my question. Did you not understand
that this 90-percent investigation was based upon checkers' cards fabricated?

Mr. Farr. No; I did not.

Mr. McLane. By Brown and others?
Mr. Farr. No ; I never heard of it. I don't think I did ever hear of it.

Mr. McLane. Did you not understand that that was based upon checkers'
cards fabricated by men in their employment to make those checkers' cards?
Mr. Fake. No, sir ; I will answer that by saying that I of course heard that

they had these people there to fabricate cards. But that if my men could estab-
lish, regardless of the checker's card that the stuff came into the plant, I didn't
think that the checker's card was material.
Mr. McLanb. Did you make any investigation to see whether or not Major

Peebles and others who made their reports to you accepted those fabricated
checker's cards without a reference to you, or without a suspension?

Mr. Fakb. No, sir ; but I don't think that I saw any of the cards, and Mr.
Peebles was working right across from me, and if he had been using those
cards to bolster up his statement to me I think I would know of it ; because
we had fights enough there about receipt of materials to impress it upon my
recollection. There was a whole lot of trouble about it. And we heard rumors
a good many times.
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268 Mr. McLane. That is all.

Mr. Andebson. We will adjourn until 3 o'clock then.

Mr. Taer. Gentlemen, am I to come back?
Mr. Cabnduff. No ; I don't think that will be necessary.

Mr. Fabb. All right, I will go then, if you don't want me to come back this

afternoon.
Mr. Carnduff, Mr. Chairman, we have no further evidence to offer at this

time, and perhaps we can adjourn permanently.
General Williams. There is a whole room full of people over there who want

to be heard.
Mr. Carnduff. We have no further evidence, Mr. Chairman, to offer at this

time.
General Williams. Don't you think that the du Pont people should be heard

in the matter?
Mr. Carnduff. Not here ; no, sir.

General Williams. Not here?
Mr. Carnduff. Not in this matter.
General Williams. You don't think that the du Pont people out there should

be heard in this matter now?
Mr. Carnduff. No, sir.

Colonel Hull. How about Kileen?
Mr. Carnduff. If you want to hear Mr. Kileen, very well. I am perfectly

willing.

Colonel Hull. You are anxious to go into the matter and find out all about
it, and you take up a great deal of time in bringing Major Guise in here and
questioning him at great length. You bring in Major Guise, who knew nothing

about it, and here is Kileen, who is a clean-cut fellow. Don't you
269 want his testimony as to what happened?

Mr. Carnduff. I am perfectly willing that the committee hear Mr.
Kileen.

Colonel Hull. Isn't it as important that the committee hear Mr. Kileen as
Major Guise?

Mr. Carnduff. I am perfectly willing that the committee hear Mr. Kileen, if

you desire to introduce him. Major Guise knew a great deal about this. We
had better adjourn until three o'clock.

General Williams. Don't you want to hear what the du Pont people have to

say?
Mr. Carnduff. No, sir ; not at this time.
Mr. AndersO'N. I think we had lietter adjourn until three to hear Mr. Kileen,

and then we can ask the du Ponts to come back a little later, I think, if that
will suit you. I would rather take them up when I have got a whole day. And
we cannot take them up next week.
. Colonel Hull. Have you got any further questions, Mr. District Attorney?
Are there any further inquiries that you had in mind to make? If you have,
I suggest that you ask Peebles, because you can probably get a direct line on
that as to what has been investigated and what has not. If we recovered
$250,000, why certainly some of the irregularities that we recovered upon you
might have heard about, and if we recovered it there is no further use of going
into it.

Mr. McLane. I agree with you thoroughly on that.
Colonel Hull. I would ask Peebles, because he was over it. And if it is one

of those various things that you have heard, and he has made complete
270 recovery on it, there is no use of going into it.

Mr. McLane, Yes.
Mr. Fark. I understand then that I am not to come back?
Mr. Anderson. Major, I don't know of any reason why you should come back.
Mr. Farr. Well, I won't come back then.
Mr. Anderson. We will take a recess until 3 o'clock.
(Thereupon, at 2:05 p. m., a recess was taken until 3 o'clock p. m. of the

same day, Friday, May 11, 1923.)

271 AFTER RECESS

The hearing was resumed before the Subcommittee on Ordnance Transaction
of the General War Transactions Board, at 3 : 10 p. m., Friday, May 11, 1923,
pursuant to recess.

Mr, Anderson, You may proceed, Colonel Hull.
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STATEMENT OF WAIIACE G. KILEEN, DETROIT, MICH.

Colonel Hull. Mr. Kileen, were you ever in the Government's employ?

Mr. Kileen. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. What years?
Mr. Kileen. From March 11, 1918, until August 17, 1922.

Colonel Hull. In what capacity?
Mr. Kileen. As an accountant under civil service, and the War Department.

Colonel HxTLL. As such did you have any dealings with the accounts of the

du Pont Engineering Company?
:\Ir Kileen. Yes, sir.

Colonel Hull. State in your own language what connection you had with

those accounts. The dates and generalize.

Mr. Kileen. In October 1921, I came to Wilmington at the request of Major

Farr, and worked under Mr. Youmans on the du Pont Engineering Company
contracts. At the time that Mr. Youmans left the service Major Farr wrote

a memorandum authorizing myself as chief accountant. What had I better

do? Tell my duties there?
Colonel Hull. Yes; go ahead and tell it in your own language.

272 Mr. Kileen. At that time the course or procedure was through a

control record, which was a columnar affair listing all the vouchers in

connection with the du Pout Engineering Company contracts. This record

showed the action taken on the vouchers.
Mr. Andekson. Pardon me a moment. May I ask: Do you know whether

Mr. Gregg and his associates have been told what the committee is going to do?
Mr. Cahnduff. No, sir ; I have not
Mr. Anderson. Major Booton?
Major Booton. No, sir. They are still waiting for instructions, and they

have a number of people from Detroit that they want to hold here until they

find out what is to be done with them.
Mr. Anderson. I don't think, General, if we are going to adjourn after this

session—and I am almost compelled to devote my time for several days to

other matters—I don't think it is hardly reasonable to ask them to continue

to stay here now. In the first place, I want to have this written up so I can
read it over and digest it before I ask them any questions. And secondly, I

don't think I can possibly take it up until week after next. And I think we
ought to tell Mr. Gregg that this thing is taking very much longer than we
anticipated it would, and therefore we had better notify them when to take

it up with them. Don't j'ou think so, General?
General Williams. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. With your permission I will do so.

General Williams. Yes.
273 Colonel Hull. Proceed.

Mr. Kileen. This record showed the action taken on the vouchers

;

that is, eacli voucher was listed in number and amount, showing whether same
had been approved and svimmarized, or suspended. The vouchers that ap-

peared in the suspended column were being reviewed at the time that I went
on the du Pont Engineering Company audit. And as stated before, these
vouchers stood out on this record, showing that they were suspended through
this suspension column.

In the meantime several decisions had been made by various Government
representatives, and as the vouchers previously suspended were reviewed they
were either resuspended or approved in accordance with the decisions. In case

of approval it was so shown by a rubber stamp placed on the back of the
voucher by either Mr. Peebles personally or his assistants. The vouchers
approved were collectetl into a schedule, replacing the regular War Depart-
ment summary form which had been previously used for recording approved
vouchers. The vouchers which were not approved remained in the suspension
column until the completion of the work, and now appear in a report, I think
as of May .31, 1922, listed as suspensions.

Colonel Hult.. What was the state of the completion of the accounting and
stating of the vouchers when you left?

Mr. Kileen. When I left the du Pont I made a report which is a matter of

record here, I think—I brought the copies all to Washington—which showed
the condition of the work at that time. Now, of course, a lot of that work

was a patch-work of auditors. A lot of it was audited before I came
274 there, and a lot of it was in course of work when I came, but there is a

break in the summaries where they break off from the old summary
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form to the new schedule form which picks up all of the vouchers that passed
in that time. Now, I can't say whether some of those vouchers were hangovers
or not, but that is a pretty good dividing line on that break in that summary
form.
And right here there is a point that I want to mention. When I came to

Wilmington, one one of my early trips to Washington, it was decided down
here that the summary form would be discontinued—or I think that had
been decided previous to that time, and Mr. Cassel went quite into detail with
me as to how they would be reported. The new form of report was merely
a schedule of voucher number and amount.

Colonel Hull. Did the doing away with the summary interfere with the
value of the work in any way?

Mr. KiLEEN. Well, of course, it gave you no classification, and previous to

that time there had been a classification of vouchers. As far as payment
is concerned, especially on construction work, I don't see where that would
affect it any. If the voucher was approved, why it was approved. But when
you come down to the split between construction and operations it would have
been of value to have been able to pick that out. It would help determine
cost quite a little. I wanted to get at the cost of operations a little while
afterwards, and that was the difficult part of the oiJeration.

Colonel HuTX. Did you get the cost of the operations?
Mr. KiLEBN. I went over the operations. Colonel Hull, and I cannot say

that I saw every transaction in connection with the operations. You
275 see the vouchers had all been passed, and had this rubber stamp on

them, and previous to my coming to Wilmington the materials had been
audited, that is, for prices, I believe, but I can't tell how far that price business
went, because when I came that price business was being audited, and the
receipt of materials had been passed upon, or decided upon, so that these
vouchers had all come through into the approved column.

Well, for construction that went pretty well, but when you come down to

operations it took quite a lot of digging in order to make that dividing line,

because on operations there was a question of profit, and questions of distri-

bution, distributing some of this expense between operations and construction.

Colonel Hull. Well, how was that done?
Mr. KiLEiEN. A good deal of it was done on pay-roll basis. And there is

another thing. Of course, the pay-roll work had all been taken up long before
I came to Wilmington. That had all been passed.
Now, I have in mind one particular transaction : The charge for passenger-

train service, and charge for operating a powder-plant railroad, what they called

the " powder-plant railroad." It was pretty difficult to draw the line between
what would be construction, what would be operation, and what would be
closing down, and that was all quite important from the profit standpoint.
From the records that I had available there in the office, without any knowledge
of the condition at the plant, and from Mr. Peebles' help, I did manage to

change the distributions to our advantage to the extent of reducing the
276 profit $139,000, for which the contractor gave a cash voucher and

returned the money.
And there was also another item of $55,000 which I never knew the final

status of, but that was a question of contract, I guess ,a question of law or
something. That f. o. b. point Nashville.
Major BooTON. That was the question of the freight differential between

Nashville and the plant?
Mr. KiLEEN. Yes.
Colonel HuT.L. Albout how much was left uncompleted?
Mr. KiLEEN. Well, that would be an awful hard thing to say.

Colonel Hull. What do you mean?
Mr. KiLETEN. Well, it means what you consider completed. Now, for in-

stance, tlu> pay rolls. When I came there, of course, from an ordinary auditor's

standpoint you would naturally pick up the pay rolls, that being the basis
for the distribution, but I was given to understand that the pa.v rolls were all

settled. And I never touched that part of it at all. Now, if you want to

consider that uncompleted, that would be quite a factor.

Colonel Hull. But you understood it had been done before you came there?
Mr. Klleen. Surely.
Colonel Hull. Well, from the official information that was given to you that

this was done and that was done and the other was done, how much remained
uncompleted?
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Mr. KiLEEN. Well, I u'ould say in that case that the only thing that would
be of any importance that would be left uncompleted was the transfers

277 after the actual vouchers went through. That is, journal entry transfers.

That would make a switch possibly from construction to operation or
operation to closing down, or some non-profit-bearing phase of the work.

Colonel Hull. How long would it take to do that workV
Mr. KiLEEN. Well, to do the work right and run down the journal entries,

the basis for the journal entries, it would take quite some time. I could
make an estimate, but it would only be an estimate.

Colonel Hull. Make an estimate, make your best estimate.
Mr. KiLEEN. I should say it would take about three months.
Colonel Hull. How many men?
Mr. KiLEEN. Oh, six or seven good men.
Colonel Hull. And of what value would that be, Mr. Kileen?
Mr. Kileen. It would eliminate any doubt as to distribution of cost between

profit and nonprofit bearing divisions of the contract. Now, I have iii mind
one item in particular—stores. By stores I mean the inventory at closing.

Nashville I have in mind in particular. There was an audit made of that store's

inventory, and I think it was made by an accountant named " Marsh ", who
at the time was working with us on the engineering contract. The question
came up whether we would accept that previous audit, or whether it would
be necessary to verify those figures, and at one time Major Farr considered
possibly sending somebody down there, I think, to check that inventory up.
And I even think he went so far as to inquire about where the records were,
and then the time got so short for us to get in a report that I don't think

—

in fact, I know no action was taken on that item.
278 Colonel Hull. Do you recall any other items?

Mr. Kileen. Well,of course, the conunissary distribution would come
under that journal entry feaure I mentioned before. There was a power prop-
osition there, that caused considerable trouble on the windup too, that required
almost knowledge of conditions at the plant. I went into it with what informa-
tion I had on the ground, and I think, if I remember correctly, we reduced the
power somewhat from that local information.

Colonel Hull. What do you mean by stores, Mr. Kileen? Do you mean com-
missary stores or supplies?

Mr. Kileen. No ; the stores I had in mind, as I recall it, were general stores,

what you call general stores in the warehouse.
Colonel Hull. Can you be more specific?
Mr. Kileen. Hardware and things of that sort. I have got a mental picture

of tliis inventory, but I don't just remember what is on it. I think there is

a copy of it here in Washington, though.
Colonel Hull. You were connected with the Philadelphia board for some

time, were you not, before you went on this work?
Mr. Kileen. I was connected with the accounting branch of the PhUadelphia

district office.

Colonel Hull. And is there any real difference between the accounting work
that you saw at the winding up and the other accounting work in the Phila-
delphia branch?

Mr. Kileen. Yes ; this work here, of course, was different from the work
279 I had been on. The work I had been on had been cost-plus contract s,

where we started in with a purchase order approved by the contracting
officer, the local contracting officer, and carried it through to completion. But
this was a little different end of it. And we also summarized on the cost-plus
work.

Colonel Hull. Have you any questions?
Mr. Anderson. How much was in suspense when you took over these accounts,

Mr. Kileen?
Mr. Kileen. It is very unfortunate that I have no way of answering that

question. These forms that I mentioned during the early part of my state-

ment, known as the control records, did not provide for recording the transfers
between apiiroved and suspended vouchers. And in numerous cases the space
provided for approval or suspension of a voucher would shOAV that it had
been changed back and forth from one column to another so many times that
there was hardly any paper left. It would be erased so many times, don't

you know.
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Mr. Andebson. Did you know anything about two items of freiglit charges
amounting to about $29,000 claimed to have been due by the railroads, as
overcharges V

Mr. KiLEEiN. No ; I don't recall any such items.

Mr. Anueeson. Did you know of any duplicate payments to the Cambria
Iron Company?

Mr. KiLEEN. No, sir.

Mr. Anderson. As an accountant did you see any substantial difference be-

tween the method of making up those summary sheets, as made up under
Major Farr's order after December 1921, and the various summary slieets that

were made prior to that time?
280 Mr. KiLEEN. No ; I do not. But I would like to qualify that statement,

because the previous summaries, that is the form intended, provided
for classification of the nature of the expense. And when an item is properly
classified it places, it in a profit- or nonprofit-bearing group, which would elimi-

nate any possible doubt as to the figuring of profit in the closing. But there

is a question in my mind whether the summaries previously passed were made
on that basis, with that intention.

Mr. Anderson. Well now, did yon in your checking and auditing of these
accounts observe any irregularities which were not cleared up?
Mr. KiLEEN. "Well, the only oi^en items that I know of are the items that

appear as suspense. That is, the only items that came under my observation
that had not been approved now appear as suspense in this report previously
mentioned.

Mr. Anderson. When did you discontinue your work on these accounts?
Mr. KiLEEN. Well, active work was discontinued, I believe, on June tlie

30th. I was separated from the service on that date. And then I was later

taken back on a temporary basis.

Mr. Andekson. Do you know how much balance was claimed to be luiad-

justed at that time?
Mr. KiLEEN. No ; but that shows in the reports.

Mr. Anderson. There was a report made at that time?
Mr. KiLEEN. Yes, sir. That report ties up with the advances as shown in

a special report made by a Mr. Keifhofer, I believe.

281 Mr. Anderson. That is all I want to ask.

Colonel Hull. That work that you spoke about doing and continuing
six or seven men for about three months ; would that work have to go clear

back to its inception, or could it be tied on to where you stopped?
Mr. Kileen. No ; each one of those journal entries would have to be run

down, absolutely run down, to know the facts.

Colonel Hull. But I mean, when that is done could the result of that be
tied down to the work as you completed it, or would you have to go back?
Mr. Kileen. Oh ; you would not have any trouble tying that in with this

report.

Colonel Huix. That is what I mean.
Mr. Kileen. There wouldn't be any trouble with that.
Mr. Anderson. Well, that raises a question that I wanted to ask. It has

been suggested here that the freight accounts or charges by the railroads had
not been audited, or verified by auditing with the accounts of the Railroad
Administration. Nov,-, could that be done now, in your opinion, from the
records available?
Mr. Kileen. I believe it could.
Mr. Anderson. It has also been stated here that the audit was 90 percent

complete as to tlie more important elements entering into operation and con-
struction. Would it be possible, in your opinion, to segregate that portion
wliich had not been audited and audit it at the present time?

Mr. Kileen. That control record—the erasure, the transfer from suspended
to approved, makes it almost impossible to say what percent was fully

covered.
282 Mr. Andekson. Well, suppose there were certain elements of the

accounliiij^ which had not been completely carried out; would it be
possible for you to take up the record as it was and carry those to a conclu-
sion, without having to go back over the whole thing?

Mr. Kileen. Do you mean along the same lines that we were working when
we stopped?

Ml'. Anderson. Along the same lines that you were working when you
stopped the audit; yes?
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Mr. KiLEEN. Yes, sir. The reason why I asked that was because, of course,

wheu I took it up we were working under certain decisions, and that made
quite a difference.

Mr. Anderson. In your audit?
Mr. KiLEEN. Yes.
Mr. Andersox. You don't know how far the vouchers were checked back to

ascertain actual delivery, the prices of material, because that was done under
the closing officer, wasn't it?

Mr. KiLEEN. Yes ; that was all done on the other side.

Mr. Anderson. Are there any aspects of this matter that you would suggest
should be further audited in order to arrive at a final settlement as it was
when you made your final report?

Mr. Ktleen. AVith the decisions standings, the only thing that I could think
of as an absolute 100-percent check-up that would bring in results would be
in the operation end. As I stated before, the transfers from profit-bearing to

nonprofit-bearing items, which would affect the profit allowed.
283 Mr. Anderson. What do you mean by the decisions standing? Do

you mean the various decisions and rulings under which the audit was
made?

Mr. KiLEEN. Yes. For instance, when I came there we were making no de-
ductions, of course, for material shortages. That was one thing. Those
vouchers all came to me approved. In fact, my work was all passied on these
previous approvals. They came to me, and I merely recorded the transactions
in accordance with these approvals—this rubber-stamp approval that came
from Mr. Peebles' department.

Mr. Anderson. Well, how do you know that there were no deductions being
made for materials short?
Mr. Kileen. Well, because that question came up, and we had out all of the

vouchers at one time showing material deductions.
Mr. Anderson. What was done with those items of material deductions?
Mr. Kileen. I think in a few cases credits were located to cover them.
Mr. Anderson. The others were passed?
Mr. Kileen. The other ones were referred to Mr. Peebles, and as I recall

it, passed under some decision which he had.
Mr. Anderson. Now you don't know what that decision was, or who rendered

it?

Mr. Kileen. No ; I really couldn't say which one it was. There were so
many of them. And I don't know whether it was a written decision or not.

The stamp on the voucher was the guide. I knew at the time, but I just

cannot remember it.

Mr. Anderson. I cannot think of anything else. Colonel, that I wish to

ask.
284 ]\Ir. Carnduff. Just one question. Mr. Kileen, we have asked eacli of

the accountants giving opinions here to give a brief resume of their

experience as accountants, and I would like to ask you the same question,

namely. Are you a certified public accountant?
Mr. Kileen. No, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. Have you been a senior accountant?
Mr. Kileen. I was given that grade by civil service, that is all. Never

served in public accounting.
Mr. Carnduff. Oh, you never served in public accounting?
Mr. Kileen. No, sir.

Mr. Carnduff. Would you give us very briefly your experience in accounting

before entering the Government service?

Mr. Kileen. I attended the Utica Business College, and left there to accept

a position in a wholesale jobbing and hardware concern, a clerical position. I

was there about two years and a half. My next position was with the Gen-

eral Electric Company. And I held the positions of claim chaser, claim clerk,

assistant to the head of the distribution department, and was later given

charge of the distribution department, making a service of seven or eight years

with the General Electric Company. I then made application to the Civil

Service, and was assigned to the Ordnance Department in March 1918.

Mr. Carnduff. What was your rating, Mr. Kileen? What capacity, I mean?
Mr. Kileen. Senior accountant.
IVIr. Carnduff. In the civil service?

Mr. Kileen. In the civil service.



3464 MUXITIONS INDUSTRY

285 Mr. Carnduff. Did you ever exaniine the books of the du Pont En-
gineering Company?

Mr. KiLEEN. The general hool^s?
Mr. (Jabndufi<\ Yes.
Mr. KiLEEN. I have worked on the cash boolvs to determine the casli trans-

actions, the accounts-payable registers, and the cost records and journal
entries.

Mr. Carnduff. In whose employ were you then?
Mr. KiLEEN. In the United States Government.
Mr. Carnduff. For what purpose did you work on these books, Mr. Kileen?
Mr. KiLEEN. The purpose of this audit, under Major Farr.
Mr. Carnduff. But you never made any general examination of the operating

books of the du Pont Engineering Company?
I\lr. KiLEEN. No, sir ; only for the purpose of this audit, under Major Farr.

Mr. Carnduff. Thank you very much.
Mr. Kileen. Y'es, sir. Now, gentlemen, may I return to Detroit?

Mr. Carnduff. I think that is all.

Mr. Anderson. Yes.

Mr. Carnduff. And we are very much obliged to you.

(Witness excused.)
Mr. Carnduff. I might say. Colonel, that I have not sent for Mr. Kileen, as

I did not consider his evidence would much more than corroborate all of what
Major Farr would tell us, and of course I didn't even know how he

286 got nere.

Mr. Anderson. Well, I wish to state on the record, General, that we
had prepared for and requested the attendance of some half-dozen persons as

witnesses from Nashville to testify at this hearing, who knew of the conditions

and operations of the plant. Some of them, I think, came up.

Mr. Carndltff. They all came.
Mr. Anderson. They all came. And after talking with the head of the

criminal department of the Department of Justice he advised me that he Avould

prefer at the present stage of the investigation that this evidence be not taken

on account of certain matters in connection with the Department investigations,

and at his request the witnesses returned to Nashville. I think it is due the

committee that that statement sliould be made, because their evidence was
regarded as important for our information and also to the Department. Other-

wise their coming here and going back would be unexplained. But he felt that

at the present time the interests of the Government required that they should

not testify until they had further carried their investigations on.

So, as i understand it, Major Carnduff and Mr. McLane, there is no one else

you wish to have here at the present time?
Mr. Carnduff. The witnesses who have already testified, together with the

witnesses who were brought from Nashville and returned at the suggestion of

the Assistant Attorney General, constituted the evidence we desired to present
to this committee. We have no other witnesses now.

287 Mr. Anderson. I would like to state on the record also that representa-
tives of the du Pont Company have been in here ready to be called, if

desired, and that at my suggestion, with the approval of the members of the
committee, they were told that the matter would be adjourned over until we
got this evidence, and that then we would invite them when we wished to call

them.
It may be in connection with the matters luider local investigation at Nash-

ville, which do not involve the subjects of our general inquiry here, except in
certain details, that the Government would want to see certain of these records
and exhibits which are in the Frankfort Arsenal, I presume, or some of them
may be here. In that event I suppose on application to you they could get the
necessary orders?

General Williams. Yes, sir.

Mr. Anderson. Or to Colonel Hull?
General Williams. Either one.
Mr. Anderson. So, Mr. McLane, if there are any of those records that you

wish to see, if you wish to advise us, or have the Department of Justice apply
to either General Williams or Colonel Hull, why those records will l)e made
immediately available.
Mr. McLane. Tliat will be very kind.
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Mr. Anderson. Now, with that, unless there is something else that you gentle-

men desire to suggest, I would suggest an adjournment of the committee without
da.v, and we will take it up again on proper notice.

General Williams. I second it.

Mr. Andekson. The committee tlion stands adjourned without day, and
288 on a further hearing you gentlemen will be notified in advance, if you

wish to be heard, in order that we may complete our investigation.

(Thereupon, at 3:45 p. m.. Friday, May 11, 1923, the hearing before the
Su1)Committee on Ordnance Transactions of the General War Transactions
I'.oard was adjourned without day.)

289 OLD HICKORY INVESTIGATION

Wednesday, December 5, 1923. 11 : 30 O'clock a. m.

Room 3538 Muniiions Building,
Washington, D. C.

Proceedings had and testimony taken before Subcommittee on Ordnance of
the General War Transactions Board, composed of the following members

:

Hon. Dwight F. Davis, Assistant Secretary of War, chairman ; Maj. Gen. C. C.

Williams, Chief of Ordnance ; Henry W. Anderson, Esq., representing the De-
partment of Justice.

Present : Col. J. A. Hull, executive officer of the War Transactions Board

;

Col. F. W. Coleman, of the Finance Department ; Arthur Carndulf, Esq., special

assistant to the Attorney General ; James Cameron, Esq., Director of Audit of
the Department of Justice ; A. V. McLane, Esq., United States district attorney,
Nashville, Tenn. ; Maj. J. G. Booton, Ordnance Department, United States
Army ; H. G. Haskell, Esq., vice president and director of the du Pont Engi-
neering Company and E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company ; W. S. Gregg, Esq.,

counsel for the du Pont Engineering Company and E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Company ; W. A. Shaier, Esq., comptroller of the du Pont Engineering Com-

pany ; H. H. Cochran, Esq., cost accountant du Pont Engineering Com-
290 pany ; Olin Haubert, Esq., chief clerk. Government claims division,

E. I. du Pont de Nemours «& Company ; Maj. Richard Sylvester, assistant

to vice president and manager of protection, E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company.

Mr. Andeeson. This is a hearing in the matter of the United States against
the du Pont Engineering Company, involving the construction of the Old
Hickory plant at Nashville, Tennessee. Gentlemen, in order to connect up the
record, you will recall that on May the 10th, 1923, there was a hearing here
before the Secretai^y of War, the Chief of Ordnance and myself in connection
with certain matters growing out of this construction contract. The idea, as
then expressed, was that the contract had never been settled between the Gov-
ernment and the du Pont Engineering Company, and a good many questions
had been raised. There had been at least one or two partial or incomplete
audits, and it was thought that we could probably greatly shorten the labor by
having a hearing of the various persons who had participated in these audits
and investigations, and see how far it was necessary, if at all, to make addi-
tional investigations or audits, and what facts could be developed.
At that time, under instructions of the Department of Justice, we heard

the various representatives of the Government who had previously taken part
in these investigations or audits, and assured the representatives of the du
Pont Company that at a future time they would be given an opportunity to be

heard thereon. The matter has been delayed by the unavoidable engage-
291 ments of parties concerned, and in the meantime I understand the offi-

cers of the Government handling this matter have furnished the du Pont
Company with a memorandum of the principal points on which information
was desired. And the representatives of the du Pont Company are here this

morning to state any facts, as I understand it, bearing upon those points, it

being, of course, without prejudice to any future position that the Govern-
ment may take or they may take, this being merely a preliminary investigation
with a view to saving time and shortening the work and decreasing the ex-

pense if possible.
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That is my understanding of the situation. Am I correct, Mr. Gregg? Is

that your view of it?

Mr. Gregg. I think so, Colonel ; yes.

Mr. Andekson. Yes. Then, General, if you are ready I think we might hear
the representatives of the du Pont Engineering Company in any order that they
desire to present the facts.

Mr. Carndi-ff. Mr. Chairman, if there be no objections on the part of the
Board, I would like to instruct the reporter to furnish the du Pont counsel a
copy of these hearings.

Mr. Andekson. I should think that would be most proper, if agreeable to
General Williams.

General Williams. That means the hearings of the last meeting?
Mr. Carnduff. No, General ; the hearings today at which they participate.

General Williams. I move, Mr. President, that we furnish them a copy of
the hearings of the last meeting, also, in addition to what is heard today.

292 Mr. Anderson. There is a question. General. I received instructions
from the Department of Justice at the former hearing, if you will recall,

which put me in a rather embarrassing position. At the last minute I received
instructions that the hearing should be private. And therefore, while person-
ally I would have no objection whatever, I would like to consult with my
superior officers on that question, because it was at their direction that it was
to be private, and coming up as it did at the last minute, it put me in a some-
what awkward position with the du Pont interests. As I said, personally I

have no objection, and I would be very glad to do so, but if it is perfectly
agreeable I would rather consult with my superior officers, from whom I

receive my instructions, with your permission.
General Williams. The reason I made the motion is because in the last

hearings such serious charges were made about the du Pont Company, and I

do not see how the du Pont Company can answer those charges unless they
know what they are, and therefore it seems to me in fairness to all concerned,
that the du Pont Company should have a copy of tlite hearings at the last

meeting.
Mr. Anderson. Will you defer action on that until I can confer with the

Department of Justice?
General Williams. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. I absolutely have no personal objection, and it was my

intention, originally, that these hearings should be open, and that the du Pont
Company should be present during all the hearings by its representatives.

It was my intention that that should be so, and until the last minute,
293 until I received instruction from my superior officers in the Department

of Justice, that was my intentinn. I am, of course, subject to those
instructions, and I would rather i-<insult them, although I agree with you per-

-^onally that there is no reason, as far as I am concerned, why they should
not have it.

Mr. CAitNDUFF. We may then furnish a copy of the hearings today to the
du Pont representatives?

Mr. Andkrson. Undoubtod'y. that is understood; that they will be supplied
a copy of tlie hearings today, and I will take up the question as to whether or
not there will be any question of their being supplied with a copy of the pre-

vious hearin.^s.

All right, Mr. Gregg.
Mr. Gregg. If the Board please, I was furnished a couple of weeks ago by

Mr. Camdulf with a list of items or questions concerning which they desired
information. We have spent considerable time in getting up replies to these
items of inquiry, and we have endeavored to make them as full and complete
as we possibly could in the comparatively short time that we had to do it. I

shall not take the time, unless the Board so desires, to read all of these items
that are contained on the list, but will take them up in the order in which they
appear on the list as submitted to me by Mr. Carnduff.

I have three copies of our reply, one for each member of the Board, and I

have also given a copy to Mr. Carnduff, with the exception that Mr. Camduff's
copy is not complete insofar as it does not contain a copy of the brief

294 with respect to the Mason & Hanger fee, which brief I filed with the
Secretary of War last November—November 1922. Mr. Carnduff, how-

ever, has a copy of that brief, alnd it is perfectly agreeable to him, as I under-
stand it, to leave out that copy.
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These inquiries coiitaiuetl on this list, witli the exception of one or two
points, have all been fully gone over heretofore with tiie auditors for the War
Department. Not only gone over but gone over repeatedly. And as I go along
I will point out the two or three items that have not been specifically brought
up heretofore.
Now these inquiries are directed more particularly to the Old Hickory con-

tract. However, some of the inquiries are rather broad, and in replying to

some of the queries propounded it has been necessary to refer to all of the
contracts that the du Pont Engineering Company had with the United States
during the war.
As a preliminary I might here state that during the war the du Pont Engi-

neering Company did no work whatever except in connection with the con-

struction and operation of Government-owned plants, as that company was
organized in the fall of 1917, by arrangement with the Ordnance Department,
so that in the construction and operation of Government-owned plants all the
transactions in connection with that work might be kept separate and apart
from the records of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company.
The du Pont Engineering Company dui'ing the war had five contracts with

the United States.

295 The first contract entered into between the company and the United
States was the contract for the construction and operation of a shell-

loading plant at Penniman, Virginia.

The second contract was the one for the construction and operation of the
Old Hickory powder plant.

The next two contracts were for the operation—not the construction, but for
the operation of two bag loading plants for the Government, one being located at
Seven Pines, Virginia, and the other at TuUytown, Pennsylvania.
In the fall of 1918, as I recall it was in September, a fifth contract was entered

into between the du Point Engineering Company and the United States for the
construction and operation of a TNT plant at Ives, Wisconsin.
Taking up the items of inquiry, the first one is this, under the heading

:

" IN THE MATTER OF GENERAL INQUIRY

" Question 1. Has du Pont Engineering Company a complete and accurate
system of accounting of (a) construction project

; (6) operation. Is such now
available for examination by the United States?

"Answer, (a) Constructimi project.—The du Pont Engineering Company
has a complete and accurate record of its expenditures in connection with all

construction projects. The system for accumulated expenditures on the general
ledger relating to construction was in accordance with plans mutually discussed
between representatives of the contractor and the contracting officer, and was
adopted with the approval of the contracting officer. The card of accounts at-

tached hereto, exhibit 2, adopted in connection with the Old Hickory con-
296 struction accounting, will illustrate the subdivision of construction cost

used in the contractor's ledgers. An intricate system for keeping sepa-
rately the cost of units was not adopted, inasmuch as the Government did not
consider such record necessary, and desired to save the expense of the additional
accountants which would have been requiretl to keep such records. The post-
ings on the general ledgers are supported by properly approved vouchers."
Now, if you will turn to exhibit 2 you will find there the so-called " card of

accounts " which shows how the varnous items of expense were carried on our
books.

Mr. Andeeson. Mr. Gregg, when you spoke of not keeping separate accounts
for the different imits, you meant the different units in any particular plant.

The accounts show the charges and cost of each separate plant, but not each
particular unit or building in that plant, is that correct?

Mr. Gregg. That is it precisely,

Mr. Anderson. All right.

General Wuxiams. Does unit there mean individual buildings, or unit of

100,000 pounds capacity?
Mr. Gregg. I was not quite sure from the question presented to us just what

was meant by that. Probably Mr. Cameron can explain.
Mr. Cameron. It was by some distinguishing unit.

General Williams. That is of the five or six thousand buildings down there
you considered each one of them a unit?
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Mr. Cameron. No, sir ; not quite that.

General Williams. Tlieu wliat do you mean by "unit"?
Mr. Cameiudn. I did not know that there were fix or six thousand build-

297 ings there. I do not Ivnow yet if there are. But I meant tliat a unit of
measure may change in any project. Wliat they may have distinguished

as a particular proportion of this plant, or a particular construction of this
jilant by whatever unit they follow. That was a mere inquiry to find out what
the unit of their cost was pursuant to their books. It was answered to me pro
tempore to my satisfaction ; it is being answered to my satisfaction ; to get at
the manner in wliich the du Pont Company itself carried their costs of con-
struction.

Ml'. Gregg. Does that answer your question. General?
General Williams. Yes.
Mr. Gregg (continuing reading answer to question 1) :

"(6) Operation.—The operating ledgers were handled in a somewhat similar
manner. The controling account for operating cost, however, was not sub-
divided as in the case of the construction ledgers. Each month's operating cost
was posted in total to the controling account. The detail costs were kept by a
separate division which prepared monthly cost sheets showing the total and
unit costs of manufactured products, and also the total and unit cost of semi-
finished products in the several stages of manufacture. These cost sheets were
prepared monthly throughout the duration of field operations.

" The ledgers and books of the contractor and all supplementary records per-
taining thereto, including the accounts payable vouchers, except such vouchers
as were not returned by the War Department accountants, are filed in the Wil-

mington office of the contractor."
29S Mr. Carnduff. Pardon me. Would you answer the last question of

question 1 : "Is such now available for examination by the United
States?"

jNIr. GREi^iG. Well. I thought we had that in there.
Mr. Shafer. I have it in my original notes there; they are available.
Mr. Gregg. Oh. yes ; they are available. Yes ; there is no question about

them being available, Mr. Carnduff.
Mr. Carnduff. Thank you.
Mr. Gregg (continuing reading) :

" Question 2. What are contractor's views on a joint audit of (a) Mason
& Hanger expenditures? (&) Operating expenses as determining costs in rela-

tion to manufacturing bonus claimed?
"Answer, (a) Mason & Hanger expenditures.—All invoices paid to Mason

& Hanger by the contractor, all Mason »& Hanger pay rolls and all shop
orders for materials drawn from stocks of the contractor by Mason & Hanger,
were carefully audited at the plant by representatives of the contractor and
by the War Department auditing staff. These bills and vouchers were sub-
jected to a second audit by the War Department's contracting officer in Wil-
mington, and were approved by him. During the reaudit, begun in October
1919, by the Philadelphia district claims board, Mason & Hanger expenditures
were again subjected to a thorough audit.

"(ft) Opcratinff expenses as determining costs in relation to manufacturing
'bonus claimed.—Operating costs and expenditures in connection with all of

the operating projects undertaken by the contractor were audited in
299 detail throughout the progress of field operations, both in the field

and at Wilmington, and were later reaudited by the auditors of the War
Department. Mr. W. G. Kileen, supervising accountant for the War De-
partment, prepared statements showing the result of his audit in checking
contractor's operating costs, compensation, and savings, and these statements,
together with other data relating to the audit, were delivered by Mr'. Kileen
to tlie War Doiiartment.

" It would therefore appear to be a waste of time and money to make any
further audit of the Mason & Hanger accoinit, in view of the fact that several
hundred thousands of dollars have already been expended at the expense of
the Government during the period of construction and operation, and during
the period of the reaudit which continued until the end of May 1922. The
contractor cannot acquiesce in the expenditure of any more public funds in a
further reaudit of either the Mason & Hanger expenditures or expenditures
by the contractor. If the Government expends any more public funds in con-
nection with a further reaudit of the Mason & Hanger expenditures or of
the contractor's expenditures, the Government must assume the sole responsi-
bility for pursuing such course.
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"Question 3. Has contractor ever rendered a complete statement of account

to United States? May we have copy of its statement?
"Aus^^er. Throughout the progress of field operations, the contractor's books,

trial balance sheets, accounts receivable, and accounts payable records, etc.,

were checked and inspected by representatives of the contracting officer

300 of the War Department, condensed statements were issued monthly, and
cash statements daily, copies of which were delivered to the contracting

oflicer. Following cessation of field operations, the contracting oflicer was
furnished by the contractor with a condensed financial statement monthly for

.approximately one year. The contractor then discontinued sending in such
statement at the request of the contracting oflicer. Subsequently such state-

ments were renewed upon the request of the contracting oflicer whenever they
were requested by the contracting oflicer. Attached hereto, marked ' Exhibit
3 ", is a condensed financial statement showing the status of the contractor's

accounts with the United States as of October 31, 1923. This statement repre-

sents the actual condition of the contractor's books as of that date, and is

supported by the contractor's books of account and vouchers.
" Question 4."

Mr. Carndufp. Pardon me a moment, Mr. Gregg. I would like to amplify
that. Was that previously furnished to the Grovernment, or is this the first

time that has been?
Mr. Shafer. This is not an exactly similar statement. In other words,

there was a statement which showed the amount due by the United States,
showed the total debits and total credits on the contract. It is not exactly
the same.

Mr. Cabnduff. The last recap that I have found is the May 31, 1922 state-

ment. This then is an additional statement?
Mr. Shafeb. This statement was prepared especially because I went into

more detail in this statement than in some of the others.
301 Mr. Caknduff. It was prepared for this hearing?

Mr. Shafer-. Yes; for this hearing,
Mr. Gregg (continuing reading) :

" Question 4. Will contractor furnish a summary of items disallowed by
United States, and accepted by du Pont? This should include a summary of
disallowances already vouchered upon which there should be a refund or credit
due the United States.

"Answer. Disallowances by the War Department auditors during the progress
of the audit and accepted conditionally by the contractor are as follows

:

'Old Hickory construction $9, 039. 92
Old Hickory operation 66, 096. 94
Penniman construction 13, 747. 66
Penniman operation 7, 735. 27
TuUytown * 1, 471. 29
Seven Pines 7, 283. 76
Ives 973. 61

Total 103, 405. 87 "

I will ask Mr. Shafer if he will be good enough to explain the item of
-$1,471.29 under Tullytown, as that appears in red?

Mr. Shafee. The reason that item on Tullytown was a credit was due to
the fact that in some of the original distributions that were made during the
progress of the work, Tullytown was charged with too much, in other words,
the disallowances were too great ; in other words, disallowances applicable to

other contracts got into Tullytown, and consequently when a readjustment
302 came about it was found that Tullytown, instead of having a disallow-

ance, had something coming to it, which is really offset by charges on
other contracts, so it made that disallowance appear as a credit instead of a
tiebit. It is merely an accounting cross entry,

Mr. Gregg (continuing reading) :

"A detail of these suspensions, with voucher reference, can be furnished if

Klesired.
" By the use of the word ' conditionally ' "—in other words, that the con-

tractor accepted these disallowances conditionally—" is meant that the con-
tractor accepted the above disallowance for the pui-pose of facilitating settle-

^ In red.
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ment and with the understaudiug with the War Department representatives
that if settlement of tlie contracts was not made, such disallowances would
be charged to the contracts.

" Question 5. What amount does contractor at this time admit is due United
States?
Answer. The amount due the United States us of October 31, 1923, as shown

by the books of the contractor was $958,602.07. So long as the contracts
remain unsettled ", this account is subject to reduction on account of any
expenditures which may be necessary in connection with the contracts. This
amount is kept in separate bank accounts and all bank interests accruing
thereon is credited periodically to the United States. The contractor has
frequently urged the Government during the past 2 or 3^ years to make final

.settlement of the contracts so that any balance remaining in the hands of the
contractor at the time of such settlement could be returned to the United

States.

303 " Question 6. Will contractor furnish a statement of operations with
such an analysis by way of schedules to show generally— (1) the descrip-

tion of charges entering into operations from which the basis for the bonus for

saving was determined, and (2) profits on operations from inception of opei'at-

ing period to the end of operations?
"Answer. Statements as described above were prepared by Mi\ W. G. Kileen^

supervising accountant for the War Department, and were delivered by him
to the War Department."

Mr. Carnduff. I would like to ask you there, Mr. Gregg: Is the statement
furnished by Mr. Kileen, which we have, your statement now?

Mr. Gregg. I will let Mr. Shafer answer that, because it is an accounting
matter.

Mr. Carnduff. I have the statement here.

Mr. Shafer. I take it that you mean our Exhibit 4. Our Exhibit 4 is cost

sheets to date.

Mr. Carnduff. Well, is Exhibit 4 the same as the Kileen exhibit of May 31?
Mr. Shafer. It is similar to his exhibit. T think it is exactly the same. They

were made up jointly.

Mr. Carnduff. It is identical?

Mr. Shafer. Yes.
Mr. Carnduff. Thank you. That is what I want to get. We have had that,

you see.

Mr. Shafer. My recollection is that this was a joint statement made
304 up by him and ourselves. I would like to explain about the figures in-

dicating the profits, that there was a difference in the figures. There
was a difference in the figures between his and ours.

Mr. Carnduff. There was a difference?

Mr. Shafer. Yes ; there was a difference in the figures indicating the profits

of $55,892.28.

Mr. Gregg (continuing reading) :

"(1) The description of charges entering into operations from which the
latjls for the homis for samng toas determined.—Exhibit 4 hereto is a complete
to date cost sheet dated as of May 31, 1922, which was checked and approved
by War Department auditors, and a sumary of the charges, exhibit 5, on
which ' saving profit ' was based. In this connection Mr. Kileen computed a
profit of $55,892.28 less than the profit calculated by the contractor, which
amount was suspended by the War Department auditors, but inasmuch as it

is the contractor's view that the profits as indicated by exhibit 5 hereto are
correct, this difference is still in dispute and has not been refunded to the
contract.

"(2) Profits on operations from inception of operating period to the end of
operations.—Exhibit 5 hereto contains the answer to this question relating tO'

the Old Hickory contract. In this connection statements of costs and profits

prepared by Mr. Kileen, supervising accountant of the War Department, were
delivered by him to the War Department.

" Question 7."

305 Mr. Carnduff. Just a moment, Mr. Gregg^. I would like to ask agaiu
the same question, if exhibit 5 is identical with Kileeu's exhibit, or

whether it is a new exhibit?
Mr. Gregg. I will let Mr. Shafer answer Mr. Carnduff's question if he will.

Mr. Shafer. It is identical with Kileen's exhibit, with the exception of the
fact that the profits wore shown by Kileen for a less amount than the profits

shown on the attached statement.
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Mr. Caknduit. $55,000?
Mr. Shafeb. $55,892.28.
General Williams. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask why, in view of the

lact that we are establishing the identity of all of these things, it is necessary
that we should have a special report on them? Apparently all this information
was in the hands of these gentlemen, and why did they not make use of it?

Mr. Carnduff. We had tliese exhibits several mouths ago. General, but we
Jiad no proof or no knowledge that the contractor acquiesced in them or agreed
with them.

General Williams. Do not the records of the audits show whether or not
tliey acquiesced? Have you examined the audit to see whether or not they
did acquiesce?

Mr. Carnduff. They show a difference in numerous instances.
General Williams. Why could you not have asked the contractor whether

or not he did? Why do you 'want to have a special meeting to bring that all

out? You could have asked that question of the contractor yourself, could
you not?

30G Mr. Carndxiff. I did ask him that in the questionnaire, and he is

answering it now. This is only one detail of the special meeting. We
endeavored to get as much as we could into this survey in the shoi'test time
possible. It develops now that we are getting exhibits we never saw before.

General Williams. It is likewise developing, to my mind, that these gentle-

men who are handling the case have made no proper use of the information
which has been available to them for six months since the very time they
started the case. And I cannot see why our time should be wasted doing this

kind of thing when they might have gone ahead in the meantime and informed
themselves about it.

Mr. Anderson. General, I think I should state that Mr. Carnduff prepared
some months ago a list of these questions which he desired to submit to Mr.
Gregg, and I held them up because I wanted to examine them personally and
go over the situation a little before they \vere submitted. Now if you feel

that it is unnecessary to go through this detail in this hearing, it is quite agree-
able to me, if it is agreeable to the du Pont Company representatives, and I

am sure it would be agreeable to everybody concerned, to accept this answer
as a response to these questions, and make a study of this answer, and then
if they wish to have a further hearing before this Board, to give them that
hearing. Perhaps we could save time by doing it, except that these gentlemen
have come down here, and I wish to give them full opportunity to be hoard.
I suggested that they be given full opportunity to answer any of these questions

as they might see fit. That is my view of it.

307 General AVilliams. Well, the thought in my mind goes back of your
statement. And it has been in my mind all along. And that is that the

War Department has acted on this contract. It has had an audit made. And
it seems to me that these gentlemen should thoroughly have examined that
audit before embarking on a thing like this. That is the thought in my mind.
Mr. Anderson. My understanding is that they have thoroughly examined that

audit, and there are some points which are not clear to them in the audit, and
it is for tlie purpose of clearing that up and ascertaining whether additional
audit was required that these hearings were suggested by me.

I do not want to go into the expense of an elaborate investigation and reaudit
of these items, if we can get the situation explained in a preliminary and
cursory hearing of this character. I do not think either side ought to be put
to that expense, if it can be avoided. Now, I am perfectly willing, so far as I

am concerned, and I am sure that the gentlemen handling this matter are
willing, to greatly shorten this hearing—in fact, I think it might be materially
shortened by simply taking the answer of the du Pont Company and making a
study of it; and suggesting, if Mr. Gregg wishes to add anything in a general
way to what has been said, let him add it now, and then take all of this data
and study it and see if there are any further questions that are to be developed
and placed before us for our determination as to whether or not this matter
requires further audit or investigation. Now, that would save us a great deal

of time of hearing this matter.
308 But, on the other hand, I gave Mr. Gregg my assurance that he would

have a full opportunity to be heard before this Board, and I want him
to have a feeling that he has had a full opportunity to be heard ; and if he
prefers to go over it and explain it as he goes on, why, I am perfectly willing

to hear it. It will save time for us to make the study privately, because these

answers that are given here seem to be quite complete; and if there are any
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additional facts needed, Mr. Gregg is here quite frequently, and the representa-
tives of the Department who are investigating the matter could confer with
him and get those additional facts without going through the formality of a
hearing liere, for our consideration, if tliat is desired. But I prefer personally
to be guided in that matter by the wishes of the du Pont Company. I want to-

give them the fullest opportunity to discuss any phase of it before you gentle-
men, as well as myself, because I am not doing any work on it myself; I am
keeping an open mind on the whole situation.

]Mr. Gregg. I really had two thoughts in mind in reading the questions and
reading the answers as I went along: One was, as I expressed a while ago, I

did not have enough copies to go around to everybody ; and, in the second
place, I thought someone might desire to ask some additional questions or
desire some light in connection with our answers. I want to expedite the
hearing as much as I possibly can.

Mr. Carnduff. There is one more question. Colonel, on that subject, and I

would like very much to have that question read and answered—the last one
under the general questions, as it will answer General Williams.

309 Jlr. Anderson. What is the question?
Mr. Carndtiff. No. 7. It is the last one there.

Mr. Gregg. Well, question 7 is this [reading] :

" Question 7. Will contractor furnisli a statement of costs of construction and
equipment with such an analysis by way of schedules to show the costs by
respective units of the Avhole?
"Answer. As explained in answer to question 1, contractor is unable to fur-

nish a statement of costs by units, but a statement, Exhibit 6, is hereto at-

tached, showing cost of construction as subdivided on the contractor's ledgers
for each contract."

Mr. Cameron. Now, I would like to explain to General Williams and for
the purpose of the record : I actuated that question. Charges were made, if

you will recall—I don't know whether they got in the record, but I know I

heard them—"Oh, the du Fonts made fifty million dollars off of this project."

Well, I wanted all the analyses of what the moneys were paid for that I could
possibly get. Now, that charge did not mean anything in the world ; anyone
coming up to me and saying, " The du Fonts made fifty million dollars off of this

contract." The only way to find out what they made out of it was to find what
the cost of construction was. Having in mind 83-odd million dollars being
spent for the construction of the plant, having in mind further mere sub-
divisions of labor, material, and then possibly divided into three or four sub-
divisions, one could not always get oxit of that information what he might want

to get. I said that the answer was satisfactory tn mo in the interim.

310 It is satisfactory to me personally in the interim, because I am not in

position, on any charges, with information sufficient to proceed to in-

vestigate such charges of construction.
General Wuxiams. Well, isn't that record there of the last meeting full of

charges?
Mr. Cameron. I beg your pardon?
General Williams. I say, isn't that record of the last meeting that we have

here full of charges?
Mr. Cameron. Yes, sir.

General Williams. Couldn't you go ahead and investigate those charges?
Mr. Cambkon. I can if I am directed. General.
General Williams. Well, they have been investigated once by authorized

agents of the Government, and been passed on, and why cannot you investi-

gate the same records that the agents did before?
Mr. Cameron. No reason in the world, General, why I cannot do it at any

time that I am directed to do it.

Mr. Anderson. An investigation of the same record would require a very
expensive audit. What I have you been trying to do is to save time and save
expense by applying my experience in dealing with questions of this kind,

Avhich is not large, perh.-ips, but which is rather varied, that by getting around
a table you can very often explain more in an hour than you can Jearn by in-

vestigating for 3 weeks, and v/hat I have been trying to do was to get around'
the table and get these things cleared up by people who knew, and not make it

necessary to have independent auditors appi-oach the matter without any
311 primary knowledge, and go into an elaborate audit which will cost the

Government a very great amount of money, and which the Department
of Justice hasn't the money to make.
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General Williams. We got around the table once before, with certain ex-
ceptions, and listened to a lot of specific things that were charged in the
execution of this contract. Now the thing tiuit I cannot understand is why
those specific things cannot be investigated witliout a general audit of the
contract, without this large expenditure of money which we all know would
be necessary if you are going to go into a general audit of the contract. Why
cannot a specific charge be investigated—take for instance the question of
railroad freight rates, Avluch Mr. McLane, I l>elieve, brought out—wliy can-
not that specific thing be investigated and determined whether or not that
charge is correct?

Mr. Anderson. Isn't that covered by this question?
Mr. Carnduff. The next questions. General, are in the matter of specific

items.

General Willlvms. Well, take a lot of the other specific things that were
charged in tlie last hearing. Why cannot those be individually investigated
to see whether or not they were correct?

Mr. Carndufi\ Colonel Anderson thought it best to ask the du Pont repre-
sentatives frankly as to those specific questions, and hear their views on it, and
the remainder of this questionnaire is directed to those specific items, the
freight, the railroads, the cotton, and the Mason & Hanger contract. Those
specific items were asked the du Fonts.

General Wiixiams. These questions here are very largely general in their
nature, it seems to me, mostly.

312 Mr. Anderson. But they are the preliminary questions which are the
foundations for the siveeific questions which follow.

General Williams. But the specific questions have already been raised, and
they are now in the record of the last meeting.

Mr. Anderson. And they are in this questionnaire. In other words, they are
in this report of the du Pont Company, but we have not been able to go over
the whole report. Now I am as loathe as anybody to sit here and go over
those details unless it is necessary to the end of expeditious handling of this
matter, and justice to the du Pont Company.
There were a lot of specific things charged here, as you say, and I asked

these geutlenien to prepare a series <^f questions which dealt with those specific
things, as well as any other points w'hich occurred to them, and submit them to
Mr. Gregg, and jNIr. Gregg and these gentlemen spent a day together in dis-
cussing and formulating these questions so that he could answer them, and
he came here today prepared to answer them. If they require further investi-
gation we will take up the detail of investigation afterwards.
Now I would have carried on this investigation outside except for the fact

that I had promised that the du Pont Company would have an o]>iiortunity to
explain anything that came up in this case before these three gentlemen liere,

including myself, and I want to carry out that promise, and I want to give them
a chance to explain it in their own way as far as they are concenaeil, and give
us the answers, and the answers may remove a lot of misapprehension, and so

forth, when they get through.
313 Then if there are any other points they want to investigate, Mr.

Gregg and Mr. Carnduff can discuss them together, and clear them up
so the record will be complete.
But if it is desired not to sit here and hear that data given, it is perfectly

agreeable to me, if it is agreeable to the representatives of the du Pont Com-
pany, that Mr. Carnduff and Mr. McLane and Mr. Gregg and Mr. Shafer and
these other gentlemen shall get around a table and discuss it among them-
selves, and make up their report on it, and not bother us here at all. But I

want to give them that preference. I am willing to sit here and hear them,
as a matter of justice to them, as well as expeditious disposal of the matter, if

they desire it. In other words. I have carried out my promise to them that
they could have a hearing onn this matter if I could get it. Now it is entirely
for the Board to determine whether they want to have it now, or rather have
these gentlemen get together and eliminate all the questions they can, and
then hear the balance.
The Chairman (xVssistant Secretary Davis). How do the du Pont people feel

about that? Would they rather go through with it?

Mr. Gregg. Well, Mr. Chairman, I do not want to take up the time of the
Board, but there have been so many charges and countercharges made against
the du Pont Company in connection with this work, charges that the du Pont
Company feels were absolutely unwarranted and unjustifiable, and the only
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thing thai we are doing here is to submit ourselves to inquiry from the Board
as to any light that the Board may desire in connection with this work.

314 As I stated at the beginning this morning, all of these things have been
gone over, and gone over repeatedly by Government representatives dur-

ing the reaudit which was begun in the fall of 1919, and which was continued
by the War Department until the end of May 1922, involving the expenditure
of hundreds of thousands of dollars. As I said, there are one or two minor
points here that, as I recall it, were not specifically brought up heretofore.
But what I do want the Board to understand is that the du Pont Company

has nothing to cover up in connection with this work. All of our records
are open to anyone who wants to examine them. So far as we are concerned
we are proud of the work that we did for the Government. We did it in the
best way that we possibly could under the circumstances that existed in 1918,

and we have no excuses to offer. But I do not want anyone to feel that there
is anything in connection with the contracts between the du Pout Engineering
Company and the United States that is not open to any Government represen-

tative who wants to inquire into them. They have been inquired into ; vouchers
have been handled, until some of them are practically worn out. Not handled
and gone over once, by Government auditors, but gone over how many times,

Mr. Shafer?
Mr. Shafer. I would hate to say. I couldn't tell you. I know that there

are some of them that I have had that are pretty badly worn out.

Mr. GKBX5G. Yes. I am perfectly willing to abide by any course that the
Board wishes to pursue, and I do not want to take up the time of the Board

and more than is absolutely necessary, but I do want to put this one
315 point across, and that is, that everything that we did for the Government

was open and aboveboard, and there is nothing to cover up, nothing
to hide, and we are perfectly willing that anyone should ask us any question

that they may have in their mind about the work. And we will answer it to

the best of our ability.

IMr. Anderson. Mr. Gregg, would it be equally agreeable to the du Pont
Company, with that statement from you, which is certainly very broad and
comprehensive, to adjourn this hearing to our office, for instance, and you take

the matter up with Messrs. CarndufC and the gentlemen you have been dis-

cussing it with from time to time, and who went to Wilmington to go over

the matter with you and other officers, and run over these additional ques-

tions and see if there is any additional data that they want that you have not

given in this answer, and with your position thus fully upon the record of

this case, see if the details cannot be all worked out without these officers

having to sit here to hear this discussion and these detailed questions? If

that would be quite agreeable to the du Pont Company, in my view it would
probably facilitate the arrivins; at a conclusion, and you having now put your
position on the record as clearly as you have, it seems to me that the larger

purpose of asking to come here for hearing has been to a great extent accom-

plished. And then after they have completed their investigation of all these

details, it there were any additional matters upon which you wished to be

heard, or whicli they would wish to have the Board hear and put upon the

record, we could have a special sitting for that purpose.

316 Would that be quite agreeable to the du Pont Company, or would
you rather go ahead now as you are?

General Williams. Inasmuch as my question apparently has brought about

this situation, I would like to say that I have no dbjeetiou to giving all of the

time that is necessary to the du Pont Company that it wants to present any-

thing it has to say on this. The object of my question is that I wondered
in my own mind what the Governments prosecutors of the case have done

with the vast amount of information which they already have available to

them, and I was wondering why it was necessary for them to present these

questions, and why they could not determine these things for themselves

beforehand.
Mr. Andfrson. Well. I can answer that. General, probably bettor than these

gentlemen. They have lieen working on the information which they have and

on the data which they have, and undertook to summarize, in the light of the

record of the former hearing, and charges there made, without expressing any

opinion thereon—at my request they undertook to summarize a series of ques-

tions which would bring forth a complete answer to all of these propositions

that have been put before this Board.
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If at the former meeting we liad been in a position—which I regretted we
were not—to have nn open discussion of the whole thing, we probably could
have avoided this, but I did think then, and I think now, that in addition to
giving to the representatives of the Dei)artmeut of Justice, who have been

charged with the duty of investigating tliis case, for its final conclusion,
317 answers to these questions, the du I'ont Company were entitled to come

before this Board, consisting of the Assistant Secretary of War, your-
self, and myself, and make further statements, make any statements on the
subject they wished, their attention having been directed to these specific
questions. I think that is due the du Pont Company. And it was for that
reason tliat I have come here today, at some inconvenience, to hear it. I
think that we want to treat them with absolute fairness, and that has been
my purpose throughout, and it is entirely in their hands, so far as I am
concerned, whether they go ahead with a detailed discussion here, or com-
plete the discussion with these gentlemen, with the general statement before
us which is made, and then we are in the position to call for additional
information later.

Mr. Gregg. How would it do for me to run through the remainder of our
answers to your questions, and perhaps in doing so today it may occur to
some one of the members of the Board that he desires some additional infor-
mation, and if we can get that of record, why, then we can go ahead and get
it up for you.

Mr. Anderson. I agree with you.
Mr. Gregg. I want to get through today myself. I do not want it to run

over tomorrow unless it is absolutely necessary.
Mr. Anderson. Is that agreeable to you, Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman (Assistant Secretary Davis). Yes.
Mr. Gregg. The next heading is " In the Matter of Specific Items of

Inquiry."
318 1. " Mason & Hanger Transaction.

" Question. 1. What were du Pout's dealings v\'ith Mason & Hanger
previous to this contract? "

I might explain that that question relates to a subcontract that thedu Pont
Engineering Company made with the Mason & Hanger Company for construc-
tion work at the Old Hickory powder plant, and I will discuss it a little

farther on. [Continuing reading:]
"Answer. The only dealings between the du Pont Company and Mason &

Hanger previous to the subcontracts at Old Hickory consisted in the purchase
by Mason & Hanger Company of explosives from E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company, just the same as the du Pont Company sold explosives to other
contractors throughout the country.

" Question 2. Who negotiated contract between du Pont and Mason Sc

Hanger?
"Answer. The contracts were negotiated, on the part of the du Pont Engi-

neering Company, by H. M. Pierce, then chief engineer of E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company, now president of du Pont Engineering Company, and
by John L. Pratt, then special assistant to Chief Engineer II. M. Pierce, and
now vice president and director of General Motors Corporation ; and on the
part of the Mason &. Hanger Company by Silas Mason and H. B. Hanger.

"Question 3. Have du Pouts any stock in Mason & Hanger?
"Answer. Neither E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company nor du Pont Engi-

neering Company, nor any of their sul)sidiaries, nor any of their
319 ofiicers, has any stock or other financial interest in Mason & Hanger

Company.
" Question 4. Who does own majority of Mason & Hanger stock?

"Answer. After this question was propounded, we have been informed that
over 90 percent of the stock of the Mason & Hanger Company is owned jointly
by Silas Mason, and H. B. Hanger and John C. Watts.

" Question 5. Explain circumstances of concern now rated at .$400,000 to
$500,000 capital, with class B credit rating in a town of 5,662 population
receiving a contract totaling $21,511,175.80 on which they were paid a fee of
$1,075,558.79? (R. G. Dun 1923 listing.) ($1,075,558.79, $250,000, $825,558.79.)

"Answer. The contractor's answer and position with respect to this matter is

fully set forth in a brief filed by the contractor with the Secretary of War on
November 22, 1922, which was referred by the Secretary of War with other
papers to the Attorney General in December 1922 with request for opinion.



3476 MUNITIONS INDUSTRY

The reasons for making the subcontract with the Mason & Hanger Company,
and the fee contracted to be paid thereunder, are stated in the brief above
referred to, a copy of wliich is lierewith submitted, marked ' Exhibit 7 '."

General Wiuliams. May I ask, Mr. Chairman, why a question like that was
submitted when the answer was in the hands of the Attorney General?
Mr. Anderson. I do not know.
Mr. Carnduff. I can answer that. There is a dispute as to the amount of

fee that should be paid the Mason & Hanger Company. The amount in dis-

pute is the $825,000 referred to at the end of the question. A brief was
320 submitted by Mr. Gregg, which was in our hands. Simply his brief

on that question. We endeavored to get any further information we
could at this time when we were questioning him. One of the valuable points
he has brought out to our satisfaction today is that there is no stock relation-
ship between the two companies. He has gone on record on that point.

Mr. Anderson. Well, I am very glad to get that information, because it

has been stated to me a number of times that the Mason & Hanger Company
is a subsidiary of the du Fonts.

Mr. Carnduff. Charges of that character were made, and we have had the
question answered.

Mr. Anderson. It has been stated to me a dozen times, and I am very glad
indeed to get that analysis of the situation. When I say it has been stated to
me, I do not mean it has been stated to me by my assistants. I mean it has
been stated to me by outsiders.

General Williams. The thing I can not understand is why when that paper
was in the hands of the Attorney General the information was not imme-
diately obtained. It seems to me to be considered as very pertinent. It was
available, I take it, Mr. Gregg, at any time?

Mr. Gregg. Yes, indeed.
I want to add here that this matter with respect to the Mason & Hanger

fee was sent to the Attorney General for opinion at my request. Mr. Wain-
wright, who was the Assistant Secretary of War at that time, made a dis-

allowance of a little over $179,000, and in my judgment his decision was a
purely arbitrary one, not based on the facts, the contracts, nor the law. And

Mr. Haskell and myself came to Washington and saw Mr. Weeks and
321 asked him if lie would not be good enough to have it sent over to the

Attorney General for an opinion, and it was sent over there in December
of 1922.

General Williams. A year ago.
Mr. Gregg. A year ago.
Mr. Carnduff. Well, the Attorney General rendered an opinion on it several

months ago.
Mr. Gregg. I never saw it. Was it sent to the AVar Department?
Mr. Carndxtff. I cannot say as to that. But it went up from the advisory

council about eight or nine months ago.
Mr. Gregg. Do you know whether or not it has been received. General

Williams?
General Williams. I have not heard about it. Do you know, Booton?
Major BooTON. There was a partial opinion received, that Mr. Wainwright

was entirely wrong in his construction of the contract, but referring to other
matters which the Attorney General desired further information on, and in the
reply to that letter the Secretary of War supplied, as far as he could, a refer-

ence to the further information desired, and asked that a final opinion be
rendered.

Mr. Gregg. Well, now, is it the final opinion, Mr. Carnduff, that you refer

to, or is it this letter?

Mr. Carnduff. No ; I refer to the answer of the Advisory Council of the
War Transactions Board to the Secretary of War.

Mr. Anderson. I know nothing about that. It has never been before me at

all.

Major BooTO^:. The final opinion was particularly requested as this

322 was the only legal question outstanding in the War Department, which
the War Department did not feel competent to answer, and the answer to

that question would put the Secretary of War in a position to finally settle

the contract.
Mr. Gregg (continuing reading) :

" Question 6. What are the intercorporate relations of Du Pont and Mason
& Hanger?
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"Answer. This question is answered by the replies to questions 1 and 3

iibove, under heading ' In the Matter of Specific Item of Inquiry ', and no
other corporate relations exist."

That answer was to the effect that the only relations that have ever

existed between the du Pont Company and the Mason & Hanger Company is

that Mason & Hanger purchased explosives from the du Pont Company the

same as other contractors. [Continuing reading:]
" Question 7. Was the du Pout official who negotiated the Mason & Hanger

contract aware of the maximum fee of $250,000 in War Department regula-

tions V Is it not a fact that Mason & Hanger had other Government con-

tracts with regulation scale of feesV
"Answer. The du Pout officials who negotiated the Mason & Hanger con-

tracts were not aware of a maximum fee of $250,000, fixed by the War Depart-
ment regulations to be paid to subcontractors, as they did uot then have
any information or knowledge of a War Department regulation or regula-

tions fixing a .maximum fee of $250,000 to subcontractors, nor has the con-

tractor ever been furnished with any such regulation or regulations,

323 nor was the contractor ever instructed by any representative of the

Government to limit the fees to he paid to subcontractors, nor was
the contractor confined to any such limit under its contracts with the Unitetl

States.
"A copy of the agency contract, dated January 29, 1918, between the

•du Pont Engineering Company and the United States for the construction

and operation of the Old Hickory plant ; a copy of the contract of March
2'6, 1918, between du Pont Engineering Company and the United States, which
canceled and superseded the contract aforesaid of January 29, 1918; a copy
of the contract of February 6, 1918, between du Pont Engineering Company
and the Mason & Hanger Company, and a copy of the contract of March 23,

1918, between the du Pont Engineering Company and the Mason & Hanger
Company, which canceled and superseded the contract aforesaid of February
6, 1918, are attached to and made a part of the brief filed by the du Pont
Engineering Company with the Secretary of War on November 22, 1922, which
is hereto attached, marked ' Exhibit 7.'

"

Mr. Gregg. In that connection I would like to make this explanation.
The du Pont Engineering Company first entered into a contract with the

Government for the construction and operation of the Old Hickory smoke-
less powder plant or January 29, 1918. Mr. D. C. Jackling, then being a
special representative of the Secretary of War in charge of the constru'tion
of Government smokeless powder plants. That contract was an agency con-

tract; in other words, the du Pout Engineering Company, under that contract,
acted as an agent for the United States. The plant was to have a daily

capacity of 500,000 pounds of smokeless powder. And it was to
324 consist of five units. The du Pont Engineering Company under that

contract was to be paid a fee of three percent on account of the cost of
the construction of the plant, the cost being estimated at $50,000,000. The
contract provided that the fees to the du Pont Company under that contract
on account of construction should not exceed $1,.500,000, and in addition tliereto

tlie contractor was to be paid $500,000 for preparing the plans and designing
the plant. In other words, a total compensation of $2,000,000 on account of
construction.

In connection with the operation of the plant the du Pont Engineering
Company was to be paid 3% cents per pound for each pound of powder manu-
factured. Certain base prices for powder were given in the contract, and it

further provided that in the event the contractor was able to get the actual
cost of powder below the base price mentioned in the contract, then the con-
tractor was to receive 50 percent of any such sale.

In working under that contract we were confronted with approvals of
plans by representatives of the Government who knew little or nothing about
the construction of powder plants. Mr. Jackling had a force in New York
City, and he also had an office here in Washington with a force of employees.

It was necessary, before incurring any expenditures under that contract, to
secure Mr. Jackling's approval, or the approval of one of his delegated rep-

resentatives. We soon found ourselves in the position of not getting anywhere
in connection with the construction of the plant.

325 Thereupon the representatives of the du Pont Company enme to Wash-
ington, took the matter up with the Ordnance Department and the

Secretary ol War, and voluntarily suggested to the Secretary of War that if
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the Government would give the du Pont Company a contract that would en-

able the du Pont Company to go ahead and construct and operate the plant

in its own way ; or, in other words, in the same jjianner as it had constructed
and was operating its own plants, the du Pont Company would waive all

profit on account of construction, and would build a plant for the Govern-
ment for cost plus a dollar, and profit on operation to remain the same as it

was under the agency contract.

The du Pont Company realized at that time that the Government wag in

urgent need of the iwwder. In fact, the quantity of powder then available-

was only about one-half of the Government's requirements for the year 1918,

and the du Pont Company, from a patriotic standpoint, and v/ith an urgent
desire to assist the Government, waived its profit on construction, provided it

could be given a free hand and go ahead and get the plant constructed and
into operation at the earliest possible moment.
To this suggestion of the du Pont Company the Secretary of War agreed..

And thereupon a new contract, dated March 23, 1918, was entered into between
the du Pout Engineering Company and the United States. That contract can-

celing and superseding the contract of January 29, 1918.

That a wise course was pursued by the Government in entering into the
new contract is perfectly evident from the fact that the first contract was
dated Januaiy 29, and the second one on March 23, and the du Pojit Com-

pany began the manufacture of powder at Old Hickory in .July of 1918.

826 And ahead of the contract schedule. And while the first unit was com-
pleted in July, the remaining additional units, up to the seventh unit,

as I recall it, were brought into operation ahead of the contract schedule.
I neglected to state that when the new contract of March 23, 1918, was

entered into the capacity of the plant was increased from 500,000 pounds a
day to 90<:),000 pounds a day.
The next question is [continuing reading] :

'• Is it not a fact that Mason & Hanger had other Government contracts with
regulation scale of fees?"

Mr. Haskeix. May I interrupt you a moment there, Mr. Gregg? Shouldn't
you add to that statement—or give the Board a description of the two con-
tracts that were made with Mason & Hanger, one approved by Mr. Jackling-
and the other one

Mr. Gregg (interposing). I was coming to that later, Mr. Haskell.
Mr. Haskeix. All riglit.

Mr. Gregg. The next question is

:

" Is it not a fact that Mason & Hanger had other Government contracts with,
regulation scale of fees?"
"Answer. The Government is in a better position to obtain this information

than the du Pont Engineering Company.
" Question 8. What check was keiit on Mason & Hanger exiienditures?
"Answer. The answer to this question is covered in our answer to question

2 under heading ' General Inquiries.'
" Question 9. Did they not buy from Du Pont subsidiaries? Was this

327 an agreed arrangement?
"Answer. It is possible that Mason & Hanger in their work at Old

Hickory may have made some minor purchases from Du I'ont subsidiaries, but
Mason »& Hanger invoices were not classified in accordance with the names
of the vendors from whom they made purchases, and in order to ascertain
from whom Mason & Hanger purchased their various materials, it would be
necessary to make a complete analysis of all of the subvouchers attached to
their invoices. There was certainly no agreed arrangement that the Mason
& Hanger Company should purchase from Du Pont subsidiaries.

" Question 10. What was the necessity for agreeing to an milimited 5% fee,,

obviously excessive when regulations called for a maximum of $250,000?
"Answer. We h ive n<> knowUHlge of any '\Var Department regulations calling

for a maximum fee of $250,COJ to subcontractors, nor do we consider the 5"/o

fee paid to Mason & Hanger excessive tnider the conditions v\'hich then
existed. The contractor's position with respect to this matter is set forth in
Exhibit 7 hereto."

Mr. Gregg. When v.'e entered into the contract of January 29, 1918, with,
the Government for the construction and operation of the Old Hickjory plant,,

that contract contained this provision, in article 5

:
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"Whenever it is inexpedient for any portion of the woik of or connected

with said construction to lie performed by the construction manager "—mean-
ing the du Pont Engineering Company—" it may, in its discretion, sublet

328 such portion of the work, provided tlie contract of subletting is submitted

to and approved by the special director before being entered into by the

construction manager."
Upon the execution of thr.t contract the du Pont Engineering Company en-

deavored to secure the best subcontractor that it could in connection with the

consruction work at Old Hickory, realizing that it was essential that the plant

l)e constructed at the earliest possible date, and after numerous inquiries the

du Pont Engineering Company selected the Mason & Hanger Company, for the

reason that so far as the du Pont Engineering Company could ascertain the

Mason & Hanger Company had a good record in connection with construction

work.
Negotiations were then entered into between iNIr. Pierce, chief engineer, and

Mr. Pratt, his assistant, with Mr. Mason and Mr. Hanger witli respect to a

subcontract. And a contract was entered into on February 6, 1918, which con-

tract was submitted to and approved by Mr. Jackling, special director, as the
lejn-esentative of the Secretary of War.

General Wiixiams. AVere not these facts all known beforehand?
Mr. GniXG. What is that?
General Wiltjams. Were not these facts all known to the Department of

Justice beforehand?
Mr. Carnduff. Certainly.
Mr. Gregg. Yes, sir.

Mr. Caunditff. We have copies of all these contracts.

329 Mr. Gregg. The contract of February 6, 1918, entered into with the
Mason & Hanger Company, in article 3 provides for the fee to be paid

to that company, and the provision is as follows

:

" DETERMINATION OF FEE

"As full compensation for the services of the contractor, including profit and
all general overhead expenses (except as herein specifically provided), the
agent shall pay to the contractor from funds to be supplied by the United
States as above provided, a fee of five percent (5%) of the cost of the work,
such payment to be made in the manner hereinafter prescribed

;
provided, how-

ever, that if (before the actual cost of work performed hereunder aggregates
$4,000,000) such work is stopped pursuant to the written instructions from
the agent or the United States of America, the contractor's fee hereunder shall

ba determined in accordance with the following schedule :

"

Then follows a schedule beginning with $100,000, a fee of ten percent.

And under that, if the cost of the work is over $535,714.29 and under
$4,000,000 a fee of seven percent of such cost, limited, however, to a maximum
fee in any such event of $200,000.

It was specifically provided in the contract that the Mason & Hanger Com-
pany should not sublet any of the work assigned to them. In other words, the
du Pont Engineering Company took the position that it did not want to let a
subcontract at Old Hickory, and then have the subcontractor turn around and

sublet part of his work and pile fees on top of fees, so that it was dis-

330 tinctly understood with the Mason & Hanger Company that when we
gave them work to perform they were to perform it and not sublet it.

And that was carried out.

When the du Pont Engineering Company entered into the new contract of
March 23, 1918, with the Government, it then became necessary to enter into

a new contract with the Mason & Hanger Company, for the reason that under
the first contract between the Government and the du Pont Engineering Com-
pany the latter acted as agent for the United States. Under the new contract
of March 23, 1918, the du Pont Engineering Company ceased to act as agent
for the United States and acted as an ordinary contractor.
The first ctmtract with the Mason & Hanger Company, having been entered

into by the du Pont Engineering Company as agent for the United States, it

then became necessary to make a new contract eliminating the agency feature
so far iis the du Pont Engineering Company was concerned.
The first contract with the Mason & Hanger Company provided that they

should do subcontract work within the plant site. When the new contract of
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March 23, 1918, was entered into with the Mason & Hanger Company that con-

tract provided for work within and beyond the plant site. That was necessary

for this reason. When the Old Hickory plant was located at Jacksonville,

Tennessee, the plant location was approximately seven and one-half miles from
the nearest railroad, so that a spur-line railroad had to be constructed from
the junction point of the Tennessee Central and the N. C. & St. K at Storm

River Junction, Tennessee, to the plant site. Mr. Jackling had entered

331 into a contract with the N. C. «& St. L. Railroad to do that work at cost

plus ten percent. And the N. C. & St. L. had in turn subcontracted it

to the Mason & Hanger Company for cost plus ten percent.

Now. do not misunderstand me. That was not a total of twenty percent

fees. Tlie N. C. & St. L. Railroad sublet the work to Mason & Hanger Com-
pany and paid them ten percent, but then the N. C. & St. L. Railroad did not
get an additional ten percent. The Government was only to pay ten percent.

After that contract had been entered into, the question then arose as to when
the railroad was going to be completed, because it was absolutely essential to

have the railroad completed at the earliest possible date in order to get

materials into the plant site. The N. C. & St. L. Railroad said that it would
take them somewhere between two arid three months to build the spur-line

railroad into the plant. The i-epresentatives of the du Font Engineering
Company took the iwsition that the railroad would have to be built within a-

shorter period. And by agreement with Mr. Jackling the contract with the
N. C. & St. L. was cancelled, and also their contract with Mason & Hanger
Company, and the du Pont Engineering Company induced the Mason & Hanger
Company to take over, under its contract, the work of constructing the spur-

line railroad into the plant, and also the switching yards on the plant site.

Now, at the time that was done some work had been performed in connection
with the spur-line road. First, a single-track line was run into the plant,

and later a double-track line was built. And it was agreed with the Mason
& Hanger Company that tliey should build this spur-line railroad

332 not at cost plus ten percent, but at cost plus five percent under their

contract which they had with the du Pont Engineering Company. And
when the new contract of Mnrch 23, 1918. was entered into with the Mn.son
& Hanger Company, the provision as to fee which appeared in the contract of
February 6, 1918, with the Mason & Hanger Company, was copied word for

word in the new contract of March 23, 1918, with the Mason & Hanger Company.
We are asked why, in the face of a War Department regulation, we paid more

than a $250,000 fee to the Mason & Hanger Company. I have never heard
of a War Department regulation fixing a fee of $250,000. I do know that
the construction division of the War Department had a form of contract wliere
they did have a limitation on the total amount of fees to be paid to the prime
contractor and a certain percentage to be paid to subcontractors. The form
of construction division contract that was gotten out the latter part of 1917,
as I recall it, provided for a fee of five percent to subcontractors, in addition
to the fee to be paid to the prime contractor.

Mr. Cardnxtff. But, Mr. Gregg, it called for a maximum of $250,000.
Mr. Gregg. To the prime contractor, but there was no maximum to the sub-

contractor.
The Chairman (Assistant Secretary Davis). Were your various contracts

with the Mason & Hanger people approved by the War Department represen-
tatives?

Mr. Gregg. I am coming to that right now, Mr. Secretary. When we
333 made the new contract with the United States for that plant, the con^

tract contained this provision with respect to siibcontractors

:

" Whenever it is inexpedient for any portion of the construction work to be
performed by the contractor, it may, in its discretion, sublet such portion of
the work, upon the most advantageous terms obtainable, consistent with the
best interests of the United States."
That contract authorized the du Pont Engineering Company to do all things

necessary or convenient in and about the construction of the plant, including"
the purchase and procurement of all materials and labor necessary therefor,
except that the United States should furnish the platinum required in connec-
tion with operations. And it further provided that

—

"The United States shall roimbur.se the contractor for all costs and expenses
of every character and description, incurred or made in connection with the
construction and equipment of the plant, or any part thereof, including thB
pro rata share properly attributable to the construction work under this con-
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tract (a) of the expense of maintaining the contractor's offices at Wihniugton,

Delaware, or elsewhere, and (b) of the salaries anil traveling expenses of all

officials and employees of the contractor and of E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company."
And further

—

" In order that the work of construction may proceed with the utmost prompt-

ness and dispatch, the contractor shall, from time to time, make the expendi-

tures and pay the costs aforesaid, and the United States, upon presenta-

334 tion of satisfactory evidence of such expenditures and payments, shall

promptly reimburse the contractor therefor."*******
Akt. IX. " The contractor shall keep complete records as to all con.struction

and operating expenses, all of which records shall at all times be open to

the inspection of the United States or .its duly authorized representatives. The
United States may examine all work as it progresses and shall audit all ac-

counts, but in such a manner as not to interfere with the conti'actor proceed-

ing with the construction and operation in any manner and by any means
that in its judgment will best produce the desired results under this contract."

Those were the broad provisions of the new contract between the du Pont
Engineering Company and the United States.

And coming to your question, Mr. Secretary, with respect to the approval
of the Mason & Hanger contracts. The first Mason & Hanger contract was
approved by Mr. Jackling, as the special director and representative of the

Secretary of War. The second contract, where we follow the same line of

fees to be paid as was provided jn the first contract—the second contract was
not approved by a representative of the Government for the reason tnat under
the new contract that we made with the United States the du Pont Engi-
neering Company was not required to secure the approval of a Government
representative for the reason that under the new contract the Government
authorized the du Pont Engineering Company to go ahead and build the plant

and get it constructed in order that it might be constructed at the earUest
335 possible date and brought into operation.

The representatives of the du Pont Engineering Company in deter-
mining upon this fee determined that five percent was a reasonable fee to be
paid to Mason & Hanger for the work that would be given them to perform
at Old Hickory. At that time the Government, notwithstanding the construc-
tion division form of contract, was paying more than five percent on a number
of its construction projects, and our people determined that five percent—if

they did more than $4,000,000 worth of work, that then five percent was a fair

and just fee to pay for the total amount of work given them to perform. And
they did between 21 and 22 million dollars worth of work, and they were paid
five percent on the $21,000,000.

I might state that all overhead expenses of the Mason &; Hanger Company
at its home office or any expenses incurred by that company when they were
not engaged in this work at Old Hickory were not to be charged against this

contract, and such expenses were not charged against the contract.
Mr. Cabndtjff. Mr. Gregg, there is a question I would like to ask you, the

answer to which I do not know. It has been charged that Mason & Hanger
got ten percent on freight.

Mr. Gregg. Ten percent?
Mr. Cx\RNDUrF. Five percent on freight. With the vouchers we have avail-

able we have not been able to ascertain, from a cursory examination, whether
they received five percent on freight, nor do we know.

Mr. GRFX5G. I will ask Mr. Shafer to answer that.

336 Mr. Shafer. I think I will read this and see if you can follow it. I

have prepared notes on it [reading] :

"Was Mason & Hanger paid five percent on this freight?
" Under the terms of the contract entered into between the du Pont Engineer-

ing Company and Mason & Hanger, Mason & Hanger were entitled to receive
five percent on the freight paid for such materials as were purchased and
used by them in connection with the "work performed for the du Pont Engineer-
ing Company at the Old Hickory powder plant. However, a large quantity
of material consigned to Mason & Hanger was delivered to the du Pont Engi-
neering Company at Old Hickory plant, and in such instances, where any ship-
ments were accepted directly by the du Pont Engineering Company, the freight
charges were included in drafts drawn by the railroad company for freight
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charges to the du Pout Engineering Company, and were thus paid by the du
Pont Engineering Company direct. In order to save accounting work Mason
& Hanger did not insist upon receiving a commission upon freight paid by the
du Pont Engineering Company, as described above, and consequently received
commission only on such freight as was paid directly by themselves and in-

cluded in their invoices to the du Pont Engineering Company."
Mr. Caknduff. That answers it.

Mr. Camekon. No; that does not answer it.

Mr. Andeijson. Mr. Gregg, have you finished discussing the Mason & Hanger
juatter?
Mr. Gregg. Well, I might say this, Colonel Anderson, that our reason for

asking the Secretary of War to send them over to the Attorney General
337 for an opinion was this : We were getting so many different views about

the Old Hickory contract itself, that is, the contract between the du Pont
Engineering Company and the Government, and also the Mason & Hanger sub-
contracts, that I felt that if I could get it over to the Department of Justice,
in view of my previous experience, was so that we might get an opinion stating
just what we had the right to do and what we did not have the right to do
under our contract with the Government, and also under the subcontracts that
we had made with the Mason & Hanger Company, because I felt that the deci-
sion of Mr. Wainwright, with all due respect to Mr. Wainwright, was a purely
arbitrary decision, and Avas not based on facts, the law or the contracts.
Mr. Ande:;son. Have you gotten your answer to the question on freight

charges, Mr. CarndufC?
Mr. Carnduff. The answer is that five percent was paid on the freight paid

by Mason «& Hanger, but not on the freight paid by du Pont on consignments
direct to the plant. The ratio, the proportion of the freight on which com-
mission was paid or was not paid could only be determined by an audit of all

the freight charges.
Mr. Andeirson. Yes. Well, we have got the principle anyhow. Now is there

anything else in connection with Mason & Hanger? You are about through
with them, aren't you?

Mr. Gregg. That is all I have to say in connection with Mason & Hanger. If

there is still any doubt in the minds of the members of the Board with respect
to the Mason & Planger matter and how it was handled, I should appre-

338 ciate it very much if the members could take the time to read my brief
that I field with the Secretary of War, because I tried to go into the

matter quite fully there and discuss all angles of it.

I might say here that just as soon as either of the two contracts was entered
into with the Mason & Hanger Company, the Government had those contracts.
They got the contract of March 23 as soon as it was executed, because the
Government had to reimburse us for moneys that we expended to Mason &
Hanger, and they made reimbursements under those contracts up until about
the time the armistice was signed, for approximately $18,000,000 ; the Govern-
ment had reimbursed us under those contracts for approximately $18,000,000
of the total of $21,000,000 expended by Mason & Hanger. Never said a word
about it. And that fee was never questioned by any Government representative
until the spring of 1920, when the auditors for the War Department at Phila-
delphia first raised the question, and then it was appealed to Washington, and a
decision was rendered to the effect that the Government was obligated to
reimburse us for the full amount of the fee. By the way. Major Farr wrote
that opinion. And then the auditors went ahead and passed the vouchers.
Then at a hearing before Mr. Wainwright, as I recall it in April 1022, wasn't

it?

Mr. Shafer. Yes.
Mr. Gregg. In April 1922 someone raised the question of the Mason & Planger

fee again, and the Assistant Secretary said he would consider it, with the result
that he finally disallowed $179,000, after the receipt of an opinion from

339 the Acting Judge Advocate General to the effect that the Government was
obligated to reimburse the du Pont Engineering Company for the full

amount of the fee paid the Mason & Hanger Company, and it was then that
I asked Mr. Weeks to send it to the Department of Justice.

I think that is all now on that Mason & Hanger matter.
Mr. ANDiaisoN. Now, Mr. Chairman, if that concludes the discussion on the

Mason & Hanger contract I suggest that we take an adjournment until after
limeheon.
The Chairman (Assistant Secretary Davis). It is ten minutes past one, now.

What time do you want to meet?
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Mr. ANDiaxsoN. I would say three o'clock.

General Williams. There is no use of iny being here anyway.
Mr. Anderson. I think you should come back if you can be here. I was to

meet some Senators at 2 o'clock, and I would suggest that we adjourn to

3 o'clock, and then, so far as I am concerned, I am willing to sit here until we
conclude the hearing.

Mr. Gregg. It will not take so very long, I don't think.

The Chairman. If we can start in at three o'clock, unless there are too
many questions asked, we can easily finish this this afternoon.

Mr. Anderson. Well, if you can run through those points there, Mr. Gregg,
and tlien if there is any further discussion we can have it here, which will
give us the benefit of any views on these questions which might elaborate upon
and throw light upon them when we come to consider them.
The Chairman. Very well, then we will adjourn until 3 o'clock.

(Thereupon, at 1:10 p.m., a recess was taken until 3 p.m. the same day,
December 5, 1923.)

340 after recess

The hearing was resumed at 3 o'clock p.m., December 5, 1923, pursuant to

recess.

The Chairman. We might start and go ahead now. Colonel Anderson will

be here shortly.

Mr. Gregg. The next question on the list of inquiries [reading] :

" 2. Bonuses paid to employees.—Question 1. Will contractor furnish a com-
plete statement of all bonuses paid to employees for any cause?

"Answer. All of the contracts between du Pont Engineering Company and
the United States, for the construction of Government plants, contained pro-
visions with respect to the payment of extra compensation for materials or
services, the said provisions being as follows

:

" ' In order that the contractor may expedite the work of construction, it

may in its disci'etion, from time to time, pay extra compensation for materials
or services, subject, however, to the approval of the contracting officer, which
extra compensation shall be charged to the cost of construction.'

"

Colonel Hull. I would like to have you read that question again, Mr. Gregg.
(Thereupon Mr. Gregg repeated the last question read.)
Colonel HL^J.. That includes current bonuses and the going away bonuses?

Mr. Carnduff. The A and B bonuses, also. There was a stock bonus.
341 Mr. Gregg. I do not interpret that to mean the payments that were

made in lieu of a discharge, because we never describe those as bonuses.
It was an exti'a month's salary in lieu of notice of discharge. If that is desired
here we can furnish that. It is quite a job, but we can furnish it.

Mr. Carnduff. I think we will go in afterwards and get that up, Mr. Gregg.
Mr. Shafer. We have it.

Mr. Carnduff. Yes.
Mr. Shafer. But we haven't it here.
Mr. Carndui'f. I think you showed it to us at Wilmington.
Colonel IILT.L. I just wanted to know what particular bonus you had in mind.
Mr. Gregg. I interpreted it to mean
Mr. Carnduff. The bonus
Mr. Gregg. Well, the bonus, or the cash bonus that was paid by the du Pont

Engineering Company?
]Mr. Carnduff. Yes.
Mr. Gregg. The first contract for the construction and operation of Old

Hickory powder plant, where we acted as agent for tlie Government, or were
to act as agent for the Government, and wherein we were to derive a com-
pensation of $2,000,000 on account of construction, contained this provision

:

" In order that the construction manager "—meaning the du Pont Engineer-
ing Company—" may be enabled to secure the utmost possible expedition on

such work * * * it may in its discretion, but subject to the approval
342 of the special director from time to time award reasonalde cash bonuses

to employees chargeal)le to such construction, and such bonuses shall be
included as a prc»per item of cost in the determination of the construction
manager's compensation for the construction aforesaid."

AVhen we made the new contract with the Government, or the contract of
March 23, 1918, in drawing up that contract Colonel McRoberts, who was
then Chief of the Procurement Division of the Ordnance Department, did
not like the sound of the word " bonus ", and suggested that instead of the

8.S87G—35—PT 14 21
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words " bonus " we use the words " extra compensation." The whole situation
being explained to him, as it was explained to Mr. Jackling at the time the
first contract was entered into, as to why we wanted that provision in the
contracts.

Tlien when we came to the new contract it read as I liave just stated.
(Continuing reading answer to question 1 under "Bonuses paid to em-

ployees "
:

)

" In INIarch 1921, Major Farr, then an attorney on the War Department
Claims Board, rendered an opinion to the effect that the extra compensation
paid by the contractor to its employees should not be allowed. Thereupon the
contractor took an appeal from Major Farr's decision, and filed a brief in
support of its view that the extra compensation the contractor liad paid to
certain of its employees was allowable. A copy of the contractor's brief is

herewith submitted, marked exhibit 8, and sets forth the reasons for paying
the extra compensation and the contractor's positi')n with respect

343 thereto. On November 19. 1921, Colonel H. INI. Morrow, vice chairman
of the War Department Claims Board, overruled Major Farr's opinion,

and held that the extra compensation paid by the contractor to certain of
its employees should be allowed. It may be here stated that the contractor
complied fully with the provisions of its contracts with the United States
before paying tlie extra compensation, as is shown in its brief filed v.'ith the
War Department Claims Board and attached hereto, marked ' Exhibit 8.'

"A statement showing the totsil extra compensation paid by the contractor
on account of construction of Government plants is hereto attached, marked
' Exhibit 9.'

"A statement giving the names of the contractor's employees, the positions
occupied by them, their location, and the amount of extra compensation paid
to each, is hereto attached, marked ' Exhibit 10.'

"A statement listing the names and monthly salaries of the contractor's em-
ployees who were paid extra compensation is hereto attached, marked ' Ex-
hibit 11.'"

Now, this brief that I liave attached here as an exhibit is the same brief,

or a copy of the brief that I filed when I took an appeal from Major Farr's
decision to the vice chairman of the War Department Claims Board.
Mr. Haskell. Mr. Gregg, it might help the members of the Board to under-

stand that it has been the custom in the du Pont Company over a good many
years to pay their principal men what you might term a minimum salary, and

then adjust that with an extra compensation, and the men who were put
344 in charge of this particular construction work v,-ere transferred from

the du Pont Company's other plants to this work on their minimum
salaries, on tlie understanding that they would not use their standing for
extra compensation. I do not remember what the manager or the builder of
the plant got, but it v/as a very much smaller salary than you could have
possibly gotten anybody of that caliber to take charge of that plant, and it

was in adjusting that that these particular bonuses that he is talking about
came out.

General "Williams. Well, the bonus or the premium or extra compensation,
or whatever it may happen to be called by one concern and another, is a
common method of payment in industry.

IMr. Gregg. And I might say this, that the bonuses awarded by the du Pont
Company are allowed l\v the Revenue Bureau, in computing taxes, as extra
compensation. In other words, they are allowed as part of the compensation
of tlie employee, and deductible as an item of cost of conducting the business,
and not in the nature of a gift.

General Williams. Yes.
]Mr. Haskell. Furthermore, the employees have to pay income taxes on

them. They count as income, not as gifts.

Mr. Gr.Fx;G. No ; they count as incf)me.

General V.'illiams. IVIr. Chairman, may I ask Major Carnduff, or whoever
is conducting the case, what the oliject of this question is?

Mr. Carnduff. To compai-e the du Pont statement of bonus witli the state-

ment of bonus furnished the Department of Justice, to see if they agree;
to see if the du Ponts have paid more bonus than we are aware of, and

345 to ascertain the total amount involved in this bonus, which, as I see
now. is $199,000. There has also been a ruling that bonuses are illegal.

Genei'al Williams. Is it a ruling or a law, a decision of a court?
Mr. McLane. a decision of a court.
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Mr. Gregg. In what case, Mr. McLane?
Mr. McLanb. I cannot give it to you now, but I will give it to you before

1 leave.

Colonel Hull. Are you talking about the Preiss case?

Mr. McLane. Yes.
Colonel Hull. That was the case, Mr. McLane, of a bonus to a man—this

was in the Quartermaster Department—under a contract that was already in

existence, and then they gave a supplementary contract authorizing the bonus,

and the War Department refused to pay it, and the man took it to the Court

of Claims, and the Court of Claims threw it out, following the action of the

War Department Claims Board, and is in no way comparable to th,is case.

Are there any other cases?
]Mr. Carnduff. Tliere are other cases pending. The question of bonus is

being tried out by the Department of Justice, and we will have a decision

on it.

General Williams. These appendices give you the information that you
desire, do they?

Mr. Carkduff. They do, and this is very valuable.

General Williams. All right, let us pass on.

Mr. Carnduff. This is the first time we have received it.

General Williams. Fass on.

34G Colonel Hull. Mr. Gregg, were not those facts all in the record of
the War Department?

Mr. Grkgg. Absdlutely.
Mr. Carnduff. Were the statements that gave in the records of the War

Department?
Mr. Gkegg. You mean bonuses paid by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company

on account of the operation of the plants?
Mr. Carndoff. Yes, sir; were they in the report?
Mr. Gregg. Were the operation bonuses submitted to the Government repre-

sentatives at Wilmington? Did I understand you to say that they were?
Mr. Shafer.. They had access to them, Mr. Gregg. I don't remember whether

they were given to them or not; I don't remember that distinctly, but I know
tiey had full access to them ; that is, there was full access given to the
Government representatives for any comparison that they wanted at the time,
and I do know that this list of cash bonuses that we have here was submitted
to the War Department before it was paid, and was thoroughly checked by
the Government auditors on the job before we received a letter telling us to
go ahead and pay it. They made all the comparisons that they desired to
make at the time. Attached to this schedule is a percentage comparison which
was furnished at that time to the Government auditors in order that they
could decide whether or not our bonuses were in excess of du Pont bonuses.
That exhibit shows that the extra compensation that we figured was 12.82
percent.

Mr. Gregg. You say " we." Who do you mean, Mr. Shafer?
347 Mr. Shafer. The du Pont Engineering Company. 12.82 percent of the

total salaries, whereas the B bonuses paid by the du Pont Company
during the year 1918 ran 17.98 percent. Now, that information was in the hands
of the United States Government at the same time that they checked this
original bonus list before approving it for payment.

General Williams. Well, did your brief, Mr. Gregg, give sufficient informa-
tion upon which to determine the legality of the bonus?

Mr. Gregg. That is just the point I went into. I did not quote any court
decisions, because on th's particular point, as I recall it now, I could not
find any decision. It was a matter of how to pay it, and I knew of no law,
nor do I know of any law today prohibiting the payment of this extra com-
pensation. It is a matter of contract between the Government and the con-
tractor.

General Williams. When was your brief submitted?
Mr. Gregg. It was submitted—there is no date on that, but it was submitted

prior to Colonel Morrow's decision, which was on November 19, 1921.
General Williams. So that the question as to the legality of the bonus has

been before the Government authorities for more than two years?
Mr. Gregg. That is right.

General Williams. And is not yet decided?
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Mr. Gregg. Yes, sir ; it was decided by tlie War Department. Colonel Morrow
allowed it.

Mr. McLane. What class of people were given a bonus?
Mr. Gregg. We gave you a full list of them.

Mr. McLane. What was the.ir status?
348 Mr. Gregg. We have given you a list of them in these exhibits, giving

the position they occupied at the plants, the salaries they received.
Mr. McLane. Were they employees or former employees of the du Pont

0:»mpany?
Mr. Shafbb. a great many of them were.
Mr. Gregg. Most of them were.
Ml". Shaker. Yes ; most of them were. All of the important ones were.
Mr. Gregg. I should like to point this out, that the Government, when it

made these contracts providing for the extra compensation, fully understood
why that provision wa.s being included in the contracts. As I state in this

brief, in the fall of 1917 conferences were held between representatives of

E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company and representatives of the Government
concerning the construction and operation of smokeless-powder plants by the du
Pont Company for the Government, and proposals were submitted to the Govern-
ment by the company.
On November 2, 1917, the president of the du Pont Company addressed a

communication to General Crozier, then Chief of Ordnance, which stated
in a general way what expenses were chargeable against a 15-percent commis-
sion on a proposed contract for the construction of powder plants by the
Government. That was just prior to or about the time that we were awarded
or given the order for the nitro plant by General Crozier, which was later

canceled by the Secretary of War, and General Crozier had asked us what
expenses we were going to bear out of this 15 percent, and in this

349 letter Mr. P. S. du Pont gave him a list of the expenses that we intended
to bear out of the 15 percent if we were awarded that contract, and in

the list, among other things, Mr. du Pont stated in this letter to General
Crozier

:

" I am also including several more direct expenses, such as extra compensa-
tion to employees for rapid and satisfactory conduct of the work. This com-
pensation cannot be determined until the plan is wellnigh completed. An extra
compensation plan has been carried out with good effect by our company for

many years. We are satisfied that in the present emergency it is not only
inadvisable, but really dangerous to attempt to withdraw it. The actual cost

of this item in building similar plants lor our own company amounted to

$1,800,000. However, this is a small percentage of the total salary and pay
roll involved in the work."
Now then, on November 19, 1917, General Crozier addressed a communica-

tion to the du Pont Company, and this was the order that was later on can-

celed by the Secretary of War. And that order provided :

" There shall be included as a part of the construction cost and paid to you
a sum equal to one and two-thirds percent of all disbursements for construction,

exclusive of the amount provided by subdivision (a) and (b) of tliis paragraph,
this fund to be disbursed * * * as special compensation to the employees
engaged in the construction of the plant, and for the purpnse of securing the

completion and final operation of the plant at the earliest possible date."

350 Now that order provided for one and two-thirds percent of the total

cost of the construction of the plant.

Then when we came to make the contract with Mr. Jackling on January
29, 1918, and in view of the fact that we were going to do the work there
for three percent on the cost of construction, we insisted that the Government
v.ould have to bear this extra compensation to our employees, which was
agreed to. And there is no way of paying that extra compensation, keeping
in mind the reason for which it is paid, in other words, this extra compensation
is paid as an inducement to employees to put forth their best efforts.

Now then let us assume tliat in starting the work a man is getting a salary

of $10,000 a year. Say he is the chief engineer at the plant. And at the end,
when it is all over, he is paid an extra compensation of $15,000, or a total of

$25,000. If you start out by increasing his salary to $25,000 before the work
is performed, the incentive to put forth the best efforts is removed, whereas
if you wait until the work is completed, he has that ahead of him all the time,

and be knows that if he does not put forth his best efforts he is not going to

get the extra compensation. So tliat the only proper time to determine the em-
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ployees who are to receive the extra compensation, and the amount they are to
receive, is after the worlc is completed, and you can then determine whetlier
they are entitled to it, and the amount they are entitled to.

General Williams. That, I believe, is the principle upon which every indus-
trial manager proceeds.

Mr. Gregg. As far as I know, General.
351 Now the next question : Wliiit payments were made to employees of

E. I. du Pout de Nemours & Company over and above salaries and travel-

ing expenses?
" Answer : For a number of years E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company has

awarded bonuses to its employees for meritorious services i^erformed, such
bonuses being usually paid in coumion or preferred stock of the company.
"A list of employees who were awarded stock bonuses by E. I. du Pont de

Nemours & Company on account of meritorious services in connection with the
operation of the Old Hickory smokeless powder plant and Penniman shell-

loading plant—both Government plants—is hereto attached, marked ' exliibit
12'."

Now it should be borne in mind that no part of the extra compensation or
bonuses awardetl to operating employees was paid by the Government. E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company paid all bonuses awarded in connection with
the operation of the plant.

General Williams. There is one circumstance connected with this contract,
tliat wliile it has no legal value, I admit, still to me, as being responsible for

the production of powder, it had a great deal of value. The Ordnance Depart-
ment prepared and had ready for execution a contract wdtli tlie du Pout Com-
pany to build powder works in October of 1917. W^e went to war on Api-il the
6th of 1917, and everybody knows, every boy in the street knew we had to

have powder. Now that contract was held up, it was not executed for three
or four months. Meanwhile the demand for powder from France was coming

in all the time, and those wlio were responsible for tlie production of
352 powder found themselves in a very serious situation. After those in

authority in the Government had stumbled about for three or four
months, utterly failed to take any efficient steps toward the production of
powder, they finally turned to people who could make powder, and this contract
was made with them. It was not made until Marcli of 1918, almost a year
after we got into the war, and expedition was of the greatest moment. It

was essential that powder be produced as quickly as possible.

Now to those of us who were responsible for furnishing material for the
troops to fight with in France that was a very serious condition, and we were
perfectly justified in using every means that we had at our command to furtlier

and to expedite the production of powder, and insofar as I am concerned, as
being the one responsible for making contracts for this material at tliat time T

would do anytlnng, no matter what it was, that I could possibly stretch my
authority to do to produce that material.
You cannot go back and recreate the atmosphere of these things^ and the

atmosphere in which it was done is an essential part of it, but of course nobody
nowadays even tries to do it.

Mr. Gregg. Now tlie total bonuses paid by the du Pont Engineering Com-
pany on account of construction •

Mr. McLane (interposing). Mr. Gregg, just a moment. If the committee
please, in view of the statement just made that that is tlie attitude today,
why take up the time here? If these errors that we think are here, are pointed

out, if they come before you with the attitude just expressed by
353 General Williams, we then have accomplished nothing. I can't see any

use in going on here.

Mr. ANDE3JSON. Well, if I may reply, Mr. Chairman—may I?
The Chairman. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. I think General Williams' statement, if I may sugge.st, Mr.

McLane, is helpful, certainly to this extent: What he says is undoubtedly true,

that the emergency existing during the war was such that the Government
had to take a great many steps and employ a great many means which in

time of peace or nonemergency it would not employ. I think that is generally
recognized, and speaking for myself I can say that in my investigation or
consideration of these cases I always bear that fact in mind.
But there is one aspect of the matter, on the other hand, that fortunately

or unfortunately is true, and I do not think General Williams controverts that
in the least, because he, in his opening sentence, recognized that fact, and that
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is that while makiug all clue allowance for that condition which we all recog-

nize, and the importance of \vhich cannot be overemphasized from a praitical

standpoint in time of war, yet in the last analysis the authority of officers of
tl>e Government is controlled by law, and the sole purpose of our investigation
liere, as I understand it, Mr. Chairman, is to ascertain whether through inaci

vertence or otherwise there has been, not in the making of the contract, or it

in the making of the contract, yes, more particularly in the settlement' of the
contract, a mistake of fact or law by which tlie Government has been

prejudiced.
354 Of course if there were actual fraud demonstrated, why that wovild

remove all question of that kind. But the present inquiry that we are
makiug here is dealing more with the items for consideration, as I understand,
of the legal aspect of those various elements of settlement.
Now, I think that for myself, in what General Williams has said he has

reminded me of what I try to keep in mind always, that that atmosphere is

one of the tilings tliat must be kept constantly surrounding us as far as we
can, but in the last analysis atmospliere cannot take tlie place of law, and
he, I think, takes that view, as I understood in his opening statement he
)aid :

" It might not have any legal effect, but it must be borne in mind on
the merits, as distinguished from the strict legality of these contracts." Do
I correctly interpret you. General?

General Williams. Why, yes, of course ; if there was anything like graft
going on, why, we all want to know about it, we all want to take the proper
steps to see that it is properly ferreted out and punished if necessary, and I
have not tlie slightest doubt the du Fonts want that as much as we do.

Mr. Gbegg. Absolutely.
Mr. Anderson. Yes.
Mr. Cabnduff. I would like to remind you, during this interruption, of a

very grave duty and responsibility devolving upon this committee at this time.

In the answers brought forth by the contractor it is admitted that there is

on hand a fund of $958,000 of Government funds in their possession. They
also state that their charges and expenses are continuing. I am in-

355 formed by Mr. Gregg that an estimate of the present charges and
expenses being cliarged against the Government is approximately $700

per month, going on right now. I would suggest to the committee that if a
method can be arrived at tliat this fund of $958,000 belonging to the United
States be returned to the United States now, and this expense of $700 a
month be discontinued. If the Board, in their judgment, can approve a
meihod for that being done now it will certainly be well worth the time they
have spent on this inquiry.
The Chairman. This particular inquiry is to give the du Pont Engineering

Company an opportunity to answer certain questions, and present their side

of the case. I think we had better stick to that and get through with that,

and then take up these other side issues, otherwise we will never get through.
General WnxiAMS. There is one thing I would like to say, Mr. Chairman.

The inference from the gentleman's statement is that just at the present time
it has become known that this balance is in the hands of the du Pont Engi-
neering Company, whereas it has been common information ever since the
Armistice.

Mr. Anderson. I think we had better proceed, Mr. Chairman.
General Wilijams. Likewise it has been known that the expenses of the

du Pont Company are being charged against it as provided in the contract.

Mr. Gregg. I would like to make this brief comment in connection with the

extra compensation : I sometimes feel that there is a disposition to go
356 through contracts for the purpose of arriving at a conclusion as to

whether or not the contracting oilicer erred in judgment, and not so

much as to whether or not a provision of a contract is in violation of law.

All of the decisions of the Supreme Court that I have ever run across take
the view that the head of a department has authority to make contracts with
citizens for materials or work for his department, and that he is allowed broad
discretion in doing so. Of course, the head of a department—and we all know
that—cannot make a contract that contains a provision which is specifically

prohibited by law. We all know that. But the Supreme Court has said time
and again that certain things must be left to the juilgment and discretion of

the head of a department, and that the head of the department, when he
makes such a contract, makes a contract containing provisions which are not
prohibited by law, the Government is bound by that contract just the same as
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a contract between private individuals. Because the Supreme Court has said
repeatedly that when the Government makes a contract with a citizen it places
itself on the same plane as the citizen, and the sume rules and regulations that
apply to tlie construction and interpretation of contracts between individuals
also apply to the construction and interpretation of contracts between he
Governmen and its citizens.

Tlie total amount of bonuses wliich were paid on account of the construction
of Government plants by the du Pont Engineering Company is as follows

:

Old Hickory powder plant $151, 355
Penniman shell loading plant 47, 647

Ives TNT plant G4S
357 A total of 199,650

Those bonuses were paid in connection with a total construction cost
of $98,411,452.31. And on that total construction cost the du Pont Engineering
Company has been paid by the Government a total profit of $2, as provided
in the contracts.

In connection with the operation of the Old Hickory powder plant, and the
Penniman shell-loading plant, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company awarded
stock bonuses to its employees engaged on operation as follows

:

Old Hickory powder plant $167,366.72
Penniman shell-loading plant 25, 827. 46

A total of 193, 194. 18

representing the cost to the company of the stock awarded as bonuses in con-

nection witli the operation of these two plants.

While the total construction cost in connection with which $109,650 was paid
as bonuses was $98,411,452.31, the cost of the bonuses awarded by the du Pont
Company of $193,194.18—were awarded in connection with a total operation
cost of $31,095,961.70, as against the total cost of construction of $98,411,452.31.

Colonel Hull. Mr. Chairman, may I aslc one question?
The Chairman. Yes.
Colonel Hull. The stock bonuses paid by the E. I. du Pont de Nemours

& Company—how does that question come into this case?
Mr. Gregg. Because we were asked that question, Colonel Hull.

358 Colonel Hltll. It was paid by the parent company?
Mr. Gregg. It was paid by the parent company.

Mr. Andejrson. The operating company.
Colonel Hull. The operating company, I know, but did the Government pay

it in any way, shape, or foi-m?
Mr. Gregg. No, sir ; no part of it. Not a dollar of it ; not a cent of it.

Colonel Hull. Did it enter into any of the calculations with the War Depart-
ment on operations of the powder plant?
Mr. Shafe:r. It did not, Colonel Hull, and it would not, because purely an

expense of the E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company.
Colonel Hull. I suggest that we pay no more attention to it, then, if it does

not enter into it.

Mr. Gregg. I am through with it now. I just wanted to make that com-
parison for the benefit of the Board.

"3. Suhsidiarles—
" Question 1. Was it not the rule to purchase materials from du Pont sub-

sidiaries? Was this not profitable to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company?
"Answer. There was no rule relating to the purchase of materials from du

Pont subsidiaries. Cotton linters and hull shavings were purchased directly
from or through E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company or its subsidiary, du
Pont American Industries, Inc. The cost of .<=havings and linters purchased
for use at Old Hickory was approximately $4,.580,000. No profit resulted to
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company or du Pont American Industries, Inc.,

through the purchase of linters and shavings.
359 " Certain special machinery and equipment were purchased by du Pont

Engineering Company from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company,
aggregating in value approximately $7,342,926.03, under an arrangement ap-
proved by the contracting officer for the United States, v.'h!ch provided that
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company was to receive a profit of 10% above cost,

See exhibit 14, hereto attached. However, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Com-
pany voluntarily waived its rights to the 10% profit, and settled with du Pont
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Engineering Company on a basis of cost in which was included the amortiza-
tion of special facilities, purchased for producing such machinery and equip-
ment. The total amount of profit waived by E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company iu connectiiou with this matter was $734,292.60, while the total
charges for amortizing facilities was $475,338.99, or a saving to the United
States of $258,953.61."
Which amount, as I have stated, the du Pont Company waived. And that

was done for this reason. While we had this agreement by the Ordnance
Department to pay us 10 percent on this special machinery, when we came to
close up, in other words, after the war, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
took the position that under the contracts between the du Pont Engineering
Company and the United States the du Pont Engineering Company was not to
receive any profit on account of construction, and that therefore E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Company desired to waive its profit which it had a perfect right
to claim under its agreement with the Ordnance Department. In other words,

the comi)any took tlie position that it had agreed to construct these
360 plants witliout profit, and it intended to carry that out as far as it could.

"Automobiles manufactured by the General Motors Corporation and its

subsidiaries from dealers in the vicinity of the several plants operated by the
contractor. Such purchases, however, were the result of expediency and on
account of the fact that the class of car in question was suitable to the con-
tractor's requirements, and deliveries could be made promptly.

" The indirect profits accruing to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
through its stock ownership in the General Motors Corporation, on account
of automobiles purchased by the du Pont Engineering Company, were intan-
gible and insignificant.

" For use at the Old Hickory Powder Plant, 54 Ford cars were purchased by
du Pont Engineering Company from the Hippodrome Motor Company and
Blackwood Tire Company, and 41 Chevrolet cars "—which is a General
Motors car—" were purchased from the Broadway Motor Company, which
serves to Illustrate that the contractor did not show any preference for cars
manufactured by companies in which E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
was interested.

" The contractor purchased its principal supply of paints and paint ingredi-
ents from the Harrison branch of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company,^
although a con.siderable quantity was bought from competitive manufacturers
and vendors who dealt in competitive brands. Purchases of paint, pigments,
lead, etc., were made from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company on account

of the fact that by reason of the relationship between E. I. du Pont de
361 Nemours & Company and the contractor, pressure could be exerted to

insure priority in deliveries, and paints could thus be obtained when
needed without delays. Preference was not given to E. I. du Pont de Nemours
& Company for the purpose of increasing its profits, inasmuch as the demand
for such commodities throughout the war period was in excess of the supply,
and a ready market was available for all the commercial products then manu-
factured by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company and its branches. Paints
purchased from the Harrison works were invoiced to the contractor at the
market price. No profit accrued to E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company on
account of paint sales to the contractor, as the du Pont Company's paint busi-

ness resulted in a deficit for the year 1918.
" Question 2. Was purchase noncompetitive?
"Answer. Purchases in quantity, with the exception of materials specifically

contracted for and emergency procurements, were usually made after securing
competitive bids with a view to obtaining such materials at the lowest price

consistent with quality and the assurance of delivery.
" Question 3. Was there any check on materials or prices by du Pont?

Explain system.
"Answer. The invoice pries for materials shipped for account of the du Pont

Engineering Company were checked and compared with orders by the con-

tractor's staff, and also by the accountants empk)yed by the United States
working under the direction of the contracting officer of the War Department.
Materials .received at the plant were checked and verified by the contractor's

representatives and by United States Government resident stores inspec-

tors.

362 "The following plan for making, checking, and recording disburse-

ments and keeping a record of the contractor's business, approved by the
representatives of the United States jn charge at the time, was modeled on
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a system which had l)een followed by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company
and found by exjierience to be satisfactory:

" Certain proficient employees were appointed to direct and supervise the

work of the several departments. Whenever the i)rocurement of material or

equipment was necessary, requisitions were issued by the departments respon-

sible and forwarded to the Purchasing Agent in Wilmington, unless the need
was sufHciently urgent to necessitate ordering direct by telegraph or other-

wise. In cases requisitions were sent to the Purchasing Agent for record.

Orders for materials specified in such requisitions were issued by the Pur-
chasing Department, and numbered in series, copies being sent respectively to

the vendors, plants, and accounting department, one being retained by the Pur-

chasing Department for comparison with the vendors' invoices.
" Vendors were required to show the order number on the face of each in-

voice for identification. Each invoice, after receipt at the home office, was
compared with the orders and checked as to terms, quantity, and price by the

Purchasing Department, and then forwarded to the plant which issued the

requisition, wliere certification was made as to receipt of material, and the
approval of the plant representative nfiixed; and then returned to tlie home

office at Wilmington. Vouchers were then approved by the Departmental
363 Director responsible for such expenditures, and the charge distribution

w'as noted thereon, after wliich the Accounting Department functioned,

checking extensions, recording, and issuing checks in payment therefor.
" When vouchers had been audited, recorded, approved, and paid by repre-

sentatives of the contractor, they were transmitted to the contracting officer

of the United States, who checked and verified the expenditures until satisfied

that the requirements of the contracts had liecn fulfilled. He th(>n indicated

his approval oii each voucher, and forwarded all vouchers applicable to con-

struction projects to the disbursing officer, who recorded the approved ex-

penditures on public vouchers, and issued instructions for the contractor's

reimbursement.
"While vouchers applicable to the operating projects were checked and

approved in the manner described above, the contractor was reimbursed as

pi'ovided by the several contracts with respect to operation.
" 4. Cotton Uiitcrs.
" Question 1. Explain excessive prices above maximum contract rates.

"Answer. Assuming that question 1 refers to cotton hull shavings, which at

the time of purchase were at a price in excess of the contract limit, the trans-

action is explained as follows

:

"An audit was made of the cotton hull shavings purchased by dn Pont
Engineering Company by the contracting officer representing the War Depart-

ment resulting in disallowance by the contracting oflScer, based on the state-

ment that the contractor had purchased cotton hull shavings at a

364 price in excess of the limits established by the contract. The con-

tractor then prepared a statement showing the purcliases of cotton hull

shavings, exhibiting that the total amount paid, including freight to Nash-
ville, was in excess of the contract limitation in the amount of $42,354.98,

or based on rates in effect as of the date of the contract between du Pout
Engineering Company and the Government, an excess of $29,952.85. See state-

ment hereto attached, marked ' Exhibit 15.'

"In article IV, paragraph (d) of the Old Hickory contract, it is stated:
" 'All materials for construction or operation upon which prices have been

fixed by the United States shall be purcliased liy the contractor at the prices

so fixed and where the price of any of the raw materials named in the above
schedule has not been fixed by the Government, they shall not be purchased
by the contractor at prices more than 20 perciiit higher than those specified

above, except with the approval of the contracting office.'

" Tlie above allowed a maximum price for shavings of 5.064 cents per pound,

delivered at Nashville.
" The contractor states that in lieu of entering the market as a direct

purchaser of' shavings, it arranged for E. I. du Pout de Nemours & Company
to inirchase the shavings required for Old Hickory, for the reason that E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company was already a large purchaser.
" It was soon found that shavings coiild not be bought within this

365 price limit and by letter of June 26, 1918, here quoted, the contractor

was authorized to pay 25% in excess of the base price of 4.22 cents,

or a total of 5.275 cents per pound for shavings, delivered at Nashville."
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And then follows the letter of the Procurement Division giving that
authorization

:

(The letter referred to is as follovps:)

In replying refer to No. AVar. Ord. 4755-711E. Sym. PR. File P 471.867/1287

War Department,
Procurement Division,

Office of the Chief of Ordnance, Sixth & B Streets NW.,
Washington, June 26, 1918.

E. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co.,

Wilmington, Del.

(Attention of Mr. A. C. Price, Assist, to Director.)

Subject : Contract price on cotton shavings.

Gentlemen: 1. This will acknowledge your letter of May 23, 1918 (our
file P471.867/1052), your file A. C. P., requesting that you be authorized to

pay in excess of the 20% increase over the 4.220 price on cotton seed Uull

shavings specified in contract P 47550711 E, between the Ordnance Department
and the du Pont Engineering Company for the operation of the Government
smokeless plant at Nashville, Tenn.

2. This letter is for the purpose of authorizing you to pay for cotton

366 seed hull shavings a price not more than 25% in advance of the 4.22^
price mentioned in contract.

3. This is in accordance with conversation between the officers of this divi-

sion and your Mr. Price and your vice president, Mr. Connable.
Respectfully,

Procurement Division,
Samuel McRoberts, Col., Ord. N. A,

By (s) Chas. N. Black, Lt. Co., Ord. N. A.

Mr. Gregg (continuing reading) :

" The contractor states that it was not realized for some time that the above
letter and the contract itself made the price of 5.275 cents include delivery at

Nashville, and shavings were purchased within the price limit of 5.275 cents

per pound, f. o. b. point of production.
" The contractor states that under date of October 18, 1918, the Ordnance

Department was requested to authorize an increase in the maximum price

limit for hull fibre or shavings, this request being in the form of a letter, below
quoted :

"

(The letter is as follows:)
E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,

October 18, 1918.

Major W. H. Gelshenen,
Procurement Division, Ordnance Department,

Sixth & B 8ts., N. W., Washington, D. C.

367 Dear Sir: Confirming our conversation this morning regarding hull
fibre and recommendations—that

1. We declare our policy.

2. Indicate a price we can pay for fibre.

3. Establish this policy and price upon as firm a foundation as possible, all

factors considered.
We repeat and confirm our expressed view that this price should be 5%

cents per pound, f. o. b. point of production.
We give below the estimated cost of producing fibre in large quantities at

varying hull prices starting at $20.00 per ton down to and including $10.00
hulls

:

Hulls at $20.00 per ton, fibre cost $7.14 per lb.
" 19.00 " " " " 6.94 "

" 18.00 " " " " 6.69 "
"

17.00 " " " " 6.44 "

" 16.00 " " " "
6.19 "

" 15.00 " " " "
5.94 "

" 14.00 " " " "
5.69 "

" 13.00 " " " " 5.44 "
" 12.00 " " " " 5.19 "

" 11.00 " ". " "
4.94 "

" 10.00 " " " " 4.69 "
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Since the price recommended is an increase over the price limit specified

in contract existing between the Government and tlie du Pont Company, it

Is necessary that we secure your approval before contracting for fibre require-

ments.
Therefore, upon receipt of letter containing your approval, we shall proceed

to buy.
368 Our plan will be to advise those experienced in, at present engaged in,

and equipped to make acceptable fibre, without new construction or

increased plant equipment, that we are ready to negotiate fibre contracts for

a limited tonnage at a price of 5i/4 cents per pound, f. o. b. point of production,

fibre to be made under enclosed specifications, deliveries to be shown by
months up to but not beyond June 1, 1919.

Very truly yours,
(s) F. L. ConnABLE, Vice President.

Mr. Gregg. There being no reply to that letter, the contractor followed it

up with another letter on October 31, 191S. This letter is quoted.

(The letter is as follows:)
October 31, 1918.

Major W. H. Gelshenen,
Ordnance Department, Procurement Division,

Sixth d B Sts., N. W., Washington, D. C.

Delvr Sir: You have not yet advised us in writing of the authority to pay
514^ for fibre. As the contract specifications limit to .04670 f. o. b. points of

production, our records, to be complete, should have your written authority

to pay 514 figure.

We advised you that certain purchases had already been made covering
monthly deliveries up to August 1st, 1919. Is it your desire to have on file

a record of these purchases as made with the sellers, naming the

369 quantities? If so, we shall promptly supply this information.
Yours very truly,

F. L. ConnABLE, Vice President.

Mr. Gregg (continuing reading) :

" It will be noted that the contractor's letter of October 31, 1918, refers to

the price limit named in the contract as .0467 cents but I'equests authority to

pay 5Vi cents for fibre. The limit of .0467 is the unit price named in the con-

tract for linters, and the contractor contends that the following letter from
the War Department, dated November 5, 1918, erroneously refers to linters

and that this letter was intended to refer to hull fiber or shavings."

Now, that last letter of November 5, 1918, from the Ordnance Department
reads like this

:

War Department,
Office of the Chief of Ordnance,

Procurement Division,
Washington, November 5, 1918.

To insure prompt attention in replying refer to P. No. 471.857/1730 ; attention of Major
W. H. Gelsbenen.

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Company,
Wilmington. Delaware.

(Attention of Mr. Frank L. Connable.)

Subject: Cotton linters.

Gentlemen : 1. The Ch'ef of Ordnance instructs me to authorize you that

under the circumstances of the shortage of the crop in cotton linters

370 you may advance the limit agreed upon for the purchase of fibre

from .0467 cents f. o. b. points of production to .0525 same terms and
conditions.

2. The second paragraph in your letter of October 31st is noted, and it is

felt that it would be better policy to spread the present orders over a greater

number of producers and confine purchases to the next four or five months
rather than to tie up with one or tv/o purchasers for a long period. In this

way the connnitments of the Department at any one time will not be as heavy.

Respectfully,
W. H. Gelshenen, Major, Ord. Dcpt., U. S. A.

Mr. Gregg. Now, it is perfectly apparent that that letter, in using the .0467

cents, was in error, because that was the price paid for cotton linters and
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the price fixed by the Governmeut, aud that in using that he intended to refer

to hull shavings.
" The contractor states that the average cost of all shavings purchased

was 5.59o9 cents per pound delivered at Nashville.
' The contractor further states that to the best of its knowledge, the United

States did not directly fix the price of shavings, but did indirectly fix it

through the act of the Food Administration in naming a piice of $2() per ton

for cotton hulls, which was equivalent to a price of 7.14 cents per pound for

shavings at point of production.
" The contractor contends that it purchased shavings at the lowest

371 obtainable price and in particular at less cost than the price for shav-
ings corresponding to the Food Administration's price for hulls; and,

further, had the Ordnance Department been requested earlier to authorize an
increased price, the authorization would have been given, as hull shavings had
to be obtained. And this conclusion is justified by the approval which was
given by the Ordnance Department on November 5, 1918, to pay 5.25 cents
per pound f. o. b. point of production.

" The amount involved, viz., $42,354.98, was allowed by the Assistant Secre-
tary ol War under date of April 5, 1922, by the following decision

:

" ' 1. Freight on shavings being a claim for $45,572.27 by reason of a payment
by the contractor of prices for cotton shavings in excess of prices stipulated

in article IV of the contract—allowed.'
" It will be observed that the amount allowed by the Assistant Secretary

was $45,572.27, but the actual amount as it finally checked out was $42,354.98."

So that that item has been passed by the Assistant Secretary of War.
[Continuing reading.]

" Question 2. Was this cotton bought from du Pont? "

I would like to explain to the board that while fibre and hull shavings were
bought by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, cotton linters, beginning in

May 1918, were bought exclusively by du Pont American Industries, Inc., for
the reason that along in April and May of 1918 the Ordnance Department

asked the du Pont Company if it would not become its, the Ordnance
372 Department's agent, for the purchase of all cotton linters produced in the

United States, it having become necessary at that time to take every
step that it was possible to take in order to protect the supply of cotton
linters, and also to keep a curb on the price. And the price that was estab-
lished by the War Industries Board was .0467 cents per pound point of
location or production. The du Pont American Industries was paid a small
compensation per bale for taking up the linters. It had a force of inspectors
in various places in the cotton producing sections, and maintained an ofiice

at Memiihis, Tennessee. The cotton linters upon being taken up by the du
Pont American Industries were then allocated by the War Industries Board
to the various consumers in this country, and also to the various foreign gov-
ernments who were acquiring linters in the United States.
Now coming to the last question

:

" Question 2. Was this cotton bought from du Pont? "

"Answer. When the du Pont Engineering Company on account of its Old
Hickory operations, became a prospective purchaser of shavings, it was
decided that it would be unwise to enter the market as an additional com-
petitor which might have had a tendency to cause sellers to increase prices,

inasmuch as the demand at this time for cotton-hull shavings was in excess
of the supply. It was, therefore, mutually agreed that E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company would buy not only for its own requirements, but arrange
to purchase such shavings as might be required by tlie du Pont Engineering

Company. Shavings for Old Hickory, as well as shavings for tlie plants
373 of the parent company, were ordered in accordance with a requirement

schedule v.hich was revised from month to month, or oftener if necessary.
" The purchasing department of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company

purchased millions of pounds of shavings, but such purchases were not made
specifically for any plant or contract, but whenever shavings were required
by E. I. du I'ont de Nemours & Company or by du Pont Engineering Company,
shipments were ordered by the purchasing department. Therefore, (piestion 2
may be answered l)y stating that cotton-hull shavings purchased in connection
with the Old Hickory operations were procured through the agency of E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company nnd bills were rendered by E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company for such purchases to the contractor.

" Question 3. Was there ever a readjustment on books of this excessive
price and was credit allowed United States?"
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Now, I am not going to take the time of the board to read all that, but I

will try to state it as briefly as I can. Mr. Shafer calls my attention to the

fact that this still relates to the $42,000 discussed above. Our answer to that

is that the $42,354.98 was not retunded to the Government inasmuch as the

Assistant Secretary of War held that it was a proper adjustment.
Colonel Huix. Mr. Gregg, right there may I ask one question. What profit,

if any, did the parent company charge the engineering company for handling
the linters and shavings?
Mr. Gregg. It did not charge any profit, I mean any profit in the end. I

think I can explain this briefly without reading this all through.
374 E. I. du Pont *^le Nemours & Couipan.x had conu'acts with the Buck-

eye Cotton Oil Company, and the East St. Louis Cotton Oil Company for
hull shavings, and some of those contracts contained provisions that the price
should be adjusted toward the completion of the contracts, based on ceitain
considerations, which I do not recall at the present time. If necessary I

can furnish copies of the contracts. When we started to deliver shavingst
to Old Hickory, Mr. F. B. Connable, vice president of the E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Company, was then in charge of the purchase of hull shavings.
Mr. A. C. Price, one of his assistants, wrote a memorandum to Mr. Connable
asking him at what price he should bill hull shavings to Old Hickory, and
Mr. Connable made a notation on tiie memcirandum and sent it back, stating to
charge 5% cents, subject to adjustment later. That price was charged by
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company to du Pont Engineering Company, and
was paid by du Pont Engineering Company. After the armistice, in the year
1919, Mr. Connable was taken ill, and has never taken any active part in the
company s nee that time. I am right about that, am I notV

Mr. Haskell. Yes.
Mr. Gregg. The adjustment of the price for shavings was overlooked, and

when the auditors for the War Department were engaged on their work at
Philadelphia they discovered that the dti Pont Engineering Compan.v had
been charged over and above the actual cost of shavings to B. I. du Pont de
Nemouvs & Company a total of $150,497.77. The amount last stated is the
excess, inchiding itank interest at 2 percent from the date each overcharge was

made to the date the excess was refunded to the Government.
375 This excess was reported to us by the auditors at Philadelphia. We

immediately took the matter up and went into it, found out that there
had been an excess, and the total excess with interest was paid back by E. I.

du Pont de Nemours & Company to du Pont Engineering Company and the
amount credited to the Government.
As to cotton linters, the same thing happened there. Some cotton linters

were turned over to the du Pont Engineering Company by E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company prior to the time that dti Pont American Industries
started to function as agents for the Government in the purchase of cotton
linters, and the same thing was done there. A certain fixed amount per
pound was changed the Government subject to adjustment later. That ad-
justment was overlookeil due to Mr. Connable's absence, the same as the
excess on hull shavings was overlooked.
The total overcharge, including interest, in connection with cotton

linters. amounted to a total of $157,976.03, which amount was paid back by
E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company to du Pont Engineering Company and
credited to the Government.

" Question 4. Why were forty-seven carloads of cotton of a value of $83,000
shipped from Hopewell, a du Pont plant, to Old Hickory, on February 15,

1919?
"Answer. Tlirough an error on the part of the consignors, the Buckeye Cot-

ton Oil Company, of Cincinnati, Ohio, 45 cars containing shavings ordered for

the old Hickory powder plant were shipped and delivered to E. I. du Pont
de Nemours & Company, at Hopewell, Virginia, and when this error

376 was discovered the linters were reconsigned to the Old Hickory plant.

This error in shipment delayed the deliveries at Old Hickory until
February 1919.

" The latter part of 1918 an order was placed with the Buckeye Cotton Oil
Company, of Cincinnati. Ohio, for November delivery of shavings at the Old
Hickory powder plant, but through a misunderstanding on the part of the
Buckeye Cotton Oil Company, they were consigned to E. I. du Pont de
Nemours & Company at Hopewell, Virginia. As soon as this error was de-
tected, the Buckeye Cotton Oil Company was notified to stop further ship-

ments to Hopewell and arrange for the diversion of all cars en route. Prior
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to the latter part of 1918 the cotton hull shavings purchased for Old Hickory
were furnished by the East St. Louis Cotton Oil Company, but on account
of their inability to supply shavings in the latter part of 1918, arrangements
were made with the Buckeye Cotton Oil Company to furnish these shavings.

The Buekeye Company had been shipping to Hopewell, Virginia, regularly and
had theretofore never shipped any shavings to Old Hickory. This accounted
for the misunderstanding of the shipping directions. The Buckeye Company
admitted the error and absorbed the difference in freight charges. In other
words, the Government only paid freight charges from originating points to

Old Hickory, the excess freight charges resulting from the shipment into

Hopewell and from Hopewell to Old Hickory were borne by the Buckeye
Cotton Oil Company.

" It may be here stated that had these shavings been retained at the
Hopewell plant, they would have been delivered to and charged to the

877 United States in the inventory of materials on hand at the Hopewell
plant at the close of operations there. So that any inference that the du

Pont Company was trying to unload shavings at the expense of the Govern-
ment is without justification. The shavings that were shipped fiom Hope-
well to Old Hickory were purchased for use at Old Hickory on du Pont
Engineering requisition GOH-2128, copy of which is hereto attached, marked
' Exhibit IS.'

" Question 5, Explain this transaction.
" Answer. See answer to question 4 above.

"Question 6. Excess on cotton shavings of $42,354.98. Was this refunded?
" Answer. See answer to question 1."

I have already stated in here that it was not refunded for the reason that

it was allowed by the Assistant Secretary of War.
" Question 7. Explain weights from du Pont American Industries of 1,000

lbs. to 2,468 lbs. per bale, on cotton linters, so charged to United States (see

Agent Towles' report.)"

As I understand it one of the reasons for asking that question is that it was
thought impossible that a bale of cotton linters could weigh as much as 2,468

pounds. In fact I have never known of one that weighed that much.
This is still part of the question [continuing reading] :

" The following is a list of apparent over-weights charged in shipments of

cotton linters to the Old Hickory powder plant, as evidenced by documents
in the possession of investigators for the Department of Justice:

378 " ' Car D. L. & W. no. 34250 from Hopewell, Ya. 2/20/19. 45 bales

weighing 59,980, average 1,332 pounds to bale.
" ' Car N. Y. C. no. 236165 from Hopewell, Va. 2/22/19. 51 bales weighing

76,144, average 1,492 pounds to bale.
" ' Car R. F. & P. no. 2203, from Mangum, Okla. 11/7/18. 40 bales weighing

98,749, average 2,468 pounds to bale.
" ' Car M. K. T. no 94333 from Dallas, Texas. 10/16/18. 24 bales weighing

24,000 pounds, average 1,000 pounds per bale.
" ' All of the above from du Pont American Industries.'

"Answer. No standard package weight for linters or shavings has been estab-

lished or recognlzetl by dealers in these commodities and bales vary consider-

ably in weight. The avoidupois pound is the unit on which trading is based and
the public weigher or warehouse weight certificates are usually accepted by both
sellers and buyers.

"Agent Towles' report, supplementary to your question, is apparently based
on incorrect information, inasmuch as the following errors are apparent

:

" The first two cars mentioned by him were not obtained through the du
Pont American Industries, but from E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, and
contained cotton hull shavings and not linters. The other two cars did contain
cotton linters and were billed by du Pont American Industi'ies.

" The shipments were as follows

:

" D. L. & W. car no. 34250, from Hopewell, Va., February 20, 1919, billed

by E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, no. 3205 (1919), contained 45 bales
of cotton hull shavings, 29,980 lbs., which is an average weight per bale of 666

lbs. See bill of lading, exhibit 19, attached hereto."
379 The weight given by the Government is 59,980, as against our weight

of 29,980.

Mr. Caknduff. That was the weight, Mr. Gregg, that du Pont paid for this

cotton, but the vouchers in the possession of the investigators at Nashville show
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receipts of the other amount. Now there may have been some padding at
Nashville.

Mr. Gregg. By whom?
Mr. Carnduff. A railroad employee on freight.

Mr. Shafek. a railroad employee on freight?
Mr. Carnduff. Yes.
Mr. Shafee. That is something I could not get into.

Mr. Caknduff. Possil)ly. We have the other figures, and you have yours.
Mr. Shafer. I have the bills of lading.
Mr. Carnduff. Well, these gentlemen have the other figures down there.

The Chairman. Would there be a possibility of a clerical error? I see it is

a difference of only one figure.

Mr. Shafee. That is what I think it is.

Mr. Carnduff. No, there are various errors. These are four illustrations
M-e gave them. Now our investigators at Nashville have these other figures
en documents. The due Pont Company have their vouchers showing what
they paid for on these identical cars. There is something wrong somewhere
on these vouchers.

Mr. Gregg. Well, then, let me understand you. Do you mean to say that
we paid for more linters and shavings than we got?

Mr. Carnduff. We don't know.
380 Mr. McLane. That is what we want you to tell us. We don't know

what the facts are.
Mr. Gregg. That is what we are telling you.
Mr. McLane. We only know what the books at Nashville show, and what

the papers there show. And we are asking you to find out.

Mr. Shafer. We brought our invoices to show.
Mr. Carnduff. We can eliminate all that by comparison after this meeting

of the vouchers ; we can get at the bottom of that. If I were you I would
just skip all that now.

Mr. Gregg. I want to state this, that in every car that has been reported to

us there is no bale that weighed over 700 pounds. And on the information that
we have stated here we can prove by our invoices and cancelled checks that
we oidy paid for the quantity of linters that we have here stated in our
answer to the Government's question.

Mr. Camp:ron. And that you only paid the railroad freights at the weights
that you just read?

Mr. Gregg. How about that, Mr. Shafer?
Mr. Shafer. I have made no attempts at checking freights in connection

with these particular linters. It is not covered by the question, and that was
not a question that was brought up before us.

Mr. Gregg. No ; it is not indicated by the question at all.

" r». Freight charges.—Question 1. Was a reaudit or refund of excessive
freight ever made?

" Answer. A reaudit of freight bills was made by the War Department, and
refunds of freight overcharges detected by the contractor or revealed

381 by the Government audit or disclosed during audit made by the Rail-
road Administration, were refunded to the contractor, with the excep-

tion of overcharges in freight by the N. C. & St. L. Railroad Companv, which
claiius aggregating $26,411.09 were withheld by the N. C. & St. L. Railroad
Company on the grounds that its accounts with the United States were in

process of adjustment, and it was not considered advisable to pay this amount
to the contractor at the time. In this connection, it is well to state the
method which was pursued by the contractor in handling freight bills.

" Freight bills were presented at the contractor's plants when materials cov-
ered by such freight bills were delivered. These freight bills were then noted
with reference to the contractor's order numbers for identification purposes.
The railroad companies made eight drafts on the contractor at convenient
intervals attaching to such drafts statements of the freight bills covered, which
drafts were honored by the contractor, and after the freight bills were received
from the plants at the Wilmington office, they were checked with the above-
described statements, and any discrepancies detected were taken up with the
railroads for adjustment. At the Wilmington office of the contractor all freight
bills were checked with the material orders or requisitions and the proper
references cross reference noted for record. Each freight bill was given a
serial number and entered on registers. The charges were then recapitulated
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iind distributed to the proper ledger accounts. After tlie contractor liad com-

pleted the above process, the freight bills were transmitted to tlie contracting

oflicer of the United States who proceeded to audit same in any manner
382 that he desired. Upon the return of tliese bills to the contractor, the

freight bills relating to operating projects were forwarded to the traflSc

department for audit as to rates.
" Construction freight bills were not subjected to an audit as to rates on

account of the fact that the United States Government did not consider such

an audit necessary or desirable. See letters hereto attached, marked ' Ex-
hibit 23.' "

Those are both letters from the Government to us.

Mr. McLa^e. May I ask you a (luestion there. If on construction freight

a haul ot 70 miles, at a price of $27U a car to $350 a car was made upon that

shipment, that would not be cheeked at all by the du Pimt Company?
Mr. Shafer. Not to a rate audit ; no.

Mr. McLanb. If it was $270 to $350 a car, and hauled for 70 miles, if it was
construction it would not be checked?

Mr. SiiAFER. I do not doubt anything glaring has been checked up and seen

by the Government or by ourselves, but we do not subject construction freight

bills to a rate audit as we did to operating bills.

Mr. McIiANE. If that should be paid by Mason & Hanger, under the con-

tract 5 percent was added?
Mr. ShaI'^ek. It would be if paid direct by Mason «&: Hanger. Not on any

Ihat we paid direct.

Mr. McLane. And that would never come to the notice of the du Pont En-
gineering Company, or the parent company?

Mr. Shafek. It would not by a rate check through the traffic department,
because we did not check construction rates. We were instructed by the

Government not to.

383 Mr. Carkdtiff. He asked you if that would come to your notice.

Mr. McLake. We have evidence of freight rates of $270 to $350 per
ear for 70-mile haul.
Mr. Shafek. Our trafhc department functined on all fi-eight bills on operat-

ing projects. We were requested not to do it on construction projects.

Colonel Hull. That statement was made here last May, and we thought that
was one of the things to be checked up. Has any attempt been made to check
it up?
Mr. McLane. Yes ; the check has been made.
Colonel Hull. And the check shows we paid it?

Mr. McLane. Yes.
Mr. Stark. The Government auditeil all construction freight bills in their

own auditing department in Wilmington.
Mr. Caunduff. How much money is involved?
Mr. Stark. I don't knew.
Colonel Hull. How many cars ^^•ere there on which that excessive freight

was paid?
Mr. Stark. I suppose about 40 or 50.

Colonel Hltll. Do You know how many?
Mr. Stark. No.
Mr. Gregg. Mr. Stark, have you examined our canceled checks to see as to

whether we paid that?
Mr. Stark. Not yet.

Mv. Shater. Are you sure we have not collected a refund?
Mr. Stark. 1 don't know.

Mr. Shafer. You know we overpaid on many of them and got refund.
384 Mr. Caknduff. Did you collect from Mason & Hanger the 5 percent

when you overpaid?
Mr. SiiAiEK. Any payment that we made to Alason & Hanger that involved

a commission—any such pajment \\'e paid and we always got it back.
Mr. (Umrrox. Mr. Shafer, you said that you were directed by the War De-

partment not to audit freiglit rates.

Mr. SiiAFER. l^es.

Mr. Cameron. Do you recall by whom you were directed, or was that a
written order?

Mr. Gregg, ('opy of the letter is attached, exhibit 23.

Mr. Shafek. I will read it. It is short. [Reading:]
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War De2»ai;tment, Office of the Chief of Ordnance

General Administijation Bureau

Cost Accounting Bil\nch, Accounting Section,

Washington

Wilmingtoji, Del, April 1st, 1919.

From : Cost Accountiug Branch, Accounting Section, Ordnance Department, du
Pent Engineering Company.
To : Du Pont Engineering Company, Wilmington, Delaware.

(Attention W. H. Crouch.)

1. This is to inform you that it will not be necessary for your traffic depart-
ment to audit the freight bids ou various contracts here, after we have had
them, as we have had a ruling from Washington stating that this shculd not
lip done by the du Pont Company, as they intended performing this function in
Washington.

2. Tlie main point of this is that the traffic department would not know, or
be able to catch errors of rates that the Government is entitled to ou all ship-
ments.

3. Please acknowledge.
3S5 By (s) C. H. Hartman.

C. H. Hartman,
Supervising Accountant-in-Chargc, Ordnanee Department, U. S. A.

Mr. Camei:on. Mr. Shafer, at that time, however, the largest part of the ex-
penditure had been made on freights?

Mr. Shab'ek. Yes ; but you must remember this, that after we had cheeked
our freight bills with the accounting department they were sent to the Gov-
ernment to be checked, and the Government held those particular bills an
awful long time. All of the operating bills did not come to our traffic depart-
ment until after the war was over.

Mr. Cameron. Would that be the reason that the du Pouts did not function
as auditing the freight bills ou construction?

Mr. Shab-er. Yes ; as auditing the rates, yes ; because we did not send the
bills for checking rates to the traffic department until after thej' had been func-
tioned on by United States auditors.
Mr. McLanb. I am not sure that I understood your statement as to the N. C.

& St. L. Railroad Company's freight rates. Is it admitted that they hold
$29,(XI0?

]\Ir. Shafer. $26,000. I don't know whether they are still holding it. I sup-
pose they turned it over to the United States.

Mr. MgLanb. They are still holding it.

Mr. Shafe^r. AVell, possibly tliey are. I cannot answer that question.

Mr. jMcLane. We claim $29,000. Your figures show $26,000, do they?
386 Mr. Shafer. $26,000.

Mr. McLane. Do you know of any reason why that should not be paid
back?

Mr. Shafek. I don't know of any reason, but I don't see what difference it

makes whether it is paid back to us or not. If it is paid back to us we will

hand it back to the Government, or the Government will collect it from the
railroad company through the Railroad Administration receipts.

Mr. McLane. It is admitted that the railroad withholds it illegally?

Mr. SHAFEai. They are withheld by that amount of $26,000. I don't know
whether illegally. I could not say that. I could not say that it was illegally

held, because I don't know.
Mr. McLane. At least erroneously?
Mr. Shafek. Erroneously—I don't know even that.

General Williams. Well, the same question was brought up before in May.
Hasn't the Department of Justice had time to determine in these six months
or seven months that have passed whether it was legally or illegally held?

Mr. Carnduff. We are asking the du Ponts.

Mr. McLane. We are asking the du Ponts because
Mr. Gregg (interposing). No; you are not asking that question of us at all,

about freight. The freight that you are talking about there now was not
brought out in this question at all.

83876—35—FT 14 22
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Mr. Carnduff. Well, we asked you the circumstances of the $26,000, and you
explained them very nicely here.

Mr. Gkegg. You did not ask us about the $26,000.

387 Mr. Shafer. I mentioned it in my brief.

Mr. Gregg. Yes.

Mr. McLane. The railroads state that they paid it and are charging it to

profit and loss.

Mr. Shafer. Yes ; and that will be settled with the Government, and in

Railroad Administration affairs it does not make any difference whether we
return it to the Government or the raih-oad.

Mr. McLane. Are there other accounts of similar nature?
Mr. Shafer. No ; there are not. Those are the only freight claims that I

know of that have not been settled.

Mr. McLake. What explanation is made to tlie general charge of tariff

rates on cotton linters, etc., Birmingham to Nashville, of 53 cents to $3.53?

And from Memphis, a rate of from 61 cents to $3.61.

Mr. Shafer. I am not prepared to answer that question. It is a question

I have never looked into at all.

Mr. Anderson. Well, that is a question that you can take up later.

General Williams. Mr. Chairman, why should these questions be plucked
out of the air? Why shouldn't some evidence of the fact be submitted?

Mr. Gregg. If they will be good enough to give us a list of the stuff they
have there we will take it and check it out for them immediately.
General Wiixiams. Why, Mr. McLane, when he asks that question, must have

definite information concerning the particular items that are involved, and the

circumstances under which he got it. Now it seems to me that the committee
is entitled to that information ccmcerning this question.

388 Mr. Anderson. I thiidi:, if I may suggest, that we ought to finish what
we have brought out, and then these additional questions of Mr. M>Lane

that came up this morning, and any additional points that we have to cover
we take up with the du Pouts for more careful analysis before we go into them.

Mr. McLane. I can see no objection to asking these questions. If they are
not prepared to answer them, certainly it will do no harm to ask. The informa-
tion is not before them, and the gentleman stated that he does not know.

Mr. Gregg. Well, Mr. McLane, if we are going to do this thing across the
table

Mr. Anderson. These questions are being developed from time to time in the
investigation, and a list of them was being made. Now we have given you
as far as we have gotten, and we will give you others as they develop. You
will be given the questions, and an opportunity to answer fully. But there
is no use taking up time now and discussing them.
Mr. Gregg. I fully agree with you on that, Colonel. Let us have the data as

soon as you can possibly get it to us so that we can go ahead and clean it up.

Mr. Anderson. Quite right.

Mr. Gregg, (continuing reading) :

" Over-payment or under-payments of freight in connection with construction
projects did not result in any loss or gain to the United States, inasmuch as
overcharges paid to the Railroad Administration and reimbursed to the con-

tractor were returned to the United States in the form of increased
389 rofcipts from the Railroad Administration, and undercharges vice versa

decreasing the Railroad Administration's receipts were olfset by corre-
sponding decrease in the amount expended by the contractor and reimbursable
by the United States.

Freight in coiuiection with operating projects, however, involved the factor
of profits as follows : On all cost-plus contracts the contractor's profit varied
directly in the ratio of cost at the rate of profit stipulated in the contracts.
Pi'ofits in connection with the Old Hickory operating project, however, were
affected in an inverse ratio, inasmuch as this contract provided that the con-
tractor would benefit to the extent of .^0 percent In any saving effected over
and al)Ove a stipulated base price. Therefore in consequence of this iirofit

factor, freight bills relating to the operating projects were subjected to audit
as to rates, and clnims instituted for ovei'charges.

" Question 2. Why was freight allowed to come in at excess chnrges?
"Answer. The Railroad Administrntion did not do business with the du Pont

Engineering Company on a credit basis, and the best arrangement that the
contractor could make was to accept the sight drafts of the various railroads
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for freight in connectiou witli deliveries at tlie plants. It was impracticable
to audit freight bills prior to payment and excess charges could not be detected
until such bills had been subjected to audit."

I might state here that every business concern in this country handles its

freight bills that way. At least we do. [Continuing reading:]
390 " Question 3. Was Mason & Hanger paid 5 percent on this freight?

" Answer. Under the terms of the contract entered into between the
du Pont Engineering Company and Mason & Hanger, Mason tfc Hanger were
entitled to receive 5 percent on the freight paid for such materials as were pur-
chased and used by them in connection with tlie work performed for the du Pont
Engineering Company at the Old Hickory Powder Plant. However, a large
quantity of material consigned to Mason & Hanger was delivered to the du Pont
Engineering Company at the Old Hickory Plant, and in such instances wherein
shipments were accepted directly by the du Pont Engineering Company the
freight charges were included in drafts drawn by the railroad companies for
freight charges of the du Pont Engineering Company and were thus paid by the
du Pont Engineering Company direct.

" In order to save accounting work, Mason & Hanger did not insist upon
receiving a commission on freight paid by the du Pont Engineering Company, as
described above, and consequently received commission only on such freight
as was paid directly by themselves and included in their invoices to the du Pont
Engineering Company. Affidavit of F. L. Rebout, who was employed by du Pont
Engineering Company as chief clerk in charge of the freight-checking division,

is hereto attached, marked ' Exhibit 24.'
"

Mr. Cameron. Mr. Gregg, they were entitled to it?

Mr. Gregg. Yes.
Mr. Cameron. If they were entitled to it on freight in one category, they

were entitled to it in the other?
391 Mr. Gregg. Yes.

Ml'. Cameron. And they waived it?

Mr. Gregg. And they waived it.

Mr. Shafer. Because it was such an awful job to get at it.

Mr. Cameron. You have no record of how much they waived in the aggregate?
Mr. Shafer. I have not.

Mr. Gregg. We would have to check through all the freight bills to find out.

Mr. Shafer. Yes ; and even then it would be very difficult to locate in some
cases.

Mr. Gregg. (Continuing reading) :

" 6. Broadway motors.
" Question 1. Will contractor furnish a report of transactions with Broadway

Motors, comparing prices charged United States for Chevrolet cars with current

prices ?
" Answer. On May 11, 1921, Mr. J. R. Peebles, Auditor for the War Depart-

ment, presented to the contractor a memorandum alleging that the du Pont
Engineering Company had paid invoices of the Broadway Motors Company on
which cars, accessories, etc., were charged at higher prices than the prices

charged to their general trade. Attached hereto is a copy of a report, dated
October 30, 1921, marked " Exhibit 25 ", submitted by the Contractor to Major
Farr, Special Representative of the Assistant Secretary of War, and accepted

by him as a satisfactory reply."

392 Mr. Anderson. Is it a long letter? Would you wish to read that? As
long as you have got the data there? Can you just state generally

what it is?

Mr. Gregg. I will just siate it generally. Colonel.

Mr. Anderson. I should think it would be just as well to do so, rather than
to read the letter.

Mr. Geegg. Mr. Peebles thought that we had paid a greater price for Chevro-

let cars to the Broadway Motors Company tlian the prices of the cars at that

time. We went into it, and we found out that the prices of the cars were
increased from time to time, and in no cases did we pay more than the list

prices for the cars ; in other words, we paid the market price for the car at

the time we bought it.

Mr. Anderson. And your report shows that, does it?

Mr. Gregg. And our report shows that.

Mr. Andehison. Yes.
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General Wiliiams. Is that Major Farr employed by the Department of

Justice?
Mr. Anderson. Yes, sir; in my office.

General Williams. It rather occurs to one to wonder why he was not ques-
tioned about this.

Mr. Anderson. He was.
Mr. Carnduff. He was. He was here at the last hearing, General.
Mr. Anderson. Yes ; he was here at the last hearing.
Mr. Carnduff. I may say that I am satisfied on the Chevrolet question,

and have been for some time, but, inasmuch as at the previous hearing wit-

nesses disagreed with my view, I asked the question. I think the Chevrolet
thing is all right.

303 Mr. Anderson. You must understand. General, that it is not really

in tlie hands of the Department of Justice. It is before this committee.
It never has been referred to the Department of Justice. It is before this

committee for survey. Now we Ir.ive made the inquiries, but all kinds of
statements have been made here and elsewhere as to the handling of this con-
tract. Now it is essential, and I think it is due the du Pont Company, and
I assume they desire that any of those things that come to our knowledge
should be brought to their attention to the end that they may reply to them.
It does not necessarily mean that the Department of Justice thinks that they
have been guilty of a criminal act or fraudulent act in bringing these things

to th.eir attention. If somebody should come and make a charge against me,
I would thank the man who hears the charge for bringing it to my attention.
And that is the purpose of this hearing, to permit both sides to be heard.

I have nothing to do with this investigation personally. I have not made
it. But I do not think the men in the Department of Justice who are getting
the evidence here, or getting the information for this survey, are meaning
by asking these questions to imply that they think that the du Pont Company
is guilty of a criminal act or a fraudulent act, but it is due the du Pont
Company that any question that conies before them should be laid before the
representatives of the du Pont Company to the end that this tbing can be
concluded. And I explained that to Mr. Gregg in a talk that I had with him,
that I wanted to give him any Information and let him answer, and get to

the bottom of it.

394 Colonel Hull. Just one moment. I would say that the ordinary prac-
tice in the Army, which we usually have, is that where there isn't any-

thing made out that way, that the records clearly show, why, we do not
bring it up again for discussion. Now, liere you have in this case, as I stated
right on this, thousands and thousands of items where the examiners, or this
man or that man, contested the legality or propriety of it. and it has all been
threshed out. Now. do you mean to say that because that is in the record
that we have got to bring it in and discuss it?

Mr. Anderson. Not at all ; but you were at the hearing last May, and you
heard the people make the statement about not being able to make the audit,
and so forth. Now, the simple way to get through with it is to bring the
question to the du Pont Company, and let them make the reply.

Colonel Hull. Why wouldn't it be more simple for the Department of Jus-
tice—they have investigated it—to stop it by simply saying: "This has been
fully investigated. The answer is it is not true, and here are the documents
to prove it ", and stop taking it up.
Mr. Anderson. But this case is not in the Department of Justice.
Colonel Hull. I know ; but when you have Investigated it, or your repre-

sentatives, couldn't that be done?
Mr. Anderson. If the committee desires to do that—they are at liberty to

stop this survey whenever they get reuly. But it is not in the Department of
Justice. It never has been referred to the Department of Justice. It is

395 not a case that we have got jurisdiction of. It is simply a matter of
survey under this committee.

As far as Mr. McLane is concerned, if anything comes to his attention
at Nashville, even in an indirect w;iy, be makes his OAvn investigation as the
officer of the Government in that district, and it is his duty to do it. Now,
it may be that when he completes that investigation, or when these gentlemen
are able to give him the facts on that point, he may find that this is without
foundation. But it is absolutely desirable that this thing should be cleaned up.

Mr. MoLane. I should like to make this observation, because it seems to be
called for, that there may be others outside of the du Ponts who have imposed
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on the du Fonts, and by these questions I do not necessarily mean that the

du Fonts have done anything wrong, or that any member or any company asso-

ciated with them has. But there are others outside of tlie du Pout Company,
other individuals.

Colonel IIULi,. The point I make—and I am not a member of the committee,
I am simply an outsider looking in, and I have no right to be heard, except by
courtesy.

Mr. Anderson. You will be heard just as long as you want to be, as far as
I am concerned.

Colonel Hull. A while ago I was listening with great interest and found
that you were discussing an item in which the United States had no interest

whatsoever, namely, a stock dividend of the parent company.
Mr. Carnduff. We wanted to find out if the United States had any interests,

because the salaries of the E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company ofBcials,

to which was added this stock bonus, were charged pro rata to the
396 du Font Engineering Company, and naturally the question occurred

to us : If you are paying 50 percent of that man's $10,000-a-year salary
out of Government funds, and you give him 58 shares of stock as a bonus at
the end of the year, are you or are you not charging us, the Government, with
half of that 58 shares of stock? The answer made is: "No; we do not." We
are very glad to get that information. We cannot get it in any other way.
Colonel Hull. Was not that information on file in the record?
Mr. Carnduff. It was not. It is available only on the books of the du Font

Company, and they were good enough to throw them open to us, and we went
down there last week-end and ascertained these things.

Colonel Hull. Well, take these questions that you asked on the Chevrolet
matter. They have been a.sked a couple of times and the complete record
and the complete answer are on file.

Mr. Carnduff. Very good.
Colonel Hull. Why ask the du Fonts again, if you satisfied yourself beyond

doubt?
Mr. Carnduff. This Board of Survey is the judge on that question. No

investigator of the Department of Justice is a judge as to the fairness or legal-

ity of the charge. The charge is made by reputable witnesses to us that the
Chevrolet cars were credited to the Government at $50 above the market price.

That was made by witnesses whose veracity and honesty of purpose is unde-
niable. We have that evidence. AVe find a record of the War Depart-

397 ment that some official of the War Department has found the price is

all right. The opinion of that official is satisfactory to the investigator,

but it is not fair, it is not right to that investigator to decide the question, and
we bring it up before this Board and let you hear it.

Mr. Anderson. And you gave that fact to the du Font Company, and the
du Pont Company knew it. I assume the personal responsibility to this extent,
that wherever a thing was done under this contract, whether it was done by
the du Pont Company or not, I requested Mr. Carnduff to give that fact to
Mr. Gregg to the end that the du Pont Company might answer it and explain
it and get it cleaned up once for all, and that is the only way I know to do it,

except to make a complete survey. Mr. Gregg did not have to answer it, but
he very courteously said he would answer every question we could ask him. I

think that is the quickest way Vv'e can get at it.

Mr. Carnduff. It is quite conceivable. Colonel Anderson, that my judgment
on one of these points as to its fairness or legality may not be your opinion
or Major General Williams' opinion. He might differ with my judgment on
that point ; so therefore when I find the point I am laying it before the Board.

General AVilllvms. Insofar as I am concerned, the agencies that were re-

sponsible to me in large pnrt have passed on these things, and by my official

action, where it was necessary for me to take it, I have approved their action.
Now, then, if it is not satisfactory to you. why go to it, do what you

398 want to. I don't care. It does not change my opinion in the sliglitest.

But you are bringing in stuff here that has been hashed over and over
and over again, and what good does it do?

air. GiiEGG. I would like to make this remark in connection with the state-
ment you made a while au'o. Colonel, about giving us an onportmiity to put
upon the record a reply to all charges made. That is one reason why I sliduld
like to have a list of all the charges that were made at the hearing last spring,
for this reason. I understand they have eliminated everything excopt those
things contained in this inquiry. Now, we have replied to that. But there
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ai'e other charges—or, rather, I say, if there were other charges made at that

hearing, even though you eliminate them, then that record stands here with no
reply by us, no refutation by us at all, and for that reason I do think that

we are entitled to all the charges that were made against us. Let us make a
reply to them. Let us have a complete record.

Mr. Anderson. I quite agree with you in that. I have never taken any
other view. I have always taken the view that I would never proceed against
any corporation or citizen of the United States without first giving him a
chance to reply before I went ahead. I have taken that view all the way
through. I quite agree with you on that. I think probably that if all the
charges made in these discussions are not included in this inquiry that was
submitted to you, they can be included in it, and probably eliminated, because
they are regarded as completely answered in the record, or it is not necessary

to go further and take up time with them, or as not being of importance
399 sufficient to justify an inquiry.

However, I will ask this, that these gentlemen will sulmiit to you
any and all charges that they can, that they have, that they want informa-
tion on, and give you a chance to give them the information, and give them
the answer.
Mr. Gregg. In other words, Colonel, Government records stand for a long

time.
Mr. Anderson. Yes.
Mi*. Gregg. And I am not inferring—do not tliink for one moment that I am

inferring that you are liable to institute a proceeding on something that we
have not been given an opportunity to reply to. That is not the reason I made
the suggestion. What I would like to do is this : I would like to have our
answer to all charges that have been made. In other words, here are the
charges made against you : Here is the du Pout's reply. That record will
then stand in the War Department and the Department of Justice forever
and a day, and nobody can bring it up later on and accuse you or your repre-
sentatives that they made a charge, and you never took it up, that is, you
never tried to find out whether it was true or false. Now, if we make a reply
to every charge that has been made against us it not only completes the record
on our side, but it makes a complete record for the Government as well.

Mr. Anderson. I think so, and I should follow that course.
General Williams. I think the du Pont Company should have a copy of

the record of the preceding meetings so that they may see exactly what
400 is on the record, all the statements that were made, and the charges

that were made. I think that is the only fair thing to do for the du
Pont Company.

Mr. Carnduff. W^e can only do that by permission of the Department of
Justice.

Mr. Anderson. Yes ; we can only do that by permission of the Department
of Justice. I will say this, that I was very much embarrassed, and my plan
of suggesting this hearing was entirely modified thirty minutes before the start
of the hearing. I was going to have an open hearing and have each side
thresh out each point right here before the Board.
Now, I quite agree with you, General, that I would right now, if I was

perfectly free, take that record there and turn it over to Mr. Haskell or Mr.
Gregg and say, " Read that over and see what you have got to say about it."

That is the way I feel about it, and I think that that is probably what it

will come to. But I have got to get authority to do that from the people that
I am acting imder. I am not the Department of Justice. I am merely acting
for the Department of Justice in this matter, and I am acting under instruc-
tions.

Now, I will take that up, as I said this morning, and endeavor to obtain
the consent of the proper authority of the Department of Justice to turn
over that record, and say, " Take that record, Mr. Gregg, and read it over."
I am willing to do that, because there is no mystery about my transactions.
I am always ready to do that.

General Williams. I think such a star chamber proceeding as we had before
is a travesty on justice.

Mr. Anderson. I would not say that. I would say that there are
401 hearings in the Department of Justice where you have to do that. My

first disposition was, when it was suggested that we sit here in secret,

to adjourn it over, but that would look like we did not want to have a hearing,
and I said, " Go ahead." But I would not say that. General, because there
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are plenty of hearings that are in executive session, both in private corpora-

tions and in Government activities.

All right, Mr. Gregg, have you finished?

Mr. Gregg. I am only going to take a few minutes more. I want to say in

closing that the items now in dispute between the contractor and the War
Department as as follows, on all the du Pont Engineering Conipany work

:

Part of Mason & Hanger fee $179, 239. 79

That was the decision by Mr. Wainwright.

Departmental charges of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company 126, 071. 30
Profit adjustment 52, 554. 29
Miscellaneous expenditures 19, 545. 58

Total 377, 430. 9S

My purpose in asking the Secretary of War to send the Mason & Hanger
matter to the Attorney General for an opinion was in order that we might
get an opinion promptly, and if we had obtained that opinion promptly, I

think we would have been closed up on these cases several months ago.
Mr. Anderson. Well, does anybody know why the opinion has not been

given ?

Mr. CARNDtJFF. The Attorney General did render an opinion, and I have
a copy of it here.

402 Colonel Hull. I move the opinion be read.
Mr. Carnduff. May 25. But I do not believe that is a matter that

you care to put into the record now. Colonel.
Colonel Hull. Your imputation there would be that the War Department

is free to act. It is not?
Mr. Carnduff. It is not free to act under that opinion; you are quite right.

General Williams. What is the value of the decision, then?
Mr. ANDE21SON. All right, that is a question I haven't got a thing in the world

to do with. That is a question for the Attorney General. That is a question
entirely for the other branch of it.

General Williams. Well, then, we do not want to settle for this contract

;

is that the idea?
Mr. Anderson. I don't know. General. I have nothing whatever to do with

the settlement of this contract. It is between the War Department and the
Department of Justice. As I understand, the War Department requested an
opinion from the Department of Justice. They made a reply. Now, what
reply has been made to that I do not know. That is a matter that I haven't
anything to do with. It does not come within my jurisdiction. It is an en-
tirely different branch of the Department that gives the opinions on the advice
of the War Department.

General Williams. Here we have had the Mason & Hanger question before
the Department of Justice for one year and the bonus for two years.

Mr. Gregg. The bonus has not been.
403 General Williams. It has been before the Government officials for

two years.
Mr. Gregg. Yes.
General Williams. If the Government is unable to move in the matter how

are we ever going to settle the contract?
Mr. Carnduff. Could not the Government move at this time by accepting

from the du Pont organization the $058,000 they admit they have? I can see
no objection to suggesting to the contractor that he now pay this amount
to the United States.
Mr. Gregg. Before you make final settlement with us?
Mr. Carnduff. Yes.
Mr. Gregg. No ; we won't do it. We might as well get that on the record

right now. Whenever the Government makes final settlement with us on
these contracts we will return the moneys that are then due the United
States.

Mr. Anderson. You admit that you are holding more than is claimed
to be due?
Mr. Gregg. I don't know how much we are going to need, Colonel. If this

thing keeps on going the way it has I don't know how much money we are
going to need before these contracts are closed up, and I will not advise the
du Pont Engineering Company to return that money until the Government
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settles with us. The contract of March 23, 1918, article VI (that is article

VI of the contract of March 23, 1918, between tlie du Pont Engineering

Company and the Government), provides:
" When the operation of the plant shall cease, or upon termination

404 or cancellation of this contract under article XV, the United States

shall reimburse the contractor for all costs and expenses of every char-

acter and description incurred or made in, or cimnected with, the construction,

equipment, or operation of the plant, or any part thereof, including the cost

of all labor, freight, and all apparatus and materials purchased, whether
delivered or undelivered, in connection with the construction and equipment
of the plant or the operation or contemplated operation thereof; all obliga-

tions of the contractor incurred hereunder, outstanding at the date of such
cessation or termination or which may thereafter arise, shall be assumed by
the United States and the United States shall save harmless the contractor

in respect of any liability whatsoever in connection therewith. At the option

of the United States, the contractor shall assign or transfer to the United
States, or its nominee, all contracts then outstanding entered into by the

contractor hereunder."
And then it is further provided in article VI.
" If there shall remain due the United States from the contractor any sum

theretofore advanced by the United States after all reimbursements and pay-

ments outlined in this article have been made, such sum shall be promptly
returned by the contractor to the United States."

In other words, whenever the Government is ready to make a settlement

with us, then we are perfectly willing, and in fact, anxious to turn back the

unused funds that we have at that time, to the Government, but I do not
know now, and I could not estimate now hovs? much more money it is going

to cost us until we arrive at a final settlement.

405 Mr. Carnduff. What further charges could you have, Mr. Craig, at

this time?
Mr. Craig. I don't know.
Mr. Carndutf. What would be the nature of the charges?
Mr. Craig. I don't know.
Mr. Carnduff. Would it not be possible to turn in the undisputed amount?
General Williams. How are you going to determine the undisputed amount?
Mr. CarnduI'F. The amount, the balance, the cash now held by the du Pont

Company. There can be no further charges. They can deduct from that any
credits they think they are entitled to.

General Williams. Well, if you succeed in stringing this out for a year
or two there will be considerable expenditures here.

Mr. Carnduff. I am not stringing it out, General. I have never strung it

out ; I have not delayed this case one day.
Mr. Anderson. General, I do not mean to criticise the War Department, and

I do not think the War Department ought to criticise the Department of

Justice. We are trying to get at the administration of the law, and I have
not taken any notice of the criticism of the Department of Justice, but I

really think that the records should show that their criticism is, in my judg-
ment, without the slightest justification. We are trying to discharge our duty
to the best of our ability. As far as I am concerned, this case has never been

sent to the Department of Justice, and it can be closed today. It has
406 been in the War Department. It is in the War Department. It has

never been out of the War Department. And the War Department han-
dles it any way it pleases. I hope it is definitely understood that I am here
trying to help, under the instructions and Executive order of the President, to

survey a situation which was referred to us by a joint board of the two depart-

ments. I am trying to carry that survey on and make the investigation in such
a way that it will be conclusive and final in the interests of everyboily. But
this case has never been referred to the Department of Justice. It is not

in the Department of Justice. It is not within the jurisdiction of the Depart-
ment of Justice. And the War Department can close it any day it wants to

close it.

Colonel Hull. I am sorry, Colonel, but the record
Mr. Andkrson. Let tlie record speak for itself, but that is my understanding.
Mr. Carnduff. I would like to reply to the allegation as to prosecutors for

the Govei-nnient at this end of the table. Mr. Cameron and myself have
been charged with the duty of preseriting facts to this board. We have in no
sense at any time regarded ourselves as prosecutors, nor giving any opinion
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of the justice or fairness of any of these charges ; we have merely laid them
before the board for such action as it may deem proper. It is true Mr. McLane
is the district attorney, and as such functions as prosecutor. He has not taken
any action in that regard in this case to date.

Air. Anderson. And he is giving the time, at my I'equest, to the end
tliat he might assist us in getting at the matters.

407 Mr. Gi!B»G. I might state for the information of the board, that in

June and July
Mr. Anderson. Just a moment, Mr. Gregg. Mr. Caruduff, will you kindly

find out where that matter stands in the Department of Justice, and get it

reported out of there as quickly as possible.

Mv. Carnduff. The Mason and Hanger fee?
Mr. Anderson. No; whatever information has been requested by the War

Department, get a reply to it this week if you can, and then the War Depart-
ment can close this case whenever they get ready.

General Williams. Can we not get an opinion on the bonus question too, and
get a decision on that?
Mr. Carnduff. Is it my instruction to cease to function in this case?
Mr. Anderson. No ; you have no instructions at all ; I do not mean to give

you instructions to cease to function. It is for the board to decide. I assume
that this committee will make its report, and the joint board can do what they
please with the case. I understand now that the War Department has re-

quested the Department of Justice for certain opinions, and if such request
has been made will you follow it through, find in wliose hands it is, and get
an opinion sent back over there so the War Department can go on and close

the case up, as far as I am concerned.
General Williams. It seems to me it is very desirable, if the War Depart-

ment has authority to close that—I understand that authority is disputed,
that we have not the authority to close it up, but wlien it is closed

408 why then there will be something for us to proceed on. It will be out
of our hands any\\ay. And so far as I am concerned I shall be delighted

to get it out.

Mr. Gregg. And so would I.

General Wiixiams. Anything that I have to do with it—delighted.
Mr. Carnduff. Well, General, would not the opinion of this Board now to

be rendered decide who is to close this case?
Mr. Anderson. This is all that this Board can do. Gentlemen, there is a

joint board of the War Department and the Department of Justice established
by Executive order for the purpose of making surveys of the gravest questions
that come up of this character. That joint board referred this matter to the
subcommittee consisting of the Assistant Secretary, General Williams and my-
self, and I think on my suggestion it was decided instead of having an audit,
to have a hearing and let people tell what they knew about it. And that has
gone on—been delayed by my engagements in other matters—and now reached
the very point which we reached this evening. All that this committee can do
is to refer this matter back to the joint board of the two departments with
recommendations.
But if, on the other hand, while that is going on the War Department, in its

functioning in its ordinary way, has requested the Department of Justice or
the Attorney General for an opinion, and that opinion has not been completely

given, then let us get that opinion. Then let the War Department detev-
409 mine what it wants to do with this case. It has never been taken out

of its jurisdiction. It has merely been surveyed under a joint board,
and the Department of Justice has no jurisdiction over it, except to the extent
that I am a member of that joint board, and I have requested certain officers

of the Department of Justice, including yourself, Mr. Carnduff, and Mr. Cam-
eron, to get up any facts they can get for the information of this Board. That
is all. You are acting at my request to get information for the board. AVe are
not here further than to make a survey.

Mr. Carnduff. I would like to put one more item of information on the
record of this board, and I will therefore ask Mr. Cameron to give an opinion
as to the minimum amount of time and tlie nunimum cost of an entire investi-
gation and audit of the Old Hickory transaction, as far as he is able to.

Mr. Cameron. You are asking me a big question.
Mr. Carnduff. I know. I advised you of that question this morning. Now

just give the Board your best judgment.
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Mr. Camekon. To make an audit of this?
Mr. Caenduff. An audit and investigation of the entire Old Hickory trans-

action.

Mr. Camekon. Well, I think it should be said that to make such an estimate
we would have to exemplify what it means to make an audit. We all know
that an audit is to make a review. We know that a review, or the scope and
depth of the review is regulated by conditions precedent. In this instance I

would suggest that it means to verify the validity of transactions growing out
of these contracts. In my estimation if good accountants were asked

410 to make an audit, under the conditions precedent, I feel that it would
be an expenditure at the minimum of about 150 to 175 thousand dollars.

Mr. Cabnduff. And how long would it take?
Mr. Camekon. It is all a mere estimate, but it could not be done without a

year's work.
General Williams. Your estimate is more moderate than ours, I believe.
Mr. Anderson. Somebody estimated two years.
Mr. Haskeix. How much did your last audit cost?
Major BooTON. $270,000 to the Government alone.
Mr. Cameron. Yes ; but we would have the advantage of that audit. An

audit now would reap the advantages of a portion of the audits made before,
and the audit now would not go to the details that all previous audits went to.

That is the minimum. It would not surprise me at all if it went to from
§150,000 to $250,000.

General AVilliams. I should not be surprised either.
Mr. Anderson. Well now, it was suggested in the original inquiry of this

matter that there should be a re-audit. I stated that I did not believe that
the Government ought to spend that amount of money, and that a preliminary
sui-vey, in my own judgment, could accomplish the substantial results of a
re-audit, and I believe it was as a result of that suggestion that this matter
of survey was taken up in this particular case.
Now I am perfectly willing, if the committee desires, to drop that suggestion,

and close the case if you want to do it, or to make a reaudit, if somebody
411 thinks it ought to be done, and the Government consents to go to that

expense. I personally am not in favor of it. We have gotten a good
deal of information in direct response to direct questions. There may be a
good many other questions that we Avant to submit to the du Pont Company,
and I have not been able personally to go into the matter at all. And while
you are at it, in my judgment it would be wise to clean it up. But if anybo^ly
does not want to clean it up, I mean if you want to settle the balance due on
the present basis, it suits me.

Mr. IMcLane. I would like to ask Mr. Stark, who has made some investi-
gation at the plant, what his idea of the investigation is, and what the amount
of the recovery would be from erroneous and divers charges that have been
made, perhaps through the du Pont Engineering Company, perhaps through
other companies that they are not directly responsible for. If you will make a
statement, Mr. Stark?

Mr. Hasket.l. Colonel, what would you expect to gain by a re-audit? What
sort of information would it disclose, and how much money would it save the
Department if it disclosed something?

Mr. Anderson. Mr. Haskell, I have no idea. The case was referred to me
on rather general charges that there had been irregularities in connection with
the carrying out of a settlement of this contract. It was brought in such
form, and with the suggestion that there should be a re-audit, that I stated
that I preferred to have it go to this Board for survey in advance of a re-audit.

Now, the purpose of the survey was really to find out whether there
412 were any such conditions as demanded a re-audit.

I did not see then, and I cannot see today, why this question could
not be closed up by a special investigation of any points as to which there is

any donl)t, as I would do with you if I had a bushiess transaction with you.
Now, that is what we have l)een asking IMr. Gregg to give us information on,

and if there is any further information desired on any of these points as
to which I don't know, the thing to do would be to go through and look over
your accounts on that point. There is no use in going back through all of
them, it seems to me. In other words, if 95 percent of the questions have l)een

settled, I cannot see any reason for having a re-audit to settle 5 percent, and
tliat is what I have been trying to avoid—the expense of it. I am frankly a
little confused in tlie case, because it is so enormous, and there have been so
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many .statements one way and another. I have not been able to study the

record.
,

Now, as I understand, Mr. McLane, you asked Mr. Stark a question and
you wanted him to answer it.

Mr. McLane. Yes; on the question of what it will cost, and Mr. Stark's
idea as to the amount of recovery there would be. I would like to hear him
on that question.

Mr. Stark. I cannot answer that, Mr. McLane. I liave not a paper with
me. We could get back consideration, I am quite sure, on freights alone.

Mr. Gregg. Well, would that be any saving to the Government, Mr. Stark?
Mr. Stark. I think it would.

Mr. Shafer. In what way?
413 Mr. Stark. It doesn't make any difference to me whether it is Gov-

ernment or Railroad Administration or anything else.

Mr. Shafp:b. Tliat is just the point. Ii it is just a question of the Railroad
Administration, the Government, if you would make a recovery it would not
make any difference to the Government.

Mr. Stark. But it is getting it out of a private organization.
Mr. Anderson. How much would it cost to make a real investigation, Mr.

Stark, along the line that you would make?
Mr. Stark. I would say $100,000 or more.
Mr. Anderson. Take about a year?
Mr. Stakk. Practically.

Colonel Hill. And the recovery would be mainly against the Railroad
Administration?

Mr. Stark. On freight and on discounts and overpayments.
Mr. Gregg. Well, now, you speak about discounts. Do I understand from

that that you take each and every case where we do not take a discount on a
bill within the time?

Mr. Stark. Yes ; if you do not take your cash discounts.

Mr. Shaker. It was not required.
Mr. Gregg. Mr. Stark, it would have been impossible for us to do it during

the war. And, furthermore, we were not required to.

Mr. Shafer. We were not required to.

Mr. Gregg. And it was impossible to do it. We could not do it without the
expenditure of too great an amount of work

414 Mr. Stark. And then the Government was to lose all that cash dis-

count?
Mr. Shafer. They agreed to.

Mr. Gregg. The Government lost money in a great many ways due to con-

ditions that existed in 1918.

Mr. Stark. That is true.

Mr. Gregg. If we can only bring ourselves back to 1918 and appreciate the

conditions that existed in 1918 ! Not now ; not in 1920 or in 1U21 or in 1923
or in 1950, but what we were up against in 1918.

Mr. Stark. Yes.
Mr. Gregg. We did things at Old Hickory, we did things at Penniman, we

did things in connection with our own plants in 1918 and during the war that

we would never think of doing in peace times. But why did we do it? Con-
ditions were such that we had to get the product out, and you had to get men
wherever you could get them. It was not a case of selecting your men. You
had to take what you could get. And day after day here in Washington we
were down before the draft board trying to hold men to keep them on tlie

work. And if you are going to look at this whole matter on the basis of a
transaction during normal times, that is one thing. But if you are going to

look at it on the basis of the conditions that existed in 1918, and you do
know that the courts take into consideration such conditions—if you are going
to look at it under the conditions that existed in 1918 then you have an entirely

different .situation.

Mr. Anderson. Now may I suggest this, to conclude this matter : May I

suggest this course, that if there are any additional questions or any
415 matters requiring additional information which can be furnished by

the du Pont Company, that any gentleman who has been investigating

any of those questions as to which he desires information, if he will let us
have it in the form of an inquiry promptly—that is when I say " let us have
it ", I assume this Board will pass on it, and we will submit it to Mr. Gregg
of the du Pont Company, get his replies which he can submit here to us, and
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then let this committee report on this case to the Joint Board and let them
dispose of it. If there are any questions then remaining to be investigated,

or as to which they are not satisfied, they can either conclude the matter and
file it, or send it to the Department of Justice to complete that investigation

of those specific points. But I see no reason why the matter should not be
pretty promptly concluded, so far as the settlement of this contract is con-

cerned, if we can get the information in that form. And I do not see any
reason why we should not.

Now, when it conies to other phases of the matter which are not before this

committee for survey, why we do not want to delay our disposition of this

question for other things.

Could that be done, do you think, Mr. McLane, or Mr. Carnduff? Could
you submit any questions for additional information that you desire from
these gentlemen?

Mr. Cabnduff. I have no additional questions to submit. I have taken the

matter up at Wilmington last Friday with counsel and accountants of the

contractor, in company with Mr. Cameron, and I have no more questions to

ask at this time, no more information to request, and as far as the War
Transjictions Section is concerned, which excludes the district attorney at

Nashville
416 Mr. Anderson. Of course his function is entirely different.

Mr. Carnduff (continuing). His being an entirely different function

—

I am entirely ready now to submit this matter to the Board for its opinion,

judgment, and directions. I am very anxious to see the $958,000 now returned

to the United States, and the expense of the contractor at Wilmington, which
I am told is approximately $700 per month, discontinued immediately.
General Williams. If we close the case we will discontinue all expense,

will we?
Mr. Carnduff. Yes, sir.

Mr. Gregg. And nobody is any more anxious to do that than the du Pout
Engineering Company.

Mr. McLane. If this committee will hear me on that one question. It has
been suggested here, and the fact is tliat the Department has been criticized

because of investigations of certain lines that apparently would disclose

irregularities. When we were here in May I insisted then that an investigation

along special lines be made. Mr. Carnduff, Mr. Cameron and I signed a recom-
mendation to that effect. It has not been done, because this committee did

not act and did not authorize it. I insist, and I state here publicly now that

there are certain lines that lead to fraud in my opinion. Those lines I cannot
tell you now because I have no means of making an investigation as district

attorney. The only power is this Board. So I am informed.
General Williams. Well, haven't you the authority as district attorney to

investigate any of this?
417 Mr. McLank. I have not ; no, sir.

General Williams. You have not the authority?
Mr. McLane. I have no authority. I have no way of making it. It is

purely here, and it is for that reason that I have appeared before you. I

was criticized when I came here before because of that thing. Now I am
here now saying that there are certain things, in my opinion, that lead to
frauds, not perhaps by the du Pont Company, but by other people who did
business with them and perpetrated frauds upon them. We are daily in

my district prosecuting small frauds and expending large sums of money in

the prosecuting of criminal acts. I do not now charge that the du Pont
Company is responsible for those frauds, but I say someone has perpetrated
the frauds, and this Department has paid for them.

Colonel Hull. I want to say just a couple of words on the record, if I may,
and that is that as a member of the Joint Board of Survey I was entirely
in accord with the statement of Colonel Anderson that the purpose of this

survey was to get down to specific cases, and probe the work that has been
done heretofore, and discover whether additional expense should be made by
the Government to try to run down frauds or recover money, or to punish
any person that has been guilty of any crime. We, having had a re-audit
at an expense to the Government of over $300,000, taking up several .vears,

it was not wise or it was not good administration on the part of the Govern-
ment to audit out of hand on the same old charges coming up, many of them

that had been investigated in the past three years—to order again an
418 expenditure of $300,000 and the expenditure of a year's time. And

therefore, instead of having a re-audit, that we would have a survey and
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that specific items would be brought up, and the past work would be tested.

AS I understood at the closing of the last hearing in May, these specific items
that had come to the attention of the Department of Justice would be investi-

gated, and they would go to the vouchers and find out whether you had been
correctly or incorrectly informed as to what had taken place. Today is the

first time that I have heard that three of you had signed a report and
requested authority from the Joint Board of Survey to go ahead in getting

up those specific items and in testing tliem. That was not brought to the Joint

Board. The understanding was that if there was anything specific you would
report it, and the War Department stood ready to help .you, and the du Fonts
Avould open the books.

Mr. McLanb. If I remember right you are incorrect as to that, but it was
understood that the Department had stated that it would not proceed along
the line that you suggest, and authorized and instructed Cohmel Anderson
not to proceed along tliat line, and that was the cause of the hearing breaking
up other than was the plan. That is my understanding.

Mr. Caknduff. Mr. McLane, we did not sign any report to the Joint Board.
We never made any report.

Mr. Andekson. No. Well, hasn't this investigation covered the questions
submitted in your report, your recommendations to the Department?

Mr. Carnduff. They have been investigated. They have not been
419 audited. The vouchers have not been examined. We have no corps of

accountants to do that with tliem until we are authorized to employ
them.

Mr. Anderson. Well, I think we can probably get that situation cleared
up by going to the record and going over it. In any event, Mr. Gregg has
submitted answers now to the questions submitted by you; has he not?

Mr. Carnduff. He has.
Mr. Anderson. Now, if there are any other questions or any other points

or charges made in the testimony taken here in May, and assuming that I

cannot get authority to turn over a copy of that testimony to the du Pont
Company, as stated, would you go over that, and if there are any additional
charges make a list of them so as to submit them?

Mr. Carnduff. That would be a useless procedure. Colonel. We have already
carefully gone over the testimony of the previous hearing of this Board, and
have collected the principal items upon which we desire information, and have
submitted them in the questionnaire answered today. I have no further ques-
tions on the part of your Section, the War Transactions Section, to ask of Mr.
Gregg. I have not had the opportunity as yet of reading his answers and
exhibits which were filed today. But I understand thoroughly and fully that
he has answered all our questions presenting the contractor's side. I have
no further questions to ask, no other testimony to submit to this Board, and
I am willing to rest.

Mr. Camekon. May I say a word? I will only take a short time. I am
going to earnestly try to throw some light on this as I see it. Charges were

made that grave overpayments were made in freights. Only a few
420 items were described and handed to the du Pont Company's representa-

tives. The du Pont Company's representatives reply and say, " You
are in error. We did not pay those freights. We are going to submit vouchers,
and we are going to show you that we did not pay the freights as you state
at these excess weights."
Mr. Grexjq. No.
Mr. Cameron. You at least say that your vouchers show that they were not

the weights.
Mr. Gregg. That they were not the weights. What these questions that you

submitted brought out and indicated was that we had paid for more shav-
ings and linters than we got.

Mr. Cameron. They naturally would. Now, there must be some little fur-
ther work upon the part of us who are assigned to this work to make some
comparisons, and to take up these instances and see if we can find what they
actually paid by getting the checks and vouchers. But will it not resolve
itself to the point of whether or not these gentlemen are merely submitting
these five or six or ten instances with respect to the freights, or is it to be
understood that this is a mere sample that we are showing you, and that we
feel—til at the gentlemen who ai-e bringing these charges, or bringing these
instances, vre will call it, of errors to your attention, feel thiit we should
make a complete audit, or that we should run down those few points. And
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do they indicate tliat we should make a complete audit of the entire du Pont
transactions by virtue of these transactions? I take it, Colonel Anderson, that
that will be the issue finally, will it not, before the joint board? And I

would like to get from Mr. McLane while he is here—I do not have
421 the opportunity to interview him often—a statement as to whether it

is the idea that these are mere samples, and that these charges really

made to Mr. McLane mean tii;it there were grave manipulations in freiglit

rates, and that we are handing you these few samples?
Mr. McLane. Yes.
Mr. Cameron. And do I understand, Mr. McLane, that you feel

Mr. McLanb (interposing). There are many charges. These are only one
or two isolated instances just to show you what we expect. There are many
charges of that nature, many bills and waybills that we examined leading
into the thousands.

Mr. Camehon. Now in sunmiing up, Colonel Anderson, you are shown by the
du Pont Company that there are over a million freight bills.

Mr. Anderson. Yes.
Mr. Cameron. Therefore we are faced with the question as to whether or

not we are to make a reaudit of tiie million freight bills upon the evidence
presented.

Mr. Anderson. My impression ofE-hand would be that in view of the fact
that duriijg tliis period the Government was operating the railroads, unless it

were shown tliat the Government sustained an actual loss as a Government,
and not one department as against another, 1 would not bother with it one
way or another. That would be my opinion.

Colonel Hull. Unless you can prove fraud.
Mr. Anderson. Yes.

Mr. McLane. It has been shown that five percent was paid upon
422 freight bills, upon overcharges, and those construction bills are the

large freight bills that we complain about.
Mr. ANDEaisoN. That may involve a very serious question.
Mr. McLane. Novv five percent of that, at least, was overpaid. Now we

charge that there are gross frauds in the manipulation of those freight bills.

Whenever a 53-cent freight bill from Birmingham, Ahibama, to Nashville,
Tennessee, makes $3.53, and when there are shipments being made daily by
the trainloads, running all the time, almost continually, then the amount of
freight goes into the millions of dollars.

Mr. Anderson. Yes.
Mr. McLane. Now, when that is shown, why $3 extra would not be added

to freight bills unless some man was profiting by it.

General Wililiams. Does your evidence indicate that that was a general
practice?

Mr. McLane. I would say 75 percent of the freight bills from Birmingham,
Alabama, to Nashville, Tennessee, I have been told.

General Williams. That they received that kind of a raise?
Mr. McLane. Yes, sir. And Memphis the same way, on cotton linters.

There were large shipments from Memphis, and large shipments from the South
of lumber, and Birmingham being the central point, there were large ship-

ments of iron and coal and other things. Those items are there to speak
423 for themselves. Now I say that to pass that kind of investigation and

say, " Well, it is being taken from one hand and put into the other ",

without seeing why those charges are made—the Government is doing itself
quite an injustice.

Mr. Anderson. I quite agree with that view, where apparently there has been
a raising of fr-eight bills. Probably Ijy railway agents. There was a great deal
of that kind of thing during the war. Now, Mr. Gregg has explained that they
did not undertake to check tlie rate of charge, but paid on sight draft. Now, it

might be that tbat was a fraud operated, and somebody returned 53 cents to
the Railroad Administi-atlon, collected $3.53 from the du Pont Company, and
put the $3 in their pocket. It may be something of that kind hajjpened, and
it may be something was lost on that.

Ml". McLane. I know one railroad official who is well up on freight opera-
tions, who has offered to make an investigation on one percent of the recovery
to the Government. That he would put in his own force. And he would make
it free of charge to the Government if they would give him one percent of the
recovery.
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Mr. Haskell. Yes; but who would he recover it from? He would recover
it from the Government.
Mr. Andekson. No.
Mr. H.vsKELL. Under this contract.

Mr. Andekson. No ; it would be this way, Mr. Haskell
Mr. McLane (interposing). And I do not make that proposition.

Mr. Anderson (continuing). The dn Pont Company may have paid
424 money which never went to the Government at all. For instance, suppose

an agent were to raise the rate and had drawn on you for tlie money,
and you paid $3.53, when the rate was 53 cents, and he put the $3 in his pocket.
Mv. Haskell. Then you have to go after the agent, not the company.
Mr. Andekson. Yes ; but you would have to go after somebody. There was

a fraud, undoubtedly, if such a condition existed. If the company had no way
of checking it, and according to what Mr. Gregg stated there was not any way,
there would be no responsibility on the company, but it would be a question of

locating who got the money.
Colonel Hull. May I say a vv'ord?

Mr. Gregg. Just a moment, please. I was going to saj^ this. It is a question
of some agent down there getting graft and all that sort of thing. I do not
see why that should hold up the closing of the contracts between the Government
and the du Pont Engineering Company. You could go after that fellow any
time.
Mr. Caknduff. I agree with you precisely. Turn over the money.
jMr. Gregg. Well, wlien you settle with us

;
yes.

Mr. Shafer. About this freiglit situation. The Government themselves
checked and audited the freight bills in the Wilmington office ; that is, the
Government's auditors themselves took them over and checked them.

Mr. Anderson. Did they clieck them for rates?
Mr. Shafer. It is none of my business what they checked them for. They

checked them for everything. They kept them for months.
425 Mr. McLane. That is what I am asking, an investigation to see what

they did do.

Mr. Shafepv. I want to say something else. That Peebles, who was the con-

tracting officer, spent a year and a half, I think, checking freight bills in the
Wilmington office, in addition to the audit they had previously gone through.

Mr. McLa ne. Yes ; I remember Peebles' testimony, and he said he checked
one voucher out of ten.

Mr. Shafer. I don't know how many he checked, Mr. McLane.
Mr. McLane.. He testified he checked one voucher out of ten.

Mr. Shafer. He had them all to check.

General Williams. What proportion did you check, Mr. McLane?
Mr. Shafeir. What I wanted to say was this, that all operating freight bills

were carefully checked by our traffic department for rate overcharges, and any
rate overcharge that we found, irrespective of any audit which the Government
has made, we made claim for, and collected wherever such claims were col-

lectible.

General Williams. I was wondering what proportion of all the freight bills

you have checked that leads you to believe that 75 percent are fraudulent?

Mr. ISIcLane. I have not. I have Mr. Peebles' results and the results of such

men whose investigation I rely upon. I have not seen one voucher, I don't

think.
Colonel Hull. I want to ask this question. Colonel Anderson. If you have

got a thousand cases where the rate has been raised from 53 cents to $3.53,

you have got pretty near enough to go ahead and determine who are the

426 people that could {oossibly profit by it, as well as if you had a check up
of a million.

Mr. McLanb. That is true.

Mr. Shafer. We did not check up the agents.

Mr. ]McLane. I haven't got the power to go outside of my district. The books

and papers are in Wilmington. It is up to you gentlemen of this Board.

Colonel Hull. Last May I said emphatically to you that if there was any
information you wanted out of the vouchers, if you would let me know I would

get it for you.
Mr. McLane. I understand that. I have no auditing force at all, and any

auditing force that is sent to me has to be from the Department of Justice.

Now, the Department of Justice says, " Wait until this Board acts."
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Colonel HiTLL. If you have got a thousand cases that have been raised from
53 cents to $3.53, those can be verified very promptly from the Government
vouchers on hand, and you can determine from 1,000 instances as well as you
could from a million what freight agents or what people got that graft. A
thousand instances is as much as you can expect to get in any ease.

Mr. McLane. I came here to this Board and to this Department for the
purpose of having them obtain it, asking that it be done some time in May.
Mr. Shafek. Mr. McLane says that in about 75 percent of the cases there are

overcharges. Now, if that is true, and if there are 75 percent of cases out of

a million with an overcharge, it would be an enormous amount of money,
and it seems to me it would be a great reflection on the Government

427 auditors that checked them to let them go through. The Government
auditors who assumed the responsibility for auditing the freight bills.

General Williams. What assurance have we that the next auditors will be
any better?

Mr. McLane. I believe you assume responsibility for issuing the order for

ten percent.
General Williams. Yes ; I took that responsibility.

Mr. McLane. I understood so.

Mr. Haskell. Granting for the sake of argument that that condition did
exist, closing this contract would not close the door for a proceeding against
anybody who committed a fraud, or anybody who got any graft. You could
do that after the contract was closed, or any time within ten years you find

out about it; isn't tliat right?
Mr. Carnduff. That is why I suggest that you return to the Government the

amount of money that you have admitted that you have.
Mr. Gregg. You say " return it " ; but you say, " no ; we won't settle the

contracts." If we return the money, why, then, won't you settle the case?
INIr. Carndubt. What will there be to settle?

Mr. Gregg. Well, we have got to have a settlement contract here. We have
had it in every case that we have with the Government.
Mr. Carnduif. Why not return this money in the interim, and any settle-

ment can then be adjusted?
Mr. Gregg. No ; we won't do that. Major.
Mr. Haskell. If we were willing to do that we would not have needed any

advance in the first place.

428 Major Booton. I would like to inquire the nature of the vouchers that
have been found that have shown these overcharges. Are they the rail-

road-company vouchers, or the vouchers in the plant?
Mr. Stark. I couldn't tell you that, sir. I haven't seen those vouchers.
Major Booton. Because if they are we can very easily establish where they

were obtained from and check them with the corresponding ones, of which there
will be any number. It would be a very simple matter even by correspondence
to get a check on them, and as a matter of fact I will volunteer to handle the
matter and straighten them out. If I can have a few samples I will find out
whether they check out or not.

Mr. Anderson. Well, suppose we leave it that way. I have got a pretty
busy day tomorrow, but I v/ant to get this case disposed of. Will you be
here tomorrow, Mr. McLane?

Mr. McLane. Yes.
Mr. Anderson. I would like to have you stay. Whatever we are going to

do I want to get it started now and do it and finish it. And I mean by that,

even though it does not relate to the immediate matter before this commitee,
when this record is written up we can meet and make our report, but I would
like to get this whole thing cleaned up and if you could be here tomorrow, I

can telephone you. Major Booton, as you are familiar with the method of
handling, and get you to come over there to see what is necessary, and where
to get it.

Major Booton. I will be very glad to, if I can see where the documents
are.

429 Mr. Anderson. Suppose we let it stand that way. General, and I sug-
gest that we adjourn this hearing with the understanding that

Mr. McLane. Those records are not available.

Mr. Andekson. They are not here?
Mr. McLane. No, sir.

Mr. Anderson. When (ould you get them up here, do you think?
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Mr. McLane. I don't know. I think you had better send a man for them.

The records are so scattered, as I understand it, and a man would have to make
that investigation.

Mr. Anderson. Well, I will talk that over with you tomorrow, and make some
plan to get that end of it cleaned up.

Mr. McLane. I want to get on record right here before this adjournment
that I earnestly insist that certain special lines of investigation be made. I

want to have it appear in this record.

Mr. Anderson. What lines?

Mr. McLane. There are special lines that it would seem almost criminal

negligence to fail to investigate. And in justice to the du Fonts, who are held

in high esteem in my community, those investigations should be made as to

them. In justice to the District Attorney, who believes that certain wrongs
have been perpetrated either by the du Fonts or upon the du Fonts, some in-

vestigation should be made. If they are patriotic, if they have done the

things here to assist the Government in its time of need, they shnukl have
430 a clean slate. They should go forth and let the people see wluit this

organization of men has done. If there is something wrong in the
record, and the recovery can be had for the Government either from the du
Fonts or from other people, if there are criminals who should be prosecuted

in the courts, then it should cunie out here. 1 want to go on record as asking
and rt'conunending that investigation be made along special lines to be de-

termined, if not a whole investigation.

Mr. Anderson. Well, now, Mr. McLane, can you now state, or would you
put down in a memorandum for this committee the lines of investigation that
you would reconnuend? The specific things?

Mr. McLane. I would not like to do it just offhand, but I will submit a
recommendation to this committee.

Mr. Anderson. Will you do it?

Mr. MoLane. I would be very glad to do it.

Mr. Andeibson. And then if it is within the jurisdiction of the committee
we will do it. And if not, I will take it up with other authorities to have it

done. I quite agree with the principles you have stated. It is due the Govern-
ment, it is due the du Fonts, it is due the administration of justice, that where
there are serious questions involved tliey should be sifted to the end, no matter
who they may involve, and I am sure no citizen of the United States objects
to that. Now if this coriimittee's jurisdiction does not go that far—and I will

discuss that with General Williams and the Assistant Secretary of War when
I get your memorandum, then I will arrange through some other branch of the
Depiirtment of Justice to have that investigation made.

Mr. McLane. That is very good, and no more than that could I ask.

431 Mr. Anderson. I will clean it up if I can do it myself. Ycu do not
mind being investigated, do you?

Mr. Haskell. No, sir ; that is what I have asked for.

Mr. Gkegg. Just two points. It will only take me about two minutes, and
I want to do this before we close. I want to state that in June and July
1920, the du Pont Engineering Company returned to the Governmeiit in cash
unused funds totalling $3,324,497.77.

At that time we retained approximately $600,000 by agreement with the War
Department to take care of current expenses. Now there have been some ac-

cumulations to that which have brought it up to $950,000.
Now, as to the pi'ofits that we made on this work. I understand it is claimed

that we made enormous profits out of the Government.
On Old Hickory coftstruction we made a profit of $1.

On Fenniman construction we made a profit of $1.

On the Ives construction we did not get the $1 because we never completed
the construction of the plant.

On Old Hickory operation we made a total profit of $2,013,713.05.

On Fenniman operation we made $400,408.32.

On Seven Fines operation we made $120,462.91.

On Tnllytown operation we made $188,991.40.

Or a total of $2,723,577.68 profit on approximately $129,000,000 worth of work.
We asreed to accept disallowances in the interest of settlement of

$103,405.87.

432 Our profits prior to the deduction of Federal taxes were $2,031,658.23.

Deducting a direct expense of $54,923.96 leaves profits prior to deduc-
tion of taxes cf $2,576,734.27.

83876—35—PT 14 23
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Federal taxes paid, $1,490,013.19.
Estimated Federal taxes still i)a.vable, $033,215.87.

Or a total of Federal taxes of $2,123,229.06.

Net profit, $453,505.21.
Dividends paid, $400,000.
Undivided protils as of October 31, 1923, $53,505.21.
(Thereupon, at 6 o'clock p. ni., the hearing was adjourned subject to the call

of the Chair.)

The following brief was submitted to the committee by Mr. Gregg
in connection with Exhibit No. 1190. See text, page 3250.

Wilmington, Del., Ajn-il 26, 1935.

Senator Gekald P. Nye,
Chairtrian Special Committee Investigating the Munitions Industr;j,

United States Senate, Washington, D. C.

Dear Senatbb Nye: This is in further reference to the report of September
14, 1923, by George W. Storck, expert bank accountant to the Assistant At-
torney General, relative to the Old Hickory Powder Plant, which was intro-

duced by Mr. Hiss at the conniiittee's hearing of December 14th and included
as exhibit no. 1190 in the record of your committee. You will no doubt recall

my testimony that I had never theretofore seen this memorandum, nor any
part of it. and my request, which apparently had the connnittee's approval,
that I he permitted to examine the document and file a statement for in-

clusion in the record in answer to Mr. Storck's charges. (Typewritten record,

pages 5268, 5280-1, 5302, and 5384.)
Ever since my return to Wilmington near the end of December, the work

of investigation necessary for this statement has been actively in progress.

As you will readily appreciate, the wide range of the accusations made or
implied in Mr. Storck's memorandum, the long time which has elapsed since
the acts in question took place, and the fact that from deaths and otherwise
a number of the principals are no longer available, have made it a matter of

considerable difficulty, requiring a great amount of searching of old records
and redetermination of the exact significance and relationship of documents
and entries after the lapse of a period of years.

Mr. Storck's report was made several years after the occurrences and acts
in question. It expressly describes the investigation as " preliminary." That
it was also entirely superficial, and that he was surprisingly reckless and im-
restrained, will be apparent from even a cursory examination of the docu-
ment itself. Mere suspicion is stated as accusation; local gossip is translated
into definite charges of criminal wrongdoing; and the memorandum is full

of manifest misunderstandings and plain misstatements of fact.

In general, the charges made in liis report may l)e said to have been com-
prehensively answered in the disposition made of it by the Department of
Justice. In n final report to the Secretary of War on August 5. 1925 (your
exhibit no. 1191) after several years of active investigation of these and
various other accusations which had been made against the du Pont Company
and du Pont Engineering Company, the Attorney General of the United States
stnted in part, as follows:
"An extensive investigation of the charges of fraud or crime above referred

to has failed to disclose reasonable or probable grounds for believing that
during the performance of the contracts in question th(? du Pont Company
committed the offenses with which it has been charged, or any crimes, and in

my opinion there is no warrant either for further investigation along these
lines or for the institution of proceedings against the company based upon
charges of fraud or crime."
To some extent the answers to the specific matters dealt with in the Storck

report have been already given in the du Pont Engineering Company's reply
of December 4, 1023, to certain inquiries propounded by the War Transactions
Section of the I)ei)artment of Justice, which is included in your committee's
record as exhibit no. 1173. In many other instances, however, an independent
statement of the facts is necessary for the present purpose. In this com-
munication, therefore, we have endeavored to deal in the order of their occur-
rence with all the accusations and innuendoes of any seeming importance
which we have been able to glean from Mr. Storck's report. The references
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are to the parngraph numbers and subtitles of that document. Before taking
up the specific charges, however, it appears desirable to explain briefly certain
matters of general import which have a common bearing upon a large number
of Mr. Storck's accusations.

SOME GENERAL, EXPLANATIONS

The frequent recurrence in Mr. Stoi'ck's report of erroneous statements that
various materials were shipped to Old Hickory after December 1, 1918, leads
us to wonder if he or his informants did not confuse dates of shipment with
dates of receipt of materials at the plant. The possibility also suggests itself

that dates of vouchers may have been confused with dates of shipment.
With a constant flow of some 300 cars daily of incoming materials and with

as many as SCO cars at one time on the sidings for unloading, it was the natural
practice to group numerous related shipments upon one voucher. In the pres-
sure incident to completing construction of this huge plant and at the same
time bringing it into production, all under war-time conditions, it was inevi-
table that there should be a certain amount of congestion and delays in the
work of checking and accounting necessary for billing these materials to the
Government. In some instances, shipments received in October were included
in the vouchers issued in December and January. These facts are cited merely
as indicating possilile explanations of the chronic confusion under which Mr.
Storck appears to have labored in this matter of dates of shipment; what the
actual explanation was, we of course do not know, as no opportunity was ever
afforded us to examine Mr. Storck with respect to these matters.
At the outset it is also necessary to correct several other apparent miscon-

ceptions of which evidence is frequent throughout tlae report. In the first

place, the du Pont Company had nothing to gain from piling up surplus mate-
rials at Old Hickory. Neither the construction nor the operating part of its

contract was on the usual cost-plus-a-percentage basis. The plant was built

for cost plus one dollar, and it was operated for a fixed profit of SV2 cents
per pound of powder produced, plus one-half the saving under an agreed
base cost figure. Therefore, it was clearly to the company's interest to avoid
surplus stocks in order to promote the best possible working conditions and
minimize handling charges on the plant.

Contrary to Mr. Storck's assumption, the du Pont Company had nothing
to gain l)y " unloading " upon Old Hickory the incoming or on-hand stocks
of raw materials for powder manufacture at its own plants, which the close
of the war made surplus. The company had not been speculating in raw
materials. The contracts with its p]uropean customers had all been for defi-

nite quantities of powder. Throughout the closing period of the war, the
company's entire unsold capacity was taken by the U. S. Government, under
similarly definite contracts. These contracts imposed upon the company the
necessity of providing the necessary raw materials to make the specified

quantities of powder, and the price was figured without any allowance for
risk of loss on these materials. At the same time, it was recognized as clearly
desirable that the Government should have the right to discontinue the manu-
facture of powder when the war ended. The contracts, therefore, contained
the quite usual and manifestly fair cancellation clause, providing in effect

that the Government could order maniifacture stopped at any time, but that
upon doing so it would save the manufacturer from loss on the necessary raw
materials provided to fill Government ordei's by taking them off the company's
hands. Under this provision in numerous contracts, the du Pont Company
when the war suddenly came to an end was entitled to turn over, and did
turn over, to the Government practically the entire unused stocks of raw mate-
rials not in process at its own jdants. There would have been no advantage
whatever to the company in shifting these stocks to the Government's plant
at Old Hickory, for they belonged to the Government in any event as soon as
the contracts were suspended. There was no such thing as the " unloading "

which Mr. Storck repeatedly charges ; and his whole theory in that connection
is, in relation to the underlying facts of the situation which prevailed, a
manifest absurdity.

Again, an assumption apparently underlying many of Mr. Storck's criticisms,

or at least an inference naturally to be drawn from his report, is that when the
armistice was signed the manufacture of munitions and the acceptance of ma-
terials therefor should have been brought promptly to an end. The facts in
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that connection are that, so far as lay within the power of the du Pont Company,
a view very close to that assumption was at once adopted and acted upon. On
November 11, the very day of the signing of the armistice and without waiting
tor any orders from tlie Governnjent, the company's principal men at the various
war plants under its management, including Old Hickory, were instructed from
Wilmington at once to set about preparing tor a shut-down ; the same suggestion
was promptly put forward by the company's (.fficials to the representatives of
the Government with whom they were in contact ; and in tlie ensuing period,

very large amounts were saved to the Government by the du Pont C(nnpany's
initiative in taking prompt action in a number of cases to sliut off needless
further accruals of materials, in some instances without any clear authority
and at the risk of not having its action ratified. The total thus saved was
approximately $10,000,000. In addition, some $4,000,000 more was saved to

the Government through tlie willing renunciation! by the company of rights
whicli it had under certain of its contracts to continue operating for specified

periods after receipt of notice of suspension. (See typewritten record, pages
5428-31.)
By those in authority in shaping our national course, however, a policy

of gradually tapering off, instead of abruptly discontinuing, the production of
munitions was commanded, on the dual grounds of a still necessary military
prudence and of the necessities of the great body of workers employed on
Government orders. In that connection, tlie following excerpts from an official

instruction issued on November 20, 1918, by the Secretary of War to the Chief
of Staff (italics ours) are instructive:

" The present macliinery of industry and labor devoted to munition produc-
tion constitutes a. military weapon of the higliest consequence. Although an
armistice has ieoi siffiied, the Nation is still at war and the military needs of
the eountrif forbid ttiat this essential part of the military machine should ie
destroyed through a sudden cessation of production.

" In determining, therefore, whether the Department should refuse to con-
tinue to receive deliveries of articles now being made at the instance of the
Government, * * * supply officers should consider first, whether or not
the particular article being produced can probably be dispensed with ; and,
second, whether or not the labor employed can immediately be released and
the production of the particular plant can suddenly be terminated without
undue injury to the industrinl military machine. Unless the discontinuance
of production can be so effected, deliveries should not be stopped, arrange-
ments being made, hoivever, for the tapering down of such production as speedily
as practicable."

In accord with this basic general policy, already determined upon and in

effect, it was decided by the Government at a conference held in Washington
between representatives of the Government and of our company, some time prior

to the date of the official memorandum just quoted, that there shnuld be no
abrupt stoppage of powder production at Old Hickory but that the operation
of that plant should be gradually redxiced to approximately 50 percent of

its maximum production on December 15, 1918, 25 percent by December 31, and
a complete cessation of production on January 15, 1919. This official policy

of a gradual tapering off of production, together with the necessities of closing

up numercius contracts for materials previously entered into under a general
procurement policy which had the full approval of the Government, must be
constantly borne in mind for a correct appraisal of many of Mr. Storck's
accusations.
To the same end, the vastness of the intended scale of operations at Old

Hickory, and the unexpected suddenness of the war's ending, must not be lost

sight of. A cardinal principle of all manufacture is the maintenance of ade-
quate stocks of raw materials to avoid interruptions in manufacture. Under
war conditions, at the plant which was to constitute the Government's largest

soui'ce of jiowder suppl.v, this necessity was accentuated. Along with the
final stage of construction at Old Hickory, and the initial stage of production
in the completed units, went the building up of sufficient working stocks of

raw materials and supplies to take care of the intended enormous ultimafe
volume of production, which upon completion of all nine units would have
reached by the end of December 1918, a total of not less than 900.000 poun^ls
of finished powder daily. The lack of any essential matei'ial would have
blocked or reduced this output; and the company's own prudence was reen-

forced by repeated urgings fi-fim the War Department that nothing should
be neglected which might impair or threaten the full force of the tremendous
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military effort intended for 1919. The materials left on hand at the close of

operations represented, therefore, not merely what was necessary for the
volume of production already attained, but the building up of the full stocks

which would have been required to support the intended ultimate volume of

production.
At first glance, both the individual items of materials which were left on

hand at Old Hickory by the sudden closing of the war and the grand total

of somewhat less than $6,000,000 worth of such surplus stocks, to anyone who
did not take into consideration conditions prior to the armistice, are apt to
seem excessive. The intended monthly output of this plant, however, would
have exceeded 24,000,000 pounds of powder, and that rate would have been
attained within about six weeks after the date of the armistice. If we
assume for purposes of convenient quick calculation that the ultimate manu-
facturing cost would have been 40 cents a pound and that half of this cost

would have been in raw materials and supplies, then it will be evident that
the above $6,000,000 of surplus stocks was equivalent to not more than about
a five weeks' supply. Obviously, in relation to ordinary manufacturing prac-
tice, and in view of the special conditions at that time prevailing, such provi-

sion must be regarded as being if anything deficient rather than excessive.

PARAGEAPHS 1 TO 3. CRITICISMS OF STORAGE OF RECORDS

On April 17, 1919, the Old Hickory Powder Plant, with all its records and
appurtenances, was turned over by the Du Pont Engineering Company to the
U. S. Government. We had from that date forward no control whatever over
the storage and handling of the Old Hickory records, and we are therefore
in no way responsil)le for the conditions reported as existing in September,
1923. Mr. Storck's reported " understanding " that Major O'Shaughnessy, by
wliose orders certain records are said to have been stored in a temporary
building in the powder area, " was formerly connected with the corporation of
E. I. du Pout de Nemours & Co.", is entirely without foundation, and is

further evidence of Mr. Storck's recklessness in making statements. Major
O'Shaughnessy was never in the employ of this company, nor of any of its

predecessor or subsidiary corporations, in any capacity whatsoever.

SECTION 4 ALCOHOL

Mr. Storck states that the War Department auditors took exception to
755,072 pounds of alcohol, valued at some $75,507, " which was shipped to the
plant after date of December 1, 1918." The fact is that no alcohol was
shipped to Old Hickory after December 1, 1918. The last shipment of that
material was made on November 29th, in accord with the policy of the Gov-
ernment as stated above. This was under a contract which had' been entered
into with one of the principal producers on April 12, 1918, and under which
the unshipped balance was subsequently cancelled. Mr. Storck's apparent con-
fusion of dates of invoices with dates of shipment and the circumstances
attending late shipments of raw materials to Old Hickory have been, we believe,
sufficiently explained hereinbefore.

FIIiST PARAGRAPH RELATIVE TO COTTON

The report indicates that nearly 13,700,000 pounds of this essential material
were shipped to Old Hickory after December 1st. The fact is that only about
one-fouith that quantity, somewhat over $3,600,000 pounds, was shipped to Old
Hickory alter December 1st; and of that total nearly half was in reforward-
ings of earlier shipments in correction of an error of the shipper for which the
du Pont Engineering Company v>as in no way responsible, and upon which the
Government was fully "made whole", as explained under "paragraph (a)"
below. All shipments of cotton to Old Hickory were in strict accord with the
policies and general instructions laid down by the Government itself, and were
approved by the duly authorized representatives of the Government.

PARAGRAPH (A) EELATIVE TO COTTON

Mr. Storck's statement that the plant at Nitro, West Virginia, was " a plant
of the parent company of the du Pont Engineering Company" is entirely with-
out foundation. The Nitro plant was built for the U. S. Government by the
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Thompsoii-Starrett Company under Government supervision. It was operated
by the Hercules Powder Ccmpany. Neither the du I'ont Company nor any of
its subsidiary companies, liad any interest whatever hi the plant at Nitre
or had had anything to do wltli its construction or operation, except that tlie

Company's experience and special knowledge, without any compensation, were
placed freely at the disposal of the Government in constructing it.

The shipments of cotton to Old Hickory from the du Pont Company's plant at
Hopewell, Virginia, were simply reforwardlngs in correction of an error which
had been made in the original shiijment by the Buckeye Cotton Oil Company,
which was the seller and shipper. This material had been bought for Old
Hickory and plain and complete instructions had been duly given for its ship-
ment there, but through some confusion or Inadvertence on the shipper's part
It was later discovered to have been sent to the du Pont Company's own plant
at Hopewell. This error was rectified at the expense of the shipper, without
cost to the Government. This Is all fully explained in Exhibit No. 1173,
under the title " In the Matter of Specific Items of Inquiry ", subtitle 4. Cotton
Llnters ", " Question 4." Mr. Stoi-ck's statement that " further Investigation
will disclose the fact that this cotton was purchased on requisition and pur-
chase orders for " the du Pont Company's own plants Is simply not true, and
we are at a loss to discover any foundation fcr that statement.

PARAGRAPH (B) UNDER COTTON

Here the charge Is that the du Pont Company collected an illicit profit through
the device of having another subsidiary (presumably du Pont American Indus-
tries) buy cotton and resell It to the du Pont Engineering Company at an ad-
vance in price for use at Old Hickory.
The facts are that, in order to avoid conflict in purchasing, the entire cotton

requirements for both old Hickory and the du Pont plants were bought to-

gether, with the full knovv-ledge and approval of the Government ; that under
certain purchase contracts providing fcT price adjustments of which the exact
effect could not be determined at the time of purchase, a temporary figure, suf-

ficient to Include the proljable maximum, was adopted for billing purposes, sub-

ject to later adjustment ; that this final adjustment was delayed through an
illness of the vice president of the du Pont Company having the matter in

charge ; and that the overcharge was shortly discovered by the Government's
auditors and promptly refunded to the Government, with interest, several years
in advance of the date of Mr. Storck's report. The full details of this and
certain related matters are set forth in exhibit no. 1173, under the head of
" Cotton Llnters ", Questions 1, 2, and 3.

PARAGRAPHS (C) AND (D) UNDER COTTON

The accusation that the du Pont Company recklessly paid excessive freight

charges, without checking the rates, will be found fully answered under the

subtitle " 5. Freight Charges " in exhibit no. 1173. The du Pont Engineering
Company was officially instructed by the War Department not to audit freight

bills "
0.S' thei/ wtcnded performing this function in Wafdiington" ; this instruc-

tion being further explained by the statement, " The main point of this is

that the traffic department (of the du Pont Company) would not know, or be

able to catch, errors of rates that the Government is entitled to on all ship-

ments." In accord with this instruction, freight bills were promptly paid
as rendered, and turned over to the Government for audit and collection of
overcharges.

It appears pertinent to add that since the Government at that time was
operating the railroads, any excess or deficiency in its freight collections would
have been, in any event, essentially a matter of transferring funds from one
Government pocket into another. The du Pont Company had nothing to gain
or lose from any such transfer. Mr. Storck apparently has an ingenious
theory that through permitting the Government to charge itself too much
freight, the du Pont Company could profit by some percentage on the excess
materials cost thus incurred. There was no such percentage. All these llnters

were bought, by arrangement with the Government, at a small flat fee per
bale ; and the company's compensation per pound of powder produced was, by
express contract provision, made Independent of variations in the delivered
cost of the essential materials.
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PARAGB.\PH.S (E), (F) , AND (G) UNDER COTTON

Mr. Storck accuses the dii Pont Company of robbing the Government thron.sh

false weights on cotton (meaning cotton linters). It would seem that the

extreme amount of excess in the several cases he cites might have suggested

the true nature of these discoveries; namely, that they were simply clerical

errors, of which a certain proportion is inevitable, especially in a task of

such magnitude and complexity as the construction and operation of the Old

Hickory plant under the stress of war-time conditions.

The facts in relation to this charge, including the exact details with respect

to each of the four shipments specitied by Mr. Storck, will be found fully set

forth in exhibit 1173, under the subhead " 4. Cotton Linters ", in our answer

to question 7. In every one of these cases, the weights billed to and paid

for by the Government were the actual weights received and not the grotesque

figures cited by IMr. Storck.

PARAGRAPH (H) UNDEPv COTTON

The alleged post-war sale by the Nashville Industrial Corporation has noth-

ing to do with the du Pont Company, which has never had any interest in or

control over that corporation.

CAUSTICIZING LIME

Contrary to Mr. Storck's statement, no shipments of this material were made
after December 1. 191S. The last sliipment was made on November 28th.

The statement that " Claims entered against the above-mentioned shipper
(T. L. Herbert & Sons), and acknowledged as correct by the railroad agent as

to weights, were weighed liy the contractor and paid in full ", is vague and am-
biguous, and we have been unalde to determine just what was meant by it.

In general, all incoming shipments of materials, upon arrival at Old Hickory
or as soon thereafter as the necessary work could be gotten through, were
weighed or counted, or the content measured and computed, and the quantities
^.hus determined to have been received were checked against copies of the sliip-

pers' invoices. Certification of this check was required before payment, except
where payment tipon conditional approval was necessary to protect cash dis-

counts. In all cases of indicated shortage, claims were tiled, against the ship-

per or the carrier, according to the circumstances of the individual case, and
pushed through to the point of collection or disproof, in the usual way. A sub-

stantial amount, covering a large number of such claims, was thus collected and
credited to the Government. Under the circumstances pi'evailing, it is not
claimed that the functioning of this system was perfect, or fully equal to that

of normal peace-time operation. The opportunity for collecting shortage and
damage claims was certainly not overlooked or neglected, however ; the work
of doing so was well organized and regularly carried on and the methods used
were identical with those followed on the company's own plants.

The procedure described was applied regularly to causticizing lime, just as

to all other materials.

NITRATE OF SODA PARAGRAPHS (A) -(E)

Mr. storck's statements and questions under this head betray an entire lack
of any real knowledge or luiderstanding of the subject. When the facts are
known, his charges for the most part lieconie ridiculous.

At the outset, the crucial importance of Chile nitrate was recognized by the
European Allies and by the United States, and all importations were placed
under strict Government control, as to both quantity and price. Primarily
this control was exercised by an international authority known as the " London
Executive ", made up of representatives of the British, French, and American
Governments. This international authority made its allocations to each of

the several countiies concerned and determined just when each country should
go into the Chilean market as a buyer. Within our country, under this general
guidance of the London Executive, the direct control of all purchases and
prices of nitrate of soda, was exercised by the " Nitrate Committee of the

United States", a creation of the War Industries Board, which remained under
the surveillance of tliat Board and in close official connection with it. The
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committee's membership included representatives of the four establislied im-
porting firms, W. R. Grace & Co., Wessel-Duval & Co., Gibbs & Co., and Du Pont
Nitrate Co. ; and as a war measure, the right to import was confined to tliese

four agencies, which were designated to purchase nitrate of soda for the needs,
first, of the War and Navy Departments and the Department of Agriculture,
and then for their own general requirements and tliose of otlier consumers.
The quantities to be purchased were allocated to the four authorized im-
porters on the basis of their comparative pre-war volume. Before being ren-
dered to the Ordnance Department, all accounts for nitrate of soda purchased
had to be submitted to, and approved by Mr. Ray Paige, representative of the
War Industries Board and office manager of the nitrate committee ; so that
the Government had a doulde check to see that all bills it paid for nitrate
were in accord with the established regulations and witli all contract provisions.

All nitrate of soda provided for use at Old Hickory was thus in effect bought
by the Government itself, through this rigid method of agency purchasing,
and not by the du Pont Engineering Ciimpany, as was the case with other
raw materials generally. The quantities bought were a direct function of

the Government's own schedule of powder requirements. The entire scope
of any and all du Pont participation in their procurement was under a standard
agency contract, dated May 2, 1918, under which the du Pont Nitrate Company
undertook to act as one of the Government's agents in buying and handling
the Chilean nitrate of soda for the Ordnance Department. Under this con-
tract approximately 191,000 tons of Chile nitrate were bought for the Govern-
ment, of which about 46,500 tons were shipped to Old Hickory. In addition, the
Government shipped to Old Hickory about 44,400 tons procured under similar
arrangements with other contractors.

When arrangements for procuring and handling nitrate of soda came to

be considered between the Government and the importers after the United
States entered the war, it was proposed by the du Pont Company's representa-
tive that this work be done for the Government at cost. That principle was
adopted. It was the feeling of the Government's representatives, ho^^ever,

that, for the sake of simplicity, certain minor elements of the total cost which
were somewhat difficult of exact determination had best be covered by definite,

predetermined allowances ; and it was accordingly agreed that in addition to

reimbursement of the amounts paid out as the purchase price of the material in
Chile and the necessary expenses paid directly for the assaying, loading, and
shipping of particular lots, the importers should be allowed % of 1% upon
the f. a. s. Chile price of the nitrate to cover their ordinary overhead expense
in Chile, plus five cents per ton of 2,240 pounds to offset the cost of their work
as agent of the United States in attending to the loading, sliipping, unloading,
and " caring for " this " property of the United States ", and its " transporta-
tion and distribution " from the ports of discharge in this country.
As a matter of fact, in case of the du Pont Nitrate Company, these allow-

ances did not exceed tlie actual costs involved, and are believed to have fallen

somewhat short of balancing them. There were no other allowances ; and
there was no profit whatever on this business to the du Pont Company or to

any of its subsidiaries.

The question, " Why place an additional price of six shillings a quintal at
shipside before the nitrate of soda was placed abviard ship for transportation
to point of delivery?" appears to be simply another of Mr. Storck's wild imagi-
nations. There was no such impost and nothing resembling it ; and we have
been utterly unal)le to determine what he is driving at. Six .^hillings a quintal
v.'ould have been about thirty dollars a ton. which, in relation to the values
involved, is a manifest absurdity. Possibly Mr. Storck's confusion here traces
back to the rate of six pcvce a quintal which was the standard differential

betv.'een the so-called " refined " and ordinary grades of nitrnte of soda. Or
maybe he was somehow misled by the freight cost of $25.00 a ton (fixed by
tlie War Industries Board), which, with the expenses described above and
amounting to about $5.00 a ton, would equal his figure of approximately
thirty dollars. These, however, are simply guesses; and we are unable here to

do more than guess at what may possibly have been in Mr. Storck's mind.
To forestall a possible misapprehension, it should perhaps be added that

the du Pont Nitrate Company itself, before and during the war, was a pro-

ducer of nitrate of soda in Chile. Its entire output during the period in
question, however, was at the rate of only about 2,00.) tons a month (in

comparison with the total of nearly 91,000 tons shipped to Old Hickory), or



MUNITIONS INDUSTRY 3523

less than 1% of the Chilean production. And of that small output, it happens
that the entire quantity was shipped to the parent company's own plants and
those of competitive explosives manufacturers, and no pound of this du Pont
nitrate went to Old Hickory.
The entire groundlessness of Mr. Storck's apparent belief that there was a

profit for the du Pont Company in loading Old Hickory up with excessive

stocks, or in shunting ofC upon Old Hickory surplus stocks from its own plants,

or that there was any failure on the part of the du Pont Company to discern

or act upon the " moral notice " in the signing of the armistice that the war
was probably at an end, has all, we believe, been sufficiently made plain above,

in the section headed " Some General Explanations." Tlie statement to which
he refers on the first page of the company's annual report for 1918, all per-

fectly true and significant in the present connection, is as follows

:

" The sudden ending of the war on November 11, 1918, brought about an
almost immediate curtailment of activities of E. I. du Pont de Nemours &
Company, and the few remaining weeks of the year 1918 were sufficient to

eliminate almost completely all munition business. The magnitude and rapid-

ity of this reduction is well illustrated in the shrinkage in number of em-
ployees at munition plants, of whom on November 11th there were 85,638

engaged on war orders, while on December 27th, 18,101 only remained on the

pay rolls. Ofiicers of the company encouraged the departments at Washington
to cancel all contracts quickly in order to save material and labor in pro-

ducing unnecessary explosives. It so happens that orders for the year 1918
were practically completed. Little will be done on contracts covering the first

six months of 1919. and no profit will be derived from the uncompleted portion
thereof. The contracts cancelled amounted to about $260,000,000."

SODA ASH

Oi»jection is raised against some 700,000 pounds of this material, having a
value of somewhat less than $11,000, alleged to have been shipped after Decem-
ber 1, 1918. An exhaustive examination of our records shows that there was no
shipment of soda ash made to Old Hickory after the time limit stated. The
final shipment was made on November 29, 1918.

CRUDE SULPHXm

Contrary to Mr. Storck's apparent conclusion, no sulphur was shipped to Old
Hickory after December 1, 1918. The last shipment was made on November
17th. The suggestion of " unloading " upon the Government has been dis-

posed of in the general explanations given above, in the first subtitled section
of this communication.
The guarding charges referred to in pai'agraph (b), amounting to a total

of soraewliat less than $5,000, were incurred in protecting part of the sulphur
for Old Hickory against the risk of fire in transit. Mr. Storck's complaint
with respect to these charges is that " Some cars required shows the ex-
penditure to be approximately 409o higher charges from the same point of
origin and for the same number of cars."

With a general shortage of rolling stock, numerous shipments of sulphur
had to be made in open cars. To safeguard this inflammable material against
sparks from the locomotive or ignition from some outside source, it was
necessary either to cover these cars or else to have them continuously watched
in transit. On a large volume of this material moving from the mine of the
Union Sulphur Company, in Louisiana, the latter of these expedients was
adopted as the less expensive, the shipments being bunched into trainloads
and " sulphur-train guards ", of two men each, being sent out with each train
to insure constant watchfulness.
For this irregular work, men were hired by the Union Sulphur Company at

point of origin as the opportunity afforded and under whatever arrangements
could best be made in the individual instance. Under war conditions, it seems
hardly surprising that the cost of these arrangements varied ; and this natural
variation was accentuated by differences in the number of cars to the train
and by the fact that in some instance the railroads used circuitous routes
around points of traffic congestion, thus considerably lengthening the time in
transit. The files show that this variation was promptly questioned by the due
Pont Engineering Company and that the unavoidable reasons for it were satis-
factorily explained by the Union Sulphur Company.
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SULPHUEIC ACID

Complaint is made that sulphuric acid was hought from tl)e Mineral Point
Zinc Company at $34.84 a ton within a weelv of the time when purchases were
made from the Grasselli Chemical Company at $28.00 a ton. The reason for
this price difference was that the acid hought from- the Mineral Point Zinc
Company was of the concentrated grade known as " oleum ", while the Gras-
selli purchase was of 66° acid, of sutistantinlly lower concentration. On the
basis of actual H-..S04 content, the prices tor the two purchases were practically
identical ; and the difference in gross price was in accord with the prevailing
trade diU'erential for these two commercial grades. Contrary to Mr. Storck's
insinuation, the Mineral Point Zinc Company was not a Du Pont subsidiary ;

and the du Pont Company has never had any ownership or interest whatever
in that concern.

It appears worth while to add that tlie main volume of all Old Hickory's sul-
phuric acid requirements was produced by an acid unit which was part of tlie

plant itself, and that the entire purcliases with which Mr. Storck is here con-
cerning himself amounted to only about 1/2 of 1% of the total of all sulpliuiic

acid produced and provided for use at Old Hickory.

Contrary to Mr. Storck's statement, no solder was shipped to Old Hickory
after December 1, 1918. The last shipment was made on or shortly before
November 16th. The constantly recurring charge of "unloading" has Iieeu

sufficiently considered above, in the section headed " Some General Explanation."

CAST-IRON BORINGS

The memorandum challenges a price of $22.06 per long ton on some 1,2C0 tons
of this material bought from Joseph Bros., of Cincinnati, in comparison with
a pii' e of $16.30 for about SO tons of cast-iron borings from John C. Kane, of
Phil'.idelphia ; and here again the question is raised of whether tlie du Pont
Company " is interested financially in Joseph Bros."
The du Pont Company, directly or indirectly, had no interest, financial or

otherwise in Josepli Bros., and has never had, except as an occasional customer.
Cast-iron borings are, of course, a byproduct, and hence of somewhat uncertain
market value, wliich, as in case of all such products, tends to be erratic. More-
over, the materials grouped under this term vary widely in cliaracter and in

actual worth. For example, at the present time (April 1935), the du Pont
Company is paying for cast-iron borings prices which range all the way from
$8.00 to $20.00, according to quality. So far as we can discover, there v.'as

nothing exceptional about the prices paid either to Kane or to Joseph Bros.

;

and tlie difference noted was simply the normal market result of the differ-

ences of time and place of purchase and character of the product.

POWDER BAGS

Mr. Storck states that 10.500 bags were bought from a New York House at
01 cents each and 220 bags from a local concern in Nashville at a price of $1.70,

and adds that "These latter bags should (not?) have been taken on at the
difference in price and it is the opinion of your investigator that if a further
investigation is made, it would be found that these bags were obsolete as con-

tainers of powder,"
Bags are, of course, not used as shipping containers for powder, but only to

some extent for handling the material on the plant ; and neither of the pur-
chases referred to lias anything to do with the silk bags in which the powder
charges are loaded for large-caliber artillery.

Here Mr. Storck's error lies in assuming that the two lots of bags were in

any way equivalent. The 61-cent bags were of a standard, lined burlap con-

struction, in regular use; while the snii'Jl lot of $1.70 bau's were made to

order locally, of 10-ounce canvas, for an experimental purpose. A price com-
parison between the two things so radically dissimilar is a manifest absurdity

;

and if it be contended that the experimental expenditure of $374 here in ques-
tion should not have been made, the answer is that the du Pont Company's
continual searcli for new and improved methods throughout the war resulted
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in saving millions of dollars in tiie cost of manufacturing powder, to tlie great
benefit of the United States and its European Allies as well as the company
itself.

BOX SHOOKS

The implications of the memorandum under this head are for the most part
simply a repetition of the familiar charges of excess procurement, shipments
after December 1st, and " unloading ", as to all of which we believe enough
has been said above, under the head of " Some General Explanation " and
elsewhere.
Shook requirements for the special zinc-lined containers used for shipping

and storing smokeless powder are rather exacting ; and with the tremendous
stimulation of manufactures and overseas shipments of all kinds prevailing in

1918, the procurement of an adecjuate supply of powder boxes had become a
problem of recognized importance and some difficulty. The necessary shooks
for Old Hickory and the du Pont Company's own powder plants were in part
bought complete from oiitside source^ and in part made up in the company's own
shops. Under date of September IS, 191S, the company's purchasing agent re-

sponsible for box procurement wrote to the head of its smokeless-powder operat-
ing department, " There seems to be a shortage of shook and box capacity in the
country as compared with the country's reciuirements, and it seems absolutely
necessary we make, without further delay, new contracts for further qualities of

shooks, for the following reasons." There followed a concise analysis of the ex-

isting situation, under some six heads, indicating the necessit.v of a reasonably
liberal procurement policy. Without containers to transport to the front, the
powder would not have any military value. As late as October 14th, an order
was rpcei^ed from the Ordnance Department for 500,000 additional Ijoxes, with
the intimation that the pending completion of their own study of " the entire box
situation " would probably result in additional orders.

There was provided for Old Hickory a total of approximately 300,000 shooks.
The total output of powder actually produced there was. in round numbers,
about 35,000,000 pounds. That quantity, at the average of about 140 pounds
per l)ox, required 250,000 boxes, or with the conversion loss of about 4% in

making up shooks into boxes, approximating 260,000 shooks. There was thus
a surjdus, in one form or another, equivalent to about 40,000 shooks, left in the
Government's hands by the sudden ending of the war. That quantity, at the
impending production rate of somev>'hat over 24,000,000 pounds of powder
monthly, would have been sufficient to pack less than one week's output of
powder.
The salvage sale of surplus shooks referred to in the report was made by

the Government, at some time after the entire plant and its stocks, ap-
purtenances, and records were turned over to it by the du Pont Engineering
Company, on April 17, 1919. Tlie reported lack of certain vouchers in the
plant files in 1923 is a matter similarly outside the scope of our knowledge
or control.

StTLPHATE ALUMINA

Here criticism is made of a price of 2% cents a pound plus loading charges
paid to the Harrison Works, a du Pont subsidiary, in comparison with prices
ranging as low as 1% cents paid to others; and Mr. Storck remarks that "it
is again apparent that the contracior bought through their subsidiaries at a
profit to themselves."

Sulphate of alumina is used for water purification. Old Hickory, with total
working forces running up to 50,000 persons, a plant village built to take care
of a resident population of 30,000, and a filter plant of 65,000,000 gallons daily
capacity, required large quantities of that material. Of the total of some SCO
tons, approximately three-fourths was provided under contractual arrange-
ments with the Kalbfleisch Corporation, having a nearby plant at Chat-
tanooga. Tenn., at an average cost, including a final settlement of $3,400 for
cancellation of the unshipped balance, equal to approximately 2iV cents a
pound.
From this regular source of supply, shipments were begun in May and

continued at frequent intervals until the latter part of November. In the
early fall of 1918, however, a general condition of shortage developed in the
sulphate of alumina mai-ket, with sharply advanced prices for " spot " de-
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liveries, Tlae Kalbfleisch plants at Chattanooga and at Brie, Pa., were unable

to supply the full needs of Old Hickory, and it was necessary to lind other

sources for part of the required material.

In these circumstances, five cars of this material were taken in September
from the Harrison works, at the price of 21/2 cents reported by Mr. Storck,

which was entirely in accord with current market conditions at the Atlantic

seaboard. In procuring this supplementary supply, the du Pont purchasing
agent dealt with the Harrison unit on the same basis as with any other pro-

ducer; the acute question at that time, however, w;is that of deliveries rather

than price. Harrison's own regular customers, within its logical shipping

territory, were already taking that planfs full output of sulphate of alumina,

and additional orders were not desired ; .in fact, by early November the Harri-

son plant plant was approximately 65 cars behind in filling the orders from
its own contract customers.
On the 5 cars furnished by Harrison's, the total extra cost cited by Mr.

Storck, including the loading charges ($65 for two cars, not one as he states),

amounted to about $1,100 or $1,20<). This in no way represented any special

advantage to that du Pont subsidiary, however, since ample other outlets were
at that time available at the same figure or higher for the full output of the

Harrison plant ; and the material needed at Old Hickory could not then have
been secured at a lower price from any other source.

The Oil, Paint, and Drug Reporter's market quotations throughout the month
of September 1918 stood at 2 to 31/2 cents a pound, the wide spread between
these figures and the sharp advance from the prices of the early months of

the year indicating plainly the unsettled condition of the market and the

necessity of paying a premium for '" spot " deliveries.

Complaint is made that shipments of this material from the du Pont Com-
pany's plant at Deepwater, N. J., were billed to Old Hickory at 30 cents a
gallon, plus a loading charge of $10.00 a car, " while sliippers from Woodward,
Alabama, received 20 to 30 cents a gallon." The data cited are correct except
that the loading charge applied to only one of the five cars shipped from
Deepwater, and the minimum price paid by Old Hickory on shipments from
Alabama was 22 cents instead of 20 cents, while the Alabama shippers received

a uniform price of 26 cents a gallon for all their shipments to Old Hickory and
du Pont plants, under a contract which the du Pont Company had with them.
Mr. Storck's comparison is deficient, however, in that (1) no account is taken
of the regularly prevailing price differential for shipments in drums over
shipments in tank cars; (2) no allowance is made for the difference between
taking delivery in tank cars furnished by the buyer or by the seller; and (3)

the comparison ignores the difference in time of shipments and the fact that
the market on benzol declined over the period in question.

Old Hickory's total intake of benzol was approximately 168,000 gallons. Of
that quantity, less than 22,000 gallons, or slightly more than one-eighth, was
furnished out of the du Pont Company's own prfiduetion. The shipments from
the du Pont Company were all made early, on May 7th and 8th and June
5th and 6th ; and at that time the market was relatively high. Moreover,
owing to lack of storage-tank capacity at Old Hickory at the start, these early
shipments had to be made in drums, and the)-e was an established price differ-

ential in the trade of usually about 5 cents a gallon for drum over tank-car
shipments. Finally, the price which Old Hickory paid for the seven-eighths
of its benzol received from the Alabama producer was influenced by the fact
that tlie du Pont Company furnished the tank cars in which it was shipped
and made no specific charge for the use of them.
For a more complete understanding of this matter, it is necessary to review

briefly the entire subject of the du Pont Company's benzol procurement in

3918. First, it may be noted that benzol is the basic raw material from which
was produced the rather minute proportion (about 0.4 of 1%) of diphenylamine
used as a stabilizer in smokeless powder. Also, that it is of byproduct charac-
ter, being derived from the distillation of the " light oil " from coal tar pro-
duced in byproduct coke ovens, or from the " scrubbing " of illuminating gas.

From all this it follows that benzol is a material of relatively slight vreight

in the total cost of making smokeless powder but of crucial importance to the
product itself, and that its procurement is attended with the uncertainties
which are characteristic of byproduct derivatives generally, and which are
naturally accentuated under war-time conditions.
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Late in 1917, under the influence of an earlier experience of great diffi-

culties in securing adequate supplies of coal-tar chemicals, the policy was
adopted by the du Pont Company of being forehanded with their procurement,
and contracts were made in advance for the entire expected requirements
of benzol for the year 1918. Tliere was of course the chance that the market
might decline before the expiration of the 1918 contracts. On the other hand,
there was protection against a possible advance, better assurance of a neces-

sary supply, and the incentive of obtaining substantial concession.s under the
prices prevailing at the time the contracts were made by offering the sellers

the inducement of a "back-log" of assured, regular consumption.
The earlier diflBculties had led to active developmental work on the part of

the du Pont Company, by which the sources of supply for coal-tar chemicals
were considerably broadened and prices reduced, and of which one result was
the establishment of the company's own fractionating unit at Deepwater. The
major part, however, of the entire 1918 benzol requirements of the du Pont
Company's various plants using that material, and of Old Hickory, was made
secure under four contracts with regular byproduct producers, for equal
monthly' deliveries in tank cars from January to December inclusive, as
follows

:

Seller
Total
gallons

Price F.o.b.
Cars fur-

nished
by-

Woodward Iron Co
Barrett-Semet Solvay
Barrett-Bethlehem Steel

Corrigan McKinney

600,000
360, 000
240, 000
600,000

Cents
26
30
30
30

Woodward, Ala..
Solvav, N. Y
S. Bethlehem, Pa
Cleveland, Ohio..

Buyer.
Seller.

Seller.

Buyer.

The recognized source of market information on chemicals is the weekly
trade journal, Oil, Paint, and Drug Reporter. Its quotations are commonly
accepted as authoritative. According to this source, the f.o.b. shipping point
prices on benzol during 1918 ranged from a high of 45 cents a gallon at the be-
ginning down to a low of 22 cents at the end of the year. Since the total U. S.

production of benzol in 1918 was approximately 50 million gallons, it is evident
that the above contracts, aggregating less than 2 million gallons, could not
have had any controlling effect in determining the market level.

The above-described contracts, which had been entered into by the du Pont
Company in the latter part of 1917, were meant to cover the probable full 1918
l)enzol requirements for the procurement of which the company might be
responsible. When the responsibility for Old Hickory's needs became fixed
through the du Pont Engineering Company, this provision Was found sufficient

to include them, and further purchases were not made. These contracts, how-
ever, had been entered into before the authorit.v had been finally conferred upon
the du Pont Company to buy for Old Hickory ; and under a subsequently
declining market, the general princinle was followed of billing the shijinients

to the Government plant at current market value, and letting the du Pont
Company absorb the difference.

The shi)iments to Old Hickory in drums from the du Pont Company's own
plant, in May and early June, were billed at 30 cents, in accord with tlie then
prevailing market. After these initial shipments, all fvu'ther benzol for Old
Hickory was ordered out in tank cars from the nearby source in Alabama, in

order to give that plant the advantage of the favorable freight rate. These
shipments were billed by the du Pont Engineering Company, and by it to the
Government, at "the fair market price" as nearly as we could determine it.

The actual billings ranged from a high of 28 cents a gallon in July to a low
of 22 cents in November. In every case, these shipments wei^e made in du
Pont tank cars. For these cars, no specific charge was made to the Govern-
ment, though their use was naturally influential to some extent in determining
the various successive billing prices of the benzol.

The complete record of du Pont billings per gallon on benzol to Old Hickory
in comparison with the high- and low-market prices for each month as recorded
by the Oil, Paint, and Di'ug Reporter is ns fellows. It should be remembered
that the Old Hickory shipments of the first two months were made in drums
and that the shipments for the ensuing five months were in tank cars owned
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and furnished for this purpose by the du Pont Company, for the use of which
no specific charge was made:

Months of 1918
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As soon as tlie serious nature of this tlireat became apparent, comprehensive
measures were talien by the management to cope with this extraordinary situ-

ation. With the cooperation of tlie U. S. Health Service, and with the de-

voted aid of a small group of nuns in nursing especially the foreign element
of their faith, every practicable effort was made to give proper medical and
nursing attention to the stricken. The former medical staff of 26 physicians
was approximately trebled ; about one hundred new employees were quickly re-

cruited for the regular body of tirst-aid men and nurses; and a number of
temporary hospitals were at once imprcnised and brought into use. There was
no panic : and the mea.sures adopted were deliberate, well organized, and we
believe reasonably adequate and entirely proper. Inevitably, there w;is snme
confusion and lack of perfection in the methods and facilities so hastily de-
veloped; but the results, we believe, will be found to have compared favorably
with those obtained anywhere else under circumstances at all comparable.
Wherever the patient's condition was observed to be desperate, and in every

case of death, efforts were made to establish contact with the relatives or near
friends of the victim. These in many cases came to Nashville, or provided the
necessary cost of special hospital attention or of burial. In some cases of
deaths the establishment of contact with distant relatives was prevented by the
insistence of the State health authorities, perhaps reasonable and proper, upon
interment within a definite period.

AVhere the necessary funds were not available from private sources, an ap-
peal was made to the county authorities to provide burials, but they declined
to stand this expense, on the ground that many of the victims were not regular
residents of Davidson County or of Tennessee, nor a permanent part of the
community. Arrangements were then made with the local authorities for
space in an established burial ground, at a rate of $11.00 for each burial ; and
similar general arrangements were made with Wiles Brothers, a firm of under-
takers in Nashville, for the interments. The things done in each case by Wiles
Brothers included embalming the body, providing a coffin, transporting the re-

mains to the cemetery, and the actual work of burial. At the outset, a rate
of $75.00 for these services was informally agreed upon ; shortly afterward
this was reduced at the company's demand to $55.00, on account of the in-

creased volume of work ; and when the lull force of the plague became apparent,
a rate of $32.00 per liurial was arrived at by further active negotiati(m l/etween
Wiles Brotbers and representatives of the company. Where the victims of the
epidemic died without funds and without relatives or friends who could pro-

vide the cost, these necessary miniuuun burial expenses, which the local author-
ities had refused to pay, were paid by the du Pont Engineering Company and
charged to the Government as a necessary part of the expense of the Old
Hickory undertaking. In many cases, however, the records indicate that small
unpaid balances of wages were finally credited to the Government in part pay-
ment of these burial charges.
The specifications for coffins and burials provided by local law were ob-

served, and the results are believed to have been comparable with those gen-
erally prevailing in case of burials at public expense. The undertaking work
provided at Government expense was all done by Wiles Brothers because no
other undertakers within reach were found equipped and willing to undertake
it on an equally favorable basis. Relatives providing the expense of burials,

of course, made their owni choice of undertakers, and their own financial ar-

rangements with the firms chosen. About three-fourths of the total numbers
of burials necessary were thus privately provided for.

In the absence of any citation by him of examples, it is somewhat difficult

to reply to Mr. Storck's accusation of duplicate payments of hospital expense
without credit to the Government. We can discover no evidence of an.v such
case, or for any element of that nature in the final findings of the Government's
investigators, though it is, of course, not impossible that .some instance of that
sort may have escaped the vigilance of both the company's and the Government's
accountants. In general, where patients or their x-elatives w^ere able to pay
for hospital care, the arrangements, were made privately between them and
some one of the hospitals in Nashville, and did not figure in any way in the

du Pont Engineering Company's accounting. In connection with the question
of extravagance in hospital care provided at Government expense, it is per-

haps significant that the records of the hospital charges paid by the com-
pany indicate a uniform rate of only $2 per day per patient.

Mr. Storck's statement about the handling of corpses without clothing is an
echo of a charge which had some local currency and which was taken up by
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the Tennessee State Health Department. There was certainly no general con-
dition corresponding with this charge, and we believe it was entirely unjusti-
fied. The company's representatives suggested at once to the authorities who
were ct»nsidering this matter that any number or all of the recently interred
bodies be exhumed, and offered to stand the entire expense of this work and
of providing proper rel)urials if in any single instance this accusation was
found justitied ; but the authorities, after investigation, thought it not worth
while to act upon this proposal.

As is usual in connection with calamities of this sort, some of the worst
as well as the best in human nature was apparent. In two cases, one involving
a male nurse and the other an office worker, employees were caught attempting
to pilfer the personal effects of influenza patients who had died. Both men
were immediately discharged.
Although not entirely explicit on this point, Mr. Storck's report seems to

indicate the view on his part that the expenditures made for the measures
described above and charged into costs at Old Hickory were an unwarranted
used of Government funds. We believe not. The case was comparable to one
of shipwreck, and the simple things done for the unfortunate victims of this

plague were in response to basic claims of humanity which we believe trans-

cend the technical considerations with which Mr. Storck concerned himself.

No greater degree of liberality was indulged in under du Ponti management
at Old Hickoi-y than in the company's own plants, which were under its

exclusive ownership as well as operation. IMoreover, every expenditure made
was either authorized on the spot at the time, or thereafter approved, by
the duly accredited representatives of the Government. Finally, Army officers

who, with the aid of operatives from the Department of Justice, investigated
this whole matter actively at Old Hickory in 1919, professed themselves fully

satisfied.

In general, taking all of Mr. Storck's charges imder this head compre-
hensively in review, it may be said that the stories he relates are a manifest
repetition of the sensational gossip which became current in certain quarters
around Nashville, and which was probably traceable in large measure to the
disgruntlement of certain former employees who had been discharged for cause.

MASON & HAKGEB CO. SXJBCONTKACTORS

The subject of the employment of the Mason & Hanger Company is broadly
covered in exhibit no. 1173 under the subhead " Mason & Hanger Company."
It may be pointed out here, however, that when the War Department finally

decided to have one of its powder plants built by the du Pont Company, speed
was of the essence of the undertaking. Powder plants must be in locations
somewliat remote ; and one of the first things necessary was to build some
eight miles of railroad connecting the plant site with established transporta-
tion lines in order to bring in the necessary construction materials. For this

job, the schedule worked out by the du Pont engineers allowed only thirty
days ; and to save time, it was found desirable to employ at once an established
firm of railroad contractors who would be already provided with the necessary
steam shovels and other heavy equipment regularly used for railroad con-
struction.

For this purpose, the Mason & Hanger Company, a well-established, highly
regarded firm of contractors, located in the adjacent State of Kentucky, were
at once selected and engaged. It developed that the firm had also been doing
some cantonment work; and its already organized construction crews in that
field were thrown into the job of building the necessary plant village, under
the engineering supervision of the du Pont organization. The construction
of certain general facilities, and especially the heavy work of cutting down
hills and grading for plant units, for which the Mason & Hanger Company
were already equipped and organized, was entrusted to tliem, while the du
Pont engineering and construction forces proper concentrated their direct
efforts upon the building of the huge plant, or aggregation of plants, itself.

The performance of the Mason & Hanger Company in the physical execution
of the work enti'usted to them, and their willing spirit of fair dealing in the
business relatiimsliip involved, were found to be fully in accord witli the ex-
cellent reputation they had been known to enjoy. Their compensation (some-
what reduced by concessions they freely made upon questionable iMtints) was
on the basis of cost plus 5% ; and since the work they did amounted to about
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one-fourth of the total construction cost of Old Hickory, it may be said that
the du Pont company's fee of one dollar for building that plant covered the
direct execution of three-fourths of the actual work of construction plus the
general supervision of, and responsibility for, the remaining fourth.
Mr. Storck charges an overpayment in fees to the amount of some $826,000.

That amount, we assume, he arrived at by the simple expedient of applying
against the contract rate of 5% for overhead and profit which was paid to
Mason & Hanger Company upon approximately $21,500,000 worth of construc-
tion work an obscure War Department regulation limiting the fee which could
be paid to a subcontractor to $250,000.
Neither the du Pont Company nor its officers had any knowledge of this

regulation, and never knew of it until after the work was completed, when this
technical question was raised in 1920 in one of the numerous audits following
the armistice. The contract between the Government and the du Pont Engi-
neering Company for the construction and operation of Old Hickory made no
mention, and gave no intimation, of any such regulation, but expressly author-
ized the Company to sublet any part of the necessary construction ; and the
contract with the Mason & Hanger Company, before being entered into, had been
submitted to and approved by, the Government's own " Special Director ", repre-
senting the Secretary of War. Moreover, there were numerous subsequent ap-
provals by duly authorized Government representatives of the payments made
by the du Pont Engineering Company in settlement of this previously approved
5% fee to Mason & Hanger Company.
When this question came at last to be settled, the whole matter was referred

finally to the Attorney General, who, after active and no doubt thorough con-
sideration, officially decided that the limitation in question had no proper appli-

cation to the Mason & Hanger contract and that the entire amount of the 5%
fee which had been paid by the du Pout Engineering Company was fully

warranted under its contract with the Government, and settlement was made
accordingly.

UNBEILATED ITEMS LISTED UNDEIR UEAU OF MASON & HANGEK CO.

Under the same heading, but evidently with no actual relation whatever to
the Mason & Hanger Company, Mr. Storck lists six other items, aggregating
approximately 681,000, which he says (correcting obvious errors of typing)
" cannot in any sense of the word be allowed ", and three more items, amount-
ing to just over $708,000, of which he thinks that " a portion may be accepted
by a claim board acting for the Secretary of War." The entire nine items, with,

such comment as appears necessary, are, in order, as follows

:

1. "Inapplicable administrative expenses (E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.)^
$171,872.26."

We have been unable to determine with certainty just what was in Mr,
Storck's mind at this point. Although the figures do not agree, it appears most
likely that he refers to the expenses of managerial and supervisory employees
of E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, incurred while engaged on necessary
work which was done in various departments of the parent company as part of
the undertaking to construct and operate the Old Hickory plant, and therefore
charged to the Government.
The du Pont Engineering Company was of course not a fully self-contained

and independent unit. On the contrary, in accord not only with the full knowl-
edge but also with the active desires of the Government, the entire resources
of the parent company were held fully at its disposal ; and wherever a particular
undertaking or activity could be carried out more advantageously at Wilming-
ton or by some branch of the Wilmington organization, that course was fol-
lowed. A careful account was kept of the time expended by du Pont Company
employees on each of the several du Pont Engineering Company projects; and
charges were made accordingly, on a project basis.

In addition to the " direct " elements of the cost of this work, such as the
salaries of the engineers, draftsmen, purchasing agents, traffic men, and so
on, immediately engaged in it, there was, of course, a corresponding apportion-
ment of the supervisory costs of the several Wilmington departments involved.
This " indirect " expense was arrived at in each department by the usual
method of simply prorating the total of such indirect costs for each month
over the direct costs of all the projects handled, in proportion to volume.
The total indirect, or administrative, expense of E. I. du Pont de Nemours

83876—35—PT 14 24
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& Company thus charged agaiust the Old Hickory construction and operation
projects was as follows

:

Construction:
Engineering Dept
Purchasing Dept
Traffic Dept

Operating:
Smokeless Powder Operating Dept-
Purchasing Dept—
Traffic Dept

Salary and
traveling
expense

$54, 692. 45

14, 960. 45

83, 776. 45

3, 045. 90

156, 475. 25

All other
indirect

$63, 904. 98
8, 522. 23

3, 736. 95

6, 665. 15

1, 725. 28
757 50

85, 312. 09

Total indi-
rect ex-

pense

$118, 597. 43
8, 522. 23

18, 697. 40

90, 441. 60
1, 725. 28
3, 803. 40

241, 787. 34

In the final settlement, the above first-column total of $156,475.25 for salaries

and traveling expense was approved and paid. Exception was taken by the
Government auditors on technical grounds, however, to the second-column
total of $85,312.09 for all other indirect expense, in which had been included
an entirely similar appo^'tionment of the equally real costs for rent, light,

fuel, ofiice supplies, and the various other items which go to make up the
necessary cost of maintaining staff oi'ganizations ; and jn the interest of

securing a final settlement, this exception was accepted by the company.
2. "Shop orders (contractors' allowed credit), $88,376.71."

The plant equipment and machinery used in the modern manufacture of

smokeless powder is largely of special character, and to a considerable extent
of du Pont design. Under the conditions prevailing when the company under-
took to build the Old Hickory plant for the Government, it appeared unsafe
to risk the delays that might be involved in placing orders for the necessary
special equipment with commercial machine shops. By agreement between
the company and the Government, it was therefore at once decided that the
du Pont Company would itself build this equipment ; and suitable additional
machine-shop facilities at Wilmington were bought for this purpose, brought
under the management of the company's engineering department, and at once
converted to the production, at high speed, of the necessary special equipment
for the Old Hickory plant.

The manufacture of this machinery was, of course, not in any ordinary
sense a part of the undertaking to build the Old Hickory plant, which the
company had agreed to do without profit. If the quite proper alternative had
been adopted of contracting with commercial manufacturers for the produc-
tion of this machinery, they would naturally have earned profits ; and in
undertaking this separate though related venture at the cost of a substantial
investment and a considerable risk, it was the company's feeling that it should
be similarly compensated. This view was shared by the Government's rep-
resentatives ; and on the same date with the signing of the final Old Hickory
contract, a separate agreement was executed with the Government under which
the du Pont Company was authorized to build this machinery for Old Hickory
in its own shops for cost plus 10%.

Subsequently, however, the du Pont Company voluntarily waived its right to
this 10% compensation, and settled with the du Pont Engineering Company
on the basis of actual costs, including amortization of the special facilities
which had been provided for producing this equipment. The total amount of
the agreed compensation thus waived by the company was approximately
$734,000, while the amount of amortization included in the charges was about
$475,000, making the saving which resulted to the Government from this
voluntary concession approximately $259,000.

3. "Railroad charges (N. C. & St. L. Rv.), $110,000.00."
4. "Audit of subcontracts (N. C. & St. L. Ry. and T. C. R. R.), $131,447.14."
5. " Duplicate payments made to N. C. & St. L. Ry. on subcontracts,

$112,081.92."
After persistent study, we are unable to determine just what Mr. Storck is

driving at in his enumeration of these three items.
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Prior to the dii Pont Company's taking hold for the Government at Old
Hickory, a contract had heen made by tlie Government with the N. C. & St. L.

Railway to build the necessary spur line from its tracks to the plant site,

on the basis of cost plus 10%. When the du Pont Company became re-

sponsible for the Old Hickory undertaking, serious concern was felt by it as
to the promptness with which the railroad might be able to complete this

vital preliminary work ; and the company arranged, with the Government's
approval, to have this job taken over by the Mason cSc Hanger Company, who,
as explained above, were well organized and successful railroad contractors
with ample equipment, and whom it induced to build this spur line on
a cost plus 5% basis, thus saving 5% to the Government. Of course, this

rearrangement involved paying the N. O. & St. L. Railway for the work
already done by them.

Mr. Storck's figures, however, do not appear to tie in with those involved
in these arrangements, nor with any particular amounts which became impor-
tant in the long course of investigations and discussions leading up to the
final settlement ; and we are at a loss to make any comment on his figures

without the opportunity of finding out definitely what he had in mind. Perhaps
it is a sufficient answer here to say that no such items were disallowed in the
final settlement, which presumably embodied all the Government's important
findings after years of study by the War Department and the Department of
Justice of all the \vide range of questions which had been raised and accusa-
tions which had been made against the company, including those in the Storck
memorandum. It would appear most likely that these three items represent
simply another of the numerous mare's nests of which the fabric of that
remarkable document is largely constructed.

6. " Pay-roll overpayments, $61,591.94."

Here again, we have been unable to determine just what Mr. Storck had in

mind. No such item or amount figures in the disallowances which were in-

cluded in the final settlement, nor, so far as we can now discover, in the
attendant discussions. The final settlement did include disallowances of what
the Government construed as slight excesses in the payment by the du Pont
Engineering Company of termination allowances to salaried employees, and of

return traveling expenses allowed to both pay roll and salaried employees, but
the total of these items was only a small fraction of the amount referred to here
by Mr. Storck. There were, so far as we can now discover, or so far as the
final settlement indicates, no pay-roll overpayments of any consequence ; and
approximately $1.50.000 in unclaimed wages was turned over to the Government
at the time of the final settlement on October 31, 1925.

7. " Meritorious bonus, $151,355.00."

It has been for many years a regular principle of operation of the du Pont
Company to pay special awards, or bonuses, for outstandingly meritorious and
productive service. Such bonuses, although contingent as to occurrence and
amount, are not gratuities, but part of the employee's compensation, and ai*e

so recognized by the Government in its collection of income taxes. In the
practice of the du Pont Company, these bonus awards are of relatively moder-
ate individual amounts and of relatively wide-spread occurrence among men
who successfully carry out important responsibilities. The conditional right

of outstandingly capable employees to receive such awards is well established

by long usage in the company, and is therefore one of the regular incentives

for ambitious men to enter and remain in its employment and give their best

efforts in support of its imdertakings. This principle of seeking to relate the
ultimate reward to the actual results and value of the service rendered is

believed to be in accord with the fundamentals of human nature, and therefore
sound and " good business ", and its successful application is among the factors

to which such success as the company has been able to achieve is accredited.
In undertaking for the Government the enormous task of building and oper-

ating the Old Hickory powder plant, it was thought highly important to have
the advantage of this principle : the more so because the men upon whose
individual performance in the direction and control of this work success must
depend, were for the most part accustomed to this principle of du Pont Com-
pany operation, and because the circumstances of the undertaking maile it

important to overlook no opportunity for calling forth the last unit of " drive"
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and i-esoiux-efulness in completing every successive step of the task at the

earliest possible moment.
In the discussions which attended formulation of the contract, this view

was"^shared by the representatives of the Government; and in the contract

itself, provision was expressly made for paying extra compensation in order

to expedite the work of construction, subject to the approval of the contract-

ing officer, and for charging such payments into the cost of construction.

Since the plant was to be built for actual cost plus one dollar, the propriety

and necessity of this last provision, in relation to the cost of constriwtion,

will be apparent. In operating the plant, on the other hand, the contract pro-

vided compensation for the du Pont Engineering Company, v.nd all bonus
awards were made and paid by the company itself, without any suggestion

of passing the cost of the operating bonuses along to the Government.
In accord with the relevant provision of the contract, the express approval

of the Government's contracting officer was secured for the awards proposed
before any award was made. Subsequently, when this element of construction

cost came to be questioned in the course of the long and active review which
preceded the final settlement of October 31, 1925, the principle was reaffirmed

and the charge for bonus awards was finally approved as a proper expenditure
to be reimbursed by the Government.
The total amount of all bonuses awarded and charged to the Government

for outstanding work in the construction of the Old Hickory plant was $151,355.

The total cost of construction on which these awards were based (including

the approximately $21,00,000 of work done by the Mason & Hanger Company
under du Pont Engineering supervision) was approximately $84,000,000. The
results speak for themselves. We believe there can be no question, not only

that this expenditure was entirely regular and proper and in accord with the

contract between the du Pont Engineering Company and the Government,
but also that it was a sound and productive expenditure, which more than
justified itself in the results obtained.

In this connection, reference is also made to the statements below under
the headig " The Investigation ", item no. 6, " Bonus Awards."

8. " Extra compensation, wages, and salaries paid after discontinuing serv-

ices (no services rendered), $286,319.47."

It has for many years been the practice of the du Pont Company to pay
to salaried employees whose service is discontinued through no fault of their

own, one month's salary, in lieu of notice. This practice was carried out at

Old Hickory, just as it was at the company's own plants.

It was the manifest intent of the Government in connection with the Old
Hickory undertaking, confirmed in numerous express authorizations, that the
du Pont Company's successful labor policies and established practices in its

relations with its employees should be followed. Moreover, the Old Hickory
contract provided that in the event of cancelation by the Government, " the
United States will hold the contractor harmless from all loss resulting from
such cancelation, exclusive of any projts." On these grounds, it was believed,

and this belief was fully concurred in by the authorized representatives of the
Government, that the discontinuance allowance of one month's salary was a
necessaiT cost to be paid by the du Pont Engineering Company and a proper
charge to be reimbursed by the Government. When the expenditures came
later to be challenged by the Government's auditors, this view was ratified

both by the War Department and by the Department of Justice; and in the
final settlement of October 31, 1925, the du Pont Engineering Company was
reimbursed accordingly.
We have been unable exactly to check Mr. Storck's figure of $286,319.47.

The total amount of these discontinuance payments finally reimbursed by
the Government was $268,334.52. In the final settlement further amounts
which had been paid on this account, in accord with the parent company's
practice of somewhat increasing the allowance in case of employees of long
service, were disallowed ; but the total amount of such disallowances was less

than $2,000.

9. " Transportation and moving of household goods after discharge of
employees, $270,355.77."

Reference has already been made to the Government's firm policy, following
the armistice, of a gradual and orderly demobilization of the forces which
had been engaged in war plants on Government work. With a new and
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unsettled community such as had been called into being at Old Hickory by
the gathering together from all directions of a highly diversified force of

some 50,000 workers, the importance of such orderly dispersal will be apparent.

In these circumstances, in order to avert hardship and insure prompt and
orderly demobilization, and in common fairness to the workers whose employ-
ment had been suddenly terminated, the necessity was apparent to the Du
Pont Engineering Company, and promptly assented t<t by the Government's
representatives, of providing for the discharged employees' return transporta-

tion to their homes, or to points not more distant at which there might be
better opportunities for new employment. Again, in recruiting the large num-
ber of salaried workers necessary for the supervisory, technical, and clerical

organizations at Old Hickory, it had been found necessary in many cases, on
account of the comparative remoteness of the location and the uncertainty of

continuance of employment, to assure the men engaged that return transporta-

tion would be provided in the event the employment should come to an end
within six months or a year; and such assurance had been quite generally

given. This benefit of return transportation was therefore made general in

its application. The very small proportion of moving expense on household
Ijoods included in this account applied to certain cases where, in order to

secure the services of specially qualified and desirable employees, it had been
necessary to include that item as part of the compensation agreed upon in the
conti'act of employment.
Here again, as in case of the preceding item, the propriety of this element

of expense was assented to at the time by the Government's representatives,

ratified in the subsequent investigations by the War Department and the
Department of Justice, and finally confirmed in the settlement contract of

October 31, 1925.

On this account a total of slightly under $265,000 was expended by the Du
Pont Engineering Company, and reimbursed to it by the Government, in
addition, there were expenditures of approximately $3,000 by the company
which were disallowed by the Government's auditors and excluded in the
final settlement, representing a total of small excesses incurred in sending
workers to points of prospective reemployment, over the amounts strictly

allowable under the above rule of paying for transportation only to a point
not more distance than that from which the worker had been originally

employed. When one stops to imagine the circumstances attending the hurried
purchasing of railroad tickets for many thousands of suddenly released
workers from all parts of the country, the inevitability of slight discrepancies
of this sort will be apparent.
The above two figures of $265,000 and $3,000 approximately balance Mr.

Storck's figure of, roundly, $270,000.

STATEMENT

The accusations made imder this head are very broad, and there is little

specific to reply to. It can only be said that the sweeping charges of irregu-

larities, which Mr. Storck estimated would amount to " something over
$3,000,000 ", are without any adequate justification, and that the general
groundlessness of these charges was fully demonstrated in the investigation
of them by the Department of Justice, as well as by the War Department.
The suspension of the long series of 305 vouchers referred to was of course
simply a normal procedure to hold up final settlement pending the results

of the re-audit. The statement quoted from Major Guise under date of
November 30, 1920, that even the original advance of $18,750,000 for con-
struction had been suspended might even seem at first glance to indicate
a question as to whether any plant ever had been built at Old Hickory at
all ! It is quite evident that Mr. Storck was anxious to have a comprehensive
investigation.

Perhaps the best answer that can be made to these broad charges is to
summarize briefly the essentials of the final settlement by which the Old
Hickory contract was closed out on October 31, 1925. The amount of investi-

gation and critical study devoted by the Government to the Du Pont Engineer-
ing Company's expenditures at Old Hickory over the seven years lietween the
activities for which they were incurred and the date of final settlement was
indicated in the oral testimony given before the present Committee; and the
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accounting methods involved are sufficiently described in its Exhibit No. 1199.

In the final settlement, against total net costs of approximately $108,000,000
for the construction and operation of the Old Hickory plant, the total amount
of tlie finally disallowed items WAfi somewhat over $169,000, or less than one-
seventh of 1% of the total expenditures. Of that total of disallowances,
something less than one-fifth was in the sort of corrections naturally to be
expected in an undertaking of such size and complexity, while at least four-
fifths was in exclusions made upon highly technical grounds, of which we did
not and do not admit the propriety, but which were accepted by us in the
interest of a final settlement after long years of continued suspense and
harassment.
Of this $169,000 total, roughly half was in the $85,000 of Wilmington office

expense described above in connection with Mr. Storck's first " Unrelated
item " under the head of " Mason & Hanger Company." The biggest remain-
ing item, amounting to nearly $J56,000, resulted from insistence by the Gov-
ernment auditors on a strictly literal interpretation of a possibly ambiguous
expression in the contract. It will be x'ecalled that luider the contract of
March 23, 191S', the Du Pont Engineering Company's compensation for pro-
ducing pov.der at Old Hickory was to be a flat rate of 3% cents a pound
plus one-half of any saving under a base price of 44i/^ cents, at certain speci-

fied levels of delivered cost for the basic raw materials. In the wording of
the contract, these basic raw material cost figures were defined as representing
the prices " f. o. b. Nashville, Tennessee." Delivery at the city of Nashville
was, of course, never contemplated ; the thing always intended was delivery
at the point of consumption, which was the plant ; and in drafting the con-
tract in advance of the existence of any plant, the word " Nashville " had
quite naturally been used in a broad sense to represent the point of delivery
of the materials that would be necessary. When deliveries came to be taken,

the plant freight yards, although in common contemplation a part of the indus-
trial area of Nashville, were given a different name ; and for the transpor-
tation of its materials from Nashville to the plant, extra freight charges were
assessed by the Government in the operation of its railroads, which, under the
narrow interpretation insisted upon by its auditors in applying the terms of
the contract to the 35,000,000 pounds of powder made at Old Hickory, brought
about this difference of nearly $56,000. The remaining items of disallowance
in the final settlement are all of only minor importance.

CAMBRIA STEEL CO.

In connection with some $15,000 of billings from this firm, Mr. Storck
discovers two payments for supposed individual shipments made only seven
days apart in the same car, and com-ectly concludes that this could not have
happened. From this he deduces " some evidence of criminal and civil lia-

bility ", and concludes that " if an investigation of a thorough nature were
made millions of dollars might be recovered for the Government."
The explanation here is simply that through some error a duplicate of the

original invoice for a carload of steel rails (shipped in car B. & O. 150134)
was vouchered and paid by the du Pont Engineering Company and charged to
the Government after the original invoice had already been paid and charged.
Some weeks thereafter, this error was discovered ; a credit memorandum was
promptly issued to the Government ; and in due course a check was received
from the Cambria Steel Company, refunding the duplicate payment of $3,.399.

All these events, including complete correction of the error as well as its occur-
rence, liad taken place in close succession some four and a half years before
the date of Mr. Storck's report. Thus, like his various other accusations, this

one proves not only barren of any real evil, but not even attended with any
such appearance of evil as would have survived any but the most superficial

investigation.

NASHVIIXE. WILiflNGTON. PHILADET.PHIA

Insofar as Mr. Storck's statements inider these three heads might be con-

strued as involving any reflection upon the du Pont Company, they have already
been answered above, under the heading " Paragraphs 1 to 3—Criticism of

Storage of Records." With respect to the records at Wilmington, the facts were
in accord with Mr. Storck's supposition ; and the documents were made fully

available to, and were extensively reviewed by the Government's investigators.
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THE INVESTIGATION

In large part, the matter under this head consists simply of Mr. Storck's
suggestions for the very extensive reinvestigation which he was endeavoring
to bring about. To the general implications of irregularities here included,
what we have said above under the head of " Statement " will be found appli-
cable. The specific matters in this section of the memorandum which appear
to justify further comment or reference are as follows

:

1. Purchases from du Pont subsidlmies.—This subject is comprehensively
dealt with in exliibit no, 1173.

2. Freight paumciits.—See above, under the title "Overcharges in Freight."
3. Bank deposits.—The working funds held to the credit of the Government In

connection with tlie work at Old Hickory were kept distributed among a
number of banks, in accord with the usual practice of the du Pont Company.
These depositories were mainly the large banks of New York City, although
for obvious reasons accounts were also carried in substantial amounts in two
bants at Nashville and to some extent in one bank at Wilmington. Full ad-
vantage was taken of the opportunity to earn interest on the funds in bank

;

and all the interest earned, amounting to a total of more than $400,000, was
credited or paid over to the Government.

4. Cash discounts.—It was the reguliir and uniform practice of the du Pont
Engineering Company to take advantage of all cash discounts, in accord with
the long-established practice of the parent company ; and the Goverimient re-

ceived full credit for the amounts thus saved. The statements made in this

connection above, and in exhibit no. 1199, and elsewhere in the committee's
record, are believed to preclude the necessity of any more detailed statement
here.

5. Shortage and damage claims.—JMr. Storck's charge that " no attention
was paid to claims for shortages " in or damage to the materials received at
Old Hickory, is entirely without any adequate justification. In general, the
statements made in this I'egard at various points above, and in exhibit no. 1199,
are believed to be sufficient. The only qualification which it occurs to us to

add is that the du Pont Company's experience in the course of the war, both
at its own plants and at Old Hickory, showed that in case of very minor
reported shortages the costs of collection would exceed the amounts recov-

ered, and practical working rules were therefore adopted from time to time
under which opportunities for filing claims below certain minimum economic
limits were rejected.

6. Bonus awards.—This subject, we believe, has been sufficiently explained
above, under the head of " Unrelated Items Listed under * * * Mason &
Hanger Company ", item 7, " Meritorious bonus * * *." Mr. Storck's asser-

tion here that " with reference to bonuses one voucher alone amounted to

$250,000 ", is manifestly inconsistent with his item of " Meritorious bonus " in

the tabulation in the middle of his report at which point he correctly gives the
figure of $151,355 as representing the total of all bonus awards made in con-
nection with the construction of the Old Hickory plant. His present figure

of $250,000 is entii'ely out of line not only with any individual bonus award
but with the total of all such awards which were charged to the Government.
The maximum award made to any individual for outstanding performance in

the work of construction at Old Hickory was $15,000; and the total bonus cost
of $151,355 for Old Hickory construction was made up of awards to about 130
individuals. Bonuses earned in connection with the operation of the Old Hick-
ory plant, as stated above, were paid by the company and did not figure in its

accounting with the Government ; so that the above total of $151,355 represents
the entire amount of Old Hickory bonus awards with which the Government
was concerned.

7. Prior and stihsequent du Pont service of Old Hickory employees^.—
Mr. Storck appears to find something sinister in the fact " that in many in-

stances it was found that employees at the (Old Hickory) powder plant were
subsequently employed by the du Ponts and that a number of those employed
at the plant were previously in the employ of the du Ponts." Certainly noth-
ing could have been more natural and proper than that the du Pont Engineer-
ing Company's organization should have been built up largely of men who had
already proved their worth in the service of the du Pont Company and who
had the unparalleled experience which that service afforded in the construe-
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tion of powder plants and the production of powder. That, in fact, was of the

very essence of the arrangement with the Government. On the other hand,

when the Old Hickory organization came to he demobilized, it was equally

natural and proper that every effort should be made to find suitable employ-
ment in the peace-time activities of the du Pont Company for men who had
done successful work at Old Hickory and whose services were no longer re-

quired by the Government. Mr. Storck's remark which we have quoted above
is clearly significant as an indication of the spirit of his investigation rather

than as an evidence of anything improper in the conduct of the Old Hickory
undertaking.

S. Charge of " Unloading."—This subject, we believe, has been sufficiently

considered above under the head of " Some General Explanation."
9. Ouerating costs charged to construction.—Mr. Storck states " that a num-

ber of items properly chargeable to operation were incorrectly charged to con-

struction." This is true, so far as we know and believe, with respect to only

items of expense, each of which was applicable in part to construction and in

part to operation, and of which the original apportionment by the company's
accountants, though entirely innocent of any such purpose as Mr, Storck

ascribes to it, was incorrect.

These two items were the cost of operating " labor trains " necessary for

transporting to and from the plant large numbers of workers who could not
at the time be sheltered in the plant village, and the expense of the " powder
plant railway " which was built and used for transporting materials and
workers within the plant area. Both these services were, of course, utilized

in furtherance of both the construction and the operation work at Old Hickory.
At the outset, when construction was the only activity, the necessary charges
were applied against construction. Later, when the work of production was
begun and rapidly expanded, these charges in part were allocated to that
activity ; but the proration failed to be consistently and correctly carried out
in all months, making a later corrective adjustment necessary. This irregu-

larity was discovered and pointed out by the Government's auditors, and the
proper correction was made in accord with their findings and included in the
final settlement. No other items of operating costs erroneously charged to
construction were included in that settlement, or jn dispute at that time.

From the above explanations, it will be apparent that Mr. Storck's accu-
sations, when the facts are sifted out, are quite generally groundless and in
large part ridiculous. Mr. Storck himself gave warning of the superficial
character of his work by describing it as " a preUnmwry investigation.'" The
facts to refute his suspicions were largely available in the files of the Depart-
ment of Justice, from which this document was taken, and fully determinable
upon inquiry.

In reviewing the stenographic transcript of the December hearings we have
been unable to find an.v express assent to our request that this answer be also
published as a part of the record. We are very sure, however, that it was
the intent of the committee at that time that our request should be granted.
And even if that request was not made, the unfairness that would result from
reviving and publisli,ing these old charges without our ever having had the
opportunity to reply to them, or without coupling the reply with the charges,
is so manifest that we are sure your committee must be as unwilling as we are
to have that injustice imposed upon us.

There is one practical point, however, which causes us some concern, espe-
cially in view of the time which has unavoidably necessary for preparing this
communication and the progress already made in the printing of your record.
The mere inclusion of the present statement in the voluminous record of the
committee without some plain and conspicuous reference or references to it

in connection with exhibit no. 1190 would, of course, be almost useless. We,
therefore, respectfully request that this statement be coupled up with Mr.
Storck's report in the committee's record as finally printed, in some way that
will insure its not being overlooked by anyone considering the Storck report.

E. I. DU Pont de Nemours & Co.,
By W. S. Gregg.
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